
ERCF Meeting 6
15 May 2020



Agenda

ERCF 2

No Time Agenda Item Responsible

Preliminary Matters

1 1:00pm – 1:10pm Welcome, introductions & apologies Meghan Bibby (AEMO)

2 Confirm agenda (Ref #1) Meghan Bibby (AEMO)

3 1:10pm – 1:30pm Actions from previous meeting (Ref #2) Meghan Bibby (AEMO)

Matters for Noting

4 1:30pm – 1:35pm MSATS Standing Data Review (webpage) Michelle Norris (AEMO)

Common Items

5 1:35pm-2:00pm ICF Register (Ref #3) Meghan Bibby (AEMO)

MSATS Only Items

6 2:00pm-2:15pm ADL at datastream level survey results (Ref #4) Meghan Bibby (AEMO)

7 2:15pm-2:30pm ICF_026: Enabling MC to object for NMI Classification code of NCONUML (Ref #5) Joe Castellano (Origin)

8 2:30pm-2:45pm ICF_028: Remove Failed Retailer MSATS user access in NEM ROLR Process A (Ref #6) David Ripper (AEMO)

9 2:45pm-3:00pm ICF_029: Amend or revert definition of the Register ID field (Ref #7) Rebecca Neatnica (AusNet Services)

Metrology & Service Level Procedures Items

10 3:10pm-3:20pm CIP_025: N Quality Flag (Ref #8) Simon Tu (AEMO)

11 3:20pm-3:35pm CIP_M001: Process to detect illegal reconnections (Ref #9) Dino Ou (Endeavour)

12 3:35pm-3:50pm ICF_022: Consumption Corrections (Ref #10) Mark Riley (AGL)

Other business

13 3:50pm-4:00pm General questions & next meeting (18 June) Meghan Bibby (AEMO)

https://aemo.com.au/consultations/current-and-closed-consultations/msats-standing-data-review


Preliminary Matters

ERCF 3



Closed actions from previous 
meetings

ERCF 4

Topic Action Response

4.6.1
Table 4-J of CATS 

Procedures

AEMO to look into rectifying changes made to 

Table 4-J of the CATS Procedures as part of the 

Metering ICF package.

Included in Customer Switching Final 

Determination (Table 4J – Meter Register 

Status Codes). 

4.12.1 ICF_019 expedited 

consultation process

AEMO to seek legal advice on whether the 

changes needed as part of ICF_019 could follow an 

expedited change process.

Closed. This change would have to be 

consulted on via the standard process.

4.15.2 ERCF forward work 

program

AEMO to write a timeline explaining what the 

ERCF will discuss at each of its 2020 meetings.

Further information available in later slides.

5.1.1 Forward work 

program

Michelle to consider whether combined gas/elec

retail/wholesale Gantt chart is worth pursuing and 

circulating, especially in discussion with the AEMC. 

Further information available in later slides.

5.2.1 Change Cancellation 

Timeframes for 

CR6800

Noura to confirm for Shaun Cupitt regarding 

where Alinta’s reports go.
The CR6800 goes to the participant’s 

MSATS inbox with the rest of the 

Performance Management System (PMS) 

reports. If the participant has no dormant 

CRs (as a raiser of the CR or nominated 

within any role in the CR) for the period that 

the report is run for then the participant will 

not receive those reports for that period



Closed actions from previous 
meetings

ERCF 5

Topic Action Response

5.3.1 ADL at datastream 

level

Meghan Bibby (AEMO) to canvas participants 

(including Metering) regarding the use, value and 

future usage of ADL

Survey circulated. Results to be discussed in 

15 May 2020 meeting. 

5.4.1 CIP_M001: Illegal 

reconnections

Jordan Daly (AEMO) to circulate CIP offline for 

future discussion, before next meeting

Circulated offline on 1 May 2020.

5.5.1 ICF_022: Corrections 

Error

Mark Riley (AGL) to rename ICF

Jordan Daly (AEMO) to collate opinions and 

suggestions and circulate. Discussion to be 

revisited after this.

Survey circulated. Results to be discussed in 

15 May 2020 meeting. 

5.9.2 Use of objection 

code for 

CR2000/20001 when 

NCC is non-

contestable UMS

AEMO to gain legal advice on expediting Joe’s 

change given it is a clarification.

Legal advice received. This has to be 

pursued as a normal change.

5.10.1 ICF Register Jordan Daly to circulate existing ICFs in a .zip file 

and do this on an ongoing basis. To look into 

circulating provisional dates for consultation on 

each item as well as the ICF register itself. 

Closed. Circulated as part of May 2020 

meeting pack



Actions from previous meeting 
(cont.)

ERCF 6

Topic Action Response

3.9.2 MDP datastream obligation 

clauses

Stephanie Lommi (Alinta Energy) to provide to Dino Ou 

(Endeavour Energy) the clause numbers regarding Metering 

Data Providers’ obligation to make datastreams active once 

they are sending data.

Extended. Awaiting response from 

Steph.

4.9.2 BADPARTY objection costs AEMO to investigate costs for reinstating BADPARTY 

objections for VIC SMALL sites.

Extended. Awaiting further input 

from Metering. 

4.10.1 ICF_017 reporting AEMO to investigate whether the issues raised in ICF_017 

can be resolved purely via reporting.

Extended. Awaiting further input 

from Metering.

4.14.1 ICF_021 requirements Dino Ou (Endeavour Energy), Travis Worsteling 

(EnergyAustralia), Mark Riley (AGL), and Joe Castellano 

(Origin Energy) are to determine a solution that meets the 

requirements for ICF_021.

Closed. Discussion occurred offline. 

Outcome of the meeting was to 

proceed with the proposed change 

in ICF_021 and remove the 

requirements for the End User 

Details in the Inventory table for 

NCONUML. Ongoing discussion 

needed between retailers & DBs to 

cleanse data and identify 

customers.

4.14.2 ICF_021 reason for 

introducing change

AEMO is to investigate why the changes to clauses 13.2.2, 

13.3.2, and 13.5.2 were made as part of 5MS Metering 

Closed.



Actions from previous meeting 
(cont.)

ERCF 7

Topic Action Response

5.6.1 ICF_023: Remote collection of 

metering data process

Dino Ou (Endeavour) to clarify and quantify the cost/benefit 

of the proposed change, given the process exists. 

Currently we have over 200 NMIs, 

across 6 MCs/MDPs, where 

metering data has not been 

collected for over 200 days. We 

engage with the MC/MDP via PMD, 

VMD, emails and meetings with 

mixed results. 

5.7.1 ICF_025: N Quality Flag Meghan Bibby (AEMO) to reach out to Metering to confirm 

there’s no use case for the “N” quality flag

Extended. Awaiting further input 

from Metering. 

5.8.1 ICF_025: N Quality Flag Meghan Bibby (AEMO) to confirm timing of “N” flag 

removal

Change Information Pack 

developed. 

5.9.1 Use of objection code for 

CR2000/20001 when NCC is 

non-contestable UMS

Discussion between Origin, AEMO and 5MS team regarding 

validations and Procedure updates to occur

Closed. ICF_030 submitted.



Forward work program

ERCF 8

• AEMC, AEMO AER letter reflecting updated regulatory priorities 

https://www.aemc.gov.au/sites/default/files/2020-

04/Letter%20from%20AEMC%20AER%20AEMO%20-

%20Prioritising%20implementation%20timeframes_a%20more%20detailed%20view%20-

%209%20April%202020.pdf

https://www.aemc.gov.au/sites/default/files/2020-04/Letter%20from%20AEMC%20AER%20AEMO%20-%20Prioritising%20implementation%20timeframes_a%20more%20detailed%20view%20-%209%20April%202020.pdf


Matters for Noting



MSATS Standing Data Review

• Michelle Norris, AEMO

• Submission due by COB 5 June

• https://aemo.com.au/en/consultations/current-and-closed-
consultations/msats-standing-data-review

https://aemo.com.au/en/consultations/current-and-closed-consultations/msats-standing-data-review


Common Items



ICF Register

Available here: 

ERCF Change Log


ERCF

		Change ID
 or 
ICF Number		Procedure		Clause		Heading		Subject		Description		Change Type (Procedure Only, Procedure + Market Systems)		Proponent (Name, Organisation)		Status
(In Progress, On Hold, closed)		Next Step		Consultation Start Date (DD/MM/YYYY)		Release (DD/MM/YYYY)		Notes

		ICF_009		MSATS Procedures: CATS
Standing Data for MSATS		Section 4		Define allowable values for the controlled load field in MSATS		A list of allowable values for the ControlledLoad field be defined for each Network – similar to the current approach to defining the allowable values for the Network Tariff Code.		Currently the ControlledLoad field is mandatory in MSATS and is defined as follow in the Standing Data for MSATS document:
“Indicates whether the energy recorded by this register is created under a Controlled Load regime ControlledLoad field will have "No" if register does not relate to a Controlled Load.
If the register relates to a Controlled Load, it should contain a description of the Controlled Load regime.”
Since Power of Choice, networks are looking to validate the network tariff populated by MPs and due to the volume of new interval meters being installed automation is required.		Procedure + Market Systems		Dino Ou
Endeavour Energy		In Progress		Pre-Consultation Issues Paper		TBD		TBD		Reviewed at ERCF on 6 March 2019, CIP provided to ERCF on 22/3/2019 for review. Included in MSATS Standing Data Review.

		ICF_M001		Metrology Procedure Part A		New section		Process to detect illegal reconnections		Defining obligations on the MC to have a process to detect illegal reconnections		Clause 2.4.1.ix.D of the MDP SLP allows for the MDP to de-activate datastreams in MSATS where the supply of electricity has been disconnected at the service fuse. 
When a site is illegally reconnected and the site has an accumulation meter then the illegal reconnection gets picked up at the next scheduled meter reading. 
However for a remotely read meter the illegal reconnection may not be picked up if the MDP turns off their collection process and do not have processes in place to detect illegal reconnections, eg periodically turning on their collection process to check if the site is energised, have meters installed that can provide an indicator/alarm when supply becomes available, have meters installed that automatically pushes the metering data to the MDP’s MDM system when supply becomes available etc.		Procedure Only		Dino Ou
Endeavour Energy		Change Information Paper		Review at ERCF						The proposal to add clauses to the Metrology Procedure and Service Level Procedures are covered under the NER S7.5.1.1(e) and the related 7.15.4(b).
Re-discussed with Endeavour Energy on 25/3/2019. To be added to Guide to Role of MC. This will avoid any procedures impacting on commercial arrangements.
Needs to be worked into a procedure before anything can go in the guide. To be reviewed with Jackie after 5MS/Global consultation begins.
Change Information Paper developed, approved by metering and Dino. CIP was presented at 22/8/2019 ERCF meeting.

CIP has been updated since the Nov meeting. Updated ICF provided by Dino, tabled for discussion in March 2-020 meeting. 

		ICF_013		MSATS CATS Procedure		Section 2.9(k) and Note		Change cancellation timeframe for CR6800		Change cancellation timeframe for CR6801		Cancellation of CR6800 over 220 days where it is associated with an End of Life (EOL) meter replacement. A large number of CR6800 are cancelled before completion of EOL work, this is creating re-work for retailers and MC’s. 
Noting that end-of-life meter replacements (including failed meter families) have no associated time limits, which means that Metering Coordinators (MCs) often undertake the replacements when convenient (e.g. when the MC has a related job in the area), subject to the FRMPs requested timelines. As a result, since an EOL meter replacement will involve the generation of a CR6800, this request can remain pending for over 220 days in some instances. 
MSATS automatically cancels change requests in pending status after 220 days. This is conceptually sound, in general, as it prevents MSATS from accumulating transactions that occupy storage in the system. However, with respect to CR6800 transactions specifically, this means that the 220-day automatic cancellation causes problems, as it will cancel the work order in the MC’s systems which in turn cancels the service order back to the retailer. Essentially placing the MC in breach if they proceed to install.		Procedure + Market Systems		Robert Lo Giudice, intelliHUB		In Progress		Internal Review		TBD		TBD		Change proposal (ICF) received 21/6/2019. Included in ERCF meeting pack for 22nd August 2019. Currently looking into the new PMS reports XML and will update regarding the outcome as of 25/2.

Noura Elhawary has provided temporary solution using PMS Reports. To be included in future consultation

		ICF_015		MSATS		TBD		Metering Exemption Flag		Metering Exemption Flag		Streamline participant notification of AEMO exemptions for malfunctioning meters. Develop fields to flag when a Meter/NMI has an associated Metering Exemption.		Procedure + Market Systems		Paul Greenwood, Vector AMS		New		ICF to be developed		TBD		TBD		23/8/19: To be developed with Paul for review at future ERCF meeting. To be considered in 2020 as part of MSDR.

		ICF_016		MSATS Procedure		TBD		Reinstate MC Objection of BadParty for Vic SMALL		Reinstate MC Objection of BadParty for Vic SMALL		Since POC current MC’s have been unable to object to CR6300 (Change MC) change requests in MSATS. For Victoria where metering contestability has not yet been introduced for NMI’s with a contestable category of Small, this has resulted in Contestable MC’s raising Change RP change requests in MSATS that we have been unable to object to even though network metering is legitimately still installed on Small sites. 
Regular reports are being run and the MC/RP role corrected where possible however in some cases the metering has already been changed out causing additional work for both the contestable MC, network MC and FRMP’s to reinstate the correct metering on site.		Procedure + Market Systems		Laura Peirano, United Energy		New		AEMO Review		TBD		TBD		ICF received 22/8/19. To be included in ERCF meeting pack for 22 August 2019.
Outcome as per Customer Switching request

		ICF_017		AEMO Performance Reports				ADWNAN Reporting changes		Assignment of Interval ADWNANs to MDP in AEMO Performance Reports		Assignment of Interval ADWNANs to MDP in AEMO Performance Reports		Procedure + Market Systems		Jane Hutson, EQ		New		Consultation		TBD		TBD		To be progressed, new report to be developed for MDP

		ICF_018		MSATS Standing Data		CATS Meter register - ReadTypeCode definition		RWD5 – 5 Minute ReadTypeCode		Add new Enumeration for 5 minute interval Meters		Utilise the fourth character (as suggested by CitiPower) of the ReadTypeCode to
indicate when a meter records data at 5-minute intervals.		Procedure Only		Mark Riley, AGL		In Progress		Consultation		24/02/2020		1/7/21		Included in MSDR consultation currently underway. Effective date for change 1/7/2021. Does not require AEMO system change.

		ICF_019		Metrology Procedure		Part A, 12.5 (b)		Metrology Procedure sampling methodology		To remove the prescriptive requirements for sample testing (General inspection II and the AQL of 1.5) from the clause and clarify the suggested sampling methodology as being as a guidelines as per the MPB’s request.. 		Remove the mandatory requirements for specific sample testing methodology for clause 12.5 and clearly specify the suggested sampling methodology is only a guidelines. Remove word “AND” to be in line with Chapter 7. Like Type 4, Type 5 AMI. Need to be excluded from this requirement		Procedure		Goutham Lingam, UE 		In Progress		AEMO Review						Under consideration by AEMO Metering

		ICF_020		Service Level Procedure		MDP, MP, 4.2(iii)		SLP Clause 4.2 changes		Changes to the clause 4.2 of the SLP to avoid confusion with the terms validation vs verifications		The requirements for verification of data has been prescribed under the heading of the validation of the data which potentially results in affected MPBs and MDPs in misinterpretation of the intention of the clause.		Procedure		Goutham Lingam, UE 		In Progress		AEMO Review						Under consideration by AEMO Metering

		ICF_021		Metrology Procedure Part B		13.2.2.a.v, 13.3.2.a.iii, 13.5.2.a.v 		Removal of End User Details from the Inventory table		Removal of End User Details from the Inventory table		Remove the requirement to maintain the End User details in the Inventory Table		Procedure + Market Systems		Dino Ou, Endeavour Energy		In Progress		CIP						AEMO: 5MS Meter Package 2 submissions requested End User Detailes be added, request now asks for removal. Discussion between distributors and big 3 retailers held 31/3; ICF to progress to CIP and consultation

		ICF_022		Metrology Procedure Part A and B				Theft error		Theft error		Include specific obligation for MC to provide updated or substitution data in cases of theft or fraud for complete period impacted, to both the affected participants and the market.

tc={C4AA0829-AAA2-4033-8932-A69EB8DFA74E}: [Threaded comment]

Your version of Excel allows you to read this threaded comment; however, any edits to it will get removed if the file is opened in a newer version of Excel. Learn more: https://go.microsoft.com/fwlink/?linkid=870924

Comment:
    At present, in cases of theft or fraud, some Network MCs provide a substitute meter data file which is then populated across the affected participants and the market, while others undertake an off-market settlement.
Within the current market framework, the affected parties are the Host FRMP, the affected FRMP and the Network, as there is no impact on the market as aa whole.
However, in moving to a global market, the concept of a Host FRMP no longer exists.  Although, it could be said that at that stage, the Host FRMP is now the market as a whole, as any changes which would have previously impacted the Host now flow through to all FRMPs through Unaccounted for Energy (UFE).
 For this reason, AGL is proposing that in all cases where consumption is affected (eg CT ratios, theft etc) that the relevant MC should follow the substitution processes and submit the data to the affected participants and the market so that it is captured as part of the UFE calculation.		Procedure		Mark Riley, AGL		New		ERCF Review		TBD		TBD		AEMO doesn’t believe theft has a head of power. AEMO has concerns that will not work:
• When a LNSP and MDP are not the same parties, ie, separate business with commercial arrangements in place (not market) 
• When revenue protection roles and processes are not a consistent task undertaken by all businesses
• Scenarios of court cases where it is lengthy and the court case is thrown out (aka no theft found) and subs no longer reflect usage and off market return of funds is undertaken.
• How would ‘theft or unmetered usage’ be identified?

		ICF_023		Metrology Process Part A, SLP MDP, SLP MP		Processes		Process when remote collection of metering data fails		Process when remote collection of metering data fails		For issue 1: Define timeframes for the MDP to request the MC for an alternative method of collecting metering data.
For issue 2: Define obligations and timeframes for the MC to arrange for the investigation of a potential metering installation malfunction when the MDP notifies them of a failure to remotely collect metering data for a number of consecutive days.

tc={FDFE4F71-0D37-4250-A56A-8257AE7161DE}: [Threaded comment]

Your version of Excel allows you to read this threaded comment; however, any edits to it will get removed if the file is opened in a newer version of Excel. Learn more: https://go.microsoft.com/fwlink/?linkid=870924

Comment:
    The procedure for managing the scenario when a Metering Data Provider is unable to remotely collect metering data requires a review and update because there are different interpretations on the obligations which has led to parties claiming that they are compliant with the procedures but yet metering data was not collected in a timely manner to prevent the loss of actual metering data.
We believe that the procedure should be clear on who is obligated to take action to prevent the loss of actual metering data. This is particularly important when the appointed MC, MP or MDP for a metering installation is not the one market participant.
We believe that the procedure should be clear on when the action must be done by in order to prevent the loss of actual metering data.
We believe that the procedure should, on a high level, be as follows:
1.	Should a MDP be unable to remotely collect metering data for a number of consecutive days then they must inform the MC
2.	The MC must arrange for the MP to confirm if there is a metering installation malfunction.
3.	If there is a metering installation malfunction then the MC must arrange for the repair to be completed as per the timeframe defined in clause 7.8.10 of the NER or obtain an exemption from AEMO
4.	Regardless if there is a metering installation malfunction, AEMO has provided an exemption or there is no metering installation malfunction but there are other factors that prevent the remote collection of metering data from occurring, the MC must arrange for an alternate method of meter data collection in a timeframe that prevents the loss of actual metering data

Relevant clauses for issue 1:
Clause 7.3.2.h of the NER obligates the MC to arrange for the provision of relevant metering data to the Metering Data Provider if remote acquisition, if any, becomes unavailable
Clause 7.8.2.a.9 of the NER obligates the Metering Provider to only install meters with interval energy data storage of at least 35 days for a type 1, 2, 3 or 4 metering installation
Clause 5.3 of the SLP MP obligates the MP to use reasonable endeavours to assist the MC and the MDP with the manual collection of metering data from the metering installation where remote acquisition becomes unavailable.
Clause 3.5 of the SLP MDP obligates the MDP to operate a process that initiates an alternative method to collect metering data where remote acquisition becomes unavailable
Issue 1: 
There is no timeframe on the MDP to request the MC for an alternative method of collecting metering data. Also, there is no timeframe on the MC or MP to manually collect metering data where remote acquisition becomes unavailable. Without a timeframe defined the MC, MDP or MP can claim compliance with their obligations while operating in a manner that does not prevent the loss of actual metering data. We suggest timeframes be defined and that the timeframe be for a meter with the minimum interval energy data storage of 35 days. 

Relevant clauses for issue 2:
The term metering installation malfunction is defined in the NER for a number of scenarios including the full or partial failure to collect energy data. 
Clause 7.8.10 of the NER places timeframes on the Metering Coordinator to repair the metering installation within the following timeframe from when the Metering Coordinator is notified of the metering installation malfunction:
•	2 business days for a type 1, 2, or 3 metering installation
•	15 business days for a metering installation at a small customer’s premises
•	10 business days for all other metering installations
An exception to these timeframes is allowed when AEMO provides an exemption from these timeframes.
Clause 7.3.2.e.4 of the NER obligates the MC to ensure a communications interface is installed and maintained to facilitate connection to the telecommunications network where remote acquisition is used
Clause 3.4.b.ii of the Service Level Procedure Metering Data Services (SLP MDP) obligates the Metering Data Provider to operate a process that supports the MC, the MP, or both, in the rectification of any metering installation malfunctions or problems associated with the reading function of meters. 

Issue 2: 
Timeframes defined in clause 7.8.10 of the NER only starts when the MC is informed of a metering installation malfunction. Some metering data providers and metering coordinators do not characterize the failure to remotely collect metering data as a metering installation malfunction because the root cause could be the public telecommunications network or for other reasons eg issues with their data collection system. Therefore, until the metering provider confirms that the failure to remotely collect metering data is actually due to one of the components of the metering installation they believe that clause 7.8.10 is not applicable. This creates a gap where by participants can claim compliance with their obligations without taking any action, or delaying their actions, to confirm if a metering installation malfunction exists or not. We suggest that MC be obligated to arrange for the investigation of a potential metering installation malfunction within a defined timeframe when the MDP notifies them of a failure to remotely collect metering data for a number of consecutive days. We suggest the timeframe be defined for a meter with the minimum interval energy data storage of 35 days.		Procedure		Dino Ou, Endeavour Energy		New		ERCF Review		TBD		TBD		Rules cover this situation. These obligations are already established. More detailed timeframe for section 3.5 in SLP up for discussion in ERCF, is 5 business days long enough? Note: MDP does not have to ask permission from MC, already has obligations to perform alternative data collection methods.

Dino to quantify cost/benefit of proposed change

		ICF_025		Metrology Procedure Part B, Service Level Procedure: MDP, MP, ENM (cross out unrelated		Metrology Procedure Part B Section 2.4, MDFF Specification NEM12 NEM13		N quality Flag		Removal of ‘N’ Metering Data Quality Flag		* A historic business process, which existed outside of the rules, made use of the Quality Flag of ‘N’ for meter churn scenarios where churn occurred over 20 days.
* AEMO will accept MDFF, which does allow for Quality Flag of ‘N’. 
* Assumption is that MDPs will provide AEMO with the identical MDFFs as provided to other Participants.		Procedure		Simon Tu, AEMO		New		CIP		TBD		TBD		Discussed at March 2020 ERCF, to progress to CIP.

		ICF_026		MSATS Procedures: CATS		Table 4-D – Objection Codes or
Table 11-B – Objection Rules – CR2000/2001 
Table 13-B – Objection Rules – CR2500/2501		Enabling MC to object for NMI Classification code of NCONUML		Enable the MC to use the Objection Reason code of BADPARTY or NOTRESP for NMI Classification code of NCONUML.		With the introduction of Global Settlements, Non-Contestable Unmetered Supplies (NCONUML) will be registered in MSATS.  The role of Meter Coordinator (MC) for NCONUML as per the rules (NER C7.6.4) must be the Local Network Service Provider (LNSP).
During NMI creation of a NCONUML, if an MC, other than the LNSP was incorrectly appointed to the role of MC there is no ability to object where the NMI Class is NCONUML.
Current objection codes:
BADPARTY
The definition and usage of BADPARTY as described in (4.7 Objection codes table) is not useable with the scenario described above.
NOTRESP 
The NOTRESP objection code is only allowable where NMI Class is SMALL or LARGE.    		Procedure + Market Systems		Joe Castellano, Origin		New		AEMO review		TBD		TBD		ICF received 8/5/20

		ICF_027						ADL at datastream level

		ICF_028		NEM ROLR Processes Part A		section 17.2		In section 17.2 correct section reference and add process step to remove Failed Retailer MSATS user access.		In section 17.2 correct section reference and add process step to remove Failed Retailer MSATS user access.		Reference to “section 19” in section 17.2 should be corrected to “section 16” for consistency with section 17.1
Add new 17.2(c) 		Procedure		David Ripper, AEMO Metering		New		ERCF Review		TBD		TBD		ICF received 16/3/2020.

		ICF_029		Standing Data for MSATS version 5.0
2.	MSATS Procedures – CATS Procedure Principles and Obligations (v5.0)		Field definitions, field: ‘RegisterID’
Create NMI CRC (2500/2501) and Maintain Metering CRC’s (3000/3001, 3004/3005, 3050/3051, 3080/3081, 3090/3091, 3100/3101) 
		Amend or revert definition of the Register ID field.		Removing the requirement for the Register ID to match the NMI Suffix in MSATS as stated in the Standing Data for MSATS procedure. 		The updates to the Register ID definition that were published in version 5.0 of the Standing Data for MSATS procedure were introduced under the auspices of the 5MS/GS suite of changes with very limited prior notice or consultation as part of Metering Package 3, that interestingly was meant to only consist of administrative changes relating specifically to the 5MS/GS suite of changes. No justification was provided by AEMO for the update, despite objections being raised by Ausgrid in the Draft Consultation Stage and AusNet Services just prior to the release of the Final Determination.
Updating the Register ID to match the NMI Suffix, results in increasing duplicated data sets within MSATS, which AEMO is actively trying to reduce through the MSATS Standing Review Consultation which is currently under way.
The impact of this change to AusNet Services is significant system rework to publish the new definition and requires AusNet Services’ appointed MPB to update over 900,000 Register ID’s potentially via the equivalent volume of CRC 3051s by the end of May 2021 (as per the Final Industry Transition Plan) for no apparent benefit or justification. 		Procedure + Market Systems		Rebecca Neatnica, AusNet Services		New		AEMO review		TBD		TBD		ICF received 13/3/2020.





Completed + Not progressing

		Change ID
 or 
ICF Number		Procedure		Clause		Heading		Subject		Description		Change Type (Procedure Only, Procedure + Market Systems)		Proponent (Name, Organisation)		Status
(In Progress, On Hold, closed)		Next Step		Consultation Start Date (DD/MM/YYYY)		Release (DD/MM/YYYY)		Notes

		Change ID_001		MSATS Procedures: CATS		N/a		Multiple ENMs have the ability to create a NMI for one site		MSATS has ability for multiple ENMs to create multiple NMI’s for a single site		
The introduction of the Embedded Network Manager (ENM) rule change obligates an ENM to create a NMI in MSATS for child connection points. ENMs have been allocated their own block of NMI’s and validation has been implemented to only allow that ENM to create NMIs within the NMI block they have been allocated. The introduction of this rule also requires AEMO to record the Exempt Embedded Network Service Providers as part of NMI Standing Data. This has proven to be a challenge and there is a risk that not all the EENOs will populated in MSATS in the short term.
i. Retailers will not have any visibility of who the EENO is for an embedded network.
ii. Without that visibility retailers will not know who to contact to find out who the ENM is for the embedded network.
iii. Not knowing the ENM will inhibit getting a NMI created for a child customer of the embedded network.
iv. ENMs can create NMIs in MSATS from their block of NMI’s without any validation as to whether that site has already had a NMI created, either by them or another ENM.		Procedure + Market Systems		Jackie Krizmanic - AEMO		Not proceeding								A. Potential changes to MSATS:
1. Have ENM populated in the Embedded Network Table for each EN.
2. Validation against this table when a NMI is created to ensure only the ENM can create NMI.
3. When ENM changes obligation to advise AEMO of the changes so AEMO can update Embedded Network Table.

B. Potential changes to CATS Procedure
1. Move clause 4.18 (f) to Section 2.10 (AEMO suggest it becomes point (b) in this section)
(b)  The ENM must provide AEMO with the name of the EENSP and the associated Embedded Network Code within 5 business days of being appointed as the ENM. 
2. Add a new clause to Section 2.10 (AEMO suggest it becomes point (c) in this section)
(c)  Failure to provide the information in (b) may result in the ENM not being able to create NMI’s for that Embedded Network Code


		ICF_002		MSATS Procedures: CATS		36.		CR6700/6701 CHANGE ROLE - Change MPB or MPC or Both - Small or Large		Why does the provision of the Actual Change Date by the MDP only relate to the prospective change? 		 It is assumed this is based on the 6800 Change Multiple Roles, where the ability to object for DATEBAD has only ever applied to the prospective change.
The objection of DATEBAD should be available to the MDP as it is for the CR6800 Change Multiple Roles. The objection should also apply to the retrospective changes for both CRs 6701/6801 as an incorrect Proposed Change Date could be provided on both the prospective and retrospective changes.		Procedure + Market Systems		Tango Energy Malcolm Hampel		Completed		MSATS Configuration in Prod 3/5/2019		7/26/18		5/20/19		This change was raised by Tango Energy during POC package 3 consultation however was missed by AEMO during consultation.
While AEMO agree that this is a reasonable suggestion this would be a change to the procedure that we believe would require further consultation.

				MSATS Procedures: CATS		31.		CR6200/6210 CHANGE ROLE - Change MDP - Small or Large		BADPARTY Objections		
Where the CR has been raised by the FRMP (e.g. on behalf of the Large customer) but the MC does not have a relationship with the nominated MDP, then the Current MC should be able to object ‘BADPARTY’.
As there is a new requirement for the MDP to provide a 1500 for the actual change date, it is expected, as with other change of role CRs that require the 1500 to be provided, the objection of DATEBAD would be available to the MDP. Also, that the objection should apply to the retrospective change as an incorrect Proposed Change Date could be provided on both the prospective and retrospective changes.		Procedure + Market Systems												This change was raised by Tango Energy during POC package 3 consultation however was missed by AEMO during consultation.
While AEMO agree that this is a reasonable suggestion this would be a change to the procedure that we believe would require further consultation.

				MSATS Procedures: CATS		42.3.2		NMI Discovery Search 2 - NMI Standing Data Access Rules		Table 42C – Common Standing Data Items Returned to the FRMP or LNSP for a NMI Discovery Search Type 2:		
A review of the above Table indicates it is missing the Meter Status field. I assume this field will continue to be returned in the response and this is just an oversight in the Procedures.		Procedure												This change was raised by Tango Energy during POC package 3 consultation however was missed by AEMO during consultation.
Yes Meter Status field will continue to be returned. Procedures should be corrected at the first available opportunity.

				MSATS Procedures: CATS		9.		CHANGE RETAILER - Embedded Networks - Small or Large		BADPARTY Objections		For change retailer embedded networks, the Current MC can object for BADPARTY where the NMI class is Large and the jurisdiction is NSW; why?		Procedure												This change was raised by Tango Energy during POC package 3 consultation however was missed by AEMO during consultation.
This is an error that should be corrected at the earliest available opportunity (at the time of the next consultation on this document).  The Current MC should not be able to object for these CRs.

				MSATS Procedures: CATS		18.7		Objection Rules		BADPARTY Objections		Also why is the BADDATA objection not applicable to Small NMIs in QLD?		Procedure												This change was raised by Tango Energy during POC package 3 consultation however was missed by AEMO during consultation.
This is an error in the 6200 CR that should be corrected at the earliest available opportunity.  BADDATA should be available to ALL classifications and ALL jurisdictions for change MDP CRs (6200).


		Change ID_003		MSATS Procedures: CATS		N/a		Enabling a NMI to be transferred on a greenfield site 		NMI allocated to a retailer in MSATS and a supply connect service is arranged by a different Retailers.		Version 3.0 of the B2B Service Order Procedures allows a prospective Retailer(A) to raise an Allocate NMI and an Establish Supply. This could potentially mean an Allocate NMI could be raised by one Retailer and an Establish Supply raised by another Retailer (B).
There is now risk the standing data in MSATS where Retailer B is the retailer the customer has chosen and not retailer A. The other roles could also potentially be incorrect as they are not the service providers and or MC retailer B has appointed to perform the work
MSATS cannot be updated with the retailer B details (per the example above) as the FRMP until a meter has been installed.		Procedure + Market Systems		AEMO
Jackie Krizmanic		Completed		MSATS Configuration in Prod 3/5/2019		7/26/18		5/20/19

		Change ID_004		MSATS Procedures: CATS		8.		Use of DATEBAD Objection Code for  CR1024 - MDP Objections		The current MDP does not have the ability to object to a CR 1024 where the MDP is not changing and the proposed transfer date does not have a corresponding meter reading.		Under the new CATS rules the FRMP is not required to nominate the new MDP (now an optional field), therefore where the MDP is not changing, the current MDP does not have the ability to object to a CR 1024 with the objection code of DATEBAD. If the FRMP has raised a CR 1024 with an invalid proposed transfer date (where a meter reading does not exist in order to complete the transfer) the MDP is unable to object as there is not a valid objection code for them to use.		Procedure + Market Systems		AEMO
Paul Lefavi		Completed		MSATS Configuration in Prod 3/5/2019		7/26/18		5/20/19

		ICF_005		MSATS Procedures: CATS		42		MC (NMI) Standing Data Search		Enable a prospective MC appointed by the customer to conduct NMI standing data search for customer churn purposes.		Metering Coordinators (MC), are being engaged by retailers to manage market transactions nominating themselves as the MC for Large customer sites. There are a number of ‘Large’ customers that have tails to ‘Small’ sites that are part of a collective agreement with an MC/MP of their choice, however the MC is not able to raise a CR 6300 under the rules. MSATS allows for a Change Request transaction to take place but the rules state that this cannot be performed by the MC, it can only be performed by the FRMP.
The prospective MC has no current visibility of the NMI Classification or other market particpants (namely the current MPB/MPC/MDP) for the site or any other MSATS Standing Data until a C7 report is made available, (C7 does not return NMI Classification) which is after the raising of the market CR.		Procedure + Market Systems		Acumen Metering
Robert Lo Giudice		Completed		MSATS Configuration in Prod 3/5/2019		7/26/18		5/20/19

		ICF_006		MSATS Procedures: CATS				Network Tariff Allocation by MPB’s		Where there is a mandatory requirement for MPB’s to provide the NTC in any Market CR it should be changed to an optional field.		The Network Tariff Code – NTC is owned by the LNSP, but the MPB is required to provide the NTC as part of several MSATS change requests.
MPB’s that are being engaged by FRMP’s or MC’s to initially install, churn or update meter details are allowed under the MSATS Procedures to update the NTC that the LNSP has approved in the CR 300X and CR 305X market transactions.  The NTC is a mandatory field in both these CR types and therefore must be populated by the MPB.
Issues/Challenges:
• FRMP’s do not always know what the NTC is/should be.
• MPB takes instruction from the FRMP or MC and therefore can cause delays for the MPB to perform their duties in reference to the physical install and intern the MSATS update if the NTC is not provided via the Service Order or MRF. This ultimately delays the customer new connection or change of meter.
• Increase in Network Billing disputes ultimately impacting the customer. 
		Procedure		Acumen Metering
Robert Lo Giudice		Completed		Release Final MSATS Procedure		7/26/18		5/20/19		Note: procedural update only

		ICF_010		MSATS Procedures: CATS		Section 2.3		NMI status activation date when advanced unit on accumulation metering data is detected		When the date of reconnection cannot be identified then an agreed approach for determining the deemed connection date is required.		Electricity consumption is determined from an accumulation meter by calculating the difference between the current meter reading and the previous meter reading. However, accumulation meters can't discern when the electricity was used.
It is not uncommon for advanced units to be identified when an accumulation meter is read. An ‘advanced unit’ is when consumption is identified for premises that is last known to be, and should still be, disconnected. In most cases this scenario occurs when the customer reconnects the electricity supply themselves without the permission from the network, therefore it is also known as an illegal reconnection.
Although the consumption can be determined on an advanced unit it is harder to determine when the premises was reconnected. At best it cold be surmised that the premises was illegally reconnected sometime between when the Network performed the disconnection or last confirmed zero consumption (whichever is the later) and when the advanced unit was detected.
Determining the date of the illegal reconnection is required in order to send the consumption to market participants and AEMO, and to update the NMI status.
It is current common practice for the illegally reconnection date to be deemed when the Network performed the disconnection or last confirmed zero consumption (whichever is the later). However, AEMO recently confirmed that their weekly compliance report expects the update of NMI status to be done within 5 business days and therefore suggested that the date of the illegal reconnection be deemed no greater than 5 business days prior to when the advanced unit was identified.
At minimum the date range for the consumption can be 1 day but this may make the average daily load very high for that consumption period and distort market settlements. Making the consumption period 5 business days is better than 1 day but still has the same issue where the average daily load may be very high for that consumption period and distort market settlements.
The procedures are currently silent on this scenario - an agreed market approach for managing advanced units for accumulation meter reads is required.		Procedure		Dino Ou
Endeavour Energy		Closed		Not proceeding						Reviewed at ERCF on 6 March 2019, AEMO Metering reviewed CIP and decided not to proceed as it is not traceable and is in conflict with 2.3.(i). Endeavour Energy advised if it wishes to proceed further it needs to provide an alternative proposal.

		ICF_M006		MDP Service Level Procedure		clause 2.4.3		Obligations to Collect, Process and Deliver Reactive and Other Metering Data		Obligations to Collect, Process and Deliver Reactive and Other Metering Data		The service level procedure requires the MDP to collect, process, store and deliver metering data associated with reactive energy where the metering installation ‘is configured to measure reactive energy’.
PLUS ES contends the obligation to deliver such metering data should only be applied to instances where:-
a)	the metering installation ‘is configured to measure reactive energy’; and
b)	reactive energy is required in support of the network tariff.
Services providers should be able to collect metering data from a connection point without having to provide it to all registered participants unless the provision of such data is required to support the network tariff or the settlement process.
Specifically, in relation to reactive energy, the service provider should have the option to:-
c)	configure the metering installation to measure reactive energy without having an obligation to collect it (unless the network tariff requires it); or
d)	collect reactive energy from the metering installation without having an obligation to deliver it (unless the network tariff requires it).		Procedure Only		Stephen Zok
PlusES		Closed		Not proceeding						The proposal to change Service Level Procedure: Metering Data Provider Services clause 2.4.3. is in conflict with NER 7.10.1(a)(7) which includes provision of collected reactive data within metering data and settlements data, and NER 3.15.5B from the Global Settlement final Rule requiring AEMO to report on and analyse Unaccounted For Energy.  NER 3.15.5B(c) places obligations on participants, including MDPs, to provide information and assistance to AEMO for AEMO to prepare the report and analysis.

		ICF_012						Extending ROCL to Embedded Network Participants		Extending ROCL to Embedded Network Participants		Participants and AEMO need to be able to contact each other to undertake a variety of activities to resolve and follow up issues related to the delivery of customer services. This is achieved through the use of the NEM Retail Operations Contacts List (ROCL).
The increase in the number of Embedded Network Operators / Embedded Network Managers and the upcoming registration of Embedded Network Service Providers and Off Market Retailers and their need to interact with existing registered participants has led to a substantial amount of work in identification of appropriate operational personnel as these businesses are not required to make that information available.		Procedure		Mark Riley, AGL		Not proceeding		Internal Review						ICF received 8/5/19. Distributed for internal review 9/5/19. Presented to ERCF on 23/5/19. Review of head of power underway. Closed in Nov 19 meeting as no head of power.

		ICF_014		MSATS CATS Procedure		Section 9.9		Retailer Transfer Change Request Status Notification Rules – Embedded Networks		Retailer Transfer Change Request Status Notification Rules – Embedded Networks		For a prospective CR108X to complete, the MDP needs to publish CR1500 Provide Actual Change Date. They can only do this if the NMI status is A. If the Child NMI is off market (NMI status N), then the MDP will not publish the CR1500.
The ENM participant (published in the LNSP Role) is responsible for changing the NMI Status from N to A, however, if the LNSP Role only receives the COMPLETED Status Change of the CR108X, they are not notified of a requirement to change the NMI status using market transactions therefore making it difficult for the ENM to meet their obligation.
Update the Change Request Status Notification Rules so that LNSP receives all CR Statuses, not just COMPLETED. 		Procedure + Market Systems		Joe Castellano, Origin Energy 		Not proceeding		ERCF Review		TBD		TBD		Change proposal (ICF) received 26/6/2019. Included in ERCF meeting pack for 22nd August 2019. Withdrawn by Origin on 7/10 due to Customer Switching changes making this redundant. 

		ICF_007		MSATS Procedures: CATS		Section 2.5, CR3050 and CR3051		Updating MSATS about remote de- energisation and remote re- energisation		For a consistent market approach the MSATS Procedure should define the dates MPs must use when updating MSATS about remote de-energisations and remote re- energisations.		The MSATS Procedure places an obligation on the MP to update MSATS when a meter is remotely de-energised and remotely re-energised (clause 2.5.h). However it does not define what date to use when updating MSATS. There is a risk that MPs may apply different logic to determine the date to use when updating MSATS which will lead to confusion within the market.		Procedure		Dino Ou
Endeavour Energy		Completed		Consultation		5/20/19		5/20/20		Reviewed at ERCF on 6 March 2019, CIP provided to ERCF on 22/3/2019 for review.  Included in May 2019 consultation.

		ICF_008		MSATS Procedures: CATS		Section 2.4		Define timeframes for updating datastreams in MSATS		Create or update the datastream within 2 business days from the time the meter is installed/removed or when the meter is reconfigured or the metering installation is re-energised or the MDP becomes the Current MDP		Clause 2.4.1.a.iv of the MDP SLP states “Each MDP - Category D must manage the registration of connection point Datastreams in accordance with the timeframes specified in the MSATS Procedures”. 
However clause 2.4.g of the CATS Procedure states “The New MDP must configure the Datastream as ‘A’ (Active) or ‘I’ (Inactive) in accordance with the Service Level Procedure (MDP)”.
It looks like each document reference the other for the timeframe but none of them actually specify the timeframe.
It should be noted that metering data can not be delivered to MSATS unless the datastream is activated. Therefore, any delay in activating datastreams will also delay the delivery of metering data to MSATS. 		Procedure		Dino Ou
Endeavour Energy		Completed		Consultation		5/20/19		5/20/20		Reviewed at ERCF on 6 March 2019, CIP provided to ERCF on 22/3/2019 for review.  Included in May 2019 consultation.

		ICF_011		MSATS Procedures: CATS		Section 4.18		Clarifying the LNSP’s obligations in relation to creating Embedded Network Codes.		Clarifying the LNSP’s obligations in relation to creating Embedded Network Codes.		The current wording of the sections 4.18 (b), (c) & (d) have the potential to be incorrectly interpreted and lack obligation timeframes.		Procedure		Demi Chau, AEMO		Completed		Consultation		5/20/19		5/20/20		CIP provided to ERCF on 22/3/2019 for review.  Included in May 2019 consultation.

		ICF_M002		Metrology Procedure: Part A		Part A - 3.1 (b), (c) and (d)		CT and VT Standards to include IEC61869		CT and VT Standards to include IEC61869		The Metrology Procedures require CTs and VTs to meet the relevant requirements of AS60044, clause 3.1(b), (c), and that they must comply with current Australian Standards, clause 3.1(d).  
All metering CTs and VTs are now manufactured overseas, and as such are usually specified and tested to IEC61869 that replaced IEC60044 many years ago and is considered the international industry standard.
AS60044 and IEC61869 have been compared and an engineering report produced showing no material differences between these standards.		Procedure Only		Tom Cole
Metering Dynamics		Completed		Consultation		5/20/19		5/20/20		Reviewed at ERMCF on 6 March 2019, CIP provided to ERMCF on 22/3/2019 for review. Included in May 2019 consultation.

		ICF_M003		Metrology Procedure Part B		Section 6		Linear interpolation substitution type for accumulation metering installations		Linear interpolation substitution type for accumulation metering installations		When a validated actual read for an accumulation meter has a reading that is lower than the previous substituted read then the substituted read can either be deleted or re-substituted.
If re-substituted then using method type 61 or 62 would not be suitable because that is what is causing the issue. Sometimes using another method type like 63 or 65 may be suitable but sometimes that still provides a read that is still higher than the latest validated actual read and therefore it is also not suitable.
Another method that would always be suitable for the above scenario is the liner interpolation method whereby the reading is calculated using the ADL between 2 validated meter reading and applying this ADL pro-rated to the number of days for the substituted read.
This method is currently not available as a standard substitution method, therefore it can only be used if reasonable endeavours to form an agreement was made with impacted participants.		Procedure Only		Dino Ou
Endeavour Energy		Completed		Consultation		5/20/19		5/20/20		Question was raised by AEMO about difference between S63 & S69. Endeavour Energy provided how the calculations provided different results in some cases. Reviewed at ERMCF on 6 March 2019, CIP provided to ERMCF on 28/3/2019 for review. Included in May 2019 consultation.

		ICF_M004		Metrology Procedure: Part A
SLP MDP
SLP MP
MSATS Procedures: CATS		Section 2
Clause 2.1
Clause 4.1		Communication for identification of incorrect NMI and metering installation		Communication for identification of incorrect NMI and metering installation		It is not uncommon for metering installations to be linked to the incorrect NMI. This could be the result of human error when commissioning the meter or the landlord has decided to renumber premises without notifying a market participant. This type of issue is usually identified through customer complaints of high bills or no supply, or by a field technician. 
The correction required can be complex and can span many years in the past, and therefore requires good communication and coordination between impacted market participants and impacted end use customers.
There have been instances where this type of issue was identified and corrected by the MC/MP/MDP with little or no communication and coordination. This resulted in poor outcomes for the end use customer due to the confusion it caused and extra work on impacted market participants.		Procedure Only		Dino Ou
Endeavour Energy		Completed		Consultation		5/20/19		5/20/20		Reviewed at ERMCF on 6 March 2019, CIP provided to ERMCF on 22/3/2019 for review. Revised and added into CATS changes. Included in May 2019 consultation.

		ICF_M005		MDP Service Level Procedure		Section 2.4		Delivery of metering data while the NMI status is not Active		Defining an obligation to deliver metering data while the NMI status is not Active		Clause 3.12.2 of the MDP SLP places an obligation on the MDP to deliver metering data within 2 business days of the Actual Meter Readings being received into the metering data services database or when the metering data is substituted or estimated. Note that the SLA for delivery of metering data to market participants is not dependent on NMI status or datastream status. However some MDPs have configured their system to only deliver metering data when the NMI status is active which causes delays in the delivery of metering data and communicating the existence of illegal reconnections.
This issue was raised in October 2013 at the MDP Working Group and AEMO stated:
Clause 6.11 of the SLP advises that MDP’s must deliver data within 2 business days. The clauses do not stipulate whether the NMI has to be active or not. If the metering data has passed validation then it must be delivered to AEMO and participants. AEMO therefore believes that if the MDP receives data from the meter and that data passes validation then the MDP must activate the data streams and provide data to AEMO and participants
Note that the above clause reference is to the SLP that was current at October 2013.
At the time AEMO decided not to update the MDP SLP as they believed the wording of the SLP along with the above clarification was sufficient. This was true because MDPs started to change their systems to comply.
However recently we have discovered that some MDPs have configured their systems to not deliver metering data while the NMI status is not Active and finding that we are going through the same arguments as before		Procedure Only		Dino Ou
Endeavour Energy		Completed		Consultation		5/20/19		5/20/20		Reviewed at ERMCF on 6 March 2019, CIP provided to ERMCF on 22/3/2019 for review. Included in May 2019 consultation.

		ICF_M007		Metrology Procedure: Part A		Clause 12.5.		Verification of Metering Data for whole current Small Customer Metering Installations, Type 4A, 5, 6 and 7 Metering Installations 		Verification of Metering Data for whole current Small Customer Metering Installations, Type 4A, 5, 6 and 7 Metering Installations 		AS2490 standard is obsolete now. 
It also does not make sense for meter data to be applied with a variables approach due to different tariff structures that may be programmed in the meter (i.e. single-phase, three-phase, peak off peak, solar etc).
What is the measure for normality here? This is also a key component of being able to use variables.
AQL 1.5 was chosen as it allowed for consideration of smaller families vs a balance of acceptance of mismatches.
As three new clauses were added, the old clauses (b) onwards now becomes clauses (e) onwards
Also clarified the wording to ensure it is clear that the expectation is once every 12 months.		Procedure		Dominik Ziomek, AEMO		Completed		Consultation		5/20/19		5/20/20		Reviewed at ERMCF on 6 March 2019, CIP provided to ERMCF on 22/3/2019 for review. Included in May 2019 consultation.

		ICF_M008		Service Level Procedure - ENM		Clause 2.1.2
Clause 4.2.1
Clause 4.2.2
Clause 4.3.3		Clarifying ENM’s obligations with respect to DLFs and Network Tariff Codes and that the EN for which the ENM has been appointed has an exemption by the AER		Clarifying ENM’s obligations with respect to DLFs and Network Tariff Codes and that the EN for which the ENM has been appointed has an exemption by the AER		Update the Service Level Procedure: Embedded Network Manager clarify the process for DLF and Network Tariff Code, and to add a requirement for the ENM to ensure that when they are appointed to provide ENM services for an EN, that EN has been exempted by the AER. 		Procedure		Demi Chau, AEMO		Completed		Consultation		5/20/19		5/20/20		CIP provided to ERMCF on 29/3/2019 for review. Included in May 2019 consultation.

		ICF_024		MSATS CATS Procedure, Allocation of Embedded Network Codes		N/A		Embedded Network Codes		Embedded Network Codes		ENMs to have the ability to create Embedded Network Codes for population
in MSATS by AEMO 		Procedure		Marco Bogaers, Metropolis		Not proceeding		ERCF Review						AEMO believes that it has provided a solution to the problem by adding an obligation on the LNSP as per the MSATS procedure changes in the Metering ICF package (effective 20 May 2020)  clause 4.18 (iv)
(iv) The LNSP must provide the Embedded Network Code to AEMO within 5 business days from the time it receives the request from the embedded network owner or the ENM acting on behalf of the embedded network owner.





Legend

		Legend

		Not proceeding

		In progress

		Awaiting participant response

		Completed





JDaly
File Attachment
ERCF Change Log.xlsx




CIPs/ICF_025 N Quality Flag CIP May 2020.docx

[image: report-masthead-marketdev]


			AEMO Information Change Paper











			Change ID or ICF Number 


			ICF_025





			Short Title


			Removal of ‘N’ Metering Data Quality Flag





			Procedure / Area Impacted


			|_|	MSATS System


[bookmark: Check1]|_|	CATS Procedure


|_|	WIGS Procedure


|_|	NEM ROLR Processes 


|_|	Metrology Procedure Part A


|X|	Metrology Procedure Part B


|_|	Service Level Procedure: MDP, MP, ENM (cross out unrelated 								documents)


[bookmark: Check2][bookmark: _Hlk40186146]|X|	Other, please specify: MDFF Specification NEM12 NEM13





			Subject


			Removal of ‘N’ Metering Data Quality Flag














Revision History


			VERSION #


			PRESENTED TO


			DATE





			1.0


			


			





			


			


			


















1. Background


· A historic business process, which existed outside of the rules, made use of the Quality Flag of ‘N’ for meter churn scenarios where churn occurred over 20 days.


· The new RPs Meter Data Provider would establish a meter prior to the initiation of a CR1000, the implication of which was that the party in MSATS wouldn’t be related to the new meter. For the time before the new RP assumed the role in MSATS the Meter Data Provider would send MTRD MDFF reads with a Quality Flag of ‘N’.


· 5 years ago the Procedures were changed to tighten the churn scenario to prevent this business process from occurring.


Current


· The existing Metrology Procedure Part B still makes reference to the Quality Flag of ‘N’, however, the Procedures provide no further details on how the Quality flag of ‘N’ can be used.


· The NEM12/NEM13 specification still makes reference to the Quality Flag of ‘N’.


Future


· AEMO will accept MDFF.


· Assumption is that MDPs will provide AEMO with the identical MDFFs as provided to other Participants.


2. Scope


AEMO’s current Position:


•	As ‘N’ flag is effectively redundant remove its reference from the Procedures. 


•	We’ve already removed the N flag as an accepted flag in the MDM File Format and Load process.


3. Issues


None identified.


4. Requirement


[bookmark: _Hlk2858065]Removal of a redundant value from the Metrology Procedure Part B in Section 2.4 and Appendix C of the MDFF Specification NEM12 NEM13.


5. Proposed Consultation / Release 


Proposed to be included in the the B2M consultation to commence in Q3 2020.


6. Proposed Solution(s)


A. Potential changes to Metrology Procedure Part B Section 2.4 and MDFF Specification NEM12 NEM13








Metrology Procedure Part B


[bookmark: _Toc444092409][bookmark: _Toc460318348]4.2	Metering Data Quality Flags





[bookmark: _Toc164513070][bookmark: _Toc164758613][bookmark: _Toc164758903][bookmark: _Toc164758991][bookmark: _Toc164759278][bookmark: _Toc165086267][bookmark: _Toc165086519][bookmark: _Toc165086597][bookmark: _Toc165086830][bookmark: _Toc165087010][bookmark: _Toc165087086]MDPs must assign the relevant metering data quality flags to metering data as follows: 


			Quality Flag


			Description





			A


			Actual Metering Data.





			S


			For any substituted metering data that is considered temporary and may be replaced by Actual Metering Data. Substitutions apply to historical date/time periods at the time of Substitution.





			E


			For any estimated metering data that is considered temporary and may be replaced by Actual Metering Data or substituted metering data. Estimations apply to a period that has an end date/time in the future.





			F


			For Substitutions that are of a permanent or final nature and, subject to section 2.4(b) & (e), the metering data would not be replaced by Actual Metering Data at any time.





			N


			This quality flag is only utilised within the interval metering data file for instances where no metering data exists in the metering data services database for the periods concerned.











Unless specified otherwise in this Procedure, MDPs must apply the following quality flag rules in the metering data services database:


‘A’ metering data can only be replaced with ‘A’, ‘S’ or ‘F’ metering data.


‘S’ metering data can only be replaced with ‘A’, ‘S’ or ‘F’ metering data.


‘E’ metering data can only be replaced with ‘A’, ‘E’, ‘S’ or ‘F’ metering data.


‘F’ metering data can only be replaced with ‘F’ metering data as per section 2.5.1(f) or ‘A’ metering data as per section 2.5.1(b) or 2.5.1(h).


[bookmark: _GoBack]





MDFF Specification NEM12 NEM13


3.3.1	Spaces, nulls and commas





Fields must not include leading or trailing spaces.


Where no Interval values exist, the IntervalValue field must contain a value of zero (0) and the QualityFlag field must have a value of “N”. A null value is not allowed in the quantity field of the NEM13 file. 	Comment by Meghan Bibby: Or should this be a flag of ‘S’ for subsof zero?


A comma is required between all fields, even if the field is null.


Commas are not permitted in any data field. 








[bookmark: _Toc488740329]4.4	Interval data record (300)


			Field


			Format


			Field Requirement


			Definition





			RecordIndicator


			Numeric(3)


			M


			Interval metering data record indicator.


Allowed value: 300.





			IntervalDate


			Date(8)


			M


			Interval date.





			IntervalValue1


 . . . 


IntervalValueN


			Numeric(sx.y)


Refer Appendices – Appendix B for details on the format of this number.


			M


			Interval metering data.  


The total amount of energy or other measured value for the Interval inclusive of any multiplier or scaling factor.


The number of values provided must equal 1440 divided by the IntervalLength. This is a repeating field with individual field values separated by comma delimiters.


Allowed value rules:


If no data – i.e. null, then set the relevant IntervalValue field to zero “0” and set the respective quality flag in the QualityMethod field to “N”.


A negative value is not allowed. 


The value may contain decimal places.


Exponential values are not allowed.





			QualityMethod


			VarChar(3)


			M


			Summary of the data quality and Substitution/Estimation flags for all IntervalValues contained in this record. 


The QualityMethod applies to all IntervalValues in this record.  Where multiple QualityMethods or ReasonCodes apply to these IntervalValues, a quality flag ‘V’ must be used.


Format:  In the form QMM, where quality flag ('Q) = 1 character and method flag (MM) = 2 character.


Allowed values:


See quality and method tables (Appendix C & D).


If quality flag = ’A’, ’N‘ or ’V‘ no method flag is required.





			ReasonCode 


			Numeric(3)


			M/N


			Summary of the reasons for Substitute/Estimate or  information for all IntervalValues contained in this record.


The ReasonCode applies to all IntervalValues in this record.  


Not required if quality flag = ’A’, ’N‘, or ‘E‘, but can be provided for information.


The field must not be populated if quality flag = ’V’.


Allowed values: Refer Appendix E.





			ReasonDescription


			VarChar(240)


			N/M


			Description of ReasonCode.


Mandatory where the ReasonCode is ’0’.





			UpdateDateTime


			DateTime(14)


			M/N


			The latest date/time that any updated IntervalValue or QualityMethod for the IntervalDate.  This is the MDP’s version date/time that the metering data was created or changed.  This date and time applies to data in this 300 record.  


This field is not required if the QualityMethod is ’N’.





			MSATSLoadDateTime


			DateTime(14)


			R


			This is the date/time stamp MSATS records when metering data was loaded into MSATS.  This date is in the acknowledgement notification sent to the MDP by MSATS.











[bookmark: _Toc80450491][bookmark: _Ref82594736][bookmark: _Toc90178874][bookmark: _Toc240449648][bookmark: _Toc354131626][bookmark: _Toc367456037][bookmark: _Toc488740330][bookmark: _Toc6297637]4.5	Interval event record (400)


			Field


			Format


			Field Requirement


			Definition





			RecordIndicator


			Numeric(3)


			M


			Interval event record indicator.


Allowed value: 400.





			StartInterval


			Numeric(4)


			M


			The first Interval number that the ReasonCode/QualityMethod combination applies to.


The StartInterval must be less than or equal to the EndInterval.





			EndInterval


			Numeric(4)


			M


			The last Interval number that the ReasonCode/QualityMethod combination applies to.





			QualityMethod


			VarChar(3)


			M


			Data quality & Substitution/Estimation flag for metering data. 


The QualityMethod applies to all IntervalValues in the inclusive range defined by the StartInterval and EndInterval.


Format:  In the form QMM, where quality flag (Q) = 1 character and method flag (MM) = 2 character


Allowed values:


See quality and method tables (refer Appendices C & D).


If quality flag = “A” or “N” no method required.


The quality flag of “V” cannot be used in this record.





			ReasonCode 


			Numeric(3)


			M/N


			Reason for Substitute/Estimate or information.  


The ReasonCode applies to all IntervalValues in the inclusive range defined by the StartInterval and EndInterval. 


Not required if quality flag = ”N” or “E” but can be provided for information.


Allowed values: Refer Appendix E.





			ReasonDescription


			VarChar(240)


			N/M


			Description of ReasonCode.


Mandatory where the ReasonCode is “0”.


The ReasonDescription applies to all IntervalValues in the inclusive range defined by the StartInterval and EndInterval.











[bookmark: _Toc354131640][bookmark: _Toc367456052][bookmark: _Toc488740341]Quality flags


			Quality Flag


			Meaning of Quality Flag


			Relationship with other fields





			A


			Actual Metering Data.


As defined in Metrology Procedure Part B 


			No method flag is required if this quality flag is used.


A reason code is mandatory and must be provided for all Intervals where the meter has recorded a power outage (reason code 79), time reset (reason code 89), or tamper (reason code 61) if this quality flag is used.





			E


			Forward estimated data. 


As defined in Metrology Procedure Part B 


			A method flag is mandatory if this quality flag is used.


No reason code applies if this quality flag is used.





			F


			Final substituted data.


As defined in Metrology Procedure Part B 


			A method flag is mandatory if this quality flag is used.


A reason code is mandatory if this quality flag is used.





			N


			Null data.


As defined in Metrology Procedure Part B


			This value is not permitted in NEM13 files.


The Interval values must be set to “0” if this quality flag is used.


No method flag applies if this quality flag is used.


No reason code applies if this quality flag is used.





			S


			Substituted data.


As defined in Metrology Procedure Part B 


			A method flag is mandatory if this quality flag is used.


A reason code is mandatory if this quality flag is used.





			V


			Variable data.


This is not a formal quality flag held against individual data items.


This value may only be used as part of the QualityMethod field in the 300 record.


			This value is not permitted in NEM13 files.


No method flag applies if this quality flag is used.


No reason code applies if this quality flag is used.


Variable data.


This is not a formal quality flag held against individual data items.


This value may only be used as part of the QualityMethod field in the 300 record.














		4





image1.jpeg









CIPs/ICF_M001 Process to detect illegal reconnections CIP May 2020.docx

[image: report-masthead-marketdev]


			AEMO Information Change Paper











			Change ID or ICF Number 


			ICF_M001





			Short Title


			Process to detect illegal reconnections





			Procedure / Area Impacted


			|_|	MSATS System


[bookmark: Check1]|_|	CATS Procedure


|_|	WIGS Procedure


|_|	NEM ROLR Processes 


[bookmark: Check2]|X|	Metrology Procedure Part A


|_|	Metrology Procedure Part B


|_|	Service Level Procedure: MDP, MP, ENM (cross out unrelated 								documents)


|_|	Other, please specify:





			Subject


			Defining obligations on the MC to have secure metering installations, including a process to detect illegal reconnections














Revision History


			VERSION #


			PRESENTED TO


			DATE





			1.0


			AEMO


			





			


			


			















1. Background


AEMO received a request from Endeavour Energy to include an obligation around processes for illegal reconnection identification. The issues they identified are:


Clause 2.4.1.ix.D of the MDP SLP allows for the MDP to de-activate datastreams in MSATS where the supply of electricity has been disconnected at the service fuse. 


When a site is illegally reconnected, and the site has an accumulation meter then the illegal reconnection gets picked up at the next scheduled meter reading. 


However for a remotely read meter the illegal reconnection may not be picked up if the MDP turns off their collection process and do not have processes in place to detect illegal reconnections, e.g. periodically turning on their collection process to check if the site is energised, have meters installed that can provide an indicator/alarm when supply becomes available, have meters installed that automatically pushes the metering data to the MDP’s MDM system when supply becomes available, etc.


Under the National Electricity Rules (NER) is the obligation 7.15.2(a) for a Metering Coordinator (MC) to ensure that the metering installation is secure and that associated links, circuits and information storage and processing systems are protected by security mechanisms acceptable to AEMO.


AEMO reviewed this request and recognises that any illegal reconnection identifies that the metering installation is not secure. 


2. Scope


Define an obligation on the MC to have processes in place for having a secure metering installation including detecting illegal reconnections for sites with a remotely read meter.


3. Issues


· AEMO recognises that there are many ways to identify a metering installation has been illegally reconnected and, in a contestable market, do not believe that defining what the details of a process for detection for these instances would be appropriate. The process developed would be up to the MC to determine.


· AEMO believe the obligation should cover all types of metering installations, not simply remotely read meters. Therefore, the obligation would cover legacy MCs and contestable MCs.


4. Requirement


[bookmark: _Hlk2858065]Define in the Metrology Procedure Part A that a secure metering installation includes having processes in place for detecting illegal reconnections regardless of metering type.


5. Proposed Consultation / Release 


TBD


6. Proposed Solution(s)


A. Potential changes to Metrology Procedure Part A


Adding the following new section 13 prior to the existing Emergency Priority Procedures section


[bookmark: _Toc488741023][bookmark: _Toc6470285]13. Metering installation security


As part of metering installation security under clause 7.15.2(a) of the NER:


a) [bookmark: _GoBack]the MC must ensure that processes and systems are in place to detect energy data from metering installations with remote acquisition when the datastream is not activeillegal reconnections at a type 1, 2, 3, 4 and 4A metering installation, including when the premises are disconnected.


b) the MDP must ensure that processes and systems are in place to detect illegal reconnections at a type 5 and 6 metering installation, including when the premises are disconnected.


14. Emergency Priority Procedures





		4





image1.jpeg









ERCF Change Log.xlsx

ERCF


			Change ID
 or 
ICF Number			Procedure			Clause			Heading			Subject			Description			Change Type (Procedure Only, Procedure + Market Systems)			Proponent (Name, Organisation)			Status
(In Progress, On Hold, closed)			Next Step			Consultation Start Date (DD/MM/YYYY)			Release (DD/MM/YYYY)			Notes


			ICF_009			MSATS Procedures: CATS
Standing Data for MSATS			Section 4			Define allowable values for the controlled load field in MSATS			A list of allowable values for the ControlledLoad field be defined for each Network – similar to the current approach to defining the allowable values for the Network Tariff Code.			Currently the ControlledLoad field is mandatory in MSATS and is defined as follow in the Standing Data for MSATS document:
“Indicates whether the energy recorded by this register is created under a Controlled Load regime ControlledLoad field will have "No" if register does not relate to a Controlled Load.
If the register relates to a Controlled Load, it should contain a description of the Controlled Load regime.”
Since Power of Choice, networks are looking to validate the network tariff populated by MPs and due to the volume of new interval meters being installed automation is required.			Procedure + Market Systems			Dino Ou
Endeavour Energy			In Progress			Pre-Consultation Issues Paper			TBD			TBD			Reviewed at ERCF on 6 March 2019, CIP provided to ERCF on 22/3/2019 for review. Included in MSATS Standing Data Review.


			ICF_M001			Metrology Procedure Part A			New section			Process to detect illegal reconnections			Defining obligations on the MC to have a process to detect illegal reconnections			Clause 2.4.1.ix.D of the MDP SLP allows for the MDP to de-activate datastreams in MSATS where the supply of electricity has been disconnected at the service fuse. 
When a site is illegally reconnected and the site has an accumulation meter then the illegal reconnection gets picked up at the next scheduled meter reading. 
However for a remotely read meter the illegal reconnection may not be picked up if the MDP turns off their collection process and do not have processes in place to detect illegal reconnections, eg periodically turning on their collection process to check if the site is energised, have meters installed that can provide an indicator/alarm when supply becomes available, have meters installed that automatically pushes the metering data to the MDP’s MDM system when supply becomes available etc.			Procedure Only			Dino Ou
Endeavour Energy			Change Information Paper			Review at ERCF									The proposal to add clauses to the Metrology Procedure and Service Level Procedures are covered under the NER S7.5.1.1(e) and the related 7.15.4(b).
Re-discussed with Endeavour Energy on 25/3/2019. To be added to Guide to Role of MC. This will avoid any procedures impacting on commercial arrangements.
Needs to be worked into a procedure before anything can go in the guide. To be reviewed with Jackie after 5MS/Global consultation begins.
Change Information Paper developed, approved by metering and Dino. CIP was presented at 22/8/2019 ERCF meeting.

CIP has been updated since the Nov meeting. Updated ICF provided by Dino, tabled for discussion in March 2-020 meeting. 


			ICF_013			MSATS CATS Procedure			Section 2.9(k) and Note			Change cancellation timeframe for CR6800			Change cancellation timeframe for CR6801			Cancellation of CR6800 over 220 days where it is associated with an End of Life (EOL) meter replacement. A large number of CR6800 are cancelled before completion of EOL work, this is creating re-work for retailers and MC’s. 
Noting that end-of-life meter replacements (including failed meter families) have no associated time limits, which means that Metering Coordinators (MCs) often undertake the replacements when convenient (e.g. when the MC has a related job in the area), subject to the FRMPs requested timelines. As a result, since an EOL meter replacement will involve the generation of a CR6800, this request can remain pending for over 220 days in some instances. 
MSATS automatically cancels change requests in pending status after 220 days. This is conceptually sound, in general, as it prevents MSATS from accumulating transactions that occupy storage in the system. However, with respect to CR6800 transactions specifically, this means that the 220-day automatic cancellation causes problems, as it will cancel the work order in the MC’s systems which in turn cancels the service order back to the retailer. Essentially placing the MC in breach if they proceed to install.			Procedure + Market Systems			Robert Lo Giudice, intelliHUB			In Progress			Internal Review			TBD			TBD			Change proposal (ICF) received 21/6/2019. Included in ERCF meeting pack for 22nd August 2019. Currently looking into the new PMS reports XML and will update regarding the outcome as of 25/2.

Noura Elhawary has provided temporary solution using PMS Reports. To be included in future consultation


			ICF_015			MSATS			TBD			Metering Exemption Flag			Metering Exemption Flag			Streamline participant notification of AEMO exemptions for malfunctioning meters. Develop fields to flag when a Meter/NMI has an associated Metering Exemption.			Procedure + Market Systems			Paul Greenwood, Vector AMS			New			ICF to be developed			TBD			TBD			23/8/19: To be developed with Paul for review at future ERCF meeting. To be considered in 2020 as part of MSDR.


			ICF_016			MSATS Procedure			TBD			Reinstate MC Objection of BadParty for Vic SMALL			Reinstate MC Objection of BadParty for Vic SMALL			Since POC current MC’s have been unable to object to CR6300 (Change MC) change requests in MSATS. For Victoria where metering contestability has not yet been introduced for NMI’s with a contestable category of Small, this has resulted in Contestable MC’s raising Change RP change requests in MSATS that we have been unable to object to even though network metering is legitimately still installed on Small sites. 
Regular reports are being run and the MC/RP role corrected where possible however in some cases the metering has already been changed out causing additional work for both the contestable MC, network MC and FRMP’s to reinstate the correct metering on site.			Procedure + Market Systems			Laura Peirano, United Energy			New			AEMO Review			TBD			TBD			ICF received 22/8/19. To be included in ERCF meeting pack for 22 August 2019.
Outcome as per Customer Switching request


			ICF_017			AEMO Performance Reports						ADWNAN Reporting changes			Assignment of Interval ADWNANs to MDP in AEMO Performance Reports			Assignment of Interval ADWNANs to MDP in AEMO Performance Reports			Procedure + Market Systems			Jane Hutson, EQ			New			Consultation			TBD			TBD			To be progressed, new report to be developed for MDP


			ICF_018			MSATS Standing Data			CATS Meter register - ReadTypeCode definition			RWD5 – 5 Minute ReadTypeCode			Add new Enumeration for 5 minute interval Meters			Utilise the fourth character (as suggested by CitiPower) of the ReadTypeCode to
indicate when a meter records data at 5-minute intervals.			Procedure Only			Mark Riley, AGL			In Progress			Consultation			24/02/2020			1/7/21			Included in MSDR consultation currently underway. Effective date for change 1/7/2021. Does not require AEMO system change.


			ICF_019			Metrology Procedure			Part A, 12.5 (b)			Metrology Procedure sampling methodology			To remove the prescriptive requirements for sample testing (General inspection II and the AQL of 1.5) from the clause and clarify the suggested sampling methodology as being as a guidelines as per the MPB’s request.. 			Remove the mandatory requirements for specific sample testing methodology for clause 12.5 and clearly specify the suggested sampling methodology is only a guidelines. Remove word “AND” to be in line with Chapter 7. Like Type 4, Type 5 AMI. Need to be excluded from this requirement			Procedure			Goutham Lingam, UE 			In Progress			AEMO Review									Under consideration by AEMO Metering


			ICF_020			Service Level Procedure			MDP, MP, 4.2(iii)			SLP Clause 4.2 changes			Changes to the clause 4.2 of the SLP to avoid confusion with the terms validation vs verifications			The requirements for verification of data has been prescribed under the heading of the validation of the data which potentially results in affected MPBs and MDPs in misinterpretation of the intention of the clause.			Procedure			Goutham Lingam, UE 			In Progress			AEMO Review									Under consideration by AEMO Metering


			ICF_021			Metrology Procedure Part B			13.2.2.a.v, 13.3.2.a.iii, 13.5.2.a.v 			Removal of End User Details from the Inventory table			Removal of End User Details from the Inventory table			Remove the requirement to maintain the End User details in the Inventory Table			Procedure + Market Systems			Dino Ou, Endeavour Energy			In Progress			CIP									AEMO: 5MS Meter Package 2 submissions requested End User Detailes be added, request now asks for removal. Discussion between distributors and big 3 retailers held 31/3; ICF to progress to CIP and consultation


			ICF_022			Metrology Procedure Part A and B						Theft error			Theft error			Include specific obligation for MC to provide updated or substitution data in cases of theft or fraud for complete period impacted, to both the affected participants and the market.


tc={C4AA0829-AAA2-4033-8932-A69EB8DFA74E}: [Threaded comment]

Your version of Excel allows you to read this threaded comment; however, any edits to it will get removed if the file is opened in a newer version of Excel. Learn more: https://go.microsoft.com/fwlink/?linkid=870924

Comment:
    At present, in cases of theft or fraud, some Network MCs provide a substitute meter data file which is then populated across the affected participants and the market, while others undertake an off-market settlement.
Within the current market framework, the affected parties are the Host FRMP, the affected FRMP and the Network, as there is no impact on the market as aa whole.
However, in moving to a global market, the concept of a Host FRMP no longer exists.  Although, it could be said that at that stage, the Host FRMP is now the market as a whole, as any changes which would have previously impacted the Host now flow through to all FRMPs through Unaccounted for Energy (UFE).
 For this reason, AGL is proposing that in all cases where consumption is affected (eg CT ratios, theft etc) that the relevant MC should follow the substitution processes and submit the data to the affected participants and the market so that it is captured as part of the UFE calculation.			Procedure			Mark Riley, AGL			New			ERCF Review			TBD			TBD			AEMO doesn’t believe theft has a head of power. AEMO has concerns that will not work:
• When a LNSP and MDP are not the same parties, ie, separate business with commercial arrangements in place (not market) 
• When revenue protection roles and processes are not a consistent task undertaken by all businesses
• Scenarios of court cases where it is lengthy and the court case is thrown out (aka no theft found) and subs no longer reflect usage and off market return of funds is undertaken.
• How would ‘theft or unmetered usage’ be identified?


			ICF_023			Metrology Process Part A, SLP MDP, SLP MP			Processes			Process when remote collection of metering data fails			Process when remote collection of metering data fails			For issue 1: Define timeframes for the MDP to request the MC for an alternative method of collecting metering data.
For issue 2: Define obligations and timeframes for the MC to arrange for the investigation of a potential metering installation malfunction when the MDP notifies them of a failure to remotely collect metering data for a number of consecutive days.


tc={FDFE4F71-0D37-4250-A56A-8257AE7161DE}: [Threaded comment]

Your version of Excel allows you to read this threaded comment; however, any edits to it will get removed if the file is opened in a newer version of Excel. Learn more: https://go.microsoft.com/fwlink/?linkid=870924

Comment:
    The procedure for managing the scenario when a Metering Data Provider is unable to remotely collect metering data requires a review and update because there are different interpretations on the obligations which has led to parties claiming that they are compliant with the procedures but yet metering data was not collected in a timely manner to prevent the loss of actual metering data.
We believe that the procedure should be clear on who is obligated to take action to prevent the loss of actual metering data. This is particularly important when the appointed MC, MP or MDP for a metering installation is not the one market participant.
We believe that the procedure should be clear on when the action must be done by in order to prevent the loss of actual metering data.
We believe that the procedure should, on a high level, be as follows:
1.	Should a MDP be unable to remotely collect metering data for a number of consecutive days then they must inform the MC
2.	The MC must arrange for the MP to confirm if there is a metering installation malfunction.
3.	If there is a metering installation malfunction then the MC must arrange for the repair to be completed as per the timeframe defined in clause 7.8.10 of the NER or obtain an exemption from AEMO
4.	Regardless if there is a metering installation malfunction, AEMO has provided an exemption or there is no metering installation malfunction but there are other factors that prevent the remote collection of metering data from occurring, the MC must arrange for an alternate method of meter data collection in a timeframe that prevents the loss of actual metering data

Relevant clauses for issue 1:
Clause 7.3.2.h of the NER obligates the MC to arrange for the provision of relevant metering data to the Metering Data Provider if remote acquisition, if any, becomes unavailable
Clause 7.8.2.a.9 of the NER obligates the Metering Provider to only install meters with interval energy data storage of at least 35 days for a type 1, 2, 3 or 4 metering installation
Clause 5.3 of the SLP MP obligates the MP to use reasonable endeavours to assist the MC and the MDP with the manual collection of metering data from the metering installation where remote acquisition becomes unavailable.
Clause 3.5 of the SLP MDP obligates the MDP to operate a process that initiates an alternative method to collect metering data where remote acquisition becomes unavailable
Issue 1: 
There is no timeframe on the MDP to request the MC for an alternative method of collecting metering data. Also, there is no timeframe on the MC or MP to manually collect metering data where remote acquisition becomes unavailable. Without a timeframe defined the MC, MDP or MP can claim compliance with their obligations while operating in a manner that does not prevent the loss of actual metering data. We suggest timeframes be defined and that the timeframe be for a meter with the minimum interval energy data storage of 35 days. 

Relevant clauses for issue 2:
The term metering installation malfunction is defined in the NER for a number of scenarios including the full or partial failure to collect energy data. 
Clause 7.8.10 of the NER places timeframes on the Metering Coordinator to repair the metering installation within the following timeframe from when the Metering Coordinator is notified of the metering installation malfunction:
•	2 business days for a type 1, 2, or 3 metering installation
•	15 business days for a metering installation at a small customer’s premises
•	10 business days for all other metering installations
An exception to these timeframes is allowed when AEMO provides an exemption from these timeframes.
Clause 7.3.2.e.4 of the NER obligates the MC to ensure a communications interface is installed and maintained to facilitate connection to the telecommunications network where remote acquisition is used
Clause 3.4.b.ii of the Service Level Procedure Metering Data Services (SLP MDP) obligates the Metering Data Provider to operate a process that supports the MC, the MP, or both, in the rectification of any metering installation malfunctions or problems associated with the reading function of meters. 

Issue 2: 
Timeframes defined in clause 7.8.10 of the NER only starts when the MC is informed of a metering installation malfunction. Some metering data providers and metering coordinators do not characterize the failure to remotely collect metering data as a metering installation malfunction because the root cause could be the public telecommunications network or for other reasons eg issues with their data collection system. Therefore, until the metering provider confirms that the failure to remotely collect metering data is actually due to one of the components of the metering installation they believe that clause 7.8.10 is not applicable. This creates a gap where by participants can claim compliance with their obligations without taking any action, or delaying their actions, to confirm if a metering installation malfunction exists or not. We suggest that MC be obligated to arrange for the investigation of a potential metering installation malfunction within a defined timeframe when the MDP notifies them of a failure to remotely collect metering data for a number of consecutive days. We suggest the timeframe be defined for a meter with the minimum interval energy data storage of 35 days.			Procedure			Dino Ou, Endeavour Energy			New			ERCF Review			TBD			TBD			Rules cover this situation. These obligations are already established. More detailed timeframe for section 3.5 in SLP up for discussion in ERCF, is 5 business days long enough? Note: MDP does not have to ask permission from MC, already has obligations to perform alternative data collection methods.

Dino to quantify cost/benefit of proposed change


			ICF_025			Metrology Procedure Part B, Service Level Procedure: MDP, MP, ENM (cross out unrelated			Metrology Procedure Part B Section 2.4, MDFF Specification NEM12 NEM13			N quality Flag			Removal of ‘N’ Metering Data Quality Flag			* A historic business process, which existed outside of the rules, made use of the Quality Flag of ‘N’ for meter churn scenarios where churn occurred over 20 days.
* AEMO will accept MDFF, which does allow for Quality Flag of ‘N’. 
* Assumption is that MDPs will provide AEMO with the identical MDFFs as provided to other Participants.			Procedure			Simon Tu, AEMO			New			CIP			TBD			TBD			Discussed at March 2020 ERCF, to progress to CIP.


			ICF_026			MSATS Procedures: CATS			Table 4-D – Objection Codes or
Table 11-B – Objection Rules – CR2000/2001 
Table 13-B – Objection Rules – CR2500/2501			Enabling MC to object for NMI Classification code of NCONUML			Enable the MC to use the Objection Reason code of BADPARTY or NOTRESP for NMI Classification code of NCONUML.			With the introduction of Global Settlements, Non-Contestable Unmetered Supplies (NCONUML) will be registered in MSATS.  The role of Meter Coordinator (MC) for NCONUML as per the rules (NER C7.6.4) must be the Local Network Service Provider (LNSP).
During NMI creation of a NCONUML, if an MC, other than the LNSP was incorrectly appointed to the role of MC there is no ability to object where the NMI Class is NCONUML.
Current objection codes:
BADPARTY
The definition and usage of BADPARTY as described in (4.7 Objection codes table) is not useable with the scenario described above.
NOTRESP 
The NOTRESP objection code is only allowable where NMI Class is SMALL or LARGE.    			Procedure + Market Systems			Joe Castellano, Origin			New			AEMO review			TBD			TBD			ICF received 8/5/20


			ICF_027									ADL at datastream level


			ICF_028			NEM ROLR Processes Part A			section 17.2			In section 17.2 correct section reference and add process step to remove Failed Retailer MSATS user access.			In section 17.2 correct section reference and add process step to remove Failed Retailer MSATS user access.			Reference to “section 19” in section 17.2 should be corrected to “section 16” for consistency with section 17.1
Add new 17.2(c) 			Procedure			David Ripper, AEMO Metering			New			ERCF Review			TBD			TBD			ICF received 16/3/2020.


			ICF_029			Standing Data for MSATS version 5.0
2.	MSATS Procedures – CATS Procedure Principles and Obligations (v5.0)			Field definitions, field: ‘RegisterID’
Create NMI CRC (2500/2501) and Maintain Metering CRC’s (3000/3001, 3004/3005, 3050/3051, 3080/3081, 3090/3091, 3100/3101) 
			Amend or revert definition of the Register ID field.			Removing the requirement for the Register ID to match the NMI Suffix in MSATS as stated in the Standing Data for MSATS procedure. 			The updates to the Register ID definition that were published in version 5.0 of the Standing Data for MSATS procedure were introduced under the auspices of the 5MS/GS suite of changes with very limited prior notice or consultation as part of Metering Package 3, that interestingly was meant to only consist of administrative changes relating specifically to the 5MS/GS suite of changes. No justification was provided by AEMO for the update, despite objections being raised by Ausgrid in the Draft Consultation Stage and AusNet Services just prior to the release of the Final Determination.
Updating the Register ID to match the NMI Suffix, results in increasing duplicated data sets within MSATS, which AEMO is actively trying to reduce through the MSATS Standing Review Consultation which is currently under way.
The impact of this change to AusNet Services is significant system rework to publish the new definition and requires AusNet Services’ appointed MPB to update over 900,000 Register ID’s potentially via the equivalent volume of CRC 3051s by the end of May 2021 (as per the Final Industry Transition Plan) for no apparent benefit or justification. 			Procedure + Market Systems			Rebecca Neatnica, AusNet Services			New			AEMO review			TBD			TBD			ICF received 13/3/2020.








Completed + Not progressing


			Change ID
 or 
ICF Number			Procedure			Clause			Heading			Subject			Description			Change Type (Procedure Only, Procedure + Market Systems)			Proponent (Name, Organisation)			Status
(In Progress, On Hold, closed)			Next Step			Consultation Start Date (DD/MM/YYYY)			Release (DD/MM/YYYY)			Notes


			Change ID_001			MSATS Procedures: CATS			N/a			Multiple ENMs have the ability to create a NMI for one site			MSATS has ability for multiple ENMs to create multiple NMI’s for a single site			
The introduction of the Embedded Network Manager (ENM) rule change obligates an ENM to create a NMI in MSATS for child connection points. ENMs have been allocated their own block of NMI’s and validation has been implemented to only allow that ENM to create NMIs within the NMI block they have been allocated. The introduction of this rule also requires AEMO to record the Exempt Embedded Network Service Providers as part of NMI Standing Data. This has proven to be a challenge and there is a risk that not all the EENOs will populated in MSATS in the short term.
i. Retailers will not have any visibility of who the EENO is for an embedded network.
ii. Without that visibility retailers will not know who to contact to find out who the ENM is for the embedded network.
iii. Not knowing the ENM will inhibit getting a NMI created for a child customer of the embedded network.
iv. ENMs can create NMIs in MSATS from their block of NMI’s without any validation as to whether that site has already had a NMI created, either by them or another ENM.			Procedure + Market Systems			Jackie Krizmanic - AEMO			Not proceeding												A. Potential changes to MSATS:
1. Have ENM populated in the Embedded Network Table for each EN.
2. Validation against this table when a NMI is created to ensure only the ENM can create NMI.
3. When ENM changes obligation to advise AEMO of the changes so AEMO can update Embedded Network Table.

B. Potential changes to CATS Procedure
1. Move clause 4.18 (f) to Section 2.10 (AEMO suggest it becomes point (b) in this section)
(b)  The ENM must provide AEMO with the name of the EENSP and the associated Embedded Network Code within 5 business days of being appointed as the ENM. 
2. Add a new clause to Section 2.10 (AEMO suggest it becomes point (c) in this section)
(c)  Failure to provide the information in (b) may result in the ENM not being able to create NMI’s for that Embedded Network Code



			ICF_002			MSATS Procedures: CATS			36.			CR6700/6701 CHANGE ROLE - Change MPB or MPC or Both - Small or Large			Why does the provision of the Actual Change Date by the MDP only relate to the prospective change? 			 It is assumed this is based on the 6800 Change Multiple Roles, where the ability to object for DATEBAD has only ever applied to the prospective change.
The objection of DATEBAD should be available to the MDP as it is for the CR6800 Change Multiple Roles. The objection should also apply to the retrospective changes for both CRs 6701/6801 as an incorrect Proposed Change Date could be provided on both the prospective and retrospective changes.			Procedure + Market Systems			Tango Energy Malcolm Hampel			Completed			MSATS Configuration in Prod 3/5/2019			7/26/18			5/20/19			This change was raised by Tango Energy during POC package 3 consultation however was missed by AEMO during consultation.
While AEMO agree that this is a reasonable suggestion this would be a change to the procedure that we believe would require further consultation.


						MSATS Procedures: CATS			31.			CR6200/6210 CHANGE ROLE - Change MDP - Small or Large			BADPARTY Objections			
Where the CR has been raised by the FRMP (e.g. on behalf of the Large customer) but the MC does not have a relationship with the nominated MDP, then the Current MC should be able to object ‘BADPARTY’.
As there is a new requirement for the MDP to provide a 1500 for the actual change date, it is expected, as with other change of role CRs that require the 1500 to be provided, the objection of DATEBAD would be available to the MDP. Also, that the objection should apply to the retrospective change as an incorrect Proposed Change Date could be provided on both the prospective and retrospective changes.			Procedure + Market Systems																		This change was raised by Tango Energy during POC package 3 consultation however was missed by AEMO during consultation.
While AEMO agree that this is a reasonable suggestion this would be a change to the procedure that we believe would require further consultation.


						MSATS Procedures: CATS			42.3.2			NMI Discovery Search 2 - NMI Standing Data Access Rules			Table 42C – Common Standing Data Items Returned to the FRMP or LNSP for a NMI Discovery Search Type 2:			
A review of the above Table indicates it is missing the Meter Status field. I assume this field will continue to be returned in the response and this is just an oversight in the Procedures.			Procedure																		This change was raised by Tango Energy during POC package 3 consultation however was missed by AEMO during consultation.
Yes Meter Status field will continue to be returned. Procedures should be corrected at the first available opportunity.


						MSATS Procedures: CATS			9.			CHANGE RETAILER - Embedded Networks - Small or Large			BADPARTY Objections			For change retailer embedded networks, the Current MC can object for BADPARTY where the NMI class is Large and the jurisdiction is NSW; why?			Procedure																		This change was raised by Tango Energy during POC package 3 consultation however was missed by AEMO during consultation.
This is an error that should be corrected at the earliest available opportunity (at the time of the next consultation on this document).  The Current MC should not be able to object for these CRs.


						MSATS Procedures: CATS			18.7			Objection Rules			BADPARTY Objections			Also why is the BADDATA objection not applicable to Small NMIs in QLD?			Procedure																		This change was raised by Tango Energy during POC package 3 consultation however was missed by AEMO during consultation.
This is an error in the 6200 CR that should be corrected at the earliest available opportunity.  BADDATA should be available to ALL classifications and ALL jurisdictions for change MDP CRs (6200).



			Change ID_003			MSATS Procedures: CATS			N/a			Enabling a NMI to be transferred on a greenfield site 			NMI allocated to a retailer in MSATS and a supply connect service is arranged by a different Retailers.			Version 3.0 of the B2B Service Order Procedures allows a prospective Retailer(A) to raise an Allocate NMI and an Establish Supply. This could potentially mean an Allocate NMI could be raised by one Retailer and an Establish Supply raised by another Retailer (B).
There is now risk the standing data in MSATS where Retailer B is the retailer the customer has chosen and not retailer A. The other roles could also potentially be incorrect as they are not the service providers and or MC retailer B has appointed to perform the work
MSATS cannot be updated with the retailer B details (per the example above) as the FRMP until a meter has been installed.			Procedure + Market Systems			AEMO
Jackie Krizmanic			Completed			MSATS Configuration in Prod 3/5/2019			7/26/18			5/20/19


			Change ID_004			MSATS Procedures: CATS			8.			Use of DATEBAD Objection Code for  CR1024 - MDP Objections			The current MDP does not have the ability to object to a CR 1024 where the MDP is not changing and the proposed transfer date does not have a corresponding meter reading.			Under the new CATS rules the FRMP is not required to nominate the new MDP (now an optional field), therefore where the MDP is not changing, the current MDP does not have the ability to object to a CR 1024 with the objection code of DATEBAD. If the FRMP has raised a CR 1024 with an invalid proposed transfer date (where a meter reading does not exist in order to complete the transfer) the MDP is unable to object as there is not a valid objection code for them to use.			Procedure + Market Systems			AEMO
Paul Lefavi			Completed			MSATS Configuration in Prod 3/5/2019			7/26/18			5/20/19


			ICF_005			MSATS Procedures: CATS			42			MC (NMI) Standing Data Search			Enable a prospective MC appointed by the customer to conduct NMI standing data search for customer churn purposes.			Metering Coordinators (MC), are being engaged by retailers to manage market transactions nominating themselves as the MC for Large customer sites. There are a number of ‘Large’ customers that have tails to ‘Small’ sites that are part of a collective agreement with an MC/MP of their choice, however the MC is not able to raise a CR 6300 under the rules. MSATS allows for a Change Request transaction to take place but the rules state that this cannot be performed by the MC, it can only be performed by the FRMP.
The prospective MC has no current visibility of the NMI Classification or other market particpants (namely the current MPB/MPC/MDP) for the site or any other MSATS Standing Data until a C7 report is made available, (C7 does not return NMI Classification) which is after the raising of the market CR.			Procedure + Market Systems			Acumen Metering
Robert Lo Giudice			Completed			MSATS Configuration in Prod 3/5/2019			7/26/18			5/20/19


			ICF_006			MSATS Procedures: CATS						Network Tariff Allocation by MPB’s			Where there is a mandatory requirement for MPB’s to provide the NTC in any Market CR it should be changed to an optional field.			The Network Tariff Code – NTC is owned by the LNSP, but the MPB is required to provide the NTC as part of several MSATS change requests.
MPB’s that are being engaged by FRMP’s or MC’s to initially install, churn or update meter details are allowed under the MSATS Procedures to update the NTC that the LNSP has approved in the CR 300X and CR 305X market transactions.  The NTC is a mandatory field in both these CR types and therefore must be populated by the MPB.
Issues/Challenges:
• FRMP’s do not always know what the NTC is/should be.
• MPB takes instruction from the FRMP or MC and therefore can cause delays for the MPB to perform their duties in reference to the physical install and intern the MSATS update if the NTC is not provided via the Service Order or MRF. This ultimately delays the customer new connection or change of meter.
• Increase in Network Billing disputes ultimately impacting the customer. 
			Procedure			Acumen Metering
Robert Lo Giudice			Completed			Release Final MSATS Procedure			7/26/18			5/20/19			Note: procedural update only


			ICF_010			MSATS Procedures: CATS			Section 2.3			NMI status activation date when advanced unit on accumulation metering data is detected			When the date of reconnection cannot be identified then an agreed approach for determining the deemed connection date is required.			Electricity consumption is determined from an accumulation meter by calculating the difference between the current meter reading and the previous meter reading. However, accumulation meters can't discern when the electricity was used.
It is not uncommon for advanced units to be identified when an accumulation meter is read. An ‘advanced unit’ is when consumption is identified for premises that is last known to be, and should still be, disconnected. In most cases this scenario occurs when the customer reconnects the electricity supply themselves without the permission from the network, therefore it is also known as an illegal reconnection.
Although the consumption can be determined on an advanced unit it is harder to determine when the premises was reconnected. At best it cold be surmised that the premises was illegally reconnected sometime between when the Network performed the disconnection or last confirmed zero consumption (whichever is the later) and when the advanced unit was detected.
Determining the date of the illegal reconnection is required in order to send the consumption to market participants and AEMO, and to update the NMI status.
It is current common practice for the illegally reconnection date to be deemed when the Network performed the disconnection or last confirmed zero consumption (whichever is the later). However, AEMO recently confirmed that their weekly compliance report expects the update of NMI status to be done within 5 business days and therefore suggested that the date of the illegal reconnection be deemed no greater than 5 business days prior to when the advanced unit was identified.
At minimum the date range for the consumption can be 1 day but this may make the average daily load very high for that consumption period and distort market settlements. Making the consumption period 5 business days is better than 1 day but still has the same issue where the average daily load may be very high for that consumption period and distort market settlements.
The procedures are currently silent on this scenario - an agreed market approach for managing advanced units for accumulation meter reads is required.			Procedure			Dino Ou
Endeavour Energy			Closed			Not proceeding									Reviewed at ERCF on 6 March 2019, AEMO Metering reviewed CIP and decided not to proceed as it is not traceable and is in conflict with 2.3.(i). Endeavour Energy advised if it wishes to proceed further it needs to provide an alternative proposal.


			ICF_M006			MDP Service Level Procedure			clause 2.4.3			Obligations to Collect, Process and Deliver Reactive and Other Metering Data			Obligations to Collect, Process and Deliver Reactive and Other Metering Data			The service level procedure requires the MDP to collect, process, store and deliver metering data associated with reactive energy where the metering installation ‘is configured to measure reactive energy’.
PLUS ES contends the obligation to deliver such metering data should only be applied to instances where:-
a)	the metering installation ‘is configured to measure reactive energy’; and
b)	reactive energy is required in support of the network tariff.
Services providers should be able to collect metering data from a connection point without having to provide it to all registered participants unless the provision of such data is required to support the network tariff or the settlement process.
Specifically, in relation to reactive energy, the service provider should have the option to:-
c)	configure the metering installation to measure reactive energy without having an obligation to collect it (unless the network tariff requires it); or
d)	collect reactive energy from the metering installation without having an obligation to deliver it (unless the network tariff requires it).			Procedure Only			Stephen Zok
PlusES			Closed			Not proceeding									The proposal to change Service Level Procedure: Metering Data Provider Services clause 2.4.3. is in conflict with NER 7.10.1(a)(7) which includes provision of collected reactive data within metering data and settlements data, and NER 3.15.5B from the Global Settlement final Rule requiring AEMO to report on and analyse Unaccounted For Energy.  NER 3.15.5B(c) places obligations on participants, including MDPs, to provide information and assistance to AEMO for AEMO to prepare the report and analysis.


			ICF_012									Extending ROCL to Embedded Network Participants			Extending ROCL to Embedded Network Participants			Participants and AEMO need to be able to contact each other to undertake a variety of activities to resolve and follow up issues related to the delivery of customer services. This is achieved through the use of the NEM Retail Operations Contacts List (ROCL).
The increase in the number of Embedded Network Operators / Embedded Network Managers and the upcoming registration of Embedded Network Service Providers and Off Market Retailers and their need to interact with existing registered participants has led to a substantial amount of work in identification of appropriate operational personnel as these businesses are not required to make that information available.			Procedure			Mark Riley, AGL			Not proceeding			Internal Review									ICF received 8/5/19. Distributed for internal review 9/5/19. Presented to ERCF on 23/5/19. Review of head of power underway. Closed in Nov 19 meeting as no head of power.


			ICF_014			MSATS CATS Procedure			Section 9.9			Retailer Transfer Change Request Status Notification Rules – Embedded Networks			Retailer Transfer Change Request Status Notification Rules – Embedded Networks			For a prospective CR108X to complete, the MDP needs to publish CR1500 Provide Actual Change Date. They can only do this if the NMI status is A. If the Child NMI is off market (NMI status N), then the MDP will not publish the CR1500.
The ENM participant (published in the LNSP Role) is responsible for changing the NMI Status from N to A, however, if the LNSP Role only receives the COMPLETED Status Change of the CR108X, they are not notified of a requirement to change the NMI status using market transactions therefore making it difficult for the ENM to meet their obligation.
Update the Change Request Status Notification Rules so that LNSP receives all CR Statuses, not just COMPLETED. 			Procedure + Market Systems			Joe Castellano, Origin Energy 			Not proceeding			ERCF Review			TBD			TBD			Change proposal (ICF) received 26/6/2019. Included in ERCF meeting pack for 22nd August 2019. Withdrawn by Origin on 7/10 due to Customer Switching changes making this redundant. 


			ICF_007			MSATS Procedures: CATS			Section 2.5, CR3050 and CR3051			Updating MSATS about remote de- energisation and remote re- energisation			For a consistent market approach the MSATS Procedure should define the dates MPs must use when updating MSATS about remote de-energisations and remote re- energisations.			The MSATS Procedure places an obligation on the MP to update MSATS when a meter is remotely de-energised and remotely re-energised (clause 2.5.h). However it does not define what date to use when updating MSATS. There is a risk that MPs may apply different logic to determine the date to use when updating MSATS which will lead to confusion within the market.			Procedure			Dino Ou
Endeavour Energy			Completed			Consultation			5/20/19			5/20/20			Reviewed at ERCF on 6 March 2019, CIP provided to ERCF on 22/3/2019 for review.  Included in May 2019 consultation.


			ICF_008			MSATS Procedures: CATS			Section 2.4			Define timeframes for updating datastreams in MSATS			Create or update the datastream within 2 business days from the time the meter is installed/removed or when the meter is reconfigured or the metering installation is re-energised or the MDP becomes the Current MDP			Clause 2.4.1.a.iv of the MDP SLP states “Each MDP - Category D must manage the registration of connection point Datastreams in accordance with the timeframes specified in the MSATS Procedures”. 
However clause 2.4.g of the CATS Procedure states “The New MDP must configure the Datastream as ‘A’ (Active) or ‘I’ (Inactive) in accordance with the Service Level Procedure (MDP)”.
It looks like each document reference the other for the timeframe but none of them actually specify the timeframe.
It should be noted that metering data can not be delivered to MSATS unless the datastream is activated. Therefore, any delay in activating datastreams will also delay the delivery of metering data to MSATS. 			Procedure			Dino Ou
Endeavour Energy			Completed			Consultation			5/20/19			5/20/20			Reviewed at ERCF on 6 March 2019, CIP provided to ERCF on 22/3/2019 for review.  Included in May 2019 consultation.


			ICF_011			MSATS Procedures: CATS			Section 4.18			Clarifying the LNSP’s obligations in relation to creating Embedded Network Codes.			Clarifying the LNSP’s obligations in relation to creating Embedded Network Codes.			The current wording of the sections 4.18 (b), (c) & (d) have the potential to be incorrectly interpreted and lack obligation timeframes.			Procedure			Demi Chau, AEMO			Completed			Consultation			5/20/19			5/20/20			CIP provided to ERCF on 22/3/2019 for review.  Included in May 2019 consultation.


			ICF_M002			Metrology Procedure: Part A			Part A - 3.1 (b), (c) and (d)			CT and VT Standards to include IEC61869			CT and VT Standards to include IEC61869			The Metrology Procedures require CTs and VTs to meet the relevant requirements of AS60044, clause 3.1(b), (c), and that they must comply with current Australian Standards, clause 3.1(d).  
All metering CTs and VTs are now manufactured overseas, and as such are usually specified and tested to IEC61869 that replaced IEC60044 many years ago and is considered the international industry standard.
AS60044 and IEC61869 have been compared and an engineering report produced showing no material differences between these standards.			Procedure Only			Tom Cole
Metering Dynamics			Completed			Consultation			5/20/19			5/20/20			Reviewed at ERMCF on 6 March 2019, CIP provided to ERMCF on 22/3/2019 for review. Included in May 2019 consultation.


			ICF_M003			Metrology Procedure Part B			Section 6			Linear interpolation substitution type for accumulation metering installations			Linear interpolation substitution type for accumulation metering installations			When a validated actual read for an accumulation meter has a reading that is lower than the previous substituted read then the substituted read can either be deleted or re-substituted.
If re-substituted then using method type 61 or 62 would not be suitable because that is what is causing the issue. Sometimes using another method type like 63 or 65 may be suitable but sometimes that still provides a read that is still higher than the latest validated actual read and therefore it is also not suitable.
Another method that would always be suitable for the above scenario is the liner interpolation method whereby the reading is calculated using the ADL between 2 validated meter reading and applying this ADL pro-rated to the number of days for the substituted read.
This method is currently not available as a standard substitution method, therefore it can only be used if reasonable endeavours to form an agreement was made with impacted participants.			Procedure Only			Dino Ou
Endeavour Energy			Completed			Consultation			5/20/19			5/20/20			Question was raised by AEMO about difference between S63 & S69. Endeavour Energy provided how the calculations provided different results in some cases. Reviewed at ERMCF on 6 March 2019, CIP provided to ERMCF on 28/3/2019 for review. Included in May 2019 consultation.


			ICF_M004			Metrology Procedure: Part A
SLP MDP
SLP MP
MSATS Procedures: CATS			Section 2
Clause 2.1
Clause 4.1			Communication for identification of incorrect NMI and metering installation			Communication for identification of incorrect NMI and metering installation			It is not uncommon for metering installations to be linked to the incorrect NMI. This could be the result of human error when commissioning the meter or the landlord has decided to renumber premises without notifying a market participant. This type of issue is usually identified through customer complaints of high bills or no supply, or by a field technician. 
The correction required can be complex and can span many years in the past, and therefore requires good communication and coordination between impacted market participants and impacted end use customers.
There have been instances where this type of issue was identified and corrected by the MC/MP/MDP with little or no communication and coordination. This resulted in poor outcomes for the end use customer due to the confusion it caused and extra work on impacted market participants.			Procedure Only			Dino Ou
Endeavour Energy			Completed			Consultation			5/20/19			5/20/20			Reviewed at ERMCF on 6 March 2019, CIP provided to ERMCF on 22/3/2019 for review. Revised and added into CATS changes. Included in May 2019 consultation.


			ICF_M005			MDP Service Level Procedure			Section 2.4			Delivery of metering data while the NMI status is not Active			Defining an obligation to deliver metering data while the NMI status is not Active			Clause 3.12.2 of the MDP SLP places an obligation on the MDP to deliver metering data within 2 business days of the Actual Meter Readings being received into the metering data services database or when the metering data is substituted or estimated. Note that the SLA for delivery of metering data to market participants is not dependent on NMI status or datastream status. However some MDPs have configured their system to only deliver metering data when the NMI status is active which causes delays in the delivery of metering data and communicating the existence of illegal reconnections.
This issue was raised in October 2013 at the MDP Working Group and AEMO stated:
Clause 6.11 of the SLP advises that MDP’s must deliver data within 2 business days. The clauses do not stipulate whether the NMI has to be active or not. If the metering data has passed validation then it must be delivered to AEMO and participants. AEMO therefore believes that if the MDP receives data from the meter and that data passes validation then the MDP must activate the data streams and provide data to AEMO and participants
Note that the above clause reference is to the SLP that was current at October 2013.
At the time AEMO decided not to update the MDP SLP as they believed the wording of the SLP along with the above clarification was sufficient. This was true because MDPs started to change their systems to comply.
However recently we have discovered that some MDPs have configured their systems to not deliver metering data while the NMI status is not Active and finding that we are going through the same arguments as before			Procedure Only			Dino Ou
Endeavour Energy			Completed			Consultation			5/20/19			5/20/20			Reviewed at ERMCF on 6 March 2019, CIP provided to ERMCF on 22/3/2019 for review. Included in May 2019 consultation.


			ICF_M007			Metrology Procedure: Part A			Clause 12.5.			Verification of Metering Data for whole current Small Customer Metering Installations, Type 4A, 5, 6 and 7 Metering Installations 			Verification of Metering Data for whole current Small Customer Metering Installations, Type 4A, 5, 6 and 7 Metering Installations 			AS2490 standard is obsolete now. 
It also does not make sense for meter data to be applied with a variables approach due to different tariff structures that may be programmed in the meter (i.e. single-phase, three-phase, peak off peak, solar etc).
What is the measure for normality here? This is also a key component of being able to use variables.
AQL 1.5 was chosen as it allowed for consideration of smaller families vs a balance of acceptance of mismatches.
As three new clauses were added, the old clauses (b) onwards now becomes clauses (e) onwards
Also clarified the wording to ensure it is clear that the expectation is once every 12 months.			Procedure			Dominik Ziomek, AEMO			Completed			Consultation			5/20/19			5/20/20			Reviewed at ERMCF on 6 March 2019, CIP provided to ERMCF on 22/3/2019 for review. Included in May 2019 consultation.


			ICF_M008			Service Level Procedure - ENM			Clause 2.1.2
Clause 4.2.1
Clause 4.2.2
Clause 4.3.3			Clarifying ENM’s obligations with respect to DLFs and Network Tariff Codes and that the EN for which the ENM has been appointed has an exemption by the AER			Clarifying ENM’s obligations with respect to DLFs and Network Tariff Codes and that the EN for which the ENM has been appointed has an exemption by the AER			Update the Service Level Procedure: Embedded Network Manager clarify the process for DLF and Network Tariff Code, and to add a requirement for the ENM to ensure that when they are appointed to provide ENM services for an EN, that EN has been exempted by the AER. 			Procedure			Demi Chau, AEMO			Completed			Consultation			5/20/19			5/20/20			CIP provided to ERMCF on 29/3/2019 for review. Included in May 2019 consultation.


			ICF_024			MSATS CATS Procedure, Allocation of Embedded Network Codes			N/A			Embedded Network Codes			Embedded Network Codes			ENMs to have the ability to create Embedded Network Codes for population
in MSATS by AEMO 			Procedure			Marco Bogaers, Metropolis			Not proceeding			ERCF Review									AEMO believes that it has provided a solution to the problem by adding an obligation on the LNSP as per the MSATS procedure changes in the Metering ICF package (effective 20 May 2020)  clause 4.18 (iv)
(iv) The LNSP must provide the Embedded Network Code to AEMO within 5 business days from the time it receives the request from the embedded network owner or the ENM acting on behalf of the embedded network owner.








Legend


			Legend


			Not proceeding


			In progress


			Awaiting participant response


			Completed












ICFs/ICF_009 Allowable values for controlled load field Endeavour Energy.docx






















			ISSUE / CHANGE FORM – SUMMARY SECTION
(Template focuses on issue/change identification and impact.)











			ICF Number 


(AEMO to complete)


			ICF_009





			Version #


			1.0





			Proponent Name


			Dino Ou


			Company


			Endeavour Energy





			Proponent Title


			Define allowable values for the controlled load field in MSATS


			Proponent Contact No


			02 9853 4939


04 232 99 750





			Proponent e-mail


			Dino.ou@endeavourenergy.com.au


			Date lodged with AEMO


			





			Procedure Impacted


			CATS Procedure and Standing Data for MSATS





			Areas Impacted


			(I.e. Section No. and/or CR 10XX)


Section 4





			Short Description / Title


			Defining allowable values for the controlled load field in MSATS





			Other key contact information 


			

















			VERSION #


			PRESENTED TO


			DATE





			


			


			





			


			


			











[image: report-masthead-marketdev]


.


ERCF ICF		Page 1


			ISSUE / CHANGE – DETAILED REPORT SECTION











			1. Detailed description of Issue / Change


			Currently the ControlledLoad field is mandatory in MSATS and is defined as follow in the Standing Data for MSATS document:


“Indicates whether the energy recorded by this register is created under a Controlled Load regime ControlledLoad field will have "No" if register does not relate to a Controlled Load.


If the register relates to a Controlled Load, it should contain a description of the Controlled Load regime.”


However below are the values currently populated in MSATS by contestable MPs in Endeavour Energy’s network area:


			CONTROLLEDLOAD


			Count





			N


			252241





			No


			178925





			NONE


			70675





			Controlled Load Off Peak 1


			29059





			Yes


			24966





			Controlled Load Off Peak 2


			14790





			Y


			9068





			CONTROLLED LOAD SAMPLE METER


			62





			 


			11





			0


			11





			EXTERNAL


			7





			1


			7





			NESN


			3





			NOI


			2





			Controlled Load Off Peak1


			1





			INTERVAL


			1





			Actual


			1





			B


			1





			CONTROL


			1





			Cumulative


			1





			N`


			1





			NFIT


			1











Since Power of Choice, networks are looking to validate the network tariff populated by MPs and due to the volume of new interval meters being installed automation is required.





			2. Market Impact 


			Without a defined list of allowable values for the ControlledLoad field exceptions and manual work is required to confirm the network tariff and any dispute over the network bill.





			3. Requirements / Specific Proposal


			A list of allowable values for the ControlledLoad field be defined for each Network – similar to the current approach to defining the allowable values for the Network Tariff Code.





For example, Endeavour Energy will be seeking the following as allowable values:





No


Off Peak 1


Off Peak 2





MSATS should validate the value in the ControlledLoad field against this list of allowable values.





			4. Proposed Solution/s


			A list of allowable values for the ControlledLoad field be defined for each Network – similar to the current approach to defining the allowable values for the Network Tariff Code.


MSATS validate the value in the ControlledLoad field against this list of allowable values.





			5. Market benefits for industry as a whole


			(Must address National Electricity Objective requirements)


NEO: the objective of this Law is to promote efficient investment in, and efficient operation and use of, electricity services for the long term interests of consumers of electricity with respect to: (a) price, quality, safety, reliability, and security of supply of electricity; and (b) the reliability, safety and security of the national electricity system.





The issue raised only relates to the price component of the NEO.


Resolving this issue would reduce exceptions and manual work required to confirm the network tariff and any dispute over the network bill.





			6. Customer benefits


(consumers)


			Customers will have better confidence that the market is operating in an efficient manner and that they are receiving bills based on the correct rates.


Reduced overall industry cost would flow on to customers in the long term through reduced exceptions and manual work required to confirm the network tariff.





			7. Workaround/s


(if necessary)


			





			8. Supporting Documentation


(attach if necessary)


			[bookmark: _GoBack]ICF_009 Define allowable values for the controlled load field in MSATS Supporting Documentation





			9. Any critical timelines to consider?


			With increased volume of interval meter being installed, this should be resolved as soon as possible





			10. AEMO’s preliminary assessment of the proposal 


			(This is to be left blank)





















			NEM ISSUE / CHANGE – RELEVANT ATTACHMENT(S)











			ATTACHMENT A





Proposed changes: {Procedure Name}


Red strikeout means delete and 
blue underline means insert











image1.jpeg









ICFs/ICF_013 CR6800 AEMO cancellation timeframes intelliHUB.docx










			ISSUE / CHANGE FORM – SUMMARY SECTION
(Template focuses on issue/change identification and impact.)











			ICF Number 


(AEMO to complete)


			





			Version #


			1.0





			Proponent Name


			Robert Lo Giudice


			Company


			intelliHUB





			Proponent Title


			Manager, Metering Coordinator & Operations


			Proponent Contact No


			03 8610 3544





			Proponent email


			robert.logiudice@intellihub.com.au


			Date lodged with AEMO


			





			Procedure Impacted


			|X|	MSATS System


[bookmark: Check1]|X|	MSATS CATS Procedure


|_|	MSATS WIGS Procedure


|_|	NEM ROLR Processes 


|_|	Metrology Procedure Part A


|_|	Metrology Procedure Part B


|_|	Service Level Procedure: MDP, MP, ENM (cross out unrelated 								documents)


|_|	Other, please specify:





			Areas Impacted


			(I.e. Section No. and/or CR 10XX)





			


			CATS Section 2.9(k) and Note





			Short Description / Title


			Change cancellation timeframe for CR6800





			Other key contact information 


			














			VERSION #


			PRESENTED TO


			DATE





			


			


			





			


			


			








ERCF Issue-Change Form [image: Header]








ERCF ICF		Page 5


			ISSUE / CHANGE – DETAILED REPORT SECTION











			1. Detailed description of Issue / Change


			Cancellation of CR6800 over 220 days where it is associated with an End of Life (EOL) meter replacement.


A large number of CR6800 are cancelled before completion of EOL work, this is creating re-work for retailers and MC’s. 


Noting that end-of-life meter replacements (including failed meter families) have no associated time limits, which means that Metering Coordinators (MCs) often undertake the replacements when convenient (e.g. when the MC has a related job in the area), subject to the FRMPs requested timelines. As a result, since an EOL meter replacement will involve the generation of a CR6800, this request can remain pending for over 220 days in some instances. 





MSATS automatically cancels change requests in pending status after 220 days. This is conceptually sound, in general, as it prevents MSATS from accumulating transactions that occupy storage in the system. However, with respect to CR6800 transactions specifically, this means that the 220-day automatic cancellation causes problems, as it will cancel the work order in the MC’s systems which in turn cancels the service order back to the retailer. Essentially placing the MC in breach if they proceed to install.





AEMO statistics show the following volumes:


			Type of CRs cancelled beyond 220 days open


			Jan-19


			Feb-19


			Mar-19


			Apr-19





			All cancelled CRs


			3,322


			4,299


			9,651


			7,991





			CR1000 series 


(as a % of cancelled CRs)


			2.3%


			0.8%


			0.4%


			0.8%





			CR6800 only 


(as a % of cancelled CRs)


			97.7%


			99.0%


			99.5%


			99.2%





			CR6800 initiated by MCs


(as a % of cancelled CRs)


			84.0%


			91.1%


			92.4%


			91.7%





			Other CRs (6200, 6700)


(as a % of cancelled CRs)


			0%


			0.2%


			0.1%


			0%











Various options to address this issue have been discussed at the ERCF held on 23 May 2019. The options discussed, noting the MSATS system impacts, are:


1. Remove CR6800 from AEMO’s automatic cancellation process -requires MSATS system changes as the logic in MSATS does not identify individual CR codes and may remove the benefits of storage maintenance in MSATS.


2. Increase the number of days for AEMO to cancel the open CR6800 to 730 days (2 years) - requires MSATS system change as the logic in MSATS does not identify individual CR codes.


3. Increase the number of days for AEMO to cancel all open CRs to 730 days (2 years) - requires MSATS configuration change only.


4. AEMO send a report to participants a few days before the cancellation so that MC’s can either escalate the meter replacement or cancel and re raise the CR 6800. - requires new AEMO report to be developed and automatic scheduling enabled for delivery to participants.


5. Scrap the CR cancellation process altogether. This may have impacts to some retailer processes and could pose volume concerns for AEMO systems.





			2. Market Impact 


			Remove unnecessary re-work for retailers and MC’s and potential breaches where timelines are known to be lengthy (and in some cases subject to exemptions that are not visible in MSATS).





			3. Requirements / Specific Proposal


			intelliHUB’s preferred proposal is to change:


CATS 2.9:


Note: An automatic nightly MSATS process will Cancel/Withdraw dormant Change Requests that exceed 220 days except for CR6800.





			4. Proposed Solution/s


			(Must address the Retail Electricity Market Procedures)





			


			Solution options in preference order:


1. Remove CR6800 from AEMO’s automatic cancellation process 


2. Increase the number of days for AEMO to cancel the open CR6800 to 730 days (2 years)


3. Increase the number of days for AEMO to cancel all open CRs to 730 days (2 years)


4. AEMO send a report to participants five business days before the cancellation so that MCs can either escalate the meter replacement or cancel and re raise the CR 6800.


5. Scrap the CR cancellation process altogether. 





			5. Law/Rule and clauses enabling change


			(Must address head of power in governing law/rule)





			


			NER 7.16.2





			5. Market benefits for industry as a whole


			(Must address National Electricity Objective and/or National Energy Retail Objective requirements)


NEO: the objective of this Law is to promote efficient investment in, and efficient operation and use of, electricity services for the long term interests of consumers of electricity with respect to: (a) price, quality, safety, reliability, and security of supply of electricity; and (b) the reliability, safety and security of the national electricity system.


NERO: The objective of this Law is to promote efficient investment in, and efficient operation and use of, energy services for the long term interests of consumers of energy with respect to price, quality, safety, reliability and security of supply of energy.





			


			The issue raised only relates to the price component of the NEO.


With a change to the cancellation timeframes applied to CR6800 there will be reduced confusion and less work on market participants.





			6. Customer benefits


(consumers)


			Customers have the confidence that the market is operating in an efficient manner as well as reduced overall industry cost would flow on to customers in the long term through reduced re-work of existing system change requests and work orders.





			7. Workaround/s


(if necessary)


			Preferred workaround is option 4: AEMO send a report to participants five business days before the cancellation so that MCs can either escalate the meter replacement or cancel and re raise the CR 6800. Otherwise there are no applicable workarounds.





			8. Supporting Documentation


(attach if necessary)


			[bookmark: _GoBack]N/A





			9. Any critical timelines to consider?


			N/A





			10. AEMO’s preliminary assessment of the proposal 


			(This is to be left blank)





















			NEM ISSUE / CHANGE – RELEVANT ATTACHMENT(S)











			ATTACHMENT A





Proposed changes: {Procedure Name}


Red strikeout means delete and 
blue underline means insert














2.9 [bookmark: _Ref237237215][bookmark: _Toc345508420][bookmark: _Toc528072317]AEMO


AEMO must:


0. Continue to invoice (as per NER requirements) the Current FRMP for a Tier 2 Site until it is transferred to another FRMP in accordance with these Procedures.


Enter the DLF Codes provided by an LNSP into MSATS within two business days of receipt.


Maintain changes to codes and rules in MSATS in accordance with the MSATS Procedures. AEMO must correct any discrepancies as soon as practicable once identified.


Use the BCT to transfer to the nominated RoLR the CATS Standing Data for all connection points associated with a Current FRMP that has been suspended from operating in the market.


Populate MSATS with the Embedded Network Code that had been provided to AEMO by the LNSP within two business days of receipt.


Maintain the TNI records in MSATS.


Populate MSATS with the NSP2 for the appropriate WIGS NMIs.


Provide, on request from the New ENM, a set/range of NMIs to that New ENM for allocation by that ENM to child connection points.


Provide, on request from a Current ENM, one or more NMIs to that Current ENM for allocation by that ENM to the newly formed child connection points.


Where required to Object to a Change Request, use the most appropriate Objection Code. If there is no Objection Code that describes the reason for the Objection, AEMO must use the BLOCK Objection Code.


AEMO may:


Cancel/withdraw any incomplete retail transfers after 7 months from the date of Initiation.


Note: An automatic nightly MSATS process will Cancel/Withdraw dormant Change Requests that exceed 220 days except for CR6800.





image1.jpeg









ICFs/ICF_015 Streamline Exemption Notification.docx










			ISSUE / CHANGE FORM – SUMMARY SECTION
(Template focuses on issue/change identification and impact.)











			ICF Number 


(AEMO to complete)


			015





			Version #


			





			Proponent Name


			[bookmark: _GoBack]Paul Greenwood


			Company


			Vector Metering





			Proponent Title


			Industry Development Lead


			Proponent Contact No


			+61 404046613





			Proponent email


			paul.greenwood@vectorams.com.au


			Date lodged with AEMO


			13/11/2019





			Procedure Impacted


			|X|	MSATS System


[bookmark: Check1]|_|	MSATS CATS Procedure


|_|	MSATS WIGS Procedure


|_|	NEM ROLR Processes 


|_|	Metrology Procedure Part A


|_|	Metrology Procedure Part B


|_|	Service Level Procedure: MDP, MP, ENM (cross out unrelated 								documents)


[bookmark: Check2]|X|	Other, please specify: Exemption procedure – Malfunctioning Meters





			Areas Impacted


			(I.e. Section No. and/or CR 10XX)





			


			





			Short Description / Title


			Streamline participant notification of AEMO exemptions for malfunctioning meters





			Other key contact information 


			














			VERSION #


			PRESENTED TO


			DATE





			


			


			





			


			


			








ERCF Issue-Change Form [image: Header]








ERCF ICF		Page 1


			ISSUE / CHANGE – DETAILED REPORT SECTION











			1. Detailed description of Issue / Change


			· NER cl. 7.8.10 Metering installation malfunctions requires that unless an exemption from AEMO is obtained, the MC must restore a malfunctioning meter to compliance for meter types 1,2 and 3, and type 4 within 2 and 15 business days respectively.


· Where the meter malfunction is the result of a meter testing program where a cohort of meters (known as a family) fails accuracy testing and therefore deemed to be malfunctioning, it is common that rectification of these meters cannot be performed  within the specified time frames and  that exemptions from AEMO are sort and provided to the MC.


· These exemptions specify the timeframe by which the MC must address the malfunctions.  It is common that these exemptions can be for a period of many months and in some cases up to 2 years. 


· Under Cl. 2.8 Current MC’s Obligations during the Exemption Period of the Exemption procedure – Meter Malfunction MC’s are required to: 


…


 (b) within 1 business day, notify all affected Participants of the grant of the exemption and any extension to the exemption and provide them with a copy of the MP’s rectification plan;


….


(f) where there is a New MC for a connection point, notify the New MC of the exemption and provide the New MC with a copy of the exemption and MP’s rectification plan prior to the change in Role.





· MC’s currently have 10’s of thousands NMI’s that are subject to AEMO exemptions.  AEMO have indicated that they have issued over xxxx exemptions since the exemption procedure was introduced (POC). Some MC’s have automated the notification process and are issuing emails at a individual NMI basis, others are processing exemptions manually and are grouping exemptions by participant;	Comment by Paul Greenwood: Can AEMO provide total number of NMI subject to exemptions so that industry can have some idea of the scale?


· Using Email meets the notification obligations however lacks traceability for both the sender and receiver and is time consuming to create when done manually;


· As there has been no agreed format for the email notification recipients wishing to automate the recording of  the exemption against the NMI in their system is problematic;


· There is currently no formal b2b transaction to support these notification requirements. An informal proposal was raised to the B2BWG to enhance the MFIN transaction for this purpose however the B2BWG recommended that including this information in MSATS against the NMI should be explored.








			2. Market Impact 


			Streamline the participant notification of AEMO exemptions on Malfunctioning meters;





			3. Requirements / Specific Proposal


			· Enhance MSATS to allow the recording of a AEMO exemption against a NMI/Meter.


· AEMO exemption process to be enhanced to include AEMO updating the exemption details in MSATS.





			4. Proposed Solution/s


			(Must address the Retail Electricity Market Procedures)





			


			


· This change is proposing that exemption details are included in MSATS and are discoverable in relevant reporting and NMI discovery.


· It is also proposing upon the issuing of the exemption then AEMO should update MSATS with the details of the exemption. i.e. Exemption code and expiry date (this indicates the rectification plan submitted by the MP/MC);








			5. Law/Rule and clauses enabling change


			(Must address head of power in governing law/rule)





			


			





			6. Market benefits for industry  as a whole


			(Must address National Electricity Objective and/or National Energy Retail Objective requirements)


NEO: the objective of this Law is to promote efficient investment in, and efficient operation and use of, electricity services for the long term interests of consumers of electricity with respect to: (a) price, quality, safety, reliability, and security of supply of electricity; and (b) the reliability, safety and security of the national electricity system.


NERO: The objective of this Law is to promote efficient investment in, and efficient operation and use of, energy services for the long term interests of consumers of energy with respect to price, quality, safety, reliability and security of supply of energy.





			


			· Malfunctioning meters will be immediately visible to proposed Retailer (proposed) and will be provided with an indication when the meter exchange is pending. 


· MC will be able to stream line their processes leading to cost saving that can be passed on to retailers and therefore onto customers.


· DNSP will have better visibility on the resolution plan for a malfunctioning meter.





			7. Customer benefits


(consumers)


			· Malfunctioning meters will be immediately visible to Retailer (current and proposed) and therefore customer moving into a site will be able to be informed that a meter exchange is pending. 








			8. Workaround/s


(if necessary)


			· Should this change not be adopted then the current process will remain. Most MC’s are likely to automated the email process to remove back office inefficiencies. Recipients will need to continue to deal with volumes of email transactions (at a NMI level) with inconsistent notification formats.





			9. Supporting Documentation


(attach if necessary)


			





			10. Any critical timelines to consider?


			· This could be considered as part of the MSATS Standing Data review to be commenced in Jan 2020.





			11. AEMO’s preliminary assessment of the proposal 


			(This is to be left blank)





















			NEM ISSUE / CHANGE – RELEVANT ATTACHMENT(S)











			ATTACHMENT A





Proposed changes: {Procedure Name}


Red strikeout means delete and 
blue underline means insert











image1.jpeg









ICFs/ICF_016 Reinstate MC Objection of BadParty for Vic SMALL.docx






















			ISSUE / CHANGE FORM – SUMMARY SECTION
(Template focuses on issue/change identification and impact.)











			ICF Number 


(AEMO to complete)


			





			Version #


			





			Proponent Name


			Laura Peirano


			Company


			UNITED ENERGY





			Proponent Title


			Senior Back Office SME


			Proponent Contact No


			0404 014 175





			Proponent e-mail


			laura.peirano@ue.com.au


			Date lodged with AEMO


			





			Procedure Impacted


			   MSATS Procedure 


· Metrology Procedure


· Service Provider Procedures





			Areas Impacted


			Incorrect Role allocation in MSATS





			Short Description / Title


			Reinstate MC Objection of BadParty for Vic SMALL





			Other key contact information 


			

















			VERSION #


			PRESENTED TO


			DATE





			1


			


			





			


			


			





			


			


			











[image: report-masthead-marketdev]


.


ERCF ICF		Page 4


			ISSUE / CHANGE – DETAILED REPORT SECTION











			1. Detailed description of Issue / Change


			Since POC current MC’s have been unable to object to CR6300 (Change MC) change requests in MSATS. For Victoria where metering contestability has not yet been introduced for NMI’s with a contestable category of Small, this has resulted in Contestable MC’s raising Change RP change requests in MSATS that we have been unable to object to even though network metering is legitimately still installed on Small sites. 


Regular reports are being run and the MC/RP role corrected where possible however in some cases the metering has already been changed out causing additional work for both the contestable MC, network MC and FRMP’s to reinstate the correct metering on site.








			2. Market Impact 


			Incorrect roles and metering delaying data to market and causing unnecessary rework for associated participants.





			3. Requirements / Specific Proposal


			United Energy propose that the objection for MC Current for CR6300 change requests be reinstated for the Vistorian jurisdiction for the NMI classification of Small.





			4. Proposed Solution/s


			United Energy propose that the objection for MC Current for CR6300 change requests be reinstated for the Vistorian jurisdiction for the NMI classification of Small.





			5. Market benefits for industry as a whole


			[bookmark: _GoBack]Reduced rework for participants associated with the NMI’s across MC’s, MPB’s, DP’s and FRMP’s, removal of additional metering works to reinstate network meters, improved timliness in market role updates and data to market





			6. Customer benefits


(consumers)


			Reductions of estimated reads to market while site metering and associated market updates are made.





			7. Workaround/s


(if necessary)


			There is no current work around





			8. Supporting Documentation


(attach if necessary)


			





			9. Any critical timelines to consider?


			United Energy would appreciate consideration of this objection  reinstatement as a matter of urgency.





			10. AEMO’s preliminary assessment of the proposal 


			(This is to be left blank)












			NEM ISSUE / CHANGE – RELEVANT ATTACHMENT(S)











			ATTACHMENT A





Proposed changes: {Procedure Name}


Red strikeout means delete and 
blue underline means insert











image1.jpeg









ICFs/ICF_017 ERCF ICF ADWNAN reporting changes.docx










			ISSUE / CHANGE FORM – SUMMARY SECTION
(Template focuses on issue/change identification and impact.)











			ICF Number 


(AEMO to complete)


			





			Version #


			1





			Proponent Name


			Jane Hutson


			Company


			Energy Queensland





			Proponent Title


			Accreditation Manager


			Proponent Contact No


			07-3664-7089





			Proponent email


			Jane.Hutson@energyq.com.au


			Date lodged with AEMO


			





			Procedure Impacted


			|_|	MSATS System


[bookmark: Check1]|_|	MSATS CATS Procedure


|_|	MSATS WIGS Procedure


|_|	NEM ROLR Processes 


|_|	Metrology Procedure Part A


|_|	Metrology Procedure Part B


|_|	Service Level Procedure: MDP, MP, ENM (cross out unrelated 								documents)


[bookmark: Check2]|X|	Other, please specify: AEMO Performance reports





			Areas Impacted


			AEMO Performance Reports - MDP





			


			





			Short Description / Title


			Assignment of Interval ADWNANs to MDP in AEMO Performance Reports





			Other key contact information 


			














			VERSION #


			PRESENTED TO


			DATE





			


			


			





			


			


			








ERCF Issue-Change Form [image: Header]








ERCF ICF		Page 1


			ISSUE / CHANGE – DETAILED REPORT SECTION











			1. Detailed description of Issue / Change


			AEMO issue weekly and monthly Performance Reports to MDPs and LNSPs measuring their performance based on both standing data and meter reading data in MSATS and based on the timing of updates to data in MSATS. For the LNSP this includes a measurement of ADWNAN_INTERVAL errors, that being non-active NMIs (NMIs with a status of G, D or X) where there is an active data stream and non-zero data has been provided by the MDP to MSATS MDM.


The intention of this measure is to identify NMIs where the status in MSATS may be incorrect or where possible illegal reconnection has occurred. It is up to the LNSP to investigate each of the NMIs reported on their report and correct the NMI status as required. However the current version of the report does not take into account the type of meter data the MDP has submitted to MSATS, in that readings may be estimated, substituted or actuals. If the MDP submits non-zero substitutions or estimations, then the LNSP is obligated to investigate the issue when in fact the NMI status is correct.


EQL therefore requests that the Interval ADWNANS report be extended to MDPs, where the MDP has submitted non-zero substitutions for any period where the NMI status is not “A”.





			2. Market Impact 


			Additional measure on the MDP Performance reports





			3. Requirements / Specific Proposal


			That Interval ADWNANs become an additional measure on the MDP Performance reports, and report only where the MDP has submitted to MSATS non-zero substitutions or estimations for any period where the NMI status is not “A”.





			4. Proposed Solution/s


			As above





			


			





			5. Law/Rule and clauses enabling change


			Latest version of the Service Level Procedure: Metering Data Provider Services (version 1.8) section 2.4.1(xi)(D) effective May 2020 requiring that an MDP must de-activate datastreams where the supply of electricity has been disconnected at the service fuse and the MDP has elected not to send zero substituted metering data. 





			


			





			5. Market benefits for industry as a whole


			More accurate metering data for market settlement.  Currently FRMPs would be being charged for consumption in periods where the NMI is not connected and where they may not necessarily have a customer, given that the status of the data stream not the NMI dictates whether data provide to AEMO is used for settlements. 








			


			





			6. Customer benefits


(consumers)


			None





			7. Workaround/s


(if necessary)


			[bookmark: _GoBack]Currently the LNSP must individually investigate each occurrence of substituted data on a non-active NMI and then either raise a VMD for the MDP to correct or liaise with the MDP by email to correct each occurrence. Current volumes are high enough that spreadsheets are being passed between LNSPs and MDPs identifying the NMIs affected.





			8. Supporting Documentation


(attach if necessary)


			None





			9. Any critical timelines to consider?


			No





			10. AEMO’s preliminary assessment of the proposal 


			(This is to be left blank)





















			NEM ISSUE / CHANGE – RELEVANT ATTACHMENT(S)











			ATTACHMENT A





Proposed changes: {Procedure Name}


Red strikeout means delete and 
blue underline means insert











image1.jpeg









ICFs/ICF_018 RWD5.docx










			ISSUE / CHANGE FORM – SUMMARY SECTION
(Template focuses on issue/change identification and impact.)











			ICF Number 


(AEMO to complete)


			





			Version #


			1





			Proponent Name


			Mark Riley


			Company


			AGL





			Proponent Title


			Senior Industry Advisor


			Proponent Contact No


			0475 805 262





			Proponent email


			mriley@agl.com.au


			Date lodged with AEMO


			





			Procedure Impacted


			|_|	MSATS System


[bookmark: Check1]|_|	MSATS CATS Procedure


|_|	MSATS WIGS Procedure


|_|	NEM ROLR Processes 


|_|	Metrology Procedure Part A


|_|	Metrology Procedure Part B


|_|	Service Level Procedure: MDP, MP, ENM (cross out unrelated 								documents)


[bookmark: Check2]|X|	Other, please specify: Standing Data For MSATS





			Areas Impacted


			(I.e. Section No. and/or CR 10XX)





			


			4. CATS_METER_REGISTER


ReadTypeCode definition


Extend the definition of ReadTypeCode to accommodate the differentiation of interval meters which read at a 5 minute intervals by utilising the 4th character in the field (currently unused) by adding a ‘5’ when a meter is reconfigured or installed for 5 ms data. 





			Short Description / Title


			Add new Enumeration for 5 minute interval Meters





			Other key contact information 


			














			VERSION #


			PRESENTED TO


			DATE





			


			


			





			


			


			








ERCF Issue-Change Form [image: Header]








ERCF ICF		Page 1


			ISSUE / CHANGE – DETAILED REPORT SECTION











			1. Detailed description of Issue / Change


			At present interval meters are broadly assumed to record data at 30-minute intervals (noting there are some 15 min interval meters). 


With the introduction of 5-minute settlement, there is a requirement to re-configure meters installed from 1 Dec 2018 to read at 5 minute intervals.


This will leave the interval meter fleet as a mixture of 5 and 30-minute interval meters.


AGL in its response to AEMO as part of the 5 ms metrology consultation suggested that some existing record be modified to indicate 5-minute meters separately from 30-minute meters.


CitiPower has indicated at readiness workshops that they will mark their converted meters as RWD5, to differentiate them from 30-minute meters which would be RWD.


AGL supports this proposal but wants the usage made universal. 





			2. Market Impact 


			Extension of the ReadTypeCode 





			3. Requirements / Specific Proposal


			Utilise the fourth character (as suggested by CitiPower) of the ReadTypeCode to indicate when a meter records data at 5-minute intervals.





			4. Proposed Solution/s


			(Must address the Retail Electricity Market Procedures)





			


			Utilise the fourth character (as suggested by CitiPower) of the ReadTypeCode to indicate when a meter records data at 5-minute intervals.


See Attached.





			5. Law/Rule and clauses enabling change


			(Must address head of power in governing law/rule)





			


			NER Amendments for the implementation of 5 minute settlement require meters installed post 1 December 2018 to be reconfigured to 5-minute data intervals. 





			6. Market benefits for industry as a whole


			(Must address National Electricity Objective and/or National Energy Retail Objective requirements)


NEO: the objective of this Law is to promote efficient investment in, and efficient operation and use of, electricity services for the long term interests of consumers of electricity with respect to: (a) price, quality, safety, reliability, and security of supply of electricity; and (b) the reliability, safety and security of the national electricity system.


NERO: The objective of this Law is to promote efficient investment in, and efficient operation and use of, energy services for the long term interests of consumers of energy with respect to price, quality, safety, reliability and security of supply of energy.





			


			Being able to identify meter which are 5-ms versus 30-ms will make the process of managing meter imports more efficient and allow Meter Providers, Networks, Retailers, AEMO and AMEC/AER etc to easily identify which meters are operating at 5ms and which are at 30-ms.


With the changes to settlements allocations, the implementation of Distributed Energy Resources and the customers need to identify which products they may have access to, the ability to quickly identify which meters are already 5 ms and which need re-configuration will be more efficient if the information is within NMI standing data.


Refer to AEMO workshop on NMI Standing Data (Nov 2018) notes on the importance industry placed on this information.


Note: AGL is suggesting that this field only be amended when a meter is installed as a 5-ms meter or reconfigured, on the assumption that anything not amended is a 30-ms meter.  This minimises the need to amend data for existing meter fleets.





			7. Customer benefits


(consumers)


			Customers will be able to understand what products are available to them without a meter reconfiguration or replacement.





			8. Workaround/s


(if necessary)


			Participants would have to manually query the meter provider to determine whether a meter was recording at 30 or 5-minute intervals. This is expensive and time consuming for all parties.





			9. Supporting Documentation


(attach if necessary)


			See attached.





			10. Any critical timelines to consider?


			This change should be consulted on and finalised prior to mid/late 2020 so that participants can incorporate the change into their system builds for 5 minute settlement 





			11. AEMO’s preliminary assessment of the proposal 


			(This is to be left blank)





















			NEM ISSUE / CHANGE – RELEVANT ATTACHMENT(S)











			ATTACHMENT A





Proposed changes: {Procedure Name}


Red strikeout means delete and 
blue underline means insert











			ReadTypeCode 


			Code to denote the method and frequency of Meter Reading. 


1. First Character = Remote (R) or Manual (M); 





2. Second Character = Mode 


T = telephone 


W = wireless 


P = powerline 


I = infra-red 


G = galvanic 


V = visual 





3. Third Character = Frequency of Scheduled Meter Readings: 


1 = Twelve times per year 


2 = Six times per year 


3 = Four times per year 


D = Daily or weekly 





4. Fourth Character =


Undefined. Read interval for 


5 = Read interval 5 minutes





For example: 


MV3 = Manual, Visual, Quarterly. 


RWD = Remote, Wireless, Daily (assumes a 30-minute recording interval)


RWD5 = Remote, Wireless, Daily 
(for a 5-minute recording interval)


			OPTIONAL 


REQUIRED 


[bookmark: _GoBack](when record updated, or meter installed / reconfigured for 5 minute intervals)


			MPB 














image1.jpeg









ICFs/ICF_019 Metrology procedure Part A Clause 12.5.docx







			ISSUE / CHANGE FORM – SUMMARY SECTION
(Template focuses on issue/change identification and impact.)











			ICF Number 


(AEMO to complete)


			





			Version #


			





			Proponent Name


			Goutham Lingam


			Company


			United Energy





			Proponent Title


			Metering Asset Manager


			Proponent Contact No


			88469429





			Proponent email


			goutham.lingam@ue.com.au


			Date lodged with AEMO


			23/09/2019





			Procedure Impacted


			|_|	MSATS System


[bookmark: Check1]|_|	MSATS CATS Procedure


|_|	MSATS WIGS Procedure


|_|	NEM ROLR Processes 


X	Metrology Procedure Part A


|_|	Metrology Procedure Part B


|_|	Service Level Procedure: MDP, MP, ENM (cross out unrelated 								documents)


|_|	Other, please specify:





			Areas Impacted


			Section 12.5 (b)





			


			





			Short Description / Title


			To remove the prescriptive requirements for sample testing (General inspection II and the AQL of 1.5) from the clause and clarify the suggested sampling methodology as being as a guidelines as per the MPB’s request..   





			Other key contact information 


			














			VERSION #


			PRESENTED TO


			DATE





			


			


			





			


			


			








ERCF Issue-Change Form [image: Header]








ERCF ICF		Page 3


			ISSUE / CHANGE – DETAILED REPORT SECTION











			1. Detailed description of Issue / Change


			1) The intent of the heading for clause 12.5 is for type of meters with no remote acquisition 4A, 5, 6 and 7 metering installations. However, contrary to the heading the requirement under the heading includes the wording “AND”, which may imply that the clause 12.5 also includes Type 4 and Type 5 AMI in Victoria (Meters with remote acquisition). This need to be changed to clarify the initial intention of the clause. 


2) In line with AEMO’s comments within its final report, AEMO has set the sample test plan requirements as a guidelines based on MP’s request. 


Contrary to AEMO’s intention, this has been introduced as a mandatory requirement in the proposed changes to 12.5(b) of the Metrology Procedure part A. (“Each MC must ensure…..)


It is suggested to change the wording to emphasis the requirement is only a guidelines. This will allow the MPs to exercise the determination of the inspection levels which designates the relative amount of inspection. As the special levels of inspection is designed for inspection of small sample size, the determination of these special level must be based on level of the acceptable sampling risk (For example, ISO 2859-1 standard states that, small sample sizes are necessary where larger sampling risks can be tolerated).





			2. Market Impact 


			Avoided additional Cost to customer.





			3. Requirements / Specific Proposal


			





			4. Proposed Solution/s


			(Must address the Retail Electricity Market Procedures)





			


			Remove the mandatory requirements for specific sample testing methodology for clause 12.5 and clearly specify the suggested sampling methodology is only a guidelines. 


Remove word “AND” to be in line with Chapter 7. Like Type 4, Type 5 AMI Need to be excluded from this requirement.








			5. Law/Rule and clauses enabling change


			(Must address head of power in governing law/rule)





			


			[bookmark: _GoBack]The requirement is too prescriptive and there are no requirements under the rules for this.





			5. Market benefits for industry as a whole


			(Must address National Electricity Objective and/or National Energy Retail Objective requirements)


The requirements has no benefit. 





			


			





			6. Customer benefits


(consumers)


			None





			7. Workaround/s


(if necessary)


			None





			8. Supporting Documentation


(attach if necessary)


			





			9. Any critical timelines to consider?


			As part of procedure changes for 5 Minutes interval.





			10. AEMO’s preliminary assessment of the proposal 


			(This is to be left blank)





















			NEM ISSUE / CHANGE – RELEVANT ATTACHMENT(S)











			ATTACHMENT A





Proposed changes: {Procedure Name}


Red strikeout means delete and 
blue underline means insert











image1.jpeg









ICFs/ICF_020 - Service Level procedures MP Section 4.2.docx




[bookmark: _GoBack]





			ISSUE / CHANGE FORM – SUMMARY SECTION
(Template focuses on issue/change identification and impact.)











			ICF Number 


(AEMO to complete)


			





			Version #


			





			Proponent Name


			Goutham Lingam


			Company


			United Energy





			Proponent Title


			Metering Asset Manager


			Proponent Contact No


			88469429





			Proponent email


			goutham.lingam@ue.com.au


			Date lodged with AEMO


			23/09/2019





			Procedure Impacted


			|_|	MSATS System


[bookmark: Check1]|_|	MSATS CATS Procedure


|_|	MSATS WIGS Procedure


|_|	NEM ROLR Processes 


|_|	Metrology Procedure Part A


|_|	Metrology Procedure Part B


X	Service Level Procedure: MDP, MP, ENM (cross out unrelated 								documents)


|_|	Other, please specify:





			Areas Impacted


			Section 4.2 (iii)





			


			





			Short Description / Title


			Changes to the clause 4.2 of the SLP to avoid confusion with the terms validation vs verifications





			Other key contact information 


			











			VERSION #


			PRESENTED TO


			DATE





			


			


			





			


			


			








ERCF Issue-Change Form [image: Header]








ERCF ICF		Page 4


			ISSUE / CHANGE – DETAILED REPORT SECTION











			1. Detailed description of Issue / Change


			The terms verification and validation for the purpose of complying with clause 4.2 of the Rules is confusing.


The terms verification is a one of task to be performed by MPB. However the term validation is an ongoing task of validating the metering data and normally is undertaken by MDP.


The requirements for verification of data has been prescribed under the heading of the validation of the data which potentially results in affected MPBs and MDPs in misinterpretation of the intention of the clause.








			2. Market Impact 


			Confusion with terminologies and potential risk of not being able to adhere o the rudiments of the Rules in full.





			3. Requirements / Specific Proposal


			





			4. Proposed Solution/s


			(Must address the Retail Electricity Market Procedures)





			


			The inclusion of the verification of metering installation under clause 4.2 of SLP needs to be placed under clause 4.1 of the SLP where the requirements for the commissioning of metering installations (once off process) is prescribed. This will eliminate any confusion and avoid any incorrectly interchange of these two terminologies.





			5. Law/Rule and clauses enabling change


			(Must address head of power in governing law/rule)





			


			The procedure under the Rules. The Service Level procedure is prescribed procedure under the Rules and there is a misalignment between the procedure and the Rules. Proposed changes to the procedure under the Rules.





			5. Market benefits for industry as a whole


			(Must address National Electricity Objective and/or National Energy Retail Objective requirements)


Provide clarity for accredited Service provider and the MC in complying with the Rules and its subordinate procedure.





			


			





			6. Customer benefits


(consumers)


			None





			7. Workaround/s


(if necessary)


			None





			8. Supporting Documentation


(attach if necessary)


			





			9. Any critical timelines to consider?


			During the procedural changes as part of the 5 minutes interval.





			10. AEMO’s preliminary assessment of the proposal 


			(This is to be left blank)





















			NEM ISSUE / CHANGE – RELEVANT ATTACHMENT(S)











			ATTACHMENT A





Proposed changes: {Procedure Name}


Red strikeout means delete and 
blue underline means insert











image1.jpeg









ICFs/ICF_021 Removal of End User details from the Inventory Table.docx










			ISSUE / CHANGE FORM – SUMMARY SECTION
(Template focuses on issue/change identification and impact.)











			ICF Number 


(AEMO to complete)


			





			Version #


			[bookmark: _GoBack]1.0





			Proponent Name


			Dino Ou


			Company


			Endeavour Energy





			Proponent Title


			Business Services Manager


			Proponent Contact No


			0423299750





			Proponent email


			Dino.ou@endeavourenergy.com.au


			Date lodged with AEMO


			





			Procedure Impacted


			|_|	MSATS System


[bookmark: Check1]|_|	MSATS CATS Procedure


|_|	MSATS WIGS Procedure


|_|	NEM ROLR Processes 


|_|	Metrology Procedure Part A


[bookmark: Check2]|X|	Metrology Procedure Part B


|_|	Service Level Procedure: MDP, MP, ENM (cross out unrelated 								documents)


|_|	Other, please specify:





			Areas Impacted


			(I.e. Section No. and/or CR 10XX)





			


			13.2.2.a.v


13.3.2.a.iii


13.5.2.a.v





			Short Description / Title


			Removal of End User details from the Inventory Table





			Other key contact information 


			














			VERSION #


			PRESENTED TO


			DATE





			


			


			





			


			


			








ERCF Issue-Change Form [image: Header]








ERCF ICF		Page 1


			ISSUE / CHANGE – DETAILED REPORT SECTION











			1. Detailed description of Issue / Change


			Under the final determination of Metering Package 2, Clauses 13.2.2, 13.3.2, 13.5.2 of Metrology Part B now requires End User details to be populated and maintained in the Inventory Table (and also in the metering data services database due to clause 3.10.1.a of the MDP SLP).


However clause 13.1.4 of Metrology Part B requires each End User to have their own NMI. Therefore whether a 1 NMI to 1 unmetered device model or the 1 NMI to many unmetered device model is adopted, each NMI will only be associated with one End User. In addition, details of the End User is provided to the distributor by the retailer via the B2B Customer Detail Notification transaction therefore retailers will always know who the End User is for each NMI. 





Existing type 7 loads have operated for many years without End User details in the inventory table and without any issues from either the customer or retailers. 





It is not clear why this new obligation was introduced (I have asked AEMO this question two weeks ago and to date I have not yet receive a response).





			2. Market Impact 


			This new obligation will add extra cost for no benefit





			3. Requirements / Specific Proposal


			Remove the requirement to maintain the End User details in the Inventory Table





			4. Proposed Solution/s


			(Must address the Retail Electricity Market Procedures)





			


			Delete the following clauses from Metrology Procedure Part B:


13.2.2.a.v


13.3.2.a.iii


13.5.2.a.v





			5. Law/Rule and clauses enabling change


			(Must address head of power in governing law/rule)





			


			





			6. Market benefits for industry as a whole


			(Must address National Electricity Objective and/or National Energy Retail Objective requirements)


NEO: the objective of this Law is to promote efficient investment in, and efficient operation and use of, electricity services for the long term interests of consumers of electricity with respect to: (a) price, quality, safety, reliability, and security of supply of electricity; and (b) the reliability, safety and security of the national electricity system.


NERO: The objective of this Law is to promote efficient investment in, and efficient operation and use of, energy services for the long term interests of consumers of energy with respect to price, quality, safety, reliability and security of supply of energy.





			


			The proposed change will eliminate the initial and on-going cost of maintaining information that is redundant





			7. Customer benefits


(consumers)


			The proposed change will eliminate the initial and on-going cost of maintaining information that is redundant, which will benefit customers through lower tariffs and fees to the customer





			8. Workaround/s


(if necessary)


			None





			9. Supporting Documentation


(attach if necessary)


			Metrology Procedure Part B version 7.1





			10. Any critical timelines to consider?


			This needs to be addressed as soon as possible to give impacted participants certainty on what needs to be done or not done for their 5 Minute Settlements Project





			11. AEMO’s preliminary assessment of the proposal 


			(This is to be left blank)





















			NEM ISSUE / CHANGE – RELEVANT ATTACHMENT(S)











			ATTACHMENT A





Proposed changes: {Procedure Name}


Red strikeout means delete and 
blue underline means insert











image1.jpeg









ICFs/ICF_022 Consumption Corrections.docx










			ISSUE / CHANGE FORM – SUMMARY SECTION
(Template focuses on issue/change identification and impact.)











			ICF Number 


(AEMO to complete)


			ICF ?? – Consumption Corrections 





			Version #


			1





			Proponent Name


			Mark Riley


			Company


			AGL





			Proponent Title


			Senior Industry Advisor


			Proponent Contact No


			0475 805 262





			Proponent email


			mriley@agl.com.au


			Date lodged with AEMO


			23 Mar 2020





			Procedure Impacted


			|_|	MSATS System


[bookmark: Check1]|_|	MSATS CATS Procedure


|_|	MSATS WIGS Procedure


|_|	NEM ROLR Processes 


|X|	Metrology Procedure Part A


|X|	Metrology Procedure Part B


|_|	Service Level Procedure: MDP, MP, ENM (cross out unrelated 								documents)


[bookmark: Check2]|_|	Other, please specify: Standing Data For MSATS





			Areas Impacted


			(I.e. Section No. and/or CR 10XX)





			


			Metrology Procedure – Part A 


Metrology Procedure – Part B





			Short Description / Title


			Include specific obligation for MC to provide updated or substitution data in cases where meter data corrections are required (for example, theft or fraud) for impacted periods, to both the affected participants and the market.





			Other key contact information 


			














			VERSION #


			PRESENTED TO


			DATE





			


			


			





			


			


			








ERCF Issue-Change Form [image: Header]








ERCF ICF		Page 1


			ISSUE / CHANGE – DETAILED REPORT SECTION











			1. Detailed description of Issue / Change


			At present, in cases where there are corrections to consumption (including error, theft or fraud), some Network MCs provide a substitute meter data file which is then populated across the affected participants and the market, while others undertake an off-market settlement.


Within the current market framework, the affected parties are the Host FRMP, the Affected FRMP and the Network, as there is currently no impact on the market as a whole (within a Net Wholesale Market).


However, in moving to a Global Market, the concept of a Host FRMP no longer exists.  In fact, under a Global Market, it could be said that the Host FRMP is now the market as a whole, as any changes which would have previously impacted the Host now flow through to all FRMPs through Unaccounted for Energy (UFE).


For this reason, AGL is proposing that in all cases where consumption is affected (eg CT ratios, theft etc) that the relevant MC should follow the substitution processes and submit the data to the affected participants and the market so that it is captured as part of the UFE calculation.





			2. Market Impact 


			Provision of amended data to the affected participants and the market will ensure that UFE allocations are more appropriately made and adjustments to all impacted participants are dealt with through market settlements, rather than trying to drive off market settlements between multiple participants.


Failure to submit the data to the market means that the incorrect energy will be distributed by AEMO as UFE to all participants and will impact the recorded level of UFE.





			3. Requirements / Specific Proposal


			Amend the Metrology Procedures to make specific reference to the requirement to generate and submit amended data to both the market and the affected participants for events such as theft. 





			4. Proposed Solution/s


			For the Metrology Procedure – Part A, this means making clear in that affected Registered Participants include the market and therefore require data to be sent to the market.





			


			For the Metrology Procedures - Part B, this means clarifying that the provision of substituted data  includes events such as theft, not just meter problems, such as CT errors.





			5. Law/Rule and clauses enabling change


			See Attachment





			


			





			6. Market benefits for industry as a whole


			Provision of the amended data to the market will ensure that the settlements allocations and UFE processes now take these load changes into account. This in turn means that wholesale allocation of energy will be correct and the resulting UFE calculation will be more accurate.





			7. Customer benefits


(consumers)


			Wholesale and UFE allocations will impact retailer wholesale prices, which in turn impact customer prices. More correct allocations, will allow each retailer to manage their pricing more appropriately.





			8. Workaround/s


(if necessary)


			AGL does not consider the current process of undertaking off market settlements between the relevant Participant and the affected participants is acceptable in terms of the outcomes of a global market and in terms of a party managing the off market arrangements between 10’s of affected participants.


[bookmark: _GoBack]AGL is also concerned that by not making this change, the manual process leaves a perverse incentive for parties who identify issues, to not update the market.





			9. Supporting Documentation


(attach if necessary)


			





			10. Any critical timelines to consider?


			





			11. AEMO’s preliminary assessment of the proposal 


			(This is to be left blank)





















			NEM ISSUE / CHANGE – RELEVANT ATTACHMENT(S)











			ATTACHMENT A





Proposed changes: {Procedure Name}


Red strikeout means delete and 
blue underline means insert











Metrology Procedure – Part A


12.8. AEMO’s Metering Data Obligations 


12.8.1. Substitutions 


Where metering data has been Substituted, AEMO must advise affected Registered Participants at the same time as that metering data is sent to Market Participants and AEMO for settlements. 








Metrology Procedure – Part B


2.2. Substitution requirement 


The MDP must undertake Substitutions on behalf of AEMO or the MC, as appropriate, in a manner consistent with this Procedure. Substitutions may be required in the following circumstances: 


(a) Where the system or equipment supporting the remote or manual collection of metering data has failed or is faulty. 


(b) Where the metering installation for a connection point has failed or is removed from service. 


(c) To enable timely provision of metering data to AEMO for settlements purposes. 


(d) In situations where metering data has been irretrievably lost. 


(e) Where the metering data is found to be erroneous or incomplete; this includes theft or unmetered usage. 


(f) ………………….











image1.jpeg









ICFs/ICF_023 Process when remote collection of metering data fails.docx










			ISSUE / CHANGE FORM – SUMMARY SECTION
(Template focuses on issue/change identification and impact.)











			ICF Number 


(AEMO to complete)


			[bookmark: _GoBack]ICF_023





			Version #


			





			Proponent Name


			Dino Ou


			Company


			Endeavour Energy





			Proponent Title


			Business Services Manager


			Proponent Contact No


			0423299750





			Proponent email


			dino.ou@endeavourenergy.com.au


			Date lodged with AEMO


			





			Procedure Impacted


			|_|	MSATS System


[bookmark: Check1]|_|	MSATS CATS Procedure


|_|	MSATS WIGS Procedure


|_|	NEM ROLR Processes 


[bookmark: Check2]|X|	Metrology Procedure Part A


|_|	Metrology Procedure Part B


|X|	Service Level Procedure: MDP, MP, ENM (cross out unrelated 								documents)


|_|	Other, please specify:





			Areas Impacted


			(I.e. Section No. and/or CR 10XX)





			


			





			Short Description / Title


			Process when remote collection of metering data fails





			Other key contact information 


			














			VERSION #


			PRESENTED TO


			DATE





			


			


			





			


			


			








ERCF Issue-Change Form [image: Header]








ERCF ICF		Page 1


			ISSUE / CHANGE – DETAILED REPORT SECTION











			1. Detailed description of Issue / Change


			The procedure for managing the scenario when a Metering Data Provider is unable to remotely collect metering data requires a review and update because there are different interpretations on the obligations which has led to parties claiming that they are compliant with the procedures but yet metering data was not collected in a timely manner to prevent the loss of actual metering data.


We believe that the procedure should be clear on who is obligated to take action to prevent the loss of actual metering data. This is particularly important when the appointed MC, MP or MDP for a metering installation is not the one market participant.


We believe that the procedure should be clear on when the action must be done by in order to prevent the loss of actual metering data.


We believe that the procedure should, on a high level, be as follows:


1. When a MDP is unable to remotely collect metering data for a number of consecutive days then they must inform the MC


2. The MC must arrange for the MP to confirm if there is a metering installation malfunction.


3. If there is a metering installation malfunction then the MC must arrange for the repair to be completed as per the timeframe defined in clause 7.8.10 of the NER or obtain an exemption from AEMO


4. Regardless if there is a metering installation malfunction, AEMO has provided an exemption or there is no metering installation malfunction but there are other factors that prevent the remote collection of metering data from occurring, the MC must arrange for an alternate method of meter data collection in a timeframe that prevents the loss of actual metering data





Relevant clauses for issue 1:


Clause 7.3.2.h of the NER obligates the MC to arrange for the provision of relevant metering data to the Metering Data Provider if remote acquisition, if any, becomes unavailable


Clause 7.8.2.a.9 of the NER obligates the Metering Provider to only install meters with interval energy data storage of at least 35 days for a type 1, 2, 3 or 4 metering installation


Clause 5.3 of the SLP MP obligates the MP to use reasonable endeavours to assist the MC and the MDP with the manual collection of metering data from the metering installation where remote acquisition becomes unavailable.


Clause 3.5 of the SLP MDP obligates the MDP to operate a process that initiates an alternative method to collect metering data where remote acquisition becomes unavailable


Issue 1: 


There is no timeframe on the MDP to request the MC for an alternative method of collecting metering data. Also, there is no timeframe on the MC or MP to manually collect metering data where remote acquisition becomes unavailable. Without a timeframe defined the MC, MDP or MP can claim compliance with their obligations while operating in a manner that does not prevent the loss of actual metering data. We suggest timeframes be defined and that the timeframe be for a meter with the minimum interval energy data storage of 35 days. 





Relevant clauses for issue 2:


The term metering installation malfunction is defined in the NER for a number of scenarios including the full or partial failure to collect energy data. 


Clause 7.8.10 of the NER places timeframes on the Metering Coordinator to repair the metering installation within the following timeframe from when the Metering Coordinator is notified of the metering installation malfunction:


· 2 business days for a type 1, 2, or 3 metering installation


· 15 business days for a metering installation at a small customer’s premises


· 10 business days for all other metering installations


An exception to these timeframes is allowed when AEMO provides an exemption from these timeframes.


Clause 7.3.2.e.4 of the NER obligates the MC to ensure a communications interface is installed and maintained to facilitate connection to the telecommunications network where remote acquisition is used


Clause 3.4.b.ii of the Service Level Procedure Metering Data Services (SLP MDP) obligates the Metering Data Provider to operate a process that supports the MC, the MP, or both, in the rectification of any metering installation malfunctions or problems associated with the reading function of meters. 





Issue 2: 


Timeframes defined in clause 7.8.10 of the NER only starts when the MC is informed of a metering installation malfunction. Some metering data providers and metering coordinators do not characterize the failure to remotely collect metering data as a metering installation malfunction because the root cause could be the public telecommunications network or for other reasons eg issues with their data collection system. Therefore, until the metering provider confirms that the failure to remotely collect metering data is actually due to one of the components of the metering installation they believe that clause 7.8.10 is not applicable. This creates a gap where by participants can claim compliance with their obligations without taking any action, or delaying their actions, to confirm if a metering installation malfunction exists or not. We suggest that MC be obligated to arrange for the investigation of a potential metering installation malfunction within a defined timeframe when the MDP notifies them of a failure to remotely collect metering data for a number of consecutive days. We suggest the timeframe be defined for a meter with the minimum interval energy data storage of 35 days.


Currently we have over 200 NMIs, across 6 MCs/MDPs, where metering data has not been collected for over 200 days. We engage with the MC/MDP via PMD, VMD, emails and meetings with mixed results.





			2. Market Impact 


			If this ICF is accepted then it is likely to impact on the operations of MCs, MDPs and MPs, especially when the appointed MC, MP or MDP for a metering installation is not the one market participant. However it will provide overall benefits to the market through: 


· reduced PMDs and VMDs 


· actual metering data being available sooner for market settlements and the end customer’s bill


· minimises the potential for actual metering data to be lost due to the inaction or delayed action from the MC, MDP and/or MP


· meter installation malfunctions can be identified sooner and therefore repaired sooner 





			3. Requirements / Specific Proposal


			For issue 1: Define timeframes for the MDP to request the MC for an alternative method of collecting metering data.


For issue 2: Define obligations and timeframes for the MC to arrange for the investigation of a potential metering installation malfunction when the MDP notifies them of a failure to remotely collect metering data for a number of consecutive days.





			4. Proposed Solution/s


			(Must address the Retail Electricity Market Procedures)





			


			We suggest clause 3.5 of the SLP MDP be updated to define a timeframe for the MDP to request the MC for an alternative method of collecting metering data when MDP is unable to remotely collect metering data for a number of consecutive days. We suggest that the timeframe be 1 business day for the MDP to request the MC for an alternative method of collecting metering data, and that the number of consecutive days that triggers that obligation be 5 business days. 


We suggest Metrology Procedure Part A be updated to obligate the MC to arrange for the alternative method of collecting metering data to be completed within 15 business days from when they receive the MDP’s request for an alternative method of collecting metering data.


We suggest that Metrology Procedure Part A be also updated to obligate the MC to arrange for the MP to investigate the potential metering installation malfunction when they receive the MDP’s request for an alternative method of collecting metering data. The timeframe for the MP to perform this investigation should within 15 business days from when they receive the MDP’s request for an alternative method of collecting metering data.





			5. Law/Rule and clauses enabling change


			(Must address head of power in governing law/rule)





			


			Clause 7.3.2.e.4, 7.3.2.h and 7.8.10 of the NER





			5. Market benefits for industry as a whole


			(Must address National Electricity Objective and/or National Energy Retail Objective requirements)


NEO: the objective of this Law is to promote efficient investment in, and efficient operation and use of, electricity services for the long term interests of consumers of electricity with respect to: (a) price, quality, safety, reliability, and security of supply of electricity; and (b) the reliability, safety and security of the national electricity system.


NERO: The objective of this Law is to promote efficient investment in, and efficient operation and use of, energy services for the long term interests of consumers of energy with respect to price, quality, safety, reliability and security of supply of energy.





			


			If this ICF is accepted then the overall benefits to the market are: 


· market efficiencies through reduced PMDs and VMDs 


· actual metering data being available sooner for market settlements and the end customer’s bill


· minimises the potential for actual metering data to be lost due to the inaction or delayed action from the MC, MDP and/or MP


· meter installation malfunctions can be identified sooner and therefore repaired sooner





			6. Customer benefits


(consumers)


			The customer will receive bills based on actual metering data sooner and reduces the likely hood that the customer’s bill never gets updated with actual metering data because the actual metering data is lost.


The customer will also have some key metering services available to them much sooner through earlier identification of a meter installation malfunction and subsequently an earlier repair 





			7. Workaround/s


(if necessary)


			Continue with the current inefficient industry practice via PMDs, VMDs and emails





			8. Supporting Documentation


(attach if necessary)


			





			9. Any critical timelines to consider?


			





			10. AEMO’s preliminary assessment of the proposal 


			(This is to be left blank)





















			NEM ISSUE / CHANGE – RELEVANT ATTACHMENT(S)











			ATTACHMENT A





Proposed changes: {Procedure Name}


Red strikeout means delete and 
blue underline means insert











image1.jpeg









ICFs/ICF_025 - N Quality Flag.docx










			ISSUE / CHANGE FORM – SUMMARY SECTION
(Template focuses on issue/change identification and impact.)











			ICF Number 


(AEMO to complete)


			





			Version #


			1.0





			Proponent Name


			Simon Tu, 5MS Project Team


			Company


			AEMO





			Proponent Title


			Senior Business Analyst


			Proponent Contact No


			





			Proponent email


			5ms@aemo.com.au


			Date lodged with AEMO


			





			Procedure Impacted


			|_|	MSATS System


[bookmark: Check1]|_|	MSATS CATS Procedure


|_|	MSATS WIGS Procedure


|_|	NEM ROLR Processes 


|_|	Metrology Procedure Part A


[bookmark: Check2]|X|	Metrology Procedure Part B


|X|	Service Level Procedure: MDP, MP, ENM (cross out unrelated 								documents)


|_|	Other, please specify:





			Areas Impacted


			(I.e. Section No. and/or CR 10XX)





			


			Metrology Procedure Part B Section 2.4


MDFF Specification NEM12 NEM13SLP MDP ???





			Short Description / Title


			Removal of ‘N’ Metering Data Quality Flag





			Other key contact information 


			














			VERSION #


			PRESENTED TO


			DATE





			


			


			





			


			


			








ERCF Issue-Change Form [image: Header]








ERCF ICF		Page 1


			ISSUE / CHANGE – DETAILED REPORT SECTION











			1. Detailed description of Issue / Change


			Background


· A historic business process, which existed outside of the rules, made use of the Quality Flag of ‘N’ for meter churn scenarios where churn occurred over 20 days.


· The new RPs Meter Data Provider would establish a meter prior to the initiation of a CR1000, the implication of which was that the party in MSATS wouldn’t be related to the new meter. For the time before the new RP assumed the role in MSATS the Meter Data Provider would send MTRD MDFF reads with a Quality Flag of ‘N’.


· 5 years ago the Procedures were changed to tighten the churn scenario to prevent this business process from occurring.


Current


· The existing Metrology Procedure Part B (see below) still makes reference to the Quality Flag of ‘N’, however, the Procedures provide no further details on how the Quality flag of ‘N’ can be used.
 [image: ]


· The NEM12/NEM13 specification still makes reference to the Quality Flag of ‘N’.


Future


· AEMO will accept MDFF, which does allow for Quality Flag of ‘N’.	Comment by Meghan Bibby: Should it still remain in MDFF given it won’t be defined in the Metrology Procedure Part B and then can’t be used???	Comment by Simon Tu: Agreed it needs to be removed from the NEM12/NEM13 spec which defines MDFF


· Assumption is that MDPs will provide AEMO with the identical MDFFs as provided to other Participants.





			2. Market Impact 


			Clarification of what can be used for Metering Data Quality Flags and removal of one that should not be used and is currently not being used.





			3. Requirements / Specific Proposal


			AEMO’s current Position:


· As ‘N’ flag is effectively redundant remove its reference from the Procedures. 


· We’ve already removed the N flag as an accepted flag in the MDM File Format and Load process.





			4. Proposed Solution/s


			(Must address the Retail Electricity Market Procedures)





			


			Removal of a redundant value from the Metrology Procedure Part B in Section 2.4.


Removal of a redundant value from MDFF Specification NEM12 NEM13





			5. Law/Rule and clauses enabling change


			(Must address head of power in governing law/rule)





			


			NER 7.16.3





			6. Market benefits for industry as a whole


			(Must address National Electricity Objective and/or National Energy Retail Objective requirements)


NEO: the objective of this Law is to promote efficient investment in, and efficient operation and use of, electricity services for the long term interests of consumers of electricity with respect to: (a) price, quality, safety, reliability, and security of supply of electricity; and (b) the reliability, safety and security of the national electricity system.


NERO: The objective of this Law is to promote efficient investment in, and efficient operation and use of, energy services for the long term interests of consumers of energy with respect to price, quality, safety, reliability and security of supply of energy.





			


			Removal of a redundant value to clarify what can be used and avoid any meter data issues if N is used by a participant. 





			7. Customer benefits


(consumers)


			Avoids an issue with meter data delivery that may create delays in billing.





			8. Workaround/s


(if necessary)


			If we keep the N flag


[bookmark: _GoBack]Should we leave it as a valid flag, we the IEC needs to define the for the B2B Procedure Meter Data Process AEMO MDM’s behaviour if an  the context for which N reads are to be generated and treated by the Market. Additionally, the Metrology Procedures would need to define how N reads are to be treated is received (i.e. no AEMO ‘Z’ substitution) so the reads used in Settlements are consistent with reads supplied & used by other Participants.





			9. Supporting Documentation


(attach if necessary)


			





			10. Any critical timelines to consider?


			Commencement of the 5MS rule change on 1 July 2021.





			11. AEMO’s preliminary assessment of the proposal 


			(This is to be left blank)





















			NEM ISSUE / CHANGE – RELEVANT ATTACHMENT(S)











			ATTACHMENT A





Proposed changes: Metrology Procedure Part B


Red strikeout means delete and 
blue underline means insert











[bookmark: _Toc444092409][bookmark: _Toc460318348]4.2	Metering Data Quality Flags





[bookmark: _Toc164513070][bookmark: _Toc164758613][bookmark: _Toc164758903][bookmark: _Toc164758991][bookmark: _Toc164759278][bookmark: _Toc165086267][bookmark: _Toc165086519][bookmark: _Toc165086597][bookmark: _Toc165086830][bookmark: _Toc165087010][bookmark: _Toc165087086]MDPs must assign the relevant metering data quality flags to metering data as follows: 


			Quality Flag


			Description





			A


			Actual Metering Data.





			S


			For any substituted metering data that is considered temporary and may be replaced by Actual Metering Data. Substitutions apply to historical date/time periods at the time of Substitution.





			E


			For any estimated metering data that is considered temporary and may be replaced by Actual Metering Data or substituted metering data. Estimations apply to a period that has an end date/time in the future.





			F


			For Substitutions that are of a permanent or final nature and, subject to section 2.4(b) & (e), the metering data would not be replaced by Actual Metering Data at any time.





			N


			This quality flag is only utilised within the interval metering data file for instances where no metering data exists in the metering data services database for the periods concerned.











Unless specified otherwise in this Procedure, MDPs must apply the following quality flag rules in the metering data services database:


‘A’ metering data can only be replaced with ‘A’, ‘S’ or ‘F’ metering data.


‘S’ metering data can only be replaced with ‘A’, ‘S’ or ‘F’ metering data.


‘E’ metering data can only be replaced with ‘A’, ‘E’, ‘S’ or ‘F’ metering data.


‘F’ metering data can only be replaced with ‘F’ metering data as per section 2.5.1(f) or ‘A’ metering data as per section 2.5.1(b) or 2.5.1(h).





image2.png





image1.jpeg









ICFs/ICF_026 - Enabling MC to object for NMI Classification code of NCONUML.docx




[bookmark: _GoBack]





			ISSUE / CHANGE FORM – SUMMARY SECTION
(Template focuses on issue/change identification and impact.)











			ICF Number 


(AEMO to complete)


			





			Version #


			1





			Proponent Name


			Joe Castellano


			Company


			Origin Energy





			Proponent Title


			Enabling MC to object for NMI Classification code of NCONUML


			Proponent Contact No


			0459 881 285





			Proponent email


			Joe.Castellano@originenergy.com.au


			Date lodged with AEMO


			





			Procedure Impacted


			|_|	MSATS System


[bookmark: Check1]|X|	MSATS CATS Procedure


|_|	MSATS WIGS Procedure


|_|	NEM ROLR Processes 


|_|	Metrology Procedure Part A


|_|	Metrology Procedure Part B


|_|	Service Level Procedure: MDP, MP, ENM (cross out unrelated 								documents)


|_|	Other, please specify:





			Areas Impacted


			(I.e. Section No. and/or CR 10XX)





			


			· Table 4-D – Objection Codes or


· Table 11-B – Objection Rules – CR2000/2001 


· Table 13-B – Objection Rules – CR2500/2501





			Short Description / Title


			Enable the MC to use the Objection Reason code of BADPARTY or NOTRESP for NMI Classification code of NCONUML.





			Other key contact information 


			














			VERSION #


			PRESENTED TO


			DATE





			


			


			





			


			


			














ERCF Issue-Change Form [image: Header]














ERCF ICF		Page 1


			ISSUE / CHANGE – DETAILED REPORT SECTION











			1. Detailed description of Issue / Change


			With the introduction of Global Settlements, Non-Contestable Unmetered Supplies (NCONUML) will be registered in MSATS.  The role of Meter Coordinator (MC) for NCONUML as per the rules (NER C7.6.4) must be the Local Network Service Provider (LNSP).


During NMI creation of a NCONUML, if an MC, other than the LNSP was incorrectly appointed to the role of MC there is no ability to object where the NMI Class is NCONUML.


Current objection codes:


BADPARTY


The definition and usage of BADPARTY as described in (4.7 Objection codes table) is not useable with the scenario described above.


NOTRESP 


The NOTRESP objection code is only allowable where NMI Class is SMALL or LARGE.    





			2. Market Impact 


			An MC that is not an LNSP may be appointed incorrectly and remain until such time a change to the role is made.





			3. Requirements / Specific Proposal


			Update MSATS CATS Procedures to allow for an MC to object to the following CR’s where NMI Class is NCONUML:


· CR2000 – Create NMI Details


· CR2001 – Create NMI Details - Retrospective 


· CR2500 – Create NMI, DataStream & Meter Details


· CR2501 – Create NMI, DataStream & Meter Details – Retrospective





			4. Proposed Solution/s


			(Must address the Retail Electricity Market Procedures)





			


			Origin propose the below two solutions to resolve this issue:





1) Preferred Option - Update the definition of BADPARTY in section 4.7 Table 4-D e.g. Used by the MC when the MDP, MPB, or MPC nominated on a change of retailer request or change of role is incorrect for all NMI classifications as they are not the party appointed by the MC, or do not have the capability or capacity to operate in the Role proposed.





Or





2) Update the Objection Rules for Table 11-B Objection Rules – CR2000/2001 and Table 13-B – Objection Rules – CR2500/2501 to “All” so that the MC can object with an Objection code NOTRESP for an NMI Class of NCONUML.





			5. Law/Rule and clauses enabling change


			(Must address head of power in governing law/rule)





			


			NER C7.6.4 (a)








			5. Market benefits for industry as a whole


			(Must address National Electricity Objective and/or National Energy Retail Objective requirements)


NEO: the objective of this Law is to promote efficient investment in, and efficient operation and use of, electricity services for the long term interests of consumers of electricity with respect to: (a) price, quality, safety, reliability, and security of supply of electricity; and (b) the reliability, safety and security of the national electricity system.


NERO: The objective of this Law is to promote efficient investment in, and efficient operation and use of, energy services for the long term interests of consumers of energy with respect to price, quality, safety, reliability and security of supply of energy.





			


			





			6. Customer benefits


(consumers)


			n/a





			7. Workaround/s


(if necessary)


			MC to work with the FRMP to nominate the correct MC. Systems will need to have changes to pick these up as part of exception process.





			8. Supporting Documentation


(attach if necessary)


			





			9. Any critical timelines to consider?


			1 July 2021 





			10. AEMO’s preliminary assessment of the proposal 


			(This is to be left blank)





















			NEM ISSUE / CHANGE – RELEVANT ATTACHMENT(S)











			ATTACHMENT A





Proposed changes: {Procedure Name}


Red strikeout means delete and 
blue underline means insert











image1.jpeg









ICFs/ICF_028 ROLR Processes Part A 17.2 v2.docx










			ISSUE / CHANGE FORM – SUMMARY SECTION
(Template focuses on issue/change identification and impact.)











			ICF Number 


(AEMO to complete)


			





			Version #


			





			Proponent Name


			AEMO Metering


			Company


			





			Proponent Title


			


			Proponent Contact No


			





			Proponent email


			


			Date lodged with AEMO


			





			Procedure Impacted


			|_|	MSATS System


[bookmark: Check1]|_|	MSATS CATS Procedure


|_|	MSATS WIGS Procedure


[bookmark: Check2]|X|	NEM ROLR Processes 


|_|	Metrology Procedure Part A


|_|	Metrology Procedure Part B


|_|	Service Level Procedure: MDP, MP, ENM (cross out unrelated 								documents)


|_|	Other, please specify:





			Areas Impacted


			(I.e. Section No. and/or CR 10XX)





			


			NEM ROLR Processes Part A, section 17.2





			Short Description / Title


			In section 17.2 correct section reference and add process step to remove Failed Retailer MSATS user access.





			Other key contact information 


			














			VERSION #


			PRESENTED TO


			DATE





			


			


			





			


			


			








ERCF Issue-Change Form [image: Header]








ERCF ICF		Page 1


			ISSUE / CHANGE – DETAILED REPORT SECTION











			1. Detailed description of Issue / Change


			Reference to “section 19” in section 17.2 should be corrected to “section 16” for consistency with section 17.1


Add new 17.2(c) 





			2. Market Impact 


			





			3. Requirements / Specific Proposal


			(If Procedure drafting is not attached in the Appendix, please include it here)


Proposed drafting.


17.2. AEMO Obligations 


Within two business days of the conditions in section 19 being met, AEMO must:


(a) Within two business days of the conditions in section 169 being met, AEMO must for all MSATS Participant IDs that belong to the Failed Retailer, cease the ability for that Participant ID to act in any Role by making the Roles assigned to the Participant ID inactive as of the RoLR Effective Transfer Date. 


[bookmark: _GoBack](b) Once section 17.2(a) is completed AEMO must, send an email confirming that there are no other updates required in MSATS to all RoLR Key Contacts. 


Note: This email may also be delivered to the Relevant Regulators.


(c) Once settlements Revision 2 for the billing period in which the RoLR Event occurred is completed, AEMO must remove all MSATS user access for the Failed Retailer.








			4. Proposed Solution/s


			(Must address the Retail Electricity Market Procedures. If drafting is not attached in the Appendix, please include it here)





			


			





			5. Law/Rule and clauses enabling change


			(Must address head of power in governing law/rule)





			


			NERL section 144.





			6. Market benefits for industry as a whole


			(Must address National Electricity Objective and/or National Energy Retail Objective requirements)


Formalises a process step that is currently undertaken.  Removal of MSATS user access for Failed Retailer ensures security and integrity of NEM energy market systems is maintained.





			


			





			7. Customer benefits


(consumers)


			N/A





			8. Workaround/s


(if necessary)


			N/A





			9. Supporting Documentation


(attach if necessary)


			N/A





			10. Any critical timelines to consider?


			No





			11. AEMO’s preliminary assessment of the proposal 


			(This is to be left blank)





















			NEM ISSUE / CHANGE – RELEVANT ATTACHMENT(S)











			ATTACHMENT A





Proposed changes: {Procedure Name}


Red strikeout means delete and 
blue underline means insert











image1.jpeg









ICFs/ICF_029 - AusNet Services - RegisterID Update.docx










			ISSUE / CHANGE FORM – SUMMARY SECTION
(Template focuses on issue/change identification and impact.)











			ICF Number 


(AEMO to complete)


			





			Version #


			1.0





			Proponent Name


			Rebecca Neatnica


			Company


			AusNet Services





			Proponent Title


			Senior Business Analyst


			Proponent Contact No


			0410784094





			Proponent email


			rebecca.neatnica@ausnetservices.com.au


			Date lodged with AEMO


			13/03/2020





			Procedure Impacted


			|_|	MSATS System


[bookmark: Check1]|_|	MSATS CATS Procedure


|_|	MSATS WIGS Procedure


|_|	NEM ROLR Processes 


|_|	Metrology Procedure Part A


|_|	Metrology Procedure Part B


|_|	Service Level Procedure: MDP, MP, ENM (cross out unrelated 								documents)


[bookmark: Check2]|X|	Other, please specify: Standing Data for MSATS version 5.0





			Areas Impacted


			1. Standing Data for MSATS (v5.0) Section 9.1 CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER – Field definitions, field: ‘RegisterID’


2. MSATS Procedures – CATS Procedure Principles and Obligations (v5.0) – Create NMI CRC (2500/2501) and Maintain Metering CRC’s (3000/3001, 3004/3005, 3050/3051, 3080/3081, 3090/3091, 3100/3101) 





			Short Description / Title


			Amend or revert definition of the Register ID field.





			Other key contact information 


			














			VERSION #


			PRESENTED TO


			DATE





			


			


			





			


			


			








ERCF Issue-Change Form [image: Header]








ERCF ICF		Page 1


			ISSUE / CHANGE – DETAILED REPORT SECTION











			1. Detailed description of Issue / Change


			[bookmark: _GoBack]The updates to the Register ID definition that were published in version 5.0 of the Standing Data for MSATS procedure were introduced under the auspices of the 5MS/GS suite of changes with very limited prior notice or consultation as part of Metering Package 3, that interestingly was meant to only consist of administrative changes relating specifically to the 5MS/GS suite of changes. No justification was provided by AEMO for the update, despite objections being raised by Ausgrid in the Draft Consultation Stage and AusNet Services just prior to the release of the Final Determination.


Updating the Register ID to match the NMI Suffix, results in increasing duplicated data sets within MSATS, which AEMO is actively trying to reduce through the MSATS Standing Review Consultation which is currently under way.


The impact of this change to AusNet Services is significant system rework to publish the new definition and requires AusNet Services’ appointed MPB to update over 900,000 Register ID’s potentially via the equivalent volume of CRC 3051s by the end of May 2021 (as per the Final Industry Transition Plan) for no apparent benefit or justification. 





			2. Market Impact 


			The updating of the Register ID is not required in order to fulfill the 5MS/GS obligations and requires MPB participants to make significant system changes to update the Register ID in addition to the changes required to meet the 5MS/GS suite of changes. 


Updating the Register ID in MSATS requires the use of CATS CRC transactions which will be distributed to all participants associated with the impacted NMIs with duplicated data that is already available through NMI Suffix. 





			3. Requirements / Specific Proposal


			Removing the requirement for the Register ID to match the NMI Suffix in MSATS as stated in the Standing Data for MSATS procedure. 





			4. Proposed Solution/s


			Revert the Register ID field definition published in version 5 of the MSATS Standing Data Procedure to the previous Final version 4.4.





			5. Law/Rules and clauses enabling change


			NER 7.16.2





			6. Market benefits for industry as a whole


			· Reduced system changes for participants to align their Register IDs to the NMI Suffix.


· Reduction of duplicated data sets.


· Reduction in CATS transactions to the market to update


· Reducing risk to the 5MS/GS initiative by alleviating the need to realign the MSATS Register IDs via a transition activity 





			7. Customer benefits


(consumers)


			N/A





			8. Workaround/s


(if necessary)


			Should this change not be adopted then AusNet Services requests the assistance of AEMO to facilitate the ~900,000 updates to MSATS via a bulk update process. 





			9. Supporting Documentation


(attach if necessary)


			Current Standing Data for MSATS (version 4.4)








Proposed Standing Data for MSATS (version 4.5) (Stage 1 Consultation) effective Jul-2021 (track changes)








Draft Standing Data for MSATS (version 5.0) (track changes) effective 6 February 2022








Final Standing Data for MSATS (version 5.0) effective 6 February 2022








5MS & GS Metering Transition Plan – Feb-20








Current MSATS Procedures – CATS Procedure Principles and Obligations (v4.7) 








Final MSATS Procedures – CATS Procedure Principles and Obligations (version 5.0) effective 6 February 2022











			10. Any critical timelines to consider?


			As the MSATS Standing Data Review – Stage 1 is currently underway either of AusNet Services proposed options should be included in this suite of changes. 
AusNet Services proposes that this change be included in the Jul-2021 changes to the MSATS Standing Data Procedures (currently marked as version 4.5). 


Including this change into the MSATS Standing Data Review timeframe should reduce any additional impacts to market participants.





			11. AEMO’s preliminary assessment of the proposal 


			(This is to be left blank)












			NEM ISSUE / CHANGE – RELEVANT ATTACHMENT(S)











			ATTACHMENT A





Proposed changes: {Procedure Name}


Red strikeout means delete and 
blue underline means insert











RegisterID definition in version 4.4, the Current version of Standing Data for MSATS





[image: ]








RegisterID definition in version 5.0, the Final version of Standing Data for MSATS for 5MS/GS.





[image: ]














image2.emf


Standing Data for 



MSATS (v4.4).pdf






Standing Data for MSATS (v4.4).pdf






 
 




 




 




 




 




Australian Energy Market Operator Ltd    ABN 94 072 010 327 www.aemo.com.au    info@aemo.com.au 




NEW SOUTH WALES QUEENSLAND SOUTH AUSTRALIA VICTORIA AUSTRALIAN CAPITAL TERRITORY TASMANIA WESTERN AUSTRALIA 




STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 




 




PREPARED BY: AEMO Markets 




VERSION: 4.4 




EFFECTIVE DATE: 01 December 2017 




STATUS: FINAL 




  







http://www.aemo.com.au/



mailto:info@aemo.com.au











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 2 of 42 
 




VERSION RELEASE HISTORY 




Version  Effective Date Summary of Changes 




4.0 Aug 2009 Update to AEMO Format 




4.1 19/04/2012 Updates to NMI Data tables to include Feeder Class, Customer Classification 
Code & Customer Threshold Code and minor data corrections. 




4.2  28/08/2013 Updated wording for Nx suffixes in sections 8, 9 and 12. 
Updated reference to the CATS procedures for Embedded Networks in section 
7. 
Added new data stream type codes under section 11: Reference Tables. 
Updated reference to the NEM Metrology Procedures in section 15. 




4.3 01 December 2017 Updated to incorporate:   




• National Electricity Amendment (Expanding competition in metering and 
related services) Rule 2015. No.12; 




• National Electricity Amendment (Embedded Networks) Rule 2015 No. 15; 
and 




• National Electricity Amendment (Meter Replacement Processes) Rule 
2016 No. 2. 




4.4 01 December 2017 Final Version 




 




 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 2017 Page 3 of 42 
 




CONTENTS 




1. INTRODUCTION 4 




1.1. Purpose and scope 4 




1.2. Definitions and interpretation 4 




1.3. Related documents 4 




2. BACKGROUND 4 




3. CONVENTIONS USED WITHIN THIS DOCUMENT 5 




3.1. Column Headed: Standing Data Required 5 




3.2. NMIs Affected 5 




4. CATS_METER_REGISTER 6 




5. CATS_DLF_CODES 10 




6. CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES 10 




7. CATS_NMI_DATA 11 




8. CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 14 




9. CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 16 




10. CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 18 




11. REFERENCE TABLES 19 




12. USE OF NMI SUFFIX TO POPULATE CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 20 




13. ASSIGNMENT OF DATA – ACCUMULATION METERS 21 




13.1. Single Meter, no controlled load 21 




13.2. Twp Single Element Meters, no controlled load 22 




13.3. Two Single Element Meters, one with controlled load 22 




13.4. One Meter with Two Registers, one measuring a controlled load 22 




13.5. Single Multi-function Meter 23 




13.6. Two meters, three registers. One register measures a controlled load 23 




14. ASSIGNMENT OF DATA – INTERVAL METERS 24 




14.1. One meter 24 




14.2. Import/Export meter 24 




14.3. One meter: multiple registers 25 




14.4. One meter: Twin Measurement Elements 25 




15. ASSIGNMENTS OF DATA – SAMPLE METERS 27 




15.1. Multifunction Sample Meter 27 




16. CROSS REFERENCE OF BROWSER AND ASEXML DATA ELEMENTS 28 




17. EXAMPLES OF TYPICAL FIELD VALUES 36 




18. DATA TYPE CONVENTIONS 41 




 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 4 of 42 
 




1. INTRODUCTION 




1.1. Purpose and scope 




This document details the data requirements for the various data elements comprising the CATS  
Standing Data stored for each NMI, together with relevant examples and definitions. 




1.2. Definitions and interpretation 
  




The Retail Electricity Market Procedures – Glossary and Framework: 




(a) is incorporated into and forms part of this document; and 




(b) should be read with this document. 




1.3. Related documents 




Title Location 




Retail Electricity Market Procedures – 
Glossary and Framework 




http://aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering/Glossary-and-Framework 




CATS Procedures http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-
Solutions 




WIGS Procedures http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-
Solutions 




MDM Procedures http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-
Solutions 




MSATS CATS history Model http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-
Solutions 




MSATS guides http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-
Solutions 




 




2. BACKGROUND 




The five MSATS master tables contain the standing data stored for each NMI.  They are the following:  




Table 1 MSATS Master Tables 




Table Summary of Contents 




CATS_NMI_DATA  Address, TNI Code, DLF Code, aggregate flag, embedded 
network names, Jurisdiction, NMI status code, etc  




CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS  Roles and associated Participants. Separate records are 
maintained for each Role/Participant relationship.  




CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM  Suffix, ADL Code, Profile Name, Datastream type and 
datastream status of each MDM Datastream.  




CATS_METER_REGISTER  Meter Serial ID, meter type, meter manufacturer, test 
results, etc  




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER  Meter Serial ID, Network Tariff Code, unit of measure etc  




For a NMI to be capable of being used in MSATS, it must have the following minimum set of data:  




 At least one record on the CATS_NMI_DATA table; and 




 At least eight records on the CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS table, one for each of the 
mandatory roles (ROLR, LNSP, LR, RP, FRMP, MDP, MPC and MPB).  







http://aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Glossary-and-Framework



http://aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Glossary-and-Framework



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 5 of 42 
 




It will also normally have:  




 At least one record on each of the CATS_METER_REGISTER and 
CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER (there should be at least one record for each meter and register 
associated with the NMI) tables.  




NMIs may or may not have:  




 Records on the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. If metering data is to be submitted to MDM 
there must be at least one valid record on this table.  




Every time a change is made to any of the data in any of these tables, the old records are made inactive 
and new records are created, thus ensuring that there is a complete history of all changes.  




3. CONVENTIONS USED WITHIN THIS DOCUMENT 
  




The format of the data fields in the ‘Browser Format Column’’ column of Tables is as defined in section 
18. 




The following information defines the coded entries in columns used in Tables 3 - 9. 




3.1. Column Headed: Standing Data Required 
  




The column indicates the requirement to provide this data to MSATS. 




Table 2 Explanation of Standing Data Requirements  




3.2. NMIs Affected 
  




Data must be provided for every NMI in MSATS. The NMIs that must be registered in MSATS are: 




 Every First Tier NMI and Second Tier NMI in the NEM. 




 Sample meters for non-NSLP profile calculations and embedded generating units for NSLP 
calculations. 




 Every wholesale connection point in the NEM, including generation, interconnectors and bulk 
supply points. 




 




 




Requirement Description 




MANDATORY Transfer, Validation or processing cannot proceed without this data. 




REQUIRED This data must be provided if this information is available. 




OPTIONAL This data is not required, but will be accepted if delivered. 




Address Option 1 AEMO’s preferred address option. If the applicable fields labelled “Address 
Option 1” cannot be provided, “Address Option 2” is MANDATORY. 




Address Option 2 AEMO’s non-preferred address option. If Address Option 1 is provided, these 
fields are not to be supplied. 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 6 of 42 
 




4. CATS_METER_REGISTER 
  




The CATS_Meter_Register table is a NMI master table containing data that is stored at the Meter Register level. Information stored at this level includes 
the NSRD. It is updated whenever a Change Request containing inbound Meter Register data is completed. 




Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 




Table 3 CATS_METER_REGISTER 




Data Element Name Description Standing Data 
Required 




Party to 
Provide 




 




AdditionalSiteInformation Free text, descriptive of the Site, describing Site access and the 
relationship between the metering point and the connection point. 




OPTIONAL MPB  




AssetManagementPlan Asset management plan 




If a Site plan is used, free text description of plan. 




If a sample plan is used, the name of the AEMO approved plan. 




OPTIONAL MPB  




CalibrationTables Calibration tables – details of any calibration factors programmed into 
the meter. 




OPTIONAL MPB  




CommunicationsEquipmen
tType 




Used to store baud rate for installed communication equipment in a 
code, calculated by dividing the baud rate by 100, of the installed 
communication equipment.   




For example, 48 = 4800 baud. 




OPTIONAL MPB  




CommunicationsProtocol Used to provide details of access through switch units (if installed).  




Data to include Switch Unit, Dial Pkg, Port#, userid, password. 




OPTIONAL MPB  




DataConversion Actual Pulse Multipliers OPTIONAL MPB  




DataValidations Free text description of required data validations. OPTIONAL MPB   




EstimationInstructions Estimation instructions. Free text field OPTIONAL MPB  




LastTestDate The date on which the metering installation was last tested or 




inspected by the Metering Provider “B”. This date will be used if 
clause 7.9.4(a) of the NER needs to be applied. 




OPTIONAL MPB  




MeasurementType Code based on the NMI suffix codes, indicating the type of 
measurements available from the meter.   




For example, EBQK = bidirectional energy plus reactive Interval 
Meter. 




OPTIONAL 




NOT USED for 
types 6 & 7 
Transfers. 




MPB  




Constant The meter KE (intrinsic constraint of meter in Wh/pulse). OPTIONAL MPB  















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 7 of 42 
 




Hazard Free text or code  identifying hazards associated with reading the 
meter.  




OPTIONAL MPB  




InstallationTypeCode The Metering Installation Type Code indicates whether the metering 
installation has to be manually read. 




This value must correspond to a valid MeterInstallCode in the Meter 
Installation Codes reference table listed in section 11. 




MANDATORY MPB  




Location Free text descriptive material identifying the relationship between the 
location of the metering point and the connection point. 




OPTIONAL MPB  




Manufacturer Free text field to identify the manufacturer of the installed meter. OPTIONAL MPB  




Model Free text field to identify the meter manufacturer’s designation for the 
meter model. 




OPTIONAL MPB  




Point Identifies the meter uniquely for the NMI.  In the format 0n, where n is 
the meter number per the protocol described in the NMI Procedure.    




The allowed values are 01 to 09, 0A to 0H, 0J to 0N, 0P to 0Z. 




This will allow an audit trail when one meter is removed and a new 
meter is given the same MeterPoint value. 




OPTIONAL MPB  




Program Free text field providing a description of the program used to initialise 
the installed meter. 




OPTIONAL MPB  




ReadTypeCode Code to denote the method and frequency of Meter Reading. 




1. First Character = Remote (R) or Manual (M); 
2. Second Character = Mode 




T = telephone 




W = wireless 




P = powerline 




I = infra-red 




G = galvanic 




V = visual 




3. Third Character = Frequency of Scheduled Meter Readings 




1 = Twelve times per year 




2 = Six times per year 




3 = Four times per year 




D = Daily or weekly 




4. Fourth Character = Undefined.  




For example, MV3 = Manual, Visual, Quarterly. 




OPTIONAL MPB  




Route The route identifier the meter is currently being read in. OPTIONAL MPB  















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 8 of 42 
 




SerialNumber The Meter Serial ID uniquely identifies a meter for a given NMI. 
Maximum 12 Characters (alpha numeric).  Unique for NMI. 




Use dummy for UMCP (Type 7) and logical (meters). 




Except for UMCP and logical, SerialNumber should be as displayed on 
the physical device (also known as property number). 




SerialNumber to be property number if exists, otherwise the meter 
manufacturer’s serial number, otherwise dummy number. 




MANDATORY MPB  




Status A code to denote the status of the meter.  




This value must correspond to a valid ElectricityMeter/Status in the 
Meter and RegisterID Codes reference table listed in section 11. 




MANDATORY MPB  




Use A code identifying how the meter is used. OPTIONAL MPB  




NextScheduledReadDate Indicates the Scheduled Next Read Date for the meter if a manual 
Meter Reading is required. 




OPTIONAL MPB initially, 
then MDP for 
updates 




 




NextTestDate Next date on which the meter should be tested. OPTIONAL MPB  




NMI NMI. This number is unique for each connection point within the NEM. MANDATORY LNSP  




Password Read & time set passwords separated by a space. OPTIONAL MPB  




RemotePhoneNumber The public telephone number to contact a remote Site for metering 
data. Includes STD prefix and no spaces. 




OPTIONAL MPB  




TestCalibrationProgram Test & calibration program. OPTIONAL MPB  




TestPerformedBy Identifying the Metering Provider “B” and the technician responsible 
for conducting the last test. The technician is to be identified by a 
number unique to the Metering Provider “B”. 




OPTIONAL MPB  




TestResultAccuracy The accuracy figure from the test perfomed on the date indicated in 
the LastTestDate field. 




OPTIONAL MPB  




TestResultNotes A statement of compliance indicating the standard of the test regime 
applied at the time of the last test.  




OPTIONAL MPB  




TransformerLocation A free text field to identify the existence of instrument transformers 
and their location relative to the market connection point. 




OPTIONAL MPB  




TransformerRatio A statement of the available and applied transformer ratios. OPTIONAL MPB  




TransformerType An explanation of the type of transformation used. OPTIONAL MPB  




UserAccessRights Details of any End User access to the metering installation; examples 




include pulse outputs, interface to consumer load management 
system, or consumer directly accessing data in meter by special 
agreement. 




OPTIONAL MPB  















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 9 of 42 
 




FromDate Start date of the record. This indicates the date on which the 
parameters of this particular record apply from. The data applies from 
the beginning of this date (the start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 




MANDATORY Participant 
sending 
transaction 




 




ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on which the parameters 
of this particular record end. The data applies until the end of this date 
(the end of the day, i.e. 23:59). 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate is not provided. 




MANDATORY 




(Defaults to high 
date unless 
supplied) 




System 
generated 
unless supplied. 




 




RowStatus  Indicates whether the record is active or inactive. 




Whenever a new record is created, it will be A (Active).  A change to 
the data will make this record redundant and its MaintActFlg is 
changed to I (Inactive). 




MANDATORY System 
generated 




 




MaintenanceDate  Date and time the record was updated. 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the record is created initially. 




If the record is subsequently updated, its MaintUpdtDt is changed to 
the date and time the record was updated. 




MANDATORY System 
generated 




 




CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 
generated 




 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 10 of 42 
 




5. CATS_DLF_CODES 
  




The CATS_DLF_Codes table contains a list of DLF Codes and their relevant values. The StartDate and 
DLFCode fields will need to be provided for settlements calculations. 




Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 




Table 4 CATS_DLF_CODES 




6. CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES 
  




The CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES table contains embedded network identifier codes, which are used 
to identify which embedded network a NMI belongs to, either as a Parent NMI or a Child NMI. 




Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 




Data Element Name Description Standing 
Data 
Required 




Party to 
Provide 




DistributionLossFactor
Code 




A four character alpha-numeric code used to identify DLF 
values.  All NMIs must be assigned a DLF Code. Refer to 
AEMO Distribution Loss Factor documents for each financial 
year.. 




MANDATORY AEMO 




DistributionLossFactor
Description 




Description of the DLF Code and value. MANDATORY AEMO 




DistributionLossFactor 
Value 




Numeric value up to 5 decimal places, reflecting the value of 
the DLF Code. 




MANDATORY AEMO 




JurisdictionCode Jurisdiction code to which the NMI belongs.  




This value must correspond to a valid JurisdictionCode in the 
Jurisdiction Codes reference table in section 11.  




MANDATORY AEMO 




RowStatus Indicates whether the DLF Code is active or inactive.  




Whenever a new record is created, it will be A (Active). A 




change to the data will make this record redundant and its 




MaintActFlg is changed to I (Inactive). 




 




MANDATORY System 
generated 




FromDate Start date of the record. This indicates the date on which the 
parameters of this particular record apply from. The data 
applies from the beginning of this date (the start of the day, 
i.e. 00:00). 




MANDATORY AEMO 




ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on which the 
parameters of this particular record end. The data applies until 
the end of this date (the end of the day, i.e. 23:59). 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate is not 
provided. 




MANDATORY System 
generated 




MaintenanceDate Date and time the record was updated. 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the record is 
created initially. 




If the record is subsequently updated, its MaintUpdtDt is 
changed to the date and time the record was updated. 




MANDATORY System 
generated 




CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 
generated 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 11 of 42 
 




Table 5 CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES 




 




7. CATS_NMI_DATA 
  




The CATS_NMI_DATA table records Master NMI Record data information. It is updated whenever a 
Change Request containing data in the CATS_INBOUND_NMI_DATA table is completed. 




Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 




Table 6 CATS_NMI_DATA 




Data Element Name Description Standing Data 
Required 




Party to 
Provide 




EmbeddedNetwork 
Identifier 




Embedded Network Code. 




Refer to Allocation of Embedded Network Codes  
for further details. 




MANDATORY AEMO 




EmbeddedNetwork 
Description 




Description of embedded network identifier. MANDATORY AEMO 




SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality Locality to which the embedded network identifier 
belongs. 




MANDATORY AEMO 




PostCode Postcode for the locality to which the embedded 
network identifier belongs. 




MANDATORY AEMO 




StateOrTerritory State or Territory abbreviation in accordance with 
AS 4590. 




MANDATORY AEMO 




RowStatus Indicates whether the code is active or inactive. 




Whenever a new record is created, it will be A 




(Active). A change to the data will make this record 




redundant and its MaintActFlg is changed to I 




(Inactive). 




 




MANDATORY System 
generated 




FromDate Start date of the record. This indicates the date on 
which the parameters of this particular record apply 
from. The data applies from the beginning of this 
date (the start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 




MANDATORY AEMO 




ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on 
which the parameters of this particular record end. 
The data applies until the end of this date (the end of 
the day, i.e. 23:59). 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate 
is not provided. 




MANDATORY System 
generated 




MaintenanceDate Date and time the record was updated. 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the record 
is created initially.  




If the record is subsequently updated, its 
MaintUpdtDt is changed to the date and time the 
record was updated. 




MANDATORY System 
generated 




CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 
generated 




Data Element Name Description Standing Data 
Required 




Party to 
Provide 




NMI NMI. 




All alpha characters are Upper Case 




MANDATORY LNSP 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 12 of 42 
 




NMI 
ClassificationCode 




Code used to indicate the NMI Classification Code of this 
NMI.   




This value must correspond to a valid NMIClassCode 
value in the NMI Class Codes reference table listed in 
section 11. 




MANDATORY LNSP 




 




MasterData/ 
StatusCode 




Code used to indicate the status of the NMI.   




This value must correspond to a valid 
MasterData/Status value in the NMI Status Codes 
reference table listed in section 11. 




MANDATORY LNSP 




 




TransmissionNode 
Identifier 




This value must correspond to a valid code in the 
CATS_TNI_Codes table.  




MANDATORY LNSP 




 




JurisdictionCode Jurisdiction code to which the NMI belongs. This code 




defines the jurisdictional rules which apply to the transfer 
of this NMI. 




This value must correspond to a valid JurisdictionCode 
value in the Jurisdiction Codes reference table listed in 
section 11. 




MANDATORY LNSP 




 




DistributionLoss 
FactorCode 




Distribution Loss Factor Code.  Must be a valid code in 
the CATS_DLF_Codes table.  




MANDATORY LNSP 




 




ChildEmbedded 
NetworkIdentifier 




The embedded network identifier code is used to identify 
which embedded network this given NMI is the 'child of'.  
(If on a NMI record this field is not populated, it is 
assumed the NMI is not the child of any other NMI.)   




Must be a valid code within the 
CATS_Emb_Net_ID_Codes table. 




This field cannot be used unless the Parent NMI has 
been created and assigned an embedded network 
identifier code. Refer section 30.4.a  of the CATS 
Procedure. 




REQUIRED LNSP 




 




ParentEmbedded 
NetworkIdentifier 




The embedded network identifier code is used to identify 
which embedded network this given NMI is the 'parent 
of'.  (If on a NMI record this field is not populated, it is 
assumed the NMI is not the parent of any other NMI.)    




Must be a valid code within the 
CATS_Emb_Net_ID_Codes table.  




REQUIRED LNSP 




 




BuildingOrProperty 
Name 




A free text description of the full name used to identify 
the physical building or property as part of its location. 




Address Option 
1 




LNSP 




 




LotNumber The lot reference number allocated to an address prior 
to street numbering. The word ‘LOT’ is not required. 




Address Option 
1 




LNSP 




 




FlatOrUnitNumber Specification of the number of the flat or unit which is a 
separately identifiable portion within a building/complex. 




Address Option 
1 




LNSP 




 




FlatOrUnitType Specification of the type of flat or unit which is a 
separately identifiable portion within a building/complex. 
This value must correspond to a valid Flat Type Code, 
reference AS4590.  




Address Option 
1 




LNSP 




 




FloorOrLevelNumber Floor Number is used to identify the floor or level of a 
multi-storey building/complex. 




Address Option 
1 




LNSP 




 




FloorOrLevelType Floor Type is used to identify the floor or level of a 
multi-storey building/complex. This value must 
correspond to a valid Floor Type Code in the Floor 
Type Codes, reference AS4590. 




Address Option 
1 




LNSP 




 




HouseNumber The numeric reference of a house or property.  
Specifically the house number. 




Address Option 
1 




LNSP 




 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 13 of 42 
 




HouseNumberSuffix The numeric reference of a house or property.  
Specifically the single character identifying the house 
number suffix. 




Address Option 
1 




LNSP 




 




StreetName Records the thoroughfare name. 




See notes at end of table for more information on 
Structured Addresses 




Address Option 
1 




LNSP 




 




StreetSuffix Records street suffixes. This value must correspond to 
a valid Street Suffix Code, reference AS4590. 




Address Option 
1 




LNSP 




 




StreetType Records the street type abbreviation.  This value must 
correspond to a valid Street Type Code, reference 
AS4590. 




Address Option 
1 




LNSP 




 




SuburbOrPlaceOrLoc
ality 




The full name of the general locality containing the 
specific address. 




MANDATORY  LNSP 




 




LocationDescriptor A general field to capture various references to address 
locations alongside another physical location. 




Address Option 
1 




LNSP 




 




PostCode The descriptor for a postal delivery area, aligned with 
locality, suburb or place. 




MANDATORY LNSP 




 




StateOrTerritory Defined State or Territory abbreviation.   MANDATORY LNSP 




 




DeliveryPointIdentifier Delivery point identifier - the numeric descriptor for a 
postal delivery point which is equal to a physical 
address.  The values are in the range 10000000 – 
99999999. 




OPTIONAL LNSP 




 




AddressLine To provide the unstructured address (line 1) where a 
structured address cannot be supplied. 




Address Option 
2 




LNSP 




 




AddressLine To provide the unstructured address (line 2) where a 
structured address cannot be supplied. 




Address Option 
2 




LNSP 




 




AddressLine To provide the unstructured address (line 3) where a 
structured address cannot be supplied. 




Address Option 
2 




LNSP 




 




Aggregate This flag determines whether the energy at this 
connection point is to be treated as consumer load or as 
a generating unit (this may include generator auxiliary 
loads). 




MSATS will initially set this field to “Y” This value must 
correspond to a valid Aggregate value in the Aggregate 
Codes reference table listed in section 11. 




OPTIONAL (Defaults to ‘Y’, 
AEMO updates 
to ‘N’ as 
required) 




FromDate Start date of the NMI Data record. This indicates the date 
on which the parameters of this particular NMI data 
record apply from.  




The data applies from the beginning of this date (the 
start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 




MANDATORY LNSP 




 




ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on which 
the parameters of this particular record end. The data 
applies until the end of this date (the end of the day, i.e. 
23:59). 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate is 
not provided. 




MANDATORY 




(Defaults to high 
date unless 
supplied) 




System 
generated 
unless supplied. 




RowStatus  Indicates whether the record is active or inactive. 




Whenever a new record is created, it will be A (Active). 




A change to the data will make this record redundant and 




its MaintActFlg is changed to I (Inactive). 




MANDATORY System 
generated 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 14 of 42 
 




 




8. CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 
  




The CATS_NMI_Data_Stream table is a NMI master table containing data that is stored at the NMI 
Datastream level. Information stored at this level includes suffixes, profile name, average daily load etc. 
It is updated whenever a Change Request containing inbound Datastream data is completed. 




Note: Data is only required for this table if the NMI is active in the NEM or is used for profile peel-off in 
accordance with the Metrology Procedure. 




Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 




Table 7 CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




 




MaintenanceDate  Date and time the record was updated. 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the record is 
created initially. 




If the record is subsequently updated, its MaintUpdtDt 
is changed to the date and time the record was 
updated. 




MANDATORY System 
generated 




CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 
generated 




Feeder Class A code to provide Participants with information to 
indicate the appropriate service level timeframes for 
performing work in relation to Service Order Requests. 




OPTIONAL LNSP 




 




Customer 
Classification Code 




A code that defines the consumer class as defined in 
the National Energy Retail Regulations, or in overriding 
Jurisdictional instruments 




MANDATORY Current 




FRMP 




Customer 
Classification 
Threshold Code 




A code that defines the consumption threshold as 
defined in the National Energy Retail Regulations, or in 
overriding Jurisdictional instruments. 




MANDATORY LNSP 




 




Data Element Name Description Standing Data 
Required 




Party to 
Provide 




NMI NMI MANDATORY 




 




MDP 




LNSP 




ElectricityDataStream
/Suffix 




Metering Datastream identifier (for MDM). Identifies the 
Datastream as delivered to AEMO for settlements purposes.  




The value must be a valid suffix for this NMI and is active for 
this date range.  




The value must comply with requirements of the NMI 
Procedure. 




If the MeterInstallCode is COMMSn, MRIM, MRAM, VICAMI 
or UMCP, the Suffix value must be in the form Nx where 
DataStreamType is I or P for an interval Datastream.  If the 
MeterInstallCode is BASIC, the Suffix value must be 
numeric. 




MANDATORY  




 




MDP 




ElectricityDataStream
/Status 




Code used to indicate the status of the suffix.  




This value must correspond to a valid StreamStatusCode in 
the Stream Status Codes reference table listed in section 11. 




MANDATORY  




 




MDP 




AveragedDailyLoad The energy delivered through a connection point or metering 
point over an extended period normalised to a "per day" 




basis (kWh). 




MANDATORY  




 




MDP 




DataStreamType Indicates the type of data that the  the ElectricityDataStream / 
Suffix is recording.   




Profile data meters are: 




MANDATORY  




 




MDP 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 15 of 42 
 




 




 




1. For registering sample meters used for the calculation of 
profile shapes where the NMI and Datastream are not 
used for settlements. 




2. For providing external profile shapes into MDM (external 
PPS). 




This value must correspond to a valid DataStreamType in the 
Data Stream Type Codes reference table listed in section 11. 




ProfileName The Profile Name is a code that identifies the name of the 
algorithmically derived shape that is used to allocate a 
Datastream's consumption to TIs.  This value must correspond 
to a valid code in the PROFILE table.  




For all Interval Meters and sample meters, this must be set to 
‘NOPROF’.  




For Accumulation Meters, refer to the MDM Profile for valid 
profile names.  




 In Victoria and the ACT, ProfileName must be NSLP.   




 In NSW, QLD and SA, ProfileName must be NSLP or the 
relevant controlled load profile. 




This value must correspond to a valid ProfileName value in 
the Profile Codes reference table listed in section 11. 




MANDATORY  




 




MDP 




FromDate Start date of the NMI data record. This indicates the date on 
which the parameters of this particular NMI data record apply 
from.  




The data applies from the beginning of this date (the start of 
the day, i.e. 00:00). 




MANDATORY Party 
sending 
transaction 




ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on which the 
parameters of this particular record end. The data applies until 
the end of this date (the end of the day, i.e. 23:59). 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate is not 
provided. 




MANDATORY 




(Defaults to high 
date unless 
supplied) 




System 
generated 
unless 
supplied. 




RowStatus  Indicates whether the record is active or inactive. 




Whenever a new record is created, it will be A (Active). A 




change to the data will make this record redundant and its 




MaintActFlg is changed to I (Inactive). 




 




MANDATORY System 
generated 




MaintenanceDate  Date and time the record was updated. 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the record is 
created initially. 




If the record is subsequently updated, its MaintUpdtDt is 
changed to the date and time the record was updated. 




MANDATORY System 
generated 




CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 
generated 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 16 of 42 
 




9. CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 
  




The CATS_Register_Identifier table contains data that is stored at the register identifier level. 
Information stored at this level includes the Network Tariff Code. It is updated whenever a Change 
Request containing inbound register identifier data is completed. 




Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 




Table 8 CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element 
Name 




Description Standing 
Data 
Required 




Party to 
Provide 




NER Reference / 
Description 




NMI NMI. This number is unique for each connection 
point within the NEM. 




MANDATO
RY 




LNSP  




SerialNumber The Meter Serial ID uniquely identifies a meter for a 
given NMI. Maximum 12 Characters (alpha numeric).  
Unique for NMI. 




Use dummy for UMCP (Type 7) and logical (meters). 




Except for UMCP and logical, MeterSerial should be 
displayed on physical device also known as property 
number). 




SerialNumber to be property number if exists, 
otherwise the meter manufacturers’ serial number, 
otherwise dummy number. 




MANDATO
RY 




MPB  




RegisterID The RegisterID is used to identify a data source that 
is obtained from the meter. A single meter may 
provide multiple data sources.  




MANDATO
RY 




MPB  




NetworkTariffCo
de 




The Network Tariff Code is a free text field required. 
The text must match the Network Tariff Codes 
supplied and published by the LNSP.  




Must be a valid code from the 
CATS_Network_Tariff_Codes table.   




MANDATO
RY 




 




MPB  




NetworkAdditio
nal 
Information 




Free text field. OPTIONAL MPB  




UnitOfMeasure Code to identify the unit of measure for data held in 
this register. 




MANDATO
RY 




MPB  




TimeOfDay Code to identify the time validity of register contents. 




As published by each LNSP. 




MANDATO
RY  




MPB  




Multiplier Multiplier required to take a register value and turn it 
into a value representing billable energy 




MANDATO
RY 




MPB  




DialFormat Describes the register display format. 




First number is the number of digits to the left of the 
decimal place, and the second number is the number 
of digits to the right of the decimal place. 




MANDATO
RY 




MPB  















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 17 of 42 
 




Suffix Metering Datastream identifier (for MDM).  Identifies 
each Datastream at the measurement element level 
for the connection point identified by the NMI.  




The value must be a valid suffix for this NMI and is 
active for this date range.  The value must match the 
value provided in the MDFF File. 




The Suffix value must be unique for each meter. 




The value must comply with the NMI Procedure  




For interval data streams, the suffix will indicate 




the individual data streams contributing to the Nx 




Suffix value in the CATS_NMI_DataStream 




table.  




For basic data streams the value will be identical 
to the related Suffix value in the 
CATS_NMI_DataStream table.  




 




MANDATO
RY 




MPB  




ControlledLoad Indicates whether the energy recorded by this register 
is created under a Controlled Load regime 




ControlledLoad field will have "No" if register does not 
relate to a Controlled Load. 




If the register relates to a Controlled Load, it should 
contain a description of the Controlled Load regime. 




MANDATO
RY 




MPB  




RegisterDetail/ 
Status 




Lookup code to indicate if register is active. 




Must ensure that RegisterDetail/Status is not Current 
(C) when ElectricityMeter/Status is Removed (R). 




This value must correspond to a valid 
RegisterDetail/Status from the Meter and RegisterID 
Codes reference table listed in section 11. 




MANDATO
RY 




MPB  




ConsumptionTy
pe 




Actual/Subtractive Indicator. 




Actual (A) implies volume of energy actually metered 
between two dates. 




Cumulative (C) indicates a Meter Reading for a 
specific date. A second Meter Reading is required to 
determine the consumption between those two Meter 
Reading dates.  




For an Interval Meter, ActCumInd = A. 




This value must correspond to a valid 
ConsumptionType from the Consumption Type 
Codes reference table listed in section 11. 




MANDATO
RY 




MPB  




Demand1 This field contains the peak demand value for 
summer for network Tariff purposes. Units in kW or 
kVA 




OPTIONAL MPB 
(Refers to 
Network 
Tariff 
Code) 




 




 




Demand2 This field contains an additional demand value (not 
Summer period). Units in kW or kVA 




OPTIONAL MPB 
(Refers to 
Network 
Tariff 
Code) 




 




FromDate Start date of the NMI data record. This indicates the 
date on which the parameters of this particular NMI 
data record apply from.  




The data applies from the beginning of this date (the 
start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 




MANDATO
RY 




Participant 
sending 
transactio
n 




 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 18 of 42 
 




 




10. CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 
  




The CATS_NMI_Participant_Relations table is a NMI master table containing data that stores the Roles 
that Participants play for each NMI. It is updated whenever a Change Request containing inbound 
Roles is completed. Each Role record, which contains a single Role code and a single Participant ID, 
has a start date and an end date, as well as information about when it was created and when it became 
inactive if it is no longer an active record. 




Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 




Table 9 CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 




ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on 
which the parameters of this particular record end. 
The data applies until the end of this date (the end of 
the day, i.e. 23:59). 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate 
is not provided. 




MANDATO
RY 




(Defaults to 
high date 
unless 
supplied) 




System 
generated 
unless 
supplied. 




 




RowStatus  Indicates whether the record is active or inactive. 




Whenever a new record is created, it will be A (Active). 




A change to the data will make this record redundant 




and its MaintActFlg is changed to I (Inactive). 




 




MANDATO
RY 




System 
generated 




 




MaintenanceDa
te  




Date and time the record was updated. 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the record 
is created initially. 




If the record is subsequently updated, its 
MaintUpdtDt is changed to the date and time the 
record was updated. 




MANDATO
RY 




System 
generated 




 




CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATO
RY 




System 
generated 




 




Data Element Name Description Standing Data 
Required 




Party to 
Provide 




Party The Participant ID whose relationship (Role) with the NMI 
is defined in this table. 




MANDATORY LNSP 




NMI NMI. This number is unique for each connection point.  MANDATORY LNSP 




Role This defines the relationship (Role) of the Participant with 
the NMI in this table. 




MANDATORY LNSP 




FromDate Start date of the record. This indicates the date on which 
the parameters of this particular record apply from. 




The data applies from the beginning of this date (the start 
of the day, i.e. 00:00). 




MANDATORY Party sending 
transaction 




ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on which 
the parameters of this particular record end. The data 
applies until the end of this date (the end of the day, i.e. 
23:59). 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate is not 
provided. 




MANDATORY 




(Defaults to high 
date unless 
supplied) 




System 
generated 
unless supplied. 




RowStatus  Indicates whether the record is active or inactive. MANDATORY System 
generated 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 19 of 42 
 




11. REFERENCE TABLES 
  
  




Table 10 - Valid Aggregate Codes 




Aggregate Description 




Y Customer load 




N Generator NMI 




 




Table 11 - Valid Consumption Type Codes 




Consumptiontype Description 




A Actual Consumption 




C Cumulative Consumption 




 




Table 12 - Valid Datastream Type Codes 




Datastreamtype Description 




I Interval 




C Basic 




P Profile Data 




1 Non-Market Active Import 




2 Non-Market Active 




3 Non-Market Reactive Import 




4 Non-Market Reactive 




 




 




Table 13 - Valid Profile Codes 




ProfileName Description 




NSLP Net System Load Profile. 




The profile is calculated by MSATS. NSLP represents the system load 
after all actual interval metering data or specified previously-calculated 
profiled metering data that is not dependent on the NSLP has been 
subtracted from a known total system load and represents system-wide 
usage by consumption-type metering installations. 




Whenever a new record is created, it will be A (Active). A 




change to the data will make this record redundant and its 




MaintActFlg is changed to I (Inactive). 




 




MaintenanceDate Date and time the record was updated. 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the record is 
created initially. 




If the record is subsequently updated, its MaintUpdtDt is 
changed to the date and time the record was updated. 




MANDATORY System 
generated 




CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 
generated 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 20 of 42 
 




ProfileName Description 




CLOADNSWCE Controlled Load profile: Country Energy. (Now Essential Energy)  




Profile Names beginning with CLOAD are Controlled Load profiles. 
Controlled Load profiles are applied to Controlled Load Datastreams in 
NSW. There is one Controlled Load profile for each LNSP area. The 
names all begin with CLOADNSW to indicate that they are NSW Profile 
Names followed by two characters to indicate the LNSP area to which it 
belongs (e.g. EA = EnergyAustralia). 




CLOADNSWEA Controlled Load profile: EnergyAustralia (Now Ausgrid). 




CLOADNSWIE Controlled Load profile: IntegralEnergy (Now Endeavour Energy) 




QLDEGXCL31 Controlled Load profile Energex tariff 31 




QLDEGXCL33 Controlled Load profile Energex tariff 33 




SACLOAD South Australian Controlled Load. 




NOPROF Used for interval Datastream types (to indicate that such Datastreams do 
not need to be profiled to obtain ‘readings’ for each settlements interval 
because the data is supplied in 30-minute intervals). 




 




Note: Refer to the MSATS CATS Procedure section 4 for details on the valid codes for the following: 




- Jurisdiction Codes 




- Metering Installation Type Codes 




- NMI Classification Codes 




- NMI Status Codes 




- Datastream Status Codes 




12. USE OF NMI SUFFIX TO POPULATE CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 
  




For any particular connection point there may be multiple energy measurement elements and data 
recorders with multiple channels. Accurate identification of Datastreams is essential. The NMI Procedure 
includes the requirements for the use of a suffix to the NMI that identifies these Datastreams.  The 
DataStreamSuffix detailed in the NMI Procedure provides identification at the measurement element level 
for all Datastreams from the connection point identified by the NMI.  The DataStreamSuffix is commonly 
known as the NMISuffix.  The NMISuffix is labelled as ‘Suffix’ in the Browser and is the 
ElectricityDataStream/Suffix data element in aseXML. 




The NMISuffix was first used in the NMI Procedure to describe, in conjunction with the NMI, the data 
transferred from the MDP to AEMO and Participants for settlements. The NMISuffix was further extended 
to describe Datastreams in MSATS, and numeric suffixes were developed to describe the data from type 
6 metering installations. 




In MSATS, the NMISuffix is used in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table to describe the data as 
delivered to AEMO. For settlements purposes this data must be ‘NET’ [Export from network, less import 
to network] and will be ‘Nx’ for an interval Datastream, or numeric for an Accumulation Meter. 




In MSATS release 2.0 a new table, CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER, was introduced to link identifiers for 
the source meter register(s) to the Datastream suffix in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. The 
purpose of the table is to enable the alignment of the data held in MSATS and the data being transferred 
between Participants in the B2B process. 




This link is achieved through the RegisterID (which describes the data source at the metering installation) 
and ElectricityDataStream/Suffix (which describes the NMISuffix to which the RegisterID contributes) 
data elements. This is a many-to-one relationship, i.e. there may be multiple RegisterID values for each 
ElectricityDataStream/Suffix value in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table. 




 The RegisterID identifies the measurement element and type of measurement for an Interval 
Meter, and identifies the location of a stored energy value in an Accumulation Meter. 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 21 of 42 
 




 The ElectricityDataStream/Suffix value in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table identifies the 
Datastream registered in MSATS. For settlements purposes, Interval Meter Datastreams will be 
the NET suffix (format Nx) and for Accumulation Meter Datastreams the suffix value is numeric.  
MSATS requires data to be delivered against this suffix (if the Datastream is ACTIVE).  MSATS 
does not validate the values entered in this field. 




 The ElectricityDataStream/Suffix value in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table identifies the 
individual Datastream(s) contributing to the ElectricityDataStream/Suffix value in the 
CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. For interval Datastreams, the suffix(es) will indicate the 
individual Datastream(s) contributing to the Nx Suffix value in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 
table where the DataStreamType is P or I (Refer section 14for examples). For accumulation 
Datastreams the value will be numeric and will be identical to the related Suffix value in the 
CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table (refer section 13 for examples). 




 The ElectricityDataStream/Suffix values used in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table are 
used to identify metering data contained in MDFF Files (in the NMISuffix field).  




 The linkage between the RegisterID and ElectricityDataStream/Suffix exists because the 
ElectricityDataStream/Suffix data element is populated in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 
table. 




 The RegisterID data element has no standard format; therefore, the MPB must determine the 
appropriate population of this field, e.g. it may be used to indicate the programming code of the 
register. 




There is an inconsistent understanding across industry of the meaning of the terms ‘register’ and 
‘datastream’. Conventionally, to field metering personnel, a ‘register’ contains a single value, while a 
‘datastream’ represents an array of time separated register values in chronological order. 




For Accumulation Meters, the RegisterID refers to the non-volatile storage of the cumulative energy 
register(s). The RegisterID will have identification with the displays of the meters, or identification of 
internal data stores.  




For Accumulation Meters, the ElectricityDataStream/Suffix data element in the 
CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table may have a many-to-one relationship with the 
ElectricityDataStream/Suffix data element in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table.  That is, the same 
Suffix may occur several times in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table and occur once only in the 
CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. 




For Interval Meters, the definition of the RegisterID field is less obvious. To make this field useful, the 
RegisterID should be associated with the ElectricityDataStream/Suffix. As Interval Meters may have 
multiple measurement elements and there may be multiple meters for a NMI, the MDP must manage 
Datastreams against a NMI to avoid duplication of ElectricityDataStream/Suffixes and provide correct 
mapping of RegisterIDs.  




13. ASSIGNMENT OF DATA – ACCUMULATION METERS 
  




This section details examples of the assignment of data for various basic metering installations.  For 
Accumulation Meters, the Suffix values in CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER and 
CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM tables are always numeric. 




13.1. Single Meter, no controlled load 
  




A Accumulation Meter with a single register measuring a Non-Controlled Load will have a single 
Datastream suffix 11 for the NMI. 




Table 14 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityData 
Stream/Status 




Value 0123456789 11 A 




 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 22 of 42 
 




The CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table indicates that the meter has only one register. The Suffix in 
the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER ‘11’ denotes that data from RegisterID 01 contributes to the 
Datastream identified by Suffix 11 in CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Table 15 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER  




Data Element: Serial 
Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 
Load 




Value ABCD1111 01 KWH ALLDAY 11 No 




 




The Suffix in CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM will be recorded as ‘11’ by the MDP and the Suffix in 
CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER must then be ‘11’. 




13.2. Twp Single Element Meters, no controlled load 
  




The NMI has two Accumulation Meters, each meter with single register. The data from the two meters 
will be submitted to MSATS as two Datastreams. 




Table 16 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityData 
Stream/Status 




Values 0123456789 11 A 




0123456789 12 A 




Table 17 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 
Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 
Load 




Values ABCD1111 01 KWH ALLDAY 11 No 




XYZA1112 01 KWH ALLDAY 12 No 




 




13.3. Two Single Element Meters, one with controlled load 
  




A NMI has two Accumulation Meters, each meter has a single register, and one meter is measuring a 
Controlled Load. The data from the two meters is submitted to MSATS as two Datastreams.  




Table 18 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityData 
Stream/Status 




Value 




 




0123456789 11 A 




0123456789 42 A 




Table 19 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 
Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 
Load 




Values 




 




ABCD1111 01 KWH TOTAL 11 No 




XYZA1112 01 KWH CL1 42 HWLoad 




13.4. One Meter with Two Registers, one measuring a controlled load 




NMI has one Accumulation Meter with two registers. The second register is measuring a Controlled 
Load. 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 23 of 42 
 




Table 20 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityData 
Stream/Status 




Values 




 




0123456789 11 A 




0123456789 41 A 




Table 21 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 
Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 
Load 




Value 




 




ABCD1111 01 KWH PEAK 11 No 




ABCD1111 02 KWH CL1 41 HWLoad 




  




13.5. Single Multi-function Meter 
  




Accumulation Meter has 4 registers, one register being a Controlled Load. 




Table 22 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityData 
Stream/Status 




Values 




 




0123456789 11 A 




0123456789 21 I 




0123456789 31 A 




0123456789 41 A 




 




Each register is separately identified in CATS_NMI_Data_Stream. However, register 2 on meter 1 is 
inactive in MSATS, and therefore data is not accepted by MSATS for this Suffix. 




Table 23 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 
Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 
Load 




Values 




 




ABCD1111 01 KWH ALLDAY 11 No 




ABCD1111 02 KWH NOTUSED 21 No 




ABCD1111 03 KWH OFFPEAK 31 No 




ABCD1111 04 KWH CL1 41 HWLoad 




Note:  The meter may have register identification and therefore these numbers can be used in the table as 




RegisterID. 




13.6. Two meters, three registers. One register measures a controlled load 




Table 24 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 
  




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityData 
Stream/Status 




Values 




 




0123456789 11 A 




0123456789 21 A 




0123456789 42 A 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 24 of 42 
 




Table 25 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 
Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 
Load 




Values 




 




ABCD1111 01 KWH PEAK 11 No 




ABCD1111 02 KWH OFFPEAK 21 No 




XYZA1112 01 KWH CL1 42 HWLoad 




 




14. ASSIGNMENT OF DATA – INTERVAL METERS 
  




This section details examples of the assignment of data for various Interval Meters.   




14.1. One meter 




Table 26 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 
  




  




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityData 
Stream/Status 




Value 0123456789 N1 A 




 




The CATS_Register_Identifier table indicates that the meter has only one register. The Suffix in the 




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER [E1] denotes that data from RegisterID 01 contributes to the 




Datastream identified by Suffix N1 in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. 




 




Table 27 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 
Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 




Value ABCD1111 01 KWH ALLDAY E1 




E1 indicates that it is a single element measuring export. 
 




14.2. Import/Export meter 
  




Interval Meter has a two registers, registering import and export energy. A single Datastream suffix N1 
is defined for the NMI indicating a netting-off of export less import Datastreams for this connection point. 




Table 28 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityData 
Stream/Status 




Value 0123456789 N1 A 




 




The CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table indicates that the meter has two registers, one for IMPORT 
and one for EXPORT. 




The Suffixes in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER denote that data from RegisterIDs ‘E1’ and ‘B1’ 
contribute to the Datastream identified by Suffix ‘N1’ in CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM.  That is, the 
Datastreams ‘E1’ and ‘B1’ supplied by the MDP to the FRMP for this meter have contributed to the 
Datastream N1 in MSATS. 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 25 of 42 
 




Table 29  Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 
Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 




Values 




 




ABCD1111 E1 KWH ALLDAY E1 




ABCD1111 B1 KWH ALLDAY B1 




Only one RegisterID with the Suffix ‘E1’ permitted per meter in CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER. 




Only one RegisterID with the Suffix ‘B1’ permitted per meter in CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER. 




The energy volumes for the Suffix ‘N1’ in CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM are calculated by N1 = E1 – B1. 




14.3. One meter: multiple registers 




Interval Meter has a single measurement element registering import and export energy, reactive and 
voltage. A single Datastream Suffix ‘N1’ is defined for the NMI indicating netting-off of all energy 
Datastreams for this connection point. 




Table 30 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityData 
Stream/Status 




Value 0123456789 N1 A 




The CATS_Register_Identifier table indicates that the meter has five registers: two for IMPORT of 
energy and reactive; two for EXPORT of energy and reactive; and one for voltage monitoring. 
The Suffixes in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER ‘N1’ denote that data from RegisterID ‘E1’ and ‘B1’ 
contribute to the Datastream identified by suffix N1 in CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM. 




Table 31 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 
Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 




Values 




 




ABCD1111 E1 KWH ALLDAY E1 




ABCD1111 B1 KWH ALLDAY B1 




ABCD1111 Q1 KVARH ALLDAY Q1 




ABCD1111 K1 KVARH ALLDAY K1 




ABCD1111 V1 VOLTS ALLDAY V1 




The energy volumes for the Suffix ‘N1’ is calculated by NET (E1 – B1). 




14.4. One meter: Twin Measurement Elements 
  




Certain multifunction meters have the capability for initial installation as an Accumulation Meter, but can 
be re-programmed to provide interval metering data.  




The NER do not permit the use of two different types of metering installation on the one NMI, and 
therefore these two metering functions MUST NOT be active simultaneously in MSATS. The MDP and 
RP will be held accountable for a breach of this requirement. 




The CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER can be used to record the meter capability. 




If this meter were configured as an Accumulation Meter in MSATS, the configuration might be as shown 
in the Tables 32 & 33. 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 26 of 42 
 




Table 32 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityData 
Stream/Status 




Values 




 




0123456789 N1 I 




0123456789 N2 I 




0123456789 11 A 




0123456789 21 A 




0123456789 31 A 




0123456789 41 A 




Table 33 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 
Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 




Values 




 




AB888888 E1 KWH ALLDAY null 




AB888888 E2 KWH ALLDAY null 




AB888888 25 KWH PEAK 11 




AB888888 26 KWH SHOULDER 21 




AB888888 35 KWH OFFPEAK 31 




AB888888 36 KWH CL1 41 




 




The CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table values for this meter when it is operated as an Interval 
Meter are shown below. The RegisterID for the Accumulation Meter registers in this type of meter are 
user defined. The Interval Meter suffixes must be added to the NMI and made active, and the basic 
Suffixes made inactive at the same date. 




Table 34 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 
 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status 




Values 




 




0123456789 N1 A 




0123456789 N2 A 




0123456789 11 I 




0123456789 21 I 




0123456789 31 I 




0123456789 41 I 




 




Table 35 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 
Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 




Values 




 




AB888888 E1 KWH ALLDAY E1 




AB888888 E2 KWH ALLDAY E2 




AB888888 25 KWH PEAK null 




AB888888 26 KWH OFFPEAK null 




AB888888 35 KWH PEAK null 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 27 of 42 
 




Data Element: Serial 
Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 




AB888888 36 KWH OFFPEAK null 




If a second meter of the same configuration were established on this NMI ‘E3’ and ‘E4’ would be 
required for the Datastreams to provide MDPs and retailers with unambiguous identification of 
Datastreams. 




15. ASSIGNMENTS OF DATA – SAMPLE METERS  
  




The application of profiles in accordance with the Metrology Procedure requires interval metering data 
from Sites that have Accumulation Metering. However, the NER do not permit different metering 
installation types on the one NMI, and in any case, the Participants associated with the interval 
metering data are different to those associated with the Accumulation Meter.  Therefore, for these 
connection points, two different NMIs are used. 




There are meters that can combine the required Accumulation Metering and Interval Metering functions.  
An example is shown below. 




15.1. Multifunction Sample Meter 
  




In this case, a single meter is registered within MSATS for two purposes against two NMIs. This is a 
special case, and should not be used other than for this non-standard purpose.  The meter has two 
circuits, with Accumulation Metering for energy trading and Interval Metering for the sample profile. 




In this example, NMI 9801234567 is associated with the sample meter installation and NMI 
9876543210 with the End User installation. 




Table 36 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 
 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 




Values 9801234567 N1 A P 




9876543210 11 I C 




9876543210 12 I C 




9876543210 41 A C 




 




Table 37 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: NMI MeterSerial RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 




Values 




 




9801234567 AB888888 E1 KWH ALLDAY E1 




9876543210 AB888888 11 KWH PEAK null 




9876543210 AB888888 12 KWH OFFPEAK null 




9876543210 AB888888 41 KWH CL1 41 




 




Note: Suffix ‘11/12’ have a Status of ‘I’ for 1st Tier and ‘A’ for 2nd Tier. 




First tier metering data is not required for AEMO to settle the market.  




Controlled Load data for first tier and second tier is required by AEMO to settle the market. 




In this example, once the End User’s Site becomes a Tier 2 Site, all three basic Datastreams need to 
become active (StreamStatusCode = A). 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 28 of 42 
 




16. CROSS REFERENCE OF BROWSER AND ASEXML DATA ELEMENTS 
  




The tables below list the names that are used in the MSATS browser for each of the MSATS tables 
detailed in sections 4 to 10.  The table also provides the aseXML data element names and the 
respective formats used in each context.   




In some cases, such as date fields, the format of the field is shown differently in the Browser to that 
used in the related aseXML transactions.  Also, aseXML uses full words throughout, rather than the 
coded values used in the Browser.   




Refer section 17 for examples of the typical data element values as shown in the Browser.  Section 18 
provides definitions of the Browser formats shown in this section. 




Table 38 CATS_Meter_Register 




Browser Field Name aseXML Data 
Element Name 




aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data 
Type 




Additional Site 
Information 




AdditionalSiteInformat
ion 




ElectricityMeter/ 




AdditionalSiteInformation 




VARCHAR2(100) xsd:string 
maxLen = 100 




Asset Management 
Plan 




AssetManagementPla
n 




ElectricityMeter/AssetManagement 




Plan 




VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 




Calibration Tables CalibrationTables ElectricityMeter/CalibrationTables VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 




Communication 
Equipment Type 




Communications 
EquipmentType 




ElectricityMeter/Communications 




EquipmentType 




VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 
maxLen = 4 




Communication 
Protocol 




CommunicationsProt
ocol 




ElectricityMeter/Communications 




Protocol 




VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 




Data Conversion DataConversion ElectricityMeter/DataConversion VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 




Data Validations DataValidations ElectricityMeter/DataValidations VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 




Estimation Instruction EstimationInstructions ElectricityMeter/Estimation 




Instructions 




VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 




Last Test Date LastTestDate ElectricityMeter/LastTestDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:date 




Measurement Type MeasurementType ElectricityMeter/MeasurementType VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 
maxLen = 4 




Meter Constant Constant ElectricityMeter/Constant VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 
maxLen = 12 




Meter Hazard Hazard ElectricityMeter/Hazard VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 
maxLen = 12 




Meter Installation 
Type Code 




InstallationTypeCode ElectricityMeter/InstallationType 




Code 




VARCHAR2(8) xsd:string 
maxLen = 8 




Meter Location Location ElectricityMeter/Location VARCHAR2(50) 
See AddlSiteInfo 
(above) 




xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 




Meter Manufacturer Manufacturer ElectricityMeter/Manufacturer VARCHAR2(15) xsd:string 
maxLen = 15 




Meter Model Model ElectricityMeter/Model VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 
maxLen = 12 




Meter Point Point ElectricityMeter/Point VARCHAR(2) xsd:string 
maxLen = 2 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 29 of 42 
 




Meter Program Program ElectricityMeter/Program VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string 
maxLen = 30 




Meter Read Type ReadTypeCode ElectricityMeter/ReadTypeCode VARCHAR(4) xsd:string 
maxLen = 4 




Meter Route Route ElectricityMeter/Route VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 
maxLen = 12 




Meter Serial ID 
Meter ID 




(Different on two 
screens) 




SerialNumber ElectricityMeter/SerialNumber VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 
maxLen = 12 




Status Code Status ElectricityMeter/Status CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 




Meter Use Use ElectricityMeter/Use VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 




Next Scheduled Read 
Date 




NextScheduled 
ReadDate 




ElectricityMeter/NextScheduled 




ReadDate 




dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:date 




Next Test Date NextTestDate ElectricityMeter/NextTestDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:date 




NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 




Passwords Password ElectricityMeter/Password VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 
maxLen = 20 




Remote Phone 
Number 




RemotePhoneNumbe
r 




ElectricityMeter/RemotePhone 




Number 




VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 
maxLen = 12 




Test & Calibration 
Program 




TestCalibrationProgra
m 




ElectricityMeter/TestCalibration 




Program 




VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 




Test Performed By TestPerformedBy ElectricityMeter/TestPerformedBy VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 
maxLen = 20 




Test Result Accuracy TestResultAccuracy ElectricityMeter/TestResultAccuracy NUMBER(8,5) xsd:decimal 
totdig = 8 
fracdig = 5 




Test Result Notes TestResultNotes ElectricityMeter/TestResultNotes VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 




Transformer Location TransformerLocation ElectricityMeter/Transformer 




Location 




VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string 
maxLen = 30 




Transformer Ratio TransformerRatio ElectricityMeter/TransformerRatio VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 
maxLen = 20 




Transformer Type TransformerType ElectricityMeter/TransformerType VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 
maxLen = 20 




User Access Rights UserAccessRights ElectricityMeter/UserAccessRights VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 




Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 30 of 42 
 




 




Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 31 of 42 
 




Table 39 CATS_DLF_Codes 




 




Table 40 CATS_Emb_Net_ID_Codes 




Browser 
Field Name 




aseXML Data Element 
Name 




aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data 
Type 




DLF Code DistributionLossFactor
Code 




DistributionLossFactorCode VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 
maxLen = 4 




Description DistributionLossFactor
Description 




DistributionLossFactorDescription VARCHAR2(50 xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 




DLF Value DistributionLossFactor
Value 




DistributionLossFactorValue NUMBER(6,5) xsd:decimal 
minIncl = 0 
maxIncl = 2 
totdig = 6 
fracdig = 5 




Jurisdiction JurisdictionCode ElectricityStandingData/MasterData
/JurisdictionCode 




VARCHAR2(3) xsd:string 
maxLen = 3 




Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 




Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




 CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Browser Field 
Name 




aseXML Data Element 
Name 




aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data 
Type 




Code EmbeddedNetworkIdenti
fier 




EmbeddedNetworkIdentifier VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 




Description EmbeddedNetworkDesc
ription 




EmbeddedNetworkDescription VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 




Locality/Suburb SuburbOrPlaceOrLocalit
y 




ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/
Address/AustralianAddress/SuburbO
rPlaceOrLocality 




VARCHAR2(46) xsd:string 
maxLen = 46 




Postcode PostCode ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/
Address/AustralianAddress/PostCod
e 




VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 
pattern: 
[\p{N}]{4} 




State StateOrTerritory ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/
Address/AustralianAddress/StateOrT
erritory 




VARCHAR2(3) xsd:string  
with 
enumerations 




Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 




Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 32 of 42 
 




 




Table 41 CATS_NMI_Data 




Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




 CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Browser Field 
Name 




aseXML Data Element 
Name 




aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data 
Type 




NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 




NMI 
Classification 
Code 




NMIClassificationCode ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/ 
NMIClassificationCode 




VARCHAR2(8) xsd:string 
maxLen = 8 




Status Code Status ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/S
tatus 




CHAR(1) xsd:string 
maxLen = 1 




TNI Code TransmissionNodeIdenti
fier 




ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/T
ransmissionNodeIdentifier 




VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 
maxLen = 4 




Jurisdiction 
Code 




JurisdictionCode JurisdictionCode VARCHAR2(3) xsd:string 
maxLen = 3 




DLF Code DistributionLossFactorC
ode 




ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/D
istributionLossFactorCode 




VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 
maxLen = 4 




Embedded 
Network ID 
(Child) 




ChildEmbeddedNetwork
Identifier 




ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/C
hildEmbeddedNetworkIdentifier 




VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 




Embedded 
Network 
(Parent) 




ParentEmbeddedNetwo
rkIdentifier 




ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/P
arentEmbeddedNetworkIdentifier 




VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 




Building / 
Property Name 




BuildingOrPropertyNam
e 




ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A
ddress/AustralianAddress/StructuredA
ddress/BuildingOrPropertyName 




VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string 
maxLen = 30 
x 2 




Lot Number LotNumber ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/ 
Address/AustralianAddress/Structured
Address/Lot/LotNumber 




VARCHAR2(6) xsd:string 
pattern: 
[\p{L}\p{N}\p{
P}\s]{1,6} 




Flat/Unit 
Number 




FlatOrUnitNumber ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A
ddress/AustralianAddress/StructuredA
ddress/FlatOrUnit/FlatOrUnitNumber 




VARCHAR2(7) xsd:string 
pattern: 
[\p{L}\p{N}\p{
P}\s]{1,7} 




Flat/Unit Type FlatOrUnitType ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A
ddress/AustralianAddress/StructuredA
ddress/FlatOrUnit/FlatOrUnitType 




VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string with 
enumerations 




Floor/Level 
Number 




FloorOrLevelNumber ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A
ddress/AustralianAddress/StructuredA
ddress/FloorOrLevel/FloorOrLevelNu
mber 




VARCHAR2(5) xsd:string 
[\p{L}\p{N}\p{
P}\s]{1,5} 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 33 of 42 
 




Floor/Level 
Type 




FloorOrLevelType ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A
ddress/AustralianAddress/StructuredA
ddress/FloorOrLevel/FloorOrLevelTyp
e 




VARCHAR2(2) xsd:string with 
enumerations 




House Number HouseNumber ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A
ddress/AustralianAddress/StructuredA
ddress/House/HouseNumber 




NUMBER(5) xsd:nonNegat
iveInteger 
maxIncl = 
99999 




House Number 
Suffix 




HouseNumberSuffix ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A
ddress/AustralianAddress/ 
StructuredAddress/House/HouseNum
berSuffix 




VARCHAR2(1) xsd:string 
pattern: 
[\p{L}\p{N}]{1} 




Street Name StreetName ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A
ddress/AustralianAddress/ 
StructuredAddress/Street/StreetName 




VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string 
pattern: 
[\p{L}\p{N}\s\-
']{1,30} 




Street Name 
Suffix 




StreetSuffix ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A
ddress/AustralianAddress/ 
StructuredAddress/Street/StreetSuffix 




VARCHAR2(2) xsd:string with 
enumerations 




Street Type StreetType ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A
ddress/AustralianAddress/ 
StructuredAddress/Street/StreetType 




VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string with 
enumerations 




Suburb/Locality SuburbOrPlaceOrLocalit
y 




ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A
ddress/AustralianAddress/ 
SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality 




VARCHAR2(46) xsd:string 
maxLen = 46 




Location 
Descriptor 




LocationDescriptor ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A
ddress/AustralianAddress/ 
StructuredAddress/LocationDescriptor 




VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string 
pattern: 
[\p{L}\p{N}\p{
P}\s]{1,30 




Postcode PostCode ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A
ddress/AustralianAddress/ 
PostCode 




VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 
pattern: 
[\p{N}]{4} 




State StateOrTerritory ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A
ddress/AustralianAddress/StateOrTerr
itory 




VARCHAR2(3) xsd:string  
with 
enumerations 




DPID DeliveryPointIdentifier ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A
ddress/AustralianAddress/ 
StructuredAddress/DeliveryPointIdenti
fier 




NUMBER(8) xsd:nonNegat
iveInteger 
minIncl = 
10000000 
maxIncl = 
99999999 




Unstructured 
Address 




AddressLine ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A
ddress/AustralianAddress/ 
UnstructuredAddress/Address/Addres
sLine 




VARCHAR2(80) xsd:string 
maxLen = 80 
x 3 




Aggregate Flag Aggregate ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/A
ggregate 




CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 




Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary 
screen) 




xsd:dateTime 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 34 of 42 
 




 




dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 




Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary 
screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 




Feeder Class Feeder Class ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/F
eederClass 




VARCHAR2(15) xsd:string 
maxLen = 15 




Customer 
Classification 
Code 




CustomerClassification
Code 




ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/C
ustomerClassificationCode 




VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 
maxLen = 20 




Customer 
Classification 
Threshold Code 




CustomerThresholdCod
e 




ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/C
ustomerThresholdCode 




VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 
maxLen = 20 




NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 




Suffix Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Suffix VARCHAR2(2) xsd:string 
maxLen = 2 




Status Code Status ElectricityDataStream/Status CHAR(1) xsd:string 
maxLen = 1 




Average Daily 
Load 




AveragedDailyLoad ElectricityDataStream/AveragedDailyL
oad 




NUMBER(10) xsd:integer 




Type DataStreamType ElectricityDataStream/DataStreamTyp
e 




CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 




Profile Name ProfileName ElectricityDataStream/ProfileName VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 




Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary 
screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary 
screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 35 of 42 
 




Table 42 CATS_Register_Identifier 




Browser Field Name aseXML Data 
Element Name 




aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data 
Type 




NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 




Meter Serial ID 
Meter ID 




(Different on two 
screens) 




SerialNumber SerialNumber VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 
maxLen = 12 




Register ID RegisterID ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/
RegisterID 




VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 




Network Tariff Code NetworkTariffCode ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/
NetworkTariffCode 




VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 




Network Tariff 
Additional Information 




NetworkAdditional 
Information 




ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/ 
NetworkAdditionalInformation 




VARCHAR2(4000) xsd:string 




Unit of Measure UnitOfMeasure ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/ 
UnitOfMeasure 




VARCHAR2(5) xsd:string 
maxLen = 5 




Time of Day TimeOfDay ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/ 
TimeOfDay 




VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 




Multiplier Multiplier ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/
Multiplier 




Number(13,5) xsd:decimal 




Dial Format DialFormat ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/
DialFormat 




Number(4,2) xsd:decimal 
minIncl = 0 
maxIncl = 99.99 
totdig = 4 
fracdig = 2 




Suffix Suffix ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/
Suffix 




VARCHAR2(2) xsd:string 
maxLen = 2 




Controlled Load ControlledLoad ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/
ControlledLoad 




VARCHAR2(100) xsd:string 
maxLen = 100 




Status Code Status ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/ 
Status 




CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 




Actual/Cumulative 
Indicator 




ConsumptionType ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/
ConsumptionType 




CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 




Demand 1 Demand1 ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/
Demand1 




Number(8) xsd:integer 
totdig = 8 




Demand 2 Demand2 ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/
Demand2 




Number(8) xsd:integer 
totdig = 8 




Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 




xsd:dateTime 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 36 of 42 
 




Table 43 CATS_NMI_Participant_Relations 




 




17. EXAMPLES OF TYPICAL FIELD VALUES 
  




This section provides examples of typical sets of data element values associated with different types of 
connection points.   




The data shown in each example is as shown in the Browser.  This reverses the sequence of the day-
month-year communicated via aseXML transactions. 




dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 




Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 




Browser Field Name aseXML Data Element 
Name 




aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data Type 




Participant ID Party Party VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 




NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 




Role Role Role VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 
maxLen = 4 




Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with enumeration 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 37 of 42 
 




Table 44 CATS_Meter_Register 




Data Element Name  




(as it appears in XML 
documents) 




Browser Field Name(as it 
appears in MSATS Browser) 




Basic Example Interval Example Data Element Name 




AdditionalSiteInformation Additional Site Information MTR ON SITE AT 17B Red Rooster AdditionalSiteInformation 




AssetManagementPlan Asset Management Plan CITIPOWER METER 
MANAGEMENT PLAN 




PER CE DOC: TYPES 1-4 ASSET 
MANAGEMENT & TEST PLAN 




AssetManagementPlan 




CalibrationTables Calibration Tables Q  CalibrationTables 




CommunicationsEquipment 
Type 




Communication Equipment Type FACE 96 CommunicationsEquipmentType 




CommunicationsProtocol Communication Protocol NA EMAIL MINI GATEWAY S/N 
SU121 MV90 2 TBD TBD 




CommunicationsProtocol 




DataConversion Data Conversion .0005 .0005 DataConversion 




DataValidations Data Validations As per Metrology Procedure Part 
B 




As per Metrology Procedure Part 
B 




DataValidations 




EstimationInstructions Estimation Instruction As per Metrology Procedure Part 
B (TYPES -61, 62, 65) 




As per Metrology Procedure Part 
B (TYPES -14) 




EstimationInstructions 




LastTestDate Last Test Date 07-05-2004 07-03-2004 LastTestDate 




MeasurementType Measurement Type EQ EQ MeasurementType 




Constant Meter Constant 40 .5 Constant 




Hazard Meter Hazard  Asbestos Hazard 




InstallationTypeCode Meter Installation Type Code BASIC COMMS4 InstallationTypeCode 




Location Meter Location ON SUB POLE BEHIND DOOR Location 




Manufacturer Meter Manufacturer EMAIL EDMI Manufacturer 




Model Meter Model Q3 Q4 Model 




Point Meter Point 01 01 Point 




Program Meter Program 30 - NP 3.2 CT FACE PLATE 
READ 




10- AE CT kVAR 9600 Program 




ReadTypeCode Meter Read Type MV3 RTD ReadTypeCode 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 38 of 42 
 




Route Meter Route 11618 1305 Route 




SerialNumber Meter Serial ID, Meter ID 




(Different on two screens) 




525811 201000299 SerialNumber 




Status Status Code C C Status 




Use Meter Use REVENUE REVENUE Use 




NextScheduledReadDate Next Scheduled Read Date 04-10-2006  NextScheduledReadDate 




NextTestDate Next Test Date 17-05-2004 10-05-2004 NextTestDate 




NMI NMI 1122334455 1122334455 NMI 




Password Passwords 12345 12345 Password 




RemotePhoneNumber Remote Phone Number FACE READ 0555 825 987 RemotePhoneNumber 




TestCalibrationProgram Test & Calibration Program AS PER AS/NZ 1284 AS PER AS/NZ 1284 TestCalibrationProgram 




TestPerformedBy Test Performed By Ron Sargeant SMU TestPerformedBy 




TestResultAccuracy Test Result Accuracy -0.20000 -0.11000 TestResultAccuracy 




TestResultNotes Test Result Notes CHECK AND RESEAL    METER METER TEST CORRECT TestResultNotes 




TransformerLocation Transformer Location  REAR OFBUILDING TransformerLocation 




TransformerRatio Transformer Ratio  1500/5 TransformerRatio 




TransformerType Transformer Type  24 WIRE WOUND TransformerType 




UserAccessRights User Access Rights AS PER AS/NZ 1284 MDP ONLY ACCESS UserAccessRights 




FromDate Start Date 14-03-1990 16-03-2002 FromDate 




ToDate End Date 31-12-9999 18-07-2006 ToDate 




MaintenanceDate Updated On 31-12-999 00:00:00 31-12-999 00:00:00 MaintenanceDate 




CreationDate Created On 19-03-1990 00:01:00 18-03-2002 00:01:00 CreationDate 




RowStatus Activity Status A A RowStatus 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 39 of 42 
 




Table 45 CATS_DLF_Codes 




 




Table 46 CATS_Emb_Net_ID_Codes 




 




 




Table 47 CATS_NMI_Data 




Data Element Name  Browser Field Name  Basic & Interval Example 




DistributionLossFactorCode DLF Code NHV1 




DistributionLossFactorDescription Description UMPLP - High Voltage 




DistributionLossFactorValue [The actual DLF value] 1.11111 




JurisdictionCode Jurisdiction Code SA 




RowStatus Activity Status A 




FromDate Start Date 01-07-1999 




ToDate End Date 30-06-2000 




MaintenanceDate Updated On 31-05-2000 00:30:27 




CreationDate  01-06-1999 00:23:32 




Data Element Name Browser Field Name Basic & Basic Example 




EmbeddedNetworkIdentifier Code SE01008111 




EmbeddedNetworkDescription Description Kingston-On-Murray Caravan Park 




SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality Suburb / Locality Kingston-On-Murray 




PostCode Postcode 5331 




StateOrTerritory State SA 




RowStatus Activity Status A 




FromDate Start Date 05-04-2003 




ToDate End Date 31-12-9999 




MaintenanceDate Updated On 31-12-9999 




CreationDate  01-04-2003 13:23:35 




Data Element Name Browser Field Name Basic Example Interval Example 




NMI NMI 122334451 1122334455 




NMIClassificationCode NMI Classification Code SMALL LARGE 




MasterData/Status Status Code A G 




TransmissionNodeIdentifier TNI Code NRGE SBER 




JurisdictionCode Jurisdiction Code NSW SA 




DistributionLossFactorCode DLF Code NRGE NLV2 




ChildEmbeddedNetworkIdentifier Embedded Network ID (Child) NS01008111 SE01008111 




ParentEmbeddedNetworkIdentifier Embedded Network 
(Parent) 




NS01008111 SE01008111 




BuildingOrPropertyName Building / Property Name BP SHELL 




LotNumber Lot Number 22 23 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 40 of 42 
 




 




Table 48 CATS_NMI_Data_Stream 




FlatOrUnitNumber Flat/Unit Number 1 2 




FlatOrUnitType Flat/Unit Type U U 




FloorOrLevelNumber Flat/Unit Number 1 1 




FloorOrLevelType Floor/Level Type FL FL 




HouseNumber House Number 6 10 




HouseNumberSuffix House Number Suffix A B 




StreetName Street Name BORIS DORIS 




StreetSuffix Street Name Suffix N W 




StreetType Street Type DR ST 




SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality Suburb/Locality ORANGE LOXTON 




LocationDescriptor Location Descriptor CNR FRED ST SHELL SERVICE 
STATION 




PostCode Postcode 2211 5333 




StateOrTerritory State NSW SA 




DeliveryPointIdentifier DPID 01234567 12345678 




AddressLine Unstructured Address 1 Text Text 




AddressLine Unstructured Address 2 Text Text 




AddressLine Unstructured Address 3 Text Text 




Aggregate Aggregate Flag Y Y 




FromDate Start Date 01-06-2004 01-06-2001 




ToDate End Date 31-12-9999 01-01-2003 




MaintenanceDate  Updated On 31-12-9999 
00:00:00 




05-01-2003 00:01:00 




CreationDate Created On 04-01-2004 
09:31:00 




01-06-2001 00:01:00 




RowStatus Activity Status A A 




FeederClass Feeder Class ERGUD ERGUD 




Customer ClassificationCode Customer Classification RESIDENTIAL BUSINESS 




CustomerThresholdCode Customer Threshold LOW HIGH 




Data Element Name Browser Field Name Basic Example Interval Example 




NMI NMI 1100445566 2211335544 




ElectricityDataStream/Suffix Suffix 31 N1 




ElectricityDataStream/Status Status Code A A 




ElectricityDataStream/ 
AveragedDailyLoad 




Average Daily Load 5 800 




ElectricityDataStream/ 
DataStreamType 




Type C I 




ElectricityDataStream/ 
ProfileName 




Profile Name NSLP NOPROF 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 41 of 42 
 




 




Table 49 CATS_Register_Identifier 




 




18. DATA TYPE CONVENTIONS 
  




The Browser formats used in section 16 are as defined in the following table.  




The value of “x” must be positive and cannot be zero.  




For explanation of the aseXML data types shown in section 16 refer  




http://www.w3.org/TR/xmlschema-0/#simpleTypesTable  




Table: Browser Formats 




FromDate Start Date 31-12-2001 01-06-2005 




ToDate End Date 31-12-9999 31-12-9999 




MaintenanceDate Updated On 02-01-2004 13:27:58 31-12-9999 




CreationDate Created On 19-01-2002 17:15:23 05-06-2005 15:12:20 




RowStatus  Activity Status I A 




Data Element Name Browser Field Name Basic Example Interval Example 




NMI NMI 1100445566 2211335544 




SerialNumber Meter Serial ID 
Meter ID 




(Different on two screens) 




000012345 112258 




RegisterID Register ID 1 E1 




NetworkTariffCode Network Tariff Code BLNB2CO MB2RI 




NetworkAdditionalInformation Network Tariff Additional 
Information 




General Supply Non 
TOU Eligible 




LV TOU Demand Eligible 




UnitOfMeasure Unit of Measure KWH KWH 




TimeOfDay Time of Day ALLDAY ALLDAY 




Multiplier Multiplier 1.00000 120.00000 




DialFormat Dial Format 5.00 5.10 




Suffix Suffix 11 E1 




ControlledLoad Controlled Load  HWLoad No 




Status Status Code C C 




ConsumptionType Actual/Cumulative Indicator C A 




Demand1 Demand 1 0 0 




Demand2 Demand 2 0 0 




FromDate Start Date 01-08-2004 01-06-2005 




ToDate End Date 31-12-9999 31-12-9999 




MaintenanceDate Updated On 31-12-9999 31-12-9999 




CreationDate  Created On 01-11-2005 
22:30:30 




05-06-2005 09:09:09 




RowStatus Activity Status A A 







http://www.w3.org/TR/xmlschema-0/#simpleTypesTable











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  01 December 2017 Page 42 of 42 
 




 




 




 Format Definition 




1 CHAR(x) Indicates a field that can only contain alphanumeric characters and must contain 
exactly "x" characters.  Note that leading and trailing "spaces" are considered 
significant (i.e. form part of the "x" characters for the field). 




2 VARCHAR2(x) Indicates a character field containing up to "x" characters. 




3 NUMBER(x) Indicates a positive integer (zero or above) up to "x" significant digits long; any 
leading zeroes are not significant and hence "050" is equivalent to "50". 




4 NUMBER(x.y) Indicates a positive number with up to "x" significant characters to the left of the 
decimal point and "y" decimal places after the decimal point (trailing zeros are 
optional).  In other words, the maximum length of the field as a whole is 
"x"+"y"+1 characters (the +1 reserving space for the decimal point).  














image3.emf


Standing Data for 



MSATS v45 track changes.pdf






Standing Data for MSATS v45 track changes.pdf






 




 




 




 




 




Australian Energy Market Operator Ltd    ABN 94 072 010 327 www.aemo.com.au    info@aemo.com.au 




NEW SOUTH WALES QUEENSLAND SOUTH AUSTRALIA VICTORIA AUSTRALIAN CAPITAL TERRITORY TASMANIA WESTERN AUSTRALIA 




STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 




 




PREPARED BY: AEMO MARKETS 




VERSION: 4.45 




EFFECTIVE DATE: 01 December 20171 July 2021 




STATUS: FINALDRAFT 




  




Approved for distribution and use by: 




APPROVED BY: Peter Geers 




TITLE: Chief Strategy and Markets Officer 




  




DATE: TBD  




 







http://www.aemo.com.au/



mailto:info@aemo.com.au











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 2 of 49 
 




VERSION RELEASE HISTORY 




Version  Effective Date Summary of Changes 




4.0 Aug 2009 Update to AEMO Format 




4.1 19/04/2012 Updates to NMI Data tables to include Feeder Class, Customer Classification Code & 




Customer Threshold Code and minor data corrections. 




4.2  28/08/2013 Updated wording for Nx suffixes in sections 8, 9 and 12. 




Updated reference to the CATS procedures for Embedded Networks in section 7. 




Added new data stream type codes under section 11: Reference Tables. 




Updated reference to the NEM Metrology Procedures in section 15. 




4.3 01 December 




2017 




Updated to incorporate:   




• National Electricity Amendment (Expanding competition in metering and related 




services) Rule 2015. No.12; 




• National Electricity Amendment (Embedded Networks) Rule 2015 No. 15; and 




• National Electricity Amendment (Meter Replacement Processes) Rule 2016 No. 2. 




4.4 01 December 




2017 




Final Version 




4.5 1 July 2021 Updated to incorporate amendments to Meter Read Type Code and introduce 




Transmission Node Identifier 2 to support the: 




National Electricity Amendment (Five Minute Settlement) Rule 2017 No.15; 




National Electricity Amendment (Global settlement and market reconciliation) Rule 2018 




No. 14; and 




Draft National Electricity Amendment (Introduction of metering coordinator planned 




interruptions) Rule 2020. 




 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref: Error! No text of specified style 




in document. 




01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 3 of 49 
 




CONTENTS 




1. INTRODUCTION 6 




1.1. Purpose and scope 6 




1.2. Definitions and interpretation 6 




1.3. Related documents 6 




2. BACKGROUND 6 




3. CONVENTIONS USED WITHIN THIS DOCUMENT 7 




3.1. Column Headed: Standing Data Required 7 




3.2. NMIs Affected 87 




4. CATS_METER_REGISTER 98 




5. CATS_DLF_CODES 1415 




6. CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES 1516 




7. CATS_NMI_DATA 1617 




8. CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 1920 




9. CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 2022 




10. CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 2324 




11. REFERENCE TABLES 2425 




12. USE OF NMI SUFFIX TO POPULATE CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 2529 




13. ASSIGNMENT OF DATA – ACCUMULATION METERS 2730 




13.1. Single Meter, no controlled load 2730 




13.2. Two Single Element Meters, no controlled load 2731 




13.3. Two Single Element Meters, one with controlled load 2831 




13.4. One Meter with Two Registers, one measuring a controlled load 2831 




13.5. Single Multi-function Meter 2832 




13.6. Two meters, three registers. One register measures a controlled load 2932 




14. ASSIGNMENT OF DATA – INTERVAL METERS 2933 




14.1. One meter 2933 




14.2. Import/Export meter 3033 




14.3. One meter: multiple registers 3034 




14.4. One meter: Twin Measurement Elements 3134 




15. ASSIGNMENTS OF DATA – SAMPLE METERS 3236 




15.1. Multifunction Sample Meter 3336 




16. CROSS REFERENCE OF BROWSER AND ASEXML DATA ELEMENTS 3337 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref: Error! No text of specified style 




in document. 




01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 4 of 49 
 




17. EXAMPLES OF TYPICAL FIELD VALUES 4347 




18. DATA TYPE CONVENTIONS 4955 




 




TABLES 




Table 1 MSATS Master Tables .............................................................................................................. 76 




Table 2 Explanation of Standing Data Requirements .............................................................................. 7 




Table 3 CATS_METER_REGISTER ........................................................................................................... 98 




Table 4 CATS_DLF_CODES ................................................................................................................ 1415 




Table 5 CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES .................................................................................................. 1516 




Table 6 CATS_NMI_DATA ................................................................................................................. 1617 




Table 7 CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM .................................................................................................. 1920 




Table 8 CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER ................................................................................................. 2122 




Table 9 CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS ................................................................................. 2324 




Table 10 Valid Aggregate Codes ........................................................................................................ 2425 




Table 11 Valid Consumption Type Codes ........................................................................................... 2425 




Table 12 Valid Datastream Type Codes .............................................................................................. 2426 




Table 13 Valid Profile Codes ............................................................................................................... 2526 




Table 14 Valid Customer Classification Codes ...................................... Error! Bookmark not defined.26 




Table 15 Valid Customer Classification Threshold Codes ...................... Error! Bookmark not defined.26 




Table 16 Valid Meter Use Codes .......................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined.27 




Table 17 Valid Asbestos Flag Codes ..................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined.27 




Table 18 Valid Connection Type Codes ................................................ Error! Bookmark not defined.27 




Table 19 Valid Disconnection Method Codes ....................................... Error! Bookmark not defined.27 




Table 20 Valid Isolation Point Flag Codes ............................................. Error! Bookmark not defined.27 




Table 21 Valid Load Control Codes ...................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined.27 




Table 22 Valid Locks Codes .................................................................. Error! Bookmark not defined.27 




Table 23 Valid Phase Availability Codes ................................................ Error! Bookmark not defined.28 




Table 24 Valid Shared Fusing Flag Codes ............................................. Error! Bookmark not defined.28 




Table 25 Valid Data Family Failure Codes ............................................. Error! Bookmark not defined.28 




Table 26 Valid Type 4A Reason Codes ................................................. Error! Bookmark not defined.28 




Table 27 Valid Unit of Measure Codes .................................................. Error! Bookmark not defined.28 




Table 28 Valid Controlled Load Flag Codes .......................................... Error! Bookmark not defined.28 




Table 29 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM .................................................................................... 2730 




Table 30 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER................................................................................... 2730 




Table 31 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM .................................................................................... 2731 




Table 32 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER................................................................................... 2831 




Table 33 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM .................................................................................... 2831 




Table 34 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER................................................................................... 2831 




Table 35 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM .................................................................................... 2831 




Table 36 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER................................................................................... 2832 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref: Error! No text of specified style 




in document. 




01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 5 of 49 
 




Table 37 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM .................................................................................... 2832 




Table 38 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER................................................................................... 2932 




Table 39 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM .................................................................................... 2932 




Table 40 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER................................................................................... 2932 




Table 41 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM .................................................................................... 2933 




Table 42 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER................................................................................... 3033 




Table 43 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM .................................................................................... 3033 




Table 44 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER................................................................................... 3033 




Table 45 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM .................................................................................... 3034 




Table 46 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER................................................................................... 3134 




Table 47 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM .................................................................................... 3134 




Table 48 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER................................................................................... 3135 




Table 49 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM .................................................................................... 3235 




Table 50 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER................................................................................... 3235 




Table 51 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM .................................................................................... 3336 




Table 52 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER................................................................................... 3336 




Table 53 CATS_Meter_Register ........................................................................................................... 3437 




Table 54 CATS_DLF_Codes ................................................................................................................. 3641 




Table 55 CATS_Emb_Net_ID_Codes .................................................................................................... 3741 




Table 56 CATS_NMI_Data ................................................................................................................... 3742 




Table 57 CATS_Register_Identifier ...................................................................................................... 4146 




Table 58 CATS_NMI_Participant_Relations .......................................................................................... 4247 




Table 59 CATS_Meter_Register ........................................................................................................... 4348 




Table 60 CATS_DLF_Codes ................................................................................................................. 4653 




Table 61 CATS_Emb_Net_ID_Codes .................................................................................................... 4653 




Table 62 CATS_NMI_Data ................................................................................................................... 4653 




Table 63 CATS_NMI_Data_Stream ...................................................................................................... 4754 




Table 64 CATS_Register_Identifier ...................................................................................................... 4855 




Table 65 Browser Formats .................................................................................................................. 4956 




 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 6 of 49 
 




1. INTRODUCTION 




1.1. Purpose and scope 




This document details the data requirements for the various data elements comprising the CATS  




Standing Data stored for each NMI, together with relevant examples and definitions.  




1.2. Definitions and interpretation 




The Retail Electricity Market Procedures – Glossary and Framework: 




a) is incorporated into and forms part of this document; and 




b) should be read with this document.  




1.3. Related documents 




Title Location 




Retail Electricity Market Procedures – 




Glossary and Framework 




https://aemo.com.au/energy-systems/electricity/national-electricity-




market-nem/market-operations/retail-and-




meteringhttp://aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-




NEM/Retail-and-metering/Glossary-and-Framework 




CATS Procedures https://aemo.com.au/energy-systems/electricity/national-electricity-




market-nem/market-operations/retail-and-metering/market-




settlement-and-transfer-solutions-




msatshttp://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-




NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions 




WIGS Procedures https://aemo.com.au/energy-systems/electricity/national-electricity-




market-nem/market-operations/retail-and-metering/market-




settlement-and-transfer-solutions-




msatshttp://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-




NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions 




MDM Procedures https://aemo.com.au/energy-systems/electricity/national-electricity-




market-nem/market-operations/retail-and-metering/market-




settlement-and-transfer-solutions-




msatshttp://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-




NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions 




MSATS CATS history Model https://aemo.com.au/energy-systems/electricity/national-electricity-




market-nem/market-operations/retail-and-metering/market-




settlement-and-transfer-solutions-




msatshttp://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-




NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions 




MSATS guides https://aemo.com.au/energy-systems/electricity/national-electricity-




market-nem/market-operations/retail-and-metering/market-




settlement-and-transfer-solutions-




msatshttp://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-




NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions 




 




2. BACKGROUND  




The five MSATS master tables contain the standing data stored for each NMI.  They are the 




following: 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 7 of 49 
 




Table 1 MSATS Master Tables 




Table Summary of Contents 




CATS_NMI_DATA  Address, TNI Code, DLF Code, aggregate flag, embedded network 




names, Jurisdiction, NMI status code, etc  




CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS  Roles and associated Participants. Separate records are maintained for 




each Role/Participant relationship.  




CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM  Suffix, ADL Code, Profile Name, Datastream type and datastream status 




of each MDM Datastream.  




CATS_METER_REGISTER  Meter Serial ID, meter type, meter manufacturer, test results, etc  




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER  Meter Serial ID, Network Tariff Code, unit of measure etc  




 




For a NMI to be capable of being used in MSATS, it must have the following minimum set of data:  




• At least one record on the CATS_NMI_DATA table; and 




• At least eight records on the CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS table, one for each of the 




mandatory roles (ROLR, LNSP, LR, RP, FRMP, MDP, MPC and MPB).  




It will also normally have:  




• At least one record on each of the CATS_METER_REGISTER and CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




(there should be at least one record for each meter and register associated with the NMI) 




tables.  




NMIs may or may not have:  




• Records on the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. If metering data is to be submitted to MDM 




there must be at least one valid record on this table.  




Every time a change is made to any of the data in any of these tables, the old records are made 




inactive and new records are created, thus ensuring that there is a complete history of all changes. 




3. CONVENTIONS USED WITHIN THIS DOCUMENT 




The format of the data fields in the ‘Browser Format Column’’ column of Tables is as defined in 




section 18. 




The following information defines the coded entries in columns used in Tables 3 - 9. 




3.1. Column Headed: Standing Data Required 




The column indicates the requirement to provide this data to MSATS. 




Table 2 Explanation of Standing Data Requirements  




Requirement Description 




MANDATORY Transfer, Validation or processing cannot proceed 




without this data. 




REQUIRED This data must be provided if this information is 




available. 




OPTIONAL This data is not required, but will be accepted if 




delivered. 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 8 of 49 
 




3.2. NMIs Affected 




Data must be provided for every NMI in MSATS. The NMIs that must be registered in MSATS are: 




• Every First Tier NMI and Second Tier NMI in the NEM. 




• Sample meters for non-NSLP profile calculations and embedded generating units for NSLP 




calculations. 




• Every wholesale connection point in the NEM, including generation, interconnectors and bulk 




supply points. 




Address Option 1 AEMO’s preferred address option. If the applicable 




fields labelled “Address Option 1” cannot be provided, 




“Address Option 2” is MANDATORY. 




Address Option 2 AEMO’s non-preferred address option. If Address 




Option 1 is provided, these fields are not to be 




supplied. 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 9 of 49 
 




4. CATS_METER_REGISTER 




The CATS_Meter_Register table is a NMI master table containing data that is stored at the Meter Register level. Information stored at this level includes 




the NSRD. It is updated whenever a Change Request containing inbound Meter Register data is completed. 




Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 




Table 3 CATS_METER_REGISTER 




Data Element Name Description Standing Data Required Party to Provide 




AdditionalSiteInformation Free text, descriptive of the Site, describing Site access and the relationship 




between the metering point and the connection point. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




AssetManagementPlan Asset management plan 




If a Site plan is used, free text description of plan. 




If a sample plan is used, the name of the AEMO approved plan. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




CalibrationTables Calibration tables – details of any calibration factors programmed into the meter. OPTIONAL MPB 




CommunicationsEquipmentType Used to store baud rate for installed communication equipment in a code, 




calculated by dividing the baud rate by 100, of the installed communication 




equipment.   




For example, 48 = 4800 baud. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




CommunicationsProtocol Used to provide details of access through switch units (if installed).  




Data to include Switch Unit, Dial Pkg, Port#, userid, password. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




DataConversion Actual Pulse Multipliers OPTIONAL MPB 




DataValidations Free text description of required data validations. OPTIONAL MPB 




EstimationInstructions Estimation instructions. Free text field OPTIONAL MPB 




LastTestDate The date on which the metering installation was last tested or inspected by the 




Metering Provider “B”. This date will be used if clause 7.9.4(a) of the NER needs to 




be applied. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




MeasurementType Code based on the NMI suffix codes, indicating the type of measurements available 




from the meter.   




For example, EBQK = bidirectional energy plus reactive Interval Meter. 




OPTIONAL 




NOT USED for types 6 & 7 




Transfers. 




MPB 




Constant The meter KE (intrinsic constraint of meter in Wh/pulse). OPTIONAL MPB 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 10 of 49 
 




Data Element Name Description Standing Data Required Party to Provide 




Hazard Free text or code  identifying hazards associated with reading the meter.  OPTIONAL MPB 




InstallationTypeCode The Metering Installation Type Code indicates whether the metering installation has 




to be manually read. 




This value must correspond to a valid MeterInstallCode in the Meter Installation 




Codes reference table listed in section 11. 




MANDATORY MPB 




Location Free text descriptive material identifying the relationship between the location of 




the metering point and the connection point. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




Manufacturer Free text field to identify the manufacturer of the installed meter. OPTIONAL MPB 




Model Free text field to identify the meter manufacturer’s designation for the meter model. OPTIONAL MPB 




Point Identifies the meter uniquely for the NMI.  In the format 0n, where n is the meter 




number per the protocol described in the NMI Procedure.    




The allowed values are 01 to 09, 0A to 0H, 0J to 0N, 0P to 0Z. 




This will allow an audit trail when one meter is removed and a new meter is given 




the same MeterPoint value. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




Program Free text field providing a description of the program used to initialise the installed 




meter. 




OPTIONAL MPB 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 11 of 49 
 




Data Element Name Description Standing Data Required Party to Provide 




ReadTypeCode Code to denote the method and frequency of Meter Reading. 




First Character = Remote (R) or Manual (M); 




Second Character = Mode 




T = telephone 




W = wireless 




P = powerline 




I = infra-red 




G = galvanic 




V = visual 




Third Character = Frequency of Scheduled Meter Readings 




1 = Twelve times per year 




2 = Six times per year 




3 = Four times per year 




D = Daily or weekly 




Fourth Character = UndefinedInterval Length Meter Readings are read in.  




A = 5 minutes 




B = 15 minutes 




C = 30 minutes. 




For example, MV3 = Manual, Visual, Quarterly; RWDC = Remote, Wireless, Daily, 30 




minutes interval. 




OPTIONALREQUIRED MPB 




Route The route identifier the meter is currently being read in. OPTIONAL MPB 




SerialNumber The Meter Serial ID uniquely identifies a meter for a given NMI. Maximum 12 




Characters (alpha numeric).  Unique for NMI. 




Use dummy for UMCP (Type 7) and logical (meters). 




Except for UMCP and logical, SerialNumber should be as displayed on the physical 




device (also known as property number). 




SerialNumber to be property number if exists, otherwise the meter manufacturer’s 




serial number, otherwise dummy number. 




MANDATORY MPB 




SharedFuse A Y/N flag to indicate whether the metering installation has a shared fuse, where a 




“Y” indicates that a shared fuse is present. 




MANDATORY LNSP 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 12 of 49 
 




Data Element Name Description Standing Data Required Party to Provide 




Status A code to denote the status of the meter.  




This value must correspond to a valid ElectricityMeter/Status in the Meter and 




RegisterID Codes reference table listed in section 11. 




MANDATORY MPB 




Use A code identifying how the meter is used. OPTIONAL MPB 




NextScheduledReadDate Indicates the Scheduled Next Read Date for the meter if a manual Meter Reading is 




required. 




OPTIONAL MPB initially, 




then MDP for 




updates 




NextTestDate Next date on which the meter should be tested. OPTIONAL MPB 




NMI NMI. This number is unique for each connection point within the NEM. MANDATORY LNSP 




Password Read & time set passwords separated by a space. OPTIONAL MPB 




RemotePhoneNumber The public telephone number to contact a remote Site for metering data. Includes 




STD prefix and no spaces. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




TestCalibrationProgram Test & calibration program. OPTIONAL MPB 




TestPerformedBy Identifying the Metering Provider “B” and the technician responsible for conducting 




the last test. The technician is to be identified by a number unique to the Metering 




Provider “B”. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




TestResultAccuracy The accuracy figure from the test perfomed on the date indicated in the 




LastTestDate field. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




TestResultNotes A statement of compliance indicating the standard of the test regime applied at the 




time of the last test.  




OPTIONAL MPB 




TransformerLocation A free text field to identify the existence of instrument transformers and their 




location relative to the market connection point. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




TransformerRatio A statement of the available and applied transformer ratios. OPTIONAL MPB 




TransformerType An explanation of the type of transformation used. OPTIONAL MPB 




UserAccessRights Details of any End User access to the metering installation; examples include pulse 




outputs, interface to consumer load management system, or consumer directly 




accessing data in meter by special agreement. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




FromDate Start date of the record. This indicates the date on which the parameters of this 




particular record apply from. The data applies from the beginning of this date (the 




start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 




MANDATORY Participant 




sending 




transaction 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 13 of 49 
 




Data Element Name Description Standing Data Required Party to Provide 




ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on which the parameters of this 




particular record end. The data applies until the end of this date (the end of the 




day, i.e. 23:59). 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate is not provided. 




MANDATORY 




(Defaults to high date 




unless supplied) 




System 




generated unless 




supplied. 




RowStatus  Indicates whether the record is active or inactive. 




Whenever a new record is created, it will be A (Active).  A change to the data will 




make this record redundant and its MaintActFlg is changed to I (Inactive). 




MANDATORY System 




generated 




MaintenanceDate  Date and time the record was updated. 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the record is created initially. 




If the record is subsequently updated, its MaintUpdtDt is changed to the date and 




time the record was updated. 




MANDATORY System 




generated 




CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 




generated 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 14 of 49 
 




5. CATS_DLF_CODES 




The CATS_DLF_Codes table contains a list of DLF Codes and their relevant values. The StartDate 




and DLFCode fields will need to be provided for settlements calculations. 




Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 




Table 4 CATS_DLF_CODES 




Data Element Name Description Standing Data 




Required 




Party to 




Provide 




DistributionLossFactorCode A four character alpha-numeric code used to 




identify DLF values.  All NMIs must be assigned a 




DLF Code. Refer to AEMO Distribution Loss Factor 




documents for each financial year.. 




MANDATORY AEMO 




DistributionLossFactorDescrip




tion 




Description of the DLF Code and value. MANDATORY AEMO 




DistributionLossFactor Value Numeric value up to 5 decimal places, reflecting the 




value of the DLF Code. 




MANDATORY AEMO 




JurisdictionCode Jurisdiction code to which the NMI belongs.  




This value must correspond to a valid 




JurisdictionCode in the Jurisdiction Codes reference 




table in section 11.  




MANDATORY AEMO 




RowStatus Indicates whether the DLF Code is active or inactive.  




Whenever a new record is created, it will be A (Active). 




A change to the data will make this record redundant 




and its MaintActFlg is changed to I (Inactive). 




 




MANDATORY System 




generated 




FromDate Start date of the record. This indicates the date on 




which the parameters of this particular record apply 




from. The data applies from the beginning of this 




date (the start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 




MANDATORY AEMO 




ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on 




which the parameters of this particular record end. 




The data applies until the end of this date (the end of 




the day, i.e. 23:59). 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate 




is not provided. 




MANDATORY System 




generated 




MaintenanceDate Date and time the record was updated. 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the record 




is created initially. 




If the record is subsequently updated, its 




MaintUpdtDt is changed to the date and time the 




record was updated. 




MANDATORY System 




generated 




CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 




generated 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 15 of 49 
 




6. CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES 




The CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES table contains embedded network identifier codes, which are used 




to identify which embedded network a NMI belongs to, either as a Parent NMI or a Child NMI. 




Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 




Table 5 CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES 




Data Element Name Description Standing Data 




Required 




Party to 




Provide 




EmbeddedNetwork 




Identifier 




Embedded Network Code. 




Refer to Allocation of Embedded Network Codes  for 




further details. 




MANDATORY AEMO 




EmbeddedNetwork 




Description 




Description of embedded network identifier. MANDATORY AEMO 




SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality Locality to which the embedded network identifier 




belongs. 




MANDATORY AEMO 




PostCode Postcode for the locality to which the embedded 




network identifier belongs. 




MANDATORY AEMO 




StateOrTerritory State or Territory abbreviation in accordance with AS 




4590. 




MANDATORY AEMO 




RowStatus Indicates whether the code is active or inactive. 




Whenever a new record is created, it will be A (Active). 




A change to the data will make this record redundant 




and its MaintActFlg is changed to I (Inactive). 




 




MANDATORY System 




generate




d 




FromDate Start date of the record. This indicates the date on 




which the parameters of this particular record apply 




from. The data applies from the beginning of this date 




(the start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 




MANDATORY AEMO 




ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on which 




the parameters of this particular record end. The data 




applies until the end of this date (the end of the day, i.e. 




23:59). 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate is 




not provided. 




MANDATORY System 




generate




d 




MaintenanceDate Date and time the record was updated. 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the record is 




created initially.  




If the record is subsequently updated, its MaintUpdtDt 




is changed to the date and time the record was 




updated. 




MANDATORY System 




generate




d 




CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 




generate




d 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 16 of 49 
 




7. CATS_NMI_DATA 




The CATS_NMI_DATA table records Master NMI Record data information. It is updated whenever a 




Change Request containing data in the CATS_INBOUND_NMI_DATA table is completed. 




Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 




Table 6 CATS_NMI_DATA 




Data Element Name Description Standing Data 




Required 




Party to 




Provide 




NMI NMI. 




All alpha characters are Upper Case 




MANDATORY LNSP 




NMI 




ClassificationCode 




Code used to indicate the NMI Classification Code of 




this NMI.   




This value must correspond to a valid NMIClassCode 




value in the NMI Class Codes reference table listed in 




section 11. 




MANDATORY LNSP 




 




MasterData/ 




StatusCode 




Code used to indicate the status of the NMI.   




This value must correspond to a valid 




MasterData/Status value in the NMI Status Codes 




reference table listed in section 11. 




MANDATORY LNSP 




 




TransmissionNode 




Identifier 




This value must correspond to a valid code in the 




CATS_TNI_Codes table.  




MANDATORY LNSP 




 




TransmissionNode 




Identifier2 




TNI Code assigned, by AEMO, to a distribution network 




into which energy normally flows through a connection 




point between adjacent distribution networks that has a 




single NMI.   




This value must correspond to a valid code in the 




CATS_TNI_Codes table. 




REQUIRED AEMO 




JurisdictionCode Jurisdiction code to which the NMI belongs. This code 




defines the jurisdictional rules which apply to the 




transfer of this NMI. 




This value must correspond to a valid JurisdictionCode 




value in the Jurisdiction Codes reference table listed in 




section 11. 




MANDATORY LNSP 




 




DistributionLoss 




FactorCode 




Distribution Loss Factor Code.  Must be a valid code in 




the CATS_DLF_Codes table.  




MANDATORY LNSP 




 




ChildEmbedded 




NetworkIdentifier 




The embedded network identifier code is used to 




identify which embedded network this given NMI is the 




'child of'.  (If on a NMI record this field is not populated, 




it is assumed the NMI is not the child of any other NMI.)   




Must be a valid code within the 




CATS_Emb_Net_ID_Codes table. 




This field cannot be used unless the Parent NMI has 




been created and assigned an embedded network 




identifier code. Refer section 30.4.a  of the CATS 




Procedure. 




REQUIRED LNSP 




 




ParentEmbedded 




NetworkIdentifier 




The embedded network identifier code is used to 




identify which embedded network this given NMI is the 




'parent of'.  (If on a NMI record this field is not 




REQUIRED LNSP 




 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 17 of 49 
 




populated, it is assumed the NMI is not the parent of any 




other NMI.)    




Must be a valid code within the 




CATS_Emb_Net_ID_Codes table.  




BuildingOrProperty 




Name 




A free text description of the full name used to identify 




the physical building or property as part of its location. 




Address 




Option 1 




LNSP 




 




LotNumber The lot reference number allocated to an address prior 




to street numbering. The word ‘LOT’ is not required. 




Address 




Option 1 




LNSP 




 




FlatOrUnitNumber Specification of the number of the flat or unit which is a 




separately identifiable portion within a 




building/complex. 




Address 




Option 1 




LNSP 




 




FlatOrUnitType Specification of the type of flat or unit which is a 




separately identifiable portion within a 




building/complex. This value must correspond to a 




valid Flat Type Code, reference AS4590.  




Address 




Option 1 




LNSP 




 




FloorOrLevelNumber Floor Number is used to identify the floor or level of a 




multi-storey building/complex. 




Address 




Option 1 




LNSP 




 




FloorOrLevelType Floor Type is used to identify the floor or level of a 




multi-storey building/complex. This value must 




correspond to a valid Floor Type Code in the Floor 




Type Codes, reference AS4590. 




Address 




Option 1 




LNSP 




 




HouseNumber The numeric reference of a house or property.  




Specifically the house number. 




Address 




Option 1 




LNSP 




 




HouseNumberSuffix The numeric reference of a house or property.  




Specifically the single character identifying the house 




number suffix. 




Address 




Option 1 




LNSP 




 




StreetName Records the thoroughfare name. 




See notes at end of table for more information on 




Structured Addresses 




Address 




Option 1 




LNSP 




 




StreetSuffix Records street suffixes. This value must correspond to a 




valid Street Suffix Code, reference AS4590. 




Address 




Option 1 




LNSP 




 




StreetType Records the street type abbreviation.  This value must 




correspond to a valid Street Type Code, reference 




AS4590. 




Address 




Option 1 




LNSP 




 




SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality The full name of the general locality containing the 




specific address. 




MANDATORY  LNSP 




 




LocationDescriptor A general field to capture various references to address 




locations alongside another physical location. 




Address 




Option 1 




LNSP 




 




PostCode The descriptor for a postal delivery area, aligned with 




locality, suburb or place. 




MANDATORY LNSP 




 




StateOrTerritory Defined State or Territory abbreviation.   MANDATORY LNSP 




 




DeliveryPointIdentifier Delivery point identifier - the numeric descriptor for a 




postal delivery point which is equal to a physical 




OPTIONAL LNSP 




 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 18 of 49 
 




address.  The values are in the range 10000000 – 




99999999. 




AddressLine To provide the unstructured address (line 1) where a 




structured address cannot be supplied. 




Address 




Option 2 




LNSP 




 




AddressLine To provide the unstructured address (line 2) where a 




structured address cannot be supplied. 




Address 




Option 2 




LNSP 




 




AddressLine To provide the unstructured address (line 3) where a 




structured address cannot be supplied. 




Address 




Option 2 




LNSP 




 




Aggregate This flag determines whether the energy at this 




connection point is to be treated as consumer load or as 




a generating unit (this may include generator auxiliary 




loads). 




MSATS will initially set this field to “Y” This value must 




correspond to a valid Aggregate value in the 




Aggregate Codes reference table listed in section 11. 




OPTIONAL (Defaults 




to ‘Y’, 




AEMO 




updates 




to ‘N’ as 




required) 




FromDate Start date of the NMI Data record. This indicates the 




date on which the parameters of this particular NMI data 




record apply from.  




The data applies from the beginning of this date (the 




start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 




MANDATORY LNSP 




 




ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on which 




the parameters of this particular record end. The data 




applies until the end of this date (the end of the day, i.e. 




23:59). 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate is 




not provided. 




MANDATORY 




(Defaults to 




high date 




unless 




supplied) 




System 




generate




d unless 




supplied. 




RowStatus  Indicates whether the record is active or inactive. 




Whenever a new record is created, it will be A (Active). 




A change to the data will make this record redundant 




and its MaintActFlg is changed to I (Inactive). 




 




MANDATORY System 




generate




d 




MaintenanceDate  Date and time the record was updated. 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the record is 




created initially. 




If the record is subsequently updated, its MaintUpdtDt 




is changed to the date and time the record was 




updated. 




MANDATORY System 




generate




d 




CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 




generate




d 




Feeder Class A code to provide Participants with information to 




indicate the appropriate service level timeframes for 




performing work in relation to Service Order Requests. 




OPTIONAL LNSP 




 




Customer Classification 




Code 




A code that defines the consumer class as defined in 




the National Energy Retail Regulations, or in overriding 




Jurisdictional instruments 




MANDATORY Current 




FRMP 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 19 of 49 
 




8. CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




The CATS_NMI_Data_Stream table is a NMI master table containing data that is stored at the NMI 




Datastream level. Information stored at this level includes suffixes, profile name, average daily load 




etc. It is updated whenever a Change Request containing inbound Datastream data is completed. 




Note: Data is only required for this table if the NMI is active in the NEM or is used for profile peel-




off in accordance with the Metrology Procedure. 




Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 




Table 7 CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Customer Classification 




Threshold Code 




A code that defines the consumption threshold as 




defined in the National Energy Retail Regulations, or in 




overriding Jurisdictional instruments. 




MANDATORY LNSP 




 




Data Element Name Description Standing Data 




Required 




Party to 




Provide 




NMI NMI MANDATORY 




 




MDP 




LNSP 




ElectricityDataStream/Suffix Metering Datastream identifier (for MDM). Identifies the 




Datastream as delivered to AEMO for settlements 




purposes.  




The value must be a valid suffix for this NMI and is active 




for this date range.  




The value must comply with requirements of the NMI 




Procedure. 




If the MeterInstallCode is COMMSn, MRIM, MRAM, 




VICAMI or UMCP, the Suffix value must be in the form 




Nx where DataStreamType is I or P for an interval 




Datastream.  If the MeterInstallCode is BASIC, the 




Suffix value must be numeric. 




MANDATORY  




 




MDP 




ElectricityDataStream/Status Code used to indicate the status of the suffix.  




This value must correspond to a valid 




StreamStatusCode in the Stream Status Codes 




reference table listed in section 11. 




MANDATORY  




 




MDP 




AveragedDailyLoad The energy delivered through a connection point or 




metering point over an extended period normalised to 




a "per day" basis (kWh). 




MANDATORY  




 




MDP 




DataStreamType Indicates the type of data that the  the 




ElectricityDataStream / Suffix is recording.   




Profile data meters are: 




1. For registering sample meters used for the 




calculation of profile shapes where the NMI and 




Datastream are not used for settlements. 




2. For providing external profile shapes into MDM 




(external PPS). 




This value must correspond to a valid DataStreamType 




in the Data Stream Type Codes reference table listed in 




section 11. 




MANDATORY  




 




MDP 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 20 of 49 
 




9. CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




The CATS_Register_Identifier table contains data that is stored at the register identifier level. 




Information stored at this level includes the Network Tariff Code. It is updated whenever a Change 




Request containing inbound register identifier data is completed. 




Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 




ProfileName The Profile Name is a code that identifies the name of 




the algorithmically derived shape that is used to allocate 




a Datastream's consumption to TIs.  This value must 




correspond to a valid code in the PROFILE table.  




For all Interval Meters and sample meters, this must be 




set to ‘NOPROF’.  




For Accumulation Meters, refer to the MDM Profile for 




valid profile names.  




• In Victoria and the ACT, ProfileName must be 




NSLP.   




• In NSW, QLD and SA, ProfileName must be NSLP 




or the relevant controlled load profile. 




This value must correspond to a valid ProfileName 




value in the Profile Codes reference table listed in 




section 11. 




MANDATORY  




 




MDP 




FromDate Start date of the NMI data record. This indicates the 




date on which the parameters of this particular NMI 




data record apply from.  




The data applies from the beginning of this date (the 




start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 




MANDATORY Party 




sending 




transactio




n 




ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on which 




the parameters of this particular record end. The data 




applies until the end of this date (the end of the day, i.e. 




23:59). 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate is 




not provided. 




MANDATORY 




(Defaults to 




high date 




unless 




supplied) 




System 




generate




d unless 




supplied. 




RowStatus  Indicates whether the record is active or inactive. 




Whenever a new record is created, it will be A (Active). 




A change to the data will make this record redundant 




and its MaintActFlg is changed to I (Inactive). 




 




MANDATORY System 




generate




d 




MaintenanceDate  Date and time the record was updated. 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the record is 




created initially. 




If the record is subsequently updated, its MaintUpdtDt 




is changed to the date and time the record was 




updated. 




MANDATORY System 




generate




d 




CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 




generate




d 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 21 of 49 
 




Table 8 CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element Name Description Standing Data 




Required 




Party to 




Provide 




NMI NMI. This number is unique for each connection point 




within the NEM. 




MANDATORY LNSP 




SerialNumber The Meter Serial ID uniquely identifies a meter for a given 




NMI. Maximum 12 Characters (alpha numeric).  Unique for 




NMI. 




Use dummy for UMCP (Type 7) and logical (meters). 




Except for UMCP and logical, MeterSerial should be 




displayed on physical device also known as property 




number). 




SerialNumber to be property number if exists, otherwise 




the meter manufacturers’ serial number, otherwise 




dummy number. 




MANDATORY MPB 




RegisterID The RegisterID is used to identify a data source that is 




obtained from the meter. A single meter may provide 




multiple data sources.  




MANDATORY MPB 




NetworkTariffCode The Network Tariff Code is a free text field required. The 




text must match the Network Tariff Codes supplied and 




published by the LNSP.  




Must be a valid code from the 




CATS_Network_Tariff_Codes table.   




MANDATORY 




 




MPB 




NetworkAdditional 




Information 




Free text field. OPTIONAL MPB 




UnitOfMeasure Code to identify the unit of measure for data held in this 




register. 




MANDATORY MPB 




TimeOfDay Code to identify the time validity of register contents. 




As published by each LNSP. 




MANDATORY  MPB 




Multiplier Multiplier required to take a register value and turn it 




into a value representing billable energy 




MANDATORY MPB 




DialFormat Describes the register display format. 




First number is the number of digits to the left of the 




decimal place, and the second number is the number of 




digits to the right of the decimal place. 




MANDATORY MPB 




Suffix Metering Datastream identifier (for MDM).  Identifies each 




Datastream at the measurement element level for the 




connection point identified by the NMI.  




The value must be a valid suffix for this NMI and is active 




for this date range.  The value must match the value 




provided in the MDFF File. 




The Suffix value must be unique for each meter. 




The value must comply with the NMI Procedure  




MANDATORY MPB 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 22 of 49 
 




For interval data streams, the suffix will indicate the 




individual data streams contributing to the Nx Suffix value 




in the CATS_NMI_DataStream table.  




For basic data streams the value will be identical to the 




related Suffix value in the CATS_NMI_DataStream table.  




 




ControlledLoad Indicates whether the energy recorded by this register is 




created under a Controlled Load regime 




ControlledLoad field will have "No" if register does not 




relate to a Controlled Load.If the register relates to a 




Controlled Load, it should contain a description of the 




Controlled Load regime. 




MANDATORY MPB 




RegisterDetail/ 




Status 




Lookup code to indicate if register is active. 




Must ensure that RegisterDetail/Status is not Current (C) 




when ElectricityMeter/Status is Removed (R). 




This value must correspond to a valid 




RegisterDetail/Status from the Meter and RegisterID 




Codes reference table listed in section 11. 




MANDATORY MPB 




ConsumptionType Actual/Subtractive Indicator. 




Actual (A) implies volume of energy actually metered 




between two dates. 




Cumulative (C) indicates a Meter Reading for a specific 




date. A second Meter Reading is required to determine 




the consumption between those two Meter Reading 




dates.  




For an Interval Meter, ActCumInd = A. 




This value must correspond to a valid ConsumptionType 




from the Consumption Type Codes reference table listed 




in section 11. 




MANDATORY MPB 




Demand1 This field contains the peak demand value for summer 




for network Tariff purposes. Units in kW or kVA 




OPTIONAL MPB 




(Refers 




to 




Networ




k Tariff 




Code) 




 




Demand2 This field contains an additional demand value (not 




Summer period). Units in kW or kVA 




OPTIONAL MPB 




(Refers 




to 




Networ




k Tariff 




Code) 




FromDate Start date of the NMI data record. This indicates the date 




on which the parameters of this particular NMI data 




record apply from.  




The data applies from the beginning of this date (the 




start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 




MANDATORY Particip




ant 




sending 




transact




ion 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 23 of 49 
 




10. CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 




The CATS_NMI_Participant_Relations table is a NMI master table containing data that stores the 




Roles that Participants play for each NMI. It is updated whenever a Change Request containing 




inbound Roles is completed. Each Role record, which contains a single Role code and a single 




Participant ID, has a start date and an end date, as well as information about when it was created 




and when it became inactive if it is no longer an active record. 




Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 




Table 9 CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 




ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on which 




the parameters of this particular record end. The data 




applies until the end of this date (the end of the day, i.e. 




23:59). 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate is 




not provided. 




MANDATORY 




(Defaults to 




high date 




unless 




supplied) 




System 




generat




ed 




unless 




supplie




d. 




RowStatus  Indicates whether the record is active or inactive. 




Whenever a new record is created, it will be A (Active). A 




change to the data will make this record redundant and 




its MaintActFlg is changed to I (Inactive). 




 




MANDATORY System 




generat




ed 




MaintenanceDate  Date and time the record was updated. 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the record is 




created initially. 




If the record is subsequently updated, its MaintUpdtDt is 




changed to the date and time the record was updated. 




MANDATORY System 




generat




ed 




CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 




generat




ed 




Data Element Name Description Standing Data Required Party to Provide 




Party The Participant ID whose 




relationship (Role) with the 




NMI is defined in this table. 




MANDATORY LNSP 




NMI NMI. This number is unique 




for each connection point.  




MANDATORY LNSP 




Role This defines the relationship 




(Role) of the Participant with 




the NMI in this table. 




MANDATORY LNSP 




FromDate Start date of the record. This 




indicates the date on which 




the parameters of this 




particular record apply from. 




The data applies from the 




beginning of this date (the 




start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 




MANDATORY Party sending transaction 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 24 of 49 
 




11. REFERENCE TABLES 




Table 10 - Valid Aggregate Codes 




Aggregate Description 




Y Customer load 




N Generator NMI 




Table 11 - Valid Consumption Type Codes 




Consumptiontype Description 




A Actual Consumption 




C Cumulative Consumption 




Table 12 - Valid Datastream Type Codes 




Datastreamtype Description 




I Interval 




C Basic 




P Profile Data 




1 Non-Market Active Import 




ToDate End date of the record. This 




indicates the date on which 




the parameters of this 




particular record end. The 




data applies until the end of 




this date (the end of the day, 




i.e. 23:59). 




A default date of 9999-12-31 




is recorded if EndDate is not 




provided. 




MANDATORY 




(Defaults to high date unless 




supplied) 




System generated unless 




supplied. 




RowStatus  Indicates whether the record 




is active or inactive. 




Whenever a new record is 




created, it will be A (Active). A 




change to the data will make 




this record redundant and its 




MaintActFlg is changed to I 




(Inactive). 




 




MANDATORY System generated 




MaintenanceDate Date and time the record was 




updated. 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is 




used when the record is 




created initially. 




If the record is subsequently 




updated, its MaintUpdtDt is 




changed to the date and 




time the record was updated. 




MANDATORY System generated 




CreationDate Date and time the record was 




created. 




MANDATORY System generated 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 25 of 49 
 




Datastreamtype Description 




2 Non-Market Active 




3 Non-Market Reactive Import 




4 Non-Market Reactive 




Table 13 - Valid Profile Codes 




ProfileName Description 




NSLP Net System Load Profile. 




The profile is calculated by MSATS. NSLP represents the system load after all actual interval 




metering data or specified previously-calculated profiled metering data that is not dependent 




on the NSLP has been subtracted from a known total system load and represents system-wide 




usage by consumption-type metering installations. 




CLOADNSWCE Controlled Load profile: Country Energy. (Now Essential Energy)  




Profile Names beginning with CLOAD are Controlled Load profiles. Controlled Load profiles 




are applied to Controlled Load Datastreams in NSW. There is one Controlled Load profile for 




each LNSP area. The names all begin with CLOADNSW to indicate that they are NSW Profile 




Names followed by two characters to indicate the LNSP area to which it belongs (e.g. EA = 




EnergyAustralia). 




CLOADNSWEA Controlled Load profile: EnergyAustralia (Now Ausgrid). 




CLOADNSWIE Controlled Load profile: IntegralEnergy (Now Endeavour Energy) 




QLDEGXCL31 Controlled Load profile Energex tariff 31 




QLDEGXCL33 Controlled Load profile Energex tariff 33 




SACLOAD South Australian Controlled Load. 




NOPROF Used for interval Datastream types (to indicate that such Datastreams do not need to be 




profiled to obtain ‘readings’ for each settlements interval because the data is supplied in 30-




minute intervals). 




Note: Refer to the MSATS CATS Procedure section 4 for details on the valid codes for the 




following: 




• Jurisdiction Codes 




• Metering Installation Type Codes 




• NMI Classification Codes 




• NMI Status Codes 




• Datastream Status Codes 




12. USE OF NMI SUFFIX TO POPULATE CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




For any particular connection point there may be multiple energy measurement elements and data 




recorders with multiple channels. Accurate identification of Datastreams is essential. The NMI 




Procedure includes the requirements for the use of a suffix to the NMI that identifies these 




Datastreams.  The DataStreamSuffix detailed in the NMI Procedure provides identification at the 




measurement element level for all Datastreams from the connection point identified by the NMI.  




The DataStreamSuffix is commonly known as the NMISuffix.  The NMISuffix is labelled as ‘Suffix’ in 




the Browser and is the ElectricityDataStream/Suffix data element in aseXML. 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 26 of 49 
 




The NMISuffix was first used in the NMI Procedure to describe, in conjunction with the NMI, the 




data transferred from the MDP to AEMO and Participants for settlements. The NMISuffix was 




further extended to describe Datastreams in MSATS, and numeric suffixes were developed to 




describe the data from type 6 metering installations. 




In MSATS, the NMISuffix is used in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table to describe the data as 




delivered to AEMO. For settlements purposes this data must be ‘NET’ [Export from network, less 




import to network] and will be ‘Nx’ for an interval Datastream, or numeric for an Accumulation 




Meter. 




In MSATS release 2.0 a new table, CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER, was introduced to link identifiers 




for the source meter register(s) to the Datastream suffix in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. 




The purpose of the table is to enable the alignment of the data held in MSATS and the data being 




transferred between Participants in the B2B process. 




This link is achieved through the RegisterID (which describes the data source at the metering 




installation) and ElectricityDataStream/Suffix (which describes the NMISuffix to which the 




RegisterID contributes) data elements. This is a many-to-one relationship, i.e. there may be 




multiple RegisterID values for each ElectricityDataStream/Suffix value in the 




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table. 




• The RegisterID identifies the measurement element and type of measurement for an Interval 




Meter, and identifies the location of a stored energy value in an Accumulation Meter. 




• The ElectricityDataStream/Suffix value in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table identifies the 




Datastream registered in MSATS. For settlements purposes, Interval Meter Datastreams will be 




the NET suffix (format Nx) and for Accumulation Meter Datastreams the suffix value is 




numeric.  MSATS requires data to be delivered against this suffix (if the Datastream is ACTIVE).  




MSATS does not validate the values entered in this field. 




• The ElectricityDataStream/Suffix value in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table identifies the 




individual Datastream(s) contributing to the ElectricityDataStream/Suffix value in the 




CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. For interval Datastreams, the suffix(es) will indicate the 




individual Datastream(s) contributing to the Nx Suffix value in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




table where the DataStreamType is P or I (Refer section 14for examples). For accumulation 




Datastreams the value will be numeric and will be identical to the related Suffix value in the 




CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table (refer section 13 for examples). 




• The ElectricityDataStream/Suffix values used in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table are used 




to identify metering data contained in MDFF Files (in the NMISuffix field).  




• The linkage between the RegisterID and ElectricityDataStream/Suffix exists because the 




ElectricityDataStream/Suffix data element is populated in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




table. 




• The RegisterID data element has no standard format; therefore, the MPB must determine the 




appropriate population of this field, e.g. it may be used to indicate the programming code of 




the register. 




There is an inconsistent understanding across industry of the meaning of the terms ‘register’ and 




‘datastream’. Conventionally, to field metering personnel, a ‘register’ contains a single value, while 




a ‘datastream’ represents an array of time separated register values in chronological order. 




For Accumulation Meters, the RegisterID refers to the non-volatile storage of the cumulative 




energy register(s). The RegisterID will have identification with the displays of the meters, or 




identification of internal data stores.  















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 27 of 49 
 




For Accumulation Meters, the ElectricityDataStream/Suffix data element in the 




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table may have a many-to-one relationship with the 




ElectricityDataStream/Suffix data element in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table.  That is, the 




same Suffix may occur several times in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table and occur once only 




in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. 




For Interval Meters, the definition of the RegisterID field is less obvious. To make this field useful, 




the RegisterID should be associated with the ElectricityDataStream/Suffix. As Interval Meters may 




have multiple measurement elements and there may be multiple meters for a NMI, the MDP must 




manage Datastreams against a NMI to avoid duplication of ElectricityDataStream/Suffixes and 




provide correct mapping of RegisterIDs. 




13. ASSIGNMENT OF DATA – ACCUMULATION METERS 




This section details examples of the assignment of data for various basic metering installations.  For 




Accumulation Meters, the Suffix values in CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER and 




CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM tables are always numeric. 




13.1. Single Meter, no controlled load 




A Accumulation Meter with a single register measuring a Non-Controlled Load will have a single 




Datastream suffix 11 for the NMI. 




Table 14 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status 




Value 0123456789 11 A 




The CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table indicates that the meter has only one register. The Suffix in 




the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER ‘11’ denotes that data from RegisterID 01 contributes to the 




Datastream identified by Suffix 11 in CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Table 15 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER  




Data Element: Serial 




Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasur




e 




TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 




Load 




Value ABCD1111 01 KWH ALLDAY 11 No 




The Suffix in CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM will be recorded as ‘11’ by the MDP and the Suffix in 




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER must then be ‘11’. 




13.2. Twp Single Element Meters, no controlled load 




The NMI has two Accumulation Meters, each meter with single register. The data from the two 




meters will be submitted to MSATS as two Datastreams. 




Table 16 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status 




Values 0123456789 11 A 




0123456789 12 A 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 28 of 49 
 




Table 17 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 




Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasur




e 




TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 




Load 




Values ABCD1111 01 KWH ALLDAY 11 No 




XYZA1112 01 KWH ALLDAY 12 No 




13.3. Two Single Element Meters, one with controlled load 




A NMI has two Accumulation Meters, each meter has a single register, and one meter is measuring 




a Controlled Load. The data from the two meters is submitted to MSATS as two Datastreams.  




Table 18 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status 




Value 




 




0123456789 11 A 




0123456789 42 A 




Table 19 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 




Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasur




e 




TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 




Load 




Values 




 




ABCD1111 01 KWH TOTAL 11 No 




XYZA1112 01 KWH CL1 42 HWLoad 




13.4. One Meter with Two Registers, one measuring a controlled load 




NMI has one Accumulation Meter with two registers. The second register is measuring a 




Controlled Load. 




Table 20 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status 




Value 




 




0123456789 11 A 




0123456789 42 A 




Table 21 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 




Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasur




e 




TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 




Load 




Value 




 




ABCD1111 01 KWH PEAK 11 No 




ABCD1111 02 KWH CL1 41 HWLoad 




13.5. Single Multi-function Meter 




Accumulation Meter has 4 registers, one register being a Controlled Load. 




Table 22 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM  




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status 




Values 




 




0123456789 11 A 




0123456789 21 I 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 29 of 49 
 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status 




0123456789 31 A 




0123456789 41 A 




Each register is separately identified in CATS_NMI_Data_Stream. However, register 2 on meter 1 is 




inactive in MSATS, and therefore data is not accepted by MSATS for this Suffix. 




Table 23 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 




Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasur




e 




TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 




Load 




Values 




 




ABCD1111 01 KWH ALLDAY 11 No 




ABCD1111 02 KWH NOTUSED 21 No 




ABCD1111 03 KWH OFFPEAK 31 No 




ABCD1111 04 KWH CL1 41 HWLoad 




Note:  The meter may have register identification and therefore these numbers can be used in the 




table as RegisterID. 




13.6. Two meters, three registers. One register measures a controlled load 




Table 24 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status 




Values 




 




0123456789 11 A 




0123456789 21 A 




0123456789 42 A 




Table 25 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 




Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasur




e 




TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 




Load 




Values 




 




ABCD1111 01 KWH PEAK 11 No 




ABCD1111 02 KWH OFFPAK 21 No 




XYZA1112 01 KWH CL1 42 HWLoad 




14. ASSIGNMENT OF DATA – INTERVAL METERS 




This section details examples of the assignment of data for various Interval Meters.   




14.1. One meter 




Table 26 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status 




Value 0123456789 N1 A 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 30 of 49 
 




The CATS_Register_Identifier table indicates that the meter has only one register. The Suffix in the 




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER [E1] denotes that data from RegisterID 01 contributes to the 




Datastream identified by Suffix N1 in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. 




Table 27 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 




Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 




Value ABCD1111 01 KWH ALLDAY E1 




E1 indicates that it is a single element measuring export. 




14.2. Import/Export meter 




Interval Meter has a two registers, registering import and export energy. A single Datastream suffix 




N1 is defined for the NMI indicating a netting-off of export less import Datastreams for this 




connection point. 




Table 28 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status 




Value 0123456789 N1 A 




The CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table indicates that the meter has two registers, one for IMPORT 




and one for EXPORT. 




Table 29 The Suffixes in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER denote that data from RegisterIDs ‘E1’ and ‘B1’ 




contribute to the Datastream identified by Suffix ‘N1’ in CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM.  That is, the 




Datastreams ‘E1’ and ‘B1’ supplied by the MDP to the FRMP for this meter have contributed to 




the Datastream N1 in MSATS.Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 




Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 




Values 




 




ABCD1111 E1 KWH ALLDAY E1 




ABCD1111 B1 KWH ALLDAY B1 




Only one RegisterID with the Suffix ‘E1’ permitted per meter in CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER. 




Only one RegisterID with the Suffix ‘B1’ permitted per meter in CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER. 




The energy volumes for the Suffix ‘N1’ in CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM are calculated by N1 = E1 – B1. 




14.3. One meter: multiple registers 




Interval Meter has a single measurement element registering import and export energy, reactive 




and voltage. A single Datastream Suffix ‘N1’ is defined for the NMI indicating netting-off of all 




energy Datastreams for this connection point. 




Table 30 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status 




Value 0123456789 N1 A 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 31 of 49 
 




The CATS_Register_Identifier table indicates that the meter has five registers: two for IMPORT of 




energy and reactive; two for EXPORT of energy and reactive; and one for voltage monitoring.The 




Suffixes in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER ‘N1’ denote that data from RegisterID ‘E1’ and ‘B1’ 




contribute to the Datastream identified by suffix N1 in CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM. 




Table 31 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 




Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 




Values 




 




ABCD1111 E1 KWH ALLDAY E1 




ABCD1111 B1 KWH ALLDAY B1 




ABCD1111 Q1 KVARH ALLDAY Q1 




ABCD1111 K1 KVARH ALLDAY K1 




ABCD1111 V1 VOLTS ALLDAY V1 




The energy volumes for the Suffix ‘N1’ is calculated by NET (E1 – B1). 




14.4. One meter: Twin Measurement Elements 




Certain multifunction meters have the capability for initial installation as an Accumulation Meter, 




but can be re-programmed to provide interval metering data.  




The NER do not permit the use of two different types of metering installation on the one NMI, and 




therefore these two metering functions MUST NOT be active simultaneously in MSATS. The MDP 




and RP will be held accountable for a breach of this requirement. 




The CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER can be used to record the meter capability. 




If this meter were configured as an Accumulation Meter in MSATS, the configuration might be as 




shown in the Tables 32 & 33. 




Table 32 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status 




Values 




 




0123456789 N1 I 




0123456789 N2 I 




0123456789 11 A 




0123456789 21 A 




0123456789 31 A 




0123456789 41 A 




Table 33 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 




Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 




Values 




 




AB888888 E1 KWH ALLDAY null 




AB888888 E2 KWH ALLDAY null 




AB888888 25 KWH PEAK 11 




AB888888 26 KWH SHOULDER 21 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 32 of 49 
 




Data Element: Serial 




Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 




AB888888 35 KWH OFFPEAK 31 




AB888888 36 KWH CL1 41 




The CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table values for this meter when it is operated as an Interval 




Meter are shown below. The RegisterID for the Accumulation Meter registers in this type of meter 




are user defined. The Interval Meter suffixes must be added to the NMI and made active, and the 




basic Suffixes made inactive at the same date. 




Table 34 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status 




Values 




 




0123456789 N1 A 




0123456789 N2 A 




0123456789 11 I 




0123456789 21 I 




0123456789 31 I 




0123456789 41 I 




Table 35 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 




Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 




Values 




 




AB888888 E1 KWH ALLDAY E1 




AB888888 E2 KWH ALLDAY E2 




AB888888 25 KWH PEAK null 




AB888888 26 KWH OFFPEAK null 




AB888888 35 KWH PEAK null 




AB888888 36 KWH OFFPEAK null 




If a second meter of the same configuration were established on this NMI ‘E3’ and ‘E4’ would be 




required for the Datastreams to provide MDPs and retailers with unambiguous identification of 




Datastreams. 




15. ASSIGNMENTS OF DATA – SAMPLE METERS  




The application of profiles in accordance with the Metrology Procedure requires interval metering 




data from Sites that have Accumulation Metering. However, the NER do not permit different 




metering installation types on the one NMI, and in any case, the Participants associated with the 




interval metering data are different to those associated with the Accumulation Meter.  Therefore, 




for these connection points, two different NMIs are used. 




There are meters that can combine the required Accumulation Metering and Interval Metering 




functions.  An example is shown below. 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 33 of 49 
 




15.1. Multifunction Sample Meter 




In this case, a single meter is registered within MSATS for two purposes against two NMIs. This is a 




special case, and should not be used other than for this non-standard purpose.  The meter has two 




circuits, with Accumulation Metering for energy trading and Interval Metering for the sample 




profile. 




In this example, NMI 9801234567 is associated with the sample meter installation and NMI 




9876543210 with the End User installation. 




Table 36 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Data 




Element: 




NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 




Values 9801234567 N1 A P 




9876543210 11 I C 




9876543210 12 I C 




9876543210 41 A C 




Table 37 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: NMI MeterSerial RegisterID UnitOfMeasur




e 




TimeOfDay Suffix 




Values 




 




9801234567 AB888888 E1 KWH ALLDAY E1 




9876543210 AB888888 11 KWH PEAK null 




9876543210 AB888888 12 KWH OFFPEAK null 




9876543210 AB888888 41 KWH CL1 41 




Note: Suffix ‘11/12’ have a Status of ‘I’ for 1st Tier and ‘A’ for 2nd Tier. 




First tier metering data is not required for AEMO to settle the market.  




Controlled Load data for first tier and second tier is required by AEMO to settle the market. 




In this example, once the End User’s Site becomes a Tier 2 Site, all three basic Datastreams need to 




become active (StreamStatusCode = A). 




16. CROSS REFERENCE OF BROWSER AND ASEXML DATA ELEMENTS 




The tables below list the names that are used in the MSATS browser for each of the MSATS tables 




detailed in sections 4 to 10.  The table also provides the aseXML data element names and the 




respective formats used in each context.   




In some cases, such as date fields, the format of the field is shown differently in the Browser to that 




used in the related aseXML transactions.  Also, aseXML uses full words throughout, rather than the 




coded values used in the Browser.   




Refer section 17 for examples of the typical data element values as shown in the Browser.  Section 




18 provides definitions of the Browser formats shown in this section. 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 34 of 49 
 




Table 38 CATS_Meter_Register 




Browser Field Name aseXML Data Element 




Name 




aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data Type 




Additional Site 




Information 




AdditionalSiteInformati




on 




ElectricityMeter/ 




AdditionalSiteInformati




on 




VARCHAR2(100) xsd:string 




maxLen = 100 




Asset Management 




Plan 




AssetManagementPlan ElectricityMeter/AssetM




anagement 




Plan 




VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 




maxLen = 50 




Calibration Tables CalibrationTables ElectricityMeter/Calibra




tionTables 




VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 




maxLen = 50 




Communication 




Equipment Type 




Communications 




EquipmentType 




ElectricityMeter/Comm




unications 




EquipmentType 




VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 




maxLen = 4 




Communication 




Protocol 




CommunicationsProtoc




ol 




ElectricityMeter/Comm




unications 




Protocol 




VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 




maxLen = 50 




Data Conversion DataConversion ElectricityMeter/DataC




onversion 




VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 




maxLen = 50 




Data Validations DataValidations ElectricityMeter/DataVa




lidations 




VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 




maxLen = 50 




Estimation Instruction EstimationInstructions ElectricityMeter/Estimat




ion 




Instructions 




VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 




maxLen = 50 




Last Test Date LastTestDate ElectricityMeter/LastTes




tDate 




dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:date 




Measurement Type MeasurementType ElectricityMeter/Measur




ementType 




VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 




maxLen = 4 




Meter Constant Constant ElectricityMeter/Consta




nt 




VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 




maxLen = 12 




Meter Hazard Hazard ElectricityMeter/Hazard VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 




maxLen = 12 




Meter Installation Type 




Code 




InstallationTypeCode ElectricityMeter/Installa




tionType 




Code 




VARCHAR2(8) xsd:string 




maxLen = 8 




Meter Location Location ElectricityMeter/Locatio




n 




VARCHAR2(50) 




See AddlSiteInfo 




(above) 




xsd:string 




maxLen = 50 




Meter Manufacturer Manufacturer ElectricityMeter/Manuf




acturer 




VARCHAR2(15) xsd:string 




maxLen = 15 




Meter Model Model ElectricityMeter/Model VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 




maxLen = 12 




Meter Point Point ElectricityMeter/Point VARCHAR(2) xsd:string 




maxLen = 2 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 35 of 49 
 




Meter Program Program ElectricityMeter/Progra




m 




VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string 




maxLen = 30 




Meter Read Type ReadTypeCode ElectricityMeter/ReadTy




peCode 




VARCHAR(4) xsd:string 




maxLen = 4 




Meter Route Route ElectricityMeter/Route VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 




maxLen = 12 




Meter Serial ID 




Meter ID 




(Different on two 




screens) 




SerialNumber ElectricityMeter/SerialN




umber 




VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 




maxLen = 12 




Status Code Status ElectricityMeter/Status CHAR(1) xsd:string 




with enumeration 




Meter Use Use ElectricityMeter/Use VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 




maxLen = 10 




Next Scheduled Read 




Date 




NextScheduled 




ReadDate 




ElectricityMeter/NextSc




heduled 




ReadDate 




dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:date 




Next Test Date NextTestDate ElectricityMeter/NextTe




stDate 




dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:date 




NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 




maxLen = 10 




Passwords Password ElectricityMeter/Passwo




rd 




VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 




maxLen = 20 




Remote Phone 




Number 




RemotePhoneNumber ElectricityMeter/Remot




ePhone 




Number 




VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 




maxLen = 12 




Test & Calibration 




Program 




TestCalibrationProgram ElectricityMeter/TestCal




ibration 




Program 




VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 




maxLen = 50 




Test Performed By TestPerformedBy ElectricityMeter/TestPer




formedBy 




VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 




maxLen = 20 




Test Result Accuracy TestResultAccuracy ElectricityMeter/TestRe




sultAccuracy 




NUMBER(8,5) xsd:decimal 




totdig = 8 




fracdig = 5 




Test Result Notes TestResultNotes ElectricityMeter/TestRe




sultNotes 




VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 




maxLen = 50 




Transformer Location TransformerLocation ElectricityMeter/Transf




ormer 




Location 




VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string 




maxLen = 30 




Transformer Ratio TransformerRatio ElectricityMeter/Transf




ormerRatio 




VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 




maxLen = 20 




Transformer Type TransformerType ElectricityMeter/Transf




ormerType 




VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 




maxLen = 20 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 36 of 49 
 




Table 39 CATS_DLF_Codes 




User Access Rights UserAccessRights ElectricityMeter/UserAc




cessRights 




VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 




maxLen = 50 




Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 




(summary screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy 




hh:mm:ss 




(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 




(summary screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy 




hh:mm:ss 




(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 




with enumeration 




Browser Field Name aseXML Data Element 




Name 




aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data Type 




DLF Code DistributionLossFactor




Code 




DistributionLossFactor




Code 




VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 




maxLen = 4 




Description DistributionLossFactor




Description 




DistributionLossFactor




Description 




VARCHAR2(50 xsd:string 




maxLen = 50 




DLF Value DistributionLossFactor




Value 




DistributionLossFactor




Value 




NUMBER(6,5) xsd:decimal 




minIncl = 0 




maxIncl = 2 




totdig = 6 




fracdig = 5 




Jurisdiction JurisdictionCode ElectricityStandingData




/MasterData/Jurisdictio




nCode 




VARCHAR2(3) xsd:string 




maxLen = 3 




Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 




with enumeration 




Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 




(summary screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy 




hh:mm:ss 




(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




 CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 




(summary screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy 




hh:mm:ss 




(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 37 of 49 
 




Table 40 CATS_Emb_Net_ID_Codes 




Table 41 CATS_NMI_Data 




Browser Field Name aseXML Data Element 




Name 




aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data Type 




Code EmbeddedNetworkIde




ntifier 




EmbeddedNetworkIde




ntifier 




VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 




maxLen = 10 




Description EmbeddedNetworkDes




cription 




EmbeddedNetworkDes




cription 




VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 




maxLen = 50 




Locality/Suburb SuburbOrPlaceOrLocal




ity 




ElectrictyStandingData




/MasterData/Address/




AustralianAddress/Sub




urbOrPlaceOrLocality 




VARCHAR2(46) xsd:string 




maxLen = 46 




Postcode PostCode ElectrictyStandingData




/MasterData/Address/




AustralianAddress/Post




Code 




VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string pattern: 




[\p{N}]{4} 




State StateOrTerritory ElectrictyStandingData




/MasterData/Address/




AustralianAddress/Stat




eOrTerritory 




VARCHAR2(3) xsd:string  




with enumerations 




Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 




with enumeration 




Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 




(summary screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy 




hh:mm:ss 




(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




 CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 




(summary screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy 




hh:mm:ss 




(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Browser Field Name aseXML Data Element 




Name 




aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data Type 




NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 




maxLen = 10 




NMI Classification 




Code 




NMIClassificationCode ElectricityStandingData




/MasterData/ 




NMIClassificationCode 




VARCHAR2(8) xsd:string 




maxLen = 8 




Status Code Status ElectricityStandingData




/MasterData/Status 




CHAR(1) xsd:string 




maxLen = 1 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 38 of 49 
 




TNI Code TransmissionNodeIden




tifier 




ElectricityStandingData




/MasterData/Transmis




sionNodeIdentifier 




VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 




maxLen = 4 




TNI Code 2 TransmissionNodeIden




tifier2 




ElectricityStandingData




/MasterData/Transmis




sionNodeIdentifier2 




VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 




maxLen = 4 




Jurisdiction Code JurisdictionCode JurisdictionCode VARCHAR2(3) xsd:string 




maxLen = 3 




DLF Code DistributionLossFactor




Code 




ElectricityStandingData




/MasterData/Distributi




onLossFactorCode 




VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 




maxLen = 4 




Embedded Network ID 




(Child) 




ChildEmbeddedNetwo




rkIdentifier 




ElectricityStandingData




/MasterData/ChildEmb




eddedNetworkIdentifie




r 




VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 




maxLen = 10 




Embedded Network 




(Parent) 




ParentEmbeddedNetw




orkIdentifier 




ElectricityStandingData




/MasterData/ParentEm




beddedNetworkIdentif




ier 




VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 




maxLen = 10 




Building / Property 




Name 




BuildingOrPropertyNa




me 




ElectrictyStandingData




/MasterData/Address/




AustralianAddress/Stru




cturedAddress/Buildin




gOrPropertyName 




VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string maxLen = 




30 




x 2 




Lot Number LotNumber ElectrictyStandingData




/MasterData/ 




Address/AustralianAd




dress/StructuredAddre




ss/Lot/LotNumber 




VARCHAR2(6) xsd:string pattern: 




[\p{L}\p{N}\p{P}\s]{1,6} 




Flat/Unit Number FlatOrUnitNumber ElectrictyStandingData




/MasterData/Address/




AustralianAddress/Stru




cturedAddress/FlatOrU




nit/FlatOrUnitNumber 




VARCHAR2(7) xsd:string pattern: 




[\p{L}\p{N}\p{P}\s]{1,7} 




Flat/Unit Type FlatOrUnitType ElectrictyStandingData




/MasterData/Address/




AustralianAddress/Stru




cturedAddress/FlatOrU




nit/FlatOrUnitType 




VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string with 




enumerations 




Floor/Level Number FloorOrLevelNumber ElectrictyStandingData




/MasterData/Address/




AustralianAddress/Stru




cturedAddress/FloorOr




Level/FloorOrLevelNu




mber 




VARCHAR2(5) xsd:string 




[\p{L}\p{N}\p{P}\s]{1,5} 




Floor/Level Type FloorOrLevelType ElectrictyStandingData




/MasterData/Address/




AustralianAddress/Stru




cturedAddress/FloorOr




VARCHAR2(2) xsd:string with 




enumerations 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 39 of 49 
 




Level/FloorOrLevelTyp




e 




House Number HouseNumber ElectrictyStandingData




/MasterData/Address/




AustralianAddress/Stru




cturedAddress/House/




HouseNumber 




NUMBER(5) xsd:nonNegativeInteg




er 




maxIncl = 99999 




House Number Suffix HouseNumberSuffix ElectrictyStandingData




/MasterData/Address/




AustralianAddress/ 




StructuredAddress/Ho




use/HouseNumberSuff




ix 




VARCHAR2(1) xsd:string pattern: 




[\p{L}\p{N}]{1} 




Street Name StreetName ElectrictyStandingData




/MasterData/Address/




AustralianAddress/ 




StructuredAddress/Str




eet/StreetName 




VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string pattern: 




[\p{L}\p{N}\s\-']{1,30} 




Street Name Suffix StreetSuffix ElectrictyStandingData




/MasterData/Address/




AustralianAddress/ 




StructuredAddress/Str




eet/StreetSuffix 




VARCHAR2(2) xsd:string with 




enumerations 




Street Type StreetType ElectrictyStandingData




/MasterData/Address/




AustralianAddress/ 




StructuredAddress/Str




eet/StreetType 




VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string with 




enumerations 




Suburb/Locality SuburbOrPlaceOrLocal




ity 




ElectrictyStandingData




/MasterData/Address/




AustralianAddress/ 




SuburbOrPlaceOrLocal




ity 




VARCHAR2(46) xsd:string maxLen = 




46 




Location Descriptor LocationDescriptor ElectrictyStandingData




/MasterData/Address/




AustralianAddress/ 




StructuredAddress/Loc




ationDescriptor 




VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string pattern: 




[\p{L}\p{N}\p{P}\s]{1,30 




Postcode PostCode ElectrictyStandingData




/MasterData/Address/




AustralianAddress/ 




PostCode 




VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string pattern: 




[\p{N}]{4} 




State StateOrTerritory ElectrictyStandingData




/MasterData/Address/




AustralianAddress/Stat




eOrTerritory 




VARCHAR2(3) xsd:string  with 




enumerations 




DPID DeliveryPointIdentifier ElectrictyStandingData




/MasterData/Address/




AustralianAddress/ 




NUMBER(8) xsd:nonNegativeInteg




er 




minIncl = 10000000 




maxIncl = 99999999 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 40 of 49 
 




StructuredAddress/Del




iveryPointIdentifier 




Unstructured Address AddressLine ElectrictyStandingData




/MasterData/Address/




AustralianAddress/ 




UnstructuredAddress/




Address/AddressLine 




VARCHAR2(80) xsd:string maxLen = 




80 




x 3 




Aggregate Flag Aggregate ElectricityStandingData




/MasterData/Aggregat




e 




CHAR(1) xsd:string 




with enumeration 




Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 




(summary screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy 




hh:mm:ss 




(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 




(summary screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy 




hh:mm:ss 




(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 




with enumeration 




Feeder Class Feeder Class ElectricityStandingData




/MasterData/FeederCl




ass 




VARCHAR2(15) xsd:string maxLen = 15 




Customer 




Classification Code 




CustomerClassification




Code 




ElectricityStandingData




/MasterData/Custome




rClassificationCode 




VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string maxLen = 




20 




Customer 




Classification 




Threshold Code 




CustomerThresholdCo




de 




ElectricityStandingData




/MasterData/Custome




rThresholdCode 




VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string maxLen = 




20 




NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 




maxLen = 10 




Suffix Suffix ElectricityDataStream/




Suffix 




VARCHAR2(2) xsd:string 




maxLen = 2 




Status Code Status ElectricityDataStream/




Status 




CHAR(1) xsd:string 




maxLen = 1 




Average Daily Load AveragedDailyLoad ElectricityDataStream/




AveragedDailyLoad 




NUMBER(10) xsd:integer 




Type DataStreamType ElectricityDataStream/




DataStreamType 




CHAR(1) xsd:string 




with enumeration 




Profile Name ProfileName ElectricityDataStream/




ProfileName 




VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 




maxLen = 10 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 41 of 49 
 




Table 42 CATS_Register_Identifier 




Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 




(summary screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy 




hh:mm:ss 




(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 




(summary screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy 




hh:mm:ss 




(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 




with enumeration 




Browser Field Name aseXML Data Element 




Name 




aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data Type 




NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 




maxLen = 10 




Meter Serial ID 




Meter ID 




(Different on two 




screens) 




SerialNumber SerialNumber VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 




maxLen = 12 




Register ID RegisterID ElectricityMeterRegiste




rDetail/RegisterID 




VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 




maxLen = 10 




Network Tariff Code NetworkTariffCode ElectricityMeterRegiste




rDetail/NetworkTariffC




ode 




VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 




maxLen = 10 




Network Tariff 




Additional Information 




NetworkAdditional 




Information 




ElectricityMeterRegiste




rDetail/ 




NetworkAdditionalInfo




rmation 




VARCHAR2(4000) xsd:string 




Unit of Measure UnitOfMeasure ElectricityMeterRegiste




rDetail/ 




UnitOfMeasure 




VARCHAR2(5) xsd:string 




maxLen = 5 




Time of Day TimeOfDay ElectricityMeterRegiste




rDetail/ 




TimeOfDay 




VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 




maxLen = 10 




Multiplier Multiplier ElectricityMeterRegiste




rDetail/Multiplier 




Number(13,5) xsd:decimal 




Dial Format DialFormat ElectricityMeterRegiste




rDetail/DialFormat 




Number(4,2) xsd:decimal 




minIncl = 0 




maxIncl = 99.99 




totdig = 4 




fracdig = 2 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 42 of 49 
 




Table 43 CATS_NMI_Participant_Relations 




Suffix Suffix ElectricityMeterRegiste




rDetail/Suffix 




VARCHAR2(2) xsd:string 




maxLen = 2 




Controlled Load ControlledLoad ElectricityMeterRegiste




rDetail/ControlledLoad 




VARCHAR2(100) xsd:string 




maxLen = 100 




Status Code Status ElectricityMeterRegiste




rDetail/ 




Status 




CHAR(1) xsd:string 




with enumeration 




Actual/Cumulative 




Indicator 




ConsumptionType ElectricityMeterRegiste




rDetail/ConsumptionT




ype 




CHAR(1) xsd:string 




with enumeration 




Demand 1 Demand1 ElectricityMeterRegiste




rDetail/Demand1 




Number(8) xsd:integer 




totdig = 8 




Demand 2 Demand2 ElectricityMeterRegiste




rDetail/Demand2 




Number(8) xsd:integer 




totdig = 8 




Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 




(summary screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy 




hh:mm:ss 




(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 




(summary screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy 




hh:mm:ss 




(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 




with enumeration 




Browser Field Name aseXML Data Element 




Name 




aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data Type 




Participant ID Party Party VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 




NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 




maxLen = 10 




Role Role Role VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 




maxLen = 4 




Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 




(summary screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy 




hh:mm:ss 




(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 43 of 49 
 




17. EXAMPLES OF TYPICAL FIELD VALUES 




This section provides examples of typical sets of data element values associated with different 




types of connection points.   




The data shown in each example is as shown in the Browser.  This reverses the sequence of the 




day-month-year communicated via aseXML transactions. 




Table 44 CATS_Meter_Register 




Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 




(summary screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy 




hh:mm:ss 




(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 




with enumeration 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 44 of 49 
 




Data Element Name  




(as it appears in XML documents) 




Browser Field Name(as it appears 




in MSATS Browser) 




Basic Example Interval Example Data Element Name 




AdditionalSiteInformation Additional Site Information MTR ON SITE AT 17B Red Rooster AdditionalSiteInformation 




AssetManagementPlan Asset Management Plan CITIPOWER METER 




MANAGEMENT PLAN 




PER CE DOC: TYPES 1-4 ASSET 




MANAGEMENT & TEST PLAN 




AssetManagementPlan 




CalibrationTables Calibration Tables Q  CalibrationTables 




CommunicationsEquipment Type Communication Equipment Type FACE 96 CommunicationsEquipmentType 




CommunicationsProtocol Communication Protocol NA EMAIL MINI GATEWAY S/N SU121 




MV90 2 TBD TBD 




CommunicationsProtocol 




DataConversion Data Conversion .0005 .0005 DataConversion 




DataValidations Data Validations As per Metrology Procedure Part 




B 




As per Metrology Procedure Part 




B 




DataValidations 




EstimationInstructions Estimation Instruction As per Metrology Procedure Part 




B (TYPES -61, 62, 65) 




As per Metrology Procedure Part 




B (TYPES -14) 




EstimationInstructions 




LastTestDate Last Test Date 07-05-2004 07-03-2004 LastTestDate 




MeasurementType Measurement Type EQ EQ MeasurementType 




Constant Meter Constant 40 .5 Constant 




Hazard Meter Hazard  Asbestos Hazard 




InstallationTypeCode Meter Installation Type Code BASIC COMMS4 InstallationTypeCode 




Location Meter Location ON SUB POLE BEHIND DOOR Location 




Manufacturer Meter Manufacturer EMAIL EDMI Manufacturer 




Model Meter Model Q3 Q4 Model 




Point Meter Point 01 01 Point 




Program Meter Program 30 - NP 3.2 CT FACE PLATE READ 10- AE CT kVAR 9600 Program 




ReadTypeCode Meter Read Type MV3 RTD5 ReadTypeCode 




Route Meter Route 11618 1305 Route 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 45 of 49 
 




Data Element Name  




(as it appears in XML documents) 




Browser Field Name(as it appears 




in MSATS Browser) 




Basic Example Interval Example Data Element Name 




SerialNumber Meter Serial ID, Meter ID 




(Different on two screens) 




525811 201000299 SerialNumber 




Status Status Code C C Status 




Use Meter Use REVENUE REVENUE Use 




NextScheduledReadDate Next Scheduled Read Date 04-10-2006  NextScheduledReadDate 




NextTestDate Next Test Date 17-05-2004 10-05-2004 NextTestDate 




NMI NMI 1122334455 1122334455 NMI 




Password Passwords 12345 12345 Password 




RemotePhoneNumber Remote Phone Number FACE READ 0555 825 987 RemotePhoneNumber 




TestCalibrationProgram Test & Calibration Program AS PER AS/NZ 1284 AS PER AS/NZ 1284 TestCalibrationProgram 




TestPerformedBy Test Performed By Ron Sargeant SMU TestPerformedBy 




TestResultAccuracy Test Result Accuracy -0.20000 -0.11000 TestResultAccuracy 




TestResultNotes Test Result Notes CHECK AND RESEAL    METER METER TEST CORRECT TestResultNotes 




TransformerLocation Transformer Location  REAR OFBUILDING TransformerLocation 




TransformerRatio Transformer Ratio  1500/5 TransformerRatio 




TransformerType Transformer Type  24 WIRE WOUND TransformerType 




UserAccessRights User Access Rights AS PER AS/NZ 1284 MDP ONLY ACCESS UserAccessRights 




FromDate Start Date 14-03-1990 16-03-2002 FromDate 




ToDate End Date 31-12-9999 18-07-2006 ToDate 




MaintenanceDate Updated On 31-12-999 00:00:00 31-12-999 00:00:00 MaintenanceDate 




CreationDate Created On 19-03-1990 00:01:00 18-03-2002 00:01:00 CreationDate 




 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 46 of 49 
 




Table 45 CATS_DLF_Codes 




Table 46 CATS_Emb_Net_ID_Codes 




Data Element Name Browser Field Name Basic & Basic Example 




EmbeddedNetworkIdentifier Code SE01008111 




EmbeddedNetworkDescription Description Kingston-On-Murray Caravan Park 




SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality Suburb / Locality Kingston-On-Murray 




PostCode Postcode 5331 




StateOrTerritory State SA 




RowStatus Activity Status A 




FromDate Start Date 5/04/2003 




ToDate End Date 31/12/9999 




MaintenanceDate Updated On 31/12/9999 
 




CreationDate 1/04/2003 13:23 




Table 47 CATS_NMI_Data 




Data Element Name  Browser Field Name  Basic & Interval Example 




DistributionLossFactorCode DLF Code NHV1 




DistributionLossFactorDescription Description UMPLP - High Voltage 




DistributionLossFactorValue [The actual DLF value] 1.11111 




JurisdictionCode Jurisdiction Code SA 




RowStatus Activity Status A 




FromDate Start Date 01-07-1999 




ToDate End Date 30-06-2000 




MaintenanceDate Updated On 31-05-2000 00:30:27 




CreationDate  01-06-1999 00:23:32 




Data Element Name Browser Field Name Basic Example Interval Example 




NMI NMI 122334451 1122334455 




NMIClassificationCode NMI Classification Code SMALL LARGE 




MasterData/Status Status Code A G 




TransmissionNodeIdentifier TNI Code NRGE SBER 




TransmissionNodeIdentifier




2 




TNI Code 2 NRGE SBER 




JurisdictionCode Jurisdiction Code NSW SA 




DistributionLossFactorCode DLF Code NRGE NLV2 




ChildEmbeddedNetworkIde




ntifier 




Embedded Network ID 




(Child) 




NS01008111 SE01008111 




ParentEmbeddedNetworkId




entifier 




Embedded Network 




(Parent) 




NS01008111 SE01008111 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 47 of 49 
 




Table 48 CATS_NMI_Data_Stream 




BuildingOrPropertyName Building / Property Name BP SHELL 




LotNumber Lot Number 22 23 




FlatOrUnitNumber Flat/Unit Number 1 2 




FlatOrUnitType Flat/Unit Type U U 




FloorOrLevelNumber Flat/Unit Number 1 1 




FloorOrLevelType Floor/Level Type FL FL 




HouseNumber House Number 6 10 




HouseNumberSuffix House Number Suffix A B 




StreetName Street Name BORIS DORIS 




StreetSuffix Street Name Suffix N W 




StreetType Street Type DR ST 




SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality Suburb/Locality ORANGE LOXTON 




LocationDescriptor Location Descriptor CNR FRED ST SHELL SERVICE STATION 




PostCode Postcode 2211 5333 




StateOrTerritory State NSW SA 




DeliveryPointIdentifier DPID 01234567 12345678 




AddressLine Unstructured Address 1 Text Text 




AddressLine Unstructured Address 2 Text Text 




AddressLine Unstructured Address 3 Text Text 




Aggregate Aggregate Flag Y Y 




FromDate Start Date 01-06-2004 01-06-2001 




ToDate End Date 31-12-9999 01-01-2003 




MaintenanceDate  Updated On 31-12-9999 00:00:00 05-01-2003 00:01:00 




CreationDate Created On 04-01-2004 09:31:00 01-06-2001 00:01:00 




RowStatus Activity Status A A 




FeederClass Feeder Class ERGUD ERGUD 




Customer 




ClassificationCode 




Customer Classification RESIDENTIAL BUSINESS 




CustomerThresholdCode Customer Threshold LOW HIGH 




Data Element Name Browser Field Name Basic Example Interval Example 




NMI NMI 1100445566 2211335544 




ElectricityDataStream/Suffix Suffix 31 N1 




ElectricityDataStream/Statu




s 




Status Code A A 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 48 of 49 
 




Table 49 CATS_Register_Identifier 




ElectricityDataStream/ 




AveragedDailyLoad 




Average Daily Load 5 800 




ElectricityDataStream/ 




DataStreamType 




Type C I 




ElectricityDataStream/ 




ProfileName 




Profile Name NSLP NOPROF 




FromDate Start Date 31-12-2001 01-06-2005 




ToDate End Date 31-12-9999 31-12-9999 




MaintenanceDate Updated On 02-01-2004 13:27:58 31-12-9999 




CreationDate Created On 19-01-2002 17:15:23 05-06-2005 15:12:20 




RowStatus  Activity Status I A 




Data Element Name Browser Field Name Basic Example Interval Example 




NMI NMI 1100445566 2211335544 




SerialNumber Meter Serial ID 




Meter ID 




(Different on two screens) 




000012345 112258 




RegisterID Register ID 1 E1 




NetworkTariffCode Network Tariff Code BLNB2CO MB2RI 




NetworkAdditionalInformati




on 




Network Tariff Additional 




Information 




General Supply Non TOU 




Eligible 




LV TOU Demand Eligible 




UnitOfMeasure Unit of Measure KWH KWH 




TimeOfDay Time of Day ALLDAY ALLDAY 




Multiplier Multiplier 1.00000 120.00000 




DialFormat Dial Format 5.00 5.10 




Suffix Suffix 11 E1 




ControlledLoad Controlled Load  HWLoad No 




Status Status Code C C 




ConsumptionType Actual/Cumulative Indicator C A 




Demand1 Demand 1 0 0 




Demand2 Demand 2 0 0 




FromDate Start Date 01-08-2004 01-06-2005 




ToDate End Date 31-12-9999 31-12-9999 




MaintenanceDate Updated On 31-12-9999 31-12-9999 




CreationDate  Created On 01-11-2005 22:30:30 05-06-2005 09:09:09 




RowStatus Activity Status A A 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 49 of 49 
 




18. DATA TYPE CONVENTIONS 




The Browser formats used in section 16 are as defined in the following table.  




The value of “x” must be positive and cannot be zero.  




For explanation of the aseXML data types shown in section 16 refer  




http://www.w3.org/TR/xmlschema-0/#simpleTypesTable  




Table: Browser Formats 




 




 Format Definition 




1 CHAR(x) Indicates a field that can only contain alphanumeric characters and must contain exactly "x" 




characters.  Note that leading and trailing "spaces" are considered significant (i.e. form part of 




the "x" characters for the field). 




2 VARCHAR2(x) Indicates a character field containing up to "x" characters. 




3 NUMBER(x) Indicates a positive integer (zero or above) up to "x" significant digits long; any leading zeroes 




are not significant and hence "050" is equivalent to "50". 




4 NUMBER(x.y) Indicates a positive number with up to "x" significant characters to the left of the decimal point 




and "y" decimal places after the decimal point (trailing zeros are optional).  In other words, the 




maximum length of the field as a whole is "x"+"y"+1 characters (the +1 reserving space for the 




decimal point).  







http://www.w3.org/TR/xmlschema-0/#simpleTypesTable










image4.emf


Standing Data for 



MSATS v50 Draft Change Marked.pdf






Standing Data for MSATS v50 Draft Change Marked.pdf






 




 




 




 




 




Australian Energy Market Operator Ltd    ABN 94 072 010 327 www.aemo.com.au    info@aemo.com.au 




NEW SOUTH WALES QUEENSLAND SOUTH AUSTRALIA VICTORIA AUSTRALIAN CAPITAL TERRITORY TASMANIA WESTERN AUSTRALIA 




STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 




 




PREPARED BY: AEMO Markets 




DOCUMENT REF:  




VERSION: 5.04.4 




EFFECTIVE DATE: 6 February 20221 December 2017 




STATUS: Draft for industry comment – 30 August 2019FINAL 




  




Approved for distribution and use by: 




APPROVED BY: Peter Geers 




TITLE: Chief Strategy and Markets Officer 




  




DATE: TBA1/12/2017 




 







http://www.aemo.com.au/



mailto:info@aemo.com.au











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 2 of 50 
 




VERSION RELEASE HISTORY 




Version  Effective Date Summary of Changes 




4.0 Aug 2009 Update to AEMO Format 




4.1 19/04/2012 Updates to NMI Data tables to include Feeder Class, Customer Classification Code 




& Customer Threshold Code and minor data corrections. 




4.2  28/08/2013 Updated wording for Nx suffixes in sections 8, 9 and 12. 




Updated reference to the CATS procedures for Embedded Networks in section 7. 




Added new data stream type codes under section 11: Reference Tables. 




Updated reference to the NEM Metrology Procedures in section 15. 




4.3 1 December 2017 Updated to incorporate:   




• National Electricity Amendment (Expanding competition in metering and 




related services) Rule 2015. No.12; 




• National Electricity Amendment (Embedded Networks) Rule 2015 No. 15; and 




• National Electricity Amendment (Meter Replacement Processes) Rule 2016 No. 




2. 




4.4 1 December 2017 Final Version 




5.0 6 February 2022 Updated to incorporate amendments for National Electricity Amendment (Global 




Settlement and Market Reconcilliation) Rule 2018 No 14 




 




 




 




 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 3 of 50 
 




CONTENTS 




1. INTRODUCTION 6 




1.1. Purpose and scope 6 




1.2. Definitions and interpretation 6 




1.3. Related documents 6 




2. BACKGROUND 6 




3. CONVENTIONS USED WITHIN THIS DOCUMENT 7 




3.1. Column Headed: Standing Data Required 7 




3.2. NMIs Affected 7 




4. CATS_METER_REGISTER 8 




5. CATS_DLF_CODES 12 




6. CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES 13 




7. CATS_NMI_DATA 14 




8. CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 17 




9. CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 20 




10. CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 23 




11. REFERENCE TABLES 23 




12. USE OF NMI SUFFIX TO POPULATE CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 25 




13. ASSIGNMENT OF DATA – ACCUMULATION METERS 28 




13.1. Single Meter, no controlled load 28 




13.2. Twp Single Element Meters, no controlled load 28 




13.3. Two Single Element Meters, one with controlled load 29 




13.4. One Meter with Two Registers, one measuring a controlled load 29 




13.5. Single Multi-function Meter 29 




13.6. Two meters, three registers. One register measures a controlled load 30 




14. ASSIGNMENT OF DATA – INTERVAL METERS 30 




14.1. One meter 30 




14.2. Import/Export meter 31 




14.3. One meter: multiple registers 31 




14.4. One meter: Twin Measurement Elements 32 




14.5. NCONUML and UMCP 33 




15. ASSIGNMENTS OF DATA – SAMPLE METERS 34 




15.1. Multifunction Sample Meter 34 




16. CROSS REFERENCE OF BROWSER AND ASEXML DATA ELEMENTS 35 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 4 of 50 
 




17. EXAMPLES OF TYPICAL FIELD VALUES 44 




18. DATA TYPE CONVENTIONS 49 




 




TABLES 




Table 1 MSATS Master Tables ................................................................................................................ 6 




Table 2 Explanation of Standing Data Requirements .............................................................................. 7 




Table 3 CATS_METER_REGISTER ............................................................................................................. 8 




Table 4 CATS_DLF_CODES .................................................................................................................... 12 




Table 5 CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES ...................................................................................................... 13 




Table 6 CATS_NMI_DATA ..................................................................................................................... 14 




Table 7 CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ...................................................................................................... 17 




Table 8 CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER ..................................................................................................... 20 




Table 9 CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS ..................................................................................... 23 




Table 10 - Valid Aggregate Codes .......................................................................................................... 23 




Table 11 - Valid Consumption Type Codes ............................................................................................. 24 




Table 12 - Valid Datastream Type Codes ................................................................................................ 24 




Table 13 - Valid Profile Codes ................................................................................................................ 24 




Table 14 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 28 




Table 15 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 28 




Table 16 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 28 




Table 17 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 28 




Table 18 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 29 




Table 19 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 29 




Table 20 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 29 




Table 21 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 29 




Table 22 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 29 




Table 23 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 30 




Table 24 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 30 




Table 25 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 30 




Table 26 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 30 




Table 27 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 31 




Table 28 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 31 




Table 29 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 31 




Table 30 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 31 




Table 31 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 32 




Table 32 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 33 




Table 33 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 33 




Table 34 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 33 




Table 35 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 34 




Table 36 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 34 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 5 of 50 
 




Table 37 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 34 




Table 38 CATS_Meter_Register ............................................................................................................... 35 




Table 39 CATS_DLF_Codes ..................................................................................................................... 38 




Table 40 CATS_Emb_Net_ID_Codes ........................................................................................................ 38 




Table 41 CATS_NMI_Data ....................................................................................................................... 39 




Table 42 CATS_Register_Identifier .......................................................................................................... 42 




Table 43 CATS_NMI_Participant_Relations .............................................................................................. 43 




Table 44 CATS_Meter_Register ............................................................................................................... 45 




Table 45 CATS_DLF_Codes ..................................................................................................................... 47 




Table 46 CATS_Emb_Net_ID_Codes ........................................................................................................ 47 




Table 47 CATS_NMI_Data ....................................................................................................................... 47 




Table 48 CATS_NMI_Data_Stream .......................................................................................................... 48 




Table 49 CATS_Register_Identifier .......................................................................................................... 49 




 




 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 6 of 50 
 




1. INTRODUCTION 




1.1. Purpose and scope 




This document details the data requirements for the various data elements comprising the CATS  




Standing Data stored for each NMI, together with relevant examples and definitions. 




1.2. Definitions and interpretation 
 




The Retail Electricity Market Procedures – Glossary and Framework: 




(a) is incorporated into and forms part of this document; and 




(b) should be read with this document. 




1.3. Related documents 




Title Location 




Retail Electricity Market Procedures – 




Glossary and Framework 




http://aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-




NEM/Retail-and-metering/Glossary-and-Framework 




CATS Procedures http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-




NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-




Solutions 




WIGS Procedures http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-




NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-




Solutions 




MDM Procedures http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-




NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-




Solutions 




MSATS CATS history Model http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-




NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-




Solutions 




MSATS guides http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-




NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-




Solutions 




 




2. BACKGROUND 




The five MSATS master tables contain the standing data stored for each NMI.  They are the 




following:  




Table 1 MSATS Master Tables 




Table Summary of Contents 




CATS_NMI_DATA  Address, TNI Code, DLF Code, aggregate flag, embedded 




network names, Jurisdiction, NMI status code, etc  




CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS  Roles and associated Participants. Separate records are 




maintained for each Role/Participant relationship.  




CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM  Suffix, ADL Code, Profile Name, Datastream type and 




datastream status of each MDM Datastream.  




CATS_METER_REGISTER  Meter Serial ID, meter type, meter manufacturer, test results, 




etc  




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER  Meter Serial ID, Network Tariff Code, unit of measure etc  







http://aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Glossary-and-Framework



http://aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Glossary-and-Framework



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 7 of 50 
 




For a NMI to be capable of being used in MSATS, it must have the following minimum set of data:  




• At least one record on the CATS_NMI_DATA table; and 




• At least eight records on the CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS table, one for each of the 




mandatory roles (ROLR, LNSP, LR, RP, FRMP, MDP, MPC and MPB).  




• At least one record in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. 




It will also normally have:  




• At least one record on each of the CATS_METER_REGISTER and CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




(there should be at least one record for each meter and register associated with the NMI) 




tables.  




NMIs may or may not have:  




• Records on the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. If metering data is to be submitted to MDM 




there must be at least one valid record on this table.  




Every time a change is made to any of the data in any of these tables, the old records are made 




inactive and new records are created, thus ensuring that there is a complete history of all changes.  




3. CONVENTIONS USED WITHIN THIS DOCUMENT 
 




The format of the data fields in the ‘Browser Format Column’’ column of Tables is as defined in 




section 18. 




The following information defines the coded entries in columns used in Tables 3 - 9. 




3.1. Column Headed: Standing Data Required 
 




The column indicates the requirement to provide this data to MSATS. 




Table 2 Explanation of Standing Data Requirements  




3.2. NMIs Affected 
 




Data must be provided for every NMI in MSATS. The NMIs that must be registered in MSATS are 




related to: 




• Every First Tier NMI and Second Tier NMI in the NEM. 




• Sample meters for non-NSLP profile calculations and embedded generating units for NSLP 




calculations. 




• Every wholesale connection point in the NEM, including generation, interconnectors and bulk 




supply points. 




• All connection points points where a transmission network connects to another to transmission 




network 




Requirement Description 




MANDATORY Transfer, Validation or processing cannot proceed without this data. 




REQUIRED This data must be provided if this information is available. 




OPTIONAL This data is not required, but will be accepted if delivered. 




Address Option 1 AEMO’s preferred address option. If the applicable fields labelled “Address 




Option 1” cannot be provided, “Address Option 2” is MANDATORY. 




Address Option 2 AEMO’s non-preferred address option. If Address Option 1 is provided, these 




fields are not to be supplied. 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 8 of 50 
 




• All connection points where a transmission network connects to a distribution network, i.e. bulk 




supply connection points 




• All transmission network connection points where energy is directly purchased from the spot 




market by a Market Customer, i.e. wholesale connection points 




• All connection points on a distibution network that connect that distribution network to an 




adjacent distibution network (other than an embedded network), i.e. cross boundary connection 




points 




• Sample meters as required by Metrology Procedures Part A to calculate CLP for participating 




jurisdictions. 




• All connection points associated with a non-registered embedded generator, i.e. a generating unit 




that is not classified by a Market Generator, but is eligible to be classified by a Small Generation 




Aggregator as a market generating unit. 




• All type 7 loads 




• All non-contestable unmetered loads 




• All connection points associated with a generating unit classified by a Market Generator. 




• All distribution network connection points where energy is directly purchased from the spot 




market by a Market Customer 




• All child connection points  




 




 




4. CATS_METER_REGISTER 
 




The CATS_Meter_Register table is a NMI master table containing data that is stored at the Meter 




Register level. Information stored at this level includes the NSRD. It is updated whenever a Change 




Request containing inbound Meter Register data is completed. 




Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 




Table 3 CATS_METER_REGISTER 




Data Element Name Description Standing Data 




Required 




Party to Provide 




AdditionalSiteInformation Free text, descriptive of the Site, describing Site 




access and the relationship between the metering 




point and the connection point. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




AssetManagementPlan Asset management plan 




If a Site plan is used, free text description of plan. 




If a sample plan is used, the name of the AEMO 




approved plan. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




CalibrationTables Calibration tables – details of any calibration factors 




programmed into the meter. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




CommunicationsEquipment




Type 




Used to store baud rate for installed communication 




equipment in a code, calculated by dividing the 




baud rate by 100, of the installed communication 




equipment.   




For example, 48 = 4800 baud. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




CommunicationsProtocol Used to provide details of access through switch 




units (if installed).  




OPTIONAL MPB 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 9 of 50 
 




Data to include Switch Unit, Dial Pkg, Port#, userid, 




password. 




DataConversion Actual Pulse Multipliers OPTIONAL MPB 




DataValidations Free text description of required data validations. OPTIONAL MPB 




EstimationInstructions Estimation instructions. Free text field OPTIONAL MPB 




LastTestDate The date on which the metering installation was last 




tested or inspected by the Metering Provider “B”. 




This date will be used if clause 7.9.4(a) of the NER 




needs to be applied. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




MeasurementType Code based on the NMI suffix codes, indicating the 




type of measurements available from the meter.   




For example, EBQK = bidirectional energy plus 




reactive Interval Meter. 




OPTIONAL 




NOT USED for 




types 6 & 7 




Transfers. 




MPB 




Constant The meter KE (intrinsic constraint of meter in 




Wh/pulse). 




OPTIONAL MPB 




Hazard Free text or code  identifying hazards associated 




with reading the meter.  




OPTIONAL MPB 




InstallationTypeCode The InstallationTypeCode may identify attributes of 




a physical metering installation, metering data 




collection methods or metering data calculation 




methods.  




This value must correspond to a valid Meter 




Installation Type Code as referenced in MSATS 




Procedures: CATS Procedures. 




The Metering Installation Type Code indicates 




whether the metering installation has to be 




manually read. 




This value must correspond to a valid 




MeterInstallCode in the Meter Installation Codes 




reference table listed in section 11. 




MANDATORY MPB 




Location Free text descriptive material identifying the 




relationship between the location of the metering 




point and the connection point. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




Manufacturer Free text field to identify the manufacturer of the 




installed meter. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




Model Free text field to identify the meter manufacturer’s 




designation for the meter model. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




Point Identifies the meter uniquely for the NMI.  In the 




format 0n, where n is the meter number per the 




protocol described in the NMI Procedure.    




The allowed values are 01 to 09, 0A to 0H, 0J to 0N, 




0P to 0Z. 




This will allow an audit trail when one meter is 




removed and a new meter is given the same 




MeterPoint value. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




Program Free text field providing a description of the 




program used to initialise the installed meter. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




ReadTypeCode Code to denote the method and frequency of 




Meter Reading. 




OPTIONAL MPB 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 10 of 50 
 




First Character = Remote (R) or Manual (M); 




Second Character = Mode 




T = telephone 




W = wireless 




P = powerline 




I = infra-red 




G = galvanic 




V = visual 




Third Character = Frequency of Scheduled Meter 




Readings 




1 = Twelve times per year 




2 = Six times per year 




3 = Four times per year 




D = Daily or weekly 




Fourth Character = Undefined.  




For eExample:, 




 MV3 = Manual, Visual, Quarterly. 




RWD = Remote, Wireless, Daily (applicable for Vic 




AMI metering installations where 




InstallationTypeCode = ‘MRIM’ and 




JurisdictionCode = ‘Victoria’) 




Route The route identifier the meter is currently being read 




in. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




SerialNumber The Meter Serial ID uniquely identifies a meter for a 




given NMI. Maximum 12 Characters (alpha numeric).  




Unique for NMI. 




Use dummy for UMCP (Type 7), and logical (meters) 




and non-contestable unmetered loads. 




Except for UMCP, and logical and non-contestable 




unmetered loads, SerialNumber should be as 




displayed on the physical device (also known as 




property number). 




SerialNumber to be property number if exists, 




otherwise the meter manufacturer’s serial number, 




otherwise dummy number. 




MANDATORY MPB 




Status A code to denote the status of the meter.  




This value must correspond to a valid Meter 




Register Status as specified in the MSATS 




Procedures: CATS Procedures. 




This value must correspond to a valid 




ElectricityMeter/Status in the Meter and RegisterID 




Codes reference table listed in section 11. 




MANDATORY MPB 




Use A code identifying how the meter is used. OPTIONAL MPB 




NextScheduledReadDate Indicates the Scheduled Next Read Date for the 




meter if a manual Meter Reading is required. 




OPTIONAL MPB initially, then 




MDP for updates 




NextTestDate Next date on which the meter should be tested. OPTIONAL MPB 




NMI NMI. This number is unique for each connection 




point within the NEM. 




MANDATORY LNSP 




Password Read & time set passwords separated by a space. OPTIONAL MPB 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 11 of 50 
 




RemotePhoneNumber The public telephone number to contact a remote 




Site for metering data. Includes STD prefix and no 




spaces. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




TestCalibrationProgram Test & calibration program. OPTIONAL MPB 




TestPerformedBy Identifying the Metering Provider “B” and the 




technician responsible for conducting the last test. 




The technician is to be identified by a number 




unique to the Metering Provider “B”. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




TestResultAccuracy The accuracy figure from the test perfomed on the 




date indicated in the LastTestDate field. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




TestResultNotes A statement of compliance indicating the standard 




of the test regime applied at the time of the last 




test.  




OPTIONAL MPB 




TransformerLocation A free text field to identify the existence of 




instrument transformers and their location relative 




to the market connection point. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




TransformerRatio A statement of the available and applied 




transformer ratios. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




TransformerType An explanation of the type of transformation used. OPTIONAL MPB 




UserAccessRights Details of any End User access to the metering 




installation; examples include pulse outputs, 




interface to consumer load management system, or 




consumer directly accessing data in meter by special 




agreement. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




FromDate Start date of the record. This indicates the date on 




which the parameters of this particular record apply 




from. The data applies from the beginning of this 




date (the start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 




MANDATORY Participant sending 




transaction 




ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on 




which the parameters of this particular record end. 




The data applies until the end of this date (the end 




of the day, i.e. 23:59). 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate 




is not provided. 




MANDATORY 




(Defaults to high 




date unless 




supplied) 




System generated 




unless supplied. 




RowStatus  Indicates whether the record is active or inactive. 




Whenever a new record is created, it will be A 




(Active).  A change to the data will make this record 




redundant and its MaintActFlg is changed to I 




(Inactive). 




MANDATORY System generated 




MaintenanceDate  Date and time the record was updated. 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the 




record is created initially. 




If the record is subsequently updated, its 




MaintUpdtDt is changed to the date and time the 




record was updated. 




MANDATORY System generated 




CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System generated 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 12 of 50 
 




5. CATS_DLF_CODES 
 




The CATS_DLF_Codes table contains a list of DLF Codes and their relevant values. The StartDate 




and DLFCode fields will need to be provided for settlements calculations. 




Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 




Table 4 CATS_DLF_CODES 




Data Element Name Description Standing Data 




Required 




Party to 




Provide 




DistributionLossFactorCode A four character alpha-numeric code used to 




identify DLF values.  All NMIs must be assigned a 




DLF Code. Refer to AEMO Distribution Loss Factor 




documents for each financial year.. 




MANDATORY AEMO 




DistributionLossFactorDescri




ption 




Description of the DLF Code and value. MANDATORY AEMO 




DistributionLossFactor Value Numeric value up to 5 decimal places, reflecting the 




value of the DLF Code. 




MANDATORY AEMO 




JurisdictionCode Jurisdiction code to which the NMI belongs.  




This value must correspond to Jurisdiction Code 




values as specified in the MSATS Procedures: CATS 




Procedures.  




This value must correspond to a valid 




JurisdictionCode in the Jurisdiction Codes reference 




table in section 11.  




MANDATORY AEMO 




RowStatus Indicates whether the DLF Code is active or inactive.  




Whenever a new record is created, it will be A 




(Active). A change to the data will make this record 




redundant and its MaintActFlg is changed to I 




(Inactive).  




MANDATORY System 




generated 




FromDate Start date of the record. This indicates the date on 




which the parameters of this particular record apply 




from. The data applies from the beginning of this 




date (the start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 




MANDATORY AEMO 




ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on 




which the parameters of this particular record end. 




The data applies until the end of this date (the end 




of the day, i.e. 23:59). 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate 




is not provided. 




MANDATORY System 




generated 




MaintenanceDate Date and time the record was updated. 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the 




record is created initially. 




If the record is subsequently updated, its 




MaintUpdtDt is changed to the date and time the 




record was updated. 




MANDATORY System 




generated 




CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 




generated 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 13 of 50 
 




6. CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES 
 




The CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES table contains embedded network identifier codes, which are used 




to identify which embedded network a NMI belongs to, either as a Parent NMI or a Child NMI. 




Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 




Table 5 CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES 




 




Data Element Name Description Standing Data 




Required 




Party to 




Provide 




EmbeddedNetwork 




Identifier 




Embedded Network Code. 




Refer to Allocation of Embedded Network Codes  




for further details. 




MANDATORY AEMO 




EmbeddedNetwork 




Description 




Description of embedded network identifier. MANDATORY AEMO 




SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality Locality to which the embedded network identifier 




belongs. 




MANDATORY AEMO 




PostCode Postcode for the locality to which the embedded 




network identifier belongs. 




MANDATORY AEMO 




StateOrTerritory State or Territory abbreviation in accordance with 




AS 4590. 




MANDATORY AEMO 




RowStatus Indicates whether the code is active or inactive. 




Whenever a new record is created, it will be A 




(Active). A change to the data will make this record 




redundant and its MaintActFlg is changed to I 




(Inactive).  




MANDATORY System 




generated 




FromDate Start date of the record. This indicates the date on 




which the parameters of this particular record apply 




from. The data applies from the beginning of this 




date (the start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 




MANDATORY AEMO 




ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on 




which the parameters of this particular record end. 




The data applies until the end of this date (the end 




of the day, i.e. 23:59). 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate 




is not provided. 




MANDATORY System 




generated 




MaintenanceDate Date and time the record was updated. 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the 




record is created initially.  




If the record is subsequently updated, its 




MaintUpdtDt is changed to the date and time the 




record was updated. 




MANDATORY System 




generated 




CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 




generated 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 14 of 50 
 




7. CATS_NMI_DATA 
 




The CATS_NMI_DATA table records Master NMI Record data information. It is updated whenever a 




Change Request containing data in the CATS_INBOUND_NMI_DATA table is completed. 




Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 




Table 6 CATS_NMI_DATA 




Data Element Name Description Standing Data 




Required 




Party to 




Provide 




NMI NMI. 




All alpha characters are Upper Case 




MANDATORY LNSP 




NMI 




ClassificationCode 




Code used to indicate the NMI Classification Code of 




this NMI.   




This value must correspond to NMI Classification Code 




values as specified in the MSATS Procedures: CATS 




Procedures. 




This value must correspond to a valid NMIClassCode 




value in the NMI Class Codes reference table listed in 




section 11. 




MANDATORY LNSP 




MasterData/ 




StatusCode 




Code used to indicate the status of the NMI.   




This value must correspond to NMI Status Code values 




as specified in the MSATS Procedures: CATS 




Procedures. 




This value must correspond to a valid 




MasterData/Status value in the NMI Status Codes 




reference table listed in section 11. 




MANDATORY LNSP 




TransmissionNode 




Identifier 




This value must correspond to a valid code in the 




CATS_TNI_Codes table.  




MANDATORY LNSP 




JurisdictionCode Jurisdiction code to which the NMI belongs. This code 




defines the jurisdictional rules which apply to the 




transfer of this NMI. 




This value must correspond to Jurisdiction Code values 




as specified in the MSATS Procedures: CATS 




Procedures. 




This value must correspond to a valid JurisdictionCode 




value in the Jurisdiction Codes reference table listed in 




section 11. 




MANDATORY LNSP 




DistributionLoss 




FactorCode 




Distribution Loss Factor Code.  Must be a valid code in 




the CATS_DLF_Codes table.  




MANDATORY LNSP 




ChildEmbedded 




NetworkIdentifier 




The embedded network identifier code is used to 




identify which embedded network this given NMI is the 




'child of'.  (If on a NMI record this field is not populated, 




it is assumed the NMI is not the child of any other NMI.)   




Must be a valid code within the 




CATS_Emb_Net_ID_Codes table. 




This field cannot be used unless the Parent NMI has 




been created and assigned an embedded network 




identifier code. Refer section 30.4.a  of the CATS 




Procedure. 




REQUIRED LNSP 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 15 of 50 
 




ParentEmbedded 




NetworkIdentifier 




The embedded network identifier code is used to 




identify which embedded network this given NMI is the 




'parent of'.  (If on a NMI record this field is not 




populated, it is assumed the NMI is not the parent of 




any other NMI.)    




Must be a valid code within the 




CATS_Emb_Net_ID_Codes table.  




REQUIRED LNSP 




BuildingOrProperty 




Name 




A free text description of the full name used to identify 




the physical building or property as part of its location. 




Address 




Option 1 




LNSP 




LotNumber The lot reference number allocated to an address prior 




to street numbering. The word ‘LOT’ is not required. 




Address 




Option 1 




LNSP 




FlatOrUnitNumber Specification of the number of the flat or unit which is a 




separately identifiable portion within a 




building/complex. 




Address 




Option 1 




LNSP 




FlatOrUnitType Specification of the type of flat or unit which is a 




separately identifiable portion within a 




building/complex. This value must correspond to a valid 




Flat Type Code, reference AS4590.  




Address 




Option 1 




LNSP 




FloorOrLevelNumber Floor Number is used to identify the floor or level of a 




multi-storey building/complex. 




Address 




Option 1 




LNSP 




FloorOrLevelType Floor Type is used to identify the floor or level of a 




multi-storey building/complex. This value must 




correspond to a valid Floor Type Code in the Floor Type 




Codes, reference AS4590. 




Address 




Option 1 




LNSP 




HouseNumber The numeric reference of a house or property.  




Specifically the house number. 




Address 




Option 1 




LNSP 




HouseNumberSuffix The numeric reference of a house or property.  




Specifically the single character identifying the house 




number suffix. 




Address 




Option 1 




LNSP 




StreetName Records the thoroughfare name. 




See notes at end of table for more information on 




Structured Addresses 




Address 




Option 1 




LNSP 




StreetSuffix Records street suffixes. This value must correspond to a 




valid Street Suffix Code, reference AS4590. 




Address 




Option 1 




LNSP 




StreetType Records the street type abbreviation.  This value must 




correspond to a valid Street Type Code, reference 




AS4590. 




Address 




Option 1 




LNSP 




SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality The full name of the general locality containing the 




specific address. 




MANDATORY  LNSP 




LocationDescriptor A general field to capture various references to address 




locations alongside another physical location. 




Address 




Option 1 




LNSP 




PostCode The descriptor for a postal delivery area, aligned with 




locality, suburb or place. 




MANDATORY LNSP 




StateOrTerritory Defined State or Territory abbreviation.   MANDATORY LNSP 




DeliveryPointIdentifier Delivery point identifier - the numeric descriptor for a 




postal delivery point which is equal to a physical 




OPTIONAL LNSP 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 16 of 50 
 




 




address.  The values are in the range 10000000 – 




99999999. 




AddressLine To provide the unstructured address (line 1) where a 




structured address cannot be supplied. 




Address 




Option 2 




LNSP 




AddressLine To provide the unstructured address (line 2) where a 




structured address cannot be supplied. 




Address 




Option 2 




LNSP 




AddressLine To provide the unstructured address (line 3) where a 




structured address cannot be supplied. 




Address 




Option 2 




LNSP 




Aggregate This flag determines whether the energy at this 




connection point is to be treated as consumer load or as 




a generating unit (this may include generator auxiliary 




loads). 




MSATS will initially set this field to “Y” This value must 




correspond to a valid Aggregate value in the Aggregate 




Codes reference table listed in section 11. 




OPTIONAL (Defaults to ‘Y’, 




AEMO updates 




to ‘N’ as 




required) 




FromDate Start date of the NMI Data record. This indicates the 




date on which the parameters of this particular NMI 




data record apply from.  




The data applies from the beginning of this date (the 




start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 




MANDATORY LNSP 




 




ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on which 




the parameters of this particular record end. The data 




applies until the end of this date (the end of the day, i.e. 




23:59). 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate is 




not provided. 




MANDATORY 




(Defaults to 




high date 




unless 




supplied) 




System 




generated 




unless 




supplied. 




RowStatus  Indicates whether the record is active or inactive. 




Whenever a new record is created, it will be A (Active). 




A change to the data will make this record redundant 




and its MaintActFlg is changed to I (Inactive).  




MANDATORY System 




generated 




MaintenanceDate  Date and time the record was updated. 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the record is 




created initially. 




If the record is subsequently updated, its MaintUpdtDt 




is changed to the date and time the record was 




updated. 




MANDATORY System 




generated 




CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 




generated 




Feeder Class A code to provide Participants with information to 




indicate the appropriate service level timeframes for 




performing work in relation to Service Order Requests. 




OPTIONAL LNSP 




Customer Classification 




Code 




A code that defines the consumer class as defined in 




the National Energy Retail Regulations, or in overriding 




Jurisdictional instruments 




MANDATORY Current FRMP 




Customer Classification 




Threshold Code 




A code that defines the consumption threshold as 




defined in the National Energy Retail Regulations, or in 




overriding Jurisdictional instruments. 




MANDATORY LNSP 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 17 of 50 
 




8. CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 
 




The CATS_NMI_Data_Stream table is a NMI master table containing data that is stored at the NMI 




Datastream level. Information stored at this level includes suffixes, profile name, average daily load 




etc. It is updated whenever a Change Request containing inbound Datastream data is completed. 




Note: Data is only required for this table if the NMI is active in the NEM or is used for profile peel-




off in accordance with the Metrology Procedure. 




Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 




Table 7 CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Data Element Name Description Standing Data 




Required 




Party to 




Provide 




NMI NMI MANDATORY MDP 




LNSP 




ElectricityDataStream/Suffix The Metering Datastream identifier (for MDM).  




Identifies the ElectricityDataStream Suffix as delivered 




to AEMO for NEM Settlement calculations, profile 




peeloff, UFE analysis and Vic TUOS sites.  




The value must be a valid as per Datastream suffix 




details specified in the MSATS Procedures:  National 




Metering Identifier procedure. 




The value must match the MDMContributorySuffix 




value provided in an MDFF File. 




Metering Datastream identifier (for MDM). Identifies 




the Datastream as delivered to AEMO for settlements 




purposes.  




The value must be a valid suffix for this NMI and is 




active for this date range.  




The value must comply with requirements of the NMI 




Procedure. 




If the MeterInstallCode is COMMSn, MRIM, MRAM, 




VICAMI or UMCP, the Suffix value must be in the form 




Nx where DataStreamType is I or P for an interval 




Datastream.  If the MeterInstallCode is BASIC, the 




Suffix value must be numeric. 




MANDATORY MDP 




ElectricityDataStream/Status Code used to indicate the status of the suffix.  




This value must correspond to a valid Datastream 




Status Code as specified in the MSATS Procedures: 




CATS procedures. 




This value must correspond to a valid 




StreamStatusCode in the Stream Status Codes 




reference table listed in section 11. 




MANDATORY MDP 




AveragedDailyLoad The energy delivered through a connection point or 




metering point over an extended period normalised to 




a "per day" basis (kWh). 




MANDATORY MDP 




DataStreamType Indicates the primary function of the 




ElectricityDatastream Suffix.  i.e. inclusion within NEM 




Settlement calculations, UFE analysis, profile peeloff  




or Vic TUOS. 




MANDATORY MDP 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 18 of 50 
 




 




Indicates the type of data that the  the 




ElectricityDataStream / Suffix is recording.   




Profile data meters are: 




For registering sample meters used for the calculation 




of profile shapes where the NMI and Datastream are 




not used for settlements. 




For providing external profile shapes into MDM 




(external PPS). 




This value must correspond to a valid 




DataStreamType in the Data Stream Type Codes 




reference table listed in section 11. 




ProfileName The Profile Name is a code that identifies the name of 




the algorithmically derived shape that is used to 




allocate a Datastream's consumption to TIs.  This 




value must correspond to a valid code in the PROFILE 




table.  




For all Interval Meters and sample meters, this must 




be set to ‘NOPROF’.  




For Accumulation Meters, refer to the MDM Profile 




for valid profile names.  




In Victoria and the ACT, ProfileName must be NSLP.   




In NSW, QLD and SA, ProfileName must be NSLP or 




the relevant controlled load profile. 




This value must correspond to a valid ProfileName 




value in the Profile Codes reference table listed in 




section 11. 




MANDATORY MDP 




FromDate Start date of the NMI data record. This indicates the 




date on which the parameters of this particular NMI 




data record apply from.  




The data applies from the beginning of this date (the 




start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 




MANDATORY Party sending 




transaction 




ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on 




which the parameters of this particular record end. 




The data applies until the end of this date (the end of 




the day, i.e. 23:59). 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate is 




not provided. 




MANDATORY 




(Defaults to 




high date 




unless 




supplied) 




System 




generated 




unless 




supplied. 




RowStatus  Indicates whether the record is active or inactive. 




Whenever a new record is created, it will be A 




(Active). A change to the data will make this record 




redundant and its MaintActFlg is changed to I 




(Inactive).  




MANDATORY System 




generated 




MaintenanceDate  Date and time the record was updated. 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the record 




is created initially. 




If the record is subsequently updated, its 




MaintUpdtDt is changed to the date and time the 




record was updated. 




MANDATORY System 




generated 




CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 




generated 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 19 of 50 
 




 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 20 of 50 
 




9. CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 
 




The CATS_Register_Identifier table contains data that is stored at the register identifier level. 




Information stored at this level includes the Network Tariff Code. It is updated whenever a Change 




Request containing inbound register identifier data is completed. 




Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 




Table 8 CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element Name Description Standing Data 




Required 




Party to Provide 




NMI NMI. This number is unique for each connection 




point within the NEM. 




MANDATORY LNSP 




SerialNumber The Meter Serial ID uniquely identifies a meter for a 




given NMI. Maximum 12 Characters (alpha numeric).  




Unique for NMI. 




Use dummy for UMCP (Type 7), and logical (meters) 




and non-contestable unmetered loads.. 




Except for UMCP, and logical and non-contestable 




unmetered loads, MeterSerial should be displayed 




on physical device also known as property number). 




SerialNumber to be property number if exists, 




otherwise the meter manufacturers’ serial number, 




otherwise dummy number. 




MANDATORY MPB 




RegisterID The RegisterID is an identifier used to identify 




records stored within the CATS_REGISTER_TABLE.  




A record must be created in the 




CATS_REGISTER_TABLE for each physical register 




within a meter.  




• For Accumulation Meters, the RegisterID may 




reflect any unique identifier. E.g. ‘1’, ‘01’, ‘11’, etc.. 




• For Interval Meters, the RegisterID must match 




the content of the ‘Suffix’ within the 




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table. E.g. ‘E1’, ‘B1’, 




‘Q1’, ‘K1’, etc. 




The RegisterID is used to identify a data source that 




is obtained from the meter. A single meter may 




provide multiple data sources.  




MANDATORY MPB 




NetworkTariffCode The Network Tariff Code is a free text field required. 




The text must match the Network Tariff Codes 




supplied and published by the LNSP.  




Must be a valid code from the 




CATS_Network_Tariff_Codes table.   




MANDATORY 




 




MPB 




NetworkAdditional 




Information 




Free text field. OPTIONAL MPB 




UnitOfMeasure Code to identify the unit of measure for data held in 




this register. 




MANDATORY MPB 




TimeOfDay Code to identify the time validity of register 




contents. 




As published by each LNSP. 




MANDATORY  MPB 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 21 of 50 
 




Multiplier Multiplier required to take a register value and turn 




it into a value representing billable energy 




MANDATORY MPB 




DialFormat Describes the register display format. 




First number is the number of digits to the left of 




the decimal place, and the second number is the 




number of digits to the right of the decimal place. 




MANDATORY MPB 




Suffix The Suffix field in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




table is used to identify a physical data source that 




is obtained from the meter.  




The Suffix in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table 




must be a valid as per Datastream suffix details 




specified in the MSATS Procedures:  National 




Metering Identifier procedure.  




The value must match the NMISuffix value provided 




in an MDFF File. 




 




• For Basic Meters, the Suffix in the 




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table need not 




match the RegisterID in the 




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table. 




• For Interval Meters, the Suffix in the 




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table must match 




the RegisterID in the 




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table. E.g. ‘E1’, ‘B1’ 




Metering Datastream identifier (for MDM).  




Identifies each Datastream at the measurement 




element level for the connection point identified by 




the NMI.  




The value must be a valid suffix for this NMI and is 




active for this date range.  The value must match 




the value provided in the MDFF File. 




The Suffix value must be unique for each meter. 




The value must comply with the NMI Procedure  




For interval data streams, the suffix will indicate the 




individual data streams contributing to the Nx Suffix 




value in the CATS_NMI_DataStream table.  




For basic data streams the value will be identical to 




the related Suffix value in the 




CATS_NMI_DataStream table. 




MANDATORY MPB 




ControlledLoad Indicates whether the energy recorded by this 




register is created under a Controlled Load regime 




ControlledLoad field will have "No" if register does 




not relate to a Controlled Load. 




If the register relates to a Controlled Load, it should 




contain a description of the Controlled Load 




regime. 




MANDATORY MPB 




RegisterDetail/ 




Status 




Lookup code to indicate if register is active. 




Must ensure that RegisterDetail/Status is not 




Current (C) when ElectricityMeter/Status is Removed 




(R). 




MANDATORY MPB 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 22 of 50 
 




 




This value must correspond to a valid Register 




Identifier Status as specified in the MSATS 




Procedures: CATS Procedures. 




This value must correspond to a valid 




RegisterDetail/Status from the Meter and RegisterID 




Codes reference table listed in section 11. 




ConsumptionType Actual/Subtractive Indicator. 




Actual (A) implies volume of energy actually 




metered between two dates. 




Cumulative (C) indicates a Meter Reading for a 




specific date. A second Meter Reading is required to 




determine the consumption between those two 




Meter Reading dates.  




For an Interval Meter, ActCumInd = A. 




This value must correspond to a valid 




ConsumptionType from the Consumption Type 




Codes reference table listed in section 11. 




MANDATORY MPB 




Demand1 This field contains the peak demand value for 




summer for network Tariff purposes. Units in kW or 




kVA 




OPTIONAL MPB (Refers to 




Network Tariff 




Code) 




Demand2 This field contains an additional demand value (not 




Summer period). Units in kW or kVA 




OPTIONAL MPB (Refers to 




Network Tariff 




Code) 




FromDate Start date of the NMI data record. This indicates the 




date on which the parameters of this particular NMI 




data record apply from.  




The data applies from the beginning of this date 




(the start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 




MANDATORY Participant 




sending 




transaction 




ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on 




which the parameters of this particular record end. 




The data applies until the end of this date (the end 




of the day, i.e. 23:59). 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate 




is not provided. 




MANDATORY 




(Defaults to 




high date 




unless 




supplied) 




System 




generated unless 




supplied. 




RowStatus  Indicates whether the record is active or inactive. 




Whenever a new record is created, it will be A 




(Active). A change to the data will make this record 




redundant and its MaintActFlg is changed to I 




(Inactive).  




MANDATORY System 




generated 




MaintenanceDate  Date and time the record was updated. 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the 




record is created initially. 




If the record is subsequently updated, its 




MaintUpdtDt is changed to the date and time the 




record was updated. 




MANDATORY System 




generated 




CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 




generated 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 23 of 50 
 




10. CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 
 




The CATS_NMI_Participant_Relations table is a NMI master table containing data that stores the 




Roles that Participants play for each NMI. It is updated whenever a Change Request containing 




inbound Roles is completed. Each Role record, which contains a single Role code and a single 




Participant ID, has a start date and an end date, as well as information about when it was created 




and when it became inactive if it is no longer an active record. 




Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 




Table 9 CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 




11. REFERENCE TABLES 
 




Table 10 - Valid Aggregate Codes 




Aggregate Description 




Y Customer load 




N Generator NMI 




 




Data Element Name Description Standing Data 




Required 




Party to 




Provide 




Party The Participant ID whose relationship (Role) with the 




NMI is defined in this table. 




MANDATORY LNSP 




NMI NMI. This number is unique for each connection point.  MANDATORY LNSP 




Role This defines the relationship (Role) of the Participant 




with the NMI in this table. 




MANDATORY LNSP 




FromDate Start date of the record. This indicates the date on 




which the parameters of this particular record apply 




from. 




The data applies from the beginning of this date (the 




start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 




MANDATORY Party sending 




transaction 




ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on which 




the parameters of this particular record end. The data 




applies until the end of this date (the end of the day, i.e. 




23:59). 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate is 




not provided. 




MANDATORY 




(Defaults to 




high date 




unless 




supplied) 




System 




generated 




unless 




supplied. 




RowStatus  Indicates whether the record is active or inactive. 




Whenever a new record is created, it will be A (Active). 




A change to the data will make this record redundant 




and its MaintActFlg is changed to I (Inactive).  




MANDATORY System 




generated 




MaintenanceDate Date and time the record was updated. 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the record is 




created initially. 




If the record is subsequently updated, its MaintUpdtDt 




is changed to the date and time the record was 




updated. 




MANDATORY System 




generated 




CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 




generated 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 24 of 50 
 




Table 11 - Valid Consumption Type Codes 




Consumptiontype Description 




A Actual Consumption 




C Cumulative Consumption 




 




Table 12 - Valid Datastream Type Codes 




Datastreamtype Description Datastream suffix (as per MSATS 




Procedures: National Metering Identifier 




Procedure) 




I Interval Datastream included in NEM 




Settlement process 




A, D, B, E, N 




C Basic Consumption Datastream is included in 




NEM Settlement Process 




First character is 1 to 9 




P Profile Datastream included in NEM Profile 




calculations (Sample meters only) 




E, N 




N Interval Datastream is not to be included in the 




NEM Settlement process or NEM Profile 




calculations 




J, P, S, K, Q, T, G, H, M, V, C, F, L, R, U, Y, 




W, Z, X  




 




A,D,B,E when not used for NEM 




Settlements (e.g. Vic TUOS) 




1 Non-Market Active Import  




2 Non-Market Active  




3 Non-Market Reactive Import  




4 Non-Market Reactive  




 




 




Table 13 - Valid Profile Codes 




ProfileName Description 




NSLP Net System Load Profile. 




The profile is calculated by MSATS. NSLP represents the system load after 




all actual interval metering data or specified previously-calculated profiled 




metering data that is not dependent on the NSLP has been subtracted from 




a known total system load and represents system-wide usage by 




consumption-type metering installations. 




CLOADNSWCE Controlled Load profile: Country Energy. (Now Essential Energy)  




Profile Names beginning with CLOAD are Controlled Load profiles. 




Controlled Load profiles are applied to Controlled Load Datastreams in 




NSW. There is one Controlled Load profile for each LNSP area. The names 




all begin with CLOADNSW to indicate that they are NSW Profile Names 




followed by two characters to indicate the LNSP area to which it belongs 




(e.g. EA = EnergyAustralia). 




CLOADNSWEA Controlled Load profile: EnergyAustralia (Now Ausgrid). 




CLOADNSWIE Controlled Load profile: IntegralEnergy (Now Endeavour Energy) 




QLDEGXCL31 Controlled Load profile Energex tariff 31 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 25 of 50 
 




ProfileName Description 




QLDEGXCL33 Controlled Load profile Energex tariff 33 




SACLOAD South Australian Controlled Load. 




NOPROF Used for interval Datastream types (to indicate that such Datastreams do 




not need to be profiled to obtain ‘readings’ for each settlements interval 




because the data is supplied in 30-minute intervals). 




 




Note: Refer to the MSATS CATS Procedure section 4 for details on the valid codes for the 




following: 




• Jurisdiction Codes 




• Metering Installation Type Codes 




• NMI Classification Codes 




• NMI Status Codes 




• Datastream Status Codes 




12. USE OF NMI SUFFIX TO POPULATE CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 
 




For any particular connection point there may be multiple energy measurement elements and data 




recorders with multiple channels. Accurate identification of Datastreams is essential.  




The MSATS Procedures: National Metering Identifier Procedure includes the requirements for 




structure of both the Suffix populated in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table and the 




ElectricityDataStream Suffix populated in the CATS_DATA_STREAM table.   




The illustrations below provide context to the relationships between ‘Suffix’ across the MDFF 




Specification and MSATS Procedures: CATS Procedures (specifically the 




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table and CATS_DATA_STREAM tables). 




Example of an Accumulated Meter ‘Suffix’  




CATS_REGISTER_IDEN TIFIER
 Suffix                    




CATS_DATA_STR EAM
 Electricity/DataStreamSuffix    




                




MDFF Specification  (NEM13)
 MDMDataStreamIdentifier    




                




MDFF Specification (NEM13)
 NMISuffix                    




CATS_REGISTER_IDEN TIFIER
 RegisterID                    




CATS_METER_REGISTER
 InstallationTypeCo de     




 BASIC 




In this scenario,  this relationship 
creates a  link  between Standing 
Data & Meter Data




Referred to as  MDMContributorySuffix  in MDFF 
Specification prior to 1/7/21




In this scenario, AEMO do not refer to this MDFF field as the 
Registers can be determined from the CATS_Data_Stream 
table directly




 Accumulated DataStreams in CATS_DATA_STREAM table




 




Example of an Interval Meter ‘Suffix’ – Net DataStreams 




Field Code Changed















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 26 of 50 
 




CATS_REGISTER_IDEN TIFIER




 Suffix     E1    B1    Q1   
 K1 




CATS_DATA_STR EAM




 Electricity/
DataStreamSuffix      N1 




MDFF Specification (NEM12)




 MDMDataStreamIdentifier  
   N1 




MDFF Specification (NEM12)




 NMISuffix     E1    B1    Q1   
 K1 




CATS_REGISTER_IDEN TIFIER




 RegisterID     E1    B1   
 Q1    K1 




Referred to as  MDMContributorySuffix  in MDFF Specification prior to 1/7/21




In this scenario and in order to determine which registers contribute to the  Net    AEMO 
require this MDFF field to be mandatorily updated with standing data as populated in the 
CATS_Data_Stream table.   i.e.  Net 




In this scenario and where the content of the CATS_DATA_STREAM
 DataStreamSuffix   and MDFF Specification
 MDMDataStreamIdentifier  fields do not match,  AEMO will disregard any meter data sent 
and will estimate data for NEM Settlements.  Standing Data  Mismatches  will be reported in 
the RM39  Orphaned Reads  report. 




CATS_METER_REGISTER




 InstallationTypeCode     
 COMMS%    MRAM   
 MRIM    NONCUML   




 PROF    SAMPLE    UMCP   
 VICAMI 




In this scenario, this relationship 
defines the registers that 
contribute to the  N 




  Net  DataStreams in CATS_DATA_STREAM table




 




Example of an Interval Meter “Suffix” – Register Level DataStreams 




CATS_REGISTER_IDEN TIFIER




 Suffix     E1    B1    Q1   
 K1 




CATS_DATA_STR EAM




 Electricity/DataStreamSuffix    
 E1    B1    Q1    K1 




MDFF Specification (NEM12)




 MDMDataStreamIdentifier  
   E1    B1    Q1    K1 




MDFF Specification (NEM12)




 NMISuffix     E1    B1    Q1   
 K1 




CATS_REGISTER_IDEN TIFIER




 RegisterID     E1    B1   
 Q1    K1 




Referred to as  MDMContributorySuffix  in MDFF 
Specification prior to 1/7/21




In this scenario, AEMO do not refer to this MDFF field as the 
Registers can be determined from the CATS_Data_Stream 
table directly




CATS_METER_REGISTER




 InstallationTypeCode     
 COMMS%    MRAM   
 MRIM    NONCUML   




 PROF    SAMPLE    UMCP   
 VICAMI 




In this scenario,  this relationship 
creates a  link  between Standing 
Data & Meter Data




Register Level DataStreams in CATS_DATA_STREAM table




 




Note:  




• A record must be created in the  CATS_REGISTER_TABLE for each physical register within a meter 




• An ElectricityDataStream Suffix must be created for all individual DataStreams required for NEM 




Settlement calculations, profile peeloff, UFE analysis and Vic TUOS sites. 




The NMI Procedure includes the requirements for the use of a suffix to the NMI that identifies 




these Datastreams.  The DataStreamSuffix detailed in the NMI Procedure provides identification at 




the measurement element level for all Datastreams from the connection point identified by the 




NMI.  The DataStreamSuffix is commonly known as the NMISuffix.  The NMISuffix is labelled as 




‘Suffix’ in the Browser and is the ElectricityDataStream/Suffix data element in aseXML. 




The NMISuffix was first used in the NMI Procedure to describe, in conjunction with the NMI, the 




data transferred from the MDP to AEMO and Participants for settlements. The NMISuffix was 




further extended to describe Datastreams in MSATS, and numeric suffixes were developed to 




describe the data from type 6 metering installations. 




Field Code Changed




Field Code Changed















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 27 of 50 
 




In MSATS, the NMISuffix is used in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table to describe the data as 




delivered to AEMO. For settlements purposes this data must be ‘NET’ [Export from network, less 




import to network] and will be ‘Nx’ for an interval Datastream, or numeric for an Accumulation 




Meter. 




In MSATS release 2.0 a new table, CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER, was introduced to link identifiers 




for the source meter register(s) to the Datastream suffix in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. 




The purpose of the table is to enable the alignment of the data held in MSATS and the data being 




transferred between Participants in the B2B process. 




This link is achieved through the RegisterID (which describes the data source at the metering 




installation) and ElectricityDataStream/Suffix (which describes the NMISuffix to which the 




RegisterID contributes) data elements. This is a many-to-one relationship, i.e. there may be 




multiple RegisterID values for each ElectricityDataStream/Suffix value in the 




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table. 




• The RegisterID identifies the measurement element and type of measurement for an Interval 




Meter, and identifies the location of a stored energy value in an Accumulation Meter. 




• The ElectricityDataStream/Suffix value in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table identifies the 




Datastream registered in MSATS. For settlements purposes, Interval Meter Datastreams will be 




the NET suffix (format Nx) and for Accumulation Meter Datastreams the suffix value is numeric.  




MSATS requires data to be delivered against this suffix (if the Datastream is ACTIVE).  MSATS 




does not validate the values entered in this field. 




• The ElectricityDataStream/Suffix value in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table identifies the 




individual Datastream(s) contributing to the ElectricityDataStream/Suffix value in the 




CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. For interval Datastreams, the suffix(es) will indicate the 




individual Datastream(s) contributing to the Nx Suffix value in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




table where the DataStreamType is P or I (Refer section 14for examples). For accumulation 




Datastreams the value will be numeric and will be identical to the related Suffix value in the 




CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table (refer section 13 for examples). 




• The ElectricityDataStream/Suffix values used in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table are used 




to identify metering data contained in MDFF Files (in the NMISuffix field).  




• The linkage between the RegisterID and ElectricityDataStream/Suffix exists because the 




ElectricityDataStream/Suffix data element is populated in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table. 




• The RegisterID data element has no standard format; therefore, the MPB must determine the 




appropriate population of this field, e.g. it may be used to indicate the programming code of 




the register. 




There is an inconsistent understanding across industry of the meaning of the terms ‘register’ and 




‘datastream’. Conventionally, to field metering personnel, a ‘register’ contains a single value, while 




a ‘datastream’ represents an array of time separated register values in chronological order. 




For Accumulation Meters, the RegisterID refers to the non-volatile storage of the cumulative 




energy register(s). The RegisterID will have identification with the displays of the meters, or 




identification of internal data stores.  




For Accumulation Meters, the ElectricityDataStream/Suffix data element in the 




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table may have a many-to-one relationship with the 




ElectricityDataStream/Suffix data element in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table.  That is, the 




same Suffix may occur several times in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table and occur once only 




in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. 




For Interval Meters, the definition of the RegisterID field is less obvious. To make this field useful, 




the RegisterID should be associated with the ElectricityDataStream/Suffix. As Interval Meters may 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 28 of 50 
 




have multiple measurement elements and there may be multiple meters for a NMI, the MDP must 




manage Datastreams against a NMI to avoid duplication of ElectricityDataStream/Suffixes and 




provide correct mapping of RegisterIDs.  




13. ASSIGNMENT OF DATA – ACCUMULATION METERS 
 




This section details examples of the assignment of data for various basic metering installations.  For 




Accumulation Meters, the Suffix values in CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER and 




CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM tables are always numeric. 




13.1. Single Meter, no controlled load 
 




An Accumulation Meter with a single register measuring a Non-Controlled Load will have a single 




Datastream suffix 11 for the NMI. 




Table 14 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 




Value 0123456789 11 A C 




 




The CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table indicates that the meter has only one register. The Suffix in 




the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER ‘11’ denotes that data from RegisterID 01 contributes to the 




Datastream identified by Suffix 11 in CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. 




Table 15 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER  




Data Element: Serial 




Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 




Load 




Value ABCD1111 01 KWH ALLDAY 11 No 




 




The ElectricityDataStream Suffix in CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table will be recorded as ‘11’ by the 




MDP and the Suffix in CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table must then be ‘11’. 




13.2. Twp Single Element Meters, no controlled load 
 




The NMI has two Accumulation Meters, each meter with single register. The data from the two 




meters will be submitted to MSATS as two Datastreams. 




Table 16 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 




Values 0123456789 11 A C 




0123456789 12 A C 




Table 17 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 




Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 




Load 




Values ABCD1111 01 KWH ALLDAY 11 No 




XYZA1112 01 KWH ALLDAY 12 No 




 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 29 of 50 
 




13.3. Two Single Element Meters, one with controlled load 
 




A NMI has two Accumulation Meters, each meter has a single register, and one meter is measuring 




a Controlled Load. The data from the two meters is submitted to MSATS as two 




ElectricityDataSstream Suffixes.  




Table 18 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 




Values 0123456789 11 A C 




0123456789 42 A C 




Table 19 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 




Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 




Load 




Values 




 




ABCD1111 01 KWH TOTAL 11 No 




XYZA1112 01 KWH CL1 42 HWLoad 




13.4. One Meter with Two Registers, one measuring a controlled load 




NMI has one Accumulation Meter with two registers. The second register is measuring a 




Controlled Load. 




Table 20 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 




Values 0123456789 11 A C 




0123456789 41 A C 




Table 21 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 




Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 




Load 




Value 




 




ABCD1111 01 KWH PEAK 11 No 




ABCD1111 02 KWH CL1 41 HWLoad 




 




13.5. Single Multi-function Meter 
 




Accumulation Meter has 4 registers, one register being a Controlled Load. 




Table 22 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 




Values 




 




0123456789 11 A C 




0123456789 21 I C 




0123456789 31 A C 




0123456789 41 A C 




 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 30 of 50 
 




Each register is separately identified in CATS_NMI_Data_Stream. However, register 2 on meter 1 is 




inactive in MSATS., and therefore data is not accepted by MSATS for this Suffix. 




Table 23 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 




Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 




Load 




Values 




 




ABCD1111 01 KWH ALLDAY 11 No 




ABCD1111 02 KWH NOTUSED 21 No 




ABCD1111 03 KWH OFFPEAK 31 No 




ABCD1111 04 KWH CL1 41 HWLoad 




Note:  The meter may have register identification and therefore these numbers can be used in the 




table as RegisterID. 




13.6. Two meters, three registers. One register measures a controlled load 




Table 24 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 
 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 




Values 




 




0123456789 11 A C 




0123456789 21 A C 




0123456789 42 A C 




Table 25 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 




Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 




Load 




Values 




 




ABCD1111 01 KWH PEAK 11 No 




ABCD1111 02 KWH OFFPEAK 21 No 




XYZA1112 01 KWH CL1 42 HWLoad 




 




14. ASSIGNMENT OF DATA – INTERVAL METERS 
 




This section details examples of the assignment of data for various Interval Meters.   




14.1. One meter 




Table 26 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 
 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 




Value 0123456789 NE1 A I 




 




The CATS_Register_Identifier table indicates that the meter has only one register. The Suffix in the 




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER [E1] denotes that data from RegisterID 01 contributes to the 




ElectricityDatasStream  Suffix identified by Suffix NE1 in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. 




 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 31 of 50 
 




Table 27 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 




Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 




Value ABCD1111 0E1 KWH ALLDAY E1 




E1 indicates that it is a single element measuring export. 




 




14.2. Import/Export meter 
 




Interval Meter has a two registers, registering import and export energy.  Multiple 




ElectricityDataStream Suffixes (E1 and B1) are defined for the NMI.A single Datastream suffix N1 is 




defined for the NMI indicating a netting-off of export less import Datastreams for this connection 




point. 




Table 28 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 




Value 0123456789 NE1 A I 




Value 0123456789 B1 A I 




 




The CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table indicates that the meter has two registers, one for IMPORT 




and one for EXPORT. 




The Suffixes in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER denote that data from RegisterIDs ‘E1’ and ‘B1’ 




contribute toalign with the ElectricityDatasStream Suffixes identified by Suffix ‘N1’ in 




theCATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table.  That is, the Datastreams ‘E1’ and ‘B1’ supplied by the MDP to 




the FRMP for this meter have contributed to the Datastream N1 in MSATS. 




Table 29  Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 




Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 




Values ABCD1111 E1 KWH ALLDAY E1 




ABCD1111 B1 KWH ALLDAY B1 




Only one RegisterID with the Suffix ‘E1’ permitted per meter in CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER. 




Only one RegisterID with the Suffix ‘B1’ permitted per meter in CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER. 




The energy volumes for the Suffix ‘N1’ in CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM are calculated by N1 = E1 – B1. 




14.3. One meter: multiple registers 




Interval Meter has a single measurement element registering import and export energy, reactive 




and voltage. A single Datastream Suffix ‘N1’ is defined for the NMI indicating netting-off of all 




energy Datastreams for this connection point. 




Table 30 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 




Value 0123456789 NE1 A I 




Value 0123456789 B1 A I 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 32 of 50 
 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 




Value 0123456789 Q1 A N 




Value 0123456789 K1 A N 




The CATS_Register_Identifier table indicates that the meter has five registers: two for IMPORT of 




energy and reactive; two for EXPORT of energy and reactive; and one for voltage monitoring. 




The Suffixes in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER ‘N1’ denote that data from RegisterID ‘E1’ and ‘B1’ 




contribute to the Datastream identified by suffix N1 in CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM. 




Table 31 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 




Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 




Values ABCD1111 E1 KWH ALLDAY E1 




ABCD1111 B1 KWH ALLDAY B1 




ABCD1111 Q1 KVARH ALLDAY Q1 




ABCD1111 K1 KVARH ALLDAY K1 




ABCD1111 V1 VOLTS ALLDAY V1 




The energy volumes for the Suffix ‘N1’ is calculated by NET (E1 – B1). 




14.4. One meter: Twin Measurement Elements 
 




Certain multifunction meters have the capability for initial installation as an Accumulation Meter, 




but can be re-programmed to provide interval metering data.  




The NER do not permit the use of two different types of metering installation on the one NMI, and 




therefore these two metering functions MUST NOT be active simultaneously in MSATS. The MDP 




and MCRP will be held accountable for a breach of this requirement. 




The CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER can be used to record the meter capability. 




If this meter were configured as an Accumulation Meter in MSATS, the configuration might be as 




shown in the Tables 32 & 33. 




Table 32 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status 




Values 0123456789 N1 I 




0123456789 N2 I 




0123456789 11 A 




0123456789 21 A 




0123456789 31 A 




0123456789 41 A 




Table 33 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 




Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 




Values AB888888 E1 KWH ALLDAY null 




AB888888 E2 KWH ALLDAY null 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 33 of 50 
 




Data Element: Serial 




Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 




AB888888 25 KWH PEAK 11 




AB888888 26 KWH SHOULDER 21 




AB888888 35 KWH OFFPEAK 31 




AB888888 36 KWH CL1 41 




 




The CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table values for this meter when it is operated as an Interval 




Meter are shown below. The RegisterID for the Accumulation Meter registers in this type of meter 




are user defined. The Interval Meter suffixes must be added to the NMI and made active, and the 




basic Suffixes made inactive at the same date. 




Table 34Table 32 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 
 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 




Values 0123456789 NE1 A I 




0123456789 NE2 A I 




0123456789 11 I C 




0123456789 21 I C 




0123456789 31 I C 




0123456789 41 I C 




 




Table 35Table 33 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 




Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 




Values AB888888 E1 KWH ALLDAY E1 




AB888888 E2 KWH ALLDAY E2 




AB888888 2511 KWH PEAK null11 




AB888888 2621 KWH OFFPEAK null21 




AB888888 3531 KWH PEAK null31 




AB888888 3641 KWH OFFPEAK null41 




If a second meter of the same configuration were established on this NMI, ‘E3’ and ‘E4’ RegisterIDs 




in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table and ElectricityDataStream Suffixes in the 




CATS_DATA_STREAM table would be required in order for the Datastreams to provide MDPs and 




retailers with unambiguous identification of Datastreams. 




14.5. NCONUML and UMCP 
 




Table 34 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 
 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 




Values 1144885588 E1 A I 




 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 34 of 50 
 




Table 35 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 




Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 




Values Dummy E1 KWH ALLDAY E1 




 




15. ASSIGNMENTS OF DATA – SAMPLE METERS  
 




The application of profiles in accordance with the Metrology Procedure requires interval metering 




data from Sites that have Accumulation Metering. However, the NER do not permit different 




metering installation types on the one NMI, and in any case, the Participants associated with the 




interval metering data are different to those associated with the Accumulation Meter.  Therefore, 




for these connection points, two different NMIs are used. 




There are meters that can combine the required Accumulation Metering and Interval Metering 




functions.  An example is shown below. 




15.1. Multifunction Sample Meter 
 




In this case, a single meter is registered within MSATS for two purposes against two NMIs. This is a 




special case, and should not be used other than for this non-standard purpose.  The meter has two 




circuits, with Accumulation Metering for energy trading and Interval Metering for the sample 




profile. 




In this example, NMI 9801234567 is associated with the sample meter installation and NMI 




9876543210 with the End User installation. 




Table 36 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 
 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 




Values 9801234567 NE1 A P 




9876543210 11 I C 




9876543210 12 I C 




9876543210 41 A C 




 




Table 37 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: NMI MeterSerial RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 




Values 9801234567 AB888888 E1 KWH ALLDAY E1 




9876543210 AB888888 11 KWH PEAK 11null 




9876543210 AB888888 12 KWH OFFPEAK 12null 




9876543210 AB888888 41 KWH CL1 41 




 




Note: Suffix ‘11/12’ have a Status of ‘I’ for 1st Tier and ‘A’ for 2nd Tier. 




First tier metering data is not required for AEMO to settle the market.  




Controlled Load data for first tier and second tier is required by AEMO to settle the market. 




In this example, once the End User’s Site becomes a Tier 2 Site, all three basic Datastreams need to 




become active (StreamStatusCode = A). 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 35 of 50 
 




16. CROSS REFERENCE OF BROWSER AND ASEXML DATA ELEMENTS 
 




The tables below list the names that are used in the MSATS browser for each of the MSATS tables 




detailed in sections 4 to 10.  The table also provides the aseXML data element names and the 




respective formats used in each context.   




In some cases, such as date fields, the format of the field is shown differently in the Browser to that 




used in the related aseXML transactions.  Also, aseXML uses full words throughout, rather than the 




coded values used in the Browser.   




Refer section 17 for examples of the typical data element values as shown in the Browser.  Section 




18 provides definitions of the Browser formats shown in this section. 




Table 38 CATS_Meter_Register 




Browser Field Name aseXML Data Element 




Name 




aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data 




Type 




Additional Site 




Information 




AdditionalSiteInformat




ion 




ElectricityMeter/ 




AdditionalSiteInformation 




VARCHAR2(100) xsd:string 




maxLen = 100 




Asset Management 




Plan 




AssetManagementPla




n 




ElectricityMeter/AssetManageme




nt 




Plan 




VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 




maxLen = 50 




Calibration Tables CalibrationTables ElectricityMeter/CalibrationTables VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 




maxLen = 50 




Communication 




Equipment Type 




Communications 




EquipmentType 




ElectricityMeter/Communications 




EquipmentType 




VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 




maxLen = 4 




Communication 




Protocol 




CommunicationsProto




col 




ElectricityMeter/Communications 




Protocol 




VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 




maxLen = 50 




Data Conversion DataConversion ElectricityMeter/DataConversion VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 




maxLen = 50 




Data Validations DataValidations ElectricityMeter/DataValidations VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 




maxLen = 50 




Estimation Instruction EstimationInstructions ElectricityMeter/Estimation 




Instructions 




VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 




maxLen = 50 




Last Test Date LastTestDate ElectricityMeter/LastTestDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:date 




Measurement Type MeasurementType ElectricityMeter/MeasurementTyp




e 




VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 




maxLen = 4 




Meter Constant Constant ElectricityMeter/Constant VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 




maxLen = 12 




Meter Hazard Hazard ElectricityMeter/Hazard VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 




maxLen = 12 




Meter Installation Type 




Code 




InstallationTypeCode ElectricityMeter/InstallationType 




Code 




VARCHAR2(8) xsd:string 




maxLen = 8 




Meter Location Location ElectricityMeter/Location VARCHAR2(50) 




See AddlSiteInfo 




(above) 




xsd:string 




maxLen = 50 




Meter Manufacturer Manufacturer ElectricityMeter/Manufacturer VARCHAR2(15) xsd:string 




maxLen = 15 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 36 of 50 
 




Meter Model Model ElectricityMeter/Model VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 




maxLen = 12 




Meter Point Point ElectricityMeter/Point VARCHAR(2) xsd:string 




maxLen = 2 




Meter Program Program ElectricityMeter/Program VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string 




maxLen = 30 




Meter Read Type ReadTypeCode ElectricityMeter/ReadTypeCode VARCHAR(4) xsd:string 




maxLen = 4 




Meter Route Route ElectricityMeter/Route VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 




maxLen = 12 




Meter Serial ID 




Meter ID 




(Different on two 




screens) 




SerialNumber ElectricityMeter/SerialNumber VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 




maxLen = 12 




Status Code Status ElectricityMeter/Status CHAR(1) xsd:string 




with 




enumeration 




Meter Use Use ElectricityMeter/Use VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 




maxLen = 10 




Next Scheduled Read 




Date 




NextScheduled 




ReadDate 




ElectricityMeter/NextScheduled 




ReadDate 




dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:date 




Next Test Date NextTestDate ElectricityMeter/NextTestDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:date 




NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 




maxLen = 10 




Passwords Password ElectricityMeter/Password VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 




maxLen = 20 




Remote Phone 




Number 




RemotePhoneNumber ElectricityMeter/RemotePhone 




Number 




VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 




maxLen = 12 




Test & Calibration 




Program 




TestCalibrationProgra




m 




ElectricityMeter/TestCalibration 




Program 




VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 




maxLen = 50 




Test Performed By TestPerformedBy ElectricityMeter/TestPerformedBy VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 




maxLen = 20 




Test Result Accuracy TestResultAccuracy ElectricityMeter/TestResultAccura




cy 




NUMBER(8,5) xsd:decimal 




totdig = 8 




fracdig = 5 




Test Result Notes TestResultNotes ElectricityMeter/TestResultNotes VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 




maxLen = 50 




Transformer Location TransformerLocation ElectricityMeter/Transformer 




Location 




VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string 




maxLen = 30 




Transformer Ratio TransformerRatio ElectricityMeter/TransformerRatio VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 




maxLen = 20 




Transformer Type TransformerType ElectricityMeter/TransformerType VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 




maxLen = 20 




User Access Rights UserAccessRights ElectricityMeter/UserAccessRights VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 




maxLen = 50 




Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 37 of 50 
 




 




End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 




(summary screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy 




hh:mm:ss 




(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 




(summary screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy 




hh:mm:ss 




(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 




with 




enumeration 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 38 of 50 
 




Table 39 CATS_DLF_Codes 




 




Table 40 CATS_Emb_Net_ID_Codes 




Browser Field 




Name 




aseXML Data Element 




Name 




aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data 




Type 




DLF Code DistributionLossFactorC




ode 




DistributionLossFactorCode VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 




maxLen = 4 




Description DistributionLossFactorD




escription 




DistributionLossFactorDescription VARCHAR2(50 xsd:string 




maxLen = 50 




DLF Value DistributionLossFactorV




alue 




DistributionLossFactorValue NUMBER(6,5) xsd:decimal 




minIncl = 0 




maxIncl = 2 




totdig = 6 




fracdig = 5 




Jurisdiction JurisdictionCode ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/




JurisdictionCode 




VARCHAR2(3) xsd:string 




maxLen = 3 




Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 




with 




enumeration 




Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 




(summary screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy 




hh:mm:ss 




(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




 CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 




(summary screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy 




hh:mm:ss 




(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Browser Field 




Name 




aseXML Data Element 




Name 




aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data 




Type 




Code EmbeddedNetworkIdentif




ier 




EmbeddedNetworkIdentifier VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 




maxLen = 10 




Description EmbeddedNetworkDescri




ption 




EmbeddedNetworkDescription VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 




maxLen = 50 




Locality/Suburb SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A




ddress/AustralianAddress/SuburbOrPl




aceOrLocality 




VARCHAR2(46) xsd:string 




maxLen = 46 




Postcode PostCode ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A




ddress/AustralianAddress/PostCode 




VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 




pattern: 




[\p{N}]{4} 




State StateOrTerritory ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A




ddress/AustralianAddress/StateOrTerr




itory 




VARCHAR2(3) xsd:string  




with 




enumerations 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 39 of 50 
 




 




Table 41 CATS_NMI_Data 




Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 




with 




enumeration 




Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 




(summary screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy 




hh:mm:ss 




(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




 CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 




(summary screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy 




hh:mm:ss 




(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Browser Field 




Name 




aseXML Data Element 




Name 




aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data 




Type 




NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 




maxLen = 10 




NMI 




Classification 




Code 




NMIClassificationCode ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/ 




NMIClassificationCode 




VARCHAR2(8) xsd:string 




maxLen = 8 




Status Code Status ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/Sta




tus 




CHAR(1) xsd:string 




maxLen = 1 




TNI Code TransmissionNodeIdentifi




er 




ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/Tra




nsmissionNodeIdentifier 




VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 




maxLen = 4 




Jurisdiction 




Code 




JurisdictionCode JurisdictionCode VARCHAR2(3) xsd:string 




maxLen = 3 




DLF Code DistributionLossFactorCo




de 




ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/Dis




tributionLossFactorCode 




VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 




maxLen = 4 




Embedded 




Network ID 




(Child) 




ChildEmbeddedNetworkI




dentifier 




ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/Chi




ldEmbeddedNetworkIdentifier 




VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 




maxLen = 10 




Embedded 




Network 




(Parent) 




ParentEmbeddedNetwor




kIdentifier 




ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/Par




entEmbeddedNetworkIdentifier 




VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 




maxLen = 10 




Building / 




Property Name 




BuildingOrPropertyName ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad




dress/AustralianAddress/StructuredAdd




ress/BuildingOrPropertyName 




VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string 




maxLen = 30 




x 2 




Lot Number LotNumber ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/ 




Address/AustralianAddress/Structured




Address/Lot/LotNumber 




VARCHAR2(6) xsd:string 




pattern: 




[\p{L}\p{N}\p{P




}\s]{1,6} 




Flat/Unit 




Number 




FlatOrUnitNumber ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad




dress/AustralianAddress/StructuredAdd




ress/FlatOrUnit/FlatOrUnitNumber 




VARCHAR2(7) xsd:string 




pattern: 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 40 of 50 
 




[\p{L}\p{N}\p{P




}\s]{1,7} 




Flat/Unit Type FlatOrUnitType ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad




dress/AustralianAddress/StructuredAdd




ress/FlatOrUnit/FlatOrUnitType 




VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string with 




enumerations 




Floor/Level 




Number 




FloorOrLevelNumber ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad




dress/AustralianAddress/StructuredAdd




ress/FloorOrLevel/FloorOrLevelNumber 




VARCHAR2(5) xsd:string 




[\p{L}\p{N}\p{P




}\s]{1,5} 




Floor/Level Type FloorOrLevelType ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad




dress/AustralianAddress/StructuredAdd




ress/FloorOrLevel/FloorOrLevelType 




VARCHAR2(2) xsd:string with 




enumerations 




House Number HouseNumber ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad




dress/AustralianAddress/StructuredAdd




ress/House/HouseNumber 




NUMBER(5) xsd:nonNegati




veInteger 




maxIncl = 




99999 




House Number 




Suffix 




HouseNumberSuffix ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad




dress/AustralianAddress/ 




StructuredAddress/House/HouseNumb




erSuffix 




VARCHAR2(1) xsd:string 




pattern: 




[\p{L}\p{N}]{1} 




Street Name StreetName ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad




dress/AustralianAddress/ 




StructuredAddress/Street/StreetName 




VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string 




pattern: 




[\p{L}\p{N}\s\-




']{1,30} 




Street Name 




Suffix 




StreetSuffix ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad




dress/AustralianAddress/ 




StructuredAddress/Street/StreetSuffix 




VARCHAR2(2) xsd:string with 




enumerations 




Street Type StreetType ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad




dress/AustralianAddress/ 




StructuredAddress/Street/StreetType 




VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string with 




enumerations 




Suburb/Locality SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad




dress/AustralianAddress/ 




SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality 




VARCHAR2(46) xsd:string 




maxLen = 46 




Location 




Descriptor 




LocationDescriptor ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad




dress/AustralianAddress/ 




StructuredAddress/LocationDescriptor 




VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string 




pattern: 




[\p{L}\p{N}\p{P




}\s]{1,30 




Postcode PostCode ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad




dress/AustralianAddress/ 




PostCode 




VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 




pattern: 




[\p{N}]{4} 




State StateOrTerritory ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad




dress/AustralianAddress/StateOrTerrito




ry 




VARCHAR2(3) xsd:string  




with 




enumerations 




DPID DeliveryPointIdentifier ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad




dress/AustralianAddress/ 




StructuredAddress/DeliveryPointIdentifi




er 




NUMBER(8) xsd:nonNegati




veInteger 




minIncl = 




10000000 




maxIncl = 




99999999 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 41 of 50 
 




Unstructured 




Address 




AddressLine ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad




dress/AustralianAddress/ 




UnstructuredAddress/Address/Address




Line 




VARCHAR2(80) xsd:string 




maxLen = 80 




x 3 




Aggregate Flag Aggregate ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/Ag




gregate 




CHAR(1) xsd:string 




with 




enumeration 




Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 




(summary screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy 




hh:mm:ss 




(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 




(summary screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy 




hh:mm:ss 




(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 




with 




enumeration 




Feeder Class Feeder Class ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/Fe




ederClass 




VARCHAR2(15) xsd:string 




maxLen = 15 




Customer 




Classification 




Code 




CustomerClassificationCo




de 




ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/Cu




stomerClassificationCode 




VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 




maxLen = 20 




Customer 




Classification 




Threshold Code 




CustomerThresholdCode ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/Cu




stomerThresholdCode 




VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 




maxLen = 20 




NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 




maxLen = 10 




Suffix Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Suffix VARCHAR2(2) xsd:string 




maxLen = 2 




Status Code Status ElectricityDataStream/Status CHAR(1) xsd:string 




maxLen = 1 




Average Daily 




Load 




AveragedDailyLoad ElectricityDataStream/AveragedDailyLo




ad 




NUMBER(10) xsd:integer 




Type DataStreamType ElectricityDataStream/DataStreamType CHAR(1) xsd:string 




with 




enumeration 




Profile Name ProfileName ElectricityDataStream/ProfileName VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 




maxLen = 10 




Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 




(summary screen) 




xsd:dateTime 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 42 of 50 
 




 




Table 42 CATS_Register_Identifier 




dd-mmm-yyyy 




hh:mm:ss 




(detail screen) 




Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 




(summary screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy 




hh:mm:ss 




(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 




with 




enumeration 




Browser Field Name aseXML Data 




Element Name 




aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data 




Type 




NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 




maxLen = 10 




Meter Serial ID 




Meter ID 




(Different on two 




screens) 




SerialNumber SerialNumber VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 




maxLen = 12 




Register ID RegisterID ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/R




egisterID 




VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 




maxLen = 10 




Network Tariff Code NetworkTariffCode ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/N




etworkTariffCode 




VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 




maxLen = 10 




Network Tariff 




Additional Information 




NetworkAdditional 




Information 




ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/ 




NetworkAdditionalInformation 




VARCHAR2(4000) xsd:string 




Unit of Measure UnitOfMeasure ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/ 




UnitOfMeasure 




VARCHAR2(5) xsd:string 




maxLen = 5 




Time of Day TimeOfDay ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/ 




TimeOfDay 




VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 




maxLen = 10 




Multiplier Multiplier ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/M




ultiplier 




Number(13,5) xsd:decimal 




Dial Format DialFormat ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/D




ialFormat 




Number(4,2) xsd:decimal 




minIncl = 0 




maxIncl = 99.99 




totdig = 4 




fracdig = 2 




Suffix Suffix ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/S




uffix 




VARCHAR2(2) xsd:string 




maxLen = 2 




Controlled Load ControlledLoad ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/C




ontrolledLoad 




VARCHAR2(100) xsd:string 




maxLen = 100 




Status Code Status ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/ 




Status 




CHAR(1) xsd:string 




with 




enumeration 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 43 of 50 
 




Table 43 CATS_NMI_Participant_Relations 




 




Actual/Cumulative 




Indicator 




ConsumptionType ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/C




onsumptionType 




CHAR(1) xsd:string 




with 




enumeration 




Demand 1 Demand1 ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/D




emand1 




Number(8) xsd:integer 




totdig = 8 




Demand 2 Demand2 ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/D




emand2 




Number(8) xsd:integer 




totdig = 8 




Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 




(summary screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy 




hh:mm:ss 




(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 




(summary screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy 




hh:mm:ss 




(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 




with 




enumeration 




Browser Field Name aseXML Data Element 




Name 




aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data Type 




Participant ID Party Party VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 




NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 




maxLen = 10 




Role Role Role VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 




maxLen = 4 




Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 




(summary screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy 




hh:mm:ss 




(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 




(summary screen) 




dd-mmm-yyyy 




hh:mm:ss 




(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 




with enumeration 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 44 of 50 
 




17. EXAMPLES OF TYPICAL FIELD VALUES 
 




This section provides examples of typical sets of data element values associated with different 




types of connection points.   




The data shown in each example is as shown in the Browser.  This reverses the sequence of the 




day-month-year communicated via aseXML transactions. 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 45 of 50 
 




Table 44 CATS_Meter_Register 




Data Element Name  




(as it appears in XML 




documents) 




Browser Field Name(as it appears 




in MSATS Browser) 




Basic Example Interval Example Data Element Name 




AdditionalSiteInformation Additional Site Information MTR ON SITE AT 17B Red Rooster AdditionalSiteInformation 




AssetManagementPlan Asset Management Plan CITIPOWER METER MANAGEMENT 




PLAN 




PER CE DOC: TYPES 1-4 ASSET 




MANAGEMENT & TEST PLAN 




AssetManagementPlan 




CalibrationTables Calibration Tables Q  CalibrationTables 




CommunicationsEquipment 




Type 




Communication Equipment Type FACE 96 CommunicationsEquipmentType 




CommunicationsProtocol Communication Protocol NA EMAIL MINI GATEWAY S/N SU121 




MV90 2 TBD TBD 




CommunicationsProtocol 




DataConversion Data Conversion .0005 .0005 DataConversion 




DataValidations Data Validations As per Metrology Procedure Part B As per Metrology Procedure Part B DataValidations 




EstimationInstructions Estimation Instruction As per Metrology Procedure Part B 




(TYPES -61, 62, 65) 




As per Metrology Procedure Part B 




(TYPES -14) 




EstimationInstructions 




LastTestDate Last Test Date 07-05-2004 07-03-2004 LastTestDate 




MeasurementType Measurement Type EQ EQ MeasurementType 




Constant Meter Constant 40 .5 Constant 




Hazard Meter Hazard  Asbestos Hazard 




InstallationTypeCode Meter Installation Type Code BASIC COMMS4 InstallationTypeCode 




Location Meter Location ON SUB POLE BEHIND DOOR Location 




Manufacturer Meter Manufacturer EMAIL EDMI Manufacturer 




Model Meter Model Q3 Q4 Model 




Point Meter Point 01 01 Point 




Program Meter Program 30 - NP 3.2 CT FACE PLATE READ 10- AE CT kVAR 9600 Program 




ReadTypeCode Meter Read Type MV3 RTD ReadTypeCode 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 46 of 50 
 




Route Meter Route 11618 1305 Route 




SerialNumber Meter Serial ID, Meter ID 




(Different on two screens) 




525811 201000299 SerialNumber 




Status Status Code C C Status 




Use Meter Use REVENUE REVENUE Use 




NextScheduledReadDate Next Scheduled Read Date 04-10-2006  NextScheduledReadDate 




NextTestDate Next Test Date 17-05-2004 10-05-2004 NextTestDate 




NMI NMI 1122334455 1122334455 NMI 




Password Passwords 12345 12345 Password 




RemotePhoneNumber Remote Phone Number FACE READ 0555 825 987 RemotePhoneNumber 




TestCalibrationProgram Test & Calibration Program AS PER AS/NZ 1284 AS PER AS/NZ 1284 TestCalibrationProgram 




TestPerformedBy Test Performed By Ron Sargeant SMU TestPerformedBy 




TestResultAccuracy Test Result Accuracy -0.20000 -0.11000 TestResultAccuracy 




TestResultNotes Test Result Notes CHECK AND RESEAL    METER METER TEST CORRECT TestResultNotes 




TransformerLocation Transformer Location  REAR OFBUILDING TransformerLocation 




TransformerRatio Transformer Ratio  1500/5 TransformerRatio 




TransformerType Transformer Type  24 WIRE WOUND TransformerType 




UserAccessRights User Access Rights AS PER AS/NZ 1284 MDP ONLY ACCESS UserAccessRights 




FromDate Start Date 14-03-1990 16-03-2002 FromDate 




ToDate End Date 31-12-9999 18-07-2006 ToDate 




MaintenanceDate Updated On 31-12-999 00:00:00 31-12-999 00:00:00 MaintenanceDate 




CreationDate Created On 19-03-1990 00:01:00 18-03-2002 00:01:00 CreationDate 




RowStatus Activity Status A A RowStatus 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 47 of 50 
 




Table 45 CATS_DLF_Codes 




 




Table 46 CATS_Emb_Net_ID_Codes 




 




 




Table 47 CATS_NMI_Data 




Data Element Name  Browser Field Name  Basic & Interval Example 




DistributionLossFactorCode DLF Code NHV1 




DistributionLossFactorDescription Description UMPLP - High Voltage 




DistributionLossFactorValue [The actual DLF value] 1.11111 




JurisdictionCode Jurisdiction Code SA 




RowStatus Activity Status A 




FromDate Start Date 01-07-1999 




ToDate End Date 30-06-2000 




MaintenanceDate Updated On 31-05-2000 00:30:27 




CreationDate  01-06-1999 00:23:32 




Data Element Name Browser Field Name Basic & Basic Example 




EmbeddedNetworkIdentifier Code SE01008111 




EmbeddedNetworkDescription Description Kingston-On-Murray Caravan Park 




SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality Suburb / Locality Kingston-On-Murray 




PostCode Postcode 5331 




StateOrTerritory State SA 




RowStatus Activity Status A 




FromDate Start Date 05-04-2003 




ToDate End Date 31-12-9999 




MaintenanceDate Updated On 31-12-9999 




CreationDate  01-04-2003 13:23:35 




Data Element Name Browser Field Name Basic Example Interval Example 




NMI NMI 122334451 1122334455 




NMIClassificationCode NMI Classification Code SMALL LARGE 




MasterData/Status Status Code A G 




TransmissionNodeIdentifier TNI Code NRGE SBER 




JurisdictionCode Jurisdiction Code NSW SA 




DistributionLossFactorCode DLF Code NRGE NLV2 




ChildEmbeddedNetworkIdentifier Embedded Network ID (Child) NS01008111 SE01008111 




ParentEmbeddedNetworkIdentifier Embedded Network 




(Parent) 




NS01008111 SE01008111 




BuildingOrPropertyName Building / Property Name BP SHELL 




LotNumber Lot Number 22 23 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 48 of 50 
 




 




Table 48 CATS_NMI_Data_Stream 




FlatOrUnitNumber Flat/Unit Number 1 2 




FlatOrUnitType Flat/Unit Type U U 




FloorOrLevelNumber Flat/Unit Number 1 1 




FloorOrLevelType Floor/Level Type FL FL 




HouseNumber House Number 6 10 




HouseNumberSuffix House Number Suffix A B 




StreetName Street Name BORIS DORIS 




StreetSuffix Street Name Suffix N W 




StreetType Street Type DR ST 




SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality Suburb/Locality ORANGE LOXTON 




LocationDescriptor Location Descriptor CNR FRED ST SHELL SERVICE 




STATION 




PostCode Postcode 2211 5333 




StateOrTerritory State NSW SA 




DeliveryPointIdentifier DPID 01234567 12345678 




AddressLine Unstructured Address 1 Text Text 




AddressLine Unstructured Address 2 Text Text 




AddressLine Unstructured Address 3 Text Text 




Aggregate Aggregate Flag Y Y 




FromDate Start Date 01-06-2004 01-06-2001 




ToDate End Date 31-12-9999 01-01-2003 




MaintenanceDate  Updated On 31-12-9999 




00:00:00 




05-01-2003 00:01:00 




CreationDate Created On 04-01-2004 




09:31:00 




01-06-2001 00:01:00 




RowStatus Activity Status A A 




FeederClass Feeder Class ERGUD ERGUD 




Customer ClassificationCode Customer Classification RESIDENTIAL BUSINESS 




CustomerThresholdCode Customer Threshold LOW HIGH 




Data Element Name Browser Field Name Basic Example Interval Example 




NMI NMI 1100445566 2211335544 




ElectricityDataStream/Suffix Suffix 31 NE1 




ElectricityDataStream/Status Status Code A A 




ElectricityDataStream/ 




AveragedDailyLoad 




Average Daily Load 5 800 




ElectricityDataStream/ 




DataStreamType 




Type C I 




ElectricityDataStream/ 




ProfileName 




Profile Name NSLP NOPROF 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 49 of 50 
 




 




Table 49 CATS_Register_Identifier 




 




18. DATA TYPE CONVENTIONS 
 




The Browser formats used in section 16 are as defined in the following table.  




The value of “x” must be positive and cannot be zero.  




For explanation of the aseXML data types shown in section 16 refer  




http://www.w3.org/TR/xmlschema-0/#simpleTypesTable  




 




Table: Browser Formats 




FromDate Start Date 31-12-2001 01-06-2005 




ToDate End Date 31-12-9999 31-12-9999 




MaintenanceDate Updated On 02-01-2004 13:27:58 31-12-9999 




CreationDate Created On 19-01-2002 17:15:23 05-06-2005 15:12:20 




RowStatus  Activity Status I A 




Data Element Name Browser Field Name Basic Example Interval Example 




NMI NMI 1100445566 2211335544 




SerialNumber Meter Serial ID 




Meter ID 




(Different on two screens) 




000012345 112258 




RegisterID Register ID 1 E1 




NetworkTariffCode Network Tariff Code BLNB2CO MB2RI 




NetworkAdditionalInformation Network Tariff Additional 




Information 




General Supply Non 




TOU Eligible 




LV TOU Demand Eligible 




UnitOfMeasure Unit of Measure KWH KWH 




TimeOfDay Time of Day ALLDAY ALLDAY 




Multiplier Multiplier 1.00000 120.00000 




DialFormat Dial Format 5.00 5.10 




Suffix Suffix 11 E1 




ControlledLoad Controlled Load  HWLoad No 




Status Status Code C C 




ConsumptionType Actual/Cumulative Indicator C A 




Demand1 Demand 1 0 0 




Demand2 Demand 2 0 0 




FromDate Start Date 01-08-2004 01-06-2005 




ToDate End Date 31-12-9999 31-12-9999 




MaintenanceDate Updated On 31-12-9999 31-12-9999 




CreationDate  Created On 01-11-2005 22:30:30 05-06-2005 09:09:09 




RowStatus Activity Status A A 







http://www.w3.org/TR/xmlschema-0/#simpleTypesTable











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 50 of 50 
 




 




 




 Format Definition 




1 CHAR(x) Indicates a field that can only contain alphanumeric characters and must contain 




exactly "x" characters.  Note that leading and trailing "spaces" are considered 




significant (i.e. form part of the "x" characters for the field). 




2 VARCHAR2(x) Indicates a character field containing up to "x" characters. 




3 NUMBER(x) Indicates a positive integer (zero or above) up to "x" significant digits long; any 




leading zeroes are not significant and hence "050" is equivalent to "50". 




4 NUMBER(x.y) Indicates a positive number with up to "x" significant characters to the left of the 




decimal point and "y" decimal places after the decimal point (trailing zeros are 




optional).  In other words, the maximum length of the field as a whole is "x"+"y"+1 




characters (the +1 reserving space for the decimal point).  














image5.emf


Standing Data for 



MSATS Final Clean (v5.0).pdf






Standing Data for MSATS Final Clean (v5.0).pdf






 




 




 




 




 




Australian Energy Market Operator Ltd    ABN 94 072 010 327 www.aemo.com.au    info@aemo.com.au 




NEW SOUTH WALES QUEENSLAND SOUTH AUSTRALIA VICTORIA AUSTRALIAN CAPITAL TERRITORY TASMANIA WESTERN AUSTRALIA 




STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




 




 




PREPARED BY: AEMO Markets 




DOCUMENT REF:  




VERSION: 5.0 




EFFECTIVE DATE: 6 February 2022 




STATUS: Final 




  




Approved for distribution and use by: 




APPROVED BY: Peter Geers 




TITLE: Chief Strategy and Markets Officer 




  




DATE: 15 November 2019 




 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 2 of 55 
 




VERSION RELEASE HISTORY 




Version  Effective Date Summary of Changes 




4.0 Aug 2009 Update to AEMO Format. 




4.1 19/04/2012 Updates to NMI Data tables to include Feeder Class, Customer Classification Code 
& Customer Threshold Code and minor data corrections. 




4.2  28/08/2013 Updated wording for Nx suffixes in sections 8, 9 and 12. 
Updated reference to the CATS Procedures for Embedded Networks in section 7. 
Added new data stream type codes under section 11: Reference Tables. 
Updated reference to the NEM Metrology Procedures in section 15. 




4.3 1 December 2017 Updated to incorporate:   
• National Electricity Amendment (Expanding competition in metering and 




related services) Rule 2015. No.12; 
• National Electricity Amendment (Embedded Networks) Rule 2015 No. 15; and 
• National Electricity Amendment (Meter Replacement Processes) Rule 2016 No. 




2. 




4.4 1 December 2017 Final Version. 




5.0 6 February 2022 Updated to incorporate amendments for National Electricity Amendment (Global 
Settlement and Market Reconcilliation) Rule 2018 No 14. 




 




 




 




 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 3 of 55 
 




CONTENTS 




1. INTRODUCTION 6 
1.1. Purpose and scope 6 
1.2. Definitions and interpretation 6 
1.3. Related documents 6 




2. BACKGROUND 6 




3. CONVENTIONS USED WITHIN THIS DOCUMENT 7 
3.1. Column Headed: Standing Data Required 7 
3.2. NMIs Affected 7 




4. CATS_METER_REGISTER 9 
4.1. Field definitions 9 
4.2. Cross Reference of Browser and aseXML Data Elements 12 
4.3. Field value examples 15 




5. CATS_DLF_CODES 18 
5.1. Field definitions 18 
5.2. Cross Reference of Browser and aseXML Data Elements 19 
5.3. Field value examples 19 




6. CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES 21 
6.1. Field definitions 21 
6.2. Cross Reference of Browser and aseXML Data Elements 22 
6.3. Field value examples 22 




7. CATS_NMI_DATA 24 
7.1. Field definitions 24 
7.2. Cross Reference of Browser and aseXML Data Elements 26 
7.3. Field value examples 29 




8. CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 32 
8.1. Field definitions 32 
8.2. Cross Reference of Browser and aseXML Data Elements 33 
8.3. Field value examples 34 




9. CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 36 
9.1. Field definitions 36 
9.2. Cross Reference of Browser and aseXML Data Elements 38 
9.3. Field value examples 40 




10. CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 41 
10.1. Field definitions 41 
10.2. Cross Reference of Browser and aseXML Data Elements 41 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 4 of 55 
 




11. REFERENCE TABLES 43 




12. USE OF NMI SUFFIX TO POPULATE CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 45 




13. ASSIGNMENT OF DATA – ACCUMULATION METERS 48 
13.1. Single Meter, no controlled load 48 
13.2. Two Single Element Meters, no controlled load 48 
13.3. Two Single Element Meters, one with controlled load 49 
13.4. One Meter with Two Registers, one measuring a controlled load 49 
13.5. Single Multi-function Meter 49 
13.6. Two meters, three registers. One register measures a controlled load 50 




14. ASSIGNMENT OF DATA – INTERVAL METERS 51 
14.1. One meter 51 
14.2. Import/Export meter 51 
14.3. One meter: multiple registers 52 
14.4. One meter: Twin Measurement Elements 52 
14.5. NCONUML and UMCP 53 




15. ASSIGNMENTS OF DATA – SAMPLE METERS 54 
15.1. Multifunction Sample Meter 54 




16. DATA TYPE CONVENTIONS 55 
 




TABLES 




Table 1 MSATS Master Tables ................................................................................................................ 6 
Table 2 Explanation of Standing Data Requirements .............................................................................. 7 
Table 3 CATS_METER_REGISTER - Field definitions ................................................................................. 9 
Table 4 CATS_METER_REGISTER – Browser cross refernce .................................................................... 12 
Table 5 CATS_METER_REGISTER - Examples ......................................................................................... 15 
Table 6 CATS_DLF_CODES- Field definitions ......................................................................................... 18 
Table 7 CATS_DLF_CODES- - Browser cross reference .......................................................................... 19 
Table 8 CATS_DLF_CODES- Examples ................................................................................................... 20 
Table 9 CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES- Field definition ............................................................................ 21 
Table 10 CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES- Browser ....................................................................................... 22 
Table 11 CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES- Example ...................................................................................... 23 
Table 12 CATS_NMI_DATA- Field definitions .......................................................................................... 24 
Table 13 CATS_NMI_DATA- Browser cross reference .............................................................................. 27 
Table 14 CATS_NMI_DATA- Examples .................................................................................................... 30 
Table 15 CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM- Field definitions............................................................................ 32 
Table 16 CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM- Browser cross reference ............................................................... 34 
Table 17 CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM- Example ....................................................................................... 34 
Table 18 CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER- Field definitions .......................................................................... 36 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 5 of 55 
 




Table 19 CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER- Browser cross reference ............................................................. 38 
Table 20 CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER- Examples .................................................................................... 40 
Table 21 CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS- Field definitions........................................................... 41 
Table 22 CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS- Browser....................................................................... 42 
Table 23 Valid Aggregate Codes ............................................................................................................ 43 
Table 24 Valid Consumption Type Codes ............................................................................................... 43 
Table 25 Valid Datastream Type Codes .................................................................................................. 43 
Table 26 Valid Profile Codes ................................................................................................................... 43 
Table 27 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 48 
Table 28 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 48 
Table 29 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 48 
Table 30 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 48 
Table 31 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 49 
Table 32 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 49 
Table 33 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 49 
Table 34 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 49 
Table 35 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 49 
Table 36 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 50 
Table 37 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 50 
Table 38 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 50 
Table 39 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 51 
Table 40 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 51 
Table 41 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 51 
Table 42 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 51 
Table 43 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 52 
Table 44 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 52 
Table 45 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 52 
Table 46 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 53 
Table 47 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 53 
Table 48 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 53 
Table 49 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 54 
Table 50 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 54 




 




 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 2022 Page 6 of 55 
 




1. INTRODUCTION 




1.1. Purpose and scope 
This document details the data requirements for the various data elements comprising the CATS  
Standing Data stored for each NMI, together with relevant examples and definitions. 




1.2. Definitions and interpretation 
 




The Retail Electricity Market Procedures – Glossary and Framework: 




(a) is incorporated into and forms part of this document; and 




(b) should be read with this document. 




1.3. Related documents 




Title Location 




Retail Electricity Market Procedures – 
Glossary and Framework 




 




https://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-
Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering 




CATS Procedures http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-
Solutions 




WIGS Procedures http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-
Solutions 




MDM Procedures http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-
Solutions 




MSATS CATS History Model http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-
Solutions 




MSATS Guides http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-
Solutions 




 




2. BACKGROUND 
The five MSATS master tables contain the standing data stored for each NMI.  They are the 
following:  




Table 1 MSATS Master Tables 




Table Summary of Contents 




CATS_NMI_DATA  Address, TNI Code, DLF Code, aggregate flag, embedded 
network names, Jurisdiction, NMI status code, etc.  




CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS  Roles and associated Participants. Separate records are 
maintained for each Role/Participant relationship.  




CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM  Suffix, ADL Code, Profile Name, Datastream type and 
datastream status of each MDM Datastream.  




CATS_METER_REGISTER  Meter Serial ID, meter type, meter manufacturer, test results, 
etc.  















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 2022 Page 7 of 55 
 




Table Summary of Contents 




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER  Meter Serial ID, Network Tariff Code, unit of measure etc.  




For a NMI to be capable of being used in MSATS, it must have the following minimum set of data:  




 At least one record on the CATS_NMI_DATA table; and 
 At least eight records on the CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS table, one for each of the 




mandatory roles (ROLR, LNSP, LR, RP, FRMP, MDP, MPC and MPB).  
It will also normally have:  




 At least one record on each of the CATS_METER_REGISTER and CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 
(there should be at least one record for each meter and register associated with the NMI) 
tables.  




NMIs may or may not have: 




Records on the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table.  If metering data is to be submitted for 
settlements, UFE calculations or Vic TUOS there must be at least one record on this table. 




Every time a change is made to any of the data in any of these tables, the old records are made 
inactive and new records are created, thus ensuring that there is a complete history of all changes.  




3. CONVENTIONS USED WITHIN THIS DOCUMENT 
 




The format of the data fields in the ‘Browser Format Column’’ column of Tables is as defined in 
Section 16. 




The following information defines the coded entries in columns used in Tables 3, 6, 9, 12, 15, 18 
and 21. 




3.1. Column Headed: Standing Data Required 
 




The column indicates the requirement to provide this data to MSATS. 




Table 2 Explanation of Standing Data Requirements  




3.2. NMIs Affected 
 




Data must be provided for every NMI in MSATS. The NMIs that must be registered in MSATS are 
related to: 




 All connection points points where a transmission network connects to another transmission 
network 




 All connection points where a transmission network connects to a distribution network, i.e. bulk 
supply connection points 




Requirement Description 




MANDATORY Transfer, Validation or processing cannot proceed without this data. 




REQUIRED This data must be provided if this information is available. 




OPTIONAL This data is not required, but will be accepted if delivered. 




Address Option 1 AEMO’s preferred address option. If the applicable fields labelled “Address 
Option 1” cannot be provided, “Address Option 2” is MANDATORY. 




Address Option 2 AEMO’s non-preferred address option. If Address Option 1 is provided, these 
fields are not to be supplied. 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 2022 Page 8 of 55 
 




 All transmission network connection points where energy is directly purchased from the spot 
market by a Market Customer, i.e. wholesale connection points 




 All connection points on a distibution network that connect that distribution network to an 
adjacent distibution network (other than an embedded network), i.e. cross boundary connection 
points 




 Sample meters as required by Metrology Procedures Part A to calculate CLP for participating 
jurisdictions. 




 All connection points associated with a non-registered embedded generator, i.e. a generating unit 
that is not classified by a Market Generator, but is eligible to be classified by a Small Generation 
Aggregator as a market generating unit. 




 All type 7 loads 
 All non-contestable unmetered loads 
 All connection points associated with a generating unit classified by a Market Generator. 
 All distribution network connection points where energy is directly purchased from the spot 




market by a Market Customer 
 All distribution network connection points where there is a market load 
 All child connection points.  




  















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 2022 Page 9 of 55 
 




4. CATS_METER_REGISTER 
 




4.1. Field definitions 
The CATS_Meter_Register table is a NMI master table containing data that is stored at the Meter 
Register level. Information stored at this level includes the NSRD. It is updated whenever a Change 
Request containing inbound Meter Register data is completed. 




Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 




Table 3 CATS_METER_REGISTER - Field definitions  




Data Element Name Description Standing Data 
Required 




Party to Provide 




AdditionalSiteInformation Free text, descriptive of the Site, describing Site 
access and the relationship between the metering 
point and the connection point. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




AssetManagementPlan Asset management plan. 
If a Site plan is used, free text description of plan. 




If a sample plan is used, the name of the AEMO 
approved plan. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




CalibrationTables Calibration tables – details of any calibration factors 
programmed into the meter. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




CommunicationsEquipment
Type 




Used to store baud rate for installed communication 
equipment in a code, calculated by dividing the 
baud rate by 100, of the installed communication 
equipment.   
For example, 48 = 4800 baud. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




CommunicationsProtocol Used to provide details of access through switch 
units (if installed).  
Data to include Switch Unit, Dial Pkg, Port#, userid, 
password. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




DataConversion Actual Pulse Multipliers. OPTIONAL MPB 




DataValidations Free text description of required data validations. OPTIONAL MPB 




EstimationInstructions Estimation instructions. Free text field. OPTIONAL MPB 




LastTestDate The date on which the metering installation was last 
tested or inspected by the Metering Provider “B”. 
This date will be used if clause 7.9.4(a) of the NER 
needs to be applied. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




MeasurementType Code based on the NMI suffix codes, indicating the 
type of measurements available from the meter.   
For example, EBQK = bidirectional energy plus 
reactive Interval Meter. 




OPTIONAL 
NOT USED for 
types 6 & 7 
Transfers. 




MPB 




Constant The meter KE (intrinsic constraint of meter in 
Wh/pulse). 




OPTIONAL MPB 




Hazard Free text or code  identifying hazards associated 
with reading the meter.  




OPTIONAL MPB 




InstallationTypeCode The InstallationTypeCode may identify attributes of 
a physical metering installation, metering data 




MANDATORY MPB 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 2022 Page 10 of 55 
 




collection methods or metering data calculation 
methods.  
This value must correspond to a valid Meter 
Installation Type Code as referenced in CATS 
Procedures. 




Location Free text descriptive material identifying the 
relationship between the location of the metering 
point and the connection point. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




Manufacturer Free text field to identify the manufacturer of the 
installed meter. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




Model Free text field to identify the meter manufacturer’s 
designation for the meter model. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




Point Identifies the meter uniquely for the NMI.  In the 
format 0n, where n is the meter number per the 
protocol described in the NMI Procedure.    
The allowed values are 01 to 09, 0A to 0H, 0J to 0N, 
0P to 0Z. 
This will allow an audit trail when one meter is 
removed and a new meter is given the same 
MeterPoint value. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




Program Free text field providing a description of the 
program used to initialise the installed meter. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




ReadTypeCode Code to denote the method and frequency of 
Meter Reading. 
First Character = Remote (R) or Manual (M); 
Second Character = Mode 
T = telephone 
W = wireless 
P = powerline 
I = infra-red 
G = galvanic 
V = visual 
Third Character = Frequency of Scheduled Meter 
Readings 
1 = Twelve times per year 
2 = Six times per year 
3 = Four times per year 
D = Daily or weekly 
Fourth Character = Undefined.  
Example: 
MV3 = Manual, Visual, Quarterly. 
RWD = Remote, Wireless, Daily (applicable for Vic 
AMI metering installations where 
InstallationTypeCode = ‘MRIM’ and 
JurisdictionCode = ‘Victoria’) 




OPTIONAL MPB 




Route The route identifier the meter is currently being read 
in. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




SerialNumber The Meter Serial ID uniquely identifies a meter for a 
given NMI. Maximum 12 Characters (alpha numeric).  
Unique for NMI. 




MANDATORY MPB 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 2022 Page 11 of 55 
 




Use a dummy value for UMCP (Type 7), logical 
(meters) and non-contestable unmetered loads. 
Except for UMCP, logical and non-contestable 
unmetered loads (where a dummy value is used), 
SerialNumber should be as displayed on the 
physical device (also known as property number if it 
exists), otherwise the meter manufacturer’s serial 
number. 




Status A code to denote the status of the meter.  
This value must correspond to a valid Meter 
Register Status as specified in the CATS Procedures. 




MANDATORY MPB 




Use A code identifying how the meter is used. OPTIONAL MPB 




NextScheduledReadDate Indicates the Scheduled Next Read Date for the 
meter if a manual Meter Reading is required. 




OPTIONAL MPB initially, then 
MDP for updates 




NextTestDate Next date on which the meter should be tested. OPTIONAL MPB 




NMI NMI. This number is unique for each connection 
point within the NEM. 




MANDATORY LNSP 




Password Read & time set passwords separated by a space. OPTIONAL MPB 




RemotePhoneNumber The public telephone number to contact a remote 
Site for metering data. Includes STD prefix and no 
spaces. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




TestCalibrationProgram Test & calibration program. OPTIONAL MPB 




TestPerformedBy Identifying the Metering Provider “B” and the 
technician responsible for conducting the last test. 
The technician is to be identified by a number 
unique to the Metering Provider “B”. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




TestResultAccuracy The accuracy figure from the test perfomed on the 
date indicated in the LastTestDate field. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




TestResultNotes A statement of compliance indicating the standard 
of the test regime applied at the time of the last 
test.  




OPTIONAL MPB 




TransformerLocation A free text field to identify the existence of 
instrument transformers and their location relative 
to the market connection point. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




TransformerRatio A statement of the available and applied 
transformer ratios. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




TransformerType An explanation of the type of transformation used. OPTIONAL MPB 




UserAccessRights Details of any End User access to the metering 
installation; examples include pulse outputs, 
interface to consumer load management system, or 
consumer directly accessing data in meter by special 
agreement. 




OPTIONAL MPB 




FromDate Start date of the record. This indicates the date on 
which the parameters of this particular record apply 
from. The data applies from the beginning of this 
date (the start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 




MANDATORY Participant sending 
transaction 




ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on 
which the parameters of this particular record end. 




MANDATORY System generated 
unless supplied. 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 2022 Page 12 of 55 
 




4.2. Cross Reference of Browser and aseXML Data Elements 
 




The table below lists the names that are used in the MSATS browser. The table also provides the 
aseXML data element names and the respective formats used in each context.   




In some cases, such as date fields, the format of the field is shown differently in the Browser to that 
used in the related aseXML transactions.  Also, aseXML uses full words throughout, rather than the 
coded values used in the Browser.   




Section 16 provides data type conventions of the Browser formats shown in this section. 




Table 4 CATS_METER_REGISTER – Browser cross refernce 




The data applies until the end of this date (the end 
of the day, i.e. 23:59). 
A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate 
is not provided. 




(Defaults to high 
date unless 
supplied) 




RowStatus  Indicates whether the record is active or inactive. 
Whenever a new record is created, it will be A 
(Active).  A change to the data will make this record 
redundant and its MaintActFlg is changed to I 
(Inactive). 




MANDATORY System generated 




MaintenanceDate  Date and time the record was updated. 
A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the 
record is created initially. 
If the record is subsequently updated, its 
MaintUpdtDt is changed to the date and time the 
record was updated. 




MANDATORY System generated 




CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System generated 




Browser Field Name aseXML Data Element 
Name 




aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data 
Type 




Additional Site 
Information 




AdditionalSiteInformat
ion 




ElectricityMeter/ 
AdditionalSiteInformation 




VARCHAR2(100) xsd:string 
maxLen = 100 




Asset Management 
Plan 




AssetManagementPla
n 




ElectricityMeter/AssetManageme
nt 
Plan 




VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 




Calibration Tables CalibrationTables ElectricityMeter/CalibrationTables VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 




Communication 
Equipment Type 




Communications 
EquipmentType 




ElectricityMeter/Communications 
EquipmentType 




VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 
maxLen = 4 




Communication 
Protocol 




CommunicationsProto
col 




ElectricityMeter/Communications 
Protocol 




VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 




Data Conversion DataConversion ElectricityMeter/DataConversion VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 




Data Validations DataValidations ElectricityMeter/DataValidations VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 




Estimation Instruction EstimationInstructions ElectricityMeter/Estimation 
Instructions 




VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 




Last Test Date LastTestDate ElectricityMeter/LastTestDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:date 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 2022 Page 13 of 55 
 




Measurement Type MeasurementType ElectricityMeter/MeasurementTyp
e 




VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 
maxLen = 4 




Meter Constant Constant ElectricityMeter/Constant VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 
maxLen = 12 




Meter Hazard Hazard ElectricityMeter/Hazard VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 
maxLen = 12 




Meter Installation Type 
Code 




InstallationTypeCode ElectricityMeter/InstallationType 
Code 




VARCHAR2(8) xsd:string 
maxLen = 8 




Meter Location Location ElectricityMeter/Location VARCHAR2(50) 
See AddlSiteInfo 
(above) 




xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 




Meter Manufacturer Manufacturer ElectricityMeter/Manufacturer VARCHAR2(15) xsd:string 
maxLen = 15 




Meter Model Model ElectricityMeter/Model VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 
maxLen = 12 




Meter Point Point ElectricityMeter/Point VARCHAR(2) xsd:string 
maxLen = 2 




Meter Program Program ElectricityMeter/Program VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string 
maxLen = 30 




Meter Read Type ReadTypeCode ElectricityMeter/ReadTypeCode VARCHAR(4) xsd:string 
maxLen = 4 




Meter Route Route ElectricityMeter/Route VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 
maxLen = 12 




Meter Serial ID 
Meter ID 
(Different on two 
screens) 




SerialNumber ElectricityMeter/SerialNumber VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 
maxLen = 12 




Status Code Status ElectricityMeter/Status CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 




Meter Use Use ElectricityMeter/Use VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 




Next Scheduled Read 
Date 




NextScheduled 
ReadDate 




ElectricityMeter/NextScheduled 
ReadDate 




dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:date 




Next Test Date NextTestDate ElectricityMeter/NextTestDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:date 




NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 




Passwords Password ElectricityMeter/Password VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 
maxLen = 20 




Remote Phone 
Number 




RemotePhoneNumber ElectricityMeter/RemotePhone 
Number 




VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 
maxLen = 12 




Test & Calibration 
Program 




TestCalibrationProgra
m 




ElectricityMeter/TestCalibration 
Program 




VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 




Test Performed By TestPerformedBy ElectricityMeter/TestPerformedBy VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 
maxLen = 20 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 2022 Page 14 of 55 
 




 




Test Result Accuracy TestResultAccuracy ElectricityMeter/TestResultAccura
cy 




NUMBER(8,5) xsd:decimal 
totdig = 8 
fracdig = 5 




Test Result Notes TestResultNotes ElectricityMeter/TestResultNotes VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 




Transformer Location TransformerLocation ElectricityMeter/Transformer 
Location 




VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string 
maxLen = 30 




Transformer Ratio TransformerRatio ElectricityMeter/TransformerRatio VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 
maxLen = 20 




Transformer Type TransformerType ElectricityMeter/TransformerType VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 
maxLen = 20 




User Access Rights UserAccessRights ElectricityMeter/UserAccessRights VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 




Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 
dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 
dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 2022 Page 15 of 55
 




4.3. Field value examples 
This section provides examples of typical sets of data element values associated with different types of connection points.   




The data shown in each example is as shown in the Browser.  This reverses the sequence of the day-month-year communicated via aseXML 
transactions. 




Table 5 CATS_METER_REGISTER - Examples 




Data Element Name  




(as it appears in XML 
documents) 




Browser Field Name(as it appears 
in MSATS Browser) 




Basic Example Interval Example Data Element Name 




AdditionalSiteInformation Additional Site Information MTR ON SITE AT 17B Red Rooster AdditionalSiteInformation 




AssetManagementPlan Asset Management Plan CITIPOWER METER MANAGEMENT 
PLAN 




PER CE DOC: TYPES 1-4 ASSET 
MANAGEMENT & TEST PLAN 




AssetManagementPlan 




CalibrationTables Calibration Tables Q  CalibrationTables 




CommunicationsEquipment 
Type 




Communication Equipment Type FACE 96 CommunicationsEquipmentType 




CommunicationsProtocol Communication Protocol NA EMAIL MINI GATEWAY S/N SU121 
MV90 2 TBD TBD 




CommunicationsProtocol 




DataConversion Data Conversion .0005 .0005 DataConversion 




DataValidations Data Validations As per Metrology Procedure Part B As per Metrology Procedure Part B DataValidations 




EstimationInstructions Estimation Instruction As per Metrology Procedure Part B 
(TYPES -61, 62, 65) 




As per Metrology Procedure Part B 
(TYPES -14) 




EstimationInstructions 




LastTestDate Last Test Date 07-05-2004 07-03-2004 LastTestDate 




MeasurementType Measurement Type EQ EQ MeasurementType 




Constant Meter Constant 40 .5 Constant 




Hazard Meter Hazard  Asbestos Hazard 




InstallationTypeCode Meter Installation Type Code BASIC COMMS4 InstallationTypeCode 




Location Meter Location ON SUB POLE BEHIND DOOR Location 




Manufacturer Meter Manufacturer EMAIL EDMI Manufacturer 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 2022 Page 16 of 55
 




Model Meter Model Q3 Q4 Model 




Point Meter Point 01 01 Point 




Program Meter Program 30 - NP 3.2 CT FACE PLATE READ 10- AE CT kVAR 9600 Program 




ReadTypeCode Meter Read Type MV3 RTD ReadTypeCode 




Route Meter Route 11618 1305 Route 




SerialNumber Meter Serial ID, Meter ID 
(Different on two screens) 




525811 201000299 SerialNumber 




Status Status Code C C Status 




Use Meter Use REVENUE REVENUE Use 




NextScheduledReadDate Next Scheduled Read Date 04-10-2006  NextScheduledReadDate 




NextTestDate Next Test Date 17-05-2004 10-05-2004 NextTestDate 




NMI NMI 1122334455 1122334455 NMI 




Password Passwords 12345 12345 Password 




RemotePhoneNumber Remote Phone Number FACE READ 0555 825 987 RemotePhoneNumber 




TestCalibrationProgram Test & Calibration Program AS PER AS/NZ 1284 AS PER AS/NZ 1284 TestCalibrationProgram 




TestPerformedBy Test Performed By Ron Sargeant SMU TestPerformedBy 




TestResultAccuracy Test Result Accuracy -0.20000 -0.11000 TestResultAccuracy 




TestResultNotes Test Result Notes CHECK AND RESEAL    METER METER TEST CORRECT TestResultNotes 




TransformerLocation Transformer Location  REAR OFBUILDING TransformerLocation 




TransformerRatio Transformer Ratio  1500/5 TransformerRatio 




TransformerType Transformer Type  24 WIRE WOUND TransformerType 




UserAccessRights User Access Rights AS PER AS/NZ 1284 MDP ONLY ACCESS UserAccessRights 




FromDate Start Date 14-03-1990 16-03-2002 FromDate 




ToDate End Date 31-12-9999 18-07-2006 ToDate 




MaintenanceDate Updated On 31-12-9999 (Summary screen) 
31-12-9999 00:00:00 (Detail screen) 




31-12-9999 (Summary screen) 
31-12-9999 00:00:00 (Detail screen) 




MaintenanceDate 




CreationDate Created On 19-03-1990 (Summary screen) 18-03-2002 (Summary screen) CreationDate 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




  6 February 2022 Page 17 of 55
 




19-03-1990 00:01:00 (Detail screen) 18-03-2002 00:01:00 (Detail screen) 




RowStatus Activity Status A A RowStatus 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 18 of 55 
 




5. CATS_DLF_CODES 
 




5.1. Field definitions 
The CATS_DLF_Codes table contains a list of DLF Codes and their relevant values. The StartDate 
and DLFCode fields will need to be provided for settlements calculations. 




Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 




Table 6 CATS_DLF_CODES- Field definitions 




 




Data Element Name Description Standing Data 
Required 




Party to 
Provide 




DistributionLossFactorCode A four character alpha-numeric code used to 
identify DLF values.  All NMIs must be assigned a 
DLF Code. Refer to AEMO Distribution Loss Factor 
documents for each financial year. 




MANDATORY AEMO 




DistributionLossFactorDescri
ption 




Description of the DLF Code and value. MANDATORY AEMO 




DistributionLossFactor Value Numeric value up to 5 decimal places, reflecting the 
value of the DLF Code. 




MANDATORY AEMO 




JurisdictionCode Jurisdiction code to which the NMI belongs.  
This value must correspond to Jurisdiction Code 
values as specified in the CATS Procedures.  




MANDATORY AEMO 




RowStatus Indicates whether the DLF Code is active or inactive.  
Whenever a new record is created, it will be A 
(Active). A change to the data will make this record 
redundant and its MaintActFlg is changed to I 
(Inactive).  




MANDATORY System 
generated 




FromDate Start date of the record. This indicates the date on 
which the parameters of this particular record apply 
from. The data applies from the beginning of this 
date (the start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 




MANDATORY AEMO 




ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on 
which the parameters of this particular record end. 
The data applies until the end of this date (the end 
of the day, i.e. 23:59). 
A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate 
is not provided. 




MANDATORY System 
generated 




MaintenanceDate Date and time the record was updated. 
A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the 
record is created initially. 
If the record is subsequently updated, its 
MaintUpdtDt is changed to the date and time the 
record was updated. 




MANDATORY System 
generated 




CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 
generated 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 19 of 55 
 




5.2. Cross Reference of Browser and aseXML Data Elements 
 




The table below lists the names that are used in the MSATS browser. The table also provides the 
aseXML data element names and the respective formats used in each context.   




In some cases, such as date fields, the format of the field is shown differently in the Browser to that 
used in the related aseXML transactions.  Also, aseXML uses full words throughout, rather than the 
coded values used in the Browser.   




Section 16 provides data type conventions of the Browser formats shown in this section. 




Table 7 CATS_DLF_CODES- - Browser cross reference 




5.3. Field value examples 
This section provides examples of typical sets of data element values associated with different 
types of connection points.   




The data shown in each example is as shown in the Browser.  This reverses the sequence of the 
day-month-year communicated via aseXML transactions. 




Browser Field 
Name 




aseXML Data Element 
Name 




aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data 
Type 




DLF Code DistributionLossFactorC
ode 




DistributionLossFactorCode VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 
maxLen = 4 




Description DistributionLossFactorD
escription 




DistributionLossFactorDescription VARCHAR2(50 xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 




DLF Value DistributionLossFactorV
alue 




DistributionLossFactorValue NUMBER(6,5) xsd:decimal 
minIncl = 0 
maxIncl = 2 
totdig = 6 
fracdig = 5 




Jurisdiction JurisdictionCode ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/
JurisdictionCode 




VARCHAR2(3) xsd:string 
maxLen = 3 




Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 




Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 
dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 
dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 20 of 55 
 




Table 8 CATS_DLF_CODES- Examples 




 




  




Data Element Name  Browser Field Name  Basic & Interval Example 




DistributionLossFactorCode DLF Code NHV1 




DistributionLossFactorDescription Description UMPLP - High Voltage 




DistributionLossFactorValue [The actual DLF value] 1.11111 




JurisdictionCode Jurisdiction Code SA 




RowStatus Activity Status A 




FromDate Start Date 01-07-1999 




ToDate End Date 30-06-2000 




MaintenanceDate Updated On 
31-05-2000 (Summary Screen) 
31-05-2000 00:30:27 (Detail 
Screen) 




CreationDate Created On 
01-06-1999 (Summary Screen) 
01-06-1999 00:23:32 (Detail 
Screen) 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 21 of 55 
 




6. CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES 
 




6.1. Field definitions 
The CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES table contains embedded network identifier codes, which are used 
to identify which embedded network a NMI belongs to, either as a Parent NMI or a Child NMI. 




Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 




Table 9 CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES- Field definition 




 




Data Element Name Description Standing Data 
Required 




Party to 
Provide 




EmbeddedNetwork 
Identifier 




Embedded Network Code. 




Refer to Allocation of Embedded Network Codes  
for further details. 




MANDATORY AEMO 




EmbeddedNetwork 
Description 




Description of embedded network identifier. MANDATORY AEMO 




SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality Locality to which the embedded network identifier 
belongs. 




MANDATORY AEMO 




PostCode Postcode for the locality to which the embedded 
network identifier belongs. 




MANDATORY AEMO 




StateOrTerritory State or Territory abbreviation in accordance with 
AS 4590. 




MANDATORY AEMO 




RowStatus Indicates whether the code is active or inactive. 
Whenever a new record is created, it will be A 
(Active). A change to the data will make this record 
redundant and its MaintActFlg is changed to I 
(Inactive).  




MANDATORY System 
generated 




FromDate Start date of the record. This indicates the date on 
which the parameters of this particular record apply 
from. The data applies from the beginning of this 
date (the start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 




MANDATORY AEMO 




ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on 
which the parameters of this particular record end. 
The data applies until the end of this date (the end 
of the day, i.e. 23:59). 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate 
is not provided. 




MANDATORY System 
generated 




MaintenanceDate Date and time the record was updated. 
A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the 
record is created initially.  
If the record is subsequently updated, its 
MaintUpdtDt is changed to the date and time the 
record was updated. 




MANDATORY System 
generated 




CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 
generated 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 22 of 55 
 




6.2. Cross Reference of Browser and aseXML Data Elements 
 




The table below list the names that are used in the MSATS browser. The table also provides the 
aseXML data element names and the respective formats used in each context.   




In some cases, such as date fields, the format of the field is shown differently in the Browser to that 
used in the related aseXML transactions.  Also, aseXML uses full words throughout, rather than the 
coded values used in the Browser.   




Section 16 provides data type conventions of the Browser formats shown in this section. 




 




Table 10 CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES- Browser 




6.3. Field value examples 
This section provides examples of typical sets of data element values associated with different 
types of connection points.   




The data shown in each example is as shown in the Browser.  This reverses the sequence of the 
day-month-year communicated via aseXML transactions. 




Browser Field 
Name 




aseXML Data Element 
Name 




aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data 
Type 




Code EmbeddedNetworkIdentif
ier 




EmbeddedNetworkIdentifier VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 




Description EmbeddedNetworkDescri
ption 




EmbeddedNetworkDescription VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 




Locality/Suburb SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A
ddress/AustralianAddress/SuburbOrPl
aceOrLocality 




VARCHAR2(46) xsd:string 
maxLen = 46 




Postcode PostCode ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A
ddress/AustralianAddress/PostCode 




VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 
pattern: 
[\p{N}]{4} 




State StateOrTerritory ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A
ddress/AustralianAddress/StateOrTerr
itory 




VARCHAR2(3) xsd:string  
with 
enumerations 




Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 




Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 
dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 
dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 23 of 55 
 




Table 11 CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES- Example 




 




  




Data Element Name Browser Field Name Basic & Basic Example 




EmbeddedNetworkIdentifier Code SE01008111 




EmbeddedNetworkDescription Description Kingston-On-Murray Caravan Park 




SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality Suburb / Locality Kingston-On-Murray 




PostCode Postcode 5331 




StateOrTerritory State SA 




RowStatus Activity Status A 




FromDate Start Date 05-04-2003 




ToDate End Date 31-12-9999 




MaintenanceDate Updated On 31-12-9999 (Summary Screen) 
31-12-9999 13:23:35 (Detail Screen) 




CreationDate Created On 01-04-2003 (Summary Screen) 
01-04-2003 13:23:35 (Detail Screen) 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 24 of 55 
 




7. CATS_NMI_DATA 
 




7.1. Field definitions 
The CATS_NMI_DATA table records Master NMI Record data information. It is updated whenever a 
Change Request containing data in the CATS_INBOUND_NMI_DATA table is completed. 




Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 




Table 12 CATS_NMI_DATA- Field definitions 




Data Element Name Description Standing Data 
Required 




Party to 
Provide 




NMI NMI. 




All alpha characters are Upper Case. 
MANDATORY LNSP 




NMI 
ClassificationCode 




Code used to indicate the NMI Classification Code of 
this NMI.   




This value must correspond to NMI Classification Code 
values as specified in the CATS Procedures. 




MANDATORY LNSP 




MasterData/ 
StatusCode 




Code used to indicate the status of the NMI.   
This value must correspond to NMI Status Code values 
as specified in the CATS Procedures. 




MANDATORY LNSP 




TransmissionNode 
Identifier 




This value must correspond to a valid code in the 
CATS_TNI_Codes table.  




MANDATORY LNSP 




JurisdictionCode Jurisdiction code to which the NMI belongs. This code 
defines the jurisdictional rules which apply to the 
transfer of this NMI. 




This value must correspond to Jurisdiction Code values 
as specified in the CATS Procedures. 




MANDATORY LNSP 




DistributionLoss 
FactorCode 




Distribution Loss Factor Code.  Must be a valid code in 
the CATS_DLF_Codes table.  




MANDATORY LNSP 




ChildEmbedded 
NetworkIdentifier 




The embedded network identifier code is used to 
identify which embedded network this given NMI is the 
'child of'.  (If on a NMI record this field is not populated, 
it is assumed the NMI is not the child of any other NMI.)   
Must be a valid code within the 
CATS_Emb_Net_ID_Codes table. 
This field cannot be used unless the Parent NMI has 
been created and assigned an embedded network 
identifier code. Refer section 30.4.a  of the CATS 
Procedure. 




REQUIRED LNSP 




ParentEmbedded 
NetworkIdentifier 




The embedded network identifier code is used to 
identify which embedded network this given NMI is the 
'parent of'.  (If on a NMI record this field is not 
populated, it is assumed the NMI is not the parent of 
any other NMI.)    




Must be a valid code within the 
CATS_Emb_Net_ID_Codes table.  




REQUIRED LNSP 




BuildingOrProperty 
Name 




A free text description of the full name used to identify 
the physical building or property as part of its location. 




Address 
Option 1 




LNSP 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 25 of 55 
 




LotNumber The lot reference number allocated to an address prior 
to street numbering. The word ‘LOT’ is not required. 




Address 
Option 1 




LNSP 




FlatOrUnitNumber Specification of the number of the flat or unit which is a 
separately identifiable portion within a 
building/complex. 




Address 
Option 1 




LNSP 




FlatOrUnitType Specification of the type of flat or unit which is a 
separately identifiable portion within a 
building/complex. This value must correspond to a valid 
Flat Type Code, reference AS4590.  




Address 
Option 1 




LNSP 




FloorOrLevelNumber Floor Number is used to identify the floor or level of a 
multi-storey building/complex. 




Address 
Option 1 




LNSP 




FloorOrLevelType Floor Type is used to identify the floor or level of a 
multi-storey building/complex. This value must 
correspond to a valid Floor Type Code in the Floor Type 
Codes, reference AS4590. 




Address 
Option 1 




LNSP 




HouseNumber The numeric reference of a house or property.  
Specifically the house number. 




Address 
Option 1 




LNSP 




HouseNumberSuffix The numeric reference of a house or property.  
Specifically the single character identifying the house 
number suffix. 




Address 
Option 1 




LNSP 




StreetName Records the thoroughfare name. 
See notes at end of table for more information on 
Structured Addresses. 




Address 
Option 1 




LNSP 




StreetSuffix Records street suffixes. This value must correspond to a 
valid Street Suffix Code, reference AS4590. 




Address 
Option 1 




LNSP 




StreetType Records the street type abbreviation.  This value must 
correspond to a valid Street Type Code, reference 
AS4590. 




Address 
Option 1 




LNSP 




SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality The full name of the general locality containing the 
specific address. 




MANDATORY  LNSP 




LocationDescriptor A general field to capture various references to address 
locations alongside another physical location. 




Address 
Option 1 




LNSP 




PostCode The descriptor for a postal delivery area, aligned with 
locality, suburb or place. 




MANDATORY LNSP 




StateOrTerritory Defined State or Territory abbreviation.   MANDATORY LNSP 




DeliveryPointIdentifier Delivery point identifier - the numeric descriptor for a 
postal delivery point which is equal to a physical 
address.  The values are in the range 10000000 – 
99999999. 




OPTIONAL LNSP 




AddressLine To provide the unstructured address (line 1) where a 
structured address cannot be supplied. 




Address 
Option 2 




LNSP 




AddressLine To provide the unstructured address (line 2) where a 
structured address cannot be supplied. 




Address 
Option 2 




LNSP 




AddressLine To provide the unstructured address (line 3) where a 
structured address cannot be supplied. 




Address 
Option 2 




LNSP 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 26 of 55 
 




7.2. Cross Reference of Browser and aseXML Data Elements 
 




The table below list the names that are used in the MSATS browser. The table also provides the 
aseXML data element names and the respective formats used in each context.   




In some cases, such as date fields, the format of the field is shown differently in the Browser to that 
used in the related aseXML transactions.  Also, aseXML uses full words throughout, rather than the 
coded values used in the Browser.   




Section 16 provides data type conventions of the Browser formats shown in this section. 




Aggregate This flag determines whether the energy at this 
connection point is to be treated as consumer load or as 
a generating unit (this may include generator auxiliary 
loads). 
MSATS will initially set this field to “Y” This value must 
correspond to a valid Aggregate value in the Aggregate 
Codes reference table listed in section 11. 




OPTIONAL (Defaults to ‘Y’, 
AEMO updates 
to ‘N’ as 
required) 




FromDate Start date of the NMI Data record. This indicates the 
date on which the parameters of this particular NMI 
data record apply from.  
The data applies from the beginning of this date (the 
start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 




MANDATORY LNSP 
 




ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on which 
the parameters of this particular record end. The data 
applies until the end of this date (the end of the day, i.e. 
23:59). 
A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate is 
not provided. 




MANDATORY 
(Defaults to 
high date 
unless 
supplied) 




System 
generated 
unless 
supplied. 




RowStatus  Indicates whether the record is active or inactive. 
Whenever a new record is created, it will be A (Active). 
A change to the data will make this record redundant 
and its MaintActFlg is changed to I (Inactive).  




MANDATORY System 
generated 




MaintenanceDate  Date and time the record was updated. 
A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the record is 
created initially. 




If the record is subsequently updated, its MaintUpdtDt 
is changed to the date and time the record was 
updated. 




MANDATORY System 
generated 




CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 
generated 




Feeder Class A code to provide Participants with information to 
indicate the appropriate service level timeframes for 
performing work in relation to Service Order Requests. 




OPTIONAL LNSP 




Customer Classification 
Code 




A code that defines the consumer class as defined in 
the National Energy Retail Regulations, or in overriding 
Jurisdictional instruments. 




MANDATORY Current FRMP 




Customer Classification 
Threshold Code 




A code that defines the consumption threshold as 
defined in the National Energy Retail Regulations, or in 
overriding Jurisdictional instruments. 




MANDATORY LNSP 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 27 of 55 
 




 




Table 13 CATS_NMI_DATA- Browser cross reference 




Browser Field 
Name 




aseXML Data Element 
Name 




aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data 
Type 




NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 




NMI 
Classification 
Code 




NMIClassificationCode ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/ 
NMIClassificationCode 




VARCHAR2(8) xsd:string 
maxLen = 8 




Status Code Status ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/Sta
tus 




CHAR(1) xsd:string 
maxLen = 1 




TNI Code TransmissionNodeIdentifi
er 




ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/Tra
nsmissionNodeIdentifier 




VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 
maxLen = 4 




Jurisdiction 
Code 




JurisdictionCode JurisdictionCode VARCHAR2(3) xsd:string 
maxLen = 3 




DLF Code DistributionLossFactorCo
de 




ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/Dis
tributionLossFactorCode 




VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 
maxLen = 4 




Embedded 
Network ID 
(Child) 




ChildEmbeddedNetworkI
dentifier 




ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/Chi
ldEmbeddedNetworkIdentifier 




VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 




Embedded 
Network 
(Parent) 




ParentEmbeddedNetwor
kIdentifier 




ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/Par
entEmbeddedNetworkIdentifier 




VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 




Building / 
Property Name 




BuildingOrPropertyName ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad
dress/AustralianAddress/StructuredAdd
ress/BuildingOrPropertyName 




VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string 
maxLen = 30 
x 2 




Lot Number LotNumber ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/ 
Address/AustralianAddress/Structured
Address/Lot/LotNumber 




VARCHAR2(6) xsd:string 
pattern: 
[\p{L}\p{N}\p{P
}\s]{1,6} 




Flat/Unit 
Number 




FlatOrUnitNumber ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad
dress/AustralianAddress/StructuredAdd
ress/FlatOrUnit/FlatOrUnitNumber 




VARCHAR2(7) xsd:string 
pattern: 
[\p{L}\p{N}\p{P
}\s]{1,7} 




Flat/Unit Type FlatOrUnitType ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad
dress/AustralianAddress/StructuredAdd
ress/FlatOrUnit/FlatOrUnitType 




VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string with 
enumerations 




Floor/Level 
Number 




FloorOrLevelNumber ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad
dress/AustralianAddress/StructuredAdd
ress/FloorOrLevel/FloorOrLevelNumber 




VARCHAR2(5) xsd:string 
[\p{L}\p{N}\p{P
}\s]{1,5} 




Floor/Level Type FloorOrLevelType ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad
dress/AustralianAddress/StructuredAdd
ress/FloorOrLevel/FloorOrLevelType 




VARCHAR2(2) xsd:string with 
enumerations 




House Number HouseNumber ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad
dress/AustralianAddress/StructuredAdd
ress/House/HouseNumber 




NUMBER(5) xsd:nonNegati
veInteger 
maxIncl = 
99999 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 28 of 55 
 




House Number 
Suffix 




HouseNumberSuffix ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad
dress/AustralianAddress/ 
StructuredAddress/House/HouseNumb
erSuffix 




VARCHAR2(1) xsd:string 
pattern: 
[\p{L}\p{N}]{1} 




Street Name StreetName ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad
dress/AustralianAddress/ 
StructuredAddress/Street/StreetName 




VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string 
pattern: 
[\p{L}\p{N}\s\-
']{1,30} 




Street Name 
Suffix 




StreetSuffix ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad
dress/AustralianAddress/ 
StructuredAddress/Street/StreetSuffix 




VARCHAR2(2) xsd:string with 
enumerations 




Street Type StreetType ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad
dress/AustralianAddress/ 
StructuredAddress/Street/StreetType 




VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string with 
enumerations 




Suburb/Locality SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad
dress/AustralianAddress/ 
SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality 




VARCHAR2(46) xsd:string 
maxLen = 46 




Location 
Descriptor 




LocationDescriptor ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad
dress/AustralianAddress/ 
StructuredAddress/LocationDescriptor 




VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string 
pattern: 
[\p{L}\p{N}\p{P
}\s]{1,30 




Postcode PostCode ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad
dress/AustralianAddress/ 
PostCode 




VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 
pattern: 
[\p{N}]{4} 




State StateOrTerritory ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad
dress/AustralianAddress/StateOrTerrito
ry 




VARCHAR2(3) xsd:string  
with 
enumerations 




DPID DeliveryPointIdentifier ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad
dress/AustralianAddress/ 
StructuredAddress/DeliveryPointIdentifi
er 




NUMBER(8) xsd:nonNegati
veInteger 
minIncl = 
10000000 
maxIncl = 
99999999 




Unstructured 
Address 




AddressLine ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad
dress/AustralianAddress/ 
UnstructuredAddress/Address/Address
Line 




VARCHAR2(80) xsd:string 
maxLen = 80 
x 3 




Aggregate Flag Aggregate ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/Ag
gregate 




CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 




Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 
dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 




xsd:dateTime 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 29 of 55 
 




7.3. Field value examples 
This section provides examples of typical sets of data element values associated with different 
types of connection points.   




The data shown in each example is as shown in the Browser.  This reverses the sequence of the 
day-month-year communicated via aseXML transactions. 




dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 




Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 




Feeder Class Feeder Class ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/Fe
ederClass 




VARCHAR2(15) xsd:string 
maxLen = 15 




Customer 
Classification 
Code 




CustomerClassificationCo
de 




ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/Cu
stomerClassificationCode 




VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 
maxLen = 20 




Customer 
Classification 
Threshold Code 




CustomerThresholdCode ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/Cu
stomerThresholdCode 




VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 
maxLen = 20 




NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 




Suffix Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Suffix VARCHAR2(2) xsd:string 
maxLen = 2 




Status Code Status ElectricityDataStream/Status CHAR(1) xsd:string 
maxLen = 1 




Average Daily 
Load 




AveragedDailyLoad ElectricityDataStream/AveragedDailyLo
ad 




NUMBER(10) xsd:integer 




Type DataStreamType ElectricityDataStream/DataStreamType CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 




Profile Name ProfileName ElectricityDataStream/ProfileName VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 




Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 
dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 
dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 30 of 55 
 




 




Table 14 CATS_NMI_DATA- Examples 




Data Element Name Browser Field Name Basic Example Interval Example 




NMI NMI 122334451 1122334455 




NMIClassificationCode NMI Classification Code SMALL LARGE 




MasterData/Status Status Code A G 




TransmissionNodeIdentifier TNI Code NRGE SBER 




JurisdictionCode Jurisdiction Code NSW SA 




DistributionLossFactorCode DLF Code NRGE NLV2 




ChildEmbeddedNetworkIdentifier Embedded Network ID (Child) NS01008111 SE01008111 




ParentEmbeddedNetworkIdentifier Embedded Network 
(Parent) 




NS01008111 SE01008111 




BuildingOrPropertyName Building / Property Name BP SHELL 




LotNumber Lot Number 22 23 




FlatOrUnitNumber Flat/Unit Number 1 2 




FlatOrUnitType Flat/Unit Type U U 




FloorOrLevelNumber Flat/Unit Number 1 1 




FloorOrLevelType Floor/Level Type FL FL 




HouseNumber House Number 6 10 




HouseNumberSuffix House Number Suffix A B 




StreetName Street Name BORIS DORIS 




StreetSuffix Street Name Suffix N W 




StreetType Street Type DR ST 




SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality Suburb/Locality ORANGE LOXTON 




LocationDescriptor Location Descriptor CNR FRED ST SHELL SERVICE 
STATION 




PostCode Postcode 2211 5333 




StateOrTerritory State NSW SA 




DeliveryPointIdentifier DPID 01234567 12345678 




AddressLine Unstructured Address 1 Text Text 




AddressLine Unstructured Address 2 Text Text 




AddressLine Unstructured Address 3 Text Text 




Aggregate Aggregate Flag Y Y 




FromDate Start Date 01-06-2004 01-06-2001 




ToDate End Date 31-12-9999 01-01-2003 




MaintenanceDate  Updated On 31-12-9999 
(Summary screen) 
31-12-9999 
00:00:00 (Detail 
screen) 




05-01-2003 (Summary 
screen) 
05-01-2003 00:01:00 
(Detail screen) 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 31 of 55 
 




 




  




CreationDate Created On 04-01-2004 
(Summary screen) 
04-01-2004 
09:31:00 (Detail 
screen) 




01-06-2001 (Summary 
screen) 
01-06-2001 00:01:00 
(Detail screen) 




RowStatus Activity Status A A 




FeederClass Feeder Class ERGUD ERGUD 




Customer ClassificationCode Customer Classification RESIDENTIAL BUSINESS 




CustomerThresholdCode Customer Threshold LOW HIGH 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 32 of 55 
 




8. CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 
 




8.1. Field definitions 
The CATS_NMI_Data_Stream table is a NMI master table containing data that is stored at the NMI 
Datastream level. Information stored at this level includes suffixes, profile name, average daily load 
etc. It is updated whenever a Change Request containing inbound Datastream data is completed. 




Note: Data is only required for this table if the NMI is active in the NEM or is used for profile peel-
off in accordance with the Metrology Procedure. 




Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 




Table 15 CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM- Field definitions 




Data Element Name Description Standing Data 
Required 




Party to 
Provide 




NMI NMI. MANDATORY MDP 
LNSP 




ElectricityDataStream/Suffix The Metering Datastream identifier (for MDM).  
Identifies the ElectricityDataStream Suffix as delivered 
to AEMO for NEM Settlement calculations, profile 
peeloff, UFE analysis and Vic TUOS sites.  
The value must be a valid as per Datastream suffix 
details specified in the NMI Procedure. 
The value must match the MDMContributorySuffix 
value provided in an MDFF File. 




MANDATORY MDP 




ElectricityDataStream/Status Code used to indicate the status of the suffix.  
This value must correspond to a valid Datastream 
Status Code as specified in the CATS procedures. 




MANDATORY MDP 




AveragedDailyLoad The energy delivered through a connection point or 
metering point over an extended period normalised to 
a "per day" basis (kWh). 




MANDATORY MDP 




DataStreamType Indicates the primary function of the 
ElectricityDatastream Suffix. i.e. inclusion within NEM 
Settlement calculations, UFE analysis, profile peeloff  
or Vic TUOS. 
This value must correspond to a valid 
DataStreamType in the Data Stream Type Codes 
reference table listed in section 11. 




MANDATORY MDP 




ProfileName The Profile Name is a code that identifies the name of 
the algorithmically derived shape that is used to 
allocate a Datastream's consumption to TIs.  This 
value must correspond to a valid code in the PROFILE 
table.  
For all Interval Meters and sample meters, this must 
be set to ‘NOPROF’.  
For Accumulation Meters, refer to the MDM Profile 
for valid profile names.  
In Victoria and the ACT, ProfileName must be NSLP.   
In NSW, QLD and SA, ProfileName must be NSLP or 
the relevant controlled load profile. 




MANDATORY MDP 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 33 of 55 
 




8.2. Cross Reference of Browser and aseXML Data Elements 
 




The table below list the names that are used in the MSATS browser. The table also provides the 
aseXML data element names and the respective formats used in each context.   




In some cases, such as date fields, the format of the field is shown differently in the Browser to that 
used in the related aseXML transactions.  Also, aseXML uses full words throughout, rather than the 
coded values used in the Browser.   




Section 16 provides data type conventions of the Browser formats shown in this section. 




This value must correspond to a valid ProfileName 
value in the Profile Codes reference table listed in 
section 11. 




FromDate Start date of the NMI data record. This indicates the 
date on which the parameters of this particular NMI 
data record apply from.  
The data applies from the beginning of this date (the 
start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 




MANDATORY Party sending 
transaction 




ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on 
which the parameters of this particular record end. 
The data applies until the end of this date (the end of 
the day, i.e. 23:59). 




A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate is 
not provided. 




MANDATORY 
(Defaults to 
high date 
unless 
supplied) 




System 
generated 
unless 
supplied. 




RowStatus  Indicates whether the record is active or inactive. 
Whenever a new record is created, it will be A 
(Active). A change to the data will make this record 
redundant and its MaintActFlg is changed to I 
(Inactive).  




MANDATORY System 
generated 




MaintenanceDate  Date and time the record was updated. 
A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the record 
is created initially. 
If the record is subsequently updated, its 
MaintUpdtDt is changed to the date and time the 
record was updated. 




MANDATORY System 
generated 




CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 
generated 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 34 of 55 
 




Table 16 CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM- Browser cross reference 




rowser Field 
name 




aseXML Data 
Element Name aseXML Path BrowserFormat aseXMLData Type 




NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) 
xsd:string 
maxLen=10 




Suffix Suffix ElectricityDatastream/Suffix VARCHAR2(2) xsd:string maxLen=2 




Status Code  Status ElectricityDatastream/Status CHAR(1) 
xsd:string 
maxLen=10 




Average Daily 
Load AverageDailyLoad ElectricityDatastream/AverageDailyLoad NUMBER(10) xsd:integer 




Type DataStreamType ElectricityDatastream/DatastreamType CHAR(1) 
xsd:string with 
enumeration 




Profile Name ProfileName ElectricityDatastream/ProfileName VARCHAR2(10) 
xsd:string 
maxLen=10 




Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate 




dd-mmm-yyyy 
(Summary Screen) 
dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss (Detail 
Screen) xsd:dateTime 




Created On CreationDate CreationDate 




dd-mmm-yyyy 
(Summary Screen) 
dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss (Detail 
Screen) xsd:dateTime 




Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) 
xsd:string with 
enumeration 




8.3. Field value examples 
This section provides examples of typical sets of data element values associated with different 
types of connection points.   




The data shown in each example is as shown in the Browser.  This reverses the sequence of the 
day-month-year communicated via aseXML transactions. 




Table 17 CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM- Example 




Data Element Name Browser Field Name Basic Example Interval Example 




NMI NMI 1100445566 2211335544 




ElectricityDataStream/Suffix Suffix 31 E1 




ElectricityDataStream/Status Status Code A A 




ElectricityDataStream/ 
AveragedDailyLoad 




Average Daily Load 5 800 




ElectricityDataStream/ 
DataStreamType 




Type C I 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 35 of 55 
 




 




  




ElectricityDataStream/ 
ProfileName 




Profile Name NSLP NOPROF 




FromDate Start Date 31-12-2001 01-06-2005 




ToDate End Date 31-12-9999 31-12-9999 




MaintenanceDate Updated On 02-01-2004 (Summary 
Screen) 
02-01-2004 13:27:58 
(Detail Screen) 




31-12-9999 (Summary 
Screen) 
31-12-9999 00:00:00 
(Detail Screen) 




CreationDate Created On 19-01-2002 (Summary 
screen) 
19-01-2002 17:15:23 
(Detail screen) 




05-06-2005 (Summary 
screen) 
05-06-2005 15:12:20 
(Detail screen) 




RowStatus  Activity Status I A 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 36 of 55 
 




9. CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 
 




9.1. Field definitions 
The CATS_Register_Identifier table contains data that is stored at the register identifier level. 
Information stored at this level includes the Network Tariff Code. It is updated whenever a Change 
Request containing inbound register identifier data is completed. 




Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 




Table 18 CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER- Field definitions 




Data Element Name Description Standing Data 
Required 




Party to Provide 




NMI NMI. This number is unique for each connection 
point within the NEM. 




MANDATORY LNSP 




SerialNumber The Meter Serial ID uniquely identifies a meter for a 
given NMI. Maximum 12 Characters (alpha numeric).  
Unique for NMI. 
Use dummy for UMCP (Type 7), logical (meters) and 
non-contestable unmetered loads.. 
Except for UMCP, logical and non-contestable 
unmetered loads, MeterSerial should be displayed 
on physical device also known as property number). 
SerialNumber to be property number if exists, 
otherwise the meter manufacturers’ serial number, 
otherwise dummy number. 




MANDATORY MPB 




RegisterID The RegisterID is an identifier used to identify 
records stored within the CATS_REGISTER_TABLE.  
A record must be created in the 
CATS_REGISTER_TABLE for each physical register 
within a meter.  
 For Accumulation Meters, the RegisterID may 




reflect any unique identifier. E.g. ‘1’, ‘01’, ‘11’, etc.. 
 For Interval Meters, the RegisterID must match 




the content of the ‘Suffix’ within the 
CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table. E.g. ‘E1’, ‘B1’, 
‘Q1’, ‘K1’, etc. 




 




MANDATORY MPB 




NetworkTariffCode The Network Tariff Code is a free text field required. 
The text must match the Network Tariff Codes 
supplied and published by the LNSP.  
Must be a valid code from the 
CATS_Network_Tariff_Codes table.   




MANDATORY 
 




MPB 




NetworkAdditional 
Information 




Free text field. OPTIONAL MPB 




UnitOfMeasure Code to identify the unit of measure for data held in 
this register. 




MANDATORY MPB 




TimeOfDay Code to identify the time validity of register 
contents. 
As published by each LNSP. 




MANDATORY  MPB 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 37 of 55 
 




Multiplier Multiplier required to take a register value and turn 
it into a value representing billable energy. 




MANDATORY MPB 




DialFormat Describes the register display format. 
First number is the number of digits to the left of 
the decimal place, and the second number is the 
number of digits to the right of the decimal place. 




MANDATORY MPB 




Suffix The Suffix field in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 
table is used to identify a physical data source that 
is obtained from the meter.  
The Suffix in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table 
must be a valid as per Datastream suffix details 
specified in the NMI Procedure.  
The value must match the NMISuffix value provided 
in an MDFF File. 
 
 For Basic Meters, the Suffix in the 




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table need not 
match the RegisterID in the 
CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table. 




 For Interval Meters, the Suffix in the 
CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table must match 
the RegisterID in the 
CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table. E.g. ‘E1’, ‘B1’. 




 




MANDATORY MPB 




ControlledLoad Indicates whether the energy recorded by this 
register is created under a Controlled Load regime 
ControlledLoad field will have "No" if register does 
not relate to a Controlled Load. 
If the register relates to a Controlled Load, it should 
contain a description of the Controlled Load 
regime. 




MANDATORY MPB 




RegisterDetail/ 
Status 




Lookup code to indicate if register is active. 
Must ensure that RegisterDetail/Status is not 
Current (C) when ElectricityMeter/Status is Removed 
(R). 
This value must correspond to a valid Register 
Identifier Status as specified in the CATS 
Procedures. 




MANDATORY MPB 




ConsumptionType Actual/Subtractive Indicator. 
Actual (A) implies volume of energy actually 
metered between two dates. 
Cumulative (C) indicates a Meter Reading for a 
specific date. A second Meter Reading is required to 
determine the consumption between those two 
Meter Reading dates.  
For an Interval Meter, ActCumInd = A. 
This value must correspond to a valid 
ConsumptionType from the Consumption Type 
Codes reference table listed in section 11. 




MANDATORY MPB 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 38 of 55 
 




9.2. Cross Reference of Browser and aseXML Data Elements 
 




The table below list the names that are used in the MSATS browser. The table also provides the 
aseXML data element names and the respective formats used in each context.   




In some cases, such as date fields, the format of the field is shown differently in the Browser to that 
used in the related aseXML transactions.  Also, aseXML uses full words throughout, rather than the 
coded values used in the Browser.   




Section 16 provides ddata type conventions of the Browser formats shown in this section. 




 




Table 19 CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER- Browser cross reference 




Demand1 This field contains the peak demand value for 
summer for network Tariff purposes. Units in kW or 
kVA. 




OPTIONAL MPB (Refers to 
Network Tariff 
Code) 




Demand2 This field contains an additional demand value (not 
Summer period). Units in kW or kVA. 




OPTIONAL MPB (Refers to 
Network Tariff 
Code) 




FromDate Start date of the NMI data record. This indicates the 
date on which the parameters of this particular NMI 
data record apply from.  
The data applies from the beginning of this date 
(the start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 




MANDATORY Participant 
sending 
transaction 




ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on 
which the parameters of this particular record end. 
The data applies until the end of this date (the end 
of the day, i.e. 23:59). 
A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate 
is not provided. 




MANDATORY 
(Defaults to 
high date 
unless 
supplied) 




System 
generated unless 
supplied. 




RowStatus  Indicates whether the record is active or inactive. 
Whenever a new record is created, it will be A 
(Active). A change to the data will make this record 
redundant and its MaintActFlg is changed to I 
(Inactive).  




MANDATORY System 
generated 




MaintenanceDate  Date and time the record was updated. 
A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the 
record is created initially. 
If the record is subsequently updated, its 
MaintUpdtDt is changed to the date and time the 
record was updated. 




MANDATORY System 
generated 




CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 
generated 




Browser Field Name aseXML Data 
Element Name 




aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data 
Type 




NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 




Meter Serial ID 
Meter ID 




SerialNumber SerialNumber VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 
maxLen = 12 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 39 of 55 
 




(Different on two 
screens) 




Register ID RegisterID ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/R
egisterID 




VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 




Network Tariff Code NetworkTariffCode ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/N
etworkTariffCode 




VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 




Network Tariff 
Additional Information 




NetworkAdditional 
Information 




ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/ 
NetworkAdditionalInformation 




VARCHAR2(4000) xsd:string 




Unit of Measure UnitOfMeasure ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/ 
UnitOfMeasure 




VARCHAR2(5) xsd:string 
maxLen = 5 




Time of Day TimeOfDay ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/ 
TimeOfDay 




VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 




Multiplier Multiplier ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/M
ultiplier 




Number(13,5) xsd:decimal 




Dial Format DialFormat ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/D
ialFormat 




Number(4,2) xsd:decimal 
minIncl = 0 
maxIncl = 99.99 
totdig = 4 
fracdig = 2 




Suffix Suffix ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/S
uffix 




VARCHAR2(2) xsd:string 
maxLen = 2 




Controlled Load ControlledLoad ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/C
ontrolledLoad 




VARCHAR2(100) xsd:string 
maxLen = 100 




Status Code Status ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/ 
Status 




CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 




Actual/Cumulative 
Indicator 




ConsumptionType ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/C
onsumptionType 




CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 




Demand 1 Demand1 ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/D
emand1 




Number(8) xsd:integer 
totdig = 8 




Demand 2 Demand2 ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/D
emand2 




Number(8) xsd:integer 
totdig = 8 




Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 
dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 
dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 40 of 55 
 




9.3. Field value examples 
This section provides examples of typical sets of data element values associated with different 
types of connection points.   




The data shown in each example is as shown in the Browser.  This reverses the sequence of the 
day-month-year communicated via aseXML transactions. 




Table 20 CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER- Examples 




 




  




Data Element Name Browser Field Name Basic Example Interval Example 




NMI NMI 1100445566 2211335544 




SerialNumber Meter Serial ID 
Meter ID 
(Different on two screens) 




000012345 112258 




RegisterID Register ID 1 E1 




NetworkTariffCode Network Tariff Code BLNB2CO MB2RI 




NetworkAdditionalInformation Network Tariff Additional 
Information 




General Supply Non 
TOU Eligible 




LV TOU Demand Eligible 




UnitOfMeasure Unit of Measure KWH KWH 




TimeOfDay Time of Day ALLDAY INTERVAL 




Multiplier Multiplier 1.00000 120.00000 




DialFormat Dial Format 5.00 5.10 




Suffix Suffix 11 E1 




ControlledLoad Controlled Load  HWLoad No 




Status Status Code C C 




ConsumptionType Actual/Cumulative Indicator C A 




Demand1 Demand 1 0 0 




Demand2 Demand 2 0 0 




FromDate Start Date 01-08-2004 01-06-2005 




ToDate End Date 31-12-9999 31-12-9999 




MaintenanceDate Updated On 31-12-9999 
(Summary Screen) 
31-12-9999 00:00:00 
(Detailed Screen) 




31-12-9999 (Summary 
Screen) 
31-12-9999 00:00:00 
(Detailed Screen) 




CreationDate  Created On 01-11-2005 
(Summary screen) 
01-11-2005 22:30:30 
(Detail screen) 




05-06-2005 (Summary 
screen) 
05-06-2005 09:09:09 
(Detailed screen) 




RowStatus Activity Status A A 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 41 of 55 
 




10. CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 




10.1. Field definitions 
The CATS_NMI_Participant_Relations table is a NMI master table containing data that stores the 
Roles that Participants play for each NMI. It is updated whenever a Change Request containing 
inbound Roles is completed. Each Role record, which contains a single Role code and a single 
Participant ID, has a start date and an end date, as well as information about when it was created 
and when it became inactive if it is no longer an active record. 




Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 




Table 21 CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS- Field definitions 




10.2. Cross Reference of Browser and aseXML Data Elements 
 




The tables below list the names that are used in the MSATS browser for each of the MSATS tables 
detailed in sections 4 to 10.  The table also provides the aseXML data element names and the 
respective formats used in each context.   




Data Element Name Description Standing Data 
Required 




Party to 
Provide 




Party The Participant ID whose relationship (Role) with the 
NMI is defined in this table. 




MANDATORY LNSP 




NMI NMI. This number is unique for each connection point.  MANDATORY LNSP 




Role This defines the relationship (Role) of the Participant 
with the NMI in this table. 




MANDATORY LNSP 




FromDate Start date of the record. This indicates the date on 
which the parameters of this particular record apply 
from. 
The data applies from the beginning of this date (the 
start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 




MANDATORY Party sending 
transaction 




ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on which 
the parameters of this particular record end. The data 
applies until the end of this date (the end of the day, i.e. 
23:59). 
A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate is 
not provided. 




MANDATORY 
(Defaults to 
high date 
unless 
supplied) 




System 
generated 
unless 
supplied. 




RowStatus  Indicates whether the record is active or inactive. 
Whenever a new record is created, it will be A (Active). 
A change to the data will make this record redundant 
and its MaintActFlg is changed to I (Inactive).  




MANDATORY System 
generated 




MaintenanceDate Date and time the record was updated. 
A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the record is 
created initially. 
If the record is subsequently updated, its MaintUpdtDt 
is changed to the date and time the record was 
updated. 




MANDATORY System 
generated 




CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 
generated 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 42 of 55 
 




In some cases, such as date fields, the format of the field is shown differently in the Browser to that 
used in the related aseXML transactions.  Also, aseXML uses full words throughout, rather than the 
coded values used in the Browser.   




Section 16 provides data type conventions of the Browser formats shown in this section. 




 




Table 22 CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS- Browser 




 




  




Browser Field Name aseXML Data Element 
Name 




aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data Type 




Participant ID Party Party VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 




NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 




Role Role Role VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 
maxLen = 4 




Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 




Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 
dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 
dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 




xsd:dateTime 




Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with enumeration 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 43 of 55 
 




11. REFERENCE TABLES 
 




Table 23 Valid Aggregate Codes 




Aggregate Description 




Y Customer load. 




N Generator NMI. 




 




Table 24 Valid Consumption Type Codes 




Consumptiontype Description 




A Actual Consumption. 




C Cumulative Consumption. 




 




Table 25 Valid Datastream Type Codes 




Datastreamtype Description Datastream suffix (as per NMI Procedure) 




I Interval Datastream included in NEM 
Settlement process. 




A, D, B, E, N 




C  Consumption Datastream is included in NEM 
Settlement Process. 




First character is 1 to 9 




P Profile Datastream included in NEM Profile 
calculations (Sample meters only). 




E, N 




N Interval Datastream is not to be included in the 
NEM Settlement process or NEM Profile 
calculations. 




J, P, S, K, Q, T, G, H, M, V, C, F, L, R, U, Y, 
W, Z, X  
 
A,D,B,E when not used for NEM 
Settlements (e.g. Vic TUOS) 




 




Table 26 Valid Profile Codes 




ProfileName Description 




NSLP Net System Load Profile. 
The profile is calculated by MSATS. NSLP represents the system load after 
all actual interval metering data or specified previously-calculated profiled 
metering data that is not dependent on the NSLP has been subtracted from 
a known total system load and represents system-wide usage by 
consumption-type metering installations. 




CLOADNSWCE Controlled Load profile: Country Energy. (Now Essential Energy)  
Profile Names beginning with CLOAD are Controlled Load profiles. 
Controlled Load profiles are applied to Controlled Load Datastreams in 
NSW. There is one Controlled Load profile for each LNSP area. The names 
all begin with CLOADNSW to indicate that they are NSW Profile Names 
followed by two characters to indicate the LNSP area to which it belongs 
(e.g. EA = EnergyAustralia). 




CLOADNSWEA Controlled Load profile: EnergyAustralia (Now Ausgrid). 




CLOADNSWIE Controlled Load profile: IntegralEnergy (Now Endeavour Energy) 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 44 of 55 
 




ProfileName Description 




QLDEGXCL31 Controlled Load profile Energex tariff 31 




QLDEGXCL33 Controlled Load profile Energex tariff 33 




SACLOAD South Australian Controlled Load. 




NOPROF Used for interval Datastream types (to indicate that such Datastreams do 
not need to be profiled to obtain ‘readings’ for each settlements interval 
because the data is supplied in 30-minute intervals). 




 




Note: Refer to the MSATS CATS Procedure section 4 for details on the valid codes for the 
following: 




 Jurisdiction Codes 
 Metering Installation Type Codes 
 NMI Classification Codes 
 NMI Status Codes 
 Datastream Status Codes 




  















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 45 of 55 
 




12. USE OF NMI SUFFIX TO POPULATE CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 
 




For any particular connection point there may be multiple energy measurement elements and data 
recorders with multiple channels. Accurate identification of Datastreams is essential.  




The NMI Procedure includes the requirements for structure of both the Suffix populated in the 
CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table and the ElectricityDataStream Suffix populated in the 
CATS_DATA_STREAM table.   




The illustrations below provide context to the relationships between ‘Suffix’ across the MDFF 
Specification and CATS Procedures (specifically the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table and 
CATS_DATA_STREAM tables). 




Example of an Accumulated Meter ‘Suffix’  




CATS_REGISTER_IDEN TIFIER
‘Suffix’ = ‘11’, ‘21’, ‘42’




CATS_NMI_DATA_STR EAM
‘Electricity/DataStreamSuffix’ = 




‘11’, ‘21’, ‘42’




MDFF Specification  (NEM13)
‘MDMDataStreamIdentifier’ = 




‘11’, ‘21’,  ‘42’




MDFF Specification (NEM13)
‘NMISuffix’ = ‘11’, ‘21’, ‘42’




CATS_REGISTER_IDEN TIFIER
‘RegisterID’ =  ‘1’, ‘01’, ‘11’




CATS_METER_REGISTER
‘InstallationTypeCo de’ =  




‘BASIC’




In this scenario,  this relationship 
creates a ‘link’ between Standing 
Data & Meter Data




Referred to as ‘MDMContributorySuffix’ in MDFF 
Specification prior to 1/7/21




In this scenario, AEMO do not refer to this MDFF field as the 
Registers can be determined from the CATS_Data_Stream 
table directly




 Accumulated DataStreams in CATS_DATA_STREAM table




 




Example of an Interval Meter ‘Suffix’ – Net DataStreams 




CATS_REGISTER_IDEN TIFIER
‘Suffix’ = ‘E1’, ‘B1’, ‘Q1’, 




‘K1’




CATS_NMI_DATA_STR EAM
‘Electricity/




DataStreamSuffix’ =  ‘N1’




MDFF Specification (NEM12)
‘MDMDataStreamIdentifier’ 




= ‘N1’




MDFF Specification (NEM12)
‘NMISuffix’ = ‘E1’, ‘B1’, ‘Q1’, 




‘K1’




CATS_REGISTER_IDEN TIFIER
‘RegisterID’ = ‘E1’, ‘B1’, 




‘Q1’, ‘K1’




Referred to as ‘MDMContributorySuffix’ in MDFF Specification prior to 1/7/21




In this scenario and in order to determine which registers contribute to the ‘Net’,  AEMO 
require this MDFF field to be mandatorily updated with standing data as populated in the 
CATS_Data_Stream table.   i.e. ‘Net’




In this scenario and where the content of the CATS_DATA_STREAM
‘DataStreamSuffix’  and MDFF Specification
‘MDMDataStreamIdentifier’ fields do not match,  AEMO will disregard any meter data sent 
and will estimate data for NEM Settlements.  Standing Data ‘Mismatches’ will be reported in 
the RM39 ‘Orphaned Reads’ report. 




CATS_METER_REGISTER




‘InstallationTypeCode’ =  
‘COMMS%’, ‘MRAM’, 
‘MRIM’, ‘NCONUML’, 




‘PROF’, ‘SAMPLE’, ‘UMCP’, 
‘VICAMI’




In this scenario, this relationship 
defines the registers that 
contribute to the ‘N’




 ‘Net’ DataStreams in CATS_DATA_STREAM table




 




Example of an Interval Meter “Suffix” – Register Level DataStreams 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 46 of 55 
 




CATS_REGISTER_IDEN TIFIER
‘Suffix’ = ‘E1’, ‘B1’, ‘Q1’, 




‘K1’




CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM
‘Electricity/DataStreamSuffix’ = 




‘E1’, ‘B1’, ‘Q1’, ‘K1’




MDFF Specification (NEM12)
‘MDMDataStreamIdentifier’ 




= ‘E1’, ‘B1’, ‘Q1’, ‘K1’




MDFF Specification (NEM12)
‘NMISuffix’ = ‘E1’, ‘B1’, ‘Q1’, 




‘K1’




CATS_REGISTER_IDEN TIFIER
‘RegisterID’ = ‘E1’, ‘B1’, 




‘Q1’, ‘K1’




Referred to as ‘MDMContributorySuffix’ in MDFF 
Specification prior to 1/7/21




In this scenario, AEMO do not refer to this MDFF field as the 
Registers can be determined from the CATS_Data_Stream 
table directly




CATS_METER_REGISTER




‘InstallationTypeCode’ =  
‘COMMS%’, ‘MRAM’, 
‘MRIM’, ‘NCONUML’, 




‘PROF’, ‘SAMPLE’, ‘UMCP’, 
‘VICAMI’




In this scenario,  this relationship 
creates a ‘link’ between Standing 
Data & Meter Data




Register Level DataStreams in CATS_DATA_STREAM table




 




Note:  




 A record must be created in the CATS_REGISTER_TABLE for each register required for settlements, 
profiling and UFE calculations. 




 An ElectricityDataStream Suffix must be created for all individual DataStreams required for NEM 
Settlement calculations, profile peeloff, UFE analysis and Vic TUOS sites. 




The NMI Procedure includes the requirements for the use of a suffix to the NMI that identifies 
these Datastreams.  The DataStreamSuffix detailed in the NMI Procedure provides identification at 
the measurement element level for all Datastreams from the connection point identified by the 
NMI.  The DataStreamSuffix is commonly known as the NMISuffix.  The NMISuffix is labelled as 
‘Suffix’ in the Browser and is the ElectricityDataStream/Suffix data element in aseXML. 




The NMISuffix was first used in the NMI Procedure to describe, in conjunction with the NMI, the 
data transferred from the MDP to AEMO and Participants for settlements. The NMISuffix was 
further extended to describe Datastreams in MSATS, and numeric suffixes were developed to 
describe the data from type 6 metering installations. 




In MSATS, the NMISuffix is used in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table to describe the data as 
delivered to AEMO. For settlements purposes this data must be ‘NET’ [Export from network, less 
import to network] and will be ‘Nx’ for an interval Datastream, or numeric for an Accumulation 
Meter. 




In MSATS release 2.0 a new table, CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER, was introduced to link identifiers 
for the source meter register(s) to the Datastream suffix in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. 
The purpose of the table is to enable the alignment of the data held in MSATS and the data being 
transferred between Participants in the B2B process. 




This link is achieved through the RegisterID (which describes the data source at the metering 
installation) and ElectricityDataStream/Suffix (which describes the NMISuffix to which the 
RegisterID contributes) data elements. This is a many-to-one relationship, i.e. there may be 
multiple RegisterID values for each ElectricityDataStream/Suffix value in the 
CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table. 




 The RegisterID identifies the measurement element and type of measurement for an Interval 
Meter, and identifies the location of a stored energy value in an Accumulation Meter. 




 The ElectricityDataStream/Suffix value in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table identifies the 
Datastream registered in MSATS. For settlements purposes, Interval Meter Datastreams will be 
the NET suffix (format Nx) and for Accumulation Meter Datastreams the suffix value is numeric.  















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 47 of 55 
 




MSATS requires data to be delivered against this suffix (if the Datastream is ACTIVE).  MSATS 
does not validate the values entered in this field. 




 The ElectricityDataStream/Suffix value in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table identifies the 
individual Datastream(s) contributing to the ElectricityDataStream/Suffix value in the 
CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. For interval Datastreams, the suffix(es) will indicate the 
individual Datastream(s) contributing to the Nx Suffix value in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 
table where the DataStreamType is P or I (Refer section 14for examples). For accumulation 
Datastreams the value will be numeric and will be identical to the related Suffix value in the 
CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table (refer section 13 for examples). 




 The ElectricityDataStream/Suffix values used in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table are used 
to identify metering data contained in MDFF Files (in the NMISuffix field).  




 The linkage between the RegisterID and ElectricityDataStream/Suffix exists because the 
ElectricityDataStream/Suffix data element is populated in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table. 




 The RegisterID data element has no standard format; therefore, the MPB must determine the 
appropriate population of this field, e.g. it may be used to indicate the programming code of 
the register. 




There is an inconsistent understanding across industry of the meaning of the terms ‘register’ and 
‘datastream’. Conventionally, to field metering personnel, a ‘register’ contains a single value, while 
a ‘datastream’ represents an array of time separated register values in chronological order. 




For Accumulation Meters, the RegisterID refers to the non-volatile storage of the cumulative 
energy register(s). The RegisterID will have identification with the displays of the meters, or 
identification of internal data stores.  




For Accumulation Meters, the ElectricityDataStream/Suffix data element in the 
CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table may have a many-to-one relationship with the 
ElectricityDataStream/Suffix data element in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table.  That is, the same 
Suffix may occur several times in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table and occur once only in the 
CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table.For Interval Meters, the definition of the RegisterID field is less 
obvious. To make this field useful, the RegisterID should be associated with the 
ElectricityDataStream/Suffix. As Interval Meters may have multiple measurement elements and there 
may be multiple meters for a NMI, the MDP must manage Datastreams against a NMI to avoid 
duplication of ElectricityDataStream/Suffixes and provide correct mapping of RegisterIDs.  















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 48 of 55 
 




13. ASSIGNMENT OF DATA – ACCUMULATION METERS 
 




This section details examples of the assignment of data for various basic metering installations.  For 
Accumulation Meters, the Suffix values in CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER and 
CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM tables are always numeric. 




13.1. Single Meter, no controlled load 
 




An Accumulation Meter with a single register measuring a Non-Controlled Load will have a single 
Datastream suffix 11 for the NMI. 




Table 27 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 




Value 0123456789 11 A C 




 




The CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table indicates that the meter has only one register. The Suffix in 
the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER ‘11’ denotes that data from RegisterID 01 contributes to the 
Datastream identified by Suffix 11 in CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. 




Table 28 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER  




Data Element: Serial 
Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 
Load 




Value ABCD1111 01 KWH ALLDAY 11 No 




 




The ElectricityDataStream Suffix in CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table will be recorded as ‘11’ by the 
MDP and the Suffix in CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table must then be ‘11’. 




13.2. Two Single Element Meters, no controlled load 
 




The NMI has two Accumulation Meters, each meter with single register. The data from the two 
meters will be submitted to MSATS as two Datastreams. 




Table 29 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 




Values 0123456789 11 A C 




0123456789 12 A C 




Table 30 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 
Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 
Load 




Values ABCD1111 01 KWH ALLDAY 11 No 




XYZA1112 01 KWH ALLDAY 12 No 




 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 49 of 55 
 




13.3. Two Single Element Meters, one with controlled load 
 




A NMI has two Accumulation Meters, each meter has a single register, and one meter is measuring 
a Controlled Load. The data from the two meters is submitted to MSATS as two 
ElectricityDataStream Suffixes.  




Table 31 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 




Values 0123456789 11 A C 




0123456789 42 A C 




Table 32 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 
Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 
Load 




Values 




 




ABCD1111 01 KWH TOTAL 11 No 




XYZA1112 01 KWH CL1 42 HWLoad 




13.4. One Meter with Two Registers, one measuring a controlled load 
NMI has one Accumulation Meter with two registers. The second register is measuring a 
Controlled Load. 




Table 33 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 




Values 0123456789 11 A C 




0123456789 41 A C 




Table 34 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 
Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 
Load 




Value 




 




ABCD1111 01 KWH PEAK 11 No 




ABCD1111 02 KWH CL1 41 HWLoad 
 




13.5. Single Multi-function Meter 
 




Accumulation Meter has 4 registers, one register being a Controlled Load. 




Table 35 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 




Values 




 




0123456789 11 A C 




0123456789 21 I C 




0123456789 31 A C 




0123456789 41 A C 




 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 50 of 55 
 




Each register is separately identified in CATS_NMI_Data_Stream. However, register 2 on meter 1 is 
inactive in MSATS. 




Table 36 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 
Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 
Load 




Values 




 




ABCD1111 01 KWH ALLDAY 11 No 




ABCD1111 02 KWH NOTUSED 21 No 




ABCD1111 03 KWH OFFPEAK 31 No 




ABCD1111 04 KWH CL1 41 HWLoad 




13.6. Two meters, three registers. One register measures a controlled load 




Table 37 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 
 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 




Values 




 




0123456789 11 A C 




0123456789 21 A C 




0123456789 42 A C 




Table 38 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 
Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 
Load 




Values 




 




ABCD1111 01 KWH PEAK 11 No 




ABCD1111 02 KWH OFFPEAK 21 No 




XYZA1112 01 KWH CL1 42 HWLoad 




 




  















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 51 of 55 
 




14. ASSIGNMENT OF DATA – INTERVAL METERS 
 




This section details examples of the assignment of data for various Interval Meters.   




14.1. One meter 




Table 39 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 
 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 




Value 0123456789 E1 A I 




 




The CATS_Register_Identifier table indicates that the meter has only one register. The Suffix in the 
CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER [E1] denotes that data from RegisterID 01 contributes to the 
ElectricityDataStream  Suffix identified by Suffix E1 in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. 




 




Table 40 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 
Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 




Value ABCD1111 E1 KWH INTERVAL E1 




E1 indicates that it is a single element measuring export. 




 




14.2. Import/Export meter 
 




Interval Meter has a two registers, registering import and export energy.  Multiple 
ElectricityDataStream Suffixes (E1 and B1) are defined for the NMI. 




Table 41 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 




Value 0123456789 E1 A I 




Value 0123456789 B1 A I 




 




The CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table indicates that the meter has two registers, one for IMPORT 
and one for EXPORT. 




The Suffixes in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER denote that data from RegisterIDs ‘E1’ and ‘B1’ align 
with the ElectricityDataStream Suffixes identified in theCATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table.   




Table 42  Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 
Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 




Values ABCD1111 E1 KWH INTERVAL E1 




ABCD1111 B1 KWH INTERVAL B1 




Only one RegisterID with the Suffix ‘E1’ permitted per meter in CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER. 




Only one RegisterID with the Suffix ‘B1’ permitted per meter in CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER. 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 52 of 55 
 




14.3. One meter: multiple registers 
Interval Meter has a single measurement element registering import and export energy, reactive 
and voltage. 




Table 43 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 




Value 0123456789 E1 A I 




Value 0123456789 B1 A I 




Value 0123456789 Q1 A N 




Value 0123456789 K1 A N 




The CATS_Register_Identifier table indicates that the meter has five registers: two for IMPORT of 
energy and reactive; two for EXPORT of energy and reactive; and one for voltage monitoring. 




Table 44 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 
Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 




Values ABCD1111 E1 KWH INTERVAL E1 




ABCD1111 B1 KWH INTERVAL B1 




ABCD1111 Q1 KVARH INTERVAL Q1 




ABCD1111 K1 KVARH INTERVAL K1 




ABCD1111 V1 VOLTS INTERVAL V1 




14.4. One meter: Twin Measurement Elements 
 




Certain multifunction meters have the capability for initial installation as an Accumulation Meter, 
but can be re-programmed to provide interval metering data.  




The NER do not permit the use of two different types of metering installation on the one NMI, and 
therefore these two metering functions MUST NOT be active simultaneously in MSATS. The MDP 
and MC will be held accountable for a breach of this requirement. 




The CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER can be used to record the meter capability. 




 




The CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table values for this meter when it is operated as an Interval 
Meter are shown below. The RegisterID for the Accumulation Meter registers in this type of meter 
are user defined. The Interval Meter suffixes must be added to the NMI and made active, and the 
basic Suffixes made inactive at the same date. 




Table 45 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 
 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 




Values 0123456789 E1 A I 




0123456789 E2 A I 




0123456789 11 I C 




0123456789 21 I C 















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 53 of 55 
 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 




0123456789 31 I C 




0123456789 41 I C 




 




Table 46 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 
Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 




Values AB888888 E1 KWH INTERVAL E1 




AB888888 E2 KWH INTERVAL E2 




AB888888 11 KWH PEAK 11 




AB888888 21 KWH OFFPEAK 21 




AB888888 31 KWH PEAK 31 




AB888888 41 KWH OFFPEAK 41 




If a second meter of the same configuration were established on this NMI, ‘E3’ and ‘E4’ RegisterIDs 
in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table and ElectricityDataStream Suffixes in the 
CATS_DATA_STREAM table would be required in order  to provide unambiguous identification of 
Datastreams. 




14.5. NCONUML and UMCP 
 




Table 47 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 
 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 




Values 1144885588 E1 A I 




 




Table 48 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: Serial 
Number 




RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 




Values Dummy 
Value 




E1 KWH INTERVAL E1 




 




  















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 54 of 55 
 




15. ASSIGNMENTS OF DATA – SAMPLE METERS  
 




The application of profiles in accordance with the Metrology Procedure requires interval metering 
data from Sites that have Accumulation Metering. However, the NER do not permit different 
metering installation types on the one NMI, and in any case, the Participants associated with the 
interval metering data are different to those associated with the Accumulation Meter.  Therefore, 
for these connection points, two different NMIs are used. 




There are meters that can combine the required Accumulation Metering and Interval Metering 
functions.  An example is shown below. 




15.1. Multifunction Sample Meter 
 




In this case, a single meter is registered within MSATS for two purposes against two NMIs. This is a 
special case, and should not be used other than for this non-standard purpose.  The meter has two 
circuits, with Accumulation Metering for energy trading and Interval Metering for the sample 
profile. 




In this example, NMI 9801234567 is associated with the sample meter installation and NMI 
9876543210 with the End User installation. 




Table 49 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 
 




Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 




Values 9801234567 E1 A P 




9876543210 11 I C 




9876543210 12 I C 




9876543210 41 A C 




 




Table 50 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Data Element: NMI MeterSerial RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 




Values 9801234567 AB888888 E1 KWH ALLDAY E1 




9876543210 AB888888 11 KWH PEAK 11 




9876543210 AB888888 12 KWH OFFPEAK 12 




9876543210 AB888888 41 KWH CL1 41 
 




  















STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 




Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 55 of 55 
 




16. DATA TYPE CONVENTIONS 
 




The Browser formats used in section 16 are as defined in the following table.  




The value of “x” must be positive and cannot be zero.  




For explanation of the aseXML data types shown in section 16 refer  




http://www.w3.org/TR/xmlschema-0/#simpleTypesTable  




 




Table: Browser Formats 




 




 




 Format Definition 




1 CHAR(x) Indicates a field that can only contain alphanumeric characters and must contain 
exactly "x" characters.  Note that leading and trailing "spaces" are considered 
significant (i.e. form part of the "x" characters for the field). 




2 VARCHAR2(x) Indicates a character field containing up to "x" characters. 




3 NUMBER(x) Indicates a positive integer (zero or above) up to "x" significant digits long; any 
leading zeroes are not significant and hence "050" is equivalent to "50". 




4 NUMBER(x.y) Indicates a positive number with up to "x" significant characters to the left of the 
decimal point and "y" decimal places after the decimal point (trailing zeros are 
optional).  In other words, the maximum length of the field as a whole is "x"+"y"+1 
characters (the +1 reserving space for the decimal point).  














image6.emf


FINAL Metering 



Transition Plan - Feb 20.xlsx






FINAL Metering Transition Plan - Feb 20.xlsx


MTP



				5MS & GS METERING TRANSITION PLAN																Feb-19



				CATEGORY				SID				SUB-CATEGORY				AID				ACTIVITY				ASSUMPTIONS				RESPONSIBILITY				DEPENDENCIES				VOLUME/SIZE CONSIDERATIONS				DIRECTLY AFFECTED PARTIES				TRANSITION START DATE				TRANSITION END DATE				RULE / PROCEDURE TIMING				TRANSITION OBJECTIVE / OUTCOME				COMMENTS (by AEMO or from TFG)



				METER INSTALLATION AND RECONFIGURATION



								S01				BULK/Wholesale Meters				A1				Identify which meters need replacing or reconfiguring (specify any sites that are deemed high risk due to no access or any other risk that may not enable reconfiguration/risk and provide associated treatment)								MP												MC				At the discretion of the Participant				31-Mar-20								Wholesale meters requiring replacement or reconfiguration identified



																A2				Initial assessment of whether data storage exemptions may be required 								MP												AEMO				At the discretion of the Participant				31-Mar-20								Initial assessment of potential data storage exemptions completed



																A3				Provide visibility of approach / timeframe for required meter replacement or reconfiguration								MC												AEMO, MP				At the discretion of the Participant				31-Mar-20								Approach and timeframes visible to AEMO



																A4				Install or reconfigure meters as required								MP				S41								MC, MDP, AEMO				At the discretion of the Participant				30-Apr-21				By 1 July 2021				Wholesale meters 5min compliant				What is the contingency in situations where the meter can't be replaced or reconfigured e.g. access issue?
Readiness reporting to be leveraged to ensure appropriate progress.



																A5				Apply for data storage exemptions as required								MP												AEMO				At the discretion of the Participant				30-Apr-21				By 1 July 2021				Data storage exemptions submitted and assessed				AEMO will need to queue applications. MP's don't any issue here.



								S02				Type 1-3 meters				A6				Identify which meters need replacing or reconfiguring (specify any sites that are deemed high risk due to no access or any other risk that may not enable reconfiguration/risk and provide associated treatment)								MP												MC				At the discretion of the Participant				31-Mar-20								Type 1-3 meters requiring replacement or reconfiguration identified



																A7				Initial assessment of whether data storage exemptions may be required 								MP												AEMO				At the discretion of the Participant				31-Mar-20								Initial assessment of potential data storage exemptions completed



																A8				Provide visibility of approach / timeframe for required meter replacement or reconfiguration								MC												AEMO, MP				At the discretion of the Participant				31-Mar-20								Approach and timeframes visible to AEMO



																A9				Install or reconfigure meters as required								MP				S41								MC, MDP, AEMO				At the discretion of the Participant				30-Apr-21				By 1 July 2021				Type 1-3 meters 5min compliant				What is the contingency in situations where the meter can't be replaced or reconfigured e.g. access issue?
Readiness reporting to be leveraged to ensure appropriate progress.



																A10				Apply for data storage exemptions as required								MP												AEMO				At the discretion of the Participant				30-Apr-21				By 1 July 2021				Data storage exemptions submitted and assessed				AEMO will need to queue applications.



								S03				Subset of type 4 meters - TNI, Market Generator or SGA				A11				Identify which meters need replacing or reconfiguring (specify any sites that are deemed high risk due to no access or any other risk that may not enable reconfiguration/risk and provide associated treatment)								MP												MC, SGA				At the discretion of the Participant				31-Mar-20								Subset of type 4 meters requiring replacement or reconfiguration identified



																A12				Initial assessment of whether data storage exemptions may be required 								MP												AEMO				At the discretion of the Participant				31-Mar-20								Initial assessment of potential data storage exemptions completed



																A13				Provide visibility of approach / timeframe for required meter replacement or reconfiguration								MC												AEMO, MP				At the discretion of the Participant				31-Mar-20								Approach and timeframes visible to AEMO



																A14				Install or reconfigure meters as required								MP				S41								MC, MDP, AEMO				At the discretion of the Participant				30-Apr-21				By 1 July 2021				Subset of type 4 meters 5min compliant				What is the contingency in situations where the meter can't be replaced or reconfigured e.g. access issue?
Readiness reporting to be leveraged to ensure appropriate progress.



																A15				Apply for data storage exemptions as required								MP												AEMO				At the discretion of the Participant				30-Apr-21				By 1 July 2021				Data storage exemptions submitted and assessed				AEMO will need to queue applications.



								S04				Cross Boundary meters (Known)				A16				Identify which meters need replacing or reconfiguring (specify any sites that are deemed high risk due to no access or any other risk that may not enable reconfiguration/risk and provide associated treatment)								MP												MC, MP, LNSP				At the discretion of the Participant				31-Mar-20								Cross boundary meters which need to be installed, replaced or reconfigured identified				One of the LNSPs related to the Cross Boundary connection point will be the MC from 6 Feb 2022, however the LNSPs will need to engage a competitive MC, as a transitional measure, before that date.



																A17				Determine and engage Metering Coordinator (after Global Settlement market commencement on 6 February 2022)								LNSP												MC, LNSP				At the discretion of the Participant				30-Jun-21								Ensure that a MC is appointed for cross boundary NMIs after Global Settlements commencement



																A18				Initial assessment of whether data storage exemptions may be required 								MP												AEMO				At the discretion of the Participant				31-Mar-20								Initial assessment of potential data storage exemptions completed



																A19				Provide visibility of approach / timeframe for required meter replacement or reconfiguration								MC												AEMO, MP				At the discretion of the Participant				31-Mar-20								Approach and timeframes visible to AEMO



																A20				Install or reconfigure meters as required								MP				S41								MC, MDP, AEMO				At the discretion of the Participant				30-Apr-21				By 1 July 2021				All applicable cross boundary meters 5min compliant				What is the contingency in situations where the meter can't be replaced or reconfigured e.g. access issue?
Readiness reporting to be leveraged to ensure appropriate progress.



																A21				Apply for data storage exemptions as required								MP												AEMO				At the discretion of the Participant				30-Apr-21				By 1 July 2021				Data storage exemptions submitted and assessed				AEMO will need to queue applications.



								S05				Cross Boundary meters (Unknown)				A22				Identify which meters need to be installed, replaced or reconfigured								MP												MC, MP, LNSP				At the discretion of the Participant				1-Jul-20								Cross boundary meters which need to be installed, replaced or reconfigured identified				One of the LNSPs related to the Cross Boundary connection point will be the MC from 6 Feb 2022, however the LNSPs will need to engage a competitive MC, as a transitional measure, before that date.



																A23				Provide visibility of approach / timeframe for required meter replacement or reconfiguration								MC												AEMO, MP				At the discretion of the Participant				31-Dec-20								Approach and timeframes visible to AEMO



																A24				Install or reconfigure meters as required								MP				S41								MC, MDP, AEMO				At the discretion of the Participant				30-Jun-21				By 1 July 2021				All applicable cross boundary meters 5min compliant



								S06				New and replacement Type 4 				A25				Install 5-minute capable meters as required (BAU)								MP				S41, S42								MP, MDP, Retailer
LNSP, Affected Customer, AEMO				N/A				N/A				From 1 Dec 2018								BAU process from 1 Dec 2018



								S07				New and replacement Type 4A				A26				Install 5-minute capable meters as required (BAU)								MP				S41, S42								MP, MDP, Retailer
NSP, Affected Customer, AEMO				N/A				N/A				From 1 Dec 2019								BAU process from 1 Dec 2019



								S08				New and replacement VIC AMI meters 				A27				Install 5-minute capable meters as required (BAU)								MP				S41, S42								MP, MDP, Retailer
NSP, Affected Customer, AEMO				N/A				N/A				From 1 Dec 2018								BAU process from 1 Dec 2018



								S09				New and replacement SAMPLE Meters				A28				Install 5-minute capable meters as required (BAU)								MP				S41, S42								MP, MDP, Retailer
NSP, Affected Customer, AEMO				N/A				N/A				From 1 Dec 2018								BAU process from 1 Dec 2018



								S10				Pre-1 Dec 2018/19 Type 4, 4A and SAMPLE meters				A29				Install 5-minute capable meters as required (BAU)								MP				S41, S42								MP, MDP, Retailer
NSP, Affected Customer, AEMO				N/A				N/A				From 1 Dec 2018/19								BAU process now



								S11				SCADA Data				A30				Creation of 5 minute metering data based on SCADA data								AEMO												AEMO, MDP				At the discretion of AEMO				6-Dec-20												Will SCADA DATA be provided in 5m and when if the MDP stats sending prior to 1 Jul 2021



								S12				Special Site				A31				Change in the current calculation to 5 minute granularity								AEMO												AEMO, MDP				At the discretion of AEMO				6-Dec-20												AEMO need to review Special site calculations



				METER DATA DELIVERY



								S13				BULK/Wholesale Meters				A32				Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 between NSP, Retailer, MDP and AEMO								MDP				S01, S43								NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, MP, AEMO				At the discretion of the Applicable Participants				28-Feb-21				By 1 July 2021				Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement				MP to provide confirmation of which meters can be included in an agreement



																A33				5min metering data delivered to Participants (B2B)								MDP				S01, S43								NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO				Subject to the terms of the Agreement				31-May-21 (subject to the terms of the applicable Agreement)				By 1 July 2021				MDPs delivering 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement				Ensure MDP aggregation capability in place to support 30min trading interval length up until 1 July 2021



																A34				Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 for B2M purposes								MDP				S01, S43								AEMO, MDP				At the discretion of AEMO and the  Participant				28-Feb-21				By 1 July 2021				Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement				MP to provide confirmation of which meters can be included in an agreement



																A35				5min metering data delivered to AEMO (MDFF)
(Export and import (active (kWh) and reactive (kVArh)) energy metering data as applicable) 								MDP				S01, S43								AEMO, MDP				1-Feb-21				31-May-21				By 1 July 2021				MDPs delivering 5min metering data to AEMO to support five-minute settlement				AEMO aggregation capability needs to be in place for 5 and 15min meter data delivery pre-1 July 2021



																A36				Create/activate export and import (active (kWh) and reactive (kVArh)) energy datastreams in CNDS table								MDP				S01								AEMO, NSP				Implementation date of AEMO's new MDM				31-May-21				By 1 July 2021				Register level datastreams active in CNDS table as per AEMO procedures



								S14				Type 1-3, subset of 4 				A37				Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 between NSP, Retailer, MDP and AEMO								MDP				S02, S03, S43								NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO				At the discretion of the Applicable Participants				28-Feb-21				By 1 July 2021				Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement				Should a NMI churn to a Retailer who does not have an agreement to receive 5min data, an agreement would need to be established or the MDP must deliver 30min data as per the Rules pre 1 July 2021.



																A38				5min metering data delivered to Participants (B2B)								MDP				S02, S03, S43								NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO				Subject to the terms of the Agreement				31-May-21 (subject to the terms of the applicable Agreement)				By 1 July 2021				MDPs delivering 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement				Ensure MDP aggregation capability in place to support 30min trading interval length up until 1 July 2021



																A39				Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 for B2M purposes								MDP				S02, S03, S43								AEMO, MDP				At the discretion of AEMO and the  Participant				28-Feb-21				By 1 July 2021				Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement				MP to provide confirmation of which meters can be included in an agreement



																A40				Create/activate export and import (active (kWh) and reactive (kVArh)) energy datastreams in CNDS table								MDP				S02, S03								NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO				Implementation date of AEMO's new MDM				31-May-21				By 1 July 2021				Register level datastreams active in CNDS table as per AEMO procedures



																A41				5min metering data delivered to AEMO (MDFF)
(Export and import (active (kWh) and reactive (kVArh)) energy metering data as applicable) 								MDP				S02, S03, S43								AEMO, MDP				1-Feb-21				31-May-21				By 1 July 2021				MDPs delivering 5min metering data to AEMO to support five-minute settlement				AEMO aggregation capability needs to be in place for 5 and 15min meter data delivery pre-1 July 2021



								S15				Cross Boundary meters (Known)				A42				Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 between NSP, Retailer, MDP and AEMO								MDP				S04, S43								NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO				At the discretion of the Applicable Participants				28-Feb-21				By 1 July 2021				Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement				These NMIs will not churn because the FRMP and LR will be  the LRs for the  two Distribution Networks related to the Cross Boundary connection point.



																A43				5min metering data delivered to Participants (B2B)								MDP				S04, S43								NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO				Subject to the terms of the Agreement				31-May-21 (subject to the terms of the applicable Agreement)				By 1 July 2021				MDPs delivering metering data to support Global Settlement Calculations				Ensure MDP aggregation capability in place to support 30min trading interval length up until 1 July 2021



																A44				Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 for B2M purposes								MDP				S04, S43								AEMO, MDP				At the discretion of AEMO and the  Participant				28-Feb-21				By 1 July 2021				Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement				MP to provide confirmation of which meters can be included in an agreement



																A45				Create/activate export and import (active (kWh) and reactive (kVArh)) energy datastreams in CNDS table								MDP				S04								NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO				Implementation date of AEMO's new MDM				31-May-21				By 1 July 2021				Register level datastreams active in CNDS table as per AEMO procedures



																A46				5min metering data delivered to AEMO (MDFF)
(Export and import (active (kWh) and reactive (kVArh)) energy metering data as applicable) 								MDP				S04, S43								AEMO, MDP				1-Feb-21				31-May-21				By 1 July 2021				MDPs delivering metering data to support Global Settlement Calculations				AEMO aggregation capability needs to be in place for 5 and 15min meter data delivery pre-1 July 2021



								S16				Cross Boundary meters (Unknown)				A47				Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 between NSP, Retailer, MDP and AEMO								MDP				S05, S43								NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO				At the discretion of the Applicable Participants				28-Feb-21				By 1 July 2021				Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement				These NMIs will not churn because the FRMP and LR will be  the LRs for the  two Distribution Networks related to the Cross Boundary connection point.



																A48				5min metering data delivered to Participants (B2B)								MDP				S05, S43								NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO				Subject to the terms of the Agreement				31-May-21 (subject to the terms of the applicable Agreement)				By 1 July 2021				MDPs delivering metering data to support Global Settlement Calculations				Ensure MDP aggregation capability in place to support 30min trading interval length up until 1 July 2021



																A49				Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 for B2M purposes								MDP				S05, S43								AEMO, MDP				At the discretion of AEMO and the  Participant				28-Feb-21				By 1 July 2021				Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement				MP to provide confirmation of which meters can be included in an agreement



																A50				5min metering data delivered to AEMO (MDFF)
(Export and import (active (kWh) and reactive (kVArh)) energy metering data as applicable) 								MDP				S05, S43								AEMO, MDP				1-Feb-21				31-May-21				By 1 July 2021				MDPs delivering metering data to support Global Settlement Calculations				AEMO aggregation capability needs to be in place for 5 and 15min meter data delivery pre-1 July 2021



																A51				Create/activate export and import (active (kWh) and reactive (kVArh)) energy datastreams in CNDS table								MDP				S05								NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO				Implementation date of AEMO's new MDM				31-May-21				By 1 July 2021				Register level datastreams active in CNDS table as per AEMO procedures



								S17				New and replacement Type 4 				A52				Provide forward plan to AEMO and industry								MDP												NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO				At the discretion of the Participant				1-Jul-20								Approach and timeframes visible to affected parties				Should a NMI churn to a Retailer who does not have an agreement to receive 5min data, an agreement would need to be established or the MDP must deliver 30min data as per the Rules pre 1 July 2021.



																A53				Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 between NSP, Retailer, MDP and AEMO								MDP				S06, S43								NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO				At the discretion of the Applicable Participants				28-Feb-21				By 1 Dec 2022				Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement				Should a NMI churn to a Retailer who does not have an agreement to receive 5min data, an agreement would need to be established or the MDP must deliver 30min data as per the Rules pre 1 July 2021.



																A54				5min metering data delivered to Participants (B2B)								MDP				S06, S43, S44								NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO				Subject to the terms of the Agreement				31-May-21 (subject to the terms of the applicable Agreement)				By 1 Dec 2022				MDPs delivering 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement				Ensure MDP aggregation capability in place to support 30min trading interval length up until 1 July 2021



																A55				Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 for B2M purposes								MDP				S06, S43								AEMO, MDP				At the discretion of AEMO and the  Participant				28-Feb-21				By 1 Dec 2022				Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement				MP to provide confirmation of which meters can be included in an agreement



																A56				5min metering data delivered to AEMO (MDFF)
(Export and import (active (kWh) and reactive (kVArh)) energy metering data as applicable) 								MDP				S06, S43, S44								AEMO, MDP				1-Feb-21				31-May-21				By 1 Dec 2022				MDPs delivering 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement				AEMO aggregation capability needs to be in place for 5 and 15min meter data delivery pre-1 July 2021



																A57				Create/activate export and import (active (kWh) and reactive (kVArh)) energy datastreams in CNDS table								MDP				S06								NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO				Implementation date of AEMO's new MDM				31-May-21				By 1 Dec 2022				Register level datastreams active in CNDS table as per AEMO procedures



								S18				New and replacement Type 4A				A58				Provide forward plan to AEMO and industry								MDP												NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO				At the discretion of the Participant				1-Jul-20								Approach and timeframes visible to affected parties				Should a NMI churn to a Retailer who does not have an agreement to receive 5min data, an agreement would need to be established or the MDP must deliver 30min data as per the Rules pre 1 July 2021.



																A59				Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 between NSP, Retailer, MDP and AEMO								MDP				S07, S43								NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO				At the discretion of the Applicable Participants				28-Feb-21				By 1 Dec 2022				Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement				Should a NMI churn to a Retailer who does not have an agreement to receive 5min data, an agreement would need to be established or the MDP must deliver 30min data as per the Rules pre 1 July 2021.



																A60				5min metering data delivered to Participants (B2B)								MDP				S07, S43, S44								NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO				Subject to the terms of the Agreement				31-May-21 (subject to the terms of the applicable Agreement)				By 1 Dec 2022				MDPs delivering 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement				Ensure MDP aggregation capability in place to support 30min trading interval length up until 1 July 2021



																A61				Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 for B2M purposes								MDP				S07, S43								AEMO, MDP				At the discretion of AEMO and the  Participant				28-Feb-21				By 1 Dec 2022				Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement				MP to provide confirmation of which meters can be included in an agreement



																A62				5min metering data delivered to AEMO (MDFF)
(Export and import (active (kWh) and reactive (kVArh)) energy metering data as applicable) 								MDP				S07, S43, S44								AEMO, MDP				1-Feb-21				31-May-21				By 1 Dec 2022				MDPs delivering 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement				AEMO aggregation capability needs to be in place for 5 and 15min meter data delivery pre-1 July 2021



																A63				Create/activate export and import (active (kWh) and reactive (kVArh)) energy datastreams in CNDS table								MDP				S07								NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO				Implementation date of AEMO's new MDM				31-May-21				By 1 Dec 2022				Register level datastreams active in CNDS table as per AEMO procedures



								S19				New and replacement VIC AMI meters 				A64				Provide forward plan to AEMO and industry								MDP												AEMO, FRMP, LNSP				At the discretion of the Participant				1-Jul-20								Approach and timeframes visible to affected parties				Should a NMI churn to a Retailer who does not have an agreement to receive 5min data, an agreement would need to be established or the MDP must deliver 30min data as per the Rules pre 1 July 2021.



																A65				Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 between NSP, Retailer, MDP and AEMO								MDP				S08, S43								NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO				At the discretion of the Applicable Participants				28-Feb-21				By 1 Dec 2022				Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement				Should a NMI churn to a Retailer who does not have an agreement to receive 5min data, an agreement would need to be established or the MDP must deliver 30min data as per the Rules pre 1 July 2021.



																A66				5min metering data delivered to Participants (B2B)								MDP				S08, S43, S44								NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO				Subject to the terms of the Agreement				31-May-21 (subject to the terms of the applicable Agreement)				By 1 Dec 2022				MDPs delivering 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement				Ensure MDP aggregation capability in place to support 30min trading interval length up until 1 July 2021



																A67				Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 for B2M purposes								MDP				S08, S43								AEMO, MDP				At the discretion of AEMO and the  Participant				28-Feb-21				By 1 Dec 2022				Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement				MP to provide confirmation of which meters can be included in an agreement



																A68				5min metering data delivered to AEMO (MDFF)
(Export and import (active (kWh) and reactive (kVArh)) energy metering data as applicable) 								MDP				S08, S43, S44								AEMO, MDP				1-Feb-21				31-May-21				By 1 Dec 2022				MDPs delivering 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement				AEMO aggregation capability needs to be in place for 5 and 15min meter data delivery pre-1 July 2021



																A69				Create/activate export and import (active (kWh) and reactive (kVArh)) energy datastreams in CNDS table								MDP				S08								NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO				Implementation date of AEMO's new MDM				31-May-21				By 1 Dec 2022				Register level datastreams active in CNDS table as per AEMO procedures



								S20				New and replacement SAMPLE Meters				A70				Provide forward plan to AEMO and industry								MDP												AEMO, FRMP, LNSP				At the discretion of the Participant				1-Jul-20								Approach and timeframes visible to affected parties				Should a NMI churn to a Retailer who does not have an agreement to receive 5min data, an agreement would need to be established or the MDP must deliver 30min data as per the Rules pre 1 July 2021.



																A71				Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 between NSP, Retailer, MDP and AEMO								MDP				S09, S43								NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO				At the discretion of the Applicable Participants				28-Feb-21				By 1 Dec 2022				Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement				Should a NMI churn to a Retailer who does not have an agreement to receive 5min data, an agreement would need to be established or the MDP must deliver 30min data as per the Rules pre 1 July 2021.



																A72				5min metering data delivered to Participants (B2B)								MDP				S09, S43, S44								NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO				Subject to the terms of the Agreement				31-May-21 (subject to the terms of the applicable Agreement)				By 1 Dec 2022				MDPs delivering 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement				Activity deleted. Only participant that receives this information is AEMO.



																A73				Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 for B2M purposes								MDP				S09, S43								AEMO, MDP				At the discretion of AEMO and the  Participant				28-Feb-21				By 1 Dec 2022				Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement				MP to provide confirmation of which meters can be included in an agreement



																A74				5min metering data delivered to AEMO (MDFF)
(Export and import (active (kWh) and reactive (kVArh)) energy metering data as applicable) 								MDP				S09, S43, S44								AEMO, MDP				1-Feb-21				31-May-21				By 1 Dec 2022				MDPs delivering 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement				AEMO aggregation capability needs to be in place for 5 and 15min meter data delivery pre-1 July 2021



																A75				Create/activate applicable export and import (active (kWh) and reactive (kVArh)) energy datastreams in CNDS table								MDP				S09								NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO				Implementation date of AEMO's new MDM				31-May-21				By 1 Dec 2022				Register level datastreams active in CNDS table as per AEMO procedures



								S21				Pre-1 Dec 2018/19 Type 4, 4A, VICAMI and SAMPLE meters				A76				Provide forward plan to AEMO and industry								MDP												AEMO, FRMP, LNSP				At the discretion of the Participant				1-Jul-20								Approach and timeframes visible to affected parties				Should a NMI churn to a Retailer who does not have an agreement to receive 5min data, an agreement would need to be established or the MDP must deliver 30min data as per the Rules pre 1 July 2021.



																A77				Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 between NSP, Retailer, MDP and AEMO								MDP				S10, S43								NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO				At the discretion of the Applicable Participants				28-Feb-21								Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement				- Activity removed since there is no timing requirement to transition this category of meters to 5 minute data delivery



																A78				5min metering data delivered to Participants (B2B)								MDP				S10, S43, S44								NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO				Subject to the terms of the Agreement				By 1 Dec 2022
(subject to the terms of the applicable Agreement)								MDPs delivering 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement				- Activity removed since there is no timing requirement to transition this category of meters to 5 minute data delivery



																A79				Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 for B2M purposes								MDP				S10, S43								AEMO, MDP				At the discretion of AEMO and the  Participant				28-Feb-21								Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement				- Activity removed since there is no timing requirement to transition this category of meters to 5 minute data delivery



																A80				Metering data delivered to AEMO (MDFF)
(Export and import (active (kWh) and reactive (kVArh)) energy metering data as applicable) 								MDP				S10, S43, S44								AEMO, MDP				1-Feb-21				31-May-21								MDPs delivering 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement				AEMO aggregation capability needs to be in place for 5 and 15min meter data delivery pre-1 July 2021



																A81				Create/activate export and import (active (kWh) and reactive (kVArh)) energy datastreams in CNDS table								MDP				S10								NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO				Implementation date of AEMO's new MDM				31-May-21								Register level datastreams active in CNDS table as per AEMO procedures



								S22				Type 7 metering installations				A82				5min metering data delivered to Participants (B2B)								MDP				S43								FRMP, LNSP				At the discretion of the Applicable Participants				30-Jun-21				By 1 July 2021				MDPs delivering 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement



																A83				Updating Datastreams in MSATs								MDP												MDP				At the discretion of the Participant				31-May-21				By 1 July 2021



																A84				Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 between NSP, Retailer, MDP and AEMO								MDP												NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO				At the discretion of the Applicable Participants				28-Feb-21				By 1 July 2021



																A85				Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 for B2M purposes								MDP				S43								AEMO, LNSP				At the discretion of the Applicable Participants				28-Feb-21				By 1 July 2021				Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement				MDP to provide confirmation of which NMIs can be included in an agreement



																A86				5min metering data delivered to AEMO (MDFF)								MDP				S43								AEMO				Subject to the terms of the Agreement				30-Jun-21				By 1 July 2021				MDPs delivering 5min metering data to AEMO to support five-minute settlement				AEMO aggregation capability needs to be in place for 5 and 15min meter data delivery pre-1 July 2021



								S23				Non-contestable unmetered loads				A87				LNSP, MSP, FRMP(LR) and end user agree on profiles and algorithms								MDP												AEMO, FRMP, LNSP				At the discretion of the Applicable Participants				31-Dec-20								MDPs delivering metering data to support Global Settlement and UFE Calculations



																A88				Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 between NSP, Retailer, MDP and AEMO								MDP												NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO				At the discretion of the Applicable Participants				28-Feb-21				By 1 July 2021



																A89				AEMO Metering Business approve MDP NCONUML profiles/algorithms 								MDP												AEMO, FRMP, LNSP				At the discretion of AEMO				28-Feb-21								MDPs delivering metering data to support participant billing of NCUML				Avoid potential bottleneck of approvals
MDM needs to be live
Need to consider interactions between accreditation update requirements and the NCUL approvals (AEMO and industry resourcing impacts). Reaccreditation is dependent on system changes (including NCONUML system requirements)



																A90				5min metering data delivered to Participants (B2B)								MDP				S43								FRMP, LNSP				At the discretion of the Applicable Participants				31-May-21				By 1 July 2021				MDPs delivering metering data to support participant billing of NCUML



																A91				Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 for B2M purposes								MDP				S43								AEMO, LNSP				At the discretion of AEMO and the  Participant				28-Feb-21				By 1 July 2021				Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement				MDP to provide confirmation of which NMIs can be included in an agreement



																A92				5min metering data delivered to AEMO (MDFF)								MDP				S43								AEMO				Subject to the terms of the Agreement				31-May-21				By 1 July 2021				MDPs delivering metering data to support Global Settlement Calculations



								S24				Tier 1 basic metering data				A93				Delivery of tier 1 basic meter metering data (Actuals, Subs and Forward Estimates) to AEMO								MDP				S43								AEMO				At the discretion of the Participant				31-Mar-21				By 1 July 2021				MDPs delivering metering data to support Global Settlement Calculations				Need to ensure MDPs don't send data to the LR where the LR = GLOPOOL



								S25				Meter data delivery to AEMO for all interval meters				A94				All interval meter data delivered to AEMO in NEM 12 MDFF								MDP				S43								AEMO				1-Feb-21				31-May-21				From 1 July 2021				MDPs delivering interval data to AEMO via NEM12 MDFF



				MSATS STANDING DATA CREATION AND MAINTENANCE



								S26				Cross-boundary supplies				A95				Create cross-boundary NMIs								LNSP												AEMO, MP, MDP, FRMP, LR, LNSP				Implementation date of AEMO's new MDM				31-May-21				By 1 July 2021				To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021



																A96				Create Datastreams in MSATS								MDP				S04, S05								AEMO, FRMP, LNSP				Implementation date of AEMO's new MDM				31-May-21				By 1 July 2021				To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021



																A97				Create registers in MSATS								MP				S04, S05								AEMO, FRMP, LNSP				Implementation date of AEMO's new MDM				31-May-21				By 1 July 2021				To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021



								S27				Non-contestable unmetered loads				A98				B2BWG to consider potential recommendations to the IEC to better support 1 to many scenarios								AEMO												AEMO, MP, MDP, FRMP, LNSP								30-Nov-19				By 1 July 2021				To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021



																A99				Create NCONUML NMIs in MSATS				1 part process i.e. NMIs are to be created when the new NCUL NMI Class Code is available in MSATS				LNSP												AEMO, MP, MDP, FRMP, LNSP				Implementation date of AEMO's new MDM				31-May-21				By 1 July 2021				To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021



																A100				Create Datastreams in MSATS								MDP												AEMO, MP, FRMP, LNSP				Implementation date of AEMO's new MDM				31-May-21				By 1 July 2021				To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021



																A101				Create registers in MSATS								MP												AEMO, MDP, FRMP, LNSP				Implementation date of AEMO's new MDM				31-May-21				By 1 July 2021				To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021



								S28				New NMI classification codes - BULK				A102				Ensure capability to receive and process new NMI classification codes 								FRMP												FRMP, MDP, MP, LR				At the discretion of the Participant				30-Apr-21				By 1 July 2021				To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021



																A103				Update NMI Class Codes for existing NMIs as required								TNSP												AEMO, FRMP				1-May-21				31-May-21				By 1 July 2021				To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021				NMI Discovery impact i.e. not recognised code
AEMO to monitor application of certain codes e.g. NREG
Can we decouple NMI request vs NMI COM?
If market customers are not ready early then the risk profile goes up!
AEMO to provide Participants a list of NMIs, including their NMI Classification Code, which they believe needs to be updated for reconciliation/validation purposes.



								S29				New NMI classification codes - NCONUML				A104				Ensure capability to receive and process new NMI classification codes 								FRMP												FRMP, MDP, MP, LR				At the discretion of the Participant				Implementation date of AEMO's new MDM				By 1 July 2021				To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021



																A105				Update NMI Class Codes for existing NMIs as required 								LNSP								10's of thousands				AEMO, FRMP				Implementation date of AEMO's new MDM				31-May-21				By 1 July 2021				To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021				NMI Discovery impact i.e. not recognised code
AEMO to monitor application of certain codes e.g. NREG
Can we decouple NMI request vs NMI COM?
If market customers are not ready early then the risk profile goes up!
AEMO to provide Participants a list of NMIs, including their NMI Classification Code, which they believe needs to be updated for reconciliation/validation purposes.

If both parties are ready, AEMO may enable the code in MSATs, however distributors/retailers should only use it when both parties are ready
Only between Local Retailer and DB.



								S30				New NMI classification codes -  DWHOLESAL				A106				Ensure capability to receive and process new NMI classification codes 								FRMP												FRMP, MDP, MP, LR				At the discretion of the Participant				30-Apr-21				By 1 July 2021				To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021



																A107				Update NMI Class Codes for existing NMIs as required								LNSP												AEMO, FRMP				1-May-21				31-May-21				By 1 July 2021				To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021				NMI Discovery impact i.e. not recognised code
AEMO to monitor application of certain codes e.g. NREG
Can we decouple NMI request vs NMI COM?
If market customers are not ready early then the risk profile goes up!
AEMO to provide Participants a list of NMIs, including their NMI Classification Code, which they believe needs to be updated for reconciliation/validation purposes.



								S31				New NMI classification codes - NREG				A108				Ensure capability to receive and process new NMI classification codes 								FRMP												FRMP, MDP, MP, LR				At the discretion of the Participant				30-Apr-21				By 1 July 2021				To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021



																A109				Update NMI Class Codes for existing NMIs as required								LNSP												AEMO, FRMP				1-May-21				31-May-21				By 1 July 2021				To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021				NMI Discovery impact i.e. not recognised code
AEMO to monitor application of certain codes e.g. NREG
Can we decouple NMI request vs NMI COM?
If market customers are not ready early then the risk profile goes up!
AEMO to provide Participants a list of NMIs, including their NMI Classification Code, which they believe needs to be updated for reconciliation/validation purposes.



								S32				New NMI classification codes - XBOUNDRY				A110				Ensure capability to receive and process new NMI classification codes 								FRMP												FRMP, MDP, MP, LR				At the discretion of the Participant				30-Apr-21				By 1 July 2021				To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021



																A111				Update NMI Class Codes for existing NMIs as required								LNSP												AEMO, FRMP				1-May-21				31-May-21				By 1 July 2021				To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021				NMI Discovery impact i.e. not recognised code
AEMO to monitor application of certain codes e.g. NREG
Can we decouple NMI request vs NMI COM?
If market customers are not ready early then the risk profile goes up!
AEMO to provide Participants a list of NMIs, including their NMI Classification Code, which they believe needs to be updated for reconciliation/validation purposes.



								S33				New NMI classification codes - GENERATR				A112				Ensure capability to receive and process new NMI classification codes 								FRMP												FRMP, MDP, MP, LR				At the discretion of the Participant				30-Apr-21				By 1 July 2021				To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021



																A113				Update NMI Class Codes for existing NMIs as required								LNSP												AEMO, FRMP				1-May-21				31-May-21				By 1 July 2021				To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021				NMI Discovery impact i.e. not recognised code
AEMO to monitor application of certain codes e.g. NREG
Can we decouple NMI request vs NMI COM?
If market customers are not ready early then the risk profile goes up!
AEMO to provide Participants a list of NMIs, including their NMI Classification Code, which they believe needs to be updated for reconciliation/validation purposes.



								S34				New NMI classification codes - WHOLESAL				A114				Ensure capability to receive and process new NMI classification codes 								FRMP												FRMP, MDP, MP, LR				At the discretion of the Participant				30-Apr-21				By 1 July 2021				To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021



																A115				Update NMI Class Codes for existing NMIs as required								TNSP												AEMO, FRMP				1-May-21				31-May-21				By 1 July 2021				To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021				NMI Discovery impact i.e. not recognised code
AEMO to monitor application of certain codes e.g. NREG
Can we decouple NMI request vs NMI COM?
If market customers are not ready early then the risk profile goes up!
AEMO to provide Participants a list of NMIs, including their NMI Classification Code, which they believe needs to be updated for reconciliation/validation purposes.



								S35				LR and FRMP fields				A116				Update LR and FRMP to GLOPOOL for existing NMIs as required								AEMO								Significant				AEMO and All Participant Types				5-Feb-22				5-Feb-22				6-Feb-22				To remove the financial liability of Retailers for bulk connection points				Updates must be effective 6 Feb 2022
Consider opt in opt out  independent update (shared script rules) options
In flight CRs will be included in the updates



								S36				Tier 1 basic meter datastreams				A117				Consider new process for activating datastreams 								MDP								Significant				AEMO, FRMP, LNSP				At the discretion of the Participant				31-Mar-21				By 1 July 2021				To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021				MDP to request support from AEMO or industry as required.



																A118				Create/activate tier 1 basic meter datastreams as required								MDP								Significant				AEMO, FRMP, LNSP				At the discretion of the Participant				31-Mar-21				By 1 July 2021				To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021				Bulk update capability and processes may be required
Check to see if a NMI create activity is required e.g. Tasmania



								S37				Interval meter datastreams				A119				Update Datastream type codes from 'P' to 'I' or 'N' as required								MDP												AEMO, FRMP, LNSP				At the discretion of the Participant				31-May-21				By 6 Feb 2022



								S38				VIC TUOS datastreams				A120				Update Datastream type codes from 1-4 to 'I' or 'N' as required								MDP												AEMO, FRMP, LNSP				At the discretion of the Participant				31-May-21				By 1 July 2021



								S39				Meter installation type code in MSATS				A121				Complete data cleanse of meter installation type code in MSATS								MP												AEMO, FRMP, LNSP								30-Nov-19				By 1 July 2021				To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021				Industry feedback is that metering type code data is inconsistently applied. 



								S40				RegisterID and Suffix values in MSATS				A122				Complete data cleanse to ensure that for Interval Meters, the RegisterID  matches the content of the ‘Suffix’ within the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table. E.g. ‘E1’, ‘B1’, ‘Q1’, ‘K1’, etc.								MP												AEMO, MDP				At the discretion of the Participant				31-May-21				By 1 July 2021				To ensure compliance with the Standing Data for MSATS procedure



				METERING ACCREDITATION UPDATES



								S41				MP accreditation update (for 1 July 2021)				A123				Assess level of change required for people, process and systems to facilitate 5MS/GS implementation								MP												AEMO				At the discretion of the Participant				28-Feb-20												AEMO needs to manage reaccreditation, uses queues, can take over a month to complete each application



																A124				Confirm scope/scale of change with AEMO								MP												AEMO				At the discretion of the Participant				30-Jun-20



																A125				If needed, apply for accreditation update								MP												AEMO				At the discretion of the Participant				In accordance with Roadmap agreed with AEMO



																A126				Approve accreditation applications								AEMO												AEMO				At the discretion of AEMO				In accordance with Roadmap agreed with AEMO



								S42				MP accreditation update (for 1 Dec 2022)				A127				Assess level of change required for people, process and systems to facilitate 5MS/GS implementation								MP												AEMO				At the discretion of the Participant				31-Mar-20												AEMO needs to manage reaccreditation, uses queues, can take over a month to complete each application



																A128				Confirm scope/scale of change with AEMO								MP												AEMO				At the discretion of the Participant				30-Sep-20



																A129				If needed, apply for accreditation update								MP												AEMO				At the discretion of the Participant				In accordance with Roadmap agreed with AEMO



																A130				Approve accreditation applications								AEMO												AEMO				At the discretion of AEMO				In accordance with Roadmap agreed with AEMO



								S43				MDP accreditation update (for 1 July 2021)				A131				Assess level of change required for people, process and systems to facilitate 5MS/GS implementation								MDP												AEMO				At the discretion of the Participant				28-Feb-20												AEMO needs to manage reaccreditation, uses queues, can take over a month to complete each application



																A132				Confirm scope/scale of change with AEMO								MDP												AEMO				At the discretion of the Participant				30-Jun-20



																A133				If needed, apply for accreditation update								MDP												AEMO				At the discretion of the Participant				In accordance with Roadmap agreed with AEMO



																A134				Approve accreditation applications								AEMO												AEMO				At the discretion of AEMO				In accordance with Roadmap agreed with AEMO



								S44				MDP accreditation update (for 1 Dec 2022)				A135				Assess level of change required for people, process and systems to facilitate 5MS/GS implementation								MDP												AEMO				At the discretion of the Participant				31-Mar-20												AEMO needs to manage reaccreditation, uses queues, can take over a month to complete each application



																A136				Confirm scope/scale of change with AEMO								MDP												AEMO				At the discretion of the Participant				30-Sep-20



																A137				If needed, apply for accreditation update								MDP												AEMO				At the discretion of the Participant				In accordance with Roadmap agreed with AEMO



																A138				Approve accreditation applications								AEMO												AEMO				At the discretion of AEMO				In accordance with Roadmap agreed with AEMO







				Note: All other dependencies not explicitly mentioned in the MTP are assumed to be the responsibility of the "Responsible" party of each activity











Guide



								Description of Metering transition plan elements



								Metering transition plan element (MTP tab columns)				Purpose



								CATEGORY				High level groupings for metering transition activities 



								SID				Indicates the unique sub-category ID



								SUB-CATEGORY				Groups a set of related metering transition activities (e.g. Type 7 metering installations) within a category



								AID				Indicates the unique activity ID



								ACTIVITY				Describes the Metering transition activity



								ASSUMPTIONS				Lists any assumptions related to the activity



								RESPONSIBILITY				Assigns leadership and responsibility of the metering transition activity to a specific participant type



								DEPENDENCIES				Lists any dependencies related to the activity



								VOLUME/SIZE CONSIDERATIONS				Provides an indication of volume/size implications of the activity



								DIRECTLY AFFECTED PARTIES				Lists out parties that are directly involved in executing the activity



								TRANSITION START DATE				Lists the transition start date for this activity. When no transition start date is specified for an activity, participants may commence the transition at any time prior to the transition end date for that activity.



								TRANSITION END DATE				Lists the transition end date of this activity. It is expected that all relevant participants have completed the activity by this date.



								RULE / PROCEDURE TIMING				Lists the commencement date of the 5MS or GS rule requirement that the activity supports



								TRANSITION OBJECTIVE / OUTCOME				Outlines the objective of the transition activity



								COMMENTS (by AEMO or from TFG)				Lists any comments made by AEMO or the TFG



								NMI classification code changes to support UFE calculation by 1 July 2021



								NMI Classification Code				Description



								BULK				Connection point where a transmission network connects to a distribution network (also termed 'Bulk Supply Point’)



								DWHOLSAL				Distribution network connection point where energy is directly purchased from the spot market by a Market Customer



								NCONUML				Non-contestable unmetered load 



								NREG				Connection point associated with a non-registered embedded generator, i.e. a generating unit that is not classified by a Market Generator, but may be classified by a Small Generation Aggregator as a market generating unit.



								WHOLESAL				Transmission network connection point where energy is directly purchased from the spot market by a Market Customer



								XBOUNDRY				Connection point where a distribution network connects to another to distribution network 











Diagram



								Diagrammatic view of key metering transition activities (last updated 24/01/2020)















image1.emf



FebMarAprMayJunJulAugSepOctNovDecJanFebMarAprMayJunJulAugSepOctNovDecJanFebMarAprMayJunJulAugSepOctNovDec2020202120221/4ReallocationsMDM Platform,B2M API7/12MDFF Accepted1/2Settlements & Dispatch Platform1/45MS LiveGS Live1/76/2New & replacement metering data delivery transition completeMetering Transition ActivityMeter installation and reconfiguration Tier 1 basic metering data delivery transitionGS NMI classification code standing data creation and assessmentNCONUML NMI creation New and replacement  metering data delivery B2M and B2B (T 4, 4A, Vic AMI)LEGENDRelease milestone, AEMO CapabilityRule Commencement milestone Industry Capability  milestoneB2M Metering data delivery New formats*B2M Delivery to AEMO (Settlement) in new formatsOngoing tier 1 basic metering data delivery 5MS B2B metering data transitionB2B 5MS metering data deliveryApplication of new  NMI class  codes (exclNCONUML)GLOPOOL updateNon-contestable unmetered loads profiles and algorithms development and approvalMDMT not accepted26/55MS Capability5MS GS market system capability releasesNew Formats = MDFF, 5 and 15 minute granularity, non net data, active and reactive dataTransition Timeframe requiring impacted party agreementScheduled Transition timeframe











image7.emf


MSATS Procedures 



CATS Procedure Principles and Obligations v47.pdf






MSATS Procedures CATS Procedure Principles and Obligations v47.pdf






 




 




 




 




 




Australian Energy Market Operator Ltd    ABN 94 072 010 327 www.aemo.com.au    info@aemo.com.au 




NEW SOUTH WALES QUEENSLAND SOUTH AUSTRALIA VICTORIA AUSTRALIAN CAPITAL TERRITORY TASMANIA WESTERN AUSTRALIA 




MSATS PROCEDURES 




CATS PROCEDURE PRINCIPLES AND OBLIGATIONS 




 




PREPARED BY: AEMO MARKETS 




VERSION: 4.7 




EFFECTIVE DATE: 20 MAY 2019 




STATUS: FINAL 




  




Approved for distribution and use by: 




APPROVED BY: PETER GEERS 




TITLE: Chief Strategy and Markets Officer 




  




DATE: 20  / 05 / 2019   




 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 2 of 169
 




VERSION RELEASE HISTORY 




Version  Effective Date Summary of Changes 




3.4a  15th July 2011 Updated to facilitate further extension of contestability to small business customers in 
Tasmania. 




3.5  25th August 2011 Updated to include a new objection for the CR1010 & CR1081 and manifest changes. 




3.6  13th January 2012 Updated to include a new Change Reason Code for the update of the Customer 
Classification Code field; additional changes related to National Energy Customer 
Framework; and other minor manifest text changes. 




3.7  15th May 2013 Updated to include a new NMI Discovery Search 3 transaction; aligning procedures 
with the NER as a result of introduction of new terminology regarding MDPs; updates 
based on a New Connections process review to facilitate that a LNSP only nominate a 
retailer as the FRMP based on instruction from that retailer; changes as a result of 
introduction of Market Small Generation Aggregator (MSGA). 




3.8  13th November 
2013 




Updated to align MPB obligations with MDP obligations during the meter set up or 
maintenance process, by requiring the MPB to source the suffix from the appropriate 
MDP. 




3.9  1st January 2014 No version 3.9 was released. The Tasmanian Government withdrew its request for the 
change to the CATS Procedures.  




4.0  15th May 2014 Updated to include amendments arising from the introduction of NECF in NSW.  




4.1  1 July 2014 Updated to include amendments arising from the AEMC Rule change on Access to 
NMI Standing Data.  




4.2 1 December 2017 Updated to incorporate:   
• National Electricity Amendment (Expanding competition in metering and related 




services) Rule 2015. No.12; 
• National Electricity Amendment (Embedded Networks) Rule 2015 No. 15; and 
National Electricity Amendment (Meter Replacement Processes) Rule 2016 No. 2. 




4.3 1 December 2017 Updated to add clarifications and correct errors. 




4.4 1 December 2017 Updated to incorporate feedback from PoC Work Package 3 First Stage consultation. 




4.5 1 December 2017 Updated to incorporate feedback from PoC Work Package 3 Second Stage 
Consultation. 




4.6 20 May 2019 Updated to enable the transfer of a NMI on a greenfield site, include updates to the 
use of objection codes and altered the definition for DATEBAD objections. New MC 
standing data search process added and further clarified responsibilities to correct 
the NTC in MSATS.    




4.7 20 May 2019 Minor amendment to enable MDP to view CR6700/6701 in all statuses to enable the 
required DATEBAD objection to occur. 




 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 3 of 169
 




QUICK REFERENCE GUIDE 




Change Retailer (FRMP) 




Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 




1000, 1010 (SMALL only), 1020 
(LARGE only), 1030, 1040 




Change Retailer Sec 7, Page 52 




1021, 1022, 1023, 1024, 1025, 
1026, 1027, 1028, 1029 (All these 
codes are for SMALL only) 




Change Retailer – Error Corrections (Small NMIs 
only) 




Sec 8, Page 58 




1050,1051 (Both codes are for 
Large only) 




Change Retailer – Where FRMP is NOT the RP  Disabled from 1 
December 2017 




1080, 1081 (SMALL only), 1082, 
1083, 1084 




Change Retailer – Child NMI - Small or Large Sec 9, Page 63 




1090, 1091 (Both codes are for 
Large only) 




Change Retailer – Child NMI - Where FRMP IS NOT 
the RP 




Disabled from 1 
December 2017 




Provide Data 




Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 




1500  Provide Actual Change Date Sec 10, Page 69 




Create NMI 




Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 




2000, 2001 Create NMI Sec 11, Page 71 




2003 Create Tier 1 Site NMI  Disabled from 1 
December 2017 




2020, 2021 Create NMI – Child NMI Sec 12, Page 74 




2500, 2501 Create NMI, Meter, Datastream Sec 13, Page 77 




2520, 2521 Create NMI, Meter, Datastream – Child NMI Sec 14, Page 81 




Maintain Metering  




Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 




3000, 3001 Create Metering Installation Details Sec 15, Page 85 




3003 Create Tier 1 Site Metering Installation Details Disabled from 1 
December 2017 




3004, 3005 Exchange of Metering Information Sec 16, Page 88 




3050, 3051 Change Metering Installation Details Sec 17, Page 91 




3053 Change Tier 1 Site Metering Installation Details Disabled from 1 
December 2017 




3080, 3081  Advanced Change Metering Installation Details Sec 18, Page 94 




3090, 3091 Advanced Exchange of Metering Sec 19, Page 98 




3100, 3101 Change Network Tariff Code Sec 20, Page 102 




Maintain Datastream 




Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 




4000, 4001 Create Datastream Details  Sec 21, Page 104 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 4 of 169
 




Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 




4003 Create Tier 1 Site Datastream Details Disabled from 1 
December 2017 




4004, 4005 Exchange of Datastream Information Sec 22, Page 106 




4050, 4051 Change Datastream Details Sec 23, Page 108 




4053 Change Tier 1 Site Datastream Details Disabled from 1 
December 2017 




Maintain NMI  




Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 




5070, 5071 Update Next Scheduled Read Date Sec 24, Page 110 




5001, 5021 Backdate NMI Start Date Sec 25, Page 112 




5050, 5051 Change NMI Sec 26, Page 116 




5053 Change Tier 1 Site NMI Standing Data  Disabled from 1 
December 2017 




5054, 5055 Change NMI (Customer Classification Code) Sec 27, Page 118 




5060, 5061 Change NMI – Child NMI Sec 28, Page 120 




5080, 5081 Change Parent Name Sec 29, Page 122 




5090, 5091 Make a NMI a Child NMI Disabled from 1 
December 2017 




Change Roles (excluding FRMP) 




Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 




6100, 6110 Change LNSP Sec 30, Page 124 




6200, 6210 Change MDP Sec 31, Page 127 




6300, 6301 Change MC Sec 32, Page 130 




6400, 6401 Change LR Sec 33, Page 132 




6421 Change LR Child NMI Sec 34, Page 134 




6500, 6501 Change RoLR Sec 35, Page 136 




6700, 6701 Change MPB, MPC, or Both Sec 36, Page 138 




6800, 6801 Change Multiple Roles – MC, MDP, MPC, MPB Sec 37, Page 140 




Auto change roles 




Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 




ECLR Change LR – Child NMI -  Auto Sec 38, Page 143 




EPFR Change Secondary FRMP – Parent NMI Sec 39, Page 144 




AEMO only 




Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 




5100, 5101 Standing data updates Sec 40, Page 146 




BCxx Invoke BCT Process Sec 41, Page 149 




 Access to Standing Data Sec 42, Page 152 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 5 of 169
 




HOW TO USE THIS DOCUMENT 




Although this document is lengthy, in most instances you will only need to read one section to 
work out what obligations you have. 




All participants should read and be familiar with Sections 1 to 6, which contain overview material. 
In particular, it is essential that you read Section 2, which defines, for each role, what overall 
obligations it has with regard to these procedures. 




The majority of the document (Sections 7 to 42) covers specific tasks you might either have to 
initiate or be notified about, and the rules and obligations you have with regard to them. 




For example, if you are intending to change a small customer’s retailer, assuming that you are 
already familiar with Sections 1 to 6, you would: 




 Check the grouping of sections covering the topic ‘Change Retailer’ (Sections 7 to 9). 
 Select and then read Section 7, which is called ‘Change Retailer – Small or Large NMI. 




The names of sections 7 to 42 are structured like the following example: 




 CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE MDP SMALL OR LARGE 




 Transaction 
Grouping 




 Specific task NMI classification (where applicable) 




Once you become familiar with this structure it is relatively easy to work out which section you 
need to select whenever you are initiating a transaction. 




If you receive a notification from another participant and are not sure what obligations you have, 
confirm, from the notification, the Change Reason Code. Then check the ‘Quick Reference Guide’ 
at the beginning of this document to confirm what section covers this Change Reason Code. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 6 of 169
 




CONTENTS 




1. INTRODUCTION 15 
1.1. Purpose and Scope 15 
1.2. Definitions and Interpretation 15 
1.3. Commencement of Changes 15 
1.4. Related AEMO Documents 15 




2. OBLIGATIONS BY ROLE 17 
2.1. General Obligations 17 
2.2. Financially Responsible Market Participant 17 
2.3. Local Network Service Provider 18 
2.4. Metering Data Provider 20 
2.5. Metering Provider – Category B 21 
2.6. Metering Coordinator 21 
2.7. Retailer Of Last Resort 22 
2.8. Second Network Service Provider 22 
2.9. AEMO 22 
2.10. Embedded Network Manager 23 




3. CATS FUNCTIONALITY 25 
3.1. Overview 25 
3.2. Principles 25 
3.3. Transaction Types 26 
3.4. Change Requests 27 
3.5. Change Request Status Life Cycle 29 
3.6. Transaction Validation 31 
3.7. Valid Proposed Change Date for Prospective and Retrospective Change Requests 33 




4. CATS CODES AND RULES FOR A CHANGE REQUEST 35 
4.1. Introduction 35 
4.2. Change Reason Code 35 
4.3. Role Codes 38 
4.4. Change Request Initiation Rules 38 
4.5. Jurisdiction Codes 39 
4.6. Timeframe Rules 39 
4.7. Objection Codes 39 
4.8. Objection Rules 40 
4.9. NMI Classification Codes 41 
4.10. End User Classification 41 
4.11. Status Codes 42 
4.12. Metering Installation Type Codes 43 
4.13. Read Type Code 44 
4.14. Field Validation Rules 47 
4.15. Change Request Status Notification Rules 47 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 7 of 169
 




4.16. Maintenance of Codes and Rules 47 
4.17. Datastream Status Code 48 
4.18. Embedded Network Codes and Rules 48 
4.19. Obtaining Electronic Downloads of Configuration Rules 49 




5. MSATS REPORTS 50 




6. GUIDELINES FOR MANAGING CONCURRENT RETAIL TRANSFERS 51 
6.1. Definition of concurrent retail transfers 51 
6.2. Guidelines 51 




7. CHANGE RETAILER – SMALL OR LARGE NMI 52 
7.1. Application [1000 1010 1020 1030 1040] 52 
7.2. Conditions Precedent 52 
7.3. Initiating Roles 52 
7.4. FRMP Requirements 52 
7.5. MDP Requirements 53 
7.6. MC Requirements 54 
7.7. Timeframe Rules 54 
7.8. Objection Rules 55 
7.9. Change Request Status Notification Rules 56 




8. CHANGE RETAILER – ERROR CORRECTIONS – SMALL NMIS 58 
8.1. Application [1021 1022 1023 1024 1025 1026 1027 1028 1029] 58 
8.2. Conditions Precedent 58 
8.3. Initiating Roles 59 
8.4. FRMP Requirements 59 
8.5. MDP Requirements 59 
8.6. MC Requirements 59 
8.7. Timeframe Rules 60 
8.8. Objection Rules 60 
8.9. Change Request Status Notification Rules 61 




9. CHANGE RETAILER – EMBEDDED NETWORKS – SMALL OR LARGE 63 
9.1. Application [1080 1081 1082 1083 1084] 63 
9.2. Conditions Precedent 63 
9.3. Initiating Roles 63 
9.4. FRMP Requirements 63 
9.5. MDP Requirements 64 
9.6. MC Requirements 65 
9.7. Timeframe Rules 66 
9.8. Objection Rules 66 
9.9. Change Request Status Notification Rules 68 




10. PROVIDE DATA – PROVIDE ACTUAL CHANGE DATE – SMALL OR LARGE 69 
10.1. Application [1500] 69 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 8 of 169
 




10.2. Conditions Precedent 69 
10.3. Initiating Roles 69 
10.4. MDP Requirements 69 
10.5. Timeframe Rules 69 
10.6. Objection Rules 69 
10.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 70 




11. CREATE NMI – CREATE A NMI – SMALL OR LARGE 71 
11.1. Application [2000 2001] 71 
11.2. Conditions Precedent 71 
11.3. Initiating Roles 71 
11.4. LNSP Requirements 71 
11.5. MPB Requirements 72 
11.6. Timeframe Rules 72 
11.7. Objection Rules 72 
11.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 73 




12. CREATE NMI – CREATE CHILD NMI – SMALL OR LARGE 74 
12.1. Application [2020 2021] 74 
12.2. Conditions Precedent 74 
12.3. Initiating Roles 74 
12.4. ENM Requirements 74 
12.5. MPB Requirements 75 
12.6. Timeframe Rules 75 
12.7. Objection Rules 75 
12.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 76 




13. CREATE NMI – CREATE NMI, METERING INSTALLATION DETAILS AND NMI DATASTREAM – 
SMALL OR LARGE 77 




13.1. Application [2500 2501] 77 
13.2. Conditions Precedent 77 
13.3. Initiating Roles 77 
13.4. LNSP Requirements 77 
13.5. Timeframe Rules 79 
13.6. Objection Rules 79 
13.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 79 




14. CREATE NMI – CREATE NMI, METERING INSTALLATION DETAILS AND MDM DATASTREAM – 
CHILD NMI (SMALL OR LARGE) 81 




14.1. Application [2520 2521] 81 
14.2. Conditions Precedent 81 
14.3. Initiating Roles 81 
14.4. ENM Requirements 81 
14.5. Timeframe Rules 83 
14.6. Objection Rules 83 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 9 of 169
 




14.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 84 




15. MAINTAIN METERING – CREATE METERING INSTALLATION DETAILS – SMALL OR LARGE 85 
15.1. Application [3000 3001] 85 
15.2. Conditions Precedent 85 
15.3. Initiating Roles 85 
15.4. MPB Requirements 85 
15.5. Timeframe Rules 86 
15.6. Objection Rules 87 
15.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 87 




16. MAINTAIN METERING – EXCHANGE OF METERING INFORMATION – SMALL OR LARGE 88 
16.1. Application [3004 3005] 88 
16.2. Conditions Precedent 88 
16.3. Initiating Roles 88 
16.4. MPB Requirements 88 
16.5. Timeframe Rules 89 
16.6. Objection Rules 90 
16.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 90 




17. MAINTAIN METERING – CHANGE METERING INSTALLATION DETAILS – SMALL OR LARGE 91 
17.1. Application [3050 3051] 91 
17.2. Conditions Precedent 91 
17.3. Initiating Roles 91 
17.4. MPB Requirements 91 
17.5. Timeframe Rules 92 
17.6. Objection Rules 93 
17.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 93 




18. MAINTAIN METERING – ADVANCED CHANGE METERING INSTALLATION DETAILS – SMALL OR 
LARGE 94 




18.1. Application [3080 3081] 94 
18.2. Conditions Precedent 94 
18.3. Initiating Roles 94 
18.4. MC Requirements 94 
18.5. MDP Requirements 96 
18.6. Timeframe Rules 96 
18.7. Objection Rules 96 
18.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 97 




19. MAINTAIN METERING – ADVANCED EXCHANGE OF METERING – SMALL OR LARGE 98 
19.1. Application [3090 3091] 98 
19.2. Conditions Precedent 98 
19.3. Initiating Roles 98 
19.4. MC Requirements 98 
19.5. MDP Requirements 100 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 10 of 169
 




19.6. Timeframe Rules 100 
19.7. Objection Rules 100 
19.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 101 




20. MAINTAIN METERING – CHANGE NETWORK TARIFF CODE – SMALL OR LARGE 102 
20.1. Application [3100 3101] 102 
20.2. Conditions Precedent 102 
20.3. Initiating Roles 102 
20.4. LNSP or ENM Requirements 102 
20.5. Timeframe Rules 103 
20.6. Objection Rules 103 
20.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 103 




21. MAINTAIN DATASTREAM – CREATE NMI DATASTREAM –SMALL OR LARGE 104 
21.1. Application [4000 4001] 104 
21.2. Conditions Precedent 104 
21.3. Initiating Roles 104 
21.4. MDP Requirements 104 
21.5. Timeframe Rules 104 
21.6. Objection Rules 105 
21.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 105 




22. MAINTAIN DATASTREAM – EXCHANGE OF DATASTREAM INFORMATION SMALL OR LARGE 106 
22.1. Application [4004 4005] 106 
22.2. Conditions Precedent 106 
22.3. Initiating Roles 106 
22.4. MDP Requirements 106 
22.5. Timeframe Rules 107 
22.6. Objection Rules 107 
22.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 107 




23. MAINTAIN DATASTREAM – CHANGE NMI DATASTREAM – SMALL OR LARGE 108 
23.1. Application [4050 4051] 108 
23.2. Conditions Precedent 108 
23.3. Initiating Roles 108 
23.4. MDP Requirements 108 
23.5. Timeframe Rules 109 
23.6. Objection Rules 109 
23.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 109 




24. MAINTAIN NMI – UPDATE NEXT SCHEDULED READ DATE – SMALL OR LARGE 110 
24.1. Application [5070 5071] 110 
24.2. Conditions Precedent 110 
24.3. Initiating Roles 110 
24.4. MDP Requirements 110 
24.5. Timeframe Rules 110 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 11 of 169
 




24.6. Objection Rules 111 
24.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 111 




25. MAINTAIN NMI – BACKDATE A NMI – SMALL OR LARGE 112 
25.1. Application [5001 5021] 112 
25.2. Conditions Precedent 112 
25.3. Initiating Roles 112 
25.4. LNSP Requirements (5001 only) 112 
25.5. ENM Requirements (5021 only) 113 
25.6. AEMO Requirements 113 
25.7. MPB Requirements 114 
25.8. Timeframe Rules 114 
25.9. Objection Rules 114 
25.10. Change Request Status Notification Rules 114 




26. MAINTAIN NMI – CHANGE A NMI – SMALL OR LARGE 116 
26.1. Application [5050 5051] 116 
26.2. Conditions Precedent 116 
26.3. Initiating Roles 116 
26.4. LNSP Requirements 116 
26.5. Timeframe Rules 117 
26.6. Objection Rules 117 
26.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 117 




27. MAINTAIN NMI – CHANGE A NMI – CUSTOMER CLASSIFICATION CODE – SMALL OR LARGE 118 
27.1. Application [5054 5055] 118 
27.2. Conditions Precedent 118 
27.3. Initiating Roles 118 
27.4. FRMP Requirements 118 
27.5. Timeframe Rules 118 
27.6. Objection Rules 119 
27.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 119 




28. MAINTAIN NMI – CHANGE NMI EMBEDDED NETWORK (CHILD) – SMALL OR LARGE 120 
28.1. Application [5060 5061] 120 
28.2. Conditions Precedent 120 
28.3. Initiating Roles 120 
28.4. ENM Requirements 120 
28.5. Timeframe Rules 121 
28.6. Objection Rules 121 
28.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 121 




29. MAINTAIN NMI – CHANGE PARENT NAME – SMALL OR LARGE 122 
29.1. Application [5080 5081] 122 
29.2. Conditions Precedent 122 
29.3. Initiating Roles 122 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 12 of 169
 




29.4. LNSP Requirements 122 
29.5. Timeframe Rules 122 
29.6. Objection Rules 123 
29.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 123 




30. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE LNSP – SMALL OR LARGE 124 
30.1. Application [6100 6110] 124 
30.2. Conditions Precedent 124 
30.3. Initiating Roles 124 
30.4. LNSP or ENM Requirements 124 
30.5. Timeframe Rules 124 
30.6. Objection Rules 125 
30.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 125 




31. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE MDP – SMALL OR LARGE 127 
31.1. Application [6200 6210] 127 
31.2. Conditions Precedent 127 
31.3. Initiating Roles 127 
31.4. FRMP/Current MC Requirements 127 
31.5. MDP Requirements 127 
31.6. Timeframe Rules 127 
31.7. Objection Rules 128 
31.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 128 




32. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE MC – SMALL OR LARGE 130 
32.1. Application [6300 6301] 130 
32.2. Conditions Precedent 130 
32.3. Initiating Roles 130 
32.4. MC/Current FRMP Requirements 130 
32.5. Timeframe Rules 130 
32.6. Objection Rules 131 
32.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 131 




33. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE LR – SMALL OR LARGE 132 
33.1. Application [6400 6401] 132 
33.2. Conditions Precedent 132 
33.3. Initiating Roles 132 
33.4. LR Requirements 132 
33.5. Timeframe Rules 132 
33.6. Objection Rules 133 
33.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 133 




34. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE LR – CHILD NMI – SMALL OR LARGE 134 
34.1. Application [6421] 134 
34.2. Conditions Precedent 134 
34.3. Initiating Roles 134 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 13 of 169
 




34.4. LR Requirements 134 
34.5. Timeframe Rules 134 
34.6. Objection Rules 135 
34.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 135 




35. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE ROLR – SMALL OR LARGE 136 
35.1. Application [6500 6501] 136 
35.2. Conditions Precedent 136 
35.3. Initiating Roles 136 
35.4. ROLR Requirements 136 
35.5. Timeframe Rules 136 
35.6. Objection Rules 137 
35.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 137 




36. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE MPB OR MPC OR BOTH – SMALL OR LARGE 138 
36.1. Application [6700 6701] 138 
36.2. Conditions Precedent 138 
36.3. Initiating Roles 138 
36.4. MC Requirements 138 
36.5. MDP Requirements 138 
36.6. Timeframe Rules 138 
36.7. Objection Rules 139 
36.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 139 




37. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE MULTIPLE ROLES – SMALL OR LARGE 140 
37.1. Application [6800 6801] 140 
37.2. Conditions Precedent 140 
37.3. Initiating Roles 140 
37.4. FRMP Requirements 140 
37.5. MC Requirements 140 
37.6. MDP Requirements 141 
37.7. Timeframe Rules 141 
37.8. Objection Rules 141 
37.9. Change Request Status Notification Rules 142 




38. AUTO CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE LOCAL RETAILER EMBEDDED NETWORK CHILD – SMALL OR 
LARGE 143 




38.1. Application [ECLR] 143 
38.2. Conditions Precedent 143 
38.3. Timeframe Rules 143 
38.4. Objection Rules 143 
38.5. Change Request Status Notification Rules 143 




39. AUTO CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE SECONDARY FRMP PARENT – SMALL OR LARGE 144 
39.1. Application [EPFR] 144 
39.2. Conditions Precedent 144 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 14 of 169
 




39.3. Timeframe Rules 144 
39.4. Objection Rules 144 
39.5. Change Request Status Notification Rules 144 




40. AEMO ONLY – AEMO-INITIATED STANDING DATA UPDATES – SMALL OR LARGE 146 
40.1. Application [5100 5101] 146 
40.2. Conditions Precedent 146 
40.3. Initiating Roles 146 
40.4. AEMO Requirements 146 
40.5. Timeframe Rules 148 
40.6. Objection Rules 148 
40.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 148 




41. AEMO ONLY – CHANGE ROLE, TNI OR DLF CODE – BULK CHANGE TOOL (BCT) – SMALL OR 
LARGE 149 




41.1. Introduction 149 
41.2. Conditions Precedent 149 
41.3. Requesting Participant Requirements 150 
41.4. Impacted Participant Requirements 151 
41.5. MDP Requirements 151 
41.6. Timeframe Rules 151 
41.7. Objection Rules 151 
41.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 151 




42. ACCESS TO CATS STANDING DATA 152 
42.1. Introduction 152 
42.2. Participant 152 
42.3. Request a NMI Discovery Search 152 




 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 15 of 169
 




1. INTRODUCTION 




1.1. Purpose and Scope 
These are the MSATS Procedures – CATS Procedure Principles and Obligations made under clause 
7.16.2 of the National Electricity Rules (NER) (Rules). 




These Procedures have effect only for the purposes set out in the NER. The NER and the National 
Electricity Law prevail over these Procedures to the extent of any inconsistency. 




1.2. Definitions and Interpretation 
The Retail Electricity Market Procedures – Glossary and Framework: 




(a) is incorporated into and forms part of these Procedures; and 




(b) should be read with these Procedures. 




1.3. Commencement of Changes 
Changes to these Procedures will take effect at 00:00 hours Eastern Standard Time on the day of 
effect after notice has been given to Participants of the changes. 




All changes to NMI Master Records will become effective at 00:00 hours Eastern Standard Time on 
the day of effect. This includes End User transfers and all changes to CATS Standing Data. 




1.4. Related AEMO Documents 




Title Location 




Allocation of Embedded Network Codes http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering/Metering-procedures-guidelines-and-processes 
 




CATS Hints and Tips http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions 




Guide to MSATS B2B http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions 




Guide to MSATS Web portal http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions 




Introduction to MSATS http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions 




MDM Procedures http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions 




Metrology Procedure:  Part A http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering 




Metrology Procedure:  Part B http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering 




NEM RoLR Processes http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering 




NMI Procedures http://www.aemo.com.au/media/Files/Other/electricityops/0610-
0008%20pdf.pdf 




Retail Electricity Market Procedures – 
Glossary and Framework 




http://aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-
metering/Glossary-and-Framework 




Service Level Procedure (MDP) http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering/Metering-procedures-guidelines-and-processes 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 16 of 169
 




Title Location 




Standing Data for MSATS http://www.aemo.com.au/-
/media/Files/PDF/AEMOStandingDataforMSATSv42.ashx 




WIGS Procedures http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions 




 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 17 of 169
 




2. OBLIGATIONS BY ROLE 




2.1. General Obligations 
(a) Participants must select the most applicable Transaction Type Code or Change Request 




Code for their proposed transaction. 




(b) A Participant must not seek access through MSATS to the data pertaining to a NMI unless it 
has, or had, a known and commercial relationship with the NMI except when conducting a 
NMI Discovery Search 1, 2 or 3. 




(c) A Participant, other than AEMO, must not use a facility provided in MSATS for a purpose 
other than allowed by these Procedures. 




(d) A Participant must not enter an Actual End Date into MSATS unless it has a known and 
commercial relationship with the NMI to which the Actual End Date refers. 




(e) A Participant must not raise an Objection Code unless the Objection is fair and reasonable;  
for example, when an Objection is made using a specific Objection Code, the Participant 
who made the Objection must be able to produce evidence upon request to substantiate it. 




(f) A Participant may object to a Change Request by using an Objection Code and adhering to 
Objection Rules .    




(g) Participants must ensure that the transfer of a NMI from one FRMP to another FRMP is not 
delayed. 




(h) Participants must ensure that CATS Standing Data is kept current and relevant for the NMIs 
they are responsible. 




(i) Unless a different timeframe is specified in these Procedures, a Participant must update the 
CATS Standing Data within 20 business days of becoming aware that it is no longer current 
or relevant. 




(j) Participants may request reports from MSATS for the NMIs with which it has a relationship. 




(k) Participants must consider and action as necessary within two business days any requests 
from Particpants that have been incorrectly assigned Roles. 




2.2. Financially Responsible Market Participant 
The New FRMP must: 




(a) Nominate the MC in accordance with the NER. 




(b) Initiate a Change Request for the transfer of a NMI in accordance with the applicable 
Timeframe Rules. Subject to the Retrospective Periods and Prospective Periods, the New 
FRMP must initiate the transfer: 




(i) Having the mandatory information required to initiate a valid transfer in MSATS; and 




(ii) No later than two business days after the conclusion of the Cooling-Off Period. 




(c) Where Jurisdictions allow transfers to be raised within the Cooling-Off Period, ensure that a 
Change Request cannot Complete prior to the end of the Cooling-Off Period. 




(d) Ensure that only small generating unit connection points are assigned to the relevant MSGA  




(e) Manage the transfer process if there are any matters that require attention in regard to the 
NMI, either from the operation of MSATS or from events that are external to its operation. 




(f) Adopt the Role of LR for child connection points where they are the FRMP of the Parent NMI. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 18 of 169
 




(g) Ensure that any Pending retail transfers are withdrawn within 210 days of the lodgement of 
the Change Request. 




(h) Withdraw a Change Request as soon as practicable, and within two business days, of being 
aware that the transfer cannot occur. 




The Current FRMP must: 




(i) Ensure that each small generating unit’s connection point is assigned to their MSGA 
Participant ID in MSATS. 




(j) Ensure that only small generating unit’s connection points are assigned to the MSGA’s 
Participant ID in MSATS. 




(k) Be responsible for settlement in respect of a NMI until the actual date of the NMI transfer to 
a New FRMP or until the NMI is classified as ‘extinct’. 




(l) Remain the Current FRMP and be responsible for all End User billing up to the actual date 
of change of financial responsibility to the New FRMP as notified by MSATS. 




(m) Consider and action as necessary within two business days any requests from incorrectly 
assigned Participants to correct the Participant allocation in MSATS. 




(n) Provide the ADL to the LNSP and the MDP for new connections. 




(o) Provide an update of the ADL to the Current MDP where the Current FRMP becomes aware 
of an expected change in the ADL of greater than 20%, other than by advice from the MDP. 




(p) Establish or update the Customer Classification Code within five business days of the NMI 
Status Code becoming ‘A’ in MSATS, where the Customer Classification Code has changed. 




(q) Update or provide the Customer Classification Code as the following: 




(i) for an End User at a NMI where the Customer Classification Code has changed, within 
five business days of any New contract with an End User at that connection point. 




(ii) within five business days of becoming aware of a change to the Customer 
Classification Code. 




(iii) within five business days of a End User Transfer Change Request being Completed, 
where the Customer Classification Code has changed. 




2.3. Local Network Service Provider 
The New LNSP must: 




(a) Initiate a Create NMI Change Request within 2 business days of a request by a FRMP, or of 
the mandatory information required by the Change Request becoming available, whichever 
is the later.   




(b) Consider and action as necessary within two business days any requests from incorrectly 
assigned Participants to correct a Create NMI Change Request in MSATS. 




The Current LNSP must: 




(c) Allocate a NMI and NMI Checksum for each connection point in accordance with the NMI 
Procedures and clause 7.13.2 of the NER. 




(d) Provide an update of the ADL to the Current MDP where the LNSP becomes aware of an 
expected change in the ADL of greater than 20%, other than by advice from the MDP. 




(e) Update the Customer Threshold Code within five business days of becoming aware that the 
existing Customer Threshold Code is incorrect for NMIs with a Customer Classification Code 
of ‘BUSINESS’ and a NMI Status Code of ‘A’, or ‘D’. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 19 of 169
 




(f) Update or remove, as required, the Customer Threshold Code for a NMI within five business 
days of the Customer Classification Code being changed to ‘RESIDENTIAL’. 




(g) Provide DLF Codes and values to AEMO for the initial population of the DLF Code in 
MSATS. 




(h) Update NMI Status Code to ‘D’ within five business days of the connection point being de-
energised by the LNSP. The Proposed Change Date shall be the day after the de-
energisation for an Interval Metered connection point or the day of the de-energisation for a 
Accumulation Metered connection point. 




(i) Update the NMI Status Code to ‘A’ (Active) within five business days of the connection point 
being re-energised by the LNSP. The Proposed Change Date shall be the day the connection 
point is re-energised. 




(j) Update the NMI Status Code to ‘X’ (Extinct) within five business days of becoming aware of 
the abolition of the connection point. The Proposed Change Date shall be the day after the 
connection point was removed for an Interval Metered connection point or the day of the 
removal for an Accumulation Metered connection point. 




(k) Ensure that Network Tariff details for each NMI in its area are stored in the Network Tariff 
Code field at the Register ID level. 




(l) Correct the network tariff code or engage with the current FRMP to confirm an appropriate 
network tariff code where the LNSP considers the network tariff code is inappropriate for 
the site in MSATS. 




(m) Subject to any applicable Jurisdictional restrictions, use reasonable endeavours to provide 
NMI and NMI Checksum (other than when this is available via a NMI Discovery Search) to 
the New FRMP within one business day of a follow-up request for this information from the 
New FRMP for a Site identified in the request by reference to any of the following: 




(i) a unique meter identifier held by the LNSP;  




(ii) a street address; or  




(iii) the DPID. 




If a computer search by the LNSP does not produce a unique match for the information 
provided by the retailer, the LNSP must provide the retailer with any computer matches 
achieved up to a maximum of 99. 




(n) Subject to any applicable Jurisdictional restrictions, provide NMI Standing Data (other than 
data available via a NMI Discovery Search or the MSATS C7 report) to the New FRMP within 
two business days of a request from the New FRMP for a Site identified in the request by 
reference to the NMI and NMI Checksum. 




(o) Consider and action as necessary within two business days any requests from incorrectly 
assigned Participants to correct a Create NMI Change Request in MSATS. 




(p) Consider and action as necessary within two business days any requests from other 
Participants to correct erroneous NMI Standing Data. 




(q) Allocate a name to the Parent NMI and provide the name to AEMO. 




The Current LNSP may: 




(r) Update the Customer Threshold Code for NMIs with a Customer Classification Code of 
‘RESIDENTIAL’. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 20 of 169
 




2.4. Metering Data Provider 
An MDP must: 




(a) Use reasonable endeavours to provide metering data to the New FRMP within two business 
days of a request for this information from the New FRMP.  




(b) Use reasonable endeavours to provide Historical Data to the Current FRMP within two 
business days of a request for this information from the Current FRMP.  Historical Data is for 
a period of up to 12 months or otherwise as defined by the relevant Jurisdiction. 




(c) Where an MDP is to update an Interval Datastream Status Code to ‘I’ (Inactive) for a 
connection point that is de-energised, the Proposed Change Date must be the day after the 
connection point is de-energised. (The Datastream Status Code is the key criterion used to 
include metering data in the settlement process). 




(d) Where an MDP is to update an accumulation Datastream Status Code to ‘I’ (Inactive) for a 
connection point that is de-energised, the Proposed Change Date shall be the day the 
connection point is de-energised. (The Datastream Status Code is the key criterion used to 
include metering data in the settlement process). 




(e) Where an MDP is to update an Datastream Status Code for either an Accumulation Meter 
or Interval Meter to ‘A’ (Active) for a connection point that is re-energised, the Proposed 
Change Date must be day the connection point is re-energised. (The Datastream Status 
Code is the key criterion used to include metering data in the settlement process). 




The New MDP must: 




(f) Provide the Actual Change Date to MSATS for transfers for which it receives a Data Request 
for an Actual Change Date. If a manual Meter Reading has been done, the Actual Change 
Date must be the date of the Meter Reading. If more than one meter exists for the NMI, all 
meters should be read on the date of the Actual Change Date that is being provided. 




(g) Configure the Datastream as ‘A’ (Active) or ‘I’ (Inactive) in accordance with the Service Level 
Procedure (MDP). 




(h) Use reasonable endeavours to obtain an Actual Meter Reading where requested but when 
unable to do so provide an Estimated Reading in accordance with Jurisdictional 
requirements. 




(i) Register individual Datastreams in MSATS as described in the NMI Procedure. 




(j) Subject to any applicable Jurisdictional restrictions, use reasonable endeavours to provide 
CATS Standing Data (other than NMI data access information) to the New FRMP within two 
business days of a request for this information from the New FRMP. 




(k) For metering installation types 1-4 and 4A, upon receiving a request from an MPB, provide 
the NMI suffix information applicable to the metering installation within two business days. 




The Current MDP must: 




(l) Provide the Actual Change Date to MSATS for transfers for which it receives a Data Request 
for an Actual Change Date. If a manual Meter Reading has been done, the Actual Change 
Date must be the date of the Meter Reading. If more than one meter exists for the NMI, all 
meters should be read on the date of the Actual Change Date that is being provided. 




(m) Obtain the ADL from the FRMP or the LNSP and update the ADL in MSATS if it is missing or 
incorrect. 




(n) Consider and action as necessary within two business days any updated ADL information 
provided by the LNSP or Current FRMP. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 21 of 169
 




(o) Recalculate the ADL for each active Datastream at least annually and enter this value in 
MSATS where the calculated value differs by more than 20% from the ADL recorded in 
MSATS. Where the current ADL is under 5kWh and the newly calculated ADL is found to be 
still less than 5kWh there is no requirement for the MDP to update the ADL record within 
MSATS. 




(p) For metering installations that are manually read, or have been made capable of remote 
acquisition in accordance with 7.8.9(b) of the NER,update the NSRD within two business days 
of a meter being read.  




(q) For metering installation types 1-4 and 4A, upon receiving a request from an MPB, provide 
the NMI suffix information applicable to the metering installation within two business days. 




2.5. Metering Provider – Category B 
The New MPB must: 




(a) For metering installation types 1-4 and 4A, contact the MDP and agree the NMI suffix 
information prior to updating MSATS with all Meter Register data. 




(b) Upon the installation or re-configuration of the metering installation, update MSATS with all 
Meter Register data, as agreed with the MDP within five business days of becoming the 
MPB. 




(c) Provide to the MC and the Current LNSP any additional technical information regarding the 
metering installation within five business days of becoming the Current MPB. 




The Current MPB must: 




(d) Provide to the Current LNSP any Meter Register data regarding the metering installation 
that is not recorded in MSATS within two business days of request. 




(e) Provide additional metering installation details to MSATS within two business days of 
receiving a Data Request. 




(f) Consider and action as necessary any request to correct erroneous details relating to the 
Meter Register and Register Identifier Status Code within five business days of notification. 




(g) Upon the configuration of the metering installation, update MSATS with all Meter Register 
data, as agreed with the MDP within five business days of performing a metering 
configuration change. 




(h) Update the Meter Register Status Code within 5 business days of a change in meter register 
conditions, including the remote de-energisation and remote re-energisation.. 




2.6. Metering Coordinator 
An MC must: 




(a) Appoint an MDP to provide metering data services, and provide the FRMP with the name of 
that MDP, and ensure that metering data services are provided in accordance with the NER 
and the procedures authorised under the NER. 




(b) Appoint an MP for the provision, installation and maintenance of the metering installation, 
and ensure that the metering installation is provided, installed and maintained in 
accordance with the NER and the procedures authorised under the NER. 




The New MC must: 




(c) Ensure that the Roles nominated in a Change Request are correct. Any errors or omissions 
must be notified to the initiator of the Change Request within two business days of the error 
or omission being identified. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 22 of 169
 




(d) Ensure that the metering installation meets all requirements prescribed in the National 
Electricity Rules in accordance with the NMI classification before transfer into the NEM. 




(e) Ensure that the Meter Reading is available in relation to the Actual Change Date. 




(f) Ensure that the final Meter Reading is obtained in relation to a change of a relevant 
component of a metering installation. 




(g) Ensure that all metering data is provided to the Current LNSP, the Current LR, the Current 
MDP and the Current FRMP, from which the NMI was transferred, in accordance with the 
metrology procedure and Service Level Procedure (MDP) to enable the continuity of billing 
up until the actual transfer date or abolishment date. 




(h) Ensure that the metering installation and the communication facilities to the metering 
installation are in place and remain in place. 




The Current MC must: 




(i) Subject to any applicable Jurisdictional restrictions, ensure that CATS Standing Data (other 
than NMI data access information) is provided to the New FRMP within two business days of 
a request for this information from the New FRMP. 




(j) Ensure that any Meter Register data regarding the metering installation that is not recorded 
in MSATS is provided to the LNSP within five business days of request. 




2.7. Retailer Of Last Resort 
As the ROLR for a ROLR Event is determined and appointed by a Regulator, the ROLR Role in 
MSATS is for indicative purposes only. (Refer to section 35.) 




2.8. Second Network Service Provider 
The NSP2 must notify and request the relevant Participant (LNSP, MPB or MDP) to correct any data 
inconsistency that may exist in MSATS within two business days of becoming aware of the error. 




2.9. AEMO 
AEMO must: 




(a) Continue to invoice (as per NER requirements) the Current FRMP for a Tier 2 Site until it is 
transferred to another FRMP in accordance with these Procedures. 




(b) Enter the DLF Codes provided by an LNSP into MSATS within two business days of receipt. 




(c) Maintain changes to codes and rules in MSATS in accordance with the MSATS Procedures. 
AEMO must correct any discrepancies as soon as practicable once identified. 




(d) Use the BCT to transfer to the nominated RoLR the CATS Standing Data for all connection 
points associated with a Current FRMP that has been suspended from operating in the 
market. 




(e) Populate MSATS with the Embedded Network Code that had been provided to AEMO by 
the LNSP within two business days of receipt. 




(f) Maintain the TNI records in MSATS. 




(g) Populate MSATS with the NSP2 for the appropriate WIGS NMIs. 




(h) Provide, on request from the New ENM, a set/range of NMIs to that New ENM for allocation 
by that ENM to child connection points. 




(i) Provide, on request from a Current ENM, one or more NMIs to that Current ENM for 
allocation by that ENM to the newly formed child connection points. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 23 of 169
 




(j) Where required to Object to a Change Request, use the most appropriate Objection Code. 
If there is no Objection Code that describes the reason for the Objection, AEMO must use 
the BLOCK Objection Code. 




AEMO may: 




(k) Cancel/withdraw any incomplete retail transfers after 7 months from the date of Initiation. 




Note: An automatic nightly MSATS process will Cancel/Withdraw dormant Change Requests that 
exceed 220 days. 




2.10. Embedded Network Manager 
The New ENM must, for each child connection point: 




(a) Obtain a set/range of NMIs from AEMO. 




(b) Initiate a Create NMI Change Request within two business days of a request by a FRMP, or 
of the mandatory data required by the Change Request becoming available, whichever is 
the later. 




(c) Consider and action as necessary within two business days any requests from incorrectly 
assigned Participants to correct a Create NMI Change Request in MSATS. 




(d) Manage the distribution of NMIs. 




(e) Allocate a name to the Parent NMI and provide the name to AEMO (note: this only applies 
in situations where a Child NMI is also a Parent NMI of another embedded network and 
AEMO needs to create an embedded network name in MSATS). 




(f) Allocate an existing Embedded Network Code of a Parent NMI to to each Child NMI.  




The Current ENM must, for each child connection point: 




(g) Allocate a NMI and NMI Checksum. 




(h) Provide an update of the ADL to the Current MDP where the ENM becomes aware of an 
expected change in the ADL of greater than 20%, other than by advice from the MDP. 




(i) Update the Customer Threshold Code within five business days of becoming aware that the 
existing Customer Threshold Code is incorrect for NMIs with a Customer Classification Code 
of ‘BUSINESS’ and a NMI Status Code of ‘A’, or ‘D’. 




(j) Update or remove, as required, the Customer Threshold Code for a NMI within five business 
days of the Customer Classification Code being changed to ‘RESIDENTIAL’. 




(k) Enter the DLF Code for each child connection point within its embedded network, and ensure 
all Child NMIs attached to an embedded network have the same DLF Code, and that this DLF 
Code is the Parent NMI’s DLF Code unless a Site specific DLF has been approved by the 
AER. 




(l) Enter the TNI Code for each child connection point within its embedded network, and ensure 
all Child NMIs attached to an embedded network have the same TNI Code and that this TNI 
Code is the Parent NMI’s TNI Code. 




(m) Update Child NMI Status Code to ‘D’ within five business days of the child connection point 
being de-energised. The Proposed Change Date shall be the day after the de-energisation 
for an Interval Metered child connection point or the day of the de-energisation for a 
Accumulation Metered child connection point. 




(n) Update the Child NMI Status Code to ‘A’ within five business of the child connection point 
being re-energised. The Proposed Change Date shall be the day the child connection point 
is re-energised. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 24 of 169
 




(o) Update the Child NMI Status Code to ‘X’ within five business days of becoming aware of the 
abolition of the child connection point. The Proposed Change Date shall be the day after the 
child connection point was removed for an Interval Metered child connection point or the day 
of the removal for a Accumulation Metered child connection point. 




(p) Update Child NMI Status Code to ‘N’ (Off Market NMI) within five business days of the 
connection point no longer being settled in the NEM. 




(q) Update Child NMI Status Code from ‘N’ to ‘A’ within five business days of the connection 
point becoming on-market. 




(r) Ensure that Network Tariff details for each NMI in its area are stored in the Network Tariff 
Code field at the Register ID level. 




(s) Subject to any applicable Jurisdictional restrictions, provide the NMI and NMI Checksum 
(other than when this is available via a NMI Discovery Search 1) to the New FRMP within one 
business day of a request from the New FRMP, where the New FRMP uses any of the 
following information to identify the Site: 




(i) a unique meter identifier; 




(ii) a street address; or 




(iii) the DPID. 




If a computer search by the ENM does not produce a unique match for the information 
provided by the retailer, the ENM must provide the retailer with any computer matches 
achieved up to a maximum of 99. 




(t) Subject to any applicable Jurisdictional restrictions, provide NMI Standing Data (other than 
data available via a NMI Discovery Search or the MSATS C7 report) to the New FRMP within 
two business days of a request from the New FRMP for the Site identified in the request by 
reference to the NMI and NMI Checksum. 




(u) Consider and action any requests from incorrectly assigned Participants to correct a Create 
NMI Change Request in MSATS within two business days of receiving the request. 




(v) Consider and action within any requests from other Participants to correct erroneous NMI 
Standing Data two business days of receiving the request. 




The Current ENM may, for child connection points: 




(w) Update the Customer Threshold Code for NMIs with a Customer Classification Code of 
‘RESIDENTIAL’. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 25 of 169
 




3. CATS FUNCTIONALITY 




3.1. Overview 
(a) The operation of CATS is based on 14 different types of transactions, as shown in section 




3.3, and a separate RoLR function. 




(b) Six transaction types are initiated by Participants, whilst eight are initiated by MSATS. 




(c) The most significant transaction is the Change Request, which is used by a Participant when 
submitting new CATS Standing Data or changing existing CATS Standing Data. 




(d) The Change Request has a life cycle in which it is created (Initiated) and terminated 
(Completed) in accordance with section 3.5. 




(e) The Completion of a Change Request and the formation of a NMI Master Record occur 
simultaneously. 




(f) The status of each Role on the NMI Master Record is classified as ‘Current’. If the CATS 
Standing Data being changed by a Change Request is a Role, the status of each Role to be 
changed by the Change Request is classified as ‘New’. 




(g) A Change Request will be Completed on: 




(i) the day after the Objection Logging Period has ended, provided no Objections have 
been received and an Actual Change Date exists; or   




(ii) where an Objection has been received, the Change Request is Completed the day 
after all Objections have been withdrawn, the Objection Logging Period has ended, 
and an Actual Change Date exists, 




The change is effective from the Actual Change Date. 




(h) A Change Request that has been Initiated for the purpose of creating a NMI will use the 
date nominated as the Proposed Change Date to populate the Actual Change Date field to 
allow the Change Request to be Completed. 




(i) A Change Request carries with it a set of CATS Standing Data items. The set of data items 
will vary with the transaction selected by the Participant initiating the Change Request. Each 
transaction has a code (Change Reason Code), as detailed in section 4.2 and Table 4-A. 




(j) The Change Reason Codes have been separated into groups of events for the purpose of 
these Procedures, as shown in Table 3-B. Obligations imposed on Participants in regard to 
Change Reason Codes are contained in sections 7 to 41. 




(k) The next most significant transaction is the NMI Discovery Search. This transaction will be 
used by a Participant when undertaking a search of the CATS Standing Data, as specified in 
section 42. 




(l) The RoLR functionality within MSATS is detailed in section 41. 




3.2. Principles 
The following principles apply in regard to the functionality of CATS: 




(a) Current and New Roles will be notified of a change in the status of the Change Request in 
accordance with the Change Request Notification Rules. 




(b) A Change Reason Code will contain rules that specify which Participant(s) must provide the 
data for the Change Request and when the data is required. 




(c) A Change Reason Code will contain rules specifying which data will be present in the NMI 
Master Record before the Change Request can be Completed. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 26 of 169
 




(d) Jurisdictions will specify rules to control the period in which retrospective information may 
be accepted by MSATS. 




(e) Jurisdictions will specify rules to control the period in which an Objection may be logged. 




(f) If an Objection to the change of retailer transaction is submitted by a Participant within the 
Objection Logging Period, the transfer will not proceed until the Objection is cleared. If the 
objection is not cleared, the transfer transaction will expire and be Cancelled and all relevant 
Participants will be notified. 




(g) Jurisdictions will specify rules to control the period in which an Objection may be cleared. 




(h) If there are no outstanding Objections to a current change of retailer transaction after the 
Objection Logging Period has passed, the Change Request will proceed to Completed and 
the information contained in the transaction will become the NMI Master Record. 




(i) Jurisdictions will specify rules to control who is allowed to Object to a Change Request, the 
reason for the Objection and the NMI Classification Code appropriate to that Objection. 




(j) After a NMI is created, and prior to the Actual Change Date, the meter(s) and default NMI 
Datastreams may be set up by whoever is nominated as the default party, even if it is NMI 
for a Tier 1 Site and not needed for profiling (in accordance with Jurisdictional requirements). 




(k) After a NMI is created, and prior to the Actual Change Date, if a Datastream is not set up 
the entry of the NMI into MSATS should not be delayed. 




(l) MSATS will not notify the LR at the time a change of FRMP occurs. 




3.3. Transaction Types 
(a) The types of transactions performed by MSATS are specified in Table 3-A. 




(b) The codes and rules associated with the Change Request transaction are provided in section 
0. 




(c)  Acknowledgement and response transactions are dependent on whether online or batch 
function is invoked. 




Table 3-A – MSATS Transaction Type Codes 




Code Name of Transaction Type Initiated by Description 




ACK Acknowledgment MSATS MSATS responds to ALL transactions with an 
acknowledgment of receipt. 




CODE Codes Update MSATS MSATS notifies Participants of any changes to codes, rules or 
Participant data. 




CR Change Request Participant Used to initiate a Change Request. Submitted by a 
Participant anytime they wish to create or update any 
standing data. 




CRR Change Request Response MSATS MSATS response to a Change Request with an approval or 
rejection as it reaches the Pending Validation status. 




NMID NMI Discovery Request Participant A Participant wants to view CATS Standing Data.  Further 
particulars of the search types can be found in section 43. 




NMIR NMI Discovery Response MSATS MSATS sends a Participant information in response to a NMI 
Discovery Search. 




NOT Change Request Status 
Notification 




MSATS Notifies a Participant of a Change Request’s change in status 
in accordance with the applicable Change Request Status 
Nofification Rules. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 27 of 169
 




Code Name of Transaction Type Initiated by Description 




OBJ Objection Participant A Participant can raise an Objection to a Change Request in 
accordance with the applicable Objection Rules.  Other 
Participants will be informed in accordance with the 
applicable Change Request Status Nofification Rules. 




OBJR Objection Response MSATS MSATS response to an Objection with an approval or 
rejection.  Other Participants will be informed in accordance 
with the applicable Change Request Status Nofification 
Rules. 




RDAT 
 




Request for Participant 
data 




MSATS A request by MSATS to a Participant for provision of the 
necessary data in a Change Request in accordance with the 
applicable Field Validation Rules it that data is not already 
contained in the NMI Master Record. 




RPTD Report Data MSATS The data generated by a report request. 




RPTR Report Request Participant Participant requests a report. 




WCR Change Request 
Withdrawal 




Participant The initiating Participant may Cancel a Change Request at 
any time prior to Completion.  Other Participants will be 
informed in accordance with the applicable Change Request 
Status Nofification Rules. 




WOBJ Objection Withdrawal Participant The initiating Participant may withdraw an Objection.  Other 
Participants will be informed in accordance with the 
applicable Change Request Status Nofification Rules. 




3.4. Change Requests 
(a) A Change Request is the facility by which a Participant interacts with MSATS in order to 




effect a change in data to some or all aspects of information regarding an End User 
connection point prior to a transfer, during a transfer, or after a transfer has Completed. 




(b) Information about an End User’s connection point includes the names and Roles of 
organisations (Participant IDs) that provide a connection point service to the End User, the 
technical details associated with the End User’s metering installation and specific information 
that would assist retailers in providing competitive offers to End Users. 




(c) A Change Request is Initiated by selecting the Transaction Type Code CR, and the 
appropriate Change Reason Code. The Participant must select the Change Reason Code 
that most appropriately reflects the reasons for the change. The assignment of the Change 
Reason Codes to various types of events is provided in Table 3-B. A description of the 
Change Reason Codes is provided in Table 4-A, and in each section to which the Change 
Reason Code applies. 




(d) The completion of a Change Request by submitting all required data can be performed in 
either an on-line interactive mode or an off-line batch mode. 




(e) Only one NMI is allowed on one Change Request. However, there can be multiple NMI 
suffixes and multiple Meter Serial IDs assigned to the one Change Request. 




(f) When submitting a Change Request to MSATS, the Change Request is ‘wrapped’ in an 
aseXML message format. This format is capable of accommodating more than one Change 
Request (when submitted via batch processes). 




(g) When using the batch process, MSATS will respond to the submission of a Change Request 
once validation is complete, with an approval or a Rejection using Transaction Type Code 
CRR. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 28 of 169
 




(h) A Change Request can be withdrawn by the Participant who Initiated the Change Request 
up until the time the Change Request is Completed. 




(i) The Change Reason Code will govern which data items are available to the Participant when 
initiating the Change Request. 




(j) Within certain Change Reason Codes, data items associated with address information are 
provided as mandatory and optional. Mandatory address information specified as locality, 
state and postcode, where ’locality’ has the same meaning as ‘suburb’. Optional address 
information is given in either structured or unstructured format. Section 42.3.1 provides 
additional information about address data items. 




(k) A Change Request can only be assigned one DLF Code. 




Table 3-B – Assignment of Change Reason Codes to Events 




Group of events Description of event Change Reason Code Assignment 




Change Retailer SMALL NMI 1000, 1010, 1030, 1040, 1021, 1022, 
1023, 1024, 1025, 1026, 1027, 1028, 
1029 




LARGE NMI 1000, 1020, 1030, 1040,  




Embedded network SMALL & LARGE 1080, 1081, 1082, 1083, 1084 




Provide Data Provide Actual Change Date SMALL & LARGE (for CR 
1000, 1030, 1080, 1083, 1010, 1040, 1081, 1084, 3080, 3090, 
6200, 6700, 6800) 




1500 




Create NMI Create a NMI SMALL & LARGE 2000, 2001 




Create a Child NMI SMALL & LARGE 2020, 2021 




Create NMI, metering installation details & NMI 
Datastream SMALL & LARGE 




2500, 2501 




Create NMI, metering installation details & MDM 
datastream – Child NMI SMALL & LARGE 




2520, 2521 




Maintain Metering Create metering installation details SMALL & LARGE 3000, 3001  




Exchange of Metering Information SMALL & LARGE 3004, 3005 




Change metering installation details SMALL & LARGE 3050, 3051 




Advanced Change Metering Installation Details SMALL & 
LARGE 




3080, 3081 




Advanced Meter Exchange SMALL & LARGE 3090, 3091 




Change Network Tariff Code SMALL & LARGE 3100, 3101 




Maintain 
Datastream 




Create NMI Datastream SMALL & LARGE 4000, 4001  




Exchange of Datastream Information SMALL & LARGE 4004, 4005 




Change NMI Datastream SMALL & LARGE 4050, 4051 




Maintain NMI Update NSRD SMALL & LARGE 5070, 5071 




Change a NMI SMALL & LARGE 5050, 5051 




Change NMI – Customer Classification Code 5054, 5055 




Change Child NMI SMALL & LARGE 5060, 5061 




Backdate NMI start date 5001 




Backdate Child NMI Start Date  5021 




Change Parent Name SMALL & LARGE  5080, 5081 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 29 of 169
 




Group of events Description of event Change Reason Code Assignment 




Change Role Change LNSP SMALL & LARGE 6100, 6110 




Change MDP SMALL & LARGE 6200, 6210 




Change MC SMALL & LARGE 6300, 6301 




Change Local Retailer SMALL & LARGE 6400, 6401 




Change Local Retailer Child NMI SMALL & LARGE 6421 




Change RoLR SMALL & LARGE 6500, 6501 




Change Metering Provider SMALL & LARGE 6700, 6701 




Change Multiple Roles SMALL & LARGE 6800, 6801 




System Change of Child Local Retailer (Auto) ECLR 




Change of Secondary FRMP – Parent (Auto) EPFR 




AEMO only Invoke Retailer of Last Resort RoLR 




Invoke Bulk Change Process BCxx 




AEMO-Initiated standing data updates 5100, 5101 




Manage External 
Profiles 




Create External Profile 
(1)
 2100, 2101 




Change External Profile 
(1)
 5110, 5111 




Note (1):  Refer to Section 8 in the WIGS Procedures for details on these Change Reason Codes. 




3.5. Change Request Status Life Cycle 
(a) The progression of a Change Request is based on the principle that transactions will be 




approved unless an Objection is received. 




(b) During its life cycle, a Change Request may have the status of: 




(i) Initiated; 




(ii) Pending Validation; 




(iii) Rejected; 




(iv) Requested; 




(v) Objected; 




(vi) Pending; 




(vii) Completed; 




(viii) Cancelled. 




The figure below highlights how each status relates to each other: 




 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 30 of 169
 




 




(c) Initiation is the first status of a new Change Request. During this status, the initiating 
Participant will select an appropriate Change Reason Code, populate the Change Request 
with the data permitted by the Change Reason Code, and then submit the Change Request 
to MSATS. The submission can be through the interactive screen or by a batch process. 




(d) MSATS will then validate the Change Request prior to transferring the Change Request to 
the Pending Validation status. 




(e) The Pending Validation status commences after the Change Request has passed initial 
validation for entry into MSATS. However, not all the data that is required to initiate the 
transaction may be present in MSATS. If mandatory data is missing from the Change 
Request, the Change Request will be Rejected. If the missing data is for the NMI Master 
Record, a Data Request will be sent to the nominated Participant, and MSATS will check for 
the receipt of that data. There is no time limit imposed by MSATS for the provision of this 
data, however, the Participant that receives the Data Request must respond in a reasonable 
time.  The Change Request will be approved only after all required data has been submitted. 




(f) The Rejected status occurs where a Change Request has failed validation. This can occur: 




(i) During the validation of a Change Request whilst it is at the Pending Validation 
status; or 




(ii) At the time of completion of the Change Request (in rare circumstances where a 
change to some other data made after this Change Request was submitted has now 
made this change invalid). 




When a transaction has been Rejected, all Participants associated with the transaction will 
be notified in accordance with the Change Request Status Notification Rules. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 31 of 169
 




(g) The Requested status is where a transaction has been validated, i.e. there is no missing data. 
Notifications of the Requested transaction are sent to the relevant Participants. The 
Objection Logging Period and Objection Clearing Periods have been identified. Any 
Objections received are validated against the Objection Rules or no Objections have been 
submitted. 




(h) The Objected status occurs where one or more Objections have been received. Notifications 
of the Objections are sent to the relevant parties. This includes details of the Objections and 
whether the transaction was already being Objected to. When an Objection is withdrawn, 
the relevant parties will be notified of the details of the withdrawn Objection. When the last 
Objection is withdrawn, the transaction status changes back to Requested, unless the 
Objection Logging Period has expired, in which case it will move to Pending status. If the 
Objection Clearing Period has expired and an Objection that is subject to the Objection 
Logging Period has not been withdrawn the status will be changed to Cancelled. 




(i) The Pending status is where no Objections have been received, or all Objections have been 
withdrawn and the Objection period has passed. The transaction is waiting for the change 
date to be reached. If the Proposed Change Date is reached and all required data is present, 
the status will change to Completed. The status will remain Pending whilst any required data 
remains outstanding or an Objection that is not subject to the Objection Logging Period is 
not raised. Notifications are sent to the relevant Participants in accordance with the Change 
Request Status Notification Rules. 




(j) The Completed status occurs where the Objection Logging Period has passed, all required 
data is present in MSATS and the Proposed Change Date has been reached or is passed. 
Notifications are sent to the relevant Participants in accordance with the Change Request 
Status Notification Rules. 




(k) The Cancelled status occurs where: 




(i) Not all Objections have been withdrawn at expiry of the Objection Clearing Period; or 




(ii) The initiator of the Change Request has withdrawn the transaction. 




When a Change Request is Cancelled, notifications are sent to the relevant Participants in 
accordance with the Change Request Status Notification Rules. 




3.6. Transaction Validation 
(a) A Change Request that has been Initiated by a Participant will undergo several validations 




by MSATS prior to being accepted to the Requested status. 




(i) The first validation will check that any code or date in the Change Request is in 
accordance with the codes and rules look-up tables. Validation will be performed on 
the data contained in the following data items: 




(A) Change Request ID; 




(B) Jurisdiction; 




(C) Role ID; 




(D) NMI Status Code; 




(E) Read Type Code; 




(F) Change Request code; 




(G) TNI Code; 




(H) DLF Code; 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 32 of 169
 




(I) Metering Installation Type Code; 




(J) Parent Name; 




(K) Child Name;  and 




(L) Proposed Change Date. 




(ii) The second validation will check for valid Change Reason Codes and Field Validation 
Rules. Validation will be performed against the following codes and rules: 




(A) Change Reason Codes, as per Table 4-A; 




(B) Field Validation Rules: RI, OI, RQ, RD, RA. 




(iii) A third validation will check the NMI characters against the NMI Checksum. 




(iv) A fourth validation will check that the Participant who Initiated the Change Request is 
an active Participant and able to act in the Role that can initiate the transaction. 
Validation will be performed on the data contained in the following data items: 




(A) Participant ID; 




(B) Participant Status; 




(C) Participant Roles. 




(v) A fifth validation will check that the Proposed Change Date and the Actual Change 
Date are within the range allowed by the Change Reason Code. 




(vi) A sixth validation will check the Proposed Change Date, the Actual Change Date and 
the Actual End Date against the Timeframe Rules. 




(b) An Objection will be validated against general conditions and rule based conditions, as 
follows: 




(i) General conditions against which a validation of an Objection is performed are as 
follows: 




(A) The Participant submitting the Objection is an active Participant; 




(B) The Objection is not a duplicate of an existing Objection by that Participant; 




(C) The Role of the Participant is in accordance with the Objection Rules; 




(D) The Objection is linked to an active Change Request ID; 




(E) The status of the Change Request is either Requested or Objected. 




(ii) Rule-based conditions against which a validation of an Objection is performed are as 
follows: 




(A) The Participant can make the Objection in accordance with its status. 




(B) The Objection Code is permitted for the Role . 




(iii) The Change Request is within its Objection Logging Period. 




(iv) The Change Request is valid (PEND, REQ, OBJ) for Objections that are not subject to 
the Objection Logging Period. 




(c) A Change Request will be validated for information regarding embedded networks as 
follows: 




(i) The Embedded Network Codes will be checked against a list of codes contained in 
MSATS. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 33 of 169
 




(ii) Parent Names and Child Names will be checked to ensure that they are not identical 
for the same NMI; 




(iii) The Child NMI being submitted will be checked against the Parent NMI; 




(iv) A check will be performed for circular relationships; 




(v) Prevent changes of the LR from being effected on a Child NMI; 




(vi) Check that if a Parent NMI is not active that there are no active Child NMIs. 




(d) After the Change Request has been submitted, any subsequent Change Request submitted 
by the initial Participant to change the data on the Change Request will be validated, as 
follows: 




(i) The NMI on the subsequent Change Request will be checked against the NMI on the 
initial Change Request. 




(ii) The Participant ID on the subsequent Change Request will be checked against the 
Participant ID on the initial Change Request. 




3.7. Valid Proposed Change Date for Prospective and Retrospective Change 
Requests 




3.7.1. Retrospective Changes 




(a) For a Retrospective Change, the Proposed Change Date must either be the date the Change 
Request is raised or a date in the past and within the number of days allowed by the 
Timeframe Rules/Change Reason Code/NMI Classification Code on this Change Request. 
The maximum number of days is the value stored in Retrospective Days. At present, the 
maximum number of days in the past for any Role Change Request is 130 business days, the 
maximum number of days in the past for changing NMI Standing Data is 140 business days. 




(b) Retrospective Changes have 0 days for the Prospective Days in the Timeframe Rules for the 
Jurisdiction/Change Reason Code/NMI Classification Code combination. 




(c) Table 3-C lists Retrospective Change Reason Codes. 




Table 3-C – Retrospective Change Reason Codes 




CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code 




Change 
Retailer 




Provide Data Create NMI Maintain 
Metering 




Maintain 
Datastream 




Maintain NMI Change Roles 




1010 1500 2001 3001 4001 5001 6110 




1020  2021 3005 4005 5021 6210 




1021  2101 3051 4051 5051 6301 




1022  2501 3081  5055 6401 




1023  2521 3091  5061 6421 




1024   3101  5071 6501 




1025     5081 6701 




1026     5101 6801 




1027     5111  




1028       




1029       




1040       















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 34 of 169
 




CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code 




1081       




1082       




1084       




3.7.2. Prospective Changes 




(a) For a Prospective Change, the Proposed Change Date must be the day following the date 
on which a Change Request is submitted, or a date after that date. 




(b) The maximum number of days for a Prospective Change depends on the Timeframe 
Rules/Change Reason Code/NMI Classification Code for the relevant Change Request. The 
maximum number of days is the value stored in Prospective Days. At present, the maximum 
allowable number of days for any Prospective Change is 65 business days. 




(c) Prospective Changes have 0 days for the Retrospective Days in the Timeframe 
Rules/Change Reason Code/NMI Classification Code combination. 




Table 3-D – Prospective Change Reason Codes 




CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code 




Change Retailer Create NMI Maintain 
Metering 




Maintain 
Datastream 




Maintain NMI Change Roles 




1000 2000 3000 4000 5050 6100 




1030 2020 3004 4004 5054 6200 




1080 2100 3050 4050 5060 6300 




1083 2500 3080  5070 6400 




 2520 3090  5080 6500 




  3100  5100 6700 




    5110 6800 




 
  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 35 of 169
 




4. CATS CODES AND RULES FOR A CHANGE REQUEST 




4.1. Introduction 
(a) This section specifies the codes and rules that apply when a Participant submits a Change 




Request to, or seeks access to CATS Standing Data. 




(b) MSATS contains the following codes and rules that apply to Change Requests: 




Change Reason Codes Role Codes Initiation Rules 




Jurisdiction Codes Timeframe Rules Objection Codes 




Objection Rules NMI Classification Codes NMI Status Codes 




Metering Installation Type 
Codes 




Read Type Codes Field Validation Rules 




Change Request Status 
Notification Rules 




Customer Classification Code Customer Threshold Code 




4.2. Change Reason Code 
(a) The Change Reason Codes govern the population of data in a Change Request. 




(b) For each Change Reason Code, the following parameters are defined: 




(i) The Participants permitted to initiate a Change Request. 




(ii) The data items that can be populated in the Change Request. 




(iii) The data that must already be present in MSATS before the Change Request can be 
Completed. 




(iv) Whether another Participant must supply the exact date of the change (i.e. is the 
MDP required to supply the date of the Actual Meter Reading to Complete the 
Change Request). 




(v) The date range window. 




(vi) The Objection Logging Period. 




(vii) The Objection Clearing Period. 




(viii) The Roles that will be notified of a Change Request, and at what stages in the 
Change Request that they will be notified. 




(ix) The Participants who can Object to Change Request and the basis for Objection. 




(c) For any Change Reason Code, some elements are defined globally (i.e. they apply in all 
Jurisdictions) while others are defined separately for each Jurisdiction. 




(d) The Change Reason Codes and a brief description of each are provided in Table 4-A. 




Table 4-A – Change Reason Codes 




CR Description Initiating Participant  




1000 Change Retailer  New FRMP 




1010
(1)
 Change Retailer – Retrospective – Align to Meter Reading  New FRMP 




1020
(4)




 Change Retailer–Retrospective –Long Term/Error (not SMALL) New FRMP 




1021 Error Correction – Missed CR 1500 New FRMP 




1022 Incorrect transfer date New FRMP 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 36 of 169
 




CR Description Initiating Participant  




1023 New NMI – Update/Correct FRMP on Greenfield Site New FRMP 




1024 Transfer missed New FRMP 




1025 Transferred in error New FRMP 




1026 Cooled Off New FRMP 




1027 End User Moves Out on or before CR completion date New FRMP 




1028 Non-account holder signs contract New FRMP 




1029 Other Error Corrections (SMALL only)  New FRMP 




1030 Change Retailer – Move-In  New FRMP 




1040 Change Retailer – Move-In – Retrospective New FRMP 




1080 Change Retailer – Child NMI New FRMP 




1081
(1)
 Change Retailer – Child NMI – Retrospective Align Meter Reading New FRMP 




1082 Change Retailer Child – Retrospective Long Term/Error New FRMP 




1083 Change Retailer Child NMI – Move In New FRMP 




1084 Change Retailer Child NMI – Move In – Retrospective New FRMP 




1500 Provide Actual Change Date New and Current MDP 




2000 Create NMI Details New LNSP 




2001 Create NMI Details – Retrospective New LNSP 




2020 Create NMI Details –Child New ENM 




2021 Create NMI Details –Child – Retrospective New ENM 




5050 Change NMI Details Current LNSP 




5051 Change NMI Details – Retrospective Current LNSP 




5001 Backdate NMI Start Date AEMO or LNSP 




5021 Backdate NMI Start Date – Child AEMO or ENM 




5054 Change NMI Details – Customer Classification Code Current FRMP 




5055 Change NMI Details – Customer Classification Code – Retrospective Current FRMP 




5060 Change NMI Details – Child Current ENM 




5061 Change NMI Details – Child – Retrospective Current ENM 




5070 Update Next Scheduled Read Date Current MDP 




5071 Update Next Scheduled Read Date – Retrospective Current MDP 




5080 Change Parent Name Current LNSP 




5081 Change Parent Name – Retrospective Current LNSP 




5100 5100 – Change NMI Details – Prospective (AEMO only) AEMO 




5101 5101 – Change NMI Details – Retrospective (AEMO only) AEMO 




2100 Create External Profile Shape New AEMO 




2101 Create External Profile Shape – Retrospective New AEMO 




5110 Change External Profile Shape Current AEMO 




5111 Change External Profile Shape – Retrospective Current AEMO 




2500 Create NMI, NMI Datastream & metering installation details New LNSP 




2501 Create NMI, NMI Datastream & metering installation details – 
Retrospective 




New LNSP 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 37 of 169
 




CR Description Initiating Participant  




2520 Create NMI, MDM Datastream & Metering Installation Details – Child 
NMI 




New ENM 




2521 Create NMI, MDM Datastream & Metering Installation Details – Child 
NMI – Retrospective 




New ENM 




3000
(3) Create metering installation details Current MPB 




3001
(3)




 Create metering installation details – Retrospective Current MPB 




3004
(3)




 Exchange of Metering Information Current MPB 




3005
(3)




 Exchange of Metering Information – Retrospective Current MPB 




3050
(3)




 Change metering installation details Current MPB 




3051
(3)




 Change metering installation details – Retrospective Current MPB 




3080 Advanced change metering installation details Current MC 




3081 Advanced change metering installation details – Retrospective  Current MC 




3090
(3)




 Advanced Meter Exchange Current MC 




3091
(3)




 Advanced Meter Exchange – Retrospective Current MC 




3100 Change Network Tariff Code Current LNSP or Current 
ENM 




3101 Change Network Tariff Code – Retrospective Current LNSP or Current 
ENM 




4000
(2)




 Create NMI Datastream Details Current MDP 




4001
(2)




 Create NMI Datastream Details – Retrospective Current MDP 




4004
(2)




 Exchange of Datastream Information Current MDP 




4005
(2)




 Exchange of Datastream Information – Retrospective Current MDP 




4050
(2)




 Change NMI Datastream Details Current MDP 




4051
(2)




 Change NMI Datastream Details – Retrospective Current MDP 




6100 Change LNSP New LNSP or new ENM 




6110 Change LNSP – Retrospective New LNSP or new ENM 




6200 Change MDP Current FRMP or Current MC 




6210 Change MDP – Retrospective Current FRMP or Current MC 




6300 Change MC New MC or Current FRMP 




6301 Change MC – Retrospective New MC or Current FRMP 




6400 Change LR New LR 




6401 Change LR – Retrospective New LR 




6421 Change LR – Retrospective – Child NMI New LR 




6500 Change RoLR New RoLR 




6501 Change RoLR – Retrospective New RoLR 




6700 Change MP Current MC 




6701 Change MP – Retrospective Current MC 




6800 Change Multiple Roles Current FRMP or Current MC 




6801 Change Multiple Roles - Retrospective Current FRMP or Current MC 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 38 of 169
 




CR Description Initiating Participant  




BCxx Invoke Bulk Change Process AEMO 




ROLR Invoke Retailer of Last Resort AEMO 




ECLR Change of Local Retailer – Child (Auto) AEMO/MSATS 




EPFR Change of Secondary FRMP – Parent (Auto) AEMO/MSATS 
Note (1): Likely to be used with Read Type Codes PR, CR or ER. 
Note (2): A single Change Request using these Change Reason Codes may be populated with multiple NMI suffixes. 
Note (3): A single Change Request using these Change Reason Codes may be populated with multiple Meter Serial IDs. 
Note (4): “not SMALL” means LARGE, WHOLESAL, INTERCON, GENERATR or SAMPLE NMIs. 




4.3. Role Codes 
(a) A Role Code identifies the type of association that a Participant has with a NMI. 




(b) The NMI Master Record will contain each ‘Current’ Role for each NMI.  Each proposed Role 
for a NMI is referred to as a ‘New’ Role. 




(c) The Role Codes defined in Table 4-B are used to define: 




(i) Participants that can initiate a Change Request; 




(ii) Participants to supply data when it is needed to Complete a Change Request; 




(iii) Change Request Status Notification Rules; 




(iv) Objection Rules; and 




(v) Access rights to CATS Standing Data. 




Table 4-B – Role Codes 




Code Description 




FRMP Financially Responsible Market Participant 




LNSP Local Network Service Provider or Embedded Network Manager for child connection 
points 




LR Local Retailer 




MDP Metering Data Provider – Category D 




MPB Metering Provider – Category B 




MPC Metering Data Provider – Category C 




NEMM National Electricity Market Operator 




NSP2 Second Network Service Provider (For Wholesale NMIs only) 




ROLR Retailer of Last Resort 




RP Metering Coordinator 




4.4. Change Request Initiation Rules 
(a) The Initiation Rules specify the Roles permitted to Initiate Change Requests. 




(b) A Change Request may be Initiated by both ‘New’ or ‘Current’ Roles. 




(c) Only a ‘New’ Role can be entered on a Change Request. 




(d) The Initiation Rules for each Change Reason Code are listed in the section to which the 
Change Reason Codes are detailed. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 39 of 169
 




4.5. Jurisdiction Codes 
(a) The Jurisdiction Codes defined in Table 4-C identifies the Jurisdiction in which a NMI is 




situated. 




(b) The Jurisdiction Code is used to apply Jurisdiction-based business rules. 




Table 4-C – Jurisdiction Codes 




Code Description 




ACT Australian Capital Territory 




ALL All Jurisdictions 




NEM National Electricity Market 




NSW New South Wales 




QLD Queensland 




SA South Australia 




TAS Tasmania 




VIC Victoria 




4.6. Timeframe Rules 
(a) The Timeframe Rules specify whether a Jurisdiction, Change Reason Code and NMI 




Classification Code are a valid combination. 




(b) For any Change Reason Code, the Timeframe Rules specify: 




(i) Whether the Change Reason Code can be used to make a Prospective Change or 
Retrospective Change; 




(ii) The number of days into the future (Prospective Days) or the past (Retrospective 
Days) that are allowable for the Proposed Change Date; 




(iii) The number of days allowed for Objections (Objection Logging Period), which 
commences from the next business day after the date that the Change Request is 
Initiated.; and 




(iv) The number of days after which a Change Request that has been Objected to will be 
Cancelled (Objection Clearing Period), which commences from the next business day 
after the date that the Change Request is Initiated. 




(c) The Timeframe Rules may be specified by Jurisdiction. 




(d) Unless stated otherwise, the Timeframe Rules for a Change Reason Code apply to all 
Jurisdictions. 




4.7. Objection Codes 
(a) The Objection Codes defined in Table 4-D are the only basis on which Participants can 




Object to a Change Request. 




(b) The Objection Codes are applied to each Jurisdiction and each Change Reason Code in 
accordance with the Objection Rules. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 40 of 169
 




Table 4-D – Objection Codes 




Code Description 




BADDATA Used by a Participant to confirm that the standing data in the change request or the NMI 
Master Record is incorrect (e.g. Meter Serial ID). If the Participant role is incorrect; use 
NOTRESP. 




BADMETER Used by the MDP for change retailer requests, where the Read Type Code is not compatible 
with the method for collecting metering data at the metering installation. 




BADPARTY Used by the MC when the MDP, MPB, or MPC nominated on a change of retailer request or 
change of role is incorrect as they are not the party appointed by the MC, or do not have the 
capability or capacity to operate in the Role proposed. 




BLOCK AEMO Objection to the transaction either at the request of a Jurisdiction or for operational 
reasons.  




CONTRACT Must only be used where a change in MC is proposed, the Current MC has been appointed by 
a large End User and has an existing contractual obligation with the large End User that takes 
precedence over the proposed change. 
 




CRCODE Can be used if the Change Reason Code being used does not apply to the NMI concerned. 




DATEBAD  Used by the MDP for meter installation types 4A, 5 and 6 to inform the initiating party the 
proposed date in the change of retailer or change of role request does not align with the date 
the Metering Reading is scheduled to be taken. 
Used by the Current FRMP, or MDP for retrospective change of retailer or change of role 
requests where one or both of the Proposed Change Date, or Actual End Date is incorrect. 




DEBT Used by the Current FRMP for change retailer requests in Victoria only, were there is an aged 
debt reaching Jurisdictional limits. 




DECLINED Used by a Participant who does not wish to perform the Role for which it is nominated in the 
Change Request. 




NOACC (1) Used where no access can be obtained to the metering installation to perform the manual 
collection of metering data required to facilitate a transfer of FRMP, or Meter Churn. 




NOTAPRD Used by the LNSP where a Participant is not accredited or authorised to operate within the 
LNSP area, most typically applying to the Role of MP. 




NOTAWARE Used by the Current FRMP when no communication has been received from the New FRMP 
confirming that an error correction transaction will be processed. 




NOTPRUD No prudential approval. 
AEMO has not approved the transaction for prudential reasons. 




NOTRANS Used by the Current FRMP and only applies to retrospective change of retailer requests. A 
check of records shows no previous change of retailer request exists for the error correction 
change of retailer. 




NOTRESP Not responsible for NMI in the identified Role. 
For use by a nominated Participant to Object on the basis that they are not responsible in the 
Role in which they are nominated. 




RETRO Participant does not agree to a Retrospective Change. 




Note (1):  Objections for “NOACC” are not subject to Objection Logging Periods or Objection Clearing Periods. A valid Actual Change Date being 
entered against a Change Request with an Objection of “NOACC” will withdraw any “NOACC” Objections. 




4.8. Objection Rules 
(a) The Objection Rules specify the way in which Objection Codes can be used for each Change 




Reason Code and Role. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 41 of 169
 




(b) The Objection Rules for each Change Reason Code are listed in the section to which the 
Change Reason Code applies. 




(c) Unless stated otherwise, Objection Rules apply in every Jurisdiction. 




4.9. NMI Classification Codes 
(a) The NMI Classification Code enables MSATS to be informed of the nature of the flow of 




electricity at the connection point to which the NMI information applies. 




(b) The NMI Classification Codes ‘LARGE’ and ‘SMALL’ are used in these Procedures. They are 
parameters for defining Change Reason Codes, application timeframes and Objection Rules. 




(c) The NMI Classification Codes ‘LARGE’ and ‘SMALL’ are based on the total annual load of the 
NMI as per Table 4-E. 




Table 4-E – NMI Classification Codes 




Code Description (2) 




EPROFILE External profile shape 




GENERATR Generator 




INTERCON Interconnector 




LARGE 
(1)
 Victoria:    




NSW:  
ACT:   >=160 
MWh 
SA: 




>=160 MWh 




QLD:  >=100 MWh  




TAS:  >=150 MWh 




SAMPLE  Sample Meter 




SMALL
(1)
 Victoria:   




NSW:  
ACT:  <160 MWh 
SA: 




<160 MWh 




QLD:  <100 MWh 




TAS:  <150 MWh 




WHOLESAL Wholesale Transmission Node Identifier 
Note (1): These codes are used in the CATS Procedures. 
Note (2): See relevant Jurisdictional regulation for full details. 




4.10. End User Classification 




4.10.1. Customer Classification Code 




(a) The FRMP must update an End User’s Customer Classification Code as specified in Table 
4-F. 




(b) The Customer Classification Code relates to an End User, or previous End User, at  a single 
connection point to which the NMI applies. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 42 of 169
 




 




Table 4-F – Customer Classification Codes 




Code 




BUSINESS 




RESIDENTIAL 




4.10.2. Customer Threshold Code 




(a) The Customer Threshold Code is used to indicate the level of an End User’s electricity 
consumption at a single connection point to which a NMI applies and is based on the LNSP’s 
determination of the annualised consumption for an End User at a single connection point. 




(b) The Customer Threshold Code is mandatory for all NMIs with a NMI Status Code of ‘A’ or 
‘D’, and a Customer Classification Code of ‘BUSINESS’. 




(c) The Customer Threshold Codes are specified in Table 4-G. 




Table 4-G – Customer Threshold Codes 




Customer Threshold Code Description  




LOW Consumption is less than the ‘lower consumption threshold’ as defined in 
the National Energy Retail Regulations 




MEDIUM Consumption is equal to or greater than the ‘lower consumption 
threshold’, but less than the ‘upper consumption threshold’, as defined in 
the National Energy Retail Regulations 




HIGH Consumption is equal to or greater than the ‘upper consumption 
threshold’ as defined in the National Energy Retail Regulations 




4.11. Status Codes  




4.11.1. NMI Status Codes 




(a) The NMI Status Codes defined in table 4-H are used to determine if a NMI can be used for 
a retail transfer. 




(b) The NMI Status Code ‘X’ is the only status that does not allow NMI transfers between 
retailers. 




Table 4-H – NMI Status Codes 




Code Name of code Description of code 




A Active NMI  Applies when a NMI is energised. 




D Not energised NMI Applies when the NMI exists in MSATS and the connection point is de-energised. 




X Extinct NMI  Applies when:   
 the network connection has been permanently removed from the 




connection point, or 
 the embedded network connection has been permanently removed from 




the child connection point, or  
 the connection point has been moved from an LNSP’s network to an 




embedded network or vice versa. 
Under this condition the existing NMI will not be reallocated to any other 
connection point in the future. 
A NMI with this status can never be transferred. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 43 of 169
 




Code Name of code Description of code 




G Greenfield Site NMI Applies to a Site that has never been energised. The connection point may 
require further Site works to be undertaken and will also require energisation. 
Once the NMI Status Code is changed from ‘G’, it cannot revert to ‘G’. 




N Off Market Child 
NMI 




Applies when a child connection point is no longer settled in the NEM. 




4.11.2. Datastream Status Codes 




(a) In the MDM process, the Datastream Status Code is used to determine whether a 
Datastream is to be used in the settlements process, either because the NMI is Tier 2 or 
because metering data is required from this NMI as part of the process of creating a Load 
Profile. 




(b) The Datastream Status Codes in MSATS are ‘A’ and ‘I’, as defined in Table 4-I. 




Table 4-I – Datastream Status Codes   




Code Name of code Description of code 




A Active NMI Datastream Applies when an NMI Datastream is to be used in settlements. 




I Inactive NMI 
Datastream 




Applies when the NMI Datastream is not to be used in settlements. 




(c) If a retail transfer CR is Completed and an End User has transferred to a second tier retailer 
(i.e. FRMP is not the LR) the Datastream Status Code for a Second Tier NMI must be ‘A’ 
when the NMI is energised. 




4.11.3. Meter Register Status Codes 




(a) The Meter Register Status Codes denote the status of the meter in MSATS. 




(b) The only Meter Register Status Codes are ‘C’, ‘R’, and ‘D’ as defined in Table 4-J. 




Table 4-J – Meter Register Status Codes 




Code Name of code Description of code 




C Current  Applies when a meter at the NMI is current and not disconnected. 




R Removed Applies when a meter at the NMI is removed. 




D Remotely Disconnected Applies when a meter at the NMI is disconnected. 




4.11.4. Register Identifier Status Codes 




(a) The Register Identifier Status Code indicates if a Meter Register is active. 




(b) The Register Identifier Status Codes are C and R and are defined in Table 4-K. 




Table 4-K – Register Identifier Status Codes 




Code Name  Description  




C Current  Applies when a Meter Register at the NMI is current, i.e. connected to a connection point. 




R Removed Applies when a Meter Register at the NMI is removed, i.e. not connected to a connection 
point. 




4.12. Metering Installation Type Codes 
(a) The Metering Installation Type Codes defined in Table 4-L identifies the type of metering 




installation as specified in the NER. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 44 of 169
 




(b) The Metering Installation Type Code also indicates whether the Actual Change Date must 
be input by a Participant other than the initiator of the Change Request. If the Manually 
Read Flag (see Table 4-L) is set to Y and the Change Request Field Validation Rules have 
been set up to request a date, a request will be sent to the nominated Participant to provide 
it. 




Table 4-L – Metering Installation Type Codes 




Code Description Manually Read 
Flag 




BASIC Accumulation Meter – Type 6 Y 




COMMS1 Interval Meter with communications – Type 1 Y 




COMMS2 Interval Meter with communications – Type 2 Y 




COMMS3 Interval Meter with communications – Type 3 Y 




COMMS4 Interval Meter with communications – Type 4 
(Note: This code is used for large customer with type 4 metering installations 
and for small customer type 4 metering installation installed before 1 December 
2017)  




Y 




COMMS4C CT connected metering installation that meets the minimum services 
specifications 




Y 




COMMS4D Whole current metering installation that meets the minimum services 
specifications 




Y 




MRAM small customer metering installation – Type 4A Y 




MRIM Manually Read Interval Meter – Type 5 Y 




PROF For Profile Setup  N 




SAMPLE Sample Meter Y 




UMCP Unmetered Supply – Type 7 N 




VICAMI a relevant metering installation as defined in clause 9.9C of the NER.  Y 




4.12.1. Consequences of Allocating Certain Metering Installation Codes 




(a) If the Metering Installation Type Code is COMMSx, MRIM, MRAM, VICAMI, or UMCP: 




(i) DataStreamType1 must be I or P (P – Sample meters only) 




(ii) ProfileName must be NOPROF 




(iii) Datastream Suffix must be Nx (e.g. N1) 




(b) If the Metering Installation Type Code is BASIC: 




(i) DataStreamType must be C 




(ii) In Victoria, Tasmania and ACT, ProfileName must be NSLP 




(iii) In NSW, QLD and SA, ProfileName must be NSLP or the relevant CLP 




(iv) Datastream Suffix must be numeric (e.g. 11) 




4.13. Read Type Code 
(a) The Read Type Code is not used by MSATS for the purpose of settlements. There are no 




rules in MSATS controlling the use of the Read Type Code. 




                                                      
1 See Standing Data for MSATS for explanation of DataStreamType. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 45 of 169
 




(b) The Read Type Code is an instruction from the requesting FRMP to the MDP, nominated in 
the Change Request to assist the transfer by using the specified reading method. 




(c) Where advice is provided to an MDP, the MDP would arrange for the Meter Reading to be 
undertaken. 




(d) The Read Type Code is used to signal when a meter should be read, whether an alternative 
arrangement is to be used, or whether no read is required. 




(e) In each case the Read Type Code is an instruction relating to the date in the Proposed 
Change Date. 




(f) A meter may be read on the NSRD (NS) or on a Special Read Date (SP). 




(g) An Estimated Reading (ER) may be provided in place of the Actual Meter Reading. 




(h) The Read Type Codes are specified in Table 4-M. 




Table 4-M – Read Type Codes  




Code Name of code Description of code 




CR Consumer Read Available if approved by Jurisdictional policy. Advice from New FRMP to MC or 
MDP that the End User has agreed to transfer on a Meter Reading it provides. 
MDP/MPC is not required to undertake a Special Meter Reading. 
Applies to type 6 metering installations. 




EI Existing Remotely-
Read Interval Meter 




Advice from the New FRMP to the MDP that there is an existing remotely-read 
Interval Meter at the connection point and that the existing meters will continue 
to be used after the transfer. 
Applies to type 1 to 4 metering installations only. 




ER Estimated Read Available if approved by Jurisdictional policy. Advice from the New FRMP to 
MDP that the End User has agreed to transfer on an Estimated Reading. No 
Meter Reading is required for this transfer. MDP is to provide an Estimated 
Reading in accordance with the metrology procedure and any other Jurisdiction 
requirements. 
Applies to type 4A, 5 and type 6 metering installations. 




GR Greenfield NMI Used when the NMI being transferred is a greenfield connection point and has 
never had a metering installation physically installed at the connection point and 
the NMI Status is ‘G’ 




NS Next Scheduled Read 
Date




(1)
 




Advice from New FRMP to MDP that the Proposed Change Date for the End 
User transfer is the NSRD, which is, therefore, a date in the future. No other 
Meter Reading is required. 
An acceptable date is a window that is up to 3 business days before or 2 
business days after the published NSRD. 
If the date proposed by the New FRMP is not within this same window (i.e. up 
to 3 business days before or 2 business days after), the MDP must advise the 
FRMP that there is a problem with the date proposed within 2 days of receipt 
of the Data Request. 
If the meter is read outside this window, the MDP is not obliged to provide an 
Actual Change Date CR 1500. 
Applies to types 4A, 5 and type 6 metering installations. 




PR Previous Read Date
(2)




 Available if approved by Jurisdictional policy. Advice from the New FRMP to the 
MDP that the transfer is to occur on the previous Meter Reading. 
Applies to type 4A, 5 and type 6 metering installations. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 46 of 169
 




Code Name of code Description of code 




RR Next Read Date Advice from New FRMP to MDP that the Proposed Change Date for the End 
User transfer is to be the date the meter is next read, which is, therefore, a date 
in the future. This code should be used if it is intended that the transfer is to 
occur on the date that the meter is read next, whenever that date is (i.e. the 
Proposed Change Date has no relevance). 
Applies to types 4A, 5 and type 6 metering installations. 




SP Special Read Advice from New FRMP to MDP that the Proposed Change Date for the End 
User transfer is a date that does not align with the scheduled reading cycle. The 
MDP/MPC is to arrange for the Special Meter Reading. 
Applies to type 4A, 5 and type 6 metering installations. 




UM Unmetered 
Connection Point 




Used when the NMI being transferred is an unmetered connection point. 




Note (1): There is no requirement to maintain the NSRD for meters that are remotely read. The NSRD will only be required for the 
type 4A, 5 and 6 metering installations where manual Meter Reading is necessary. 




Note (2): The previous Meter Reading date is not held by MSATS. The New FRMP would obtain this information from the End User. 
This Read Type Code is likely to be used with Change Reason Codes 1010 and 1081. 




(i) The combinations of Read Type Codes, Metering Installation Type Codes and Change 
Reason Codes that can be valid, (provided the Read Type Code is allowed in a Jurisdiction), 
are specified in Table 4-N. (The Metering Installation Type Code referred to here is the code 
for the existing metering record) 




Table 4-N – Valid Combinations of Read Type Codes, Metering Installation Type Codes and Change 
Reason Codes  




 CR Code  1000 1010, 102X, 1040 
except 1023 




1030 1023 All CR Codes 




 Metering Installation 
Type Code  




BASIC MRIM / 
MRAM 




BASIC MRIM / 
MRAM 




BASIC MRIM / 
MRAM 




Not 
Applicable 




COMMSx / 
VICAMI 




UMCP 




Re
ad




 T
yp




e 
Co




de
 




NS Next 
Scheduled 
Read Date 




Yes Yes No No No No No No No 




RR Next Read 
Date 




Yes Yes No No Yes Yes No No No 




SP Special Read Yes Yes No No Yes Yes No No No 




ER Estimated 
Read 




Yes Yes Yes No Yes Yes No No No 




CR Consumer 
Read 




Yes No No No No No No No No 




PR Previous Read 
Date 




No No Yes Yes No No No No No 




UM Unmetered 
Connection Pt 




No No No No No No No No Yes 




EI Existing 
Interval Meter 




No No No No No No No Yes No 




GR Greenfield 
NMI 




No No No No No No Yes No No 




Note: 1080 is the same as 1000, 1081 is the same as 1010, 1083 is the same as 1030, and 1084 is the same as 1040. 
Note: 102X refers to 1020, 1021, 1022, 1023, 1024, 1025, 1026, 1027, 1028 and 1029. 
Note:  COMMSx refers to COMMS1, COMMS2, COMMS3, COMMS4, COMMS4C, COMMS4D. 
Note: No meter reading is required for CR Code 1023 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 47 of 169
 




4.14. Field Validation Rules 
(a) The Field Validation Rules are based on data source codes as per table 4-O. 




(b) For any Change Reason Code, the Field Validation Rules specify: 




(i) Which fields must be completed at the time the transaction is Initiated; 




(ii) Which fields can optionally be completed at the time the transaction is Initiated; 




(iii) Which fields must be present on the NMI Master Record for the transaction to 
proceed from Pending Validation to Requested and, if they are not present, which 
Participant must supply them; and 




(iv) Whether the Actual Change Date has to be obtained from another Participant for 
NMIs where the metering installations are manually read (and if it does, who should 
be asked to supply it). 




(c) The obligations on Participants arising from the allocation of the Field Validation Rules are 
detailed in the section to which the Change Reason Code applies. 




(d) Each data source code is hard coded in MSATS and is not available for maintenance. The 
available data codes are identified in Table 4-O. 




Table 4-O – Field Validation Data Source Codes 




Code Explanation 




OI Optional on Initiation. This means it is optionally supplied by the initiator of the Change Request. 




RA Requested by CATS regardless of whether it is already in CATS. 
For all RA fields, the Participant that supplies the data must be identified. 
For all RA fields, it is also necessary to identify whether this data is required prior to the transaction 
passing from Pending Validation to Requested. 
This code will be used for requesting the Actual Change Date on End User transfer Change Requests. 
(However, in this special case, the request will only be sent if the metering installation is flagged as 
manually read). 




RD This is only required for the Actual Change Date on the transaction that is returned as a consequence of 
a request to provide an Actual Change Date (currently 1500 is the only one).  




RI Required to Initiate. This means it must be supplied by the initiator of the Change Request. 




RQ Requested by CATS if the data is not already in CATS. 
For all RQ fields, the Participant that supplies the data must be identified. 
For all RQ fields, it is also necessary to identify whether this data is required prior to the transaction 
passing from Pending Validation to Requested. 




4.15. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules define which Roles are to be advised when a 
Change Request undergoes a change in status. 




4.16. Maintenance of Codes and Rules 
(a) AEMO must maintain the following codes and rules in MSATS: 




Change Reason Codes Role Codes Initiation Rules 




Jurisdiction Codes Timeframe Rules Objection Codes 




Objection Rules NMI Classification Codes NMI Status Codes 




Metering Installation Type Codes Read Type Codes Field Validation Rules 




Change Request Status 
Notification Rules 




NMI Discovery Search – NMI 
Search Rules 




NMI Discovery Search – NMI 
Data Access Rules 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 48 of 169
 




NMI & CATS Standing Data 
Access Rules 




Network Tariff Code  




(b) MSATS will send a message to all Participants if a change is made to any code or rule. 




4.17. Datastream Status Code 
(a) The Datastream Status Code is part of CATS Standing Data and is used for the management 




of the metering data within MSATS. 




(b) The Datastream Status Code makes use of the codes specified in Table 4-I. 




(c) When required by a Change Reason Code, Participants must nominate on a Change 
Request the status of the Datastream Status Code for the selected NMI. 




(d) If a Datastream Status Code is set to A (active) this flag will be used by MSATS to indicate 
that metering data is to be expected for the NMI for the purpose of: 




(i) aggregation in the settlements process; or 




(ii) netting off in the determination of a profile shape. 




4.18. Embedded Network Codes and Rules 
(a) MSATS requires each embedded network to be given a name, which is to be a code of up to 




10 characters. 




(b) The LNSP must provide the Embedded Network Code to AEMO. 




(i) The first character of the Embedded Network Code is to be the first character of the 
Jurisdiction in which the embedded network is located. 




(ii) The second character of the Embedded Network Code is to be a character chosen to 
represent the LNSP in whose distribution network the embedded network is connected. 




(iii) The LNSP must liaise with the owner of the embedded network to determine the other 
characters of the Embedded Network Code as per the Embedded Network Code 
structure specified by AEMO.2   




(c) The LNSP must provide to AEMO the following when providing the Embedded Network 
Code: 




(i) Description of the embedded network (up to 50 characters long). 




(ii) Locality, postcode and state of the embedded network. 




(iii) Start date of the embedded network. 




(iv) DLF Code of the Parent NMI.3 




(v) TNI Code of the Parent NMI.4 




(d) The LNSP is to allocate the Embedded Network Code to the Parent NMI. 




(e) The ENM is to allocate the Embedded Network Code to the Child NMI which is the same as 
the Embedded Network Code of the Parent NMI. 




(f) The ENM must provide AEMO with the name of the EENSP and the associated Embedded 
Network Code within 5 business days of being appointed as the ENM.  




                                                      
2 Document No MT_GN1710v0xx.doc – Allocation of Embedded Network Codes. 
3 Note that subsequent update to the DLF Code is not required via this transaction. 
4 Note that subsequent update to the TNI Code is not required via this transaction. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 49 of 169
 




4.19. Obtaining Electronic Downloads of Configuration Rules 
The CATS configuration can be downloaded from MSATS by using the C1 ‘Data Replication 
Resynchronisation Report (C1)’ report, and selecting the following tables: 




Table 4-P – CATS Configuration Tables Available for Download 




Type Description Table 




 List of Roles along with their assigned Participant IDs used by 
MSATS  




CATS_PARTICIPANT_ROLES 




Code List of the available Change Reason Codes CATS_CHANGE_REASON_CODES 




Code Change Request Status codes CATS_CR_STATUS_CODES 




Code Data source code used for Field Validation Rules  CATS_DATA_SOURCE_CODES 




Code De-registration codes CATS_DEREG_CODES 




Code DLF Codes CATS_DLF_CODES 




Code Parent Name codes CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES 




Code Error codes used by MSATS CATS_ERROR_CODES 




Code List of Jurisdiction Codes CATS_JURISDICTION_CODES 




Code Meter installation type codes CATS_METER_INSTALL_TYPE_CODES 




Code NMI Classification Codes  CATS_NMI_CLASS_CODES 




Code NMI Status Codes CATS_NMI_STATUS_CODES 




Code List of available Objection Codes CATS_OBJECTION_CODES 




Code List of Registered Participant IDs CATS_PARTICIPANTS 




Code List of allowable Read Type Codes  CATS_READ_TYPE_CODES 




Code List of available Roles CATS_ROLES 




Code Transmission connection point identifier codes  CATS_TNI_CODES 




Code List of transaction types in MSATS  CATS_TRANS_TYPE_CODES 




Code Calender used by MSATS  MSATS_NATIONAL_CALENDAR 




Code Network Tariff Codes CATS_NETWORKTARIFF_CODES 




Rule Change Request Initiation Rules CATS_CR_INITIATION_RULES 




Rule Rule governing NMI Discovery Search CATS_DISCOVERY_ACCESS_RULES 




Rule Rules defining if Site address is returned in NMI Discovery Search CATS_DISCOVERY_SEARCH_RULES 




Rule Jurisdiction rules governing Change Request Initiation CATS_JURISDICTIONAL_RULES 




Rule Change Request Status Notification Rules that specify which 
notifications are generated by MSATS 




CATS_NOTIFICATION_RULES 




Rule The rules governing the use of Objections CATS_OBJECTION_RULES 




Rule Transaction Field Validation Rules CATS_TRANS_FIELD_VALIDATION 




 
  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 50 of 169
 




5. MSATS REPORTS 
(a) The following reports are available to Participants from MSATS. 




Table 5-A – MSATS Reports 




Report Name Description 




CATS C1  Data Replication Resynchronisation Report 




CATS C3  NMI Change Request Report  




CATS C4 NMI Master Report 




CATS C7 New Participant Access Report 




CATS C9 NMI Count Report 




MDM RM8  DatePPSBMPGenerated 




MDM RM9  Actual Versus Estimate Data Report 




MDM RM11 Missing Data 




MDM RM13 NMI Datastreams History Report 




MDM RM14 MDP Data Version Comparison Report 




MDM RM15  Count of Multiple Versions Report 




MDM RM16 Level 1 Settlement Reconciliation Report 




MDM RM17 Level 3 Settlement Reconciliation Report for Non-Aggregated 
Data 




MDM RM18  Interval Data Report 




MDM RM19  Aggregated Energy Actual-vs-Estimate Report 




MDM RM20  PPS Report 




MDM RM21 Level 2 Settlement Reconciliation Report  




MDM RM22  Data Estimation Report 




MDM RM26 MDP Substitution and Estimation Report 
 




(b) MSATS will produce a report using Transaction Type Code RPTD. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 51 of 169
 




6. GUIDELINES FOR MANAGING CONCURRENT RETAIL TRANSFERS 




6.1. Definition of concurrent retail transfers 
(a) Concurrent retail transfers are those where there is more than one change of retailer for a 




particular NMI at the same time in MSATS. 




(b) There are two types of concurrent retail transfers in MSATS. 




(i) Type 1 is a concurrent retail transfer where the same FRMP has submitted more than 
one change of retailer Change Request for the one NMI. 




(ii) Type 2 is a concurrent retail transfer request where more than one FRMP has 
submitted a change of retailer Change Request for one NMI. 




6.2. Guidelines 
Type 1 Concurrent Retail Transfers 




(a) MSATS will identify the type 1 concurrent retail transfers and the FRMP that has Initiated 
these Change Requests. 




(b) MSATS will Reject the newly submitted Change Request and a notification will be sent to the 
initiating FRMP detailing the reason for the Rejection. 




(c) The existing Change Request will remain unaffected and active in MSATS. 




Type 2 Concurrent Retail Transfers 




(d) MSATS will identify the type 2 concurrent retail transfers and the FRMPs that have Initiated 
these Change Requests. 




(e) MSATS will Reject the newly submitted Change Request and a notification will be sent to the 
initiating Participant detailing the reason for the Rejection. 




(f) The existing Change Request to change a retailer is Cancelled and notifications will be sent 
to all the parties related to the Change of Retailer Request as per normal notifications (i.e. 
FRMP, MDP, MC etc). The reason for the cancellation shall also be provided in the 
notification. 




(g) The affected FRMPs should determine the reason for the concurrent retail transfers and as 
necessary proceed to investigate who is the preferred FRMP of the End User consistent with 
relevant Jurisdictional requirements. The preferred FRMP should then initiate a single valid 
transfer Change Request. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 52 of 169
 




7. CHANGE RETAILER – SMALL OR LARGE NMI 




7.1. Application [1000 1010 1020 1030 1040] 
Section 7 applies when one of the following Change Reason Codes applies:  




Change Reason Code Description 




1000 – Change Retailer The date of transfer is on a Prospective Day. 




1010 – Change Retailer – Retrospective Align to 
Meter Read (SMALL only) 




The date of transfer is the date of the last Meter Reading (a 
Retrospective Day). 




1020 – Change Retailer – Retrospective – Long 
Term/Error (LARGE only) 




The date of transfer could be a date agreed between the 
Current FRMP and New FRMP (a Retrospective Day) where the 
actual transfer date was in error. 
In addition, and in Victoria only, the date of transfer could be a 
date agreed by the Current FRMP and New FRMP (a 
Retrospective Day) 




1030 – Change Retailer – Move-In The date of transfer (move-in) is on a Prospective Day. 




1040 – Change Retailer – Move-In – 
Retrospective 




The date of transfer (move-in) would be on a Retrospective 
Day. 




7.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI already exists in MSATS5.  




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




(c) The date of the transfer of retailer from the Current FRMP to the New FRMP will be the 
Actual Change Date. 




(d) The Actual Change Date is to be established in accordance with the Read Type Code 
submitted to MSATS by the New FRMP. 




7.3. Initiating Roles 
A New FRMP may initiate a Change Request to effect a change of retailer in accordance with 
section 7.4. 




7.4. FRMP Requirements 
The New FRMP must: 




(a) obtain the Current FRMP’s agreement to retrospectively transfer an End User on a previous 
Meter Reading (applies to CR1010). 




(b) obtain the NMI Checksum. 




(c) confirm that the NMI is valid for the connection point. 




(d) submit a Change Request to initiate the transfer of the End User from which the New FRMP 
has obtained Explicit Informed Consent and provide the following information with the 
Change Request: 




Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date New RP6  




Read Type Code   




                                                      
5 If it doesn’t, the retailer should refer to section 11 and seek LNSP action to establish a NMI. 
6 This should be the Current RP if there is no change of the RP Role.  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 53 of 169
 




 




(e) nominate itself as the New FRMP; 




(f) where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, if advised by the New MDP or the Current 
MDP that a Meter Reading cannot be obtained in response to a Read Type Code for NSRD 
or a Special Read Date, the New FRMP must either:  




(i) Withdraw the transfer request; or 




(ii) Advise the MDP to read the meter on the NSRD or propose a Special Read 
Date. 




(g) where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, if advised by the New MDP or the Current 
MDP that the NSRD or a Special Read Date is invalid, must either: 




(i) advise the MDP of a valid date; or 




(ii) withdraw the transfer request.  




The Current FRMP must: 




(h) on receipt of a request from the New FRMP for an agreement to retrospectively transfer on 
a previous Meter Reading, respond to the request within 2 business days. 




The New FRMP may: 




(i) populate the Change Request with the identity of the following Roles: 




MPB MPC  




or leave this to the New MC to complete. 




(j) for Change Reason Codes 1000, 1020, 1030 and 1040, if the MDP is changing, provide the 
following additional information: 




MDP   




(k) for Change Reason Code 1020, populate the Change Request with:  




Actual End Date   




(l) for Retrospective Changes, nominate a Proposed Change Date. The limits for Retrospective 
Change dates are provided in section 7.7; and 




(m) withdraw a change of retailer transaction request at any time until the transfer is Completed. 




7.5. MDP Requirements 
The MDP must: 




(a) Once the transfer has Completed, set up the NMI suffix(s) so that they become active on the 
Actual Change Date if this data is not already provided or has changed. 




(b) On receipt of a Data Request for Change Reason Codes 1000, 1010, 1030 or 1040, initiate a 
Change Request to provide the Actual Change Date. 




If the NMI Classification Code is LARGE, the Actual Change Date must be the date 
nominated as the proposed date by the New FRMP unless the date nominated is 
inappropriate, in which case the MDP must advise the New FRMP of the reason why the 
proposed date is inappropriate and agree on the Actual Change Date. 




(c) For Prospective Changes that do not require a Meter Reading, provide the Actual Change 
Date within 2 days of the Actual Change Date. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 54 of 169
 




(d) For changes that require a Meter Reading, provide the Actual Change Date within 2 days of 
the Meter Reading. 




(e) For Retrospective Changes, where the Jurisdictional rules specify that an Actual Change 
Date is required, ensure that the Actual Change Date submitted is no earlier than the time 
limit specified by the Jurisdiction for the Change Reason Code on the Change Request. 




For example, if the Jurisdictional timeframe for a Change Reason Code is 10 days, the Actual 
Change Date must be no earlier than 10 days prior to the date the Data Request was 
received, even if MSATS would allow an earlier date. 




(f) Where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL and the Read Type Code requires the NSRD or 
the Special Read Date, forward the Meter Reading taken at this time to the Current FRMP, 
New FRMP, Current LR and Current LNSP. 




(g) Where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL: 




(i) the MDP must Object to the Change Request if the NSRD nominated by the New 
FRMP is not within two business days prior to, or two business days after, the NSRD, 
or the date nominated by the New FRMP for the Retrospective Change does not 
correspond to an Actual Meter Read Date. 




(ii) the MDP must advise the New FRMP of the failure to take a Meter Reading within 2 
days and await instructions if the next Scheduled Meter Reading or Special Meter 
Reading does not occur within three business days before, or two business days after, 
the NSRD or Special Read Date (as applicable). 




(iii) if the Read Type Code requires an Estimated Reading, prepare the Estimated Reading 
and submit this to MSATS as the Meter Reading related to the Actual Change Date 
(not for a Retrospective Change). 




(iv) the MDP must notify the New FRMP where the Read Type Code is not aligned with 
the method of Meter Reading that can reasonably be facilitated at the metering 
installation and is inconsistent with the Metering Installation Type Code. 




(v) for Retrospective Changes on receipt of a Data Request for an Actual Change Date, 
provide the Actual Change Date within 2 days of receipt of the Data Request. 




(vi) If requested by the New FRMP and allowed in that Jurisdiction, carry out an Actual 
Meter Reading within the time periods specified in the relevant metrology procedure. 




(h) Where the NMI Classification Code is LARGE, validate that the Metering Installation Type 
Code is identified as a type 1, type 2, type 3 or type 4 metering installation. If an error is 
identified, advise the New FRMP and await instructions. 




(i) Where the NMI Classification Code is LARGE, for Retrospective Changes that do not require 
a Meter Reading, provide the Actual Change Date within 2 days of receipt of the Data 
Request. 




7.6. MC Requirements 
The MC must ensure MDP, MPC and MPB roles are correct and if not raise appropriate Change 
Request to update it. Refer to section 30 to 37 for Change Request types for Role Changes. 




7.7. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request the New FRMP must choose, for the identified Change Reason 
Codes, a Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective 
Period, as shown in Table 7-A. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 55 of 169
 




Table 7-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 1000 – Change Retailer 
CR 1030 – Change Retailer – Move-In 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




1 20 0 65 




CR 1010 – Change Retailer – Retrospective Align to Meter Read 




CR 1040 – Change Retailer – Move-In – Retrospective 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




1 20 10 0 




CR 1020 – Change Retailer-Retrospective – Long Term/Error (not SMALL) 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




1 20 130 0 




7.8. Objection Rules 
The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 7-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 
their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 7-A. 




Table 7-B – Objection Rules** 




CR 1000 – Change Retailer  




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADMETER ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes   - -  - -  




BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 




NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - -  - - - - - - - - Yes 




DATEBAD ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




NOACC SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




DEBT   - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




SMALL VIC 




CONTRACT 
 




    - - - - - - - - - - - - 




LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 




CR 1010 – Change Retailer – Retrospective Align to Meter Read 




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADMETER SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes   - -  - -  




BADPARTY SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




DECLINED SMALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 




NOTAPRD SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 




DATEBAD SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 56 of 169
 




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




DEBT SMALL  - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




VIC 




RETRO SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




                 




CR 1020 – Change Retailer – Retrospective - Long Term/Error (not SMALL) 




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADMETER LARGE ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - -  - -  




BADPARTY LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




DECLINED LARGE ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 




NOTAPRD LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 




DATEBAD LARGE ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




RETRO LARGE ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




DEBT     - - - - - - - - - - - - 




CONTRACT     - - - - - - - - - - - - 




LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 




CR 1030 – Change Retailer – Move-In  




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADMETER ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes   - -  - -  




BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 




NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 




NOACC SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




CONTRACT LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 




CR 1040 – Change Retailer – Move-In – Retrospective  




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADMETER ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes   - -  - -  




BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 




NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 




DATEBAD ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




NOACC SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




CONTRACT LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




7.9. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules for the Change Reason Codes identified in section 
7.1 are specified in Table 7-C. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 57 of 169
 




Table 7-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 
CR 1000 – Change Retailer 




CR 1010 – Change Retailer – Retrospective Align to Meter Read 




CR 1030 – Change Retailer – Move-In 




CR 1040 – Change Retailer – Move-In – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes  Yes  - - Yes Yes 




COMPLETED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes  Yes  - - Yes Yes 




OBJECTED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes  - - Yes Yes 




PENDING Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes  - - Yes Yes 




REJECTED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 




REQUESTED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 




CR 1020 – Change Retailer – Retrospective – Long Term/Error (not SMALL) 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 




COMPLETED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 




OBJECTED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 




PENDING Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 




REJECTED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 




REQUESTED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 58 of 169
 




8. CHANGE RETAILER – ERROR CORRECTIONS – SMALL NMIS 




8.1. Application [1021 1022 1023 1024 1025 1026 1027 1028 1029] 
Please note that the appropriate Change Request for a LARGE NMI is CR 1020 – Change Retailer – 
Retrospective – Long Term/Error (not SMALL7). More information about this Change Request is 
provided in Section 7.  




Section 8 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Description 




1021 – Error Correction – Missed 
CR1500 




Used where the proposed transfer date has been missed due to the 
MDP not being able to provide a corresponding Actual Change Date on 
the original Change Request (CR 1000, 1010, 1030 or 1040). 




1022 – Incorrect transfer date Used where the MDP supplies an incorrect Actual Change Date and the 
original Change Request (CR 1000, 1010, 1030 or 1040) was Completed 
on the incorrect date. 




1023 – New NMI –  Update/Correct 
FRMP on Greenfield Site 




Used where the LNSP has nominated an incorrect retailer on a newly 
created NMI or a FRMP other than the FRMP who requested the 
Allocate NMI requests the supply to be connected.  




1024 – Transfer missed Used where the New Retailer failed to initiate the transfer in time. 
Acceptable reasons for the use of this code are: 
 Where a Site has more than one NMI and not all of them were 




transferred. The error correction transaction will be used to transfer 
the other NMI(s) missed. 




 Re-energisation of Site, with or without End User notification (End 
User request to retailer.) 




1025 – Transferred in Error Used where the Current FRMP transferred the NMI in error and requests 
the New Retailer to transfer it back. A wrong NMI was selected by the 
Current FRMP to transfer. 




1026 – Cooled Off Used where an End User signs a contract with a New Retailer. The End 
User then cancels the request within the Cooling-Off Period. New 
Retailer fails to withdraw the transfer request (transfer Pending) or was 
unable to do so (transfer Completed). 




1027 – Customer Moves Out on or 
before CR completion date 




Used where a End User signs a contract with a New Retailer but moves 
out on or before the Change Request completion date (transfer date). 




1028 – Non-account holder signs 
contract 




Used where a person other than the End User at a Site signs a contract 
with a New Retailer. The End User for the Site then discovers this and 
does not wish to transfer. 




1029 – Other Error Corrections (SMALL 
only) 




Used to correct errors caused by Participant process or systems issues; 
for example, late processing of contractual paperwork by initiating 
Participant. 
These may be reasons other than those covered by CR 1021 – 1028. 




8.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS.8  




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL. This section applies to the metering installations 
types 4, 4A, 5, 6, or 7. 




                                                      
7 Please note that “not SMALL” refers to LARGE, WHOLESAL, INTERCON, GENERATR or SAMPLE NMIs. 
8 If the NMI does not already exist in MSATS, the retailer should refer to section 11 “Create a NMI” and seek LNSP action to establish 




the NMI. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 59 of 169
 




(c) The date of the transfer of retailer from the Current FRMP to the New FRMP will be the 
Actual Change Date. 




(d) The Actual Change Date is to be established in accordance with the Read Type Code 
submitted to MSATS by the New FRMP. 




8.3. Initiating Roles 
A New FRMP may initiate a Change Request to effect a change of retailer in accordance with 
section 8.4. 




8.4. FRMP Requirements 
The New FRMP must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 




(c) Submit a Change Request to initiate the transfer of the End User from which the New FRMP 
has obtained Explicit Informed Consent. 




(d) Confirm that the NMI is a greenfield site and has never had a metering installation installed 
at the connection point.(applies to CR1023). 




(e) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date Read Type Code 




(f) Nominate itself as the New FRMP. 




The New FRMP may: 




(g) Populate the Change Request with the identity of the following Roles: 




RP MPB MPC 




MDP   




or leave this action to the New MC to complete. 




(h) Populate the Change Request with: 




Actual End Date   




(i) For Retrospective Changes, nominate a Proposed Change Date in accordance with the 
Timeframe Rules. 




(j) Withdraw a change of retailer transaction request at any time until the transfer is 
Completed. 




8.5. MDP Requirements 
Once the transfer has Completed, the MDP must set up the NMI suffix(s) so that they become 
active on the Actual Change Date if this data is not already provided or has changed except when 
a Greenfield site is transferred using a CR 1023. 




8.6. MC Requirements 
The MC must ensure MDP, MPC and MPB roles are correct and if not raise appropriate Change 
Request to update. Refer to section 30 to 37 for Change Request types for Role Changes. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 60 of 169
 




8.7. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the New FRMP must choose, for the identified Change Reason 
Codes, a Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective 
Period, as shown in the Table 8-A. 




Table 8-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 1021 – Error correction – Missed CR1500 




CR 1022 – Incorrect transfer date 




CR 1023 – New NMI –  Update/Correct FRMP on Greenfield Site 




CR 1024 – Transfer missed 




CR 1025 – Transferred in error 




CR 1026 – Cooled Off 




CR 1027 – Customer moves out on or before CR completion date 




CR 1028 – Non-account holder signs contract 




CR 1029 – Other error corrections (SMALL only) 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




1 20 130 0 




8.8. Objection Rules 
The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 8-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 
their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 8-A. 




Table 8-B – Objection Rules** 




CR 1021 – Error Correction – Missed CR1500 




CR 1022 – Incorrect transfer date 




Objection 
Code 




NMI Class Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADMETER SMALL ALL     Yes Yes         




DATEBAD SMALL ALL - Yes - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




DECLINED SMALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 




NOTAPRD SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 




NOTRANS SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




DEBT SMALL VIC 
 




- Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




CR 1023 – New NMI –Update/Correct FRMP on Greenfield Site 




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADMETER SMALL ALL     Yes Yes         




DATEBAD SMALL ALL - Yes - - Yes - - - - - - - - - 




DECLINED SMALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 




NOTAPRD SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 




CRCODE SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




BADDATA SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 61 of 169
 




CR 1024 – Transfer missed 




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADMETER SMALL ALL     Yes Yes         




DATEBAD SMALL ALL - Yes - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




DECLINED SMALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 




NOTAPRD SMALL ALL -  - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 




CRCODE SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




NOTAWARE SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




DEBT SMALL VIC 
 




- Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




CR 1025 – Transferred in Error 




CR 1026 – Cooled Off 




CR 1027 – Customer Moves Out on or before CR completion date 




CR 1028 – Non-account holder signs contract 




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADMETER SMALL ALL     Yes Yes         




DATEBAD SMALL ALL - Yes - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




DECLINED SMALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 




NOTAPRD SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 




CRCODE SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




NOTAWARE SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




NOTRANS SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




DEBT SMALL VIC 
 




- Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




CR 1029 – Other Error Corrections (SMALL only ) 




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




DATEBAD SMALL ALL - Yes - - Yes Yes - - - -  Yes - - 




DECLINED SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - Yes - - - 




NOTAPRD SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 




RETRO SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




BADMETER SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - -  -  




BADPARTY SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes - - 




DEBT SMALL VIC 
 




- Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




8.9. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 8-C. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 62 of 169
 




Table 8-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 
CR 1021 – Error Correction – Missed CR1500 




CR 1022 – Incorrect transfer date 




CR 1023 – New NMI –  Update/Correct FRMP on Greenfield Site 




CR 1024 – Transfer missed 




CR 1025 – Transferred in Error 




CR 1026 – Cooled Off 




CR 1027 – Customer Moves Out on or before CR completion date 




CR 1028 – Non-account holder signs contract 




CR 1029 – Other Error Corrections (SMALL only) 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status 
Change  




FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 




COMPLETED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 




OBJECTED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 




PENDING Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 




REJECTED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 




REQUESTED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 63 of 169
 




9. CHANGE RETAILER – EMBEDDED NETWORKS – SMALL OR LARGE 




9.1. Application [1080 1081 1082 1083 1084] 
Section 9 applies when one of the following Change Reason Codes applies:  




Change Reason Code Comment 




1080 – Change Retailer – Child NMI  The date of transfer is a Prospective Change. 




1081 – Change Retailer – Child NMI – 
Retrospective Align Meter Read 




The date of transfer would be the date of the last Meter Reading (a 
Retrospective Change). 




1082 – Change Retailer Child – 
Retrospective: Long Term/Error 




The date of transfer could be a date agreed by the current and New 
FRMP (a Retrospective Change) where the actual transfer date was 
in error. 
In addition, and for Victoria only, the date of transfer could be a 
date agreed by the Current FRMP and New FRMP (a Retrospective 
Change) to which both parties agree that the transfer should have 
been effected.  




1083 – Change Retailer Child NMI – Move-
In 




The date of transfer (move-in) would be on a Prospective Day. 




1084 – Change Retailer Child NMI – Move-
In – Retrospective 




The date of transfer (move-in) would be a Retrospective Day.  




9.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS.9  




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




(c) The date of the transfer of retailer from the Current FRMP to the New FRMP will be the 
Actual Change Date. 




(d) The Actual Change Date is to be established in accordance with the Read Type Code 
submitted to MSATS by the New FRMP. 




9.3. Initiating Roles 
A New FRMP may initiate a Change Request to effect a change of retailer in accordance with 
section 9.4. 




9.4. FRMP Requirements 
The New FRMP must: 




(a) Obtain agreement from the Current FRMP to retrospectively transfer an End User on a 
previous Meter Reading (applies to CR1081). 




(b) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(c) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 




(d) Submit a Change Request to initiate the transfer of the End User for which the New FRMP 
has obtained an Explicit Informed Consent. 




(e) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




                                                      
9 If it doesn’t, the retailer should refer to section 12 and seek ENM action to establish the NMI. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 64 of 169
 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date New RP10 




Read Type Code   




(f) Nominate itself as the New FRMP. 




(g) Where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, if advised by the New MDP or Current MDP 
that a Meter Reading cannot be obtained in response to a Read Type Code for NSRD or a 
Special Read Date, must either: 




(i) Withdraw the transfer request; or 




(ii) Advise the MDP to read the meter on the NSRD or propose a Special Read Date. 




(h) Where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, if advised by the New MDP or Current MDP 
that the NSRD or a Special Read Date is invalid, must either: 




(i) Advise the MDP of a valid date; or 




(ii) Withdraw the transfer request. 




The Current FRMP must: 




(i) on receipt of a request from the New FRMP for an agreement to retrospectively transfer on 
a previous Meter Reading, respond to the request within 2 business days. 




The New FRMP may: 




(j) Populate the Change Request with the identity of the following Roles: 




MPB MPC  




or leave this action to the New MC to complete. 




(k) For Change Reason Codes 1080, 1081, 1082, 1083 and 1084, if the MDP is changing, populate 
the Change Request with the following additional information: 




MDP   




(l) For Change Reason Code 1082, populate the Change Request with:  




Actual End Date   




(m) Nominate, in accordance with paragraph (e), a Proposed Change Date. The time limits for 
Retrospective Changes are provided in section 9.7. 




(n) Withdraw a change of retailer transaction request at any time until the transfer is 
Completed. 




9.5. MDP Requirements 
The MDP must: 




(a) Once the transfer has Completed, set up the NMI suffix(s) so that they become active on the 
Actual Change Date. 




(b) On receipt of a Data Request for Change Reason Codes 1080, 1081, 1083 or 1084, Initiate a 
Change Request to provide the Actual Change Date. 




(c) Where the NMI Classification Code is LARGE, it must be the date nominated as the 
proposed date by the New FRMP unless the date nominated is inappropriate, in which case 
the MDP must advise the New FRMP of the reason why the proposed date is inappropriate 
and mutually agree on what the Actual Change Date should be. 




                                                      
10 This should be the Current RP if there is no change or RP role. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 65 of 169
 




(d) If the Read Type Code does not require a read, validate that the Metering Installation Type 
Code is identified as a type 1, type 2, type 3 or type 4 metering installation. If an error is 
identified, advise the New FRMP. 




(e) For Prospective Changes that do not require a Meter Reading, provide the Actual Change 
Date within 2 days of the Actual Change Date being reached. 




(f) For Retrospective Changes that do not require a Meter Reading, provide the Actual Change 
Date within 2 days of receipt of the Data Request. 




(g) For Retrospective Changes, ensure that the Actual Change Date submitted is no earlier than 
the time limit specified by the Jurisdiction for the Change Reason Code on the Change 
Request. 




For example, if the Jurisdictional timeframe for a Change Reason Code is 10 days, the Actual 
Change Date must be no earlier than 10 days prior to the date the Data Request was 
received, even if MSATS would allow an earlier date. 




(h) For changes that require a Meter Reading, provide the Actual Change Date within 2 days of 
the Meter Reading. 




(i) Where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, where the Read Type Code requires the NSRD 
or the Special Read Date, forward the Meter Reading taken at this time to the Current 
FRMP, New FRMP, Current LR. 




(j) Where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, if the NSRD or Special Read Date nominated 
by the New FRMP as the proposed date is not within a date range that is two business days 
prior to or two business days subsequent to the Scheduled Reading Date, or the date 
nominated by the New FRMP for the Retrospective Change does not correspond to a read 
date, the MDP must Object to the Change Request. 




(k) Where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, if the next Scheduled Meter Reading or 
Special Meter Reading does not occur within a date range that is three business days before 
or two business days after the Special Read Date or NSRD the MDP must advise the New 
FRMP of the failure to take a Meter Reading within 2 days and await instructions from the 
FRMP. 




(l) Where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, if the Read Type Code requires an Estimated 
Reading, prepare the Estimated Reading and submit this to MSATS as the Actual Change 
Date. 




(m) Where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, if the Read Type Code requires an End User 
Meter Reading, obtain it from the New FRMP and submit this value to MSATS as the Actual 
Change Date (only if allowed by the Jurisdiction). 




(n) If the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, for Retrospective Changes, where the Meter 
Reading occurred prior the Change Request being submitted, provide the Actual Change 
Date 2 days of receipt of the Data Request. 




(o) If the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, if requested by the New FRMP, carry out an Actual 
Meter Reading within the time periods specified in the metrology procedure (only if allowed 
by the Jurisdiction). 




9.6. MC Requirements 
The MC must ensure MDP, MPC and MPB roles are correct and if not raise appropriate Change 
Request to update. Refer to section 30 to 37 for Change Request types for Role Changes. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 66 of 169
 




9.7. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the New FRMP must choose, for the identified Change Reason 
Codes, a Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and the Retrospective 
Period, as shown in Table 9-A. 




Table 9-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 1080 – Change Retailer – Child NMI  




Jurisdiction Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




ALL 1 20 0 65 




CR 1081 – Change Retailer – Child NMI – Retrospective – Align Meter Rd 




Jurisdiction Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing 
Period (business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




ALL** 1 20 10 0 




CR 1082 – Change Retailer Child – Retrospective: Long Term/Error 




Jurisdiction Objection Logging 
Period (business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




SMALL 
NMI 




LARGE 
NMI 




SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 




ALL 1  20  130 0 




ACT  1  10 130 0 




NSW  1  10 130 0 




VIC  1  20 130 0 




QLD  1  20 130 0 




SA  1  20 130 0 




CR 1083 – Change Retailer Child NMI – Move-In 




Jurisdiction Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing 
Period (business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




ALL 1 20 0 65 




CR 1084 – Change Retailer Child NMI – Move-In – Retrospective 




Jurisdiction Objection Logging 
Period (business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




ALL 1 20 10 0 




9.8. Objection Rules 
The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 9-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 
their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 9-A. 




Table 9-B – Objection Rules** 




CR 1080 – Change Retailer – Child NMI 




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADMETER ALL ALL - - -  Yes Yes   - -  - - - 




NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - Yes - - - - - - - - - - 




BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 67 of 169
 




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 




LARGE NSW Yes 




NOACC SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




DEBT SMALL VIC - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




CONTRACT LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 




CR 1081 – Change Retailer – Child NMI – Retrospective Align Meter Rd  




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADMETER SMALL ALL - - -  Yes Yes   - -  - - - 




BADPARTY SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




DECLINED SMALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 




NOTAPRD SMALL ALL - - - Yes - - - - - - - - - - 




DATEBAD SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




DEBT SMALL VIC - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




RETRO SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




CONTRACT LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 




CR 1082 – Change Retailer Child – Retrospective: Long Term/Error 




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




DATEBAD ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




BADMETER  ALL ALL - - -  Yes Yes   - -  - - - 




BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 




NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - Yes - - - - - - - - - - 




DEBT SMALL VIC - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




RETRO SMALL NSW 
SA 
VIC 




- Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




CONTRACT LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 




CR 1083 – Change Retailer Child NMI – Move-In 




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADMETER ALL ALL - - -  Yes Yes   - -  - - - 




BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 




NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - Yes - - - - - - - - - - 




NOACC SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




CONTRACT LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 68 of 169
 




CR 1084 – Change Retailer Child NMI – Move-In – Retrospective 




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADMETER ALL ALL - - -  Yes Yes   - -  - - - 




BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 




NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - Yes - - - - - - - - - - 




DATEBAD ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




NOACC SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




CONTRACT LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




9.9. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules for the Change Reason Codes identified in section 
9.1 are specified in Table 9-C. 




Table 9-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 




CR 1080 – Change Retailer – Child NMI 




CR 1081 – Change Retailer – Child NMI – Retrospective Align Meter Rd 




CR 1083 – Change Retailer Child NMI – Move-In 




CR 1084 – Change Retailer Child NMI – Move-In – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 




COMPLETED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 




OBJECTED Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 




PENDING Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 




REJECTED Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 




REQUESTED Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 




CR 1082 – Change Retailer Child – Retrospective: Long Term/Error 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 




COMPLETED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 




OBJECTED Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 




PENDING Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 




REJECTED Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 




REQUESTED Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 69 of 169
 




10. PROVIDE DATA – PROVIDE ACTUAL CHANGE DATE – SMALL OR LARGE 




10.1. Application [1500] 
Section 10 applies to the following Change Reason Code: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




1500 – Provide Actual Change Date 
(MDP) 




The MDP is required to provide MSATS with the Actual Change Date 
following the Initiation of a Change Request by a FRMP or MC requiring an 
Actual Change Date. 




10.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The FRMP or the MC has Initiated a Change Request requiring an Actual Change Date. 




(c) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




(d) The MDP has received a Data Request for the provision of the Actual Change Date. 




10.3. Initiating Roles 
The MDP may initiate a Change Request to submit an Actual Change Date to MSATS in 
accordance with section 10.4. 




10.4. MDP Requirements 
The MDP must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 




(c) Provide the Actual Change Date to MSATS within 2 days of reading the meter or otherwise 
prescribed by the relevant Jurisdiction. In the case of a Retrospective Change, it must be 
provided within 2 days of notification. 




(d) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Actual Change Date Related Change Request ID 




MDP   




10.5. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the MDP must choose a Proposed Change Date that lies 
between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 10-A. 




Table 10-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 1500 – Provide Actual Change Date (MDP) 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




0 0 20 0 




10.6. Objection Rules 
Objections are not permitted. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 70 of 169
 




10.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules for the Change Reason Codes identified in section 
10.1 are specified inTable 10-B. 




Table 10-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 




CR 1500 – Provide Actual Change Date (MDP) 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




COMPLETED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REJECTED - - - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - 




REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 71 of 169
 




11. CREATE NMI – CREATE A NMI – SMALL OR LARGE 




11.1. Application [2000 2001] 
Section 11 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




2000 – Create NMI Details Used where the New LNSP establishes the initial set of information in MSATS 
about a connection point to apply from a Prospective Day. 




2001 – Create NMI Details – 
Retrospective 




Used where the New LNSP establishes the initial set of information in MSATS 
about a connection point to apply from a Retrospective Day. 




11.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI does not exist in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




11.3. Initiating Roles 
A New LNSP may initiate a Change Request to create a NMI record in MSATS in accordance with 
section 11.4. 




11.4. LNSP Requirements 
The New LNSP must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date TNI Code 




DLF Code NMI Classification Code Jurisdiction Code 




FRMP (as nominated) LR RoLR 




RP MDP MPB 




MPC NMI Status Code Locality 




State Postcode  




(d) Nominate itself as the New LNSP. 




(e) Populate the Change Request with values for the following address fields (as appropriate): 




EITHER 




DPID Flat Number Flat Type 




Floor Number Floor Type House Number 




House Number Suffix Location Descriptor Lot Number 




Street Name Street Suffix Street Type 




OR 




Unstructured Address 1 Unstructured Address 2 Unstructured Address 3 




 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 72 of 169
 




The New LNSP may populate the Change Request with the following information: 




Parent Name Building name Feeder Class 




Customer Threshold Code    




11.5. MPB Requirements 
On receipt of the Change Request Status notification for the Completed status, the New MPB must 
provide the Metering Installation Type Code to MSATS when known, using Change Reason Code 
3000 or 3001. 




11.6. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the New LNSP must choose, for the identified Change Reason 
Codes, a Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective 
Period, as shown inTable 11-A. 




Table 11-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 2000 – Create NMI Details 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 




1 1 10 20 0 65 




CR 2001 – Create NMI Details – Retrospective  




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




1 10 130 0 




11.7. Objection Rules 
The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in  Table 11-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 
their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 11-A. 




Table 11-B – Objection Rules** 




CR 2000 – Create NMI Details 




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




NOTRESP SMALL ALL Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - - - 




LARGE - 




CR 2001 – Create NMI Details – Retrospective 




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




NOTRESP SMALL ALL Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - - - 




LARGE - 




RETRO ALL ALL Yes - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 73 of 169
 




11.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules for the Change Reason Codes identified in section 
11.1 are specified in Table 11-C. 




Table 11-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 




CR 2000 – Create NMI Details 




CR 2001 – Create NMI Details – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status 
Change  




FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




COMPLETED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




OBJECTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




PENDING Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




REJECTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




REQUESTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 74 of 169
 




12. CREATE NMI – CREATE CHILD NMI – SMALL OR LARGE 




12.1. Application [2020 2021] 
Section 12 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




2020 – Create NMI Details – Child Used where the New ENM establishes the initial set of information in 
MSATS about a connection point that is, or will be, connected to an 
embedded network to apply from a Prospective Day. 




2021 – Create NMI Details – Child – 
Retrospective 




Used where the New ENM establishes the initial set of information in 
MSATS about a connection point that is, or will be, connected to an 
embedded network to apply from a Retrospective Day. 




12.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI does not exist in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




12.3. Initiating Roles 
A New ENM may initiate a Change Request to create a NMI record in MSATS in accordance with 
section 12.4. 




12.4. ENM Requirements 
The New ENM must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date TNI Code 




DLF Code NMI Classification Code Jurisdiction Code 




Child Name FRMP (as nominated) LR 




RoLR RP MDP 




MPB MPC NMI Status Code 




Locality State Postcode 




LNSP; as the ENM    
 




(d) Nominate itself as the LNSP 




(e) Populate the Change Request with values for the following address fields (as appropriate): 




EITHER 




DPID Flat Number Flat Type 




Floor Number Floor Type House Number 




House Number Suffix Location Descriptor Lot Number 




Street Name Street Suffix Street Type 




OR  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 75 of 169
 




Unstructured Address 1 Unstructured Address 2 Unstructured Address 3 
 




The New ENM may populate the Change Request with the following information: 




Parent Name Building name Feeder Class 




Customer Threshold Code    




12.5. MPB Requirements 
The New MPB must on receipt of the Change Request Status notification for the Completed status, 
provide the Metering Installation Type Code to MSATS using Change Reason Code 3000 or 3001. 




12.6. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the New ENM must choose a Proposed Change Date that lies 
between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 12-A. 




Table 12-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 2020 – Create NMI Details – Child 




Objection Logging Period  
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 




1 1 10 20 0 65 




CR 2021 – Create NMI Details – Child – Retrospective 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 




1 1 10 20 130 0 




12.7. Objection Rules 
The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 12-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 
their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 12-A. 




Table 12-B – Objection Rules** 




CR 2020 – Create NMI Details – Child 




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADPARTY SMALL NSW 
VIC 
SA 




- - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




LARGE ALL 




NOTRESP SMALL NSW 
VIC 
SA 




Yes - - - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - - - 




LARGE ALL 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 76 of 169
 




CR 2021 – Create NMI Details – Child – Retrospective 




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADPARTY SMALL NSW 
VIC 
SA 




- - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




LARGE ALL 




NOTRESP SMALL NSW 
VIC 
SA 




Yes - 
 




- 
 




- 
 




Yes 
 




- 
 




Yes 
 




- 
 




- 
 




- 
 




Yes 
 




- 
 




- 
 




- 
 




LARGE ALL 




RETRO SMALL NSW 
VIC 
SA 




Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




LARGE ALL 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




12.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules for the Change Reason Codes identified in section 
12.1 are specified in Table 12-C. 




Table 12-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 




CR 2020 – Create NMI Details – Child 




CR 2021 – Create NMI Details – Child – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




COMPLETED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - -  - Yes - 




OBJECTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




PENDING Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




REJECTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




REQUESTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 77 of 169
 




13. CREATE NMI – CREATE NMI, METERING INSTALLATION DETAILS AND NMI 
DATASTREAM – SMALL OR LARGE 




13.1. Application [2500 2501] 
Section 13 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




2500 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter 
Details 




Used where the New LNSP is able to provide the Datastream and 
metering installation details at the same time it establishes the 
initial set of information in MSATS fora connection point to apply 
from a Prospective Day. 




2501 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter 
Details – Retrospective 




Used where the New LNSP is able to provide the Datastream and 
metering installation details at the same time it establishes the 
initial set of information in MSATS for a connection point to apply 
from a Retrospective Day. 




13.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI does not exist in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




13.3. Initiating Roles 
If the New LNSP meets the condition imposed by section 13.2 the New LNSP may initiate a Change 
Request to create a NMI, metering installation details and NMI Datastream in MSATS in 
accordance with section13.4. 




13.4. LNSP Requirements 
The New LNSP must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date TNI Code 




DLF Code NMI Classification Code Jurisdiction Code 




FRMP (as nominated) LR RoLR 




RP MDP MPB 




MPC NMI Status Code Locality 




State Postcode Meter Serial ID (at least one) 




Metering Installation Type Code 
(for each meter) 




Meter Register Status Code (for 
each meter) 




Register ID (at least one for each 
meter) 




Register Identifier Status Code 
(for each register) 




Network Tariff Code Actual/Cumulative Indicator (for 
each register) 




Controlled Load Indicator (for 
each register) 




Dial Format (for each register) Multiplier Value (for each 
register) 




Time of Day Code (for each 
register) 




Unit of Measure Code (for each 
register) 




NMI Suffix (at least one) 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 78 of 169
 




Datastream Type (for each suffix) Profile Name (for each suffix) ADL (for each suffix) 




Datastream Status Code (for 
each suffix) 




MDM Contributory Suffix (for 
each register) 




 




 
(d) Nominate itself as the New LNSP. 




(e) Provide the ADL if this value is not otherwise provided by the New FRMP. 




(f) Populate the Change Request with values for the following address fields (as applicable), 




EITHER 




DPID Flat Number Flat Type 




Floor Number Floor Type House Number 




House Number suffix Location Descriptor Lot Number 




Street Name Street Suffix Street Type 




OR 




Unstructured Address 1 Unstructured Address 2 Unstructured Address 3 




The New LNSP may: 




(g) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 




Parent Name Building name Feeder Class 




Customer Threshold Code    




(h) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each meter:  




Additional Site information NSRD Meter location 




Meter hazard Meter route Meter use 




Meter point Meter manufacturer Meter model 




Transformer location Transformer type Transformer ratio 




Meter constant Last test date Next test date 




Test result accuracy Test result notes Test performed by 




Measurement type Meter program Meter Read Type 




Remote phone number Communication equipment type Communication protocol 




Data conversion arrangements Data validation arrangements Estimation instructions 




Asset management plan details Calibration tables (details of any 
calibration factors programmed 
into the meter) 




Password details (the read and 
time set passwords only, 
separated by a space; the write 
password is not to be recorded 
in MSATS) 




Test and calibration program 
details 




User access rights details (i.e. 
details of any End User access to 
the metering installation such as 
pulse outputs) 




 




(i) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each register: 




Network Tariff Code additional 
information 




Demand value 1, if the Network 
Tariff includes a demand 
component 




Demand value 2, if the Network 
Tariff includes a second demand 
component 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 79 of 169
 




13.5. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the New LNSP must choose, for the identified Change Reason 
Codes, a Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective 
Period, as shown inTable 13-A. 




Table 13-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 2500 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter Details 




Objection Logging Period  
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period  
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 




1 1 10 20 0 65 




CR 2501 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter Details – Retrospective 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 




1 1 10 20 130 0 




13.6. Objection Rules 
The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 13-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 
their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 13-A. 




Table 13-B – Objection Rules** 




CR 2500 – Create NMI, Datastream + Meter Details 




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADPARTY SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




LARGE - 




NOTRESP ALL ALL Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - - - 




CR 2501 – Create NMI, Datastream + Meter Details – Retro 




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




NOTRESP ALL ALL Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - - - 




RETRO ALL ALL Yes  Yes - - - - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




13.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules for the Change Reason Codes identified in section 
13.1 are specified in Table 13-C. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 80 of 169
 




Table 13-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 




CR 2500 – Create NMI, Datastream + Meter Details 




CR 2501 – Create NMI, Datastream + Meter Details – Retro 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




COMPLETED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




OBJECTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




PENDING Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




REJECTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




REQUESTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 81 of 169
 




14. CREATE NMI – CREATE NMI, METERING INSTALLATION DETAILS AND MDM 
DATASTREAM – CHILD NMI (SMALL OR LARGE) 




14.1. Application [2520 2521] 
Section 14 applies to the following Change Reason Codes:  




Change Reason Code Comment 




2520 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter 
Details – Child NMI 
 




Used where the New ENM makes a Prospective Chage to the 
Datastream and metering installation details at the same time it 
establishes the initial set of information in MSATS about a 
connection point that is connected to an embedded network.  




2521 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter – 
Child NMI - Retrospective 
 




Used where the New ENM makes a Retrospective Chage to the 
Datastream and metering installation details at the same time it 
establishes the initial set of information in MSATS about a 
connection point that is connected to an embedded network.  




14.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI does not exist in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI classification code is SMALL or LARGE. 




14.3. Initiating Roles 
(a) A New ENM may initiate a Change Request to create a NMI, metering installation details 




and MDM Datastream for an embedded network in the MSATS system in accordance with 
clause 14.4. 




(b) The New ENM must use one of the following Change Reason Codes 2520 or 2521 to 
establish a Change Request. 




14.4. ENM Requirements 
The New ENM must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the initiation of the 
Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI checksum 




Its participant ID Proposed change date TNI code 




DLF code NMI classification code Jurisdiction Code 




FRMP (as nominated) LR ROLR 




RP MDP MPB 




MPC LNSP; as the ENM NMI Status Code 




Child Name Locality State 




Postcode Meter serial ID (at least one) Metering Installation Type Code 
(for each meter) 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 82 of 169
 




Meter Register Status Code (for 
each meter) 




Register ID (at least one for each 
meter) 




Register Identifier status Code 
(for each register) 




Network Tariff Code Actual/cumulative indicator (for 
each register) 




Controlled load indicator (for 
each register) 




Dial format (for each register) Multiplier value (for each 
register) 




Time of day code (for each 
register) 




Unit of measure code (for each 
register) 




NMI suffix (at least one) Datastream type (for each suffix) 




Profile Name (for each suffix) ADL (for each suffix) Datastream Status Code (for 
each suffix) 




MDM Contributory Suffix (for 
each register) 




  




(d) Nominate itself as the new LNSP. 




(e) Populate the Change Request with values for the following address fields (as applicable): 




EITHER: 




DPID Flat number Flat type 




Floor number Floor type House number 




House number suffix Location descriptor Lot number 




Street name Street suffix Street type 




OR  




Unstructured address 1 Unstructured address 2 Unstructured address 3 




The New ENM may: 




(f) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 




Embedded network parent 
name 




Building name Feeder Class 




Customer Threshold Code    
 




(g) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each meter:  




Additional Site information NSRD Meter location 




Meter hazard Meter route Meter use 




Meter point Meter manufacturer Meter model 




Transformer location Transformer type Transformer ratio 




Meter constant Last test date Next test date 




Test result accuracy Test result notes Test performed by 




Measurement type Meter program Meter read type 




Remote phone number Communication equipment type Communication protocol 




Data conversion 
arrangements 




Data validation arrangements Estimation instructions 




Asset management plan 
details 




Calibration tables (details of any 
calibration factors programmed into 
the meter) 




Password details (the read and 
time set passwords only, 
separated by a space; the write 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 83 of 169
 




password is not to be recorded 
in MSATS) 




Test and calibration 
program details 




User access rights details (i.e. details 
of any End User access to the 
metering installation such as pulse 
outputs) 




 




(h) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each register: 




Network Tariff Code additional 
information 




Demand value 1, if the Network 
Tariff  includes a demand 
component 




Demand value 2, if the Network 
Tariff includes a second demand 
component 




14.5. Timeframe Rules 
The Timeframe Rules are shown in Table 14-A. 




Table 14-A – Time frame rules 
CR 2520 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter Details – Child NMI 




Objection Logging Period  
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period  
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 




1 1 10 20 0 65 
CR 2521 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter – Child NMI – Retrospective 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 




1 1 10 20 130 0 




14.6. Objection Rules 
The ’Yes’ Roles specified in inTable 14-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 
their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 14-A. 




Table 14-B – Objection Rules** 




CR 2520 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter Details – Child NMI 




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




NOTRESP ALL ALL Yes - - - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - Yes - 




CR 2521 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter – Child NMI - Retrospective 




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




NOTRESP ALL ALL Yes - - - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - Yes - 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 84 of 169
 




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




RETRO 
SMALL 




NSW 
VIC 
SA 




Yes              




LARGE ALL 
**  N = New Role, C = Current Role.  




14.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified inTable 14-C. 




Table 14-C – Change request status notification rules** 




CR 2520 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter Details - Child NMI 




CR 2521 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter Details – Child NMI - Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE & ROLE STATUS – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




COMPLETED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - 




OBJECTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




PENDING Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




REJECTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




REQUESTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 
**  N = New Role, C = Current Role.  




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 85 of 169
 




15. MAINTAIN METERING – CREATE METERING INSTALLATION DETAILS – SMALL 
OR LARGE 




15.1. Application [3000 3001] 
Section 15 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




3000 – Create Metering Installation 
Details 




Used where the Current MPB makes a Prospective Change to the initial 
set of information in MSATS about the metering installation details, and 
there is no associated meter removal for the NMI for the same effective 
date.  




3001 – Create Metering Installation 
Details – Retrospective 




Used where the Current MPB makes a Prospective Change to the initial 
set of information in MSATS about the metering installation details, and 
there is no associated meter removal for the NMI for the same effective 
date  




15.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The metering installation details do not exist in MSATS. 




(c) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




15.3. Initiating Roles 
A Current MPB may initiate a Change Request to create metering installation records in MSATS in 
accordance with section 15.4. 




15.4. MPB Requirements 
The Current MPB must: 




(d) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(e) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 




(f) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date Meter Serial ID (at least one) 




Metering Installation Type Code 
(for each meter) 




Meter Register Status Code (for 
each meter) 




Register ID (at least one for each 
meter) 




Register Identifier Status Code 
(for each register ID) 




Actual/Cumulative Indicator (for 
each Register ID) 




Controlled Load Indicator (for 
each Register ID) 




Dial Format (for each Register ID) Multiplier Value (for each 
Register ID) 




Time of Day Code (for each 
Register ID) 




Unit of Measure Code (for each 
Register ID) 




Network Tariff Code (for each 
Register ID) 




MDM Contributory Suffix (for 
each register) 




(g) Where changes to Network Tariff information are required: 




(i) Check that the Network Tariff Code is correct and, if it is not, update it to have the 
correct value. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 86 of 169
 




(ii) Change the Network Tariff Code to ensure that the current information provided in 
MSATS is the latest information available from the Current LNSP. 




The Current MPB may: 




(h) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each meter: 




Additional Site information Meter hazard NSRD 




Meter location Meter point Meter route 




Meter use Transformer location Meter manufacturer 




Meter model Meter constant Transformer type 




Transformer ratio Test result accuracy Last test date 




Next test date Measurement type Test result notes 




Test performed by Remote phone number Meter program 




Meter Read Type Data conversion arrangements Communication equipment type 




Communication protocol Asset management plan details Data validation arrangements 




Estimation instructions Test and calibration program 
details 




Calibration tables (details of any 
calibration factors programmed 
into the meter) 




Password details (the read and 
time set passwords only, 
separated by a space; the write 
password is not to be recorded in 
MSATS) 




User access rights details (i.e. 
details of any End User access to 
the metering installation such as 
pulse outputs) 




 




 
(i) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each register: 




Network Tariff Code additional 
information 




Demand value 1, if the Network 
Tariff includes a demand 
component 




Demand value 2, if the Network 
Tariff includes a second demand 
component 




 
(j) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information:  




Actual End Date   




15.5. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the Current MPB must choose a Proposed Change Date that 
lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown inTable 15-A. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 87 of 169
 




Table 15-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 3000 – Create Meter Details 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




0 0 0 65 




CR 3001 – Create Meter Details – Retrospective 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




0 0 140 0 




15.6. Objection Rules 
Objections are not permitted. 




15.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules  are specified inTable 15-B. 




Table 15-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 




CR 3000 – Create Meter Details 




CR 3001 – Create Meter Details – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - - 




COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 




OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REJECTED - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - - 




REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 88 of 169
 




16. MAINTAIN METERING – EXCHANGE OF METERING INFORMATION – SMALL 
OR LARGE 




16.1. Application [3004 3005] 
Section 16 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




3004 – Exchange of Metering 
information 




Used where the Current MPB is required to provide a Prospective Change to 
the information in MSATS about the metering installation details. The change 
will include the removal of at least one existing meter and the installation of at 
least one new meter. A minimum set of metering installation details for the NMI 
shall exist upon completion of the Change Request. 




3005 – Exchange of Metering 
information – Retrospective 




Used where the Current MPB is required to provide a Retrospective Change to 
the information in MSATS about the metering installation details. The change 
will include the removal of at least one existing meter and the installation of at 
least one new meter. A minimum set of metering installation details for the NMI 
shall exist upon completion of the Change Request. 




16.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The metering installation details exist in MSATS. 




(c) At least one meter is removed and one meter is created in each Change Request. 




(d) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




(e) The Meter Serial ID for the installed meter shall be different to the existing Meter Serial ID 
for the same NMI. 




16.3. Initiating Roles 
A Current MPB may initiate a Change Request to change and create metering installation records 
in MSATS in accordance with section 16.4 




16.4. MPB Requirements 
The Current MPB must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 




(c) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID Its Participant ID 




Proposed Change Date NMI NMI Checksum 




Meter Serial ID (for each meter)   
 




(d) For each meter associated to the NMI, where the Meter Register Status Code is to be ‘C’ 
populate the Change Request with the following information (where this information does 
not currently exist in MSATS):  




Meter Register status Code Metering Installation Type Code   
 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 89 of 169
 




(e) For all Register IDs associated with the NMI, where the Register Identifier Status Code is to 
be ‘C’ populate the Change Request with the following information (where this information 
does not currently exist in MSATS):  




Register ID Unit of measure code (for each 
Register ID) 




Multiplier value (for each Register 
ID) 




Time of day code (for each 
Register ID) 




Dial format (for each Register ID) Register Identifier Status Code 
(for each Register ID) 




Controlled Load indicator (for 
each Register ID) 




Actual/cumulative indicator (for 
each Register ID) 




Network Tariff Code (for each 
Register ID) 




MDM Contributory Suffix (for 
each register) 




  




(f) Where changes to Network Tariff information are required: 




(i) Check that the Network Tariff Code is correct and, if it is not, update it to have the 
correct value. 




(ii) Change the Network Tariff Code to ensure that the current information provided in 
MSATS is the latest information available from the Current LNSP. 




The Current MPB may: 




(g) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each meter:  




Additional Site information NSRD Meter location 




Meter hazard Meter route Meter use 




Meter point Meter manufacturer Meter model 




Transformer location Transformer type Transformer ratio 




Meter constant Last test date Next test date 




Test result accuracy Test result notes Test performed by 




Measurement type Meter program Meter Read Type 




Remote phone number Communication equipment type Communication protocol 




Data conversion arrangements Data validation arrangements Estimation instructions 




Asset management plan details Calibration tables (details of any 
calibration factors programmed 
into the meter) 




Password details (the read and 
time set passwords only, 
separated by a space; the write 
password is not to be recorded 
in MSATS) 




Test and calibration program 
details 




User access rights details (i.e. 
details of any End User access to 
the metering installation such as 
pulse outputs) 




Network Tariff Code additional 
information 




Demand value 1, if the Network 
Tariff includes a demand 
component 




Demand value 2, if the Network 
Tariff includes a second demand 
component 




 




 
(h) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with:  




Actual End Date   




16.5. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the Current MPB must choose, a Proposed Change Date that 
lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown inTable 16-A. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 90 of 169
 




Table 16-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 3004 – Exchange of Metering Information 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




0 0 0 65 




CR 3005 – Exchange of Metering Information – Retrospective 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




0 0 140 0 




16.6. Objection Rules 
Objections are not permitted. 




16.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 16-B. 




Table 16-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 




CR 3004 – Exchange of Metering Information 




CR 3005 – Exchange of Metering Information – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - - 




COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 




OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REJECTED - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - - 




REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 91 of 169
 




17. MAINTAIN METERING – CHANGE METERING INSTALLATION DETAILS – SMALL 
OR LARGE 




17.1. Application [3050 3051] 
Section 17 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




3050 – Change Metering Installation 
Details 




Used where the Current MPB is required to make a Prospective 
Change to the metering installation details in MSATS. Each Meter 
Serial ID must exist in MSATS and a minimum set of metering 
installation details for the NMI shall exist upon Completion of the 
Change Request. 




3051 – Change Metering Installation 
Details – Retrospective 




Used where the Current MPB is required to make a Retrospective 
Change to the metering installation details in MSATS. Each Meter 
Serial ID must exist in MSATS and a minimum set of metering 
installation details for the NMI shall exist upon Completion of the 
Change Request. 




17.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The metering installation details exist in MSATS. 




(c) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




17.3. Initiating Roles 
A Current MPB may initiate a Change Request to change metering installation records in MSATS in 
accordance with section 17.4. 




17.4. MPB Requirements 
The Current MPB must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date Meter Serial ID (at least one) 
 




(d) For each meter associated with the NMI populate the Change Request with the following 
information (where this information does not currently exist in MSATS):  




Meter Register Status Code Metering Installation Type Code  
 




(e) For all Register IDs associated with the NMI, where the Register Identifier Status Code is to 
be ‘C’ populate the Change Request with the following information (where this information 
does not currently exist in MSATS):  




MDM Contributory Suffix (for a 
register) 




Network Tariff Code  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 92 of 169
 




 
(f) For all Register IDs associated with the NMI, where the Register Identifier Status Code is to 




be ‘C’ populate the Change Request with the following information:  




Register ID Register Identifier Status Code Actual/cumulative indicator 




Controlled Load indicator Dial format Multiplier value 




Time of day code Unit of measure code  




 
(g) Where changes to Network Tariff information are required: 




(i) Check that the Network Tariff Code is correct and, if it is not, update it to have the 
correct value. 




(ii) Change the Network Tariff Code to ensure that the current information provided in 
MSATS is the latest information available from the Current LNSP. 




The Current MPB may: 




(h) Populate the Change Request with the following information:  




 Meter hazard Additional Site information 




Meter location Meter point Meter route 




Meter use Transformer location Meter manufacturer 




Meter model Meter constant Transformer type 




Transformer ratio Test result accuracy Last test date 




Next test date Measurement type Test result notes 




Test performed by Remote phone number Meter program 




Meter Read Type Data conversion arrangements Communication equipment type 




Communication protocol Asset management plan details Data validation arrangements 




Estimation instructions Test and calibration program 
details 




Calibration tables (details of any 
calibration factors programmed 
into the meter) 




Password details (the read and 
time set passwords only, 
separated by a space; the write 
password is not to be recorded 
in MSATS) 




Demand value 1, if the Network 
Tariff includes a demand 
component 




User access rights details (i.e. 
details of any End User access to 
the metering installation such as 
pulse outputs) 




Network Tariff Code additional 
information 




Demand value 2, if the Network 
Tariff includes a second demand 
component  




 




 
(i) For CR 3051, populate the Change Request with: 




Actual End Date   




17.5. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the Current MPB must choose a Proposed Change Date that 
lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 17-A. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 93 of 169
 




Table 17-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 3050 – Change Meter Details 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




0 0 0 65 




CR 3051 – Change Meter Details – Retrospective 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




0 0 140 0 




17.6. Objection Rules 
Objections are not permitted. 




17.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 17-B. 




Table 17-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 




CR 3050 – Change Meter Details 




CR 3051 – Change Meter Details – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status 
Change  




FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - - 




COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 




OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REJECTED - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - - 




REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 94 of 169
 




18. MAINTAIN METERING – ADVANCED CHANGE METERING INSTALLATION 
DETAILS – SMALL OR LARGE 




18.1. Application [3080 3081] 
Section 18 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




3080 – Advanced Change 
Metering Installation Details 




Used where the Current MC is required to provide Prospective Change(s) to 
the metering installation details in MSATS, including potential changes to 
Datastream information, and to the Roles of MDP, MPB and MPC. The 
Change Request must include one or more changes to metering installation 
details for a Meter Serial ID and each Meter Serial ID must exist in MSATS. A 
minimum set of metering installation details for the NMI shall exist upon 
Completion. 




3081 – Advanced Change 
Metering Installation Details – 
Retrospective 




Used where the Current MC is required to provide Retrospective Change(s) 
to the metering installation details in MSATS, including potential changes to 
Datastream information, and to the Roles of MDP, MPB and MPC. The 
Change Request must include one or more changes to metering installation 
details for a Meter Serial ID and each Meter Serial ID must exist in MSATS. A 
minimum set of metering installation details for the NMI shall exist upon 
Completion. 




18.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The metering installation details exist in MSATS. 




(c) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




18.3. Initiating Roles 
(a) A Current MC may initiate a Change Request to change and create metering installation 




records in MSATS in accordance with section 18.4. 




(b) Where a change of Role is included in the Change Request, the initiator must agree with all 
affected Participants of the Roles that are changing prior to creating the Change Request. 




18.4. MC Requirements 
The Current MC must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 




(c) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID Its Participant ID 




Proposed Change Date NMI NMI Checksum 




The Meter Serial ID (for each 
meter) 




  




 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 95 of 169
 




(d) For each meter associated to the NMI, where the Meter Register Status Code is to be ‘C’, 
populate the Change Request with the following (where this information does not currently 
exist in MSATS):  




Meter Register Status Code  Metering Installation Type Code  




 
(e) For all Register IDs associated with the NMI, where the Register Identifier Status Code is to 




be ‘C’, populate the Change Request with the following (where this information does not 
currently exist in MSATS): 




Register ID Register Identifier Status Code 
(for each Register ID) 




Unit of measure code (for each 
Register ID) 




Multiplier value (for each 
Register ID) 




Time of day code (for each 
Register ID) 




Dial format (for each Register ID) 




Network Tariff Code (for each 
Register ID) 




Controlled Load indicator (for 
each Register ID) 




Actual/cumulative indicator (for 
each Register ID) 




MDM Contributory Suffix (for 
each register) 




  




 
(f) For all Datastreams associated to the NMI, where the Datastream Status Code is to be ‘A’, 




populate the Change Request with the following information (where this information does 
not currently exist in MSATS): 




NMI suffix Datastream type (for each suffix) Profile Name (for each suffix) 




ADL (for each suffix) Datastream Status Code (for 
each suffix) 




 




The Current MC may: 




(g) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each meter:  




MDP MPB MPC 




Additional Site information NSRD Meter location 




Meter hazard Meter route Meter use 




Meter point Meter manufacturer Meter model 




Transformer location Transformer type Transformer ratio 




Meter constant Last test date Next test date 




Test result accuracy Test result notes Test performed by 




Measurement type Meter program Meter Read Type 




Remote phone number Communication equipment type Communication protocol 




Data conversion arrangements Data validation arrangements Estimation instructions 




Asset management plan details Calibration tables (details of any 
calibration factors programmed 
into the meter) 




Password details (the read and 
time set passwords only, 
separated by a space; the write 
password is not to be recorded 
in MSATS) 




Test and calibration program 
details 




User access rights details (i.e. 
details of any End User access to 
the metering installation such as 
pulse outputs) 




 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 96 of 169
 




 
(h) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each register: 




Network Tariff Code additional 
information 




Demand value 1, if the Network 
Tariff includes a demand 
component 




Demand value 2, if the Network 
Tariff includes a second demand 
component 




 
(i) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with: 




Actual End Date   




 
(j) Where changes to Network Tariff information is required: 




(i) Check that the Network Tariff Code is correct and, if it is not, update it to have the 
correct value. 




(ii) Change the Network Tariff Code to ensure that the current information provided in 
MSATS is the latest information available from the Current LNSP. 




18.5. MDP Requirements 
On receipt of a Data Request for Change Reason Codes 3080, the MDP must initiate a Change 
Request to provide the Actual Change Date. 




18.6. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the Current MC must choose a Proposed Change Date that 
lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 18-A. 




Table 18-A– Timeframe Rules 




CR 3080 – Advanced Change Metering Installation Details 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




1 20 0 65 




CR 3081 – Advanced Change Metering Installation Details – Retrospective  




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




1 20 130 0 




18.7. Objection Rules 
The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 18-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 
their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 18-A. 




Table 18-B– Objection Rules** 




CR 3080 – Advanced Change Metering Installation Details 




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB ROLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - Yes - - - - - - - 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 97 of 169
 




CR 3081 – Advanced Change Metering Installation Details – Retrospective 




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB ROLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - Yes - - - - - - - 




BADDATA ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




18.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 18-C. 




Table 18-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 




CR 3080 – Advanced Change Metering Installation Details 




CR 3081 – Advanced Change Metering Installation Details – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - Yes - -  Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 




COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 




OBJECTED - Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 




PENDING - Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 




REJECTED - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - Yes 




REQUESTED - Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 98 of 169
 




19. MAINTAIN METERING – ADVANCED EXCHANGE OF METERING – SMALL OR 
LARGE 




19.1. Application [3090 3091] 
Section 19 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




3090 – Advanced Exchange of 
Metering 




Used where the Current MC is required to provide a Prospective Change to the 
information in MSATS relating to the metering installation details, including 
potential changes to Datastream information, Network Tariff Code and to the 
Roles of MDP, MPB and MPC. The change shall include the removal of at least 
one existing meter and the installation of at least one new meter. A minimum 
set of metering installation details for the NMI shall exist upon Completion. 




3091 – Advanced Exchange of 
Metering – Retrospective 




Used where the Current MC is required to provide a Retrospective Change to 
the information in MSATS relating to the metering installation details, including 
potential changes to Datastream information, Network Tariff Code and to the 
Roles of MDP, MPB and MPC. The change shall include the removal of at least 
one existing meter and the installation of at least one new meter. A minimum 
set of metering installation details for the NMI shall exist upon Completion. 




19.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The metering installation details exist in MSATS. 




(c) At least one meter is removed and one meter is created in each Change Request. 




(d) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




(e) The Meter Serial ID for the installed meter shall be different to the existing Meter Serial ID 
for the same NMI. 




19.3. Initiating Roles 
(a) A Current MC may initiate a Change Request to change and create metering installation 




records in MSATS in accordance with section 19.4. 




(b) Where a change of Role is included in the Change Request the initiator must agree with all 
affected Participants of the Roles that are changing prior to creating the Change Request. 




19.4. MC Requirements 
The Current MC must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 




(c) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID Its Participant ID 




Proposed Change Date NMI NMI Checksum 




Meter Serial ID (for each meter)   




 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 99 of 169
 




(d) For each meter associated to the NMI, where the Meter Register Status Code is to be ‘C’ 
populate the Change Request with the following information (where this information does 
not currently exist in MSATS):  




Metering Installation Type Code Meter Register Status Code   




 
(e) For all Register IDs associated with the NMI, where the Register Identifier Status Code is to 




be ‘C’ populate the Change Request with the following information (where this information 
does not currently exist in MSATS):  




Register ID Register Identifier Status Code 
(for each Register ID) 




Unit of measure code (for each 
Register ID) 




Multiplier value (for each Register 
ID) 




Time of day code (for each 
register ID) 




Dial format (for each register ID) 




Network Tariff Code (for each 
Register ID) 




Controlled Load indicator (for 
each Register ID) 




Actual/cumulative indicator (for 
each Register ID) 




MDM Contributory Suffix (for 
each register) 




  




 
(f) For all Datastreams associated to the NMI, where the Datastream Status Code is to be ‘A’ 




populate the Change Request with the following information (where this information does 
not currently exist in MSATS):  




NMI suffix Datastream type (for each suffix) Profile Name (for each suffix) 




ADL (for each suffix) Datastream Status Code (for each 
suffix) 




 




The Current MC may: 




(g) Populate the Change Request with the following information:  




MDP MPB MPC 




Additional Site information NSRD Meter location 




Meter hazard Meter route Meter use 




Meter point Meter manufacturer Meter model 




Transformer location Transformer type Transformer ratio 




Meter constant Last test date Next test date 




Test result accuracy Test result notes Test performed by 




Measurement type Meter program Meter Read Type 




Remote phone number Communication equipment type Communication protocol 




Data conversion arrangements Data validation arrangements Estimation instructions 




Asset management plan details Calibration tables (details of any 
calibration factors programmed 
into the meter) 




Password details (the read and 
time set passwords only, 
separated by a space; the write 
password is not to be recorded in 
MSATS) 




Test and calibration program 
details 




User access rights details (i.e. 
details of any End User access to 
the metering installation such as 
pulse outputs) 




 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 100 of 169
 




 
(h) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each register: 




Network Tariff Code additional 
information 




Demand value 1, if the Network 
Tariff includes a demand 
component 




Demand value 2, if the Network 
Tariff includes a second demand 
component 




 
(i) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with:  




Actual End Date   




 
(j) Where changes to Network Tariff information are required: 




(i) Check that the Network Tariff Code is correct and, if it is not, update it to have the 
correct value. 




(ii) Change the Network Tariff Code to ensure that the current information provided in 
MSATS is the latest information available from the Current LNSP. 




19.5. MDP Requirements 
On receipt of a Data Request for Change Reason Code 3090, the MDP must initiate a Change 
Request to provide the Actual Change Date. 




19.6. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the Current MC must choose a Proposed Change Date that 
lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 19-A. 




Table 19-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 3090 – Advanced Exchange of Metering 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




1 20 0 65 




CR 3091 – Advanced Exchange of Metering – Retrospective  




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




1 20 130 0 




19.7. Objection Rules 
The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 19-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 
their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 19-A. 




Table 19-B – Objection Rules** 




CR 3090 – Advanced Exchange of Metering 




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - Yes - - - - - - - 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 101 of 169
 




CR 3091 – Advanced Exchange of Metering – Retrospective 




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - Yes - - - - - - - 




BADDATA ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




19.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 19-C. 




Table 19-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 




CR 3090 – Advance Exchange of Metering 




CR 3091 – Advance Exchange of Metering – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 




COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 




OBJECTED - Yes - - - YEs Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 




PENDING - Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 




REJECTED - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - Yes 




REQUESTED - Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 102 of 169
 




20. MAINTAIN METERING – CHANGE NETWORK TARIFF CODE – SMALL OR 
LARGE 




20.1. Application [3100 3101] 
Section 20 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




3100 – Change Network Tariff Used where the Current LNSP (or the ENM in the case of a Child 
NMI) is required to make a Prospective Change to Network Tariff 
Code. 




3101 – Change Network Tariff – 
Retrospective 




Used where the Current LNSP (or the ENM in the case of a Child 
NMI) is required to make a Retrospective Change to the Network 
Tariff Code. 




20.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




(c) The Meter Register data is loaded into MSATS. 




20.3. Initiating Roles 
A Current LNSP (or the ENM in the case of a Child NMI) may initiate a Change Request to change 
a Network Tariff Code in accordance with section 20.4. 




20.4. LNSP or ENM Requirements 
The Current LNSP (or ENM in the case of a Child NMI) must for each Register ID: 




(a) Check that the Network Tariff Code created by the MPB when the meter was created in 
MSATS is correct and, if it is not, update it to have the correct value. 




(b) Change the Network Tariff Code in MSATS to ensure that the current information provided 
in MSATS is the latest information available from the Current LNSP. 




(c) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(d) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 




(e) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date Meter Serial ID 




Register ID Network Tariff Code (for each 
register) 




 




The Current LNSP (or the ENM in the case of a Child NMI) may: 




(f) Populate a Change Request with the following information:  




Network Tariff Code additional information  




(g) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information:  




Actual End Date   















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 103 of 169
 




20.5. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the Current LNSP (or ENM in the case of a Child NMI) must 
choose, for the identified Change Reason Codes, a Proposed Change Date that lies between the 
Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 20-A. 




Table 20-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 3100 – Change Network Tariff  




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




0 0 0 65 




CR 3101 – Change Network Tariff – Retrospective 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




0 0 140 0 




20.6. Objection Rules 
Objections are not permitted. 




20.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 20-B. 




Table 20-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 




CR 3100 – Change Network Tariff 




CR 3101 – Change Network Tariff – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status 
Change  




FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 




COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 




OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REJECTED - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 




REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 104 of 169
 




21. MAINTAIN DATASTREAM – CREATE NMI DATASTREAM –SMALL OR LARGE 




21.1. Application [4000 4001] 
Section 21 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




4000 – Create NMI Datastream 
Details 




Used where the Current MDP makes a Prospective Change to the initial 
set of information in MSATS about the NMI Datastream details, and there 
is no associated Datastream Status Code change to inactive for the NMI 
for the same effective date.  




4001 – Create NMI Datastream 
Details – Retrospective 




Used where the Current MDP makes a Retrospective Change to the initial 
set of information in MSATS about the NMI Datastream details, and there 
is no associated Datastream Status Code change to inactive for the NMI 
for the same effective date. 




21.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI Datastream details do not exist in MSATS 




(c) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




21.3. Initiating Roles 
A Current MDP may initiate a Change Request to create an NMI Datastream in MSATS in 
accordance with section 21.4. 




21.4. MDP Requirements 
The Current MDP must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date NMI suffix (at least one) 




Datastream type (for each suffix) Profile Name (for each suffix) ADL (for each suffix) 




Datastream Status Code (for 
each suffix) 




  




(d) Obtain the ADL from the LNSP if this value is not otherwise provided by the New FRMP. 




The Current MDP may: 




(e) for Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information:  




Actual End Date   




21.5. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the Current MDP must choose, for the identified Change 
Reason Code, a Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective 
Period, as shown in Table 21-A. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 105 of 169
 




Table 21-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 4000 – Create NMI Datastream Details 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




0 0 0 65 




CR 4001 – Create NMI Datastream Details – Retrospective 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




0 0 140 0 




21.6. Objection Rules 
Objections are not permitted. 




21.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 21-B. 




Table 21-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 




CR 4000 – Create NMI Datastream Details 




CR 4001 – Create NMI Datastream Details – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status 
Change  




FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - - - - - - - Yes - - - - - - 




COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 




OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REJECTED - - - - - - - Yes - - - - - - 




REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 106 of 169
 




22. MAINTAIN DATASTREAM – EXCHANGE OF DATASTREAM INFORMATION 
SMALL OR LARGE 




22.1. Application [4004 4005] 
Section 22 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




4004 – Exchange of Datastream 
Information 




Used where the Current MDP is required to make a Prospective Change to the 
NMI Datastream in MSATS. The change will include at least one Datastream 
Status Code change to inactive and the creation of at least one new 
Datastream. A minimum set of NMI Datastream details for the NMI shall exist 
upon Completion. 




4005 – Exchange of Datastream 
Information – Retrospective 




Used where the Current MDP is required to make a Retrospective Change to 
the NMI Datastream in MSATS. The change will include at least one 
Datastream Status Code change to inactive and the creation of at least one 
new Datastream. A minimum set of NMI Datastream details for the NMI shall 
exist upon Completion. 




22.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The metering installation details exist in MSATS. 




(c) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




22.3. Initiating Roles 
A Current MDP may initiate a Change Request to exchange Datastream records in MSATS in 
accordance with section 22.4. 




22.4. MDP Requirements 
The Current MDP must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 




(c) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID Its Participant ID 




Proposed Change Date NMI NMI Checksum 
 




(d) For all Datastreams associated to the NMI, where the Datastream Status Code is to be ‘A’ 
populate the Change Request with the following information: (where this information does 
not currently exist in MSATS);  




NMI suffix (at least one) Datastream type (for each suffix) Profile Name (for each suffix) 




ADL (for each suffix) Datastream Status Code (for 
each suffix) 




 




The Current MDP may: 




(e) Populate the Change Request with the following information:  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 107 of 169
 




Meter Serial ID (for each meter) Register ID (for each Register ID) MDM Contributory Suffix (for 
each Register ID) 




(f) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with:  




Actual End Date   




22.5. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the Current MDP must choose a Proposed Change Date that 
lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 22-A. 




Table 22-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 4004 – Exchange of Datastream Information 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




0 0 0 65 




CR 4005 – Exchange of Datastream Information – Retrospective 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




0 0 140 0 




22.6. Objection Rules 
Objections are not permitted. 




22.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules for the Change Reason Codes identified in section 
22.1 are specified in Table 22-B. 




Table 22-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 




CR 4004 – Exchange of Datastream Information 




CR 4005 – Exchange of Datastream Information – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - - - - - - - Yes - - - - - - 




COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 




OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REJECTED - - - - - - - Yes - - - - - - 




REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 108 of 169
 




23. MAINTAIN DATASTREAM – CHANGE NMI DATASTREAM – SMALL OR LARGE 




23.1. Application [4050 4051] 
Section 23 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




4050 – Change NMI 
Datastream 




Used where the Current MDP is required to make a Prospective Change to the 
NMI Datastream in MSATS. Each Datastream must exist in MSATS and a 
minimum set of NMI Datastream details for the NMI shall exist upon 
Completion. 




4051 – Change NMI Datastream 
– Retrospective 




Used where the Current MDP is required to make a Retrospective Change to 
the NMI Datastream in MSATS . Each Datastream must exist in MSATS and a 
minimum set of NMI Datastream details for the NMI shall exist upon 
Completion. 




23.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The metering installation and Datastream details exist in MSATS. 




(c) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




23.3. Initiating Roles 
A Current MDP may initiate a Change Request to change an NMI Datastream in MSATS in 
accordance with section 23.4. 




23.4. MDP Requirements 
The Current MDP must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date NMI suffix 
 




(d) For all Register IDs associated with the NMI suffix, where the Datastream Status Code is to 
be ‘A’, populate the Change Request with the following information (where this information 
does not currently exist in MSATS): 




Datastream type Profile Name ADL 




Datastream Status Code   




The Current MDP may: 




(e) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 




MDM Contributory Suffix Meter Serial ID Register ID 
 




(f) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information: 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 109 of 169
 




Actual End Date   




23.5. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the Current MDP must choose, for the identified Change 
Reason Codes, a Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and 
Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 23-A. 




Table 23-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 4050 – Change NMI Datastream Details 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




0 0 0 65 




CR 4051 – Change NMI Datastream Details – Retrospective 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




0 0 140 0 




23.6. Objection Rules 
Objections are not permitted. 




23.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules for the Change Reason Codes identified in section 
23.1 are specified in Table 23-B. 




Table 23-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 




CR 4050 – Change NMI Datastream Details 




CR 4051 – Change NMI Datastream Details – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status 
Change  




FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - - - - - - - Yes - - - - - - 




COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 




OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REJECTED - - - - - - - Yes - - - - - - 




REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 110 of 169
 




24. MAINTAIN NMI – UPDATE NEXT SCHEDULED READ DATE – SMALL OR LARGE 




24.1. Application [5070 5071] 
Section 24 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




5070 – Update Next 
Scheduled Read Date 




Used where the Current MDP is required to provide MSATS with the NSRD 
prospectively. 




5071 – Update Next 
Scheduled Read Date – 
Retrospective 




Used where the Current MDP is required to provide MSATS with the NSRD 
retrospectively. 
Note if this transaction is submitted by batch, MSATS will be updated straight 
away. 




24.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




(c) The metering installation is manually read, or has been made capable of remote acquisition 
in accordance with 7.8.9(b) of the NER.   




24.3. Initiating Roles 
A Current MDP may initiate a Change Request to submit the NSRD to MSATS in accordance with 
section 24.4. 




24.4. MDP Requirements 
The Current MDP must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date Meter Serial ID 




NSRD   




 
The Current MDP may: 




(d) Obtain the Meter Reading frequency from the New FRMP. 




(e) Obtain the Meter Reading schedule from the MPC or MC. 




24.5. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the Current MDP must choose a Proposed Change Date that 
lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 24-A. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 111 of 169
 




Table 24-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 5070 – Update Next Scheduled Read Date 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




0 0 0 3 




CR 5071 – Update Next Scheduled Read Date – Retrospective 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




0 0 1 0 




24.6. Objection Rules 
Objections are not permitted. 




24.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 24-B . 




Table 24-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 




CR 5070 – Update Next Scheduled Read Date 




CR 5071 – Update Next Scheduled Read Date – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




COMPLETED - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 112 of 169
 




25. MAINTAIN NMI – BACKDATE A NMI – SMALL OR LARGE 




25.1. Application [5001 5021] 
Section 25 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




5001 – Backdate NMI Start Date Used where AEMO, on request from an LNSP, or the LNSP, backdates the initial 
set of information in MSATS in regard to a connection point to apply from a 
Retrospective Day. 




5021 – Backdate NMI Start Date 
– Child 




Used where AEMO, on request from an ENM, or the ENM, backdates the initial 
set of information in MSATS about a child connection point. 




25.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




25.3. Initiating Roles 
AEMO, the ENM, or the LNSP may initiate a Change Request to backdate a NMI’s Start Date in 
MSATS in accordance with section 25.4 or 25.6. 




25.4. LNSP Requirements (5001 only) 
The New LNSP (who must be the Current LNSP for the period where the NMI exists in MSATS) 
must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is still a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with values for the following data items:  




Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum Its Participant ID 




Proposed Change Date Actual End Date (which should be the day prior 
to the day that the NMI Master Record starts) 




TNI Code 




DLF Code NMI Classification Code Jurisdiction Code 




FRMP LR RoLR 




RP MDP MPB 




MPC LNSP as itself NMI Status Code 




Locality State Postcode 
 




(d) Populate the Change Request with values for the following address fields (as appropriate): 




EITHER  




DPID Flat number Flat type 




Floor number Floor type House number 




House number suffix Location descriptor Lot number 




Street name Street suffix Street type 
 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 113 of 169
 




OR 




Unstructured Address 1 Unstructured Address 2 Unstructured Address 3 




The LNSP may: 




(e) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 




Parent Name Building name Feeder Class 




Customer Threshold Code    




25.5. ENM Requirements (5021 only) 
The New ENM (who must be the Current ENM for the period where the NMI exists in MSATS) 
must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. Confirm that the NMI is still a valid 
NMI for the connection point. 




(b) Provide AEMO with values for the following data items:  




Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Participant ID Proposed Change Date Actual End Date (which should be the day 
prior to the day that the NMI Master Record 
starts on) 




TNI Code DLF Code NMI Classification Code 




Jurisdiction Code Child Name FRMP 




LR RoLR RP 




MDP MPB MPC  




LNSP, as the ENM NMI Status Code Locality 




State Postcode  
 




(c) Provide AEMO with values for the following address fields (as appropriate): 




EITHER  




DPID Flat number Flat type 




Floor number Floor type House number 




House number suffix Location descriptor Lot number 




Street name Street suffix Street type 




 
OR 




Unstructured Address 1 Unstructured Address 2 Unstructured Address 3 




The ENM may provide AEMO with the following information:  




Parent Name Building name Feeder Class 




Customer Threshold Code    




25.6. AEMO Requirements 
AEMO must, on request from an LNSP, populate a Change Request with the data provided by the 
LNSP in accordance with section 25.4 (CR 5001) or ENM in accordance with section 25.5 (CR 5021). 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 114 of 169
 




25.7. MPB Requirements 
The New MPB must, on receipt of a Completed notification, backdate the metering installation 
details using CR 3001. 




25.8. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, AEMO or the LNSP (as applicable) must choose a Proposed 
Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 
25-A. 




Table 25-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 5001 – Backdate NMI Start Date 
CR 5021 – Backdate NMI Start Date – Child 




Objection Logging Period  
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 




1 1 10 20 140 0 




25.9. Objection Rules 
The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 25-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 
their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 25-A. 




Table 25-B – Objection Rules** 




CR 5001 – Backdate NMI Start Date 




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




NOTRESP SMALL ALL Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - -  - Yes - - - 




LARGE - 




BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




CR 5021 – Backdate NMI Start Date – Child 




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




NOTRESP SMALL ALL Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - -  - Yes - - - 




LARGE - 




BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




RETRO SMALL NSW 
VIC 
SA 




Yes - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - 




LARGE ALL 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




25.10. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 25-C. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 115 of 169
 




Table 25-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 




CR 5001 – Backdate NMI Start Date 




CR 5021 – Backdate NMI Start Date – Child 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status 
Change  




FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




COMPLETED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




OBJECTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




PENDING Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




REJECTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




REQUESTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 116 of 169
 




26. MAINTAIN NMI – CHANGE A NMI – SMALL OR LARGE 




26.1. Application [5050 5051] 
Section 26 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




5050 – Change NMI Details Used where the Current LNSP is required to make a Prospective Change to the 
set of information in MSATS about a connection point. 




5051 – Change NMI Details – 
Retrospective 




Used where the Current LNSP is required to make a Retrospective Change to the 
information in MSATS about a connection point. 




26.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




26.3. Initiating Roles 
A Current LNSP may initiate a Change Request to change a NMI record in MSATS in accordance 
with section 26.4. 




26.4. LNSP Requirements 
The Current LNSP must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 




(c) Populate an Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date  




The Current LNSP may: 




(d) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 




TNI Code DLF Code NMI Classification Code 




Jurisdiction Code NMI Status Code Parent Name 




Locality State Postcode 




Building name DPID Flat number 




Flat type Floor number Floor type 




House number House number suffix Location descriptor 




Lot number Street name Street suffix 




Street type Unstructured Address 1 Unstructured Address 2 




Unstructured Address 3 Feeder Class Customer Threshold Code  




(e) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the  




Actual End Date   















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 117 of 169
 




26.5. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the Current LNSP must choose a Proposed Change Date that 
lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 26-A. 




Table 26-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 5050 – Change NMI Details 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




0 0 0 65 




CR 5051 – Change NMI Details – Retrospective 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




0 0 140 0 




Note:  An Objection Logging Period of zero means Objections need to be logged by midnight of the business day that 
the Change Request is submitted. 




26.6. Objection Rules 
The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 26-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 
their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 26-A. 




Table 26-B – Objection Rules** 




CR 5050 – Change NMI Details 




CR 5051 – Change NMI Details – Retrospective 




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




NOTRESP ALL ALL - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




26.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 26-C. 




Table 26-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules**  




CR 5050 – Change NMI Details 




CR 5051 – Change NMI Details – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status 
Change  




FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 




COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 




OBJECTED - - - - - Yes - Yes - - - - - - 




PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REQUESTED - - - - - - - Yes - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 118 of 169
 




27. MAINTAIN NMI – CHANGE A NMI – CUSTOMER CLASSIFICATION CODE – 
SMALL OR LARGE 




27.1. Application [5054 5055] 
Section 27 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




5054 – Change NMI Details – 
Customer Classification Code 




Used where the Current FRMP is required to make a Prospective 
Change to the Customer Classification Code. 




5055 – Change NMI Details – 
Customer Classification Code – 
Retrospective 




Used where the Current FRMP is required to make a Retrospective 
Change to the Customer Classification Code. 




27.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




27.3. Initiating Roles 
A Current FRMP may initiate a Change Request to change a NMI record in MSATS in accordance 
with section 27.4. 




27.4. FRMP Requirements 
The Current FRMP must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date Customer Classification Code 




For Retrospective Changes, the Current FRMP may populate the Change Request with the:  




Actual End Date   




27.5. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the Current FRMP must choose a Proposed Change Date that 
lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 27-A. 




Table 27-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 5054 – Change NMI Details Customer Classification Code 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




0 0 0 65 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 119 of 169
 




CR 5055 – Change NMI Details Customer Classification Code – Retrospective 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




0 0 140 0 




27.6. Objection Rules 
Objections are not permitted. 




27.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 27-B. 




Table 27-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 




CR 5054 – Change NMI Details Customer Classification Code 




CR 5055 – Change NMI Details Customer Classification Code – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 




OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




PENDING - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REJECTED - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REQUESTED - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 120 of 169
 




28. MAINTAIN NMI – CHANGE NMI EMBEDDED NETWORK (CHILD) – SMALL OR 
LARGE 




28.1. Application [5060 5061] 
Section 28 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




5060 – Change NMI 
Details – Child 




Used where the Current ENM is required to make a Prospective change to the 
information in MSATS about a connection point that is connected to an embedded 
network. 




5061 – Change NMI 
Details – Child – 
Retrospective 




Used where the Current ENM is required to provide a Retrospective Change to the 
information in MSATS about a connection point that is connected to an embedded 
network. 




28.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




28.3. Initiating Roles 
A Current ENM may initiate a Change Request to change a NMI record in MSATS in accordance 
with section 28.4. 




28.4. ENM Requirements 
The Current ENM must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date  




The Current ENM may: 




(d) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 




TNI Code DLF Code NMI Classification Code 




Jurisdiction Code NMI Status Code Parent Name 




Child Name Locality State 




Postcode Building name DPID 




Flat number Flat type Floor number 




Floor type House number House number suffix 




Location descriptor Lot number Street name 




Street suffix Street type Unstructured Address 1 




Unstructured Address 2 Unstructured Address 3 Feeder Class 




Customer Threshold Code    















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 121 of 169
 




(e) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information:  




Actual End Date   




28.5. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the ENM must choose a Proposed Change Date that lies 
between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 28-A. 




Table 28-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 5060 – Change NMI Details – Child 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




0 0 0 65 




CR 5061 – Change NMI Details – Child – Retrospective  




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




0 0 140 0 




28.6. Objection Rules 
Objections are not permitted. 




28.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 28-B. 




Table 28-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 




CR 5060 – Change NMI Details – Child 




CR 5061 – Change NMI Details – Child – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 




COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 




OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REJECTED - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 




REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 122 of 169
 




29. MAINTAIN NMI – CHANGE PARENT NAME – SMALL OR LARGE 




29.1. Application [5080 5081] 
Section 29 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




5080 – Change Parent Name Used where the Current LNSP is required to apply a Prospective Change to the 
Parent Name. 




5081 – Change Parent Name 
– Retrospective 




Used where the Current LNSP is required to apply a Retrospective Change to 
the Parent Name. 




29.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




29.3. Initiating Roles 
A Current LNSP may initiate a Change Request to change the Parent Name in accordance with 
section 29.4. 




29.4. LNSP Requirements 
The Current LNSP must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 




(c) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date Parent Name 




For Retrospective Changes, the Current LNSP may populate the Change Request with the 
following information: 




Actual End Date   




29.5. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the Current LNSP (as applicable) must choose a Proposed 
Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 
29-A. 




Table 29-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 5080 – Change Parent Name 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




0 0 0 65 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 123 of 169
 




CR 5081 – Change Parent Name – Retrospective  




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




0 0 140 0 




29.6. Objection Rules 
Objections are not permitted. 




29.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 29-B. 




Table 29-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 




CR 5080 – Change Parent Name 




CR 5081 – Change Parent Name – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 




COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 




OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REJECTED - Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 




REQUESTED - Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 124 of 169
 




30. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE LNSP – SMALL OR LARGE 




30.1. Application [6100 6110] 
Section 30 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




6100 – Change LNSP Used where the New LNSP or the New ENM is required (either by a regulatory change 
or due to an error in the NMI Master Record) to apply a Prospective Change to the 
name of the Current LNSP or the Current ENM in MSATS 




6110 – Change LNSP – 
Retrospective 




Used where the New LNSP or the New ENM is required (either by a regulatory change 
or due to an error in the NMI Master Record) to apply a Retrospective Change to the 
name of the Current LNSP or the Current ENM in MSATS. 




30.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




30.3. Initiating Roles 
A New LNSP or New ENM may initiate a Change Request to change an LNSP or ENM in MSATS in 
accordance with section 30.4. 




30.4. LNSP or ENM Requirements 
The New LNSP or the New ENM must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date  




(d) Nominate itself as the New LNSP or the New ENM. 




The New LNSP or the New ENM may: 




(e) populate the Change Request with the following information: 




TNI Code DLF Code NMI Classification Code 




Jurisdiction Code   




(f) for Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with:  




Actual End Date   




30.5. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the New LNSP or the New ENM (as applicable) must choose a 
Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as 
shown in Table 30-A. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 125 of 169
 




Table 30-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 6100 – Change LNSP 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




1 20 0 65 




CR 6110 – Change LNSP – Retrospective  




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




1 20 130 0 




30.6. Objection Rules 
The ’Yes’ Roles specified in Table 30-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 
their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 30-A. 




Table 30-B – Objection Rules** 




CR 6100 – Change LNSP 




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADDATA ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 




NOTRESP ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 




CR 6110 – Change LNSP – Retrospective 




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADDATA ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 




NOTRESP ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 




RETRO ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




30.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 30-C. 




Table 30-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 




CR 6100 – Change LNSP 




CR 6110 – Change LNSP – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - - - - Yes Yes - Yes - - - - - - 




COMPLETED - Yes - Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 




OBJECTED - - - - Yes Yes - Yes - - - - - - 




PENDING - - - - Yes Yes - Yes - - - - - - 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 126 of 169
 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




REJECTED - - - - Yes Yes - Yes - - - - - - 




REQUESTED - - - - Yes Yes - Yes - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 127 of 169
 




31. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE MDP – SMALL OR LARGE 




31.1. Application [6200 6210] 
Section 31 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




6200 – Change MDP Used where the Current FRMP or Current MC is required to apply a Prospective Change 
to the name of the Current MDP  




6210 – Change MDP – 
Retrospective 




Used where the Current FRMP or Current MC is required to apply a Retrospective 
Change to the name of the Current MDP. 




31.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI details exist in MSATS 




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




31.3. Initiating Roles 
The Current FRMP or Current MC may initiate a Change Request to change a MDP in MSATS in 
accordance with section 31.4. 




31.4. FRMP/Current MC Requirements 
The Current FRMP or Current MC (as applicable) must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Participant ID  Proposed Change Date MDP 
 




The Current FRMP or Current MC (as applicable) may: 




(d) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information: 




Actual End Date   




31.5. MDP Requirements 
On receipt of a Data Request for CR 6200, the MDP must initiate a Change Request to provide the 
Actual Change Date. 




31.6. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the Current FRMP or Current MC (as applicable) must choose 
a Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as 
shown in Table 31-A. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 128 of 169
 




Table 31-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 6200 – Change MDP 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




1 20 0 65 




CR 6210 – Change MDP – Retrospective  




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




1 20 130 0 




31.7. Objection Rules 
The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 31-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 
their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 31-A. 




Table 31-B – Objection Rules** 




CR 6200 – Change MDP  




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - - 




NOTRESP ALL ALL - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 




BADPARTY LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 




DATEBAD ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




CR 6210 – Change MDP – Retrospective 




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - - 




NOTRESP ALL ALL - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 




BADDATA SMALL NSW 
VIC 
SA 




- - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




BADDATA LARGE ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




BADPARTY LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 




DATEBAD ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




31.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 31-C. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 129 of 169
 




Table 31-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 




CR 6200 – Change MDP 




CR 6210 – Change MDP – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - Yes 




COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes Yes Yes - Yes - - - Yes 




OBJECTED - Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - Yes 




PENDING - Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - Yes 




REJECTED - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 




REQUESTED - Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - Yes 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 130 of 169
 




32. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE MC – SMALL OR LARGE 




32.1. Application [6300 6301]  
Section 32 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




6300 – Change MC Used where the New MC or Current FRMP is required to apply a Prospective 
Change to the Current MC. 




6301 – Change MC – 
Retrospective 




Used where the New MC or Current FRMP is required to apply a Retrospective 
Change to the Current MC. 




32.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




32.3. Initiating Roles 
A New MC (where the NMI Classification Code for a NMI is Large) or Current FRMP (for any NMI) 
may initiate a Change Request to change the MC in MSATS in accordance with section 32.4. 




32.4. MC/Current FRMP Requirements 
The New MC/Current FRMP must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Participant ID of the New MC Proposed Change Date  
 




(d) Nominate the New MC. 




The New MC/Current FRMP may:  




(e) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information: 




Actual End Date   




32.5. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the New MC/Current FRMP must choose a Proposed Change 
Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 32-A. 




Table 32-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 6300 – Change MC 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




1 20 0 65 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 131 of 169
 




CR 6301 – Change MC – Retrospective  




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




1  20 130 0 




32.6. Objection Rules 
The ’Yes’ Roles specified in Table 32-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 
their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 32-A. 




Table 32-B – Objection Rules** 




CR 6300 – Change MC 




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CONTRACT LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 




DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




CR 6301 – Change MC – Retrospective 




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




RETRO ALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 




DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




32.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 32-C. 




Table 32-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 




CR 6300 – Change MC 




CR 6301 – Change MC – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - Yes - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes 




COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - Yes Yes 




OBJECTED - Yes - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes 




PENDING - Yes - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes 




REJECTED - Yes - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes 




REQUESTED - Yes - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 132 of 169
 




33. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE LR – SMALL OR LARGE 




33.1. Application [6400 6401] 
Section 33 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




6400 – Change LR Used where the New LR is required (either by a regulatory change or due to an error 
in the NMI Master Record) to apply a Prospective Change to the name of the Current 
LR. 




6401 – Change LR – 
Retrospective 




Used where the New LR is required (either by a regulatory change or due to an error 
in the NMI Master Record) to apply a Retrospective Change to the name of the 
Current LR. 




33.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




33.3. Initiating Roles 
A New LR may initiate a Change Request to change an LR in MSATS in accordance with section 
33.4. 




33.4. LR Requirements 
The New LR must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date  




(d) Nominate itself as the New LR. 




The New LR may, for Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following 
information: 




Actual End Date   




33.5. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the New LR must choose a Proposed Change Date that lies 
between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 33-A. 




Table 33-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 6400 – Change LR 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 




1 1 10 20 0 65 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 133 of 169
 




CR 6401 – Change LR – Retrospective  




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 




1 1 10 20 130 0 




33.6. Objection Rules 
The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 33-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 
their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 33-A. 




Table 33-B – Objection Rules** 




CR 6400 – Change LR 




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




NOTRESP ALL ALL - - - Yes - - - - - - - - - - 




CR 6401 – Change LR – Retrospective  




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




NOTRESP ALL ALL - - - Yes - - - - - - - - - - 




RETRO ALL ALL - - - Yes - - - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




33.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 33-C. 




Table 33-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 




CR 6400 – Change LR 




CR 6401 – Change LR – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - - Yes Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - 




COMPLETED - Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 




OBJECTED - - Yes Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - 




PENDING - - Yes Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - 




REJECTED - - Yes Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - 




REQUESTED - - Yes Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 134 of 169
 




34. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE LR – CHILD NMI – SMALL OR LARGE 




34.1. Application [6421] 
Section 34 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




6421 – Change LR – Child NMI 
– Retrospective 




Used where the New LR for a Child NMI is required (due to an error in the NMI 
Master Record) to apply a Retrospective Change to the name of the Current LR. 




34.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




(c) The New LR for the child connection point must be the FRMP of the Parent NMI. 




34.3. Initiating Roles 
A New LR may initiate a Change Request to change a LR in MSATS in accordance with section 
34.4. 




34.4. LR Requirements 
The New LR must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date  
 




(d) Nominate itself as the New LR. 




The New LR may populate the Change Request with the following information: 




Actual End Date   




34.5. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the New LR must choose a Proposed Change Date that lies 
between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown Table 34-A. 




Table 34-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 6421 – Change LR Child NMI – Retrospective  




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 




1 1 10 20 130 0 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 135 of 169
 




34.6. Objection Rules 
The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 34-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 
their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 34-A. 




Table 34-B – Objection Rules** 




CR 6421 – Change LR Child NMI – Retrospective 




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB MPC RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




NOTRESP ALL ALL - - - Yes - - - - - - - - - - 




RETRO ALL ALL - - - Yes - - - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




34.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 34-C. 




Table 34-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 




CR 6421 – Change LR Child NMI – Retrospective PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  MPC RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - - Yes Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - 




COMPLETED - Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 




OBJECTED - - Yes Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - 




PENDING - - Yes Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - 




REJECTED - - Yes Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - 




REQUESTED - - Yes Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 136 of 169
 




35. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE ROLR – SMALL OR LARGE 




35.1. Application [6500 6501] 
Section 35 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




6500 – Change RoLR Used where the New RoLR is required (either by a regulatory change or due to an 
error in the NMI Master Record) to apply a Prospective Change to the name of the 
Current RoLR. 




6501 – Change RoLR – 
Retrospective 




Used where the New RoLR is required (either by a regulatory change or due to an 
error in the NMI Master Record) to apply a Retrospective Change to the name of the 
Current RoLR. 




35.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




35.3. Initiating Roles 
A New RoLR may initiate a Change Request to change a RoLR in accordance with section 35.4. 




35.4. ROLR Requirements 
The New RoLR must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date  
 




(d) Nominate itself as the New RoLR. 




The New RoLR may, for Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following 
information:  




Actual End Date   




35.5. Timeframe Rules 
The Timeframe Rules are shown in the Table 35-A. 




Table 35-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 6500 – Change RoLR 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 




0 0 0 0 0 65 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 137 of 169
 




CR 6501 – Change RoLR – Retrospective  




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 




0 0 0 0 130 0 




35.6. Objection Rules 
Objections are not permitted. 




35.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 35-B. 




Table 35-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 




CR 6500 – Change RoLR 




CR 6501 – Change RoLR – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes - - 




COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes Yes Yes - Yes 




OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes - - 




PENDING - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes - - 




REJECTED - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes - - 




REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 138 of 169
 




36. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE MPB OR MPC OR BOTH – SMALL OR LARGE 




36.1. Application [6700 6701] 
Section 36 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




6700 – Change MPB or MPC or 
both 




Used where the Current MC is required to provide a Prospective Change to the 
Current MPB or MPC or both. 




6701 – Change MPB or MPC or 
both – Retrospective 




Used where the Current MC is required to provide a Retrospective Change the 
Current MPB or MPC or both. 




36.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




36.3. Initiating Roles 
A Current MC may initiate a Change Request to change an MPB or MPC or both in accordance 
with section 36.4. 




36.4. MC Requirements 
The Current MC must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date  
 




(d) Populate the Change Request with at least one of the following information: 




MPB MPC  




 
The Current MC may: 




(e) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information:  




Actual End Date   




36.5. MDP Requirements 
On receipt of a Data Request for Change Reason Code 6700, the MDP must initiate a Change 
Request to provide the Actual Change Date. 




36.6. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the Current MC must choose a Proposed Change Date that 
lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 36-A. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 139 of 169
 




Table 36-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 6700 – Change MP 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




1 20 0 65 




CR 6701 – Change MP – Retrospective 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




1 20 130 0 




36.7. Objection Rules 
The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 36-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 
their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 36-A. 




Table 36-B – Objection Rules** 




CR 6700 – Change MP 




CR 6701 – Change MP – Retrospective 




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - 




NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 




DATEBAD ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




36.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 36-C. 




Table 36-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 




CR 6700 – Change MP 




CR 6701 – Change MP – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - - - - - Yes - Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 




COMPLETED - Yes - - - Yes - Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 




OBJECTED - - - - - Yes - Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 




PENDING - - - - - - - Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 




REJECTED - - - - - Yes - Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 




REQUESTED - - - - - Yes - Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 140 of 169
 




37. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE MULTIPLE ROLES – SMALL OR LARGE 




37.1. Application [6800 6801]  
Section 37 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




6800 – Change Multiple Roles Used where the Current FRMP or Current MC is required to provide 
concurrent Prospective Changes to one or more Roles. 




6801 – Change Multiple Roles – 
Retrospective 




Used where the Current FRMP or Current MC is required to provide 
concurrent Retrospective Changes to one or more Roles. 




37.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




(c) The date of the change of MC, MDP, MPB or MPC will be the Actual Change Date. 




37.3. Initiating Roles 
(a) A Current FRMP may initiate a Change Request to change any or all of the MC, MDP, MPB 




and MPC in MSATS in accordance with section 37.4. 




(b) A Current MC may initiate a Change Request to change any or all of the MDP, MPB and 
MPC in MSATS in accordance with section 37.5. 




37.4. FRMP Requirements 
The FRMP must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date  
 




(d) Populate a Change Request with one or more of the following: 




MDP MPB MPC 




RP   




The FRMP may: 




(e) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information: 




Actual End Date   




37.5. MC Requirements 
The MC must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 141 of 169
 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Participant ID Proposed Change Date  
 




(d) Populate a Change Request with one or more of the following: 




MDP MPB MPC 




The MC may, for Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following 
information: 




Actual End Date   




37.6. MDP Requirements 
The MDP must: 




(a) On receipt of a Data Request for Change Reason Code 6800 initiate a Change Request to 
provide the Actual Change Date. 




(b) For Prospective Changes that do not require a Meter Reading, provide the Actual Change 
Date within 2 days of the Proposed Change Date being reached. 




(c) For changes that require a Meter Reading, provide the Actual Change Date within 2 days of 
the Meter Reading. 




37.7. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the Current MC or Current FRMP (as applicable) must choose 
a Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as 
shown in Table 37-A. 




Table 37-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 6800 – Change Multiple Roles  




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




1 20 0 65 




CR 6801 – Change Multiple Roles – Retrospective  




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




1 20 130 0 




37.8. Objection Rules 
The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 37-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 
their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 37-A. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 142 of 169
 




Table 37-B – Objection Rules** 




CR 6800 – Change Multiple Roles  




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB MPC RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADPARTY ALL ALL -  - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 




CONTRACT LARGE ALL            Yes   




DATEBAD ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - 




NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 




NOTRESP ALL ALL - - - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - - 




NOACC ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - - 




CR 6801 – Change Multiple Roles – Retrospective  




Objection 
Code 




NMI 
Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB MPC RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 




CONTRACT LARGE ALL            Yes   




DATEBAD ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - 




NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 




NOTRESP ALL ALL - - - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - - 




RETRO ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 




BADDATA ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




37.9. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 37-C. 




Table 37-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 




CR 6800 – Change Multiple Roles 




CR 6801 – Change Multiple Roles – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status 
Change  




FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  MPC RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED  Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 




COMPLETED  Yes - Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 




OBJECTED - Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 




PENDING - Yes - - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 




REJECTED - Yes - - - - - - - - - -  Yes 




REQUESTED - Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 143 of 169
 




38. AUTO CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE LOCAL RETAILER EMBEDDED NETWORK 
CHILD – SMALL OR LARGE 




38.1. Application [ECLR] 
Section 38 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




ECLR – Change of 
Local Retailer – Child 
(Auto) 




This is an automatic process triggered by MSATS whenever the FRMP is changed for a 
Parent NMI. Once the Parent NMI is transferred, MSATS changes the LR for each of the 
Child NMIs in that Parent’s embedded network. 
All Participants will be notified by MSATS of this event in accordance with the notifications 
listed below. 




38.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) There has been a change of FRMP of a Parent NMI; 




(c) The affected Child NMIs apply to child connection points within this embedded network. 




38.3. Timeframe Rules 
The Proposed Change Date must be within the Retrospectrive Period specified in Table 38-A. 




Table 38-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR ECLR – Change of Local Retailer – Child (Auto) 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




0 0 130 0 




38.4. Objection Rules 
Objections are not permitted. 




38.5. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 38-B. 




Table 38-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 




CR ECLR – Change of Local Retailer – Child (Auto) 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




COMPLETED - Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 




OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 144 of 169
 




39. AUTO CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE SECONDARY FRMP PARENT – SMALL OR 
LARGE 




39.1. Application [EPFR] 
Section 39 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




EPFR – Change of 
FRMP – Parent (Auto) 




This is an automatic process triggered by MSATS whenever the FRMP is changed for a 
Parent NMI. Once the Parent NMI is transferred, MSATS changes the FRMP on any other 
NMIs with the same Parent Name.  This occurs where embedded networks have multiple 
Parent NMIs. 
All Participants will be notified of this in accordance with the Change Request Status 
Notification Rules 




39.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) There are additional Parent NMIs with the same Parent Name; 




(c) There has been a change of FRMP of a Parent NMI;  and 




(d) The Parent NMIs of this embedded network are affected. 




39.3. Timeframe Rules 
The Proposed Change Date must be within the Retrospective Period specified in Table 39-A. 




Table 39-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR EPFR – Change of FRMP – Parent (Auto) 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




0 0 130 0 




39.4. Objection Rules 
Objections are not permitted. 




39.5. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 39-B. 




Table 39-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 




CR EPFR – Change of FRMP – Parent (Auto) 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status 
Change  




FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




COMPLETED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 




OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 145 of 169
 




Status 
Change  




FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 146 of 169
 




40. AEMO ONLY – AEMO-INITIATED STANDING DATA UPDATES – SMALL OR 
LARGE 




40.1. Application [5100 5101] 
Section 40 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




5100 – Correct NMI Master 
Data – (AEMO Only) 




Used where AEMO identifies a requirement for an urgent Prospective Change (i.e., 
in less time than it would take to change that data item because of the allowance 
for an Objection Logging Period) to MSATS data about a connection point or 
where several data items that normally can’t be changed in the same transaction 
must be changed at the same time. 




5101 – Correct NMI Master 
Data – Retrospective (AEMO 
Only) 




Used where AEMO identifies a requirement for an urgent Retrospective Change 
(i.e., in less time than it would take to change that data item because of the 
allowance for an Objection Logging Period) to MSATS data about a connection 
point or where several data items that normally can’t be changed in the same 
transaction must be changed at the same time. 




40.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




40.3. Initiating Roles 
AEMO may initiate a Change Request to create a NMI record in accordance with section 40.4. 




40.4. AEMO Requirements 
AEMO must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date  
 




AEMO may: 




(d) Populate the Change Request with values for the following fields (as applicable): 




TNI Code DLF Code Jurisdiction Code 




NMI Status Code NMI Classification Code FRMP 




LNSP LR RP 




MPB MDP MPC 




RoLR Locality State 




Postcode Building name Feeder Class 




DPID Flat number Flat type 




Floor number Floor type House number 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 147 of 169
 




House number suffix Location descriptor Lot number 




Street name Street suffix Street type 




Unstructured Address 1 Unstructured Address 2 Unstructured Address 3 




Child Name Parent Name Aggregate flag 




Customer Classification Code Customer Threshold Code   
 




(e) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each Datastream: 




NMI suffix (at least one) Datastream type (for each suffix) ADL (for each suffix) 




Datastream Status Code (for each 
suffix) 




Profile Name (for each suffix)  




 
(f) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each meter: 




Meter Serial ID (at least one) Metering Installation Type Code Meter Register Status Code  




Additional Site information NSRD Meter location 




Meter constant Meter hazard Meter point 




Meter route Meter use Meter manufacturer 




Meter model Meter program Meter Read Type 




Transformer location Transformer type Transformer ratio 




Measurement type Last test date Next test date 




Test result accuracy Test result notes Test performed by 




Remote phone number Communication equipment type Communication protocol 




Data conversion arrangements Data validation arrangements Estimation instructions 




Asset management plan details Calibration tables (details of any 
calibration factors programmed 
into the meter) 




Password details (the read and 
time set passwords only, 
separated by a space; the write 
password is not to be recorded in 
MSATS) 




Test and calibration program 
details 




User access rights details (i.e. 
details of any End User access to 
the metering installation such as 
pulse outputs) 




 




 
(g) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each register: 




Register ID (at least one for each 
meter) 




Register Identifier Status Code 
(for each register) 




Network Tariff Code 




Actual/cumulative indicator (for 
each register) 




Controlled Load indicator (for 
each register) 




Network Tariff Code additional 
information 




MDM Contributory Suffix (this 
can also be supplied by the MDP) 




Demand value 1, if the Network 
Tariff includes a demand 
component 




Demand value 2, if the Network 
Tariff includes a second demand 
component 




Time of day code (for each 
register) 




Dial format (for each register) Multiplier value (for each register) 




Unit of measure code (for each 
register) 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 148 of 169
 




 
(h) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information: 




Actual End Date   




40.5. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, AEMO must choose a Proposed Change Date that lies 
between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 40-A. 




Table 40-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 5100 – Correct NMI Master Data – (AEMO Only) 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




0 0 0 65 




CR 5101 – Correct NMI Master Data – Retrospective (AEMO Only) 




Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 




Retrospective Period 
(business days) 




Prospective Period 
(business days) 




0 0 150 0 




40.6. Objection Rules 
Objections are not permitted. 




40.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules  are specified in Table 40-B. 




Table 40-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 




CR 5100 – Correct NMI Master Data – (AEMO Only) 




CR 5101 – Correct NMI Master Data – Retrospective (AEMO Only) 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status 
Change  




FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




COMPLETED Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 




OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 149 of 169
 




41. AEMO ONLY – CHANGE ROLE, TNI OR DLF CODE – BULK CHANGE TOOL 
(BCT) – SMALL OR LARGE 




41.1. Introduction 
(a) This is a special transaction undertaken by AEMO in limited circumstances, such as when a 




RoLR Event occurs as it is designed to manage bulk changes of Participant IDs, TNI Codes or 
DLF Codes. 




(b) The BCT can only be used by AEMO. 




(c) Section 41 covers changes to the following NMI Standing Data items: 




LNSP LR FRMP 




MDP MPB MPC 




RP RoLR TNI Code 




DLF Code   
 




(d) Access rights to the BCT function are restricted and will only be available to a person 
nominated by AEMO. 




(e) When activated, BCT will use a unique Change Reason Code to update the data specified in 
the BCT request by AEMO. 




(f) When the BCT is used, active Change Requests may be Cancelled. 




(g) A BCT following a RoLR Event will change the identity of the Current FRMP in the NMI 
Master Record to the Participant ID of the Participant that the relevant Regulator has 
nominated to undertake the RoLR function. (Note the BCT does not use the information 
specified in the RoLR role against the NMI). 




(h) Where necessary, the BCT RoLR action will change the identity of the parent LR on the Child 
NMIs, provided these have been set up correctly in MSATS. 




(i) Notification of a change to the NMI Master Record as in accordance with the Change 
Request Status Notifications Rules. 




(j) Responsibilities for requesting, authorising and implementing use of the BCT will be as per 
Table 41-A. 




Table 41-A – Request/Authorise/Implementation Scenarios 




Scenario Request Authorise Implement 




Mergers & Acquisitions Participants AEMO AEMO 




TNI & DLF Code updates Participants AEMO AEMO 




RoLR Events Relevant Regulator AEMO AEMO 




Any other scenario Jurisdictions/Participants AEMO AEMO 




41.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) For all events: 




(i) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(ii) The Effective Date of the BCT Change Requests shall always be retrospective. 




(iii) The NMI can be any NMI Classification Code. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 150 of 169
 




(iv) AEMO has agreement on requirements and details from all parties impacted (except 
for RoLR Event). 




(v) The use of the BCT functionality is not dependant on the provision of any Meter 
Readings at the effective date. 




(b) RoLR Events: 




See NEM ROLR Processes  




(c) Mergers & Acquisitions 




The Participant IDs involved must have the same ABN and the same Jurisdictional licences. 




41.3. Requesting Participant Requirements 
Where Table 41-A indicates that a Participant may request the use of the BCT, the requesting 
Participant must: 




(a) Provide at least one data item (data field) for change. 




(b) Specify the Start and End Date (if required) for the BCT process. 




(c) Ensure that all changing data items are active for the whole of the time period specified for 
the BCT. 




(d) Ensure all impacted Participants are consulted and have provided approval for change to 
AEMO. 




(e) Specify the notifications to be sent out for the BCT process. 




(f) Specify the action required to be taken when a conflicting Change Request is found for the 
NMIs in the BCT process. 




(g) Provide the selection criteria for NMIs to be included in the BCT from the following fields: 




LNSP LR FRMP 




MDP MPB MPC 




RP RoLR TNI Code 




DLF Code Post Code Aggregate Flag  




NMI Status Code NMI Classification Code Jurisdiction Code 




Parent Name (ID or “if null” or “if 
not null”) 




Child Name (ID or “if null” or “if 
not null”) 




The Tier Status (not required if 
both the LR and FRMP are 
provided as selection criteria) 




NMI Limit (Maximum number of 
NMIs to be processed in the run) 




Previous BCT run identifier (i.e. 
Change all NMIs in a previous 
BCT event) 




 




 
(h) Nominate at least one of the following information for change via the BCT: 




LNSP LR FRMP 




MDP(1)  MPB(1) MPC(1) 




RP RoLR TNI Code 




DLF Code   
Note(1): The requesting Participant must be the MC to nominate the MDP, MPB and MPC Roles. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 151 of 169
 




The requesting Participant may further specify a list of NMIs to be used as part of the selection 
criteria. 




41.4. Impacted Participant Requirements 
Impacted Participants must: 




(a) Provide AEMO acceptance or rejection of the criteria set by the requesting Participant for 
use with the BCT. 




(b) Where rejecting the criteria set by the requesting Participant for use with the BCT, provide 
AEMO a reasonable justification for the rejection. 




41.5. MDP Requirements 
The MDP must update the activity status of any affected Datastreams via normal Change Request 
processes. 




41.6. Timeframe Rules 
(a) The BCT can only be used to make Retrospective Changes. 




(b) The Timeframe Rules that apply to the appropriate Change Reason Code that would 
normally have applied will apply to BCT changes. 




41.7. Objection Rules 
Objections are not permitted. 




41.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are configurable to suit the changes being made. In 
each case these will need to be specified by the Initiating Participant. For all events, only COM 
notifications will be provided. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 152 of 169
 




42. ACCESS TO CATS STANDING DATA 




42.1. Introduction 
(a) This section provides the rules for access to CATS Standing Data through MSATS. 




(b) Separate rules apply to CATS Standing Data that is available for NMI Discovery Search and 
CATS Standing Data that can be accessed by Participants with a relationship to a NMI. 




(c) NMI Standing Data for NMI Discovery Search is the specified sub-set of CATS Standing Data 
identified in Table 42-A, Table 42-C, Table 42-I and Table 42-J. 




(d) The entire set of CATS Standing Data is identified in Table 42-D, Table 42-E, Table 42-F, 
Table 42-G and Table 42-H. 




42.2. Participant 
(a) In accordance with Jurisdictional requirements, a Participant may seek access to NMI 




Standing Data from MSATS as set out in section 42.3.1 for the purpose of identifying the 
NMI attributes assigned to a connection point or as otherwise permitted by the Jurisdiction. 




(b) If agreed with a potential End User, a Participant may seek access to NMI Standing Data 
from MSATS in accordance with section 42.3.2 for the purpose of identifying the NMI 
Standing Data assigned to a connection point or as otherwise prescribed by the Jurisdiction. 




(c) A Participant may seek access to NMI Standing Data from MSATS in accordance with 
section 42.3.4 only for the purpose of: 




(i) Identifying the Current FRMP so the End User can be referred to them in order to 
arrange abolishment of the NMI from MSATS; 




(ii) Identifying the Current FRMP to advise that an error correction transfer (CR 1021, 
1023, 1024 and 1029) will be raised; 




(iii) Identifying the Current FRMP to obtain agreement to raise a transfer CR 1010 – a 
Retrospective Change to align to Meter Reading; 




(iv) Identifying the most recent previous FRMP to arrange with them to raise a transfer in 
order to win back a NMI transferred in error. (CR 1022, 1025, 1026, 1027 and 1028). 




(d) A Current Participant is provided with access to CATS Standing Data in MSATS in 
accordance with Table 42-D, Table 42-E, Table 42-F, Table 42-G, Table 42-H, Table 42-I and 
Table 42-J. 




(e) For the purpose of this section, a reference to a: 




(i) Participant; 




(ii) retailer; or 




(iii) FRMP, 




is also a reference to a Customer’s Disclosee under section 8.6.2(b1) of the Rules. 




(f) An MC may seek access to NMI Standing Data from MSATS in accordance with section 42.3.5 
only for the purpose of identifying the NMI Classification of ‘LARGE’ in order to arrange a 
change of MC. 




42.3. Request a NMI Discovery Search 
(a) The following access to CATS Standing Data is available to a Participant in MSATS: 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 153 of 169
 




(i) NMI Discovery Search 1; 




(ii) NMI Discovery Search 2 – NMI Standing Data; 




(iii) CATS Standing Data; 




(iv) NMI Discovery Search 3 – NMI Standing Data. 




(b) NMI Discovery Search 1 is used by a Participant to identify the NMI characters that have 
been assigned to an End User’s connection point, as described in section 42.3.1. 




(c) NMI Discovery Search 2 is used by a Participant to identify the NMI Standing data that has 
been assigned to the End User’s connection point and is available for release in accordance 
with NMI Standing Data Access Rules, as provided in section 42.3.2. 




(d) The CATS Standing Data Access Rules are contained in section 42.3.3. 




(e) A NMI Discovery Search 1 will only be successful if information is contained in MSATS that 
supports one of the following three options: DPID, Meter Serial ID and address. 




(f) NMI Discovery Search 3 is used by retailers to progress error correction CRs, identify the 
previous FRMP, or for seeking agreement to the raising of a retrospective align with meter 
read transfers. 




42.3.1. NMI Discovery Search 1 – NMI Search Rules 




(a) The NMI Search Rules define what search parameters can be used in a Jurisdiction. 




(b) The available NMI search options are: 




(i) DPID; 




(ii) Meter Serial ID; 




(iii) Address (without DPID). 




(c) Any or all of these options can be activated. Activation is in the ascending order shown in 
paragraph (b). 




(d) If a search is carried out using the address option, the state and locality (or state and 
postcode) must also be provided. 




(e) If a search is carried out using Meter Serial ID the state, locality and postcode are not 
required. 




(f) The address information can be either structured or unstructured. If a search is carried out 
using the address option only all input information is expected in the structured format as 
the first level of search. If this level of search is not successful, a second search on 
unstructured format will be undertaken by MSATS. 




(g) If a NMI Master Record does not contain DPID or address information, the NMI search will 
only be successful if a Meter Serial ID is provided as a search option. 




(h) MSATS identifies a unique metering installation. The metering installation may be co-located 
with a postal delivery point but there will be instances where the metering installation has 
no postal delivery point. In recognition of this variation, MSATS enables the Participant to 
enter in either a structured or an Unstructured Address. The Unstructured Address should 
not contain state and postcode information. 




(i) The NMI Search Rules also define how many matches will be returned in the case of 
multiple matches. 




(j) If a match occurs, MSATS will return to the Participant the following: 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 154 of 169
 




Table 42-A 




MSATS Name Description of data items returned on a successful 
NMI Discovery Search request 




Only if “Address 
returned in stage 1” is 
turned on 




Building Name See Table 42-E for description  




Customer Classification 
Code 




See Table 42-E for description 




Customer Threshold Code See Table 42-E for description 




DPID Number See Table 42-E for description  




EmbNet Child See Table 42-E for description  




EmbNet Parent See Table 42-E for description  




Feeder Class See Table 42-E for description  




Flat Number See Table 42-E for description  




Flat Type See Table 42-E for description  




Floor Number See Table 42-E for description  




Floor Type  See Table 42-E for description  




House Number See Table 42-E for description  




House Number Suffix See Table 42-E for description  




LNSP Local Network Service Provider or Embedded 
Network Manager for a child connection point 




Always returned 




Locality See Table 42-E for description  




Location Descriptor See Table 42-E for description  




Lot Number See Table 42-E for description  




NMI  a 10 digit national metering identifier Always returned 




NMI Checksum  a single digit number used to validate the NMI 
supplied to MSATS 




Always returned 




Postcode See Table 42-E for description  




State See Table 42-E for description  




Street Name See Table 42-E for description  




Street Suffix See Table 42-E for description  




Street Type See Table 42-E for description  




Unstructured Address 2 See Table 42-E for description  




Unstructured Address 3 See Table 42-E for description  




Unstructured Address1 See Table 42-E for description  




 




(k) No other information will be provided. 




(l) The NMI Search Rules are shown in Table 42-B. 




(m) The LNSP must:  




(i) only carry out a NMI Discovery Search 1 on any NMIs where they are the Current 
LNSP. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 155 of 169
 




(ii) Only perform NMI Discovery Search 1 within its local area for the purpose of 
responding to a request from a retailer to assist in the resolution of a NMI Standing 
Data problem, or to perform quality checks of its data within MSATS. 




(n) The ENM must only carry out a NMI Discovery Search 1 on any NMIs where they are the 
Current ENM. 




Table 42-B – NMI Search Rules 




Role  DPID  Meter 
Serial ID 




NMI Address Address returned 
in Stage 1  




Number of Records 
Returned if Multiple Match 




FRMP 
LNSP 




Yes Yes Yes Yes 99 




42.3.2. NMI Discovery Search 2 – NMI Standing Data Access Rules 




(a) This section 42.3.2 specifies the NMI Standing Data that is available to retailers and NSPs 
who do not have Explicit Informed Consent from an End User. 




(b) An LNSP must: 




(i) Only carry out a NMI Discovery Search 2 on any NMIs where they are the Current 
LNSP. 




(ii) Only perform NMI Discovery Search 2 activity within its local area for the purpose of 
responding to a request from a retailer to assist in the resolution of a NMI Standing 
Data problem, or to perform quality checks of its data within MSATS. 




(c) The ENM must only carry out a NMI Discovery Search 2 on any NMIs where they are the 
Current ENM. 




(d) The NMI Data Access Rules define: 




(i) Which Role can initiate a request for NMI Standing Data. 




(ii) Which standing data items will be returned when a request is submitted to MSATS. 




(e) The NMI Data Access Rules may be defined by Jurisdiction. 




(f) The NMI Standing Data items that would be returned to a FRMP or LNSP in all Jurisdictions 
on a successful data access request are specified in Table 42-C. Further details of each data 
item can be found in the MSATS standing data tables from the “Standing Data for MSATS” 
document. 




Table 42-C – Common NMI Standing Data items returned to a FRMP or LNSP for a NMI Discovery Search 2   




MSATS Name Data item description MSATS standing data table 




Actual/Cumulative 
Indicator 




Actual/Subtractive Indicator. 
Actual implies volume of energy actually 
metered between two dates. Cumulative 
indicates two Meter Readings are required 
to determine the consumption between 
those two read dates. For an Interval Meter, 
Actual/Cumulative Indicator is normally = 
A. 




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 156 of 169
 




MSATS Name Data item description MSATS standing data table 




Address This includes all address fields, which 
comprise DPID, building name, flat number, 
flat type, floor number, floor type, house 
number, house number suffix, location 
descriptor, Lot Number, street name, street 
suffix, street type, Unstructured Address1, 
Unstructured Address2, Unstructured 
Address3, postcode, locality, and state. 




CATS_NMI_DATA 




ADL The electrical energy delivered through a 
connection point or metering point over an 
extended period normalised to a “per day” 
basis (kWh). 




CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Child Name The Embedded Network Code populated in 
the EmbNetChild field for a Child NMI to 
indicate that the NMI is a child for a 
specified embedded network 




CATS_NMI_DATA 




Controlled Load Indicates whether the energy recorded by 
this register is created under a Controlled 
Load regime. 
Controlled Load field will have “No” if 
register does not relate to a Controlled 
Load, it should contain a description of the 
Controlled Load regime. 




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Customer Classification 
Code 




See section 4.10.1.  CATS_NMI_DATA 




Customer Threshold Code See section 4.10.2. CATS_NMI_DATA 




Datastream Status Code See section 4.11. CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Datastream Type A code to indicate the type of data that the 
Datastream will report:  includes interval 
and accumulation. 




CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Dial Format Describes the register display format. CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




DLF Code  A code representing the DLF. CATS_NMI_DATA 




Feeder Class A code for logical grouping of NMIs based 
on a DNSP’s distribution feeder. 




CATS_NMI_DATA 




Jurisdiction Code See section 4.5. CATS_NMI_DATA 




LNSP  A code representing the identity of the 
LNSP. 




CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 




MDP A code representing the identity of the 
MDP (Category D). 




CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 




Meter Register Status Code A code to denote the status of the meter 
within the NEM. 




CATS_METER_REGISTER 




Meter Serial ID The serial number that uniquely identifies a 
meter for a given NMI. 




CATS_METER_REGISTER 




Metering Installation Type 
Code  




See section 4.12. CATS_METER_REGISTER 




MeterRead Type Code indicating the method and frequency 
of Meter Reading. 




CATS_METER_REGISTER 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 157 of 169
 




MSATS Name Data item description MSATS standing data table 




MPB A code representing the identity of the MP 
(Category B). 




CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 




MPC A code representing the identity of the 
MDP (Category C). 




CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 




Multiplier Multiplier required to take a register value 
and turn it into a value representing billable 
energy. 




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Network Tariff Code  A code representing the Network Tariff. CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Network Tariff Code 
Additional Information 




Additional text to supplement the Network 
Tariff Code if this is a complex Network 
Tariff Code. 




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Next Scheduled Read Date  The NSRD in date format. CATS_METER_REGISTER 




NMI  A national metering identifier. CATS_NMI_DATA 




NMI Classification Code  See section 4.9. CATS_NMI_DATA 




NMI Status Code See section 4.11. CATS_NMI_DATA 




Parent Name The Embedded Network Code populated in 
the EmbNetParent field for a Parent NMI to 
indicate that the NMI is a parent for a 
specified embedded network 




CATS_NMI_DATA 




Profile Name  A code representing the name of the 
profile. 




CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Register ID The register ID of the register that the 
Network Tariff Code and Network Tariff 
Code additional information refers to. 




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Register Identifier Status 
Code 




A lookup code to indicate if register is 
active. 




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




RP A code representing the identity of the MC. CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 




Suffix A code representing the NMI Datastream. CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Time Of Day Industry developed Codes to identify the 
time validity of register contents. 




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




TNI Code  A code representing the transmission node 
identifier. 




CATS_NMI_DATA 




Unit of Measure A code to identify the Unit of Measure 
(UOM) for data held in this register.  




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




42.3.3. CATS Standing Data Access Rules 




(a) The CATS Standing Data Access Rules specify which items of CATS Standing Data may be 
accessed by which Role within each Jurisdiction. 




(b) The CATS Standing Data is grouped as follows: 




(i) Meter Register; 




(ii) NMI Data; 




(iii) NMI Datastream; 




(iv) NMI Participant Relations; 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 158 of 169
 




(v) Register ID. 




The CATS Standing Data Access Rules are shown in Table 42-D, Table 42-E, Table 42-F, Table 
42-G, and Table 42-H. 




Table 42-D – CATS Standing Data Access Rules for Meter Register 




METER REGISTER  




Jur’n Data Item Description 




FR
M




P 




LR
 




LN
SP




 




M
D




P 




M
PB




 




M
PC




 




RP
 




Ro
LR




 




N
EM




M
 




N
SP




2 




ALL AddlSiteInfo This field is used to provide any 
additional information about a 
Site to describe Site access and 
the relationship between the 
metering point and the 
connection point. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 




ALL AssetMgmtPlan If a Site plan is used, this is a 
description of the plan. If a 
Sample Test Plan is used, this is 
the name of the AEMO-
approved plan. 




Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 




ALL Calibration 
Tables 




Details of any calibration factors 
programmed into the meter. 




Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 




ALL CommEquip 
Type 




Indicates modem or other 
communication device types. 




Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL CommProtocol Textual description of details 
needed to communicate to 
communication devices. 




Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL DataConv Textual description of details 
needed to translate data 
received from a communication 
device. 




Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 




ALL DataValidations Textual description of details 
needed to validate data 
received from a communication 
device. 




Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 




ALL EstInstruct Textual instructions on how to 
estimate the Meter Reading if 
an Estimated Reading is 
required. 




Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 




ALL LastTestDate Last date on which the meter 
was tested. 




Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 




ALL Measurement 
Type 




Code indicating how the meter 
is measuring, example values 
include, aggregate, 
consumption, programmable, 
interval. 




Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL MeterConstant Multiplier applied to the meter 
to arrive at the consumption. 




Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 159 of 169
 




Jur’n Data Item Description 




FR
M




P 




LR
 




LN
SP




 




M
D




P 




M
PB




 




M
PC




 




RP
 




Ro
LR




 




N
EM




M
 




N
SP




2 




ALL MeterHazard Code or text indicating any 
dangerous conditions that may 
have been identified at the Site. 




Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL MeterInstall 
Code 




The Metering Installation Type 
Code indicates whether or not 
the meter has to be manually 
read. This affects the transfer 
transaction process flow 
because if a meter has to be 
manually read, the MP  must 
supply the Actual Change Date 
before the Change Request is 
Completed. If it does not have 
to be manually read, the 
Change Request can be 
Completed as of the requested 
transfer date. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL MeterLocation Code or text indicating where 
the meter is physically located 
at the premises. 




Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL Meter 
Manufacturer 




The manufacturer code for the 
meter. 




Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 




ALL MeterModel The manufacturer’s model 
number for the meter. 




Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 




ALL MeterPoint An additional metering 
identifier field. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL MeterProgram For programmable meters, an 
identifier of the program run at 
the meter. 




Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 




ALL MeterReadType Code indicating how the meter 
is read 
Refer to “Standing data for 
MSATS’ document for further 
details. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 




ALL MeterRoute The route identifier the meter is 
currently being read in. 




Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 




ALL MeterSerial The serial number that uniquely 
identifies a meter for a given 
NMI. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL MeterStatus Code used to indicate the 
status of the meter. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL MeterUse Code indicating revenue meter, 
check meter, load research, etc. 




Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL NextSchRead 
Date 




Indicates the NSRD for the 
meter if a reading is required. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 160 of 169
 




Jur’n Data Item Description 




FR
M




P 




LR
 




LN
SP




 




M
D




P 




M
PB




 




M
PC




 




RP
 




Ro
LR




 




N
EM




M
 




N
SP




2 




ALL NextTestDate Next date on which the meter 
should be tested. 




Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 




ALL Password Read and Time Set passwords, 
separated by a space. 
Note that the Write password is 
not to be stored in this field. 




Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 




ALL ReadTypeCode Code used to indicate whether 
a meter should be read on the 
NSRD, a Special Read Date or 
an Estimated Reading. 




Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 




VIC RemotePhone 
Number 




The phone number for remote 
access. 




- - - Yes Yes - Yes - Yes - 




NSW RemotePhone 
Number 




The phone number for remote 
access. 




- - - Yes Yes - Yes - Yes - 




ACT RemotePhone 
Number 




The phone number for remote 
access. 




- - - Yes Yes - Yes - Yes - 




QLD RemotePhone 
Number 




The phone number for remote 
access. 




- - - Yes Yes - Yes - Yes - 




SA RemotePhone 
Number 




The phone number for remote 
access. 




- - Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL TestCalibProgra
m 




Current test and calibration 
program details. 




Yes - Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL TestPerformed 
By 




Who performed the last test. 
This field could be used to store 
a company or individual’s 
name. 




Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 




ALL TestResult 
Accuracy 




The accuracy of the meter from 
the last test. 




Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 




ALL TestResult 
Notes 




Any text or further test 
information. 




Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 




ALL Transformer 
Location 




Indicates where the transformer 
is in relation to the meter. 




Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL Transformer 
Ratio 




Instrument transformer ratios 
(available and connected). 




Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL Transformer 
Type 




Type of transformation eployed. Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL UserAccess 
Rights 




Details of any End User access 
to the metering installation. 
Examples include pulse outputs, 
interface to End User load 
management system, or End 
User directly accessing data in 
the meter through special 
agreement. 




Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 161 of 169
 




Table 42-E – CATS Standing Data Access Rules for NMI data 




NMI DATA  




Jur’n Data Item Description 




FR
M




P 




LR
 




LN
SP




 




M
D




P 




M
PB




 




M
PC




 




RP
 




Ro
LR




 




N
EM




M
 




N
SP




2 




ALL AggFlag A flag that may be used for the 
transition from MAS to MSATS. 
This field is used by MDM to 
determine which settlement 
reports data goes into, that is 
whether it should be aggregated 
or not. Can be a ‘Y’ or ‘N’. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL BuildingName The full name used to identify 
the physical building or property 
as part of its location. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL Customer 
Classification 
Code 




A code that defines the End User 
class as defined in the National 
Energy Retail Regulations, or in 
over-riding Jurisdictional 
instruments.  




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL CustomerThres
holdCode 




A code that defines the 
consumption threshold as 
defined in the National Energy 
Retail Regulations, or in over-
riding Jurisdictional instruments.  




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL DLFCode DLF Code used to indicate the 
DLF value for the given NMI. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL DPID Delivery point identifier – the 
numeric descriptor for a postal 
delivery point which is equal to a 
physical address. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL EmbNetChild The embedded network 
identifier code is used to identify 
which embedded network this 
Child NMI is part of. (If on a NMI 
record this field is not populated, 
it is assumed the NMI is not the 
Child NMI of any other Parent 
NMI.) 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL EmbNetParent The embedded network 
identifier code is used to identify 
which embedded network this 
NMI is the ‘parent of’. (If on a 
NMI record this field is not 
populated, it is assumed the NMI 
is not the parent of any other 
NMI.) 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL FlatNumber Specification of the number of 
the flat or unit which is a 
separately identifiable portion 
within a building/complex. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 162 of 169
 




Jur’n Data Item Description 




FR
M




P 




LR
 




LN
SP




 




M
D




P 




M
PB




 




M
PC




 




RP
 




Ro
LR




 




N
EM




M
 




N
SP




2 




ALL FlatType Specification of the type of flat 
or unit which is a separately 
identifiable portion within a 
building/complex. Values 
permitted include: APT, CTGE, 
DUP, FY, F, HSE, KSK, MSNT, MB, 
OFF, PTHS, RM, SHED, SHOP, 
SITE, SL, STU, SE, TNHS, U, VLLA, 
WARD, WE. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL FloorNumber Floor Number is used to identify 
the floor or level of a multi-
storey building/complex. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL FloorType Floor Type is used to identify the 
floor or level of a multi-storey 
building/complex. Values 
permitted include: B, FL, G, L, LG, 
M, UG. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL HouseNum The numeric reference of a 
house or property. Specifically 
the house number. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL HouseNum 
Suffix 




The numeric reference of a 
house or property. Specifically 
the single character identifying 
the house number suffix. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL Jurisdiction 
Code 




Jurisdiction Code to which the 
NMI belongs. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL Locality The full name of the general 
locality containing the specific 
address. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL Location 
Descriptor 




A general field to capture 
various references to address 
locations alongside another 
physical location. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL Lot Number The lot reference number 
allocated to an address prior to 
street numbering. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL NMI National Meter Identifier – 
unique identification for each 
connection point. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 




ALL NMI 
Classification 
Code 




A code that identifies, on a 
Jurisdiction basis, the magnitude 
of the power consumed, eg 
small or large. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL NMIStatusCod
e 




Code used to indicate the status 
of the NMI, i.e. active, de-
energised, extinct. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 163 of 169
 




Jur’n Data Item Description 




FR
M




P 




LR
 




LN
SP




 




M
D




P 




M
PB




 




M
PC




 




RP
 




Ro
LR




 




N
EM




M
 




N
SP




2 




ALL Postcode The numeric descriptor for a 
postal delivery area, aligned with 
locality, suburb or place. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL State Defined State or Territory 
abbreviation. Values permitted 
include: AAT, ACT, NSW, NT, 
QLD, SA, TAS, VIC, WA. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL StreetName Records the thoroughfare name. Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL StreetSuffix Records any street suffixes. 
Values permitted include: CN, E, 
EX, OR, N, NE, NW, S, SE, SW, 
UP, W 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL StreetType Records the street type 
abbreviation. Available 
abbreviations are listed in 
AS4590. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL TNICode Transmission Node Identifier. 
Identifies a transmission network 
connection point.  




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes  Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL Unstructured 
Address1 




To provide the Unstructured 
Address (line 1) where a 
Structured Address cannot be 
supplied. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL Unstructured 
Address2 




To provide The Unstructured 
Address (line 2) where a 
Structured Address cannot be 
supplied. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL Unstructured 
Address3 




To provide the Unstructured 
Address (line 3) where a 
Structured Address cannot be 
supplied. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL Feeder Class To provide a 15 character long 
field in varchar format for logical 
grouping of NMIs based on a 
DNSP’s distribution feeder. 




Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes - Yes - 




Table 42-F – CATS Standing Data Access Rules for NMI Datastream 




NMI DATASTREAM 




Jur’n Data Item Description 




FR
M




P 




LR
 




LN
SP




 




M
D




P 




M
PB




 




M
PC




 




RP
 




Ro
LR




 




N
EM




M
 




N
SP




2 




ALL AverageDailyL
oad 




The electrical energy delivered 
through a connection point or 
metering point over an extended 
period normalised to a per day 
basis. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes Yes 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 164 of 169
 




Jur’n Data Item Description 




FR
M




P 




LR
 




LN
SP




 




M
D




P 




M
PB




 




M
PC




 




RP
 




Ro
LR




 




N
EM




M
 




N
SP




2 




ALL DataStream 
Type 




Indicates the type of data that the 
Datastream will report includes 
interval and accumulation. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL ProfileName See Retail Market Procedures – 
Glossary and Framework 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL StreamStatus 
Code 




Code used to indicate the status 
of the suffix. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL Suffix Stream of data for the NMI. Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




Table 42-G – CATS Standing Data Access Rules for Participant Relations 




PARTICIPANT RELATIONS 




Jur’n Data Item Description 




FR
M




P 




LR
 




LN
SP




 




M
D




P 




M
PB




 




M
PC




 




RP
 




Ro
LR




 




N
EM




M
 




N
SP




2 




ALL FRMP Financially Responsible Market 
Participant, e.g. Current Retailer.  




Yes  Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL LNSP Current Local Network Service 
Provider (or ENM for a child 
connection point).  




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 




ALL LR Current local retailer. Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes  




ALL MDP Current MDP – Category D. Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL MPB Current MP – Category B. Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL MPC Current MDP – Category C. Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL NEMM  Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL ROLR Current Retailer of Last Resort. Yes - Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes 




ALL RP Current Metering Coordinator. Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL NSP2 Current Second Network Service 
Provider 




  Yes Yes   Yes  Yes Yes 




Table 42-H – CATS Standing Data Access Rules for Register IDs 




REGISTER ID 




Jur’n Data Item Description 




FR
M




P 




LR
 




LN
SP




 




M
D




P 




M
PB




 




M
PC




 




RP
 




Ro
LR




 




N
EM




M
 




N
SP




2 




ALL ActCumInd Actual/Subtractive indicator. 
Actual implies volume of energy 
actually metered between two 
dates. 
Cumulative indicates a Meter 
Reading for a specific date. A 
second Meter Reading is required 
to determine the consumption 
between those two dates.  




Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 165 of 169
 




Jur’n Data Item Description 




FR
M




P 




LR
 




LN
SP




 




M
D




P 




M
PB




 




M
PC




 




RP
 




Ro
LR




 




N
EM




M
 




N
SP




2 




ALL Controlled 
Load 




Indicates whether the energy 
recorded by this register is created 
under a Controlled Load regime. 




Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL Demand1 A value, in kVA or kW, which is a 
demand component associated 
with a Network Tariff. 




Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL Demand2 A value, in kVA or kW, where there 
is a second demand component 
associated with a Network Tariff. 




Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL DialFormat Describes the register display 
format. First number is the number 
of digits to the left of the decimal 
place, and the second number is 
the number of digits to the right of 
the decimal place. 




Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL Multiplier Multiplier required to take a 
register value and turn it into a 
value representing billable energy. 




Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL NetworkTarif
f 
Code 




A code that identifies the Network 
Tariff. It is a code obligation for the 
LNSP to publish the meaning of 
these codes elsewhere (e.g. on the 
Internet). 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL NTAddInfo Contains additional explanatory 
information about the Network 
Tariff if the code alone is not a 
sufficient explanation. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL RegisterId The identifier which uniquely 
identifies this register.  




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL RegisterId 
Status 




A code to indicate whether or not 
the register is active.  




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL Suffix The suffix on the CATS_NMI_ 
Datastream table to which energy 
measured on this register 
contributes. 




Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL TimeOfDay A code that indicates the time 
validity of the register’s contents. 




Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL UnitOf 
Measure 




A code to identify the unit of 
measure for the data held in this 
register. 




Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




42.3.4. NMI Discovery Search 3 – NMI Standing Data Access Rules 




(a) This section specifies the NMI Standing Data available to retailers who are: 




(i) seeking to progress error correction transfers (prior to initiating a CR 1021, 1023, 1024 
and 1029); 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 166 of 169
 




(ii) seeking agreement to the raising of a Retrospective Change on a date that aligns 
with a previous Meter Reading (CR 1010); 




(iii) seeking the previous FRMP to win back a NMI won in error – (CR 1022, 1025, 1026, 
1027 and 1028); and 




(iv) Who are not the FRMP and in receipt of an End User’s request for abolishment of a 
NMI from MSATS. 




(b) A retailer must only perform NMI Discovery Search 3 on any NMIs for the reasons stated in 
paragraph (a). 




(c) The NMI Standing Data Access Rules for this transaction define which: 




(i) Role can initiate a request for NMI Standing Data. 




(ii) Standing data items will be returned when a request is submitted to MSATS. 




(d) The Roles that can initiate the NMI Discovery Search 3 are specified in Table 42-I. 




Table 42-I – NMI Standing Data Access Rules for Participant Relations 




PARTICIPANT RELATIONS 




Jur’n Data Item Description 




FR
M




P 




LR
 




LN
SP




 




M
D




P 




M
PB




 




M
PC




 




RP
 




Ro
LR




 




N
EM




M
 




N
SP




2 




ALL FRMP Financially Responsible Market 
Participant. 




Yes -  –   –   –  -  –  -  –   –  




ALL LNSP Current Local Network Service 
Provider, or Embedded Network 
Manager for a child connection 
point.  




 –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –  




ALL LR Current Local Retailer.  –   –   –   –   –  -  –  -  –   - 




ALL MDP Current Metering Data Provider, 
i.e. provider of metering data to 
AEMO. 




 –   –   –   –   –   –   –  -  –   –  




ALL MPB Current Meter Provider – 
maintenance of meter. 




 –  -  –   –   –   –   –  -  –   –  




ALL MPC Current Meter Provider – data 
collection. 




 –  -  –   –   –   –   –  -  –   –  




ALL NEMM   –  -  –   –   –   –   –  -  –   –  




ALL RoLR Current Retailer of Last Resort.  –  -  –   –   –  -  –   –   –   –  




ALL RP Current Metering Coordinator.  –   –   –   –   –   –   –  -  –   –  




ALL NSP2 Current Second Network Service 
Provider 




- -  –   –  - -  –  -  –   –  




(e) When initiating NMI Discovery Search 3, a retailer must ensure: 




(i) When using the reason of ITD (Incorrect Transfer Date), they are the Current FRMP 
for the NMI and a FRMP change completed in the past 130 business days from the 
NMI Discovery Search 3 date. 




(ii) When using the reason of TRI (Transferred In Error), they are the Current FRMP or the 
most recent previous FRMP for a given NMI. (This applies where the Current FRMP 
needs to request a retailer to transfer back a NMI transferred in error or the most 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 167 of 169
 




recent previous FRMP has identified another retailer has transferred the NMI in error 
and is seeking to transfer it back.) 




(iii) When using the reason of MCR, Missed CR1500 error, a CR1500 was not submitted in 
the past 130 business days from the NMI Discovery Search 3 date. 




(iv) When using the reason of NNS (New NMI Setup Error – see Table 42-J), the NMI was 
created in the past 130 business days from the NMI Discovery Search 3 date. 




(f) The valid standing data items that would be returned to the initiating Role in all Jurisdictions 
on a successful data access request are specified in Table 42-J. 




Table 42-J – NMI Standing Data Items returned in all Jurisdictions for a Search 3 Search Request per 
Reason Code 




Reason code Description MSATS Name of the 
data item returned 




Description of data item returned on a successful 
request 




 All NMI  A 10 digit national metering identifier. 




ITD Incorrect Transfer 
Date Error 




FRMP, End Date Up to 10 character code representing the identity of 
the most recent previous FRMP. 




End Date of the most recent previous FRMP record. 




MCR Missed CR1500 
Error 




FRMP  Up to 10 character code representing the identity of 
the Current FRMP.  




NNS New NMI Setup 
Error 




FRMP  Up to 10 character code representing the identity of 
the Current FRMP.  




OTR Other Transfer 
Error 




FRMP Up to 10 character code representing the identity of 
the Current FRMP.  




SAB Site Abolishment FRMP, 
Start Date 




Up to 10 character code representing the identity of 
the Current FRMP. 




Start Date of the Current FRMP record. 




TRI Transferred In 
Error 




FRMP, 
Start Date 




Up to 10 character code representing the identity of 
the Current FRMP. 




Start Date of the Current FRMP record. 




TRI Transferred In 
Error 




FRMP, End Date Up to 10 character code representing the identity of 
the most recent previous FRMP. 




End Date of the most recent previous FRMP record. 




TRM Transfer Missed 
Error 




FRMP Up to 10 character code representing the identity of 
the Current FRMP.  




 




42.3.5. MC Standing Data Search – NMI Standing Data Access Rules 




(a) This section 42.3.5 specifies the NMI Standing Data that is available to MCs who do not 
have Explicit Informed Consent from an End User. 




(b) A current or prospective MC must: 




(i) Only carry out an MC Standing Data Search on NMIs where they are the Current MC; 
or 




(ii) Only perform MC Standing Data Search activity for the purpose of responding to a 
request from a large customer/retailer to assist in the appointment of the prospective 
MC. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 168 of 169
 




(c) The NMI Data Access Rules define: 




(i) Which Role can initiate a request for NMI Standing Data and 




(ii) Which standing data items will be returned when a request is submitted to MSATS. 




(d) The NMI Data Access Rules may be defined by Jurisdiction. 




(e) The NMI Standing Data items returned to an MC in all Jurisdictions on a successful data 
access request are specified in Table 42-K. 




Table 42-K – Common NMI Standing Data items returned for an MC Standing Data Search.  




(The following data is based on the MSATS C7 report with the inclusion of Controlled Load and NMI Classification 
Code).  




MSATS Name Data item description MSATS standing data table 




Address This includes all address fields, which 




comprise DPID, building name, flat number, 
flat type, floor number, floor type, house 




number, house number suffix, location 




descriptor, Lot Number, street name, street 
suffix, street type, Unstructured Address1, 




Unstructured Address2, Unstructured 




Address3, postcode, locality, and state. 




CATS_NMI_DATA 




ADL The electrical energy delivered through a 
connection point or metering point over an 




extended period normalised to a “per day” 
basis (kWh). 




CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Controlled Load Indicates whether the energy recorded by 
this register is created under a Controlled 




Load regime.  




Controlled Load field will have “No” if 




register does not relate to a Controlled 




Load, it should contain a description of the 
Controlled Load regime.  




 




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Customer Classification 




Code 




See section 4.10.1.  CATS_NMI_DATA 




Customer Threshold Code See section 4.10.2. CATS_NMI_DATA 




Datastream Status Code See section 4.11. CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Datastream Type A code to indicate the type of data that the 
Datastream will report:  includes interval and 




accumulation. 




CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




DLF Code  A code representing the DLF. CATS_NMI_DATA 




Jurisdiction Code See section 4.5. CATS_NMI_DATA 




FRMP A code representing the identity of the 




FRMP. 




CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 20 MAY 2019 Page 169 of 169
 




MSATS Name Data item description MSATS standing data table 




LNSP  A code representing the identity of the 
LNSP. 




CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 




LR A code representing the identity of the LR. CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 




MDP A code representing the identity of the MDP 
(Category D). 




CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 




Meter Serial ID The serial number that uniquely identifies a 
meter for a given NMI. 




CATS_METER_REGISTER 




Metering Installation Type 




Code  




See section 4.12. CATS_METER_REGISTER 




MPB A code representing the identity of the MP 




(Category B). 




CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 




MPC A code representing the identity of the MDP 




(Category C). 




CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 




Multiplier Multiplier required to take a register value 




and turn it into a value representing billable 
energy. 




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Network Tariff Code  A code representing the Network Tariff. CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Next Scheduled Read Date  The NSRD in date format. CATS_METER_REGISTER 




NMI Classification Code  See section 4.9. CATS_NMI_DATA 




NMI Status Code See section 4.11.1 CATS_NMI_DATA 




Register ID The register ID of the register that the 
Network Tariff Code and Network Tariff 




Code additional information refers to. 




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Register Identifier Status 




Code 




A lookup code to indicate if register is active. CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




ROLR A code representing the identity of the 




ROLR. 




CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 




RP A code representing the identity of the MC. CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 




Time Of Day Industry developed Codes to identify the 
time validity of register contents. 




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




TNI Code  A code representing the transmission node 
identifier. 




CATS_NMI_DATA 




Unit of Measure A code to identify the Unit of Measure 
(UOM) for data held in this register.  




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




 














image8.emf


MSATS Procedures 



CATS v50 Final Clean.pdf






MSATS Procedures CATS v50 Final Clean.pdf






 




 




 




 




 




Australian Energy Market Operator Ltd    ABN 94 072 010 327 www.aemo.com.au    info@aemo.com.au 




NEW SOUTH WALES QUEENSLAND SOUTH AUSTRALIA VICTORIA AUSTRALIAN CAPITAL TERRITORY TASMANIA WESTERN AUSTRALIA 




MSATS PROCEDURES 




CATS PROCEDURE PRINCIPLES AND OBLIGATIONS 




 




PREPARED BY: AEMO MARKETS 




VERSION: 5.0 




EFFECTIVE DATE: 6 February 2022 




STATUS: FINAL 




  




Approved for distribution and use by: 




APPROVED BY: PETER GEERS 




TITLE: Chief Strategy and Markets Officer 




  




DATE: 8 October 2019  




 







http://www.aemo.com.au/



mailto:info@aemo.com.au











MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 2 of 172 
 




VERSION RELEASE HISTORY 




Version  Effective Date Summary of Changes 




3.4a  15th July 2011 Updated to facilitate further extension of contestability to small business customers in 




Tasmania. 




3.5  25th August 2011 Updated to include a new objection for the CR1010 & CR1081 and manifest changes. 




3.6  13th January 2012 Updated to include a new Change Reason Code for the update of the Customer 




Classification Code field; additional changes related to National Energy Customer 




Framework; and other minor manifest text changes. 




3.7  15th May 2013 Updated to include a new NMI Discovery Search 3 transaction; aligning procedures 




with the NER as a result of introduction of new terminology regarding MDPs; updates 




based on a New Connections process review to facilitate that a LNSP only nominate a 




retailer as the FRMP based on instruction from that retailer; changes as a result of 




introduction of Market Small Generation Aggregator (MSGA). 




3.8  13th November 




2013 




Updated to align MPB obligations with MDP obligations during the meter set up or 




maintenance process, by requiring the MPB to source the suffix from the appropriate 




MDP. 




3.9  1st January 2014 No version 3.9 was released. The Tasmanian Government withdrew its request for the 




change to the CATS Procedures.  




4.0  15th May 2014 Updated to include amendments arising from the introduction of NECF in NSW.  




4.1  1 July 2014 Updated to include amendments arising from the AEMC Rule change on Access to 




NMI Standing Data.  




4.2 1 December 2017 Updated to incorporate:   




• National Electricity Amendment (Expanding competition in metering and related 




services) Rule 2015. No.12; 




• National Electricity Amendment (Embedded Networks) Rule 2015 No. 15; and 




National Electricity Amendment (Meter Replacement Processes) Rule 2016 No. 2. 




4.3 1 December 2017 Updated to add clarifications and correct errors. 




4.4 1 December 2017 Updated to incorporate feedback from PoC Work Package 3 First Stage consultation. 




4.5 1 December 2017 Updated to incorporate feedback from PoC Work Package 3 Second Stage 




Consultation. 




4.6 20 May 2019 Updated to enable the transfer of a NMI on a greenfield site, include updates to the 




use of objection codes and altered the definition for DATEBAD objections. New MC 




standing data search process added and further clarified responsibilities to correct 




the NTC in MSATS.    




4.7 20 May 2019 Minor amendment to enable MDP to view CR6700/6701 in all statuses to enable the 




required DATEBAD objection to occur. 




4.8 20 May 2020 Updated to define the dates MPs must use when updating MSATS about remote de-




energisations and remote re-energisations, define timeframes for updating 




datastreams in MSATS, clarify the communication of the identification of incorrect 




NMI and metering installation, and clarify the LNSP’s obligations in relation to 




creating Embedded Network Codes. 




5.0 6 February 2022 Updated to incorporate: 




National Electricity Amendment (Global settlement and market reconciliation) Rule 




2018 No. 14 




 




 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 3 of 172 
 




QUICK REFERENCE GUIDE 




Change Retailer (FRMP) 




Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 




1000, 1010 (SMALL only), 1020 




(LARGE only), 1030, 1040 




Change Retailer Sec 7, Page 55 




1021, 1022, 1023, 1024, 1025, 




1026, 1027, 1028, 1029 (All these 




codes are for SMALL only) 




Change Retailer – Error Corrections (Small NMIs 




only) 




Sec 8, Page 61 




1080, 1081 (SMALL only), 1082, 




1083, 1084 




Change Retailer – Child NMI - Small or Large Sec 9, Page 66 




Provide Data 




Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 




1500  Provide Actual Change Date Sec 10, Page 72 




Create NMI 




Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 




2000, 2001 Create NMI Sec 11, Page 74 




2020, 2021 Create NMI – Child NMI Sec 12, Page 77 




2500, 2501 Create NMI, Meter, Datastream Sec 13, Page 80 




2520, 2521 Create NMI, Meter, Datastream – Child NMI Sec 14, Page 84 




Maintain Metering  




Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 




3000, 3001 Create Metering Installation Details Sec 15, Page 88 




3004, 3005 Exchange of Metering Information Sec 16, Page 91 




3050, 3051 Change Metering Installation Details Sec 17, Page 94 




3080, 3081  Advanced Change Metering Installation Details Sec 18, Page 97 




3090, 3091 Advanced Exchange of Metering Sec 19, Page 101 




3100, 3101 Change Network Tariff Code Sec 20, Page 105 




Maintain Datastream 




Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 




4000, 4001 Create Datastream Details  Sec 21, Page 107 




4004, 4005 Exchange of Datastream Information Sec 22, Page 109 




4050, 4051 Change Datastream Details Sec 23, Page 111 




Maintain NMI  




Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 




5070, 5071 Update Next Scheduled Read Date Sec 24, Page 113 




5001, 5021 Backdate NMI Start Date Sec 25, Page 115 




5050, 5051 Change NMI Sec 26, Page 119 




5054, 5055 Change NMI (Customer Classification Code) Sec 27, Page 121 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 4 of 172 
 




Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 




5060, 5061 Change NMI – Child NMI Sec 28, Page 123 




5080, 5081 Change Parent Name Sec 29, Page 125 




Change Roles (excluding FRMP) 




Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 




6100, 6110 Change LNSP Sec 30, Page 127 




6200, 6210 Change MDP Sec 31, Page 130 




6300, 6301 Change MC Sec 32, Page 133 




6421 Change ENLR Child NMI Sec 33, Page 136 




6500, 6501 Change RoLR Sec 34, Page 138 




6700, 6701 Change MPB, MPC, or Both Sec 35, Page 140 




6800, 6801 Change Multiple Roles – MC, MDP, MPC, MPB Sec 36, Page 142 




Auto change roles 




Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 




ECLR Change ENLR – Child NMI -  Auto Sec 37, Page 146 




EPFR Change Secondary FRMP – Parent NMI Sec 38, Page 147 




AEMO only 




Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 




5100, 5101 Standing data updates Sec 39, Page 149 




BCxx Invoke BCT Process Sec 40, Page 152 




 Access to Standing Data Sec 41, Page 155 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 5 of 172 
 




HOW TO USE THIS DOCUMENT 




Although this document is lengthy, in most instances you will only need to read one section to 




work out what obligations you have. 




All participants should read and be familiar with Sections 1 to 6, which contain overview material. 




In particular, it is essential that you read Section 2, which defines, for each role, what overall 




obligations it has with regard to these procedures. 




The majority of the document (Sections 7 to 42) covers specific tasks you might either have to 




initiate or be notified about, and the rules and obligations you have with regard to them. 




For example, if you are intending to change a small customer’s retailer, assuming that you are 




already familiar with Sections 1 to 6, you would: 




• Check the grouping of sections covering the topic ‘Change Retailer’ (Sections 7 to 9). 




• Select and then read Section 7, which is called ‘Change Retailer – Small or Large NMI. 




The names of sections 7 to 42 are structured like the following example: 




 CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE MDP SMALL OR LARGE 




 Transaction 




Grouping 




 Specific task NMI classification (where applicable) 




Once you become familiar with this structure it is relatively easy to work out which section you 




need to select whenever you are initiating a transaction. 




If you receive a notification from another participant and are not sure what obligations you have, 




confirm, from the notification, the Change Reason Code. Then check the ‘Quick Reference Guide’ 




at the beginning of this document to confirm what section covers this Change Reason Code. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 6 of 172 
 




CONTENTS 




1. INTRODUCTION 15 




1.1. Purpose and Scope 15 




1.2. Definitions and Interpretation 15 




1.3. Commencement of Changes 15 




1.4. Related AEMO Documents 15 




2. OBLIGATIONS BY ROLE 17 




2.1. General Obligations 17 




2.2. Financially Responsible Market Participant 17 




2.3. Local Network Service Provider 18 




2.4. Metering Data Provider 20 




2.5. Metering Provider – Category B 21 




2.6. Metering Coordinator 22 




2.7. Retailer Of Last Resort 22 




2.8. Second Network Service Provider 23 




2.9. AEMO 23 




2.10. Embedded Network Manager 23 




3. CATS FUNCTIONALITY 26 




3.1. Overview 26 




3.2. Principles 26 




3.3. Transaction Types 27 




3.4. Change Requests 28 




3.5. Change Request Status Life Cycle 30 




3.6. Transaction Validation 32 




3.7. Valid Proposed Change Date for Prospective and Retrospective Change Requests 34 




4. CATS CODES AND RULES FOR A CHANGE REQUEST 36 




4.1. Introduction 36 




4.2. Change Reason Code 36 




4.3. Role Codes 39 




4.4. Use of Local Retailer (LR)/Embedded Network Local Retailer (ENLR) within this Procedure 39 




4.5. Change Request Initiation Rules 39 




4.6. Jurisdiction Codes 40 




4.7. Timeframe Rules 40 




4.8. Objection Codes 40 




4.9. Objection Rules 41 




4.10. NMI Classification Codes 42 




4.11. End User Classification 43 




4.12. Status Codes 44 




4.13. Metering Installation Type Codes 45 




4.14. Read Type Code 46 




4.15. Field Validation Rules 48 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 7 of 172 
 




4.16. Change Request Status Notification Rules 49 




4.17. Datastream Status Code 50 




4.18. Embedded Network Codes and Rules 50 




4.19. Obtaining Electronic Downloads of Configuration Rules 51 




5. MSATS REPORTS 53 




6. GUIDELINES FOR MANAGING CONCURRENT RETAIL TRANSFERS 54 




6.1. Definition of concurrent retail transfers 54 




6.2. Guidelines 54 




7. CHANGE RETAILER – SMALL OR LARGE NMI 55 




7.1. Application [1000 1010 1020 1030 1040] 55 




7.2. Conditions Precedent 55 




7.3. Initiating Roles 55 




7.4. FRMP Requirements 55 




7.5. MDP Requirements 56 




7.6. MC Requirements 57 




7.7. Timeframe Rules 57 




7.8. Objection Rules 58 




7.9. Change Request Status Notification Rules 60 




8. CHANGE RETAILER – ERROR CORRECTIONS – SMALL NMIS 61 




8.1. Application [1021 1022 1023 1024 1025 1026 1027 1028 1029] 61 




8.2. Conditions Precedent 61 




8.3. Initiating Roles 62 




8.4. FRMP Requirements 62 




8.5. MDP Requirements 62 




8.6. MC Requirements 62 




8.7. Timeframe Rules 63 




8.8. Objection Rules 63 




8.9. Change Request Status Notification Rules 65 




9. CHANGE RETAILER – EMBEDDED NETWORKS – SMALL OR LARGE 66 




9.1. Application [1080 1081 1082 1083 1084] 66 




9.2. Conditions Precedent 66 




9.3. Initiating Roles 66 




9.4. FRMP Requirements 66 




9.5. MDP Requirements 67 




9.6. MC Requirements 68 




9.7. Timeframe Rules 69 




9.8. Objection Rules 69 




9.9. Change Request Status Notification Rules 71 




10. PROVIDE DATA – PROVIDE ACTUAL CHANGE DATE – SMALL OR LARGE 72 




10.1. Application [1500] 72 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 8 of 172 
 




10.2. Conditions Precedent 72 




10.3. Initiating Roles 72 




10.4. MDP Requirements 72 




10.5. Timeframe Rules 72 




10.6. Objection Rules 72 




10.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 73 




11. CREATE NMI – CREATE A NMI – SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 74 




11.1. Application [2000 2001] 74 




11.2. Conditions Precedent 74 




11.3. Initiating Roles 74 




11.4. LNSP Requirements 74 




11.5. MPB Requirements 75 




11.6. Timeframe Rules 75 




11.7. Objection Rules 75 




11.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 76 




12. CREATE NMI – CREATE CHILD NMI – SMALL OR LARGE 77 




12.1. Application [2020 2021] 77 




12.2. Conditions Precedent 77 




12.3. Initiating Roles 77 




12.4. ENM Requirements 77 




12.5. MPB Requirements 78 




12.6. Timeframe Rules 78 




12.7. Objection Rules 78 




12.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 79 




13. CREATE NMI – CREATE NMI, METERING INSTALLATION DETAILS AND NMI DATASTREAM – 




SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 80 




13.1. Application [2500 2501] 80 




13.2. Conditions Precedent 80 




13.3. Initiating Roles 80 




13.4. LNSP Requirements 80 




13.5. Timeframe Rules 82 




13.6. Objection Rules 82 




13.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 83 




14. CREATE NMI – CREATE NMI, METERING INSTALLATION DETAILS AND MDM DATASTREAM – 




CHILD NMI (SMALL OR LARGE) 84 




14.1. Application [2520 2521] 84 




14.2. Conditions Precedent 84 




14.3. Initiating Roles 84 




14.4. ENM Requirements 84 




14.5. Timeframe Rules 86 




14.6. Objection Rules 86 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 9 of 172 
 




14.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 87 




15. MAINTAIN METERING – CREATE METERING INSTALLATION DETAILS – SMALL, LARGE OR 




NCONUML 88 




15.1. Application [3000 3001] 88 




15.2. Conditions Precedent 88 




15.3. Initiating Roles 88 




15.4. MPB Requirements 88 




15.5. Timeframe Rules 90 




15.6. Objection Rules 90 




15.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 90 




16. MAINTAIN METERING – EXCHANGE OF METERING INFORMATION – SMALL, LARGE OR 




NCONUML 91 




16.1. Application [3004 3005] 91 




16.2. Conditions Precedent 91 




16.3. Initiating Roles 91 




16.4. MPB Requirements 91 




16.5. Timeframe Rules 93 




16.6. Objection Rules 93 




16.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 93 




17. MAINTAIN METERING – CHANGE METERING INSTALLATION DETAILS – SMALL, LARGE OR 




NCONUML 94 




17.1. Application [3050 3051] 94 




17.2. Conditions Precedent 94 




17.3. Initiating Roles 94 




17.4. MPB Requirements 94 




17.5. Timeframe Rules 96 




17.6. Objection Rules 96 




17.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 96 




18. MAINTAIN METERING – ADVANCED CHANGE METERING INSTALLATION DETAILS – SMALL OR 




LARGE 97 




18.1. Application [3080 3081] 97 




18.2. Conditions Precedent 97 




18.3. Initiating Roles 97 




18.4. MC Requirements 97 




18.5. MDP Requirements 99 




18.6. Timeframe Rules 99 




18.7. Objection Rules 99 




18.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 100 




19. MAINTAIN METERING – ADVANCED EXCHANGE OF METERING – SMALL OR LARGE 101 




19.1. Application [3090 3091] 101 




19.2. Conditions Precedent 101 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 10 of 172 
 




19.3. Initiating Roles 101 




19.4. MC Requirements 101 




19.5. MDP Requirements 103 




19.6. Timeframe Rules 103 




19.7. Objection Rules 103 




19.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 104 




20. MAINTAIN METERING – CHANGE NETWORK TARIFF CODE – SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 105 




20.1. Application [3100 3101] 105 




20.2. Conditions Precedent 105 




20.3. Initiating Roles 105 




20.4. LNSP or ENM Requirements 105 




20.5. Timeframe Rules 106 




20.6. Objection Rules 106 




20.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 106 




21. MAINTAIN DATASTREAM – CREATE NMI DATASTREAM –SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 107 




21.1. Application [4000 4001] 107 




21.2. Conditions Precedent 107 




21.3. Initiating Roles 107 




21.4. MDP Requirements 107 




21.5. Timeframe Rules 108 




21.6. Objection Rules 108 




21.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 108 




22. MAINTAIN DATASTREAM – EXCHANGE OF DATASTREAM INFORMATION SMALL, LARGE OR 




NCONUML 109 




22.1. Application [4004 4005] 109 




22.2. Conditions Precedent 109 




22.3. Initiating Roles 109 




22.4. MDP Requirements 109 




22.5. Timeframe Rules 110 




22.6. Objection Rules 110 




22.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 110 




23. MAINTAIN DATASTREAM – CHANGE NMI DATASTREAM – SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 111 




23.1. Application [4050 4051] 111 




23.2. Conditions Precedent 111 




23.3. Initiating Roles 111 




23.4. MDP Requirements 111 




23.5. Timeframe Rules 112 




23.6. Objection Rules 112 




23.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 112 




24. MAINTAIN NMI – UPDATE NEXT SCHEDULED READ DATE – SMALL LARGE OR NCONUML 113 




24.1. Application [5070 5071] 113 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 11 of 172 
 




24.2. Conditions Precedent 113 




24.3. Initiating Roles 113 




24.4. MDP Requirements 113 




24.5. Timeframe Rules 113 




24.6. Objection Rules 114 




24.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 114 




25. MAINTAIN NMI – BACKDATE A NMI – SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 115 




25.1. Application [5001 5021] 115 




25.2. Conditions Precedent 115 




25.3. Initiating Roles 115 




25.4. LNSP Requirements (5001 only) 115 




25.5. ENM Requirements (5021 only) 116 




25.6. AEMO Requirements 116 




25.7. MPB Requirements 117 




25.8. Timeframe Rules 117 




25.9. Objection Rules 117 




25.10. Change Request Status Notification Rules 118 




26. MAINTAIN NMI – CHANGE A NMI – SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 119 




26.1. Application [5050 5051] 119 




26.2. Conditions Precedent 119 




26.3. Initiating Roles 119 




26.4. LNSP Requirements 119 




26.5. Timeframe Rules 120 




26.6. Objection Rules 120 




26.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 120 




27. MAINTAIN NMI – CHANGE A NMI – CUSTOMER CLASSIFICATION CODE – SMALL, LARGE OR 




NCONUML 121 




27.1. Application [5054 5055] 121 




27.2. Conditions Precedent 121 




27.3. Initiating Roles 121 




27.4. FRMP Requirements 121 




27.5. Timeframe Rules 121 




27.6. Objection Rules 122 




27.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 122 




28. MAINTAIN NMI – CHANGE NMI EMBEDDED NETWORK (CHILD) – SMALL OR LARGE 123 




28.1. Application [5060 5061] 123 




28.2. Conditions Precedent 123 




28.3. Initiating Roles 123 




28.4. ENM Requirements 123 




28.5. Timeframe Rules 124 




28.6. Objection Rules 124 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 12 of 172 
 




28.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 124 




29. MAINTAIN NMI – CHANGE PARENT NAME – SMALL OR LARGE 125 




29.1. Application [5080 5081] 125 




29.2. Conditions Precedent 125 




29.3. Initiating Roles 125 




29.4. LNSP Requirements 125 




29.5. Timeframe Rules 126 




29.6. Objection Rules 126 




29.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 126 




30. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE LNSP – SMALL LARGE OR NCONUML 127 




30.1. Application [6100 6110] 127 




30.2. Conditions Precedent 127 




30.3. Initiating Roles 127 




30.4. LNSP or ENM Requirements 127 




30.5. Timeframe Rules 128 




30.6. Objection Rules 128 




30.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 129 




31. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE MDP – SMALL,LARGE OR NCONUML 130 




31.1. Application [6200 6210] 130 




31.2. Conditions Precedent 130 




31.3. Initiating Roles 130 




31.4. FRMP/Current MC Requirements 130 




31.5. MDP Requirements 130 




31.6. Timeframe Rules 131 




31.7. Objection Rules 131 




31.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 132 




32. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE MC – SMALL LARGE OR NCONUML 133 




32.1. Application [6300 6301] 133 




32.2. Conditions Precedent 133 




32.3. Initiating Roles 133 




32.4. MC/Current FRMP Requirements 133 




32.5. Timeframe Rules 134 




32.6. Objection Rules 134 




32.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 134 




33. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE ENLR – CHILD NMI – SMALL OR LARGE 136 




33.1. Application [6421] 136 




33.2. Conditions Precedent 136 




33.3. Initiating Roles 136 




33.4. LR Requirements 136 




33.5. Timeframe Rules 136 




33.6. Objection Rules 137 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 13 of 172 
 




33.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 137 




34. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE ROLR – SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 138 




34.1. Application [6500 6501] 138 




34.2. Conditions Precedent 138 




34.3. Initiating Roles 138 




34.4. ROLR Requirements 138 




34.5. Timeframe Rules 139 




34.6. Objection Rules 139 




34.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 139 




35. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE MPB OR MPC OR BOTH – SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 140 




35.1. Application [6700 6701] 140 




35.2. Conditions Precedent 140 




35.3. Initiating Roles 140 




35.4. MC Requirements 140 




35.5. MDP Requirements 140 




35.6. Timeframe Rules 140 




35.7. Objection Rules 141 




35.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 141 




36. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE MULTIPLE ROLES – SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 142 




36.1. Application [6800 6801] 142 




36.2. Conditions Precedent 142 




36.3. Initiating Roles 142 




36.4. FRMP Requirements 142 




36.5. MC Requirements 142 




36.6. MDP Requirements 143 




36.7. Timeframe Rules 143 




36.8. Objection Rules 144 




36.9. Change Request Status Notification Rules 145 




37. AUTO CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE LOCAL RETAILER EMBEDDED NETWORK CHILD – SMALL OR 




LARGE 146 




37.1. Application [ECLR] 146 




37.2. Conditions Precedent 146 




37.3. Timeframe Rules 146 




37.4. Objection Rules 146 




37.5. Change Request Status Notification Rules 146 




38. AUTO CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE SECONDARY FRMP PARENT – SMALL OR LARGE 147 




38.1. Application [EPFR] 147 




38.2. Conditions Precedent 147 




38.3. Timeframe Rules 147 




38.4. Objection Rules 147 




38.5. Change Request Status Notification Rules 147 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 14 of 172 
 




39. AEMO ONLY – AEMO-INITIATED STANDING DATA UPDATES – SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 149 




39.1. Application [5100 5101] 149 




39.2. Conditions Precedent 149 




39.3. Initiating Roles 149 




39.4. AEMO Requirements 149 




39.5. Timeframe Rules 151 




39.6. Objection Rules 151 




39.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 151 




40. AEMO ONLY – CHANGE ROLE, TNI OR DLF CODE – BULK CHANGE TOOL (BCT) – SMALL, LARGE 




OR NCONUML 152 




40.1. Introduction 152 




40.2. Conditions Precedent 152 




40.3. Requesting Participant Requirements 153 




40.4. Impacted Participant Requirements 154 




40.5. MDP Requirements 154 




40.6. Timeframe Rules 154 




40.7. Objection Rules 154 




40.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 154 




41. ACCESS TO CATS STANDING DATA 155 




41.1. Introduction 155 




41.2. Participant 155 




41.3. Request a NMI Discovery Search 155 




 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 15 of 172 
 




1. INTRODUCTION 




1.1. Purpose and Scope 




These are the MSATS Procedures – CATS Procedure Principles and Obligations made under clause 




7.16.2 of the National Electricity Rules (NER) (Rules). 




These Procedures have effect only for the purposes set out in the NER. The NER and the National 




Electricity Law prevail over these Procedures to the extent of any inconsistency. 




1.2. Definitions and Interpretation 




The Retail Electricity Market Procedures – Glossary and Framework: 




(a) is incorporated into and forms part of these Procedures; and 




(b) should be read with these Procedures. 




1.3. Commencement of Changes 




Changes to these Procedures will take effect at 00:00 hours Eastern Standard Time on the day of 




effect after notice has been given to Participants of the changes. 




All changes to NMI Master Records will become effective at 00:00 hours Eastern Standard Time on 




the day of effect. This includes End User transfers and all changes to CATS Standing Data. 




1.4. Related AEMO Documents 




Title Location 




Allocation of Embedded Network Codes http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-




NEM/Retail-and-metering/Accreditation-and-Registration 




CATS Hints and Tips http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-




NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-




Solutions 




Guide to MSATS B2B http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-




NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-




Solutions 




Guide to MSATS Web portal http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-




NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-




Solutions 




Introduction to MSATS http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-




NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-




Solutions 




MDM Procedures http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-




NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-




Solutions 




Metrology Procedure:  Part A http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-




NEM/Retail-and-metering/Metrology-Procedures-and-Unmetered-




Loads 




Metrology Procedure:  Part B http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-




NEM/Retail-and-metering/Metrology-Procedures-and-Unmetered-




Loads 







http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Accreditation-and-Registration



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Accreditation-and-Registration



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Metrology-Procedures-and-Unmetered-Loads



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Metrology-Procedures-and-Unmetered-Loads



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Metrology-Procedures-and-Unmetered-Loads



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Metrology-Procedures-and-Unmetered-Loads



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Metrology-Procedures-and-Unmetered-Loads



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Metrology-Procedures-and-Unmetered-Loads











MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 16 of 172 
 




Title Location 




NEM RoLR Processes http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-




NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-




Solutions 




NMI Procedures http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-




NEM/Retail-and-metering/Metering-procedures-guidelines-and-




processes 




Retail Electricity Market Procedures – 




Glossary and Framework 




http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-




NEM/Retail-and-metering 




Service Level Procedure (MDP) http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-




NEM/Retail-and-metering/Metering-procedures-guidelines-and-




processes 




Standing Data for MSATS http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-




NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-




Solutions 




WIGS Procedures http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-




NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-




Solutions 




 




  







http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Metering-procedures-guidelines-and-processes



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Metering-procedures-guidelines-and-processes



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Metering-procedures-guidelines-and-processes



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Metering-procedures-guidelines-and-processes



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Metering-procedures-guidelines-and-processes



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Metering-procedures-guidelines-and-processes



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions











MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 17 of 172 
 




2. OBLIGATIONS BY ROLE 




2.1. General Obligations 




(a) Participants must select the most applicable Transaction Type Code or Change Request 




Code for their proposed transaction. 




(b) A Participant must not seek access through MSATS to the data pertaining to a NMI unless it 




has, or had, a known and commercial relationship with the NMI except when conducting a 




NMI Discovery Search 1, 2 or 3. 




(c) A Participant, other than AEMO, must not use a facility provided in MSATS for a purpose 




other than allowed by these Procedures. 




(d) A Participant must not enter an Actual End Date into MSATS unless it has a known and 




commercial relationship with the NMI to which the Actual End Date refers. 




(e) A Participant must not raise an Objection Code unless the Objection is fair and reasonable;  




for example, when an Objection is made using a specific Objection Code, the Participant 




who made the Objection must be able to produce evidence upon request to substantiate it. 




(f) A Participant may object to a Change Request by using an Objection Code and adhering to 




Objection Rules .    




(g) Participants must ensure that the transfer of a NMI from one FRMP to another FRMP is not 




delayed. 




(h) Participants must ensure that CATS Standing Data is kept current and relevant for the NMIs 




they are responsible. 




(i) Unless a different timeframe is specified in these Procedures, a Participant must update the 




CATS Standing Data for which is is responsible, within 10 business days of being advised by 




a Participant or becoming aware that the CATS Standing Data is no longer current or 




relevant. 




(j) Participants may request reports from MSATS for the NMIs with which it has a relationship. 




(k) Participants must consider and action as necessary within two business days any requests 




from Participants that have been incorrectly assigned Roles. 




(l) When a Participant becomes aware that CATS Standing Data related to a NMI is incorrect 




that Participant must promptly notify other impacted Participants and the Participants must 




cooperate with each other to facilitate the correction of the CATS Standing Data. 




2.2. Financially Responsible Market Participant 




The New FRMP must: 




(a) Nominate the MC in accordance with the NER. 




(b) Initiate a Change Request for the transfer of a NMI in accordance with the applicable 




Timeframe Rules. Subject to the Retrospective Periods and Prospective Periods, the New 




FRMP must initiate the transfer: 




(i) Having the mandatory information required to initiate a valid transfer in MSATS; and 




(ii) No later than two business days after the conclusion of the Cooling-Off Period. 




(c) Where Jurisdictions allow transfers to be raised within the Cooling-Off Period, ensure that a 




Change Request cannot Complete prior to the end of the Cooling-Off Period. 




(d) Ensure that only small generating unit connection points are assigned to the relevant MSGA  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 18 of 172 
 




(e) Manage the transfer process if there are any matters that require attention in regard to the 




NMI, either from the operation of MSATS or from events that are external to its operation. 




(f) Adopt the Role of ENLR for child connection points where they are the FRMP of the Parent 




NMI. 




(g) Ensure that any Pending retail transfers are withdrawn within 210 days of the lodgement of 




the Change Request. 




(h) Withdraw a Change Request as soon as practicable, and within two business days, of being 




aware that the transfer cannot occur. 




The Current FRMP must: 




(i) Ensure that each small generating unit’s connection point is assigned to their MSGA 




Participant ID in MSATS. 




(j) Ensure that only small generating unit’s connection points are assigned to the MSGA’s 




Participant ID in MSATS. 




(k) Be responsible for settlement in respect of a NMI until the actual date of the NMI transfer to 




a New FRMP or until the NMI is classified as ‘extinct’. 




(l) Remain the Current FRMP and be responsible for all End User billing up to the actual date 




of change of financial responsibility to the New FRMP as notified by MSATS. 




(m) Consider and action as necessary within two business days any requests from incorrectly 




assigned Participants to correct the Participant allocation in MSATS. 




(n) Provide the ADL to the LNSP and the MDP for new connections. 




(o) Provide an update of the ADL to the Current MDP where the Current FRMP becomes aware 




of an expected change in the ADL of greater than 20%, other than by advice from the MDP. 




(p) Establish or update the Customer Classification Code within five business days of the NMI 




Status Code becoming ‘A’ in MSATS, where the Customer Classification Code has changed. 




(q) Update or provide the Customer Classification Code as the following: 




(i) for an End User at a NMI where the Customer Classification Code has changed, within 




five business days of any New contract with an End User at that connection point. 




(ii) within five business days of becoming aware of a change to the Customer 




Classification Code. 




(iii) within five business days of a End User Transfer Change Request being Completed, 




where the Customer Classification Code has changed. 




2.3. Local Network Service Provider 




The New LNSP must: 




(a) Initiate a Create NMI Change Request within 2 business days of a request by a FRMP, or of 




the mandatory information required by the Change Request becoming available, whichever 




is the later. 




(b) When creating a NMI populate the LR field with GLOPOOL or POOLXXX as relevant per its 




NMI Classification (Refer to NMI Procedures, Appendix E) 




(c) Consider and action as necessary within two business days any requests from incorrectly 




assigned Participants to correct a Create NMI Change Request in MSATS. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 19 of 172 
 




The Current LNSP must: 




(d) Allocate a NMI and NMI Checksum for each connection point in accordance with the NMI 




Procedures and clause 7.13.2 of the NER. 




(e) Provide an update of the ADL to the Current MDP where the LNSP becomes aware of an 




expected change in the ADL of greater than 20%, other than by advice from the MDP. 




(f) Update the Customer Threshold Code within five business days of becoming aware that the 




existing Customer Threshold Code is incorrect for NMIs with a Customer Classification Code 




of ‘BUSINESS’ and a NMI Status Code of ‘A’, or ‘D’. 




(g) Update or remove, as required, the Customer Threshold Code for a NMI within five business 




days of the Customer Classification Code being changed to ‘RESIDENTIAL’. 




(h) Provide DLF Codes and values to AEMO for the initial population of the DLF Code in 




MSATS. 




(i) Update NMI Status Code to ‘D’ within five business days of the connection point being de-




energised by the LNSP. The Proposed Change Date shall be the day after the de-




energisation for an Interval Metered connection point or the day of the de-energisation for a 




Accumulation Metered connection point. 




(j) Update the NMI Status Code to ‘A’ (Active) within five business days of the connection point 




being re-energised by the LNSP. The Proposed Change Date shall be the day the connection 




point is re-energised. 




(k) Update the NMI Status Code to ‘X’ (Extinct) within five business days of becoming aware of 




the abolition of the connection point. The Proposed Change Date shall be the day after the 




connection point was removed for an Interval Metered connection point or the day of the 




removal for an Accumulation Metered connection point. 




(l) Ensure that Network Tariff details for each NMI in its area are stored in the Network Tariff 




Code field at the Register ID level. 




(m) Correct the network tariff code or engage with the current FRMP to confirm an appropriate 




network tariff code where the LNSP considers the network tariff code is inappropriate for 




the site in MSATS. 




(n) Subject to any applicable Jurisdictional restrictions, use reasonable endeavours to provide 




NMI and NMI Checksum (other than when this is available via a NMI Discovery Search) to 




the New FRMP within one business day of a follow-up request for this information from the 




New FRMP for a Site identified in the request by reference to any of the following: 




(i) a unique meter identifier held by the LNSP;  




(ii) a street address; or  




(iii) the DPID. 




If a computer search by the LNSP does not produce a unique match for the information 




provided by the retailer, the LNSP must provide the retailer with any computer matches 




achieved up to a maximum of 99. 




(o) Subject to any applicable Jurisdictional restrictions, provide NMI Standing Data (other than 




data available via a NMI Discovery Search or the MSATS C7 report) to the New FRMP within 




two business days of a request from the New FRMP for a Site identified in the request by 




reference to the NMI and NMI Checksum. 




(p) Consider and action as necessary within two business days any requests from incorrectly 




assigned Participants to correct a Create NMI Change Request in MSATS. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 20 of 172 
 




(q) Consider and action as necessary within two business days any requests from other 




Participants to correct erroneous NMI Standing Data. 




(r) Allocate a name to the Parent NMI and provide the name to AEMO. 




The Current LNSP may: 




(s) Update the Customer Threshold Code for NMIs with a Customer Classification Code of 




‘RESIDENTIAL’. 




2.4. Metering Data Provider 




An MDP must: 




(a) Use reasonable endeavours to provide metering data to the New FRMP within two business 




days of a request for this information from the New FRMP.  




(b) Use reasonable endeavours to provide Historical Data to the Current FRMP within two 




business days of a request for this information from the Current FRMP.  Historical Data is for 




a period of up to 12 months or otherwise as defined by the relevant Jurisdiction. 




(c) Where an MDP is to update an Interval Datastream Status Code to ‘I’ (Inactive) for a 




connection point that is de-energised, the Proposed Change Date must be the day after the 




connection point is de-energised, and must be updated in MSATS within two business days 




of the connection point being de-energised. (The Datastream Status Code is the key 




criterion used to include metering data in the settlement process). 




(d) Where an MDP is to update an accumulation Datastream Status Code to ‘I’ (Inactive) for a 




connection point that is de-energised, the Proposed Change Date shall be the day the 




connection point is de-energised, and must be updated in MSATS within two business days 




of the connection point being de-energised. (The Datastream Status Code is the key 




criterion used to include metering data in the settlement process). 




(e) Where an MDP is to update an Datastream Status Code for either an Accumulation Meter 




or Interval Meter to ‘A’ (Active) for a connection point that is re-energised, the Proposed 




Change Date must be day the connection point is re-energised, and must be updated in 




MSATS within two business days of the connection point being re-energised. (The 




Datastream Status Code is the key criterion used to include metering data in the settlement 




process). 




(f) Create or update the datastream within two business days from the time the meter is 




installed/removed/reconfigured or as required when the MDP becomes the Current MDP. 




The New MDP must: 




(g) Provide the Actual Change Date to MSATS for transfers for which it receives a Data Request 




for an Actual Change Date. If a manual Meter Reading has been done, the Actual Change 




Date must be the date of the Meter Reading. If more than one meter exists for the NMI, all 




meters should be read on the date of the Actual Change Date that is being provided. 




(h) Configure the Datastream as ‘A’ (Active) or ‘I’ (Inactive) in accordance with clause 2.4 (c), (d), 




(e) & (f). 




(i) Use reasonable endeavours to obtain an Actual Meter Reading where requested but when 




unable to do so provide an Estimated Reading in accordance with Jurisdictional 




requirements. 




(j) Register individual Datastreams in MSATS as described in the NMI Procedure. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 21 of 172 
 




(k) Subject to any applicable Jurisdictional restrictions, use reasonable endeavours to provide 




CATS Standing Data (other than NMI data access information) to the New FRMP within two 




business days of a request for this information from the New FRMP. 




(l) For metering installation types 1-4 and 4A, upon receiving a request from an MPB, provide 




the NMI suffix information applicable to the metering installation within two business days. 




The Current MDP must: 




(m) Provide the Actual Change Date to MSATS for transfers for which it receives a Data Request 




for an Actual Change Date. If a manual Meter Reading has been done, the Actual Change 




Date must be the date of the Meter Reading. If more than one meter exists for the NMI, all 




meters should be read on the date of the Actual Change Date that is being provided. 




(n) Obtain the ADL from the FRMP or the LNSP and update the ADL in MSATS if it is missing or 




incorrect. 




(o) Consider and action as necessary within two business days any updated ADL information 




provided by the LNSP or Current FRMP. 




(p) Recalculate the ADL for each active Datastream at least annually and enter this value in 




MSATS where the calculated value differs by more than 20% from the ADL recorded in 




MSATS. Where the current ADL is under 5kWh and the newly calculated ADL is found to be 




still less than 5kWh there is no requirement for the MDP to update the ADL record within 




MSATS. 




(q) For metering installations that are manually read, or have been made capable of remote 




acquisition in accordance with 7.8.9(b) of the NER,update the NSRD within two business days 




of a meter being read.  




(r) For metering installation types 1-4 and 4A, upon receiving a request from an MPB, provide 




the NMI suffix information applicable to the metering installation within two business days. 




2.5. Metering Provider – Category B 




An MPB must: 




(a) Where an MPB is to update an Interval Meter Register Status Code to ‘D’ (De-energised) for 




a connection point that is remotely de-energised, the Proposed Change Date must be the 




day after the connection point is de-energised.  




(b) Where an MPB is to update an Interval Meter Register Status Code for Interval Meter to ‘A’ 




(Active) for a connection point that is remotely re-energised, the Proposed Change Date 




must be the day the connection point is re-energised.  




The New MPB must: 




(c) For metering installation types 1-4 and 4A, contact the MDP and agree the NMI suffix 




information prior to updating MSATS with all Meter Register data. 




(d) Upon the installation or re-configuration of the metering installation, update MSATS with all 




Meter Register data, as agreed with the MDP within five business days of becoming the 




MPB. 




(e) Provide to the MC and the Current LNSP any additional technical information regarding the 




metering installation within five business days of becoming the Current MPB. 




The Current MPB must: 




(f) Provide to the Current LNSP any Meter Register data regarding the metering installation 




that is not recorded in MSATS within two business days of request. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 22 of 172 
 




(g) Provide additional metering installation details to MSATS within two business days of 




receiving a Data Request. 




(h) Consider and action as necessary any request to correct erroneous details relating to the 




Meter Register and Register Identifier Status Code within five business days of notification. 




(i) Upon the configuration of the metering installation, update MSATS with all Meter Register 




data, as agreed with the MDP within five business days of performing a metering 




configuration change. 




(j) Update the Meter Register Status Code within 5 business days of a change in meter register 




conditions, including the remote de-energisation and remote re-energisation.. 




2.6. Metering Coordinator 




An MC must: 




(a) Appoint an MDP to provide metering data services, and provide the FRMP with the name of 




that MDP, and ensure that metering data services are provided in accordance with the NER 




and the procedures authorised under the NER. 




(b) Appoint an MP for the provision, installation and maintenance of the metering installation, 




and ensure that the metering installation is provided, installed and maintained in 




accordance with the NER and the procedures authorised under the NER. 




The New MC must: 




(c) Ensure that the Roles nominated in a Change Request are correct. Any errors or omissions 




must be notified to the initiator of the Change Request within two business days of the error 




or omission being identified. 




(d) Ensure that the metering installation meets all requirements prescribed in the National 




Electricity Rules in accordance with the NMI classification before transfer into the NEM. 




(e) Ensure that the Meter Reading is available in relation to the Actual Change Date. 




(f) Ensure that the final Meter Reading is obtained in relation to a change of a relevant 




component of a metering installation. 




(g) Ensure that all metering data is provided to the Current LNSP, the Current ENLR, the Current 




MDP and the Current FRMP, from which the NMI was transferred, in accordance with the 




metrology procedure and Service Level Procedure (MDP) to enable the continuity of billing 




up until the actual transfer date or abolishment date. 




(h) Ensure that the metering installation and the communication facilities to the metering 




installation are in place and remain in place. 




The Current MC must: 




(i) Subject to any applicable Jurisdictional restrictions, ensure that CATS Standing Data (other 




than NMI data access information) is provided to the New FRMP within two business days of 




a request for this information from the New FRMP. 




(j) Ensure that any Meter Register data regarding the metering installation that is not recorded 




in MSATS is provided to the LNSP within five business days of request. 




2.7. Retailer Of Last Resort 




As the ROLR for a ROLR Event is determined and appointed by a Regulator, the ROLR Role in 




MSATS is for indicative purposes only. (Refer to section 34.) 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 23 of 172 
 




2.8. Second Network Service Provider 




The NSP2 must notify and request the relevant Participant (LNSP, MPB or MDP) to correct any data 




inconsistency that may exist in MSATS within two business days of becoming aware of the error. 




2.9. AEMO 




AEMO must: 




(a) Continue to invoice (as per NER requirements) the Current FRMP. 




(b) Enter the DLF Codes provided by an LNSP into MSATS within two business days of receipt. 




(c) Maintain changes to codes and rules in MSATS in accordance with the MSATS Procedures. 




AEMO must correct any discrepancies as soon as practicable once identified. 




(d) Use the BCT to transfer to the nominated RoLR the CATS Standing Data for all connection 




points associated with a Current FRMP that has been suspended from operating in the 




market. 




(e) Populate MSATS with the Embedded Network Code that had been provided to AEMO by 




the LNSP within two business days of receipt. 




(f) Maintain the TNI records in MSATS. 




(g) Populate MSATS with the NSP2 for the appropriate WIGS NMIs. 




(h) Populate MSATS with TNI2 for the appropriate WIGS NMIs. 




(i) Provide, on request from the New ENM, a set/range of NMIs to that New ENM for allocation 




by that ENM to child connection points. 




(j) Provide, on request from a Current ENM, one or more NMIs to that Current ENM for 




allocation by that ENM to the newly formed child connection points. 




(k) Where required to Object to a Change Request, use the most appropriate Objection Code. 




If there is no Objection Code that describes the reason for the Objection, AEMO must use 




the BLOCK Objection Code. 




(l) Where a NMI is classified in conjunction with a Participant registration process and the LNSP 




has no role in the classification of the site, AEMO will update the NMI Classification Code if 




it believes it is clearly incorrect.  




AEMO may: 




(m) Cancel/withdraw any incomplete retail transfers after 7 months from the date of Initiation. 




Note: An automatic nightly MSATS process will Cancel/Withdraw dormant Change Requests that exceed 220 




days. 




2.10. Embedded Network Manager 




The New ENM must, for each child connection point: 




(a) Obtain a set/range of NMIs from AEMO. 




(b) Initiate a Create NMI Change Request within two business days of a request by a FRMP, or 




of the mandatory data required by the Change Request becoming available, whichever is 




the later. 




(c) Consider and action as necessary within two business days any requests from incorrectly 




assigned Participants to correct a Create NMI Change Request in MSATS. 




(d) Manage the distribution of NMIs. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 24 of 172 
 




(e) Allocate a name to the Parent NMI and provide the name to AEMO (note: this only applies 




in situations where a Child NMI is also a Parent NMI of another embedded network and 




AEMO needs to create an embedded network name in MSATS). 




(f) Allocate an existing Embedded Network Code of a Parent NMI to to each Child NMI.  




(g) When creating a NMI populate the LR field with the FRMP of the Parent NMI (Refer to NMI 




Procedures, Appendix E) 




The Current ENM must, for each child connection point: 




(h) Allocate a NMI and NMI Checksum. 




(i) Provide an update of the ADL to the Current MDP where the ENM becomes aware of an 




expected change in the ADL of greater than 20%, other than by advice from the MDP. 




(j) Update the Customer Threshold Code within five business days of becoming aware that the 




existing Customer Threshold Code is incorrect for NMIs with a Customer Classification Code 




of ‘BUSINESS’ and a NMI Status Code of ‘A’, or ‘D’. 




(k) Update or remove, as required, the Customer Threshold Code for a NMI within five business 




days of the Customer Classification Code being changed to ‘RESIDENTIAL’. 




(l) Enter the DLF Code for each child connection point within its embedded network, and ensure 




all Child NMIs attached to an embedded network have the same DLF Code, and that this DLF 




Code is the Parent NMI’s DLF Code unless a Site specific DLF has been approved by the 




AER. 




(m) Enter the TNI Code for each child connection point within its embedded network, and ensure 




all Child NMIs attached to an embedded network have the same TNI Code and that this TNI 




Code is the Parent NMI’s TNI Code. 




(n) Update Child NMI Status Code to ‘D’ within five business days of the child connection point 




being de-energised. The Proposed Change Date shall be the day after the de-energisation 




for an Interval Metered child connection point or the day of the de-energisation for a 




Accumulation Metered child connection point. 




(o) Update the Child NMI Status Code to ‘A’ within five business of the child connection point 




being re-energised. The Proposed Change Date shall be the day the child connection point 




is re-energised. 




(p) Update the Child NMI Status Code to ‘X’ within five business days of becoming aware of the 




abolition of the child connection point. The Proposed Change Date shall be the day after the 




child connection point was removed for an Interval Metered child connection point or the day 




of the removal for a Accumulation Metered child connection point. 




(q) Update Child NMI Status Code to ‘N’ (Off Market NMI) within five business days of the 




connection point no longer being settled in the NEM. 




(r) Update Child NMI Status Code from ‘N’ to ‘A’ within five business days of the connection 




point becoming on-market. 




(s) Ensure that Network Tariff details for each NMI in its area are stored in the Network Tariff 




Code field at the Register ID level. 




(t) Subject to any applicable Jurisdictional restrictions, provide the NMI and NMI Checksum 




(other than when this is available via a NMI Discovery Search 1) to the New FRMP within one 




business day of a request from the New FRMP, where the New FRMP uses any of the 




following information to identify the Site: 




(i) a unique meter identifier; 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 25 of 172 
 




(ii) a street address; or 




(iii) the DPID. 




If a computer search by the ENM does not produce a unique match for the information 




provided by the retailer, the ENM must provide the retailer with any computer matches 




achieved up to a maximum of 99. 




(u) Subject to any applicable Jurisdictional restrictions, provide NMI Standing Data (other than 




data available via a NMI Discovery Search or the MSATS C7 report) to the New FRMP within 




two business days of a request from the New FRMP for the Site identified in the request by 




reference to the NMI and NMI Checksum. 




(v) Consider and action any requests from incorrectly assigned Participants to correct a Create 




NMI Change Request in MSATS within two business days of receiving the request. 




(w) Consider and action within any requests from other Participants to correct erroneous NMI 




Standing Data two business days of receiving the request. 




The Current ENM may, for child connection points: 




(x) Update the Customer Threshold Code for NMIs with a Customer Classification Code of 




‘RESIDENTIAL’. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 26 of 172 
 




3. CATS FUNCTIONALITY 




3.1. Overview 




(a) The operation of CATS is based on 14 different types of transactions, as shown in section 




3.3, and a separate RoLR function. 




(b) Six transaction types are initiated by Participants, whilst eight are initiated by MSATS. 




(c) The most significant transaction is the Change Request, which is used by a Participant when 




submitting new CATS Standing Data or changing existing CATS Standing Data. 




(d) The Change Request has a life cycle in which it is created (Initiated) and terminated 




(Completed) in accordance with section 3.5. 




(e) The Completion of a Change Request and the formation of a NMI Master Record occur 




simultaneously. 




(f) The status of each Role on the NMI Master Record is classified as ‘Current’. If the CATS 




Standing Data being changed by a Change Request is a Role, the status of each Role to be 




changed by the Change Request is classified as ‘New’. 




(g) A Change Request will be Completed on: 




(i) the day after the Objection Logging Period has ended, provided no Objections have 




been received and an Actual Change Date exists; or   




(ii) where an Objection has been received, the Change Request is Completed the day 




after all Objections have been withdrawn, the Objection Logging Period has ended, 




and an Actual Change Date exists, 




The change is effective from the Actual Change Date. 




(h) A Change Request that has been Initiated for the purpose of creating a NMI will use the 




date nominated as the Proposed Change Date to populate the Actual Change Date field to 




allow the Change Request to be Completed. 




(i) A Change Request carries with it a set of CATS Standing Data items. The set of data items 




will vary with the transaction selected by the Participant initiating the Change Request. Each 




transaction has a code (Change Reason Code), as detailed in section 4.2 and Table 4-A. 




(j) The Change Reason Codes have been separated into groups of events for the purpose of 




these Procedures, as shown in Table 3-B. Obligations imposed on Participants in regard to 




Change Reason Codes are contained in sections 7 to 40. 




(k) The next most significant transaction is the NMI Discovery Search. This transaction will be 




used by a Participant when undertaking a search of the CATS Standing Data, as specified in 




section 41. 




(l) The RoLR functionality within MSATS is detailed in section 40. 




3.2. Principles 




The following principles apply in regard to the functionality of CATS: 




(a) Current and New Roles will be notified of a change in the status of the Change Request in 




accordance with the Change Request Notification Rules. 




(b) A Change Reason Code will contain rules that specify which Participant(s) must provide the 




data for the Change Request and when the data is required. 




(c) A Change Reason Code will contain rules specifying which data will be present in the NMI 




Master Record before the Change Request can be Completed. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 27 of 172 
 




(d) Jurisdictions will specify rules to control the period in which retrospective information may 




be accepted by MSATS. 




(e) Jurisdictions will specify rules to control the period in which an Objection may be logged. 




(f) If an Objection to the change of retailer transaction is submitted by a Participant within the 




Objection Logging Period, the transfer will not proceed until the Objection is cleared. If the 




objection is not cleared, the transfer transaction will expire and be Cancelled and all relevant 




Participants will be notified. 




(g) Jurisdictions will specify rules to control the period in which an Objection may be cleared. 




(h) If there are no outstanding Objections to a current change of retailer transaction after the 




Objection Logging Period has passed, the Change Request will proceed to Completed and 




the information contained in the transaction will become the NMI Master Record. 




(i) Jurisdictions will specify rules to control who is allowed to Object to a Change Request, the 




reason for the Objection and the NMI Classification Code appropriate to that Objection. 




(j) After a NMI is created, and prior to the Actual Change Date, the meter(s) and default NMI 




Datastreams may be set up by whoever is nominated as the default party. 




(k) After a NMI is created, and prior to the Actual Change Date, if a Datastream is not set up 




the entry of the NMI into MSATS should not be delayed. 




3.3. Transaction Types 




(a) The types of transactions performed by MSATS are specified in Table 3-A. 




(b) The codes and rules associated with the Change Request transaction are provided in section 




4 




(c)  Acknowledgement and response transactions are dependent on whether online or batch 




function is invoked. 




Table 3-A – MSATS Transaction Type Codes 




Code Name of Transaction Type Initiated by Description 




ACK Acknowledgment MSATS MSATS responds to ALL transactions with an 




acknowledgment of receipt. 




CODE Codes Update MSATS MSATS notifies Participants of any changes to codes, rules or 




Participant data. 




CR Change Request Participant Used to initiate a Change Request. Submitted by a 




Participant anytime they wish to create or update any 




standing data. 




CRR Change Request Response MSATS MSATS response to a Change Request with an approval or 




rejection as it reaches the Pending Validation status. 




NMID NMI Discovery Request Participant A Participant wants to view CATS Standing Data.  Further 




particulars of the search types can be found in section 43. 




NMIR NMI Discovery Response MSATS MSATS sends a Participant information in response to a NMI 




Discovery Search. 




NOT Change Request Status 




Notification 




MSATS Notifies a Participant of a Change Request’s change in status 




in accordance with the applicable Change Request Status 




Nofification Rules. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 28 of 172 
 




Code Name of Transaction Type Initiated by Description 




OBJ Objection Participant A Participant can raise an Objection to a Change Request in 




accordance with the applicable Objection Rules.  Other 




Participants will be informed in accordance with the 




applicable Change Request Status Nofification Rules. 




OBJR Objection Response MSATS MSATS response to an Objection with an approval or 




rejection.  Other Participants will be informed in accordance 




with the applicable Change Request Status Nofification 




Rules. 




RDAT 




 




Request for Participant 




data 




MSATS A request by MSATS to a Participant for provision of the 




necessary data in a Change Request in accordance with the 




applicable Field Validation Rules it that data is not already 




contained in the NMI Master Record. 




RPTD Report Data MSATS The data generated by a report request. 




RPTR Report Request Participant Participant requests a report. 




WCR Change Request 




Withdrawal 




Participant The initiating Participant may Cancel a Change Request at 




any time prior to Completion.  Other Participants will be 




informed in accordance with the applicable Change Request 




Status Nofification Rules. 




WOBJ Objection Withdrawal Participant The initiating Participant may withdraw an Objection.  Other 




Participants will be informed in accordance with the 




applicable Change Request Status Nofification Rules. 




3.4. Change Requests 




(a) A Change Request is the facility by which a Participant interacts with MSATS in order to 




effect a change in data to some or all aspects of information regarding an End User 




connection point prior to a transfer, during a transfer, or after a transfer has Completed. 




(b) Information about an End User’s connection point includes the names and Roles of 




organisations (Participant IDs) that provide a connection point service to the End User, the 




technical details associated with the End User’s metering installation and specific information 




that would assist retailers in providing competitive offers to End Users. 




(c) A Change Request is Initiated by selecting the Transaction Type Code CR, and the 




appropriate Change Reason Code. The Participant must select the Change Reason Code 




that most appropriately reflects the reasons for the change. The assignment of the Change 




Reason Codes to various types of events is provided in Table 3-B. A description of the 




Change Reason Codes is provided in Table 4-A, and in each section to which the Change 




Reason Code applies. 




(d) The completion of a Change Request by submitting all required data can be performed in 




either an on-line interactive mode or an off-line batch mode. 




(e) Only one NMI is allowed on one Change Request. However, there can be multiple NMI 




suffixes and multiple Meter Serial IDs assigned to the one Change Request. 




(f) When submitting a Change Request to MSATS, the Change Request is ‘wrapped’ in an 




aseXML message format. This format is capable of accommodating more than one Change 




Request (when submitted via batch processes). 




(g) When using the batch process, MSATS will respond to the submission of a Change Request 




once validation is complete, with an approval or a Rejection using Transaction Type Code 




CRR. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 29 of 172 
 




(h) A Change Request can be withdrawn by the Participant who Initiated the Change Request 




up until the time the Change Request is Completed. 




(i) The Change Reason Code will govern which data items are available to the Participant when 




initiating the Change Request. 




(j) Within certain Change Reason Codes, data items associated with address information are 




provided as mandatory and optional. Mandatory address information specified as locality, 




state and postcode, where ’locality’ has the same meaning as ‘suburb’. Optional address 




information is given in either structured or unstructured format. Section 41.3.1 provides 




additional information about address data items. 




(k) A Change Request can only be assigned one DLF Code. 




Table 3-B – Assignment of Change Reason Codes to Events 




Group of events Description of event Change Reason Code Assignment 




Change Retailer SMALL NMI 1000, 1010, 1030, 1040, 1021, 1022, 




1023, 1024, 1025, 1026, 1027, 1028, 




1029 




LARGE NMI 1000, 1020, 1030, 1040,  




Embedded network SMALL & LARGE 1080, 1081, 1082, 1083, 1084 




Provide Data Provide Actual Change Date SMALL & LARGE (for CR 




1000, 1030, 1080, 1083, 1010, 1040, 1081, 1084, 3080, 3090, 




6200, 6700, 6800) 




1500 




Create NMI Create a NMI SMALL & LARGE 2000, 2001 




Create a Child NMI SMALL & LARGE 2020, 2021 




Create NMI, metering installation details & NMI 




Datastream SMALL & LARGE 




2500, 2501 




Create NMI, metering installation details & MDM 




datastream – Child NMI SMALL & LARGE 




2520, 2521 




Maintain Metering Create metering installation details SMALL & LARGE 3000, 3001  




Exchange of Metering Information SMALL & LARGE 3004, 3005 




Change metering installation details SMALL & LARGE 3050, 3051 




Advanced Change Metering Installation Details SMALL & 




LARGE 




3080, 3081 




Advanced Meter Exchange SMALL & LARGE 3090, 3091 




Change Network Tariff Code SMALL & LARGE 3100, 3101 




Maintain 




Datastream 




Create NMI Datastream SMALL & LARGE 4000, 4001  




Exchange of Datastream Information SMALL & LARGE 4004, 4005 




Change NMI Datastream SMALL & LARGE 4050, 4051 




Maintain NMI Update NSRD SMALL & LARGE 5070, 5071 




Change a NMI SMALL & LARGE 5050, 5051 




Change NMI – Customer Classification Code 5054, 5055 




Change Child NMI SMALL & LARGE 5060, 5061 




Backdate NMI start date 5001 




Backdate Child NMI Start Date  5021 




Change Parent Name SMALL & LARGE  5080, 5081 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 30 of 172 
 




Group of events Description of event Change Reason Code Assignment 




Change Role Change LNSP SMALL & LARGE 6100, 6110 




Change MDP SMALL & LARGE 6200, 6210 




Change MC SMALL & LARGE 6300, 6301 




  




Change Embedded Network Local Retailer Child NMI 




SMALL & LARGE 




6421 




Change RoLR SMALL & LARGE 6500, 6501 




Change Metering Provider SMALL & LARGE 6700, 6701 




Change Multiple Roles SMALL & LARGE 6800, 6801 




System Change of Child Local Retailer (Auto) ECLR 




Change of Secondary FRMP – Parent (Auto) EPFR 




AEMO only Invoke Retailer of Last Resort RoLR 




Invoke Bulk Change Process BCxx 




AEMO-Initiated standing data updates 5100, 5101 




Manage External 




Profiles 
Create External Profile 




(1)




 2100, 2101 




Change External Profile 
(1)




 5110, 5111 




Note (1):  Refer to Section 8 in the WIGS Procedures for details on these Change Reason Codes. 




3.5. Change Request Status Life Cycle 




(a) The progression of a Change Request is based on the principle that transactions will be 




approved unless an Objection is received. 




(b) During its life cycle, a Change Request may have the status of: 




(i) Initiated; 




(ii) Pending Validation; 




(iii) Rejected; 




(iv) Requested; 




(v) Objected; 




(vi) Pending; 




(vii) Completed; 




(viii) Cancelled. 




The figure below highlights how each status relates to each other: 




 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 31 of 172 
 




 




(c) Initiation is the first status of a new Change Request. During this status, the initiating 




Participant will select an appropriate Change Reason Code, populate the Change Request 




with the data permitted by the Change Reason Code, and then submit the Change Request 




to MSATS. The submission can be through the interactive screen or by a batch process. 




(d) MSATS will then validate the Change Request prior to transferring the Change Request to 




the Pending Validation status. 




(e) The Pending Validation status commences after the Change Request has passed initial 




validation for entry into MSATS. However, not all the data that is required to initiate the 




transaction may be present in MSATS. If mandatory data is missing from the Change 




Request, the Change Request will be Rejected. If the missing data is for the NMI Master 




Record, a Data Request will be sent to the nominated Participant, and MSATS will check for 




the receipt of that data. There is no time limit imposed by MSATS for the provision of this 




data, however, the Participant that receives the Data Request must respond in a reasonable 




time.  The Change Request will be approved only after all required data has been submitted. 




(f) The Rejected status occurs where a Change Request has failed validation. This can occur: 




(i) During the validation of a Change Request whilst it is at the Pending Validation 




status; or 




(ii) At the time of completion of the Change Request (in rare circumstances where a 




change to some other data made after this Change Request was submitted has now 




made this change invalid). 




When a transaction has been Rejected, all Participants associated with the transaction will 




be notified in accordance with the Change Request Status Notification Rules. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 32 of 172 
 




(g) The Requested status is where a transaction has been validated, i.e. there is no missing data. 




Notifications of the Requested transaction are sent to the relevant Participants. The 




Objection Logging Period and Objection Clearing Periods have been identified. Any 




Objections received are validated against the Objection Rules or no Objections have been 




submitted. 




(h) The Objected status occurs where one or more Objections have been received. Notifications 




of the Objections are sent to the relevant parties. This includes details of the Objections and 




whether the transaction was already being Objected to. When an Objection is withdrawn, 




the relevant parties will be notified of the details of the withdrawn Objection. When the last 




Objection is withdrawn, the transaction status changes back to Requested, unless the 




Objection Logging Period has expired, in which case it will move to Pending status. If the 




Objection Clearing Period has expired and an Objection that is subject to the Objection 




Logging Period has not been withdrawn the status will be changed to Cancelled. 




(i) The Pending status is where no Objections have been received, or all Objections have been 




withdrawn and the Objection period has passed. The transaction is waiting for the change 




date to be reached. If the Proposed Change Date is reached and all required data is present, 




the status will change to Completed. The status will remain Pending whilst any required data 




remains outstanding or an Objection that is not subject to the Objection Logging Period is 




not raised. Notifications are sent to the relevant Participants in accordance with the Change 




Request Status Notification Rules. 




(j) The Completed status occurs where the Objection Logging Period has passed, all required 




data is present in MSATS and the Proposed Change Date has been reached or is passed. 




Notifications are sent to the relevant Participants in accordance with the Change Request 




Status Notification Rules. 




(k) The Cancelled status occurs where: 




(i) Not all Objections have been withdrawn at expiry of the Objection Clearing Period; or 




(ii) The initiator of the Change Request has withdrawn the transaction. 




When a Change Request is Cancelled, notifications are sent to the relevant Participants in 




accordance with the Change Request Status Notification Rules. 




3.6. Transaction Validation 




(a) A Change Request that has been Initiated by a Participant will undergo several validations 




by MSATS prior to being accepted to the Requested status. 




(i) The first validation will check that any code or date in the Change Request is in 




accordance with the codes and rules look-up tables. Validation will be performed on 




the data contained in the following data items: 




(A) Change Request ID; 




(B) Jurisdiction; 




(C) Role ID; 




(D) NMI Status Code; 




(E) Read Type Code; 




(F) Change Request code; 




(G) TNI Code; 




(H) DLF Code; 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 33 of 172 
 




(I) Metering Installation Type Code; 




(J) Parent Name; 




(K) Child Name;  and 




(L) Proposed Change Date. 




(ii) The second validation will check for valid Change Reason Codes and Field Validation 




Rules. Validation will be performed against the following codes and rules: 




(A) Change Reason Codes, as per Table 4-A; 




(B) Field Validation Rules: RI, OI, RQ, RD, RA. 




(iii) A third validation will check the NMI characters against the NMI Checksum. 




(iv) A fourth validation will check that the Participant who Initiated the Change Request is 




an active Participant and able to act in the Role that can initiate the transaction. 




Validation will be performed on the data contained in the following data items: 




(A) Participant ID; 




(B) Participant Status; 




(C) Participant Roles. 




(v) A fifth validation will check that the Proposed Change Date and the Actual Change 




Date are within the range allowed by the Change Reason Code. 




(vi) A sixth validation will check the Proposed Change Date, the Actual Change Date and 




the Actual End Date against the Timeframe Rules. 




(b) An Objection will be validated against general conditions and rule based conditions, as 




follows: 




(i) General conditions against which a validation of an Objection is performed are as 




follows: 




(A) The Participant submitting the Objection is an active Participant; 




(B) The Objection is not a duplicate of an existing Objection by that Participant; 




(C) The Role of the Participant is in accordance with the Objection Rules; 




(D) The Objection is linked to an active Change Request ID; 




(E) The status of the Change Request is either Requested or Objected. 




(ii) Rule-based conditions against which a validation of an Objection is performed are as 




follows: 




(A) The Participant can make the Objection in accordance with its status. 




(B) The Objection Code is permitted for the Role . 




(iii) The Change Request is within its Objection Logging Period. 




(iv) The Change Request is valid (PEND, REQ, OBJ) for Objections that are not subject to 




the Objection Logging Period. 




(c) A Change Request will be validated for information regarding embedded networks as 




follows: 




(i) The Embedded Network Codes will be checked against a list of codes contained in 




MSATS. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 34 of 172 
 




(ii) Parent Names and Child Names will be checked to ensure that they are not identical 




for the same NMI; 




(iii) The Child NMI being submitted will be checked against the Parent NMI; 




(iv) A check will be performed for circular relationships; 




(v) Prevent changes of the ENLR from being effected on a Child NMI; 




(vi) Check that if a Parent NMI is not active that there are no active Child NMIs. 




(d) After the Change Request has been submitted, any subsequent Change Request submitted 




by the initial Participant to change the data on the Change Request will be validated, as 




follows: 




(i) The NMI on the subsequent Change Request will be checked against the NMI on the 




initial Change Request. 




(ii) The Participant ID on the subsequent Change Request will be checked against the 




Participant ID on the initial Change Request. 




3.7. Valid Proposed Change Date for Prospective and Retrospective Change 




Requests 




3.7.1. Retrospective Changes 




(a) For a Retrospective Change, the Proposed Change Date must either be the date the Change 




Request is raised or a date in the past and within the number of days allowed by the 




Timeframe Rules/Change Reason Code/NMI Classification Code on this Change Request. 




The maximum number of days is the value stored in Retrospective Days. At present, the 




maximum number of days in the past for any Role Change Request is 130 business days, the 




maximum number of days in the past for changing NMI Standing Data is 140 business days. 




(b) Retrospective Changes have 0 days for the Prospective Days in the Timeframe Rules for the 




Jurisdiction/Change Reason Code/NMI Classification Code combination. 




(c) Table 3-C lists Retrospective Change Reason Codes. 




Table 3-C – Retrospective Change Reason Codes 




CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code 




Change 




Retailer 




Provide Data Create NMI Maintain 




Metering 




Maintain 




Datastream 




Maintain NMI Change Roles 




1010 1500 2001 3001 4001 5001 6110 




1020  2021 3005 4005 5021 6210 




1021  2101 3051 4051 5051 6301 




1022  2501 3081  5055 6421 




1023  2521 3091  5061 6501 




1024   3101  5071 6701 




1025     5081 6801 




1026     5101  




1027     5111  




1028       




1029       




1040       















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 35 of 172 
 




CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code 




1081       




1082       




1084       




3.7.2. Prospective Changes 




(a) For a Prospective Change, the Proposed Change Date must be the day following the date 




on which a Change Request is submitted, or a date after that date. 




(b) The maximum number of days for a Prospective Change depends on the Timeframe 




Rules/Change Reason Code/NMI Classification Code for the relevant Change Request. The 




maximum number of days is the value stored in Prospective Days. At present, the maximum 




allowable number of days for any Prospective Change is 65 business days. 




(c) Prospective Changes have 0 days for the Retrospective Days in the Timeframe 




Rules/Change Reason Code/NMI Classification Code combination. 




Table 3-D – Prospective Change Reason Codes 




CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code 




Change Retailer Create NMI Maintain 




Metering 




Maintain 




Datastream 




Maintain NMI Change Roles 




1000 2000 3000 4000 5050 6100 




1030 2020 3004 4004 5054 6200 




1080 2100 3050 4050 5060 6300 




1083 2500 3080  5070 6500 




 2520 3090  5080 6700 




  3100  5100 6800 




    5110  




 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 36 of 172 
 




4. CATS CODES AND RULES FOR A CHANGE REQUEST 




4.1. Introduction 




(a) This section specifies the codes and rules that apply when a Participant submits a Change 




Request to, or seeks access to CATS Standing Data for both the CATS and WIGS Procedures. 




(b) MSATS contains the following codes and rules that apply to Change Requests: 




Change Reason Codes Role Codes Initiation Rules 




Jurisdiction Codes Timeframe Rules Objection Codes 




Objection Rules NMI Classification Codes NMI Status Codes 




Metering Installation Type 




Codes 




Read Type Codes Field Validation Rules 




Change Request Status 




Notification Rules 




Customer Classification Code Customer Threshold Code 




4.2. Change Reason Code 




(a) The Change Reason Codes govern the population of data in a Change Request. 




(b) For each Change Reason Code, the following parameters are defined: 




(i) The Participants permitted to initiate a Change Request. 




(ii) The data items that can be populated in the Change Request. 




(iii) The data that must already be present in MSATS before the Change Request can be 




Completed. 




(iv) Whether another Participant must supply the exact date of the change (i.e. is the 




MDP required to supply the date of the Actual Meter Reading to Complete the 




Change Request). 




(v) The date range window. 




(vi) The Objection Logging Period. 




(vii) The Objection Clearing Period. 




(viii) The Roles that will be notified of a Change Request, and at what stages in the 




Change Request that they will be notified. 




(ix) The Participants who can Object to Change Request and the basis for Objection. 




(c) For any Change Reason Code, some elements are defined globally (i.e. they apply in all 




Jurisdictions) while others are defined separately for each Jurisdiction. 




(d) The Change Reason Codes and a brief description of each are provided in Table 4-A. 




Table 4-A – Change Reason Codes 




CR Description Initiating Participant  




1000 Change Retailer  New FRMP 




1010
(1)




 Change Retailer – Retrospective – Align to Meter Reading  New FRMP 




1020
(4)




 Change Retailer–Retrospective –Long Term/Error (not SMALL) New FRMP 




1021 Error Correction – Missed CR 1500 New FRMP 




1022 Incorrect transfer date New FRMP 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 37 of 172 
 




CR Description Initiating Participant  




1023 New NMI – Update/Correct FRMP on Greenfield Site New FRMP 




1024 Transfer missed New FRMP 




1025 Transferred in error New FRMP 




1026 Cooled Off New FRMP 




1027 End User Moves Out on or before CR completion date New FRMP 




1028 Non-account holder signs contract New FRMP 




1029 Other Error Corrections (SMALL only)  New FRMP 




1030 Change Retailer – Move-In  New FRMP 




1040 Change Retailer – Move-In – Retrospective New FRMP 




1080 Change Retailer – Child NMI New FRMP 




1081
(1)




 Change Retailer – Child NMI – Retrospective Align Meter Reading New FRMP 




1082 Change Retailer Child – Retrospective Long Term/Error New FRMP 




1083 Change Retailer Child NMI – Move In New FRMP 




1084 Change Retailer Child NMI – Move In – Retrospective New FRMP 




1500 Provide Actual Change Date New and Current MDP 




2000 Create NMI Details New LNSP 




2001 Create NMI Details – Retrospective New LNSP 




2020 Create NMI Details –Child New ENM 




2021 Create NMI Details –Child – Retrospective New ENM 




5050 Change NMI Details Current LNSP 




5051 Change NMI Details – Retrospective Current LNSP 




5001 Backdate NMI Start Date AEMO or LNSP 




5021 Backdate NMI Start Date – Child AEMO or ENM 




5054 Change NMI Details – Customer Classification Code Current FRMP 




5055 Change NMI Details – Customer Classification Code – Retrospective Current FRMP 




5060 Change NMI Details – Child Current ENM 




5061 Change NMI Details – Child – Retrospective Current ENM 




5070 Update Next Scheduled Read Date Current MDP 




5071 Update Next Scheduled Read Date – Retrospective Current MDP 




5080 Change Parent Name Current LNSP 




5081 Change Parent Name – Retrospective Current LNSP 




5100 5100 – Change NMI Details – Prospective (AEMO only) AEMO 




5101 5101 – Change NMI Details – Retrospective (AEMO only) AEMO 




2100 Create External Profile Shape New AEMO 




2101 Create External Profile Shape – Retrospective New AEMO 




5110 Change External Profile Shape Current AEMO 




5111 Change External Profile Shape – Retrospective Current AEMO 




2500 Create NMI, NMI Datastream & metering installation details New LNSP 




2501 Create NMI, NMI Datastream & metering installation details – 




Retrospective 




New LNSP 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 38 of 172 
 




CR Description Initiating Participant  




2520 Create NMI, MDM Datastream & Metering Installation Details – Child 




NMI 




New ENM 




2521 Create NMI, MDM Datastream & Metering Installation Details – Child 




NMI – Retrospective 




New ENM 




3000
(3) Create metering installation details Current MPB 




3001
(3)




 Create metering installation details – Retrospective Current MPB 




3004
(3)




 Exchange of Metering Information Current MPB 




3005
(3)




 Exchange of Metering Information – Retrospective Current MPB 




3050
(3)




 Change metering installation details Current MPB 




3051
(3)




 Change metering installation details – Retrospective Current MPB 




3080 Advanced change metering installation details Current MC 




3081 Advanced change metering installation details – Retrospective  Current MC 




3090
(3)




 Advanced Meter Exchange Current MC 




3091
(3)




 Advanced Meter Exchange – Retrospective Current MC 




3100 Change Network Tariff Code Current LNSP or Current 




ENM 




3101 Change Network Tariff Code – Retrospective Current LNSP or Current 




ENM 




4000
(2)




 Create NMI Datastream Details Current MDP 




4001
(2)




 Create NMI Datastream Details – Retrospective Current MDP 




4004
(2)




 Exchange of Datastream Information Current MDP 




4005
(2)




 Exchange of Datastream Information – Retrospective Current MDP 




4050
(2)




 Change NMI Datastream Details Current MDP 




4051
(2)




 Change NMI Datastream Details – Retrospective Current MDP 




6100 Change LNSP New LNSP or new ENM 




6110 Change LNSP – Retrospective New LNSP or new ENM 




6200 Change MDP Current FRMP or Current MC 




6210 Change MDP – Retrospective Current FRMP or Current MC 




6300 Change MC New MC or Current FRMP 




6301 Change MC – Retrospective New MC or Current FRMP 




6421 Change ENLR – Retrospective – Child NMI New ENLR 




6500 Change RoLR New RoLR 




6501 Change RoLR – Retrospective New RoLR 




6700 Change MP Current MC 




6701 Change MP – Retrospective Current MC 




6800 Change Multiple Roles Current FRMP or Current MC 




6801 Change Multiple Roles - Retrospective Current FRMP or Current MC 




BCxx Invoke Bulk Change Process AEMO 




ROLR Invoke Retailer of Last Resort AEMO 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 39 of 172 
 




CR Description Initiating Participant  




ECLR Change of Local Retailer – Child (Auto) AEMO/MSATS 




EPFR Change of Secondary FRMP – Parent (Auto) AEMO/MSATS 




Note (1): Likely to be used with Read Type Codes PR, CR or ER. 




Note (2): A single Change Request using these Change Reason Codes may be populated with multiple NMI suffixes. 




Note (3): A single Change Request using these Change Reason Codes may be populated with multiple Meter Serial IDs. 




Note (4): “not SMALL” means LARGE, WHOLESAL, INTERCON, GENERATR or SAMPLE NMIs. 




4.3. Role Codes 




(a) A Role Code identifies the type of association that a Participant has with a NMI. 




(b) The NMI Master Record will contain each ‘Current’ Role for each NMI.  Each proposed Role 




for a NMI is referred to as a ‘New’ Role. 




(c) The Role Codes defined in Table 4-B are used to define: 




(i) Participants that can initiate a Change Request; 




(ii) Participants to supply data when it is needed to Complete a Change Request; 




(iii) Change Request Status Notification Rules; 




(iv) Objection Rules; and 




(v) Access rights to CATS Standing Data. 




Table 4-B – Role Codes 




Code Description 




FRMP Financially Responsible Market Participant 




LNSP Local Network Service Provider or Embedded Network Manager for child connection 




points 




LR Local Retailer or Embedded Network Local Retailer (ENLR) 




MDP Metering Data Provider – Category D 




MPB Metering Provider – Category B 




MPC Metering Data Provider – Category C 




NEMM National Electricity Market Operator 




NSP2 Second Network Service Provider (For Wholesale NMIs only) 




ROLR Retailer of Last Resort 




RP Metering Coordinator 




4.4. Use of Local Retailer (LR)/Embedded Network Local Retailer (ENLR) within 




this Procedure 
 




The Local Retailer (LR) field can specify either the LR or the ENLR.  




Where the Change Request is associated with an embedded network, the ENLR (as the specified 




LR) will receive Change Request Status Notifications. Objection Rules may also apply allowing the 




ENLR (as the specified LR) to lodge an objection. 




For all other Change Requests the LR field in both the Objection Rules and Change Request Status Notifications Rules tables will not be populated. 




4.5. Change Request Initiation Rules 




(a) The Initiation Rules specify the Roles permitted to Initiate Change Requests. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 40 of 172 
 




(b) A Change Request may be Initiated by both ‘New’ or ‘Current’ Roles. 




(c) Only a ‘New’ Role can be entered on a Change Request. 




(d) The Initiation Rules for each Change Reason Code are listed in the section to which the 




Change Reason Codes are detailed. 




4.6. Jurisdiction Codes 




(a) The Jurisdiction Codes defined in Table 4-C identifies the Jurisdiction in which a NMI is 




situated. 




(b) The Jurisdiction Code is used to apply Jurisdiction-based business rules. 




Table 4-C – Jurisdiction Codes 




Code Description 




ACT Australian Capital Territory 




ALL All Jurisdictions 




NEM National Electricity Market 




NSW New South Wales 




QLD Queensland 




SA South Australia 




TAS Tasmania 




VIC Victoria 




4.7. Timeframe Rules 




(a) The Timeframe Rules specify whether a Jurisdiction, Change Reason Code and NMI 




Classification Code are a valid combination. 




(b) For any Change Reason Code, the Timeframe Rules specify: 




(i) Whether the Change Reason Code can be used to make a Prospective Change or 




Retrospective Change; 




(ii) The number of days into the future (Prospective Days) or the past (Retrospective 




Days) that are allowable for the Proposed Change Date; 




(iii) The number of days allowed for Objections (Objection Logging Period), which 




commences from the next business day after the date that the Change Request is 




Initiated.; and 




(iv) The number of days after which a Change Request that has been Objected to will be 




Cancelled (Objection Clearing Period), which commences from the next business day 




after the date that the Change Request is Initiated. 




(c) The Timeframe Rules may be specified by Jurisdiction. 




(d) Unless stated otherwise, the Timeframe Rules for a Change Reason Code apply to all 




Jurisdictions. 




4.8. Objection Codes 




(a) The Objection Codes defined in Table 4-D are the only basis on which Participants can 




Object to a Change Request. 




(b) The Objection Codes are applied to each Jurisdiction and each Change Reason Code in 




accordance with the Objection Rules. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 41 of 172 
 




Table 4-D – Objection Codes 




Code Description 




BADDATA Used by a Participant to confirm that the standing data in the change request or the NMI 




Master Record is incorrect (e.g. Meter Serial ID). If the Participant role is incorrect; use 




NOTRESP. 




BADMETER Used by the MDP for change retailer requests, where the Read Type Code is not compatible 




with the method for collecting metering data at the metering installation. 




BADPARTY Used by the MC when the MDP, MPB, or MPC nominated on a change of retailer request or 




change of role is incorrect as they are not the party appointed by the MC, or do not have the 




capability or capacity to operate in the Role proposed. 




BLOCK AEMO Objection to the transaction either at the request of a Jurisdiction or for operational 




reasons.  




CONTRACT Must only be used where a change in MC is proposed, the Current MC has been appointed by 




a large End User and has an existing contractual obligation with the large End User that takes 




precedence over the proposed change. 




 




CRCODE Can be used if the Change Reason Code being used does not apply to the NMI concerned. 




DATEBAD  Used by the MDP for meter installation types 4A, 5 and 6 to inform the initiating party the 




proposed date in the change of retailer or change of role request does not align with the date 




the Metering Reading is scheduled to be taken. 




Used by the Current FRMP, or MDP for retrospective change of retailer or change of role 




requests where one or both of the Proposed Change Date, or Actual End Date is incorrect. 




DEBT Used by the Current FRMP for change retailer requests in Victoria only, were there is an aged 




debt reaching Jurisdictional limits. 




DECLINED Used by a Participant who does not wish to perform the Role for which it is nominated in the 




Change Request. 




NOACC (1) Used where no access can be obtained to the metering installation to perform the manual 




collection of metering data required to facilitate a transfer of FRMP, or Meter Churn. 




NOTAPRD Used by the LNSP where a Participant is not accredited or authorised to operate within the 




LNSP area, most typically applying to the Role of MP. 




NOTAWARE Used by the Current FRMP when no communication has been received from the New FRMP 




confirming that an error correction transaction will be processed. 




NOTPRUD No prudential approval. 




AEMO has not approved the transaction for prudential reasons. 




NOTRANS Used by the Current FRMP and only applies to retrospective change of retailer requests. A 




check of records shows no previous change of retailer request exists for the error correction 




change of retailer. 




NOTRESP Not responsible for NMI in the identified Role. 




For use by a nominated Participant to Object on the basis that they are not responsible in the 




Role in which they are nominated. 




RETRO Participant does not agree to a Retrospective Change. 




Note (1):  Objections for “NOACC” are not subject to Objection Logging Periods or Objection Clearing Periods. A valid Actual Change Date being 




entered against a Change Request with an Objection of “NOACC” will withdraw any “NOACC” Objections. 




4.9. Objection Rules 




(a) The Objection Rules specify the way in which Objection Codes can be used for each Change 




Reason Code and Role. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 42 of 172 
 




(b) The Objection Rules for each Change Reason Code are listed in the section to which the 




Change Reason Code applies. 




(c) Unless stated otherwise, Objection Rules apply in every Jurisdiction. 




4.10. NMI Classification Codes 




(a) The NMI Classification Code enables MSATS to be informed of the nature of the flow of 




electricity at the connection point to which the NMI information applies. 




(b) The NMI Classification Codes ‘LARGE’ and ‘SMALL’ must be used when the other NMI 




Classification codes listed in Table 4-E do not apply.They are parameters for defining 




Change Reason Codes, application timeframes and Objection Rules. 




(c) The NMI Classification Codes ‘LARGE’ and ‘SMALL’ are based on the total annual load of the 




NMI as per Table 4-E. 




Table 4-E – NMI Classification Codes 




Code Description (2) 




BULK Connection point where a transmission 




network connects to a distribution network 




-  also termed 'Bulk Supply Point' 




DWHOLSAL Distribution network connection point where 




energy is directly purchased from the spot 




market by a Market Customer 




EPROFILE External profile shape 




GENERATR  Connection point associated with a 




generating unit classified by a Market 




Generator.  




INTERCON Interconnector 




LARGE 
(1)




 Victoria:    




NSW:  




ACT:    




SA: 




>=160 MWh 




 




 




QLD:                          >=100 MWh  




TAS:                          >=150 MWh 




NCONUML
(1)




 Non-contestable unmetered load 




NREG Connection point associated with a non-




registered embedded generator at which: 




• the embedded generating unit is 




classified by a Market Small Generation 




Aggregator as a market generating unit; 




or 




• the output of the embedded generating 




unit is consumed by a market load at the 




same connection point.  




 




SAMPLE  Sample Meter as required by Metrology 




Procedures Part A to calculate CLP for 




participating jurisdictions. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 43 of 172 
 




Code Description (2) 




SMALL
(1)




 Victoria:   




NSW:  




ACT:   




SA: 




<160 MWh 




QLD:                          <100 MWh 




TAS:                          <150 MWh 




WHOLESAL Transmission network connection point where 




energy is directly purchased from the spot 




market by a Market Customer 




XBOUNDRY Connection point where a distribution network 




connects to another to distribution network  




Note (1): These codes are only used in the CATS Procedures. All other codes are for WIGS Procedure. 




Note (2): See relevant Jurisdictional regulation for full details. 




Note (3): See NMI procedures, Appendix E for application of NMI Classification codes. 




 




4.11. End User Classification 




4.11.1. Customer Classification Code 




(a) The FRMP must update an End User’s Customer Classification Code as specified in Table 




4-F. 




(b) The Customer Classification Code relates to an End User, or previous End User, at  a single 




connection point to which the NMI applies. 




Table 4-F – Customer Classification Codes 




Code 




BUSINESS 




RESIDENTIAL 




4.11.2. Customer Threshold Code 




(a) The Customer Threshold Code is used to indicate the level of an End User’s electricity 




consumption at a single connection point to which a NMI applies and is based on the LNSP’s 




determination of the annualised consumption for an End User at a single connection point. 




(b) The Customer Threshold Code is mandatory for all NMIs with a NMI Status Code of ‘A’ or 




‘D’, and a Customer Classification Code of ‘BUSINESS’. 




(c) The Customer Threshold Codes are specified in Table 4-G. 




Table 4-G – Customer Threshold Codes 




Customer Threshold Code Description  




LOW Consumption is less than the ‘lower consumption threshold’ as defined in 




the National Energy Retail Regulations 




MEDIUM Consumption is equal to or greater than the ‘lower consumption 




threshold’, but less than the ‘upper consumption threshold’, as defined in 




the National Energy Retail Regulations 




HIGH Consumption is equal to or greater than the ‘upper consumption 




threshold’ as defined in the National Energy Retail Regulations 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 44 of 172 
 




4.12. Status Codes  




4.12.1. NMI Status Codes 




(a) The NMI Status Codes defined in table 4-H are used to determine if a NMI can be used for 




a retail transfer. 




(b) The NMI Status Code ‘X’ is the only status that does not allow NMI transfers between 




retailers. 




Table 4-H – NMI Status Codes 




Code Name of code Description of code 




A Active NMI  Applies when a NMI is energised. 




D Not energised NMI Applies when the NMI exists in MSATS and the connection point is de-energised. 




X Extinct NMI  Applies when:   




• the network connection has been permanently removed from the 




connection point, or 




• the embedded network connection has been permanently removed from 




the child connection point, or  




• the connection point has been moved from an LNSP’s network to an 




embedded network or vice versa. 




Under this condition the existing NMI will not be reallocated to any other 




connection point in the future. 




A NMI with this status can never be transferred. 




G Greenfield Site NMI Applies to a Site that has never been energised. The connection point may 




require further Site works to be undertaken and will also require energisation. 




Once the NMI Status Code is changed from ‘G’, it cannot revert to ‘G’. 




N Off Market Child 




NMI 




Applies when a child connection point is no longer settled in the NEM. 




4.12.2. Datastream Status Codes 




(a) In the MDM process, the Datastream Status Code is used in combination with the 




DataStreamType to determine whether a Datastream suffix is to be used in the settlements 




process or where any other metering data has been configured to support the calculation of 




Unaccounted for Energy (UFE). 




(b) The Datastream Status Codes in MSATS are ‘A’ and ‘I’, as defined in Table 4-I. 




(c) The Datastream Type Codes in MSATS are ‘I’, ‘C’, ‘P’ and ‘N’, as defined in NMI Standing 




Data for MSATS document (Table 12). 




Table 4-I – Datastream Status Codes   




Code Name of code Description of code 




A Active NMI Datastream Applies when an NMI Datastream Suffix is used in combination with the 




DataStreamType to determine whether a DataStream Suffix is to be used in 




the settlements process or where any other metering data has been 




configured to support the calculation of Unaccounted for Energy (UFE). 




I Inactive NMI 




Datastream 




Applies when the NMI Datastream Suffix is not to be used in settlements or 




the calculation of UFE. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 45 of 172 
 




 




4.12.3. Meter Register Status Codes 




(a) The Meter Register Status Codes denote the status of the meter in MSATS. 




(b) The only Meter Register Status Codes are ‘C’, ‘R’, and ‘D’ as defined in Table 4-J. 




Table 4-J – Meter Register Status Codes 




Code Name of code Description of code 




C Current  Applies when a meter at the NMI is current and not disconnected. 




R Removed Applies when a meter at the NMI is removed. 




D Remotely Disconnected Applies when a meter at the NMI is disconnected. 




4.12.4. Register Identifier Status Codes 




(a) The Register Identifier Status Code indicates if a Meter Register is active. 




(b) The Register Identifier Status Codes are C and R and are defined in Table 4-K. 




Table 4-K – Register Identifier Status Codes 




Code Name  Description  




C Current  Applies when a Meter Register at the NMI is current, i.e. connected to a connection point. 




R Removed Applies when a Meter Register at the NMI is removed, i.e. not connected to a connection 




point. 




4.13. Metering Installation Type Codes 




(a) The Metering Installation Type Codes defined in Table 4-L identifies the type of metering 




installation as specified in the NER. 




(b) The Metering Installation Type Code also indicates whether the Actual Change Date must 




be input by a Participant other than the initiator of the Change Request. If the Manually 




Read Flag (see Table 4-L) is set to Y and the Change Request Field Validation Rules have 




been set up to request a date, a request will be sent to the nominated Participant to provide 




it. 




Table 4-L – Metering Installation Type Codes 




Code Description Manually Read 




Flag 




BASIC Accumulation Meter – Type 6 Y 




COMMS1 Interval Meter with communications – Type 1 Y 




COMMS2 Interval Meter with communications – Type 2 Y 




COMMS3 Interval Meter with communications – Type 3 Y 




COMMS4 Interval Meter with communications – Type 4 




(Note: This code is used for large customer with type 4 metering installations 




and for small customer type 4 metering installation installed before 1 December 




2017)  




Y 




COMMS4C CT connected metering installation that meets the minimum services 




specifications 




Y 




COMMS4D Whole current metering installation that meets the minimum services 




specifications 




Y 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 46 of 172 
 




Code Description Manually Read 




Flag 




MRAM small customer metering installation – Type 4A Y 




MRIM Manually Read Interval Meter – Type 5 Y 




NCONUML Non-contestable unmetered load N 




PROF For Profile Setup  N 




SAMPLE Sample Meter Y 




UMCP Unmetered Supply – Type 7 N 




VICAMI a relevant metering installation as defined in clause 9.9C of the NER.  Y 




4.13.1. Consequences of Allocating Certain Metering Installation Codes 




(a) If the Metering Installation Type Code is COMMSx, MRIM, MRAM, VICAMI, NCONUML or 




UMCP: 




(i) DataStreamType1 must be: 




(A) ‘I’ where the Interval Datastream is included in NEM Settlement process 




(B) 'N' where the Interval Datastream is not to be included in the NEM Settlement 




process or NEM Profile calculations 




(C) ‘P’ where Profile Datastream is included in NEM Profile calculation (P – Sample 




meters only)  




(ii) ProfileName must be NOPROF 




(iii) Datastream Suffix must be at a register level (e.g. E1, B1, Q1, K1) 




(b) If the Metering Installation Type Code is BASIC: 




(i) DataStreamType must be C 




(ii) In Victoria, Tasmania and ACT, ProfileName must be NSLP 




(iii) In NSW, QLD and SA, ProfileName must be NSLP or the relevant CLP 




(iv) Datastream Suffix must be at a register level, numeric (e.g. 11) 




4.14. Read Type Code 




(a) The Read Type Code is not used by MSATS for the purpose of settlements. There are no 




rules in MSATS controlling the use of the Read Type Code. 




(b) The Read Type Code is an instruction from the requesting FRMP to the MDP, nominated in 




the Change Request to assist the transfer by using the specified reading method. 




(c) Where advice is provided to an MDP, the MDP would arrange for the Meter Reading to be 




undertaken. 




(d) The Read Type Code is used to signal when a meter should be read, whether an alternative 




arrangement is to be used, or whether no read is required. 




(e) In each case the Read Type Code is an instruction relating to the date in the Proposed 




Change Date. 




(f) A meter may be read on the NSRD (NS) or on a Special Read Date (SP). 




(g) An Estimated Reading (ER) may be provided in place of the Actual Meter Reading. 




                                                      
1 See Standing Data for MSATS for explanation of DataStreamType (Table 12). 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 47 of 172 
 




(h) The Read Type Codes are specified in Table 4-M. 




Table 4-M – Read Type Codes  




Code  Name of code Description of code 




CR  Consumer Read Available if approved by Jurisdictional policy. Advice from New 




FRMP to MC or MDP that the End User has agreed to transfer 




on a Meter Reading it provides. MDP/MPC is not required to 




undertake a Special Meter Reading. 




Applies to type 6 metering installations. 




EI  Existing 




Remotely-Read 




Interval Meter 




Advice from the New FRMP to the MDP that there is an existing 




remotely-read Interval Meter at the connection point and that 




the existing meters will continue to be used after the transfer. 




Applies to type 1 to 4 metering installations only. 




ER  Estimated Read Available if approved by Jurisdictional policy. Advice from the 




New FRMP to MDP that the End User has agreed to transfer on 




an Estimated Reading. No Meter Reading is required for this 




transfer. MDP is to provide an Estimated Reading in accordance 




with the metrology procedure and any other Jurisdiction 




requirements. 




Applies to type 4A, 5 and type 6 metering installations. 




GR  Greenfield NMI Used when the NMI being transferred is a greenfield connection 




point and has never had a metering installation physically 




installed at the connection point and the NMI Status is ‘G’ 




NS  Next Scheduled 




Read Date
(1)




 




Advice from New FRMP to MDP that the Proposed Change Date 




for the End User transfer is the NSRD, which is, therefore, a date 




in the future. No other Meter Reading is required. 




An acceptable date is a window that is up to 3 business days 




before or 2 business days after the published NSRD. 




If the date proposed by the New FRMP is not within this same 




window (i.e. up to 3 business days before or 2 business days 




after), the MDP must advise the FRMP that there is a problem 




with the date proposed within 2 days of receipt of the Data 




Request. 




If the meter is read outside this window, the MDP is not obliged 




to provide an Actual Change Date CR 1500. 




Applies to types 4A, 5 and type 6 metering installations. 




PR  Previous Read 




Date
(2)




 




Available if approved by Jurisdictional policy. Advice from the 




New FRMP to the MDP that the transfer is to occur on the 




previous Meter Reading. 




Applies to type 4A, 5 and type 6 metering installations. 




RR  Next Read Date Advice from New FRMP to MDP that the Proposed Change Date 




for the End User transfer is to be the date the meter is next read, 




which is, therefore, a date in the future. This code should be 




used if it is intended that the transfer is to occur on the date that 




the meter is read next, whenever that date is (i.e. the Proposed 




Change Date has no relevance). 




Applies to types 4A, 5 and type 6 metering installations. 




SP  Special Read Advice from New FRMP to MDP that the Proposed Change Date 




for the End User transfer is a date that does not align with the 




scheduled reading cycle. The MDP/MPC is to arrange for the 




Special Meter Reading. 




Applies to type 4A, 5 and type 6 metering installations. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 48 of 172 
 




Code  Name of code Description of code 




UM  Unmetered 




Connection Point 




Used when the NMI being transferred is an unmetered 




connection point. 




Note (1): There is no requirement to maintain the NSRD for meters that are remotely read. The NSRD will only be required for the 




type 4A, 5 and 6 metering installations where manual Meter Reading is necessary. 




Note (2): The previous Meter Reading date is not held by MSATS. The New FRMP would obtain this information from the End User. 




This Read Type Code is likely to be used with Change Reason Codes 1010 and 1081. 




(i) The combinations of Read Type Codes, Metering Installation Type Codes and Change 




Reason Codes that can be valid, (provided the Read Type Code is allowed in a Jurisdiction), 




are specified in Table 4-N. (The Metering Installation Type Code referred to here is the code 




for the existing metering record) 




Table 4-N – Valid Combinations of Read Type Codes, Metering Installation Type Codes and Change 




Reason Codes  




 CR Code  1000 1010, 102X, 1040 




except 1023 




1030 1023 All CR Codes 




 Metering Installation 




Type Code  




BASIC MRIM / 




MRAM 




BASIC MRIM / 




MRAM 




BASIC MRIM / 




MRAM 




Not 




Applicable 




COMMSx / 




VICAMI 




UMCP 




R
e
a
d




 T
yp




e
 C




o
d




e
 




NS Next 




Scheduled 




Read Date 




Yes Yes No No No No No No No 




RR Next Read 




Date 




Yes Yes No No Yes Yes No No No 




SP Special Read Yes Yes No No Yes Yes No No No 




ER Estimated 




Read 




Yes Yes Yes No Yes Yes No No No 




CR Consumer 




Read 




Yes No No No No No No No No 




PR Previous Read 




Date 




No No Yes Yes No No No No No 




UM Unmetered 




Connection Pt 




No No No No No No No No Yes 




EI Existing 




Interval Meter 




No No No No No No No Yes No 




GR Greenfield 




NMI 




No No No No No No Yes No No 




Note: 1080 is the same as 1000, 1081 is the same as 1010, 1083 is the same as 1030, and 1084 is the same as 1040. 




Note: 102X refers to 1020, 1021, 1022, 1023, 1024, 1025, 1026, 1027, 1028 and 1029. 




Note:  COMMSx refers to COMMS1, COMMS2, COMMS3, COMMS4, COMMS4C, COMMS4D. 




Note: No meter reading is required for CR Code 1023 




4.15. Field Validation Rules 




(a) The Field Validation Rules are based on data source codes as per table 4-O. 




(b) For any Change Reason Code, the Field Validation Rules specify: 




(i) Which fields must be completed at the time the transaction is Initiated; 




(ii) Which fields can optionally be completed at the time the transaction is Initiated; 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 49 of 172 
 




(iii) Which fields must be present on the NMI Master Record for the transaction to 




proceed from Pending Validation to Requested and, if they are not present, which 




Participant must supply them; and 




(iv) Whether the Actual Change Date has to be obtained from another Participant for 




NMIs where the metering installations are manually read (and if it does, who should 




be asked to supply it). 




(c) The obligations on Participants arising from the allocation of the Field Validation Rules are 




detailed in the section to which the Change Reason Code applies. 




(d) Each data source code is hard coded in MSATS and is not available for maintenance. The 




available data codes are identified in Table 4-O. 




Table 4-O  – Field Validation Data Source Codes 




Code Explanation 




OI Optional on Initiation. This means it is optionally supplied by the initiator of the Change Request. 




RA Requested by CATS regardless of whether it is already in CATS. 




For all RA fields, the Participant that supplies the data must be identified. 




For all RA fields, it is also necessary to identify whether this data is required prior to the transaction 




passing from Pending Validation to Requested. 




This code will be used for requesting the Actual Change Date on End User transfer Change Requests. 




(However, in this special case, the request will only be sent if the metering installation is flagged as 




manually read). 




RD This is only required for the Actual Change Date on the transaction that is returned as a consequence of 




a request to provide an Actual Change Date (currently 1500 is the only one).  




RI Required to Initiate. This means it must be supplied by the initiator of the Change Request. 




RQ Requested by CATS if the data is not already in CATS. 




For all RQ fields, the Participant that supplies the data must be identified. 




For all RQ fields, it is also necessary to identify whether this data is required prior to the transaction 




passing from Pending Validation to Requested. 




4.16. Change Request Status Notification Rules 




The Change Request Status Notification Rules define which Roles are to be advised when a 




Change Request undergoes a change in status.  




Maintenance of Codes and Rules 




(a) AEMO must maintain the following codes and rules in MSATS: 




Change Reason Codes Role Codes Initiation Rules 




Jurisdiction Codes Timeframe Rules Objection Codes 




Objection Rules NMI Classification Codes NMI Status Codes 




Metering Installation Type Codes Read Type Codes Field Validation Rules 




Change Request Status 




Notification Rules 




NMI Discovery Search – NMI 




Search Rules 




NMI Discovery Search – NMI 




Data Access Rules 




NMI & CATS Standing Data 




Access Rules 




Network Tariff Code  




(b) MSATS will send a message to all Participants if a change is made to any code or rule. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 50 of 172 
 




4.17. Datastream Status Code 




(a) The Datastream Status Code is part of CATS Standing Data and is used for the management 




of the metering data within MSATS. 




(b) The Datastream Status Code makes use of the codes specified in Table 4-I. 




(c) When required by a Change Reason Code, Participants must nominate on a Change 




Request the status of the Datastream Status Code for the selected NMI. 




(d) If a Datastream Status Code is set to A (active) this flag will be used by MSATS to indicate 




that metering data is to be expected for the NMI for the purpose of: 




(i) aggregation in the settlements process; or 




(ii) netting off in the determination of a profile shape; or 




(iii) calculation of UFE. 




4.18. Embedded Network Codes and Rules 




(a) MSATS requires each embedded network to be given a name, which is to be a code of up to 




10 characters. 




(b) The LNSP must generate and provide the Embedded Network Code to AEMO. 




(i) The first character of the Embedded Network Code is to be the first character of the 




Jurisdiction in which the embedded network is located. 




(ii) The second character of the Embedded Network Code is to be a character chosen to 




represent the LNSP in whose distribution network the embedded network is connected. 




(iii) The LNSP must liaise with the owner of the embedded network to determine the other 




characters of the Embedded Network Code as per the Embedded Network Code 




structure specified by AEMO.2   




(iv) The LNSP must provide the Embedded Network Code to AEMO within 5 business 




days of receiving the request from the embedded network owner or the ENM acting 




on behalf of the embedded network owner. 




(c) The LNSP must provide to AEMO the following when providing the Embedded Network 




Code: 




(i) Description of the embedded network (up to 50 characters long). 




(ii) Locality, postcode and state of the embedded network. 




(iii) Start date of the embedded network. 




(iv) DLF Code of the Parent NMI.3 




(v) TNI Code of the Parent NMI.4 




(d) The LNSP at the parent connection point must allocate the Embedded Network Code to the 




Parent NMI within 2 business days: 




(i) of being notified by AEMO that the Embedded Network Code has been created in 




MSATS, or 




(ii) of the mandatory information required by the Create NMI Change Request becoming 




available if the Parent NMI has not been created, whichever is later. 




                                                      
2 Document No MT_GN1710v0xx.doc – Allocation of Embedded Network Codes. 
3 Note that subsequent update to the DLF Code is not required via this transaction. 
4 Note that subsequent update to the TNI Code is not required via this transaction. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 51 of 172 
 




(e) The ENM must allocate the Embedded Network Code to the Child NMI which is the same as 




the Embedded Network Code of the Parent NMI. 




(f) Within 5 business days of being appointed as the ENM for an embedded network, the ENM 




must provide AEMO with the following: 




(i) Date of the nomination, 




(ii) EN’s Participant ID, 




(iii) Name of the EENSP5, 




(iv) Embedded Network Code, 




(v) Parent NMI, and  




(vi) Address of the Parent NMI.  




4.19. Obtaining Electronic Downloads of Configuration Rules 




The CATS configuration can be downloaded from MSATS by using the C1 ‘Data Replication 




Resynchronisation Report (C1)’ report, and selecting the following tables: 




Table 4-P – CATS Configuration Tables Available for Download 




Type Description Table 




 List of Roles along with their assigned Participant IDs used by 




MSATS  




CATS_PARTICIPANT_ROLES 




Code List of the available Change Reason Codes CATS_CHANGE_REASON_CODES 




Code Change Request Status codes CATS_CR_STATUS_CODES 




Code Data source code used for Field Validation Rules  CATS_DATA_SOURCE_CODES 




Code De-registration codes CATS_DEREG_CODES 




Code DLF Codes CATS_DLF_CODES 




Code Parent Name codes CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES 




Code Error codes used by MSATS CATS_ERROR_CODES 




Code List of Jurisdiction Codes CATS_JURISDICTION_CODES 




Code Meter installation type codes CATS_METER_INSTALL_TYPE_CODES 




Code NMI Classification Codes  CATS_NMI_CLASS_CODES 




Code NMI Status Codes CATS_NMI_STATUS_CODES 




Code List of available Objection Codes CATS_OBJECTION_CODES 




Code List of Registered Participant IDs CATS_PARTICIPANTS 




Code List of allowable Read Type Codes  CATS_READ_TYPE_CODES 




Code List of available Roles CATS_ROLES 




Code Transmission connection point identifier codes  CATS_TNI_CODES 




Code List of transaction types in MSATS  CATS_TRANS_TYPE_CODES 




Code Calender used by MSATS  MSATS_NATIONAL_CALENDAR 




Code Network Tariff Codes CATS_NETWORKTARIFF_CODES 




Rule Change Request Initiation Rules CATS_CR_INITIATION_RULES 




Rule Rule governing NMI Discovery Search CATS_DISCOVERY_ACCESS_RULES 




                                                      
5 As it appears on the AER’s public register. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 52 of 172 
 




Type Description Table 




Rule Rules defining if Site address is returned in NMI Discovery Search CATS_DISCOVERY_SEARCH_RULES 




Rule Jurisdiction rules governing Change Request Initiation CATS_JURISDICTIONAL_RULES 




Rule Change Request Status Notification Rules that specify which 




notifications are generated by MSATS 




CATS_NOTIFICATION_RULES 




Rule The rules governing the use of Objections CATS_OBJECTION_RULES 




Rule Transaction Field Validation Rules CATS_TRANS_FIELD_VALIDATION 




 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 53 of 172 
 




5. MSATS REPORTS 




(a) The following reports are available to Participants from MSATS. 




Table 5-A – MSATS Reports 




Report Name Description 




CATS C1  Data Replication Resynchronisation Report 




CATS C3  NMI Change Request Report  




CATS C4 NMI Master Report 




CATS C7 New Participant Access Report 




CATS C9 NMI Count Report 




MDM RM9  Actual Versus Estimate Data Report 




MDM RM11 Missing Data 




MDM RM13 NMI Datastreams History Report 




MDM RM16 Level 1 Settlement Reconciliation Report 




MDM RM17 Level 3 Settlement Reconciliation Report for Non-Aggregated 




Data 




MDM RM20  PPS Report 




MDM RM21 Level 2 Settlement Reconciliation Report  




MDM RM22  Data Estimation Report 




MDM RM26 MDP Substitution and Estimation Report 




MDM RM27 Automated RM21 Report 




MDM RM37 High Priority Missing Data Report 




MDM RM38 Datastream Missing Data Report 




MDM RM39 Mismatch Data Report 




MDM RM43 UFE Factors by Profile Area 




 




(b) MSATS will produce a report using Transaction Type Code RPTD. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 54 of 172 
 




6. GUIDELINES FOR MANAGING CONCURRENT RETAIL TRANSFERS 




6.1. Definition of concurrent retail transfers 




(a) Concurrent retail transfers are those where there is more than one change of retailer for a 




particular NMI at the same time in MSATS. 




(b) There are two types of concurrent retail transfers in MSATS. 




(i) Type 1 is a concurrent retail transfer where the same FRMP has submitted more than 




one change of retailer Change Request for the one NMI. 




(ii) Type 2 is a concurrent retail transfer request where more than one FRMP has 




submitted a change of retailer Change Request for one NMI. 




6.2. Guidelines 




Type 1 Concurrent Retail Transfers 




(a) MSATS will identify the type 1 concurrent retail transfers and the FRMP that has Initiated 




these Change Requests. 




(b) MSATS will Reject the newly submitted Change Request and a notification will be sent to the 




initiating FRMP detailing the reason for the Rejection. 




(c) The existing Change Request will remain unaffected and active in MSATS. 




Type 2 Concurrent Retail Transfers 




(d) MSATS will identify the type 2 concurrent retail transfers and the FRMPs that have Initiated 




these Change Requests. 




(e) MSATS will Reject the newly submitted Change Request and a notification will be sent to the 




initiating Participant detailing the reason for the Rejection. 




(f) The existing Change Request to change a retailer is Cancelled and notifications will be sent 




to all the parties related to the Change of Retailer Request as per normal notifications (i.e. 




FRMP, MDP, MC etc). The reason for the cancellation shall also be provided in the 




notification. 




(g) The affected FRMPs should determine the reason for the concurrent retail transfers and as 




necessary proceed to investigate who is the preferred FRMP of the End User consistent with 




relevant Jurisdictional requirements. The preferred FRMP should then initiate a single valid 




transfer Change Request. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 55 of 172 
 




7. CHANGE RETAILER – SMALL OR LARGE NMI 




7.1. Application [1000 1010 1020 1030 1040] 




Section 7 applies when one of the following Change Reason Codes applies:  




Change Reason Code Description 




1000 – Change Retailer The date of transfer is on a Prospective Day. 




1010 – Change Retailer – Retrospective Align to 




Meter Read (SMALL only) 




The date of transfer is the date of the last Meter Reading (a 




Retrospective Day). 




1020 – Change Retailer – Retrospective – Long 




Term/Error (LARGE only) 




The date of transfer could be a date agreed between the 




Current FRMP and New FRMP (a Retrospective Day) where the 




actual transfer date was in error. 




In addition, and in Victoria only, the date of transfer could be a 




date agreed by the Current FRMP and New FRMP (a 




Retrospective Day) 




1030 – Change Retailer – Move-In The date of transfer (move-in) is on a Prospective Day. 




1040 – Change Retailer – Move-In – 




Retrospective 




The date of transfer (move-in) would be on a Retrospective 




Day. 




7.2. Conditions Precedent 




(a) The NMI already exists in MSATS6.  




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




(c) The date of the transfer of retailer from the Current FRMP to the New FRMP will be the 




Actual Change Date. 




(d) The Actual Change Date is to be established in accordance with the Read Type Code 




submitted to MSATS by the New FRMP. 




7.3. Initiating Roles 




A New FRMP may initiate a Change Request to effect a change of retailer in accordance with 




section 7.4. 




7.4. FRMP Requirements 




The New FRMP must: 




(a) obtain the Current FRMP’s agreement to retrospectively transfer an End User on a previous 




Meter Reading (applies to CR1010). 




(b) obtain the NMI Checksum. 




(c) confirm that the NMI is valid for the connection point. 




(d) submit a Change Request to initiate the transfer of the End User from which the New FRMP 




has obtained Explicit Informed Consent and provide the following information with the 




Change Request: 




Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date New RP7  




Read Type Code   




                                                      
6 If it doesn’t, the retailer should refer to section 11 and seek LNSP action to establish a NMI. 
7 This should be the Current RP if there is no change of the RP Role.  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 56 of 172 
 




 




(e) nominate itself as the New FRMP; 




(f) where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, if advised by the New MDP or the Current 




MDP that a Meter Reading cannot be obtained in response to a Read Type Code for NSRD 




or a Special Read Date, the New FRMP must either:  




(i) Withdraw the transfer request; or 




(ii) Advise the MDP to read the meter on the NSRD or propose a Special Read 




Date. 




(g) where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, if advised by the New MDP or the Current 




MDP that the NSRD or a Special Read Date is invalid, must either: 




(i) advise the MDP of a valid date; or 




(ii) withdraw the transfer request.  




The Current FRMP must: 




(h) on receipt of a request from the New FRMP for an agreement to retrospectively transfer on 




a previous Meter Reading, respond to the request within 2 business days. 




The New FRMP may: 




(i) populate the Change Request with the identity of the following Roles: 




MPB MPC  




or leave this to the New MC to complete. 




(j) for Change Reason Codes 1000, 1020, 1030 and 1040, if the MDP is changing, provide the 




following additional information: 




MDP   




(k) for Change Reason Code 1020, populate the Change Request with:  




Actual End Date   




(l) for Retrospective Changes, nominate a Proposed Change Date. The limits for Retrospective 




Change dates are provided in section 7.7; and 




(m) withdraw a change of retailer transaction request at any time until the transfer is Completed. 




7.5. MDP Requirements 




The MDP must: 




(n) Once the transfer has Completed, set up the NMI suffix(s) so that they become active on the 




Actual Change Date if this data is not already provided or has changed. 




(o) On receipt of a Data Request for Change Reason Codes 1000, 1010, 1030 or 1040, initiate a 




Change Request to provide the Actual Change Date. 




If the NMI Classification Code is LARGE, the Actual Change Date must be the date 




nominated as the proposed date by the New FRMP unless the date nominated is 




inappropriate, in which case the MDP must advise the New FRMP of the reason why the 




proposed date is inappropriate and agree on the Actual Change Date. 




(p) For Prospective Changes that do not require a Meter Reading, provide the Actual Change 




Date within 2 days of the Actual Change Date. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 57 of 172 
 




(q) For changes that require a Meter Reading, provide the Actual Change Date within 2 days of 




the Meter Reading. 




(r) For Retrospective Changes, where the Jurisdictional rules specify that an Actual Change 




Date is required, ensure that the Actual Change Date submitted is no earlier than the time 




limit specified by the Jurisdiction for the Change Reason Code on the Change Request. 




For example, if the Jurisdictional timeframe for a Change Reason Code is 10 days, the Actual 




Change Date must be no earlier than 10 days prior to the date the Data Request was 




received, even if MSATS would allow an earlier date. 




(s) Where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL and the Read Type Code requires the NSRD or 




the Special Read Date, forward the Meter Reading taken at this time to the Current FRMP, 




New FRMP, and Current LNSP. 




(t) Where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL: 




(i) the MDP must Object to the Change Request if the NSRD nominated by the New 




FRMP is not within two business days prior to, or two business days after, the NSRD, 




or the date nominated by the New FRMP for the Retrospective Change does not 




correspond to an Actual Meter Read Date. 




(ii) the MDP must advise the New FRMP of the failure to take a Meter Reading within 2 




days and await instructions if the next Scheduled Meter Reading or Special Meter 




Reading does not occur within three business days before, or two business days after, 




the NSRD or Special Read Date (as applicable). 




(iii) if the Read Type Code requires an Estimated Reading, prepare the Estimated Reading 




and submit this to MSATS as the Meter Reading related to the Actual Change Date 




(not for a Retrospective Change). 




(iv) the MDP must notify the New FRMP where the Read Type Code is not aligned with 




the method of Meter Reading that can reasonably be facilitated at the metering 




installation and is inconsistent with the Metering Installation Type Code. 




(v) for Retrospective Changes on receipt of a Data Request for an Actual Change Date, 




provide the Actual Change Date within 2 days of receipt of the Data Request. 




(vi) If requested by the New FRMP and allowed in that Jurisdiction, carry out an Actual 




Meter Reading within the time periods specified in the relevant metrology procedure. 




(u) Where the NMI Classification Code is LARGE, validate that the Metering Installation Type 




Code is identified as a type 1, type 2, type 3 or type 4 metering installation. If an error is 




identified, advise the New FRMP and await instructions. 




(v) Where the NMI Classification Code is LARGE, for Retrospective Changes that do not require 




a Meter Reading, provide the Actual Change Date within 2 days of receipt of the Data 




Request. 




7.6. MC Requirements 




The MC must ensure MDP, MPC and MPB roles are correct and if not raise appropriate Change 




Request to update it. Refer to section 30 to 36 for Change Request types for Role Changes. 




7.7. Timeframe Rules 




When preparing a Change Request the New FRMP must choose, for the identified Change Reason 




Codes, a Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective 




Period, as shown in Table 7-A. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 58 of 172 
 




Table 7-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 1000 – Change Retailer 




CR 1030 – Change Retailer – Move-In 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




1 20 0 65 




CR 1010 – Change Retailer – Retrospective Align to Meter Read 




CR 1040 – Change Retailer – Move-In – Retrospective 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




1 20 10 0 




CR 1020 – Change Retailer-Retrospective – Long Term/Error (not SMALL) 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




1 20 130 0 




7.8. Objection Rules 




The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 7-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 




their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 7-A. 




Table 7-B – Objection Rules
**
 




CR 1000 – Change Retailer  




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADMETER ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes   - -  - -  




BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 




NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - -  - - - - - - - - Yes 




DATEBAD ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




NOACC SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




DEBT   - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




SMALL VIC 




CONTRACT 




 




    - - - - - - - - - - - - 




LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 




CR 1010 – Change Retailer – Retrospective Align to Meter Read 




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADMETER SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes   - -  - -  




BADPARTY SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




DECLINED SMALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 




NOTAPRD SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 




DATEBAD SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 59 of 172 
 




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




DEBT SMALL  - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




VIC 




RETRO SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




                 




CR 1020 – Change Retailer – Retrospective - Long Term/Error (not SMALL) 




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADMETER LARGE ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - -  - -  




BADPARTY LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




DECLINED LARGE ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 




NOTAPRD LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 




DATEBAD LARGE ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




RETRO LARGE ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




DEBT     - - - - - - - - - - - - 




CONTRACT     - - - - - - - - - - - - 




LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 




CR 1030 – Change Retailer – Move-In  




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADMETER ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes   - -  - -  




BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 




NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 




NOACC SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




CONTRACT LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 




CR 1040 – Change Retailer – Move-In – Retrospective  




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADMETER ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes   - -  - -  




BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 




NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 




DATEBAD ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




NOACC SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




CONTRACT LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 60 of 172 
 




7.9. Change Request Status Notification Rules 




The Change Request Status Notification Rules for the Change Reason Codes identified in section 




7.1 are specified in Table 7-C. 




Table 7-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**




 




CR 1000 – Change Retailer 




CR 1010 – Change Retailer – Retrospective Align to Meter Read 




CR 1030 – Change Retailer – Move-In 




CR 1040 – Change Retailer – Move-In – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes  Yes  - - Yes Yes 




COMPLETED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes  Yes  - - Yes Yes 




OBJECTED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes  - - Yes Yes 




PENDING Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes  - - Yes Yes 




REJECTED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 




REQUESTED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 




CR 1020 – Change Retailer – Retrospective – Long Term/Error (not SMALL) 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 




COMPLETED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 




OBJECTED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 




PENDING Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 




REJECTED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 




REQUESTED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 61 of 172 
 




8. CHANGE RETAILER – ERROR CORRECTIONS – SMALL NMIS 




8.1. Application [1021 1022 1023 1024 1025 1026 1027 1028 1029] 




Please note that the appropriate Change Request for a LARGE NMI is CR 1020 – Change Retailer – 




Retrospective – Long Term/Error (not SMALL8). More information about this Change Request is 




provided in Section 7.  




Section 8 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Description 




1021 – Error Correction – Missed 




CR1500 




Used where the proposed transfer date has been missed due to the 




MDP not being able to provide a corresponding Actual Change Date on 




the original Change Request (CR 1000, 1010, 1030 or 1040). 




1022 – Incorrect transfer date Used where the MDP supplies an incorrect Actual Change Date and the 




original Change Request (CR 1000, 1010, 1030 or 1040) was Completed 




on the incorrect date. 




1023 – New NMI –  Update/Correct 




FRMP on Greenfield Site 




Used where the LNSP has nominated an incorrect retailer on a newly 




created NMI or a FRMP other than the FRMP who requested the 




Allocate NMI requests the supply to be connected.  




1024 – Transfer missed Used where the New Retailer failed to initiate the transfer in time. 




Acceptable reasons for the use of this code are: 




• Where a Site has more than one NMI and not all of them were 




transferred. The error correction transaction will be used to transfer 




the other NMI(s) missed. 




• Re-energisation of Site, with or without End User notification (End 




User request to retailer.) 




1025 – Transferred in Error Used where the Current FRMP transferred the NMI in error and requests 




the New Retailer to transfer it back. A wrong NMI was selected by the 




Current FRMP to transfer. 




1026 – Cooled Off Used where an End User signs a contract with a New Retailer. The End 




User then cancels the request within the Cooling-Off Period. New 




Retailer fails to withdraw the transfer request (transfer Pending) or was 




unable to do so (transfer Completed). 




1027 – Customer Moves Out on or 




before CR completion date 




Used where a End User signs a contract with a New Retailer but moves 




out on or before the Change Request completion date (transfer date). 




1028 – Non-account holder signs 




contract 




Used where a person other than the End User at a Site signs a contract 




with a New Retailer. The End User for the Site then discovers this and 




does not wish to transfer. 




1029 – Other Error Corrections (SMALL 




only) 




Used to correct errors caused by Participant process or systems issues; 




for example, late processing of contractual paperwork by initiating 




Participant. 




These may be reasons other than those covered by CR 1021 – 1028. 




8.2. Conditions Precedent 




(a) The NMI exists in MSATS.9  




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL. This section applies to the metering installations 




types 4, 4A, 5, 6, or 7. 




                                                      
8 Please note that “not SMALL” refers to LARGE, WHOLESAL, INTERCON, GENERATR or SAMPLE NMIs. 
9 If the NMI does not already exist in MSATS, the retailer should refer to section 11 “Create a NMI” and seek LNSP action to establish 




the NMI. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 62 of 172 
 




(c) The date of the transfer of retailer from the Current FRMP to the New FRMP will be the 




Actual Change Date. 




(d) The Actual Change Date is to be established in accordance with the Read Type Code 




submitted to MSATS by the New FRMP. 




8.3. Initiating Roles 




A New FRMP may initiate a Change Request to effect a change of retailer in accordance with 




section 8.4. 




8.4. FRMP Requirements 




The New FRMP must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 




Change Request. 




(c) Submit a Change Request to initiate the transfer of the End User from which the New FRMP 




has obtained Explicit Informed Consent. 




(d) Confirm that the NMI is a greenfield site and has never had a metering installation installed 




at the connection point.(applies to CR1023). 




(e) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date Read Type Code 




(f) Nominate itself as the New FRMP. 




The New FRMP may: 




(g) Populate the Change Request with the identity of the following Roles: 




RP MPB MPC 




MDP   




or leave this action to the New MC to complete. 




(h) Populate the Change Request with: 




Actual End Date   




(i) For Retrospective Changes, nominate a Proposed Change Date in accordance with the 




Timeframe Rules. 




(j) Withdraw a change of retailer transaction request at any time until the transfer is 




Completed. 




8.5. MDP Requirements 




Once the transfer has Completed, the MDP must set up the NMI suffix(s) so that they become 




active on the Actual Change Date if this data is not already provided or has changed except when 




a Greenfield site is transferred using a CR 1023. 




8.6. MC Requirements 




The MC must ensure MDP, MPC and MPB roles are correct and if not raise appropriate Change 




Request to update. Refer to section 30 to 36 for Change Request types for Role Changes. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 63 of 172 
 




8.7. Timeframe Rules 




When preparing a Change Request, the New FRMP must choose, for the identified Change Reason 




Codes, a Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective 




Period, as shown in the Table 8-A. 




Table 8-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 1021 – Error correction – Missed CR1500 




CR 1022 – Incorrect transfer date 




CR 1023 – New NMI –  Update/Correct FRMP on Greenfield Site 




CR 1024 – Transfer missed 




CR 1025 – Transferred in error 




CR 1026 – Cooled Off 




CR 1027 – Customer moves out on or before CR completion date 




CR 1028 – Non-account holder signs contract 




CR 1029 – Other error corrections (SMALL only) 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




1 20 130 0 




8.8. Objection Rules 




The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 8-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 




their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 8-A. 




Table 8-B – Objection Rules
**
 




CR 1021 – Error Correction – Missed CR1500 




CR 1022 – Incorrect transfer date 




Objection 




Code 




NMI Class Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADMETER SMALL ALL     Yes Yes         




DATEBAD SMALL ALL - Yes - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




DECLINED SMALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 




NOTAPRD SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 




NOTRANS SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




DEBT SMALL VIC 




 




- Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




CR 1023 – New NMI –Update/Correct FRMP on Greenfield Site 




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADMETER SMALL ALL     Yes Yes         




DATEBAD SMALL ALL - Yes - - Yes - - - - - - - - - 




DECLINED SMALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 




NOTAPRD SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 




CRCODE SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




BADDATA SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 64 of 172 
 




CR 1024 – Transfer missed 




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADMETER SMALL ALL     Yes Yes         




DATEBAD SMALL ALL - Yes - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




DECLINED SMALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 




NOTAPRD SMALL ALL -  - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 




CRCODE SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




NOTAWARE SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




DEBT SMALL VIC 




 




- Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




CR 1025 – Transferred in Error 




CR 1026 – Cooled Off 




CR 1027 – Customer Moves Out on or before CR completion date 




CR 1028 – Non-account holder signs contract 




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADMETER SMALL ALL     Yes Yes         




DATEBAD SMALL ALL - Yes - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




DECLINED SMALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 




NOTAPRD SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 




CRCODE SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




NOTAWARE SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




NOTRANS SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




DEBT SMALL VIC 




 




- Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




CR 1029 – Other Error Corrections (SMALL only ) 




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




DATEBAD SMALL ALL - Yes - - Yes Yes - - - -  Yes - - 




DECLINED SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - Yes - - - 




NOTAPRD SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 




RETRO SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




BADMETER SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - -  -  




BADPARTY SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes - - 




DEBT SMALL VIC 




 




- Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 65 of 172 
 




8.9. Change Request Status Notification Rules 




The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 8-C. 




Table 8-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**




 




CR 1021 – Error Correction – Missed CR1500 




CR 1022 – Incorrect transfer date 




CR 1023 – New NMI –  Update/Correct FRMP on Greenfield Site 




CR 1024 – Transfer missed 




CR 1025 – Transferred in Error 




CR 1026 – Cooled Off 




CR 1027 – Customer Moves Out on or before CR completion date 




CR 1028 – Non-account holder signs contract 




CR 1029 – Other Error Corrections (SMALL only) 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status 




Change  




FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 




COMPLETED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 




OBJECTED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 




PENDING Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 




REJECTED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 




REQUESTED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 66 of 172 
 




9. CHANGE RETAILER – EMBEDDED NETWORKS – SMALL OR LARGE 




9.1. Application [1080 1081 1082 1083 1084] 




Section 9 applies when one of the following Change Reason Codes applies:  




Change Reason Code Comment 




1080 – Change Retailer – Child NMI  The date of transfer is a Prospective Change. 




1081 – Change Retailer – Child NMI – 




Retrospective Align Meter Read 




The date of transfer would be the date of the last Meter Reading (a 




Retrospective Change). 




1082 – Change Retailer Child – 




Retrospective: Long Term/Error 




The date of transfer could be a date agreed by the current and New 




FRMP (a Retrospective Change) where the actual transfer date was 




in error. 




In addition, and for Victoria only, the date of transfer could be a 




date agreed by the Current FRMP and New FRMP (a Retrospective 




Change) to which both parties agree that the transfer should have 




been effected.  




1083 – Change Retailer Child NMI – Move-




In 




The date of transfer (move-in) would be on a Prospective Day. 




1084 – Change Retailer Child NMI – Move-




In – Retrospective 




The date of transfer (move-in) would be a Retrospective Day.  




9.2. Conditions Precedent 




(a) The NMI exists in MSATS.10  




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




(c) The date of the transfer of retailer from the Current FRMP to the New FRMP will be the 




Actual Change Date. 




(d) The Actual Change Date is to be established in accordance with the Read Type Code 




submitted to MSATS by the New FRMP. 




9.3. Initiating Roles 




A New FRMP may initiate a Change Request to effect a change of retailer in accordance with 




section 9.4. 




9.4. FRMP Requirements 




The New FRMP must: 




(a) Obtain agreement from the Current FRMP to retrospectively transfer an End User on a 




previous Meter Reading (applies to CR1081). 




(b) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(c) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 




Change Request. 




(d) Submit a Change Request to initiate the transfer of the End User for which the New FRMP 




has obtained an Explicit Informed Consent. 




(e) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




                                                      
10 If it doesn’t, the retailer should refer to section 12 and seek ENM action to establish the NMI. 




 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 67 of 172 
 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date New RP11 




Read Type Code   




(f) Nominate itself as the New FRMP. 




(g) Where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, if advised by the New MDP or Current MDP 




that a Meter Reading cannot be obtained in response to a Read Type Code for NSRD or a 




Special Read Date, must either: 




(i) Withdraw the transfer request; or 




(ii) Advise the MDP to read the meter on the NSRD or propose a Special Read Date. 




(h) Where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, if advised by the New MDP or Current MDP 




that the NSRD or a Special Read Date is invalid, must either: 




(i) Advise the MDP of a valid date; or 




(ii) Withdraw the transfer request. 




The Current FRMP must: 




(i) on receipt of a request from the New FRMP for an agreement to retrospectively transfer on 




a previous Meter Reading, respond to the request within 2 business days. 




The New FRMP may: 




(j) Populate the Change Request with the identity of the following Roles: 




MPB MPC  




or leave this action to the New MC to complete. 




(k) For Change Reason Codes 1080, 1081, 1082, 1083 and 1084, if the MDP is changing, populate 




the Change Request with the following additional information: 




MDP   




(l) For Change Reason Code 1082, populate the Change Request with:  




Actual End Date   




(m) Nominate, in accordance with paragraph (e), a Proposed Change Date. The time limits for 




Retrospective Changes are provided in section 9.7. 




(n) Withdraw a change of retailer transaction request at any time until the transfer is 




Completed. 




9.5. MDP Requirements 




The MDP must: 




(a) Once the transfer has Completed, set up the NMI suffix(s) so that they become active on the 




Actual Change Date. 




(b) On receipt of a Data Request for Change Reason Codes 1080, 1081, 1083 or 1084, Initiate a 




Change Request to provide the Actual Change Date. 




(c) Where the NMI Classification Code is LARGE, it must be the date nominated as the 




proposed date by the New FRMP unless the date nominated is inappropriate, in which case 




the MDP must advise the New FRMP of the reason why the proposed date is inappropriate 




and mutually agree on what the Actual Change Date should be. 




                                                      
11 This should be the Current RP if there is no change or RP role. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 68 of 172 
 




(d) If the Read Type Code does not require a read, validate that the Metering Installation Type 




Code is identified as a type 1, type 2, type 3 or type 4 metering installation. If an error is 




identified, advise the New FRMP. 




(e) For Prospective Changes that do not require a Meter Reading, provide the Actual Change 




Date within 2 days of the Actual Change Date being reached. 




(f) For Retrospective Changes that do not require a Meter Reading, provide the Actual Change 




Date within 2 days of receipt of the Data Request. 




(g) For Retrospective Changes, ensure that the Actual Change Date submitted is no earlier than 




the time limit specified by the Jurisdiction for the Change Reason Code on the Change 




Request. 




For example, if the Jurisdictional timeframe for a Change Reason Code is 10 days, the Actual 




Change Date must be no earlier than 10 days prior to the date the Data Request was 




received, even if MSATS would allow an earlier date. 




(h) For changes that require a Meter Reading, provide the Actual Change Date within 2 days of 




the Meter Reading. 




(i) Where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, where the Read Type Code requires the NSRD 




or the Special Read Date, forward the Meter Reading taken at this time to the Current 




FRMP, New FRMP, Current ENLR. 




(j) Where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, if the NSRD or Special Read Date nominated 




by the New FRMP as the proposed date is not within a date range that is two business days 




prior to or two business days subsequent to the Scheduled Reading Date, or the date 




nominated by the New FRMP for the Retrospective Change does not correspond to a read 




date, the MDP must Object to the Change Request. 




(k) Where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, if the next Scheduled Meter Reading or 




Special Meter Reading does not occur within a date range that is three business days before 




or two business days after the Special Read Date or NSRD the MDP must advise the New 




FRMP of the failure to take a Meter Reading within 2 days and await instructions from the 




FRMP. 




(l) Where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, if the Read Type Code requires an Estimated 




Reading, prepare the Estimated Reading and submit this to MSATS as the Actual Change 




Date. 




(m) Where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, if the Read Type Code requires an End User 




Meter Reading, obtain it from the New FRMP and submit this value to MSATS as the Actual 




Change Date (only if allowed by the Jurisdiction). 




(n) If the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, for Retrospective Changes, where the Meter 




Reading occurred prior the Change Request being submitted, provide the Actual Change 




Date 2 days of receipt of the Data Request. 




(o) If the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, if requested by the New FRMP, carry out an Actual 




Meter Reading within the time periods specified in the metrology procedure (only if allowed 




by the Jurisdiction). 




9.6. MC Requirements 




The MC must ensure MDP, MPC and MPB roles are correct and if not raise appropriate Change 




Request to update. Refer to section 30 to 36 for Change Request types for Role Changes. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 69 of 172 
 




9.7. Timeframe Rules 




When preparing a Change Request, the New FRMP must choose, for the identified Change Reason 




Codes, a Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and the Retrospective 




Period, as shown in Table 9-A. 




Table 9-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 1080 – Change Retailer – Child NMI  




Jurisdiction Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




ALL 1 20 0 65 




CR 1081 – Change Retailer – Child NMI – Retrospective – Align Meter Rd 




Jurisdiction Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing 




Period (business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




ALL** 1 20 10 0 




CR 1082 – Change Retailer Child – Retrospective: Long Term/Error 




Jurisdiction Objection Logging 




Period (business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




SMALL 




NMI 




LARGE 




NMI 




SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 




ALL 1  20  130 0 




ACT  1  10 130 0 




NSW  1  10 130 0 




VIC  1  20 130 0 




QLD  1  20 130 0 




SA  1  20 130 0 




CR 1083 – Change Retailer Child NMI – Move-In 




Jurisdiction Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing 




Period (business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




ALL 1 20 0 65 




CR 1084 – Change Retailer Child NMI – Move-In – Retrospective 




Jurisdiction Objection Logging 




Period (business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




ALL 1 20 10 0 




9.8. Objection Rules 




The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 9-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 




their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 9-A. 




Table 9-B – Objection Rules
**
 




CR 1080 – Change Retailer – Child NMI 




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADMETER ALL ALL - - -  Yes Yes   - -  - - - 




NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 70 of 172 
 




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 




LARGE NSW Yes 




NOACC SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




DEBT SMALL VIC - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




CONTRACT LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 




CR 1081 – Change Retailer – Child NMI – Retrospective Align Meter Rd  




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADMETER SMALL ALL - - -  Yes Yes   - -  - - - 




BADPARTY SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




DECLINED SMALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 




NOTAPRD SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




DATEBAD SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




DEBT SMALL VIC - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




RETRO SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




CONTRACT LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 




CR 1082 – Change Retailer Child – Retrospective: Long Term/Error 




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




DATEBAD ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




BADMETER  ALL ALL - - -  Yes Yes   - -  - - - 




BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 




NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




DEBT SMALL VIC - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




RETRO SMALL NSW 




SA 




VIC 




- Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




CONTRACT LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 




CR 1083 – Change Retailer Child NMI – Move-In 




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADMETER ALL ALL - - -  Yes Yes   - -  - - - 




BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 




NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




NOACC SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




CONTRACT LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 71 of 172 
 




CR 1084 – Change Retailer Child NMI – Move-In – Retrospective 




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADMETER ALL ALL - - -  Yes Yes   - -  - - - 




BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 




NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




DATEBAD ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




NOACC SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




CONTRACT LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




9.9. Change Request Status Notification Rules 




The Change Request Status Notification Rules for the Change Reason Codes identified in section 




9.1 are specified in Table 9-C. 




Table 9-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 




CR 1080 – Change Retailer – Child NMI 




CR 1081 – Change Retailer – Child NMI – Retrospective Align Meter Rd 




CR 1083 – Change Retailer Child NMI – Move-In 




CR 1084 – Change Retailer Child NMI – Move-In – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 




COMPLETED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 




OBJECTED Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 




PENDING Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 




REJECTED Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 




REQUESTED Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 




CR 1082 – Change Retailer Child – Retrospective: Long Term/Error 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 




COMPLETED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 




OBJECTED Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 




PENDING Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 




REJECTED Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 




REQUESTED Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 72 of 172 
 




10. PROVIDE DATA – PROVIDE ACTUAL CHANGE DATE – SMALL OR LARGE 




10.1. Application [1500] 




Section 10 applies to the following Change Reason Code: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




1500 – Provide Actual Change Date 




(MDP) 




The MDP is required to provide MSATS with the Actual Change Date 




following the Initiation of a Change Request by a FRMP or MC requiring an 




Actual Change Date. 




10.2. Conditions Precedent 




(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The FRMP or the MC has Initiated a Change Request requiring an Actual Change Date. 




(c) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




(d) The MDP has received a Data Request for the provision of the Actual Change Date. 




10.3. Initiating Roles 




The MDP may initiate a Change Request to submit an Actual Change Date to MSATS in 




accordance with section 10.4. 




10.4. MDP Requirements 




The MDP must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 




Change Request. 




(c) Provide the Actual Change Date to MSATS within 2 days of reading the meter or otherwise 




prescribed by the relevant Jurisdiction. In the case of a Retrospective Change, it must be 




provided within 2 days of notification. 




(d) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Actual Change Date Related Change Request ID 




MDP   




10.5. Timeframe Rules 




When preparing a Change Request, the MDP must choose a Proposed Change Date that lies 




between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 10-A. 




Table 10-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 1500 – Provide Actual Change Date (MDP) 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




0 0 20 0 




10.6. Objection Rules 




Objections are not permitted. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 73 of 172 
 




10.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 




The Change Request Status Notification Rules for the Change Reason Codes identified in section 




10.1 are specified inTable 10-B. 




Table 10-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 




CR 1500 – Provide Actual Change Date (MDP) 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




COMPLETED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REJECTED - - - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - 




REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 74 of 172 
 




11. CREATE NMI – CREATE A NMI – SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 




11.1. Application [2000 2001] 




Section 11 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




2000 – Create NMI Details Used where the New LNSP establishes the initial set of information in MSATS 




about a connection point to apply from a Prospective Day. 




2001 – Create NMI Details – 




Retrospective 




Used where the New LNSP establishes the initial set of information in MSATS 




about a connection point to apply from a Retrospective Day. 




11.2. Conditions Precedent 




(a) The NMI does not exist in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL, LARGE or NCONUML. 




11.3. Initiating Roles 




A New LNSP may initiate a Change Request to create a NMI record in MSATS in accordance with 




section 11.4. 




11.4. LNSP Requirements 




The New LNSP must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 




Change Request. 




 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date TNI Code 




DLF Code NMI Classification Code Jurisdiction Code 




FRMP (as nominated) LR RoLR 




RP MDP MPB 




MPC NMI Status Code Locality 




State Postcode  




(d) Nominate itself as the New LNSP. 




(e) Populate the Change Request with values for the following address fields (as appropriate): 




EITHER 




DPID Flat Number Flat Type 




Floor Number Floor Type House Number 




House Number Suffix Location Descriptor Lot Number 




Street Name Street Suffix Street Type 




OR 




Unstructured Address 1 Unstructured Address 2 Unstructured Address 3 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 75 of 172 
 




 




The New LNSP may populate the Change Request with the following information: 




Parent Name Building name Feeder Class 




Customer Threshold Code    




11.5. MPB Requirements 




On receipt of the Change Request Status notification for the Completed status, the New MPB must 




provide the Metering Installation Type Code to MSATS when known, using Change Reason Code 




3000 or 3001. 




11.6. Timeframe Rules 




When preparing a Change Request, the New LNSP must choose, for the identified Change Reason 




Codes, a Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective 




Period, as shown inTable 11-A. 




Table 11-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 2000 – Create NMI Details 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 




1 1 10 20 0 65 




CR 2001 – Create NMI Details – Retrospective  




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




1 10 130 0 




11.7. Objection Rules 




The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in  Table 11-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 




their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 11-A. 




Table 11-B – Objection Rules
**
 




CR 2000 – Create NMI Details 




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




NOTRESP SMALL ALL Yes - - - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - - - 




LARGE - 




CR 2001 – Create NMI Details – Retrospective 




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




NOTRESP SMALL ALL Yes - - - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - - - 




LARGE - 




RETRO ALL ALL Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - - 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 76 of 172 
 




11.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 




The Change Request Status Notification Rules for the Change Reason Codes identified in section 




11.1 are specified in Table 11-C. 




Table 11-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 




CR 2000 – Create NMI Details 




CR 2001 – Create NMI Details – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status 




Change  




FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED Yes - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




COMPLETED Yes - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




OBJECTED Yes - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




PENDING Yes - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




REJECTED Yes - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




REQUESTED Yes - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 77 of 172 
 




12. CREATE NMI – CREATE CHILD NMI – SMALL OR LARGE 




12.1. Application [2020 2021] 




Section 12 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




2020 – Create NMI Details – Child Used where the New ENM establishes the initial set of information in 




MSATS about a connection point that is, or will be, connected to an 




embedded network to apply from a Prospective Day. 




2021 – Create NMI Details – Child – 




Retrospective 




Used where the New ENM establishes the initial set of information in 




MSATS about a connection point that is, or will be, connected to an 




embedded network to apply from a Retrospective Day. 




12.2. Conditions Precedent 




(a) The NMI does not exist in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




12.3. Initiating Roles 




A New ENM may initiate a Change Request to create a NMI record in MSATS in accordance with 




section 12.4. 




12.4. ENM Requirements 




The New ENM must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 




Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date TNI Code 




DLF Code NMI Classification Code Jurisdiction Code 




Child Name FRMP (as nominated) LR 




RoLR RP MDP 




MPB MPC NMI Status Code 




Locality State Postcode 




LNSP; as the ENM    




 




(d) Nominate itself as the LNSP 




(e) Populate the Change Request with values for the following address fields (as appropriate): 




EITHER 




DPID Flat Number Flat Type 




Floor Number Floor Type House Number 




House Number Suffix Location Descriptor Lot Number 




Street Name Street Suffix Street Type 




OR  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 78 of 172 
 




Unstructured Address 1 Unstructured Address 2 Unstructured Address 3 




 




The New ENM may populate the Change Request with the following information: 




Parent Name Building Name Feeder Class 




Customer Threshold Code    




12.5. MPB Requirements 




The New MPB must on receipt of the Change Request Status notification for the Completed status, 




provide the Metering Installation Type Code to MSATS using Change Reason Code 3000 or 3001. 




12.6. Timeframe Rules 




When preparing a Change Request, the New ENM must choose a Proposed Change Date that lies 




between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 12-A. 




Table 12-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 2020 – Create NMI Details – Child 




Objection Logging Period  




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 




1 1 10 20 0 65 




CR 2021 – Create NMI Details – Child – Retrospective 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 




1 1 10 20 130 0 




12.7. Objection Rules 




The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 12-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 




their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 12-A. 




Table 12-B – Objection Rules
**
 




CR 2020 – Create NMI Details – Child 




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADPARTY SMALL NSW 




VIC 




SA 




- - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




LARGE ALL 




NOTRESP SMALL NSW 




VIC 




SA 




Yes - - - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - - - 




LARGE ALL 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 79 of 172 
 




CR 2021 – Create NMI Details – Child – Retrospective 




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADPARTY SMALL NSW 




VIC 




SA 




- - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




LARGE ALL 




NOTRESP SMALL NSW 




VIC 




SA 




Yes - 




 




- 




 




- 




 




Yes 




 




- 




 




Yes 




 




- 




 




- 




 




- 




 




Yes 




 




- 




 




- 




 




- 




 




LARGE ALL 




RETRO SMALL NSW 




VIC 




SA 




Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




LARGE ALL 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




12.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 




The Change Request Status Notification Rules for the Change Reason Codes identified in section 




12.1 are specified in Table 12-C. 




Table 12-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 




CR 2020 – Create NMI Details – Child 




CR 2021 – Create NMI Details – Child – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




COMPLETED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - -  - Yes - 




OBJECTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




PENDING Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




REJECTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




REQUESTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 80 of 172 
 




13. CREATE NMI – CREATE NMI, METERING INSTALLATION DETAILS AND NMI 




DATASTREAM – SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 




13.1. Application [2500 2501] 




Section 13 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




2500 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter 




Details 




Used where the New LNSP is able to provide the Datastream and 




metering installation details at the same time it establishes the 




initial set of information in MSATS for a connection point to apply 




from a Prospective Day. 




2501 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter 




Details – Retrospective 




Used where the New LNSP is able to provide the Datastream and 




metering installation details at the same time it establishes the 




initial set of information in MSATS for a connection point to apply 




from a Retrospective Day. 




13.2. Conditions Precedent 




(a) The NMI does not exist in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL, LARGE or NCONUML. 




13.3. Initiating Roles 




If the New LNSP meets the condition imposed by section 13.2 the New LNSP may initiate a Change 




Request to create a NMI, metering installation details and NMI Datastream in MSATS in 




accordance with section13.4. 




13.4. LNSP Requirements 




The New LNSP must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 




Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date TNI Code 




DLF Code NMI Classification Code Jurisdiction Code 




FRMP (as nominated) LR RoLR 




RP MDP MPB 




MPC NMI Status Code Locality 




State Postcode Meter Serial ID (at least one) 




Metering Installation Type Code 




(for each meter) 




Meter Register Status Code (for 




each meter) 




Register ID (at least one for each 




meter) 




Register Identifier Status Code 




(for each register) 




Network Tariff Code Actual/Cumulative Indicator (for 




each register) 




Controlled Load Indicator (for 




each register) 




Dial Format (for each register) Multiplier Value (for each 




register) 




Time of Day Code (for each 




register) 




Unit of Measure Code (for each 




register) 




NMI Suffix (at least one) 




Datastream Type (for each suffix) Profile Name (for each suffix) ADL (for each suffix) 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 81 of 172 
 




Datastream Status Code (for 




each suffix) 




MDM Contributory Suffix (for 




each register) 




 




 




(d) Nominate itself as the New LNSP. 




(e) Provide the ADL if this value is not otherwise provided by the New FRMP. 




(f) Populate the Change Request with values for the following address fields (as applicable), 




EITHER 




DPID Flat Number Flat Type 




Floor Number Floor Type House Number 




House Number suffix Location Descriptor Lot Number 




Street Name Street Suffix Street Type 




OR 




Unstructured Address 1 Unstructured Address 2 Unstructured Address 3 




The New LNSP may: 




(g) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 




Parent Name Building name Feeder Class 




Customer Threshold Code    




(h) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each meter:  




Additional Site information NSRD Meter Location 




Meter Hazard Meter Route Meter Use 




Meter Point Meter Manufacturer Meter Model 




Transformer Location Transformer Type Transformer Ratio 




Meter Constant Last Test Date Next Test Date 




Test Result Accuracy Test Result Notes Test Performed By 




Measurement Type Meter Program Meter Read Type 




Remote Phone Number Communication Equipment Type Communication Protocol 




Data Conversion Arrangements Data Validation Arrangements Estimation Instructions 




Asset Management Plan Details Calibration Tables (details of any 




calibration factors programmed 




into the meter) 




Password Details (the read and 




time set passwords only, 




separated by a space; the write 




password is not to be recorded 




in MSATS) 




Test and Calibration Program 




Details 




User Access Rights Details (i.e. 




details of any End User access to 




the metering installation such as 




pulse outputs) 




 




(i) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each register: 




Network Tariff Code Additional 




Information 




Demand Value 1, if the Network 




Tariff includes a demand 




component 




Demand Value 2, if the Network 




Tariff includes a second demand 




component 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 82 of 172 
 




13.5. Timeframe Rules 




When preparing a Change Request, the New LNSP must choose, for the identified Change Reason 




Codes, a Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective 




Period, as shown inTable 13-A. 




Table 13-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 2500 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter Details 




Objection Logging Period  




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period  




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 




1 1 10 20 0 65 




CR 2501 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter Details – Retrospective 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 




1 1 10 20 130 0 




13.6. Objection Rules 




The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 13-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 




their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 13-A. 




Table 13-B – Objection Rules
**
 




CR 2500 – Create NMI, Datastream + Meter Details 




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADPARTY SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




LARGE - 




NOTRESP ALL ALL Yes - - - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - - - 




CR 2501 – Create NMI, Datastream + Meter Details – Retro 




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




NOTRESP ALL ALL Yes - - - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - - - 




RETRO ALL ALL Yes  - - - - - - - - - - - - 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 83 of 172 
 




13.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 




The Change Request Status Notification Rules for the Change Reason Codes identified in section 




13.1 are specified in Table 13-C. 




Table 13-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 




CR 2500 – Create NMI, Datastream + Meter Details 




CR 2501 – Create NMI, Datastream + Meter Details – Retro 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED Yes - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




COMPLETED Yes - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




OBJECTED Yes - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




PENDING Yes - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




REJECTED Yes - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




REQUESTED Yes - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 84 of 172 
 




14. CREATE NMI – CREATE NMI, METERING INSTALLATION DETAILS AND MDM 




DATASTREAM – CHILD NMI (SMALL OR LARGE) 




14.1. Application [2520 2521] 




Section 14 applies to the following Change Reason Codes:  




Change Reason Code Comment 




2520 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter 




Details – Child NMI 




 




Used where the New ENM makes a Prospective Chage to the 




Datastream and metering installation details at the same time it 




establishes the initial set of information in MSATS about a 




connection point that is connected to an embedded network.  




2521 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter – 




Child NMI - Retrospective 




 




Used where the New ENM makes a Retrospective Chage to the 




Datastream and metering installation details at the same time it 




establishes the initial set of information in MSATS about a 




connection point that is connected to an embedded network.  




14.2. Conditions Precedent 




(a) The NMI does not exist in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI classification code is SMALL or LARGE. 




14.3. Initiating Roles 




(a) A New ENM may initiate a Change Request to create a NMI, metering installation details 




and MDM Datastream for an embedded network in the MSATS system in accordance with 




clause 14.4. 




(b) The New ENM must use one of the following Change Reason Codes 2520 or 2521 to 




establish a Change Request. 




14.4. ENM Requirements 




The New ENM must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the initiation of the 




Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date TNI Code 




DLF Code NMI Classification code Jurisdiction Code 




FRMP (as nominated) LR ROLR 




RP MDP MPB 




MPC LNSP; as the ENM NMI Status Code 




Child Name Locality State 




Postcode Meter Serial ID (at least one) Metering Installation Type Code 




(for each meter) 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 85 of 172 
 




Meter Register Status Code (for 




each meter) 




Register ID (at least one for each 




meter) 




Register Identifier Status Code 




(for each register) 




Network Tariff Code Actual/Cumulative Indicator (for 




each register) 




Controlled Load Indicator (for 




each register) 




Dial Format (for each register) Multiplier Value (for each 




register) 




Time of Day Code (for each 




register) 




Unit of Measure Code (for each 




register) 




NMI Suffix (at least one) Datastream Type (for each suffix) 




Profile Name (for each suffix) ADL (for each suffix) Datastream Status Code (for 




each suffix) 




MDM Contributory Suffix (for 




each register) 




  




(d) Nominate itself as the new LNSP. 




(e) Populate the Change Request with values for the following address fields (as applicable): 




EITHER: 




DPID Flat Number Flat Type 




Floor Number Floor Type House Number 




House Number Suffix Location Descriptor Lot Number 




Street Name Street Suffix Street Type 




OR  




Unstructured Address 1 Unstructured Address 2 Unstructured Address 3 




The New ENM may: 




(f) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 




Embedded Network Parent 




Name 




Building Name Feeder Class 




Customer Threshold Code    




 




(g) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each meter:  




Additional Site Information NSRD Meter Location 




Meter Hazard Meter Route Meter Use 




Meter Point Meter Manufacturer Meter Model 




Transformer Location Transformer Type Transformer Ratio 




Meter Constant Last Test Date Next Test Date 




Test Result Accuracy Test Result Notes Test Performed By 




Measurement Type Meter Program Meter Read Type 




Remote Phone Number Communication Equipment Type Communication Protocol 




Data Conversion Arrangements Data Validation Arrangements Estimation Instructions 




Asset Management Plan Details Calibration Tables (details of any 




calibration factors programmed 




into the meter) 




Password Details (the read and 




time set passwords only, 




separated by a space; the write 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 86 of 172 
 




password is not to be recorded 




in MSATS) 




Test And Calibration Program 




details 




User Access Rights Details (i.e. 




details of any End User access to 




the metering installation such as 




pulse outputs) 




 




(h) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each register: 




Network Tariff Code Additional 




Information 




Demand Value 1, if the Network 




Tariff includes a demand 




component 




Demand Value 2, if the Network 




Tariff includes a second demand 




component 




14.5. Timeframe Rules 




The Timeframe Rules are shown in Table 14-A. 




Table 14-A – Time frame rules 




CR 2520 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter Details – Child NMI 




Objection Logging Period  




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period  




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 




1 1 10 20 0 65 




CR 2521 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter – Child NMI – Retrospective 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 




1 1 10 20 130 0 




14.6. Objection Rules 




The ’Yes’ Roles specified in inTable 14-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 




their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 14-A. 




Table 14-B – Objection Rules** 




CR 2520 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter Details – Child NMI 




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




NOTRESP ALL ALL Yes - - - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - Yes - 




CR 2521 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter – Child NMI - Retrospective 




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




NOTRESP ALL ALL Yes - - - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - Yes - 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 87 of 172 
 




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




RETRO 
SMALL 




NSW 




VIC 




SA 




Yes              




LARGE ALL 




**  N = New Role, C = Current Role.  




14.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 




The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified inTable 14-C. 




Table 14-C – Change request status notification rules** 




CR 2520 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter Details - Child NMI 




CR 2521 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter Details – Child NMI - Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE & ROLE STATUS – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




COMPLETED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - 




OBJECTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




PENDING Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




REJECTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




REQUESTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




**  N = New Role, C = Current Role.   















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 88 of 172 
 




15. MAINTAIN METERING – CREATE METERING INSTALLATION DETAILS – SMALL, 




LARGE OR NCONUML 




15.1. Application [3000 3001] 




Section 15 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




3000 – Create Metering Installation 




Details 




Used where the Current MPB makes a Prospective Change to the initial 




set of information in MSATS about the metering installation details, and 




there is no associated meter removal for the NMI for the same effective 




date.  




3001 – Create Metering Installation 




Details – Retrospective 




Used where the Current MPB makes a Retrospective Change to the 




initial set of information in MSATS about the metering installation 




details, and there is no associated meter removal for the NMI for the 




same effective date  




15.2. Conditions Precedent 




(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The metering installation details do not exist in MSATS. 




(c) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL, LARGE or NCONUML. 




15.3. Initiating Roles 




A Current MPB may initiate a Change Request to create metering installation records in MSATS in 




accordance with section 15.4. 




15.4. MPB Requirements 




The Current MPB must: 




(d) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(e) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 




Change Request. 




(f) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date Meter Serial ID (at least one) 




Metering Installation Type Code 




(for each meter) 




Meter Register Status Code (for 




each meter) 




Register ID (at least one for each 




meter) 




Register Identifier Status Code 




(for each register ID) 




Actual/Cumulative Indicator (for 




each Register ID) 




Controlled Load Indicator (for 




each Register ID) 




Dial Format (for each Register ID) Multiplier Value (for each 




Register ID) 




Time of Day Code (for each 




Register ID) 




Unit of Measure Code (for each 




Register ID) 




Network Tariff Code (for each 




Register ID) 




MDM Contributory Suffix (for 




each register) 




(g) Where changes to Network Tariff information are required: 




(i) Check that the Network Tariff Code is correct and, if it is not, update it to have the 




correct value. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 89 of 172 
 




(ii) Change the Network Tariff Code to ensure that the current information provided in 




MSATS is the latest information available from the Current LNSP. 




The Current MPB may: 




(h) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each meter: 




Additional Site Information Meter Hazard NSRD 




Meter Location Meter Point Meter Route 




Meter Use Transformer Location Meter Manufacturer 




Meter Model Meter Constant Transformer Type 




Transformer Ratio Test Result Accuracy Last Test Date 




Next Test Date Measurement Type Test Result Notes 




Test Performed By Remote Phone Number Meter Program 




Meter Read Type Data Conversion Arrangements Communication Equipment Yype 




Communication Protocol Asset Management Plan Details Data Validation Arrangements 




Estimation Instructions Test and Calibration Program 




Details 




Calibration Tables (details of any 




calibration factors programmed 




into the meter) 




Password Details (the read and 




time set passwords only, 




separated by a space; the write 




password is not to be recorded in 




MSATS) 




User Access Rights Details (i.e. 




details of any End User access to 




the metering installation such as 




pulse outputs) 




 




 




(i) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each register: 




Network Tariff Code Additional 




Information 




Demand Value 1, if the Network 




Tariff includes a demand 




component 




Demand Value 2, if the Network 




Tariff includes a second demand 




component 




 




(j) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information:  




Actual End Date   




 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 90 of 172 
 




15.5. Timeframe Rules 




When preparing a Change Request, the Current MPB must choose a Proposed Change Date that 




lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown inTable 15-A. 




Table 15-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 3000 – Create Meter Details 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




0 0 0 65 




CR 3001 – Create Meter Details – Retrospective 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




0 0 140 0 




15.6. Objection Rules 




Objections are not permitted. 




15.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 




The Change Request Status Notification Rules  are specified inTable 15-B. 




Table 15-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 




CR 3000 – Create Meter Details 




CR 3001 – Create Meter Details – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - - 




COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 




OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REJECTED - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - - 




REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 91 of 172 
 




16. MAINTAIN METERING – EXCHANGE OF METERING INFORMATION – SMALL, 




LARGE OR NCONUML 




16.1. Application [3004 3005] 




Section 16 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




3004 – Exchange of Metering 




information 




Used where the Current MPB is required to provide a Prospective Change to 




the information in MSATS about the metering installation details. The change 




will include the removal of at least one existing meter and the installation of at 




least one new meter. A minimum set of metering installation details for the NMI 




shall exist upon completion of the Change Request. 




3005 – Exchange of Metering 




information – Retrospective 




Used where the Current MPB is required to provide a Retrospective Change to 




the information in MSATS about the metering installation details. The change 




will include the removal of at least one existing meter and the installation of at 




least one new meter. A minimum set of metering installation details for the NMI 




shall exist upon completion of the Change Request. 




16.2. Conditions Precedent 




(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The metering installation details exist in MSATS. 




(c) At least one meter is removed and one meter is created in each Change Request. 




(d) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL, LARGE or NCONUML. 




(e) The Meter Serial ID for the installed meter shall be different to the existing Meter Serial ID 




for the same NMI. 




16.3. Initiating Roles 




A Current MPB may initiate a Change Request to change and create metering installation records 




in MSATS in accordance with section 16.4 




16.4. MPB Requirements 




The Current MPB must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 




Change Request. 




(c) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID Its Participant ID 




Proposed Change Date NMI and NMI Checksum NMI Checksum 




Meter Serial ID (for each meter)   




 




(d) For each meter associated to the NMI, where the Meter Register Status Code is to be ‘C’ 




populate the Change Request with the following information (where this information does 




not currently exist in MSATS):  




Meter Register Status Code Metering Installation Type Code   




 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 92 of 172 
 




(e) For all Register IDs associated with the NMI, where the Register Identifier Status Code is to 




be ‘C’ populate the Change Request with the following information (where this information 




does not currently exist in MSATS):  




Register ID Unit of Measure Code (for each 




Register ID) 




Multiplier Value (for each 




Register ID) 




Time of Day Code (for each 




Register ID) 




Dial Format (for each Register ID) Register Identifier Status Code 




(for each Register ID) 




Controlled Load Indicator (for 




each Register ID) 




Actual/Cumulative Indicator (for 




each Register ID) 




Network Tariff Code (for each 




Register ID) 




MDM Contributory Suffix (for 




each register) 




  




 




(f) Where changes to Network Tariff information are required: 




(i) Check that the Network Tariff Code is correct and, if it is not, update it to have the 




correct value. 




(ii) Change the Network Tariff Code to ensure that the current information provided in 




MSATS is the latest information available from the Current LNSP. 




The Current MPB may: 




(g) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each meter:  




Additional Site Information NSRD Meter Location 




Meter Hazard Meter Route Meter Use 




Meter Point Meter Manufacturer Meter Model 




Transformer Location Transformer Type Transformer Ratio 




Meter Constant Last Test Date Next Test Date 




Test Result Accuracy Test Result Notes Test Performed By 




Measurement Type Meter Program Meter Read Type 




Remote Phone Number Communication Equipment Type Communication Protocol 




Data Conversion Arrangements Data Validation Arrangements Estimation Instructions 




Asset Management Plan Details Calibration Tables (details of any 




calibration factors programmed 




into the meter) 




Password Details (the read and 




time set passwords only, 




separated by a space; the write 




password is not to be recorded 




in MSATS) 




Test and Calibration Program 




Details 




User Access Rights Details (i.e. 




details of any End User access to 




the metering installation such as 




pulse outputs) 




Network Tariff Code additional 




information 




Demand Value 1, if the Network 




Tariff includes a demand 




component 




Demand Value 2, if the Network 




Tariff includes a second demand 




component 




 




 




(h) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with:  




Actual End Date   















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 93 of 172 
 




16.5. Timeframe Rules 




When preparing a Change Request, the Current MPB must choose, a Proposed Change Date that 




lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown inTable 16-A. 




Table 16-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 3004 – Exchange of Metering Information 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




0 0 0 65 




CR 3005 – Exchange of Metering Information – Retrospective 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




0 0 140 0 




16.6. Objection Rules 




Objections are not permitted. 




16.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 




The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 16-B. 




Table 16-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 




CR 3004 – Exchange of Metering Information 




CR 3005 – Exchange of Metering Information – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - - 




COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 




OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REJECTED - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - - 




REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 94 of 172 
 




17. MAINTAIN METERING – CHANGE METERING INSTALLATION DETAILS – 




SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 




17.1. Application [3050 3051] 




Section 17 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




3050 – Change Metering Installation 




Details 




Used where the Current MPB is required to make a Prospective 




Change to the metering installation details in MSATS. Each Meter 




Serial ID must exist in MSATS and a minimum set of metering 




installation details for the NMI shall exist upon Completion of the 




Change Request. 




3051 – Change Metering Installation 




Details – Retrospective 




Used where the Current MPB is required to make a Retrospective 




Change to the metering installation details in MSATS. Each Meter 




Serial ID must exist in MSATS and a minimum set of metering 




installation details for the NMI shall exist upon Completion of the 




Change Request. 




17.2. Conditions Precedent 




(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The metering installation details exist in MSATS. 




(c) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL, LARGE or NCONUML. 




17.3. Initiating Roles 




A Current MPB may initiate a Change Request to change metering installation records in MSATS in 




accordance with section 17.4. 




17.4. MPB Requirements 




The Current MPB must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 




Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date Meter Serial ID (at least one) 




 




(d) For each meter associated with the NMI populate the Change Request with the following 




information (where this information does not currently exist in MSATS):  




Meter Register Status Code Metering Installation Type Code  




(e) For all Register IDs associated with the NMI, where the Register Identifier Status Code is to 




be ‘C’ populate the Change Request with the following information (where this information 




does not currently exist in MSATS):  




MDM Contributory Suffix (for a 




register) 




Network Tariff Code  




 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 95 of 172 
 




(f) For all Register IDs associated with the NMI, where the Register Identifier Status Code is to 




be ‘C’ populate the Change Request with the following information:  




Register ID Register Identifier Status Code Actual/Cumulative Indicator 




Controlled Load Indicator Dial Format Multiplier Value 




Time of Day Code Unit of Measure Code  




 




(g) Where changes to Network Tariff information are required: 




(i) Check that the Network Tariff Code is correct and, if it is not, update it to have the 




correct value. 




(ii) Change the Network Tariff Code to ensure that the current information provided in 




MSATS is the latest information available from the Current LNSP. 




The Current MPB may: 




(h) Populate the Change Request with the following information:  




 Meter Hazard Additional Site information 




Meter Location Meter Point Meter Route 




Meter Use Transformer Location Meter Manufacturer 




Meter Model Meter Constant Transformer Type 




Transformer Ratio Test Result Accuracy Last Test Date 




Next Test Date Measurement Type Test Result Notes 




Test Performed By Remote Phone Number Meter Program 




Meter Read Type Data Conversion Arrangements Communication Equipment Type 




Communication Protocol Asset Management Plan Details Data Validation Arrangements 




Estimation Instructions Test and Calibration Program 




Details 




Calibration Tables (details of any 




calibration factors programmed 




into the meter) 




Password Details (the read and 




time set passwords only, 




separated by a space; the write 




password is not to be recorded 




in MSATS) 




Demand Value 1, if the Network 




Tariff includes a demand 




component 




User Access Rights Details (i.e. 




details of any End User access to 




the metering installation such as 




pulse outputs) 




Network Tariff Code Additional 




Information 




Demand Value 2, if the Network 




Tariff includes a second demand 




component  




 




 




(i) For CR 3051, populate the Change Request with: 




Actual End Date   




 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 96 of 172 
 




17.5. Timeframe Rules 




When preparing a Change Request, the Current MPB must choose a Proposed Change Date that 




lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 17-A. 




Table 17-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 3050 – Change Meter Details 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




0 0 0 65 




CR 3051 – Change Meter Details – Retrospective 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




0 0 140 0 




17.6. Objection Rules 




Objections are not permitted. 




17.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 




The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 17-B. 




Table 17-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 




CR 3050 – Change Meter Details 




CR 3051 – Change Meter Details – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status 




Change  




FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - - 




COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 




OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REJECTED - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - - 




REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 97 of 172 
 




18. MAINTAIN METERING – ADVANCED CHANGE METERING INSTALLATION 




DETAILS – SMALL OR LARGE 




18.1. Application [3080 3081] 




Section 18 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




3080 – Advanced Change 




Metering Installation Details 




Used where the Current MC is required to provide Prospective Change(s) to 




the metering installation details in MSATS, including potential changes to 




Datastream information, and to the Roles of MDP, MPB and MPC. The 




Change Request must include one or more changes to metering installation 




details for a Meter Serial ID and each Meter Serial ID must exist in MSATS. A 




minimum set of metering installation details for the NMI shall exist upon 




Completion. 




3081 – Advanced Change 




Metering Installation Details – 




Retrospective 




Used where the Current MC is required to provide Retrospective Change(s) 




to the metering installation details in MSATS, including potential changes to 




Datastream information, and to the Roles of MDP, MPB and MPC. The 




Change Request must include one or more changes to metering installation 




details for a Meter Serial ID and each Meter Serial ID must exist in MSATS. A 




minimum set of metering installation details for the NMI shall exist upon 




Completion. 




18.2. Conditions Precedent 




(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The metering installation details exist in MSATS. 




(c) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




18.3. Initiating Roles 




(a) A Current MC may initiate a Change Request to change and create metering installation 




records in MSATS in accordance with section 18.4. 




(b) Where a change of Role is included in the Change Request, the initiator must agree with all 




affected Participants of the Roles that are changing prior to creating the Change Request. 




18.4. MC Requirements 




The Current MC must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 




Change Request. 




(c) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID Its Participant ID 




Proposed Change Date NMI NMI Checksum 




The Meter Serial ID (for each 




meter) 




  




 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 98 of 172 
 




(d) For each meter associated to the NMI, where the Meter Register Status Code is to be ‘C’, 




populate the Change Request with the following (where this information does not currently 




exist in MSATS):  




Meter Register Status Code  Metering Installation Type Code  




 




(e) For all Register IDs associated with the NMI, where the Register Identifier Status Code is to 




be ‘C’, populate the Change Request with the following (where this information does not 




currently exist in MSATS): 




Register ID Register Identifier Status Code 




(for each Register ID) 




Unit of Measure Code (for each 




Register ID) 




Multiplier Value (for each 




Register ID) 




Time of Day Code (for each 




Register ID) 




Dial Format (for each Register 




ID) 




Network Tariff Code (for each 




Register ID) 




Controlled Load Indicator (for 




each Register ID) 




Actual/Cumulative Indicator (for 




each Register ID) 




MDM Contributory Suffix (for 




each register) 




  




 




(f) For all Datastreams associated to the NMI, where the Datastream Status Code is to be ‘A’, 




populate the Change Request with the following information (where this information does 




not currently exist in MSATS): 




NMI Suffix Datastream Type (for each suffix) Profile Name (for each suffix) 




ADL (for each suffix) Datastream Status Code (for 




each suffix) 




 




The Current MC may: 




(g) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each meter:  




MDP MPB MPC 




Additional Site Information NSRD Meter Location 




Meter Hazard Meter Route Meter Use 




Meter Point Meter Manufacturer Meter Model 




Transformer Location Transformer Type Transformer Ratio 




Meter Constant Last Test Date Next Test Date 




Test Result Accuracy Test Result Notes Test Performed By 




Measurement Type Meter Program Meter Read Type 




Remote Phone Number Communication Equipment Type Communication Protocol 




Data Conversion Arrangements Data Validation Arrangements Estimation Instructions 




Asset Management Plan Details Calibration Tables (details of any 




calibration factors programmed 




into the meter) 




Password Details (the read and 




time set passwords only, 




separated by a space; the write 




password is not to be recorded 




in MSATS) 




Test and Calibration Program 




Details 




User Access Rights Details (i.e. 




details of any End User access to 




the metering installation such as 




pulse outputs) 




 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 99 of 172 
 




 




(h) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each register: 




Network Tariff Code Additional 




Information 




Demand Value 1, if the Network 




Tariff includes a demand 




component 




Demand Value 2, if the Network 




Tariff includes a second demand 




component 




 




(i) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with: 




Actual End Date   




 




(j) Where changes to Network Tariff information is required: 




(i) Check that the Network Tariff Code is correct and, if it is not, update it to have the 




correct value. 




(ii) Change the Network Tariff Code to ensure that the current information provided in 




MSATS is the latest information available from the Current LNSP. 




18.5. MDP Requirements 




On receipt of a Data Request for Change Reason Codes 3080, the MDP must initiate a Change 




Request to provide the Actual Change Date. 




18.6. Timeframe Rules 




When preparing a Change Request, the Current MC must choose a Proposed Change Date that 




lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 18-A. 




Table 18-A– Timeframe Rules 




CR 3080 – Advanced Change Metering Installation Details 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




1 20 0 65 




CR 3081 – Advanced Change Metering Installation Details – Retrospective  




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




1 20 130 0 




18.7. Objection Rules 




The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 18-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 




their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 18-A. 




Table 18-B– Objection Rules** 




CR 3080 – Advanced Change Metering Installation Details 




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB ROLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - Yes - - - - - - - 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 100 of 172 
 




CR 3081 – Advanced Change Metering Installation Details – Retrospective 




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB ROLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - Yes - - - - - - - 




BADDATA ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




18.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 




The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 18-C. 




Table 18-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 




CR 3080 – Advanced Change Metering Installation Details 




CR 3081 – Advanced Change Metering Installation Details – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - Yes - -  Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 




COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 




OBJECTED - Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 




PENDING - Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 




REJECTED - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - Yes 




REQUESTED - Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 101 of 172 
 




19. MAINTAIN METERING – ADVANCED EXCHANGE OF METERING – SMALL OR 




LARGE 




19.1. Application [3090 3091] 




Section 19 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




3090 – Advanced Exchange of 




Metering 




Used where the Current MC is required to provide a Prospective Change to the 




information in MSATS relating to the metering installation details, including 




potential changes to Datastream information, Network Tariff Code and to the 




Roles of MDP, MPB and MPC. The change shall include the removal of at least 




one existing meter and the installation of at least one new meter. A minimum 




set of metering installation details for the NMI shall exist upon Completion. 




3091 – Advanced Exchange of 




Metering – Retrospective 




Used where the Current MC is required to provide a Retrospective Change to 




the information in MSATS relating to the metering installation details, including 




potential changes to Datastream information, Network Tariff Code and to the 




Roles of MDP, MPB and MPC. The change shall include the removal of at least 




one existing meter and the installation of at least one new meter. A minimum 




set of metering installation details for the NMI shall exist upon Completion. 




19.2. Conditions Precedent 




(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The metering installation details exist in MSATS. 




(c) At least one meter is removed and one meter is created in each Change Request. 




(d) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




(e) The Meter Serial ID for the installed meter shall be different to the existing Meter Serial ID 




for the same NMI. 




19.3. Initiating Roles 




(a) A Current MC may initiate a Change Request to change and create metering installation 




records in MSATS in accordance with section 19.4. 




(b) Where a change of Role is included in the Change Request the initiator must agree with all 




affected Participants of the Roles that are changing prior to creating the Change Request. 




19.4. MC Requirements 




The Current MC must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 




Change Request. 




(c) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID Its Participant ID 




Proposed Change Date NMI NMI Checksum 




Meter Serial ID (for each meter)   




 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 102 of 172 
 




(d) For each meter associated to the NMI, where the Meter Register Status Code is to be ‘C’ 




populate the Change Request with the following information (where this information does 




not currently exist in MSATS):  




Metering Installation Type Code Meter Register Status Code   




 




(e) For all Register IDs associated with the NMI, where the Register Identifier Status Code is to 




be ‘C’ populate the Change Request with the following information (where this information 




does not currently exist in MSATS):  




Register ID Register Identifier Status Code 




(for each Register ID) 




Unit of Measure Code (for each 




Register ID) 




Multiplier Value (for each 




Register ID) 




Time of Day Code (for each 




register ID) 




Dial Format (for each register ID) 




Network Tariff Code (for each 




Register ID) 




Controlled Load Indicator (for 




each Register ID) 




Actual/Cumulative Indicator (for 




each Register ID) 




MDM Contributory Suffix (for 




each register) 




  




 




(f) For all Datastreams associated to the NMI, where the Datastream Status Code is to be ‘A’ 




populate the Change Request with the following information (where this information does 




not currently exist in MSATS):  




NMI Suffix Datastream Type (for each suffix) Profile Name (for each suffix) 




ADL (for each suffix) Datastream Status Code (for each 




suffix) 




 




The Current MC may: 




(g) Populate the Change Request with the following information:  




MDP MPB MPC 




Additional Site Information NSRD Meter Location 




Meter Hazard Meter Route Meter Use 




Meter Point Meter Manufacturer Meter Model 




Transformer Location Transformer Type Transformer Ratio 




Meter Constant Last Test Date Next Test Date 




Test Result Accuracy Test Result Notes Test Performed By 




Measurement Type Meter Program Meter Read Type 




Remote Phone Number Communication Equipment Type Communication Protocol 




Data Conversion Arrangements Data Validation Arrangements Estimation Instructions 




Asset Management Plan Details Calibration Tables (details of any 




calibration factors programmed 




into the meter) 




Password Details (the read and 




time set passwords only, 




separated by a space; the write 




password is not to be recorded in 




MSATS) 




Test and Calibration Program 




Details 




User Access Rights Details (i.e. 




details of any End User access to 




the metering installation such as 




pulse outputs) 




 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 103 of 172 
 




 




(h) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each register: 




Network Tariff Code Additional 




Information 




Demand Value 1, if the Network 




Tariff includes a demand 




component 




Demand Value 2, if the Network 




Tariff includes a second demand 




component 




 




(i) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with:  




Actual End Date   




 




(j) Where changes to Network Tariff information are required: 




(i) Check that the Network Tariff Code is correct and, if it is not, update it to have the 




correct value. 




(ii) Change the Network Tariff Code to ensure that the current information provided in 




MSATS is the latest information available from the Current LNSP. 




19.5. MDP Requirements 




On receipt of a Data Request for Change Reason Code 3090, the MDP must initiate a Change 




Request to provide the Actual Change Date. 




19.6. Timeframe Rules 




When preparing a Change Request, the Current MC must choose a Proposed Change Date that 




lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 19-A. 




Table 19-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 3090 – Advanced Exchange of Metering 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




1 20 0 65 




CR 3091 – Advanced Exchange of Metering – Retrospective  




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




1 20 130 0 




19.7. Objection Rules 




The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 19-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 




their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 19-A. 




Table 19-B – Objection Rules
**
 




CR 3090 – Advanced Exchange of Metering 




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - Yes - - - - - - - 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 104 of 172 
 




CR 3091 – Advanced Exchange of Metering – Retrospective 




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - Yes - - - - - - - 




BADDATA ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




19.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 




The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 19-C. 




Table 19-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 




CR 3090 – Advance Exchange of Metering 




CR 3091 – Advance Exchange of Metering – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 




COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 




OBJECTED - Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 




PENDING - Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 




REJECTED - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - Yes 




REQUESTED - Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 105 of 172 
 




20. MAINTAIN METERING – CHANGE NETWORK TARIFF CODE – SMALL, LARGE 




OR NCONUML 




20.1. Application [3100 3101] 




Section 20 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




3100 – Change Network Tariff Used where the Current LNSP (or the ENM in the case of a Child 




NMI) is required to make a Prospective Change to Network Tariff 




Code. 




3101 – Change Network Tariff – 




Retrospective 




Used where the Current LNSP (or the ENM in the case of a Child 




NMI) is required to make a Retrospective Change to the Network 




Tariff Code. 




20.2. Conditions Precedent 




(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL, LARGE or NCONUML. 




(c) The Meter Register data is loaded into MSATS. 




20.3. Initiating Roles 




A Current LNSP (or the ENM in the case of a Child NMI) may initiate a Change Request to change 




a Network Tariff Code in accordance with section 20.4. 




20.4. LNSP or ENM Requirements 




The Current LNSP (or ENM in the case of a Child NMI) must for each Register ID: 




(a) Check that the Network Tariff Code created by the MPB when the meter was created in 




MSATS is correct and, if it is not, update it to have the correct value. 




(b) Change the Network Tariff Code in MSATS to ensure that the current information provided 




in MSATS is the latest information available from the Current LNSP. 




(c) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(d) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 




Change Request. 




(e) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date Meter Serial ID 




Register ID Network Tariff Code (for each 




register) 




 




The Current LNSP (or the ENM in the case of a Child NMI) may: 




(f) Populate a Change Request with the following information:  




Network Tariff Code additional information  




(g) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information:  




Actual End Date   















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 106 of 172 
 




20.5. Timeframe Rules 




When preparing a Change Request, the Current LNSP (or ENM in the case of a Child NMI) must 




choose, for the identified Change Reason Codes, a Proposed Change Date that lies between the 




Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 20-A. 




Table 20-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 3100 – Change Network Tariff  




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




0 0 0 65 




CR 3101 – Change Network Tariff – Retrospective 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




0 0 140 0 




20.6. Objection Rules 




Objections are not permitted. 




20.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 




The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 20-B. 




Table 20-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 




CR 3100 – Change Network Tariff 




CR 3101 – Change Network Tariff – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status 




Change  




FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 




COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 




OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REJECTED - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 




REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 107 of 172 
 




21. MAINTAIN DATASTREAM – CREATE NMI DATASTREAM –SMALL, LARGE OR 




NCONUML 




21.1. Application [4000 4001] 




Section 21 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




4000 – Create NMI Datastream 




Details 




Used where the Current MDP makes a Prospective Change to the initial 




set of information in MSATS about the NMI Datastream details, and there 




is no associated Datastream Status Code change to inactive for the NMI 




for the same effective date.  




4001 – Create NMI Datastream 




Details – Retrospective 




Used where the Current MDP makes a Retrospective Change to the initial 




set of information in MSATS about the NMI Datastream details, and there 




is no associated Datastream Status Code change to inactive for the NMI 




for the same effective date. 




21.2. Conditions Precedent 




(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI Datastream details do not exist in MSATS 




(c) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL, LARGE or NCONUML. 




21.3. Initiating Roles 




A Current MDP may initiate a Change Request to create an NMI Datastream in MSATS in 




accordance with section 21.4. 




21.4. MDP Requirements 




The Current MDP must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 




Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date NMI Suffix (at least one) 




Datastream Type (for each suffix) Profile Name (for each suffix) ADL (for each suffix) 




Datastream Status Code (for 




each suffix) 




  




(d) Obtain the ADL from the LNSP if this value is not otherwise provided by the New FRMP. 




The Current MDP may: 




(e) for Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information:  




Actual End Date   















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 108 of 172 
 




21.5. Timeframe Rules 




When preparing a Change Request, the Current MDP must choose, for the identified Change 




Reason Code, a Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective 




Period, as shown in Table 21-A. 




Table 21-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 4000 – Create NMI Datastream Details 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




0 0 0 65 




CR 4001 – Create NMI Datastream Details – Retrospective 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




0 0 140 0 




21.6. Objection Rules 




Objections are not permitted. 




21.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 




The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 21-B. 




Table 21-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 




CR 4000 – Create NMI Datastream Details 




CR 4001 – Create NMI Datastream Details – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status 




Change  




FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - - - - - - - Yes - - - - - - 




COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 




OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REJECTED - - - - - - - Yes - - - - - - 




REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 109 of 172 
 




22. MAINTAIN DATASTREAM – EXCHANGE OF DATASTREAM INFORMATION 




SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 




22.1. Application [4004 4005] 




Section 22 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




4004 – Exchange of Datastream 




Information 




Used where the Current MDP is required to make a Prospective Change to the 




NMI Datastream in MSATS. The change will include at least one Datastream 




Status Code change to inactive and the creation of at least one new 




Datastream. A minimum set of NMI Datastream details for the NMI shall exist 




upon Completion. 




4005 – Exchange of Datastream 




Information – Retrospective 




Used where the Current MDP is required to make a Retrospective Change to 




the NMI Datastream in MSATS. The change will include at least one 




Datastream Status Code change to inactive and the creation of at least one 




new Datastream. A minimum set of NMI Datastream details for the NMI shall 




exist upon Completion. 




22.2. Conditions Precedent 




(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The metering installation details exist in MSATS. 




(c) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL, LARGE or NCONUML. 




22.3. Initiating Roles 




A Current MDP may initiate a Change Request to exchange Datastream records in MSATS in 




accordance with section 22.4. 




22.4. MDP Requirements 




The Current MDP must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 




Change Request. 




(c) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID Its Participant ID 




Proposed Change Date NMI NMI Checksum 




 




(d) For all Datastreams associated to the NMI, where the Datastream Status Code is to be ‘A’ 




populate the Change Request with the following information: (where this information does 




not currently exist in MSATS);  




NMI Suffix (at least one) Datastream Type (for each suffix) Profile Name (for each suffix) 




ADL (for each suffix) Datastream Status Code (for 




each suffix) 




 




The Current MDP may: 




(e) Populate the Change Request with the following information:  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 110 of 172 
 




Meter Serial ID (for each meter) Register ID (for each Register ID) MDM Contributory Suffix (for 




each Register ID) 




(f) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with:  




Actual End Date   




22.5. Timeframe Rules 




When preparing a Change Request, the Current MDP must choose a Proposed Change Date that 




lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 22-A. 




Table 22-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 4004 – Exchange of Datastream Information 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




0 0 0 65 




CR 4005 – Exchange of Datastream Information – Retrospective 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




0 0 140 0 




22.6. Objection Rules 




Objections are not permitted. 




22.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 




The Change Request Status Notification Rules for the Change Reason Codes identified in section 




22.1 are specified in Table 22-B. 




Table 22-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 




CR 4004 – Exchange of Datastream Information 




CR 4005 – Exchange of Datastream Information – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - - - - - - - Yes - - - - - - 




COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 




OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REJECTED - - - - - - - Yes - - - - - - 




REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 111 of 172 
 




23. MAINTAIN DATASTREAM – CHANGE NMI DATASTREAM – SMALL, LARGE OR 




NCONUML 




23.1. Application [4050 4051] 




Section 23 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




4050 – Change NMI 




Datastream 




Used where the Current MDP is required to make a Prospective Change to the 




NMI Datastream in MSATS. Each Datastream must exist in MSATS and a 




minimum set of NMI Datastream details for the NMI shall exist upon 




Completion. 




4051 – Change NMI Datastream 




– Retrospective 




Used where the Current MDP is required to make a Retrospective Change to 




the NMI Datastream in MSATS . Each Datastream must exist in MSATS and a 




minimum set of NMI Datastream details for the NMI shall exist upon 




Completion. 




23.2. Conditions Precedent 




(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The metering installation and Datastream details exist in MSATS. 




(c) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL, LARGE or NCONUML. 




23.3. Initiating Roles 




A Current MDP may initiate a Change Request to change an NMI Datastream in MSATS in 




accordance with section 23.4. 




23.4. MDP Requirements 




The Current MDP must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 




Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date NMI Suffix 




 




(d) For all Register IDs associated with the NMI suffix, where the Datastream Status Code is to 




be ‘A’, populate the Change Request with the following information (where this information 




does not currently exist in MSATS): 




Datastream type Profile Name ADL 




Datastream Status Code   




The Current MDP may: 




(e) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 




MDM Contributory Suffix Meter Serial ID Register ID 




 




(f) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information: 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 112 of 172 
 




Actual End Date   




23.5. Timeframe Rules 




When preparing a Change Request, the Current MDP must choose, for the identified Change 




Reason Codes, a Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and 




Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 23-A. 




Table 23-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 4050 – Change NMI Datastream Details 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




0 0 0 65 




CR 4051 – Change NMI Datastream Details – Retrospective 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




0 0 140 0 




23.6. Objection Rules 




Objections are not permitted. 




23.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 




The Change Request Status Notification Rules for the Change Reason Codes identified in section 




23.1 are specified in Table 23-B. 




Table 23-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 




CR 4050 – Change NMI Datastream Details 




CR 4051 – Change NMI Datastream Details – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status 




Change  




FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - - - - - - - Yes - - - - - - 




COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 




OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REJECTED - - - - - - - Yes - - - - - - 




REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 113 of 172 
 




24. MAINTAIN NMI – UPDATE NEXT SCHEDULED READ DATE – SMALL LARGE OR 




NCONUML 




24.1. Application [5070 5071] 




Section 24 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




5070 – Update Next 




Scheduled Read Date 




Used where the Current MDP is required to provide MSATS with the NSRD 




prospectively. 




5071 – Update Next 




Scheduled Read Date – 




Retrospective 




Used where the Current MDP is required to provide MSATS with the NSRD 




retrospectively. 




Note if this transaction is submitted by batch, MSATS will be updated straight 




away. 




24.2. Conditions Precedent 




(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL LARGE or NCONUML. 




(c) The metering installation is manually read, or has been made capable of remote acquisition 




in accordance with 7.8.9(b) of the NER.   




24.3. Initiating Roles 




A Current MDP may initiate a Change Request to submit the NSRD to MSATS in accordance with 




section 24.4. 




24.4. MDP Requirements 




The Current MDP must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 




Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date Meter Serial ID 




NSRD   




 




The Current MDP may: 




(d) Obtain the Meter Reading frequency from the New FRMP. 




(e) Obtain the Meter Reading schedule from the MPC or MC. 




24.5. Timeframe Rules 




When preparing a Change Request, the Current MDP must choose a Proposed Change Date that 




lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 24-A. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 114 of 172 
 




Table 24-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 5070 – Update Next Scheduled Read Date 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




0 0 0 3 




CR 5071 – Update Next Scheduled Read Date – Retrospective 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




0 0 1 0 




24.6. Objection Rules 




Objections are not permitted. 




24.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 




The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 24-B . 




Table 24-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 




CR 5070 – Update Next Scheduled Read Date 




CR 5071 – Update Next Scheduled Read Date – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




COMPLETED - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 115 of 172 
 




25. MAINTAIN NMI – BACKDATE A NMI – SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 




25.1. Application [5001 5021] 




Section 25 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




5001 – Backdate NMI Start Date Used where AEMO, on request from an LNSP, or the LNSP, backdates the initial 




set of information in MSATS in regard to a connection point to apply from a 




Retrospective Day. 




5021 – Backdate NMI Start Date 




– Child 




Used where AEMO, on request from an ENM, or the ENM, backdates the initial 




set of information in MSATS about a child connection point. 




25.2. Conditions Precedent 




(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL, LARGE or NCONUML. 




25.3. Initiating Roles 




AEMO, the ENM, or the LNSP may initiate a Change Request to backdate a NMI’s Start Date in 




MSATS in accordance with section 25.4 or 25.6. 




25.4. LNSP Requirements (5001 only) 




The New LNSP (who must be the Current LNSP for the period where the NMI exists in MSATS) 




must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is still a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 




Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with values for the following data items:  




Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum Its Participant ID 




Proposed Change Date Actual End Date (which should be the day prior 




to the day that the NMI Master Record starts) 




TNI Code 




DLF Code NMI Classification Code Jurisdiction Code 




FRMP LR RoLR 




RP MDP MPB 




MPC LNSP as itself NMI Status Code 




Locality State Postcode 




 




(d) Populate the Change Request with values for the following address fields (as appropriate): 




EITHER  




DPID Flat Number Flat Type 




Floor Number Floor Type House Number 




House Number Suffix Location Descriptor Lot Number 




Street Name Street Suffix Street Type 




 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 116 of 172 
 




OR 




Unstructured Address 1 Unstructured Address 2 Unstructured Address 3 




The LNSP may: 




(e) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 




Parent Name Building Name Feeder Class 




Customer Threshold Code    




25.5. ENM Requirements (5021 only) 




The New ENM (who must be the Current ENM for the period where the NMI exists in MSATS) 




must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. Confirm that the NMI is still a valid 




NMI for the connection point. 




(b) Provide AEMO with values for the following data items:  




Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Participant ID Proposed Change Date Actual End Date (which should be the day 




prior to the day that the NMI Master Record 




starts on) 




TNI Code DLF Code NMI Classification Code 




Jurisdiction Code Child Name FRMP 




LR RoLR RP 




MDP MPB MPC  




LNSP, as the ENM NMI Status Code Locality 




State Postcode  




 




(c) Provide AEMO with values for the following address fields (as appropriate): 




EITHER  




DPID Flat Number Flat Type 




Floor Number Floor Type House Number 




House Number Suffix Location Descriptor Lot Number 




Street Name Street Suffix Street Type 




 




OR 




Unstructured Address 1 Unstructured Address 2 Unstructured Address 3 




The ENM may provide AEMO with the following information:  




Parent Name Building Name Feeder Class 




Customer Threshold Code    




25.6. AEMO Requirements 




AEMO must, on request from an LNSP, populate a Change Request with the data provided by the 




LNSP in accordance with section 25.4 (CR 5001) or ENM in accordance with section 25.5 (CR 5021). 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 117 of 172 
 




25.7. MPB Requirements 




The New MPB must, on receipt of a Completed notification, backdate the metering installation 




details using CR 3001. 




25.8. Timeframe Rules 




When preparing a Change Request, AEMO or the LNSP (as applicable) must choose a Proposed 




Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 




25-A. 




Table 25-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 5001 – Backdate NMI Start Date 




CR 5021 – Backdate NMI Start Date – Child 




Objection Logging Period  




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 




1 1 10 20 140 0 




25.9. Objection Rules 




The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 25-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 




their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 25-A. 




Table 25-B – Objection Rules
**
 




CR 5001 – Backdate NMI Start Date 




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




NOTRESP SMALL ALL Yes - - - Yes - Yes - -  - Yes - - - 




LARGE - 




BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




CR 5021 – Backdate NMI Start Date – Child 




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




NOTRESP SMALL ALL Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - -  - Yes - - - 




LARGE - 




BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




RETRO SMALL NSW 




VIC 




SA 




Yes - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - 




LARGE ALL 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 118 of 172 
 




25.10. Change Request Status Notification Rules 




The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 25-C. 




Table 25-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 




CR 5001 – Backdate NMI Start Date 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status 




Change  




FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




COMPLETED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




OBJECTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




PENDING Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




REJECTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




REQUESTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




CR 5021 – Backdate NMI Start Date – Child 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status 




Change  




FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




COMPLETED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




OBJECTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




PENDING Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




REJECTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




REQUESTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 119 of 172 
 




26. MAINTAIN NMI – CHANGE A NMI – SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 




26.1. Application [5050 5051] 




Section 26 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




5050 – Change NMI Details Used where the Current LNSP is required to make a Prospective Change to the 




set of information in MSATS about a connection point. 




5051 – Change NMI Details – 




Retrospective 




Used where the Current LNSP is required to make a Retrospective Change to the 




information in MSATS about a connection point. 




26.2. Conditions Precedent 




(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL, LARGE or NCONUML. 




26.3. Initiating Roles 




A Current LNSP may initiate a Change Request to change a NMI record in MSATS in accordance 




with section 26.4. 




26.4. LNSP Requirements 




The Current LNSP must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 




Change Request. 




(c) Populate an Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date  




The Current LNSP may: 




(d) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 




TNI Code DLF Code NMI Classification Code 




Jurisdiction Code NMI Status Code Parent Name 




Locality State Postcode 




Building Name DPID Flat Number 




Flat Type Floor Number Floor Type 




House Number House Number Suffix Location Descriptor 




Lot Number Street Name Street Suffix 




Street Type Unstructured Address 1 Unstructured Address 2 




Unstructured Address 3 Feeder Class Customer Threshold Code  




(e) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the  




Actual End Date   















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 120 of 172 
 




26.5. Timeframe Rules 




When preparing a Change Request, the Current LNSP must choose a Proposed Change Date that 




lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 26-A. 




Table 26-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 5050 – Change NMI Details 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




0 0 0 65 




CR 5051 – Change NMI Details – Retrospective 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




0 0 140 0 




Note:  An Objection Logging Period of zero means Objections need to be logged by midnight of the business day that 




the Change Request is submitted. 




26.6. Objection Rules 




The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 26-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 




their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 26-A. 




Table 26-B – Objection Rules
**
 




CR 5050 – Change NMI Details 




CR 5051 – Change NMI Details – Retrospective 




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




NOTRESP ALL ALL - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




26.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 




The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 26-C. 




Table 26-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules
** 




 




CR 5050 – Change NMI Details 




CR 5051 – Change NMI Details – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status 




Change  




FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 




COMPLETED - Yes - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 




OBJECTED - - - - - Yes - Yes - - - - - - 




PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REQUESTED - - - - - - - Yes - - - - - - 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 121 of 172 
 




27. MAINTAIN NMI – CHANGE A NMI – CUSTOMER CLASSIFICATION CODE – 




SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 




27.1. Application [5054 5055] 




Section 27 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




5054 – Change NMI Details – 




Customer Classification Code 




Used where the Current FRMP is required to make a Prospective 




Change to the Customer Classification Code. 




5055 – Change NMI Details – 




Customer Classification Code – 




Retrospective 




Used where the Current FRMP is required to make a Retrospective 




Change to the Customer Classification Code. 




27.2. Conditions Precedent 




(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL, LARGE or NCONUML. 




27.3. Initiating Roles 




A Current FRMP may initiate a Change Request to change a NMI record in MSATS in accordance 




with section 27.4. 




27.4. FRMP Requirements 




The Current FRMP must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 




Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date Customer Classification Code 




For Retrospective Changes, the Current FRMP may populate the Change Request with the:  




Actual End Date   




27.5. Timeframe Rules 




When preparing a Change Request, the Current FRMP must choose a Proposed Change Date that 




lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 27-A. 




Table 27-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 5054 – Change NMI Details Customer Classification Code 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




0 0 0 65 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 122 of 172 
 




CR 5055 – Change NMI Details Customer Classification Code – Retrospective 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




0 0 140 0 




27.6. Objection Rules 




Objections are not permitted. 




27.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 




The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 27-B. 




Table 27-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 




CR 5054 – Change NMI Details Customer Classification Code 




CR 5055 – Change NMI Details Customer Classification Code – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 




OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




PENDING - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REJECTED - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REQUESTED - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 123 of 172 
 




28. MAINTAIN NMI – CHANGE NMI EMBEDDED NETWORK (CHILD) – SMALL OR 




LARGE 




28.1. Application [5060 5061] 




Section 28 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




5060 – Change NMI 




Details – Child 




Used where the Current ENM is required to make a Prospective change to the 




information in MSATS about a connection point that is connected to an embedded 




network. 




5061 – Change NMI 




Details – Child – 




Retrospective 




Used where the Current ENM is required to provide a Retrospective Change to the 




information in MSATS about a connection point that is connected to an embedded 




network. 




28.2. Conditions Precedent 




(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




28.3. Initiating Roles 




A Current ENM may initiate a Change Request to change a NMI record in MSATS in accordance 




with section 28.4. 




28.4. ENM Requirements 




The Current ENM must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 




Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date  




The Current ENM may: 




(d) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 




TNI Code DLF Code NMI Classification Code 




Jurisdiction Code NMI Status Code Parent Name 




Child Name Locality State 




Postcode Building Name DPID 




Flat Number Flat Type Floor Number 




Floor Type House Number House Number Suffix 




Location Descriptor Lot Number Street Name 




Street Suffix Street Type Unstructured Address 1 




Unstructured Address 2 Unstructured Address 3 Feeder Class 




Customer Threshold Code    















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 124 of 172 
 




(e) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information:  




Actual End Date   




28.5. Timeframe Rules 




When preparing a Change Request, the ENM must choose a Proposed Change Date that lies 




between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 28-A. 




Table 28-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 5060 – Change NMI Details – Child 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




0 0 0 65 




CR 5061 – Change NMI Details – Child – Retrospective  




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




0 0 140 0 




28.6. Objection Rules 




Objections are not permitted. 




28.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 




The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 28-B. 




Table 28-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 




CR 5060 – Change NMI Details – Child 




CR 5061 – Change NMI Details – Child – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 




COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 




OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REJECTED - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 




REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 125 of 172 
 




29. MAINTAIN NMI – CHANGE PARENT NAME – SMALL OR LARGE 




29.1. Application [5080 5081] 




Section 29 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




5080 – Change Parent Name Used where the Current LNSP is required to apply a Prospective Change to the 




Parent Name. 




5081 – Change Parent Name 




– Retrospective 




Used where the Current LNSP is required to apply a Retrospective Change to 




the Parent Name. 




29.2. Conditions Precedent 




(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




29.3. Initiating Roles 




A Current LNSP may initiate a Change Request to change the Parent Name in accordance with 




section 29.4. 




29.4. LNSP Requirements 




The Current LNSP must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 




Change Request. 




(c) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date Parent Name 




For Retrospective Changes, the Current LNSP may populate the Change Request with the 




following information: 




Actual End Date   




 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 126 of 172 
 




29.5. Timeframe Rules 




When preparing a Change Request, the Current LNSP (as applicable) must choose a Proposed 




Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 




29-A. 




Table 29-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 5080 – Change Parent Name 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




0 0 0 65 




CR 5081 – Change Parent Name – Retrospective  




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




0 0 140 0 




29.6. Objection Rules 




Objections are not permitted. 




29.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 




The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 29-B. 




Table 29-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 




CR 5080 – Change Parent Name 




CR 5081 – Change Parent Name – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 




COMPLETED - Yes - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 




OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REJECTED - Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 




REQUESTED - Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 127 of 172 
 




30. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE LNSP – SMALL LARGE OR NCONUML 




30.1. Application [6100 6110] 




Section 30 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




6100 – Change LNSP Used where the New LNSP or the New ENM is required (either by a regulatory change 




or due to an error in the NMI Master Record) to apply a Prospective Change to the 




name of the Current LNSP or the Current ENM in MSATS 




6110 – Change LNSP – 




Retrospective 




Used where the New LNSP or the New ENM is required (either by a regulatory change 




or due to an error in the NMI Master Record) to apply a Retrospective Change to the 




name of the Current LNSP or the Current ENM in MSATS. 




30.2. Conditions Precedent 




(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL LARGE or NCONUML. 




30.3. Initiating Roles 




A New LNSP or New ENM may initiate a Change Request to change an LNSP or ENM in MSATS in 




accordance with section 30.4. 




30.4. LNSP or ENM Requirements 




The New LNSP or the New ENM must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 




Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date  




(d) Nominate itself as the New LNSP or the New ENM. 




The New LNSP or the New ENM may: 




(e) populate the Change Request with the following information: 




TNI Code DLF Code NMI Classification Code 




Jurisdiction Code   




(f) for Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with:  




Actual End Date   




 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 128 of 172 
 




30.5. Timeframe Rules 




When preparing a Change Request, the New LNSP or the New ENM (as applicable) must choose a 




Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as 




shown in Table 30-A. 




Table 30-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 6100 – Change LNSP 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




1 20 0 65 




CR 6110 – Change LNSP – Retrospective  




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




1 20 130 0 




30.6. Objection Rules 




The ’Yes’ Roles specified in Table 30-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 




their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 30-A. 




Table 30-B – Objection Rules
**
 




CR 6100 – Change LNSP 




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADDATA ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 




NOTRESP ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 




CR 6110 – Change LNSP – Retrospective 




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADDATA ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 




NOTRESP ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 




RETRO ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 129 of 172 
 




30.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 




The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 30-C. 




Table 30-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 




CR 6100 – Change LNSP 




CR 6110 – Change LNSP – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - - - - Yes Yes - Yes - - - - - - 




COMPLETED - Yes - Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 




OBJECTED - - - - Yes Yes - Yes - - - - - - 




PENDING - - - - Yes Yes - Yes - - - - - - 




REJECTED - - - - Yes Yes - Yes - - - - - - 




REQUESTED - - - - Yes Yes - Yes - - - - - - 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 130 of 172 
 




31. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE MDP – SMALL,LARGE OR NCONUML 




31.1. Application [6200 6210] 




Section 31 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




6200 – Change MDP Used where the Current FRMP or Current MC is required to apply a Prospective Change 




to the name of the Current MDP  




6210 – Change MDP – 




Retrospective 




Used where the Current FRMP or Current MC is required to apply a Retrospective 




Change to the name of the Current MDP. 




31.2. Conditions Precedent 




(a) The NMI details exist in MSATS 




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL, LARGE or NCONUML. 




31.3. Initiating Roles 




The Current FRMP or Current MC may initiate a Change Request to change a MDP in MSATS in 




accordance with section 31.4. 




31.4. FRMP/Current MC Requirements 




The Current FRMP or Current MC (as applicable) must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 




Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Participant ID  Proposed Change Date MDP 




 




The Current FRMP or Current MC (as applicable) may: 




(d) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information: 




Actual End Date   




31.5. MDP Requirements 




On receipt of a Data Request for CR 6200, the MDP must initiate a Change Request to provide the 




Actual Change Date. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 131 of 172 
 




31.6. Timeframe Rules 




When preparing a Change Request, the Current FRMP or Current MC (as applicable) must choose 




a Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as 




shown in Table 31-A. 




Table 31-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 6200 – Change MDP 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




1 20 0 65 




CR 6210 – Change MDP – Retrospective  




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




1 20 130 0 




31.7. Objection Rules 




The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 31-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 




their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 31-A. 




Table 31-B – Objection Rules
**
 




CR 6200 – Change MDP  




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - - 




NOTRESP ALL ALL - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 




BADPARTY LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 




DATEBAD ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




CR 6210 – Change MDP – Retrospective 




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - - 




NOTRESP ALL ALL - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 




BADDATA SMALL NSW 




VIC 




SA 




- - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




BADDATA LARGE ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




BADPARTY LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 




DATEBAD ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 132 of 172 
 




31.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 




The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 31-C. 




Table 31-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 




CR 6200 – Change MDP 




CR 6210 – Change MDP – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - Yes 




COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes Yes Yes - Yes - - - Yes 




OBJECTED - Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - Yes 




PENDING - Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - Yes 




REJECTED - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 




REQUESTED - Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - Yes 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 133 of 172 
 




32. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE MC – SMALL LARGE OR NCONUML 




32.1. Application [6300 6301]  




Section 32 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




6300 – Change MC Used where the New MC or Current FRMP is required to apply a Prospective 




Change to the Current MC. 




6301 – Change MC – 




Retrospective 




Used where the New MC or Current FRMP is required to apply a Retrospective 




Change to the Current MC. 




32.2. Conditions Precedent 




(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL LARGE or NCONUML. 




32.3. Initiating Roles 




A New MC (where the NMI Classification Code for a NMI is Large) or Current FRMP (for any NMI) 




may initiate a Change Request to change the MC in MSATS in accordance with section 32.4. 




32.4. MC/Current FRMP Requirements 




The New MC/Current FRMP must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 




Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Participant ID of the New MC Proposed Change Date  




 




(d) Nominate the New MC. 




The New MC/Current FRMP may:  




(e) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information: 




Actual End Date   




 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 134 of 172 
 




32.5. Timeframe Rules 




When preparing a Change Request, the New MC/Current FRMP must choose a Proposed Change 




Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 32-A. 




Table 32-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 6300 – Change MC 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




1 20 0 65 




CR 6301 – Change MC – Retrospective  




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




1  20 130 0 




32.6. Objection Rules 




The ’Yes’ Roles specified in Table 32-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 




their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 32-A. 




Table 32-B – Objection Rules
**
 




CR 6300 – Change MC 




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CONTRACT LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 




DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




CR 6301 – Change MC – Retrospective 




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




RETRO ALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 




DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




32.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 




The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 32-C. 




Table 32-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 




CR 6300 – Change MC 




CR 6301 – Change MC – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - Yes - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes 




COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - Yes Yes 




OBJECTED - Yes - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 135 of 172 
 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




PENDING - Yes - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes 




REJECTED - Yes - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes 




REQUESTED - Yes - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 136 of 172 
 




33. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE ENLR – CHILD NMI – SMALL OR LARGE 




33.1. Application [6421] 




Section 33 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




6421 – Change ENLR – Child 




NMI – Retrospective 




Used where the New ENLR for a Child NMI is required (due to an error in the 




NMI Master Record) to apply a Retrospective Change to the name of the 




Current LR. 




33.2. Conditions Precedent 




(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 




(c) The New ENLR for the child connection point must be the FRMP of the Parent NMI. 




33.3. Initiating Roles 




A New ENLR may initiate a Change Request to change an ENLR in MSATS in accordance with 




section 33.4. 




33.4. LR Requirements 




The New ENLR must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 




Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date  




 




(d) Nominate itself as the New ENLR. 




The New ENLR may populate the Change Request with the following information: 




Actual End Date   




33.5. Timeframe Rules 




When preparing a Change Request, the New LR must choose a Proposed Change Date that lies 




between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown Table 33-A. 




Table 33-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 6421 – Change ENLR Child NMI – Retrospective  




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 




1 1 10 20 130 0 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 137 of 172 
 




33.6. Objection Rules 




The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 33-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 




their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 33-A. 




Table 33-B – Objection Rules
**
 




CR 6421 – Change ENLR Child NMI – Retrospective 




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB MPC RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




NOTRESP ALL ALL - - - Yes - - - - - - - - - - 




RETRO ALL ALL - - - Yes - - - - - - - - - - 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




33.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 




The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 33-C. 




Table 33-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 




CR 6421 – Change ENLR Child NMI – Retrospective  




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  MPC RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - - Yes Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - 




COMPLETED - Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 




OBJECTED - - Yes Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - 




PENDING - - Yes Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - 




REJECTED - - Yes Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - 




REQUESTED - - Yes Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 138 of 172 
 




34. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE ROLR – SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 




34.1. Application [6500 6501] 




Section 34 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




6500 – Change RoLR Used where the New RoLR is required (either by a regulatory change or due to an 




error in the NMI Master Record) to apply a Prospective Change to the name of the 




Current RoLR. 




6501 – Change RoLR – 




Retrospective 




Used where the New RoLR is required (either by a regulatory change or due to an 




error in the NMI Master Record) to apply a Retrospective Change to the name of the 




Current RoLR. 




34.2. Conditions Precedent 




(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL, LARGE or NCONUML. 




34.3. Initiating Roles 




A New RoLR may initiate a Change Request to change a RoLR in accordance with section 34.4. 




34.4. ROLR Requirements 




The New RoLR must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 




Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date  




 




(d) Nominate itself as the New RoLR. 




The New RoLR may, for Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following 




information:  




Actual End Date   




 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 139 of 172 
 




34.5. Timeframe Rules 




The Timeframe Rules are shown in the Table 34-A. 




Table 34-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 6500 – Change RoLR 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 




0 0 0 0 0 65 




CR 6501 – Change RoLR – Retrospective  




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 




0 0 0 0 130 0 




34.6. Objection Rules 




Objections are not permitted. 




34.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 




The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 34-B. 




Table 34-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 




CR 6500 – Change RoLR 




CR 6501 – Change RoLR – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes - - 




COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes Yes Yes - Yes 




OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes - - 




PENDING - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes - - 




REJECTED - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes - - 




REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes - - 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 140 of 172 
 




35. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE MPB OR MPC OR BOTH – SMALL, LARGE OR 




NCONUML 




35.1. Application [6700 6701] 




Section 35 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




6700 – Change MPB or MPC or 




both 




Used where the Current MC is required to provide a Prospective Change to the 




Current MPB or MPC or both. 




6701 – Change MPB or MPC or 




both – Retrospective 




Used where the Current MC is required to provide a Retrospective Change the 




Current MPB or MPC or both. 




35.2. Conditions Precedent 




(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL, LARGE or NCONUML. 




35.3. Initiating Roles 




A Current MC may initiate a Change Request to change an MPB or MPC or both in accordance 




with section 35.4. 




35.4. MC Requirements 




The Current MC must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 




Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date  




 




(d) Populate the Change Request with at least one of the following information: 




MPB MPC  




 




The Current MC may: 




(e) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information:  




Actual End Date   




35.5. MDP Requirements 




On receipt of a Data Request for Change Reason Code 6700, the MDP must initiate a Change 




Request to provide the Actual Change Date. 




35.6. Timeframe Rules 




When preparing a Change Request, the Current MC must choose a Proposed Change Date that 




lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 35-A. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 141 of 172 
 




Table 35-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 6700 – Change MP 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




1 20 0 65 




CR 6701 – Change MP – Retrospective 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




1 20 130 0 




35.7. Objection Rules 




The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 35-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 




their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 35-A. 




Table 35-B – Objection Rules
**
 




CR 6700 – Change MP 




CR 6701 – Change MP – Retrospective 




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - 




NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 




DATEBAD ALL ALL - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




35.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 




The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 35-C. 




Table 35-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 




CR 6700 – Change MP 




CR 6701 – Change MP – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - - - - - Yes - Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 




COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 




OBJECTED - - - - - Yes - Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 




PENDING - - - - - - - Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 




REJECTED - - - - - Yes - Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 




REQUESTED - - - - - Yes - Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 142 of 172 
 




36. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE MULTIPLE ROLES – SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 




36.1. Application [6800 6801]  




Section 36 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




6800 – Change Multiple Roles Used where the Current FRMP or Current MC is required to provide 




concurrent Prospective Changes to one or more Roles. 




6801 – Change Multiple Roles – 




Retrospective 




Used where the Current FRMP or Current MC is required to provide 




concurrent Retrospective Changes to one or more Roles. 




36.2. Conditions Precedent 




(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL, LARGE or NCONUML. 




(c) The date of the change of MC, MDP, MPB or MPC will be the Actual Change Date. 




36.3. Initiating Roles 




(a) A Current FRMP may initiate a Change Request to change any or all of the MC, MDP, MPB 




and MPC in MSATS in accordance with section 36.4. 




(b) A Current MC may initiate a Change Request to change any or all of the MDP, MPB and 




MPC in MSATS in accordance with section 36.5. 




36.4. FRMP Requirements 




The FRMP must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 




Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Participant ID Proposed Change Date  




 




(d) Populate a Change Request with one or more of the following: 




MDP MPB MPC 




RP   




The FRMP may: 




(e) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information: 




Actual End Date   




36.5. MC Requirements 




The MC must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 143 of 172 
 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 




Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Participant ID Proposed Change Date  




 




(d) Populate a Change Request with one or more of the following: 




MDP MPB MPC 




The MC may, for Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following 




information: 




Actual End Date   




36.6. MDP Requirements 




The MDP must: 




(a) On receipt of a Data Request for Change Reason Code 6800 initiate a Change Request to 




provide the Actual Change Date. 




(b) For Prospective Changes that do not require a Meter Reading, provide the Actual Change 




Date within 2 days of the Proposed Change Date being reached. 




(c) For changes that require a Meter Reading, provide the Actual Change Date within 2 days of 




the Meter Reading. 




36.7. Timeframe Rules 




When preparing a Change Request, the Current MC or Current FRMP (as applicable) must choose 




a Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as 




shown in Table 36-A. 




Table 36-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 6800 – Change Multiple Roles  




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




1 20 0 65 




CR 6801 – Change Multiple Roles – Retrospective  




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




1 20 130 0 




 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 144 of 172 
 




36.8. Objection Rules 




The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 36-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 




their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 36-A. 




Table 36-B – Objection Rules
**
 




CR 6800 – Change Multiple Roles  




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB MPC RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADPARTY ALL ALL -  - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 




CONTRACT LARGE ALL            Yes   




DATEBAD ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - 




NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 




NOTRESP ALL ALL - - - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - - 




NOACC ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - - 




CR 6801 – Change Multiple Roles – Retrospective  




Objection 




Code 




NMI 




Class 




Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB MPC RP LNSP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 




CONTRACT LARGE ALL            Yes   




DATEBAD ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - 




NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 




NOTRESP ALL ALL - - - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - - 




RETRO ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 




BADDATA ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 145 of 172 
 




36.9. Change Request Status Notification Rules 




The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 36-C. 




Table 36-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 




CR 6800 – Change Multiple Roles 




CR 6801 – Change Multiple Roles – Retrospective 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status 




Change  




FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  MPC RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED  Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 




COMPLETED  Yes - Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 




OBJECTED - Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 




PENDING - Yes - - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 




REJECTED - Yes - - - - - - - - - -  Yes 




REQUESTED - Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 146 of 172 
 




37. AUTO CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE LOCAL RETAILER EMBEDDED NETWORK 




CHILD – SMALL OR LARGE 




37.1. Application [ECLR] 




Section 37 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




ECLR – Change of 




Local Retailer – Child 




(Auto) 




This is an automatic process triggered by MSATS whenever the FRMP is changed for a 




Parent NMI. Once the Parent NMI is transferred, MSATS changes the ENLR for each of the 




Child NMIs in that Parent’s embedded network. 




All Participants will be notified by MSATS of this event in accordance with the notifications 




listed below. 




37.2. Conditions Precedent 




(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) There has been a change of FRMP of a Parent NMI; 




(c) The affected Child NMIs apply to child connection points within this embedded network. 




37.3. Timeframe Rules 




The Proposed Change Date must be within the Retrospectrive Period specified in Table 37-A. 




Table 37-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR ECLR – Change of Local Retailer – Child (Auto) 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




0 0 130 0 




37.4. Objection Rules 




Objections are not permitted. 




37.5. Change Request Status Notification Rules 




The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 37-B. 




Table 37-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 




CR ECLR – Change of Local Retailer – Child (Auto) 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




COMPLETED - Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 




OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 147 of 172 
 




38. AUTO CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE SECONDARY FRMP PARENT – SMALL OR 




LARGE 




38.1. Application [EPFR] 




Section 38 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




EPFR – Change of 




FRMP – Parent (Auto) 




This is an automatic process triggered by MSATS whenever the FRMP is changed for a 




Parent NMI. Once the Parent NMI is transferred, MSATS changes the FRMP on any other 




NMIs with the same Parent Name.  This occurs where embedded networks have multiple 




Parent NMIs. 




All Participants will be notified of this in accordance with the Change Request Status 




Notification Rules 




38.2. Conditions Precedent 




(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) There are additional Parent NMIs with the same Parent Name; 




(c) There has been a change of FRMP of a Parent NMI;  and 




(d) The Parent NMIs of this embedded network are affected. 




38.3. Timeframe Rules 




The Proposed Change Date must be within the Retrospective Period specified in Table 38-A. 




Table 38-A – Timeframe Rules 




CR EPFR – Change of FRMP – Parent (Auto) 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




0 0 130 0 




38.4. Objection Rules 




Objections are not permitted. 




38.5. Change Request Status Notification Rules 




The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 38-B. 




Table 38-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 




CR EPFR – Change of FRMP – Parent (Auto) 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status 




Change  




FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




COMPLETED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 




OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 148 of 172 
 




Status 




Change  




FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 149 of 172 
 




39. AEMO ONLY – AEMO-INITIATED STANDING DATA UPDATES – SMALL, LARGE 




OR NCONUML 




39.1. Application [5100 5101] 




Section 39 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 




Change Reason Code Comment 




5100 – Correct NMI Master 




Data – (AEMO Only) 




Used where AEMO identifies a requirement for an urgent Prospective Change (i.e., 




in less time than it would take to change that data item because of the allowance 




for an Objection Logging Period) to MSATS data about a connection point or 




where several data items that normally can’t be changed in the same transaction 




must be changed at the same time. 




5101 – Correct NMI Master 




Data – Retrospective (AEMO 




Only) 




Used where AEMO identifies a requirement for an urgent Retrospective Change 




(i.e., in less time than it would take to change that data item because of the 




allowance for an Objection Logging Period) to MSATS data about a connection 




point or where several data items that normally can’t be changed in the same 




transaction must be changed at the same time. 




39.2. Conditions Precedent 




(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL, LARGE or NCONUML. 




39.3. Initiating Roles 




AEMO may initiate a Change Request to create a NMI record in accordance with section 39.4. 




39.4. AEMO Requirements 




AEMO must: 




(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 




(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 




Change Request. 




(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 




Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 




Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date  




 




AEMO may: 




(d) Populate the Change Request with values for the following fields (as applicable): 




TNI Code DLF Code Jurisdiction Code 




NMI Status Code NMI Classification Code FRMP 




LNSP LR RP 




MPB MDP MPC 




RoLR Locality State 




Postcode Building Name Feeder Class 




DPID Flat Number Flat Type 




Floor Number Floor Type House Number 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 150 of 172 
 




House Number Suffix Location Descriptor Lot Number 




Street Name Street Suffix Street Type 




Unstructured Address 1 Unstructured Address 2 Unstructured Address 3 




Child Name Parent Name Aggregate flag 




Customer Classification Code Customer Threshold Code   




 




(e) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each Datastream: 




NMI Suffix (at least one) Datastream Type (for each suffix) ADL (for each suffix) 




Datastream Status Code (for each 




suffix) 




Profile Name (for each suffix)  




 




(f) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each meter: 




Meter Serial ID (at least one) Metering Installation Type Code Meter Register Status Code  




Additional Site information NSRD Meter Location 




Meter Constant Meter Hazard Meter Point 




Meter Route Meter Use Meter Manufacturer 




Meter Model Meter Program Meter Read Type 




Transformer Location Transformer Type Transformer Ratio 




Measurement Type Last Test Date Next Test Date 




Test Result Accuracy Test Result Notes Test Performed By 




Remote Phone Number Communication Equipment Type Communication Protocol 




Data Conversion Arrangements Data Validation Arrangements Estimation Instructions 




Asset Management Plan Details Calibration Tables (details of any 




calibration factors programmed 




into the meter) 




Password Details (the read and 




time set passwords only, 




separated by a space; the write 




password is not to be recorded 




in MSATS) 




Test and Calibration Program 




Details 




User Access Rights Details (i.e. 




details of any End User access to 




the metering installation such as 




pulse outputs) 




 




 




(g) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each register: 




Register ID (at least one for each 




meter) 




Register Identifier Status Code 




(for each register) 




Network Tariff Code 




Actual/Cumulative Indicator (for 




each register) 




Controlled Load Indicator (for 




each register) 




Network Tariff Code Additional 




Information 




MDM Contributory Suffix (this 




can also be supplied by the MDP) 




Demand Value 1, if the Network 




Tariff includes a demand 




component 




Demand Value 2, if the Network 




Tariff includes a second demand 




component 




Time of Day Code (for each 




register) 




Dial Format (for each register) Multiplier Value (for each 




register) 




Unit of Measure Code (for each 




register) 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 151 of 172 
 




 




(h) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information: 




Actual End Date   




39.5. Timeframe Rules 




When preparing a Change Request, AEMO must choose a Proposed Change Date that lies 




between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 39-A. 




Table 39A – Timeframe Rules 




CR 5100 – Correct NMI Master Data – (AEMO Only) 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




0 0 0 65 




CR 5101 – Correct NMI Master Data – Retrospective (AEMO Only) 




Objection Logging Period 




(business days) 




Objection Clearing Period 




(business days) 




Retrospective Period 




(business days) 




Prospective Period 




(business days) 




0 0 150 0 




39.6. Objection Rules 




Objections are not permitted. 




39.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 




The Change Request Status Notification Rules  are specified in Table 39-B. 




Table 39-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 




CR 5100 – Correct NMI Master Data – (AEMO Only) 




CR 5101 – Correct NMI Master Data – Retrospective (AEMO Only) 




PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 




Status 




Change  




FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 




N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 




CANCELLED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




COMPLETED Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 




OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 




** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 152 of 172 
 




40. AEMO ONLY – CHANGE ROLE, TNI OR DLF CODE – BULK CHANGE TOOL 




(BCT) – SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 




40.1. Introduction 




(a) This is a special transaction undertaken by AEMO in limited circumstances, such as when a 




RoLR Event occurs as it is designed to manage bulk changes of Participant IDs, TNI Codes or 




DLF Codes. 




(b) The BCT can only be used by AEMO. 




(c) Section 40 covers changes to the following NMI Standing Data items: 




LNSP LR FRMP 




MDP MPB MPC 




RP RoLR TNI Code 




DLF Code   




 




(d) Access rights to the BCT function are restricted and will only be available to a person 




nominated by AEMO. 




(e) When activated, BCT will use a unique Change Reason Code to update the data specified in 




the BCT request by AEMO. 




(f) When the BCT is used, active Change Requests may be Cancelled. 




(g) A BCT following a RoLR Event will change the identity of the Current FRMP in the NMI 




Master Record to the Participant ID of the Participant that the relevant Regulator has 




nominated to undertake the RoLR function. (Note the BCT does not use the information 




specified in the RoLR role against the NMI). 




(h) Where necessary, the BCT RoLR action will change the identity of the parent LR on the Child 




NMIs, provided these have been set up correctly in MSATS. 




(i) Notification of a change to the NMI Master Record as in accordance with the Change 




Request Status Notifications Rules. 




(j) Responsibilities for requesting, authorising and implementing use of the BCT will be as per 




Table 40-A. 




Table 40-A – Request/Authorise/Implementation Scenarios 




Scenario Request Authorise Implement 




Mergers & Acquisitions Participants AEMO AEMO 




TNI & DLF Code updates Participants AEMO AEMO 




RoLR Events Relevant Regulator AEMO AEMO 




Any other scenario Jurisdictions/Participants AEMO AEMO 




40.2. Conditions Precedent 




(a) For all events: 




(i) The NMI exists in MSATS. 




(ii) The Effective Date of the BCT Change Requests shall always be retrospective. 




(iii) The NMI can be any NMI Classification Code. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 153 of 172 
 




(iv) AEMO has agreement on requirements and details from all parties impacted (except 




for RoLR Event). 




(v) The use of the BCT functionality is not dependant on the provision of any Meter 




Readings at the effective date. 




(b) RoLR Events: 




See NEM ROLR Processes  




(c) Mergers & Acquisitions 




The Participant IDs involved must have the same ABN and the same Jurisdictional licences. 




40.3. Requesting Participant Requirements 




Where Table 40-A indicates that a Participant may request the use of the BCT, the requesting 




Participant must: 




(a) Provide at least one data item (data field) for change. 




(b) Specify the Start and End Date (if required) for the BCT process. 




(c) Ensure that all changing data items are active for the whole of the time period specified for 




the BCT. 




(d) Ensure all impacted Participants are consulted and have provided approval for change to 




AEMO. 




(e) Specify the notifications to be sent out for the BCT process. 




(f) Specify the action required to be taken when a conflicting Change Request is found for the 




NMIs in the BCT process. 




(g) Provide the selection criteria for NMIs to be included in the BCT from the following fields: 




LNSP LR FRMP 




MDP MPB MPC 




RP RoLR TNI Code 




DLF Code Post Code Aggregate Flag  




NMI Status Code NMI Classification Code Jurisdiction Code 




Parent Name (ID or “if null” or “if 




not null”) 




Child Name (ID or “if null” or “if 




not null”) 




The Tier Status (not required if 




both the LR and FRMP are 




provided as selection criteria) 




NMI Limit (Maximum number of 




NMIs to be processed in the run) 




Previous BCT run identifier (i.e. 




Change all NMIs in a previous 




BCT event) 




 




 




(h) Nominate at least one of the following information for change via the BCT: 




LNSP LR FRMP 




MDP(1)  MPB(1) MPC(1) 




RP RoLR TNI Code 




DLF Code   




Note(1): The requesting Participant must be the MC to nominate the MDP, MPB and MPC Roles. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 154 of 172 
 




The requesting Participant may further specify a list of NMIs to be used as part of the selection 




criteria. 




40.4. Impacted Participant Requirements 




Impacted Participants must: 




(a) Provide AEMO acceptance or rejection of the criteria set by the requesting Participant for 




use with the BCT. 




(b) Where rejecting the criteria set by the requesting Participant for use with the BCT, provide 




AEMO a reasonable justification for the rejection. 




40.5. MDP Requirements 




The MDP must update the activity status of any affected Datastreams via normal Change Request 




processes. 




40.6. Timeframe Rules 




(a) The BCT can only be used to make Retrospective Changes. 




(b) The Timeframe Rules that apply to the appropriate Change Reason Code that would 




normally have applied will apply to BCT changes. 




40.7. Objection Rules 




Objections are not permitted. 




40.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 




The Change Request Status Notification Rules are configurable to suit the changes being made. In 




each case these will need to be specified by the Initiating Participant. For all events, only COM 




notifications will be provided. 




  















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 155 of 172 
 




41. ACCESS TO CATS STANDING DATA 




41.1. Introduction 




(a) This section provides the rules for access to CATS Standing Data through MSATS. 




(b) Separate rules apply to CATS Standing Data that is available for NMI Discovery Search and 




CATS Standing Data that can be accessed by Participants with a relationship to a NMI. 




(c) NMI Standing Data for NMI Discovery Search is the specified sub-set of CATS Standing Data 




identified in Table 41-A, Table 41-C, Table 41-I and Table 41-J. 




(d) The entire set of CATS Standing Data is identified in Table 411-D, Table 41-E, Table 41-F, 




Table 41-G and Table 41-H. 




41.2. Participant 




(a) In accordance with Jurisdictional requirements, a Participant may seek access to NMI 




Standing Data from MSATS as set out in section 41.3.1 for the purpose of identifying the 




NMI attributes assigned to a connection point or as otherwise permitted by the Jurisdiction. 




(b) If agreed with a potential End User, a Participant may seek access to NMI Standing Data 




from MSATS in accordance with section 41.3.2 for the purpose of identifying the NMI 




Standing Data assigned to a connection point or as otherwise prescribed by the Jurisdiction. 




(c) A Participant may seek access to NMI Standing Data from MSATS in accordance with 




section 41.3.4 only for the purpose of: 




(i) Identifying the Current FRMP so the End User can be referred to them in order to 




arrange abolishment of the NMI from MSATS; 




(ii) Identifying the Current FRMP to advise that an error correction transfer (CR 1021, 




1023, 1024 and 1029) will be raised; 




(iii) Identifying the Current FRMP to obtain agreement to raise a transfer CR 1010 – a 




Retrospective Change to align to Meter Reading; 




(iv) Identifying the most recent previous FRMP to arrange with them to raise a transfer in 




order to win back a NMI transferred in error. (CR 1022, 1025, 1026, 1027 and 1028). 




(d) A Current Participant is provided with access to CATS Standing Data in MSATS in 




accordance with Table 411-D, Table 41-E, Table 41-F, Table 41-G, Table 41-H, Table 41-I and 




Table 41-J. 




(e) For the purpose of this section, a reference to a: 




(i) Participant; 




(ii) retailer; or 




(iii) FRMP, 




is also a reference to a Customer’s Disclosee under section 8.6.2(b1) of the Rules. 




(f) An MC may seek access to NMI Standing Data from MSATS in accordance with section 41.3.5 




only for the purpose of identifying the NMI Classification of ‘LARGE’ in order to arrange a 




change of MC. 




41.3. Request a NMI Discovery Search 




(a) The following access to CATS Standing Data is available to a Participant in MSATS: 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 156 of 172 
 




(i) NMI Discovery Search 1; 




(ii) NMI Discovery Search 2 – NMI Standing Data; 




(iii) CATS Standing Data; 




(iv) NMI Discovery Search 3 – NMI Standing Data. 




(b) NMI Discovery Search 1 is used by a Participant to identify the NMI characters that have 




been assigned to an End User’s connection point, as described in section 41.3.1. 




(c) NMI Discovery Search 2 is used by a Participant to identify the NMI Standing data that has 




been assigned to the End User’s connection point and is available for release in accordance 




with NMI Standing Data Access Rules, as provided in section 41.3.2. 




(d) The CATS Standing Data Access Rules are contained in section 41.3.3. 




(e) A NMI Discovery Search 1 will only be successful if information is contained in MSATS that 




supports one of the following three options: DPID, Meter Serial ID and address. 




(f) NMI Discovery Search 3 is used by retailers to progress error correction CRs, identify the 




previous FRMP, or for seeking agreement to the raising of a retrospective align with meter 




read transfers. 




41.3.1. NMI Discovery Search 1 – NMI Search Rules 




(a) The NMI Search Rules define what search parameters can be used in a Jurisdiction. 




(b) The available NMI search options are: 




(i) DPID; 




(ii) Meter Serial ID; 




(iii) Address (without DPID). 




(c) Any or all of these options can be activated. Activation is in the ascending order shown in 




paragraph (b). 




(d) If a search is carried out using the address option, the state and locality (or state and 




postcode) must also be provided. 




(e) If a search is carried out using Meter Serial ID the state, locality and postcode are not 




required. 




(f) The address information can be either structured or unstructured. If a search is carried out 




using the address option only all input information is expected in the structured format as 




the first level of search. If this level of search is not successful, a second search on 




unstructured format will be undertaken by MSATS. 




(g) If a NMI Master Record does not contain DPID or address information, the NMI search will 




only be successful if a Meter Serial ID is provided as a search option. 




(h) MSATS identifies a unique metering installation. The metering installation may be co-located 




with a postal delivery point but there will be instances where the metering installation has 




no postal delivery point. In recognition of this variation, MSATS enables the Participant to 




enter in either a structured or an Unstructured Address. The Unstructured Address should 




not contain state and postcode information. 




(i) The NMI Search Rules also define how many matches will be returned in the case of 




multiple matches. 




(j) If a match occurs, MSATS will return to the Participant the following: 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 157 of 172 
 




Table 41-A 




MSATS Name Description of data items returned on a successful 




NMI Discovery Search request 




Only if “Address 




returned in stage 1” is 




turned on 




Building Name See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 




Customer Classification 




Code 




See Table 41-E for description ✓ 




Customer Threshold Code See Table 41-E for description ✓ 




DPID Number See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 




EmbNet Child See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 




EmbNet Parent See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 




Feeder Class See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 




Flat Number See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 




Flat Type See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 




Floor Number See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 




Floor Type  See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 




House Number See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 




House Number Suffix See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 




LNSP Local Network Service Provider or Embedded 




Network Manager for a child connection point 




Always returned 




Locality See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 




Location Descriptor See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 




Lot Number See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 




NMI  a 10 digit national metering identifier Always returned 




NMI Checksum  a single digit number used to validate the NMI 




supplied to MSATS 




Always returned 




Postcode See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 




State See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 




Street Name See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 




Street Suffix See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 




Street Type See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 




Unstructured Address 2 See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 




Unstructured Address 3 See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 




Unstructured Address1 See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 




 




(k) No other information will be provided. 




(l) The NMI Search Rules are shown in Table 41-B. 




(m) The LNSP must:  




(i) only carry out a NMI Discovery Search 1 on any NMIs where they are the Current 




LNSP. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 158 of 172 
 




(ii) Only perform NMI Discovery Search 1 within its local area for the purpose of 




responding to a request from a retailer to assist in the resolution of a NMI Standing 




Data problem, or to perform quality checks of its data within MSATS. 




(n) The ENM must only carry out a NMI Discovery Search 1 on any NMIs where they are the 




Current ENM. 




Table 41-B – NMI Search Rules 




Role  DPID  Meter 




Serial ID 




NMI Address Address returned 




in Stage 1  




Number of Records 




Returned if Multiple Match 




FRMP 




LNSP 




Yes Yes Yes Yes 99 




41.3.2. NMI Discovery Search 2 – NMI Standing Data Access Rules 




(a) This section 41.3.2 specifies the NMI Standing Data that is available to retailers and NSPs 




who do not have Explicit Informed Consent from an End User. 




(b) An LNSP must: 




(i) Only carry out a NMI Discovery Search 2 on any NMIs where they are the Current 




LNSP. 




(ii) Only perform NMI Discovery Search 2 activity within its local area for the purpose of 




responding to a request from a retailer to assist in the resolution of a NMI Standing 




Data problem, or to perform quality checks of its data within MSATS. 




(c) The ENM must only carry out a NMI Discovery Search 2 on any NMIs where they are the 




Current ENM. 




(d) The NMI Data Access Rules define: 




(i) Which Role can initiate a request for NMI Standing Data. 




(ii) Which standing data items will be returned when a request is submitted to MSATS. 




(e) The NMI Data Access Rules may be defined by Jurisdiction. 




(f) The NMI Standing Data items that would be returned to a FRMP or LNSP in all Jurisdictions 




on a successful data access request are specified in Table 41-C. Further details of each data 




item can be found in the MSATS standing data tables from the “Standing Data for MSATS” 




document. 




Table 41-C – Common NMI Standing Data items returned to a FRMP or LNSP for a NMI Discovery Search 2   




MSATS Name Data item description MSATS standing data table 




Actual/Cumulative 




Indicator 




Actual/Subtractive Indicator. 




Actual implies volume of energy actually 




metered between two dates. Cumulative 




indicates two Meter Readings are required 




to determine the consumption between 




those two read dates. For an Interval Meter, 




Actual/Cumulative Indicator is normally = 




A. 




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 159 of 172 
 




MSATS Name Data item description MSATS standing data table 




Address This includes all address fields, which 




comprise DPID, building name, flat number, 




flat type, floor number, floor type, house 




number, house number suffix, location 




descriptor, Lot Number, street name, street 




suffix, street type, Unstructured Address1, 




Unstructured Address2, Unstructured 




Address3, postcode, locality, and state. 




CATS_NMI_DATA 




ADL The electrical energy delivered through a 




connection point or metering point over an 




extended period normalised to a “per day” 




basis (kWh). 




CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Child Name The Embedded Network Code populated in 




the EmbNetChild field for a Child NMI to 




indicate that the NMI is a child for a 




specified embedded network 




CATS_NMI_DATA 




Controlled Load Indicates whether the energy recorded by 




this register is created under a Controlled 




Load regime. 




Controlled Load field will have “No” if 




register does not relate to a Controlled 




Load, it should contain a description of the 




Controlled Load regime. 




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Customer Classification 




Code 




See section4.11.1.  CATS_NMI_DATA 




Customer Threshold Code See section4.11.2. CATS_NMI_DATA 




Datastream Status Code See section4.12.2. CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Datastream Type A code to indicate the type of data that the 




Datastream will report:  includes interval 




and accumulation. 




CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Dial Format Describes the register display format. CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




DLF Code  A code representing the DLF. CATS_NMI_DATA 




Feeder Class A code for logical grouping of NMIs based 




on a DNSP’s distribution feeder. 




CATS_NMI_DATA 




Jurisdiction Code See section4.6. CATS_NMI_DATA 




LNSP  A code representing the identity of the 




LNSP. 




CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 




MDP A code representing the identity of the 




MDP (Category D). 




CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 




Meter Register Status Code A code to denote the status of the meter 




within the NEM. 




CATS_METER_REGISTER 




Meter Serial ID The serial number that uniquely identifies a 




meter for a given NMI. 




CATS_METER_REGISTER 




Metering Installation Type 




Code  




See section4.13. CATS_METER_REGISTER 




MeterRead Type Code indicating the method and frequency 




of Meter Reading. 




CATS_METER_REGISTER 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 160 of 172 
 




MSATS Name Data item description MSATS standing data table 




MPB A code representing the identity of the MP 




(Category B). 




CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 




MPC A code representing the identity of the 




MDP (Category C). 




CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 




Multiplier Multiplier required to take a register value 




and turn it into a value representing billable 




energy. 




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Network Tariff Code  A code representing the Network Tariff. CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Network Tariff Code 




Additional Information 




Additional text to supplement the Network 




Tariff Code if this is a complex Network 




Tariff Code. 




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Next Scheduled Read Date  The NSRD in date format. CATS_METER_REGISTER 




NMI  A national metering identifier. CATS_NMI_DATA 




NMI Classification Code  See section4.10. CATS_NMI_DATA 




NMI Status Code See section4.12. CATS_NMI_DATA 




Parent Name The Embedded Network Code populated in 




the EmbNetParent field for a Parent NMI to 




indicate that the NMI is a parent for a 




specified embedded network 




CATS_NMI_DATA 




Profile Name  A code representing the name of the 




profile. 




CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Register ID The register ID of the register that the 




Network Tariff Code and Network Tariff 




Code additional information refers to. 




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Register Identifier Status 




Code 




A lookup code to indicate if register is 




active. 




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




RP A code representing the identity of the MC. CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 




Suffix A code representing the NMI Datastream. CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Time f Day Industry developed Codes to identify the 




time validity of register contents. 




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




TNI Code  A code representing the transmission node 




identifier. 




CATS_NMI_DATA 




Unit of Measure A code to identify the Unit of Measure 




(UOM) for data held in this register.  




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




41.3.3. CATS Standing Data Access Rules 




(a) The CATS Standing Data Access Rules specify which items of CATS Standing Data may be 




accessed by which Role within each Jurisdiction. 




(b) The CATS Standing Data is grouped as follows: 




(i) Meter Register; 




(ii) NMI Data; 




(iii) NMI Datastream; 




(iv) NMI Participant Relations; 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 161 of 172 
 




(v) Register ID. 




The CATS Standing Data Access Rules are shown in Table 411-D, Table 41-E, Table 41-F, Table 41-G, 




and Table 41-H. 




Table 411-D – CATS Standing Data Access Rules for Meter Register 




METER REGISTER  




Jur’n Data Item Description 




F
R




M
P
 




LR
 




LN
S
P




 




M
D




P
 




M
P




B
 




M
P




C
 




R
P
 




R
o




LR
 




N
E
M




M
 




N
S
P
2
 




ALL AddlSiteInfo This field is used to provide any 




additional information about a 




Site to describe Site access and 




the relationship between the 




metering point and the 




connection point. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 




ALL AssetMgmtPlan If a Site plan is used, this is a 




description of the plan. If a 




Sample Test Plan is used, this is 




the name of the AEMO-




approved plan. 




Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 




ALL Calibration 




Tables 




Details of any calibration factors 




programmed into the meter. 




Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 




ALL CommEquip 




Type 




Indicates modem or other 




communication device types. 




Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL CommProtocol Textual description of details 




needed to communicate to 




communication devices. 




Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL DataConv Textual description of details 




needed to translate data 




received from a communication 




device. 




Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 




ALL DataValidations Textual description of details 




needed to validate data 




received from a communication 




device. 




Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 




ALL EstInstruct Textual instructions on how to 




estimate the Meter Reading if 




an Estimated Reading is 




required. 




Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 




ALL LastTestDate Last date on which the meter 




was tested. 




Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 




ALL Measurement 




Type 




Code indicating how the meter 




is measuring, example values 




include, aggregate, 




consumption, programmable, 




interval. 




Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL MeterConstant Multiplier applied to the meter 




to arrive at the consumption. 




Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 162 of 172 
 




Jur’n Data Item Description 




F
R




M
P
 




LR
 




LN
S
P




 




M
D




P
 




M
P




B
 




M
P




C
 




R
P
 




R
o




LR
 




N
E
M




M
 




N
S
P
2
 




ALL MeterHazard Code or text indicating any 




dangerous conditions that may 




have been identified at the Site. 




Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL MeterInstall 




Code 




The Metering Installation Type 




Code indicates whether or not 




the meter has to be manually 




read. This affects the transfer 




transaction process flow 




because if a meter has to be 




manually read, the MP  must 




supply the Actual Change Date 




before the Change Request is 




Completed. If it does not have 




to be manually read, the 




Change Request can be 




Completed as of the requested 




transfer date. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL MeterLocation Code or text indicating where 




the meter is physically located 




at the premises. 




Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL Meter 




Manufacturer 




The manufacturer code for the 




meter. 




Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 




ALL MeterModel The manufacturer’s model 




number for the meter. 




Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 




ALL MeterPoint An additional metering 




identifier field. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL MeterProgram For programmable meters, an 




identifier of the program run at 




the meter. 




Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 




ALL MeterReadType Code indicating how the meter 




is read 




Refer to “Standing data for 




MSATS’ document for further 




details. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 




ALL MeterRoute The route identifier the meter is 




currently being read in. 




Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 




ALL MeterSerial The serial number that uniquely 




identifies a meter for a given 




NMI. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL MeterStatus Code used to indicate the 




status of the meter. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL MeterUse Code indicating revenue meter, 




check meter, load research, etc. 




Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL NextSchRead 




Date 




Indicates the NSRD for the 




meter if a reading is required. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 163 of 172 
 




Jur’n Data Item Description 




F
R




M
P
 




LR
 




LN
S
P




 




M
D




P
 




M
P




B
 




M
P




C
 




R
P
 




R
o




LR
 




N
E
M




M
 




N
S
P
2
 




ALL NextTestDate Next date on which the meter 




should be tested. 




Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 




ALL Password Read and Time Set passwords, 




separated by a space. 




Note that the Write password is 




not to be stored in this field. 




Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 




ALL ReadTypeCode Code used to indicate whether 




a meter should be read on the 




NSRD, a Special Read Date or 




an Estimated Reading. 




Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 




VIC RemotePhone 




Number 




The phone number for remote 




access. 




- - - Yes Yes - Yes - Yes - 




NSW RemotePhone 




Number 




The phone number for remote 




access. 




- - - Yes Yes - Yes - Yes - 




ACT RemotePhone 




Number 




The phone number for remote 




access. 




- - - Yes Yes - Yes - Yes - 




QLD RemotePhone 




Number 




The phone number for remote 




access. 




- - - Yes Yes - Yes - Yes - 




SA RemotePhone 




Number 




The phone number for remote 




access. 




- - Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL TestCalibProgra




m 




Current test and calibration 




program details. 




Yes - Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL TestPerformed 




By 




Who performed the last test. 




This field could be used to store 




a company or individual’s 




name. 




Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 




ALL TestResult 




Accuracy 




The accuracy of the meter from 




the last test. 




Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 




ALL TestResult 




Notes 




Any text or further test 




information. 




Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 




ALL Transformer 




Location 




Indicates where the transformer 




is in relation to the meter. 




Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL UserAccess 




Rights 




Details of any End User access 




to the metering installation. 




Examples include pulse outputs, 




interface to End User load 




management system, or End 




User directly accessing data in 




the meter through special 




agreement. 




Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 




ALL Transformer 




Ratio 




Instrument transformer ratios 




(available and connected). 




Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL Transformer 




Type 




Type of transformation eployed. Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 164 of 172 
 




Table 41-E – CATS Standing Data Access Rules for NMI data 




NMI DATA  




Jur’n Data Item Description 




F
R




M
P
 




LR
 




LN
S
P




 




M
D




P
 




M
P




B
 




M
P




C
 




R
P
 




R
o




LR
 




N
E
M




M
 




N
S
P
2
 




ALL AggFlag A flag that may be used for the 




transition from MAS to MSATS. 




This field is used by MDM to 




determine which settlement 




reports data goes into, that is 




whether it should be aggregated 




or not. Can be a ‘Y’ or ‘N’. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL BuildingName The full name used to identify 




the physical building or property 




as part of its location. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL Customer 




Classification 




Code 




A code that defines the End User 




class as defined in the National 




Energy Retail Regulations, or in 




over-riding Jurisdictional 




instruments.  




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL CustomerThres




holdCode 




A code that defines the 




consumption threshold as 




defined in the National Energy 




Retail Regulations, or in over-




riding Jurisdictional instruments.  




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL DLFCode DLF Code used to indicate the 




DLF value for the given NMI. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL DPID Delivery point identifier – the 




numeric descriptor for a postal 




delivery point which is equal to a 




physical address. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL EmbNetChild The embedded network 




identifier code is used to identify 




which embedded network this 




Child NMI is part of. (If on a NMI 




record this field is not populated, 




it is assumed the NMI is not the 




Child NMI of any other Parent 




NMI.) 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL EmbNetParent The embedded network 




identifier code is used to identify 




which embedded network this 




NMI is the ‘parent of’. (If on a 




NMI record this field is not 




populated, it is assumed the NMI 




is not the parent of any other 




NMI.) 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL FlatNumber Specification of the number of 




the flat or unit which is a 




separately identifiable portion 




within a building/complex. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 165 of 172 
 




Jur’n Data Item Description 




F
R




M
P
 




LR
 




LN
S
P




 




M
D




P
 




M
P




B
 




M
P




C
 




R
P
 




R
o




LR
 




N
E
M




M
 




N
S
P
2
 




ALL FlatType Specification of the type of flat 




or unit which is a separately 




identifiable portion within a 




building/complex. Values 




permitted include: APT, CTGE, 




DUP, FY, F, HSE, KSK, MSNT, MB, 




OFF, PTHS, RM, SHED, SHOP, 




SITE, SL, STU, SE, TNHS, U, VLLA, 




WARD, WE. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL FloorNumber Floor Number is used to identify 




the floor or level of a multi-




storey building/complex. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL FloorType Floor Type is used to identify the 




floor or level of a multi-storey 




building/complex. Values 




permitted include: B, FL, G, L, LG, 




M, UG. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL HouseNum The numeric reference of a 




house or property. Specifically 




the house number. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL HouseNum 




Suffix 




The numeric reference of a 




house or property. Specifically 




the single character identifying 




the house number suffix. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL Jurisdiction 




Code 




Jurisdiction Code to which the 




NMI belongs. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL Locality The full name of the general 




locality containing the specific 




address. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL Location 




Descriptor 




A general field to capture 




various references to address 




locations alongside another 




physical location. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL Lot Number The lot reference number 




allocated to an address prior to 




street numbering. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL NMI National Meter Identifier – 




unique identification for each 




connection point. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 




ALL NMI 




Classification 




Code 




A code that identifies, on a 




Jurisdiction basis, the magnitude 




of the power consumed, eg 




small or large. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL NMIStatusCod




e 




Code used to indicate the status 




of the NMI, i.e. active, de-




energised, extinct. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 166 of 172 
 




Jur’n Data Item Description 




F
R




M
P
 




LR
 




LN
S
P




 




M
D




P
 




M
P




B
 




M
P




C
 




R
P
 




R
o




LR
 




N
E
M




M
 




N
S
P
2
 




ALL Postcode The numeric descriptor for a 




postal delivery area, aligned with 




locality, suburb or place. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL State Defined State or Territory 




abbreviation. Values permitted 




include: AAT, ACT, NSW, NT, 




QLD, SA, TAS, VIC, WA. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL StreetName Records the thoroughfare name. Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL StreetSuffix Records any street suffixes. 




Values permitted include: CN, E, 




EX, OR, N, NE, NW, S, SE, SW, 




UP, W 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL StreetType Records the street type 




abbreviation. Available 




abbreviations are listed in 




AS4590. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL TNICode Transmission Node Identifier. 




Identifies a transmission network 




connection point.  




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes  Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL Unstructured 




Address1 




To provide the Unstructured 




Address (line 1) where a 




Structured Address cannot be 




supplied. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL Unstructured 




Address2 




To provide The Unstructured 




Address (line 2) where a 




Structured Address cannot be 




supplied. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL Unstructured 




Address3 




To provide the Unstructured 




Address (line 3) where a 




Structured Address cannot be 




supplied. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL Feeder Class To provide a 15 character long 




field in varchar format for logical 




grouping of NMIs based on a 




DNSP’s distribution feeder. 




Yes  Yes  Yes - - - Yes - Yes - 




Table 41-F – CATS Standing Data Access Rules for NMI Datastream 




NMI DATASTREAM 




Jur’n Data Item Description 




F
R




M
P
 




LR
 




LN
S
P




 




M
D




P
 




M
P




B
 




M
P




C
 




R
P
 




R
o




LR
 




N
E
M




M
 




N
S
P
2
 




ALL AverageDailyL




oad 




The electrical energy delivered 




through a connection point or 




metering point over an extended 




period normalised to a per day 




basis. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes Yes 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 167 of 172 
 




Jur’n Data Item Description 




F
R




M
P
 




LR
 




LN
S
P




 




M
D




P
 




M
P




B
 




M
P




C
 




R
P
 




R
o




LR
 




N
E
M




M
 




N
S
P
2
 




ALL DataStream 




Type 




Indicates the type of data that the 




Datastream will report includes 




interval and accumulation. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL ProfileName See Retail Market Procedures – 




Glossary and Framework 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL StreamStatus 




Code 




Code used to indicate the status 




of the suffix. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL Suffix Stream of data for the NMI. Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




Table 41-G – CATS Standing Data Access Rules for Participant Relations 




PARTICIPANT RELATIONS 




Jur’n Data Item Description 




F
R




M
P
 




LR
 




LN
S
P




 




M
D




P
 




M
P




B
 




M
P




C
 




R
P
 




R
o




LR
 




N
E
M




M
 




N
S
P
2
 




ALL FRMP Financially Responsible Market 




Participant, e.g. Current Retailer.  




Yes  Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL LNSP Current Local Network Service 




Provider (or ENM for a child 




connection point).  




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 




ALL LR Current Local Retailer or Embedded 




Network Local Retailer 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes  




ALL MDP Current MDP – Category D. Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL MPB Current MP – Category B. Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL MPC Current MDP – Category C. Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL NEMM  Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL ROLR Current Retailer of Last Resort. Yes - Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes 




ALL RP Current Metering Coordinator. Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL NSP2 Current Second Network Service 




Provider 




  Yes Yes   Yes  Yes Yes 




Table 41-H – CATS Standing Data Access Rules for Register IDs 




REGISTER ID 




Jur’n Data Item Description 




F
R




M
P
 




LR
 




LN
S
P




 




M
D




P
 




M
P




B
 




M
P




C
 




R
P
 




R
o




LR
 




N
E
M




M
 




N
S
P
2
 




ALL ActCumInd Actual/Subtractive indicator. 




Actual implies volume of energy 




actually metered between two 




dates. 




Cumulative indicates a Meter 




Reading for a specific date. A 




second Meter Reading is required 




to determine the consumption 




between those two dates.  




Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 168 of 172 
 




Jur’n Data Item Description 




F
R




M
P
 




LR
 




LN
S
P




 




M
D




P
 




M
P




B
 




M
P




C
 




R
P
 




R
o




LR
 




N
E
M




M
 




N
S
P
2
 




ALL Controlled 




Load 




Indicates whether the energy 




recorded by this register is created 




under a Controlled Load regime. 




Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL Demand1 A value, in kVA or kW, which is a 




demand component associated 




with a Network Tariff. 




Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL Demand2 A value, in kVA or kW, where there 




is a second demand component 




associated with a Network Tariff. 




Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL DialFormat Describes the register display 




format. First number is the number 




of digits to the left of the decimal 




place, and the second number is 




the number of digits to the right of 




the decimal place. 




Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL Multiplier Multiplier required to take a 




register value and turn it into a 




value representing billable energy. 




Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL NetworkTarif




f 




Code 




A code that identifies the Network 




Tariff. It is a code obligation for the 




LNSP to publish the meaning of 




these codes elsewhere (e.g. on the 




Internet). 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL NTAddInfo Contains additional explanatory 




information about the Network 




Tariff if the code alone is not a 




sufficient explanation. 




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL RegisterId The identifier which uniquely 




identifies this register.  




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL RegisterId 




Status 




A code to indicate whether or not 




the register is active.  




Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL Suffix The suffix on the CATS_NMI_ 




Datastream table to which energy 




measured on this register 




contributes. 




Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL TimeOfDay A code that indicates the time 




validity of the register’s contents. 




Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




ALL UnitOf 




Measure 




A code to identify the unit of 




measure for the data held in this 




register. 




Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 




41.3.4. NMI Discovery Search 3 – NMI Standing Data Access Rules 




(a) This section specifies the NMI Standing Data available to retailers who are: 




(i) seeking to progress error correction transfers (prior to initiating a CR 1021, 1023, 1024 




and 1029); 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 169 of 172 
 




(ii) seeking agreement to the raising of a Retrospective Change on a date that aligns 




with a previous Meter Reading (CR 1010); 




(iii) seeking the previous FRMP to win back a NMI won in error – (CR 1022, 1025, 1026, 




1027 and 1028); and 




(iv) Who are not the FRMP and in receipt of an End User’s request for abolishment of a 




NMI from MSATS. 




(b) A retailer must only perform NMI Discovery Search 3 on any NMIs for the reasons stated in 




paragraph (a). 




(c) The NMI Standing Data Access Rules for this transaction define which: 




(i) Role can initiate a request for NMI Standing Data. 




(ii) Standing data items will be returned when a request is submitted to MSATS. 




(d) The Roles that can initiate the NMI Discovery Search 3 are specified in Table 41-I. 




Table 41-I – NMI Standing Data Access Rules for Participant Relations 




PARTICIPANT RELATIONS 




Jur’n Data Item Description 




F
R




M
P
 




LR
 




LN
S
P




 




M
D




P
 




M
P
B




 




M
P
C




 




R
P
 




R
o




LR
 




N
E
M




M
 




N
S
P
2
 




ALL FRMP Financially Responsible Market 




Participant. 




Yes -  –   –   –  -  –  -  –   –  




ALL LNSP Current Local Network Service 




Provider, or Embedded Network 




Manager for a child connection 




point.  




 –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –  




ALL LR Current Local Retailer/Embedded 




Network Local Retailer. 




 –   –   –   –   –  -  –  -  –   - 




ALL MDP Current Metering Data Provider, 




i.e. provider of metering data to 




AEMO. 




 –   –   –   –   –   –   –  -  –   –  




ALL MPB Current Meter Provider – 




maintenance of meter. 




 –  -  –   –   –   –   –  -  –   –  




ALL MPC Current Meter Provider – data 




collection. 




 –  -  –   –   –   –   –  -  –   –  




ALL NEMM   –  -  –   –   –   –   –  -  –   –  




ALL RoLR Current Retailer of Last Resort.  –  -  –   –   –  -  –   –   –   –  




ALL RP Current Metering Coordinator.  –   –   –   –   –   –   –  -  –   –  




ALL NSP2 Current Second Network Service 




Provider 




- -  –   –  - -  –  -  –   –  




(e) When initiating NMI Discovery Search 3, a retailer must ensure: 




(i) When using the reason of ITD (Incorrect Transfer Date), they are the Current FRMP 




for the NMI and a FRMP change completed in the past 130 business days from the 




NMI Discovery Search 3 date. 




(ii) When using the reason of TRI (Transferred In Error), they are the Current FRMP or the 




most recent previous FRMP for a given NMI. (This applies where the Current FRMP 




needs to request a retailer to transfer back a NMI transferred in error or the most 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 170 of 172 
 




recent previous FRMP has identified another retailer has transferred the NMI in error 




and is seeking to transfer it back.) 




(iii) When using the reason of MCR, Missed CR1500 error, a CR1500 was not submitted in 




the past 130 business days from the NMI Discovery Search 3 date. 




(iv) When using the reason of NNS (New NMI Setup Error – see Table 41-J), the NMI was 




created in the past 130 business days from the NMI Discovery Search 3 date. 




(f) The valid standing data items that would be returned to the initiating Role in all Jurisdictions 




on a successful data access request are specified in Table 41-J. 




Table 41-J – NMI Standing Data Items returned in all Jurisdictions for a Search 3 Search Request per 




Reason Code 




Reason code Description MSATS Name of the 




data item returned 




Description of data item returned on a successful 




request 




 All NMI  A 10 digit national metering identifier. 




ITD Incorrect Transfer 




Date Error 




FRMP, End Date Up to 10 character code representing the identity of 




the most recent previous FRMP. 




End Date of the most recent previous FRMP record. 




MCR Missed CR1500 




Error 




FRMP  Up to 10 character code representing the identity of 




the Current FRMP.  




NNS New NMI Setup 




Error 




FRMP  Up to 10 character code representing the identity of 




the Current FRMP.  




OTR Other Transfer 




Error 




FRMP Up to 10 character code representing the identity of 




the Current FRMP.  




SAB Site Abolishment FRMP, 




Start Date 




Up to 10 character code representing the identity of 




the Current FRMP. 




Start Date of the Current FRMP record. 




TRI Transferred In 




Error 




FRMP, 




Start Date 




Up to 10 character code representing the identity of 




the Current FRMP. 




Start Date of the Current FRMP record. 




TRI Transferred In 




Error 




FRMP, End Date Up to 10 character code representing the identity of 




the most recent previous FRMP. 




End Date of the most recent previous FRMP record. 




TRM Transfer Missed 




Error 




FRMP Up to 10 character code representing the identity of 




the Current FRMP.  




 




41.3.5. MC Standing Data Search – NMI Standing Data Access Rules 




(a) This section 41.3.5 specifies the NMI Standing Data that is available to MCs who do not have 




Explicit Informed Consent from an End User. 




(b) A current or prospective MC must: 




(i) Only carry out an MC Standing Data Search on NMIs where they are the Current MC; 




or 




(ii) Only perform MC Standing Data Search activity for the purpose of responding to a 




request from a large customer/retailer to assist in the appointment of the prospective 




MC. 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 171 of 172 
 




(c) The NMI Data Access Rules define: 




(i) Which Role can initiate a request for NMI Standing Data and 




(ii) Which standing data items will be returned when a request is submitted to MSATS. 




(d) The NMI Data Access Rules may be defined by Jurisdiction. 




(e) The NMI Standing Data items returned to an MC in all Jurisdictions on a successful data 




access request are specified in Table 3-ATable 41-K. 




Table 41-K – Common NMI Standing Data items returned for an MC Standing Data Search.  




(The following data is based on the MSATS C7 report with the inclusion of Controlled Load and NMI Classification 




Code).  




MSATS Name Data item description MSATS standing data table 




Address This includes all address fields, which 




comprise DPID, building name, flat number, 




flat type, floor number, floor type, house 




number, house number suffix, location 




descriptor, Lot Number, street name, street 




suffix, street type, Unstructured Address1, 




Unstructured Address2, Unstructured 




Address3, postcode, locality, and state. 




CATS_NMI_DATA 




ADL The electrical energy delivered through a 




connection point or metering point over an 




extended period normalised to a “per day” 




basis (kWh). 




CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Controlled Load Indicates whether the energy recorded by 




this register is created under a Controlled 




Load regime.  




Controlled Load field will have “No” if 




register does not relate to a Controlled 




Load, it should contain a description of the 




Controlled Load regime.  
 




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Customer Classification 




Code 




See section4.11.1.  CATS_NMI_DATA 




Customer Threshold Code See section4.11.2. CATS_NMI_DATA 




Datastream Status Code See section4.12.2. CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




Datastream Type A code to indicate the type of data that the 




Datastream will report:  includes interval and 




accumulation. 




CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 




DLF Code  A code representing the DLF. CATS_NMI_DATA 




Jurisdiction Code See section4.6. CATS_NMI_DATA 




FRMP A code representing the identity of the 




FRMP. 




CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 















MSATS PROCEDURES 




 6 February 2022 Page 172 of 172 
 




MSATS Name Data item description MSATS standing data table 




LNSP  A code representing the identity of the 




LNSP. 




CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 




LR A code representing the identity of the LR. CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 




MDP A code representing the identity of the MDP 




(Category D). 




CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 




Meter Serial ID The serial number that uniquely identifies a 




meter for a given NMI. 




CATS_METER_REGISTER 




Metering Installation Type 




Code  




See section4.13. CATS_METER_REGISTER 




MPB A code representing the identity of the MP 




(Category B). 




CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 




MPC A code representing the identity of the MDP 




(Category C). 




CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 




Multiplier Multiplier required to take a register value 




and turn it into a value representing billable 




energy. 




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Network Tariff Code  A code representing the Network Tariff. CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Next Scheduled Read Date  The NSRD in date format. CATS_METER_REGISTER 




NMI Classification Code  See section4.10. CATS_NMI_DATA 




NMI Status Code See section 4.12.1 CATS_NMI_DATA 




Register ID The register ID of the register that the 




Network Tariff Code and Network Tariff 




Code additional information refers to. 




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




Register Identifier Status 




Code 




A lookup code to indicate if register is active. CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




ROLR A code representing the identity of the 




ROLR. 




CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 




RP A code representing the identity of the MC. CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 




Time Of Day Industry developed Codes to identify the 




time validity of register contents. 




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




TNI Code  A code representing the transmission node 




identifier. 




CATS_NMI_DATA 




Unit of Measure A code to identify the Unit of Measure 




(UOM) for data held in this register.  




CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 




 














image9.png





image10.png





image1.jpeg







JDaly
File Attachment
ERCF Change Log & ICFs.zip



MSATS Only Items 
Meghan Bibby, AEMO

ERCF 13



Average Daily Load (ADL) at datastream
level

Survey results - Meghan Bibby, AEMO

N = 18

Do you currently use the Average Daily Load (ADL) field? If so, what does your business use it for? (question for all 
sectors)

• Yes – used to check if metering data is within a reasonable range, for basic meter data substitutions, new connections 
paperwork (EG: as an indicator of mass market or C&I for sales), 

• Some organisations internally calculate ADL from data provided by the MDP rather than by NET ADL

• Yes, as it’s mandatory for MDP to calculate and supply this data

Do you see value in keeping the field as-is?

• 11 =Yes, 1=No, 6=Comments

• Yes but accuracy should be improved (EG: more decimal places)

• ADL and ADG for load and generation will be needed

• Averaging 12 months of ADL data under 5MS may be a strain 


Sheet

		What is your name and what organisation are you representing?		Do you currently use the Average Daily Load (ADL) field? If so, what does your business use it for?		2) Do you see value in keeping the field as-is?				Would you be supportive of ADL being redefined to reflect the datastream level. If yes/no, why?		How would you define an ADL at datastream level - what wording do you suggest?		Should an additional settlement revision exist for long term corrections?				Which roles should be involved in this and which should be responsible for the revision? For example: MP/MDP/LNSP to advise MC, MC or retailer to be responsible for coordinating correction.		In what timeframe should these changes be captured?		Do you have any further comments on either proposal?

		Open-Ended Response		Open-Ended Response		Response		Further comment		Open-Ended Response		Open-Ended Response		Response		Other (please specify)		Open-Ended Response		Open-Ended Response		Open-Ended Response

		Dino Ou, Endeavour Energy		Yes, we use the ADL to check if the metering data is within a reasonable range. If not within a reasonable range then we would enquire with the MDP. This has allowed us to detect incorrect metering data and to request for metering data to be corrected.		Yes				Yes, we support the ADL being redefined to be at the datastream level. It looks like most MDP already do this and the definition needs to be updated to reflect the current industry practice.		ADL - the amount of electricity for each datastream delivered through a connection point over an extended period averaged to a daily amount		Yes				The MC should be the responsible for coordinating the correction. Any party should be able to notify the MC of an issue and the MC should inform other impacted parties and coordinate the correction.		Notification to other impacted parties should be done within 5 business days of becoming aware of an issue. However the correction of the metering data can vary depending on issue and what information is needed to correct the metering data.		AEMO should consider including any new obligations into the metering service provider's audit

		Bryce Turnbull - TasNetworks		Yes, for basic meter data substitutions in line with the metrology procedure.		Yes				We're assuming this is related to having datastreams for each register. If this is the case we would be supportive.		Assuming our assumption above is correct:  ADL needs to be reflective of data recorded on individual registers.		No				Remain as is. MDP under authority from the MC.		Not clear on what the definition of "captured" is, in this quetsion.		No.

		EnergyAustralia		Mass market new business sales check this field to see if a customer can be quoted into mass market or C&I. C&I then use as the ADL estimate to gage load.		Yes				Yes. This would be helpful to determine whether the customer could benefit from load balancing. If the ADL is at the register level and does not factor in B channel data, it is a more accurate reflection of the customers usage which is useful when determining metrology usage breaches, meter upgrade requirements, C&I vs mass market eligibility, etc.  Also, the NMI level ADL can be calculated from ADL at a datastream level,  but not vice versa.		The wording should define whether the ADL has been calculated based on E channel data only, or a net of E and B channel data. The preference would be for the ADL to be at the register level, therefore giving E channel and B channel ADL separately. The definition should include the UOM, i.e kWh.  E.g definition should include: ADL reflects the historical import kWh data at a register level. The definition should also include an explanation of the effective dates in MSATS to clearly reflect the period is has been based on or the date from which it is calculated.		Yes				MDP/LNSP to advised MC/retailer.		6 months

		Joe Castellano - Origin Energy		Yes, we currently use this field as our teams will input the ADL while raising specific service orders.		Yes				Yes. ADL at data stream level would be beneficial as we can see usage per day at Meter level (represents as, peak / off-peak / control load usage per day since the data stream will be different when there are multiple meters (such as, peak, off-peak, solar, etc.).  This may be beneficial when managing customer enquiries, such as high bill enquiries.		The datastream level tells us exactly what it is. You can tell by the datastream what it is for E/B. It would be the load on the streams.		No				Our position is there is no additional revision required.		As per question 7		N/A

		Christophe, Red Energy & Lumo Energy		Yes, this is used:  - New connections paperwork mainly  - Try to verify/understand size of the NMI   - Others, mostly useful at the start of the lifecycle of a NMI		Further comment		Yes, however we feel that it isn't very accurate. We used to use it for C&I, but found it wasn't accurate enough.		Maybe, however it would be interesting to know how this would work for "K" and "Q" streams. And in terms of New Connections, determining this at a datastream level may also prove to be too complex (and reduce further the accuracy)		n/a		Other (please specify)		Maybe, depending on how the process/logic is built and who is made accountable for the coordination		LNSP

		Greg Szot, CitiPower Powercor		Yes, mandatory for MDP to calculate and supply to market, used where actual data is not available for forward estimations and substitutions.  Also, the ADL is required for the LNSP to calculate NMI Classification and CTC.		Yes				The ADL is calculated and already supplied at the datastream level by the MDP, where it is supplied by the FRMP it is split across multiple datastreams (if required).		We don't believe any wording changes are required.		No				NA		NA		No

		United Energy		Yes mandatory for MDP to calculate and supply to market, used where actual data is not available for forward estimations and substitutions. Also it is required by the LNSP to calculate the NMI Class and CTC.		Yes				The ADL is calculated and already supplied at the datastream level by the MDP, where it is supplied by the FRMP it is split across multiple datastreams if required.		UE don’t believe that any changes to the wording are required.		No				N/A		N/A		N/A

		Shaun Cupitt - Alinta Energy		Alinta Energy does use the ADL in a number of business processes for both small and large customers.  Specifically it is used when processing new connections and alterations, as a key step when carrying out billing investigations as a result of customer billing enquiries, complaints or bill disputes and it is used to get a rough gauge of the customer consumption threshold (classification) for new acquisitions/meter changes in Victoria.		Yes				Yes.  Alinta Energy believes that moving the ADL to the datastream will provide a more granular view of the customers usage and enable us to provide a better service to our customers both small and large.		Alinta Energy suggests that AEMO uses the same descriptions currently being applied/used in Network Tariff structures.  We would expect that the terms used would be consistent with published and approved pricing proposals documented by the Distribution Businesses in the NEM.		Yes				Alinta Energy believes that the MDP (be that a contestable MDP or a Distribution business) should be responsible for providing the data which will then be approved by the relevant market participants and then AEMO can carry out the appropriate settlement process.		Alinta Energy believes that there should be an additional settlement done for the previous 12 months along with the existing settlement periods.

		Jane Hutson, EQL as LNSP and MDP only		As an LNSP we store the ADL field provided by the MDP and use it only as a guideline for NMI and tariff reclassification. However we calculate our own annual consumption from meter reading data before finalising any Customer Classification Changes   As an MDP we are obviously obligated under the MDP SLA and Metrology to maintain and calculate ADLs annually. We also use the ADL when calculating certain estimation and substitution values on Type 6 meters. We use the ADL visually when reviewing validation exceptions of Type 6 meter reads. We also use standard customer class ADLs on the establishment of new NMIs and again for  estimation and substitution. We do not use ADLs for calculating Threshold Breaches but instead use the raw reading data.		Further comment		The field needs to remain but not as-is due to the changes introduced by 5 minute settlement. Needs to now include decimal places		Yes as currently all our ADLs are calculated at the data stream level and not at the NMI level. If the ADL was calculated at the NMI level it would be impossible to use it for the purposes of estimation and substitution on multi meter or multi register NMIs.		The average daily consumption or generation in kwh for meter points or meter registers recording in kilo watts. Excludes kvarh or other meter registers. Can only be a positive value, even for import registers. Needs to include decimal places to allow for minimal loads on NCONUML devices.		No				MDP should be responsible for making and disseminating the revision, but the FRMP should be responsible for authorising and coordinating the correction.		A limit of 1 month from the detection of the fault/theft to the provision of revised meter data. Currently authorisation for substitution and approval of substitution methods between 3 or 4 parties is a far too length process.		No

		Helen Vassos - PLUS ES		Any processes we drive using an ADL are driven by internally stored ADLs, not the NET ADL recorded in MSATS.  Some of the things we use ADLs:   - NMI classification and CTC,   - used by the MC to change the Metering Installation Type when consumption thresholds are crossed		Further comment		Whilst there is value in using it , maintaining an ADL, averaging 12 months of 5 min data for millions of meters could potentially become  quite a strain.		Yes  as MSATS already reflects ADL at the datastream level		Definition: Average of the total consumption of the day over a defined period, for the datastream.    Additionally : The period should be defined, and the calculation made consistent across the market.		Other (please specify)		Some consistency is suggested for the settlement process where consumption correction > 7mths apply.  Generally Retailers and DBs have a different approach or requirements on how to deliver and manage this data.  This results in highly complex data correction processes for periods outside the existing settlement framework.		Whoever is necessary is determining the accuracy of the revised data and any market participants with a financial interest.  The MDP already has an obligation to deliver  the data within 2 days.		Plus ES has no preference of when the changes are implemented.		Illegal connections:  PLUS ES supports the provisioning of data for otherwise determined 'non active' sites but do not  believe it is their responsibility to police illegal connections.  We currently:  -	Leave Datastreams Active for all De-energised Sites    -	Attempt to read all De-energised sites    -	Follow up process every 30 days for New Connections when meters are connected but not energised   -	Supply Meter Data as read by the meter   It is up to the LNSP to review and analyse the Meter Data received from the MDP and act accordingly.    Additionally:  Occasionally we are exposed to a rather convoluted process when we detect generation which has not been requested.  Could this be considered as illegal connection?    Is it possible to automatically reconfigure meters when reverse flow is detected ?

		Tom Cole - Metering Dynamics		To confirm the metering installation type.		Further comment		Will need ADL and ADG for load and generation or ADE energy.		Yes, depending on the use of this data by different participants.    Import and Export energy datastreams e.g. grid-connected batteries being charged and discharged.		The average total daily energy passing through the connection point/NMI/Metering Installation.		Yes				MP/MDP to advise LNSP, MC and FRMP.  MC to be responsible.  This could vary depending on the event and correction needed.

		Mark Riley - AGL		Establishing size of load / load change  used to determine if CT metering required   used when there is inadequate information to estimate load   It has been proposed that it be used for establishing a UMS loading in B2B		Further comment		depends on the value in separating in the streams if the simple ADL can be manipulated to provide approximate loadings for the other streams the perhaps not		see above		ADL / Stream = the average daily loading for that data stream in KW/KVA as required     24 hr data stream = 24  6 hr off peak data stream may be 4  24 hr KVA stream may be 30		Yes				see Metrology Procedure Part B which details all this		Networks have issued invoices for 10 years		no

		Ingrid Farah @ Ergon Energy Retail		No		Further comment		Considering design principals for new MDM validations.  May present an opportunity for high/low validations		Yes, to ensure import and export is appropriately captured and utilised correctly for internal validations of received load at a datastream level		An appropriately calculated representation of the import and or export of load both utilised and forecasted by the MDP for all elements of a NMIs meter configuration.		Other (please specify)		a 30 week revision is not a sufficient time frame to capture and remediate field issues  that impact variations to load.		MDP/MC to initiate corrective steps and coordinate NEM revision with AEMO.		52 week adhoc revision.		There needs to be a minimum mWh threshold established to invoke a GS revision and recalculation of UFE.  Anything below the agreed threshold should not involve a review of the UFE.  A pending adhoc revision notice should then be communicated by AEMO to all parties operating in the affected local area advising of volume of load discrepancy and which settlement weeks are potentially impacted.    Please note this was the position proposed by EEQ during 5MS consultation.  Global Settlements maintenance of the existing settlement processes is not sufficient for this rule change.

		Collette Reedy ActewAGL Retail		We store it and display it, however there is no functionality pointing to it.		Yes				It is difficult to indicate our support/non-support for this at this stage.  Whilst we think it should be fine, we would be better positioned to comment when more information regarding this change is available.				Other (please specify)		Unsure, therefore no comment		Unsure, therefore no comment		Unsure, therefore no comment		No

		Mamta Madan , Active Utilities (ENM)		No		Yes				Yes				No								No

		Jeff Roberts; Evoenergy		Defining large customer groups		Yes				Yes, each kWh data stream should have its own value		For each kWh data stream, provide the ADL of that data stream (as a positive value) to MSATS. For all other streams the value should be zero.		No

		Paul Greenwood - Vector Metering		No, Becasue it is not a type 4 substitution method. However we believe that this should be changed and that ADL based substitution method of last resort for type 4 should be allowed. Then we would use it.		No				Yes - but how it is used, whether it is still needed for all meter types. It seems that once you have a level of historic interval data from a meter you can easily calculate a ADL.		Only required for Consumption Active Energy channels.		No				Some level of analysis is required to quantify the financial benefit of a further round. Existing protocols will cater for an additional round e,g, at 52 weeks.		52 weeks?

		SA Power Networks		We do not use the ADL populated by MDP's, where required for any internal processes, we internally calculate the ADL from data provided by the MDP.  As the MDP, we provide this to MSATS to meet current obligations.		Yes				No - we do not see any need or benefit and any change would just impose work and costs to industry with no benefit or justification. We believe that participants should use data provided by the MDP to develop any alternative view of ADL that the individual business may require.		No need for change, therefore, no new definition required.		No				As per answer to question 6, we do not support an additional settlement revision.		As per answer to question 6, we do not support an additional settlement revision.		Any change needs to ensure a full cost benefit analysis is completed and this shows a benefit to industry before proceeding.





JDaly
File Attachment
Survey Results.xlsx



Average Daily Load (ADL) at datastream
level (cont.)

Would you be supportive of ADL being redefined to reflect the datastream level. If yes/no, why?

• 14 in favour of it, especially if there are datastreams for each register

• NMI level ADL can be calculated from ADL at a datastream level,  but not vice versa

• If the ADL was calculated at the NMI level it would be impossible to use it for the purposes of estimation and substitution on multi 
meter or multi register NMIs

• Would be helpful to determine if customer benefits from load balancing

How would you define an ADL at datastream level - what wording do you suggest?

1. The amount of electricity for each datastream delivered through a connection point over an extended period averaged to a daily 
amount

2. ADL needs to be reflective of data recorded on individual registers.

3. ADL reflects the historical import kWh data at a register level

4. The average daily consumption or generation in kwh for meter points or meter registers recording in kilowatts

5. The definition should also include an explanation of the effective dates in MSATS to clearly reflect the period is has been based on or 
the date from which it is calculated.

6. Average of the total consumption of the day over a defined period, for the datastream. The period should be defined, and the 
calculation made consistent across the market.

7. Stream = the average daily loading for that data stream in KW/KVA as required. 24 hr data stream = 24  6 hr off peak data stream
may be 4  24 hr KVA stream may be 30

8. X respondents stated no wording changes required



ICF_026: Enabling MC to object for NMI 
Classification code of NCONUML (Ref #5)
Joe Castellano, Origin

• Is an objection required given that DBs would typically nominate themselves as an MC and presumably build 
systems that will automatically or at a minimum allow the selection of themselves only for this type of NMI 
Classification 

• In the 5MS version of the CATS procedures the MC can already object using BADPARTY on a CR2000/2001 for 
ALL NMI Classifications. A CR2500/2501 allow objections for NCONUML classification of BADPARTY and 
NOTRESP. 

• A CR2500/2501 allow objections for NCONUML classification of BADPARTY and NOTRESP. 

• NCONUML is not mentioned in the objection logging period tables, only SMALL and LARGE are.

• The 5MS config spreadsheet include these objections to allow NCONUML

How will DBs create these?




[bookmark: _GoBack]



		ISSUE / CHANGE FORM – SUMMARY SECTION
(Template focuses on issue/change identification and impact.)







		ICF Number 

(AEMO to complete)

		



		Version #

		1



		Proponent Name

		Joe Castellano

		Company

		Origin Energy



		Proponent Title

		Enabling MC to object for NMI Classification code of NCONUML

		Proponent Contact No

		0459 881 285



		Proponent email

		Joe.Castellano@originenergy.com.au

		Date lodged with AEMO

		



		Procedure Impacted

		|_|	MSATS System

[bookmark: Check1]|X|	MSATS CATS Procedure

|_|	MSATS WIGS Procedure

|_|	NEM ROLR Processes 

|_|	Metrology Procedure Part A

|_|	Metrology Procedure Part B

|_|	Service Level Procedure: MDP, MP, ENM (cross out unrelated 								documents)

|_|	Other, please specify:



		Areas Impacted

		(I.e. Section No. and/or CR 10XX)



		

		· Table 4-D – Objection Codes or

· Table 11-B – Objection Rules – CR2000/2001 

· Table 13-B – Objection Rules – CR2500/2501



		Short Description / Title

		Enable the MC to use the Objection Reason code of BADPARTY or NOTRESP for NMI Classification code of NCONUML.



		Other key contact information 

		









		VERSION #

		PRESENTED TO

		DATE



		

		

		



		

		

		









ERCF Issue-Change Form [image: Header]









ERCF ICF		Page 1

		ISSUE / CHANGE – DETAILED REPORT SECTION







		1. Detailed description of Issue / Change

		With the introduction of Global Settlements, Non-Contestable Unmetered Supplies (NCONUML) will be registered in MSATS.  The role of Meter Coordinator (MC) for NCONUML as per the rules (NER C7.6.4) must be the Local Network Service Provider (LNSP).

During NMI creation of a NCONUML, if an MC, other than the LNSP was incorrectly appointed to the role of MC there is no ability to object where the NMI Class is NCONUML.

Current objection codes:

BADPARTY

The definition and usage of BADPARTY as described in (4.7 Objection codes table) is not useable with the scenario described above.

NOTRESP 

The NOTRESP objection code is only allowable where NMI Class is SMALL or LARGE.    



		2. Market Impact 

		An MC that is not an LNSP may be appointed incorrectly and remain until such time a change to the role is made.



		3. Requirements / Specific Proposal

		Update MSATS CATS Procedures to allow for an MC to object to the following CR’s where NMI Class is NCONUML:

· CR2000 – Create NMI Details

· CR2001 – Create NMI Details - Retrospective 

· CR2500 – Create NMI, DataStream & Meter Details

· CR2501 – Create NMI, DataStream & Meter Details – Retrospective



		4. Proposed Solution/s

		(Must address the Retail Electricity Market Procedures)



		

		Origin propose the below two solutions to resolve this issue:



1) Preferred Option - Update the definition of BADPARTY in section 4.7 Table 4-D e.g. Used by the MC when the MDP, MPB, or MPC nominated on a change of retailer request or change of role is incorrect for all NMI classifications as they are not the party appointed by the MC, or do not have the capability or capacity to operate in the Role proposed.



Or



2) Update the Objection Rules for Table 11-B Objection Rules – CR2000/2001 and Table 13-B – Objection Rules – CR2500/2501 to “All” so that the MC can object with an Objection code NOTRESP for an NMI Class of NCONUML.



		5. Law/Rule and clauses enabling change

		(Must address head of power in governing law/rule)



		

		NER C7.6.4 (a)





		5. Market benefits for industry as a whole

		(Must address National Electricity Objective and/or National Energy Retail Objective requirements)

NEO: the objective of this Law is to promote efficient investment in, and efficient operation and use of, electricity services for the long term interests of consumers of electricity with respect to: (a) price, quality, safety, reliability, and security of supply of electricity; and (b) the reliability, safety and security of the national electricity system.

NERO: The objective of this Law is to promote efficient investment in, and efficient operation and use of, energy services for the long term interests of consumers of energy with respect to price, quality, safety, reliability and security of supply of energy.



		

		



		6. Customer benefits

(consumers)

		n/a



		7. Workaround/s

(if necessary)

		MC to work with the FRMP to nominate the correct MC. Systems will need to have changes to pick these up as part of exception process.



		8. Supporting Documentation

(attach if necessary)

		



		9. Any critical timelines to consider?

		1 July 2021 



		10. AEMO’s preliminary assessment of the proposal 

		(This is to be left blank)














		NEM ISSUE / CHANGE – RELEVANT ATTACHMENT(S)







		ATTACHMENT A



Proposed changes: {Procedure Name}

Red strikeout means delete and 
blue underline means insert







image1.jpeg



JDaly
File Attachment
ICF_026 - Enabling MC to object for NMI Classification code of NCONUML.docx



ICF_028: Remove Failed Retailer MSATS user 
access in NEM ROLR Process A (Ref #6)
David Ripper, AEMO

Key changes:

• Correct a section reference.

• Formalise the removal of MSATS user access for the Failed Retailer. 

REf #6








		ISSUE / CHANGE FORM – SUMMARY SECTION
(Template focuses on issue/change identification and impact.)







		ICF Number 

(AEMO to complete)

		



		Version #

		



		Proponent Name

		AEMO Metering

		Company

		



		Proponent Title

		

		Proponent Contact No

		



		Proponent email

		

		Date lodged with AEMO

		



		Procedure Impacted

		|_|	MSATS System

[bookmark: Check1]|_|	MSATS CATS Procedure

|_|	MSATS WIGS Procedure

[bookmark: Check2]|X|	NEM ROLR Processes 

|_|	Metrology Procedure Part A

|_|	Metrology Procedure Part B

|_|	Service Level Procedure: MDP, MP, ENM (cross out unrelated 								documents)

|_|	Other, please specify:



		Areas Impacted

		(I.e. Section No. and/or CR 10XX)



		

		NEM ROLR Processes Part A, section 17.2



		Short Description / Title

		In section 17.2 correct section reference and add process step to remove Failed Retailer MSATS user access.



		Other key contact information 

		









		VERSION #

		PRESENTED TO

		DATE



		

		

		



		

		

		





ERCF Issue-Change Form [image: Header]





ERCF ICF		Page 1

		ISSUE / CHANGE – DETAILED REPORT SECTION







		1. Detailed description of Issue / Change

		Reference to “section 19” in section 17.2 should be corrected to “section 16” for consistency with section 17.1

Add new 17.2(c) 



		2. Market Impact 

		



		3. Requirements / Specific Proposal

		(If Procedure drafting is not attached in the Appendix, please include it here)

Proposed drafting.

17.2. AEMO Obligations 

Within two business days of the conditions in section 19 being met, AEMO must:

(a) Within two business days of the conditions in section 169 being met, AEMO must for all MSATS Participant IDs that belong to the Failed Retailer, cease the ability for that Participant ID to act in any Role by making the Roles assigned to the Participant ID inactive as of the RoLR Effective Transfer Date. 

[bookmark: _GoBack](b) Once section 17.2(a) is completed AEMO must, send an email confirming that there are no other updates required in MSATS to all RoLR Key Contacts. 

Note: This email may also be delivered to the Relevant Regulators.

(c) Once settlements Revision 2 for the billing period in which the RoLR Event occurred is completed, AEMO must remove all MSATS user access for the Failed Retailer.





		4. Proposed Solution/s

		(Must address the Retail Electricity Market Procedures. If drafting is not attached in the Appendix, please include it here)



		

		



		5. Law/Rule and clauses enabling change

		(Must address head of power in governing law/rule)



		

		NERL section 144.



		6. Market benefits for industry as a whole

		(Must address National Electricity Objective and/or National Energy Retail Objective requirements)

Formalises a process step that is currently undertaken.  Removal of MSATS user access for Failed Retailer ensures security and integrity of NEM energy market systems is maintained.



		

		



		7. Customer benefits

(consumers)

		N/A



		8. Workaround/s

(if necessary)

		N/A



		9. Supporting Documentation

(attach if necessary)

		N/A



		10. Any critical timelines to consider?

		No



		11. AEMO’s preliminary assessment of the proposal 

		(This is to be left blank)














		NEM ISSUE / CHANGE – RELEVANT ATTACHMENT(S)







		ATTACHMENT A



Proposed changes: {Procedure Name}

Red strikeout means delete and 
blue underline means insert







image1.jpeg



JDaly
File Attachment
ICF_028 ROLR Processes Part A 17.2 v2.docx



ICF_029: Amend or revert definition of 
the Register ID field (Ref #7)
Rebecca Neatnica, AusNet Services

. 

Ref #7








		ISSUE / CHANGE FORM – SUMMARY SECTION
(Template focuses on issue/change identification and impact.)







		ICF Number 

(AEMO to complete)

		



		Version #

		1.0



		Proponent Name

		Rebecca Neatnica

		Company

		AusNet Services



		Proponent Title

		Senior Business Analyst

		Proponent Contact No

		0410784094



		Proponent email

		rebecca.neatnica@ausnetservices.com.au

		Date lodged with AEMO

		13/03/2020



		Procedure Impacted

		|_|	MSATS System

[bookmark: Check1]|_|	MSATS CATS Procedure

|_|	MSATS WIGS Procedure

|_|	NEM ROLR Processes 

|_|	Metrology Procedure Part A

|_|	Metrology Procedure Part B

|_|	Service Level Procedure: MDP, MP, ENM (cross out unrelated 								documents)

[bookmark: Check2]|X|	Other, please specify: Standing Data for MSATS version 5.0



		Areas Impacted

		1. Standing Data for MSATS (v5.0) Section 9.1 CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER – Field definitions, field: ‘RegisterID’

2. MSATS Procedures – CATS Procedure Principles and Obligations (v5.0) – Create NMI CRC (2500/2501) and Maintain Metering CRC’s (3000/3001, 3004/3005, 3050/3051, 3080/3081, 3090/3091, 3100/3101) 



		Short Description / Title

		Amend or revert definition of the Register ID field.



		Other key contact information 

		









		VERSION #

		PRESENTED TO

		DATE



		

		

		



		

		

		





ERCF Issue-Change Form [image: Header]





ERCF ICF		Page 1

		ISSUE / CHANGE – DETAILED REPORT SECTION







		1. Detailed description of Issue / Change

		[bookmark: _GoBack]The updates to the Register ID definition that were published in version 5.0 of the Standing Data for MSATS procedure were introduced under the auspices of the 5MS/GS suite of changes with very limited prior notice or consultation as part of Metering Package 3, that interestingly was meant to only consist of administrative changes relating specifically to the 5MS/GS suite of changes. No justification was provided by AEMO for the update, despite objections being raised by Ausgrid in the Draft Consultation Stage and AusNet Services just prior to the release of the Final Determination.

Updating the Register ID to match the NMI Suffix, results in increasing duplicated data sets within MSATS, which AEMO is actively trying to reduce through the MSATS Standing Review Consultation which is currently under way.

The impact of this change to AusNet Services is significant system rework to publish the new definition and requires AusNet Services’ appointed MPB to update over 900,000 Register ID’s potentially via the equivalent volume of CRC 3051s by the end of May 2021 (as per the Final Industry Transition Plan) for no apparent benefit or justification. 



		2. Market Impact 

		The updating of the Register ID is not required in order to fulfill the 5MS/GS obligations and requires MPB participants to make significant system changes to update the Register ID in addition to the changes required to meet the 5MS/GS suite of changes. 

Updating the Register ID in MSATS requires the use of CATS CRC transactions which will be distributed to all participants associated with the impacted NMIs with duplicated data that is already available through NMI Suffix. 



		3. Requirements / Specific Proposal

		Removing the requirement for the Register ID to match the NMI Suffix in MSATS as stated in the Standing Data for MSATS procedure. 



		4. Proposed Solution/s

		Revert the Register ID field definition published in version 5 of the MSATS Standing Data Procedure to the previous Final version 4.4.



		5. Law/Rules and clauses enabling change

		NER 7.16.2



		6. Market benefits for industry as a whole

		· Reduced system changes for participants to align their Register IDs to the NMI Suffix.

· Reduction of duplicated data sets.

· Reduction in CATS transactions to the market to update

· Reducing risk to the 5MS/GS initiative by alleviating the need to realign the MSATS Register IDs via a transition activity 



		7. Customer benefits

(consumers)

		N/A



		8. Workaround/s

(if necessary)

		Should this change not be adopted then AusNet Services requests the assistance of AEMO to facilitate the ~900,000 updates to MSATS via a bulk update process. 



		9. Supporting Documentation

(attach if necessary)

		Current Standing Data for MSATS (version 4.4)





Proposed Standing Data for MSATS (version 4.5) (Stage 1 Consultation) effective Jul-2021 (track changes)





Draft Standing Data for MSATS (version 5.0) (track changes) effective 6 February 2022





Final Standing Data for MSATS (version 5.0) effective 6 February 2022





5MS & GS Metering Transition Plan – Feb-20





Current MSATS Procedures – CATS Procedure Principles and Obligations (v4.7) 





Final MSATS Procedures – CATS Procedure Principles and Obligations (version 5.0) effective 6 February 2022







		10. Any critical timelines to consider?

		As the MSATS Standing Data Review – Stage 1 is currently underway either of AusNet Services proposed options should be included in this suite of changes. 
AusNet Services proposes that this change be included in the Jul-2021 changes to the MSATS Standing Data Procedures (currently marked as version 4.5). 

Including this change into the MSATS Standing Data Review timeframe should reduce any additional impacts to market participants.



		11. AEMO’s preliminary assessment of the proposal 

		(This is to be left blank)








		NEM ISSUE / CHANGE – RELEVANT ATTACHMENT(S)







		ATTACHMENT A



Proposed changes: {Procedure Name}

Red strikeout means delete and 
blue underline means insert







RegisterID definition in version 4.4, the Current version of Standing Data for MSATS



[image: ]





RegisterID definition in version 5.0, the Final version of Standing Data for MSATS for 5MS/GS.



[image: ]









image2.emf

Standing Data for 


MSATS (v4.4).pdf




Standing Data for MSATS (v4.4).pdf




 
 



 



 



 



 



Australian Energy Market Operator Ltd    ABN 94 072 010 327 www.aemo.com.au    info@aemo.com.au 



NEW SOUTH WALES QUEENSLAND SOUTH AUSTRALIA VICTORIA AUSTRALIAN CAPITAL TERRITORY TASMANIA WESTERN AUSTRALIA 



STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 



 



PREPARED BY: AEMO Markets 



VERSION: 4.4 



EFFECTIVE DATE: 01 December 2017 



STATUS: FINAL 



  





http://www.aemo.com.au/


mailto:info@aemo.com.au








STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 2 of 42 
 



VERSION RELEASE HISTORY 



Version  Effective Date Summary of Changes 



4.0 Aug 2009 Update to AEMO Format 



4.1 19/04/2012 Updates to NMI Data tables to include Feeder Class, Customer Classification 
Code & Customer Threshold Code and minor data corrections. 



4.2  28/08/2013 Updated wording for Nx suffixes in sections 8, 9 and 12. 
Updated reference to the CATS procedures for Embedded Networks in section 
7. 
Added new data stream type codes under section 11: Reference Tables. 
Updated reference to the NEM Metrology Procedures in section 15. 



4.3 01 December 2017 Updated to incorporate:   



• National Electricity Amendment (Expanding competition in metering and 
related services) Rule 2015. No.12; 



• National Electricity Amendment (Embedded Networks) Rule 2015 No. 15; 
and 



• National Electricity Amendment (Meter Replacement Processes) Rule 
2016 No. 2. 



4.4 01 December 2017 Final Version 



 



 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 2017 Page 3 of 42 
 



CONTENTS 



1. INTRODUCTION 4 



1.1. Purpose and scope 4 



1.2. Definitions and interpretation 4 



1.3. Related documents 4 



2. BACKGROUND 4 



3. CONVENTIONS USED WITHIN THIS DOCUMENT 5 



3.1. Column Headed: Standing Data Required 5 



3.2. NMIs Affected 5 



4. CATS_METER_REGISTER 6 



5. CATS_DLF_CODES 10 



6. CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES 10 



7. CATS_NMI_DATA 11 



8. CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 14 



9. CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 16 



10. CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 18 



11. REFERENCE TABLES 19 



12. USE OF NMI SUFFIX TO POPULATE CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 20 



13. ASSIGNMENT OF DATA – ACCUMULATION METERS 21 



13.1. Single Meter, no controlled load 21 



13.2. Twp Single Element Meters, no controlled load 22 



13.3. Two Single Element Meters, one with controlled load 22 



13.4. One Meter with Two Registers, one measuring a controlled load 22 



13.5. Single Multi-function Meter 23 



13.6. Two meters, three registers. One register measures a controlled load 23 



14. ASSIGNMENT OF DATA – INTERVAL METERS 24 



14.1. One meter 24 



14.2. Import/Export meter 24 



14.3. One meter: multiple registers 25 



14.4. One meter: Twin Measurement Elements 25 



15. ASSIGNMENTS OF DATA – SAMPLE METERS 27 



15.1. Multifunction Sample Meter 27 



16. CROSS REFERENCE OF BROWSER AND ASEXML DATA ELEMENTS 28 



17. EXAMPLES OF TYPICAL FIELD VALUES 36 



18. DATA TYPE CONVENTIONS 41 



 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 4 of 42 
 



1. INTRODUCTION 



1.1. Purpose and scope 



This document details the data requirements for the various data elements comprising the CATS  
Standing Data stored for each NMI, together with relevant examples and definitions. 



1.2. Definitions and interpretation 
  



The Retail Electricity Market Procedures – Glossary and Framework: 



(a) is incorporated into and forms part of this document; and 



(b) should be read with this document. 



1.3. Related documents 



Title Location 



Retail Electricity Market Procedures – 
Glossary and Framework 



http://aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering/Glossary-and-Framework 



CATS Procedures http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-
Solutions 



WIGS Procedures http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-
Solutions 



MDM Procedures http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-
Solutions 



MSATS CATS history Model http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-
Solutions 



MSATS guides http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-
Solutions 



 



2. BACKGROUND 



The five MSATS master tables contain the standing data stored for each NMI.  They are the following:  



Table 1 MSATS Master Tables 



Table Summary of Contents 



CATS_NMI_DATA  Address, TNI Code, DLF Code, aggregate flag, embedded 
network names, Jurisdiction, NMI status code, etc  



CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS  Roles and associated Participants. Separate records are 
maintained for each Role/Participant relationship.  



CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM  Suffix, ADL Code, Profile Name, Datastream type and 
datastream status of each MDM Datastream.  



CATS_METER_REGISTER  Meter Serial ID, meter type, meter manufacturer, test 
results, etc  



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER  Meter Serial ID, Network Tariff Code, unit of measure etc  



For a NMI to be capable of being used in MSATS, it must have the following minimum set of data:  



 At least one record on the CATS_NMI_DATA table; and 



 At least eight records on the CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS table, one for each of the 
mandatory roles (ROLR, LNSP, LR, RP, FRMP, MDP, MPC and MPB).  





http://aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Glossary-and-Framework


http://aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Glossary-and-Framework


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions








STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 5 of 42 
 



It will also normally have:  



 At least one record on each of the CATS_METER_REGISTER and 
CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER (there should be at least one record for each meter and register 
associated with the NMI) tables.  



NMIs may or may not have:  



 Records on the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. If metering data is to be submitted to MDM 
there must be at least one valid record on this table.  



Every time a change is made to any of the data in any of these tables, the old records are made inactive 
and new records are created, thus ensuring that there is a complete history of all changes.  



3. CONVENTIONS USED WITHIN THIS DOCUMENT 
  



The format of the data fields in the ‘Browser Format Column’’ column of Tables is as defined in section 
18. 



The following information defines the coded entries in columns used in Tables 3 - 9. 



3.1. Column Headed: Standing Data Required 
  



The column indicates the requirement to provide this data to MSATS. 



Table 2 Explanation of Standing Data Requirements  



3.2. NMIs Affected 
  



Data must be provided for every NMI in MSATS. The NMIs that must be registered in MSATS are: 



 Every First Tier NMI and Second Tier NMI in the NEM. 



 Sample meters for non-NSLP profile calculations and embedded generating units for NSLP 
calculations. 



 Every wholesale connection point in the NEM, including generation, interconnectors and bulk 
supply points. 



 



 



Requirement Description 



MANDATORY Transfer, Validation or processing cannot proceed without this data. 



REQUIRED This data must be provided if this information is available. 



OPTIONAL This data is not required, but will be accepted if delivered. 



Address Option 1 AEMO’s preferred address option. If the applicable fields labelled “Address 
Option 1” cannot be provided, “Address Option 2” is MANDATORY. 



Address Option 2 AEMO’s non-preferred address option. If Address Option 1 is provided, these 
fields are not to be supplied. 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 6 of 42 
 



4. CATS_METER_REGISTER 
  



The CATS_Meter_Register table is a NMI master table containing data that is stored at the Meter Register level. Information stored at this level includes 
the NSRD. It is updated whenever a Change Request containing inbound Meter Register data is completed. 



Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 



Table 3 CATS_METER_REGISTER 



Data Element Name Description Standing Data 
Required 



Party to 
Provide 



 



AdditionalSiteInformation Free text, descriptive of the Site, describing Site access and the 
relationship between the metering point and the connection point. 



OPTIONAL MPB  



AssetManagementPlan Asset management plan 



If a Site plan is used, free text description of plan. 



If a sample plan is used, the name of the AEMO approved plan. 



OPTIONAL MPB  



CalibrationTables Calibration tables – details of any calibration factors programmed into 
the meter. 



OPTIONAL MPB  



CommunicationsEquipmen
tType 



Used to store baud rate for installed communication equipment in a 
code, calculated by dividing the baud rate by 100, of the installed 
communication equipment.   



For example, 48 = 4800 baud. 



OPTIONAL MPB  



CommunicationsProtocol Used to provide details of access through switch units (if installed).  



Data to include Switch Unit, Dial Pkg, Port#, userid, password. 



OPTIONAL MPB  



DataConversion Actual Pulse Multipliers OPTIONAL MPB  



DataValidations Free text description of required data validations. OPTIONAL MPB   



EstimationInstructions Estimation instructions. Free text field OPTIONAL MPB  



LastTestDate The date on which the metering installation was last tested or 



inspected by the Metering Provider “B”. This date will be used if 
clause 7.9.4(a) of the NER needs to be applied. 



OPTIONAL MPB  



MeasurementType Code based on the NMI suffix codes, indicating the type of 
measurements available from the meter.   



For example, EBQK = bidirectional energy plus reactive Interval 
Meter. 



OPTIONAL 



NOT USED for 
types 6 & 7 
Transfers. 



MPB  



Constant The meter KE (intrinsic constraint of meter in Wh/pulse). OPTIONAL MPB  











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 7 of 42 
 



Hazard Free text or code  identifying hazards associated with reading the 
meter.  



OPTIONAL MPB  



InstallationTypeCode The Metering Installation Type Code indicates whether the metering 
installation has to be manually read. 



This value must correspond to a valid MeterInstallCode in the Meter 
Installation Codes reference table listed in section 11. 



MANDATORY MPB  



Location Free text descriptive material identifying the relationship between the 
location of the metering point and the connection point. 



OPTIONAL MPB  



Manufacturer Free text field to identify the manufacturer of the installed meter. OPTIONAL MPB  



Model Free text field to identify the meter manufacturer’s designation for the 
meter model. 



OPTIONAL MPB  



Point Identifies the meter uniquely for the NMI.  In the format 0n, where n is 
the meter number per the protocol described in the NMI Procedure.    



The allowed values are 01 to 09, 0A to 0H, 0J to 0N, 0P to 0Z. 



This will allow an audit trail when one meter is removed and a new 
meter is given the same MeterPoint value. 



OPTIONAL MPB  



Program Free text field providing a description of the program used to initialise 
the installed meter. 



OPTIONAL MPB  



ReadTypeCode Code to denote the method and frequency of Meter Reading. 



1. First Character = Remote (R) or Manual (M); 
2. Second Character = Mode 



T = telephone 



W = wireless 



P = powerline 



I = infra-red 



G = galvanic 



V = visual 



3. Third Character = Frequency of Scheduled Meter Readings 



1 = Twelve times per year 



2 = Six times per year 



3 = Four times per year 



D = Daily or weekly 



4. Fourth Character = Undefined.  



For example, MV3 = Manual, Visual, Quarterly. 



OPTIONAL MPB  



Route The route identifier the meter is currently being read in. OPTIONAL MPB  











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 8 of 42 
 



SerialNumber The Meter Serial ID uniquely identifies a meter for a given NMI. 
Maximum 12 Characters (alpha numeric).  Unique for NMI. 



Use dummy for UMCP (Type 7) and logical (meters). 



Except for UMCP and logical, SerialNumber should be as displayed on 
the physical device (also known as property number). 



SerialNumber to be property number if exists, otherwise the meter 
manufacturer’s serial number, otherwise dummy number. 



MANDATORY MPB  



Status A code to denote the status of the meter.  



This value must correspond to a valid ElectricityMeter/Status in the 
Meter and RegisterID Codes reference table listed in section 11. 



MANDATORY MPB  



Use A code identifying how the meter is used. OPTIONAL MPB  



NextScheduledReadDate Indicates the Scheduled Next Read Date for the meter if a manual 
Meter Reading is required. 



OPTIONAL MPB initially, 
then MDP for 
updates 



 



NextTestDate Next date on which the meter should be tested. OPTIONAL MPB  



NMI NMI. This number is unique for each connection point within the NEM. MANDATORY LNSP  



Password Read & time set passwords separated by a space. OPTIONAL MPB  



RemotePhoneNumber The public telephone number to contact a remote Site for metering 
data. Includes STD prefix and no spaces. 



OPTIONAL MPB  



TestCalibrationProgram Test & calibration program. OPTIONAL MPB  



TestPerformedBy Identifying the Metering Provider “B” and the technician responsible 
for conducting the last test. The technician is to be identified by a 
number unique to the Metering Provider “B”. 



OPTIONAL MPB  



TestResultAccuracy The accuracy figure from the test perfomed on the date indicated in 
the LastTestDate field. 



OPTIONAL MPB  



TestResultNotes A statement of compliance indicating the standard of the test regime 
applied at the time of the last test.  



OPTIONAL MPB  



TransformerLocation A free text field to identify the existence of instrument transformers 
and their location relative to the market connection point. 



OPTIONAL MPB  



TransformerRatio A statement of the available and applied transformer ratios. OPTIONAL MPB  



TransformerType An explanation of the type of transformation used. OPTIONAL MPB  



UserAccessRights Details of any End User access to the metering installation; examples 



include pulse outputs, interface to consumer load management 
system, or consumer directly accessing data in meter by special 
agreement. 



OPTIONAL MPB  











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 9 of 42 
 



FromDate Start date of the record. This indicates the date on which the 
parameters of this particular record apply from. The data applies from 
the beginning of this date (the start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 



MANDATORY Participant 
sending 
transaction 



 



ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on which the parameters 
of this particular record end. The data applies until the end of this date 
(the end of the day, i.e. 23:59). 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate is not provided. 



MANDATORY 



(Defaults to high 
date unless 
supplied) 



System 
generated 
unless supplied. 



 



RowStatus  Indicates whether the record is active or inactive. 



Whenever a new record is created, it will be A (Active).  A change to 
the data will make this record redundant and its MaintActFlg is 
changed to I (Inactive). 



MANDATORY System 
generated 



 



MaintenanceDate  Date and time the record was updated. 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the record is created initially. 



If the record is subsequently updated, its MaintUpdtDt is changed to 
the date and time the record was updated. 



MANDATORY System 
generated 



 



CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 
generated 



 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 10 of 42 
 



5. CATS_DLF_CODES 
  



The CATS_DLF_Codes table contains a list of DLF Codes and their relevant values. The StartDate and 
DLFCode fields will need to be provided for settlements calculations. 



Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 



Table 4 CATS_DLF_CODES 



6. CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES 
  



The CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES table contains embedded network identifier codes, which are used 
to identify which embedded network a NMI belongs to, either as a Parent NMI or a Child NMI. 



Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 



Data Element Name Description Standing 
Data 
Required 



Party to 
Provide 



DistributionLossFactor
Code 



A four character alpha-numeric code used to identify DLF 
values.  All NMIs must be assigned a DLF Code. Refer to 
AEMO Distribution Loss Factor documents for each financial 
year.. 



MANDATORY AEMO 



DistributionLossFactor
Description 



Description of the DLF Code and value. MANDATORY AEMO 



DistributionLossFactor 
Value 



Numeric value up to 5 decimal places, reflecting the value of 
the DLF Code. 



MANDATORY AEMO 



JurisdictionCode Jurisdiction code to which the NMI belongs.  



This value must correspond to a valid JurisdictionCode in the 
Jurisdiction Codes reference table in section 11.  



MANDATORY AEMO 



RowStatus Indicates whether the DLF Code is active or inactive.  



Whenever a new record is created, it will be A (Active). A 



change to the data will make this record redundant and its 



MaintActFlg is changed to I (Inactive). 



 



MANDATORY System 
generated 



FromDate Start date of the record. This indicates the date on which the 
parameters of this particular record apply from. The data 
applies from the beginning of this date (the start of the day, 
i.e. 00:00). 



MANDATORY AEMO 



ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on which the 
parameters of this particular record end. The data applies until 
the end of this date (the end of the day, i.e. 23:59). 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate is not 
provided. 



MANDATORY System 
generated 



MaintenanceDate Date and time the record was updated. 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the record is 
created initially. 



If the record is subsequently updated, its MaintUpdtDt is 
changed to the date and time the record was updated. 



MANDATORY System 
generated 



CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 
generated 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 11 of 42 
 



Table 5 CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES 



 



7. CATS_NMI_DATA 
  



The CATS_NMI_DATA table records Master NMI Record data information. It is updated whenever a 
Change Request containing data in the CATS_INBOUND_NMI_DATA table is completed. 



Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 



Table 6 CATS_NMI_DATA 



Data Element Name Description Standing Data 
Required 



Party to 
Provide 



EmbeddedNetwork 
Identifier 



Embedded Network Code. 



Refer to Allocation of Embedded Network Codes  
for further details. 



MANDATORY AEMO 



EmbeddedNetwork 
Description 



Description of embedded network identifier. MANDATORY AEMO 



SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality Locality to which the embedded network identifier 
belongs. 



MANDATORY AEMO 



PostCode Postcode for the locality to which the embedded 
network identifier belongs. 



MANDATORY AEMO 



StateOrTerritory State or Territory abbreviation in accordance with 
AS 4590. 



MANDATORY AEMO 



RowStatus Indicates whether the code is active or inactive. 



Whenever a new record is created, it will be A 



(Active). A change to the data will make this record 



redundant and its MaintActFlg is changed to I 



(Inactive). 



 



MANDATORY System 
generated 



FromDate Start date of the record. This indicates the date on 
which the parameters of this particular record apply 
from. The data applies from the beginning of this 
date (the start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 



MANDATORY AEMO 



ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on 
which the parameters of this particular record end. 
The data applies until the end of this date (the end of 
the day, i.e. 23:59). 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate 
is not provided. 



MANDATORY System 
generated 



MaintenanceDate Date and time the record was updated. 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the record 
is created initially.  



If the record is subsequently updated, its 
MaintUpdtDt is changed to the date and time the 
record was updated. 



MANDATORY System 
generated 



CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 
generated 



Data Element Name Description Standing Data 
Required 



Party to 
Provide 



NMI NMI. 



All alpha characters are Upper Case 



MANDATORY LNSP 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 12 of 42 
 



NMI 
ClassificationCode 



Code used to indicate the NMI Classification Code of this 
NMI.   



This value must correspond to a valid NMIClassCode 
value in the NMI Class Codes reference table listed in 
section 11. 



MANDATORY LNSP 



 



MasterData/ 
StatusCode 



Code used to indicate the status of the NMI.   



This value must correspond to a valid 
MasterData/Status value in the NMI Status Codes 
reference table listed in section 11. 



MANDATORY LNSP 



 



TransmissionNode 
Identifier 



This value must correspond to a valid code in the 
CATS_TNI_Codes table.  



MANDATORY LNSP 



 



JurisdictionCode Jurisdiction code to which the NMI belongs. This code 



defines the jurisdictional rules which apply to the transfer 
of this NMI. 



This value must correspond to a valid JurisdictionCode 
value in the Jurisdiction Codes reference table listed in 
section 11. 



MANDATORY LNSP 



 



DistributionLoss 
FactorCode 



Distribution Loss Factor Code.  Must be a valid code in 
the CATS_DLF_Codes table.  



MANDATORY LNSP 



 



ChildEmbedded 
NetworkIdentifier 



The embedded network identifier code is used to identify 
which embedded network this given NMI is the 'child of'.  
(If on a NMI record this field is not populated, it is 
assumed the NMI is not the child of any other NMI.)   



Must be a valid code within the 
CATS_Emb_Net_ID_Codes table. 



This field cannot be used unless the Parent NMI has 
been created and assigned an embedded network 
identifier code. Refer section 30.4.a  of the CATS 
Procedure. 



REQUIRED LNSP 



 



ParentEmbedded 
NetworkIdentifier 



The embedded network identifier code is used to identify 
which embedded network this given NMI is the 'parent 
of'.  (If on a NMI record this field is not populated, it is 
assumed the NMI is not the parent of any other NMI.)    



Must be a valid code within the 
CATS_Emb_Net_ID_Codes table.  



REQUIRED LNSP 



 



BuildingOrProperty 
Name 



A free text description of the full name used to identify 
the physical building or property as part of its location. 



Address Option 
1 



LNSP 



 



LotNumber The lot reference number allocated to an address prior 
to street numbering. The word ‘LOT’ is not required. 



Address Option 
1 



LNSP 



 



FlatOrUnitNumber Specification of the number of the flat or unit which is a 
separately identifiable portion within a building/complex. 



Address Option 
1 



LNSP 



 



FlatOrUnitType Specification of the type of flat or unit which is a 
separately identifiable portion within a building/complex. 
This value must correspond to a valid Flat Type Code, 
reference AS4590.  



Address Option 
1 



LNSP 



 



FloorOrLevelNumber Floor Number is used to identify the floor or level of a 
multi-storey building/complex. 



Address Option 
1 



LNSP 



 



FloorOrLevelType Floor Type is used to identify the floor or level of a 
multi-storey building/complex. This value must 
correspond to a valid Floor Type Code in the Floor 
Type Codes, reference AS4590. 



Address Option 
1 



LNSP 



 



HouseNumber The numeric reference of a house or property.  
Specifically the house number. 



Address Option 
1 



LNSP 



 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 13 of 42 
 



HouseNumberSuffix The numeric reference of a house or property.  
Specifically the single character identifying the house 
number suffix. 



Address Option 
1 



LNSP 



 



StreetName Records the thoroughfare name. 



See notes at end of table for more information on 
Structured Addresses 



Address Option 
1 



LNSP 



 



StreetSuffix Records street suffixes. This value must correspond to 
a valid Street Suffix Code, reference AS4590. 



Address Option 
1 



LNSP 



 



StreetType Records the street type abbreviation.  This value must 
correspond to a valid Street Type Code, reference 
AS4590. 



Address Option 
1 



LNSP 



 



SuburbOrPlaceOrLoc
ality 



The full name of the general locality containing the 
specific address. 



MANDATORY  LNSP 



 



LocationDescriptor A general field to capture various references to address 
locations alongside another physical location. 



Address Option 
1 



LNSP 



 



PostCode The descriptor for a postal delivery area, aligned with 
locality, suburb or place. 



MANDATORY LNSP 



 



StateOrTerritory Defined State or Territory abbreviation.   MANDATORY LNSP 



 



DeliveryPointIdentifier Delivery point identifier - the numeric descriptor for a 
postal delivery point which is equal to a physical 
address.  The values are in the range 10000000 – 
99999999. 



OPTIONAL LNSP 



 



AddressLine To provide the unstructured address (line 1) where a 
structured address cannot be supplied. 



Address Option 
2 



LNSP 



 



AddressLine To provide the unstructured address (line 2) where a 
structured address cannot be supplied. 



Address Option 
2 



LNSP 



 



AddressLine To provide the unstructured address (line 3) where a 
structured address cannot be supplied. 



Address Option 
2 



LNSP 



 



Aggregate This flag determines whether the energy at this 
connection point is to be treated as consumer load or as 
a generating unit (this may include generator auxiliary 
loads). 



MSATS will initially set this field to “Y” This value must 
correspond to a valid Aggregate value in the Aggregate 
Codes reference table listed in section 11. 



OPTIONAL (Defaults to ‘Y’, 
AEMO updates 
to ‘N’ as 
required) 



FromDate Start date of the NMI Data record. This indicates the date 
on which the parameters of this particular NMI data 
record apply from.  



The data applies from the beginning of this date (the 
start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 



MANDATORY LNSP 



 



ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on which 
the parameters of this particular record end. The data 
applies until the end of this date (the end of the day, i.e. 
23:59). 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate is 
not provided. 



MANDATORY 



(Defaults to high 
date unless 
supplied) 



System 
generated 
unless supplied. 



RowStatus  Indicates whether the record is active or inactive. 



Whenever a new record is created, it will be A (Active). 



A change to the data will make this record redundant and 



its MaintActFlg is changed to I (Inactive). 



MANDATORY System 
generated 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 14 of 42 
 



 



8. CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 
  



The CATS_NMI_Data_Stream table is a NMI master table containing data that is stored at the NMI 
Datastream level. Information stored at this level includes suffixes, profile name, average daily load etc. 
It is updated whenever a Change Request containing inbound Datastream data is completed. 



Note: Data is only required for this table if the NMI is active in the NEM or is used for profile peel-off in 
accordance with the Metrology Procedure. 



Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 



Table 7 CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



 



MaintenanceDate  Date and time the record was updated. 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the record is 
created initially. 



If the record is subsequently updated, its MaintUpdtDt 
is changed to the date and time the record was 
updated. 



MANDATORY System 
generated 



CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 
generated 



Feeder Class A code to provide Participants with information to 
indicate the appropriate service level timeframes for 
performing work in relation to Service Order Requests. 



OPTIONAL LNSP 



 



Customer 
Classification Code 



A code that defines the consumer class as defined in 
the National Energy Retail Regulations, or in overriding 
Jurisdictional instruments 



MANDATORY Current 



FRMP 



Customer 
Classification 
Threshold Code 



A code that defines the consumption threshold as 
defined in the National Energy Retail Regulations, or in 
overriding Jurisdictional instruments. 



MANDATORY LNSP 



 



Data Element Name Description Standing Data 
Required 



Party to 
Provide 



NMI NMI MANDATORY 



 



MDP 



LNSP 



ElectricityDataStream
/Suffix 



Metering Datastream identifier (for MDM). Identifies the 
Datastream as delivered to AEMO for settlements purposes.  



The value must be a valid suffix for this NMI and is active for 
this date range.  



The value must comply with requirements of the NMI 
Procedure. 



If the MeterInstallCode is COMMSn, MRIM, MRAM, VICAMI 
or UMCP, the Suffix value must be in the form Nx where 
DataStreamType is I or P for an interval Datastream.  If the 
MeterInstallCode is BASIC, the Suffix value must be 
numeric. 



MANDATORY  



 



MDP 



ElectricityDataStream
/Status 



Code used to indicate the status of the suffix.  



This value must correspond to a valid StreamStatusCode in 
the Stream Status Codes reference table listed in section 11. 



MANDATORY  



 



MDP 



AveragedDailyLoad The energy delivered through a connection point or metering 
point over an extended period normalised to a "per day" 



basis (kWh). 



MANDATORY  



 



MDP 



DataStreamType Indicates the type of data that the  the ElectricityDataStream / 
Suffix is recording.   



Profile data meters are: 



MANDATORY  



 



MDP 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 15 of 42 
 



 



 



1. For registering sample meters used for the calculation of 
profile shapes where the NMI and Datastream are not 
used for settlements. 



2. For providing external profile shapes into MDM (external 
PPS). 



This value must correspond to a valid DataStreamType in the 
Data Stream Type Codes reference table listed in section 11. 



ProfileName The Profile Name is a code that identifies the name of the 
algorithmically derived shape that is used to allocate a 
Datastream's consumption to TIs.  This value must correspond 
to a valid code in the PROFILE table.  



For all Interval Meters and sample meters, this must be set to 
‘NOPROF’.  



For Accumulation Meters, refer to the MDM Profile for valid 
profile names.  



 In Victoria and the ACT, ProfileName must be NSLP.   



 In NSW, QLD and SA, ProfileName must be NSLP or the 
relevant controlled load profile. 



This value must correspond to a valid ProfileName value in 
the Profile Codes reference table listed in section 11. 



MANDATORY  



 



MDP 



FromDate Start date of the NMI data record. This indicates the date on 
which the parameters of this particular NMI data record apply 
from.  



The data applies from the beginning of this date (the start of 
the day, i.e. 00:00). 



MANDATORY Party 
sending 
transaction 



ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on which the 
parameters of this particular record end. The data applies until 
the end of this date (the end of the day, i.e. 23:59). 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate is not 
provided. 



MANDATORY 



(Defaults to high 
date unless 
supplied) 



System 
generated 
unless 
supplied. 



RowStatus  Indicates whether the record is active or inactive. 



Whenever a new record is created, it will be A (Active). A 



change to the data will make this record redundant and its 



MaintActFlg is changed to I (Inactive). 



 



MANDATORY System 
generated 



MaintenanceDate  Date and time the record was updated. 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the record is 
created initially. 



If the record is subsequently updated, its MaintUpdtDt is 
changed to the date and time the record was updated. 



MANDATORY System 
generated 



CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 
generated 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 16 of 42 
 



9. CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 
  



The CATS_Register_Identifier table contains data that is stored at the register identifier level. 
Information stored at this level includes the Network Tariff Code. It is updated whenever a Change 
Request containing inbound register identifier data is completed. 



Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 



Table 8 CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element 
Name 



Description Standing 
Data 
Required 



Party to 
Provide 



NER Reference / 
Description 



NMI NMI. This number is unique for each connection 
point within the NEM. 



MANDATO
RY 



LNSP  



SerialNumber The Meter Serial ID uniquely identifies a meter for a 
given NMI. Maximum 12 Characters (alpha numeric).  
Unique for NMI. 



Use dummy for UMCP (Type 7) and logical (meters). 



Except for UMCP and logical, MeterSerial should be 
displayed on physical device also known as property 
number). 



SerialNumber to be property number if exists, 
otherwise the meter manufacturers’ serial number, 
otherwise dummy number. 



MANDATO
RY 



MPB  



RegisterID The RegisterID is used to identify a data source that 
is obtained from the meter. A single meter may 
provide multiple data sources.  



MANDATO
RY 



MPB  



NetworkTariffCo
de 



The Network Tariff Code is a free text field required. 
The text must match the Network Tariff Codes 
supplied and published by the LNSP.  



Must be a valid code from the 
CATS_Network_Tariff_Codes table.   



MANDATO
RY 



 



MPB  



NetworkAdditio
nal 
Information 



Free text field. OPTIONAL MPB  



UnitOfMeasure Code to identify the unit of measure for data held in 
this register. 



MANDATO
RY 



MPB  



TimeOfDay Code to identify the time validity of register contents. 



As published by each LNSP. 



MANDATO
RY  



MPB  



Multiplier Multiplier required to take a register value and turn it 
into a value representing billable energy 



MANDATO
RY 



MPB  



DialFormat Describes the register display format. 



First number is the number of digits to the left of the 
decimal place, and the second number is the number 
of digits to the right of the decimal place. 



MANDATO
RY 



MPB  











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 17 of 42 
 



Suffix Metering Datastream identifier (for MDM).  Identifies 
each Datastream at the measurement element level 
for the connection point identified by the NMI.  



The value must be a valid suffix for this NMI and is 
active for this date range.  The value must match the 
value provided in the MDFF File. 



The Suffix value must be unique for each meter. 



The value must comply with the NMI Procedure  



For interval data streams, the suffix will indicate 



the individual data streams contributing to the Nx 



Suffix value in the CATS_NMI_DataStream 



table.  



For basic data streams the value will be identical 
to the related Suffix value in the 
CATS_NMI_DataStream table.  



 



MANDATO
RY 



MPB  



ControlledLoad Indicates whether the energy recorded by this register 
is created under a Controlled Load regime 



ControlledLoad field will have "No" if register does not 
relate to a Controlled Load. 



If the register relates to a Controlled Load, it should 
contain a description of the Controlled Load regime. 



MANDATO
RY 



MPB  



RegisterDetail/ 
Status 



Lookup code to indicate if register is active. 



Must ensure that RegisterDetail/Status is not Current 
(C) when ElectricityMeter/Status is Removed (R). 



This value must correspond to a valid 
RegisterDetail/Status from the Meter and RegisterID 
Codes reference table listed in section 11. 



MANDATO
RY 



MPB  



ConsumptionTy
pe 



Actual/Subtractive Indicator. 



Actual (A) implies volume of energy actually metered 
between two dates. 



Cumulative (C) indicates a Meter Reading for a 
specific date. A second Meter Reading is required to 
determine the consumption between those two Meter 
Reading dates.  



For an Interval Meter, ActCumInd = A. 



This value must correspond to a valid 
ConsumptionType from the Consumption Type 
Codes reference table listed in section 11. 



MANDATO
RY 



MPB  



Demand1 This field contains the peak demand value for 
summer for network Tariff purposes. Units in kW or 
kVA 



OPTIONAL MPB 
(Refers to 
Network 
Tariff 
Code) 



 



 



Demand2 This field contains an additional demand value (not 
Summer period). Units in kW or kVA 



OPTIONAL MPB 
(Refers to 
Network 
Tariff 
Code) 



 



FromDate Start date of the NMI data record. This indicates the 
date on which the parameters of this particular NMI 
data record apply from.  



The data applies from the beginning of this date (the 
start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 



MANDATO
RY 



Participant 
sending 
transactio
n 



 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 18 of 42 
 



 



10. CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 
  



The CATS_NMI_Participant_Relations table is a NMI master table containing data that stores the Roles 
that Participants play for each NMI. It is updated whenever a Change Request containing inbound 
Roles is completed. Each Role record, which contains a single Role code and a single Participant ID, 
has a start date and an end date, as well as information about when it was created and when it became 
inactive if it is no longer an active record. 



Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 



Table 9 CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 



ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on 
which the parameters of this particular record end. 
The data applies until the end of this date (the end of 
the day, i.e. 23:59). 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate 
is not provided. 



MANDATO
RY 



(Defaults to 
high date 
unless 
supplied) 



System 
generated 
unless 
supplied. 



 



RowStatus  Indicates whether the record is active or inactive. 



Whenever a new record is created, it will be A (Active). 



A change to the data will make this record redundant 



and its MaintActFlg is changed to I (Inactive). 



 



MANDATO
RY 



System 
generated 



 



MaintenanceDa
te  



Date and time the record was updated. 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the record 
is created initially. 



If the record is subsequently updated, its 
MaintUpdtDt is changed to the date and time the 
record was updated. 



MANDATO
RY 



System 
generated 



 



CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATO
RY 



System 
generated 



 



Data Element Name Description Standing Data 
Required 



Party to 
Provide 



Party The Participant ID whose relationship (Role) with the NMI 
is defined in this table. 



MANDATORY LNSP 



NMI NMI. This number is unique for each connection point.  MANDATORY LNSP 



Role This defines the relationship (Role) of the Participant with 
the NMI in this table. 



MANDATORY LNSP 



FromDate Start date of the record. This indicates the date on which 
the parameters of this particular record apply from. 



The data applies from the beginning of this date (the start 
of the day, i.e. 00:00). 



MANDATORY Party sending 
transaction 



ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on which 
the parameters of this particular record end. The data 
applies until the end of this date (the end of the day, i.e. 
23:59). 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate is not 
provided. 



MANDATORY 



(Defaults to high 
date unless 
supplied) 



System 
generated 
unless supplied. 



RowStatus  Indicates whether the record is active or inactive. MANDATORY System 
generated 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 19 of 42 
 



11. REFERENCE TABLES 
  
  



Table 10 - Valid Aggregate Codes 



Aggregate Description 



Y Customer load 



N Generator NMI 



 



Table 11 - Valid Consumption Type Codes 



Consumptiontype Description 



A Actual Consumption 



C Cumulative Consumption 



 



Table 12 - Valid Datastream Type Codes 



Datastreamtype Description 



I Interval 



C Basic 



P Profile Data 



1 Non-Market Active Import 



2 Non-Market Active 



3 Non-Market Reactive Import 



4 Non-Market Reactive 



 



 



Table 13 - Valid Profile Codes 



ProfileName Description 



NSLP Net System Load Profile. 



The profile is calculated by MSATS. NSLP represents the system load 
after all actual interval metering data or specified previously-calculated 
profiled metering data that is not dependent on the NSLP has been 
subtracted from a known total system load and represents system-wide 
usage by consumption-type metering installations. 



Whenever a new record is created, it will be A (Active). A 



change to the data will make this record redundant and its 



MaintActFlg is changed to I (Inactive). 



 



MaintenanceDate Date and time the record was updated. 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the record is 
created initially. 



If the record is subsequently updated, its MaintUpdtDt is 
changed to the date and time the record was updated. 



MANDATORY System 
generated 



CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 
generated 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 20 of 42 
 



ProfileName Description 



CLOADNSWCE Controlled Load profile: Country Energy. (Now Essential Energy)  



Profile Names beginning with CLOAD are Controlled Load profiles. 
Controlled Load profiles are applied to Controlled Load Datastreams in 
NSW. There is one Controlled Load profile for each LNSP area. The 
names all begin with CLOADNSW to indicate that they are NSW Profile 
Names followed by two characters to indicate the LNSP area to which it 
belongs (e.g. EA = EnergyAustralia). 



CLOADNSWEA Controlled Load profile: EnergyAustralia (Now Ausgrid). 



CLOADNSWIE Controlled Load profile: IntegralEnergy (Now Endeavour Energy) 



QLDEGXCL31 Controlled Load profile Energex tariff 31 



QLDEGXCL33 Controlled Load profile Energex tariff 33 



SACLOAD South Australian Controlled Load. 



NOPROF Used for interval Datastream types (to indicate that such Datastreams do 
not need to be profiled to obtain ‘readings’ for each settlements interval 
because the data is supplied in 30-minute intervals). 



 



Note: Refer to the MSATS CATS Procedure section 4 for details on the valid codes for the following: 



- Jurisdiction Codes 



- Metering Installation Type Codes 



- NMI Classification Codes 



- NMI Status Codes 



- Datastream Status Codes 



12. USE OF NMI SUFFIX TO POPULATE CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 
  



For any particular connection point there may be multiple energy measurement elements and data 
recorders with multiple channels. Accurate identification of Datastreams is essential. The NMI Procedure 
includes the requirements for the use of a suffix to the NMI that identifies these Datastreams.  The 
DataStreamSuffix detailed in the NMI Procedure provides identification at the measurement element level 
for all Datastreams from the connection point identified by the NMI.  The DataStreamSuffix is commonly 
known as the NMISuffix.  The NMISuffix is labelled as ‘Suffix’ in the Browser and is the 
ElectricityDataStream/Suffix data element in aseXML. 



The NMISuffix was first used in the NMI Procedure to describe, in conjunction with the NMI, the data 
transferred from the MDP to AEMO and Participants for settlements. The NMISuffix was further extended 
to describe Datastreams in MSATS, and numeric suffixes were developed to describe the data from type 
6 metering installations. 



In MSATS, the NMISuffix is used in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table to describe the data as 
delivered to AEMO. For settlements purposes this data must be ‘NET’ [Export from network, less import 
to network] and will be ‘Nx’ for an interval Datastream, or numeric for an Accumulation Meter. 



In MSATS release 2.0 a new table, CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER, was introduced to link identifiers for 
the source meter register(s) to the Datastream suffix in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. The 
purpose of the table is to enable the alignment of the data held in MSATS and the data being transferred 
between Participants in the B2B process. 



This link is achieved through the RegisterID (which describes the data source at the metering installation) 
and ElectricityDataStream/Suffix (which describes the NMISuffix to which the RegisterID contributes) 
data elements. This is a many-to-one relationship, i.e. there may be multiple RegisterID values for each 
ElectricityDataStream/Suffix value in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table. 



 The RegisterID identifies the measurement element and type of measurement for an Interval 
Meter, and identifies the location of a stored energy value in an Accumulation Meter. 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 21 of 42 
 



 The ElectricityDataStream/Suffix value in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table identifies the 
Datastream registered in MSATS. For settlements purposes, Interval Meter Datastreams will be 
the NET suffix (format Nx) and for Accumulation Meter Datastreams the suffix value is numeric.  
MSATS requires data to be delivered against this suffix (if the Datastream is ACTIVE).  MSATS 
does not validate the values entered in this field. 



 The ElectricityDataStream/Suffix value in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table identifies the 
individual Datastream(s) contributing to the ElectricityDataStream/Suffix value in the 
CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. For interval Datastreams, the suffix(es) will indicate the 
individual Datastream(s) contributing to the Nx Suffix value in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 
table where the DataStreamType is P or I (Refer section 14for examples). For accumulation 
Datastreams the value will be numeric and will be identical to the related Suffix value in the 
CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table (refer section 13 for examples). 



 The ElectricityDataStream/Suffix values used in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table are 
used to identify metering data contained in MDFF Files (in the NMISuffix field).  



 The linkage between the RegisterID and ElectricityDataStream/Suffix exists because the 
ElectricityDataStream/Suffix data element is populated in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 
table. 



 The RegisterID data element has no standard format; therefore, the MPB must determine the 
appropriate population of this field, e.g. it may be used to indicate the programming code of the 
register. 



There is an inconsistent understanding across industry of the meaning of the terms ‘register’ and 
‘datastream’. Conventionally, to field metering personnel, a ‘register’ contains a single value, while a 
‘datastream’ represents an array of time separated register values in chronological order. 



For Accumulation Meters, the RegisterID refers to the non-volatile storage of the cumulative energy 
register(s). The RegisterID will have identification with the displays of the meters, or identification of 
internal data stores.  



For Accumulation Meters, the ElectricityDataStream/Suffix data element in the 
CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table may have a many-to-one relationship with the 
ElectricityDataStream/Suffix data element in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table.  That is, the same 
Suffix may occur several times in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table and occur once only in the 
CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. 



For Interval Meters, the definition of the RegisterID field is less obvious. To make this field useful, the 
RegisterID should be associated with the ElectricityDataStream/Suffix. As Interval Meters may have 
multiple measurement elements and there may be multiple meters for a NMI, the MDP must manage 
Datastreams against a NMI to avoid duplication of ElectricityDataStream/Suffixes and provide correct 
mapping of RegisterIDs.  



13. ASSIGNMENT OF DATA – ACCUMULATION METERS 
  



This section details examples of the assignment of data for various basic metering installations.  For 
Accumulation Meters, the Suffix values in CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER and 
CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM tables are always numeric. 



13.1. Single Meter, no controlled load 
  



A Accumulation Meter with a single register measuring a Non-Controlled Load will have a single 
Datastream suffix 11 for the NMI. 



Table 14 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityData 
Stream/Status 



Value 0123456789 11 A 



 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 22 of 42 
 



The CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table indicates that the meter has only one register. The Suffix in 
the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER ‘11’ denotes that data from RegisterID 01 contributes to the 
Datastream identified by Suffix 11 in CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Table 15 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER  



Data Element: Serial 
Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 
Load 



Value ABCD1111 01 KWH ALLDAY 11 No 



 



The Suffix in CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM will be recorded as ‘11’ by the MDP and the Suffix in 
CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER must then be ‘11’. 



13.2. Twp Single Element Meters, no controlled load 
  



The NMI has two Accumulation Meters, each meter with single register. The data from the two meters 
will be submitted to MSATS as two Datastreams. 



Table 16 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityData 
Stream/Status 



Values 0123456789 11 A 



0123456789 12 A 



Table 17 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 
Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 
Load 



Values ABCD1111 01 KWH ALLDAY 11 No 



XYZA1112 01 KWH ALLDAY 12 No 



 



13.3. Two Single Element Meters, one with controlled load 
  



A NMI has two Accumulation Meters, each meter has a single register, and one meter is measuring a 
Controlled Load. The data from the two meters is submitted to MSATS as two Datastreams.  



Table 18 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityData 
Stream/Status 



Value 



 



0123456789 11 A 



0123456789 42 A 



Table 19 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 
Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 
Load 



Values 



 



ABCD1111 01 KWH TOTAL 11 No 



XYZA1112 01 KWH CL1 42 HWLoad 



13.4. One Meter with Two Registers, one measuring a controlled load 



NMI has one Accumulation Meter with two registers. The second register is measuring a Controlled 
Load. 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 23 of 42 
 



Table 20 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityData 
Stream/Status 



Values 



 



0123456789 11 A 



0123456789 41 A 



Table 21 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 
Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 
Load 



Value 



 



ABCD1111 01 KWH PEAK 11 No 



ABCD1111 02 KWH CL1 41 HWLoad 



  



13.5. Single Multi-function Meter 
  



Accumulation Meter has 4 registers, one register being a Controlled Load. 



Table 22 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityData 
Stream/Status 



Values 



 



0123456789 11 A 



0123456789 21 I 



0123456789 31 A 



0123456789 41 A 



 



Each register is separately identified in CATS_NMI_Data_Stream. However, register 2 on meter 1 is 
inactive in MSATS, and therefore data is not accepted by MSATS for this Suffix. 



Table 23 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 
Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 
Load 



Values 



 



ABCD1111 01 KWH ALLDAY 11 No 



ABCD1111 02 KWH NOTUSED 21 No 



ABCD1111 03 KWH OFFPEAK 31 No 



ABCD1111 04 KWH CL1 41 HWLoad 



Note:  The meter may have register identification and therefore these numbers can be used in the table as 



RegisterID. 



13.6. Two meters, three registers. One register measures a controlled load 



Table 24 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 
  



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityData 
Stream/Status 



Values 



 



0123456789 11 A 



0123456789 21 A 



0123456789 42 A 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 24 of 42 
 



Table 25 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 
Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 
Load 



Values 



 



ABCD1111 01 KWH PEAK 11 No 



ABCD1111 02 KWH OFFPEAK 21 No 



XYZA1112 01 KWH CL1 42 HWLoad 



 



14. ASSIGNMENT OF DATA – INTERVAL METERS 
  



This section details examples of the assignment of data for various Interval Meters.   



14.1. One meter 



Table 26 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 
  



  



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityData 
Stream/Status 



Value 0123456789 N1 A 



 



The CATS_Register_Identifier table indicates that the meter has only one register. The Suffix in the 



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER [E1] denotes that data from RegisterID 01 contributes to the 



Datastream identified by Suffix N1 in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. 



 



Table 27 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 
Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 



Value ABCD1111 01 KWH ALLDAY E1 



E1 indicates that it is a single element measuring export. 
 



14.2. Import/Export meter 
  



Interval Meter has a two registers, registering import and export energy. A single Datastream suffix N1 
is defined for the NMI indicating a netting-off of export less import Datastreams for this connection point. 



Table 28 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityData 
Stream/Status 



Value 0123456789 N1 A 



 



The CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table indicates that the meter has two registers, one for IMPORT 
and one for EXPORT. 



The Suffixes in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER denote that data from RegisterIDs ‘E1’ and ‘B1’ 
contribute to the Datastream identified by Suffix ‘N1’ in CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM.  That is, the 
Datastreams ‘E1’ and ‘B1’ supplied by the MDP to the FRMP for this meter have contributed to the 
Datastream N1 in MSATS. 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 25 of 42 
 



Table 29  Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 
Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 



Values 



 



ABCD1111 E1 KWH ALLDAY E1 



ABCD1111 B1 KWH ALLDAY B1 



Only one RegisterID with the Suffix ‘E1’ permitted per meter in CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER. 



Only one RegisterID with the Suffix ‘B1’ permitted per meter in CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER. 



The energy volumes for the Suffix ‘N1’ in CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM are calculated by N1 = E1 – B1. 



14.3. One meter: multiple registers 



Interval Meter has a single measurement element registering import and export energy, reactive and 
voltage. A single Datastream Suffix ‘N1’ is defined for the NMI indicating netting-off of all energy 
Datastreams for this connection point. 



Table 30 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityData 
Stream/Status 



Value 0123456789 N1 A 



The CATS_Register_Identifier table indicates that the meter has five registers: two for IMPORT of 
energy and reactive; two for EXPORT of energy and reactive; and one for voltage monitoring. 
The Suffixes in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER ‘N1’ denote that data from RegisterID ‘E1’ and ‘B1’ 
contribute to the Datastream identified by suffix N1 in CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM. 



Table 31 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 
Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 



Values 



 



ABCD1111 E1 KWH ALLDAY E1 



ABCD1111 B1 KWH ALLDAY B1 



ABCD1111 Q1 KVARH ALLDAY Q1 



ABCD1111 K1 KVARH ALLDAY K1 



ABCD1111 V1 VOLTS ALLDAY V1 



The energy volumes for the Suffix ‘N1’ is calculated by NET (E1 – B1). 



14.4. One meter: Twin Measurement Elements 
  



Certain multifunction meters have the capability for initial installation as an Accumulation Meter, but can 
be re-programmed to provide interval metering data.  



The NER do not permit the use of two different types of metering installation on the one NMI, and 
therefore these two metering functions MUST NOT be active simultaneously in MSATS. The MDP and 
RP will be held accountable for a breach of this requirement. 



The CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER can be used to record the meter capability. 



If this meter were configured as an Accumulation Meter in MSATS, the configuration might be as shown 
in the Tables 32 & 33. 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 26 of 42 
 



Table 32 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityData 
Stream/Status 



Values 



 



0123456789 N1 I 



0123456789 N2 I 



0123456789 11 A 



0123456789 21 A 



0123456789 31 A 



0123456789 41 A 



Table 33 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 
Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 



Values 



 



AB888888 E1 KWH ALLDAY null 



AB888888 E2 KWH ALLDAY null 



AB888888 25 KWH PEAK 11 



AB888888 26 KWH SHOULDER 21 



AB888888 35 KWH OFFPEAK 31 



AB888888 36 KWH CL1 41 



 



The CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table values for this meter when it is operated as an Interval 
Meter are shown below. The RegisterID for the Accumulation Meter registers in this type of meter are 
user defined. The Interval Meter suffixes must be added to the NMI and made active, and the basic 
Suffixes made inactive at the same date. 



Table 34 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 
 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status 



Values 



 



0123456789 N1 A 



0123456789 N2 A 



0123456789 11 I 



0123456789 21 I 



0123456789 31 I 



0123456789 41 I 



 



Table 35 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 
Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 



Values 



 



AB888888 E1 KWH ALLDAY E1 



AB888888 E2 KWH ALLDAY E2 



AB888888 25 KWH PEAK null 



AB888888 26 KWH OFFPEAK null 



AB888888 35 KWH PEAK null 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 27 of 42 
 



Data Element: Serial 
Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 



AB888888 36 KWH OFFPEAK null 



If a second meter of the same configuration were established on this NMI ‘E3’ and ‘E4’ would be 
required for the Datastreams to provide MDPs and retailers with unambiguous identification of 
Datastreams. 



15. ASSIGNMENTS OF DATA – SAMPLE METERS  
  



The application of profiles in accordance with the Metrology Procedure requires interval metering data 
from Sites that have Accumulation Metering. However, the NER do not permit different metering 
installation types on the one NMI, and in any case, the Participants associated with the interval 
metering data are different to those associated with the Accumulation Meter.  Therefore, for these 
connection points, two different NMIs are used. 



There are meters that can combine the required Accumulation Metering and Interval Metering functions.  
An example is shown below. 



15.1. Multifunction Sample Meter 
  



In this case, a single meter is registered within MSATS for two purposes against two NMIs. This is a 
special case, and should not be used other than for this non-standard purpose.  The meter has two 
circuits, with Accumulation Metering for energy trading and Interval Metering for the sample profile. 



In this example, NMI 9801234567 is associated with the sample meter installation and NMI 
9876543210 with the End User installation. 



Table 36 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 
 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 



Values 9801234567 N1 A P 



9876543210 11 I C 



9876543210 12 I C 



9876543210 41 A C 



 



Table 37 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: NMI MeterSerial RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 



Values 



 



9801234567 AB888888 E1 KWH ALLDAY E1 



9876543210 AB888888 11 KWH PEAK null 



9876543210 AB888888 12 KWH OFFPEAK null 



9876543210 AB888888 41 KWH CL1 41 



 



Note: Suffix ‘11/12’ have a Status of ‘I’ for 1st Tier and ‘A’ for 2nd Tier. 



First tier metering data is not required for AEMO to settle the market.  



Controlled Load data for first tier and second tier is required by AEMO to settle the market. 



In this example, once the End User’s Site becomes a Tier 2 Site, all three basic Datastreams need to 
become active (StreamStatusCode = A). 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 28 of 42 
 



16. CROSS REFERENCE OF BROWSER AND ASEXML DATA ELEMENTS 
  



The tables below list the names that are used in the MSATS browser for each of the MSATS tables 
detailed in sections 4 to 10.  The table also provides the aseXML data element names and the 
respective formats used in each context.   



In some cases, such as date fields, the format of the field is shown differently in the Browser to that 
used in the related aseXML transactions.  Also, aseXML uses full words throughout, rather than the 
coded values used in the Browser.   



Refer section 17 for examples of the typical data element values as shown in the Browser.  Section 18 
provides definitions of the Browser formats shown in this section. 



Table 38 CATS_Meter_Register 



Browser Field Name aseXML Data 
Element Name 



aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data 
Type 



Additional Site 
Information 



AdditionalSiteInformat
ion 



ElectricityMeter/ 



AdditionalSiteInformation 



VARCHAR2(100) xsd:string 
maxLen = 100 



Asset Management 
Plan 



AssetManagementPla
n 



ElectricityMeter/AssetManagement 



Plan 



VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 



Calibration Tables CalibrationTables ElectricityMeter/CalibrationTables VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 



Communication 
Equipment Type 



Communications 
EquipmentType 



ElectricityMeter/Communications 



EquipmentType 



VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 
maxLen = 4 



Communication 
Protocol 



CommunicationsProt
ocol 



ElectricityMeter/Communications 



Protocol 



VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 



Data Conversion DataConversion ElectricityMeter/DataConversion VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 



Data Validations DataValidations ElectricityMeter/DataValidations VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 



Estimation Instruction EstimationInstructions ElectricityMeter/Estimation 



Instructions 



VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 



Last Test Date LastTestDate ElectricityMeter/LastTestDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:date 



Measurement Type MeasurementType ElectricityMeter/MeasurementType VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 
maxLen = 4 



Meter Constant Constant ElectricityMeter/Constant VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 
maxLen = 12 



Meter Hazard Hazard ElectricityMeter/Hazard VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 
maxLen = 12 



Meter Installation 
Type Code 



InstallationTypeCode ElectricityMeter/InstallationType 



Code 



VARCHAR2(8) xsd:string 
maxLen = 8 



Meter Location Location ElectricityMeter/Location VARCHAR2(50) 
See AddlSiteInfo 
(above) 



xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 



Meter Manufacturer Manufacturer ElectricityMeter/Manufacturer VARCHAR2(15) xsd:string 
maxLen = 15 



Meter Model Model ElectricityMeter/Model VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 
maxLen = 12 



Meter Point Point ElectricityMeter/Point VARCHAR(2) xsd:string 
maxLen = 2 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 29 of 42 
 



Meter Program Program ElectricityMeter/Program VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string 
maxLen = 30 



Meter Read Type ReadTypeCode ElectricityMeter/ReadTypeCode VARCHAR(4) xsd:string 
maxLen = 4 



Meter Route Route ElectricityMeter/Route VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 
maxLen = 12 



Meter Serial ID 
Meter ID 



(Different on two 
screens) 



SerialNumber ElectricityMeter/SerialNumber VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 
maxLen = 12 



Status Code Status ElectricityMeter/Status CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 



Meter Use Use ElectricityMeter/Use VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 



Next Scheduled Read 
Date 



NextScheduled 
ReadDate 



ElectricityMeter/NextScheduled 



ReadDate 



dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:date 



Next Test Date NextTestDate ElectricityMeter/NextTestDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:date 



NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 



Passwords Password ElectricityMeter/Password VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 
maxLen = 20 



Remote Phone 
Number 



RemotePhoneNumbe
r 



ElectricityMeter/RemotePhone 



Number 



VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 
maxLen = 12 



Test & Calibration 
Program 



TestCalibrationProgra
m 



ElectricityMeter/TestCalibration 



Program 



VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 



Test Performed By TestPerformedBy ElectricityMeter/TestPerformedBy VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 
maxLen = 20 



Test Result Accuracy TestResultAccuracy ElectricityMeter/TestResultAccuracy NUMBER(8,5) xsd:decimal 
totdig = 8 
fracdig = 5 



Test Result Notes TestResultNotes ElectricityMeter/TestResultNotes VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 



Transformer Location TransformerLocation ElectricityMeter/Transformer 



Location 



VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string 
maxLen = 30 



Transformer Ratio TransformerRatio ElectricityMeter/TransformerRatio VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 
maxLen = 20 



Transformer Type TransformerType ElectricityMeter/TransformerType VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 
maxLen = 20 



User Access Rights UserAccessRights ElectricityMeter/UserAccessRights VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 



Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 30 of 42 
 



 



Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 31 of 42 
 



Table 39 CATS_DLF_Codes 



 



Table 40 CATS_Emb_Net_ID_Codes 



Browser 
Field Name 



aseXML Data Element 
Name 



aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data 
Type 



DLF Code DistributionLossFactor
Code 



DistributionLossFactorCode VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 
maxLen = 4 



Description DistributionLossFactor
Description 



DistributionLossFactorDescription VARCHAR2(50 xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 



DLF Value DistributionLossFactor
Value 



DistributionLossFactorValue NUMBER(6,5) xsd:decimal 
minIncl = 0 
maxIncl = 2 
totdig = 6 
fracdig = 5 



Jurisdiction JurisdictionCode ElectricityStandingData/MasterData
/JurisdictionCode 



VARCHAR2(3) xsd:string 
maxLen = 3 



Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 



Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



 CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Browser Field 
Name 



aseXML Data Element 
Name 



aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data 
Type 



Code EmbeddedNetworkIdenti
fier 



EmbeddedNetworkIdentifier VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 



Description EmbeddedNetworkDesc
ription 



EmbeddedNetworkDescription VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 



Locality/Suburb SuburbOrPlaceOrLocalit
y 



ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/
Address/AustralianAddress/SuburbO
rPlaceOrLocality 



VARCHAR2(46) xsd:string 
maxLen = 46 



Postcode PostCode ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/
Address/AustralianAddress/PostCod
e 



VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 
pattern: 
[\p{N}]{4} 



State StateOrTerritory ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/
Address/AustralianAddress/StateOrT
erritory 



VARCHAR2(3) xsd:string  
with 
enumerations 



Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 



Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 32 of 42 
 



 



Table 41 CATS_NMI_Data 



Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



 CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Browser Field 
Name 



aseXML Data Element 
Name 



aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data 
Type 



NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 



NMI 
Classification 
Code 



NMIClassificationCode ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/ 
NMIClassificationCode 



VARCHAR2(8) xsd:string 
maxLen = 8 



Status Code Status ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/S
tatus 



CHAR(1) xsd:string 
maxLen = 1 



TNI Code TransmissionNodeIdenti
fier 



ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/T
ransmissionNodeIdentifier 



VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 
maxLen = 4 



Jurisdiction 
Code 



JurisdictionCode JurisdictionCode VARCHAR2(3) xsd:string 
maxLen = 3 



DLF Code DistributionLossFactorC
ode 



ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/D
istributionLossFactorCode 



VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 
maxLen = 4 



Embedded 
Network ID 
(Child) 



ChildEmbeddedNetwork
Identifier 



ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/C
hildEmbeddedNetworkIdentifier 



VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 



Embedded 
Network 
(Parent) 



ParentEmbeddedNetwo
rkIdentifier 



ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/P
arentEmbeddedNetworkIdentifier 



VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 



Building / 
Property Name 



BuildingOrPropertyNam
e 



ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A
ddress/AustralianAddress/StructuredA
ddress/BuildingOrPropertyName 



VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string 
maxLen = 30 
x 2 



Lot Number LotNumber ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/ 
Address/AustralianAddress/Structured
Address/Lot/LotNumber 



VARCHAR2(6) xsd:string 
pattern: 
[\p{L}\p{N}\p{
P}\s]{1,6} 



Flat/Unit 
Number 



FlatOrUnitNumber ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A
ddress/AustralianAddress/StructuredA
ddress/FlatOrUnit/FlatOrUnitNumber 



VARCHAR2(7) xsd:string 
pattern: 
[\p{L}\p{N}\p{
P}\s]{1,7} 



Flat/Unit Type FlatOrUnitType ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A
ddress/AustralianAddress/StructuredA
ddress/FlatOrUnit/FlatOrUnitType 



VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string with 
enumerations 



Floor/Level 
Number 



FloorOrLevelNumber ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A
ddress/AustralianAddress/StructuredA
ddress/FloorOrLevel/FloorOrLevelNu
mber 



VARCHAR2(5) xsd:string 
[\p{L}\p{N}\p{
P}\s]{1,5} 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 33 of 42 
 



Floor/Level 
Type 



FloorOrLevelType ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A
ddress/AustralianAddress/StructuredA
ddress/FloorOrLevel/FloorOrLevelTyp
e 



VARCHAR2(2) xsd:string with 
enumerations 



House Number HouseNumber ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A
ddress/AustralianAddress/StructuredA
ddress/House/HouseNumber 



NUMBER(5) xsd:nonNegat
iveInteger 
maxIncl = 
99999 



House Number 
Suffix 



HouseNumberSuffix ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A
ddress/AustralianAddress/ 
StructuredAddress/House/HouseNum
berSuffix 



VARCHAR2(1) xsd:string 
pattern: 
[\p{L}\p{N}]{1} 



Street Name StreetName ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A
ddress/AustralianAddress/ 
StructuredAddress/Street/StreetName 



VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string 
pattern: 
[\p{L}\p{N}\s\-
']{1,30} 



Street Name 
Suffix 



StreetSuffix ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A
ddress/AustralianAddress/ 
StructuredAddress/Street/StreetSuffix 



VARCHAR2(2) xsd:string with 
enumerations 



Street Type StreetType ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A
ddress/AustralianAddress/ 
StructuredAddress/Street/StreetType 



VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string with 
enumerations 



Suburb/Locality SuburbOrPlaceOrLocalit
y 



ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A
ddress/AustralianAddress/ 
SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality 



VARCHAR2(46) xsd:string 
maxLen = 46 



Location 
Descriptor 



LocationDescriptor ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A
ddress/AustralianAddress/ 
StructuredAddress/LocationDescriptor 



VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string 
pattern: 
[\p{L}\p{N}\p{
P}\s]{1,30 



Postcode PostCode ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A
ddress/AustralianAddress/ 
PostCode 



VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 
pattern: 
[\p{N}]{4} 



State StateOrTerritory ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A
ddress/AustralianAddress/StateOrTerr
itory 



VARCHAR2(3) xsd:string  
with 
enumerations 



DPID DeliveryPointIdentifier ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A
ddress/AustralianAddress/ 
StructuredAddress/DeliveryPointIdenti
fier 



NUMBER(8) xsd:nonNegat
iveInteger 
minIncl = 
10000000 
maxIncl = 
99999999 



Unstructured 
Address 



AddressLine ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A
ddress/AustralianAddress/ 
UnstructuredAddress/Address/Addres
sLine 



VARCHAR2(80) xsd:string 
maxLen = 80 
x 3 



Aggregate Flag Aggregate ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/A
ggregate 



CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 



Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary 
screen) 



xsd:dateTime 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 34 of 42 
 



 



dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 



Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary 
screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 



Feeder Class Feeder Class ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/F
eederClass 



VARCHAR2(15) xsd:string 
maxLen = 15 



Customer 
Classification 
Code 



CustomerClassification
Code 



ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/C
ustomerClassificationCode 



VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 
maxLen = 20 



Customer 
Classification 
Threshold Code 



CustomerThresholdCod
e 



ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/C
ustomerThresholdCode 



VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 
maxLen = 20 



NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 



Suffix Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Suffix VARCHAR2(2) xsd:string 
maxLen = 2 



Status Code Status ElectricityDataStream/Status CHAR(1) xsd:string 
maxLen = 1 



Average Daily 
Load 



AveragedDailyLoad ElectricityDataStream/AveragedDailyL
oad 



NUMBER(10) xsd:integer 



Type DataStreamType ElectricityDataStream/DataStreamTyp
e 



CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 



Profile Name ProfileName ElectricityDataStream/ProfileName VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 



Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary 
screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary 
screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 35 of 42 
 



Table 42 CATS_Register_Identifier 



Browser Field Name aseXML Data 
Element Name 



aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data 
Type 



NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 



Meter Serial ID 
Meter ID 



(Different on two 
screens) 



SerialNumber SerialNumber VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 
maxLen = 12 



Register ID RegisterID ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/
RegisterID 



VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 



Network Tariff Code NetworkTariffCode ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/
NetworkTariffCode 



VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 



Network Tariff 
Additional Information 



NetworkAdditional 
Information 



ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/ 
NetworkAdditionalInformation 



VARCHAR2(4000) xsd:string 



Unit of Measure UnitOfMeasure ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/ 
UnitOfMeasure 



VARCHAR2(5) xsd:string 
maxLen = 5 



Time of Day TimeOfDay ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/ 
TimeOfDay 



VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 



Multiplier Multiplier ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/
Multiplier 



Number(13,5) xsd:decimal 



Dial Format DialFormat ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/
DialFormat 



Number(4,2) xsd:decimal 
minIncl = 0 
maxIncl = 99.99 
totdig = 4 
fracdig = 2 



Suffix Suffix ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/
Suffix 



VARCHAR2(2) xsd:string 
maxLen = 2 



Controlled Load ControlledLoad ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/
ControlledLoad 



VARCHAR2(100) xsd:string 
maxLen = 100 



Status Code Status ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/ 
Status 



CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 



Actual/Cumulative 
Indicator 



ConsumptionType ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/
ConsumptionType 



CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 



Demand 1 Demand1 ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/
Demand1 



Number(8) xsd:integer 
totdig = 8 



Demand 2 Demand2 ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/
Demand2 



Number(8) xsd:integer 
totdig = 8 



Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 



xsd:dateTime 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 36 of 42 
 



Table 43 CATS_NMI_Participant_Relations 



 



17. EXAMPLES OF TYPICAL FIELD VALUES 
  



This section provides examples of typical sets of data element values associated with different types of 
connection points.   



The data shown in each example is as shown in the Browser.  This reverses the sequence of the day-
month-year communicated via aseXML transactions. 



dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 



Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 



Browser Field Name aseXML Data Element 
Name 



aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data Type 



Participant ID Party Party VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 



NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 



Role Role Role VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 
maxLen = 4 



Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with enumeration 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 37 of 42 
 



Table 44 CATS_Meter_Register 



Data Element Name  



(as it appears in XML 
documents) 



Browser Field Name(as it 
appears in MSATS Browser) 



Basic Example Interval Example Data Element Name 



AdditionalSiteInformation Additional Site Information MTR ON SITE AT 17B Red Rooster AdditionalSiteInformation 



AssetManagementPlan Asset Management Plan CITIPOWER METER 
MANAGEMENT PLAN 



PER CE DOC: TYPES 1-4 ASSET 
MANAGEMENT & TEST PLAN 



AssetManagementPlan 



CalibrationTables Calibration Tables Q  CalibrationTables 



CommunicationsEquipment 
Type 



Communication Equipment Type FACE 96 CommunicationsEquipmentType 



CommunicationsProtocol Communication Protocol NA EMAIL MINI GATEWAY S/N 
SU121 MV90 2 TBD TBD 



CommunicationsProtocol 



DataConversion Data Conversion .0005 .0005 DataConversion 



DataValidations Data Validations As per Metrology Procedure Part 
B 



As per Metrology Procedure Part 
B 



DataValidations 



EstimationInstructions Estimation Instruction As per Metrology Procedure Part 
B (TYPES -61, 62, 65) 



As per Metrology Procedure Part 
B (TYPES -14) 



EstimationInstructions 



LastTestDate Last Test Date 07-05-2004 07-03-2004 LastTestDate 



MeasurementType Measurement Type EQ EQ MeasurementType 



Constant Meter Constant 40 .5 Constant 



Hazard Meter Hazard  Asbestos Hazard 



InstallationTypeCode Meter Installation Type Code BASIC COMMS4 InstallationTypeCode 



Location Meter Location ON SUB POLE BEHIND DOOR Location 



Manufacturer Meter Manufacturer EMAIL EDMI Manufacturer 



Model Meter Model Q3 Q4 Model 



Point Meter Point 01 01 Point 



Program Meter Program 30 - NP 3.2 CT FACE PLATE 
READ 



10- AE CT kVAR 9600 Program 



ReadTypeCode Meter Read Type MV3 RTD ReadTypeCode 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 38 of 42 
 



Route Meter Route 11618 1305 Route 



SerialNumber Meter Serial ID, Meter ID 



(Different on two screens) 



525811 201000299 SerialNumber 



Status Status Code C C Status 



Use Meter Use REVENUE REVENUE Use 



NextScheduledReadDate Next Scheduled Read Date 04-10-2006  NextScheduledReadDate 



NextTestDate Next Test Date 17-05-2004 10-05-2004 NextTestDate 



NMI NMI 1122334455 1122334455 NMI 



Password Passwords 12345 12345 Password 



RemotePhoneNumber Remote Phone Number FACE READ 0555 825 987 RemotePhoneNumber 



TestCalibrationProgram Test & Calibration Program AS PER AS/NZ 1284 AS PER AS/NZ 1284 TestCalibrationProgram 



TestPerformedBy Test Performed By Ron Sargeant SMU TestPerformedBy 



TestResultAccuracy Test Result Accuracy -0.20000 -0.11000 TestResultAccuracy 



TestResultNotes Test Result Notes CHECK AND RESEAL    METER METER TEST CORRECT TestResultNotes 



TransformerLocation Transformer Location  REAR OFBUILDING TransformerLocation 



TransformerRatio Transformer Ratio  1500/5 TransformerRatio 



TransformerType Transformer Type  24 WIRE WOUND TransformerType 



UserAccessRights User Access Rights AS PER AS/NZ 1284 MDP ONLY ACCESS UserAccessRights 



FromDate Start Date 14-03-1990 16-03-2002 FromDate 



ToDate End Date 31-12-9999 18-07-2006 ToDate 



MaintenanceDate Updated On 31-12-999 00:00:00 31-12-999 00:00:00 MaintenanceDate 



CreationDate Created On 19-03-1990 00:01:00 18-03-2002 00:01:00 CreationDate 



RowStatus Activity Status A A RowStatus 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 39 of 42 
 



Table 45 CATS_DLF_Codes 



 



Table 46 CATS_Emb_Net_ID_Codes 



 



 



Table 47 CATS_NMI_Data 



Data Element Name  Browser Field Name  Basic & Interval Example 



DistributionLossFactorCode DLF Code NHV1 



DistributionLossFactorDescription Description UMPLP - High Voltage 



DistributionLossFactorValue [The actual DLF value] 1.11111 



JurisdictionCode Jurisdiction Code SA 



RowStatus Activity Status A 



FromDate Start Date 01-07-1999 



ToDate End Date 30-06-2000 



MaintenanceDate Updated On 31-05-2000 00:30:27 



CreationDate  01-06-1999 00:23:32 



Data Element Name Browser Field Name Basic & Basic Example 



EmbeddedNetworkIdentifier Code SE01008111 



EmbeddedNetworkDescription Description Kingston-On-Murray Caravan Park 



SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality Suburb / Locality Kingston-On-Murray 



PostCode Postcode 5331 



StateOrTerritory State SA 



RowStatus Activity Status A 



FromDate Start Date 05-04-2003 



ToDate End Date 31-12-9999 



MaintenanceDate Updated On 31-12-9999 



CreationDate  01-04-2003 13:23:35 



Data Element Name Browser Field Name Basic Example Interval Example 



NMI NMI 122334451 1122334455 



NMIClassificationCode NMI Classification Code SMALL LARGE 



MasterData/Status Status Code A G 



TransmissionNodeIdentifier TNI Code NRGE SBER 



JurisdictionCode Jurisdiction Code NSW SA 



DistributionLossFactorCode DLF Code NRGE NLV2 



ChildEmbeddedNetworkIdentifier Embedded Network ID (Child) NS01008111 SE01008111 



ParentEmbeddedNetworkIdentifier Embedded Network 
(Parent) 



NS01008111 SE01008111 



BuildingOrPropertyName Building / Property Name BP SHELL 



LotNumber Lot Number 22 23 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 40 of 42 
 



 



Table 48 CATS_NMI_Data_Stream 



FlatOrUnitNumber Flat/Unit Number 1 2 



FlatOrUnitType Flat/Unit Type U U 



FloorOrLevelNumber Flat/Unit Number 1 1 



FloorOrLevelType Floor/Level Type FL FL 



HouseNumber House Number 6 10 



HouseNumberSuffix House Number Suffix A B 



StreetName Street Name BORIS DORIS 



StreetSuffix Street Name Suffix N W 



StreetType Street Type DR ST 



SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality Suburb/Locality ORANGE LOXTON 



LocationDescriptor Location Descriptor CNR FRED ST SHELL SERVICE 
STATION 



PostCode Postcode 2211 5333 



StateOrTerritory State NSW SA 



DeliveryPointIdentifier DPID 01234567 12345678 



AddressLine Unstructured Address 1 Text Text 



AddressLine Unstructured Address 2 Text Text 



AddressLine Unstructured Address 3 Text Text 



Aggregate Aggregate Flag Y Y 



FromDate Start Date 01-06-2004 01-06-2001 



ToDate End Date 31-12-9999 01-01-2003 



MaintenanceDate  Updated On 31-12-9999 
00:00:00 



05-01-2003 00:01:00 



CreationDate Created On 04-01-2004 
09:31:00 



01-06-2001 00:01:00 



RowStatus Activity Status A A 



FeederClass Feeder Class ERGUD ERGUD 



Customer ClassificationCode Customer Classification RESIDENTIAL BUSINESS 



CustomerThresholdCode Customer Threshold LOW HIGH 



Data Element Name Browser Field Name Basic Example Interval Example 



NMI NMI 1100445566 2211335544 



ElectricityDataStream/Suffix Suffix 31 N1 



ElectricityDataStream/Status Status Code A A 



ElectricityDataStream/ 
AveragedDailyLoad 



Average Daily Load 5 800 



ElectricityDataStream/ 
DataStreamType 



Type C I 



ElectricityDataStream/ 
ProfileName 



Profile Name NSLP NOPROF 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 41 of 42 
 



 



Table 49 CATS_Register_Identifier 



 



18. DATA TYPE CONVENTIONS 
  



The Browser formats used in section 16 are as defined in the following table.  



The value of “x” must be positive and cannot be zero.  



For explanation of the aseXML data types shown in section 16 refer  



http://www.w3.org/TR/xmlschema-0/#simpleTypesTable  



Table: Browser Formats 



FromDate Start Date 31-12-2001 01-06-2005 



ToDate End Date 31-12-9999 31-12-9999 



MaintenanceDate Updated On 02-01-2004 13:27:58 31-12-9999 



CreationDate Created On 19-01-2002 17:15:23 05-06-2005 15:12:20 



RowStatus  Activity Status I A 



Data Element Name Browser Field Name Basic Example Interval Example 



NMI NMI 1100445566 2211335544 



SerialNumber Meter Serial ID 
Meter ID 



(Different on two screens) 



000012345 112258 



RegisterID Register ID 1 E1 



NetworkTariffCode Network Tariff Code BLNB2CO MB2RI 



NetworkAdditionalInformation Network Tariff Additional 
Information 



General Supply Non 
TOU Eligible 



LV TOU Demand Eligible 



UnitOfMeasure Unit of Measure KWH KWH 



TimeOfDay Time of Day ALLDAY ALLDAY 



Multiplier Multiplier 1.00000 120.00000 



DialFormat Dial Format 5.00 5.10 



Suffix Suffix 11 E1 



ControlledLoad Controlled Load  HWLoad No 



Status Status Code C C 



ConsumptionType Actual/Cumulative Indicator C A 



Demand1 Demand 1 0 0 



Demand2 Demand 2 0 0 



FromDate Start Date 01-08-2004 01-06-2005 



ToDate End Date 31-12-9999 31-12-9999 



MaintenanceDate Updated On 31-12-9999 31-12-9999 



CreationDate  Created On 01-11-2005 
22:30:30 



05-06-2005 09:09:09 



RowStatus Activity Status A A 





http://www.w3.org/TR/xmlschema-0/#simpleTypesTable








STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  01 December 2017 Page 42 of 42 
 



 



 



 Format Definition 



1 CHAR(x) Indicates a field that can only contain alphanumeric characters and must contain 
exactly "x" characters.  Note that leading and trailing "spaces" are considered 
significant (i.e. form part of the "x" characters for the field). 



2 VARCHAR2(x) Indicates a character field containing up to "x" characters. 



3 NUMBER(x) Indicates a positive integer (zero or above) up to "x" significant digits long; any 
leading zeroes are not significant and hence "050" is equivalent to "50". 



4 NUMBER(x.y) Indicates a positive number with up to "x" significant characters to the left of the 
decimal point and "y" decimal places after the decimal point (trailing zeros are 
optional).  In other words, the maximum length of the field as a whole is 
"x"+"y"+1 characters (the +1 reserving space for the decimal point).  










image3.emf

Standing Data for 


MSATS v45 track changes.pdf




Standing Data for MSATS v45 track changes.pdf




 



 



 



 



 



Australian Energy Market Operator Ltd    ABN 94 072 010 327 www.aemo.com.au    info@aemo.com.au 



NEW SOUTH WALES QUEENSLAND SOUTH AUSTRALIA VICTORIA AUSTRALIAN CAPITAL TERRITORY TASMANIA WESTERN AUSTRALIA 



STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 



 



PREPARED BY: AEMO MARKETS 



VERSION: 4.45 



EFFECTIVE DATE: 01 December 20171 July 2021 



STATUS: FINALDRAFT 



  



Approved for distribution and use by: 



APPROVED BY: Peter Geers 



TITLE: Chief Strategy and Markets Officer 



  



DATE: TBD  



 





http://www.aemo.com.au/


mailto:info@aemo.com.au








STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 2 of 49 
 



VERSION RELEASE HISTORY 



Version  Effective Date Summary of Changes 



4.0 Aug 2009 Update to AEMO Format 



4.1 19/04/2012 Updates to NMI Data tables to include Feeder Class, Customer Classification Code & 



Customer Threshold Code and minor data corrections. 



4.2  28/08/2013 Updated wording for Nx suffixes in sections 8, 9 and 12. 



Updated reference to the CATS procedures for Embedded Networks in section 7. 



Added new data stream type codes under section 11: Reference Tables. 



Updated reference to the NEM Metrology Procedures in section 15. 



4.3 01 December 



2017 



Updated to incorporate:   



• National Electricity Amendment (Expanding competition in metering and related 



services) Rule 2015. No.12; 



• National Electricity Amendment (Embedded Networks) Rule 2015 No. 15; and 



• National Electricity Amendment (Meter Replacement Processes) Rule 2016 No. 2. 



4.4 01 December 



2017 



Final Version 



4.5 1 July 2021 Updated to incorporate amendments to Meter Read Type Code and introduce 



Transmission Node Identifier 2 to support the: 



National Electricity Amendment (Five Minute Settlement) Rule 2017 No.15; 



National Electricity Amendment (Global settlement and market reconciliation) Rule 2018 



No. 14; and 



Draft National Electricity Amendment (Introduction of metering coordinator planned 



interruptions) Rule 2020. 



 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref: Error! No text of specified style 



in document. 



01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 3 of 49 
 



CONTENTS 



1. INTRODUCTION 6 



1.1. Purpose and scope 6 



1.2. Definitions and interpretation 6 



1.3. Related documents 6 



2. BACKGROUND 6 



3. CONVENTIONS USED WITHIN THIS DOCUMENT 7 



3.1. Column Headed: Standing Data Required 7 



3.2. NMIs Affected 87 



4. CATS_METER_REGISTER 98 



5. CATS_DLF_CODES 1415 



6. CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES 1516 



7. CATS_NMI_DATA 1617 



8. CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 1920 



9. CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 2022 



10. CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 2324 



11. REFERENCE TABLES 2425 



12. USE OF NMI SUFFIX TO POPULATE CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 2529 



13. ASSIGNMENT OF DATA – ACCUMULATION METERS 2730 



13.1. Single Meter, no controlled load 2730 



13.2. Two Single Element Meters, no controlled load 2731 



13.3. Two Single Element Meters, one with controlled load 2831 



13.4. One Meter with Two Registers, one measuring a controlled load 2831 



13.5. Single Multi-function Meter 2832 



13.6. Two meters, three registers. One register measures a controlled load 2932 



14. ASSIGNMENT OF DATA – INTERVAL METERS 2933 



14.1. One meter 2933 



14.2. Import/Export meter 3033 



14.3. One meter: multiple registers 3034 



14.4. One meter: Twin Measurement Elements 3134 



15. ASSIGNMENTS OF DATA – SAMPLE METERS 3236 



15.1. Multifunction Sample Meter 3336 



16. CROSS REFERENCE OF BROWSER AND ASEXML DATA ELEMENTS 3337 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref: Error! No text of specified style 



in document. 



01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 4 of 49 
 



17. EXAMPLES OF TYPICAL FIELD VALUES 4347 



18. DATA TYPE CONVENTIONS 4955 



 



TABLES 



Table 1 MSATS Master Tables .............................................................................................................. 76 



Table 2 Explanation of Standing Data Requirements .............................................................................. 7 



Table 3 CATS_METER_REGISTER ........................................................................................................... 98 



Table 4 CATS_DLF_CODES ................................................................................................................ 1415 



Table 5 CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES .................................................................................................. 1516 



Table 6 CATS_NMI_DATA ................................................................................................................. 1617 



Table 7 CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM .................................................................................................. 1920 



Table 8 CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER ................................................................................................. 2122 



Table 9 CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS ................................................................................. 2324 



Table 10 Valid Aggregate Codes ........................................................................................................ 2425 



Table 11 Valid Consumption Type Codes ........................................................................................... 2425 



Table 12 Valid Datastream Type Codes .............................................................................................. 2426 



Table 13 Valid Profile Codes ............................................................................................................... 2526 



Table 14 Valid Customer Classification Codes ...................................... Error! Bookmark not defined.26 



Table 15 Valid Customer Classification Threshold Codes ...................... Error! Bookmark not defined.26 



Table 16 Valid Meter Use Codes .......................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined.27 



Table 17 Valid Asbestos Flag Codes ..................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined.27 



Table 18 Valid Connection Type Codes ................................................ Error! Bookmark not defined.27 



Table 19 Valid Disconnection Method Codes ....................................... Error! Bookmark not defined.27 



Table 20 Valid Isolation Point Flag Codes ............................................. Error! Bookmark not defined.27 



Table 21 Valid Load Control Codes ...................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined.27 



Table 22 Valid Locks Codes .................................................................. Error! Bookmark not defined.27 



Table 23 Valid Phase Availability Codes ................................................ Error! Bookmark not defined.28 



Table 24 Valid Shared Fusing Flag Codes ............................................. Error! Bookmark not defined.28 



Table 25 Valid Data Family Failure Codes ............................................. Error! Bookmark not defined.28 



Table 26 Valid Type 4A Reason Codes ................................................. Error! Bookmark not defined.28 



Table 27 Valid Unit of Measure Codes .................................................. Error! Bookmark not defined.28 



Table 28 Valid Controlled Load Flag Codes .......................................... Error! Bookmark not defined.28 



Table 29 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM .................................................................................... 2730 



Table 30 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER................................................................................... 2730 



Table 31 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM .................................................................................... 2731 



Table 32 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER................................................................................... 2831 



Table 33 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM .................................................................................... 2831 



Table 34 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER................................................................................... 2831 



Table 35 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM .................................................................................... 2831 



Table 36 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER................................................................................... 2832 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref: Error! No text of specified style 



in document. 



01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 5 of 49 
 



Table 37 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM .................................................................................... 2832 



Table 38 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER................................................................................... 2932 



Table 39 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM .................................................................................... 2932 



Table 40 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER................................................................................... 2932 



Table 41 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM .................................................................................... 2933 



Table 42 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER................................................................................... 3033 



Table 43 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM .................................................................................... 3033 



Table 44 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER................................................................................... 3033 



Table 45 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM .................................................................................... 3034 



Table 46 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER................................................................................... 3134 



Table 47 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM .................................................................................... 3134 



Table 48 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER................................................................................... 3135 



Table 49 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM .................................................................................... 3235 



Table 50 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER................................................................................... 3235 



Table 51 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM .................................................................................... 3336 



Table 52 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER................................................................................... 3336 



Table 53 CATS_Meter_Register ........................................................................................................... 3437 



Table 54 CATS_DLF_Codes ................................................................................................................. 3641 



Table 55 CATS_Emb_Net_ID_Codes .................................................................................................... 3741 



Table 56 CATS_NMI_Data ................................................................................................................... 3742 



Table 57 CATS_Register_Identifier ...................................................................................................... 4146 



Table 58 CATS_NMI_Participant_Relations .......................................................................................... 4247 



Table 59 CATS_Meter_Register ........................................................................................................... 4348 



Table 60 CATS_DLF_Codes ................................................................................................................. 4653 



Table 61 CATS_Emb_Net_ID_Codes .................................................................................................... 4653 



Table 62 CATS_NMI_Data ................................................................................................................... 4653 



Table 63 CATS_NMI_Data_Stream ...................................................................................................... 4754 



Table 64 CATS_Register_Identifier ...................................................................................................... 4855 



Table 65 Browser Formats .................................................................................................................. 4956 



 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 6 of 49 
 



1. INTRODUCTION 



1.1. Purpose and scope 



This document details the data requirements for the various data elements comprising the CATS  



Standing Data stored for each NMI, together with relevant examples and definitions.  



1.2. Definitions and interpretation 



The Retail Electricity Market Procedures – Glossary and Framework: 



a) is incorporated into and forms part of this document; and 



b) should be read with this document.  



1.3. Related documents 



Title Location 



Retail Electricity Market Procedures – 



Glossary and Framework 



https://aemo.com.au/energy-systems/electricity/national-electricity-



market-nem/market-operations/retail-and-



meteringhttp://aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-



NEM/Retail-and-metering/Glossary-and-Framework 



CATS Procedures https://aemo.com.au/energy-systems/electricity/national-electricity-



market-nem/market-operations/retail-and-metering/market-



settlement-and-transfer-solutions-



msatshttp://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-



NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions 



WIGS Procedures https://aemo.com.au/energy-systems/electricity/national-electricity-



market-nem/market-operations/retail-and-metering/market-



settlement-and-transfer-solutions-



msatshttp://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-



NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions 



MDM Procedures https://aemo.com.au/energy-systems/electricity/national-electricity-



market-nem/market-operations/retail-and-metering/market-



settlement-and-transfer-solutions-



msatshttp://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-



NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions 



MSATS CATS history Model https://aemo.com.au/energy-systems/electricity/national-electricity-



market-nem/market-operations/retail-and-metering/market-



settlement-and-transfer-solutions-



msatshttp://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-



NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions 



MSATS guides https://aemo.com.au/energy-systems/electricity/national-electricity-



market-nem/market-operations/retail-and-metering/market-



settlement-and-transfer-solutions-



msatshttp://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-



NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions 



 



2. BACKGROUND  



The five MSATS master tables contain the standing data stored for each NMI.  They are the 



following: 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 7 of 49 
 



Table 1 MSATS Master Tables 



Table Summary of Contents 



CATS_NMI_DATA  Address, TNI Code, DLF Code, aggregate flag, embedded network 



names, Jurisdiction, NMI status code, etc  



CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS  Roles and associated Participants. Separate records are maintained for 



each Role/Participant relationship.  



CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM  Suffix, ADL Code, Profile Name, Datastream type and datastream status 



of each MDM Datastream.  



CATS_METER_REGISTER  Meter Serial ID, meter type, meter manufacturer, test results, etc  



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER  Meter Serial ID, Network Tariff Code, unit of measure etc  



 



For a NMI to be capable of being used in MSATS, it must have the following minimum set of data:  



• At least one record on the CATS_NMI_DATA table; and 



• At least eight records on the CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS table, one for each of the 



mandatory roles (ROLR, LNSP, LR, RP, FRMP, MDP, MPC and MPB).  



It will also normally have:  



• At least one record on each of the CATS_METER_REGISTER and CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



(there should be at least one record for each meter and register associated with the NMI) 



tables.  



NMIs may or may not have:  



• Records on the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. If metering data is to be submitted to MDM 



there must be at least one valid record on this table.  



Every time a change is made to any of the data in any of these tables, the old records are made 



inactive and new records are created, thus ensuring that there is a complete history of all changes. 



3. CONVENTIONS USED WITHIN THIS DOCUMENT 



The format of the data fields in the ‘Browser Format Column’’ column of Tables is as defined in 



section 18. 



The following information defines the coded entries in columns used in Tables 3 - 9. 



3.1. Column Headed: Standing Data Required 



The column indicates the requirement to provide this data to MSATS. 



Table 2 Explanation of Standing Data Requirements  



Requirement Description 



MANDATORY Transfer, Validation or processing cannot proceed 



without this data. 



REQUIRED This data must be provided if this information is 



available. 



OPTIONAL This data is not required, but will be accepted if 



delivered. 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 8 of 49 
 



3.2. NMIs Affected 



Data must be provided for every NMI in MSATS. The NMIs that must be registered in MSATS are: 



• Every First Tier NMI and Second Tier NMI in the NEM. 



• Sample meters for non-NSLP profile calculations and embedded generating units for NSLP 



calculations. 



• Every wholesale connection point in the NEM, including generation, interconnectors and bulk 



supply points. 



Address Option 1 AEMO’s preferred address option. If the applicable 



fields labelled “Address Option 1” cannot be provided, 



“Address Option 2” is MANDATORY. 



Address Option 2 AEMO’s non-preferred address option. If Address 



Option 1 is provided, these fields are not to be 



supplied. 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 9 of 49 
 



4. CATS_METER_REGISTER 



The CATS_Meter_Register table is a NMI master table containing data that is stored at the Meter Register level. Information stored at this level includes 



the NSRD. It is updated whenever a Change Request containing inbound Meter Register data is completed. 



Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 



Table 3 CATS_METER_REGISTER 



Data Element Name Description Standing Data Required Party to Provide 



AdditionalSiteInformation Free text, descriptive of the Site, describing Site access and the relationship 



between the metering point and the connection point. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



AssetManagementPlan Asset management plan 



If a Site plan is used, free text description of plan. 



If a sample plan is used, the name of the AEMO approved plan. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



CalibrationTables Calibration tables – details of any calibration factors programmed into the meter. OPTIONAL MPB 



CommunicationsEquipmentType Used to store baud rate for installed communication equipment in a code, 



calculated by dividing the baud rate by 100, of the installed communication 



equipment.   



For example, 48 = 4800 baud. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



CommunicationsProtocol Used to provide details of access through switch units (if installed).  



Data to include Switch Unit, Dial Pkg, Port#, userid, password. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



DataConversion Actual Pulse Multipliers OPTIONAL MPB 



DataValidations Free text description of required data validations. OPTIONAL MPB 



EstimationInstructions Estimation instructions. Free text field OPTIONAL MPB 



LastTestDate The date on which the metering installation was last tested or inspected by the 



Metering Provider “B”. This date will be used if clause 7.9.4(a) of the NER needs to 



be applied. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



MeasurementType Code based on the NMI suffix codes, indicating the type of measurements available 



from the meter.   



For example, EBQK = bidirectional energy plus reactive Interval Meter. 



OPTIONAL 



NOT USED for types 6 & 7 



Transfers. 



MPB 



Constant The meter KE (intrinsic constraint of meter in Wh/pulse). OPTIONAL MPB 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 10 of 49 
 



Data Element Name Description Standing Data Required Party to Provide 



Hazard Free text or code  identifying hazards associated with reading the meter.  OPTIONAL MPB 



InstallationTypeCode The Metering Installation Type Code indicates whether the metering installation has 



to be manually read. 



This value must correspond to a valid MeterInstallCode in the Meter Installation 



Codes reference table listed in section 11. 



MANDATORY MPB 



Location Free text descriptive material identifying the relationship between the location of 



the metering point and the connection point. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



Manufacturer Free text field to identify the manufacturer of the installed meter. OPTIONAL MPB 



Model Free text field to identify the meter manufacturer’s designation for the meter model. OPTIONAL MPB 



Point Identifies the meter uniquely for the NMI.  In the format 0n, where n is the meter 



number per the protocol described in the NMI Procedure.    



The allowed values are 01 to 09, 0A to 0H, 0J to 0N, 0P to 0Z. 



This will allow an audit trail when one meter is removed and a new meter is given 



the same MeterPoint value. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



Program Free text field providing a description of the program used to initialise the installed 



meter. 



OPTIONAL MPB 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 11 of 49 
 



Data Element Name Description Standing Data Required Party to Provide 



ReadTypeCode Code to denote the method and frequency of Meter Reading. 



First Character = Remote (R) or Manual (M); 



Second Character = Mode 



T = telephone 



W = wireless 



P = powerline 



I = infra-red 



G = galvanic 



V = visual 



Third Character = Frequency of Scheduled Meter Readings 



1 = Twelve times per year 



2 = Six times per year 



3 = Four times per year 



D = Daily or weekly 



Fourth Character = UndefinedInterval Length Meter Readings are read in.  



A = 5 minutes 



B = 15 minutes 



C = 30 minutes. 



For example, MV3 = Manual, Visual, Quarterly; RWDC = Remote, Wireless, Daily, 30 



minutes interval. 



OPTIONALREQUIRED MPB 



Route The route identifier the meter is currently being read in. OPTIONAL MPB 



SerialNumber The Meter Serial ID uniquely identifies a meter for a given NMI. Maximum 12 



Characters (alpha numeric).  Unique for NMI. 



Use dummy for UMCP (Type 7) and logical (meters). 



Except for UMCP and logical, SerialNumber should be as displayed on the physical 



device (also known as property number). 



SerialNumber to be property number if exists, otherwise the meter manufacturer’s 



serial number, otherwise dummy number. 



MANDATORY MPB 



SharedFuse A Y/N flag to indicate whether the metering installation has a shared fuse, where a 



“Y” indicates that a shared fuse is present. 



MANDATORY LNSP 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 12 of 49 
 



Data Element Name Description Standing Data Required Party to Provide 



Status A code to denote the status of the meter.  



This value must correspond to a valid ElectricityMeter/Status in the Meter and 



RegisterID Codes reference table listed in section 11. 



MANDATORY MPB 



Use A code identifying how the meter is used. OPTIONAL MPB 



NextScheduledReadDate Indicates the Scheduled Next Read Date for the meter if a manual Meter Reading is 



required. 



OPTIONAL MPB initially, 



then MDP for 



updates 



NextTestDate Next date on which the meter should be tested. OPTIONAL MPB 



NMI NMI. This number is unique for each connection point within the NEM. MANDATORY LNSP 



Password Read & time set passwords separated by a space. OPTIONAL MPB 



RemotePhoneNumber The public telephone number to contact a remote Site for metering data. Includes 



STD prefix and no spaces. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



TestCalibrationProgram Test & calibration program. OPTIONAL MPB 



TestPerformedBy Identifying the Metering Provider “B” and the technician responsible for conducting 



the last test. The technician is to be identified by a number unique to the Metering 



Provider “B”. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



TestResultAccuracy The accuracy figure from the test perfomed on the date indicated in the 



LastTestDate field. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



TestResultNotes A statement of compliance indicating the standard of the test regime applied at the 



time of the last test.  



OPTIONAL MPB 



TransformerLocation A free text field to identify the existence of instrument transformers and their 



location relative to the market connection point. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



TransformerRatio A statement of the available and applied transformer ratios. OPTIONAL MPB 



TransformerType An explanation of the type of transformation used. OPTIONAL MPB 



UserAccessRights Details of any End User access to the metering installation; examples include pulse 



outputs, interface to consumer load management system, or consumer directly 



accessing data in meter by special agreement. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



FromDate Start date of the record. This indicates the date on which the parameters of this 



particular record apply from. The data applies from the beginning of this date (the 



start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 



MANDATORY Participant 



sending 



transaction 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 13 of 49 
 



Data Element Name Description Standing Data Required Party to Provide 



ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on which the parameters of this 



particular record end. The data applies until the end of this date (the end of the 



day, i.e. 23:59). 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate is not provided. 



MANDATORY 



(Defaults to high date 



unless supplied) 



System 



generated unless 



supplied. 



RowStatus  Indicates whether the record is active or inactive. 



Whenever a new record is created, it will be A (Active).  A change to the data will 



make this record redundant and its MaintActFlg is changed to I (Inactive). 



MANDATORY System 



generated 



MaintenanceDate  Date and time the record was updated. 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the record is created initially. 



If the record is subsequently updated, its MaintUpdtDt is changed to the date and 



time the record was updated. 



MANDATORY System 



generated 



CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 



generated 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 14 of 49 
 



5. CATS_DLF_CODES 



The CATS_DLF_Codes table contains a list of DLF Codes and their relevant values. The StartDate 



and DLFCode fields will need to be provided for settlements calculations. 



Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 



Table 4 CATS_DLF_CODES 



Data Element Name Description Standing Data 



Required 



Party to 



Provide 



DistributionLossFactorCode A four character alpha-numeric code used to 



identify DLF values.  All NMIs must be assigned a 



DLF Code. Refer to AEMO Distribution Loss Factor 



documents for each financial year.. 



MANDATORY AEMO 



DistributionLossFactorDescrip



tion 



Description of the DLF Code and value. MANDATORY AEMO 



DistributionLossFactor Value Numeric value up to 5 decimal places, reflecting the 



value of the DLF Code. 



MANDATORY AEMO 



JurisdictionCode Jurisdiction code to which the NMI belongs.  



This value must correspond to a valid 



JurisdictionCode in the Jurisdiction Codes reference 



table in section 11.  



MANDATORY AEMO 



RowStatus Indicates whether the DLF Code is active or inactive.  



Whenever a new record is created, it will be A (Active). 



A change to the data will make this record redundant 



and its MaintActFlg is changed to I (Inactive). 



 



MANDATORY System 



generated 



FromDate Start date of the record. This indicates the date on 



which the parameters of this particular record apply 



from. The data applies from the beginning of this 



date (the start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 



MANDATORY AEMO 



ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on 



which the parameters of this particular record end. 



The data applies until the end of this date (the end of 



the day, i.e. 23:59). 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate 



is not provided. 



MANDATORY System 



generated 



MaintenanceDate Date and time the record was updated. 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the record 



is created initially. 



If the record is subsequently updated, its 



MaintUpdtDt is changed to the date and time the 



record was updated. 



MANDATORY System 



generated 



CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 



generated 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 15 of 49 
 



6. CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES 



The CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES table contains embedded network identifier codes, which are used 



to identify which embedded network a NMI belongs to, either as a Parent NMI or a Child NMI. 



Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 



Table 5 CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES 



Data Element Name Description Standing Data 



Required 



Party to 



Provide 



EmbeddedNetwork 



Identifier 



Embedded Network Code. 



Refer to Allocation of Embedded Network Codes  for 



further details. 



MANDATORY AEMO 



EmbeddedNetwork 



Description 



Description of embedded network identifier. MANDATORY AEMO 



SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality Locality to which the embedded network identifier 



belongs. 



MANDATORY AEMO 



PostCode Postcode for the locality to which the embedded 



network identifier belongs. 



MANDATORY AEMO 



StateOrTerritory State or Territory abbreviation in accordance with AS 



4590. 



MANDATORY AEMO 



RowStatus Indicates whether the code is active or inactive. 



Whenever a new record is created, it will be A (Active). 



A change to the data will make this record redundant 



and its MaintActFlg is changed to I (Inactive). 



 



MANDATORY System 



generate



d 



FromDate Start date of the record. This indicates the date on 



which the parameters of this particular record apply 



from. The data applies from the beginning of this date 



(the start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 



MANDATORY AEMO 



ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on which 



the parameters of this particular record end. The data 



applies until the end of this date (the end of the day, i.e. 



23:59). 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate is 



not provided. 



MANDATORY System 



generate



d 



MaintenanceDate Date and time the record was updated. 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the record is 



created initially.  



If the record is subsequently updated, its MaintUpdtDt 



is changed to the date and time the record was 



updated. 



MANDATORY System 



generate



d 



CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 



generate



d 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 16 of 49 
 



7. CATS_NMI_DATA 



The CATS_NMI_DATA table records Master NMI Record data information. It is updated whenever a 



Change Request containing data in the CATS_INBOUND_NMI_DATA table is completed. 



Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 



Table 6 CATS_NMI_DATA 



Data Element Name Description Standing Data 



Required 



Party to 



Provide 



NMI NMI. 



All alpha characters are Upper Case 



MANDATORY LNSP 



NMI 



ClassificationCode 



Code used to indicate the NMI Classification Code of 



this NMI.   



This value must correspond to a valid NMIClassCode 



value in the NMI Class Codes reference table listed in 



section 11. 



MANDATORY LNSP 



 



MasterData/ 



StatusCode 



Code used to indicate the status of the NMI.   



This value must correspond to a valid 



MasterData/Status value in the NMI Status Codes 



reference table listed in section 11. 



MANDATORY LNSP 



 



TransmissionNode 



Identifier 



This value must correspond to a valid code in the 



CATS_TNI_Codes table.  



MANDATORY LNSP 



 



TransmissionNode 



Identifier2 



TNI Code assigned, by AEMO, to a distribution network 



into which energy normally flows through a connection 



point between adjacent distribution networks that has a 



single NMI.   



This value must correspond to a valid code in the 



CATS_TNI_Codes table. 



REQUIRED AEMO 



JurisdictionCode Jurisdiction code to which the NMI belongs. This code 



defines the jurisdictional rules which apply to the 



transfer of this NMI. 



This value must correspond to a valid JurisdictionCode 



value in the Jurisdiction Codes reference table listed in 



section 11. 



MANDATORY LNSP 



 



DistributionLoss 



FactorCode 



Distribution Loss Factor Code.  Must be a valid code in 



the CATS_DLF_Codes table.  



MANDATORY LNSP 



 



ChildEmbedded 



NetworkIdentifier 



The embedded network identifier code is used to 



identify which embedded network this given NMI is the 



'child of'.  (If on a NMI record this field is not populated, 



it is assumed the NMI is not the child of any other NMI.)   



Must be a valid code within the 



CATS_Emb_Net_ID_Codes table. 



This field cannot be used unless the Parent NMI has 



been created and assigned an embedded network 



identifier code. Refer section 30.4.a  of the CATS 



Procedure. 



REQUIRED LNSP 



 



ParentEmbedded 



NetworkIdentifier 



The embedded network identifier code is used to 



identify which embedded network this given NMI is the 



'parent of'.  (If on a NMI record this field is not 



REQUIRED LNSP 



 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 17 of 49 
 



populated, it is assumed the NMI is not the parent of any 



other NMI.)    



Must be a valid code within the 



CATS_Emb_Net_ID_Codes table.  



BuildingOrProperty 



Name 



A free text description of the full name used to identify 



the physical building or property as part of its location. 



Address 



Option 1 



LNSP 



 



LotNumber The lot reference number allocated to an address prior 



to street numbering. The word ‘LOT’ is not required. 



Address 



Option 1 



LNSP 



 



FlatOrUnitNumber Specification of the number of the flat or unit which is a 



separately identifiable portion within a 



building/complex. 



Address 



Option 1 



LNSP 



 



FlatOrUnitType Specification of the type of flat or unit which is a 



separately identifiable portion within a 



building/complex. This value must correspond to a 



valid Flat Type Code, reference AS4590.  



Address 



Option 1 



LNSP 



 



FloorOrLevelNumber Floor Number is used to identify the floor or level of a 



multi-storey building/complex. 



Address 



Option 1 



LNSP 



 



FloorOrLevelType Floor Type is used to identify the floor or level of a 



multi-storey building/complex. This value must 



correspond to a valid Floor Type Code in the Floor 



Type Codes, reference AS4590. 



Address 



Option 1 



LNSP 



 



HouseNumber The numeric reference of a house or property.  



Specifically the house number. 



Address 



Option 1 



LNSP 



 



HouseNumberSuffix The numeric reference of a house or property.  



Specifically the single character identifying the house 



number suffix. 



Address 



Option 1 



LNSP 



 



StreetName Records the thoroughfare name. 



See notes at end of table for more information on 



Structured Addresses 



Address 



Option 1 



LNSP 



 



StreetSuffix Records street suffixes. This value must correspond to a 



valid Street Suffix Code, reference AS4590. 



Address 



Option 1 



LNSP 



 



StreetType Records the street type abbreviation.  This value must 



correspond to a valid Street Type Code, reference 



AS4590. 



Address 



Option 1 



LNSP 



 



SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality The full name of the general locality containing the 



specific address. 



MANDATORY  LNSP 



 



LocationDescriptor A general field to capture various references to address 



locations alongside another physical location. 



Address 



Option 1 



LNSP 



 



PostCode The descriptor for a postal delivery area, aligned with 



locality, suburb or place. 



MANDATORY LNSP 



 



StateOrTerritory Defined State or Territory abbreviation.   MANDATORY LNSP 



 



DeliveryPointIdentifier Delivery point identifier - the numeric descriptor for a 



postal delivery point which is equal to a physical 



OPTIONAL LNSP 



 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 18 of 49 
 



address.  The values are in the range 10000000 – 



99999999. 



AddressLine To provide the unstructured address (line 1) where a 



structured address cannot be supplied. 



Address 



Option 2 



LNSP 



 



AddressLine To provide the unstructured address (line 2) where a 



structured address cannot be supplied. 



Address 



Option 2 



LNSP 



 



AddressLine To provide the unstructured address (line 3) where a 



structured address cannot be supplied. 



Address 



Option 2 



LNSP 



 



Aggregate This flag determines whether the energy at this 



connection point is to be treated as consumer load or as 



a generating unit (this may include generator auxiliary 



loads). 



MSATS will initially set this field to “Y” This value must 



correspond to a valid Aggregate value in the 



Aggregate Codes reference table listed in section 11. 



OPTIONAL (Defaults 



to ‘Y’, 



AEMO 



updates 



to ‘N’ as 



required) 



FromDate Start date of the NMI Data record. This indicates the 



date on which the parameters of this particular NMI data 



record apply from.  



The data applies from the beginning of this date (the 



start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 



MANDATORY LNSP 



 



ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on which 



the parameters of this particular record end. The data 



applies until the end of this date (the end of the day, i.e. 



23:59). 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate is 



not provided. 



MANDATORY 



(Defaults to 



high date 



unless 



supplied) 



System 



generate



d unless 



supplied. 



RowStatus  Indicates whether the record is active or inactive. 



Whenever a new record is created, it will be A (Active). 



A change to the data will make this record redundant 



and its MaintActFlg is changed to I (Inactive). 



 



MANDATORY System 



generate



d 



MaintenanceDate  Date and time the record was updated. 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the record is 



created initially. 



If the record is subsequently updated, its MaintUpdtDt 



is changed to the date and time the record was 



updated. 



MANDATORY System 



generate



d 



CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 



generate



d 



Feeder Class A code to provide Participants with information to 



indicate the appropriate service level timeframes for 



performing work in relation to Service Order Requests. 



OPTIONAL LNSP 



 



Customer Classification 



Code 



A code that defines the consumer class as defined in 



the National Energy Retail Regulations, or in overriding 



Jurisdictional instruments 



MANDATORY Current 



FRMP 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 19 of 49 
 



8. CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



The CATS_NMI_Data_Stream table is a NMI master table containing data that is stored at the NMI 



Datastream level. Information stored at this level includes suffixes, profile name, average daily load 



etc. It is updated whenever a Change Request containing inbound Datastream data is completed. 



Note: Data is only required for this table if the NMI is active in the NEM or is used for profile peel-



off in accordance with the Metrology Procedure. 



Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 



Table 7 CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Customer Classification 



Threshold Code 



A code that defines the consumption threshold as 



defined in the National Energy Retail Regulations, or in 



overriding Jurisdictional instruments. 



MANDATORY LNSP 



 



Data Element Name Description Standing Data 



Required 



Party to 



Provide 



NMI NMI MANDATORY 



 



MDP 



LNSP 



ElectricityDataStream/Suffix Metering Datastream identifier (for MDM). Identifies the 



Datastream as delivered to AEMO for settlements 



purposes.  



The value must be a valid suffix for this NMI and is active 



for this date range.  



The value must comply with requirements of the NMI 



Procedure. 



If the MeterInstallCode is COMMSn, MRIM, MRAM, 



VICAMI or UMCP, the Suffix value must be in the form 



Nx where DataStreamType is I or P for an interval 



Datastream.  If the MeterInstallCode is BASIC, the 



Suffix value must be numeric. 



MANDATORY  



 



MDP 



ElectricityDataStream/Status Code used to indicate the status of the suffix.  



This value must correspond to a valid 



StreamStatusCode in the Stream Status Codes 



reference table listed in section 11. 



MANDATORY  



 



MDP 



AveragedDailyLoad The energy delivered through a connection point or 



metering point over an extended period normalised to 



a "per day" basis (kWh). 



MANDATORY  



 



MDP 



DataStreamType Indicates the type of data that the  the 



ElectricityDataStream / Suffix is recording.   



Profile data meters are: 



1. For registering sample meters used for the 



calculation of profile shapes where the NMI and 



Datastream are not used for settlements. 



2. For providing external profile shapes into MDM 



(external PPS). 



This value must correspond to a valid DataStreamType 



in the Data Stream Type Codes reference table listed in 



section 11. 



MANDATORY  



 



MDP 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 20 of 49 
 



9. CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



The CATS_Register_Identifier table contains data that is stored at the register identifier level. 



Information stored at this level includes the Network Tariff Code. It is updated whenever a Change 



Request containing inbound register identifier data is completed. 



Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 



ProfileName The Profile Name is a code that identifies the name of 



the algorithmically derived shape that is used to allocate 



a Datastream's consumption to TIs.  This value must 



correspond to a valid code in the PROFILE table.  



For all Interval Meters and sample meters, this must be 



set to ‘NOPROF’.  



For Accumulation Meters, refer to the MDM Profile for 



valid profile names.  



• In Victoria and the ACT, ProfileName must be 



NSLP.   



• In NSW, QLD and SA, ProfileName must be NSLP 



or the relevant controlled load profile. 



This value must correspond to a valid ProfileName 



value in the Profile Codes reference table listed in 



section 11. 



MANDATORY  



 



MDP 



FromDate Start date of the NMI data record. This indicates the 



date on which the parameters of this particular NMI 



data record apply from.  



The data applies from the beginning of this date (the 



start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 



MANDATORY Party 



sending 



transactio



n 



ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on which 



the parameters of this particular record end. The data 



applies until the end of this date (the end of the day, i.e. 



23:59). 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate is 



not provided. 



MANDATORY 



(Defaults to 



high date 



unless 



supplied) 



System 



generate



d unless 



supplied. 



RowStatus  Indicates whether the record is active or inactive. 



Whenever a new record is created, it will be A (Active). 



A change to the data will make this record redundant 



and its MaintActFlg is changed to I (Inactive). 



 



MANDATORY System 



generate



d 



MaintenanceDate  Date and time the record was updated. 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the record is 



created initially. 



If the record is subsequently updated, its MaintUpdtDt 



is changed to the date and time the record was 



updated. 



MANDATORY System 



generate



d 



CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 



generate



d 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 21 of 49 
 



Table 8 CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element Name Description Standing Data 



Required 



Party to 



Provide 



NMI NMI. This number is unique for each connection point 



within the NEM. 



MANDATORY LNSP 



SerialNumber The Meter Serial ID uniquely identifies a meter for a given 



NMI. Maximum 12 Characters (alpha numeric).  Unique for 



NMI. 



Use dummy for UMCP (Type 7) and logical (meters). 



Except for UMCP and logical, MeterSerial should be 



displayed on physical device also known as property 



number). 



SerialNumber to be property number if exists, otherwise 



the meter manufacturers’ serial number, otherwise 



dummy number. 



MANDATORY MPB 



RegisterID The RegisterID is used to identify a data source that is 



obtained from the meter. A single meter may provide 



multiple data sources.  



MANDATORY MPB 



NetworkTariffCode The Network Tariff Code is a free text field required. The 



text must match the Network Tariff Codes supplied and 



published by the LNSP.  



Must be a valid code from the 



CATS_Network_Tariff_Codes table.   



MANDATORY 



 



MPB 



NetworkAdditional 



Information 



Free text field. OPTIONAL MPB 



UnitOfMeasure Code to identify the unit of measure for data held in this 



register. 



MANDATORY MPB 



TimeOfDay Code to identify the time validity of register contents. 



As published by each LNSP. 



MANDATORY  MPB 



Multiplier Multiplier required to take a register value and turn it 



into a value representing billable energy 



MANDATORY MPB 



DialFormat Describes the register display format. 



First number is the number of digits to the left of the 



decimal place, and the second number is the number of 



digits to the right of the decimal place. 



MANDATORY MPB 



Suffix Metering Datastream identifier (for MDM).  Identifies each 



Datastream at the measurement element level for the 



connection point identified by the NMI.  



The value must be a valid suffix for this NMI and is active 



for this date range.  The value must match the value 



provided in the MDFF File. 



The Suffix value must be unique for each meter. 



The value must comply with the NMI Procedure  



MANDATORY MPB 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 22 of 49 
 



For interval data streams, the suffix will indicate the 



individual data streams contributing to the Nx Suffix value 



in the CATS_NMI_DataStream table.  



For basic data streams the value will be identical to the 



related Suffix value in the CATS_NMI_DataStream table.  



 



ControlledLoad Indicates whether the energy recorded by this register is 



created under a Controlled Load regime 



ControlledLoad field will have "No" if register does not 



relate to a Controlled Load.If the register relates to a 



Controlled Load, it should contain a description of the 



Controlled Load regime. 



MANDATORY MPB 



RegisterDetail/ 



Status 



Lookup code to indicate if register is active. 



Must ensure that RegisterDetail/Status is not Current (C) 



when ElectricityMeter/Status is Removed (R). 



This value must correspond to a valid 



RegisterDetail/Status from the Meter and RegisterID 



Codes reference table listed in section 11. 



MANDATORY MPB 



ConsumptionType Actual/Subtractive Indicator. 



Actual (A) implies volume of energy actually metered 



between two dates. 



Cumulative (C) indicates a Meter Reading for a specific 



date. A second Meter Reading is required to determine 



the consumption between those two Meter Reading 



dates.  



For an Interval Meter, ActCumInd = A. 



This value must correspond to a valid ConsumptionType 



from the Consumption Type Codes reference table listed 



in section 11. 



MANDATORY MPB 



Demand1 This field contains the peak demand value for summer 



for network Tariff purposes. Units in kW or kVA 



OPTIONAL MPB 



(Refers 



to 



Networ



k Tariff 



Code) 



 



Demand2 This field contains an additional demand value (not 



Summer period). Units in kW or kVA 



OPTIONAL MPB 



(Refers 



to 



Networ



k Tariff 



Code) 



FromDate Start date of the NMI data record. This indicates the date 



on which the parameters of this particular NMI data 



record apply from.  



The data applies from the beginning of this date (the 



start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 



MANDATORY Particip



ant 



sending 



transact



ion 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 23 of 49 
 



10. CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 



The CATS_NMI_Participant_Relations table is a NMI master table containing data that stores the 



Roles that Participants play for each NMI. It is updated whenever a Change Request containing 



inbound Roles is completed. Each Role record, which contains a single Role code and a single 



Participant ID, has a start date and an end date, as well as information about when it was created 



and when it became inactive if it is no longer an active record. 



Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 



Table 9 CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 



ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on which 



the parameters of this particular record end. The data 



applies until the end of this date (the end of the day, i.e. 



23:59). 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate is 



not provided. 



MANDATORY 



(Defaults to 



high date 



unless 



supplied) 



System 



generat



ed 



unless 



supplie



d. 



RowStatus  Indicates whether the record is active or inactive. 



Whenever a new record is created, it will be A (Active). A 



change to the data will make this record redundant and 



its MaintActFlg is changed to I (Inactive). 



 



MANDATORY System 



generat



ed 



MaintenanceDate  Date and time the record was updated. 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the record is 



created initially. 



If the record is subsequently updated, its MaintUpdtDt is 



changed to the date and time the record was updated. 



MANDATORY System 



generat



ed 



CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 



generat



ed 



Data Element Name Description Standing Data Required Party to Provide 



Party The Participant ID whose 



relationship (Role) with the 



NMI is defined in this table. 



MANDATORY LNSP 



NMI NMI. This number is unique 



for each connection point.  



MANDATORY LNSP 



Role This defines the relationship 



(Role) of the Participant with 



the NMI in this table. 



MANDATORY LNSP 



FromDate Start date of the record. This 



indicates the date on which 



the parameters of this 



particular record apply from. 



The data applies from the 



beginning of this date (the 



start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 



MANDATORY Party sending transaction 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 24 of 49 
 



11. REFERENCE TABLES 



Table 10 - Valid Aggregate Codes 



Aggregate Description 



Y Customer load 



N Generator NMI 



Table 11 - Valid Consumption Type Codes 



Consumptiontype Description 



A Actual Consumption 



C Cumulative Consumption 



Table 12 - Valid Datastream Type Codes 



Datastreamtype Description 



I Interval 



C Basic 



P Profile Data 



1 Non-Market Active Import 



ToDate End date of the record. This 



indicates the date on which 



the parameters of this 



particular record end. The 



data applies until the end of 



this date (the end of the day, 



i.e. 23:59). 



A default date of 9999-12-31 



is recorded if EndDate is not 



provided. 



MANDATORY 



(Defaults to high date unless 



supplied) 



System generated unless 



supplied. 



RowStatus  Indicates whether the record 



is active or inactive. 



Whenever a new record is 



created, it will be A (Active). A 



change to the data will make 



this record redundant and its 



MaintActFlg is changed to I 



(Inactive). 



 



MANDATORY System generated 



MaintenanceDate Date and time the record was 



updated. 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is 



used when the record is 



created initially. 



If the record is subsequently 



updated, its MaintUpdtDt is 



changed to the date and 



time the record was updated. 



MANDATORY System generated 



CreationDate Date and time the record was 



created. 



MANDATORY System generated 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 25 of 49 
 



Datastreamtype Description 



2 Non-Market Active 



3 Non-Market Reactive Import 



4 Non-Market Reactive 



Table 13 - Valid Profile Codes 



ProfileName Description 



NSLP Net System Load Profile. 



The profile is calculated by MSATS. NSLP represents the system load after all actual interval 



metering data or specified previously-calculated profiled metering data that is not dependent 



on the NSLP has been subtracted from a known total system load and represents system-wide 



usage by consumption-type metering installations. 



CLOADNSWCE Controlled Load profile: Country Energy. (Now Essential Energy)  



Profile Names beginning with CLOAD are Controlled Load profiles. Controlled Load profiles 



are applied to Controlled Load Datastreams in NSW. There is one Controlled Load profile for 



each LNSP area. The names all begin with CLOADNSW to indicate that they are NSW Profile 



Names followed by two characters to indicate the LNSP area to which it belongs (e.g. EA = 



EnergyAustralia). 



CLOADNSWEA Controlled Load profile: EnergyAustralia (Now Ausgrid). 



CLOADNSWIE Controlled Load profile: IntegralEnergy (Now Endeavour Energy) 



QLDEGXCL31 Controlled Load profile Energex tariff 31 



QLDEGXCL33 Controlled Load profile Energex tariff 33 



SACLOAD South Australian Controlled Load. 



NOPROF Used for interval Datastream types (to indicate that such Datastreams do not need to be 



profiled to obtain ‘readings’ for each settlements interval because the data is supplied in 30-



minute intervals). 



Note: Refer to the MSATS CATS Procedure section 4 for details on the valid codes for the 



following: 



• Jurisdiction Codes 



• Metering Installation Type Codes 



• NMI Classification Codes 



• NMI Status Codes 



• Datastream Status Codes 



12. USE OF NMI SUFFIX TO POPULATE CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



For any particular connection point there may be multiple energy measurement elements and data 



recorders with multiple channels. Accurate identification of Datastreams is essential. The NMI 



Procedure includes the requirements for the use of a suffix to the NMI that identifies these 



Datastreams.  The DataStreamSuffix detailed in the NMI Procedure provides identification at the 



measurement element level for all Datastreams from the connection point identified by the NMI.  



The DataStreamSuffix is commonly known as the NMISuffix.  The NMISuffix is labelled as ‘Suffix’ in 



the Browser and is the ElectricityDataStream/Suffix data element in aseXML. 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 26 of 49 
 



The NMISuffix was first used in the NMI Procedure to describe, in conjunction with the NMI, the 



data transferred from the MDP to AEMO and Participants for settlements. The NMISuffix was 



further extended to describe Datastreams in MSATS, and numeric suffixes were developed to 



describe the data from type 6 metering installations. 



In MSATS, the NMISuffix is used in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table to describe the data as 



delivered to AEMO. For settlements purposes this data must be ‘NET’ [Export from network, less 



import to network] and will be ‘Nx’ for an interval Datastream, or numeric for an Accumulation 



Meter. 



In MSATS release 2.0 a new table, CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER, was introduced to link identifiers 



for the source meter register(s) to the Datastream suffix in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. 



The purpose of the table is to enable the alignment of the data held in MSATS and the data being 



transferred between Participants in the B2B process. 



This link is achieved through the RegisterID (which describes the data source at the metering 



installation) and ElectricityDataStream/Suffix (which describes the NMISuffix to which the 



RegisterID contributes) data elements. This is a many-to-one relationship, i.e. there may be 



multiple RegisterID values for each ElectricityDataStream/Suffix value in the 



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table. 



• The RegisterID identifies the measurement element and type of measurement for an Interval 



Meter, and identifies the location of a stored energy value in an Accumulation Meter. 



• The ElectricityDataStream/Suffix value in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table identifies the 



Datastream registered in MSATS. For settlements purposes, Interval Meter Datastreams will be 



the NET suffix (format Nx) and for Accumulation Meter Datastreams the suffix value is 



numeric.  MSATS requires data to be delivered against this suffix (if the Datastream is ACTIVE).  



MSATS does not validate the values entered in this field. 



• The ElectricityDataStream/Suffix value in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table identifies the 



individual Datastream(s) contributing to the ElectricityDataStream/Suffix value in the 



CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. For interval Datastreams, the suffix(es) will indicate the 



individual Datastream(s) contributing to the Nx Suffix value in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



table where the DataStreamType is P or I (Refer section 14for examples). For accumulation 



Datastreams the value will be numeric and will be identical to the related Suffix value in the 



CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table (refer section 13 for examples). 



• The ElectricityDataStream/Suffix values used in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table are used 



to identify metering data contained in MDFF Files (in the NMISuffix field).  



• The linkage between the RegisterID and ElectricityDataStream/Suffix exists because the 



ElectricityDataStream/Suffix data element is populated in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



table. 



• The RegisterID data element has no standard format; therefore, the MPB must determine the 



appropriate population of this field, e.g. it may be used to indicate the programming code of 



the register. 



There is an inconsistent understanding across industry of the meaning of the terms ‘register’ and 



‘datastream’. Conventionally, to field metering personnel, a ‘register’ contains a single value, while 



a ‘datastream’ represents an array of time separated register values in chronological order. 



For Accumulation Meters, the RegisterID refers to the non-volatile storage of the cumulative 



energy register(s). The RegisterID will have identification with the displays of the meters, or 



identification of internal data stores.  











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 27 of 49 
 



For Accumulation Meters, the ElectricityDataStream/Suffix data element in the 



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table may have a many-to-one relationship with the 



ElectricityDataStream/Suffix data element in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table.  That is, the 



same Suffix may occur several times in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table and occur once only 



in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. 



For Interval Meters, the definition of the RegisterID field is less obvious. To make this field useful, 



the RegisterID should be associated with the ElectricityDataStream/Suffix. As Interval Meters may 



have multiple measurement elements and there may be multiple meters for a NMI, the MDP must 



manage Datastreams against a NMI to avoid duplication of ElectricityDataStream/Suffixes and 



provide correct mapping of RegisterIDs. 



13. ASSIGNMENT OF DATA – ACCUMULATION METERS 



This section details examples of the assignment of data for various basic metering installations.  For 



Accumulation Meters, the Suffix values in CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER and 



CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM tables are always numeric. 



13.1. Single Meter, no controlled load 



A Accumulation Meter with a single register measuring a Non-Controlled Load will have a single 



Datastream suffix 11 for the NMI. 



Table 14 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status 



Value 0123456789 11 A 



The CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table indicates that the meter has only one register. The Suffix in 



the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER ‘11’ denotes that data from RegisterID 01 contributes to the 



Datastream identified by Suffix 11 in CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Table 15 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER  



Data Element: Serial 



Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasur



e 



TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 



Load 



Value ABCD1111 01 KWH ALLDAY 11 No 



The Suffix in CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM will be recorded as ‘11’ by the MDP and the Suffix in 



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER must then be ‘11’. 



13.2. Twp Single Element Meters, no controlled load 



The NMI has two Accumulation Meters, each meter with single register. The data from the two 



meters will be submitted to MSATS as two Datastreams. 



Table 16 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status 



Values 0123456789 11 A 



0123456789 12 A 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 28 of 49 
 



Table 17 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 



Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasur



e 



TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 



Load 



Values ABCD1111 01 KWH ALLDAY 11 No 



XYZA1112 01 KWH ALLDAY 12 No 



13.3. Two Single Element Meters, one with controlled load 



A NMI has two Accumulation Meters, each meter has a single register, and one meter is measuring 



a Controlled Load. The data from the two meters is submitted to MSATS as two Datastreams.  



Table 18 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status 



Value 



 



0123456789 11 A 



0123456789 42 A 



Table 19 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 



Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasur



e 



TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 



Load 



Values 



 



ABCD1111 01 KWH TOTAL 11 No 



XYZA1112 01 KWH CL1 42 HWLoad 



13.4. One Meter with Two Registers, one measuring a controlled load 



NMI has one Accumulation Meter with two registers. The second register is measuring a 



Controlled Load. 



Table 20 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status 



Value 



 



0123456789 11 A 



0123456789 42 A 



Table 21 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 



Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasur



e 



TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 



Load 



Value 



 



ABCD1111 01 KWH PEAK 11 No 



ABCD1111 02 KWH CL1 41 HWLoad 



13.5. Single Multi-function Meter 



Accumulation Meter has 4 registers, one register being a Controlled Load. 



Table 22 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM  



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status 



Values 



 



0123456789 11 A 



0123456789 21 I 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 29 of 49 
 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status 



0123456789 31 A 



0123456789 41 A 



Each register is separately identified in CATS_NMI_Data_Stream. However, register 2 on meter 1 is 



inactive in MSATS, and therefore data is not accepted by MSATS for this Suffix. 



Table 23 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 



Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasur



e 



TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 



Load 



Values 



 



ABCD1111 01 KWH ALLDAY 11 No 



ABCD1111 02 KWH NOTUSED 21 No 



ABCD1111 03 KWH OFFPEAK 31 No 



ABCD1111 04 KWH CL1 41 HWLoad 



Note:  The meter may have register identification and therefore these numbers can be used in the 



table as RegisterID. 



13.6. Two meters, three registers. One register measures a controlled load 



Table 24 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status 



Values 



 



0123456789 11 A 



0123456789 21 A 



0123456789 42 A 



Table 25 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 



Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasur



e 



TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 



Load 



Values 



 



ABCD1111 01 KWH PEAK 11 No 



ABCD1111 02 KWH OFFPAK 21 No 



XYZA1112 01 KWH CL1 42 HWLoad 



14. ASSIGNMENT OF DATA – INTERVAL METERS 



This section details examples of the assignment of data for various Interval Meters.   



14.1. One meter 



Table 26 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status 



Value 0123456789 N1 A 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 30 of 49 
 



The CATS_Register_Identifier table indicates that the meter has only one register. The Suffix in the 



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER [E1] denotes that data from RegisterID 01 contributes to the 



Datastream identified by Suffix N1 in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. 



Table 27 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 



Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 



Value ABCD1111 01 KWH ALLDAY E1 



E1 indicates that it is a single element measuring export. 



14.2. Import/Export meter 



Interval Meter has a two registers, registering import and export energy. A single Datastream suffix 



N1 is defined for the NMI indicating a netting-off of export less import Datastreams for this 



connection point. 



Table 28 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status 



Value 0123456789 N1 A 



The CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table indicates that the meter has two registers, one for IMPORT 



and one for EXPORT. 



Table 29 The Suffixes in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER denote that data from RegisterIDs ‘E1’ and ‘B1’ 



contribute to the Datastream identified by Suffix ‘N1’ in CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM.  That is, the 



Datastreams ‘E1’ and ‘B1’ supplied by the MDP to the FRMP for this meter have contributed to 



the Datastream N1 in MSATS.Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 



Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 



Values 



 



ABCD1111 E1 KWH ALLDAY E1 



ABCD1111 B1 KWH ALLDAY B1 



Only one RegisterID with the Suffix ‘E1’ permitted per meter in CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER. 



Only one RegisterID with the Suffix ‘B1’ permitted per meter in CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER. 



The energy volumes for the Suffix ‘N1’ in CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM are calculated by N1 = E1 – B1. 



14.3. One meter: multiple registers 



Interval Meter has a single measurement element registering import and export energy, reactive 



and voltage. A single Datastream Suffix ‘N1’ is defined for the NMI indicating netting-off of all 



energy Datastreams for this connection point. 



Table 30 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status 



Value 0123456789 N1 A 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 31 of 49 
 



The CATS_Register_Identifier table indicates that the meter has five registers: two for IMPORT of 



energy and reactive; two for EXPORT of energy and reactive; and one for voltage monitoring.The 



Suffixes in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER ‘N1’ denote that data from RegisterID ‘E1’ and ‘B1’ 



contribute to the Datastream identified by suffix N1 in CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM. 



Table 31 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 



Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 



Values 



 



ABCD1111 E1 KWH ALLDAY E1 



ABCD1111 B1 KWH ALLDAY B1 



ABCD1111 Q1 KVARH ALLDAY Q1 



ABCD1111 K1 KVARH ALLDAY K1 



ABCD1111 V1 VOLTS ALLDAY V1 



The energy volumes for the Suffix ‘N1’ is calculated by NET (E1 – B1). 



14.4. One meter: Twin Measurement Elements 



Certain multifunction meters have the capability for initial installation as an Accumulation Meter, 



but can be re-programmed to provide interval metering data.  



The NER do not permit the use of two different types of metering installation on the one NMI, and 



therefore these two metering functions MUST NOT be active simultaneously in MSATS. The MDP 



and RP will be held accountable for a breach of this requirement. 



The CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER can be used to record the meter capability. 



If this meter were configured as an Accumulation Meter in MSATS, the configuration might be as 



shown in the Tables 32 & 33. 



Table 32 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status 



Values 



 



0123456789 N1 I 



0123456789 N2 I 



0123456789 11 A 



0123456789 21 A 



0123456789 31 A 



0123456789 41 A 



Table 33 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 



Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 



Values 



 



AB888888 E1 KWH ALLDAY null 



AB888888 E2 KWH ALLDAY null 



AB888888 25 KWH PEAK 11 



AB888888 26 KWH SHOULDER 21 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 32 of 49 
 



Data Element: Serial 



Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 



AB888888 35 KWH OFFPEAK 31 



AB888888 36 KWH CL1 41 



The CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table values for this meter when it is operated as an Interval 



Meter are shown below. The RegisterID for the Accumulation Meter registers in this type of meter 



are user defined. The Interval Meter suffixes must be added to the NMI and made active, and the 



basic Suffixes made inactive at the same date. 



Table 34 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status 



Values 



 



0123456789 N1 A 



0123456789 N2 A 



0123456789 11 I 



0123456789 21 I 



0123456789 31 I 



0123456789 41 I 



Table 35 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 



Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 



Values 



 



AB888888 E1 KWH ALLDAY E1 



AB888888 E2 KWH ALLDAY E2 



AB888888 25 KWH PEAK null 



AB888888 26 KWH OFFPEAK null 



AB888888 35 KWH PEAK null 



AB888888 36 KWH OFFPEAK null 



If a second meter of the same configuration were established on this NMI ‘E3’ and ‘E4’ would be 



required for the Datastreams to provide MDPs and retailers with unambiguous identification of 



Datastreams. 



15. ASSIGNMENTS OF DATA – SAMPLE METERS  



The application of profiles in accordance with the Metrology Procedure requires interval metering 



data from Sites that have Accumulation Metering. However, the NER do not permit different 



metering installation types on the one NMI, and in any case, the Participants associated with the 



interval metering data are different to those associated with the Accumulation Meter.  Therefore, 



for these connection points, two different NMIs are used. 



There are meters that can combine the required Accumulation Metering and Interval Metering 



functions.  An example is shown below. 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 33 of 49 
 



15.1. Multifunction Sample Meter 



In this case, a single meter is registered within MSATS for two purposes against two NMIs. This is a 



special case, and should not be used other than for this non-standard purpose.  The meter has two 



circuits, with Accumulation Metering for energy trading and Interval Metering for the sample 



profile. 



In this example, NMI 9801234567 is associated with the sample meter installation and NMI 



9876543210 with the End User installation. 



Table 36 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Data 



Element: 



NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 



Values 9801234567 N1 A P 



9876543210 11 I C 



9876543210 12 I C 



9876543210 41 A C 



Table 37 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: NMI MeterSerial RegisterID UnitOfMeasur



e 



TimeOfDay Suffix 



Values 



 



9801234567 AB888888 E1 KWH ALLDAY E1 



9876543210 AB888888 11 KWH PEAK null 



9876543210 AB888888 12 KWH OFFPEAK null 



9876543210 AB888888 41 KWH CL1 41 



Note: Suffix ‘11/12’ have a Status of ‘I’ for 1st Tier and ‘A’ for 2nd Tier. 



First tier metering data is not required for AEMO to settle the market.  



Controlled Load data for first tier and second tier is required by AEMO to settle the market. 



In this example, once the End User’s Site becomes a Tier 2 Site, all three basic Datastreams need to 



become active (StreamStatusCode = A). 



16. CROSS REFERENCE OF BROWSER AND ASEXML DATA ELEMENTS 



The tables below list the names that are used in the MSATS browser for each of the MSATS tables 



detailed in sections 4 to 10.  The table also provides the aseXML data element names and the 



respective formats used in each context.   



In some cases, such as date fields, the format of the field is shown differently in the Browser to that 



used in the related aseXML transactions.  Also, aseXML uses full words throughout, rather than the 



coded values used in the Browser.   



Refer section 17 for examples of the typical data element values as shown in the Browser.  Section 



18 provides definitions of the Browser formats shown in this section. 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 34 of 49 
 



Table 38 CATS_Meter_Register 



Browser Field Name aseXML Data Element 



Name 



aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data Type 



Additional Site 



Information 



AdditionalSiteInformati



on 



ElectricityMeter/ 



AdditionalSiteInformati



on 



VARCHAR2(100) xsd:string 



maxLen = 100 



Asset Management 



Plan 



AssetManagementPlan ElectricityMeter/AssetM



anagement 



Plan 



VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 



maxLen = 50 



Calibration Tables CalibrationTables ElectricityMeter/Calibra



tionTables 



VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 



maxLen = 50 



Communication 



Equipment Type 



Communications 



EquipmentType 



ElectricityMeter/Comm



unications 



EquipmentType 



VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 



maxLen = 4 



Communication 



Protocol 



CommunicationsProtoc



ol 



ElectricityMeter/Comm



unications 



Protocol 



VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 



maxLen = 50 



Data Conversion DataConversion ElectricityMeter/DataC



onversion 



VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 



maxLen = 50 



Data Validations DataValidations ElectricityMeter/DataVa



lidations 



VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 



maxLen = 50 



Estimation Instruction EstimationInstructions ElectricityMeter/Estimat



ion 



Instructions 



VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 



maxLen = 50 



Last Test Date LastTestDate ElectricityMeter/LastTes



tDate 



dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:date 



Measurement Type MeasurementType ElectricityMeter/Measur



ementType 



VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 



maxLen = 4 



Meter Constant Constant ElectricityMeter/Consta



nt 



VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 



maxLen = 12 



Meter Hazard Hazard ElectricityMeter/Hazard VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 



maxLen = 12 



Meter Installation Type 



Code 



InstallationTypeCode ElectricityMeter/Installa



tionType 



Code 



VARCHAR2(8) xsd:string 



maxLen = 8 



Meter Location Location ElectricityMeter/Locatio



n 



VARCHAR2(50) 



See AddlSiteInfo 



(above) 



xsd:string 



maxLen = 50 



Meter Manufacturer Manufacturer ElectricityMeter/Manuf



acturer 



VARCHAR2(15) xsd:string 



maxLen = 15 



Meter Model Model ElectricityMeter/Model VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 



maxLen = 12 



Meter Point Point ElectricityMeter/Point VARCHAR(2) xsd:string 



maxLen = 2 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 35 of 49 
 



Meter Program Program ElectricityMeter/Progra



m 



VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string 



maxLen = 30 



Meter Read Type ReadTypeCode ElectricityMeter/ReadTy



peCode 



VARCHAR(4) xsd:string 



maxLen = 4 



Meter Route Route ElectricityMeter/Route VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 



maxLen = 12 



Meter Serial ID 



Meter ID 



(Different on two 



screens) 



SerialNumber ElectricityMeter/SerialN



umber 



VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 



maxLen = 12 



Status Code Status ElectricityMeter/Status CHAR(1) xsd:string 



with enumeration 



Meter Use Use ElectricityMeter/Use VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 



maxLen = 10 



Next Scheduled Read 



Date 



NextScheduled 



ReadDate 



ElectricityMeter/NextSc



heduled 



ReadDate 



dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:date 



Next Test Date NextTestDate ElectricityMeter/NextTe



stDate 



dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:date 



NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 



maxLen = 10 



Passwords Password ElectricityMeter/Passwo



rd 



VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 



maxLen = 20 



Remote Phone 



Number 



RemotePhoneNumber ElectricityMeter/Remot



ePhone 



Number 



VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 



maxLen = 12 



Test & Calibration 



Program 



TestCalibrationProgram ElectricityMeter/TestCal



ibration 



Program 



VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 



maxLen = 50 



Test Performed By TestPerformedBy ElectricityMeter/TestPer



formedBy 



VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 



maxLen = 20 



Test Result Accuracy TestResultAccuracy ElectricityMeter/TestRe



sultAccuracy 



NUMBER(8,5) xsd:decimal 



totdig = 8 



fracdig = 5 



Test Result Notes TestResultNotes ElectricityMeter/TestRe



sultNotes 



VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 



maxLen = 50 



Transformer Location TransformerLocation ElectricityMeter/Transf



ormer 



Location 



VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string 



maxLen = 30 



Transformer Ratio TransformerRatio ElectricityMeter/Transf



ormerRatio 



VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 



maxLen = 20 



Transformer Type TransformerType ElectricityMeter/Transf



ormerType 



VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 



maxLen = 20 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 36 of 49 
 



Table 39 CATS_DLF_Codes 



User Access Rights UserAccessRights ElectricityMeter/UserAc



cessRights 



VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 



maxLen = 50 



Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 



(summary screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy 



hh:mm:ss 



(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 



(summary screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy 



hh:mm:ss 



(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 



with enumeration 



Browser Field Name aseXML Data Element 



Name 



aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data Type 



DLF Code DistributionLossFactor



Code 



DistributionLossFactor



Code 



VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 



maxLen = 4 



Description DistributionLossFactor



Description 



DistributionLossFactor



Description 



VARCHAR2(50 xsd:string 



maxLen = 50 



DLF Value DistributionLossFactor



Value 



DistributionLossFactor



Value 



NUMBER(6,5) xsd:decimal 



minIncl = 0 



maxIncl = 2 



totdig = 6 



fracdig = 5 



Jurisdiction JurisdictionCode ElectricityStandingData



/MasterData/Jurisdictio



nCode 



VARCHAR2(3) xsd:string 



maxLen = 3 



Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 



with enumeration 



Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 



(summary screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy 



hh:mm:ss 



(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



 CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 



(summary screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy 



hh:mm:ss 



(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 37 of 49 
 



Table 40 CATS_Emb_Net_ID_Codes 



Table 41 CATS_NMI_Data 



Browser Field Name aseXML Data Element 



Name 



aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data Type 



Code EmbeddedNetworkIde



ntifier 



EmbeddedNetworkIde



ntifier 



VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 



maxLen = 10 



Description EmbeddedNetworkDes



cription 



EmbeddedNetworkDes



cription 



VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 



maxLen = 50 



Locality/Suburb SuburbOrPlaceOrLocal



ity 



ElectrictyStandingData



/MasterData/Address/



AustralianAddress/Sub



urbOrPlaceOrLocality 



VARCHAR2(46) xsd:string 



maxLen = 46 



Postcode PostCode ElectrictyStandingData



/MasterData/Address/



AustralianAddress/Post



Code 



VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string pattern: 



[\p{N}]{4} 



State StateOrTerritory ElectrictyStandingData



/MasterData/Address/



AustralianAddress/Stat



eOrTerritory 



VARCHAR2(3) xsd:string  



with enumerations 



Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 



with enumeration 



Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 



(summary screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy 



hh:mm:ss 



(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



 CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 



(summary screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy 



hh:mm:ss 



(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Browser Field Name aseXML Data Element 



Name 



aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data Type 



NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 



maxLen = 10 



NMI Classification 



Code 



NMIClassificationCode ElectricityStandingData



/MasterData/ 



NMIClassificationCode 



VARCHAR2(8) xsd:string 



maxLen = 8 



Status Code Status ElectricityStandingData



/MasterData/Status 



CHAR(1) xsd:string 



maxLen = 1 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 38 of 49 
 



TNI Code TransmissionNodeIden



tifier 



ElectricityStandingData



/MasterData/Transmis



sionNodeIdentifier 



VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 



maxLen = 4 



TNI Code 2 TransmissionNodeIden



tifier2 



ElectricityStandingData



/MasterData/Transmis



sionNodeIdentifier2 



VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 



maxLen = 4 



Jurisdiction Code JurisdictionCode JurisdictionCode VARCHAR2(3) xsd:string 



maxLen = 3 



DLF Code DistributionLossFactor



Code 



ElectricityStandingData



/MasterData/Distributi



onLossFactorCode 



VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 



maxLen = 4 



Embedded Network ID 



(Child) 



ChildEmbeddedNetwo



rkIdentifier 



ElectricityStandingData



/MasterData/ChildEmb



eddedNetworkIdentifie



r 



VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 



maxLen = 10 



Embedded Network 



(Parent) 



ParentEmbeddedNetw



orkIdentifier 



ElectricityStandingData



/MasterData/ParentEm



beddedNetworkIdentif



ier 



VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 



maxLen = 10 



Building / Property 



Name 



BuildingOrPropertyNa



me 



ElectrictyStandingData



/MasterData/Address/



AustralianAddress/Stru



cturedAddress/Buildin



gOrPropertyName 



VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string maxLen = 



30 



x 2 



Lot Number LotNumber ElectrictyStandingData



/MasterData/ 



Address/AustralianAd



dress/StructuredAddre



ss/Lot/LotNumber 



VARCHAR2(6) xsd:string pattern: 



[\p{L}\p{N}\p{P}\s]{1,6} 



Flat/Unit Number FlatOrUnitNumber ElectrictyStandingData



/MasterData/Address/



AustralianAddress/Stru



cturedAddress/FlatOrU



nit/FlatOrUnitNumber 



VARCHAR2(7) xsd:string pattern: 



[\p{L}\p{N}\p{P}\s]{1,7} 



Flat/Unit Type FlatOrUnitType ElectrictyStandingData



/MasterData/Address/



AustralianAddress/Stru



cturedAddress/FlatOrU



nit/FlatOrUnitType 



VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string with 



enumerations 



Floor/Level Number FloorOrLevelNumber ElectrictyStandingData



/MasterData/Address/



AustralianAddress/Stru



cturedAddress/FloorOr



Level/FloorOrLevelNu



mber 



VARCHAR2(5) xsd:string 



[\p{L}\p{N}\p{P}\s]{1,5} 



Floor/Level Type FloorOrLevelType ElectrictyStandingData



/MasterData/Address/



AustralianAddress/Stru



cturedAddress/FloorOr



VARCHAR2(2) xsd:string with 



enumerations 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 39 of 49 
 



Level/FloorOrLevelTyp



e 



House Number HouseNumber ElectrictyStandingData



/MasterData/Address/



AustralianAddress/Stru



cturedAddress/House/



HouseNumber 



NUMBER(5) xsd:nonNegativeInteg



er 



maxIncl = 99999 



House Number Suffix HouseNumberSuffix ElectrictyStandingData



/MasterData/Address/



AustralianAddress/ 



StructuredAddress/Ho



use/HouseNumberSuff



ix 



VARCHAR2(1) xsd:string pattern: 



[\p{L}\p{N}]{1} 



Street Name StreetName ElectrictyStandingData



/MasterData/Address/



AustralianAddress/ 



StructuredAddress/Str



eet/StreetName 



VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string pattern: 



[\p{L}\p{N}\s\-']{1,30} 



Street Name Suffix StreetSuffix ElectrictyStandingData



/MasterData/Address/



AustralianAddress/ 



StructuredAddress/Str



eet/StreetSuffix 



VARCHAR2(2) xsd:string with 



enumerations 



Street Type StreetType ElectrictyStandingData



/MasterData/Address/



AustralianAddress/ 



StructuredAddress/Str



eet/StreetType 



VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string with 



enumerations 



Suburb/Locality SuburbOrPlaceOrLocal



ity 



ElectrictyStandingData



/MasterData/Address/



AustralianAddress/ 



SuburbOrPlaceOrLocal



ity 



VARCHAR2(46) xsd:string maxLen = 



46 



Location Descriptor LocationDescriptor ElectrictyStandingData



/MasterData/Address/



AustralianAddress/ 



StructuredAddress/Loc



ationDescriptor 



VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string pattern: 



[\p{L}\p{N}\p{P}\s]{1,30 



Postcode PostCode ElectrictyStandingData



/MasterData/Address/



AustralianAddress/ 



PostCode 



VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string pattern: 



[\p{N}]{4} 



State StateOrTerritory ElectrictyStandingData



/MasterData/Address/



AustralianAddress/Stat



eOrTerritory 



VARCHAR2(3) xsd:string  with 



enumerations 



DPID DeliveryPointIdentifier ElectrictyStandingData



/MasterData/Address/



AustralianAddress/ 



NUMBER(8) xsd:nonNegativeInteg



er 



minIncl = 10000000 



maxIncl = 99999999 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 40 of 49 
 



StructuredAddress/Del



iveryPointIdentifier 



Unstructured Address AddressLine ElectrictyStandingData



/MasterData/Address/



AustralianAddress/ 



UnstructuredAddress/



Address/AddressLine 



VARCHAR2(80) xsd:string maxLen = 



80 



x 3 



Aggregate Flag Aggregate ElectricityStandingData



/MasterData/Aggregat



e 



CHAR(1) xsd:string 



with enumeration 



Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 



(summary screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy 



hh:mm:ss 



(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 



(summary screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy 



hh:mm:ss 



(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 



with enumeration 



Feeder Class Feeder Class ElectricityStandingData



/MasterData/FeederCl



ass 



VARCHAR2(15) xsd:string maxLen = 15 



Customer 



Classification Code 



CustomerClassification



Code 



ElectricityStandingData



/MasterData/Custome



rClassificationCode 



VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string maxLen = 



20 



Customer 



Classification 



Threshold Code 



CustomerThresholdCo



de 



ElectricityStandingData



/MasterData/Custome



rThresholdCode 



VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string maxLen = 



20 



NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 



maxLen = 10 



Suffix Suffix ElectricityDataStream/



Suffix 



VARCHAR2(2) xsd:string 



maxLen = 2 



Status Code Status ElectricityDataStream/



Status 



CHAR(1) xsd:string 



maxLen = 1 



Average Daily Load AveragedDailyLoad ElectricityDataStream/



AveragedDailyLoad 



NUMBER(10) xsd:integer 



Type DataStreamType ElectricityDataStream/



DataStreamType 



CHAR(1) xsd:string 



with enumeration 



Profile Name ProfileName ElectricityDataStream/



ProfileName 



VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 



maxLen = 10 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 41 of 49 
 



Table 42 CATS_Register_Identifier 



Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 



(summary screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy 



hh:mm:ss 



(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 



(summary screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy 



hh:mm:ss 



(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 



with enumeration 



Browser Field Name aseXML Data Element 



Name 



aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data Type 



NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 



maxLen = 10 



Meter Serial ID 



Meter ID 



(Different on two 



screens) 



SerialNumber SerialNumber VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 



maxLen = 12 



Register ID RegisterID ElectricityMeterRegiste



rDetail/RegisterID 



VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 



maxLen = 10 



Network Tariff Code NetworkTariffCode ElectricityMeterRegiste



rDetail/NetworkTariffC



ode 



VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 



maxLen = 10 



Network Tariff 



Additional Information 



NetworkAdditional 



Information 



ElectricityMeterRegiste



rDetail/ 



NetworkAdditionalInfo



rmation 



VARCHAR2(4000) xsd:string 



Unit of Measure UnitOfMeasure ElectricityMeterRegiste



rDetail/ 



UnitOfMeasure 



VARCHAR2(5) xsd:string 



maxLen = 5 



Time of Day TimeOfDay ElectricityMeterRegiste



rDetail/ 



TimeOfDay 



VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 



maxLen = 10 



Multiplier Multiplier ElectricityMeterRegiste



rDetail/Multiplier 



Number(13,5) xsd:decimal 



Dial Format DialFormat ElectricityMeterRegiste



rDetail/DialFormat 



Number(4,2) xsd:decimal 



minIncl = 0 



maxIncl = 99.99 



totdig = 4 



fracdig = 2 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 42 of 49 
 



Table 43 CATS_NMI_Participant_Relations 



Suffix Suffix ElectricityMeterRegiste



rDetail/Suffix 



VARCHAR2(2) xsd:string 



maxLen = 2 



Controlled Load ControlledLoad ElectricityMeterRegiste



rDetail/ControlledLoad 



VARCHAR2(100) xsd:string 



maxLen = 100 



Status Code Status ElectricityMeterRegiste



rDetail/ 



Status 



CHAR(1) xsd:string 



with enumeration 



Actual/Cumulative 



Indicator 



ConsumptionType ElectricityMeterRegiste



rDetail/ConsumptionT



ype 



CHAR(1) xsd:string 



with enumeration 



Demand 1 Demand1 ElectricityMeterRegiste



rDetail/Demand1 



Number(8) xsd:integer 



totdig = 8 



Demand 2 Demand2 ElectricityMeterRegiste



rDetail/Demand2 



Number(8) xsd:integer 



totdig = 8 



Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 



(summary screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy 



hh:mm:ss 



(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 



(summary screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy 



hh:mm:ss 



(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 



with enumeration 



Browser Field Name aseXML Data Element 



Name 



aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data Type 



Participant ID Party Party VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 



NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 



maxLen = 10 



Role Role Role VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 



maxLen = 4 



Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 



(summary screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy 



hh:mm:ss 



(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 43 of 49 
 



17. EXAMPLES OF TYPICAL FIELD VALUES 



This section provides examples of typical sets of data element values associated with different 



types of connection points.   



The data shown in each example is as shown in the Browser.  This reverses the sequence of the 



day-month-year communicated via aseXML transactions. 



Table 44 CATS_Meter_Register 



Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 



(summary screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy 



hh:mm:ss 



(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 



with enumeration 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 44 of 49 
 



Data Element Name  



(as it appears in XML documents) 



Browser Field Name(as it appears 



in MSATS Browser) 



Basic Example Interval Example Data Element Name 



AdditionalSiteInformation Additional Site Information MTR ON SITE AT 17B Red Rooster AdditionalSiteInformation 



AssetManagementPlan Asset Management Plan CITIPOWER METER 



MANAGEMENT PLAN 



PER CE DOC: TYPES 1-4 ASSET 



MANAGEMENT & TEST PLAN 



AssetManagementPlan 



CalibrationTables Calibration Tables Q  CalibrationTables 



CommunicationsEquipment Type Communication Equipment Type FACE 96 CommunicationsEquipmentType 



CommunicationsProtocol Communication Protocol NA EMAIL MINI GATEWAY S/N SU121 



MV90 2 TBD TBD 



CommunicationsProtocol 



DataConversion Data Conversion .0005 .0005 DataConversion 



DataValidations Data Validations As per Metrology Procedure Part 



B 



As per Metrology Procedure Part 



B 



DataValidations 



EstimationInstructions Estimation Instruction As per Metrology Procedure Part 



B (TYPES -61, 62, 65) 



As per Metrology Procedure Part 



B (TYPES -14) 



EstimationInstructions 



LastTestDate Last Test Date 07-05-2004 07-03-2004 LastTestDate 



MeasurementType Measurement Type EQ EQ MeasurementType 



Constant Meter Constant 40 .5 Constant 



Hazard Meter Hazard  Asbestos Hazard 



InstallationTypeCode Meter Installation Type Code BASIC COMMS4 InstallationTypeCode 



Location Meter Location ON SUB POLE BEHIND DOOR Location 



Manufacturer Meter Manufacturer EMAIL EDMI Manufacturer 



Model Meter Model Q3 Q4 Model 



Point Meter Point 01 01 Point 



Program Meter Program 30 - NP 3.2 CT FACE PLATE READ 10- AE CT kVAR 9600 Program 



ReadTypeCode Meter Read Type MV3 RTD5 ReadTypeCode 



Route Meter Route 11618 1305 Route 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 45 of 49 
 



Data Element Name  



(as it appears in XML documents) 



Browser Field Name(as it appears 



in MSATS Browser) 



Basic Example Interval Example Data Element Name 



SerialNumber Meter Serial ID, Meter ID 



(Different on two screens) 



525811 201000299 SerialNumber 



Status Status Code C C Status 



Use Meter Use REVENUE REVENUE Use 



NextScheduledReadDate Next Scheduled Read Date 04-10-2006  NextScheduledReadDate 



NextTestDate Next Test Date 17-05-2004 10-05-2004 NextTestDate 



NMI NMI 1122334455 1122334455 NMI 



Password Passwords 12345 12345 Password 



RemotePhoneNumber Remote Phone Number FACE READ 0555 825 987 RemotePhoneNumber 



TestCalibrationProgram Test & Calibration Program AS PER AS/NZ 1284 AS PER AS/NZ 1284 TestCalibrationProgram 



TestPerformedBy Test Performed By Ron Sargeant SMU TestPerformedBy 



TestResultAccuracy Test Result Accuracy -0.20000 -0.11000 TestResultAccuracy 



TestResultNotes Test Result Notes CHECK AND RESEAL    METER METER TEST CORRECT TestResultNotes 



TransformerLocation Transformer Location  REAR OFBUILDING TransformerLocation 



TransformerRatio Transformer Ratio  1500/5 TransformerRatio 



TransformerType Transformer Type  24 WIRE WOUND TransformerType 



UserAccessRights User Access Rights AS PER AS/NZ 1284 MDP ONLY ACCESS UserAccessRights 



FromDate Start Date 14-03-1990 16-03-2002 FromDate 



ToDate End Date 31-12-9999 18-07-2006 ToDate 



MaintenanceDate Updated On 31-12-999 00:00:00 31-12-999 00:00:00 MaintenanceDate 



CreationDate Created On 19-03-1990 00:01:00 18-03-2002 00:01:00 CreationDate 



 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 46 of 49 
 



Table 45 CATS_DLF_Codes 



Table 46 CATS_Emb_Net_ID_Codes 



Data Element Name Browser Field Name Basic & Basic Example 



EmbeddedNetworkIdentifier Code SE01008111 



EmbeddedNetworkDescription Description Kingston-On-Murray Caravan Park 



SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality Suburb / Locality Kingston-On-Murray 



PostCode Postcode 5331 



StateOrTerritory State SA 



RowStatus Activity Status A 



FromDate Start Date 5/04/2003 



ToDate End Date 31/12/9999 



MaintenanceDate Updated On 31/12/9999 
 



CreationDate 1/04/2003 13:23 



Table 47 CATS_NMI_Data 



Data Element Name  Browser Field Name  Basic & Interval Example 



DistributionLossFactorCode DLF Code NHV1 



DistributionLossFactorDescription Description UMPLP - High Voltage 



DistributionLossFactorValue [The actual DLF value] 1.11111 



JurisdictionCode Jurisdiction Code SA 



RowStatus Activity Status A 



FromDate Start Date 01-07-1999 



ToDate End Date 30-06-2000 



MaintenanceDate Updated On 31-05-2000 00:30:27 



CreationDate  01-06-1999 00:23:32 



Data Element Name Browser Field Name Basic Example Interval Example 



NMI NMI 122334451 1122334455 



NMIClassificationCode NMI Classification Code SMALL LARGE 



MasterData/Status Status Code A G 



TransmissionNodeIdentifier TNI Code NRGE SBER 



TransmissionNodeIdentifier



2 



TNI Code 2 NRGE SBER 



JurisdictionCode Jurisdiction Code NSW SA 



DistributionLossFactorCode DLF Code NRGE NLV2 



ChildEmbeddedNetworkIde



ntifier 



Embedded Network ID 



(Child) 



NS01008111 SE01008111 



ParentEmbeddedNetworkId



entifier 



Embedded Network 



(Parent) 



NS01008111 SE01008111 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 47 of 49 
 



Table 48 CATS_NMI_Data_Stream 



BuildingOrPropertyName Building / Property Name BP SHELL 



LotNumber Lot Number 22 23 



FlatOrUnitNumber Flat/Unit Number 1 2 



FlatOrUnitType Flat/Unit Type U U 



FloorOrLevelNumber Flat/Unit Number 1 1 



FloorOrLevelType Floor/Level Type FL FL 



HouseNumber House Number 6 10 



HouseNumberSuffix House Number Suffix A B 



StreetName Street Name BORIS DORIS 



StreetSuffix Street Name Suffix N W 



StreetType Street Type DR ST 



SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality Suburb/Locality ORANGE LOXTON 



LocationDescriptor Location Descriptor CNR FRED ST SHELL SERVICE STATION 



PostCode Postcode 2211 5333 



StateOrTerritory State NSW SA 



DeliveryPointIdentifier DPID 01234567 12345678 



AddressLine Unstructured Address 1 Text Text 



AddressLine Unstructured Address 2 Text Text 



AddressLine Unstructured Address 3 Text Text 



Aggregate Aggregate Flag Y Y 



FromDate Start Date 01-06-2004 01-06-2001 



ToDate End Date 31-12-9999 01-01-2003 



MaintenanceDate  Updated On 31-12-9999 00:00:00 05-01-2003 00:01:00 



CreationDate Created On 04-01-2004 09:31:00 01-06-2001 00:01:00 



RowStatus Activity Status A A 



FeederClass Feeder Class ERGUD ERGUD 



Customer 



ClassificationCode 



Customer Classification RESIDENTIAL BUSINESS 



CustomerThresholdCode Customer Threshold LOW HIGH 



Data Element Name Browser Field Name Basic Example Interval Example 



NMI NMI 1100445566 2211335544 



ElectricityDataStream/Suffix Suffix 31 N1 



ElectricityDataStream/Statu



s 



Status Code A A 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 48 of 49 
 



Table 49 CATS_Register_Identifier 



ElectricityDataStream/ 



AveragedDailyLoad 



Average Daily Load 5 800 



ElectricityDataStream/ 



DataStreamType 



Type C I 



ElectricityDataStream/ 



ProfileName 



Profile Name NSLP NOPROF 



FromDate Start Date 31-12-2001 01-06-2005 



ToDate End Date 31-12-9999 31-12-9999 



MaintenanceDate Updated On 02-01-2004 13:27:58 31-12-9999 



CreationDate Created On 19-01-2002 17:15:23 05-06-2005 15:12:20 



RowStatus  Activity Status I A 



Data Element Name Browser Field Name Basic Example Interval Example 



NMI NMI 1100445566 2211335544 



SerialNumber Meter Serial ID 



Meter ID 



(Different on two screens) 



000012345 112258 



RegisterID Register ID 1 E1 



NetworkTariffCode Network Tariff Code BLNB2CO MB2RI 



NetworkAdditionalInformati



on 



Network Tariff Additional 



Information 



General Supply Non TOU 



Eligible 



LV TOU Demand Eligible 



UnitOfMeasure Unit of Measure KWH KWH 



TimeOfDay Time of Day ALLDAY ALLDAY 



Multiplier Multiplier 1.00000 120.00000 



DialFormat Dial Format 5.00 5.10 



Suffix Suffix 11 E1 



ControlledLoad Controlled Load  HWLoad No 



Status Status Code C C 



ConsumptionType Actual/Cumulative Indicator C A 



Demand1 Demand 1 0 0 



Demand2 Demand 2 0 0 



FromDate Start Date 01-08-2004 01-06-2005 



ToDate End Date 31-12-9999 31-12-9999 



MaintenanceDate Updated On 31-12-9999 31-12-9999 



CreationDate  Created On 01-11-2005 22:30:30 05-06-2005 09:09:09 



RowStatus Activity Status A A 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 01 December 20171 July 2021 Page 49 of 49 
 



18. DATA TYPE CONVENTIONS 



The Browser formats used in section 16 are as defined in the following table.  



The value of “x” must be positive and cannot be zero.  



For explanation of the aseXML data types shown in section 16 refer  



http://www.w3.org/TR/xmlschema-0/#simpleTypesTable  



Table: Browser Formats 



 



 Format Definition 



1 CHAR(x) Indicates a field that can only contain alphanumeric characters and must contain exactly "x" 



characters.  Note that leading and trailing "spaces" are considered significant (i.e. form part of 



the "x" characters for the field). 



2 VARCHAR2(x) Indicates a character field containing up to "x" characters. 



3 NUMBER(x) Indicates a positive integer (zero or above) up to "x" significant digits long; any leading zeroes 



are not significant and hence "050" is equivalent to "50". 



4 NUMBER(x.y) Indicates a positive number with up to "x" significant characters to the left of the decimal point 



and "y" decimal places after the decimal point (trailing zeros are optional).  In other words, the 



maximum length of the field as a whole is "x"+"y"+1 characters (the +1 reserving space for the 



decimal point).  





http://www.w3.org/TR/xmlschema-0/#simpleTypesTable







image4.emf

Standing Data for 


MSATS v50 Draft Change Marked.pdf




Standing Data for MSATS v50 Draft Change Marked.pdf




 



 



 



 



 



Australian Energy Market Operator Ltd    ABN 94 072 010 327 www.aemo.com.au    info@aemo.com.au 



NEW SOUTH WALES QUEENSLAND SOUTH AUSTRALIA VICTORIA AUSTRALIAN CAPITAL TERRITORY TASMANIA WESTERN AUSTRALIA 



STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 



 



PREPARED BY: AEMO Markets 



DOCUMENT REF:  



VERSION: 5.04.4 



EFFECTIVE DATE: 6 February 20221 December 2017 



STATUS: Draft for industry comment – 30 August 2019FINAL 



  



Approved for distribution and use by: 



APPROVED BY: Peter Geers 



TITLE: Chief Strategy and Markets Officer 



  



DATE: TBA1/12/2017 



 





http://www.aemo.com.au/


mailto:info@aemo.com.au








STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 2 of 50 
 



VERSION RELEASE HISTORY 



Version  Effective Date Summary of Changes 



4.0 Aug 2009 Update to AEMO Format 



4.1 19/04/2012 Updates to NMI Data tables to include Feeder Class, Customer Classification Code 



& Customer Threshold Code and minor data corrections. 



4.2  28/08/2013 Updated wording for Nx suffixes in sections 8, 9 and 12. 



Updated reference to the CATS procedures for Embedded Networks in section 7. 



Added new data stream type codes under section 11: Reference Tables. 



Updated reference to the NEM Metrology Procedures in section 15. 



4.3 1 December 2017 Updated to incorporate:   



• National Electricity Amendment (Expanding competition in metering and 



related services) Rule 2015. No.12; 



• National Electricity Amendment (Embedded Networks) Rule 2015 No. 15; and 



• National Electricity Amendment (Meter Replacement Processes) Rule 2016 No. 



2. 



4.4 1 December 2017 Final Version 



5.0 6 February 2022 Updated to incorporate amendments for National Electricity Amendment (Global 



Settlement and Market Reconcilliation) Rule 2018 No 14 



 



 



 



 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 3 of 50 
 



CONTENTS 



1. INTRODUCTION 6 



1.1. Purpose and scope 6 



1.2. Definitions and interpretation 6 



1.3. Related documents 6 



2. BACKGROUND 6 



3. CONVENTIONS USED WITHIN THIS DOCUMENT 7 



3.1. Column Headed: Standing Data Required 7 



3.2. NMIs Affected 7 



4. CATS_METER_REGISTER 8 



5. CATS_DLF_CODES 12 



6. CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES 13 



7. CATS_NMI_DATA 14 



8. CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 17 



9. CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 20 



10. CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 23 



11. REFERENCE TABLES 23 



12. USE OF NMI SUFFIX TO POPULATE CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 25 



13. ASSIGNMENT OF DATA – ACCUMULATION METERS 28 



13.1. Single Meter, no controlled load 28 



13.2. Twp Single Element Meters, no controlled load 28 



13.3. Two Single Element Meters, one with controlled load 29 



13.4. One Meter with Two Registers, one measuring a controlled load 29 



13.5. Single Multi-function Meter 29 



13.6. Two meters, three registers. One register measures a controlled load 30 



14. ASSIGNMENT OF DATA – INTERVAL METERS 30 



14.1. One meter 30 



14.2. Import/Export meter 31 



14.3. One meter: multiple registers 31 



14.4. One meter: Twin Measurement Elements 32 



14.5. NCONUML and UMCP 33 



15. ASSIGNMENTS OF DATA – SAMPLE METERS 34 



15.1. Multifunction Sample Meter 34 



16. CROSS REFERENCE OF BROWSER AND ASEXML DATA ELEMENTS 35 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 4 of 50 
 



17. EXAMPLES OF TYPICAL FIELD VALUES 44 



18. DATA TYPE CONVENTIONS 49 



 



TABLES 



Table 1 MSATS Master Tables ................................................................................................................ 6 



Table 2 Explanation of Standing Data Requirements .............................................................................. 7 



Table 3 CATS_METER_REGISTER ............................................................................................................. 8 



Table 4 CATS_DLF_CODES .................................................................................................................... 12 



Table 5 CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES ...................................................................................................... 13 



Table 6 CATS_NMI_DATA ..................................................................................................................... 14 



Table 7 CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ...................................................................................................... 17 



Table 8 CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER ..................................................................................................... 20 



Table 9 CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS ..................................................................................... 23 



Table 10 - Valid Aggregate Codes .......................................................................................................... 23 



Table 11 - Valid Consumption Type Codes ............................................................................................. 24 



Table 12 - Valid Datastream Type Codes ................................................................................................ 24 



Table 13 - Valid Profile Codes ................................................................................................................ 24 



Table 14 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 28 



Table 15 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 28 



Table 16 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 28 



Table 17 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 28 



Table 18 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 29 



Table 19 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 29 



Table 20 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 29 



Table 21 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 29 



Table 22 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 29 



Table 23 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 30 



Table 24 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 30 



Table 25 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 30 



Table 26 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 30 



Table 27 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 31 



Table 28 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 31 



Table 29 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 31 



Table 30 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 31 



Table 31 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 32 



Table 32 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 33 



Table 33 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 33 



Table 34 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 33 



Table 35 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 34 



Table 36 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 34 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 5 of 50 
 



Table 37 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 34 



Table 38 CATS_Meter_Register ............................................................................................................... 35 



Table 39 CATS_DLF_Codes ..................................................................................................................... 38 



Table 40 CATS_Emb_Net_ID_Codes ........................................................................................................ 38 



Table 41 CATS_NMI_Data ....................................................................................................................... 39 



Table 42 CATS_Register_Identifier .......................................................................................................... 42 



Table 43 CATS_NMI_Participant_Relations .............................................................................................. 43 



Table 44 CATS_Meter_Register ............................................................................................................... 45 



Table 45 CATS_DLF_Codes ..................................................................................................................... 47 



Table 46 CATS_Emb_Net_ID_Codes ........................................................................................................ 47 



Table 47 CATS_NMI_Data ....................................................................................................................... 47 



Table 48 CATS_NMI_Data_Stream .......................................................................................................... 48 



Table 49 CATS_Register_Identifier .......................................................................................................... 49 



 



 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 6 of 50 
 



1. INTRODUCTION 



1.1. Purpose and scope 



This document details the data requirements for the various data elements comprising the CATS  



Standing Data stored for each NMI, together with relevant examples and definitions. 



1.2. Definitions and interpretation 
 



The Retail Electricity Market Procedures – Glossary and Framework: 



(a) is incorporated into and forms part of this document; and 



(b) should be read with this document. 



1.3. Related documents 



Title Location 



Retail Electricity Market Procedures – 



Glossary and Framework 



http://aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-



NEM/Retail-and-metering/Glossary-and-Framework 



CATS Procedures http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-



NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-



Solutions 



WIGS Procedures http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-



NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-



Solutions 



MDM Procedures http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-



NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-



Solutions 



MSATS CATS history Model http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-



NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-



Solutions 



MSATS guides http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-



NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-



Solutions 



 



2. BACKGROUND 



The five MSATS master tables contain the standing data stored for each NMI.  They are the 



following:  



Table 1 MSATS Master Tables 



Table Summary of Contents 



CATS_NMI_DATA  Address, TNI Code, DLF Code, aggregate flag, embedded 



network names, Jurisdiction, NMI status code, etc  



CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS  Roles and associated Participants. Separate records are 



maintained for each Role/Participant relationship.  



CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM  Suffix, ADL Code, Profile Name, Datastream type and 



datastream status of each MDM Datastream.  



CATS_METER_REGISTER  Meter Serial ID, meter type, meter manufacturer, test results, 



etc  



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER  Meter Serial ID, Network Tariff Code, unit of measure etc  





http://aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Glossary-and-Framework


http://aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Glossary-and-Framework


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions








STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 7 of 50 
 



For a NMI to be capable of being used in MSATS, it must have the following minimum set of data:  



• At least one record on the CATS_NMI_DATA table; and 



• At least eight records on the CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS table, one for each of the 



mandatory roles (ROLR, LNSP, LR, RP, FRMP, MDP, MPC and MPB).  



• At least one record in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. 



It will also normally have:  



• At least one record on each of the CATS_METER_REGISTER and CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



(there should be at least one record for each meter and register associated with the NMI) 



tables.  



NMIs may or may not have:  



• Records on the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. If metering data is to be submitted to MDM 



there must be at least one valid record on this table.  



Every time a change is made to any of the data in any of these tables, the old records are made 



inactive and new records are created, thus ensuring that there is a complete history of all changes.  



3. CONVENTIONS USED WITHIN THIS DOCUMENT 
 



The format of the data fields in the ‘Browser Format Column’’ column of Tables is as defined in 



section 18. 



The following information defines the coded entries in columns used in Tables 3 - 9. 



3.1. Column Headed: Standing Data Required 
 



The column indicates the requirement to provide this data to MSATS. 



Table 2 Explanation of Standing Data Requirements  



3.2. NMIs Affected 
 



Data must be provided for every NMI in MSATS. The NMIs that must be registered in MSATS are 



related to: 



• Every First Tier NMI and Second Tier NMI in the NEM. 



• Sample meters for non-NSLP profile calculations and embedded generating units for NSLP 



calculations. 



• Every wholesale connection point in the NEM, including generation, interconnectors and bulk 



supply points. 



• All connection points points where a transmission network connects to another to transmission 



network 



Requirement Description 



MANDATORY Transfer, Validation or processing cannot proceed without this data. 



REQUIRED This data must be provided if this information is available. 



OPTIONAL This data is not required, but will be accepted if delivered. 



Address Option 1 AEMO’s preferred address option. If the applicable fields labelled “Address 



Option 1” cannot be provided, “Address Option 2” is MANDATORY. 



Address Option 2 AEMO’s non-preferred address option. If Address Option 1 is provided, these 



fields are not to be supplied. 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 8 of 50 
 



• All connection points where a transmission network connects to a distribution network, i.e. bulk 



supply connection points 



• All transmission network connection points where energy is directly purchased from the spot 



market by a Market Customer, i.e. wholesale connection points 



• All connection points on a distibution network that connect that distribution network to an 



adjacent distibution network (other than an embedded network), i.e. cross boundary connection 



points 



• Sample meters as required by Metrology Procedures Part A to calculate CLP for participating 



jurisdictions. 



• All connection points associated with a non-registered embedded generator, i.e. a generating unit 



that is not classified by a Market Generator, but is eligible to be classified by a Small Generation 



Aggregator as a market generating unit. 



• All type 7 loads 



• All non-contestable unmetered loads 



• All connection points associated with a generating unit classified by a Market Generator. 



• All distribution network connection points where energy is directly purchased from the spot 



market by a Market Customer 



• All child connection points  



 



 



4. CATS_METER_REGISTER 
 



The CATS_Meter_Register table is a NMI master table containing data that is stored at the Meter 



Register level. Information stored at this level includes the NSRD. It is updated whenever a Change 



Request containing inbound Meter Register data is completed. 



Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 



Table 3 CATS_METER_REGISTER 



Data Element Name Description Standing Data 



Required 



Party to Provide 



AdditionalSiteInformation Free text, descriptive of the Site, describing Site 



access and the relationship between the metering 



point and the connection point. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



AssetManagementPlan Asset management plan 



If a Site plan is used, free text description of plan. 



If a sample plan is used, the name of the AEMO 



approved plan. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



CalibrationTables Calibration tables – details of any calibration factors 



programmed into the meter. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



CommunicationsEquipment



Type 



Used to store baud rate for installed communication 



equipment in a code, calculated by dividing the 



baud rate by 100, of the installed communication 



equipment.   



For example, 48 = 4800 baud. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



CommunicationsProtocol Used to provide details of access through switch 



units (if installed).  



OPTIONAL MPB 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 9 of 50 
 



Data to include Switch Unit, Dial Pkg, Port#, userid, 



password. 



DataConversion Actual Pulse Multipliers OPTIONAL MPB 



DataValidations Free text description of required data validations. OPTIONAL MPB 



EstimationInstructions Estimation instructions. Free text field OPTIONAL MPB 



LastTestDate The date on which the metering installation was last 



tested or inspected by the Metering Provider “B”. 



This date will be used if clause 7.9.4(a) of the NER 



needs to be applied. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



MeasurementType Code based on the NMI suffix codes, indicating the 



type of measurements available from the meter.   



For example, EBQK = bidirectional energy plus 



reactive Interval Meter. 



OPTIONAL 



NOT USED for 



types 6 & 7 



Transfers. 



MPB 



Constant The meter KE (intrinsic constraint of meter in 



Wh/pulse). 



OPTIONAL MPB 



Hazard Free text or code  identifying hazards associated 



with reading the meter.  



OPTIONAL MPB 



InstallationTypeCode The InstallationTypeCode may identify attributes of 



a physical metering installation, metering data 



collection methods or metering data calculation 



methods.  



This value must correspond to a valid Meter 



Installation Type Code as referenced in MSATS 



Procedures: CATS Procedures. 



The Metering Installation Type Code indicates 



whether the metering installation has to be 



manually read. 



This value must correspond to a valid 



MeterInstallCode in the Meter Installation Codes 



reference table listed in section 11. 



MANDATORY MPB 



Location Free text descriptive material identifying the 



relationship between the location of the metering 



point and the connection point. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



Manufacturer Free text field to identify the manufacturer of the 



installed meter. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



Model Free text field to identify the meter manufacturer’s 



designation for the meter model. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



Point Identifies the meter uniquely for the NMI.  In the 



format 0n, where n is the meter number per the 



protocol described in the NMI Procedure.    



The allowed values are 01 to 09, 0A to 0H, 0J to 0N, 



0P to 0Z. 



This will allow an audit trail when one meter is 



removed and a new meter is given the same 



MeterPoint value. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



Program Free text field providing a description of the 



program used to initialise the installed meter. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



ReadTypeCode Code to denote the method and frequency of 



Meter Reading. 



OPTIONAL MPB 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 10 of 50 
 



First Character = Remote (R) or Manual (M); 



Second Character = Mode 



T = telephone 



W = wireless 



P = powerline 



I = infra-red 



G = galvanic 



V = visual 



Third Character = Frequency of Scheduled Meter 



Readings 



1 = Twelve times per year 



2 = Six times per year 



3 = Four times per year 



D = Daily or weekly 



Fourth Character = Undefined.  



For eExample:, 



 MV3 = Manual, Visual, Quarterly. 



RWD = Remote, Wireless, Daily (applicable for Vic 



AMI metering installations where 



InstallationTypeCode = ‘MRIM’ and 



JurisdictionCode = ‘Victoria’) 



Route The route identifier the meter is currently being read 



in. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



SerialNumber The Meter Serial ID uniquely identifies a meter for a 



given NMI. Maximum 12 Characters (alpha numeric).  



Unique for NMI. 



Use dummy for UMCP (Type 7), and logical (meters) 



and non-contestable unmetered loads. 



Except for UMCP, and logical and non-contestable 



unmetered loads, SerialNumber should be as 



displayed on the physical device (also known as 



property number). 



SerialNumber to be property number if exists, 



otherwise the meter manufacturer’s serial number, 



otherwise dummy number. 



MANDATORY MPB 



Status A code to denote the status of the meter.  



This value must correspond to a valid Meter 



Register Status as specified in the MSATS 



Procedures: CATS Procedures. 



This value must correspond to a valid 



ElectricityMeter/Status in the Meter and RegisterID 



Codes reference table listed in section 11. 



MANDATORY MPB 



Use A code identifying how the meter is used. OPTIONAL MPB 



NextScheduledReadDate Indicates the Scheduled Next Read Date for the 



meter if a manual Meter Reading is required. 



OPTIONAL MPB initially, then 



MDP for updates 



NextTestDate Next date on which the meter should be tested. OPTIONAL MPB 



NMI NMI. This number is unique for each connection 



point within the NEM. 



MANDATORY LNSP 



Password Read & time set passwords separated by a space. OPTIONAL MPB 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 11 of 50 
 



RemotePhoneNumber The public telephone number to contact a remote 



Site for metering data. Includes STD prefix and no 



spaces. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



TestCalibrationProgram Test & calibration program. OPTIONAL MPB 



TestPerformedBy Identifying the Metering Provider “B” and the 



technician responsible for conducting the last test. 



The technician is to be identified by a number 



unique to the Metering Provider “B”. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



TestResultAccuracy The accuracy figure from the test perfomed on the 



date indicated in the LastTestDate field. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



TestResultNotes A statement of compliance indicating the standard 



of the test regime applied at the time of the last 



test.  



OPTIONAL MPB 



TransformerLocation A free text field to identify the existence of 



instrument transformers and their location relative 



to the market connection point. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



TransformerRatio A statement of the available and applied 



transformer ratios. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



TransformerType An explanation of the type of transformation used. OPTIONAL MPB 



UserAccessRights Details of any End User access to the metering 



installation; examples include pulse outputs, 



interface to consumer load management system, or 



consumer directly accessing data in meter by special 



agreement. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



FromDate Start date of the record. This indicates the date on 



which the parameters of this particular record apply 



from. The data applies from the beginning of this 



date (the start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 



MANDATORY Participant sending 



transaction 



ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on 



which the parameters of this particular record end. 



The data applies until the end of this date (the end 



of the day, i.e. 23:59). 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate 



is not provided. 



MANDATORY 



(Defaults to high 



date unless 



supplied) 



System generated 



unless supplied. 



RowStatus  Indicates whether the record is active or inactive. 



Whenever a new record is created, it will be A 



(Active).  A change to the data will make this record 



redundant and its MaintActFlg is changed to I 



(Inactive). 



MANDATORY System generated 



MaintenanceDate  Date and time the record was updated. 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the 



record is created initially. 



If the record is subsequently updated, its 



MaintUpdtDt is changed to the date and time the 



record was updated. 



MANDATORY System generated 



CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System generated 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 12 of 50 
 



5. CATS_DLF_CODES 
 



The CATS_DLF_Codes table contains a list of DLF Codes and their relevant values. The StartDate 



and DLFCode fields will need to be provided for settlements calculations. 



Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 



Table 4 CATS_DLF_CODES 



Data Element Name Description Standing Data 



Required 



Party to 



Provide 



DistributionLossFactorCode A four character alpha-numeric code used to 



identify DLF values.  All NMIs must be assigned a 



DLF Code. Refer to AEMO Distribution Loss Factor 



documents for each financial year.. 



MANDATORY AEMO 



DistributionLossFactorDescri



ption 



Description of the DLF Code and value. MANDATORY AEMO 



DistributionLossFactor Value Numeric value up to 5 decimal places, reflecting the 



value of the DLF Code. 



MANDATORY AEMO 



JurisdictionCode Jurisdiction code to which the NMI belongs.  



This value must correspond to Jurisdiction Code 



values as specified in the MSATS Procedures: CATS 



Procedures.  



This value must correspond to a valid 



JurisdictionCode in the Jurisdiction Codes reference 



table in section 11.  



MANDATORY AEMO 



RowStatus Indicates whether the DLF Code is active or inactive.  



Whenever a new record is created, it will be A 



(Active). A change to the data will make this record 



redundant and its MaintActFlg is changed to I 



(Inactive).  



MANDATORY System 



generated 



FromDate Start date of the record. This indicates the date on 



which the parameters of this particular record apply 



from. The data applies from the beginning of this 



date (the start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 



MANDATORY AEMO 



ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on 



which the parameters of this particular record end. 



The data applies until the end of this date (the end 



of the day, i.e. 23:59). 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate 



is not provided. 



MANDATORY System 



generated 



MaintenanceDate Date and time the record was updated. 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the 



record is created initially. 



If the record is subsequently updated, its 



MaintUpdtDt is changed to the date and time the 



record was updated. 



MANDATORY System 



generated 



CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 



generated 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 13 of 50 
 



6. CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES 
 



The CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES table contains embedded network identifier codes, which are used 



to identify which embedded network a NMI belongs to, either as a Parent NMI or a Child NMI. 



Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 



Table 5 CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES 



 



Data Element Name Description Standing Data 



Required 



Party to 



Provide 



EmbeddedNetwork 



Identifier 



Embedded Network Code. 



Refer to Allocation of Embedded Network Codes  



for further details. 



MANDATORY AEMO 



EmbeddedNetwork 



Description 



Description of embedded network identifier. MANDATORY AEMO 



SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality Locality to which the embedded network identifier 



belongs. 



MANDATORY AEMO 



PostCode Postcode for the locality to which the embedded 



network identifier belongs. 



MANDATORY AEMO 



StateOrTerritory State or Territory abbreviation in accordance with 



AS 4590. 



MANDATORY AEMO 



RowStatus Indicates whether the code is active or inactive. 



Whenever a new record is created, it will be A 



(Active). A change to the data will make this record 



redundant and its MaintActFlg is changed to I 



(Inactive).  



MANDATORY System 



generated 



FromDate Start date of the record. This indicates the date on 



which the parameters of this particular record apply 



from. The data applies from the beginning of this 



date (the start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 



MANDATORY AEMO 



ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on 



which the parameters of this particular record end. 



The data applies until the end of this date (the end 



of the day, i.e. 23:59). 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate 



is not provided. 



MANDATORY System 



generated 



MaintenanceDate Date and time the record was updated. 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the 



record is created initially.  



If the record is subsequently updated, its 



MaintUpdtDt is changed to the date and time the 



record was updated. 



MANDATORY System 



generated 



CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 



generated 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 14 of 50 
 



7. CATS_NMI_DATA 
 



The CATS_NMI_DATA table records Master NMI Record data information. It is updated whenever a 



Change Request containing data in the CATS_INBOUND_NMI_DATA table is completed. 



Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 



Table 6 CATS_NMI_DATA 



Data Element Name Description Standing Data 



Required 



Party to 



Provide 



NMI NMI. 



All alpha characters are Upper Case 



MANDATORY LNSP 



NMI 



ClassificationCode 



Code used to indicate the NMI Classification Code of 



this NMI.   



This value must correspond to NMI Classification Code 



values as specified in the MSATS Procedures: CATS 



Procedures. 



This value must correspond to a valid NMIClassCode 



value in the NMI Class Codes reference table listed in 



section 11. 



MANDATORY LNSP 



MasterData/ 



StatusCode 



Code used to indicate the status of the NMI.   



This value must correspond to NMI Status Code values 



as specified in the MSATS Procedures: CATS 



Procedures. 



This value must correspond to a valid 



MasterData/Status value in the NMI Status Codes 



reference table listed in section 11. 



MANDATORY LNSP 



TransmissionNode 



Identifier 



This value must correspond to a valid code in the 



CATS_TNI_Codes table.  



MANDATORY LNSP 



JurisdictionCode Jurisdiction code to which the NMI belongs. This code 



defines the jurisdictional rules which apply to the 



transfer of this NMI. 



This value must correspond to Jurisdiction Code values 



as specified in the MSATS Procedures: CATS 



Procedures. 



This value must correspond to a valid JurisdictionCode 



value in the Jurisdiction Codes reference table listed in 



section 11. 



MANDATORY LNSP 



DistributionLoss 



FactorCode 



Distribution Loss Factor Code.  Must be a valid code in 



the CATS_DLF_Codes table.  



MANDATORY LNSP 



ChildEmbedded 



NetworkIdentifier 



The embedded network identifier code is used to 



identify which embedded network this given NMI is the 



'child of'.  (If on a NMI record this field is not populated, 



it is assumed the NMI is not the child of any other NMI.)   



Must be a valid code within the 



CATS_Emb_Net_ID_Codes table. 



This field cannot be used unless the Parent NMI has 



been created and assigned an embedded network 



identifier code. Refer section 30.4.a  of the CATS 



Procedure. 



REQUIRED LNSP 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 15 of 50 
 



ParentEmbedded 



NetworkIdentifier 



The embedded network identifier code is used to 



identify which embedded network this given NMI is the 



'parent of'.  (If on a NMI record this field is not 



populated, it is assumed the NMI is not the parent of 



any other NMI.)    



Must be a valid code within the 



CATS_Emb_Net_ID_Codes table.  



REQUIRED LNSP 



BuildingOrProperty 



Name 



A free text description of the full name used to identify 



the physical building or property as part of its location. 



Address 



Option 1 



LNSP 



LotNumber The lot reference number allocated to an address prior 



to street numbering. The word ‘LOT’ is not required. 



Address 



Option 1 



LNSP 



FlatOrUnitNumber Specification of the number of the flat or unit which is a 



separately identifiable portion within a 



building/complex. 



Address 



Option 1 



LNSP 



FlatOrUnitType Specification of the type of flat or unit which is a 



separately identifiable portion within a 



building/complex. This value must correspond to a valid 



Flat Type Code, reference AS4590.  



Address 



Option 1 



LNSP 



FloorOrLevelNumber Floor Number is used to identify the floor or level of a 



multi-storey building/complex. 



Address 



Option 1 



LNSP 



FloorOrLevelType Floor Type is used to identify the floor or level of a 



multi-storey building/complex. This value must 



correspond to a valid Floor Type Code in the Floor Type 



Codes, reference AS4590. 



Address 



Option 1 



LNSP 



HouseNumber The numeric reference of a house or property.  



Specifically the house number. 



Address 



Option 1 



LNSP 



HouseNumberSuffix The numeric reference of a house or property.  



Specifically the single character identifying the house 



number suffix. 



Address 



Option 1 



LNSP 



StreetName Records the thoroughfare name. 



See notes at end of table for more information on 



Structured Addresses 



Address 



Option 1 



LNSP 



StreetSuffix Records street suffixes. This value must correspond to a 



valid Street Suffix Code, reference AS4590. 



Address 



Option 1 



LNSP 



StreetType Records the street type abbreviation.  This value must 



correspond to a valid Street Type Code, reference 



AS4590. 



Address 



Option 1 



LNSP 



SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality The full name of the general locality containing the 



specific address. 



MANDATORY  LNSP 



LocationDescriptor A general field to capture various references to address 



locations alongside another physical location. 



Address 



Option 1 



LNSP 



PostCode The descriptor for a postal delivery area, aligned with 



locality, suburb or place. 



MANDATORY LNSP 



StateOrTerritory Defined State or Territory abbreviation.   MANDATORY LNSP 



DeliveryPointIdentifier Delivery point identifier - the numeric descriptor for a 



postal delivery point which is equal to a physical 



OPTIONAL LNSP 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 16 of 50 
 



 



address.  The values are in the range 10000000 – 



99999999. 



AddressLine To provide the unstructured address (line 1) where a 



structured address cannot be supplied. 



Address 



Option 2 



LNSP 



AddressLine To provide the unstructured address (line 2) where a 



structured address cannot be supplied. 



Address 



Option 2 



LNSP 



AddressLine To provide the unstructured address (line 3) where a 



structured address cannot be supplied. 



Address 



Option 2 



LNSP 



Aggregate This flag determines whether the energy at this 



connection point is to be treated as consumer load or as 



a generating unit (this may include generator auxiliary 



loads). 



MSATS will initially set this field to “Y” This value must 



correspond to a valid Aggregate value in the Aggregate 



Codes reference table listed in section 11. 



OPTIONAL (Defaults to ‘Y’, 



AEMO updates 



to ‘N’ as 



required) 



FromDate Start date of the NMI Data record. This indicates the 



date on which the parameters of this particular NMI 



data record apply from.  



The data applies from the beginning of this date (the 



start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 



MANDATORY LNSP 



 



ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on which 



the parameters of this particular record end. The data 



applies until the end of this date (the end of the day, i.e. 



23:59). 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate is 



not provided. 



MANDATORY 



(Defaults to 



high date 



unless 



supplied) 



System 



generated 



unless 



supplied. 



RowStatus  Indicates whether the record is active or inactive. 



Whenever a new record is created, it will be A (Active). 



A change to the data will make this record redundant 



and its MaintActFlg is changed to I (Inactive).  



MANDATORY System 



generated 



MaintenanceDate  Date and time the record was updated. 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the record is 



created initially. 



If the record is subsequently updated, its MaintUpdtDt 



is changed to the date and time the record was 



updated. 



MANDATORY System 



generated 



CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 



generated 



Feeder Class A code to provide Participants with information to 



indicate the appropriate service level timeframes for 



performing work in relation to Service Order Requests. 



OPTIONAL LNSP 



Customer Classification 



Code 



A code that defines the consumer class as defined in 



the National Energy Retail Regulations, or in overriding 



Jurisdictional instruments 



MANDATORY Current FRMP 



Customer Classification 



Threshold Code 



A code that defines the consumption threshold as 



defined in the National Energy Retail Regulations, or in 



overriding Jurisdictional instruments. 



MANDATORY LNSP 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 17 of 50 
 



8. CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 
 



The CATS_NMI_Data_Stream table is a NMI master table containing data that is stored at the NMI 



Datastream level. Information stored at this level includes suffixes, profile name, average daily load 



etc. It is updated whenever a Change Request containing inbound Datastream data is completed. 



Note: Data is only required for this table if the NMI is active in the NEM or is used for profile peel-



off in accordance with the Metrology Procedure. 



Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 



Table 7 CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Data Element Name Description Standing Data 



Required 



Party to 



Provide 



NMI NMI MANDATORY MDP 



LNSP 



ElectricityDataStream/Suffix The Metering Datastream identifier (for MDM).  



Identifies the ElectricityDataStream Suffix as delivered 



to AEMO for NEM Settlement calculations, profile 



peeloff, UFE analysis and Vic TUOS sites.  



The value must be a valid as per Datastream suffix 



details specified in the MSATS Procedures:  National 



Metering Identifier procedure. 



The value must match the MDMContributorySuffix 



value provided in an MDFF File. 



Metering Datastream identifier (for MDM). Identifies 



the Datastream as delivered to AEMO for settlements 



purposes.  



The value must be a valid suffix for this NMI and is 



active for this date range.  



The value must comply with requirements of the NMI 



Procedure. 



If the MeterInstallCode is COMMSn, MRIM, MRAM, 



VICAMI or UMCP, the Suffix value must be in the form 



Nx where DataStreamType is I or P for an interval 



Datastream.  If the MeterInstallCode is BASIC, the 



Suffix value must be numeric. 



MANDATORY MDP 



ElectricityDataStream/Status Code used to indicate the status of the suffix.  



This value must correspond to a valid Datastream 



Status Code as specified in the MSATS Procedures: 



CATS procedures. 



This value must correspond to a valid 



StreamStatusCode in the Stream Status Codes 



reference table listed in section 11. 



MANDATORY MDP 



AveragedDailyLoad The energy delivered through a connection point or 



metering point over an extended period normalised to 



a "per day" basis (kWh). 



MANDATORY MDP 



DataStreamType Indicates the primary function of the 



ElectricityDatastream Suffix.  i.e. inclusion within NEM 



Settlement calculations, UFE analysis, profile peeloff  



or Vic TUOS. 



MANDATORY MDP 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 18 of 50 
 



 



Indicates the type of data that the  the 



ElectricityDataStream / Suffix is recording.   



Profile data meters are: 



For registering sample meters used for the calculation 



of profile shapes where the NMI and Datastream are 



not used for settlements. 



For providing external profile shapes into MDM 



(external PPS). 



This value must correspond to a valid 



DataStreamType in the Data Stream Type Codes 



reference table listed in section 11. 



ProfileName The Profile Name is a code that identifies the name of 



the algorithmically derived shape that is used to 



allocate a Datastream's consumption to TIs.  This 



value must correspond to a valid code in the PROFILE 



table.  



For all Interval Meters and sample meters, this must 



be set to ‘NOPROF’.  



For Accumulation Meters, refer to the MDM Profile 



for valid profile names.  



In Victoria and the ACT, ProfileName must be NSLP.   



In NSW, QLD and SA, ProfileName must be NSLP or 



the relevant controlled load profile. 



This value must correspond to a valid ProfileName 



value in the Profile Codes reference table listed in 



section 11. 



MANDATORY MDP 



FromDate Start date of the NMI data record. This indicates the 



date on which the parameters of this particular NMI 



data record apply from.  



The data applies from the beginning of this date (the 



start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 



MANDATORY Party sending 



transaction 



ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on 



which the parameters of this particular record end. 



The data applies until the end of this date (the end of 



the day, i.e. 23:59). 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate is 



not provided. 



MANDATORY 



(Defaults to 



high date 



unless 



supplied) 



System 



generated 



unless 



supplied. 



RowStatus  Indicates whether the record is active or inactive. 



Whenever a new record is created, it will be A 



(Active). A change to the data will make this record 



redundant and its MaintActFlg is changed to I 



(Inactive).  



MANDATORY System 



generated 



MaintenanceDate  Date and time the record was updated. 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the record 



is created initially. 



If the record is subsequently updated, its 



MaintUpdtDt is changed to the date and time the 



record was updated. 



MANDATORY System 



generated 



CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 



generated 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 19 of 50 
 



 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 20 of 50 
 



9. CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 
 



The CATS_Register_Identifier table contains data that is stored at the register identifier level. 



Information stored at this level includes the Network Tariff Code. It is updated whenever a Change 



Request containing inbound register identifier data is completed. 



Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 



Table 8 CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element Name Description Standing Data 



Required 



Party to Provide 



NMI NMI. This number is unique for each connection 



point within the NEM. 



MANDATORY LNSP 



SerialNumber The Meter Serial ID uniquely identifies a meter for a 



given NMI. Maximum 12 Characters (alpha numeric).  



Unique for NMI. 



Use dummy for UMCP (Type 7), and logical (meters) 



and non-contestable unmetered loads.. 



Except for UMCP, and logical and non-contestable 



unmetered loads, MeterSerial should be displayed 



on physical device also known as property number). 



SerialNumber to be property number if exists, 



otherwise the meter manufacturers’ serial number, 



otherwise dummy number. 



MANDATORY MPB 



RegisterID The RegisterID is an identifier used to identify 



records stored within the CATS_REGISTER_TABLE.  



A record must be created in the 



CATS_REGISTER_TABLE for each physical register 



within a meter.  



• For Accumulation Meters, the RegisterID may 



reflect any unique identifier. E.g. ‘1’, ‘01’, ‘11’, etc.. 



• For Interval Meters, the RegisterID must match 



the content of the ‘Suffix’ within the 



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table. E.g. ‘E1’, ‘B1’, 



‘Q1’, ‘K1’, etc. 



The RegisterID is used to identify a data source that 



is obtained from the meter. A single meter may 



provide multiple data sources.  



MANDATORY MPB 



NetworkTariffCode The Network Tariff Code is a free text field required. 



The text must match the Network Tariff Codes 



supplied and published by the LNSP.  



Must be a valid code from the 



CATS_Network_Tariff_Codes table.   



MANDATORY 



 



MPB 



NetworkAdditional 



Information 



Free text field. OPTIONAL MPB 



UnitOfMeasure Code to identify the unit of measure for data held in 



this register. 



MANDATORY MPB 



TimeOfDay Code to identify the time validity of register 



contents. 



As published by each LNSP. 



MANDATORY  MPB 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 21 of 50 
 



Multiplier Multiplier required to take a register value and turn 



it into a value representing billable energy 



MANDATORY MPB 



DialFormat Describes the register display format. 



First number is the number of digits to the left of 



the decimal place, and the second number is the 



number of digits to the right of the decimal place. 



MANDATORY MPB 



Suffix The Suffix field in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



table is used to identify a physical data source that 



is obtained from the meter.  



The Suffix in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table 



must be a valid as per Datastream suffix details 



specified in the MSATS Procedures:  National 



Metering Identifier procedure.  



The value must match the NMISuffix value provided 



in an MDFF File. 



 



• For Basic Meters, the Suffix in the 



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table need not 



match the RegisterID in the 



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table. 



• For Interval Meters, the Suffix in the 



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table must match 



the RegisterID in the 



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table. E.g. ‘E1’, ‘B1’ 



Metering Datastream identifier (for MDM).  



Identifies each Datastream at the measurement 



element level for the connection point identified by 



the NMI.  



The value must be a valid suffix for this NMI and is 



active for this date range.  The value must match 



the value provided in the MDFF File. 



The Suffix value must be unique for each meter. 



The value must comply with the NMI Procedure  



For interval data streams, the suffix will indicate the 



individual data streams contributing to the Nx Suffix 



value in the CATS_NMI_DataStream table.  



For basic data streams the value will be identical to 



the related Suffix value in the 



CATS_NMI_DataStream table. 



MANDATORY MPB 



ControlledLoad Indicates whether the energy recorded by this 



register is created under a Controlled Load regime 



ControlledLoad field will have "No" if register does 



not relate to a Controlled Load. 



If the register relates to a Controlled Load, it should 



contain a description of the Controlled Load 



regime. 



MANDATORY MPB 



RegisterDetail/ 



Status 



Lookup code to indicate if register is active. 



Must ensure that RegisterDetail/Status is not 



Current (C) when ElectricityMeter/Status is Removed 



(R). 



MANDATORY MPB 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 22 of 50 
 



 



This value must correspond to a valid Register 



Identifier Status as specified in the MSATS 



Procedures: CATS Procedures. 



This value must correspond to a valid 



RegisterDetail/Status from the Meter and RegisterID 



Codes reference table listed in section 11. 



ConsumptionType Actual/Subtractive Indicator. 



Actual (A) implies volume of energy actually 



metered between two dates. 



Cumulative (C) indicates a Meter Reading for a 



specific date. A second Meter Reading is required to 



determine the consumption between those two 



Meter Reading dates.  



For an Interval Meter, ActCumInd = A. 



This value must correspond to a valid 



ConsumptionType from the Consumption Type 



Codes reference table listed in section 11. 



MANDATORY MPB 



Demand1 This field contains the peak demand value for 



summer for network Tariff purposes. Units in kW or 



kVA 



OPTIONAL MPB (Refers to 



Network Tariff 



Code) 



Demand2 This field contains an additional demand value (not 



Summer period). Units in kW or kVA 



OPTIONAL MPB (Refers to 



Network Tariff 



Code) 



FromDate Start date of the NMI data record. This indicates the 



date on which the parameters of this particular NMI 



data record apply from.  



The data applies from the beginning of this date 



(the start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 



MANDATORY Participant 



sending 



transaction 



ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on 



which the parameters of this particular record end. 



The data applies until the end of this date (the end 



of the day, i.e. 23:59). 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate 



is not provided. 



MANDATORY 



(Defaults to 



high date 



unless 



supplied) 



System 



generated unless 



supplied. 



RowStatus  Indicates whether the record is active or inactive. 



Whenever a new record is created, it will be A 



(Active). A change to the data will make this record 



redundant and its MaintActFlg is changed to I 



(Inactive).  



MANDATORY System 



generated 



MaintenanceDate  Date and time the record was updated. 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the 



record is created initially. 



If the record is subsequently updated, its 



MaintUpdtDt is changed to the date and time the 



record was updated. 



MANDATORY System 



generated 



CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 



generated 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 23 of 50 
 



10. CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 
 



The CATS_NMI_Participant_Relations table is a NMI master table containing data that stores the 



Roles that Participants play for each NMI. It is updated whenever a Change Request containing 



inbound Roles is completed. Each Role record, which contains a single Role code and a single 



Participant ID, has a start date and an end date, as well as information about when it was created 



and when it became inactive if it is no longer an active record. 



Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 



Table 9 CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 



11. REFERENCE TABLES 
 



Table 10 - Valid Aggregate Codes 



Aggregate Description 



Y Customer load 



N Generator NMI 



 



Data Element Name Description Standing Data 



Required 



Party to 



Provide 



Party The Participant ID whose relationship (Role) with the 



NMI is defined in this table. 



MANDATORY LNSP 



NMI NMI. This number is unique for each connection point.  MANDATORY LNSP 



Role This defines the relationship (Role) of the Participant 



with the NMI in this table. 



MANDATORY LNSP 



FromDate Start date of the record. This indicates the date on 



which the parameters of this particular record apply 



from. 



The data applies from the beginning of this date (the 



start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 



MANDATORY Party sending 



transaction 



ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on which 



the parameters of this particular record end. The data 



applies until the end of this date (the end of the day, i.e. 



23:59). 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate is 



not provided. 



MANDATORY 



(Defaults to 



high date 



unless 



supplied) 



System 



generated 



unless 



supplied. 



RowStatus  Indicates whether the record is active or inactive. 



Whenever a new record is created, it will be A (Active). 



A change to the data will make this record redundant 



and its MaintActFlg is changed to I (Inactive).  



MANDATORY System 



generated 



MaintenanceDate Date and time the record was updated. 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the record is 



created initially. 



If the record is subsequently updated, its MaintUpdtDt 



is changed to the date and time the record was 



updated. 



MANDATORY System 



generated 



CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 



generated 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 24 of 50 
 



Table 11 - Valid Consumption Type Codes 



Consumptiontype Description 



A Actual Consumption 



C Cumulative Consumption 



 



Table 12 - Valid Datastream Type Codes 



Datastreamtype Description Datastream suffix (as per MSATS 



Procedures: National Metering Identifier 



Procedure) 



I Interval Datastream included in NEM 



Settlement process 



A, D, B, E, N 



C Basic Consumption Datastream is included in 



NEM Settlement Process 



First character is 1 to 9 



P Profile Datastream included in NEM Profile 



calculations (Sample meters only) 



E, N 



N Interval Datastream is not to be included in the 



NEM Settlement process or NEM Profile 



calculations 



J, P, S, K, Q, T, G, H, M, V, C, F, L, R, U, Y, 



W, Z, X  



 



A,D,B,E when not used for NEM 



Settlements (e.g. Vic TUOS) 



1 Non-Market Active Import  



2 Non-Market Active  



3 Non-Market Reactive Import  



4 Non-Market Reactive  



 



 



Table 13 - Valid Profile Codes 



ProfileName Description 



NSLP Net System Load Profile. 



The profile is calculated by MSATS. NSLP represents the system load after 



all actual interval metering data or specified previously-calculated profiled 



metering data that is not dependent on the NSLP has been subtracted from 



a known total system load and represents system-wide usage by 



consumption-type metering installations. 



CLOADNSWCE Controlled Load profile: Country Energy. (Now Essential Energy)  



Profile Names beginning with CLOAD are Controlled Load profiles. 



Controlled Load profiles are applied to Controlled Load Datastreams in 



NSW. There is one Controlled Load profile for each LNSP area. The names 



all begin with CLOADNSW to indicate that they are NSW Profile Names 



followed by two characters to indicate the LNSP area to which it belongs 



(e.g. EA = EnergyAustralia). 



CLOADNSWEA Controlled Load profile: EnergyAustralia (Now Ausgrid). 



CLOADNSWIE Controlled Load profile: IntegralEnergy (Now Endeavour Energy) 



QLDEGXCL31 Controlled Load profile Energex tariff 31 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 25 of 50 
 



ProfileName Description 



QLDEGXCL33 Controlled Load profile Energex tariff 33 



SACLOAD South Australian Controlled Load. 



NOPROF Used for interval Datastream types (to indicate that such Datastreams do 



not need to be profiled to obtain ‘readings’ for each settlements interval 



because the data is supplied in 30-minute intervals). 



 



Note: Refer to the MSATS CATS Procedure section 4 for details on the valid codes for the 



following: 



• Jurisdiction Codes 



• Metering Installation Type Codes 



• NMI Classification Codes 



• NMI Status Codes 



• Datastream Status Codes 



12. USE OF NMI SUFFIX TO POPULATE CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 
 



For any particular connection point there may be multiple energy measurement elements and data 



recorders with multiple channels. Accurate identification of Datastreams is essential.  



The MSATS Procedures: National Metering Identifier Procedure includes the requirements for 



structure of both the Suffix populated in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table and the 



ElectricityDataStream Suffix populated in the CATS_DATA_STREAM table.   



The illustrations below provide context to the relationships between ‘Suffix’ across the MDFF 



Specification and MSATS Procedures: CATS Procedures (specifically the 



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table and CATS_DATA_STREAM tables). 



Example of an Accumulated Meter ‘Suffix’  



CATS_REGISTER_IDEN TIFIER
 Suffix                    



CATS_DATA_STR EAM
 Electricity/DataStreamSuffix    



                



MDFF Specification  (NEM13)
 MDMDataStreamIdentifier    



                



MDFF Specification (NEM13)
 NMISuffix                    



CATS_REGISTER_IDEN TIFIER
 RegisterID                    



CATS_METER_REGISTER
 InstallationTypeCo de     



 BASIC 



In this scenario,  this relationship 
creates a  link  between Standing 
Data & Meter Data



Referred to as  MDMContributorySuffix  in MDFF 
Specification prior to 1/7/21



In this scenario, AEMO do not refer to this MDFF field as the 
Registers can be determined from the CATS_Data_Stream 
table directly



 Accumulated DataStreams in CATS_DATA_STREAM table



 



Example of an Interval Meter ‘Suffix’ – Net DataStreams 



Field Code Changed











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 26 of 50 
 



CATS_REGISTER_IDEN TIFIER



 Suffix     E1    B1    Q1   
 K1 



CATS_DATA_STR EAM



 Electricity/
DataStreamSuffix      N1 



MDFF Specification (NEM12)



 MDMDataStreamIdentifier  
   N1 



MDFF Specification (NEM12)



 NMISuffix     E1    B1    Q1   
 K1 



CATS_REGISTER_IDEN TIFIER



 RegisterID     E1    B1   
 Q1    K1 



Referred to as  MDMContributorySuffix  in MDFF Specification prior to 1/7/21



In this scenario and in order to determine which registers contribute to the  Net    AEMO 
require this MDFF field to be mandatorily updated with standing data as populated in the 
CATS_Data_Stream table.   i.e.  Net 



In this scenario and where the content of the CATS_DATA_STREAM
 DataStreamSuffix   and MDFF Specification
 MDMDataStreamIdentifier  fields do not match,  AEMO will disregard any meter data sent 
and will estimate data for NEM Settlements.  Standing Data  Mismatches  will be reported in 
the RM39  Orphaned Reads  report. 



CATS_METER_REGISTER



 InstallationTypeCode     
 COMMS%    MRAM   
 MRIM    NONCUML   



 PROF    SAMPLE    UMCP   
 VICAMI 



In this scenario, this relationship 
defines the registers that 
contribute to the  N 



  Net  DataStreams in CATS_DATA_STREAM table



 



Example of an Interval Meter “Suffix” – Register Level DataStreams 



CATS_REGISTER_IDEN TIFIER



 Suffix     E1    B1    Q1   
 K1 



CATS_DATA_STR EAM



 Electricity/DataStreamSuffix    
 E1    B1    Q1    K1 



MDFF Specification (NEM12)



 MDMDataStreamIdentifier  
   E1    B1    Q1    K1 



MDFF Specification (NEM12)



 NMISuffix     E1    B1    Q1   
 K1 



CATS_REGISTER_IDEN TIFIER



 RegisterID     E1    B1   
 Q1    K1 



Referred to as  MDMContributorySuffix  in MDFF 
Specification prior to 1/7/21



In this scenario, AEMO do not refer to this MDFF field as the 
Registers can be determined from the CATS_Data_Stream 
table directly



CATS_METER_REGISTER



 InstallationTypeCode     
 COMMS%    MRAM   
 MRIM    NONCUML   



 PROF    SAMPLE    UMCP   
 VICAMI 



In this scenario,  this relationship 
creates a  link  between Standing 
Data & Meter Data



Register Level DataStreams in CATS_DATA_STREAM table



 



Note:  



• A record must be created in the  CATS_REGISTER_TABLE for each physical register within a meter 



• An ElectricityDataStream Suffix must be created for all individual DataStreams required for NEM 



Settlement calculations, profile peeloff, UFE analysis and Vic TUOS sites. 



The NMI Procedure includes the requirements for the use of a suffix to the NMI that identifies 



these Datastreams.  The DataStreamSuffix detailed in the NMI Procedure provides identification at 



the measurement element level for all Datastreams from the connection point identified by the 



NMI.  The DataStreamSuffix is commonly known as the NMISuffix.  The NMISuffix is labelled as 



‘Suffix’ in the Browser and is the ElectricityDataStream/Suffix data element in aseXML. 



The NMISuffix was first used in the NMI Procedure to describe, in conjunction with the NMI, the 



data transferred from the MDP to AEMO and Participants for settlements. The NMISuffix was 



further extended to describe Datastreams in MSATS, and numeric suffixes were developed to 



describe the data from type 6 metering installations. 



Field Code Changed



Field Code Changed











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 27 of 50 
 



In MSATS, the NMISuffix is used in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table to describe the data as 



delivered to AEMO. For settlements purposes this data must be ‘NET’ [Export from network, less 



import to network] and will be ‘Nx’ for an interval Datastream, or numeric for an Accumulation 



Meter. 



In MSATS release 2.0 a new table, CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER, was introduced to link identifiers 



for the source meter register(s) to the Datastream suffix in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. 



The purpose of the table is to enable the alignment of the data held in MSATS and the data being 



transferred between Participants in the B2B process. 



This link is achieved through the RegisterID (which describes the data source at the metering 



installation) and ElectricityDataStream/Suffix (which describes the NMISuffix to which the 



RegisterID contributes) data elements. This is a many-to-one relationship, i.e. there may be 



multiple RegisterID values for each ElectricityDataStream/Suffix value in the 



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table. 



• The RegisterID identifies the measurement element and type of measurement for an Interval 



Meter, and identifies the location of a stored energy value in an Accumulation Meter. 



• The ElectricityDataStream/Suffix value in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table identifies the 



Datastream registered in MSATS. For settlements purposes, Interval Meter Datastreams will be 



the NET suffix (format Nx) and for Accumulation Meter Datastreams the suffix value is numeric.  



MSATS requires data to be delivered against this suffix (if the Datastream is ACTIVE).  MSATS 



does not validate the values entered in this field. 



• The ElectricityDataStream/Suffix value in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table identifies the 



individual Datastream(s) contributing to the ElectricityDataStream/Suffix value in the 



CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. For interval Datastreams, the suffix(es) will indicate the 



individual Datastream(s) contributing to the Nx Suffix value in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



table where the DataStreamType is P or I (Refer section 14for examples). For accumulation 



Datastreams the value will be numeric and will be identical to the related Suffix value in the 



CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table (refer section 13 for examples). 



• The ElectricityDataStream/Suffix values used in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table are used 



to identify metering data contained in MDFF Files (in the NMISuffix field).  



• The linkage between the RegisterID and ElectricityDataStream/Suffix exists because the 



ElectricityDataStream/Suffix data element is populated in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table. 



• The RegisterID data element has no standard format; therefore, the MPB must determine the 



appropriate population of this field, e.g. it may be used to indicate the programming code of 



the register. 



There is an inconsistent understanding across industry of the meaning of the terms ‘register’ and 



‘datastream’. Conventionally, to field metering personnel, a ‘register’ contains a single value, while 



a ‘datastream’ represents an array of time separated register values in chronological order. 



For Accumulation Meters, the RegisterID refers to the non-volatile storage of the cumulative 



energy register(s). The RegisterID will have identification with the displays of the meters, or 



identification of internal data stores.  



For Accumulation Meters, the ElectricityDataStream/Suffix data element in the 



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table may have a many-to-one relationship with the 



ElectricityDataStream/Suffix data element in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table.  That is, the 



same Suffix may occur several times in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table and occur once only 



in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. 



For Interval Meters, the definition of the RegisterID field is less obvious. To make this field useful, 



the RegisterID should be associated with the ElectricityDataStream/Suffix. As Interval Meters may 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 28 of 50 
 



have multiple measurement elements and there may be multiple meters for a NMI, the MDP must 



manage Datastreams against a NMI to avoid duplication of ElectricityDataStream/Suffixes and 



provide correct mapping of RegisterIDs.  



13. ASSIGNMENT OF DATA – ACCUMULATION METERS 
 



This section details examples of the assignment of data for various basic metering installations.  For 



Accumulation Meters, the Suffix values in CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER and 



CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM tables are always numeric. 



13.1. Single Meter, no controlled load 
 



An Accumulation Meter with a single register measuring a Non-Controlled Load will have a single 



Datastream suffix 11 for the NMI. 



Table 14 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 



Value 0123456789 11 A C 



 



The CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table indicates that the meter has only one register. The Suffix in 



the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER ‘11’ denotes that data from RegisterID 01 contributes to the 



Datastream identified by Suffix 11 in CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. 



Table 15 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER  



Data Element: Serial 



Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 



Load 



Value ABCD1111 01 KWH ALLDAY 11 No 



 



The ElectricityDataStream Suffix in CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table will be recorded as ‘11’ by the 



MDP and the Suffix in CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table must then be ‘11’. 



13.2. Twp Single Element Meters, no controlled load 
 



The NMI has two Accumulation Meters, each meter with single register. The data from the two 



meters will be submitted to MSATS as two Datastreams. 



Table 16 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 



Values 0123456789 11 A C 



0123456789 12 A C 



Table 17 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 



Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 



Load 



Values ABCD1111 01 KWH ALLDAY 11 No 



XYZA1112 01 KWH ALLDAY 12 No 



 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 29 of 50 
 



13.3. Two Single Element Meters, one with controlled load 
 



A NMI has two Accumulation Meters, each meter has a single register, and one meter is measuring 



a Controlled Load. The data from the two meters is submitted to MSATS as two 



ElectricityDataSstream Suffixes.  



Table 18 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 



Values 0123456789 11 A C 



0123456789 42 A C 



Table 19 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 



Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 



Load 



Values 



 



ABCD1111 01 KWH TOTAL 11 No 



XYZA1112 01 KWH CL1 42 HWLoad 



13.4. One Meter with Two Registers, one measuring a controlled load 



NMI has one Accumulation Meter with two registers. The second register is measuring a 



Controlled Load. 



Table 20 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 



Values 0123456789 11 A C 



0123456789 41 A C 



Table 21 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 



Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 



Load 



Value 



 



ABCD1111 01 KWH PEAK 11 No 



ABCD1111 02 KWH CL1 41 HWLoad 



 



13.5. Single Multi-function Meter 
 



Accumulation Meter has 4 registers, one register being a Controlled Load. 



Table 22 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 



Values 



 



0123456789 11 A C 



0123456789 21 I C 



0123456789 31 A C 



0123456789 41 A C 



 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 30 of 50 
 



Each register is separately identified in CATS_NMI_Data_Stream. However, register 2 on meter 1 is 



inactive in MSATS., and therefore data is not accepted by MSATS for this Suffix. 



Table 23 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 



Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 



Load 



Values 



 



ABCD1111 01 KWH ALLDAY 11 No 



ABCD1111 02 KWH NOTUSED 21 No 



ABCD1111 03 KWH OFFPEAK 31 No 



ABCD1111 04 KWH CL1 41 HWLoad 



Note:  The meter may have register identification and therefore these numbers can be used in the 



table as RegisterID. 



13.6. Two meters, three registers. One register measures a controlled load 



Table 24 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 
 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 



Values 



 



0123456789 11 A C 



0123456789 21 A C 



0123456789 42 A C 



Table 25 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 



Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 



Load 



Values 



 



ABCD1111 01 KWH PEAK 11 No 



ABCD1111 02 KWH OFFPEAK 21 No 



XYZA1112 01 KWH CL1 42 HWLoad 



 



14. ASSIGNMENT OF DATA – INTERVAL METERS 
 



This section details examples of the assignment of data for various Interval Meters.   



14.1. One meter 



Table 26 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 
 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 



Value 0123456789 NE1 A I 



 



The CATS_Register_Identifier table indicates that the meter has only one register. The Suffix in the 



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER [E1] denotes that data from RegisterID 01 contributes to the 



ElectricityDatasStream  Suffix identified by Suffix NE1 in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. 



 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 31 of 50 
 



Table 27 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 



Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 



Value ABCD1111 0E1 KWH ALLDAY E1 



E1 indicates that it is a single element measuring export. 



 



14.2. Import/Export meter 
 



Interval Meter has a two registers, registering import and export energy.  Multiple 



ElectricityDataStream Suffixes (E1 and B1) are defined for the NMI.A single Datastream suffix N1 is 



defined for the NMI indicating a netting-off of export less import Datastreams for this connection 



point. 



Table 28 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 



Value 0123456789 NE1 A I 



Value 0123456789 B1 A I 



 



The CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table indicates that the meter has two registers, one for IMPORT 



and one for EXPORT. 



The Suffixes in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER denote that data from RegisterIDs ‘E1’ and ‘B1’ 



contribute toalign with the ElectricityDatasStream Suffixes identified by Suffix ‘N1’ in 



theCATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table.  That is, the Datastreams ‘E1’ and ‘B1’ supplied by the MDP to 



the FRMP for this meter have contributed to the Datastream N1 in MSATS. 



Table 29  Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 



Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 



Values ABCD1111 E1 KWH ALLDAY E1 



ABCD1111 B1 KWH ALLDAY B1 



Only one RegisterID with the Suffix ‘E1’ permitted per meter in CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER. 



Only one RegisterID with the Suffix ‘B1’ permitted per meter in CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER. 



The energy volumes for the Suffix ‘N1’ in CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM are calculated by N1 = E1 – B1. 



14.3. One meter: multiple registers 



Interval Meter has a single measurement element registering import and export energy, reactive 



and voltage. A single Datastream Suffix ‘N1’ is defined for the NMI indicating netting-off of all 



energy Datastreams for this connection point. 



Table 30 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 



Value 0123456789 NE1 A I 



Value 0123456789 B1 A I 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 32 of 50 
 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 



Value 0123456789 Q1 A N 



Value 0123456789 K1 A N 



The CATS_Register_Identifier table indicates that the meter has five registers: two for IMPORT of 



energy and reactive; two for EXPORT of energy and reactive; and one for voltage monitoring. 



The Suffixes in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER ‘N1’ denote that data from RegisterID ‘E1’ and ‘B1’ 



contribute to the Datastream identified by suffix N1 in CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM. 



Table 31 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 



Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 



Values ABCD1111 E1 KWH ALLDAY E1 



ABCD1111 B1 KWH ALLDAY B1 



ABCD1111 Q1 KVARH ALLDAY Q1 



ABCD1111 K1 KVARH ALLDAY K1 



ABCD1111 V1 VOLTS ALLDAY V1 



The energy volumes for the Suffix ‘N1’ is calculated by NET (E1 – B1). 



14.4. One meter: Twin Measurement Elements 
 



Certain multifunction meters have the capability for initial installation as an Accumulation Meter, 



but can be re-programmed to provide interval metering data.  



The NER do not permit the use of two different types of metering installation on the one NMI, and 



therefore these two metering functions MUST NOT be active simultaneously in MSATS. The MDP 



and MCRP will be held accountable for a breach of this requirement. 



The CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER can be used to record the meter capability. 



If this meter were configured as an Accumulation Meter in MSATS, the configuration might be as 



shown in the Tables 32 & 33. 



Table 32 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status 



Values 0123456789 N1 I 



0123456789 N2 I 



0123456789 11 A 



0123456789 21 A 



0123456789 31 A 



0123456789 41 A 



Table 33 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 



Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 



Values AB888888 E1 KWH ALLDAY null 



AB888888 E2 KWH ALLDAY null 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 33 of 50 
 



Data Element: Serial 



Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 



AB888888 25 KWH PEAK 11 



AB888888 26 KWH SHOULDER 21 



AB888888 35 KWH OFFPEAK 31 



AB888888 36 KWH CL1 41 



 



The CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table values for this meter when it is operated as an Interval 



Meter are shown below. The RegisterID for the Accumulation Meter registers in this type of meter 



are user defined. The Interval Meter suffixes must be added to the NMI and made active, and the 



basic Suffixes made inactive at the same date. 



Table 34Table 32 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 
 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 



Values 0123456789 NE1 A I 



0123456789 NE2 A I 



0123456789 11 I C 



0123456789 21 I C 



0123456789 31 I C 



0123456789 41 I C 



 



Table 35Table 33 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 



Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 



Values AB888888 E1 KWH ALLDAY E1 



AB888888 E2 KWH ALLDAY E2 



AB888888 2511 KWH PEAK null11 



AB888888 2621 KWH OFFPEAK null21 



AB888888 3531 KWH PEAK null31 



AB888888 3641 KWH OFFPEAK null41 



If a second meter of the same configuration were established on this NMI, ‘E3’ and ‘E4’ RegisterIDs 



in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table and ElectricityDataStream Suffixes in the 



CATS_DATA_STREAM table would be required in order for the Datastreams to provide MDPs and 



retailers with unambiguous identification of Datastreams. 



14.5. NCONUML and UMCP 
 



Table 34 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 
 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 



Values 1144885588 E1 A I 



 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 34 of 50 
 



Table 35 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 



Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 



Values Dummy E1 KWH ALLDAY E1 



 



15. ASSIGNMENTS OF DATA – SAMPLE METERS  
 



The application of profiles in accordance with the Metrology Procedure requires interval metering 



data from Sites that have Accumulation Metering. However, the NER do not permit different 



metering installation types on the one NMI, and in any case, the Participants associated with the 



interval metering data are different to those associated with the Accumulation Meter.  Therefore, 



for these connection points, two different NMIs are used. 



There are meters that can combine the required Accumulation Metering and Interval Metering 



functions.  An example is shown below. 



15.1. Multifunction Sample Meter 
 



In this case, a single meter is registered within MSATS for two purposes against two NMIs. This is a 



special case, and should not be used other than for this non-standard purpose.  The meter has two 



circuits, with Accumulation Metering for energy trading and Interval Metering for the sample 



profile. 



In this example, NMI 9801234567 is associated with the sample meter installation and NMI 



9876543210 with the End User installation. 



Table 36 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 
 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 



Values 9801234567 NE1 A P 



9876543210 11 I C 



9876543210 12 I C 



9876543210 41 A C 



 



Table 37 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: NMI MeterSerial RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 



Values 9801234567 AB888888 E1 KWH ALLDAY E1 



9876543210 AB888888 11 KWH PEAK 11null 



9876543210 AB888888 12 KWH OFFPEAK 12null 



9876543210 AB888888 41 KWH CL1 41 



 



Note: Suffix ‘11/12’ have a Status of ‘I’ for 1st Tier and ‘A’ for 2nd Tier. 



First tier metering data is not required for AEMO to settle the market.  



Controlled Load data for first tier and second tier is required by AEMO to settle the market. 



In this example, once the End User’s Site becomes a Tier 2 Site, all three basic Datastreams need to 



become active (StreamStatusCode = A). 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 35 of 50 
 



16. CROSS REFERENCE OF BROWSER AND ASEXML DATA ELEMENTS 
 



The tables below list the names that are used in the MSATS browser for each of the MSATS tables 



detailed in sections 4 to 10.  The table also provides the aseXML data element names and the 



respective formats used in each context.   



In some cases, such as date fields, the format of the field is shown differently in the Browser to that 



used in the related aseXML transactions.  Also, aseXML uses full words throughout, rather than the 



coded values used in the Browser.   



Refer section 17 for examples of the typical data element values as shown in the Browser.  Section 



18 provides definitions of the Browser formats shown in this section. 



Table 38 CATS_Meter_Register 



Browser Field Name aseXML Data Element 



Name 



aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data 



Type 



Additional Site 



Information 



AdditionalSiteInformat



ion 



ElectricityMeter/ 



AdditionalSiteInformation 



VARCHAR2(100) xsd:string 



maxLen = 100 



Asset Management 



Plan 



AssetManagementPla



n 



ElectricityMeter/AssetManageme



nt 



Plan 



VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 



maxLen = 50 



Calibration Tables CalibrationTables ElectricityMeter/CalibrationTables VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 



maxLen = 50 



Communication 



Equipment Type 



Communications 



EquipmentType 



ElectricityMeter/Communications 



EquipmentType 



VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 



maxLen = 4 



Communication 



Protocol 



CommunicationsProto



col 



ElectricityMeter/Communications 



Protocol 



VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 



maxLen = 50 



Data Conversion DataConversion ElectricityMeter/DataConversion VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 



maxLen = 50 



Data Validations DataValidations ElectricityMeter/DataValidations VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 



maxLen = 50 



Estimation Instruction EstimationInstructions ElectricityMeter/Estimation 



Instructions 



VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 



maxLen = 50 



Last Test Date LastTestDate ElectricityMeter/LastTestDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:date 



Measurement Type MeasurementType ElectricityMeter/MeasurementTyp



e 



VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 



maxLen = 4 



Meter Constant Constant ElectricityMeter/Constant VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 



maxLen = 12 



Meter Hazard Hazard ElectricityMeter/Hazard VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 



maxLen = 12 



Meter Installation Type 



Code 



InstallationTypeCode ElectricityMeter/InstallationType 



Code 



VARCHAR2(8) xsd:string 



maxLen = 8 



Meter Location Location ElectricityMeter/Location VARCHAR2(50) 



See AddlSiteInfo 



(above) 



xsd:string 



maxLen = 50 



Meter Manufacturer Manufacturer ElectricityMeter/Manufacturer VARCHAR2(15) xsd:string 



maxLen = 15 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 36 of 50 
 



Meter Model Model ElectricityMeter/Model VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 



maxLen = 12 



Meter Point Point ElectricityMeter/Point VARCHAR(2) xsd:string 



maxLen = 2 



Meter Program Program ElectricityMeter/Program VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string 



maxLen = 30 



Meter Read Type ReadTypeCode ElectricityMeter/ReadTypeCode VARCHAR(4) xsd:string 



maxLen = 4 



Meter Route Route ElectricityMeter/Route VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 



maxLen = 12 



Meter Serial ID 



Meter ID 



(Different on two 



screens) 



SerialNumber ElectricityMeter/SerialNumber VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 



maxLen = 12 



Status Code Status ElectricityMeter/Status CHAR(1) xsd:string 



with 



enumeration 



Meter Use Use ElectricityMeter/Use VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 



maxLen = 10 



Next Scheduled Read 



Date 



NextScheduled 



ReadDate 



ElectricityMeter/NextScheduled 



ReadDate 



dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:date 



Next Test Date NextTestDate ElectricityMeter/NextTestDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:date 



NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 



maxLen = 10 



Passwords Password ElectricityMeter/Password VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 



maxLen = 20 



Remote Phone 



Number 



RemotePhoneNumber ElectricityMeter/RemotePhone 



Number 



VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 



maxLen = 12 



Test & Calibration 



Program 



TestCalibrationProgra



m 



ElectricityMeter/TestCalibration 



Program 



VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 



maxLen = 50 



Test Performed By TestPerformedBy ElectricityMeter/TestPerformedBy VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 



maxLen = 20 



Test Result Accuracy TestResultAccuracy ElectricityMeter/TestResultAccura



cy 



NUMBER(8,5) xsd:decimal 



totdig = 8 



fracdig = 5 



Test Result Notes TestResultNotes ElectricityMeter/TestResultNotes VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 



maxLen = 50 



Transformer Location TransformerLocation ElectricityMeter/Transformer 



Location 



VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string 



maxLen = 30 



Transformer Ratio TransformerRatio ElectricityMeter/TransformerRatio VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 



maxLen = 20 



Transformer Type TransformerType ElectricityMeter/TransformerType VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 



maxLen = 20 



User Access Rights UserAccessRights ElectricityMeter/UserAccessRights VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 



maxLen = 50 



Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 37 of 50 
 



 



End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 



(summary screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy 



hh:mm:ss 



(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 



(summary screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy 



hh:mm:ss 



(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 



with 



enumeration 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 38 of 50 
 



Table 39 CATS_DLF_Codes 



 



Table 40 CATS_Emb_Net_ID_Codes 



Browser Field 



Name 



aseXML Data Element 



Name 



aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data 



Type 



DLF Code DistributionLossFactorC



ode 



DistributionLossFactorCode VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 



maxLen = 4 



Description DistributionLossFactorD



escription 



DistributionLossFactorDescription VARCHAR2(50 xsd:string 



maxLen = 50 



DLF Value DistributionLossFactorV



alue 



DistributionLossFactorValue NUMBER(6,5) xsd:decimal 



minIncl = 0 



maxIncl = 2 



totdig = 6 



fracdig = 5 



Jurisdiction JurisdictionCode ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/



JurisdictionCode 



VARCHAR2(3) xsd:string 



maxLen = 3 



Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 



with 



enumeration 



Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 



(summary screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy 



hh:mm:ss 



(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



 CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 



(summary screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy 



hh:mm:ss 



(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Browser Field 



Name 



aseXML Data Element 



Name 



aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data 



Type 



Code EmbeddedNetworkIdentif



ier 



EmbeddedNetworkIdentifier VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 



maxLen = 10 



Description EmbeddedNetworkDescri



ption 



EmbeddedNetworkDescription VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 



maxLen = 50 



Locality/Suburb SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A



ddress/AustralianAddress/SuburbOrPl



aceOrLocality 



VARCHAR2(46) xsd:string 



maxLen = 46 



Postcode PostCode ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A



ddress/AustralianAddress/PostCode 



VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 



pattern: 



[\p{N}]{4} 



State StateOrTerritory ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A



ddress/AustralianAddress/StateOrTerr



itory 



VARCHAR2(3) xsd:string  



with 



enumerations 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 39 of 50 
 



 



Table 41 CATS_NMI_Data 



Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 



with 



enumeration 



Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 



(summary screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy 



hh:mm:ss 



(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



 CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 



(summary screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy 



hh:mm:ss 



(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Browser Field 



Name 



aseXML Data Element 



Name 



aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data 



Type 



NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 



maxLen = 10 



NMI 



Classification 



Code 



NMIClassificationCode ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/ 



NMIClassificationCode 



VARCHAR2(8) xsd:string 



maxLen = 8 



Status Code Status ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/Sta



tus 



CHAR(1) xsd:string 



maxLen = 1 



TNI Code TransmissionNodeIdentifi



er 



ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/Tra



nsmissionNodeIdentifier 



VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 



maxLen = 4 



Jurisdiction 



Code 



JurisdictionCode JurisdictionCode VARCHAR2(3) xsd:string 



maxLen = 3 



DLF Code DistributionLossFactorCo



de 



ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/Dis



tributionLossFactorCode 



VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 



maxLen = 4 



Embedded 



Network ID 



(Child) 



ChildEmbeddedNetworkI



dentifier 



ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/Chi



ldEmbeddedNetworkIdentifier 



VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 



maxLen = 10 



Embedded 



Network 



(Parent) 



ParentEmbeddedNetwor



kIdentifier 



ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/Par



entEmbeddedNetworkIdentifier 



VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 



maxLen = 10 



Building / 



Property Name 



BuildingOrPropertyName ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad



dress/AustralianAddress/StructuredAdd



ress/BuildingOrPropertyName 



VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string 



maxLen = 30 



x 2 



Lot Number LotNumber ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/ 



Address/AustralianAddress/Structured



Address/Lot/LotNumber 



VARCHAR2(6) xsd:string 



pattern: 



[\p{L}\p{N}\p{P



}\s]{1,6} 



Flat/Unit 



Number 



FlatOrUnitNumber ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad



dress/AustralianAddress/StructuredAdd



ress/FlatOrUnit/FlatOrUnitNumber 



VARCHAR2(7) xsd:string 



pattern: 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 40 of 50 
 



[\p{L}\p{N}\p{P



}\s]{1,7} 



Flat/Unit Type FlatOrUnitType ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad



dress/AustralianAddress/StructuredAdd



ress/FlatOrUnit/FlatOrUnitType 



VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string with 



enumerations 



Floor/Level 



Number 



FloorOrLevelNumber ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad



dress/AustralianAddress/StructuredAdd



ress/FloorOrLevel/FloorOrLevelNumber 



VARCHAR2(5) xsd:string 



[\p{L}\p{N}\p{P



}\s]{1,5} 



Floor/Level Type FloorOrLevelType ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad



dress/AustralianAddress/StructuredAdd



ress/FloorOrLevel/FloorOrLevelType 



VARCHAR2(2) xsd:string with 



enumerations 



House Number HouseNumber ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad



dress/AustralianAddress/StructuredAdd



ress/House/HouseNumber 



NUMBER(5) xsd:nonNegati



veInteger 



maxIncl = 



99999 



House Number 



Suffix 



HouseNumberSuffix ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad



dress/AustralianAddress/ 



StructuredAddress/House/HouseNumb



erSuffix 



VARCHAR2(1) xsd:string 



pattern: 



[\p{L}\p{N}]{1} 



Street Name StreetName ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad



dress/AustralianAddress/ 



StructuredAddress/Street/StreetName 



VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string 



pattern: 



[\p{L}\p{N}\s\-



']{1,30} 



Street Name 



Suffix 



StreetSuffix ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad



dress/AustralianAddress/ 



StructuredAddress/Street/StreetSuffix 



VARCHAR2(2) xsd:string with 



enumerations 



Street Type StreetType ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad



dress/AustralianAddress/ 



StructuredAddress/Street/StreetType 



VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string with 



enumerations 



Suburb/Locality SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad



dress/AustralianAddress/ 



SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality 



VARCHAR2(46) xsd:string 



maxLen = 46 



Location 



Descriptor 



LocationDescriptor ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad



dress/AustralianAddress/ 



StructuredAddress/LocationDescriptor 



VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string 



pattern: 



[\p{L}\p{N}\p{P



}\s]{1,30 



Postcode PostCode ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad



dress/AustralianAddress/ 



PostCode 



VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 



pattern: 



[\p{N}]{4} 



State StateOrTerritory ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad



dress/AustralianAddress/StateOrTerrito



ry 



VARCHAR2(3) xsd:string  



with 



enumerations 



DPID DeliveryPointIdentifier ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad



dress/AustralianAddress/ 



StructuredAddress/DeliveryPointIdentifi



er 



NUMBER(8) xsd:nonNegati



veInteger 



minIncl = 



10000000 



maxIncl = 



99999999 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 41 of 50 
 



Unstructured 



Address 



AddressLine ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad



dress/AustralianAddress/ 



UnstructuredAddress/Address/Address



Line 



VARCHAR2(80) xsd:string 



maxLen = 80 



x 3 



Aggregate Flag Aggregate ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/Ag



gregate 



CHAR(1) xsd:string 



with 



enumeration 



Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 



(summary screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy 



hh:mm:ss 



(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 



(summary screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy 



hh:mm:ss 



(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 



with 



enumeration 



Feeder Class Feeder Class ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/Fe



ederClass 



VARCHAR2(15) xsd:string 



maxLen = 15 



Customer 



Classification 



Code 



CustomerClassificationCo



de 



ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/Cu



stomerClassificationCode 



VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 



maxLen = 20 



Customer 



Classification 



Threshold Code 



CustomerThresholdCode ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/Cu



stomerThresholdCode 



VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 



maxLen = 20 



NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 



maxLen = 10 



Suffix Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Suffix VARCHAR2(2) xsd:string 



maxLen = 2 



Status Code Status ElectricityDataStream/Status CHAR(1) xsd:string 



maxLen = 1 



Average Daily 



Load 



AveragedDailyLoad ElectricityDataStream/AveragedDailyLo



ad 



NUMBER(10) xsd:integer 



Type DataStreamType ElectricityDataStream/DataStreamType CHAR(1) xsd:string 



with 



enumeration 



Profile Name ProfileName ElectricityDataStream/ProfileName VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 



maxLen = 10 



Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 



(summary screen) 



xsd:dateTime 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 42 of 50 
 



 



Table 42 CATS_Register_Identifier 



dd-mmm-yyyy 



hh:mm:ss 



(detail screen) 



Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 



(summary screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy 



hh:mm:ss 



(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 



with 



enumeration 



Browser Field Name aseXML Data 



Element Name 



aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data 



Type 



NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 



maxLen = 10 



Meter Serial ID 



Meter ID 



(Different on two 



screens) 



SerialNumber SerialNumber VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 



maxLen = 12 



Register ID RegisterID ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/R



egisterID 



VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 



maxLen = 10 



Network Tariff Code NetworkTariffCode ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/N



etworkTariffCode 



VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 



maxLen = 10 



Network Tariff 



Additional Information 



NetworkAdditional 



Information 



ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/ 



NetworkAdditionalInformation 



VARCHAR2(4000) xsd:string 



Unit of Measure UnitOfMeasure ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/ 



UnitOfMeasure 



VARCHAR2(5) xsd:string 



maxLen = 5 



Time of Day TimeOfDay ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/ 



TimeOfDay 



VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 



maxLen = 10 



Multiplier Multiplier ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/M



ultiplier 



Number(13,5) xsd:decimal 



Dial Format DialFormat ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/D



ialFormat 



Number(4,2) xsd:decimal 



minIncl = 0 



maxIncl = 99.99 



totdig = 4 



fracdig = 2 



Suffix Suffix ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/S



uffix 



VARCHAR2(2) xsd:string 



maxLen = 2 



Controlled Load ControlledLoad ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/C



ontrolledLoad 



VARCHAR2(100) xsd:string 



maxLen = 100 



Status Code Status ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/ 



Status 



CHAR(1) xsd:string 



with 



enumeration 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 43 of 50 
 



Table 43 CATS_NMI_Participant_Relations 



 



Actual/Cumulative 



Indicator 



ConsumptionType ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/C



onsumptionType 



CHAR(1) xsd:string 



with 



enumeration 



Demand 1 Demand1 ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/D



emand1 



Number(8) xsd:integer 



totdig = 8 



Demand 2 Demand2 ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/D



emand2 



Number(8) xsd:integer 



totdig = 8 



Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 



(summary screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy 



hh:mm:ss 



(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 



(summary screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy 



hh:mm:ss 



(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 



with 



enumeration 



Browser Field Name aseXML Data Element 



Name 



aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data Type 



Participant ID Party Party VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 



NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 



maxLen = 10 



Role Role Role VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 



maxLen = 4 



Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 



(summary screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy 



hh:mm:ss 



(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 



(summary screen) 



dd-mmm-yyyy 



hh:mm:ss 



(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 



with enumeration 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 44 of 50 
 



17. EXAMPLES OF TYPICAL FIELD VALUES 
 



This section provides examples of typical sets of data element values associated with different 



types of connection points.   



The data shown in each example is as shown in the Browser.  This reverses the sequence of the 



day-month-year communicated via aseXML transactions. 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 45 of 50 
 



Table 44 CATS_Meter_Register 



Data Element Name  



(as it appears in XML 



documents) 



Browser Field Name(as it appears 



in MSATS Browser) 



Basic Example Interval Example Data Element Name 



AdditionalSiteInformation Additional Site Information MTR ON SITE AT 17B Red Rooster AdditionalSiteInformation 



AssetManagementPlan Asset Management Plan CITIPOWER METER MANAGEMENT 



PLAN 



PER CE DOC: TYPES 1-4 ASSET 



MANAGEMENT & TEST PLAN 



AssetManagementPlan 



CalibrationTables Calibration Tables Q  CalibrationTables 



CommunicationsEquipment 



Type 



Communication Equipment Type FACE 96 CommunicationsEquipmentType 



CommunicationsProtocol Communication Protocol NA EMAIL MINI GATEWAY S/N SU121 



MV90 2 TBD TBD 



CommunicationsProtocol 



DataConversion Data Conversion .0005 .0005 DataConversion 



DataValidations Data Validations As per Metrology Procedure Part B As per Metrology Procedure Part B DataValidations 



EstimationInstructions Estimation Instruction As per Metrology Procedure Part B 



(TYPES -61, 62, 65) 



As per Metrology Procedure Part B 



(TYPES -14) 



EstimationInstructions 



LastTestDate Last Test Date 07-05-2004 07-03-2004 LastTestDate 



MeasurementType Measurement Type EQ EQ MeasurementType 



Constant Meter Constant 40 .5 Constant 



Hazard Meter Hazard  Asbestos Hazard 



InstallationTypeCode Meter Installation Type Code BASIC COMMS4 InstallationTypeCode 



Location Meter Location ON SUB POLE BEHIND DOOR Location 



Manufacturer Meter Manufacturer EMAIL EDMI Manufacturer 



Model Meter Model Q3 Q4 Model 



Point Meter Point 01 01 Point 



Program Meter Program 30 - NP 3.2 CT FACE PLATE READ 10- AE CT kVAR 9600 Program 



ReadTypeCode Meter Read Type MV3 RTD ReadTypeCode 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 46 of 50 
 



Route Meter Route 11618 1305 Route 



SerialNumber Meter Serial ID, Meter ID 



(Different on two screens) 



525811 201000299 SerialNumber 



Status Status Code C C Status 



Use Meter Use REVENUE REVENUE Use 



NextScheduledReadDate Next Scheduled Read Date 04-10-2006  NextScheduledReadDate 



NextTestDate Next Test Date 17-05-2004 10-05-2004 NextTestDate 



NMI NMI 1122334455 1122334455 NMI 



Password Passwords 12345 12345 Password 



RemotePhoneNumber Remote Phone Number FACE READ 0555 825 987 RemotePhoneNumber 



TestCalibrationProgram Test & Calibration Program AS PER AS/NZ 1284 AS PER AS/NZ 1284 TestCalibrationProgram 



TestPerformedBy Test Performed By Ron Sargeant SMU TestPerformedBy 



TestResultAccuracy Test Result Accuracy -0.20000 -0.11000 TestResultAccuracy 



TestResultNotes Test Result Notes CHECK AND RESEAL    METER METER TEST CORRECT TestResultNotes 



TransformerLocation Transformer Location  REAR OFBUILDING TransformerLocation 



TransformerRatio Transformer Ratio  1500/5 TransformerRatio 



TransformerType Transformer Type  24 WIRE WOUND TransformerType 



UserAccessRights User Access Rights AS PER AS/NZ 1284 MDP ONLY ACCESS UserAccessRights 



FromDate Start Date 14-03-1990 16-03-2002 FromDate 



ToDate End Date 31-12-9999 18-07-2006 ToDate 



MaintenanceDate Updated On 31-12-999 00:00:00 31-12-999 00:00:00 MaintenanceDate 



CreationDate Created On 19-03-1990 00:01:00 18-03-2002 00:01:00 CreationDate 



RowStatus Activity Status A A RowStatus 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 47 of 50 
 



Table 45 CATS_DLF_Codes 



 



Table 46 CATS_Emb_Net_ID_Codes 



 



 



Table 47 CATS_NMI_Data 



Data Element Name  Browser Field Name  Basic & Interval Example 



DistributionLossFactorCode DLF Code NHV1 



DistributionLossFactorDescription Description UMPLP - High Voltage 



DistributionLossFactorValue [The actual DLF value] 1.11111 



JurisdictionCode Jurisdiction Code SA 



RowStatus Activity Status A 



FromDate Start Date 01-07-1999 



ToDate End Date 30-06-2000 



MaintenanceDate Updated On 31-05-2000 00:30:27 



CreationDate  01-06-1999 00:23:32 



Data Element Name Browser Field Name Basic & Basic Example 



EmbeddedNetworkIdentifier Code SE01008111 



EmbeddedNetworkDescription Description Kingston-On-Murray Caravan Park 



SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality Suburb / Locality Kingston-On-Murray 



PostCode Postcode 5331 



StateOrTerritory State SA 



RowStatus Activity Status A 



FromDate Start Date 05-04-2003 



ToDate End Date 31-12-9999 



MaintenanceDate Updated On 31-12-9999 



CreationDate  01-04-2003 13:23:35 



Data Element Name Browser Field Name Basic Example Interval Example 



NMI NMI 122334451 1122334455 



NMIClassificationCode NMI Classification Code SMALL LARGE 



MasterData/Status Status Code A G 



TransmissionNodeIdentifier TNI Code NRGE SBER 



JurisdictionCode Jurisdiction Code NSW SA 



DistributionLossFactorCode DLF Code NRGE NLV2 



ChildEmbeddedNetworkIdentifier Embedded Network ID (Child) NS01008111 SE01008111 



ParentEmbeddedNetworkIdentifier Embedded Network 



(Parent) 



NS01008111 SE01008111 



BuildingOrPropertyName Building / Property Name BP SHELL 



LotNumber Lot Number 22 23 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 48 of 50 
 



 



Table 48 CATS_NMI_Data_Stream 



FlatOrUnitNumber Flat/Unit Number 1 2 



FlatOrUnitType Flat/Unit Type U U 



FloorOrLevelNumber Flat/Unit Number 1 1 



FloorOrLevelType Floor/Level Type FL FL 



HouseNumber House Number 6 10 



HouseNumberSuffix House Number Suffix A B 



StreetName Street Name BORIS DORIS 



StreetSuffix Street Name Suffix N W 



StreetType Street Type DR ST 



SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality Suburb/Locality ORANGE LOXTON 



LocationDescriptor Location Descriptor CNR FRED ST SHELL SERVICE 



STATION 



PostCode Postcode 2211 5333 



StateOrTerritory State NSW SA 



DeliveryPointIdentifier DPID 01234567 12345678 



AddressLine Unstructured Address 1 Text Text 



AddressLine Unstructured Address 2 Text Text 



AddressLine Unstructured Address 3 Text Text 



Aggregate Aggregate Flag Y Y 



FromDate Start Date 01-06-2004 01-06-2001 



ToDate End Date 31-12-9999 01-01-2003 



MaintenanceDate  Updated On 31-12-9999 



00:00:00 



05-01-2003 00:01:00 



CreationDate Created On 04-01-2004 



09:31:00 



01-06-2001 00:01:00 



RowStatus Activity Status A A 



FeederClass Feeder Class ERGUD ERGUD 



Customer ClassificationCode Customer Classification RESIDENTIAL BUSINESS 



CustomerThresholdCode Customer Threshold LOW HIGH 



Data Element Name Browser Field Name Basic Example Interval Example 



NMI NMI 1100445566 2211335544 



ElectricityDataStream/Suffix Suffix 31 NE1 



ElectricityDataStream/Status Status Code A A 



ElectricityDataStream/ 



AveragedDailyLoad 



Average Daily Load 5 800 



ElectricityDataStream/ 



DataStreamType 



Type C I 



ElectricityDataStream/ 



ProfileName 



Profile Name NSLP NOPROF 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 49 of 50 
 



 



Table 49 CATS_Register_Identifier 



 



18. DATA TYPE CONVENTIONS 
 



The Browser formats used in section 16 are as defined in the following table.  



The value of “x” must be positive and cannot be zero.  



For explanation of the aseXML data types shown in section 16 refer  



http://www.w3.org/TR/xmlschema-0/#simpleTypesTable  



 



Table: Browser Formats 



FromDate Start Date 31-12-2001 01-06-2005 



ToDate End Date 31-12-9999 31-12-9999 



MaintenanceDate Updated On 02-01-2004 13:27:58 31-12-9999 



CreationDate Created On 19-01-2002 17:15:23 05-06-2005 15:12:20 



RowStatus  Activity Status I A 



Data Element Name Browser Field Name Basic Example Interval Example 



NMI NMI 1100445566 2211335544 



SerialNumber Meter Serial ID 



Meter ID 



(Different on two screens) 



000012345 112258 



RegisterID Register ID 1 E1 



NetworkTariffCode Network Tariff Code BLNB2CO MB2RI 



NetworkAdditionalInformation Network Tariff Additional 



Information 



General Supply Non 



TOU Eligible 



LV TOU Demand Eligible 



UnitOfMeasure Unit of Measure KWH KWH 



TimeOfDay Time of Day ALLDAY ALLDAY 



Multiplier Multiplier 1.00000 120.00000 



DialFormat Dial Format 5.00 5.10 



Suffix Suffix 11 E1 



ControlledLoad Controlled Load  HWLoad No 



Status Status Code C C 



ConsumptionType Actual/Cumulative Indicator C A 



Demand1 Demand 1 0 0 



Demand2 Demand 2 0 0 



FromDate Start Date 01-08-2004 01-06-2005 



ToDate End Date 31-12-9999 31-12-9999 



MaintenanceDate Updated On 31-12-9999 31-12-9999 



CreationDate  Created On 01-11-2005 22:30:30 05-06-2005 09:09:09 



RowStatus Activity Status A A 





http://www.w3.org/TR/xmlschema-0/#simpleTypesTable








STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 20221 December 2017 Page 50 of 50 
 



 



 



 Format Definition 



1 CHAR(x) Indicates a field that can only contain alphanumeric characters and must contain 



exactly "x" characters.  Note that leading and trailing "spaces" are considered 



significant (i.e. form part of the "x" characters for the field). 



2 VARCHAR2(x) Indicates a character field containing up to "x" characters. 



3 NUMBER(x) Indicates a positive integer (zero or above) up to "x" significant digits long; any 



leading zeroes are not significant and hence "050" is equivalent to "50". 



4 NUMBER(x.y) Indicates a positive number with up to "x" significant characters to the left of the 



decimal point and "y" decimal places after the decimal point (trailing zeros are 



optional).  In other words, the maximum length of the field as a whole is "x"+"y"+1 



characters (the +1 reserving space for the decimal point).  










image5.emf

Standing Data for 


MSATS Final Clean (v5.0).pdf




Standing Data for MSATS Final Clean (v5.0).pdf




 



 



 



 



 



Australian Energy Market Operator Ltd    ABN 94 072 010 327 www.aemo.com.au    info@aemo.com.au 



NEW SOUTH WALES QUEENSLAND SOUTH AUSTRALIA VICTORIA AUSTRALIAN CAPITAL TERRITORY TASMANIA WESTERN AUSTRALIA 



STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



 



 



PREPARED BY: AEMO Markets 



DOCUMENT REF:  



VERSION: 5.0 



EFFECTIVE DATE: 6 February 2022 



STATUS: Final 



  



Approved for distribution and use by: 



APPROVED BY: Peter Geers 



TITLE: Chief Strategy and Markets Officer 



  



DATE: 15 November 2019 



 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 2 of 55 
 



VERSION RELEASE HISTORY 



Version  Effective Date Summary of Changes 



4.0 Aug 2009 Update to AEMO Format. 



4.1 19/04/2012 Updates to NMI Data tables to include Feeder Class, Customer Classification Code 
& Customer Threshold Code and minor data corrections. 



4.2  28/08/2013 Updated wording for Nx suffixes in sections 8, 9 and 12. 
Updated reference to the CATS Procedures for Embedded Networks in section 7. 
Added new data stream type codes under section 11: Reference Tables. 
Updated reference to the NEM Metrology Procedures in section 15. 



4.3 1 December 2017 Updated to incorporate:   
• National Electricity Amendment (Expanding competition in metering and 



related services) Rule 2015. No.12; 
• National Electricity Amendment (Embedded Networks) Rule 2015 No. 15; and 
• National Electricity Amendment (Meter Replacement Processes) Rule 2016 No. 



2. 



4.4 1 December 2017 Final Version. 



5.0 6 February 2022 Updated to incorporate amendments for National Electricity Amendment (Global 
Settlement and Market Reconcilliation) Rule 2018 No 14. 



 



 



 



 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 3 of 55 
 



CONTENTS 



1. INTRODUCTION 6 
1.1. Purpose and scope 6 
1.2. Definitions and interpretation 6 
1.3. Related documents 6 



2. BACKGROUND 6 



3. CONVENTIONS USED WITHIN THIS DOCUMENT 7 
3.1. Column Headed: Standing Data Required 7 
3.2. NMIs Affected 7 



4. CATS_METER_REGISTER 9 
4.1. Field definitions 9 
4.2. Cross Reference of Browser and aseXML Data Elements 12 
4.3. Field value examples 15 



5. CATS_DLF_CODES 18 
5.1. Field definitions 18 
5.2. Cross Reference of Browser and aseXML Data Elements 19 
5.3. Field value examples 19 



6. CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES 21 
6.1. Field definitions 21 
6.2. Cross Reference of Browser and aseXML Data Elements 22 
6.3. Field value examples 22 



7. CATS_NMI_DATA 24 
7.1. Field definitions 24 
7.2. Cross Reference of Browser and aseXML Data Elements 26 
7.3. Field value examples 29 



8. CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 32 
8.1. Field definitions 32 
8.2. Cross Reference of Browser and aseXML Data Elements 33 
8.3. Field value examples 34 



9. CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 36 
9.1. Field definitions 36 
9.2. Cross Reference of Browser and aseXML Data Elements 38 
9.3. Field value examples 40 



10. CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 41 
10.1. Field definitions 41 
10.2. Cross Reference of Browser and aseXML Data Elements 41 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 4 of 55 
 



11. REFERENCE TABLES 43 



12. USE OF NMI SUFFIX TO POPULATE CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 45 



13. ASSIGNMENT OF DATA – ACCUMULATION METERS 48 
13.1. Single Meter, no controlled load 48 
13.2. Two Single Element Meters, no controlled load 48 
13.3. Two Single Element Meters, one with controlled load 49 
13.4. One Meter with Two Registers, one measuring a controlled load 49 
13.5. Single Multi-function Meter 49 
13.6. Two meters, three registers. One register measures a controlled load 50 



14. ASSIGNMENT OF DATA – INTERVAL METERS 51 
14.1. One meter 51 
14.2. Import/Export meter 51 
14.3. One meter: multiple registers 52 
14.4. One meter: Twin Measurement Elements 52 
14.5. NCONUML and UMCP 53 



15. ASSIGNMENTS OF DATA – SAMPLE METERS 54 
15.1. Multifunction Sample Meter 54 



16. DATA TYPE CONVENTIONS 55 
 



TABLES 



Table 1 MSATS Master Tables ................................................................................................................ 6 
Table 2 Explanation of Standing Data Requirements .............................................................................. 7 
Table 3 CATS_METER_REGISTER - Field definitions ................................................................................. 9 
Table 4 CATS_METER_REGISTER – Browser cross refernce .................................................................... 12 
Table 5 CATS_METER_REGISTER - Examples ......................................................................................... 15 
Table 6 CATS_DLF_CODES- Field definitions ......................................................................................... 18 
Table 7 CATS_DLF_CODES- - Browser cross reference .......................................................................... 19 
Table 8 CATS_DLF_CODES- Examples ................................................................................................... 20 
Table 9 CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES- Field definition ............................................................................ 21 
Table 10 CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES- Browser ....................................................................................... 22 
Table 11 CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES- Example ...................................................................................... 23 
Table 12 CATS_NMI_DATA- Field definitions .......................................................................................... 24 
Table 13 CATS_NMI_DATA- Browser cross reference .............................................................................. 27 
Table 14 CATS_NMI_DATA- Examples .................................................................................................... 30 
Table 15 CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM- Field definitions............................................................................ 32 
Table 16 CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM- Browser cross reference ............................................................... 34 
Table 17 CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM- Example ....................................................................................... 34 
Table 18 CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER- Field definitions .......................................................................... 36 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 5 of 55 
 



Table 19 CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER- Browser cross reference ............................................................. 38 
Table 20 CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER- Examples .................................................................................... 40 
Table 21 CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS- Field definitions........................................................... 41 
Table 22 CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS- Browser....................................................................... 42 
Table 23 Valid Aggregate Codes ............................................................................................................ 43 
Table 24 Valid Consumption Type Codes ............................................................................................... 43 
Table 25 Valid Datastream Type Codes .................................................................................................. 43 
Table 26 Valid Profile Codes ................................................................................................................... 43 
Table 27 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 48 
Table 28 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 48 
Table 29 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 48 
Table 30 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 48 
Table 31 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 49 
Table 32 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 49 
Table 33 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 49 
Table 34 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 49 
Table 35 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 49 
Table 36 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 50 
Table 37 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 50 
Table 38 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 50 
Table 39 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 51 
Table 40 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 51 
Table 41 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 51 
Table 42 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 51 
Table 43 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 52 
Table 44 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 52 
Table 45 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 52 
Table 46 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 53 
Table 47 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 53 
Table 48 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 53 
Table 49 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM ........................................................................................ 54 
Table 50 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER....................................................................................... 54 



 



 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 2022 Page 6 of 55 
 



1. INTRODUCTION 



1.1. Purpose and scope 
This document details the data requirements for the various data elements comprising the CATS  
Standing Data stored for each NMI, together with relevant examples and definitions. 



1.2. Definitions and interpretation 
 



The Retail Electricity Market Procedures – Glossary and Framework: 



(a) is incorporated into and forms part of this document; and 



(b) should be read with this document. 



1.3. Related documents 



Title Location 



Retail Electricity Market Procedures – 
Glossary and Framework 



 



https://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-
Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering 



CATS Procedures http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-
Solutions 



WIGS Procedures http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-
Solutions 



MDM Procedures http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-
Solutions 



MSATS CATS History Model http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-
Solutions 



MSATS Guides http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-
Solutions 



 



2. BACKGROUND 
The five MSATS master tables contain the standing data stored for each NMI.  They are the 
following:  



Table 1 MSATS Master Tables 



Table Summary of Contents 



CATS_NMI_DATA  Address, TNI Code, DLF Code, aggregate flag, embedded 
network names, Jurisdiction, NMI status code, etc.  



CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS  Roles and associated Participants. Separate records are 
maintained for each Role/Participant relationship.  



CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM  Suffix, ADL Code, Profile Name, Datastream type and 
datastream status of each MDM Datastream.  



CATS_METER_REGISTER  Meter Serial ID, meter type, meter manufacturer, test results, 
etc.  











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 2022 Page 7 of 55 
 



Table Summary of Contents 



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER  Meter Serial ID, Network Tariff Code, unit of measure etc.  



For a NMI to be capable of being used in MSATS, it must have the following minimum set of data:  



 At least one record on the CATS_NMI_DATA table; and 
 At least eight records on the CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS table, one for each of the 



mandatory roles (ROLR, LNSP, LR, RP, FRMP, MDP, MPC and MPB).  
It will also normally have:  



 At least one record on each of the CATS_METER_REGISTER and CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 
(there should be at least one record for each meter and register associated with the NMI) 
tables.  



NMIs may or may not have: 



Records on the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table.  If metering data is to be submitted for 
settlements, UFE calculations or Vic TUOS there must be at least one record on this table. 



Every time a change is made to any of the data in any of these tables, the old records are made 
inactive and new records are created, thus ensuring that there is a complete history of all changes.  



3. CONVENTIONS USED WITHIN THIS DOCUMENT 
 



The format of the data fields in the ‘Browser Format Column’’ column of Tables is as defined in 
Section 16. 



The following information defines the coded entries in columns used in Tables 3, 6, 9, 12, 15, 18 
and 21. 



3.1. Column Headed: Standing Data Required 
 



The column indicates the requirement to provide this data to MSATS. 



Table 2 Explanation of Standing Data Requirements  



3.2. NMIs Affected 
 



Data must be provided for every NMI in MSATS. The NMIs that must be registered in MSATS are 
related to: 



 All connection points points where a transmission network connects to another transmission 
network 



 All connection points where a transmission network connects to a distribution network, i.e. bulk 
supply connection points 



Requirement Description 



MANDATORY Transfer, Validation or processing cannot proceed without this data. 



REQUIRED This data must be provided if this information is available. 



OPTIONAL This data is not required, but will be accepted if delivered. 



Address Option 1 AEMO’s preferred address option. If the applicable fields labelled “Address 
Option 1” cannot be provided, “Address Option 2” is MANDATORY. 



Address Option 2 AEMO’s non-preferred address option. If Address Option 1 is provided, these 
fields are not to be supplied. 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 2022 Page 8 of 55 
 



 All transmission network connection points where energy is directly purchased from the spot 
market by a Market Customer, i.e. wholesale connection points 



 All connection points on a distibution network that connect that distribution network to an 
adjacent distibution network (other than an embedded network), i.e. cross boundary connection 
points 



 Sample meters as required by Metrology Procedures Part A to calculate CLP for participating 
jurisdictions. 



 All connection points associated with a non-registered embedded generator, i.e. a generating unit 
that is not classified by a Market Generator, but is eligible to be classified by a Small Generation 
Aggregator as a market generating unit. 



 All type 7 loads 
 All non-contestable unmetered loads 
 All connection points associated with a generating unit classified by a Market Generator. 
 All distribution network connection points where energy is directly purchased from the spot 



market by a Market Customer 
 All distribution network connection points where there is a market load 
 All child connection points.  



  











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 2022 Page 9 of 55 
 



4. CATS_METER_REGISTER 
 



4.1. Field definitions 
The CATS_Meter_Register table is a NMI master table containing data that is stored at the Meter 
Register level. Information stored at this level includes the NSRD. It is updated whenever a Change 
Request containing inbound Meter Register data is completed. 



Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 



Table 3 CATS_METER_REGISTER - Field definitions  



Data Element Name Description Standing Data 
Required 



Party to Provide 



AdditionalSiteInformation Free text, descriptive of the Site, describing Site 
access and the relationship between the metering 
point and the connection point. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



AssetManagementPlan Asset management plan. 
If a Site plan is used, free text description of plan. 



If a sample plan is used, the name of the AEMO 
approved plan. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



CalibrationTables Calibration tables – details of any calibration factors 
programmed into the meter. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



CommunicationsEquipment
Type 



Used to store baud rate for installed communication 
equipment in a code, calculated by dividing the 
baud rate by 100, of the installed communication 
equipment.   
For example, 48 = 4800 baud. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



CommunicationsProtocol Used to provide details of access through switch 
units (if installed).  
Data to include Switch Unit, Dial Pkg, Port#, userid, 
password. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



DataConversion Actual Pulse Multipliers. OPTIONAL MPB 



DataValidations Free text description of required data validations. OPTIONAL MPB 



EstimationInstructions Estimation instructions. Free text field. OPTIONAL MPB 



LastTestDate The date on which the metering installation was last 
tested or inspected by the Metering Provider “B”. 
This date will be used if clause 7.9.4(a) of the NER 
needs to be applied. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



MeasurementType Code based on the NMI suffix codes, indicating the 
type of measurements available from the meter.   
For example, EBQK = bidirectional energy plus 
reactive Interval Meter. 



OPTIONAL 
NOT USED for 
types 6 & 7 
Transfers. 



MPB 



Constant The meter KE (intrinsic constraint of meter in 
Wh/pulse). 



OPTIONAL MPB 



Hazard Free text or code  identifying hazards associated 
with reading the meter.  



OPTIONAL MPB 



InstallationTypeCode The InstallationTypeCode may identify attributes of 
a physical metering installation, metering data 



MANDATORY MPB 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 2022 Page 10 of 55 
 



collection methods or metering data calculation 
methods.  
This value must correspond to a valid Meter 
Installation Type Code as referenced in CATS 
Procedures. 



Location Free text descriptive material identifying the 
relationship between the location of the metering 
point and the connection point. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



Manufacturer Free text field to identify the manufacturer of the 
installed meter. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



Model Free text field to identify the meter manufacturer’s 
designation for the meter model. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



Point Identifies the meter uniquely for the NMI.  In the 
format 0n, where n is the meter number per the 
protocol described in the NMI Procedure.    
The allowed values are 01 to 09, 0A to 0H, 0J to 0N, 
0P to 0Z. 
This will allow an audit trail when one meter is 
removed and a new meter is given the same 
MeterPoint value. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



Program Free text field providing a description of the 
program used to initialise the installed meter. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



ReadTypeCode Code to denote the method and frequency of 
Meter Reading. 
First Character = Remote (R) or Manual (M); 
Second Character = Mode 
T = telephone 
W = wireless 
P = powerline 
I = infra-red 
G = galvanic 
V = visual 
Third Character = Frequency of Scheduled Meter 
Readings 
1 = Twelve times per year 
2 = Six times per year 
3 = Four times per year 
D = Daily or weekly 
Fourth Character = Undefined.  
Example: 
MV3 = Manual, Visual, Quarterly. 
RWD = Remote, Wireless, Daily (applicable for Vic 
AMI metering installations where 
InstallationTypeCode = ‘MRIM’ and 
JurisdictionCode = ‘Victoria’) 



OPTIONAL MPB 



Route The route identifier the meter is currently being read 
in. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



SerialNumber The Meter Serial ID uniquely identifies a meter for a 
given NMI. Maximum 12 Characters (alpha numeric).  
Unique for NMI. 



MANDATORY MPB 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 2022 Page 11 of 55 
 



Use a dummy value for UMCP (Type 7), logical 
(meters) and non-contestable unmetered loads. 
Except for UMCP, logical and non-contestable 
unmetered loads (where a dummy value is used), 
SerialNumber should be as displayed on the 
physical device (also known as property number if it 
exists), otherwise the meter manufacturer’s serial 
number. 



Status A code to denote the status of the meter.  
This value must correspond to a valid Meter 
Register Status as specified in the CATS Procedures. 



MANDATORY MPB 



Use A code identifying how the meter is used. OPTIONAL MPB 



NextScheduledReadDate Indicates the Scheduled Next Read Date for the 
meter if a manual Meter Reading is required. 



OPTIONAL MPB initially, then 
MDP for updates 



NextTestDate Next date on which the meter should be tested. OPTIONAL MPB 



NMI NMI. This number is unique for each connection 
point within the NEM. 



MANDATORY LNSP 



Password Read & time set passwords separated by a space. OPTIONAL MPB 



RemotePhoneNumber The public telephone number to contact a remote 
Site for metering data. Includes STD prefix and no 
spaces. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



TestCalibrationProgram Test & calibration program. OPTIONAL MPB 



TestPerformedBy Identifying the Metering Provider “B” and the 
technician responsible for conducting the last test. 
The technician is to be identified by a number 
unique to the Metering Provider “B”. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



TestResultAccuracy The accuracy figure from the test perfomed on the 
date indicated in the LastTestDate field. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



TestResultNotes A statement of compliance indicating the standard 
of the test regime applied at the time of the last 
test.  



OPTIONAL MPB 



TransformerLocation A free text field to identify the existence of 
instrument transformers and their location relative 
to the market connection point. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



TransformerRatio A statement of the available and applied 
transformer ratios. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



TransformerType An explanation of the type of transformation used. OPTIONAL MPB 



UserAccessRights Details of any End User access to the metering 
installation; examples include pulse outputs, 
interface to consumer load management system, or 
consumer directly accessing data in meter by special 
agreement. 



OPTIONAL MPB 



FromDate Start date of the record. This indicates the date on 
which the parameters of this particular record apply 
from. The data applies from the beginning of this 
date (the start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 



MANDATORY Participant sending 
transaction 



ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on 
which the parameters of this particular record end. 



MANDATORY System generated 
unless supplied. 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 2022 Page 12 of 55 
 



4.2. Cross Reference of Browser and aseXML Data Elements 
 



The table below lists the names that are used in the MSATS browser. The table also provides the 
aseXML data element names and the respective formats used in each context.   



In some cases, such as date fields, the format of the field is shown differently in the Browser to that 
used in the related aseXML transactions.  Also, aseXML uses full words throughout, rather than the 
coded values used in the Browser.   



Section 16 provides data type conventions of the Browser formats shown in this section. 



Table 4 CATS_METER_REGISTER – Browser cross refernce 



The data applies until the end of this date (the end 
of the day, i.e. 23:59). 
A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate 
is not provided. 



(Defaults to high 
date unless 
supplied) 



RowStatus  Indicates whether the record is active or inactive. 
Whenever a new record is created, it will be A 
(Active).  A change to the data will make this record 
redundant and its MaintActFlg is changed to I 
(Inactive). 



MANDATORY System generated 



MaintenanceDate  Date and time the record was updated. 
A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the 
record is created initially. 
If the record is subsequently updated, its 
MaintUpdtDt is changed to the date and time the 
record was updated. 



MANDATORY System generated 



CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System generated 



Browser Field Name aseXML Data Element 
Name 



aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data 
Type 



Additional Site 
Information 



AdditionalSiteInformat
ion 



ElectricityMeter/ 
AdditionalSiteInformation 



VARCHAR2(100) xsd:string 
maxLen = 100 



Asset Management 
Plan 



AssetManagementPla
n 



ElectricityMeter/AssetManageme
nt 
Plan 



VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 



Calibration Tables CalibrationTables ElectricityMeter/CalibrationTables VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 



Communication 
Equipment Type 



Communications 
EquipmentType 



ElectricityMeter/Communications 
EquipmentType 



VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 
maxLen = 4 



Communication 
Protocol 



CommunicationsProto
col 



ElectricityMeter/Communications 
Protocol 



VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 



Data Conversion DataConversion ElectricityMeter/DataConversion VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 



Data Validations DataValidations ElectricityMeter/DataValidations VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 



Estimation Instruction EstimationInstructions ElectricityMeter/Estimation 
Instructions 



VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 



Last Test Date LastTestDate ElectricityMeter/LastTestDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:date 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 2022 Page 13 of 55 
 



Measurement Type MeasurementType ElectricityMeter/MeasurementTyp
e 



VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 
maxLen = 4 



Meter Constant Constant ElectricityMeter/Constant VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 
maxLen = 12 



Meter Hazard Hazard ElectricityMeter/Hazard VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 
maxLen = 12 



Meter Installation Type 
Code 



InstallationTypeCode ElectricityMeter/InstallationType 
Code 



VARCHAR2(8) xsd:string 
maxLen = 8 



Meter Location Location ElectricityMeter/Location VARCHAR2(50) 
See AddlSiteInfo 
(above) 



xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 



Meter Manufacturer Manufacturer ElectricityMeter/Manufacturer VARCHAR2(15) xsd:string 
maxLen = 15 



Meter Model Model ElectricityMeter/Model VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 
maxLen = 12 



Meter Point Point ElectricityMeter/Point VARCHAR(2) xsd:string 
maxLen = 2 



Meter Program Program ElectricityMeter/Program VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string 
maxLen = 30 



Meter Read Type ReadTypeCode ElectricityMeter/ReadTypeCode VARCHAR(4) xsd:string 
maxLen = 4 



Meter Route Route ElectricityMeter/Route VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 
maxLen = 12 



Meter Serial ID 
Meter ID 
(Different on two 
screens) 



SerialNumber ElectricityMeter/SerialNumber VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 
maxLen = 12 



Status Code Status ElectricityMeter/Status CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 



Meter Use Use ElectricityMeter/Use VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 



Next Scheduled Read 
Date 



NextScheduled 
ReadDate 



ElectricityMeter/NextScheduled 
ReadDate 



dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:date 



Next Test Date NextTestDate ElectricityMeter/NextTestDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:date 



NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 



Passwords Password ElectricityMeter/Password VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 
maxLen = 20 



Remote Phone 
Number 



RemotePhoneNumber ElectricityMeter/RemotePhone 
Number 



VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 
maxLen = 12 



Test & Calibration 
Program 



TestCalibrationProgra
m 



ElectricityMeter/TestCalibration 
Program 



VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 



Test Performed By TestPerformedBy ElectricityMeter/TestPerformedBy VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 
maxLen = 20 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 2022 Page 14 of 55 
 



 



Test Result Accuracy TestResultAccuracy ElectricityMeter/TestResultAccura
cy 



NUMBER(8,5) xsd:decimal 
totdig = 8 
fracdig = 5 



Test Result Notes TestResultNotes ElectricityMeter/TestResultNotes VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 



Transformer Location TransformerLocation ElectricityMeter/Transformer 
Location 



VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string 
maxLen = 30 



Transformer Ratio TransformerRatio ElectricityMeter/TransformerRatio VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 
maxLen = 20 



Transformer Type TransformerType ElectricityMeter/TransformerType VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 
maxLen = 20 



User Access Rights UserAccessRights ElectricityMeter/UserAccessRights VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 



Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 
dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 
dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 2022 Page 15 of 55
 



4.3. Field value examples 
This section provides examples of typical sets of data element values associated with different types of connection points.   



The data shown in each example is as shown in the Browser.  This reverses the sequence of the day-month-year communicated via aseXML 
transactions. 



Table 5 CATS_METER_REGISTER - Examples 



Data Element Name  



(as it appears in XML 
documents) 



Browser Field Name(as it appears 
in MSATS Browser) 



Basic Example Interval Example Data Element Name 



AdditionalSiteInformation Additional Site Information MTR ON SITE AT 17B Red Rooster AdditionalSiteInformation 



AssetManagementPlan Asset Management Plan CITIPOWER METER MANAGEMENT 
PLAN 



PER CE DOC: TYPES 1-4 ASSET 
MANAGEMENT & TEST PLAN 



AssetManagementPlan 



CalibrationTables Calibration Tables Q  CalibrationTables 



CommunicationsEquipment 
Type 



Communication Equipment Type FACE 96 CommunicationsEquipmentType 



CommunicationsProtocol Communication Protocol NA EMAIL MINI GATEWAY S/N SU121 
MV90 2 TBD TBD 



CommunicationsProtocol 



DataConversion Data Conversion .0005 .0005 DataConversion 



DataValidations Data Validations As per Metrology Procedure Part B As per Metrology Procedure Part B DataValidations 



EstimationInstructions Estimation Instruction As per Metrology Procedure Part B 
(TYPES -61, 62, 65) 



As per Metrology Procedure Part B 
(TYPES -14) 



EstimationInstructions 



LastTestDate Last Test Date 07-05-2004 07-03-2004 LastTestDate 



MeasurementType Measurement Type EQ EQ MeasurementType 



Constant Meter Constant 40 .5 Constant 



Hazard Meter Hazard  Asbestos Hazard 



InstallationTypeCode Meter Installation Type Code BASIC COMMS4 InstallationTypeCode 



Location Meter Location ON SUB POLE BEHIND DOOR Location 



Manufacturer Meter Manufacturer EMAIL EDMI Manufacturer 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 2022 Page 16 of 55
 



Model Meter Model Q3 Q4 Model 



Point Meter Point 01 01 Point 



Program Meter Program 30 - NP 3.2 CT FACE PLATE READ 10- AE CT kVAR 9600 Program 



ReadTypeCode Meter Read Type MV3 RTD ReadTypeCode 



Route Meter Route 11618 1305 Route 



SerialNumber Meter Serial ID, Meter ID 
(Different on two screens) 



525811 201000299 SerialNumber 



Status Status Code C C Status 



Use Meter Use REVENUE REVENUE Use 



NextScheduledReadDate Next Scheduled Read Date 04-10-2006  NextScheduledReadDate 



NextTestDate Next Test Date 17-05-2004 10-05-2004 NextTestDate 



NMI NMI 1122334455 1122334455 NMI 



Password Passwords 12345 12345 Password 



RemotePhoneNumber Remote Phone Number FACE READ 0555 825 987 RemotePhoneNumber 



TestCalibrationProgram Test & Calibration Program AS PER AS/NZ 1284 AS PER AS/NZ 1284 TestCalibrationProgram 



TestPerformedBy Test Performed By Ron Sargeant SMU TestPerformedBy 



TestResultAccuracy Test Result Accuracy -0.20000 -0.11000 TestResultAccuracy 



TestResultNotes Test Result Notes CHECK AND RESEAL    METER METER TEST CORRECT TestResultNotes 



TransformerLocation Transformer Location  REAR OFBUILDING TransformerLocation 



TransformerRatio Transformer Ratio  1500/5 TransformerRatio 



TransformerType Transformer Type  24 WIRE WOUND TransformerType 



UserAccessRights User Access Rights AS PER AS/NZ 1284 MDP ONLY ACCESS UserAccessRights 



FromDate Start Date 14-03-1990 16-03-2002 FromDate 



ToDate End Date 31-12-9999 18-07-2006 ToDate 



MaintenanceDate Updated On 31-12-9999 (Summary screen) 
31-12-9999 00:00:00 (Detail screen) 



31-12-9999 (Summary screen) 
31-12-9999 00:00:00 (Detail screen) 



MaintenanceDate 



CreationDate Created On 19-03-1990 (Summary screen) 18-03-2002 (Summary screen) CreationDate 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



  6 February 2022 Page 17 of 55
 



19-03-1990 00:01:00 (Detail screen) 18-03-2002 00:01:00 (Detail screen) 



RowStatus Activity Status A A RowStatus 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 18 of 55 
 



5. CATS_DLF_CODES 
 



5.1. Field definitions 
The CATS_DLF_Codes table contains a list of DLF Codes and their relevant values. The StartDate 
and DLFCode fields will need to be provided for settlements calculations. 



Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 



Table 6 CATS_DLF_CODES- Field definitions 



 



Data Element Name Description Standing Data 
Required 



Party to 
Provide 



DistributionLossFactorCode A four character alpha-numeric code used to 
identify DLF values.  All NMIs must be assigned a 
DLF Code. Refer to AEMO Distribution Loss Factor 
documents for each financial year. 



MANDATORY AEMO 



DistributionLossFactorDescri
ption 



Description of the DLF Code and value. MANDATORY AEMO 



DistributionLossFactor Value Numeric value up to 5 decimal places, reflecting the 
value of the DLF Code. 



MANDATORY AEMO 



JurisdictionCode Jurisdiction code to which the NMI belongs.  
This value must correspond to Jurisdiction Code 
values as specified in the CATS Procedures.  



MANDATORY AEMO 



RowStatus Indicates whether the DLF Code is active or inactive.  
Whenever a new record is created, it will be A 
(Active). A change to the data will make this record 
redundant and its MaintActFlg is changed to I 
(Inactive).  



MANDATORY System 
generated 



FromDate Start date of the record. This indicates the date on 
which the parameters of this particular record apply 
from. The data applies from the beginning of this 
date (the start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 



MANDATORY AEMO 



ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on 
which the parameters of this particular record end. 
The data applies until the end of this date (the end 
of the day, i.e. 23:59). 
A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate 
is not provided. 



MANDATORY System 
generated 



MaintenanceDate Date and time the record was updated. 
A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the 
record is created initially. 
If the record is subsequently updated, its 
MaintUpdtDt is changed to the date and time the 
record was updated. 



MANDATORY System 
generated 



CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 
generated 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 19 of 55 
 



5.2. Cross Reference of Browser and aseXML Data Elements 
 



The table below lists the names that are used in the MSATS browser. The table also provides the 
aseXML data element names and the respective formats used in each context.   



In some cases, such as date fields, the format of the field is shown differently in the Browser to that 
used in the related aseXML transactions.  Also, aseXML uses full words throughout, rather than the 
coded values used in the Browser.   



Section 16 provides data type conventions of the Browser formats shown in this section. 



Table 7 CATS_DLF_CODES- - Browser cross reference 



5.3. Field value examples 
This section provides examples of typical sets of data element values associated with different 
types of connection points.   



The data shown in each example is as shown in the Browser.  This reverses the sequence of the 
day-month-year communicated via aseXML transactions. 



Browser Field 
Name 



aseXML Data Element 
Name 



aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data 
Type 



DLF Code DistributionLossFactorC
ode 



DistributionLossFactorCode VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 
maxLen = 4 



Description DistributionLossFactorD
escription 



DistributionLossFactorDescription VARCHAR2(50 xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 



DLF Value DistributionLossFactorV
alue 



DistributionLossFactorValue NUMBER(6,5) xsd:decimal 
minIncl = 0 
maxIncl = 2 
totdig = 6 
fracdig = 5 



Jurisdiction JurisdictionCode ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/
JurisdictionCode 



VARCHAR2(3) xsd:string 
maxLen = 3 



Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 



Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 
dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 
dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 20 of 55 
 



Table 8 CATS_DLF_CODES- Examples 



 



  



Data Element Name  Browser Field Name  Basic & Interval Example 



DistributionLossFactorCode DLF Code NHV1 



DistributionLossFactorDescription Description UMPLP - High Voltage 



DistributionLossFactorValue [The actual DLF value] 1.11111 



JurisdictionCode Jurisdiction Code SA 



RowStatus Activity Status A 



FromDate Start Date 01-07-1999 



ToDate End Date 30-06-2000 



MaintenanceDate Updated On 
31-05-2000 (Summary Screen) 
31-05-2000 00:30:27 (Detail 
Screen) 



CreationDate Created On 
01-06-1999 (Summary Screen) 
01-06-1999 00:23:32 (Detail 
Screen) 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 21 of 55 
 



6. CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES 
 



6.1. Field definitions 
The CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES table contains embedded network identifier codes, which are used 
to identify which embedded network a NMI belongs to, either as a Parent NMI or a Child NMI. 



Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 



Table 9 CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES- Field definition 



 



Data Element Name Description Standing Data 
Required 



Party to 
Provide 



EmbeddedNetwork 
Identifier 



Embedded Network Code. 



Refer to Allocation of Embedded Network Codes  
for further details. 



MANDATORY AEMO 



EmbeddedNetwork 
Description 



Description of embedded network identifier. MANDATORY AEMO 



SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality Locality to which the embedded network identifier 
belongs. 



MANDATORY AEMO 



PostCode Postcode for the locality to which the embedded 
network identifier belongs. 



MANDATORY AEMO 



StateOrTerritory State or Territory abbreviation in accordance with 
AS 4590. 



MANDATORY AEMO 



RowStatus Indicates whether the code is active or inactive. 
Whenever a new record is created, it will be A 
(Active). A change to the data will make this record 
redundant and its MaintActFlg is changed to I 
(Inactive).  



MANDATORY System 
generated 



FromDate Start date of the record. This indicates the date on 
which the parameters of this particular record apply 
from. The data applies from the beginning of this 
date (the start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 



MANDATORY AEMO 



ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on 
which the parameters of this particular record end. 
The data applies until the end of this date (the end 
of the day, i.e. 23:59). 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate 
is not provided. 



MANDATORY System 
generated 



MaintenanceDate Date and time the record was updated. 
A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the 
record is created initially.  
If the record is subsequently updated, its 
MaintUpdtDt is changed to the date and time the 
record was updated. 



MANDATORY System 
generated 



CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 
generated 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 22 of 55 
 



6.2. Cross Reference of Browser and aseXML Data Elements 
 



The table below list the names that are used in the MSATS browser. The table also provides the 
aseXML data element names and the respective formats used in each context.   



In some cases, such as date fields, the format of the field is shown differently in the Browser to that 
used in the related aseXML transactions.  Also, aseXML uses full words throughout, rather than the 
coded values used in the Browser.   



Section 16 provides data type conventions of the Browser formats shown in this section. 



 



Table 10 CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES- Browser 



6.3. Field value examples 
This section provides examples of typical sets of data element values associated with different 
types of connection points.   



The data shown in each example is as shown in the Browser.  This reverses the sequence of the 
day-month-year communicated via aseXML transactions. 



Browser Field 
Name 



aseXML Data Element 
Name 



aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data 
Type 



Code EmbeddedNetworkIdentif
ier 



EmbeddedNetworkIdentifier VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 



Description EmbeddedNetworkDescri
ption 



EmbeddedNetworkDescription VARCHAR2(50) xsd:string 
maxLen = 50 



Locality/Suburb SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A
ddress/AustralianAddress/SuburbOrPl
aceOrLocality 



VARCHAR2(46) xsd:string 
maxLen = 46 



Postcode PostCode ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A
ddress/AustralianAddress/PostCode 



VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 
pattern: 
[\p{N}]{4} 



State StateOrTerritory ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/A
ddress/AustralianAddress/StateOrTerr
itory 



VARCHAR2(3) xsd:string  
with 
enumerations 



Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 



Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 
dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 
dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 23 of 55 
 



Table 11 CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES- Example 



 



  



Data Element Name Browser Field Name Basic & Basic Example 



EmbeddedNetworkIdentifier Code SE01008111 



EmbeddedNetworkDescription Description Kingston-On-Murray Caravan Park 



SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality Suburb / Locality Kingston-On-Murray 



PostCode Postcode 5331 



StateOrTerritory State SA 



RowStatus Activity Status A 



FromDate Start Date 05-04-2003 



ToDate End Date 31-12-9999 



MaintenanceDate Updated On 31-12-9999 (Summary Screen) 
31-12-9999 13:23:35 (Detail Screen) 



CreationDate Created On 01-04-2003 (Summary Screen) 
01-04-2003 13:23:35 (Detail Screen) 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 24 of 55 
 



7. CATS_NMI_DATA 
 



7.1. Field definitions 
The CATS_NMI_DATA table records Master NMI Record data information. It is updated whenever a 
Change Request containing data in the CATS_INBOUND_NMI_DATA table is completed. 



Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 



Table 12 CATS_NMI_DATA- Field definitions 



Data Element Name Description Standing Data 
Required 



Party to 
Provide 



NMI NMI. 



All alpha characters are Upper Case. 
MANDATORY LNSP 



NMI 
ClassificationCode 



Code used to indicate the NMI Classification Code of 
this NMI.   



This value must correspond to NMI Classification Code 
values as specified in the CATS Procedures. 



MANDATORY LNSP 



MasterData/ 
StatusCode 



Code used to indicate the status of the NMI.   
This value must correspond to NMI Status Code values 
as specified in the CATS Procedures. 



MANDATORY LNSP 



TransmissionNode 
Identifier 



This value must correspond to a valid code in the 
CATS_TNI_Codes table.  



MANDATORY LNSP 



JurisdictionCode Jurisdiction code to which the NMI belongs. This code 
defines the jurisdictional rules which apply to the 
transfer of this NMI. 



This value must correspond to Jurisdiction Code values 
as specified in the CATS Procedures. 



MANDATORY LNSP 



DistributionLoss 
FactorCode 



Distribution Loss Factor Code.  Must be a valid code in 
the CATS_DLF_Codes table.  



MANDATORY LNSP 



ChildEmbedded 
NetworkIdentifier 



The embedded network identifier code is used to 
identify which embedded network this given NMI is the 
'child of'.  (If on a NMI record this field is not populated, 
it is assumed the NMI is not the child of any other NMI.)   
Must be a valid code within the 
CATS_Emb_Net_ID_Codes table. 
This field cannot be used unless the Parent NMI has 
been created and assigned an embedded network 
identifier code. Refer section 30.4.a  of the CATS 
Procedure. 



REQUIRED LNSP 



ParentEmbedded 
NetworkIdentifier 



The embedded network identifier code is used to 
identify which embedded network this given NMI is the 
'parent of'.  (If on a NMI record this field is not 
populated, it is assumed the NMI is not the parent of 
any other NMI.)    



Must be a valid code within the 
CATS_Emb_Net_ID_Codes table.  



REQUIRED LNSP 



BuildingOrProperty 
Name 



A free text description of the full name used to identify 
the physical building or property as part of its location. 



Address 
Option 1 



LNSP 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 25 of 55 
 



LotNumber The lot reference number allocated to an address prior 
to street numbering. The word ‘LOT’ is not required. 



Address 
Option 1 



LNSP 



FlatOrUnitNumber Specification of the number of the flat or unit which is a 
separately identifiable portion within a 
building/complex. 



Address 
Option 1 



LNSP 



FlatOrUnitType Specification of the type of flat or unit which is a 
separately identifiable portion within a 
building/complex. This value must correspond to a valid 
Flat Type Code, reference AS4590.  



Address 
Option 1 



LNSP 



FloorOrLevelNumber Floor Number is used to identify the floor or level of a 
multi-storey building/complex. 



Address 
Option 1 



LNSP 



FloorOrLevelType Floor Type is used to identify the floor or level of a 
multi-storey building/complex. This value must 
correspond to a valid Floor Type Code in the Floor Type 
Codes, reference AS4590. 



Address 
Option 1 



LNSP 



HouseNumber The numeric reference of a house or property.  
Specifically the house number. 



Address 
Option 1 



LNSP 



HouseNumberSuffix The numeric reference of a house or property.  
Specifically the single character identifying the house 
number suffix. 



Address 
Option 1 



LNSP 



StreetName Records the thoroughfare name. 
See notes at end of table for more information on 
Structured Addresses. 



Address 
Option 1 



LNSP 



StreetSuffix Records street suffixes. This value must correspond to a 
valid Street Suffix Code, reference AS4590. 



Address 
Option 1 



LNSP 



StreetType Records the street type abbreviation.  This value must 
correspond to a valid Street Type Code, reference 
AS4590. 



Address 
Option 1 



LNSP 



SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality The full name of the general locality containing the 
specific address. 



MANDATORY  LNSP 



LocationDescriptor A general field to capture various references to address 
locations alongside another physical location. 



Address 
Option 1 



LNSP 



PostCode The descriptor for a postal delivery area, aligned with 
locality, suburb or place. 



MANDATORY LNSP 



StateOrTerritory Defined State or Territory abbreviation.   MANDATORY LNSP 



DeliveryPointIdentifier Delivery point identifier - the numeric descriptor for a 
postal delivery point which is equal to a physical 
address.  The values are in the range 10000000 – 
99999999. 



OPTIONAL LNSP 



AddressLine To provide the unstructured address (line 1) where a 
structured address cannot be supplied. 



Address 
Option 2 



LNSP 



AddressLine To provide the unstructured address (line 2) where a 
structured address cannot be supplied. 



Address 
Option 2 



LNSP 



AddressLine To provide the unstructured address (line 3) where a 
structured address cannot be supplied. 



Address 
Option 2 



LNSP 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 26 of 55 
 



7.2. Cross Reference of Browser and aseXML Data Elements 
 



The table below list the names that are used in the MSATS browser. The table also provides the 
aseXML data element names and the respective formats used in each context.   



In some cases, such as date fields, the format of the field is shown differently in the Browser to that 
used in the related aseXML transactions.  Also, aseXML uses full words throughout, rather than the 
coded values used in the Browser.   



Section 16 provides data type conventions of the Browser formats shown in this section. 



Aggregate This flag determines whether the energy at this 
connection point is to be treated as consumer load or as 
a generating unit (this may include generator auxiliary 
loads). 
MSATS will initially set this field to “Y” This value must 
correspond to a valid Aggregate value in the Aggregate 
Codes reference table listed in section 11. 



OPTIONAL (Defaults to ‘Y’, 
AEMO updates 
to ‘N’ as 
required) 



FromDate Start date of the NMI Data record. This indicates the 
date on which the parameters of this particular NMI 
data record apply from.  
The data applies from the beginning of this date (the 
start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 



MANDATORY LNSP 
 



ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on which 
the parameters of this particular record end. The data 
applies until the end of this date (the end of the day, i.e. 
23:59). 
A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate is 
not provided. 



MANDATORY 
(Defaults to 
high date 
unless 
supplied) 



System 
generated 
unless 
supplied. 



RowStatus  Indicates whether the record is active or inactive. 
Whenever a new record is created, it will be A (Active). 
A change to the data will make this record redundant 
and its MaintActFlg is changed to I (Inactive).  



MANDATORY System 
generated 



MaintenanceDate  Date and time the record was updated. 
A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the record is 
created initially. 



If the record is subsequently updated, its MaintUpdtDt 
is changed to the date and time the record was 
updated. 



MANDATORY System 
generated 



CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 
generated 



Feeder Class A code to provide Participants with information to 
indicate the appropriate service level timeframes for 
performing work in relation to Service Order Requests. 



OPTIONAL LNSP 



Customer Classification 
Code 



A code that defines the consumer class as defined in 
the National Energy Retail Regulations, or in overriding 
Jurisdictional instruments. 



MANDATORY Current FRMP 



Customer Classification 
Threshold Code 



A code that defines the consumption threshold as 
defined in the National Energy Retail Regulations, or in 
overriding Jurisdictional instruments. 



MANDATORY LNSP 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 27 of 55 
 



 



Table 13 CATS_NMI_DATA- Browser cross reference 



Browser Field 
Name 



aseXML Data Element 
Name 



aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data 
Type 



NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 



NMI 
Classification 
Code 



NMIClassificationCode ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/ 
NMIClassificationCode 



VARCHAR2(8) xsd:string 
maxLen = 8 



Status Code Status ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/Sta
tus 



CHAR(1) xsd:string 
maxLen = 1 



TNI Code TransmissionNodeIdentifi
er 



ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/Tra
nsmissionNodeIdentifier 



VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 
maxLen = 4 



Jurisdiction 
Code 



JurisdictionCode JurisdictionCode VARCHAR2(3) xsd:string 
maxLen = 3 



DLF Code DistributionLossFactorCo
de 



ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/Dis
tributionLossFactorCode 



VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 
maxLen = 4 



Embedded 
Network ID 
(Child) 



ChildEmbeddedNetworkI
dentifier 



ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/Chi
ldEmbeddedNetworkIdentifier 



VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 



Embedded 
Network 
(Parent) 



ParentEmbeddedNetwor
kIdentifier 



ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/Par
entEmbeddedNetworkIdentifier 



VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 



Building / 
Property Name 



BuildingOrPropertyName ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad
dress/AustralianAddress/StructuredAdd
ress/BuildingOrPropertyName 



VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string 
maxLen = 30 
x 2 



Lot Number LotNumber ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/ 
Address/AustralianAddress/Structured
Address/Lot/LotNumber 



VARCHAR2(6) xsd:string 
pattern: 
[\p{L}\p{N}\p{P
}\s]{1,6} 



Flat/Unit 
Number 



FlatOrUnitNumber ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad
dress/AustralianAddress/StructuredAdd
ress/FlatOrUnit/FlatOrUnitNumber 



VARCHAR2(7) xsd:string 
pattern: 
[\p{L}\p{N}\p{P
}\s]{1,7} 



Flat/Unit Type FlatOrUnitType ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad
dress/AustralianAddress/StructuredAdd
ress/FlatOrUnit/FlatOrUnitType 



VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string with 
enumerations 



Floor/Level 
Number 



FloorOrLevelNumber ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad
dress/AustralianAddress/StructuredAdd
ress/FloorOrLevel/FloorOrLevelNumber 



VARCHAR2(5) xsd:string 
[\p{L}\p{N}\p{P
}\s]{1,5} 



Floor/Level Type FloorOrLevelType ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad
dress/AustralianAddress/StructuredAdd
ress/FloorOrLevel/FloorOrLevelType 



VARCHAR2(2) xsd:string with 
enumerations 



House Number HouseNumber ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad
dress/AustralianAddress/StructuredAdd
ress/House/HouseNumber 



NUMBER(5) xsd:nonNegati
veInteger 
maxIncl = 
99999 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 28 of 55 
 



House Number 
Suffix 



HouseNumberSuffix ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad
dress/AustralianAddress/ 
StructuredAddress/House/HouseNumb
erSuffix 



VARCHAR2(1) xsd:string 
pattern: 
[\p{L}\p{N}]{1} 



Street Name StreetName ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad
dress/AustralianAddress/ 
StructuredAddress/Street/StreetName 



VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string 
pattern: 
[\p{L}\p{N}\s\-
']{1,30} 



Street Name 
Suffix 



StreetSuffix ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad
dress/AustralianAddress/ 
StructuredAddress/Street/StreetSuffix 



VARCHAR2(2) xsd:string with 
enumerations 



Street Type StreetType ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad
dress/AustralianAddress/ 
StructuredAddress/Street/StreetType 



VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string with 
enumerations 



Suburb/Locality SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad
dress/AustralianAddress/ 
SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality 



VARCHAR2(46) xsd:string 
maxLen = 46 



Location 
Descriptor 



LocationDescriptor ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad
dress/AustralianAddress/ 
StructuredAddress/LocationDescriptor 



VARCHAR2(30) xsd:string 
pattern: 
[\p{L}\p{N}\p{P
}\s]{1,30 



Postcode PostCode ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad
dress/AustralianAddress/ 
PostCode 



VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 
pattern: 
[\p{N}]{4} 



State StateOrTerritory ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad
dress/AustralianAddress/StateOrTerrito
ry 



VARCHAR2(3) xsd:string  
with 
enumerations 



DPID DeliveryPointIdentifier ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad
dress/AustralianAddress/ 
StructuredAddress/DeliveryPointIdentifi
er 



NUMBER(8) xsd:nonNegati
veInteger 
minIncl = 
10000000 
maxIncl = 
99999999 



Unstructured 
Address 



AddressLine ElectrictyStandingData/MasterData/Ad
dress/AustralianAddress/ 
UnstructuredAddress/Address/Address
Line 



VARCHAR2(80) xsd:string 
maxLen = 80 
x 3 



Aggregate Flag Aggregate ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/Ag
gregate 



CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 



Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 
dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 



xsd:dateTime 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 29 of 55 
 



7.3. Field value examples 
This section provides examples of typical sets of data element values associated with different 
types of connection points.   



The data shown in each example is as shown in the Browser.  This reverses the sequence of the 
day-month-year communicated via aseXML transactions. 



dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 



Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 



Feeder Class Feeder Class ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/Fe
ederClass 



VARCHAR2(15) xsd:string 
maxLen = 15 



Customer 
Classification 
Code 



CustomerClassificationCo
de 



ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/Cu
stomerClassificationCode 



VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 
maxLen = 20 



Customer 
Classification 
Threshold Code 



CustomerThresholdCode ElectricityStandingData/MasterData/Cu
stomerThresholdCode 



VARCHAR2(20) xsd:string 
maxLen = 20 



NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 



Suffix Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Suffix VARCHAR2(2) xsd:string 
maxLen = 2 



Status Code Status ElectricityDataStream/Status CHAR(1) xsd:string 
maxLen = 1 



Average Daily 
Load 



AveragedDailyLoad ElectricityDataStream/AveragedDailyLo
ad 



NUMBER(10) xsd:integer 



Type DataStreamType ElectricityDataStream/DataStreamType CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 



Profile Name ProfileName ElectricityDataStream/ProfileName VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 



Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 
dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 
dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 30 of 55 
 



 



Table 14 CATS_NMI_DATA- Examples 



Data Element Name Browser Field Name Basic Example Interval Example 



NMI NMI 122334451 1122334455 



NMIClassificationCode NMI Classification Code SMALL LARGE 



MasterData/Status Status Code A G 



TransmissionNodeIdentifier TNI Code NRGE SBER 



JurisdictionCode Jurisdiction Code NSW SA 



DistributionLossFactorCode DLF Code NRGE NLV2 



ChildEmbeddedNetworkIdentifier Embedded Network ID (Child) NS01008111 SE01008111 



ParentEmbeddedNetworkIdentifier Embedded Network 
(Parent) 



NS01008111 SE01008111 



BuildingOrPropertyName Building / Property Name BP SHELL 



LotNumber Lot Number 22 23 



FlatOrUnitNumber Flat/Unit Number 1 2 



FlatOrUnitType Flat/Unit Type U U 



FloorOrLevelNumber Flat/Unit Number 1 1 



FloorOrLevelType Floor/Level Type FL FL 



HouseNumber House Number 6 10 



HouseNumberSuffix House Number Suffix A B 



StreetName Street Name BORIS DORIS 



StreetSuffix Street Name Suffix N W 



StreetType Street Type DR ST 



SuburbOrPlaceOrLocality Suburb/Locality ORANGE LOXTON 



LocationDescriptor Location Descriptor CNR FRED ST SHELL SERVICE 
STATION 



PostCode Postcode 2211 5333 



StateOrTerritory State NSW SA 



DeliveryPointIdentifier DPID 01234567 12345678 



AddressLine Unstructured Address 1 Text Text 



AddressLine Unstructured Address 2 Text Text 



AddressLine Unstructured Address 3 Text Text 



Aggregate Aggregate Flag Y Y 



FromDate Start Date 01-06-2004 01-06-2001 



ToDate End Date 31-12-9999 01-01-2003 



MaintenanceDate  Updated On 31-12-9999 
(Summary screen) 
31-12-9999 
00:00:00 (Detail 
screen) 



05-01-2003 (Summary 
screen) 
05-01-2003 00:01:00 
(Detail screen) 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 31 of 55 
 



 



  



CreationDate Created On 04-01-2004 
(Summary screen) 
04-01-2004 
09:31:00 (Detail 
screen) 



01-06-2001 (Summary 
screen) 
01-06-2001 00:01:00 
(Detail screen) 



RowStatus Activity Status A A 



FeederClass Feeder Class ERGUD ERGUD 



Customer ClassificationCode Customer Classification RESIDENTIAL BUSINESS 



CustomerThresholdCode Customer Threshold LOW HIGH 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 32 of 55 
 



8. CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 
 



8.1. Field definitions 
The CATS_NMI_Data_Stream table is a NMI master table containing data that is stored at the NMI 
Datastream level. Information stored at this level includes suffixes, profile name, average daily load 
etc. It is updated whenever a Change Request containing inbound Datastream data is completed. 



Note: Data is only required for this table if the NMI is active in the NEM or is used for profile peel-
off in accordance with the Metrology Procedure. 



Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 



Table 15 CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM- Field definitions 



Data Element Name Description Standing Data 
Required 



Party to 
Provide 



NMI NMI. MANDATORY MDP 
LNSP 



ElectricityDataStream/Suffix The Metering Datastream identifier (for MDM).  
Identifies the ElectricityDataStream Suffix as delivered 
to AEMO for NEM Settlement calculations, profile 
peeloff, UFE analysis and Vic TUOS sites.  
The value must be a valid as per Datastream suffix 
details specified in the NMI Procedure. 
The value must match the MDMContributorySuffix 
value provided in an MDFF File. 



MANDATORY MDP 



ElectricityDataStream/Status Code used to indicate the status of the suffix.  
This value must correspond to a valid Datastream 
Status Code as specified in the CATS procedures. 



MANDATORY MDP 



AveragedDailyLoad The energy delivered through a connection point or 
metering point over an extended period normalised to 
a "per day" basis (kWh). 



MANDATORY MDP 



DataStreamType Indicates the primary function of the 
ElectricityDatastream Suffix. i.e. inclusion within NEM 
Settlement calculations, UFE analysis, profile peeloff  
or Vic TUOS. 
This value must correspond to a valid 
DataStreamType in the Data Stream Type Codes 
reference table listed in section 11. 



MANDATORY MDP 



ProfileName The Profile Name is a code that identifies the name of 
the algorithmically derived shape that is used to 
allocate a Datastream's consumption to TIs.  This 
value must correspond to a valid code in the PROFILE 
table.  
For all Interval Meters and sample meters, this must 
be set to ‘NOPROF’.  
For Accumulation Meters, refer to the MDM Profile 
for valid profile names.  
In Victoria and the ACT, ProfileName must be NSLP.   
In NSW, QLD and SA, ProfileName must be NSLP or 
the relevant controlled load profile. 



MANDATORY MDP 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 33 of 55 
 



8.2. Cross Reference of Browser and aseXML Data Elements 
 



The table below list the names that are used in the MSATS browser. The table also provides the 
aseXML data element names and the respective formats used in each context.   



In some cases, such as date fields, the format of the field is shown differently in the Browser to that 
used in the related aseXML transactions.  Also, aseXML uses full words throughout, rather than the 
coded values used in the Browser.   



Section 16 provides data type conventions of the Browser formats shown in this section. 



This value must correspond to a valid ProfileName 
value in the Profile Codes reference table listed in 
section 11. 



FromDate Start date of the NMI data record. This indicates the 
date on which the parameters of this particular NMI 
data record apply from.  
The data applies from the beginning of this date (the 
start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 



MANDATORY Party sending 
transaction 



ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on 
which the parameters of this particular record end. 
The data applies until the end of this date (the end of 
the day, i.e. 23:59). 



A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate is 
not provided. 



MANDATORY 
(Defaults to 
high date 
unless 
supplied) 



System 
generated 
unless 
supplied. 



RowStatus  Indicates whether the record is active or inactive. 
Whenever a new record is created, it will be A 
(Active). A change to the data will make this record 
redundant and its MaintActFlg is changed to I 
(Inactive).  



MANDATORY System 
generated 



MaintenanceDate  Date and time the record was updated. 
A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the record 
is created initially. 
If the record is subsequently updated, its 
MaintUpdtDt is changed to the date and time the 
record was updated. 



MANDATORY System 
generated 



CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 
generated 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 34 of 55 
 



Table 16 CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM- Browser cross reference 



rowser Field 
name 



aseXML Data 
Element Name aseXML Path BrowserFormat aseXMLData Type 



NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) 
xsd:string 
maxLen=10 



Suffix Suffix ElectricityDatastream/Suffix VARCHAR2(2) xsd:string maxLen=2 



Status Code  Status ElectricityDatastream/Status CHAR(1) 
xsd:string 
maxLen=10 



Average Daily 
Load AverageDailyLoad ElectricityDatastream/AverageDailyLoad NUMBER(10) xsd:integer 



Type DataStreamType ElectricityDatastream/DatastreamType CHAR(1) 
xsd:string with 
enumeration 



Profile Name ProfileName ElectricityDatastream/ProfileName VARCHAR2(10) 
xsd:string 
maxLen=10 



Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate 



dd-mmm-yyyy 
(Summary Screen) 
dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss (Detail 
Screen) xsd:dateTime 



Created On CreationDate CreationDate 



dd-mmm-yyyy 
(Summary Screen) 
dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss (Detail 
Screen) xsd:dateTime 



Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) 
xsd:string with 
enumeration 



8.3. Field value examples 
This section provides examples of typical sets of data element values associated with different 
types of connection points.   



The data shown in each example is as shown in the Browser.  This reverses the sequence of the 
day-month-year communicated via aseXML transactions. 



Table 17 CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM- Example 



Data Element Name Browser Field Name Basic Example Interval Example 



NMI NMI 1100445566 2211335544 



ElectricityDataStream/Suffix Suffix 31 E1 



ElectricityDataStream/Status Status Code A A 



ElectricityDataStream/ 
AveragedDailyLoad 



Average Daily Load 5 800 



ElectricityDataStream/ 
DataStreamType 



Type C I 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 35 of 55 
 



 



  



ElectricityDataStream/ 
ProfileName 



Profile Name NSLP NOPROF 



FromDate Start Date 31-12-2001 01-06-2005 



ToDate End Date 31-12-9999 31-12-9999 



MaintenanceDate Updated On 02-01-2004 (Summary 
Screen) 
02-01-2004 13:27:58 
(Detail Screen) 



31-12-9999 (Summary 
Screen) 
31-12-9999 00:00:00 
(Detail Screen) 



CreationDate Created On 19-01-2002 (Summary 
screen) 
19-01-2002 17:15:23 
(Detail screen) 



05-06-2005 (Summary 
screen) 
05-06-2005 15:12:20 
(Detail screen) 



RowStatus  Activity Status I A 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 36 of 55 
 



9. CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 
 



9.1. Field definitions 
The CATS_Register_Identifier table contains data that is stored at the register identifier level. 
Information stored at this level includes the Network Tariff Code. It is updated whenever a Change 
Request containing inbound register identifier data is completed. 



Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 



Table 18 CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER- Field definitions 



Data Element Name Description Standing Data 
Required 



Party to Provide 



NMI NMI. This number is unique for each connection 
point within the NEM. 



MANDATORY LNSP 



SerialNumber The Meter Serial ID uniquely identifies a meter for a 
given NMI. Maximum 12 Characters (alpha numeric).  
Unique for NMI. 
Use dummy for UMCP (Type 7), logical (meters) and 
non-contestable unmetered loads.. 
Except for UMCP, logical and non-contestable 
unmetered loads, MeterSerial should be displayed 
on physical device also known as property number). 
SerialNumber to be property number if exists, 
otherwise the meter manufacturers’ serial number, 
otherwise dummy number. 



MANDATORY MPB 



RegisterID The RegisterID is an identifier used to identify 
records stored within the CATS_REGISTER_TABLE.  
A record must be created in the 
CATS_REGISTER_TABLE for each physical register 
within a meter.  
 For Accumulation Meters, the RegisterID may 



reflect any unique identifier. E.g. ‘1’, ‘01’, ‘11’, etc.. 
 For Interval Meters, the RegisterID must match 



the content of the ‘Suffix’ within the 
CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table. E.g. ‘E1’, ‘B1’, 
‘Q1’, ‘K1’, etc. 



 



MANDATORY MPB 



NetworkTariffCode The Network Tariff Code is a free text field required. 
The text must match the Network Tariff Codes 
supplied and published by the LNSP.  
Must be a valid code from the 
CATS_Network_Tariff_Codes table.   



MANDATORY 
 



MPB 



NetworkAdditional 
Information 



Free text field. OPTIONAL MPB 



UnitOfMeasure Code to identify the unit of measure for data held in 
this register. 



MANDATORY MPB 



TimeOfDay Code to identify the time validity of register 
contents. 
As published by each LNSP. 



MANDATORY  MPB 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 37 of 55 
 



Multiplier Multiplier required to take a register value and turn 
it into a value representing billable energy. 



MANDATORY MPB 



DialFormat Describes the register display format. 
First number is the number of digits to the left of 
the decimal place, and the second number is the 
number of digits to the right of the decimal place. 



MANDATORY MPB 



Suffix The Suffix field in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 
table is used to identify a physical data source that 
is obtained from the meter.  
The Suffix in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table 
must be a valid as per Datastream suffix details 
specified in the NMI Procedure.  
The value must match the NMISuffix value provided 
in an MDFF File. 
 
 For Basic Meters, the Suffix in the 



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table need not 
match the RegisterID in the 
CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table. 



 For Interval Meters, the Suffix in the 
CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table must match 
the RegisterID in the 
CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table. E.g. ‘E1’, ‘B1’. 



 



MANDATORY MPB 



ControlledLoad Indicates whether the energy recorded by this 
register is created under a Controlled Load regime 
ControlledLoad field will have "No" if register does 
not relate to a Controlled Load. 
If the register relates to a Controlled Load, it should 
contain a description of the Controlled Load 
regime. 



MANDATORY MPB 



RegisterDetail/ 
Status 



Lookup code to indicate if register is active. 
Must ensure that RegisterDetail/Status is not 
Current (C) when ElectricityMeter/Status is Removed 
(R). 
This value must correspond to a valid Register 
Identifier Status as specified in the CATS 
Procedures. 



MANDATORY MPB 



ConsumptionType Actual/Subtractive Indicator. 
Actual (A) implies volume of energy actually 
metered between two dates. 
Cumulative (C) indicates a Meter Reading for a 
specific date. A second Meter Reading is required to 
determine the consumption between those two 
Meter Reading dates.  
For an Interval Meter, ActCumInd = A. 
This value must correspond to a valid 
ConsumptionType from the Consumption Type 
Codes reference table listed in section 11. 



MANDATORY MPB 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 38 of 55 
 



9.2. Cross Reference of Browser and aseXML Data Elements 
 



The table below list the names that are used in the MSATS browser. The table also provides the 
aseXML data element names and the respective formats used in each context.   



In some cases, such as date fields, the format of the field is shown differently in the Browser to that 
used in the related aseXML transactions.  Also, aseXML uses full words throughout, rather than the 
coded values used in the Browser.   



Section 16 provides ddata type conventions of the Browser formats shown in this section. 



 



Table 19 CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER- Browser cross reference 



Demand1 This field contains the peak demand value for 
summer for network Tariff purposes. Units in kW or 
kVA. 



OPTIONAL MPB (Refers to 
Network Tariff 
Code) 



Demand2 This field contains an additional demand value (not 
Summer period). Units in kW or kVA. 



OPTIONAL MPB (Refers to 
Network Tariff 
Code) 



FromDate Start date of the NMI data record. This indicates the 
date on which the parameters of this particular NMI 
data record apply from.  
The data applies from the beginning of this date 
(the start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 



MANDATORY Participant 
sending 
transaction 



ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on 
which the parameters of this particular record end. 
The data applies until the end of this date (the end 
of the day, i.e. 23:59). 
A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate 
is not provided. 



MANDATORY 
(Defaults to 
high date 
unless 
supplied) 



System 
generated unless 
supplied. 



RowStatus  Indicates whether the record is active or inactive. 
Whenever a new record is created, it will be A 
(Active). A change to the data will make this record 
redundant and its MaintActFlg is changed to I 
(Inactive).  



MANDATORY System 
generated 



MaintenanceDate  Date and time the record was updated. 
A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the 
record is created initially. 
If the record is subsequently updated, its 
MaintUpdtDt is changed to the date and time the 
record was updated. 



MANDATORY System 
generated 



CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 
generated 



Browser Field Name aseXML Data 
Element Name 



aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data 
Type 



NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 



Meter Serial ID 
Meter ID 



SerialNumber SerialNumber VARCHAR2(12) xsd:string 
maxLen = 12 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 39 of 55 
 



(Different on two 
screens) 



Register ID RegisterID ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/R
egisterID 



VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 



Network Tariff Code NetworkTariffCode ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/N
etworkTariffCode 



VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 



Network Tariff 
Additional Information 



NetworkAdditional 
Information 



ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/ 
NetworkAdditionalInformation 



VARCHAR2(4000) xsd:string 



Unit of Measure UnitOfMeasure ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/ 
UnitOfMeasure 



VARCHAR2(5) xsd:string 
maxLen = 5 



Time of Day TimeOfDay ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/ 
TimeOfDay 



VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 



Multiplier Multiplier ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/M
ultiplier 



Number(13,5) xsd:decimal 



Dial Format DialFormat ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/D
ialFormat 



Number(4,2) xsd:decimal 
minIncl = 0 
maxIncl = 99.99 
totdig = 4 
fracdig = 2 



Suffix Suffix ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/S
uffix 



VARCHAR2(2) xsd:string 
maxLen = 2 



Controlled Load ControlledLoad ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/C
ontrolledLoad 



VARCHAR2(100) xsd:string 
maxLen = 100 



Status Code Status ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/ 
Status 



CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 



Actual/Cumulative 
Indicator 



ConsumptionType ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/C
onsumptionType 



CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 



Demand 1 Demand1 ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/D
emand1 



Number(8) xsd:integer 
totdig = 8 



Demand 2 Demand2 ElectricityMeterRegisterDetail/D
emand2 



Number(8) xsd:integer 
totdig = 8 



Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 
dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 
dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with 
enumeration 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 40 of 55 
 



9.3. Field value examples 
This section provides examples of typical sets of data element values associated with different 
types of connection points.   



The data shown in each example is as shown in the Browser.  This reverses the sequence of the 
day-month-year communicated via aseXML transactions. 



Table 20 CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER- Examples 



 



  



Data Element Name Browser Field Name Basic Example Interval Example 



NMI NMI 1100445566 2211335544 



SerialNumber Meter Serial ID 
Meter ID 
(Different on two screens) 



000012345 112258 



RegisterID Register ID 1 E1 



NetworkTariffCode Network Tariff Code BLNB2CO MB2RI 



NetworkAdditionalInformation Network Tariff Additional 
Information 



General Supply Non 
TOU Eligible 



LV TOU Demand Eligible 



UnitOfMeasure Unit of Measure KWH KWH 



TimeOfDay Time of Day ALLDAY INTERVAL 



Multiplier Multiplier 1.00000 120.00000 



DialFormat Dial Format 5.00 5.10 



Suffix Suffix 11 E1 



ControlledLoad Controlled Load  HWLoad No 



Status Status Code C C 



ConsumptionType Actual/Cumulative Indicator C A 



Demand1 Demand 1 0 0 



Demand2 Demand 2 0 0 



FromDate Start Date 01-08-2004 01-06-2005 



ToDate End Date 31-12-9999 31-12-9999 



MaintenanceDate Updated On 31-12-9999 
(Summary Screen) 
31-12-9999 00:00:00 
(Detailed Screen) 



31-12-9999 (Summary 
Screen) 
31-12-9999 00:00:00 
(Detailed Screen) 



CreationDate  Created On 01-11-2005 
(Summary screen) 
01-11-2005 22:30:30 
(Detail screen) 



05-06-2005 (Summary 
screen) 
05-06-2005 09:09:09 
(Detailed screen) 



RowStatus Activity Status A A 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 41 of 55 
 



10. CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 



10.1. Field definitions 
The CATS_NMI_Participant_Relations table is a NMI master table containing data that stores the 
Roles that Participants play for each NMI. It is updated whenever a Change Request containing 
inbound Roles is completed. Each Role record, which contains a single Role code and a single 
Participant ID, has a start date and an end date, as well as information about when it was created 
and when it became inactive if it is no longer an active record. 



Note: References to ‘LNSP’ include the ENM for child connection points. 



Table 21 CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS- Field definitions 



10.2. Cross Reference of Browser and aseXML Data Elements 
 



The tables below list the names that are used in the MSATS browser for each of the MSATS tables 
detailed in sections 4 to 10.  The table also provides the aseXML data element names and the 
respective formats used in each context.   



Data Element Name Description Standing Data 
Required 



Party to 
Provide 



Party The Participant ID whose relationship (Role) with the 
NMI is defined in this table. 



MANDATORY LNSP 



NMI NMI. This number is unique for each connection point.  MANDATORY LNSP 



Role This defines the relationship (Role) of the Participant 
with the NMI in this table. 



MANDATORY LNSP 



FromDate Start date of the record. This indicates the date on 
which the parameters of this particular record apply 
from. 
The data applies from the beginning of this date (the 
start of the day, i.e. 00:00). 



MANDATORY Party sending 
transaction 



ToDate End date of the record. This indicates the date on which 
the parameters of this particular record end. The data 
applies until the end of this date (the end of the day, i.e. 
23:59). 
A default date of 9999-12-31 is recorded if EndDate is 
not provided. 



MANDATORY 
(Defaults to 
high date 
unless 
supplied) 



System 
generated 
unless 
supplied. 



RowStatus  Indicates whether the record is active or inactive. 
Whenever a new record is created, it will be A (Active). 
A change to the data will make this record redundant 
and its MaintActFlg is changed to I (Inactive).  



MANDATORY System 
generated 



MaintenanceDate Date and time the record was updated. 
A default date of 9999-12-31 is used when the record is 
created initially. 
If the record is subsequently updated, its MaintUpdtDt 
is changed to the date and time the record was 
updated. 



MANDATORY System 
generated 



CreationDate Date and time the record was created. MANDATORY System 
generated 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 42 of 55 
 



In some cases, such as date fields, the format of the field is shown differently in the Browser to that 
used in the related aseXML transactions.  Also, aseXML uses full words throughout, rather than the 
coded values used in the Browser.   



Section 16 provides data type conventions of the Browser formats shown in this section. 



 



Table 22 CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS- Browser 



 



  



Browser Field Name aseXML Data Element 
Name 



aseXML Path Browser Format aseXML Data Type 



Participant ID Party Party VARCHAR2(10) xsd:string 



NMI NMI NMI CHAR(10) xsd:string 
maxLen = 10 



Role Role Role VARCHAR2(4) xsd:string 
maxLen = 4 



Start Date FromDate FromDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



End Date ToDate ToDate dd-mmm-yyyy xsd:dateTime 



Updated On MaintenanceDate MaintenanceDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 
dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Created On CreationDate CreationDate dd-mmm-yyyy 
(summary screen) 
dd-mmm-yyyy 
hh:mm:ss 
(detail screen) 



xsd:dateTime 



Activity Status RowStatus RowStatus CHAR(1) xsd:string 
with enumeration 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 43 of 55 
 



11. REFERENCE TABLES 
 



Table 23 Valid Aggregate Codes 



Aggregate Description 



Y Customer load. 



N Generator NMI. 



 



Table 24 Valid Consumption Type Codes 



Consumptiontype Description 



A Actual Consumption. 



C Cumulative Consumption. 



 



Table 25 Valid Datastream Type Codes 



Datastreamtype Description Datastream suffix (as per NMI Procedure) 



I Interval Datastream included in NEM 
Settlement process. 



A, D, B, E, N 



C  Consumption Datastream is included in NEM 
Settlement Process. 



First character is 1 to 9 



P Profile Datastream included in NEM Profile 
calculations (Sample meters only). 



E, N 



N Interval Datastream is not to be included in the 
NEM Settlement process or NEM Profile 
calculations. 



J, P, S, K, Q, T, G, H, M, V, C, F, L, R, U, Y, 
W, Z, X  
 
A,D,B,E when not used for NEM 
Settlements (e.g. Vic TUOS) 



 



Table 26 Valid Profile Codes 



ProfileName Description 



NSLP Net System Load Profile. 
The profile is calculated by MSATS. NSLP represents the system load after 
all actual interval metering data or specified previously-calculated profiled 
metering data that is not dependent on the NSLP has been subtracted from 
a known total system load and represents system-wide usage by 
consumption-type metering installations. 



CLOADNSWCE Controlled Load profile: Country Energy. (Now Essential Energy)  
Profile Names beginning with CLOAD are Controlled Load profiles. 
Controlled Load profiles are applied to Controlled Load Datastreams in 
NSW. There is one Controlled Load profile for each LNSP area. The names 
all begin with CLOADNSW to indicate that they are NSW Profile Names 
followed by two characters to indicate the LNSP area to which it belongs 
(e.g. EA = EnergyAustralia). 



CLOADNSWEA Controlled Load profile: EnergyAustralia (Now Ausgrid). 



CLOADNSWIE Controlled Load profile: IntegralEnergy (Now Endeavour Energy) 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 44 of 55 
 



ProfileName Description 



QLDEGXCL31 Controlled Load profile Energex tariff 31 



QLDEGXCL33 Controlled Load profile Energex tariff 33 



SACLOAD South Australian Controlled Load. 



NOPROF Used for interval Datastream types (to indicate that such Datastreams do 
not need to be profiled to obtain ‘readings’ for each settlements interval 
because the data is supplied in 30-minute intervals). 



 



Note: Refer to the MSATS CATS Procedure section 4 for details on the valid codes for the 
following: 



 Jurisdiction Codes 
 Metering Installation Type Codes 
 NMI Classification Codes 
 NMI Status Codes 
 Datastream Status Codes 



  











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 45 of 55 
 



12. USE OF NMI SUFFIX TO POPULATE CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 
 



For any particular connection point there may be multiple energy measurement elements and data 
recorders with multiple channels. Accurate identification of Datastreams is essential.  



The NMI Procedure includes the requirements for structure of both the Suffix populated in the 
CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table and the ElectricityDataStream Suffix populated in the 
CATS_DATA_STREAM table.   



The illustrations below provide context to the relationships between ‘Suffix’ across the MDFF 
Specification and CATS Procedures (specifically the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table and 
CATS_DATA_STREAM tables). 



Example of an Accumulated Meter ‘Suffix’  



CATS_REGISTER_IDEN TIFIER
‘Suffix’ = ‘11’, ‘21’, ‘42’



CATS_NMI_DATA_STR EAM
‘Electricity/DataStreamSuffix’ = 



‘11’, ‘21’, ‘42’



MDFF Specification  (NEM13)
‘MDMDataStreamIdentifier’ = 



‘11’, ‘21’,  ‘42’



MDFF Specification (NEM13)
‘NMISuffix’ = ‘11’, ‘21’, ‘42’



CATS_REGISTER_IDEN TIFIER
‘RegisterID’ =  ‘1’, ‘01’, ‘11’



CATS_METER_REGISTER
‘InstallationTypeCo de’ =  



‘BASIC’



In this scenario,  this relationship 
creates a ‘link’ between Standing 
Data & Meter Data



Referred to as ‘MDMContributorySuffix’ in MDFF 
Specification prior to 1/7/21



In this scenario, AEMO do not refer to this MDFF field as the 
Registers can be determined from the CATS_Data_Stream 
table directly



 Accumulated DataStreams in CATS_DATA_STREAM table



 



Example of an Interval Meter ‘Suffix’ – Net DataStreams 



CATS_REGISTER_IDEN TIFIER
‘Suffix’ = ‘E1’, ‘B1’, ‘Q1’, 



‘K1’



CATS_NMI_DATA_STR EAM
‘Electricity/



DataStreamSuffix’ =  ‘N1’



MDFF Specification (NEM12)
‘MDMDataStreamIdentifier’ 



= ‘N1’



MDFF Specification (NEM12)
‘NMISuffix’ = ‘E1’, ‘B1’, ‘Q1’, 



‘K1’



CATS_REGISTER_IDEN TIFIER
‘RegisterID’ = ‘E1’, ‘B1’, 



‘Q1’, ‘K1’



Referred to as ‘MDMContributorySuffix’ in MDFF Specification prior to 1/7/21



In this scenario and in order to determine which registers contribute to the ‘Net’,  AEMO 
require this MDFF field to be mandatorily updated with standing data as populated in the 
CATS_Data_Stream table.   i.e. ‘Net’



In this scenario and where the content of the CATS_DATA_STREAM
‘DataStreamSuffix’  and MDFF Specification
‘MDMDataStreamIdentifier’ fields do not match,  AEMO will disregard any meter data sent 
and will estimate data for NEM Settlements.  Standing Data ‘Mismatches’ will be reported in 
the RM39 ‘Orphaned Reads’ report. 



CATS_METER_REGISTER



‘InstallationTypeCode’ =  
‘COMMS%’, ‘MRAM’, 
‘MRIM’, ‘NCONUML’, 



‘PROF’, ‘SAMPLE’, ‘UMCP’, 
‘VICAMI’



In this scenario, this relationship 
defines the registers that 
contribute to the ‘N’



 ‘Net’ DataStreams in CATS_DATA_STREAM table



 



Example of an Interval Meter “Suffix” – Register Level DataStreams 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 46 of 55 
 



CATS_REGISTER_IDEN TIFIER
‘Suffix’ = ‘E1’, ‘B1’, ‘Q1’, 



‘K1’



CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM
‘Electricity/DataStreamSuffix’ = 



‘E1’, ‘B1’, ‘Q1’, ‘K1’



MDFF Specification (NEM12)
‘MDMDataStreamIdentifier’ 



= ‘E1’, ‘B1’, ‘Q1’, ‘K1’



MDFF Specification (NEM12)
‘NMISuffix’ = ‘E1’, ‘B1’, ‘Q1’, 



‘K1’



CATS_REGISTER_IDEN TIFIER
‘RegisterID’ = ‘E1’, ‘B1’, 



‘Q1’, ‘K1’



Referred to as ‘MDMContributorySuffix’ in MDFF 
Specification prior to 1/7/21



In this scenario, AEMO do not refer to this MDFF field as the 
Registers can be determined from the CATS_Data_Stream 
table directly



CATS_METER_REGISTER



‘InstallationTypeCode’ =  
‘COMMS%’, ‘MRAM’, 
‘MRIM’, ‘NCONUML’, 



‘PROF’, ‘SAMPLE’, ‘UMCP’, 
‘VICAMI’



In this scenario,  this relationship 
creates a ‘link’ between Standing 
Data & Meter Data



Register Level DataStreams in CATS_DATA_STREAM table



 



Note:  



 A record must be created in the CATS_REGISTER_TABLE for each register required for settlements, 
profiling and UFE calculations. 



 An ElectricityDataStream Suffix must be created for all individual DataStreams required for NEM 
Settlement calculations, profile peeloff, UFE analysis and Vic TUOS sites. 



The NMI Procedure includes the requirements for the use of a suffix to the NMI that identifies 
these Datastreams.  The DataStreamSuffix detailed in the NMI Procedure provides identification at 
the measurement element level for all Datastreams from the connection point identified by the 
NMI.  The DataStreamSuffix is commonly known as the NMISuffix.  The NMISuffix is labelled as 
‘Suffix’ in the Browser and is the ElectricityDataStream/Suffix data element in aseXML. 



The NMISuffix was first used in the NMI Procedure to describe, in conjunction with the NMI, the 
data transferred from the MDP to AEMO and Participants for settlements. The NMISuffix was 
further extended to describe Datastreams in MSATS, and numeric suffixes were developed to 
describe the data from type 6 metering installations. 



In MSATS, the NMISuffix is used in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table to describe the data as 
delivered to AEMO. For settlements purposes this data must be ‘NET’ [Export from network, less 
import to network] and will be ‘Nx’ for an interval Datastream, or numeric for an Accumulation 
Meter. 



In MSATS release 2.0 a new table, CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER, was introduced to link identifiers 
for the source meter register(s) to the Datastream suffix in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. 
The purpose of the table is to enable the alignment of the data held in MSATS and the data being 
transferred between Participants in the B2B process. 



This link is achieved through the RegisterID (which describes the data source at the metering 
installation) and ElectricityDataStream/Suffix (which describes the NMISuffix to which the 
RegisterID contributes) data elements. This is a many-to-one relationship, i.e. there may be 
multiple RegisterID values for each ElectricityDataStream/Suffix value in the 
CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table. 



 The RegisterID identifies the measurement element and type of measurement for an Interval 
Meter, and identifies the location of a stored energy value in an Accumulation Meter. 



 The ElectricityDataStream/Suffix value in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table identifies the 
Datastream registered in MSATS. For settlements purposes, Interval Meter Datastreams will be 
the NET suffix (format Nx) and for Accumulation Meter Datastreams the suffix value is numeric.  











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 47 of 55 
 



MSATS requires data to be delivered against this suffix (if the Datastream is ACTIVE).  MSATS 
does not validate the values entered in this field. 



 The ElectricityDataStream/Suffix value in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table identifies the 
individual Datastream(s) contributing to the ElectricityDataStream/Suffix value in the 
CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. For interval Datastreams, the suffix(es) will indicate the 
individual Datastream(s) contributing to the Nx Suffix value in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 
table where the DataStreamType is P or I (Refer section 14for examples). For accumulation 
Datastreams the value will be numeric and will be identical to the related Suffix value in the 
CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table (refer section 13 for examples). 



 The ElectricityDataStream/Suffix values used in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table are used 
to identify metering data contained in MDFF Files (in the NMISuffix field).  



 The linkage between the RegisterID and ElectricityDataStream/Suffix exists because the 
ElectricityDataStream/Suffix data element is populated in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table. 



 The RegisterID data element has no standard format; therefore, the MPB must determine the 
appropriate population of this field, e.g. it may be used to indicate the programming code of 
the register. 



There is an inconsistent understanding across industry of the meaning of the terms ‘register’ and 
‘datastream’. Conventionally, to field metering personnel, a ‘register’ contains a single value, while 
a ‘datastream’ represents an array of time separated register values in chronological order. 



For Accumulation Meters, the RegisterID refers to the non-volatile storage of the cumulative 
energy register(s). The RegisterID will have identification with the displays of the meters, or 
identification of internal data stores.  



For Accumulation Meters, the ElectricityDataStream/Suffix data element in the 
CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table may have a many-to-one relationship with the 
ElectricityDataStream/Suffix data element in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table.  That is, the same 
Suffix may occur several times in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table and occur once only in the 
CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table.For Interval Meters, the definition of the RegisterID field is less 
obvious. To make this field useful, the RegisterID should be associated with the 
ElectricityDataStream/Suffix. As Interval Meters may have multiple measurement elements and there 
may be multiple meters for a NMI, the MDP must manage Datastreams against a NMI to avoid 
duplication of ElectricityDataStream/Suffixes and provide correct mapping of RegisterIDs.  











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 48 of 55 
 



13. ASSIGNMENT OF DATA – ACCUMULATION METERS 
 



This section details examples of the assignment of data for various basic metering installations.  For 
Accumulation Meters, the Suffix values in CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER and 
CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM tables are always numeric. 



13.1. Single Meter, no controlled load 
 



An Accumulation Meter with a single register measuring a Non-Controlled Load will have a single 
Datastream suffix 11 for the NMI. 



Table 27 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 



Value 0123456789 11 A C 



 



The CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table indicates that the meter has only one register. The Suffix in 
the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER ‘11’ denotes that data from RegisterID 01 contributes to the 
Datastream identified by Suffix 11 in CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. 



Table 28 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER  



Data Element: Serial 
Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 
Load 



Value ABCD1111 01 KWH ALLDAY 11 No 



 



The ElectricityDataStream Suffix in CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table will be recorded as ‘11’ by the 
MDP and the Suffix in CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table must then be ‘11’. 



13.2. Two Single Element Meters, no controlled load 
 



The NMI has two Accumulation Meters, each meter with single register. The data from the two 
meters will be submitted to MSATS as two Datastreams. 



Table 29 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 



Values 0123456789 11 A C 



0123456789 12 A C 



Table 30 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 
Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 
Load 



Values ABCD1111 01 KWH ALLDAY 11 No 



XYZA1112 01 KWH ALLDAY 12 No 



 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 49 of 55 
 



13.3. Two Single Element Meters, one with controlled load 
 



A NMI has two Accumulation Meters, each meter has a single register, and one meter is measuring 
a Controlled Load. The data from the two meters is submitted to MSATS as two 
ElectricityDataStream Suffixes.  



Table 31 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 



Values 0123456789 11 A C 



0123456789 42 A C 



Table 32 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 
Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 
Load 



Values 



 



ABCD1111 01 KWH TOTAL 11 No 



XYZA1112 01 KWH CL1 42 HWLoad 



13.4. One Meter with Two Registers, one measuring a controlled load 
NMI has one Accumulation Meter with two registers. The second register is measuring a 
Controlled Load. 



Table 33 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 



Values 0123456789 11 A C 



0123456789 41 A C 



Table 34 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 
Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 
Load 



Value 



 



ABCD1111 01 KWH PEAK 11 No 



ABCD1111 02 KWH CL1 41 HWLoad 
 



13.5. Single Multi-function Meter 
 



Accumulation Meter has 4 registers, one register being a Controlled Load. 



Table 35 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 



Values 



 



0123456789 11 A C 



0123456789 21 I C 



0123456789 31 A C 



0123456789 41 A C 



 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 50 of 55 
 



Each register is separately identified in CATS_NMI_Data_Stream. However, register 2 on meter 1 is 
inactive in MSATS. 



Table 36 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 
Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 
Load 



Values 



 



ABCD1111 01 KWH ALLDAY 11 No 



ABCD1111 02 KWH NOTUSED 21 No 



ABCD1111 03 KWH OFFPEAK 31 No 



ABCD1111 04 KWH CL1 41 HWLoad 



13.6. Two meters, three registers. One register measures a controlled load 



Table 37 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 
 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 



Values 



 



0123456789 11 A C 



0123456789 21 A C 



0123456789 42 A C 



Table 38 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 
Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix Controlled 
Load 



Values 



 



ABCD1111 01 KWH PEAK 11 No 



ABCD1111 02 KWH OFFPEAK 21 No 



XYZA1112 01 KWH CL1 42 HWLoad 



 



  











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 51 of 55 
 



14. ASSIGNMENT OF DATA – INTERVAL METERS 
 



This section details examples of the assignment of data for various Interval Meters.   



14.1. One meter 



Table 39 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 
 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 



Value 0123456789 E1 A I 



 



The CATS_Register_Identifier table indicates that the meter has only one register. The Suffix in the 
CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER [E1] denotes that data from RegisterID 01 contributes to the 
ElectricityDataStream  Suffix identified by Suffix E1 in the CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table. 



 



Table 40 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 
Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 



Value ABCD1111 E1 KWH INTERVAL E1 



E1 indicates that it is a single element measuring export. 



 



14.2. Import/Export meter 
 



Interval Meter has a two registers, registering import and export energy.  Multiple 
ElectricityDataStream Suffixes (E1 and B1) are defined for the NMI. 



Table 41 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 



Value 0123456789 E1 A I 



Value 0123456789 B1 A I 



 



The CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table indicates that the meter has two registers, one for IMPORT 
and one for EXPORT. 



The Suffixes in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER denote that data from RegisterIDs ‘E1’ and ‘B1’ align 
with the ElectricityDataStream Suffixes identified in theCATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM table.   



Table 42  Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 
Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 



Values ABCD1111 E1 KWH INTERVAL E1 



ABCD1111 B1 KWH INTERVAL B1 



Only one RegisterID with the Suffix ‘E1’ permitted per meter in CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER. 



Only one RegisterID with the Suffix ‘B1’ permitted per meter in CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER. 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 52 of 55 
 



14.3. One meter: multiple registers 
Interval Meter has a single measurement element registering import and export energy, reactive 
and voltage. 



Table 43 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 



Value 0123456789 E1 A I 



Value 0123456789 B1 A I 



Value 0123456789 Q1 A N 



Value 0123456789 K1 A N 



The CATS_Register_Identifier table indicates that the meter has five registers: two for IMPORT of 
energy and reactive; two for EXPORT of energy and reactive; and one for voltage monitoring. 



Table 44 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 
Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 



Values ABCD1111 E1 KWH INTERVAL E1 



ABCD1111 B1 KWH INTERVAL B1 



ABCD1111 Q1 KVARH INTERVAL Q1 



ABCD1111 K1 KVARH INTERVAL K1 



ABCD1111 V1 VOLTS INTERVAL V1 



14.4. One meter: Twin Measurement Elements 
 



Certain multifunction meters have the capability for initial installation as an Accumulation Meter, 
but can be re-programmed to provide interval metering data.  



The NER do not permit the use of two different types of metering installation on the one NMI, and 
therefore these two metering functions MUST NOT be active simultaneously in MSATS. The MDP 
and MC will be held accountable for a breach of this requirement. 



The CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER can be used to record the meter capability. 



 



The CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table values for this meter when it is operated as an Interval 
Meter are shown below. The RegisterID for the Accumulation Meter registers in this type of meter 
are user defined. The Interval Meter suffixes must be added to the NMI and made active, and the 
basic Suffixes made inactive at the same date. 



Table 45 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 
 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 



Values 0123456789 E1 A I 



0123456789 E2 A I 



0123456789 11 I C 



0123456789 21 I C 











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 53 of 55 
 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 



0123456789 31 I C 



0123456789 41 I C 



 



Table 46 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 
Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 



Values AB888888 E1 KWH INTERVAL E1 



AB888888 E2 KWH INTERVAL E2 



AB888888 11 KWH PEAK 11 



AB888888 21 KWH OFFPEAK 21 



AB888888 31 KWH PEAK 31 



AB888888 41 KWH OFFPEAK 41 



If a second meter of the same configuration were established on this NMI, ‘E3’ and ‘E4’ RegisterIDs 
in the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table and ElectricityDataStream Suffixes in the 
CATS_DATA_STREAM table would be required in order  to provide unambiguous identification of 
Datastreams. 



14.5. NCONUML and UMCP 
 



Table 47 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 
 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 



Values 1144885588 E1 A I 



 



Table 48 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: Serial 
Number 



RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 



Values Dummy 
Value 



E1 KWH INTERVAL E1 



 



  











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 54 of 55 
 



15. ASSIGNMENTS OF DATA – SAMPLE METERS  
 



The application of profiles in accordance with the Metrology Procedure requires interval metering 
data from Sites that have Accumulation Metering. However, the NER do not permit different 
metering installation types on the one NMI, and in any case, the Participants associated with the 
interval metering data are different to those associated with the Accumulation Meter.  Therefore, 
for these connection points, two different NMIs are used. 



There are meters that can combine the required Accumulation Metering and Interval Metering 
functions.  An example is shown below. 



15.1. Multifunction Sample Meter 
 



In this case, a single meter is registered within MSATS for two purposes against two NMIs. This is a 
special case, and should not be used other than for this non-standard purpose.  The meter has two 
circuits, with Accumulation Metering for energy trading and Interval Metering for the sample 
profile. 



In this example, NMI 9801234567 is associated with the sample meter installation and NMI 
9876543210 with the End User installation. 



Table 49 Example CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 
 



Data Element: NMI Suffix ElectricityDataStream/Status DataStreamType 



Values 9801234567 E1 A P 



9876543210 11 I C 



9876543210 12 I C 



9876543210 41 A C 



 



Table 50 Example CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Data Element: NMI MeterSerial RegisterID UnitOfMeasure TimeOfDay Suffix 



Values 9801234567 AB888888 E1 KWH ALLDAY E1 



9876543210 AB888888 11 KWH PEAK 11 



9876543210 AB888888 12 KWH OFFPEAK 12 



9876543210 AB888888 41 KWH CL1 41 
 



  











STANDING DATA FOR MSATS 



Doc Ref:  6 February 2022 Page 55 of 55 
 



16. DATA TYPE CONVENTIONS 
 



The Browser formats used in section 16 are as defined in the following table.  



The value of “x” must be positive and cannot be zero.  



For explanation of the aseXML data types shown in section 16 refer  



http://www.w3.org/TR/xmlschema-0/#simpleTypesTable  



 



Table: Browser Formats 



 



 



 Format Definition 



1 CHAR(x) Indicates a field that can only contain alphanumeric characters and must contain 
exactly "x" characters.  Note that leading and trailing "spaces" are considered 
significant (i.e. form part of the "x" characters for the field). 



2 VARCHAR2(x) Indicates a character field containing up to "x" characters. 



3 NUMBER(x) Indicates a positive integer (zero or above) up to "x" significant digits long; any 
leading zeroes are not significant and hence "050" is equivalent to "50". 



4 NUMBER(x.y) Indicates a positive number with up to "x" significant characters to the left of the 
decimal point and "y" decimal places after the decimal point (trailing zeros are 
optional).  In other words, the maximum length of the field as a whole is "x"+"y"+1 
characters (the +1 reserving space for the decimal point).  










image6.emf

FINAL Metering 


Transition Plan - Feb 20.xlsx




FINAL Metering Transition Plan - Feb 20.xlsx

MTP


			5MS & GS METERING TRANSITION PLAN												Feb-19


			CATEGORY			SID			SUB-CATEGORY			AID			ACTIVITY			ASSUMPTIONS			RESPONSIBILITY			DEPENDENCIES			VOLUME/SIZE CONSIDERATIONS			DIRECTLY AFFECTED PARTIES			TRANSITION START DATE			TRANSITION END DATE			RULE / PROCEDURE TIMING			TRANSITION OBJECTIVE / OUTCOME			COMMENTS (by AEMO or from TFG)


			METER INSTALLATION AND RECONFIGURATION


						S01			BULK/Wholesale Meters			A1			Identify which meters need replacing or reconfiguring (specify any sites that are deemed high risk due to no access or any other risk that may not enable reconfiguration/risk and provide associated treatment)						MP									MC			At the discretion of the Participant			31-Mar-20						Wholesale meters requiring replacement or reconfiguration identified


												A2			Initial assessment of whether data storage exemptions may be required 						MP									AEMO			At the discretion of the Participant			31-Mar-20						Initial assessment of potential data storage exemptions completed


												A3			Provide visibility of approach / timeframe for required meter replacement or reconfiguration						MC									AEMO, MP			At the discretion of the Participant			31-Mar-20						Approach and timeframes visible to AEMO


												A4			Install or reconfigure meters as required						MP			S41						MC, MDP, AEMO			At the discretion of the Participant			30-Apr-21			By 1 July 2021			Wholesale meters 5min compliant			What is the contingency in situations where the meter can't be replaced or reconfigured e.g. access issue?
Readiness reporting to be leveraged to ensure appropriate progress.


												A5			Apply for data storage exemptions as required						MP									AEMO			At the discretion of the Participant			30-Apr-21			By 1 July 2021			Data storage exemptions submitted and assessed			AEMO will need to queue applications. MP's don't any issue here.


						S02			Type 1-3 meters			A6			Identify which meters need replacing or reconfiguring (specify any sites that are deemed high risk due to no access or any other risk that may not enable reconfiguration/risk and provide associated treatment)						MP									MC			At the discretion of the Participant			31-Mar-20						Type 1-3 meters requiring replacement or reconfiguration identified


												A7			Initial assessment of whether data storage exemptions may be required 						MP									AEMO			At the discretion of the Participant			31-Mar-20						Initial assessment of potential data storage exemptions completed


												A8			Provide visibility of approach / timeframe for required meter replacement or reconfiguration						MC									AEMO, MP			At the discretion of the Participant			31-Mar-20						Approach and timeframes visible to AEMO


												A9			Install or reconfigure meters as required						MP			S41						MC, MDP, AEMO			At the discretion of the Participant			30-Apr-21			By 1 July 2021			Type 1-3 meters 5min compliant			What is the contingency in situations where the meter can't be replaced or reconfigured e.g. access issue?
Readiness reporting to be leveraged to ensure appropriate progress.


												A10			Apply for data storage exemptions as required						MP									AEMO			At the discretion of the Participant			30-Apr-21			By 1 July 2021			Data storage exemptions submitted and assessed			AEMO will need to queue applications.


						S03			Subset of type 4 meters - TNI, Market Generator or SGA			A11			Identify which meters need replacing or reconfiguring (specify any sites that are deemed high risk due to no access or any other risk that may not enable reconfiguration/risk and provide associated treatment)						MP									MC, SGA			At the discretion of the Participant			31-Mar-20						Subset of type 4 meters requiring replacement or reconfiguration identified


												A12			Initial assessment of whether data storage exemptions may be required 						MP									AEMO			At the discretion of the Participant			31-Mar-20						Initial assessment of potential data storage exemptions completed


												A13			Provide visibility of approach / timeframe for required meter replacement or reconfiguration						MC									AEMO, MP			At the discretion of the Participant			31-Mar-20						Approach and timeframes visible to AEMO


												A14			Install or reconfigure meters as required						MP			S41						MC, MDP, AEMO			At the discretion of the Participant			30-Apr-21			By 1 July 2021			Subset of type 4 meters 5min compliant			What is the contingency in situations where the meter can't be replaced or reconfigured e.g. access issue?
Readiness reporting to be leveraged to ensure appropriate progress.


												A15			Apply for data storage exemptions as required						MP									AEMO			At the discretion of the Participant			30-Apr-21			By 1 July 2021			Data storage exemptions submitted and assessed			AEMO will need to queue applications.


						S04			Cross Boundary meters (Known)			A16			Identify which meters need replacing or reconfiguring (specify any sites that are deemed high risk due to no access or any other risk that may not enable reconfiguration/risk and provide associated treatment)						MP									MC, MP, LNSP			At the discretion of the Participant			31-Mar-20						Cross boundary meters which need to be installed, replaced or reconfigured identified			One of the LNSPs related to the Cross Boundary connection point will be the MC from 6 Feb 2022, however the LNSPs will need to engage a competitive MC, as a transitional measure, before that date.


												A17			Determine and engage Metering Coordinator (after Global Settlement market commencement on 6 February 2022)						LNSP									MC, LNSP			At the discretion of the Participant			30-Jun-21						Ensure that a MC is appointed for cross boundary NMIs after Global Settlements commencement


												A18			Initial assessment of whether data storage exemptions may be required 						MP									AEMO			At the discretion of the Participant			31-Mar-20						Initial assessment of potential data storage exemptions completed


												A19			Provide visibility of approach / timeframe for required meter replacement or reconfiguration						MC									AEMO, MP			At the discretion of the Participant			31-Mar-20						Approach and timeframes visible to AEMO


												A20			Install or reconfigure meters as required						MP			S41						MC, MDP, AEMO			At the discretion of the Participant			30-Apr-21			By 1 July 2021			All applicable cross boundary meters 5min compliant			What is the contingency in situations where the meter can't be replaced or reconfigured e.g. access issue?
Readiness reporting to be leveraged to ensure appropriate progress.


												A21			Apply for data storage exemptions as required						MP									AEMO			At the discretion of the Participant			30-Apr-21			By 1 July 2021			Data storage exemptions submitted and assessed			AEMO will need to queue applications.


						S05			Cross Boundary meters (Unknown)			A22			Identify which meters need to be installed, replaced or reconfigured						MP									MC, MP, LNSP			At the discretion of the Participant			1-Jul-20						Cross boundary meters which need to be installed, replaced or reconfigured identified			One of the LNSPs related to the Cross Boundary connection point will be the MC from 6 Feb 2022, however the LNSPs will need to engage a competitive MC, as a transitional measure, before that date.


												A23			Provide visibility of approach / timeframe for required meter replacement or reconfiguration						MC									AEMO, MP			At the discretion of the Participant			31-Dec-20						Approach and timeframes visible to AEMO


												A24			Install or reconfigure meters as required						MP			S41						MC, MDP, AEMO			At the discretion of the Participant			30-Jun-21			By 1 July 2021			All applicable cross boundary meters 5min compliant


						S06			New and replacement Type 4 			A25			Install 5-minute capable meters as required (BAU)						MP			S41, S42						MP, MDP, Retailer
LNSP, Affected Customer, AEMO			N/A			N/A			From 1 Dec 2018						BAU process from 1 Dec 2018


						S07			New and replacement Type 4A			A26			Install 5-minute capable meters as required (BAU)						MP			S41, S42						MP, MDP, Retailer
NSP, Affected Customer, AEMO			N/A			N/A			From 1 Dec 2019						BAU process from 1 Dec 2019


						S08			New and replacement VIC AMI meters 			A27			Install 5-minute capable meters as required (BAU)						MP			S41, S42						MP, MDP, Retailer
NSP, Affected Customer, AEMO			N/A			N/A			From 1 Dec 2018						BAU process from 1 Dec 2018


						S09			New and replacement SAMPLE Meters			A28			Install 5-minute capable meters as required (BAU)						MP			S41, S42						MP, MDP, Retailer
NSP, Affected Customer, AEMO			N/A			N/A			From 1 Dec 2018						BAU process from 1 Dec 2018


						S10			Pre-1 Dec 2018/19 Type 4, 4A and SAMPLE meters			A29			Install 5-minute capable meters as required (BAU)						MP			S41, S42						MP, MDP, Retailer
NSP, Affected Customer, AEMO			N/A			N/A			From 1 Dec 2018/19						BAU process now


						S11			SCADA Data			A30			Creation of 5 minute metering data based on SCADA data						AEMO									AEMO, MDP			At the discretion of AEMO			6-Dec-20									Will SCADA DATA be provided in 5m and when if the MDP stats sending prior to 1 Jul 2021


						S12			Special Site			A31			Change in the current calculation to 5 minute granularity						AEMO									AEMO, MDP			At the discretion of AEMO			6-Dec-20									AEMO need to review Special site calculations


			METER DATA DELIVERY


						S13			BULK/Wholesale Meters			A32			Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 between NSP, Retailer, MDP and AEMO						MDP			S01, S43						NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, MP, AEMO			At the discretion of the Applicable Participants			28-Feb-21			By 1 July 2021			Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement			MP to provide confirmation of which meters can be included in an agreement


												A33			5min metering data delivered to Participants (B2B)						MDP			S01, S43						NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO			Subject to the terms of the Agreement			31-May-21 (subject to the terms of the applicable Agreement)			By 1 July 2021			MDPs delivering 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement			Ensure MDP aggregation capability in place to support 30min trading interval length up until 1 July 2021


												A34			Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 for B2M purposes						MDP			S01, S43						AEMO, MDP			At the discretion of AEMO and the  Participant			28-Feb-21			By 1 July 2021			Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement			MP to provide confirmation of which meters can be included in an agreement


												A35			5min metering data delivered to AEMO (MDFF)
(Export and import (active (kWh) and reactive (kVArh)) energy metering data as applicable) 						MDP			S01, S43						AEMO, MDP			1-Feb-21			31-May-21			By 1 July 2021			MDPs delivering 5min metering data to AEMO to support five-minute settlement			AEMO aggregation capability needs to be in place for 5 and 15min meter data delivery pre-1 July 2021


												A36			Create/activate export and import (active (kWh) and reactive (kVArh)) energy datastreams in CNDS table						MDP			S01						AEMO, NSP			Implementation date of AEMO's new MDM			31-May-21			By 1 July 2021			Register level datastreams active in CNDS table as per AEMO procedures


						S14			Type 1-3, subset of 4 			A37			Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 between NSP, Retailer, MDP and AEMO						MDP			S02, S03, S43						NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO			At the discretion of the Applicable Participants			28-Feb-21			By 1 July 2021			Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement			Should a NMI churn to a Retailer who does not have an agreement to receive 5min data, an agreement would need to be established or the MDP must deliver 30min data as per the Rules pre 1 July 2021.


												A38			5min metering data delivered to Participants (B2B)						MDP			S02, S03, S43						NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO			Subject to the terms of the Agreement			31-May-21 (subject to the terms of the applicable Agreement)			By 1 July 2021			MDPs delivering 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement			Ensure MDP aggregation capability in place to support 30min trading interval length up until 1 July 2021


												A39			Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 for B2M purposes						MDP			S02, S03, S43						AEMO, MDP			At the discretion of AEMO and the  Participant			28-Feb-21			By 1 July 2021			Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement			MP to provide confirmation of which meters can be included in an agreement


												A40			Create/activate export and import (active (kWh) and reactive (kVArh)) energy datastreams in CNDS table						MDP			S02, S03						NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO			Implementation date of AEMO's new MDM			31-May-21			By 1 July 2021			Register level datastreams active in CNDS table as per AEMO procedures


												A41			5min metering data delivered to AEMO (MDFF)
(Export and import (active (kWh) and reactive (kVArh)) energy metering data as applicable) 						MDP			S02, S03, S43						AEMO, MDP			1-Feb-21			31-May-21			By 1 July 2021			MDPs delivering 5min metering data to AEMO to support five-minute settlement			AEMO aggregation capability needs to be in place for 5 and 15min meter data delivery pre-1 July 2021


						S15			Cross Boundary meters (Known)			A42			Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 between NSP, Retailer, MDP and AEMO						MDP			S04, S43						NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO			At the discretion of the Applicable Participants			28-Feb-21			By 1 July 2021			Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement			These NMIs will not churn because the FRMP and LR will be  the LRs for the  two Distribution Networks related to the Cross Boundary connection point.


												A43			5min metering data delivered to Participants (B2B)						MDP			S04, S43						NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO			Subject to the terms of the Agreement			31-May-21 (subject to the terms of the applicable Agreement)			By 1 July 2021			MDPs delivering metering data to support Global Settlement Calculations			Ensure MDP aggregation capability in place to support 30min trading interval length up until 1 July 2021


												A44			Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 for B2M purposes						MDP			S04, S43						AEMO, MDP			At the discretion of AEMO and the  Participant			28-Feb-21			By 1 July 2021			Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement			MP to provide confirmation of which meters can be included in an agreement


												A45			Create/activate export and import (active (kWh) and reactive (kVArh)) energy datastreams in CNDS table						MDP			S04						NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO			Implementation date of AEMO's new MDM			31-May-21			By 1 July 2021			Register level datastreams active in CNDS table as per AEMO procedures


												A46			5min metering data delivered to AEMO (MDFF)
(Export and import (active (kWh) and reactive (kVArh)) energy metering data as applicable) 						MDP			S04, S43						AEMO, MDP			1-Feb-21			31-May-21			By 1 July 2021			MDPs delivering metering data to support Global Settlement Calculations			AEMO aggregation capability needs to be in place for 5 and 15min meter data delivery pre-1 July 2021


						S16			Cross Boundary meters (Unknown)			A47			Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 between NSP, Retailer, MDP and AEMO						MDP			S05, S43						NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO			At the discretion of the Applicable Participants			28-Feb-21			By 1 July 2021			Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement			These NMIs will not churn because the FRMP and LR will be  the LRs for the  two Distribution Networks related to the Cross Boundary connection point.


												A48			5min metering data delivered to Participants (B2B)						MDP			S05, S43						NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO			Subject to the terms of the Agreement			31-May-21 (subject to the terms of the applicable Agreement)			By 1 July 2021			MDPs delivering metering data to support Global Settlement Calculations			Ensure MDP aggregation capability in place to support 30min trading interval length up until 1 July 2021


												A49			Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 for B2M purposes						MDP			S05, S43						AEMO, MDP			At the discretion of AEMO and the  Participant			28-Feb-21			By 1 July 2021			Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement			MP to provide confirmation of which meters can be included in an agreement


												A50			5min metering data delivered to AEMO (MDFF)
(Export and import (active (kWh) and reactive (kVArh)) energy metering data as applicable) 						MDP			S05, S43						AEMO, MDP			1-Feb-21			31-May-21			By 1 July 2021			MDPs delivering metering data to support Global Settlement Calculations			AEMO aggregation capability needs to be in place for 5 and 15min meter data delivery pre-1 July 2021


												A51			Create/activate export and import (active (kWh) and reactive (kVArh)) energy datastreams in CNDS table						MDP			S05						NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO			Implementation date of AEMO's new MDM			31-May-21			By 1 July 2021			Register level datastreams active in CNDS table as per AEMO procedures


						S17			New and replacement Type 4 			A52			Provide forward plan to AEMO and industry						MDP									NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO			At the discretion of the Participant			1-Jul-20						Approach and timeframes visible to affected parties			Should a NMI churn to a Retailer who does not have an agreement to receive 5min data, an agreement would need to be established or the MDP must deliver 30min data as per the Rules pre 1 July 2021.


												A53			Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 between NSP, Retailer, MDP and AEMO						MDP			S06, S43						NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO			At the discretion of the Applicable Participants			28-Feb-21			By 1 Dec 2022			Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement			Should a NMI churn to a Retailer who does not have an agreement to receive 5min data, an agreement would need to be established or the MDP must deliver 30min data as per the Rules pre 1 July 2021.


												A54			5min metering data delivered to Participants (B2B)						MDP			S06, S43, S44						NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO			Subject to the terms of the Agreement			31-May-21 (subject to the terms of the applicable Agreement)			By 1 Dec 2022			MDPs delivering 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement			Ensure MDP aggregation capability in place to support 30min trading interval length up until 1 July 2021


												A55			Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 for B2M purposes						MDP			S06, S43						AEMO, MDP			At the discretion of AEMO and the  Participant			28-Feb-21			By 1 Dec 2022			Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement			MP to provide confirmation of which meters can be included in an agreement


												A56			5min metering data delivered to AEMO (MDFF)
(Export and import (active (kWh) and reactive (kVArh)) energy metering data as applicable) 						MDP			S06, S43, S44						AEMO, MDP			1-Feb-21			31-May-21			By 1 Dec 2022			MDPs delivering 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement			AEMO aggregation capability needs to be in place for 5 and 15min meter data delivery pre-1 July 2021


												A57			Create/activate export and import (active (kWh) and reactive (kVArh)) energy datastreams in CNDS table						MDP			S06						NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO			Implementation date of AEMO's new MDM			31-May-21			By 1 Dec 2022			Register level datastreams active in CNDS table as per AEMO procedures


						S18			New and replacement Type 4A			A58			Provide forward plan to AEMO and industry						MDP									NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO			At the discretion of the Participant			1-Jul-20						Approach and timeframes visible to affected parties			Should a NMI churn to a Retailer who does not have an agreement to receive 5min data, an agreement would need to be established or the MDP must deliver 30min data as per the Rules pre 1 July 2021.


												A59			Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 between NSP, Retailer, MDP and AEMO						MDP			S07, S43						NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO			At the discretion of the Applicable Participants			28-Feb-21			By 1 Dec 2022			Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement			Should a NMI churn to a Retailer who does not have an agreement to receive 5min data, an agreement would need to be established or the MDP must deliver 30min data as per the Rules pre 1 July 2021.


												A60			5min metering data delivered to Participants (B2B)						MDP			S07, S43, S44						NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO			Subject to the terms of the Agreement			31-May-21 (subject to the terms of the applicable Agreement)			By 1 Dec 2022			MDPs delivering 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement			Ensure MDP aggregation capability in place to support 30min trading interval length up until 1 July 2021


												A61			Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 for B2M purposes						MDP			S07, S43						AEMO, MDP			At the discretion of AEMO and the  Participant			28-Feb-21			By 1 Dec 2022			Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement			MP to provide confirmation of which meters can be included in an agreement


												A62			5min metering data delivered to AEMO (MDFF)
(Export and import (active (kWh) and reactive (kVArh)) energy metering data as applicable) 						MDP			S07, S43, S44						AEMO, MDP			1-Feb-21			31-May-21			By 1 Dec 2022			MDPs delivering 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement			AEMO aggregation capability needs to be in place for 5 and 15min meter data delivery pre-1 July 2021


												A63			Create/activate export and import (active (kWh) and reactive (kVArh)) energy datastreams in CNDS table						MDP			S07						NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO			Implementation date of AEMO's new MDM			31-May-21			By 1 Dec 2022			Register level datastreams active in CNDS table as per AEMO procedures


						S19			New and replacement VIC AMI meters 			A64			Provide forward plan to AEMO and industry						MDP									AEMO, FRMP, LNSP			At the discretion of the Participant			1-Jul-20						Approach and timeframes visible to affected parties			Should a NMI churn to a Retailer who does not have an agreement to receive 5min data, an agreement would need to be established or the MDP must deliver 30min data as per the Rules pre 1 July 2021.


												A65			Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 between NSP, Retailer, MDP and AEMO						MDP			S08, S43						NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO			At the discretion of the Applicable Participants			28-Feb-21			By 1 Dec 2022			Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement			Should a NMI churn to a Retailer who does not have an agreement to receive 5min data, an agreement would need to be established or the MDP must deliver 30min data as per the Rules pre 1 July 2021.


												A66			5min metering data delivered to Participants (B2B)						MDP			S08, S43, S44						NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO			Subject to the terms of the Agreement			31-May-21 (subject to the terms of the applicable Agreement)			By 1 Dec 2022			MDPs delivering 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement			Ensure MDP aggregation capability in place to support 30min trading interval length up until 1 July 2021


												A67			Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 for B2M purposes						MDP			S08, S43						AEMO, MDP			At the discretion of AEMO and the  Participant			28-Feb-21			By 1 Dec 2022			Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement			MP to provide confirmation of which meters can be included in an agreement


												A68			5min metering data delivered to AEMO (MDFF)
(Export and import (active (kWh) and reactive (kVArh)) energy metering data as applicable) 						MDP			S08, S43, S44						AEMO, MDP			1-Feb-21			31-May-21			By 1 Dec 2022			MDPs delivering 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement			AEMO aggregation capability needs to be in place for 5 and 15min meter data delivery pre-1 July 2021


												A69			Create/activate export and import (active (kWh) and reactive (kVArh)) energy datastreams in CNDS table						MDP			S08						NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO			Implementation date of AEMO's new MDM			31-May-21			By 1 Dec 2022			Register level datastreams active in CNDS table as per AEMO procedures


						S20			New and replacement SAMPLE Meters			A70			Provide forward plan to AEMO and industry						MDP									AEMO, FRMP, LNSP			At the discretion of the Participant			1-Jul-20						Approach and timeframes visible to affected parties			Should a NMI churn to a Retailer who does not have an agreement to receive 5min data, an agreement would need to be established or the MDP must deliver 30min data as per the Rules pre 1 July 2021.


												A71			Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 between NSP, Retailer, MDP and AEMO						MDP			S09, S43						NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO			At the discretion of the Applicable Participants			28-Feb-21			By 1 Dec 2022			Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement			Should a NMI churn to a Retailer who does not have an agreement to receive 5min data, an agreement would need to be established or the MDP must deliver 30min data as per the Rules pre 1 July 2021.


												A72			5min metering data delivered to Participants (B2B)						MDP			S09, S43, S44						NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO			Subject to the terms of the Agreement			31-May-21 (subject to the terms of the applicable Agreement)			By 1 Dec 2022			MDPs delivering 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement			Activity deleted. Only participant that receives this information is AEMO.


												A73			Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 for B2M purposes						MDP			S09, S43						AEMO, MDP			At the discretion of AEMO and the  Participant			28-Feb-21			By 1 Dec 2022			Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement			MP to provide confirmation of which meters can be included in an agreement


												A74			5min metering data delivered to AEMO (MDFF)
(Export and import (active (kWh) and reactive (kVArh)) energy metering data as applicable) 						MDP			S09, S43, S44						AEMO, MDP			1-Feb-21			31-May-21			By 1 Dec 2022			MDPs delivering 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement			AEMO aggregation capability needs to be in place for 5 and 15min meter data delivery pre-1 July 2021


												A75			Create/activate applicable export and import (active (kWh) and reactive (kVArh)) energy datastreams in CNDS table						MDP			S09						NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO			Implementation date of AEMO's new MDM			31-May-21			By 1 Dec 2022			Register level datastreams active in CNDS table as per AEMO procedures


						S21			Pre-1 Dec 2018/19 Type 4, 4A, VICAMI and SAMPLE meters			A76			Provide forward plan to AEMO and industry						MDP									AEMO, FRMP, LNSP			At the discretion of the Participant			1-Jul-20						Approach and timeframes visible to affected parties			Should a NMI churn to a Retailer who does not have an agreement to receive 5min data, an agreement would need to be established or the MDP must deliver 30min data as per the Rules pre 1 July 2021.


												A77			Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 between NSP, Retailer, MDP and AEMO						MDP			S10, S43						NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO			At the discretion of the Applicable Participants			28-Feb-21						Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement			- Activity removed since there is no timing requirement to transition this category of meters to 5 minute data delivery


												A78			5min metering data delivered to Participants (B2B)						MDP			S10, S43, S44						NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO			Subject to the terms of the Agreement			By 1 Dec 2022
(subject to the terms of the applicable Agreement)						MDPs delivering 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement			- Activity removed since there is no timing requirement to transition this category of meters to 5 minute data delivery


												A79			Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 for B2M purposes						MDP			S10, S43						AEMO, MDP			At the discretion of AEMO and the  Participant			28-Feb-21						Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement			- Activity removed since there is no timing requirement to transition this category of meters to 5 minute data delivery


												A80			Metering data delivered to AEMO (MDFF)
(Export and import (active (kWh) and reactive (kVArh)) energy metering data as applicable) 						MDP			S10, S43, S44						AEMO, MDP			1-Feb-21			31-May-21						MDPs delivering 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement			AEMO aggregation capability needs to be in place for 5 and 15min meter data delivery pre-1 July 2021


												A81			Create/activate export and import (active (kWh) and reactive (kVArh)) energy datastreams in CNDS table						MDP			S10						NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO			Implementation date of AEMO's new MDM			31-May-21						Register level datastreams active in CNDS table as per AEMO procedures


						S22			Type 7 metering installations			A82			5min metering data delivered to Participants (B2B)						MDP			S43						FRMP, LNSP			At the discretion of the Applicable Participants			30-Jun-21			By 1 July 2021			MDPs delivering 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement


												A83			Updating Datastreams in MSATs						MDP									MDP			At the discretion of the Participant			31-May-21			By 1 July 2021


												A84			Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 between NSP, Retailer, MDP and AEMO						MDP									NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO			At the discretion of the Applicable Participants			28-Feb-21			By 1 July 2021


												A85			Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 for B2M purposes						MDP			S43						AEMO, LNSP			At the discretion of the Applicable Participants			28-Feb-21			By 1 July 2021			Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement			MDP to provide confirmation of which NMIs can be included in an agreement


												A86			5min metering data delivered to AEMO (MDFF)						MDP			S43						AEMO			Subject to the terms of the Agreement			30-Jun-21			By 1 July 2021			MDPs delivering 5min metering data to AEMO to support five-minute settlement			AEMO aggregation capability needs to be in place for 5 and 15min meter data delivery pre-1 July 2021


						S23			Non-contestable unmetered loads			A87			LNSP, MSP, FRMP(LR) and end user agree on profiles and algorithms						MDP									AEMO, FRMP, LNSP			At the discretion of the Applicable Participants			31-Dec-20						MDPs delivering metering data to support Global Settlement and UFE Calculations


												A88			Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 between NSP, Retailer, MDP and AEMO						MDP									NSP, FRMP, LR, MDP, AEMO			At the discretion of the Applicable Participants			28-Feb-21			By 1 July 2021


												A89			AEMO Metering Business approve MDP NCONUML profiles/algorithms 						MDP									AEMO, FRMP, LNSP			At the discretion of AEMO			28-Feb-21						MDPs delivering metering data to support participant billing of NCUML			Avoid potential bottleneck of approvals
MDM needs to be live
Need to consider interactions between accreditation update requirements and the NCUL approvals (AEMO and industry resourcing impacts). Reaccreditation is dependent on system changes (including NCONUML system requirements)


												A90			5min metering data delivered to Participants (B2B)						MDP			S43						FRMP, LNSP			At the discretion of the Applicable Participants			31-May-21			By 1 July 2021			MDPs delivering metering data to support participant billing of NCUML


												A91			Agreement to allow the delivery of 5min metering data pre 1 July 2021 for B2M purposes						MDP			S43						AEMO, LNSP			At the discretion of AEMO and the  Participant			28-Feb-21			By 1 July 2021			Applicable agreements in place to enable MDPs to deliver 5min metering data to Participants to support five-minute settlement			MDP to provide confirmation of which NMIs can be included in an agreement


												A92			5min metering data delivered to AEMO (MDFF)						MDP			S43						AEMO			Subject to the terms of the Agreement			31-May-21			By 1 July 2021			MDPs delivering metering data to support Global Settlement Calculations


						S24			Tier 1 basic metering data			A93			Delivery of tier 1 basic meter metering data (Actuals, Subs and Forward Estimates) to AEMO						MDP			S43						AEMO			At the discretion of the Participant			31-Mar-21			By 1 July 2021			MDPs delivering metering data to support Global Settlement Calculations			Need to ensure MDPs don't send data to the LR where the LR = GLOPOOL


						S25			Meter data delivery to AEMO for all interval meters			A94			All interval meter data delivered to AEMO in NEM 12 MDFF						MDP			S43						AEMO			1-Feb-21			31-May-21			From 1 July 2021			MDPs delivering interval data to AEMO via NEM12 MDFF


			MSATS STANDING DATA CREATION AND MAINTENANCE


						S26			Cross-boundary supplies			A95			Create cross-boundary NMIs						LNSP									AEMO, MP, MDP, FRMP, LR, LNSP			Implementation date of AEMO's new MDM			31-May-21			By 1 July 2021			To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021


												A96			Create Datastreams in MSATS						MDP			S04, S05						AEMO, FRMP, LNSP			Implementation date of AEMO's new MDM			31-May-21			By 1 July 2021			To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021


												A97			Create registers in MSATS						MP			S04, S05						AEMO, FRMP, LNSP			Implementation date of AEMO's new MDM			31-May-21			By 1 July 2021			To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021


						S27			Non-contestable unmetered loads			A98			B2BWG to consider potential recommendations to the IEC to better support 1 to many scenarios						AEMO									AEMO, MP, MDP, FRMP, LNSP						30-Nov-19			By 1 July 2021			To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021


												A99			Create NCONUML NMIs in MSATS			1 part process i.e. NMIs are to be created when the new NCUL NMI Class Code is available in MSATS			LNSP									AEMO, MP, MDP, FRMP, LNSP			Implementation date of AEMO's new MDM			31-May-21			By 1 July 2021			To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021


												A100			Create Datastreams in MSATS						MDP									AEMO, MP, FRMP, LNSP			Implementation date of AEMO's new MDM			31-May-21			By 1 July 2021			To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021


												A101			Create registers in MSATS						MP									AEMO, MDP, FRMP, LNSP			Implementation date of AEMO's new MDM			31-May-21			By 1 July 2021			To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021


						S28			New NMI classification codes - BULK			A102			Ensure capability to receive and process new NMI classification codes 						FRMP									FRMP, MDP, MP, LR			At the discretion of the Participant			30-Apr-21			By 1 July 2021			To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021


												A103			Update NMI Class Codes for existing NMIs as required						TNSP									AEMO, FRMP			1-May-21			31-May-21			By 1 July 2021			To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021			NMI Discovery impact i.e. not recognised code
AEMO to monitor application of certain codes e.g. NREG
Can we decouple NMI request vs NMI COM?
If market customers are not ready early then the risk profile goes up!
AEMO to provide Participants a list of NMIs, including their NMI Classification Code, which they believe needs to be updated for reconciliation/validation purposes.


						S29			New NMI classification codes - NCONUML			A104			Ensure capability to receive and process new NMI classification codes 						FRMP									FRMP, MDP, MP, LR			At the discretion of the Participant			Implementation date of AEMO's new MDM			By 1 July 2021			To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021


												A105			Update NMI Class Codes for existing NMIs as required 						LNSP						10's of thousands			AEMO, FRMP			Implementation date of AEMO's new MDM			31-May-21			By 1 July 2021			To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021			NMI Discovery impact i.e. not recognised code
AEMO to monitor application of certain codes e.g. NREG
Can we decouple NMI request vs NMI COM?
If market customers are not ready early then the risk profile goes up!
AEMO to provide Participants a list of NMIs, including their NMI Classification Code, which they believe needs to be updated for reconciliation/validation purposes.

If both parties are ready, AEMO may enable the code in MSATs, however distributors/retailers should only use it when both parties are ready
Only between Local Retailer and DB.


						S30			New NMI classification codes -  DWHOLESAL			A106			Ensure capability to receive and process new NMI classification codes 						FRMP									FRMP, MDP, MP, LR			At the discretion of the Participant			30-Apr-21			By 1 July 2021			To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021


												A107			Update NMI Class Codes for existing NMIs as required						LNSP									AEMO, FRMP			1-May-21			31-May-21			By 1 July 2021			To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021			NMI Discovery impact i.e. not recognised code
AEMO to monitor application of certain codes e.g. NREG
Can we decouple NMI request vs NMI COM?
If market customers are not ready early then the risk profile goes up!
AEMO to provide Participants a list of NMIs, including their NMI Classification Code, which they believe needs to be updated for reconciliation/validation purposes.


						S31			New NMI classification codes - NREG			A108			Ensure capability to receive and process new NMI classification codes 						FRMP									FRMP, MDP, MP, LR			At the discretion of the Participant			30-Apr-21			By 1 July 2021			To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021


												A109			Update NMI Class Codes for existing NMIs as required						LNSP									AEMO, FRMP			1-May-21			31-May-21			By 1 July 2021			To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021			NMI Discovery impact i.e. not recognised code
AEMO to monitor application of certain codes e.g. NREG
Can we decouple NMI request vs NMI COM?
If market customers are not ready early then the risk profile goes up!
AEMO to provide Participants a list of NMIs, including their NMI Classification Code, which they believe needs to be updated for reconciliation/validation purposes.


						S32			New NMI classification codes - XBOUNDRY			A110			Ensure capability to receive and process new NMI classification codes 						FRMP									FRMP, MDP, MP, LR			At the discretion of the Participant			30-Apr-21			By 1 July 2021			To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021


												A111			Update NMI Class Codes for existing NMIs as required						LNSP									AEMO, FRMP			1-May-21			31-May-21			By 1 July 2021			To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021			NMI Discovery impact i.e. not recognised code
AEMO to monitor application of certain codes e.g. NREG
Can we decouple NMI request vs NMI COM?
If market customers are not ready early then the risk profile goes up!
AEMO to provide Participants a list of NMIs, including their NMI Classification Code, which they believe needs to be updated for reconciliation/validation purposes.


						S33			New NMI classification codes - GENERATR			A112			Ensure capability to receive and process new NMI classification codes 						FRMP									FRMP, MDP, MP, LR			At the discretion of the Participant			30-Apr-21			By 1 July 2021			To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021


												A113			Update NMI Class Codes for existing NMIs as required						LNSP									AEMO, FRMP			1-May-21			31-May-21			By 1 July 2021			To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021			NMI Discovery impact i.e. not recognised code
AEMO to monitor application of certain codes e.g. NREG
Can we decouple NMI request vs NMI COM?
If market customers are not ready early then the risk profile goes up!
AEMO to provide Participants a list of NMIs, including their NMI Classification Code, which they believe needs to be updated for reconciliation/validation purposes.


						S34			New NMI classification codes - WHOLESAL			A114			Ensure capability to receive and process new NMI classification codes 						FRMP									FRMP, MDP, MP, LR			At the discretion of the Participant			30-Apr-21			By 1 July 2021			To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021


												A115			Update NMI Class Codes for existing NMIs as required						TNSP									AEMO, FRMP			1-May-21			31-May-21			By 1 July 2021			To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021			NMI Discovery impact i.e. not recognised code
AEMO to monitor application of certain codes e.g. NREG
Can we decouple NMI request vs NMI COM?
If market customers are not ready early then the risk profile goes up!
AEMO to provide Participants a list of NMIs, including their NMI Classification Code, which they believe needs to be updated for reconciliation/validation purposes.


						S35			LR and FRMP fields			A116			Update LR and FRMP to GLOPOOL for existing NMIs as required						AEMO						Significant			AEMO and All Participant Types			5-Feb-22			5-Feb-22			6-Feb-22			To remove the financial liability of Retailers for bulk connection points			Updates must be effective 6 Feb 2022
Consider opt in opt out  independent update (shared script rules) options
In flight CRs will be included in the updates


						S36			Tier 1 basic meter datastreams			A117			Consider new process for activating datastreams 						MDP						Significant			AEMO, FRMP, LNSP			At the discretion of the Participant			31-Mar-21			By 1 July 2021			To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021			MDP to request support from AEMO or industry as required.


												A118			Create/activate tier 1 basic meter datastreams as required						MDP						Significant			AEMO, FRMP, LNSP			At the discretion of the Participant			31-Mar-21			By 1 July 2021			To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021			Bulk update capability and processes may be required
Check to see if a NMI create activity is required e.g. Tasmania


						S37			Interval meter datastreams			A119			Update Datastream type codes from 'P' to 'I' or 'N' as required						MDP									AEMO, FRMP, LNSP			At the discretion of the Participant			31-May-21			By 6 Feb 2022


						S38			VIC TUOS datastreams			A120			Update Datastream type codes from 1-4 to 'I' or 'N' as required						MDP									AEMO, FRMP, LNSP			At the discretion of the Participant			31-May-21			By 1 July 2021


						S39			Meter installation type code in MSATS			A121			Complete data cleanse of meter installation type code in MSATS						MP									AEMO, FRMP, LNSP						30-Nov-19			By 1 July 2021			To support the calculation of UFE from 1 July 2021			Industry feedback is that metering type code data is inconsistently applied. 


						S40			RegisterID and Suffix values in MSATS			A122			Complete data cleanse to ensure that for Interval Meters, the RegisterID  matches the content of the ‘Suffix’ within the CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER table. E.g. ‘E1’, ‘B1’, ‘Q1’, ‘K1’, etc.						MP									AEMO, MDP			At the discretion of the Participant			31-May-21			By 1 July 2021			To ensure compliance with the Standing Data for MSATS procedure


			METERING ACCREDITATION UPDATES


						S41			MP accreditation update (for 1 July 2021)			A123			Assess level of change required for people, process and systems to facilitate 5MS/GS implementation						MP									AEMO			At the discretion of the Participant			28-Feb-20									AEMO needs to manage reaccreditation, uses queues, can take over a month to complete each application


												A124			Confirm scope/scale of change with AEMO						MP									AEMO			At the discretion of the Participant			30-Jun-20


												A125			If needed, apply for accreditation update						MP									AEMO			At the discretion of the Participant			In accordance with Roadmap agreed with AEMO


												A126			Approve accreditation applications						AEMO									AEMO			At the discretion of AEMO			In accordance with Roadmap agreed with AEMO


						S42			MP accreditation update (for 1 Dec 2022)			A127			Assess level of change required for people, process and systems to facilitate 5MS/GS implementation						MP									AEMO			At the discretion of the Participant			31-Mar-20									AEMO needs to manage reaccreditation, uses queues, can take over a month to complete each application


												A128			Confirm scope/scale of change with AEMO						MP									AEMO			At the discretion of the Participant			30-Sep-20


												A129			If needed, apply for accreditation update						MP									AEMO			At the discretion of the Participant			In accordance with Roadmap agreed with AEMO


												A130			Approve accreditation applications						AEMO									AEMO			At the discretion of AEMO			In accordance with Roadmap agreed with AEMO


						S43			MDP accreditation update (for 1 July 2021)			A131			Assess level of change required for people, process and systems to facilitate 5MS/GS implementation						MDP									AEMO			At the discretion of the Participant			28-Feb-20									AEMO needs to manage reaccreditation, uses queues, can take over a month to complete each application


												A132			Confirm scope/scale of change with AEMO						MDP									AEMO			At the discretion of the Participant			30-Jun-20


												A133			If needed, apply for accreditation update						MDP									AEMO			At the discretion of the Participant			In accordance with Roadmap agreed with AEMO


												A134			Approve accreditation applications						AEMO									AEMO			At the discretion of AEMO			In accordance with Roadmap agreed with AEMO


						S44			MDP accreditation update (for 1 Dec 2022)			A135			Assess level of change required for people, process and systems to facilitate 5MS/GS implementation						MDP									AEMO			At the discretion of the Participant			31-Mar-20									AEMO needs to manage reaccreditation, uses queues, can take over a month to complete each application


												A136			Confirm scope/scale of change with AEMO						MDP									AEMO			At the discretion of the Participant			30-Sep-20


												A137			If needed, apply for accreditation update						MDP									AEMO			At the discretion of the Participant			In accordance with Roadmap agreed with AEMO


												A138			Approve accreditation applications						AEMO									AEMO			At the discretion of AEMO			In accordance with Roadmap agreed with AEMO





			Note: All other dependencies not explicitly mentioned in the MTP are assumed to be the responsibility of the "Responsible" party of each activity








Guide


						Description of Metering transition plan elements


						Metering transition plan element (MTP tab columns)			Purpose


						CATEGORY			High level groupings for metering transition activities 


						SID			Indicates the unique sub-category ID


						SUB-CATEGORY			Groups a set of related metering transition activities (e.g. Type 7 metering installations) within a category


						AID			Indicates the unique activity ID


						ACTIVITY			Describes the Metering transition activity


						ASSUMPTIONS			Lists any assumptions related to the activity


						RESPONSIBILITY			Assigns leadership and responsibility of the metering transition activity to a specific participant type


						DEPENDENCIES			Lists any dependencies related to the activity


						VOLUME/SIZE CONSIDERATIONS			Provides an indication of volume/size implications of the activity


						DIRECTLY AFFECTED PARTIES			Lists out parties that are directly involved in executing the activity


						TRANSITION START DATE			Lists the transition start date for this activity. When no transition start date is specified for an activity, participants may commence the transition at any time prior to the transition end date for that activity.


						TRANSITION END DATE			Lists the transition end date of this activity. It is expected that all relevant participants have completed the activity by this date.


						RULE / PROCEDURE TIMING			Lists the commencement date of the 5MS or GS rule requirement that the activity supports


						TRANSITION OBJECTIVE / OUTCOME			Outlines the objective of the transition activity


						COMMENTS (by AEMO or from TFG)			Lists any comments made by AEMO or the TFG


						NMI classification code changes to support UFE calculation by 1 July 2021


						NMI Classification Code			Description


						BULK			Connection point where a transmission network connects to a distribution network (also termed 'Bulk Supply Point’)


						DWHOLSAL			Distribution network connection point where energy is directly purchased from the spot market by a Market Customer


						NCONUML			Non-contestable unmetered load 


						NREG			Connection point associated with a non-registered embedded generator, i.e. a generating unit that is not classified by a Market Generator, but may be classified by a Small Generation Aggregator as a market generating unit.


						WHOLESAL			Transmission network connection point where energy is directly purchased from the spot market by a Market Customer


						XBOUNDRY			Connection point where a distribution network connects to another to distribution network 








Diagram


						Diagrammatic view of key metering transition activities (last updated 24/01/2020)











image1.emf


FebMarAprMayJunJulAugSepOctNovDecJanFebMarAprMayJunJulAugSepOctNovDecJanFebMarAprMayJunJulAugSepOctNovDec2020202120221/4ReallocationsMDM Platform,B2M API7/12MDFF Accepted1/2Settlements & Dispatch Platform1/45MS LiveGS Live1/76/2New & replacement metering data delivery transition completeMetering Transition ActivityMeter installation and reconfiguration Tier 1 basic metering data delivery transitionGS NMI classification code standing data creation and assessmentNCONUML NMI creation New and replacement  metering data delivery B2M and B2B (T 4, 4A, Vic AMI)LEGENDRelease milestone, AEMO CapabilityRule Commencement milestone Industry Capability  milestoneB2M Metering data delivery New formats*B2M Delivery to AEMO (Settlement) in new formatsOngoing tier 1 basic metering data delivery 5MS B2B metering data transitionB2B 5MS metering data deliveryApplication of new  NMI class  codes (exclNCONUML)GLOPOOL updateNon-contestable unmetered loads profiles and algorithms development and approvalMDMT not accepted26/55MS Capability5MS GS market system capability releasesNew Formats = MDFF, 5 and 15 minute granularity, non net data, active and reactive dataTransition Timeframe requiring impacted party agreementScheduled Transition timeframe








image7.emf

MSATS Procedures 


CATS Procedure Principles and Obligations v47.pdf




MSATS Procedures CATS Procedure Principles and Obligations v47.pdf




 



 



 



 



 



Australian Energy Market Operator Ltd    ABN 94 072 010 327 www.aemo.com.au    info@aemo.com.au 



NEW SOUTH WALES QUEENSLAND SOUTH AUSTRALIA VICTORIA AUSTRALIAN CAPITAL TERRITORY TASMANIA WESTERN AUSTRALIA 



MSATS PROCEDURES 



CATS PROCEDURE PRINCIPLES AND OBLIGATIONS 



 



PREPARED BY: AEMO MARKETS 



VERSION: 4.7 



EFFECTIVE DATE: 20 MAY 2019 



STATUS: FINAL 



  



Approved for distribution and use by: 



APPROVED BY: PETER GEERS 



TITLE: Chief Strategy and Markets Officer 



  



DATE: 20  / 05 / 2019   



 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 2 of 169
 



VERSION RELEASE HISTORY 



Version  Effective Date Summary of Changes 



3.4a  15th July 2011 Updated to facilitate further extension of contestability to small business customers in 
Tasmania. 



3.5  25th August 2011 Updated to include a new objection for the CR1010 & CR1081 and manifest changes. 



3.6  13th January 2012 Updated to include a new Change Reason Code for the update of the Customer 
Classification Code field; additional changes related to National Energy Customer 
Framework; and other minor manifest text changes. 



3.7  15th May 2013 Updated to include a new NMI Discovery Search 3 transaction; aligning procedures 
with the NER as a result of introduction of new terminology regarding MDPs; updates 
based on a New Connections process review to facilitate that a LNSP only nominate a 
retailer as the FRMP based on instruction from that retailer; changes as a result of 
introduction of Market Small Generation Aggregator (MSGA). 



3.8  13th November 
2013 



Updated to align MPB obligations with MDP obligations during the meter set up or 
maintenance process, by requiring the MPB to source the suffix from the appropriate 
MDP. 



3.9  1st January 2014 No version 3.9 was released. The Tasmanian Government withdrew its request for the 
change to the CATS Procedures.  



4.0  15th May 2014 Updated to include amendments arising from the introduction of NECF in NSW.  



4.1  1 July 2014 Updated to include amendments arising from the AEMC Rule change on Access to 
NMI Standing Data.  



4.2 1 December 2017 Updated to incorporate:   
• National Electricity Amendment (Expanding competition in metering and related 



services) Rule 2015. No.12; 
• National Electricity Amendment (Embedded Networks) Rule 2015 No. 15; and 
National Electricity Amendment (Meter Replacement Processes) Rule 2016 No. 2. 



4.3 1 December 2017 Updated to add clarifications and correct errors. 



4.4 1 December 2017 Updated to incorporate feedback from PoC Work Package 3 First Stage consultation. 



4.5 1 December 2017 Updated to incorporate feedback from PoC Work Package 3 Second Stage 
Consultation. 



4.6 20 May 2019 Updated to enable the transfer of a NMI on a greenfield site, include updates to the 
use of objection codes and altered the definition for DATEBAD objections. New MC 
standing data search process added and further clarified responsibilities to correct 
the NTC in MSATS.    



4.7 20 May 2019 Minor amendment to enable MDP to view CR6700/6701 in all statuses to enable the 
required DATEBAD objection to occur. 



 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 3 of 169
 



QUICK REFERENCE GUIDE 



Change Retailer (FRMP) 



Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 



1000, 1010 (SMALL only), 1020 
(LARGE only), 1030, 1040 



Change Retailer Sec 7, Page 52 



1021, 1022, 1023, 1024, 1025, 
1026, 1027, 1028, 1029 (All these 
codes are for SMALL only) 



Change Retailer – Error Corrections (Small NMIs 
only) 



Sec 8, Page 58 



1050,1051 (Both codes are for 
Large only) 



Change Retailer – Where FRMP is NOT the RP  Disabled from 1 
December 2017 



1080, 1081 (SMALL only), 1082, 
1083, 1084 



Change Retailer – Child NMI - Small or Large Sec 9, Page 63 



1090, 1091 (Both codes are for 
Large only) 



Change Retailer – Child NMI - Where FRMP IS NOT 
the RP 



Disabled from 1 
December 2017 



Provide Data 



Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 



1500  Provide Actual Change Date Sec 10, Page 69 



Create NMI 



Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 



2000, 2001 Create NMI Sec 11, Page 71 



2003 Create Tier 1 Site NMI  Disabled from 1 
December 2017 



2020, 2021 Create NMI – Child NMI Sec 12, Page 74 



2500, 2501 Create NMI, Meter, Datastream Sec 13, Page 77 



2520, 2521 Create NMI, Meter, Datastream – Child NMI Sec 14, Page 81 



Maintain Metering  



Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 



3000, 3001 Create Metering Installation Details Sec 15, Page 85 



3003 Create Tier 1 Site Metering Installation Details Disabled from 1 
December 2017 



3004, 3005 Exchange of Metering Information Sec 16, Page 88 



3050, 3051 Change Metering Installation Details Sec 17, Page 91 



3053 Change Tier 1 Site Metering Installation Details Disabled from 1 
December 2017 



3080, 3081  Advanced Change Metering Installation Details Sec 18, Page 94 



3090, 3091 Advanced Exchange of Metering Sec 19, Page 98 



3100, 3101 Change Network Tariff Code Sec 20, Page 102 



Maintain Datastream 



Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 



4000, 4001 Create Datastream Details  Sec 21, Page 104 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 4 of 169
 



Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 



4003 Create Tier 1 Site Datastream Details Disabled from 1 
December 2017 



4004, 4005 Exchange of Datastream Information Sec 22, Page 106 



4050, 4051 Change Datastream Details Sec 23, Page 108 



4053 Change Tier 1 Site Datastream Details Disabled from 1 
December 2017 



Maintain NMI  



Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 



5070, 5071 Update Next Scheduled Read Date Sec 24, Page 110 



5001, 5021 Backdate NMI Start Date Sec 25, Page 112 



5050, 5051 Change NMI Sec 26, Page 116 



5053 Change Tier 1 Site NMI Standing Data  Disabled from 1 
December 2017 



5054, 5055 Change NMI (Customer Classification Code) Sec 27, Page 118 



5060, 5061 Change NMI – Child NMI Sec 28, Page 120 



5080, 5081 Change Parent Name Sec 29, Page 122 



5090, 5091 Make a NMI a Child NMI Disabled from 1 
December 2017 



Change Roles (excluding FRMP) 



Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 



6100, 6110 Change LNSP Sec 30, Page 124 



6200, 6210 Change MDP Sec 31, Page 127 



6300, 6301 Change MC Sec 32, Page 130 



6400, 6401 Change LR Sec 33, Page 132 



6421 Change LR Child NMI Sec 34, Page 134 



6500, 6501 Change RoLR Sec 35, Page 136 



6700, 6701 Change MPB, MPC, or Both Sec 36, Page 138 



6800, 6801 Change Multiple Roles – MC, MDP, MPC, MPB Sec 37, Page 140 



Auto change roles 



Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 



ECLR Change LR – Child NMI -  Auto Sec 38, Page 143 



EPFR Change Secondary FRMP – Parent NMI Sec 39, Page 144 



AEMO only 



Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 



5100, 5101 Standing data updates Sec 40, Page 146 



BCxx Invoke BCT Process Sec 41, Page 149 



 Access to Standing Data Sec 42, Page 152 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 5 of 169
 



HOW TO USE THIS DOCUMENT 



Although this document is lengthy, in most instances you will only need to read one section to 
work out what obligations you have. 



All participants should read and be familiar with Sections 1 to 6, which contain overview material. 
In particular, it is essential that you read Section 2, which defines, for each role, what overall 
obligations it has with regard to these procedures. 



The majority of the document (Sections 7 to 42) covers specific tasks you might either have to 
initiate or be notified about, and the rules and obligations you have with regard to them. 



For example, if you are intending to change a small customer’s retailer, assuming that you are 
already familiar with Sections 1 to 6, you would: 



 Check the grouping of sections covering the topic ‘Change Retailer’ (Sections 7 to 9). 
 Select and then read Section 7, which is called ‘Change Retailer – Small or Large NMI. 



The names of sections 7 to 42 are structured like the following example: 



 CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE MDP SMALL OR LARGE 



 Transaction 
Grouping 



 Specific task NMI classification (where applicable) 



Once you become familiar with this structure it is relatively easy to work out which section you 
need to select whenever you are initiating a transaction. 



If you receive a notification from another participant and are not sure what obligations you have, 
confirm, from the notification, the Change Reason Code. Then check the ‘Quick Reference Guide’ 
at the beginning of this document to confirm what section covers this Change Reason Code. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 6 of 169
 



CONTENTS 



1. INTRODUCTION 15 
1.1. Purpose and Scope 15 
1.2. Definitions and Interpretation 15 
1.3. Commencement of Changes 15 
1.4. Related AEMO Documents 15 



2. OBLIGATIONS BY ROLE 17 
2.1. General Obligations 17 
2.2. Financially Responsible Market Participant 17 
2.3. Local Network Service Provider 18 
2.4. Metering Data Provider 20 
2.5. Metering Provider – Category B 21 
2.6. Metering Coordinator 21 
2.7. Retailer Of Last Resort 22 
2.8. Second Network Service Provider 22 
2.9. AEMO 22 
2.10. Embedded Network Manager 23 



3. CATS FUNCTIONALITY 25 
3.1. Overview 25 
3.2. Principles 25 
3.3. Transaction Types 26 
3.4. Change Requests 27 
3.5. Change Request Status Life Cycle 29 
3.6. Transaction Validation 31 
3.7. Valid Proposed Change Date for Prospective and Retrospective Change Requests 33 



4. CATS CODES AND RULES FOR A CHANGE REQUEST 35 
4.1. Introduction 35 
4.2. Change Reason Code 35 
4.3. Role Codes 38 
4.4. Change Request Initiation Rules 38 
4.5. Jurisdiction Codes 39 
4.6. Timeframe Rules 39 
4.7. Objection Codes 39 
4.8. Objection Rules 40 
4.9. NMI Classification Codes 41 
4.10. End User Classification 41 
4.11. Status Codes 42 
4.12. Metering Installation Type Codes 43 
4.13. Read Type Code 44 
4.14. Field Validation Rules 47 
4.15. Change Request Status Notification Rules 47 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 7 of 169
 



4.16. Maintenance of Codes and Rules 47 
4.17. Datastream Status Code 48 
4.18. Embedded Network Codes and Rules 48 
4.19. Obtaining Electronic Downloads of Configuration Rules 49 



5. MSATS REPORTS 50 



6. GUIDELINES FOR MANAGING CONCURRENT RETAIL TRANSFERS 51 
6.1. Definition of concurrent retail transfers 51 
6.2. Guidelines 51 



7. CHANGE RETAILER – SMALL OR LARGE NMI 52 
7.1. Application [1000 1010 1020 1030 1040] 52 
7.2. Conditions Precedent 52 
7.3. Initiating Roles 52 
7.4. FRMP Requirements 52 
7.5. MDP Requirements 53 
7.6. MC Requirements 54 
7.7. Timeframe Rules 54 
7.8. Objection Rules 55 
7.9. Change Request Status Notification Rules 56 



8. CHANGE RETAILER – ERROR CORRECTIONS – SMALL NMIS 58 
8.1. Application [1021 1022 1023 1024 1025 1026 1027 1028 1029] 58 
8.2. Conditions Precedent 58 
8.3. Initiating Roles 59 
8.4. FRMP Requirements 59 
8.5. MDP Requirements 59 
8.6. MC Requirements 59 
8.7. Timeframe Rules 60 
8.8. Objection Rules 60 
8.9. Change Request Status Notification Rules 61 



9. CHANGE RETAILER – EMBEDDED NETWORKS – SMALL OR LARGE 63 
9.1. Application [1080 1081 1082 1083 1084] 63 
9.2. Conditions Precedent 63 
9.3. Initiating Roles 63 
9.4. FRMP Requirements 63 
9.5. MDP Requirements 64 
9.6. MC Requirements 65 
9.7. Timeframe Rules 66 
9.8. Objection Rules 66 
9.9. Change Request Status Notification Rules 68 



10. PROVIDE DATA – PROVIDE ACTUAL CHANGE DATE – SMALL OR LARGE 69 
10.1. Application [1500] 69 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 8 of 169
 



10.2. Conditions Precedent 69 
10.3. Initiating Roles 69 
10.4. MDP Requirements 69 
10.5. Timeframe Rules 69 
10.6. Objection Rules 69 
10.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 70 



11. CREATE NMI – CREATE A NMI – SMALL OR LARGE 71 
11.1. Application [2000 2001] 71 
11.2. Conditions Precedent 71 
11.3. Initiating Roles 71 
11.4. LNSP Requirements 71 
11.5. MPB Requirements 72 
11.6. Timeframe Rules 72 
11.7. Objection Rules 72 
11.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 73 



12. CREATE NMI – CREATE CHILD NMI – SMALL OR LARGE 74 
12.1. Application [2020 2021] 74 
12.2. Conditions Precedent 74 
12.3. Initiating Roles 74 
12.4. ENM Requirements 74 
12.5. MPB Requirements 75 
12.6. Timeframe Rules 75 
12.7. Objection Rules 75 
12.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 76 



13. CREATE NMI – CREATE NMI, METERING INSTALLATION DETAILS AND NMI DATASTREAM – 
SMALL OR LARGE 77 



13.1. Application [2500 2501] 77 
13.2. Conditions Precedent 77 
13.3. Initiating Roles 77 
13.4. LNSP Requirements 77 
13.5. Timeframe Rules 79 
13.6. Objection Rules 79 
13.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 79 



14. CREATE NMI – CREATE NMI, METERING INSTALLATION DETAILS AND MDM DATASTREAM – 
CHILD NMI (SMALL OR LARGE) 81 



14.1. Application [2520 2521] 81 
14.2. Conditions Precedent 81 
14.3. Initiating Roles 81 
14.4. ENM Requirements 81 
14.5. Timeframe Rules 83 
14.6. Objection Rules 83 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 9 of 169
 



14.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 84 



15. MAINTAIN METERING – CREATE METERING INSTALLATION DETAILS – SMALL OR LARGE 85 
15.1. Application [3000 3001] 85 
15.2. Conditions Precedent 85 
15.3. Initiating Roles 85 
15.4. MPB Requirements 85 
15.5. Timeframe Rules 86 
15.6. Objection Rules 87 
15.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 87 



16. MAINTAIN METERING – EXCHANGE OF METERING INFORMATION – SMALL OR LARGE 88 
16.1. Application [3004 3005] 88 
16.2. Conditions Precedent 88 
16.3. Initiating Roles 88 
16.4. MPB Requirements 88 
16.5. Timeframe Rules 89 
16.6. Objection Rules 90 
16.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 90 



17. MAINTAIN METERING – CHANGE METERING INSTALLATION DETAILS – SMALL OR LARGE 91 
17.1. Application [3050 3051] 91 
17.2. Conditions Precedent 91 
17.3. Initiating Roles 91 
17.4. MPB Requirements 91 
17.5. Timeframe Rules 92 
17.6. Objection Rules 93 
17.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 93 



18. MAINTAIN METERING – ADVANCED CHANGE METERING INSTALLATION DETAILS – SMALL OR 
LARGE 94 



18.1. Application [3080 3081] 94 
18.2. Conditions Precedent 94 
18.3. Initiating Roles 94 
18.4. MC Requirements 94 
18.5. MDP Requirements 96 
18.6. Timeframe Rules 96 
18.7. Objection Rules 96 
18.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 97 



19. MAINTAIN METERING – ADVANCED EXCHANGE OF METERING – SMALL OR LARGE 98 
19.1. Application [3090 3091] 98 
19.2. Conditions Precedent 98 
19.3. Initiating Roles 98 
19.4. MC Requirements 98 
19.5. MDP Requirements 100 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 10 of 169
 



19.6. Timeframe Rules 100 
19.7. Objection Rules 100 
19.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 101 



20. MAINTAIN METERING – CHANGE NETWORK TARIFF CODE – SMALL OR LARGE 102 
20.1. Application [3100 3101] 102 
20.2. Conditions Precedent 102 
20.3. Initiating Roles 102 
20.4. LNSP or ENM Requirements 102 
20.5. Timeframe Rules 103 
20.6. Objection Rules 103 
20.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 103 



21. MAINTAIN DATASTREAM – CREATE NMI DATASTREAM –SMALL OR LARGE 104 
21.1. Application [4000 4001] 104 
21.2. Conditions Precedent 104 
21.3. Initiating Roles 104 
21.4. MDP Requirements 104 
21.5. Timeframe Rules 104 
21.6. Objection Rules 105 
21.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 105 



22. MAINTAIN DATASTREAM – EXCHANGE OF DATASTREAM INFORMATION SMALL OR LARGE 106 
22.1. Application [4004 4005] 106 
22.2. Conditions Precedent 106 
22.3. Initiating Roles 106 
22.4. MDP Requirements 106 
22.5. Timeframe Rules 107 
22.6. Objection Rules 107 
22.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 107 



23. MAINTAIN DATASTREAM – CHANGE NMI DATASTREAM – SMALL OR LARGE 108 
23.1. Application [4050 4051] 108 
23.2. Conditions Precedent 108 
23.3. Initiating Roles 108 
23.4. MDP Requirements 108 
23.5. Timeframe Rules 109 
23.6. Objection Rules 109 
23.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 109 



24. MAINTAIN NMI – UPDATE NEXT SCHEDULED READ DATE – SMALL OR LARGE 110 
24.1. Application [5070 5071] 110 
24.2. Conditions Precedent 110 
24.3. Initiating Roles 110 
24.4. MDP Requirements 110 
24.5. Timeframe Rules 110 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 11 of 169
 



24.6. Objection Rules 111 
24.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 111 



25. MAINTAIN NMI – BACKDATE A NMI – SMALL OR LARGE 112 
25.1. Application [5001 5021] 112 
25.2. Conditions Precedent 112 
25.3. Initiating Roles 112 
25.4. LNSP Requirements (5001 only) 112 
25.5. ENM Requirements (5021 only) 113 
25.6. AEMO Requirements 113 
25.7. MPB Requirements 114 
25.8. Timeframe Rules 114 
25.9. Objection Rules 114 
25.10. Change Request Status Notification Rules 114 



26. MAINTAIN NMI – CHANGE A NMI – SMALL OR LARGE 116 
26.1. Application [5050 5051] 116 
26.2. Conditions Precedent 116 
26.3. Initiating Roles 116 
26.4. LNSP Requirements 116 
26.5. Timeframe Rules 117 
26.6. Objection Rules 117 
26.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 117 



27. MAINTAIN NMI – CHANGE A NMI – CUSTOMER CLASSIFICATION CODE – SMALL OR LARGE 118 
27.1. Application [5054 5055] 118 
27.2. Conditions Precedent 118 
27.3. Initiating Roles 118 
27.4. FRMP Requirements 118 
27.5. Timeframe Rules 118 
27.6. Objection Rules 119 
27.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 119 



28. MAINTAIN NMI – CHANGE NMI EMBEDDED NETWORK (CHILD) – SMALL OR LARGE 120 
28.1. Application [5060 5061] 120 
28.2. Conditions Precedent 120 
28.3. Initiating Roles 120 
28.4. ENM Requirements 120 
28.5. Timeframe Rules 121 
28.6. Objection Rules 121 
28.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 121 



29. MAINTAIN NMI – CHANGE PARENT NAME – SMALL OR LARGE 122 
29.1. Application [5080 5081] 122 
29.2. Conditions Precedent 122 
29.3. Initiating Roles 122 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 12 of 169
 



29.4. LNSP Requirements 122 
29.5. Timeframe Rules 122 
29.6. Objection Rules 123 
29.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 123 



30. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE LNSP – SMALL OR LARGE 124 
30.1. Application [6100 6110] 124 
30.2. Conditions Precedent 124 
30.3. Initiating Roles 124 
30.4. LNSP or ENM Requirements 124 
30.5. Timeframe Rules 124 
30.6. Objection Rules 125 
30.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 125 



31. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE MDP – SMALL OR LARGE 127 
31.1. Application [6200 6210] 127 
31.2. Conditions Precedent 127 
31.3. Initiating Roles 127 
31.4. FRMP/Current MC Requirements 127 
31.5. MDP Requirements 127 
31.6. Timeframe Rules 127 
31.7. Objection Rules 128 
31.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 128 



32. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE MC – SMALL OR LARGE 130 
32.1. Application [6300 6301] 130 
32.2. Conditions Precedent 130 
32.3. Initiating Roles 130 
32.4. MC/Current FRMP Requirements 130 
32.5. Timeframe Rules 130 
32.6. Objection Rules 131 
32.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 131 



33. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE LR – SMALL OR LARGE 132 
33.1. Application [6400 6401] 132 
33.2. Conditions Precedent 132 
33.3. Initiating Roles 132 
33.4. LR Requirements 132 
33.5. Timeframe Rules 132 
33.6. Objection Rules 133 
33.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 133 



34. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE LR – CHILD NMI – SMALL OR LARGE 134 
34.1. Application [6421] 134 
34.2. Conditions Precedent 134 
34.3. Initiating Roles 134 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 13 of 169
 



34.4. LR Requirements 134 
34.5. Timeframe Rules 134 
34.6. Objection Rules 135 
34.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 135 



35. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE ROLR – SMALL OR LARGE 136 
35.1. Application [6500 6501] 136 
35.2. Conditions Precedent 136 
35.3. Initiating Roles 136 
35.4. ROLR Requirements 136 
35.5. Timeframe Rules 136 
35.6. Objection Rules 137 
35.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 137 



36. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE MPB OR MPC OR BOTH – SMALL OR LARGE 138 
36.1. Application [6700 6701] 138 
36.2. Conditions Precedent 138 
36.3. Initiating Roles 138 
36.4. MC Requirements 138 
36.5. MDP Requirements 138 
36.6. Timeframe Rules 138 
36.7. Objection Rules 139 
36.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 139 



37. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE MULTIPLE ROLES – SMALL OR LARGE 140 
37.1. Application [6800 6801] 140 
37.2. Conditions Precedent 140 
37.3. Initiating Roles 140 
37.4. FRMP Requirements 140 
37.5. MC Requirements 140 
37.6. MDP Requirements 141 
37.7. Timeframe Rules 141 
37.8. Objection Rules 141 
37.9. Change Request Status Notification Rules 142 



38. AUTO CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE LOCAL RETAILER EMBEDDED NETWORK CHILD – SMALL OR 
LARGE 143 



38.1. Application [ECLR] 143 
38.2. Conditions Precedent 143 
38.3. Timeframe Rules 143 
38.4. Objection Rules 143 
38.5. Change Request Status Notification Rules 143 



39. AUTO CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE SECONDARY FRMP PARENT – SMALL OR LARGE 144 
39.1. Application [EPFR] 144 
39.2. Conditions Precedent 144 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 14 of 169
 



39.3. Timeframe Rules 144 
39.4. Objection Rules 144 
39.5. Change Request Status Notification Rules 144 



40. AEMO ONLY – AEMO-INITIATED STANDING DATA UPDATES – SMALL OR LARGE 146 
40.1. Application [5100 5101] 146 
40.2. Conditions Precedent 146 
40.3. Initiating Roles 146 
40.4. AEMO Requirements 146 
40.5. Timeframe Rules 148 
40.6. Objection Rules 148 
40.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 148 



41. AEMO ONLY – CHANGE ROLE, TNI OR DLF CODE – BULK CHANGE TOOL (BCT) – SMALL OR 
LARGE 149 



41.1. Introduction 149 
41.2. Conditions Precedent 149 
41.3. Requesting Participant Requirements 150 
41.4. Impacted Participant Requirements 151 
41.5. MDP Requirements 151 
41.6. Timeframe Rules 151 
41.7. Objection Rules 151 
41.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 151 



42. ACCESS TO CATS STANDING DATA 152 
42.1. Introduction 152 
42.2. Participant 152 
42.3. Request a NMI Discovery Search 152 



 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 15 of 169
 



1. INTRODUCTION 



1.1. Purpose and Scope 
These are the MSATS Procedures – CATS Procedure Principles and Obligations made under clause 
7.16.2 of the National Electricity Rules (NER) (Rules). 



These Procedures have effect only for the purposes set out in the NER. The NER and the National 
Electricity Law prevail over these Procedures to the extent of any inconsistency. 



1.2. Definitions and Interpretation 
The Retail Electricity Market Procedures – Glossary and Framework: 



(a) is incorporated into and forms part of these Procedures; and 



(b) should be read with these Procedures. 



1.3. Commencement of Changes 
Changes to these Procedures will take effect at 00:00 hours Eastern Standard Time on the day of 
effect after notice has been given to Participants of the changes. 



All changes to NMI Master Records will become effective at 00:00 hours Eastern Standard Time on 
the day of effect. This includes End User transfers and all changes to CATS Standing Data. 



1.4. Related AEMO Documents 



Title Location 



Allocation of Embedded Network Codes http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering/Metering-procedures-guidelines-and-processes 
 



CATS Hints and Tips http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions 



Guide to MSATS B2B http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions 



Guide to MSATS Web portal http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions 



Introduction to MSATS http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions 



MDM Procedures http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions 



Metrology Procedure:  Part A http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering 



Metrology Procedure:  Part B http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering 



NEM RoLR Processes http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering 



NMI Procedures http://www.aemo.com.au/media/Files/Other/electricityops/0610-
0008%20pdf.pdf 



Retail Electricity Market Procedures – 
Glossary and Framework 



http://aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-
metering/Glossary-and-Framework 



Service Level Procedure (MDP) http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering/Metering-procedures-guidelines-and-processes 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 16 of 169
 



Title Location 



Standing Data for MSATS http://www.aemo.com.au/-
/media/Files/PDF/AEMOStandingDataforMSATSv42.ashx 



WIGS Procedures http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-
NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions 



 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 17 of 169
 



2. OBLIGATIONS BY ROLE 



2.1. General Obligations 
(a) Participants must select the most applicable Transaction Type Code or Change Request 



Code for their proposed transaction. 



(b) A Participant must not seek access through MSATS to the data pertaining to a NMI unless it 
has, or had, a known and commercial relationship with the NMI except when conducting a 
NMI Discovery Search 1, 2 or 3. 



(c) A Participant, other than AEMO, must not use a facility provided in MSATS for a purpose 
other than allowed by these Procedures. 



(d) A Participant must not enter an Actual End Date into MSATS unless it has a known and 
commercial relationship with the NMI to which the Actual End Date refers. 



(e) A Participant must not raise an Objection Code unless the Objection is fair and reasonable;  
for example, when an Objection is made using a specific Objection Code, the Participant 
who made the Objection must be able to produce evidence upon request to substantiate it. 



(f) A Participant may object to a Change Request by using an Objection Code and adhering to 
Objection Rules .    



(g) Participants must ensure that the transfer of a NMI from one FRMP to another FRMP is not 
delayed. 



(h) Participants must ensure that CATS Standing Data is kept current and relevant for the NMIs 
they are responsible. 



(i) Unless a different timeframe is specified in these Procedures, a Participant must update the 
CATS Standing Data within 20 business days of becoming aware that it is no longer current 
or relevant. 



(j) Participants may request reports from MSATS for the NMIs with which it has a relationship. 



(k) Participants must consider and action as necessary within two business days any requests 
from Particpants that have been incorrectly assigned Roles. 



2.2. Financially Responsible Market Participant 
The New FRMP must: 



(a) Nominate the MC in accordance with the NER. 



(b) Initiate a Change Request for the transfer of a NMI in accordance with the applicable 
Timeframe Rules. Subject to the Retrospective Periods and Prospective Periods, the New 
FRMP must initiate the transfer: 



(i) Having the mandatory information required to initiate a valid transfer in MSATS; and 



(ii) No later than two business days after the conclusion of the Cooling-Off Period. 



(c) Where Jurisdictions allow transfers to be raised within the Cooling-Off Period, ensure that a 
Change Request cannot Complete prior to the end of the Cooling-Off Period. 



(d) Ensure that only small generating unit connection points are assigned to the relevant MSGA  



(e) Manage the transfer process if there are any matters that require attention in regard to the 
NMI, either from the operation of MSATS or from events that are external to its operation. 



(f) Adopt the Role of LR for child connection points where they are the FRMP of the Parent NMI. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 18 of 169
 



(g) Ensure that any Pending retail transfers are withdrawn within 210 days of the lodgement of 
the Change Request. 



(h) Withdraw a Change Request as soon as practicable, and within two business days, of being 
aware that the transfer cannot occur. 



The Current FRMP must: 



(i) Ensure that each small generating unit’s connection point is assigned to their MSGA 
Participant ID in MSATS. 



(j) Ensure that only small generating unit’s connection points are assigned to the MSGA’s 
Participant ID in MSATS. 



(k) Be responsible for settlement in respect of a NMI until the actual date of the NMI transfer to 
a New FRMP or until the NMI is classified as ‘extinct’. 



(l) Remain the Current FRMP and be responsible for all End User billing up to the actual date 
of change of financial responsibility to the New FRMP as notified by MSATS. 



(m) Consider and action as necessary within two business days any requests from incorrectly 
assigned Participants to correct the Participant allocation in MSATS. 



(n) Provide the ADL to the LNSP and the MDP for new connections. 



(o) Provide an update of the ADL to the Current MDP where the Current FRMP becomes aware 
of an expected change in the ADL of greater than 20%, other than by advice from the MDP. 



(p) Establish or update the Customer Classification Code within five business days of the NMI 
Status Code becoming ‘A’ in MSATS, where the Customer Classification Code has changed. 



(q) Update or provide the Customer Classification Code as the following: 



(i) for an End User at a NMI where the Customer Classification Code has changed, within 
five business days of any New contract with an End User at that connection point. 



(ii) within five business days of becoming aware of a change to the Customer 
Classification Code. 



(iii) within five business days of a End User Transfer Change Request being Completed, 
where the Customer Classification Code has changed. 



2.3. Local Network Service Provider 
The New LNSP must: 



(a) Initiate a Create NMI Change Request within 2 business days of a request by a FRMP, or of 
the mandatory information required by the Change Request becoming available, whichever 
is the later.   



(b) Consider and action as necessary within two business days any requests from incorrectly 
assigned Participants to correct a Create NMI Change Request in MSATS. 



The Current LNSP must: 



(c) Allocate a NMI and NMI Checksum for each connection point in accordance with the NMI 
Procedures and clause 7.13.2 of the NER. 



(d) Provide an update of the ADL to the Current MDP where the LNSP becomes aware of an 
expected change in the ADL of greater than 20%, other than by advice from the MDP. 



(e) Update the Customer Threshold Code within five business days of becoming aware that the 
existing Customer Threshold Code is incorrect for NMIs with a Customer Classification Code 
of ‘BUSINESS’ and a NMI Status Code of ‘A’, or ‘D’. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 19 of 169
 



(f) Update or remove, as required, the Customer Threshold Code for a NMI within five business 
days of the Customer Classification Code being changed to ‘RESIDENTIAL’. 



(g) Provide DLF Codes and values to AEMO for the initial population of the DLF Code in 
MSATS. 



(h) Update NMI Status Code to ‘D’ within five business days of the connection point being de-
energised by the LNSP. The Proposed Change Date shall be the day after the de-
energisation for an Interval Metered connection point or the day of the de-energisation for a 
Accumulation Metered connection point. 



(i) Update the NMI Status Code to ‘A’ (Active) within five business days of the connection point 
being re-energised by the LNSP. The Proposed Change Date shall be the day the connection 
point is re-energised. 



(j) Update the NMI Status Code to ‘X’ (Extinct) within five business days of becoming aware of 
the abolition of the connection point. The Proposed Change Date shall be the day after the 
connection point was removed for an Interval Metered connection point or the day of the 
removal for an Accumulation Metered connection point. 



(k) Ensure that Network Tariff details for each NMI in its area are stored in the Network Tariff 
Code field at the Register ID level. 



(l) Correct the network tariff code or engage with the current FRMP to confirm an appropriate 
network tariff code where the LNSP considers the network tariff code is inappropriate for 
the site in MSATS. 



(m) Subject to any applicable Jurisdictional restrictions, use reasonable endeavours to provide 
NMI and NMI Checksum (other than when this is available via a NMI Discovery Search) to 
the New FRMP within one business day of a follow-up request for this information from the 
New FRMP for a Site identified in the request by reference to any of the following: 



(i) a unique meter identifier held by the LNSP;  



(ii) a street address; or  



(iii) the DPID. 



If a computer search by the LNSP does not produce a unique match for the information 
provided by the retailer, the LNSP must provide the retailer with any computer matches 
achieved up to a maximum of 99. 



(n) Subject to any applicable Jurisdictional restrictions, provide NMI Standing Data (other than 
data available via a NMI Discovery Search or the MSATS C7 report) to the New FRMP within 
two business days of a request from the New FRMP for a Site identified in the request by 
reference to the NMI and NMI Checksum. 



(o) Consider and action as necessary within two business days any requests from incorrectly 
assigned Participants to correct a Create NMI Change Request in MSATS. 



(p) Consider and action as necessary within two business days any requests from other 
Participants to correct erroneous NMI Standing Data. 



(q) Allocate a name to the Parent NMI and provide the name to AEMO. 



The Current LNSP may: 



(r) Update the Customer Threshold Code for NMIs with a Customer Classification Code of 
‘RESIDENTIAL’. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 20 of 169
 



2.4. Metering Data Provider 
An MDP must: 



(a) Use reasonable endeavours to provide metering data to the New FRMP within two business 
days of a request for this information from the New FRMP.  



(b) Use reasonable endeavours to provide Historical Data to the Current FRMP within two 
business days of a request for this information from the Current FRMP.  Historical Data is for 
a period of up to 12 months or otherwise as defined by the relevant Jurisdiction. 



(c) Where an MDP is to update an Interval Datastream Status Code to ‘I’ (Inactive) for a 
connection point that is de-energised, the Proposed Change Date must be the day after the 
connection point is de-energised. (The Datastream Status Code is the key criterion used to 
include metering data in the settlement process). 



(d) Where an MDP is to update an accumulation Datastream Status Code to ‘I’ (Inactive) for a 
connection point that is de-energised, the Proposed Change Date shall be the day the 
connection point is de-energised. (The Datastream Status Code is the key criterion used to 
include metering data in the settlement process). 



(e) Where an MDP is to update an Datastream Status Code for either an Accumulation Meter 
or Interval Meter to ‘A’ (Active) for a connection point that is re-energised, the Proposed 
Change Date must be day the connection point is re-energised. (The Datastream Status 
Code is the key criterion used to include metering data in the settlement process). 



The New MDP must: 



(f) Provide the Actual Change Date to MSATS for transfers for which it receives a Data Request 
for an Actual Change Date. If a manual Meter Reading has been done, the Actual Change 
Date must be the date of the Meter Reading. If more than one meter exists for the NMI, all 
meters should be read on the date of the Actual Change Date that is being provided. 



(g) Configure the Datastream as ‘A’ (Active) or ‘I’ (Inactive) in accordance with the Service Level 
Procedure (MDP). 



(h) Use reasonable endeavours to obtain an Actual Meter Reading where requested but when 
unable to do so provide an Estimated Reading in accordance with Jurisdictional 
requirements. 



(i) Register individual Datastreams in MSATS as described in the NMI Procedure. 



(j) Subject to any applicable Jurisdictional restrictions, use reasonable endeavours to provide 
CATS Standing Data (other than NMI data access information) to the New FRMP within two 
business days of a request for this information from the New FRMP. 



(k) For metering installation types 1-4 and 4A, upon receiving a request from an MPB, provide 
the NMI suffix information applicable to the metering installation within two business days. 



The Current MDP must: 



(l) Provide the Actual Change Date to MSATS for transfers for which it receives a Data Request 
for an Actual Change Date. If a manual Meter Reading has been done, the Actual Change 
Date must be the date of the Meter Reading. If more than one meter exists for the NMI, all 
meters should be read on the date of the Actual Change Date that is being provided. 



(m) Obtain the ADL from the FRMP or the LNSP and update the ADL in MSATS if it is missing or 
incorrect. 



(n) Consider and action as necessary within two business days any updated ADL information 
provided by the LNSP or Current FRMP. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 21 of 169
 



(o) Recalculate the ADL for each active Datastream at least annually and enter this value in 
MSATS where the calculated value differs by more than 20% from the ADL recorded in 
MSATS. Where the current ADL is under 5kWh and the newly calculated ADL is found to be 
still less than 5kWh there is no requirement for the MDP to update the ADL record within 
MSATS. 



(p) For metering installations that are manually read, or have been made capable of remote 
acquisition in accordance with 7.8.9(b) of the NER,update the NSRD within two business days 
of a meter being read.  



(q) For metering installation types 1-4 and 4A, upon receiving a request from an MPB, provide 
the NMI suffix information applicable to the metering installation within two business days. 



2.5. Metering Provider – Category B 
The New MPB must: 



(a) For metering installation types 1-4 and 4A, contact the MDP and agree the NMI suffix 
information prior to updating MSATS with all Meter Register data. 



(b) Upon the installation or re-configuration of the metering installation, update MSATS with all 
Meter Register data, as agreed with the MDP within five business days of becoming the 
MPB. 



(c) Provide to the MC and the Current LNSP any additional technical information regarding the 
metering installation within five business days of becoming the Current MPB. 



The Current MPB must: 



(d) Provide to the Current LNSP any Meter Register data regarding the metering installation 
that is not recorded in MSATS within two business days of request. 



(e) Provide additional metering installation details to MSATS within two business days of 
receiving a Data Request. 



(f) Consider and action as necessary any request to correct erroneous details relating to the 
Meter Register and Register Identifier Status Code within five business days of notification. 



(g) Upon the configuration of the metering installation, update MSATS with all Meter Register 
data, as agreed with the MDP within five business days of performing a metering 
configuration change. 



(h) Update the Meter Register Status Code within 5 business days of a change in meter register 
conditions, including the remote de-energisation and remote re-energisation.. 



2.6. Metering Coordinator 
An MC must: 



(a) Appoint an MDP to provide metering data services, and provide the FRMP with the name of 
that MDP, and ensure that metering data services are provided in accordance with the NER 
and the procedures authorised under the NER. 



(b) Appoint an MP for the provision, installation and maintenance of the metering installation, 
and ensure that the metering installation is provided, installed and maintained in 
accordance with the NER and the procedures authorised under the NER. 



The New MC must: 



(c) Ensure that the Roles nominated in a Change Request are correct. Any errors or omissions 
must be notified to the initiator of the Change Request within two business days of the error 
or omission being identified. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 22 of 169
 



(d) Ensure that the metering installation meets all requirements prescribed in the National 
Electricity Rules in accordance with the NMI classification before transfer into the NEM. 



(e) Ensure that the Meter Reading is available in relation to the Actual Change Date. 



(f) Ensure that the final Meter Reading is obtained in relation to a change of a relevant 
component of a metering installation. 



(g) Ensure that all metering data is provided to the Current LNSP, the Current LR, the Current 
MDP and the Current FRMP, from which the NMI was transferred, in accordance with the 
metrology procedure and Service Level Procedure (MDP) to enable the continuity of billing 
up until the actual transfer date or abolishment date. 



(h) Ensure that the metering installation and the communication facilities to the metering 
installation are in place and remain in place. 



The Current MC must: 



(i) Subject to any applicable Jurisdictional restrictions, ensure that CATS Standing Data (other 
than NMI data access information) is provided to the New FRMP within two business days of 
a request for this information from the New FRMP. 



(j) Ensure that any Meter Register data regarding the metering installation that is not recorded 
in MSATS is provided to the LNSP within five business days of request. 



2.7. Retailer Of Last Resort 
As the ROLR for a ROLR Event is determined and appointed by a Regulator, the ROLR Role in 
MSATS is for indicative purposes only. (Refer to section 35.) 



2.8. Second Network Service Provider 
The NSP2 must notify and request the relevant Participant (LNSP, MPB or MDP) to correct any data 
inconsistency that may exist in MSATS within two business days of becoming aware of the error. 



2.9. AEMO 
AEMO must: 



(a) Continue to invoice (as per NER requirements) the Current FRMP for a Tier 2 Site until it is 
transferred to another FRMP in accordance with these Procedures. 



(b) Enter the DLF Codes provided by an LNSP into MSATS within two business days of receipt. 



(c) Maintain changes to codes and rules in MSATS in accordance with the MSATS Procedures. 
AEMO must correct any discrepancies as soon as practicable once identified. 



(d) Use the BCT to transfer to the nominated RoLR the CATS Standing Data for all connection 
points associated with a Current FRMP that has been suspended from operating in the 
market. 



(e) Populate MSATS with the Embedded Network Code that had been provided to AEMO by 
the LNSP within two business days of receipt. 



(f) Maintain the TNI records in MSATS. 



(g) Populate MSATS with the NSP2 for the appropriate WIGS NMIs. 



(h) Provide, on request from the New ENM, a set/range of NMIs to that New ENM for allocation 
by that ENM to child connection points. 



(i) Provide, on request from a Current ENM, one or more NMIs to that Current ENM for 
allocation by that ENM to the newly formed child connection points. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 23 of 169
 



(j) Where required to Object to a Change Request, use the most appropriate Objection Code. 
If there is no Objection Code that describes the reason for the Objection, AEMO must use 
the BLOCK Objection Code. 



AEMO may: 



(k) Cancel/withdraw any incomplete retail transfers after 7 months from the date of Initiation. 



Note: An automatic nightly MSATS process will Cancel/Withdraw dormant Change Requests that 
exceed 220 days. 



2.10. Embedded Network Manager 
The New ENM must, for each child connection point: 



(a) Obtain a set/range of NMIs from AEMO. 



(b) Initiate a Create NMI Change Request within two business days of a request by a FRMP, or 
of the mandatory data required by the Change Request becoming available, whichever is 
the later. 



(c) Consider and action as necessary within two business days any requests from incorrectly 
assigned Participants to correct a Create NMI Change Request in MSATS. 



(d) Manage the distribution of NMIs. 



(e) Allocate a name to the Parent NMI and provide the name to AEMO (note: this only applies 
in situations where a Child NMI is also a Parent NMI of another embedded network and 
AEMO needs to create an embedded network name in MSATS). 



(f) Allocate an existing Embedded Network Code of a Parent NMI to to each Child NMI.  



The Current ENM must, for each child connection point: 



(g) Allocate a NMI and NMI Checksum. 



(h) Provide an update of the ADL to the Current MDP where the ENM becomes aware of an 
expected change in the ADL of greater than 20%, other than by advice from the MDP. 



(i) Update the Customer Threshold Code within five business days of becoming aware that the 
existing Customer Threshold Code is incorrect for NMIs with a Customer Classification Code 
of ‘BUSINESS’ and a NMI Status Code of ‘A’, or ‘D’. 



(j) Update or remove, as required, the Customer Threshold Code for a NMI within five business 
days of the Customer Classification Code being changed to ‘RESIDENTIAL’. 



(k) Enter the DLF Code for each child connection point within its embedded network, and ensure 
all Child NMIs attached to an embedded network have the same DLF Code, and that this DLF 
Code is the Parent NMI’s DLF Code unless a Site specific DLF has been approved by the 
AER. 



(l) Enter the TNI Code for each child connection point within its embedded network, and ensure 
all Child NMIs attached to an embedded network have the same TNI Code and that this TNI 
Code is the Parent NMI’s TNI Code. 



(m) Update Child NMI Status Code to ‘D’ within five business days of the child connection point 
being de-energised. The Proposed Change Date shall be the day after the de-energisation 
for an Interval Metered child connection point or the day of the de-energisation for a 
Accumulation Metered child connection point. 



(n) Update the Child NMI Status Code to ‘A’ within five business of the child connection point 
being re-energised. The Proposed Change Date shall be the day the child connection point 
is re-energised. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 24 of 169
 



(o) Update the Child NMI Status Code to ‘X’ within five business days of becoming aware of the 
abolition of the child connection point. The Proposed Change Date shall be the day after the 
child connection point was removed for an Interval Metered child connection point or the day 
of the removal for a Accumulation Metered child connection point. 



(p) Update Child NMI Status Code to ‘N’ (Off Market NMI) within five business days of the 
connection point no longer being settled in the NEM. 



(q) Update Child NMI Status Code from ‘N’ to ‘A’ within five business days of the connection 
point becoming on-market. 



(r) Ensure that Network Tariff details for each NMI in its area are stored in the Network Tariff 
Code field at the Register ID level. 



(s) Subject to any applicable Jurisdictional restrictions, provide the NMI and NMI Checksum 
(other than when this is available via a NMI Discovery Search 1) to the New FRMP within one 
business day of a request from the New FRMP, where the New FRMP uses any of the 
following information to identify the Site: 



(i) a unique meter identifier; 



(ii) a street address; or 



(iii) the DPID. 



If a computer search by the ENM does not produce a unique match for the information 
provided by the retailer, the ENM must provide the retailer with any computer matches 
achieved up to a maximum of 99. 



(t) Subject to any applicable Jurisdictional restrictions, provide NMI Standing Data (other than 
data available via a NMI Discovery Search or the MSATS C7 report) to the New FRMP within 
two business days of a request from the New FRMP for the Site identified in the request by 
reference to the NMI and NMI Checksum. 



(u) Consider and action any requests from incorrectly assigned Participants to correct a Create 
NMI Change Request in MSATS within two business days of receiving the request. 



(v) Consider and action within any requests from other Participants to correct erroneous NMI 
Standing Data two business days of receiving the request. 



The Current ENM may, for child connection points: 



(w) Update the Customer Threshold Code for NMIs with a Customer Classification Code of 
‘RESIDENTIAL’. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 25 of 169
 



3. CATS FUNCTIONALITY 



3.1. Overview 
(a) The operation of CATS is based on 14 different types of transactions, as shown in section 



3.3, and a separate RoLR function. 



(b) Six transaction types are initiated by Participants, whilst eight are initiated by MSATS. 



(c) The most significant transaction is the Change Request, which is used by a Participant when 
submitting new CATS Standing Data or changing existing CATS Standing Data. 



(d) The Change Request has a life cycle in which it is created (Initiated) and terminated 
(Completed) in accordance with section 3.5. 



(e) The Completion of a Change Request and the formation of a NMI Master Record occur 
simultaneously. 



(f) The status of each Role on the NMI Master Record is classified as ‘Current’. If the CATS 
Standing Data being changed by a Change Request is a Role, the status of each Role to be 
changed by the Change Request is classified as ‘New’. 



(g) A Change Request will be Completed on: 



(i) the day after the Objection Logging Period has ended, provided no Objections have 
been received and an Actual Change Date exists; or   



(ii) where an Objection has been received, the Change Request is Completed the day 
after all Objections have been withdrawn, the Objection Logging Period has ended, 
and an Actual Change Date exists, 



The change is effective from the Actual Change Date. 



(h) A Change Request that has been Initiated for the purpose of creating a NMI will use the 
date nominated as the Proposed Change Date to populate the Actual Change Date field to 
allow the Change Request to be Completed. 



(i) A Change Request carries with it a set of CATS Standing Data items. The set of data items 
will vary with the transaction selected by the Participant initiating the Change Request. Each 
transaction has a code (Change Reason Code), as detailed in section 4.2 and Table 4-A. 



(j) The Change Reason Codes have been separated into groups of events for the purpose of 
these Procedures, as shown in Table 3-B. Obligations imposed on Participants in regard to 
Change Reason Codes are contained in sections 7 to 41. 



(k) The next most significant transaction is the NMI Discovery Search. This transaction will be 
used by a Participant when undertaking a search of the CATS Standing Data, as specified in 
section 42. 



(l) The RoLR functionality within MSATS is detailed in section 41. 



3.2. Principles 
The following principles apply in regard to the functionality of CATS: 



(a) Current and New Roles will be notified of a change in the status of the Change Request in 
accordance with the Change Request Notification Rules. 



(b) A Change Reason Code will contain rules that specify which Participant(s) must provide the 
data for the Change Request and when the data is required. 



(c) A Change Reason Code will contain rules specifying which data will be present in the NMI 
Master Record before the Change Request can be Completed. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 26 of 169
 



(d) Jurisdictions will specify rules to control the period in which retrospective information may 
be accepted by MSATS. 



(e) Jurisdictions will specify rules to control the period in which an Objection may be logged. 



(f) If an Objection to the change of retailer transaction is submitted by a Participant within the 
Objection Logging Period, the transfer will not proceed until the Objection is cleared. If the 
objection is not cleared, the transfer transaction will expire and be Cancelled and all relevant 
Participants will be notified. 



(g) Jurisdictions will specify rules to control the period in which an Objection may be cleared. 



(h) If there are no outstanding Objections to a current change of retailer transaction after the 
Objection Logging Period has passed, the Change Request will proceed to Completed and 
the information contained in the transaction will become the NMI Master Record. 



(i) Jurisdictions will specify rules to control who is allowed to Object to a Change Request, the 
reason for the Objection and the NMI Classification Code appropriate to that Objection. 



(j) After a NMI is created, and prior to the Actual Change Date, the meter(s) and default NMI 
Datastreams may be set up by whoever is nominated as the default party, even if it is NMI 
for a Tier 1 Site and not needed for profiling (in accordance with Jurisdictional requirements). 



(k) After a NMI is created, and prior to the Actual Change Date, if a Datastream is not set up 
the entry of the NMI into MSATS should not be delayed. 



(l) MSATS will not notify the LR at the time a change of FRMP occurs. 



3.3. Transaction Types 
(a) The types of transactions performed by MSATS are specified in Table 3-A. 



(b) The codes and rules associated with the Change Request transaction are provided in section 
0. 



(c)  Acknowledgement and response transactions are dependent on whether online or batch 
function is invoked. 



Table 3-A – MSATS Transaction Type Codes 



Code Name of Transaction Type Initiated by Description 



ACK Acknowledgment MSATS MSATS responds to ALL transactions with an 
acknowledgment of receipt. 



CODE Codes Update MSATS MSATS notifies Participants of any changes to codes, rules or 
Participant data. 



CR Change Request Participant Used to initiate a Change Request. Submitted by a 
Participant anytime they wish to create or update any 
standing data. 



CRR Change Request Response MSATS MSATS response to a Change Request with an approval or 
rejection as it reaches the Pending Validation status. 



NMID NMI Discovery Request Participant A Participant wants to view CATS Standing Data.  Further 
particulars of the search types can be found in section 43. 



NMIR NMI Discovery Response MSATS MSATS sends a Participant information in response to a NMI 
Discovery Search. 



NOT Change Request Status 
Notification 



MSATS Notifies a Participant of a Change Request’s change in status 
in accordance with the applicable Change Request Status 
Nofification Rules. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 27 of 169
 



Code Name of Transaction Type Initiated by Description 



OBJ Objection Participant A Participant can raise an Objection to a Change Request in 
accordance with the applicable Objection Rules.  Other 
Participants will be informed in accordance with the 
applicable Change Request Status Nofification Rules. 



OBJR Objection Response MSATS MSATS response to an Objection with an approval or 
rejection.  Other Participants will be informed in accordance 
with the applicable Change Request Status Nofification 
Rules. 



RDAT 
 



Request for Participant 
data 



MSATS A request by MSATS to a Participant for provision of the 
necessary data in a Change Request in accordance with the 
applicable Field Validation Rules it that data is not already 
contained in the NMI Master Record. 



RPTD Report Data MSATS The data generated by a report request. 



RPTR Report Request Participant Participant requests a report. 



WCR Change Request 
Withdrawal 



Participant The initiating Participant may Cancel a Change Request at 
any time prior to Completion.  Other Participants will be 
informed in accordance with the applicable Change Request 
Status Nofification Rules. 



WOBJ Objection Withdrawal Participant The initiating Participant may withdraw an Objection.  Other 
Participants will be informed in accordance with the 
applicable Change Request Status Nofification Rules. 



3.4. Change Requests 
(a) A Change Request is the facility by which a Participant interacts with MSATS in order to 



effect a change in data to some or all aspects of information regarding an End User 
connection point prior to a transfer, during a transfer, or after a transfer has Completed. 



(b) Information about an End User’s connection point includes the names and Roles of 
organisations (Participant IDs) that provide a connection point service to the End User, the 
technical details associated with the End User’s metering installation and specific information 
that would assist retailers in providing competitive offers to End Users. 



(c) A Change Request is Initiated by selecting the Transaction Type Code CR, and the 
appropriate Change Reason Code. The Participant must select the Change Reason Code 
that most appropriately reflects the reasons for the change. The assignment of the Change 
Reason Codes to various types of events is provided in Table 3-B. A description of the 
Change Reason Codes is provided in Table 4-A, and in each section to which the Change 
Reason Code applies. 



(d) The completion of a Change Request by submitting all required data can be performed in 
either an on-line interactive mode or an off-line batch mode. 



(e) Only one NMI is allowed on one Change Request. However, there can be multiple NMI 
suffixes and multiple Meter Serial IDs assigned to the one Change Request. 



(f) When submitting a Change Request to MSATS, the Change Request is ‘wrapped’ in an 
aseXML message format. This format is capable of accommodating more than one Change 
Request (when submitted via batch processes). 



(g) When using the batch process, MSATS will respond to the submission of a Change Request 
once validation is complete, with an approval or a Rejection using Transaction Type Code 
CRR. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 28 of 169
 



(h) A Change Request can be withdrawn by the Participant who Initiated the Change Request 
up until the time the Change Request is Completed. 



(i) The Change Reason Code will govern which data items are available to the Participant when 
initiating the Change Request. 



(j) Within certain Change Reason Codes, data items associated with address information are 
provided as mandatory and optional. Mandatory address information specified as locality, 
state and postcode, where ’locality’ has the same meaning as ‘suburb’. Optional address 
information is given in either structured or unstructured format. Section 42.3.1 provides 
additional information about address data items. 



(k) A Change Request can only be assigned one DLF Code. 



Table 3-B – Assignment of Change Reason Codes to Events 



Group of events Description of event Change Reason Code Assignment 



Change Retailer SMALL NMI 1000, 1010, 1030, 1040, 1021, 1022, 
1023, 1024, 1025, 1026, 1027, 1028, 
1029 



LARGE NMI 1000, 1020, 1030, 1040,  



Embedded network SMALL & LARGE 1080, 1081, 1082, 1083, 1084 



Provide Data Provide Actual Change Date SMALL & LARGE (for CR 
1000, 1030, 1080, 1083, 1010, 1040, 1081, 1084, 3080, 3090, 
6200, 6700, 6800) 



1500 



Create NMI Create a NMI SMALL & LARGE 2000, 2001 



Create a Child NMI SMALL & LARGE 2020, 2021 



Create NMI, metering installation details & NMI 
Datastream SMALL & LARGE 



2500, 2501 



Create NMI, metering installation details & MDM 
datastream – Child NMI SMALL & LARGE 



2520, 2521 



Maintain Metering Create metering installation details SMALL & LARGE 3000, 3001  



Exchange of Metering Information SMALL & LARGE 3004, 3005 



Change metering installation details SMALL & LARGE 3050, 3051 



Advanced Change Metering Installation Details SMALL & 
LARGE 



3080, 3081 



Advanced Meter Exchange SMALL & LARGE 3090, 3091 



Change Network Tariff Code SMALL & LARGE 3100, 3101 



Maintain 
Datastream 



Create NMI Datastream SMALL & LARGE 4000, 4001  



Exchange of Datastream Information SMALL & LARGE 4004, 4005 



Change NMI Datastream SMALL & LARGE 4050, 4051 



Maintain NMI Update NSRD SMALL & LARGE 5070, 5071 



Change a NMI SMALL & LARGE 5050, 5051 



Change NMI – Customer Classification Code 5054, 5055 



Change Child NMI SMALL & LARGE 5060, 5061 



Backdate NMI start date 5001 



Backdate Child NMI Start Date  5021 



Change Parent Name SMALL & LARGE  5080, 5081 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 29 of 169
 



Group of events Description of event Change Reason Code Assignment 



Change Role Change LNSP SMALL & LARGE 6100, 6110 



Change MDP SMALL & LARGE 6200, 6210 



Change MC SMALL & LARGE 6300, 6301 



Change Local Retailer SMALL & LARGE 6400, 6401 



Change Local Retailer Child NMI SMALL & LARGE 6421 



Change RoLR SMALL & LARGE 6500, 6501 



Change Metering Provider SMALL & LARGE 6700, 6701 



Change Multiple Roles SMALL & LARGE 6800, 6801 



System Change of Child Local Retailer (Auto) ECLR 



Change of Secondary FRMP – Parent (Auto) EPFR 



AEMO only Invoke Retailer of Last Resort RoLR 



Invoke Bulk Change Process BCxx 



AEMO-Initiated standing data updates 5100, 5101 



Manage External 
Profiles 



Create External Profile 
(1)
 2100, 2101 



Change External Profile 
(1)
 5110, 5111 



Note (1):  Refer to Section 8 in the WIGS Procedures for details on these Change Reason Codes. 



3.5. Change Request Status Life Cycle 
(a) The progression of a Change Request is based on the principle that transactions will be 



approved unless an Objection is received. 



(b) During its life cycle, a Change Request may have the status of: 



(i) Initiated; 



(ii) Pending Validation; 



(iii) Rejected; 



(iv) Requested; 



(v) Objected; 



(vi) Pending; 



(vii) Completed; 



(viii) Cancelled. 



The figure below highlights how each status relates to each other: 



 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 30 of 169
 



 



(c) Initiation is the first status of a new Change Request. During this status, the initiating 
Participant will select an appropriate Change Reason Code, populate the Change Request 
with the data permitted by the Change Reason Code, and then submit the Change Request 
to MSATS. The submission can be through the interactive screen or by a batch process. 



(d) MSATS will then validate the Change Request prior to transferring the Change Request to 
the Pending Validation status. 



(e) The Pending Validation status commences after the Change Request has passed initial 
validation for entry into MSATS. However, not all the data that is required to initiate the 
transaction may be present in MSATS. If mandatory data is missing from the Change 
Request, the Change Request will be Rejected. If the missing data is for the NMI Master 
Record, a Data Request will be sent to the nominated Participant, and MSATS will check for 
the receipt of that data. There is no time limit imposed by MSATS for the provision of this 
data, however, the Participant that receives the Data Request must respond in a reasonable 
time.  The Change Request will be approved only after all required data has been submitted. 



(f) The Rejected status occurs where a Change Request has failed validation. This can occur: 



(i) During the validation of a Change Request whilst it is at the Pending Validation 
status; or 



(ii) At the time of completion of the Change Request (in rare circumstances where a 
change to some other data made after this Change Request was submitted has now 
made this change invalid). 



When a transaction has been Rejected, all Participants associated with the transaction will 
be notified in accordance with the Change Request Status Notification Rules. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 31 of 169
 



(g) The Requested status is where a transaction has been validated, i.e. there is no missing data. 
Notifications of the Requested transaction are sent to the relevant Participants. The 
Objection Logging Period and Objection Clearing Periods have been identified. Any 
Objections received are validated against the Objection Rules or no Objections have been 
submitted. 



(h) The Objected status occurs where one or more Objections have been received. Notifications 
of the Objections are sent to the relevant parties. This includes details of the Objections and 
whether the transaction was already being Objected to. When an Objection is withdrawn, 
the relevant parties will be notified of the details of the withdrawn Objection. When the last 
Objection is withdrawn, the transaction status changes back to Requested, unless the 
Objection Logging Period has expired, in which case it will move to Pending status. If the 
Objection Clearing Period has expired and an Objection that is subject to the Objection 
Logging Period has not been withdrawn the status will be changed to Cancelled. 



(i) The Pending status is where no Objections have been received, or all Objections have been 
withdrawn and the Objection period has passed. The transaction is waiting for the change 
date to be reached. If the Proposed Change Date is reached and all required data is present, 
the status will change to Completed. The status will remain Pending whilst any required data 
remains outstanding or an Objection that is not subject to the Objection Logging Period is 
not raised. Notifications are sent to the relevant Participants in accordance with the Change 
Request Status Notification Rules. 



(j) The Completed status occurs where the Objection Logging Period has passed, all required 
data is present in MSATS and the Proposed Change Date has been reached or is passed. 
Notifications are sent to the relevant Participants in accordance with the Change Request 
Status Notification Rules. 



(k) The Cancelled status occurs where: 



(i) Not all Objections have been withdrawn at expiry of the Objection Clearing Period; or 



(ii) The initiator of the Change Request has withdrawn the transaction. 



When a Change Request is Cancelled, notifications are sent to the relevant Participants in 
accordance with the Change Request Status Notification Rules. 



3.6. Transaction Validation 
(a) A Change Request that has been Initiated by a Participant will undergo several validations 



by MSATS prior to being accepted to the Requested status. 



(i) The first validation will check that any code or date in the Change Request is in 
accordance with the codes and rules look-up tables. Validation will be performed on 
the data contained in the following data items: 



(A) Change Request ID; 



(B) Jurisdiction; 



(C) Role ID; 



(D) NMI Status Code; 



(E) Read Type Code; 



(F) Change Request code; 



(G) TNI Code; 



(H) DLF Code; 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 32 of 169
 



(I) Metering Installation Type Code; 



(J) Parent Name; 



(K) Child Name;  and 



(L) Proposed Change Date. 



(ii) The second validation will check for valid Change Reason Codes and Field Validation 
Rules. Validation will be performed against the following codes and rules: 



(A) Change Reason Codes, as per Table 4-A; 



(B) Field Validation Rules: RI, OI, RQ, RD, RA. 



(iii) A third validation will check the NMI characters against the NMI Checksum. 



(iv) A fourth validation will check that the Participant who Initiated the Change Request is 
an active Participant and able to act in the Role that can initiate the transaction. 
Validation will be performed on the data contained in the following data items: 



(A) Participant ID; 



(B) Participant Status; 



(C) Participant Roles. 



(v) A fifth validation will check that the Proposed Change Date and the Actual Change 
Date are within the range allowed by the Change Reason Code. 



(vi) A sixth validation will check the Proposed Change Date, the Actual Change Date and 
the Actual End Date against the Timeframe Rules. 



(b) An Objection will be validated against general conditions and rule based conditions, as 
follows: 



(i) General conditions against which a validation of an Objection is performed are as 
follows: 



(A) The Participant submitting the Objection is an active Participant; 



(B) The Objection is not a duplicate of an existing Objection by that Participant; 



(C) The Role of the Participant is in accordance with the Objection Rules; 



(D) The Objection is linked to an active Change Request ID; 



(E) The status of the Change Request is either Requested or Objected. 



(ii) Rule-based conditions against which a validation of an Objection is performed are as 
follows: 



(A) The Participant can make the Objection in accordance with its status. 



(B) The Objection Code is permitted for the Role . 



(iii) The Change Request is within its Objection Logging Period. 



(iv) The Change Request is valid (PEND, REQ, OBJ) for Objections that are not subject to 
the Objection Logging Period. 



(c) A Change Request will be validated for information regarding embedded networks as 
follows: 



(i) The Embedded Network Codes will be checked against a list of codes contained in 
MSATS. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 33 of 169
 



(ii) Parent Names and Child Names will be checked to ensure that they are not identical 
for the same NMI; 



(iii) The Child NMI being submitted will be checked against the Parent NMI; 



(iv) A check will be performed for circular relationships; 



(v) Prevent changes of the LR from being effected on a Child NMI; 



(vi) Check that if a Parent NMI is not active that there are no active Child NMIs. 



(d) After the Change Request has been submitted, any subsequent Change Request submitted 
by the initial Participant to change the data on the Change Request will be validated, as 
follows: 



(i) The NMI on the subsequent Change Request will be checked against the NMI on the 
initial Change Request. 



(ii) The Participant ID on the subsequent Change Request will be checked against the 
Participant ID on the initial Change Request. 



3.7. Valid Proposed Change Date for Prospective and Retrospective Change 
Requests 



3.7.1. Retrospective Changes 



(a) For a Retrospective Change, the Proposed Change Date must either be the date the Change 
Request is raised or a date in the past and within the number of days allowed by the 
Timeframe Rules/Change Reason Code/NMI Classification Code on this Change Request. 
The maximum number of days is the value stored in Retrospective Days. At present, the 
maximum number of days in the past for any Role Change Request is 130 business days, the 
maximum number of days in the past for changing NMI Standing Data is 140 business days. 



(b) Retrospective Changes have 0 days for the Prospective Days in the Timeframe Rules for the 
Jurisdiction/Change Reason Code/NMI Classification Code combination. 



(c) Table 3-C lists Retrospective Change Reason Codes. 



Table 3-C – Retrospective Change Reason Codes 



CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code 



Change 
Retailer 



Provide Data Create NMI Maintain 
Metering 



Maintain 
Datastream 



Maintain NMI Change Roles 



1010 1500 2001 3001 4001 5001 6110 



1020  2021 3005 4005 5021 6210 



1021  2101 3051 4051 5051 6301 



1022  2501 3081  5055 6401 



1023  2521 3091  5061 6421 



1024   3101  5071 6501 



1025     5081 6701 



1026     5101 6801 



1027     5111  



1028       



1029       



1040       











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 34 of 169
 



CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code 



1081       



1082       



1084       



3.7.2. Prospective Changes 



(a) For a Prospective Change, the Proposed Change Date must be the day following the date 
on which a Change Request is submitted, or a date after that date. 



(b) The maximum number of days for a Prospective Change depends on the Timeframe 
Rules/Change Reason Code/NMI Classification Code for the relevant Change Request. The 
maximum number of days is the value stored in Prospective Days. At present, the maximum 
allowable number of days for any Prospective Change is 65 business days. 



(c) Prospective Changes have 0 days for the Retrospective Days in the Timeframe 
Rules/Change Reason Code/NMI Classification Code combination. 



Table 3-D – Prospective Change Reason Codes 



CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code 



Change Retailer Create NMI Maintain 
Metering 



Maintain 
Datastream 



Maintain NMI Change Roles 



1000 2000 3000 4000 5050 6100 



1030 2020 3004 4004 5054 6200 



1080 2100 3050 4050 5060 6300 



1083 2500 3080  5070 6400 



 2520 3090  5080 6500 



  3100  5100 6700 



    5110 6800 



 
  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 35 of 169
 



4. CATS CODES AND RULES FOR A CHANGE REQUEST 



4.1. Introduction 
(a) This section specifies the codes and rules that apply when a Participant submits a Change 



Request to, or seeks access to CATS Standing Data. 



(b) MSATS contains the following codes and rules that apply to Change Requests: 



Change Reason Codes Role Codes Initiation Rules 



Jurisdiction Codes Timeframe Rules Objection Codes 



Objection Rules NMI Classification Codes NMI Status Codes 



Metering Installation Type 
Codes 



Read Type Codes Field Validation Rules 



Change Request Status 
Notification Rules 



Customer Classification Code Customer Threshold Code 



4.2. Change Reason Code 
(a) The Change Reason Codes govern the population of data in a Change Request. 



(b) For each Change Reason Code, the following parameters are defined: 



(i) The Participants permitted to initiate a Change Request. 



(ii) The data items that can be populated in the Change Request. 



(iii) The data that must already be present in MSATS before the Change Request can be 
Completed. 



(iv) Whether another Participant must supply the exact date of the change (i.e. is the 
MDP required to supply the date of the Actual Meter Reading to Complete the 
Change Request). 



(v) The date range window. 



(vi) The Objection Logging Period. 



(vii) The Objection Clearing Period. 



(viii) The Roles that will be notified of a Change Request, and at what stages in the 
Change Request that they will be notified. 



(ix) The Participants who can Object to Change Request and the basis for Objection. 



(c) For any Change Reason Code, some elements are defined globally (i.e. they apply in all 
Jurisdictions) while others are defined separately for each Jurisdiction. 



(d) The Change Reason Codes and a brief description of each are provided in Table 4-A. 



Table 4-A – Change Reason Codes 



CR Description Initiating Participant  



1000 Change Retailer  New FRMP 



1010
(1)
 Change Retailer – Retrospective – Align to Meter Reading  New FRMP 



1020
(4)



 Change Retailer–Retrospective –Long Term/Error (not SMALL) New FRMP 



1021 Error Correction – Missed CR 1500 New FRMP 



1022 Incorrect transfer date New FRMP 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 36 of 169
 



CR Description Initiating Participant  



1023 New NMI – Update/Correct FRMP on Greenfield Site New FRMP 



1024 Transfer missed New FRMP 



1025 Transferred in error New FRMP 



1026 Cooled Off New FRMP 



1027 End User Moves Out on or before CR completion date New FRMP 



1028 Non-account holder signs contract New FRMP 



1029 Other Error Corrections (SMALL only)  New FRMP 



1030 Change Retailer – Move-In  New FRMP 



1040 Change Retailer – Move-In – Retrospective New FRMP 



1080 Change Retailer – Child NMI New FRMP 



1081
(1)
 Change Retailer – Child NMI – Retrospective Align Meter Reading New FRMP 



1082 Change Retailer Child – Retrospective Long Term/Error New FRMP 



1083 Change Retailer Child NMI – Move In New FRMP 



1084 Change Retailer Child NMI – Move In – Retrospective New FRMP 



1500 Provide Actual Change Date New and Current MDP 



2000 Create NMI Details New LNSP 



2001 Create NMI Details – Retrospective New LNSP 



2020 Create NMI Details –Child New ENM 



2021 Create NMI Details –Child – Retrospective New ENM 



5050 Change NMI Details Current LNSP 



5051 Change NMI Details – Retrospective Current LNSP 



5001 Backdate NMI Start Date AEMO or LNSP 



5021 Backdate NMI Start Date – Child AEMO or ENM 



5054 Change NMI Details – Customer Classification Code Current FRMP 



5055 Change NMI Details – Customer Classification Code – Retrospective Current FRMP 



5060 Change NMI Details – Child Current ENM 



5061 Change NMI Details – Child – Retrospective Current ENM 



5070 Update Next Scheduled Read Date Current MDP 



5071 Update Next Scheduled Read Date – Retrospective Current MDP 



5080 Change Parent Name Current LNSP 



5081 Change Parent Name – Retrospective Current LNSP 



5100 5100 – Change NMI Details – Prospective (AEMO only) AEMO 



5101 5101 – Change NMI Details – Retrospective (AEMO only) AEMO 



2100 Create External Profile Shape New AEMO 



2101 Create External Profile Shape – Retrospective New AEMO 



5110 Change External Profile Shape Current AEMO 



5111 Change External Profile Shape – Retrospective Current AEMO 



2500 Create NMI, NMI Datastream & metering installation details New LNSP 



2501 Create NMI, NMI Datastream & metering installation details – 
Retrospective 



New LNSP 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 37 of 169
 



CR Description Initiating Participant  



2520 Create NMI, MDM Datastream & Metering Installation Details – Child 
NMI 



New ENM 



2521 Create NMI, MDM Datastream & Metering Installation Details – Child 
NMI – Retrospective 



New ENM 



3000
(3) Create metering installation details Current MPB 



3001
(3)



 Create metering installation details – Retrospective Current MPB 



3004
(3)



 Exchange of Metering Information Current MPB 



3005
(3)



 Exchange of Metering Information – Retrospective Current MPB 



3050
(3)



 Change metering installation details Current MPB 



3051
(3)



 Change metering installation details – Retrospective Current MPB 



3080 Advanced change metering installation details Current MC 



3081 Advanced change metering installation details – Retrospective  Current MC 



3090
(3)



 Advanced Meter Exchange Current MC 



3091
(3)



 Advanced Meter Exchange – Retrospective Current MC 



3100 Change Network Tariff Code Current LNSP or Current 
ENM 



3101 Change Network Tariff Code – Retrospective Current LNSP or Current 
ENM 



4000
(2)



 Create NMI Datastream Details Current MDP 



4001
(2)



 Create NMI Datastream Details – Retrospective Current MDP 



4004
(2)



 Exchange of Datastream Information Current MDP 



4005
(2)



 Exchange of Datastream Information – Retrospective Current MDP 



4050
(2)



 Change NMI Datastream Details Current MDP 



4051
(2)



 Change NMI Datastream Details – Retrospective Current MDP 



6100 Change LNSP New LNSP or new ENM 



6110 Change LNSP – Retrospective New LNSP or new ENM 



6200 Change MDP Current FRMP or Current MC 



6210 Change MDP – Retrospective Current FRMP or Current MC 



6300 Change MC New MC or Current FRMP 



6301 Change MC – Retrospective New MC or Current FRMP 



6400 Change LR New LR 



6401 Change LR – Retrospective New LR 



6421 Change LR – Retrospective – Child NMI New LR 



6500 Change RoLR New RoLR 



6501 Change RoLR – Retrospective New RoLR 



6700 Change MP Current MC 



6701 Change MP – Retrospective Current MC 



6800 Change Multiple Roles Current FRMP or Current MC 



6801 Change Multiple Roles - Retrospective Current FRMP or Current MC 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 38 of 169
 



CR Description Initiating Participant  



BCxx Invoke Bulk Change Process AEMO 



ROLR Invoke Retailer of Last Resort AEMO 



ECLR Change of Local Retailer – Child (Auto) AEMO/MSATS 



EPFR Change of Secondary FRMP – Parent (Auto) AEMO/MSATS 
Note (1): Likely to be used with Read Type Codes PR, CR or ER. 
Note (2): A single Change Request using these Change Reason Codes may be populated with multiple NMI suffixes. 
Note (3): A single Change Request using these Change Reason Codes may be populated with multiple Meter Serial IDs. 
Note (4): “not SMALL” means LARGE, WHOLESAL, INTERCON, GENERATR or SAMPLE NMIs. 



4.3. Role Codes 
(a) A Role Code identifies the type of association that a Participant has with a NMI. 



(b) The NMI Master Record will contain each ‘Current’ Role for each NMI.  Each proposed Role 
for a NMI is referred to as a ‘New’ Role. 



(c) The Role Codes defined in Table 4-B are used to define: 



(i) Participants that can initiate a Change Request; 



(ii) Participants to supply data when it is needed to Complete a Change Request; 



(iii) Change Request Status Notification Rules; 



(iv) Objection Rules; and 



(v) Access rights to CATS Standing Data. 



Table 4-B – Role Codes 



Code Description 



FRMP Financially Responsible Market Participant 



LNSP Local Network Service Provider or Embedded Network Manager for child connection 
points 



LR Local Retailer 



MDP Metering Data Provider – Category D 



MPB Metering Provider – Category B 



MPC Metering Data Provider – Category C 



NEMM National Electricity Market Operator 



NSP2 Second Network Service Provider (For Wholesale NMIs only) 



ROLR Retailer of Last Resort 



RP Metering Coordinator 



4.4. Change Request Initiation Rules 
(a) The Initiation Rules specify the Roles permitted to Initiate Change Requests. 



(b) A Change Request may be Initiated by both ‘New’ or ‘Current’ Roles. 



(c) Only a ‘New’ Role can be entered on a Change Request. 



(d) The Initiation Rules for each Change Reason Code are listed in the section to which the 
Change Reason Codes are detailed. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 39 of 169
 



4.5. Jurisdiction Codes 
(a) The Jurisdiction Codes defined in Table 4-C identifies the Jurisdiction in which a NMI is 



situated. 



(b) The Jurisdiction Code is used to apply Jurisdiction-based business rules. 



Table 4-C – Jurisdiction Codes 



Code Description 



ACT Australian Capital Territory 



ALL All Jurisdictions 



NEM National Electricity Market 



NSW New South Wales 



QLD Queensland 



SA South Australia 



TAS Tasmania 



VIC Victoria 



4.6. Timeframe Rules 
(a) The Timeframe Rules specify whether a Jurisdiction, Change Reason Code and NMI 



Classification Code are a valid combination. 



(b) For any Change Reason Code, the Timeframe Rules specify: 



(i) Whether the Change Reason Code can be used to make a Prospective Change or 
Retrospective Change; 



(ii) The number of days into the future (Prospective Days) or the past (Retrospective 
Days) that are allowable for the Proposed Change Date; 



(iii) The number of days allowed for Objections (Objection Logging Period), which 
commences from the next business day after the date that the Change Request is 
Initiated.; and 



(iv) The number of days after which a Change Request that has been Objected to will be 
Cancelled (Objection Clearing Period), which commences from the next business day 
after the date that the Change Request is Initiated. 



(c) The Timeframe Rules may be specified by Jurisdiction. 



(d) Unless stated otherwise, the Timeframe Rules for a Change Reason Code apply to all 
Jurisdictions. 



4.7. Objection Codes 
(a) The Objection Codes defined in Table 4-D are the only basis on which Participants can 



Object to a Change Request. 



(b) The Objection Codes are applied to each Jurisdiction and each Change Reason Code in 
accordance with the Objection Rules. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 40 of 169
 



Table 4-D – Objection Codes 



Code Description 



BADDATA Used by a Participant to confirm that the standing data in the change request or the NMI 
Master Record is incorrect (e.g. Meter Serial ID). If the Participant role is incorrect; use 
NOTRESP. 



BADMETER Used by the MDP for change retailer requests, where the Read Type Code is not compatible 
with the method for collecting metering data at the metering installation. 



BADPARTY Used by the MC when the MDP, MPB, or MPC nominated on a change of retailer request or 
change of role is incorrect as they are not the party appointed by the MC, or do not have the 
capability or capacity to operate in the Role proposed. 



BLOCK AEMO Objection to the transaction either at the request of a Jurisdiction or for operational 
reasons.  



CONTRACT Must only be used where a change in MC is proposed, the Current MC has been appointed by 
a large End User and has an existing contractual obligation with the large End User that takes 
precedence over the proposed change. 
 



CRCODE Can be used if the Change Reason Code being used does not apply to the NMI concerned. 



DATEBAD  Used by the MDP for meter installation types 4A, 5 and 6 to inform the initiating party the 
proposed date in the change of retailer or change of role request does not align with the date 
the Metering Reading is scheduled to be taken. 
Used by the Current FRMP, or MDP for retrospective change of retailer or change of role 
requests where one or both of the Proposed Change Date, or Actual End Date is incorrect. 



DEBT Used by the Current FRMP for change retailer requests in Victoria only, were there is an aged 
debt reaching Jurisdictional limits. 



DECLINED Used by a Participant who does not wish to perform the Role for which it is nominated in the 
Change Request. 



NOACC (1) Used where no access can be obtained to the metering installation to perform the manual 
collection of metering data required to facilitate a transfer of FRMP, or Meter Churn. 



NOTAPRD Used by the LNSP where a Participant is not accredited or authorised to operate within the 
LNSP area, most typically applying to the Role of MP. 



NOTAWARE Used by the Current FRMP when no communication has been received from the New FRMP 
confirming that an error correction transaction will be processed. 



NOTPRUD No prudential approval. 
AEMO has not approved the transaction for prudential reasons. 



NOTRANS Used by the Current FRMP and only applies to retrospective change of retailer requests. A 
check of records shows no previous change of retailer request exists for the error correction 
change of retailer. 



NOTRESP Not responsible for NMI in the identified Role. 
For use by a nominated Participant to Object on the basis that they are not responsible in the 
Role in which they are nominated. 



RETRO Participant does not agree to a Retrospective Change. 



Note (1):  Objections for “NOACC” are not subject to Objection Logging Periods or Objection Clearing Periods. A valid Actual Change Date being 
entered against a Change Request with an Objection of “NOACC” will withdraw any “NOACC” Objections. 



4.8. Objection Rules 
(a) The Objection Rules specify the way in which Objection Codes can be used for each Change 



Reason Code and Role. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 41 of 169
 



(b) The Objection Rules for each Change Reason Code are listed in the section to which the 
Change Reason Code applies. 



(c) Unless stated otherwise, Objection Rules apply in every Jurisdiction. 



4.9. NMI Classification Codes 
(a) The NMI Classification Code enables MSATS to be informed of the nature of the flow of 



electricity at the connection point to which the NMI information applies. 



(b) The NMI Classification Codes ‘LARGE’ and ‘SMALL’ are used in these Procedures. They are 
parameters for defining Change Reason Codes, application timeframes and Objection Rules. 



(c) The NMI Classification Codes ‘LARGE’ and ‘SMALL’ are based on the total annual load of the 
NMI as per Table 4-E. 



Table 4-E – NMI Classification Codes 



Code Description (2) 



EPROFILE External profile shape 



GENERATR Generator 



INTERCON Interconnector 



LARGE 
(1)
 Victoria:    



NSW:  
ACT:   >=160 
MWh 
SA: 



>=160 MWh 



QLD:  >=100 MWh  



TAS:  >=150 MWh 



SAMPLE  Sample Meter 



SMALL
(1)
 Victoria:   



NSW:  
ACT:  <160 MWh 
SA: 



<160 MWh 



QLD:  <100 MWh 



TAS:  <150 MWh 



WHOLESAL Wholesale Transmission Node Identifier 
Note (1): These codes are used in the CATS Procedures. 
Note (2): See relevant Jurisdictional regulation for full details. 



4.10. End User Classification 



4.10.1. Customer Classification Code 



(a) The FRMP must update an End User’s Customer Classification Code as specified in Table 
4-F. 



(b) The Customer Classification Code relates to an End User, or previous End User, at  a single 
connection point to which the NMI applies. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 42 of 169
 



 



Table 4-F – Customer Classification Codes 



Code 



BUSINESS 



RESIDENTIAL 



4.10.2. Customer Threshold Code 



(a) The Customer Threshold Code is used to indicate the level of an End User’s electricity 
consumption at a single connection point to which a NMI applies and is based on the LNSP’s 
determination of the annualised consumption for an End User at a single connection point. 



(b) The Customer Threshold Code is mandatory for all NMIs with a NMI Status Code of ‘A’ or 
‘D’, and a Customer Classification Code of ‘BUSINESS’. 



(c) The Customer Threshold Codes are specified in Table 4-G. 



Table 4-G – Customer Threshold Codes 



Customer Threshold Code Description  



LOW Consumption is less than the ‘lower consumption threshold’ as defined in 
the National Energy Retail Regulations 



MEDIUM Consumption is equal to or greater than the ‘lower consumption 
threshold’, but less than the ‘upper consumption threshold’, as defined in 
the National Energy Retail Regulations 



HIGH Consumption is equal to or greater than the ‘upper consumption 
threshold’ as defined in the National Energy Retail Regulations 



4.11. Status Codes  



4.11.1. NMI Status Codes 



(a) The NMI Status Codes defined in table 4-H are used to determine if a NMI can be used for 
a retail transfer. 



(b) The NMI Status Code ‘X’ is the only status that does not allow NMI transfers between 
retailers. 



Table 4-H – NMI Status Codes 



Code Name of code Description of code 



A Active NMI  Applies when a NMI is energised. 



D Not energised NMI Applies when the NMI exists in MSATS and the connection point is de-energised. 



X Extinct NMI  Applies when:   
 the network connection has been permanently removed from the 



connection point, or 
 the embedded network connection has been permanently removed from 



the child connection point, or  
 the connection point has been moved from an LNSP’s network to an 



embedded network or vice versa. 
Under this condition the existing NMI will not be reallocated to any other 
connection point in the future. 
A NMI with this status can never be transferred. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 43 of 169
 



Code Name of code Description of code 



G Greenfield Site NMI Applies to a Site that has never been energised. The connection point may 
require further Site works to be undertaken and will also require energisation. 
Once the NMI Status Code is changed from ‘G’, it cannot revert to ‘G’. 



N Off Market Child 
NMI 



Applies when a child connection point is no longer settled in the NEM. 



4.11.2. Datastream Status Codes 



(a) In the MDM process, the Datastream Status Code is used to determine whether a 
Datastream is to be used in the settlements process, either because the NMI is Tier 2 or 
because metering data is required from this NMI as part of the process of creating a Load 
Profile. 



(b) The Datastream Status Codes in MSATS are ‘A’ and ‘I’, as defined in Table 4-I. 



Table 4-I – Datastream Status Codes   



Code Name of code Description of code 



A Active NMI Datastream Applies when an NMI Datastream is to be used in settlements. 



I Inactive NMI 
Datastream 



Applies when the NMI Datastream is not to be used in settlements. 



(c) If a retail transfer CR is Completed and an End User has transferred to a second tier retailer 
(i.e. FRMP is not the LR) the Datastream Status Code for a Second Tier NMI must be ‘A’ 
when the NMI is energised. 



4.11.3. Meter Register Status Codes 



(a) The Meter Register Status Codes denote the status of the meter in MSATS. 



(b) The only Meter Register Status Codes are ‘C’, ‘R’, and ‘D’ as defined in Table 4-J. 



Table 4-J – Meter Register Status Codes 



Code Name of code Description of code 



C Current  Applies when a meter at the NMI is current and not disconnected. 



R Removed Applies when a meter at the NMI is removed. 



D Remotely Disconnected Applies when a meter at the NMI is disconnected. 



4.11.4. Register Identifier Status Codes 



(a) The Register Identifier Status Code indicates if a Meter Register is active. 



(b) The Register Identifier Status Codes are C and R and are defined in Table 4-K. 



Table 4-K – Register Identifier Status Codes 



Code Name  Description  



C Current  Applies when a Meter Register at the NMI is current, i.e. connected to a connection point. 



R Removed Applies when a Meter Register at the NMI is removed, i.e. not connected to a connection 
point. 



4.12. Metering Installation Type Codes 
(a) The Metering Installation Type Codes defined in Table 4-L identifies the type of metering 



installation as specified in the NER. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 44 of 169
 



(b) The Metering Installation Type Code also indicates whether the Actual Change Date must 
be input by a Participant other than the initiator of the Change Request. If the Manually 
Read Flag (see Table 4-L) is set to Y and the Change Request Field Validation Rules have 
been set up to request a date, a request will be sent to the nominated Participant to provide 
it. 



Table 4-L – Metering Installation Type Codes 



Code Description Manually Read 
Flag 



BASIC Accumulation Meter – Type 6 Y 



COMMS1 Interval Meter with communications – Type 1 Y 



COMMS2 Interval Meter with communications – Type 2 Y 



COMMS3 Interval Meter with communications – Type 3 Y 



COMMS4 Interval Meter with communications – Type 4 
(Note: This code is used for large customer with type 4 metering installations 
and for small customer type 4 metering installation installed before 1 December 
2017)  



Y 



COMMS4C CT connected metering installation that meets the minimum services 
specifications 



Y 



COMMS4D Whole current metering installation that meets the minimum services 
specifications 



Y 



MRAM small customer metering installation – Type 4A Y 



MRIM Manually Read Interval Meter – Type 5 Y 



PROF For Profile Setup  N 



SAMPLE Sample Meter Y 



UMCP Unmetered Supply – Type 7 N 



VICAMI a relevant metering installation as defined in clause 9.9C of the NER.  Y 



4.12.1. Consequences of Allocating Certain Metering Installation Codes 



(a) If the Metering Installation Type Code is COMMSx, MRIM, MRAM, VICAMI, or UMCP: 



(i) DataStreamType1 must be I or P (P – Sample meters only) 



(ii) ProfileName must be NOPROF 



(iii) Datastream Suffix must be Nx (e.g. N1) 



(b) If the Metering Installation Type Code is BASIC: 



(i) DataStreamType must be C 



(ii) In Victoria, Tasmania and ACT, ProfileName must be NSLP 



(iii) In NSW, QLD and SA, ProfileName must be NSLP or the relevant CLP 



(iv) Datastream Suffix must be numeric (e.g. 11) 



4.13. Read Type Code 
(a) The Read Type Code is not used by MSATS for the purpose of settlements. There are no 



rules in MSATS controlling the use of the Read Type Code. 



                                                      
1 See Standing Data for MSATS for explanation of DataStreamType. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 45 of 169
 



(b) The Read Type Code is an instruction from the requesting FRMP to the MDP, nominated in 
the Change Request to assist the transfer by using the specified reading method. 



(c) Where advice is provided to an MDP, the MDP would arrange for the Meter Reading to be 
undertaken. 



(d) The Read Type Code is used to signal when a meter should be read, whether an alternative 
arrangement is to be used, or whether no read is required. 



(e) In each case the Read Type Code is an instruction relating to the date in the Proposed 
Change Date. 



(f) A meter may be read on the NSRD (NS) or on a Special Read Date (SP). 



(g) An Estimated Reading (ER) may be provided in place of the Actual Meter Reading. 



(h) The Read Type Codes are specified in Table 4-M. 



Table 4-M – Read Type Codes  



Code Name of code Description of code 



CR Consumer Read Available if approved by Jurisdictional policy. Advice from New FRMP to MC or 
MDP that the End User has agreed to transfer on a Meter Reading it provides. 
MDP/MPC is not required to undertake a Special Meter Reading. 
Applies to type 6 metering installations. 



EI Existing Remotely-
Read Interval Meter 



Advice from the New FRMP to the MDP that there is an existing remotely-read 
Interval Meter at the connection point and that the existing meters will continue 
to be used after the transfer. 
Applies to type 1 to 4 metering installations only. 



ER Estimated Read Available if approved by Jurisdictional policy. Advice from the New FRMP to 
MDP that the End User has agreed to transfer on an Estimated Reading. No 
Meter Reading is required for this transfer. MDP is to provide an Estimated 
Reading in accordance with the metrology procedure and any other Jurisdiction 
requirements. 
Applies to type 4A, 5 and type 6 metering installations. 



GR Greenfield NMI Used when the NMI being transferred is a greenfield connection point and has 
never had a metering installation physically installed at the connection point and 
the NMI Status is ‘G’ 



NS Next Scheduled Read 
Date



(1)
 



Advice from New FRMP to MDP that the Proposed Change Date for the End 
User transfer is the NSRD, which is, therefore, a date in the future. No other 
Meter Reading is required. 
An acceptable date is a window that is up to 3 business days before or 2 
business days after the published NSRD. 
If the date proposed by the New FRMP is not within this same window (i.e. up 
to 3 business days before or 2 business days after), the MDP must advise the 
FRMP that there is a problem with the date proposed within 2 days of receipt 
of the Data Request. 
If the meter is read outside this window, the MDP is not obliged to provide an 
Actual Change Date CR 1500. 
Applies to types 4A, 5 and type 6 metering installations. 



PR Previous Read Date
(2)



 Available if approved by Jurisdictional policy. Advice from the New FRMP to the 
MDP that the transfer is to occur on the previous Meter Reading. 
Applies to type 4A, 5 and type 6 metering installations. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 46 of 169
 



Code Name of code Description of code 



RR Next Read Date Advice from New FRMP to MDP that the Proposed Change Date for the End 
User transfer is to be the date the meter is next read, which is, therefore, a date 
in the future. This code should be used if it is intended that the transfer is to 
occur on the date that the meter is read next, whenever that date is (i.e. the 
Proposed Change Date has no relevance). 
Applies to types 4A, 5 and type 6 metering installations. 



SP Special Read Advice from New FRMP to MDP that the Proposed Change Date for the End 
User transfer is a date that does not align with the scheduled reading cycle. The 
MDP/MPC is to arrange for the Special Meter Reading. 
Applies to type 4A, 5 and type 6 metering installations. 



UM Unmetered 
Connection Point 



Used when the NMI being transferred is an unmetered connection point. 



Note (1): There is no requirement to maintain the NSRD for meters that are remotely read. The NSRD will only be required for the 
type 4A, 5 and 6 metering installations where manual Meter Reading is necessary. 



Note (2): The previous Meter Reading date is not held by MSATS. The New FRMP would obtain this information from the End User. 
This Read Type Code is likely to be used with Change Reason Codes 1010 and 1081. 



(i) The combinations of Read Type Codes, Metering Installation Type Codes and Change 
Reason Codes that can be valid, (provided the Read Type Code is allowed in a Jurisdiction), 
are specified in Table 4-N. (The Metering Installation Type Code referred to here is the code 
for the existing metering record) 



Table 4-N – Valid Combinations of Read Type Codes, Metering Installation Type Codes and Change 
Reason Codes  



 CR Code  1000 1010, 102X, 1040 
except 1023 



1030 1023 All CR Codes 



 Metering Installation 
Type Code  



BASIC MRIM / 
MRAM 



BASIC MRIM / 
MRAM 



BASIC MRIM / 
MRAM 



Not 
Applicable 



COMMSx / 
VICAMI 



UMCP 



Re
ad



 T
yp



e 
Co



de
 



NS Next 
Scheduled 
Read Date 



Yes Yes No No No No No No No 



RR Next Read 
Date 



Yes Yes No No Yes Yes No No No 



SP Special Read Yes Yes No No Yes Yes No No No 



ER Estimated 
Read 



Yes Yes Yes No Yes Yes No No No 



CR Consumer 
Read 



Yes No No No No No No No No 



PR Previous Read 
Date 



No No Yes Yes No No No No No 



UM Unmetered 
Connection Pt 



No No No No No No No No Yes 



EI Existing 
Interval Meter 



No No No No No No No Yes No 



GR Greenfield 
NMI 



No No No No No No Yes No No 



Note: 1080 is the same as 1000, 1081 is the same as 1010, 1083 is the same as 1030, and 1084 is the same as 1040. 
Note: 102X refers to 1020, 1021, 1022, 1023, 1024, 1025, 1026, 1027, 1028 and 1029. 
Note:  COMMSx refers to COMMS1, COMMS2, COMMS3, COMMS4, COMMS4C, COMMS4D. 
Note: No meter reading is required for CR Code 1023 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 47 of 169
 



4.14. Field Validation Rules 
(a) The Field Validation Rules are based on data source codes as per table 4-O. 



(b) For any Change Reason Code, the Field Validation Rules specify: 



(i) Which fields must be completed at the time the transaction is Initiated; 



(ii) Which fields can optionally be completed at the time the transaction is Initiated; 



(iii) Which fields must be present on the NMI Master Record for the transaction to 
proceed from Pending Validation to Requested and, if they are not present, which 
Participant must supply them; and 



(iv) Whether the Actual Change Date has to be obtained from another Participant for 
NMIs where the metering installations are manually read (and if it does, who should 
be asked to supply it). 



(c) The obligations on Participants arising from the allocation of the Field Validation Rules are 
detailed in the section to which the Change Reason Code applies. 



(d) Each data source code is hard coded in MSATS and is not available for maintenance. The 
available data codes are identified in Table 4-O. 



Table 4-O – Field Validation Data Source Codes 



Code Explanation 



OI Optional on Initiation. This means it is optionally supplied by the initiator of the Change Request. 



RA Requested by CATS regardless of whether it is already in CATS. 
For all RA fields, the Participant that supplies the data must be identified. 
For all RA fields, it is also necessary to identify whether this data is required prior to the transaction 
passing from Pending Validation to Requested. 
This code will be used for requesting the Actual Change Date on End User transfer Change Requests. 
(However, in this special case, the request will only be sent if the metering installation is flagged as 
manually read). 



RD This is only required for the Actual Change Date on the transaction that is returned as a consequence of 
a request to provide an Actual Change Date (currently 1500 is the only one).  



RI Required to Initiate. This means it must be supplied by the initiator of the Change Request. 



RQ Requested by CATS if the data is not already in CATS. 
For all RQ fields, the Participant that supplies the data must be identified. 
For all RQ fields, it is also necessary to identify whether this data is required prior to the transaction 
passing from Pending Validation to Requested. 



4.15. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules define which Roles are to be advised when a 
Change Request undergoes a change in status. 



4.16. Maintenance of Codes and Rules 
(a) AEMO must maintain the following codes and rules in MSATS: 



Change Reason Codes Role Codes Initiation Rules 



Jurisdiction Codes Timeframe Rules Objection Codes 



Objection Rules NMI Classification Codes NMI Status Codes 



Metering Installation Type Codes Read Type Codes Field Validation Rules 



Change Request Status 
Notification Rules 



NMI Discovery Search – NMI 
Search Rules 



NMI Discovery Search – NMI 
Data Access Rules 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 48 of 169
 



NMI & CATS Standing Data 
Access Rules 



Network Tariff Code  



(b) MSATS will send a message to all Participants if a change is made to any code or rule. 



4.17. Datastream Status Code 
(a) The Datastream Status Code is part of CATS Standing Data and is used for the management 



of the metering data within MSATS. 



(b) The Datastream Status Code makes use of the codes specified in Table 4-I. 



(c) When required by a Change Reason Code, Participants must nominate on a Change 
Request the status of the Datastream Status Code for the selected NMI. 



(d) If a Datastream Status Code is set to A (active) this flag will be used by MSATS to indicate 
that metering data is to be expected for the NMI for the purpose of: 



(i) aggregation in the settlements process; or 



(ii) netting off in the determination of a profile shape. 



4.18. Embedded Network Codes and Rules 
(a) MSATS requires each embedded network to be given a name, which is to be a code of up to 



10 characters. 



(b) The LNSP must provide the Embedded Network Code to AEMO. 



(i) The first character of the Embedded Network Code is to be the first character of the 
Jurisdiction in which the embedded network is located. 



(ii) The second character of the Embedded Network Code is to be a character chosen to 
represent the LNSP in whose distribution network the embedded network is connected. 



(iii) The LNSP must liaise with the owner of the embedded network to determine the other 
characters of the Embedded Network Code as per the Embedded Network Code 
structure specified by AEMO.2   



(c) The LNSP must provide to AEMO the following when providing the Embedded Network 
Code: 



(i) Description of the embedded network (up to 50 characters long). 



(ii) Locality, postcode and state of the embedded network. 



(iii) Start date of the embedded network. 



(iv) DLF Code of the Parent NMI.3 



(v) TNI Code of the Parent NMI.4 



(d) The LNSP is to allocate the Embedded Network Code to the Parent NMI. 



(e) The ENM is to allocate the Embedded Network Code to the Child NMI which is the same as 
the Embedded Network Code of the Parent NMI. 



(f) The ENM must provide AEMO with the name of the EENSP and the associated Embedded 
Network Code within 5 business days of being appointed as the ENM.  



                                                      
2 Document No MT_GN1710v0xx.doc – Allocation of Embedded Network Codes. 
3 Note that subsequent update to the DLF Code is not required via this transaction. 
4 Note that subsequent update to the TNI Code is not required via this transaction. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 49 of 169
 



4.19. Obtaining Electronic Downloads of Configuration Rules 
The CATS configuration can be downloaded from MSATS by using the C1 ‘Data Replication 
Resynchronisation Report (C1)’ report, and selecting the following tables: 



Table 4-P – CATS Configuration Tables Available for Download 



Type Description Table 



 List of Roles along with their assigned Participant IDs used by 
MSATS  



CATS_PARTICIPANT_ROLES 



Code List of the available Change Reason Codes CATS_CHANGE_REASON_CODES 



Code Change Request Status codes CATS_CR_STATUS_CODES 



Code Data source code used for Field Validation Rules  CATS_DATA_SOURCE_CODES 



Code De-registration codes CATS_DEREG_CODES 



Code DLF Codes CATS_DLF_CODES 



Code Parent Name codes CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES 



Code Error codes used by MSATS CATS_ERROR_CODES 



Code List of Jurisdiction Codes CATS_JURISDICTION_CODES 



Code Meter installation type codes CATS_METER_INSTALL_TYPE_CODES 



Code NMI Classification Codes  CATS_NMI_CLASS_CODES 



Code NMI Status Codes CATS_NMI_STATUS_CODES 



Code List of available Objection Codes CATS_OBJECTION_CODES 



Code List of Registered Participant IDs CATS_PARTICIPANTS 



Code List of allowable Read Type Codes  CATS_READ_TYPE_CODES 



Code List of available Roles CATS_ROLES 



Code Transmission connection point identifier codes  CATS_TNI_CODES 



Code List of transaction types in MSATS  CATS_TRANS_TYPE_CODES 



Code Calender used by MSATS  MSATS_NATIONAL_CALENDAR 



Code Network Tariff Codes CATS_NETWORKTARIFF_CODES 



Rule Change Request Initiation Rules CATS_CR_INITIATION_RULES 



Rule Rule governing NMI Discovery Search CATS_DISCOVERY_ACCESS_RULES 



Rule Rules defining if Site address is returned in NMI Discovery Search CATS_DISCOVERY_SEARCH_RULES 



Rule Jurisdiction rules governing Change Request Initiation CATS_JURISDICTIONAL_RULES 



Rule Change Request Status Notification Rules that specify which 
notifications are generated by MSATS 



CATS_NOTIFICATION_RULES 



Rule The rules governing the use of Objections CATS_OBJECTION_RULES 



Rule Transaction Field Validation Rules CATS_TRANS_FIELD_VALIDATION 



 
  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 50 of 169
 



5. MSATS REPORTS 
(a) The following reports are available to Participants from MSATS. 



Table 5-A – MSATS Reports 



Report Name Description 



CATS C1  Data Replication Resynchronisation Report 



CATS C3  NMI Change Request Report  



CATS C4 NMI Master Report 



CATS C7 New Participant Access Report 



CATS C9 NMI Count Report 



MDM RM8  DatePPSBMPGenerated 



MDM RM9  Actual Versus Estimate Data Report 



MDM RM11 Missing Data 



MDM RM13 NMI Datastreams History Report 



MDM RM14 MDP Data Version Comparison Report 



MDM RM15  Count of Multiple Versions Report 



MDM RM16 Level 1 Settlement Reconciliation Report 



MDM RM17 Level 3 Settlement Reconciliation Report for Non-Aggregated 
Data 



MDM RM18  Interval Data Report 



MDM RM19  Aggregated Energy Actual-vs-Estimate Report 



MDM RM20  PPS Report 



MDM RM21 Level 2 Settlement Reconciliation Report  



MDM RM22  Data Estimation Report 



MDM RM26 MDP Substitution and Estimation Report 
 



(b) MSATS will produce a report using Transaction Type Code RPTD. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 51 of 169
 



6. GUIDELINES FOR MANAGING CONCURRENT RETAIL TRANSFERS 



6.1. Definition of concurrent retail transfers 
(a) Concurrent retail transfers are those where there is more than one change of retailer for a 



particular NMI at the same time in MSATS. 



(b) There are two types of concurrent retail transfers in MSATS. 



(i) Type 1 is a concurrent retail transfer where the same FRMP has submitted more than 
one change of retailer Change Request for the one NMI. 



(ii) Type 2 is a concurrent retail transfer request where more than one FRMP has 
submitted a change of retailer Change Request for one NMI. 



6.2. Guidelines 
Type 1 Concurrent Retail Transfers 



(a) MSATS will identify the type 1 concurrent retail transfers and the FRMP that has Initiated 
these Change Requests. 



(b) MSATS will Reject the newly submitted Change Request and a notification will be sent to the 
initiating FRMP detailing the reason for the Rejection. 



(c) The existing Change Request will remain unaffected and active in MSATS. 



Type 2 Concurrent Retail Transfers 



(d) MSATS will identify the type 2 concurrent retail transfers and the FRMPs that have Initiated 
these Change Requests. 



(e) MSATS will Reject the newly submitted Change Request and a notification will be sent to the 
initiating Participant detailing the reason for the Rejection. 



(f) The existing Change Request to change a retailer is Cancelled and notifications will be sent 
to all the parties related to the Change of Retailer Request as per normal notifications (i.e. 
FRMP, MDP, MC etc). The reason for the cancellation shall also be provided in the 
notification. 



(g) The affected FRMPs should determine the reason for the concurrent retail transfers and as 
necessary proceed to investigate who is the preferred FRMP of the End User consistent with 
relevant Jurisdictional requirements. The preferred FRMP should then initiate a single valid 
transfer Change Request. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 52 of 169
 



7. CHANGE RETAILER – SMALL OR LARGE NMI 



7.1. Application [1000 1010 1020 1030 1040] 
Section 7 applies when one of the following Change Reason Codes applies:  



Change Reason Code Description 



1000 – Change Retailer The date of transfer is on a Prospective Day. 



1010 – Change Retailer – Retrospective Align to 
Meter Read (SMALL only) 



The date of transfer is the date of the last Meter Reading (a 
Retrospective Day). 



1020 – Change Retailer – Retrospective – Long 
Term/Error (LARGE only) 



The date of transfer could be a date agreed between the 
Current FRMP and New FRMP (a Retrospective Day) where the 
actual transfer date was in error. 
In addition, and in Victoria only, the date of transfer could be a 
date agreed by the Current FRMP and New FRMP (a 
Retrospective Day) 



1030 – Change Retailer – Move-In The date of transfer (move-in) is on a Prospective Day. 



1040 – Change Retailer – Move-In – 
Retrospective 



The date of transfer (move-in) would be on a Retrospective 
Day. 



7.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI already exists in MSATS5.  



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



(c) The date of the transfer of retailer from the Current FRMP to the New FRMP will be the 
Actual Change Date. 



(d) The Actual Change Date is to be established in accordance with the Read Type Code 
submitted to MSATS by the New FRMP. 



7.3. Initiating Roles 
A New FRMP may initiate a Change Request to effect a change of retailer in accordance with 
section 7.4. 



7.4. FRMP Requirements 
The New FRMP must: 



(a) obtain the Current FRMP’s agreement to retrospectively transfer an End User on a previous 
Meter Reading (applies to CR1010). 



(b) obtain the NMI Checksum. 



(c) confirm that the NMI is valid for the connection point. 



(d) submit a Change Request to initiate the transfer of the End User from which the New FRMP 
has obtained Explicit Informed Consent and provide the following information with the 
Change Request: 



Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date New RP6  



Read Type Code   



                                                      
5 If it doesn’t, the retailer should refer to section 11 and seek LNSP action to establish a NMI. 
6 This should be the Current RP if there is no change of the RP Role.  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 53 of 169
 



 



(e) nominate itself as the New FRMP; 



(f) where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, if advised by the New MDP or the Current 
MDP that a Meter Reading cannot be obtained in response to a Read Type Code for NSRD 
or a Special Read Date, the New FRMP must either:  



(i) Withdraw the transfer request; or 



(ii) Advise the MDP to read the meter on the NSRD or propose a Special Read 
Date. 



(g) where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, if advised by the New MDP or the Current 
MDP that the NSRD or a Special Read Date is invalid, must either: 



(i) advise the MDP of a valid date; or 



(ii) withdraw the transfer request.  



The Current FRMP must: 



(h) on receipt of a request from the New FRMP for an agreement to retrospectively transfer on 
a previous Meter Reading, respond to the request within 2 business days. 



The New FRMP may: 



(i) populate the Change Request with the identity of the following Roles: 



MPB MPC  



or leave this to the New MC to complete. 



(j) for Change Reason Codes 1000, 1020, 1030 and 1040, if the MDP is changing, provide the 
following additional information: 



MDP   



(k) for Change Reason Code 1020, populate the Change Request with:  



Actual End Date   



(l) for Retrospective Changes, nominate a Proposed Change Date. The limits for Retrospective 
Change dates are provided in section 7.7; and 



(m) withdraw a change of retailer transaction request at any time until the transfer is Completed. 



7.5. MDP Requirements 
The MDP must: 



(a) Once the transfer has Completed, set up the NMI suffix(s) so that they become active on the 
Actual Change Date if this data is not already provided or has changed. 



(b) On receipt of a Data Request for Change Reason Codes 1000, 1010, 1030 or 1040, initiate a 
Change Request to provide the Actual Change Date. 



If the NMI Classification Code is LARGE, the Actual Change Date must be the date 
nominated as the proposed date by the New FRMP unless the date nominated is 
inappropriate, in which case the MDP must advise the New FRMP of the reason why the 
proposed date is inappropriate and agree on the Actual Change Date. 



(c) For Prospective Changes that do not require a Meter Reading, provide the Actual Change 
Date within 2 days of the Actual Change Date. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 54 of 169
 



(d) For changes that require a Meter Reading, provide the Actual Change Date within 2 days of 
the Meter Reading. 



(e) For Retrospective Changes, where the Jurisdictional rules specify that an Actual Change 
Date is required, ensure that the Actual Change Date submitted is no earlier than the time 
limit specified by the Jurisdiction for the Change Reason Code on the Change Request. 



For example, if the Jurisdictional timeframe for a Change Reason Code is 10 days, the Actual 
Change Date must be no earlier than 10 days prior to the date the Data Request was 
received, even if MSATS would allow an earlier date. 



(f) Where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL and the Read Type Code requires the NSRD or 
the Special Read Date, forward the Meter Reading taken at this time to the Current FRMP, 
New FRMP, Current LR and Current LNSP. 



(g) Where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL: 



(i) the MDP must Object to the Change Request if the NSRD nominated by the New 
FRMP is not within two business days prior to, or two business days after, the NSRD, 
or the date nominated by the New FRMP for the Retrospective Change does not 
correspond to an Actual Meter Read Date. 



(ii) the MDP must advise the New FRMP of the failure to take a Meter Reading within 2 
days and await instructions if the next Scheduled Meter Reading or Special Meter 
Reading does not occur within three business days before, or two business days after, 
the NSRD or Special Read Date (as applicable). 



(iii) if the Read Type Code requires an Estimated Reading, prepare the Estimated Reading 
and submit this to MSATS as the Meter Reading related to the Actual Change Date 
(not for a Retrospective Change). 



(iv) the MDP must notify the New FRMP where the Read Type Code is not aligned with 
the method of Meter Reading that can reasonably be facilitated at the metering 
installation and is inconsistent with the Metering Installation Type Code. 



(v) for Retrospective Changes on receipt of a Data Request for an Actual Change Date, 
provide the Actual Change Date within 2 days of receipt of the Data Request. 



(vi) If requested by the New FRMP and allowed in that Jurisdiction, carry out an Actual 
Meter Reading within the time periods specified in the relevant metrology procedure. 



(h) Where the NMI Classification Code is LARGE, validate that the Metering Installation Type 
Code is identified as a type 1, type 2, type 3 or type 4 metering installation. If an error is 
identified, advise the New FRMP and await instructions. 



(i) Where the NMI Classification Code is LARGE, for Retrospective Changes that do not require 
a Meter Reading, provide the Actual Change Date within 2 days of receipt of the Data 
Request. 



7.6. MC Requirements 
The MC must ensure MDP, MPC and MPB roles are correct and if not raise appropriate Change 
Request to update it. Refer to section 30 to 37 for Change Request types for Role Changes. 



7.7. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request the New FRMP must choose, for the identified Change Reason 
Codes, a Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective 
Period, as shown in Table 7-A. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 55 of 169
 



Table 7-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 1000 – Change Retailer 
CR 1030 – Change Retailer – Move-In 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



1 20 0 65 



CR 1010 – Change Retailer – Retrospective Align to Meter Read 



CR 1040 – Change Retailer – Move-In – Retrospective 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



1 20 10 0 



CR 1020 – Change Retailer-Retrospective – Long Term/Error (not SMALL) 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



1 20 130 0 



7.8. Objection Rules 
The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 7-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 
their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 7-A. 



Table 7-B – Objection Rules** 



CR 1000 – Change Retailer  



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADMETER ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes   - -  - -  



BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 



NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - -  - - - - - - - - Yes 



DATEBAD ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



NOACC SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



DEBT   - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



SMALL VIC 



CONTRACT 
 



    - - - - - - - - - - - - 



LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 



CR 1010 – Change Retailer – Retrospective Align to Meter Read 



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADMETER SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes   - -  - -  



BADPARTY SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



DECLINED SMALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 



NOTAPRD SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 



DATEBAD SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 56 of 169
 



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



DEBT SMALL  - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



VIC 



RETRO SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



                 



CR 1020 – Change Retailer – Retrospective - Long Term/Error (not SMALL) 



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADMETER LARGE ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - -  - -  



BADPARTY LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



DECLINED LARGE ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 



NOTAPRD LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 



DATEBAD LARGE ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



RETRO LARGE ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



DEBT     - - - - - - - - - - - - 



CONTRACT     - - - - - - - - - - - - 



LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 



CR 1030 – Change Retailer – Move-In  



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADMETER ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes   - -  - -  



BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 



NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 



NOACC SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



CONTRACT LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 



CR 1040 – Change Retailer – Move-In – Retrospective  



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADMETER ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes   - -  - -  



BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 



NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 



DATEBAD ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



NOACC SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



CONTRACT LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



7.9. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules for the Change Reason Codes identified in section 
7.1 are specified in Table 7-C. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 57 of 169
 



Table 7-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 
CR 1000 – Change Retailer 



CR 1010 – Change Retailer – Retrospective Align to Meter Read 



CR 1030 – Change Retailer – Move-In 



CR 1040 – Change Retailer – Move-In – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes  Yes  - - Yes Yes 



COMPLETED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes  Yes  - - Yes Yes 



OBJECTED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes  - - Yes Yes 



PENDING Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes  - - Yes Yes 



REJECTED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 



REQUESTED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 



CR 1020 – Change Retailer – Retrospective – Long Term/Error (not SMALL) 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 



COMPLETED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 



OBJECTED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 



PENDING Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 



REJECTED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 



REQUESTED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 58 of 169
 



8. CHANGE RETAILER – ERROR CORRECTIONS – SMALL NMIS 



8.1. Application [1021 1022 1023 1024 1025 1026 1027 1028 1029] 
Please note that the appropriate Change Request for a LARGE NMI is CR 1020 – Change Retailer – 
Retrospective – Long Term/Error (not SMALL7). More information about this Change Request is 
provided in Section 7.  



Section 8 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Description 



1021 – Error Correction – Missed 
CR1500 



Used where the proposed transfer date has been missed due to the 
MDP not being able to provide a corresponding Actual Change Date on 
the original Change Request (CR 1000, 1010, 1030 or 1040). 



1022 – Incorrect transfer date Used where the MDP supplies an incorrect Actual Change Date and the 
original Change Request (CR 1000, 1010, 1030 or 1040) was Completed 
on the incorrect date. 



1023 – New NMI –  Update/Correct 
FRMP on Greenfield Site 



Used where the LNSP has nominated an incorrect retailer on a newly 
created NMI or a FRMP other than the FRMP who requested the 
Allocate NMI requests the supply to be connected.  



1024 – Transfer missed Used where the New Retailer failed to initiate the transfer in time. 
Acceptable reasons for the use of this code are: 
 Where a Site has more than one NMI and not all of them were 



transferred. The error correction transaction will be used to transfer 
the other NMI(s) missed. 



 Re-energisation of Site, with or without End User notification (End 
User request to retailer.) 



1025 – Transferred in Error Used where the Current FRMP transferred the NMI in error and requests 
the New Retailer to transfer it back. A wrong NMI was selected by the 
Current FRMP to transfer. 



1026 – Cooled Off Used where an End User signs a contract with a New Retailer. The End 
User then cancels the request within the Cooling-Off Period. New 
Retailer fails to withdraw the transfer request (transfer Pending) or was 
unable to do so (transfer Completed). 



1027 – Customer Moves Out on or 
before CR completion date 



Used where a End User signs a contract with a New Retailer but moves 
out on or before the Change Request completion date (transfer date). 



1028 – Non-account holder signs 
contract 



Used where a person other than the End User at a Site signs a contract 
with a New Retailer. The End User for the Site then discovers this and 
does not wish to transfer. 



1029 – Other Error Corrections (SMALL 
only) 



Used to correct errors caused by Participant process or systems issues; 
for example, late processing of contractual paperwork by initiating 
Participant. 
These may be reasons other than those covered by CR 1021 – 1028. 



8.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS.8  



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL. This section applies to the metering installations 
types 4, 4A, 5, 6, or 7. 



                                                      
7 Please note that “not SMALL” refers to LARGE, WHOLESAL, INTERCON, GENERATR or SAMPLE NMIs. 
8 If the NMI does not already exist in MSATS, the retailer should refer to section 11 “Create a NMI” and seek LNSP action to establish 



the NMI. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 59 of 169
 



(c) The date of the transfer of retailer from the Current FRMP to the New FRMP will be the 
Actual Change Date. 



(d) The Actual Change Date is to be established in accordance with the Read Type Code 
submitted to MSATS by the New FRMP. 



8.3. Initiating Roles 
A New FRMP may initiate a Change Request to effect a change of retailer in accordance with 
section 8.4. 



8.4. FRMP Requirements 
The New FRMP must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 



(c) Submit a Change Request to initiate the transfer of the End User from which the New FRMP 
has obtained Explicit Informed Consent. 



(d) Confirm that the NMI is a greenfield site and has never had a metering installation installed 
at the connection point.(applies to CR1023). 



(e) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date Read Type Code 



(f) Nominate itself as the New FRMP. 



The New FRMP may: 



(g) Populate the Change Request with the identity of the following Roles: 



RP MPB MPC 



MDP   



or leave this action to the New MC to complete. 



(h) Populate the Change Request with: 



Actual End Date   



(i) For Retrospective Changes, nominate a Proposed Change Date in accordance with the 
Timeframe Rules. 



(j) Withdraw a change of retailer transaction request at any time until the transfer is 
Completed. 



8.5. MDP Requirements 
Once the transfer has Completed, the MDP must set up the NMI suffix(s) so that they become 
active on the Actual Change Date if this data is not already provided or has changed except when 
a Greenfield site is transferred using a CR 1023. 



8.6. MC Requirements 
The MC must ensure MDP, MPC and MPB roles are correct and if not raise appropriate Change 
Request to update. Refer to section 30 to 37 for Change Request types for Role Changes. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 60 of 169
 



8.7. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the New FRMP must choose, for the identified Change Reason 
Codes, a Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective 
Period, as shown in the Table 8-A. 



Table 8-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 1021 – Error correction – Missed CR1500 



CR 1022 – Incorrect transfer date 



CR 1023 – New NMI –  Update/Correct FRMP on Greenfield Site 



CR 1024 – Transfer missed 



CR 1025 – Transferred in error 



CR 1026 – Cooled Off 



CR 1027 – Customer moves out on or before CR completion date 



CR 1028 – Non-account holder signs contract 



CR 1029 – Other error corrections (SMALL only) 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



1 20 130 0 



8.8. Objection Rules 
The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 8-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 
their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 8-A. 



Table 8-B – Objection Rules** 



CR 1021 – Error Correction – Missed CR1500 



CR 1022 – Incorrect transfer date 



Objection 
Code 



NMI Class Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADMETER SMALL ALL     Yes Yes         



DATEBAD SMALL ALL - Yes - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



DECLINED SMALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 



NOTAPRD SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 



NOTRANS SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



DEBT SMALL VIC 
 



- Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



CR 1023 – New NMI –Update/Correct FRMP on Greenfield Site 



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADMETER SMALL ALL     Yes Yes         



DATEBAD SMALL ALL - Yes - - Yes - - - - - - - - - 



DECLINED SMALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 



NOTAPRD SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 



CRCODE SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



BADDATA SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 61 of 169
 



CR 1024 – Transfer missed 



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADMETER SMALL ALL     Yes Yes         



DATEBAD SMALL ALL - Yes - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



DECLINED SMALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 



NOTAPRD SMALL ALL -  - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 



CRCODE SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



NOTAWARE SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



DEBT SMALL VIC 
 



- Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



CR 1025 – Transferred in Error 



CR 1026 – Cooled Off 



CR 1027 – Customer Moves Out on or before CR completion date 



CR 1028 – Non-account holder signs contract 



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADMETER SMALL ALL     Yes Yes         



DATEBAD SMALL ALL - Yes - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



DECLINED SMALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 



NOTAPRD SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 



CRCODE SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



NOTAWARE SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



NOTRANS SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



DEBT SMALL VIC 
 



- Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



CR 1029 – Other Error Corrections (SMALL only ) 



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



DATEBAD SMALL ALL - Yes - - Yes Yes - - - -  Yes - - 



DECLINED SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - Yes - - - 



NOTAPRD SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 



RETRO SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



BADMETER SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - -  -  



BADPARTY SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes - - 



DEBT SMALL VIC 
 



- Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



8.9. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 8-C. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 62 of 169
 



Table 8-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 
CR 1021 – Error Correction – Missed CR1500 



CR 1022 – Incorrect transfer date 



CR 1023 – New NMI –  Update/Correct FRMP on Greenfield Site 



CR 1024 – Transfer missed 



CR 1025 – Transferred in Error 



CR 1026 – Cooled Off 



CR 1027 – Customer Moves Out on or before CR completion date 



CR 1028 – Non-account holder signs contract 



CR 1029 – Other Error Corrections (SMALL only) 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status 
Change  



FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 



COMPLETED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 



OBJECTED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 



PENDING Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 



REJECTED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 



REQUESTED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 63 of 169
 



9. CHANGE RETAILER – EMBEDDED NETWORKS – SMALL OR LARGE 



9.1. Application [1080 1081 1082 1083 1084] 
Section 9 applies when one of the following Change Reason Codes applies:  



Change Reason Code Comment 



1080 – Change Retailer – Child NMI  The date of transfer is a Prospective Change. 



1081 – Change Retailer – Child NMI – 
Retrospective Align Meter Read 



The date of transfer would be the date of the last Meter Reading (a 
Retrospective Change). 



1082 – Change Retailer Child – 
Retrospective: Long Term/Error 



The date of transfer could be a date agreed by the current and New 
FRMP (a Retrospective Change) where the actual transfer date was 
in error. 
In addition, and for Victoria only, the date of transfer could be a 
date agreed by the Current FRMP and New FRMP (a Retrospective 
Change) to which both parties agree that the transfer should have 
been effected.  



1083 – Change Retailer Child NMI – Move-
In 



The date of transfer (move-in) would be on a Prospective Day. 



1084 – Change Retailer Child NMI – Move-
In – Retrospective 



The date of transfer (move-in) would be a Retrospective Day.  



9.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS.9  



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



(c) The date of the transfer of retailer from the Current FRMP to the New FRMP will be the 
Actual Change Date. 



(d) The Actual Change Date is to be established in accordance with the Read Type Code 
submitted to MSATS by the New FRMP. 



9.3. Initiating Roles 
A New FRMP may initiate a Change Request to effect a change of retailer in accordance with 
section 9.4. 



9.4. FRMP Requirements 
The New FRMP must: 



(a) Obtain agreement from the Current FRMP to retrospectively transfer an End User on a 
previous Meter Reading (applies to CR1081). 



(b) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(c) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 



(d) Submit a Change Request to initiate the transfer of the End User for which the New FRMP 
has obtained an Explicit Informed Consent. 



(e) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



                                                      
9 If it doesn’t, the retailer should refer to section 12 and seek ENM action to establish the NMI. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 64 of 169
 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date New RP10 



Read Type Code   



(f) Nominate itself as the New FRMP. 



(g) Where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, if advised by the New MDP or Current MDP 
that a Meter Reading cannot be obtained in response to a Read Type Code for NSRD or a 
Special Read Date, must either: 



(i) Withdraw the transfer request; or 



(ii) Advise the MDP to read the meter on the NSRD or propose a Special Read Date. 



(h) Where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, if advised by the New MDP or Current MDP 
that the NSRD or a Special Read Date is invalid, must either: 



(i) Advise the MDP of a valid date; or 



(ii) Withdraw the transfer request. 



The Current FRMP must: 



(i) on receipt of a request from the New FRMP for an agreement to retrospectively transfer on 
a previous Meter Reading, respond to the request within 2 business days. 



The New FRMP may: 



(j) Populate the Change Request with the identity of the following Roles: 



MPB MPC  



or leave this action to the New MC to complete. 



(k) For Change Reason Codes 1080, 1081, 1082, 1083 and 1084, if the MDP is changing, populate 
the Change Request with the following additional information: 



MDP   



(l) For Change Reason Code 1082, populate the Change Request with:  



Actual End Date   



(m) Nominate, in accordance with paragraph (e), a Proposed Change Date. The time limits for 
Retrospective Changes are provided in section 9.7. 



(n) Withdraw a change of retailer transaction request at any time until the transfer is 
Completed. 



9.5. MDP Requirements 
The MDP must: 



(a) Once the transfer has Completed, set up the NMI suffix(s) so that they become active on the 
Actual Change Date. 



(b) On receipt of a Data Request for Change Reason Codes 1080, 1081, 1083 or 1084, Initiate a 
Change Request to provide the Actual Change Date. 



(c) Where the NMI Classification Code is LARGE, it must be the date nominated as the 
proposed date by the New FRMP unless the date nominated is inappropriate, in which case 
the MDP must advise the New FRMP of the reason why the proposed date is inappropriate 
and mutually agree on what the Actual Change Date should be. 



                                                      
10 This should be the Current RP if there is no change or RP role. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 65 of 169
 



(d) If the Read Type Code does not require a read, validate that the Metering Installation Type 
Code is identified as a type 1, type 2, type 3 or type 4 metering installation. If an error is 
identified, advise the New FRMP. 



(e) For Prospective Changes that do not require a Meter Reading, provide the Actual Change 
Date within 2 days of the Actual Change Date being reached. 



(f) For Retrospective Changes that do not require a Meter Reading, provide the Actual Change 
Date within 2 days of receipt of the Data Request. 



(g) For Retrospective Changes, ensure that the Actual Change Date submitted is no earlier than 
the time limit specified by the Jurisdiction for the Change Reason Code on the Change 
Request. 



For example, if the Jurisdictional timeframe for a Change Reason Code is 10 days, the Actual 
Change Date must be no earlier than 10 days prior to the date the Data Request was 
received, even if MSATS would allow an earlier date. 



(h) For changes that require a Meter Reading, provide the Actual Change Date within 2 days of 
the Meter Reading. 



(i) Where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, where the Read Type Code requires the NSRD 
or the Special Read Date, forward the Meter Reading taken at this time to the Current 
FRMP, New FRMP, Current LR. 



(j) Where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, if the NSRD or Special Read Date nominated 
by the New FRMP as the proposed date is not within a date range that is two business days 
prior to or two business days subsequent to the Scheduled Reading Date, or the date 
nominated by the New FRMP for the Retrospective Change does not correspond to a read 
date, the MDP must Object to the Change Request. 



(k) Where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, if the next Scheduled Meter Reading or 
Special Meter Reading does not occur within a date range that is three business days before 
or two business days after the Special Read Date or NSRD the MDP must advise the New 
FRMP of the failure to take a Meter Reading within 2 days and await instructions from the 
FRMP. 



(l) Where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, if the Read Type Code requires an Estimated 
Reading, prepare the Estimated Reading and submit this to MSATS as the Actual Change 
Date. 



(m) Where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, if the Read Type Code requires an End User 
Meter Reading, obtain it from the New FRMP and submit this value to MSATS as the Actual 
Change Date (only if allowed by the Jurisdiction). 



(n) If the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, for Retrospective Changes, where the Meter 
Reading occurred prior the Change Request being submitted, provide the Actual Change 
Date 2 days of receipt of the Data Request. 



(o) If the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, if requested by the New FRMP, carry out an Actual 
Meter Reading within the time periods specified in the metrology procedure (only if allowed 
by the Jurisdiction). 



9.6. MC Requirements 
The MC must ensure MDP, MPC and MPB roles are correct and if not raise appropriate Change 
Request to update. Refer to section 30 to 37 for Change Request types for Role Changes. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 66 of 169
 



9.7. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the New FRMP must choose, for the identified Change Reason 
Codes, a Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and the Retrospective 
Period, as shown in Table 9-A. 



Table 9-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 1080 – Change Retailer – Child NMI  



Jurisdiction Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



ALL 1 20 0 65 



CR 1081 – Change Retailer – Child NMI – Retrospective – Align Meter Rd 



Jurisdiction Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing 
Period (business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



ALL** 1 20 10 0 



CR 1082 – Change Retailer Child – Retrospective: Long Term/Error 



Jurisdiction Objection Logging 
Period (business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



SMALL 
NMI 



LARGE 
NMI 



SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 



ALL 1  20  130 0 



ACT  1  10 130 0 



NSW  1  10 130 0 



VIC  1  20 130 0 



QLD  1  20 130 0 



SA  1  20 130 0 



CR 1083 – Change Retailer Child NMI – Move-In 



Jurisdiction Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing 
Period (business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



ALL 1 20 0 65 



CR 1084 – Change Retailer Child NMI – Move-In – Retrospective 



Jurisdiction Objection Logging 
Period (business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



ALL 1 20 10 0 



9.8. Objection Rules 
The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 9-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 
their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 9-A. 



Table 9-B – Objection Rules** 



CR 1080 – Change Retailer – Child NMI 



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADMETER ALL ALL - - -  Yes Yes   - -  - - - 



NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - Yes - - - - - - - - - - 



BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 67 of 169
 



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 



LARGE NSW Yes 



NOACC SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



DEBT SMALL VIC - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



CONTRACT LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 



CR 1081 – Change Retailer – Child NMI – Retrospective Align Meter Rd  



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADMETER SMALL ALL - - -  Yes Yes   - -  - - - 



BADPARTY SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



DECLINED SMALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 



NOTAPRD SMALL ALL - - - Yes - - - - - - - - - - 



DATEBAD SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



DEBT SMALL VIC - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



RETRO SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



CONTRACT LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 



CR 1082 – Change Retailer Child – Retrospective: Long Term/Error 



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



DATEBAD ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



BADMETER  ALL ALL - - -  Yes Yes   - -  - - - 



BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 



NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - Yes - - - - - - - - - - 



DEBT SMALL VIC - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



RETRO SMALL NSW 
SA 
VIC 



- Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



CONTRACT LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 



CR 1083 – Change Retailer Child NMI – Move-In 



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADMETER ALL ALL - - -  Yes Yes   - -  - - - 



BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 



NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - Yes - - - - - - - - - - 



NOACC SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



CONTRACT LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 68 of 169
 



CR 1084 – Change Retailer Child NMI – Move-In – Retrospective 



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADMETER ALL ALL - - -  Yes Yes   - -  - - - 



BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 



NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - Yes - - - - - - - - - - 



DATEBAD ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



NOACC SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



CONTRACT LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



9.9. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules for the Change Reason Codes identified in section 
9.1 are specified in Table 9-C. 



Table 9-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 



CR 1080 – Change Retailer – Child NMI 



CR 1081 – Change Retailer – Child NMI – Retrospective Align Meter Rd 



CR 1083 – Change Retailer Child NMI – Move-In 



CR 1084 – Change Retailer Child NMI – Move-In – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 



COMPLETED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 



OBJECTED Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 



PENDING Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 



REJECTED Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 



REQUESTED Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 



CR 1082 – Change Retailer Child – Retrospective: Long Term/Error 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 



COMPLETED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 



OBJECTED Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 



PENDING Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 



REJECTED Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 



REQUESTED Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 69 of 169
 



10. PROVIDE DATA – PROVIDE ACTUAL CHANGE DATE – SMALL OR LARGE 



10.1. Application [1500] 
Section 10 applies to the following Change Reason Code: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



1500 – Provide Actual Change Date 
(MDP) 



The MDP is required to provide MSATS with the Actual Change Date 
following the Initiation of a Change Request by a FRMP or MC requiring an 
Actual Change Date. 



10.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The FRMP or the MC has Initiated a Change Request requiring an Actual Change Date. 



(c) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



(d) The MDP has received a Data Request for the provision of the Actual Change Date. 



10.3. Initiating Roles 
The MDP may initiate a Change Request to submit an Actual Change Date to MSATS in 
accordance with section 10.4. 



10.4. MDP Requirements 
The MDP must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 



(c) Provide the Actual Change Date to MSATS within 2 days of reading the meter or otherwise 
prescribed by the relevant Jurisdiction. In the case of a Retrospective Change, it must be 
provided within 2 days of notification. 



(d) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Actual Change Date Related Change Request ID 



MDP   



10.5. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the MDP must choose a Proposed Change Date that lies 
between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 10-A. 



Table 10-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 1500 – Provide Actual Change Date (MDP) 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



0 0 20 0 



10.6. Objection Rules 
Objections are not permitted. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 70 of 169
 



10.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules for the Change Reason Codes identified in section 
10.1 are specified inTable 10-B. 



Table 10-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 



CR 1500 – Provide Actual Change Date (MDP) 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



COMPLETED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REJECTED - - - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - 



REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 71 of 169
 



11. CREATE NMI – CREATE A NMI – SMALL OR LARGE 



11.1. Application [2000 2001] 
Section 11 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



2000 – Create NMI Details Used where the New LNSP establishes the initial set of information in MSATS 
about a connection point to apply from a Prospective Day. 



2001 – Create NMI Details – 
Retrospective 



Used where the New LNSP establishes the initial set of information in MSATS 
about a connection point to apply from a Retrospective Day. 



11.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI does not exist in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



11.3. Initiating Roles 
A New LNSP may initiate a Change Request to create a NMI record in MSATS in accordance with 
section 11.4. 



11.4. LNSP Requirements 
The New LNSP must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date TNI Code 



DLF Code NMI Classification Code Jurisdiction Code 



FRMP (as nominated) LR RoLR 



RP MDP MPB 



MPC NMI Status Code Locality 



State Postcode  



(d) Nominate itself as the New LNSP. 



(e) Populate the Change Request with values for the following address fields (as appropriate): 



EITHER 



DPID Flat Number Flat Type 



Floor Number Floor Type House Number 



House Number Suffix Location Descriptor Lot Number 



Street Name Street Suffix Street Type 



OR 



Unstructured Address 1 Unstructured Address 2 Unstructured Address 3 



 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 72 of 169
 



The New LNSP may populate the Change Request with the following information: 



Parent Name Building name Feeder Class 



Customer Threshold Code    



11.5. MPB Requirements 
On receipt of the Change Request Status notification for the Completed status, the New MPB must 
provide the Metering Installation Type Code to MSATS when known, using Change Reason Code 
3000 or 3001. 



11.6. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the New LNSP must choose, for the identified Change Reason 
Codes, a Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective 
Period, as shown inTable 11-A. 



Table 11-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 2000 – Create NMI Details 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 



1 1 10 20 0 65 



CR 2001 – Create NMI Details – Retrospective  



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



1 10 130 0 



11.7. Objection Rules 
The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in  Table 11-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 
their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 11-A. 



Table 11-B – Objection Rules** 



CR 2000 – Create NMI Details 



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



NOTRESP SMALL ALL Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - - - 



LARGE - 



CR 2001 – Create NMI Details – Retrospective 



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



NOTRESP SMALL ALL Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - - - 



LARGE - 



RETRO ALL ALL Yes - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 73 of 169
 



11.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules for the Change Reason Codes identified in section 
11.1 are specified in Table 11-C. 



Table 11-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 



CR 2000 – Create NMI Details 



CR 2001 – Create NMI Details – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status 
Change  



FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



COMPLETED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



OBJECTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



PENDING Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



REJECTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



REQUESTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 74 of 169
 



12. CREATE NMI – CREATE CHILD NMI – SMALL OR LARGE 



12.1. Application [2020 2021] 
Section 12 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



2020 – Create NMI Details – Child Used where the New ENM establishes the initial set of information in 
MSATS about a connection point that is, or will be, connected to an 
embedded network to apply from a Prospective Day. 



2021 – Create NMI Details – Child – 
Retrospective 



Used where the New ENM establishes the initial set of information in 
MSATS about a connection point that is, or will be, connected to an 
embedded network to apply from a Retrospective Day. 



12.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI does not exist in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



12.3. Initiating Roles 
A New ENM may initiate a Change Request to create a NMI record in MSATS in accordance with 
section 12.4. 



12.4. ENM Requirements 
The New ENM must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date TNI Code 



DLF Code NMI Classification Code Jurisdiction Code 



Child Name FRMP (as nominated) LR 



RoLR RP MDP 



MPB MPC NMI Status Code 



Locality State Postcode 



LNSP; as the ENM    
 



(d) Nominate itself as the LNSP 



(e) Populate the Change Request with values for the following address fields (as appropriate): 



EITHER 



DPID Flat Number Flat Type 



Floor Number Floor Type House Number 



House Number Suffix Location Descriptor Lot Number 



Street Name Street Suffix Street Type 



OR  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 75 of 169
 



Unstructured Address 1 Unstructured Address 2 Unstructured Address 3 
 



The New ENM may populate the Change Request with the following information: 



Parent Name Building name Feeder Class 



Customer Threshold Code    



12.5. MPB Requirements 
The New MPB must on receipt of the Change Request Status notification for the Completed status, 
provide the Metering Installation Type Code to MSATS using Change Reason Code 3000 or 3001. 



12.6. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the New ENM must choose a Proposed Change Date that lies 
between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 12-A. 



Table 12-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 2020 – Create NMI Details – Child 



Objection Logging Period  
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 



1 1 10 20 0 65 



CR 2021 – Create NMI Details – Child – Retrospective 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 



1 1 10 20 130 0 



12.7. Objection Rules 
The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 12-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 
their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 12-A. 



Table 12-B – Objection Rules** 



CR 2020 – Create NMI Details – Child 



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADPARTY SMALL NSW 
VIC 
SA 



- - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



LARGE ALL 



NOTRESP SMALL NSW 
VIC 
SA 



Yes - - - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - - - 



LARGE ALL 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 76 of 169
 



CR 2021 – Create NMI Details – Child – Retrospective 



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADPARTY SMALL NSW 
VIC 
SA 



- - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



LARGE ALL 



NOTRESP SMALL NSW 
VIC 
SA 



Yes - 
 



- 
 



- 
 



Yes 
 



- 
 



Yes 
 



- 
 



- 
 



- 
 



Yes 
 



- 
 



- 
 



- 
 



LARGE ALL 



RETRO SMALL NSW 
VIC 
SA 



Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



LARGE ALL 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



12.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules for the Change Reason Codes identified in section 
12.1 are specified in Table 12-C. 



Table 12-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 



CR 2020 – Create NMI Details – Child 



CR 2021 – Create NMI Details – Child – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



COMPLETED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - -  - Yes - 



OBJECTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



PENDING Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



REJECTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



REQUESTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 77 of 169
 



13. CREATE NMI – CREATE NMI, METERING INSTALLATION DETAILS AND NMI 
DATASTREAM – SMALL OR LARGE 



13.1. Application [2500 2501] 
Section 13 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



2500 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter 
Details 



Used where the New LNSP is able to provide the Datastream and 
metering installation details at the same time it establishes the 
initial set of information in MSATS fora connection point to apply 
from a Prospective Day. 



2501 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter 
Details – Retrospective 



Used where the New LNSP is able to provide the Datastream and 
metering installation details at the same time it establishes the 
initial set of information in MSATS for a connection point to apply 
from a Retrospective Day. 



13.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI does not exist in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



13.3. Initiating Roles 
If the New LNSP meets the condition imposed by section 13.2 the New LNSP may initiate a Change 
Request to create a NMI, metering installation details and NMI Datastream in MSATS in 
accordance with section13.4. 



13.4. LNSP Requirements 
The New LNSP must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date TNI Code 



DLF Code NMI Classification Code Jurisdiction Code 



FRMP (as nominated) LR RoLR 



RP MDP MPB 



MPC NMI Status Code Locality 



State Postcode Meter Serial ID (at least one) 



Metering Installation Type Code 
(for each meter) 



Meter Register Status Code (for 
each meter) 



Register ID (at least one for each 
meter) 



Register Identifier Status Code 
(for each register) 



Network Tariff Code Actual/Cumulative Indicator (for 
each register) 



Controlled Load Indicator (for 
each register) 



Dial Format (for each register) Multiplier Value (for each 
register) 



Time of Day Code (for each 
register) 



Unit of Measure Code (for each 
register) 



NMI Suffix (at least one) 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 78 of 169
 



Datastream Type (for each suffix) Profile Name (for each suffix) ADL (for each suffix) 



Datastream Status Code (for 
each suffix) 



MDM Contributory Suffix (for 
each register) 



 



 
(d) Nominate itself as the New LNSP. 



(e) Provide the ADL if this value is not otherwise provided by the New FRMP. 



(f) Populate the Change Request with values for the following address fields (as applicable), 



EITHER 



DPID Flat Number Flat Type 



Floor Number Floor Type House Number 



House Number suffix Location Descriptor Lot Number 



Street Name Street Suffix Street Type 



OR 



Unstructured Address 1 Unstructured Address 2 Unstructured Address 3 



The New LNSP may: 



(g) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 



Parent Name Building name Feeder Class 



Customer Threshold Code    



(h) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each meter:  



Additional Site information NSRD Meter location 



Meter hazard Meter route Meter use 



Meter point Meter manufacturer Meter model 



Transformer location Transformer type Transformer ratio 



Meter constant Last test date Next test date 



Test result accuracy Test result notes Test performed by 



Measurement type Meter program Meter Read Type 



Remote phone number Communication equipment type Communication protocol 



Data conversion arrangements Data validation arrangements Estimation instructions 



Asset management plan details Calibration tables (details of any 
calibration factors programmed 
into the meter) 



Password details (the read and 
time set passwords only, 
separated by a space; the write 
password is not to be recorded 
in MSATS) 



Test and calibration program 
details 



User access rights details (i.e. 
details of any End User access to 
the metering installation such as 
pulse outputs) 



 



(i) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each register: 



Network Tariff Code additional 
information 



Demand value 1, if the Network 
Tariff includes a demand 
component 



Demand value 2, if the Network 
Tariff includes a second demand 
component 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 79 of 169
 



13.5. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the New LNSP must choose, for the identified Change Reason 
Codes, a Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective 
Period, as shown inTable 13-A. 



Table 13-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 2500 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter Details 



Objection Logging Period  
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period  
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 



1 1 10 20 0 65 



CR 2501 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter Details – Retrospective 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 



1 1 10 20 130 0 



13.6. Objection Rules 
The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 13-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 
their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 13-A. 



Table 13-B – Objection Rules** 



CR 2500 – Create NMI, Datastream + Meter Details 



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADPARTY SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



LARGE - 



NOTRESP ALL ALL Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - - - 



CR 2501 – Create NMI, Datastream + Meter Details – Retro 



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



NOTRESP ALL ALL Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - - - 



RETRO ALL ALL Yes  Yes - - - - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



13.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules for the Change Reason Codes identified in section 
13.1 are specified in Table 13-C. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 80 of 169
 



Table 13-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 



CR 2500 – Create NMI, Datastream + Meter Details 



CR 2501 – Create NMI, Datastream + Meter Details – Retro 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



COMPLETED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



OBJECTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



PENDING Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



REJECTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



REQUESTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 81 of 169
 



14. CREATE NMI – CREATE NMI, METERING INSTALLATION DETAILS AND MDM 
DATASTREAM – CHILD NMI (SMALL OR LARGE) 



14.1. Application [2520 2521] 
Section 14 applies to the following Change Reason Codes:  



Change Reason Code Comment 



2520 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter 
Details – Child NMI 
 



Used where the New ENM makes a Prospective Chage to the 
Datastream and metering installation details at the same time it 
establishes the initial set of information in MSATS about a 
connection point that is connected to an embedded network.  



2521 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter – 
Child NMI - Retrospective 
 



Used where the New ENM makes a Retrospective Chage to the 
Datastream and metering installation details at the same time it 
establishes the initial set of information in MSATS about a 
connection point that is connected to an embedded network.  



14.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI does not exist in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI classification code is SMALL or LARGE. 



14.3. Initiating Roles 
(a) A New ENM may initiate a Change Request to create a NMI, metering installation details 



and MDM Datastream for an embedded network in the MSATS system in accordance with 
clause 14.4. 



(b) The New ENM must use one of the following Change Reason Codes 2520 or 2521 to 
establish a Change Request. 



14.4. ENM Requirements 
The New ENM must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the initiation of the 
Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI checksum 



Its participant ID Proposed change date TNI code 



DLF code NMI classification code Jurisdiction Code 



FRMP (as nominated) LR ROLR 



RP MDP MPB 



MPC LNSP; as the ENM NMI Status Code 



Child Name Locality State 



Postcode Meter serial ID (at least one) Metering Installation Type Code 
(for each meter) 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 82 of 169
 



Meter Register Status Code (for 
each meter) 



Register ID (at least one for each 
meter) 



Register Identifier status Code 
(for each register) 



Network Tariff Code Actual/cumulative indicator (for 
each register) 



Controlled load indicator (for 
each register) 



Dial format (for each register) Multiplier value (for each 
register) 



Time of day code (for each 
register) 



Unit of measure code (for each 
register) 



NMI suffix (at least one) Datastream type (for each suffix) 



Profile Name (for each suffix) ADL (for each suffix) Datastream Status Code (for 
each suffix) 



MDM Contributory Suffix (for 
each register) 



  



(d) Nominate itself as the new LNSP. 



(e) Populate the Change Request with values for the following address fields (as applicable): 



EITHER: 



DPID Flat number Flat type 



Floor number Floor type House number 



House number suffix Location descriptor Lot number 



Street name Street suffix Street type 



OR  



Unstructured address 1 Unstructured address 2 Unstructured address 3 



The New ENM may: 



(f) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 



Embedded network parent 
name 



Building name Feeder Class 



Customer Threshold Code    
 



(g) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each meter:  



Additional Site information NSRD Meter location 



Meter hazard Meter route Meter use 



Meter point Meter manufacturer Meter model 



Transformer location Transformer type Transformer ratio 



Meter constant Last test date Next test date 



Test result accuracy Test result notes Test performed by 



Measurement type Meter program Meter read type 



Remote phone number Communication equipment type Communication protocol 



Data conversion 
arrangements 



Data validation arrangements Estimation instructions 



Asset management plan 
details 



Calibration tables (details of any 
calibration factors programmed into 
the meter) 



Password details (the read and 
time set passwords only, 
separated by a space; the write 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 83 of 169
 



password is not to be recorded 
in MSATS) 



Test and calibration 
program details 



User access rights details (i.e. details 
of any End User access to the 
metering installation such as pulse 
outputs) 



 



(h) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each register: 



Network Tariff Code additional 
information 



Demand value 1, if the Network 
Tariff  includes a demand 
component 



Demand value 2, if the Network 
Tariff includes a second demand 
component 



14.5. Timeframe Rules 
The Timeframe Rules are shown in Table 14-A. 



Table 14-A – Time frame rules 
CR 2520 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter Details – Child NMI 



Objection Logging Period  
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period  
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 



1 1 10 20 0 65 
CR 2521 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter – Child NMI – Retrospective 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 



1 1 10 20 130 0 



14.6. Objection Rules 
The ’Yes’ Roles specified in inTable 14-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 
their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 14-A. 



Table 14-B – Objection Rules** 



CR 2520 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter Details – Child NMI 



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



NOTRESP ALL ALL Yes - - - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - Yes - 



CR 2521 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter – Child NMI - Retrospective 



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



NOTRESP ALL ALL Yes - - - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - Yes - 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 84 of 169
 



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



RETRO 
SMALL 



NSW 
VIC 
SA 



Yes              



LARGE ALL 
**  N = New Role, C = Current Role.  



14.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified inTable 14-C. 



Table 14-C – Change request status notification rules** 



CR 2520 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter Details - Child NMI 



CR 2521 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter Details – Child NMI - Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE & ROLE STATUS – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



COMPLETED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - 



OBJECTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



PENDING Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



REJECTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



REQUESTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 
**  N = New Role, C = Current Role.  



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 85 of 169
 



15. MAINTAIN METERING – CREATE METERING INSTALLATION DETAILS – SMALL 
OR LARGE 



15.1. Application [3000 3001] 
Section 15 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



3000 – Create Metering Installation 
Details 



Used where the Current MPB makes a Prospective Change to the initial 
set of information in MSATS about the metering installation details, and 
there is no associated meter removal for the NMI for the same effective 
date.  



3001 – Create Metering Installation 
Details – Retrospective 



Used where the Current MPB makes a Prospective Change to the initial 
set of information in MSATS about the metering installation details, and 
there is no associated meter removal for the NMI for the same effective 
date  



15.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The metering installation details do not exist in MSATS. 



(c) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



15.3. Initiating Roles 
A Current MPB may initiate a Change Request to create metering installation records in MSATS in 
accordance with section 15.4. 



15.4. MPB Requirements 
The Current MPB must: 



(d) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(e) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 



(f) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date Meter Serial ID (at least one) 



Metering Installation Type Code 
(for each meter) 



Meter Register Status Code (for 
each meter) 



Register ID (at least one for each 
meter) 



Register Identifier Status Code 
(for each register ID) 



Actual/Cumulative Indicator (for 
each Register ID) 



Controlled Load Indicator (for 
each Register ID) 



Dial Format (for each Register ID) Multiplier Value (for each 
Register ID) 



Time of Day Code (for each 
Register ID) 



Unit of Measure Code (for each 
Register ID) 



Network Tariff Code (for each 
Register ID) 



MDM Contributory Suffix (for 
each register) 



(g) Where changes to Network Tariff information are required: 



(i) Check that the Network Tariff Code is correct and, if it is not, update it to have the 
correct value. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 86 of 169
 



(ii) Change the Network Tariff Code to ensure that the current information provided in 
MSATS is the latest information available from the Current LNSP. 



The Current MPB may: 



(h) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each meter: 



Additional Site information Meter hazard NSRD 



Meter location Meter point Meter route 



Meter use Transformer location Meter manufacturer 



Meter model Meter constant Transformer type 



Transformer ratio Test result accuracy Last test date 



Next test date Measurement type Test result notes 



Test performed by Remote phone number Meter program 



Meter Read Type Data conversion arrangements Communication equipment type 



Communication protocol Asset management plan details Data validation arrangements 



Estimation instructions Test and calibration program 
details 



Calibration tables (details of any 
calibration factors programmed 
into the meter) 



Password details (the read and 
time set passwords only, 
separated by a space; the write 
password is not to be recorded in 
MSATS) 



User access rights details (i.e. 
details of any End User access to 
the metering installation such as 
pulse outputs) 



 



 
(i) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each register: 



Network Tariff Code additional 
information 



Demand value 1, if the Network 
Tariff includes a demand 
component 



Demand value 2, if the Network 
Tariff includes a second demand 
component 



 
(j) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information:  



Actual End Date   



15.5. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the Current MPB must choose a Proposed Change Date that 
lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown inTable 15-A. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 87 of 169
 



Table 15-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 3000 – Create Meter Details 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



0 0 0 65 



CR 3001 – Create Meter Details – Retrospective 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



0 0 140 0 



15.6. Objection Rules 
Objections are not permitted. 



15.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules  are specified inTable 15-B. 



Table 15-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 



CR 3000 – Create Meter Details 



CR 3001 – Create Meter Details – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - - 



COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 



OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REJECTED - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - - 



REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 88 of 169
 



16. MAINTAIN METERING – EXCHANGE OF METERING INFORMATION – SMALL 
OR LARGE 



16.1. Application [3004 3005] 
Section 16 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



3004 – Exchange of Metering 
information 



Used where the Current MPB is required to provide a Prospective Change to 
the information in MSATS about the metering installation details. The change 
will include the removal of at least one existing meter and the installation of at 
least one new meter. A minimum set of metering installation details for the NMI 
shall exist upon completion of the Change Request. 



3005 – Exchange of Metering 
information – Retrospective 



Used where the Current MPB is required to provide a Retrospective Change to 
the information in MSATS about the metering installation details. The change 
will include the removal of at least one existing meter and the installation of at 
least one new meter. A minimum set of metering installation details for the NMI 
shall exist upon completion of the Change Request. 



16.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The metering installation details exist in MSATS. 



(c) At least one meter is removed and one meter is created in each Change Request. 



(d) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



(e) The Meter Serial ID for the installed meter shall be different to the existing Meter Serial ID 
for the same NMI. 



16.3. Initiating Roles 
A Current MPB may initiate a Change Request to change and create metering installation records 
in MSATS in accordance with section 16.4 



16.4. MPB Requirements 
The Current MPB must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 



(c) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID Its Participant ID 



Proposed Change Date NMI NMI Checksum 



Meter Serial ID (for each meter)   
 



(d) For each meter associated to the NMI, where the Meter Register Status Code is to be ‘C’ 
populate the Change Request with the following information (where this information does 
not currently exist in MSATS):  



Meter Register status Code Metering Installation Type Code   
 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 89 of 169
 



(e) For all Register IDs associated with the NMI, where the Register Identifier Status Code is to 
be ‘C’ populate the Change Request with the following information (where this information 
does not currently exist in MSATS):  



Register ID Unit of measure code (for each 
Register ID) 



Multiplier value (for each Register 
ID) 



Time of day code (for each 
Register ID) 



Dial format (for each Register ID) Register Identifier Status Code 
(for each Register ID) 



Controlled Load indicator (for 
each Register ID) 



Actual/cumulative indicator (for 
each Register ID) 



Network Tariff Code (for each 
Register ID) 



MDM Contributory Suffix (for 
each register) 



  



(f) Where changes to Network Tariff information are required: 



(i) Check that the Network Tariff Code is correct and, if it is not, update it to have the 
correct value. 



(ii) Change the Network Tariff Code to ensure that the current information provided in 
MSATS is the latest information available from the Current LNSP. 



The Current MPB may: 



(g) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each meter:  



Additional Site information NSRD Meter location 



Meter hazard Meter route Meter use 



Meter point Meter manufacturer Meter model 



Transformer location Transformer type Transformer ratio 



Meter constant Last test date Next test date 



Test result accuracy Test result notes Test performed by 



Measurement type Meter program Meter Read Type 



Remote phone number Communication equipment type Communication protocol 



Data conversion arrangements Data validation arrangements Estimation instructions 



Asset management plan details Calibration tables (details of any 
calibration factors programmed 
into the meter) 



Password details (the read and 
time set passwords only, 
separated by a space; the write 
password is not to be recorded 
in MSATS) 



Test and calibration program 
details 



User access rights details (i.e. 
details of any End User access to 
the metering installation such as 
pulse outputs) 



Network Tariff Code additional 
information 



Demand value 1, if the Network 
Tariff includes a demand 
component 



Demand value 2, if the Network 
Tariff includes a second demand 
component 



 



 
(h) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with:  



Actual End Date   



16.5. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the Current MPB must choose, a Proposed Change Date that 
lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown inTable 16-A. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 90 of 169
 



Table 16-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 3004 – Exchange of Metering Information 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



0 0 0 65 



CR 3005 – Exchange of Metering Information – Retrospective 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



0 0 140 0 



16.6. Objection Rules 
Objections are not permitted. 



16.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 16-B. 



Table 16-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 



CR 3004 – Exchange of Metering Information 



CR 3005 – Exchange of Metering Information – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - - 



COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 



OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REJECTED - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - - 



REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 91 of 169
 



17. MAINTAIN METERING – CHANGE METERING INSTALLATION DETAILS – SMALL 
OR LARGE 



17.1. Application [3050 3051] 
Section 17 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



3050 – Change Metering Installation 
Details 



Used where the Current MPB is required to make a Prospective 
Change to the metering installation details in MSATS. Each Meter 
Serial ID must exist in MSATS and a minimum set of metering 
installation details for the NMI shall exist upon Completion of the 
Change Request. 



3051 – Change Metering Installation 
Details – Retrospective 



Used where the Current MPB is required to make a Retrospective 
Change to the metering installation details in MSATS. Each Meter 
Serial ID must exist in MSATS and a minimum set of metering 
installation details for the NMI shall exist upon Completion of the 
Change Request. 



17.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The metering installation details exist in MSATS. 



(c) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



17.3. Initiating Roles 
A Current MPB may initiate a Change Request to change metering installation records in MSATS in 
accordance with section 17.4. 



17.4. MPB Requirements 
The Current MPB must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date Meter Serial ID (at least one) 
 



(d) For each meter associated with the NMI populate the Change Request with the following 
information (where this information does not currently exist in MSATS):  



Meter Register Status Code Metering Installation Type Code  
 



(e) For all Register IDs associated with the NMI, where the Register Identifier Status Code is to 
be ‘C’ populate the Change Request with the following information (where this information 
does not currently exist in MSATS):  



MDM Contributory Suffix (for a 
register) 



Network Tariff Code  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 92 of 169
 



 
(f) For all Register IDs associated with the NMI, where the Register Identifier Status Code is to 



be ‘C’ populate the Change Request with the following information:  



Register ID Register Identifier Status Code Actual/cumulative indicator 



Controlled Load indicator Dial format Multiplier value 



Time of day code Unit of measure code  



 
(g) Where changes to Network Tariff information are required: 



(i) Check that the Network Tariff Code is correct and, if it is not, update it to have the 
correct value. 



(ii) Change the Network Tariff Code to ensure that the current information provided in 
MSATS is the latest information available from the Current LNSP. 



The Current MPB may: 



(h) Populate the Change Request with the following information:  



 Meter hazard Additional Site information 



Meter location Meter point Meter route 



Meter use Transformer location Meter manufacturer 



Meter model Meter constant Transformer type 



Transformer ratio Test result accuracy Last test date 



Next test date Measurement type Test result notes 



Test performed by Remote phone number Meter program 



Meter Read Type Data conversion arrangements Communication equipment type 



Communication protocol Asset management plan details Data validation arrangements 



Estimation instructions Test and calibration program 
details 



Calibration tables (details of any 
calibration factors programmed 
into the meter) 



Password details (the read and 
time set passwords only, 
separated by a space; the write 
password is not to be recorded 
in MSATS) 



Demand value 1, if the Network 
Tariff includes a demand 
component 



User access rights details (i.e. 
details of any End User access to 
the metering installation such as 
pulse outputs) 



Network Tariff Code additional 
information 



Demand value 2, if the Network 
Tariff includes a second demand 
component  



 



 
(i) For CR 3051, populate the Change Request with: 



Actual End Date   



17.5. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the Current MPB must choose a Proposed Change Date that 
lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 17-A. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 93 of 169
 



Table 17-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 3050 – Change Meter Details 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



0 0 0 65 



CR 3051 – Change Meter Details – Retrospective 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



0 0 140 0 



17.6. Objection Rules 
Objections are not permitted. 



17.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 17-B. 



Table 17-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 



CR 3050 – Change Meter Details 



CR 3051 – Change Meter Details – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status 
Change  



FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - - 



COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 



OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REJECTED - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - - 



REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 94 of 169
 



18. MAINTAIN METERING – ADVANCED CHANGE METERING INSTALLATION 
DETAILS – SMALL OR LARGE 



18.1. Application [3080 3081] 
Section 18 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



3080 – Advanced Change 
Metering Installation Details 



Used where the Current MC is required to provide Prospective Change(s) to 
the metering installation details in MSATS, including potential changes to 
Datastream information, and to the Roles of MDP, MPB and MPC. The 
Change Request must include one or more changes to metering installation 
details for a Meter Serial ID and each Meter Serial ID must exist in MSATS. A 
minimum set of metering installation details for the NMI shall exist upon 
Completion. 



3081 – Advanced Change 
Metering Installation Details – 
Retrospective 



Used where the Current MC is required to provide Retrospective Change(s) 
to the metering installation details in MSATS, including potential changes to 
Datastream information, and to the Roles of MDP, MPB and MPC. The 
Change Request must include one or more changes to metering installation 
details for a Meter Serial ID and each Meter Serial ID must exist in MSATS. A 
minimum set of metering installation details for the NMI shall exist upon 
Completion. 



18.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The metering installation details exist in MSATS. 



(c) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



18.3. Initiating Roles 
(a) A Current MC may initiate a Change Request to change and create metering installation 



records in MSATS in accordance with section 18.4. 



(b) Where a change of Role is included in the Change Request, the initiator must agree with all 
affected Participants of the Roles that are changing prior to creating the Change Request. 



18.4. MC Requirements 
The Current MC must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 



(c) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID Its Participant ID 



Proposed Change Date NMI NMI Checksum 



The Meter Serial ID (for each 
meter) 



  



 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 95 of 169
 



(d) For each meter associated to the NMI, where the Meter Register Status Code is to be ‘C’, 
populate the Change Request with the following (where this information does not currently 
exist in MSATS):  



Meter Register Status Code  Metering Installation Type Code  



 
(e) For all Register IDs associated with the NMI, where the Register Identifier Status Code is to 



be ‘C’, populate the Change Request with the following (where this information does not 
currently exist in MSATS): 



Register ID Register Identifier Status Code 
(for each Register ID) 



Unit of measure code (for each 
Register ID) 



Multiplier value (for each 
Register ID) 



Time of day code (for each 
Register ID) 



Dial format (for each Register ID) 



Network Tariff Code (for each 
Register ID) 



Controlled Load indicator (for 
each Register ID) 



Actual/cumulative indicator (for 
each Register ID) 



MDM Contributory Suffix (for 
each register) 



  



 
(f) For all Datastreams associated to the NMI, where the Datastream Status Code is to be ‘A’, 



populate the Change Request with the following information (where this information does 
not currently exist in MSATS): 



NMI suffix Datastream type (for each suffix) Profile Name (for each suffix) 



ADL (for each suffix) Datastream Status Code (for 
each suffix) 



 



The Current MC may: 



(g) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each meter:  



MDP MPB MPC 



Additional Site information NSRD Meter location 



Meter hazard Meter route Meter use 



Meter point Meter manufacturer Meter model 



Transformer location Transformer type Transformer ratio 



Meter constant Last test date Next test date 



Test result accuracy Test result notes Test performed by 



Measurement type Meter program Meter Read Type 



Remote phone number Communication equipment type Communication protocol 



Data conversion arrangements Data validation arrangements Estimation instructions 



Asset management plan details Calibration tables (details of any 
calibration factors programmed 
into the meter) 



Password details (the read and 
time set passwords only, 
separated by a space; the write 
password is not to be recorded 
in MSATS) 



Test and calibration program 
details 



User access rights details (i.e. 
details of any End User access to 
the metering installation such as 
pulse outputs) 



 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 96 of 169
 



 
(h) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each register: 



Network Tariff Code additional 
information 



Demand value 1, if the Network 
Tariff includes a demand 
component 



Demand value 2, if the Network 
Tariff includes a second demand 
component 



 
(i) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with: 



Actual End Date   



 
(j) Where changes to Network Tariff information is required: 



(i) Check that the Network Tariff Code is correct and, if it is not, update it to have the 
correct value. 



(ii) Change the Network Tariff Code to ensure that the current information provided in 
MSATS is the latest information available from the Current LNSP. 



18.5. MDP Requirements 
On receipt of a Data Request for Change Reason Codes 3080, the MDP must initiate a Change 
Request to provide the Actual Change Date. 



18.6. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the Current MC must choose a Proposed Change Date that 
lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 18-A. 



Table 18-A– Timeframe Rules 



CR 3080 – Advanced Change Metering Installation Details 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



1 20 0 65 



CR 3081 – Advanced Change Metering Installation Details – Retrospective  



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



1 20 130 0 



18.7. Objection Rules 
The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 18-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 
their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 18-A. 



Table 18-B– Objection Rules** 



CR 3080 – Advanced Change Metering Installation Details 



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB ROLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - Yes - - - - - - - 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 97 of 169
 



CR 3081 – Advanced Change Metering Installation Details – Retrospective 



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB ROLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - Yes - - - - - - - 



BADDATA ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



18.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 18-C. 



Table 18-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 



CR 3080 – Advanced Change Metering Installation Details 



CR 3081 – Advanced Change Metering Installation Details – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - Yes - -  Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 



COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 



OBJECTED - Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 



PENDING - Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 



REJECTED - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - Yes 



REQUESTED - Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 98 of 169
 



19. MAINTAIN METERING – ADVANCED EXCHANGE OF METERING – SMALL OR 
LARGE 



19.1. Application [3090 3091] 
Section 19 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



3090 – Advanced Exchange of 
Metering 



Used where the Current MC is required to provide a Prospective Change to the 
information in MSATS relating to the metering installation details, including 
potential changes to Datastream information, Network Tariff Code and to the 
Roles of MDP, MPB and MPC. The change shall include the removal of at least 
one existing meter and the installation of at least one new meter. A minimum 
set of metering installation details for the NMI shall exist upon Completion. 



3091 – Advanced Exchange of 
Metering – Retrospective 



Used where the Current MC is required to provide a Retrospective Change to 
the information in MSATS relating to the metering installation details, including 
potential changes to Datastream information, Network Tariff Code and to the 
Roles of MDP, MPB and MPC. The change shall include the removal of at least 
one existing meter and the installation of at least one new meter. A minimum 
set of metering installation details for the NMI shall exist upon Completion. 



19.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The metering installation details exist in MSATS. 



(c) At least one meter is removed and one meter is created in each Change Request. 



(d) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



(e) The Meter Serial ID for the installed meter shall be different to the existing Meter Serial ID 
for the same NMI. 



19.3. Initiating Roles 
(a) A Current MC may initiate a Change Request to change and create metering installation 



records in MSATS in accordance with section 19.4. 



(b) Where a change of Role is included in the Change Request the initiator must agree with all 
affected Participants of the Roles that are changing prior to creating the Change Request. 



19.4. MC Requirements 
The Current MC must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 



(c) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID Its Participant ID 



Proposed Change Date NMI NMI Checksum 



Meter Serial ID (for each meter)   



 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 99 of 169
 



(d) For each meter associated to the NMI, where the Meter Register Status Code is to be ‘C’ 
populate the Change Request with the following information (where this information does 
not currently exist in MSATS):  



Metering Installation Type Code Meter Register Status Code   



 
(e) For all Register IDs associated with the NMI, where the Register Identifier Status Code is to 



be ‘C’ populate the Change Request with the following information (where this information 
does not currently exist in MSATS):  



Register ID Register Identifier Status Code 
(for each Register ID) 



Unit of measure code (for each 
Register ID) 



Multiplier value (for each Register 
ID) 



Time of day code (for each 
register ID) 



Dial format (for each register ID) 



Network Tariff Code (for each 
Register ID) 



Controlled Load indicator (for 
each Register ID) 



Actual/cumulative indicator (for 
each Register ID) 



MDM Contributory Suffix (for 
each register) 



  



 
(f) For all Datastreams associated to the NMI, where the Datastream Status Code is to be ‘A’ 



populate the Change Request with the following information (where this information does 
not currently exist in MSATS):  



NMI suffix Datastream type (for each suffix) Profile Name (for each suffix) 



ADL (for each suffix) Datastream Status Code (for each 
suffix) 



 



The Current MC may: 



(g) Populate the Change Request with the following information:  



MDP MPB MPC 



Additional Site information NSRD Meter location 



Meter hazard Meter route Meter use 



Meter point Meter manufacturer Meter model 



Transformer location Transformer type Transformer ratio 



Meter constant Last test date Next test date 



Test result accuracy Test result notes Test performed by 



Measurement type Meter program Meter Read Type 



Remote phone number Communication equipment type Communication protocol 



Data conversion arrangements Data validation arrangements Estimation instructions 



Asset management plan details Calibration tables (details of any 
calibration factors programmed 
into the meter) 



Password details (the read and 
time set passwords only, 
separated by a space; the write 
password is not to be recorded in 
MSATS) 



Test and calibration program 
details 



User access rights details (i.e. 
details of any End User access to 
the metering installation such as 
pulse outputs) 



 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 100 of 169
 



 
(h) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each register: 



Network Tariff Code additional 
information 



Demand value 1, if the Network 
Tariff includes a demand 
component 



Demand value 2, if the Network 
Tariff includes a second demand 
component 



 
(i) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with:  



Actual End Date   



 
(j) Where changes to Network Tariff information are required: 



(i) Check that the Network Tariff Code is correct and, if it is not, update it to have the 
correct value. 



(ii) Change the Network Tariff Code to ensure that the current information provided in 
MSATS is the latest information available from the Current LNSP. 



19.5. MDP Requirements 
On receipt of a Data Request for Change Reason Code 3090, the MDP must initiate a Change 
Request to provide the Actual Change Date. 



19.6. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the Current MC must choose a Proposed Change Date that 
lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 19-A. 



Table 19-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 3090 – Advanced Exchange of Metering 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



1 20 0 65 



CR 3091 – Advanced Exchange of Metering – Retrospective  



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



1 20 130 0 



19.7. Objection Rules 
The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 19-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 
their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 19-A. 



Table 19-B – Objection Rules** 



CR 3090 – Advanced Exchange of Metering 



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - Yes - - - - - - - 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 101 of 169
 



CR 3091 – Advanced Exchange of Metering – Retrospective 



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - Yes - - - - - - - 



BADDATA ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



19.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 19-C. 



Table 19-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 



CR 3090 – Advance Exchange of Metering 



CR 3091 – Advance Exchange of Metering – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 



COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 



OBJECTED - Yes - - - YEs Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 



PENDING - Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 



REJECTED - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - Yes 



REQUESTED - Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 102 of 169
 



20. MAINTAIN METERING – CHANGE NETWORK TARIFF CODE – SMALL OR 
LARGE 



20.1. Application [3100 3101] 
Section 20 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



3100 – Change Network Tariff Used where the Current LNSP (or the ENM in the case of a Child 
NMI) is required to make a Prospective Change to Network Tariff 
Code. 



3101 – Change Network Tariff – 
Retrospective 



Used where the Current LNSP (or the ENM in the case of a Child 
NMI) is required to make a Retrospective Change to the Network 
Tariff Code. 



20.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



(c) The Meter Register data is loaded into MSATS. 



20.3. Initiating Roles 
A Current LNSP (or the ENM in the case of a Child NMI) may initiate a Change Request to change 
a Network Tariff Code in accordance with section 20.4. 



20.4. LNSP or ENM Requirements 
The Current LNSP (or ENM in the case of a Child NMI) must for each Register ID: 



(a) Check that the Network Tariff Code created by the MPB when the meter was created in 
MSATS is correct and, if it is not, update it to have the correct value. 



(b) Change the Network Tariff Code in MSATS to ensure that the current information provided 
in MSATS is the latest information available from the Current LNSP. 



(c) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(d) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 



(e) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date Meter Serial ID 



Register ID Network Tariff Code (for each 
register) 



 



The Current LNSP (or the ENM in the case of a Child NMI) may: 



(f) Populate a Change Request with the following information:  



Network Tariff Code additional information  



(g) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information:  



Actual End Date   











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 103 of 169
 



20.5. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the Current LNSP (or ENM in the case of a Child NMI) must 
choose, for the identified Change Reason Codes, a Proposed Change Date that lies between the 
Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 20-A. 



Table 20-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 3100 – Change Network Tariff  



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



0 0 0 65 



CR 3101 – Change Network Tariff – Retrospective 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



0 0 140 0 



20.6. Objection Rules 
Objections are not permitted. 



20.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 20-B. 



Table 20-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 



CR 3100 – Change Network Tariff 



CR 3101 – Change Network Tariff – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status 
Change  



FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 



COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 



OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REJECTED - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 



REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 104 of 169
 



21. MAINTAIN DATASTREAM – CREATE NMI DATASTREAM –SMALL OR LARGE 



21.1. Application [4000 4001] 
Section 21 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



4000 – Create NMI Datastream 
Details 



Used where the Current MDP makes a Prospective Change to the initial 
set of information in MSATS about the NMI Datastream details, and there 
is no associated Datastream Status Code change to inactive for the NMI 
for the same effective date.  



4001 – Create NMI Datastream 
Details – Retrospective 



Used where the Current MDP makes a Retrospective Change to the initial 
set of information in MSATS about the NMI Datastream details, and there 
is no associated Datastream Status Code change to inactive for the NMI 
for the same effective date. 



21.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI Datastream details do not exist in MSATS 



(c) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



21.3. Initiating Roles 
A Current MDP may initiate a Change Request to create an NMI Datastream in MSATS in 
accordance with section 21.4. 



21.4. MDP Requirements 
The Current MDP must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date NMI suffix (at least one) 



Datastream type (for each suffix) Profile Name (for each suffix) ADL (for each suffix) 



Datastream Status Code (for 
each suffix) 



  



(d) Obtain the ADL from the LNSP if this value is not otherwise provided by the New FRMP. 



The Current MDP may: 



(e) for Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information:  



Actual End Date   



21.5. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the Current MDP must choose, for the identified Change 
Reason Code, a Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective 
Period, as shown in Table 21-A. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 105 of 169
 



Table 21-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 4000 – Create NMI Datastream Details 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



0 0 0 65 



CR 4001 – Create NMI Datastream Details – Retrospective 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



0 0 140 0 



21.6. Objection Rules 
Objections are not permitted. 



21.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 21-B. 



Table 21-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 



CR 4000 – Create NMI Datastream Details 



CR 4001 – Create NMI Datastream Details – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status 
Change  



FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - - - - - - - Yes - - - - - - 



COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 



OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REJECTED - - - - - - - Yes - - - - - - 



REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 106 of 169
 



22. MAINTAIN DATASTREAM – EXCHANGE OF DATASTREAM INFORMATION 
SMALL OR LARGE 



22.1. Application [4004 4005] 
Section 22 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



4004 – Exchange of Datastream 
Information 



Used where the Current MDP is required to make a Prospective Change to the 
NMI Datastream in MSATS. The change will include at least one Datastream 
Status Code change to inactive and the creation of at least one new 
Datastream. A minimum set of NMI Datastream details for the NMI shall exist 
upon Completion. 



4005 – Exchange of Datastream 
Information – Retrospective 



Used where the Current MDP is required to make a Retrospective Change to 
the NMI Datastream in MSATS. The change will include at least one 
Datastream Status Code change to inactive and the creation of at least one 
new Datastream. A minimum set of NMI Datastream details for the NMI shall 
exist upon Completion. 



22.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The metering installation details exist in MSATS. 



(c) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



22.3. Initiating Roles 
A Current MDP may initiate a Change Request to exchange Datastream records in MSATS in 
accordance with section 22.4. 



22.4. MDP Requirements 
The Current MDP must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 



(c) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID Its Participant ID 



Proposed Change Date NMI NMI Checksum 
 



(d) For all Datastreams associated to the NMI, where the Datastream Status Code is to be ‘A’ 
populate the Change Request with the following information: (where this information does 
not currently exist in MSATS);  



NMI suffix (at least one) Datastream type (for each suffix) Profile Name (for each suffix) 



ADL (for each suffix) Datastream Status Code (for 
each suffix) 



 



The Current MDP may: 



(e) Populate the Change Request with the following information:  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 107 of 169
 



Meter Serial ID (for each meter) Register ID (for each Register ID) MDM Contributory Suffix (for 
each Register ID) 



(f) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with:  



Actual End Date   



22.5. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the Current MDP must choose a Proposed Change Date that 
lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 22-A. 



Table 22-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 4004 – Exchange of Datastream Information 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



0 0 0 65 



CR 4005 – Exchange of Datastream Information – Retrospective 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



0 0 140 0 



22.6. Objection Rules 
Objections are not permitted. 



22.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules for the Change Reason Codes identified in section 
22.1 are specified in Table 22-B. 



Table 22-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 



CR 4004 – Exchange of Datastream Information 



CR 4005 – Exchange of Datastream Information – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - - - - - - - Yes - - - - - - 



COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 



OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REJECTED - - - - - - - Yes - - - - - - 



REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 108 of 169
 



23. MAINTAIN DATASTREAM – CHANGE NMI DATASTREAM – SMALL OR LARGE 



23.1. Application [4050 4051] 
Section 23 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



4050 – Change NMI 
Datastream 



Used where the Current MDP is required to make a Prospective Change to the 
NMI Datastream in MSATS. Each Datastream must exist in MSATS and a 
minimum set of NMI Datastream details for the NMI shall exist upon 
Completion. 



4051 – Change NMI Datastream 
– Retrospective 



Used where the Current MDP is required to make a Retrospective Change to 
the NMI Datastream in MSATS . Each Datastream must exist in MSATS and a 
minimum set of NMI Datastream details for the NMI shall exist upon 
Completion. 



23.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The metering installation and Datastream details exist in MSATS. 



(c) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



23.3. Initiating Roles 
A Current MDP may initiate a Change Request to change an NMI Datastream in MSATS in 
accordance with section 23.4. 



23.4. MDP Requirements 
The Current MDP must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date NMI suffix 
 



(d) For all Register IDs associated with the NMI suffix, where the Datastream Status Code is to 
be ‘A’, populate the Change Request with the following information (where this information 
does not currently exist in MSATS): 



Datastream type Profile Name ADL 



Datastream Status Code   



The Current MDP may: 



(e) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 



MDM Contributory Suffix Meter Serial ID Register ID 
 



(f) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information: 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 109 of 169
 



Actual End Date   



23.5. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the Current MDP must choose, for the identified Change 
Reason Codes, a Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and 
Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 23-A. 



Table 23-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 4050 – Change NMI Datastream Details 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



0 0 0 65 



CR 4051 – Change NMI Datastream Details – Retrospective 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



0 0 140 0 



23.6. Objection Rules 
Objections are not permitted. 



23.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules for the Change Reason Codes identified in section 
23.1 are specified in Table 23-B. 



Table 23-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 



CR 4050 – Change NMI Datastream Details 



CR 4051 – Change NMI Datastream Details – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status 
Change  



FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - - - - - - - Yes - - - - - - 



COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 



OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REJECTED - - - - - - - Yes - - - - - - 



REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 110 of 169
 



24. MAINTAIN NMI – UPDATE NEXT SCHEDULED READ DATE – SMALL OR LARGE 



24.1. Application [5070 5071] 
Section 24 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



5070 – Update Next 
Scheduled Read Date 



Used where the Current MDP is required to provide MSATS with the NSRD 
prospectively. 



5071 – Update Next 
Scheduled Read Date – 
Retrospective 



Used where the Current MDP is required to provide MSATS with the NSRD 
retrospectively. 
Note if this transaction is submitted by batch, MSATS will be updated straight 
away. 



24.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



(c) The metering installation is manually read, or has been made capable of remote acquisition 
in accordance with 7.8.9(b) of the NER.   



24.3. Initiating Roles 
A Current MDP may initiate a Change Request to submit the NSRD to MSATS in accordance with 
section 24.4. 



24.4. MDP Requirements 
The Current MDP must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date Meter Serial ID 



NSRD   



 
The Current MDP may: 



(d) Obtain the Meter Reading frequency from the New FRMP. 



(e) Obtain the Meter Reading schedule from the MPC or MC. 



24.5. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the Current MDP must choose a Proposed Change Date that 
lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 24-A. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 111 of 169
 



Table 24-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 5070 – Update Next Scheduled Read Date 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



0 0 0 3 



CR 5071 – Update Next Scheduled Read Date – Retrospective 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



0 0 1 0 



24.6. Objection Rules 
Objections are not permitted. 



24.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 24-B . 



Table 24-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 



CR 5070 – Update Next Scheduled Read Date 



CR 5071 – Update Next Scheduled Read Date – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



COMPLETED - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 112 of 169
 



25. MAINTAIN NMI – BACKDATE A NMI – SMALL OR LARGE 



25.1. Application [5001 5021] 
Section 25 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



5001 – Backdate NMI Start Date Used where AEMO, on request from an LNSP, or the LNSP, backdates the initial 
set of information in MSATS in regard to a connection point to apply from a 
Retrospective Day. 



5021 – Backdate NMI Start Date 
– Child 



Used where AEMO, on request from an ENM, or the ENM, backdates the initial 
set of information in MSATS about a child connection point. 



25.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



25.3. Initiating Roles 
AEMO, the ENM, or the LNSP may initiate a Change Request to backdate a NMI’s Start Date in 
MSATS in accordance with section 25.4 or 25.6. 



25.4. LNSP Requirements (5001 only) 
The New LNSP (who must be the Current LNSP for the period where the NMI exists in MSATS) 
must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is still a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with values for the following data items:  



Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum Its Participant ID 



Proposed Change Date Actual End Date (which should be the day prior 
to the day that the NMI Master Record starts) 



TNI Code 



DLF Code NMI Classification Code Jurisdiction Code 



FRMP LR RoLR 



RP MDP MPB 



MPC LNSP as itself NMI Status Code 



Locality State Postcode 
 



(d) Populate the Change Request with values for the following address fields (as appropriate): 



EITHER  



DPID Flat number Flat type 



Floor number Floor type House number 



House number suffix Location descriptor Lot number 



Street name Street suffix Street type 
 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 113 of 169
 



OR 



Unstructured Address 1 Unstructured Address 2 Unstructured Address 3 



The LNSP may: 



(e) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 



Parent Name Building name Feeder Class 



Customer Threshold Code    



25.5. ENM Requirements (5021 only) 
The New ENM (who must be the Current ENM for the period where the NMI exists in MSATS) 
must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. Confirm that the NMI is still a valid 
NMI for the connection point. 



(b) Provide AEMO with values for the following data items:  



Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Participant ID Proposed Change Date Actual End Date (which should be the day 
prior to the day that the NMI Master Record 
starts on) 



TNI Code DLF Code NMI Classification Code 



Jurisdiction Code Child Name FRMP 



LR RoLR RP 



MDP MPB MPC  



LNSP, as the ENM NMI Status Code Locality 



State Postcode  
 



(c) Provide AEMO with values for the following address fields (as appropriate): 



EITHER  



DPID Flat number Flat type 



Floor number Floor type House number 



House number suffix Location descriptor Lot number 



Street name Street suffix Street type 



 
OR 



Unstructured Address 1 Unstructured Address 2 Unstructured Address 3 



The ENM may provide AEMO with the following information:  



Parent Name Building name Feeder Class 



Customer Threshold Code    



25.6. AEMO Requirements 
AEMO must, on request from an LNSP, populate a Change Request with the data provided by the 
LNSP in accordance with section 25.4 (CR 5001) or ENM in accordance with section 25.5 (CR 5021). 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 114 of 169
 



25.7. MPB Requirements 
The New MPB must, on receipt of a Completed notification, backdate the metering installation 
details using CR 3001. 



25.8. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, AEMO or the LNSP (as applicable) must choose a Proposed 
Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 
25-A. 



Table 25-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 5001 – Backdate NMI Start Date 
CR 5021 – Backdate NMI Start Date – Child 



Objection Logging Period  
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 



1 1 10 20 140 0 



25.9. Objection Rules 
The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 25-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 
their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 25-A. 



Table 25-B – Objection Rules** 



CR 5001 – Backdate NMI Start Date 



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



NOTRESP SMALL ALL Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - -  - Yes - - - 



LARGE - 



BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



CR 5021 – Backdate NMI Start Date – Child 



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



NOTRESP SMALL ALL Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - -  - Yes - - - 



LARGE - 



BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



RETRO SMALL NSW 
VIC 
SA 



Yes - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - 



LARGE ALL 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



25.10. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 25-C. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 115 of 169
 



Table 25-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 



CR 5001 – Backdate NMI Start Date 



CR 5021 – Backdate NMI Start Date – Child 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status 
Change  



FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



COMPLETED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



OBJECTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



PENDING Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



REJECTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



REQUESTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 116 of 169
 



26. MAINTAIN NMI – CHANGE A NMI – SMALL OR LARGE 



26.1. Application [5050 5051] 
Section 26 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



5050 – Change NMI Details Used where the Current LNSP is required to make a Prospective Change to the 
set of information in MSATS about a connection point. 



5051 – Change NMI Details – 
Retrospective 



Used where the Current LNSP is required to make a Retrospective Change to the 
information in MSATS about a connection point. 



26.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



26.3. Initiating Roles 
A Current LNSP may initiate a Change Request to change a NMI record in MSATS in accordance 
with section 26.4. 



26.4. LNSP Requirements 
The Current LNSP must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 



(c) Populate an Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date  



The Current LNSP may: 



(d) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 



TNI Code DLF Code NMI Classification Code 



Jurisdiction Code NMI Status Code Parent Name 



Locality State Postcode 



Building name DPID Flat number 



Flat type Floor number Floor type 



House number House number suffix Location descriptor 



Lot number Street name Street suffix 



Street type Unstructured Address 1 Unstructured Address 2 



Unstructured Address 3 Feeder Class Customer Threshold Code  



(e) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the  



Actual End Date   











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 117 of 169
 



26.5. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the Current LNSP must choose a Proposed Change Date that 
lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 26-A. 



Table 26-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 5050 – Change NMI Details 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



0 0 0 65 



CR 5051 – Change NMI Details – Retrospective 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



0 0 140 0 



Note:  An Objection Logging Period of zero means Objections need to be logged by midnight of the business day that 
the Change Request is submitted. 



26.6. Objection Rules 
The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 26-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 
their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 26-A. 



Table 26-B – Objection Rules** 



CR 5050 – Change NMI Details 



CR 5051 – Change NMI Details – Retrospective 



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



NOTRESP ALL ALL - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



26.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 26-C. 



Table 26-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules**  



CR 5050 – Change NMI Details 



CR 5051 – Change NMI Details – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status 
Change  



FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 



COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 



OBJECTED - - - - - Yes - Yes - - - - - - 



PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REQUESTED - - - - - - - Yes - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 118 of 169
 



27. MAINTAIN NMI – CHANGE A NMI – CUSTOMER CLASSIFICATION CODE – 
SMALL OR LARGE 



27.1. Application [5054 5055] 
Section 27 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



5054 – Change NMI Details – 
Customer Classification Code 



Used where the Current FRMP is required to make a Prospective 
Change to the Customer Classification Code. 



5055 – Change NMI Details – 
Customer Classification Code – 
Retrospective 



Used where the Current FRMP is required to make a Retrospective 
Change to the Customer Classification Code. 



27.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



27.3. Initiating Roles 
A Current FRMP may initiate a Change Request to change a NMI record in MSATS in accordance 
with section 27.4. 



27.4. FRMP Requirements 
The Current FRMP must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date Customer Classification Code 



For Retrospective Changes, the Current FRMP may populate the Change Request with the:  



Actual End Date   



27.5. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the Current FRMP must choose a Proposed Change Date that 
lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 27-A. 



Table 27-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 5054 – Change NMI Details Customer Classification Code 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



0 0 0 65 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 119 of 169
 



CR 5055 – Change NMI Details Customer Classification Code – Retrospective 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



0 0 140 0 



27.6. Objection Rules 
Objections are not permitted. 



27.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 27-B. 



Table 27-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 



CR 5054 – Change NMI Details Customer Classification Code 



CR 5055 – Change NMI Details Customer Classification Code – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 



OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



PENDING - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REJECTED - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REQUESTED - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 120 of 169
 



28. MAINTAIN NMI – CHANGE NMI EMBEDDED NETWORK (CHILD) – SMALL OR 
LARGE 



28.1. Application [5060 5061] 
Section 28 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



5060 – Change NMI 
Details – Child 



Used where the Current ENM is required to make a Prospective change to the 
information in MSATS about a connection point that is connected to an embedded 
network. 



5061 – Change NMI 
Details – Child – 
Retrospective 



Used where the Current ENM is required to provide a Retrospective Change to the 
information in MSATS about a connection point that is connected to an embedded 
network. 



28.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



28.3. Initiating Roles 
A Current ENM may initiate a Change Request to change a NMI record in MSATS in accordance 
with section 28.4. 



28.4. ENM Requirements 
The Current ENM must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date  



The Current ENM may: 



(d) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 



TNI Code DLF Code NMI Classification Code 



Jurisdiction Code NMI Status Code Parent Name 



Child Name Locality State 



Postcode Building name DPID 



Flat number Flat type Floor number 



Floor type House number House number suffix 



Location descriptor Lot number Street name 



Street suffix Street type Unstructured Address 1 



Unstructured Address 2 Unstructured Address 3 Feeder Class 



Customer Threshold Code    











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 121 of 169
 



(e) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information:  



Actual End Date   



28.5. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the ENM must choose a Proposed Change Date that lies 
between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 28-A. 



Table 28-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 5060 – Change NMI Details – Child 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



0 0 0 65 



CR 5061 – Change NMI Details – Child – Retrospective  



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



0 0 140 0 



28.6. Objection Rules 
Objections are not permitted. 



28.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 28-B. 



Table 28-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 



CR 5060 – Change NMI Details – Child 



CR 5061 – Change NMI Details – Child – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 



COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 



OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REJECTED - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 



REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 122 of 169
 



29. MAINTAIN NMI – CHANGE PARENT NAME – SMALL OR LARGE 



29.1. Application [5080 5081] 
Section 29 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



5080 – Change Parent Name Used where the Current LNSP is required to apply a Prospective Change to the 
Parent Name. 



5081 – Change Parent Name 
– Retrospective 



Used where the Current LNSP is required to apply a Retrospective Change to 
the Parent Name. 



29.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



29.3. Initiating Roles 
A Current LNSP may initiate a Change Request to change the Parent Name in accordance with 
section 29.4. 



29.4. LNSP Requirements 
The Current LNSP must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 



(c) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date Parent Name 



For Retrospective Changes, the Current LNSP may populate the Change Request with the 
following information: 



Actual End Date   



29.5. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the Current LNSP (as applicable) must choose a Proposed 
Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 
29-A. 



Table 29-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 5080 – Change Parent Name 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



0 0 0 65 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 123 of 169
 



CR 5081 – Change Parent Name – Retrospective  



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



0 0 140 0 



29.6. Objection Rules 
Objections are not permitted. 



29.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 29-B. 



Table 29-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 



CR 5080 – Change Parent Name 



CR 5081 – Change Parent Name – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 



COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 



OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REJECTED - Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 



REQUESTED - Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 124 of 169
 



30. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE LNSP – SMALL OR LARGE 



30.1. Application [6100 6110] 
Section 30 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



6100 – Change LNSP Used where the New LNSP or the New ENM is required (either by a regulatory change 
or due to an error in the NMI Master Record) to apply a Prospective Change to the 
name of the Current LNSP or the Current ENM in MSATS 



6110 – Change LNSP – 
Retrospective 



Used where the New LNSP or the New ENM is required (either by a regulatory change 
or due to an error in the NMI Master Record) to apply a Retrospective Change to the 
name of the Current LNSP or the Current ENM in MSATS. 



30.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



30.3. Initiating Roles 
A New LNSP or New ENM may initiate a Change Request to change an LNSP or ENM in MSATS in 
accordance with section 30.4. 



30.4. LNSP or ENM Requirements 
The New LNSP or the New ENM must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date  



(d) Nominate itself as the New LNSP or the New ENM. 



The New LNSP or the New ENM may: 



(e) populate the Change Request with the following information: 



TNI Code DLF Code NMI Classification Code 



Jurisdiction Code   



(f) for Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with:  



Actual End Date   



30.5. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the New LNSP or the New ENM (as applicable) must choose a 
Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as 
shown in Table 30-A. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 125 of 169
 



Table 30-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 6100 – Change LNSP 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



1 20 0 65 



CR 6110 – Change LNSP – Retrospective  



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



1 20 130 0 



30.6. Objection Rules 
The ’Yes’ Roles specified in Table 30-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 
their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 30-A. 



Table 30-B – Objection Rules** 



CR 6100 – Change LNSP 



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADDATA ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 



NOTRESP ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 



CR 6110 – Change LNSP – Retrospective 



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADDATA ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 



NOTRESP ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 



RETRO ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



30.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 30-C. 



Table 30-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 



CR 6100 – Change LNSP 



CR 6110 – Change LNSP – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - - - - Yes Yes - Yes - - - - - - 



COMPLETED - Yes - Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 



OBJECTED - - - - Yes Yes - Yes - - - - - - 



PENDING - - - - Yes Yes - Yes - - - - - - 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 126 of 169
 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



REJECTED - - - - Yes Yes - Yes - - - - - - 



REQUESTED - - - - Yes Yes - Yes - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 127 of 169
 



31. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE MDP – SMALL OR LARGE 



31.1. Application [6200 6210] 
Section 31 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



6200 – Change MDP Used where the Current FRMP or Current MC is required to apply a Prospective Change 
to the name of the Current MDP  



6210 – Change MDP – 
Retrospective 



Used where the Current FRMP or Current MC is required to apply a Retrospective 
Change to the name of the Current MDP. 



31.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI details exist in MSATS 



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



31.3. Initiating Roles 
The Current FRMP or Current MC may initiate a Change Request to change a MDP in MSATS in 
accordance with section 31.4. 



31.4. FRMP/Current MC Requirements 
The Current FRMP or Current MC (as applicable) must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Participant ID  Proposed Change Date MDP 
 



The Current FRMP or Current MC (as applicable) may: 



(d) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information: 



Actual End Date   



31.5. MDP Requirements 
On receipt of a Data Request for CR 6200, the MDP must initiate a Change Request to provide the 
Actual Change Date. 



31.6. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the Current FRMP or Current MC (as applicable) must choose 
a Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as 
shown in Table 31-A. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 128 of 169
 



Table 31-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 6200 – Change MDP 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



1 20 0 65 



CR 6210 – Change MDP – Retrospective  



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



1 20 130 0 



31.7. Objection Rules 
The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 31-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 
their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 31-A. 



Table 31-B – Objection Rules** 



CR 6200 – Change MDP  



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - - 



NOTRESP ALL ALL - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 



BADPARTY LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 



DATEBAD ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



CR 6210 – Change MDP – Retrospective 



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - - 



NOTRESP ALL ALL - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 



BADDATA SMALL NSW 
VIC 
SA 



- - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



BADDATA LARGE ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



BADPARTY LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 



DATEBAD ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



31.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 31-C. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 129 of 169
 



Table 31-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 



CR 6200 – Change MDP 



CR 6210 – Change MDP – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - Yes 



COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes Yes Yes - Yes - - - Yes 



OBJECTED - Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - Yes 



PENDING - Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - Yes 



REJECTED - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 



REQUESTED - Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - Yes 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 130 of 169
 



32. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE MC – SMALL OR LARGE 



32.1. Application [6300 6301]  
Section 32 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



6300 – Change MC Used where the New MC or Current FRMP is required to apply a Prospective 
Change to the Current MC. 



6301 – Change MC – 
Retrospective 



Used where the New MC or Current FRMP is required to apply a Retrospective 
Change to the Current MC. 



32.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



32.3. Initiating Roles 
A New MC (where the NMI Classification Code for a NMI is Large) or Current FRMP (for any NMI) 
may initiate a Change Request to change the MC in MSATS in accordance with section 32.4. 



32.4. MC/Current FRMP Requirements 
The New MC/Current FRMP must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Participant ID of the New MC Proposed Change Date  
 



(d) Nominate the New MC. 



The New MC/Current FRMP may:  



(e) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information: 



Actual End Date   



32.5. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the New MC/Current FRMP must choose a Proposed Change 
Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 32-A. 



Table 32-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 6300 – Change MC 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



1 20 0 65 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 131 of 169
 



CR 6301 – Change MC – Retrospective  



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



1  20 130 0 



32.6. Objection Rules 
The ’Yes’ Roles specified in Table 32-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 
their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 32-A. 



Table 32-B – Objection Rules** 



CR 6300 – Change MC 



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CONTRACT LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 



DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



CR 6301 – Change MC – Retrospective 



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



RETRO ALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 



DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



32.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 32-C. 



Table 32-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 



CR 6300 – Change MC 



CR 6301 – Change MC – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - Yes - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes 



COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - Yes Yes 



OBJECTED - Yes - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes 



PENDING - Yes - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes 



REJECTED - Yes - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes 



REQUESTED - Yes - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 132 of 169
 



33. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE LR – SMALL OR LARGE 



33.1. Application [6400 6401] 
Section 33 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



6400 – Change LR Used where the New LR is required (either by a regulatory change or due to an error 
in the NMI Master Record) to apply a Prospective Change to the name of the Current 
LR. 



6401 – Change LR – 
Retrospective 



Used where the New LR is required (either by a regulatory change or due to an error 
in the NMI Master Record) to apply a Retrospective Change to the name of the 
Current LR. 



33.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



33.3. Initiating Roles 
A New LR may initiate a Change Request to change an LR in MSATS in accordance with section 
33.4. 



33.4. LR Requirements 
The New LR must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date  



(d) Nominate itself as the New LR. 



The New LR may, for Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following 
information: 



Actual End Date   



33.5. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the New LR must choose a Proposed Change Date that lies 
between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 33-A. 



Table 33-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 6400 – Change LR 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 



1 1 10 20 0 65 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 133 of 169
 



CR 6401 – Change LR – Retrospective  



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 



1 1 10 20 130 0 



33.6. Objection Rules 
The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 33-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 
their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 33-A. 



Table 33-B – Objection Rules** 



CR 6400 – Change LR 



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



NOTRESP ALL ALL - - - Yes - - - - - - - - - - 



CR 6401 – Change LR – Retrospective  



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



NOTRESP ALL ALL - - - Yes - - - - - - - - - - 



RETRO ALL ALL - - - Yes - - - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



33.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 33-C. 



Table 33-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 



CR 6400 – Change LR 



CR 6401 – Change LR – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - - Yes Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - 



COMPLETED - Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 



OBJECTED - - Yes Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - 



PENDING - - Yes Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - 



REJECTED - - Yes Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - 



REQUESTED - - Yes Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 134 of 169
 



34. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE LR – CHILD NMI – SMALL OR LARGE 



34.1. Application [6421] 
Section 34 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



6421 – Change LR – Child NMI 
– Retrospective 



Used where the New LR for a Child NMI is required (due to an error in the NMI 
Master Record) to apply a Retrospective Change to the name of the Current LR. 



34.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



(c) The New LR for the child connection point must be the FRMP of the Parent NMI. 



34.3. Initiating Roles 
A New LR may initiate a Change Request to change a LR in MSATS in accordance with section 
34.4. 



34.4. LR Requirements 
The New LR must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date  
 



(d) Nominate itself as the New LR. 



The New LR may populate the Change Request with the following information: 



Actual End Date   



34.5. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the New LR must choose a Proposed Change Date that lies 
between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown Table 34-A. 



Table 34-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 6421 – Change LR Child NMI – Retrospective  



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 



1 1 10 20 130 0 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 135 of 169
 



34.6. Objection Rules 
The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 34-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 
their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 34-A. 



Table 34-B – Objection Rules** 



CR 6421 – Change LR Child NMI – Retrospective 



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB MPC RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



NOTRESP ALL ALL - - - Yes - - - - - - - - - - 



RETRO ALL ALL - - - Yes - - - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



34.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 34-C. 



Table 34-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 



CR 6421 – Change LR Child NMI – Retrospective PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  MPC RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - - Yes Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - 



COMPLETED - Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 



OBJECTED - - Yes Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - 



PENDING - - Yes Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - 



REJECTED - - Yes Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - 



REQUESTED - - Yes Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 136 of 169
 



35. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE ROLR – SMALL OR LARGE 



35.1. Application [6500 6501] 
Section 35 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



6500 – Change RoLR Used where the New RoLR is required (either by a regulatory change or due to an 
error in the NMI Master Record) to apply a Prospective Change to the name of the 
Current RoLR. 



6501 – Change RoLR – 
Retrospective 



Used where the New RoLR is required (either by a regulatory change or due to an 
error in the NMI Master Record) to apply a Retrospective Change to the name of the 
Current RoLR. 



35.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



35.3. Initiating Roles 
A New RoLR may initiate a Change Request to change a RoLR in accordance with section 35.4. 



35.4. ROLR Requirements 
The New RoLR must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date  
 



(d) Nominate itself as the New RoLR. 



The New RoLR may, for Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following 
information:  



Actual End Date   



35.5. Timeframe Rules 
The Timeframe Rules are shown in the Table 35-A. 



Table 35-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 6500 – Change RoLR 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 



0 0 0 0 0 65 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 137 of 169
 



CR 6501 – Change RoLR – Retrospective  



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 



0 0 0 0 130 0 



35.6. Objection Rules 
Objections are not permitted. 



35.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 35-B. 



Table 35-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 



CR 6500 – Change RoLR 



CR 6501 – Change RoLR – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes - - 



COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes Yes Yes - Yes 



OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes - - 



PENDING - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes - - 



REJECTED - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes - - 



REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 138 of 169
 



36. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE MPB OR MPC OR BOTH – SMALL OR LARGE 



36.1. Application [6700 6701] 
Section 36 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



6700 – Change MPB or MPC or 
both 



Used where the Current MC is required to provide a Prospective Change to the 
Current MPB or MPC or both. 



6701 – Change MPB or MPC or 
both – Retrospective 



Used where the Current MC is required to provide a Retrospective Change the 
Current MPB or MPC or both. 



36.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



36.3. Initiating Roles 
A Current MC may initiate a Change Request to change an MPB or MPC or both in accordance 
with section 36.4. 



36.4. MC Requirements 
The Current MC must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date  
 



(d) Populate the Change Request with at least one of the following information: 



MPB MPC  



 
The Current MC may: 



(e) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information:  



Actual End Date   



36.5. MDP Requirements 
On receipt of a Data Request for Change Reason Code 6700, the MDP must initiate a Change 
Request to provide the Actual Change Date. 



36.6. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the Current MC must choose a Proposed Change Date that 
lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 36-A. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 139 of 169
 



Table 36-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 6700 – Change MP 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



1 20 0 65 



CR 6701 – Change MP – Retrospective 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



1 20 130 0 



36.7. Objection Rules 
The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 36-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 
their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 36-A. 



Table 36-B – Objection Rules** 



CR 6700 – Change MP 



CR 6701 – Change MP – Retrospective 



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - 



NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 



DATEBAD ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



36.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 36-C. 



Table 36-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 



CR 6700 – Change MP 



CR 6701 – Change MP – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - - - - - Yes - Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 



COMPLETED - Yes - - - Yes - Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 



OBJECTED - - - - - Yes - Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 



PENDING - - - - - - - Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 



REJECTED - - - - - Yes - Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 



REQUESTED - - - - - Yes - Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 140 of 169
 



37. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE MULTIPLE ROLES – SMALL OR LARGE 



37.1. Application [6800 6801]  
Section 37 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



6800 – Change Multiple Roles Used where the Current FRMP or Current MC is required to provide 
concurrent Prospective Changes to one or more Roles. 



6801 – Change Multiple Roles – 
Retrospective 



Used where the Current FRMP or Current MC is required to provide 
concurrent Retrospective Changes to one or more Roles. 



37.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



(c) The date of the change of MC, MDP, MPB or MPC will be the Actual Change Date. 



37.3. Initiating Roles 
(a) A Current FRMP may initiate a Change Request to change any or all of the MC, MDP, MPB 



and MPC in MSATS in accordance with section 37.4. 



(b) A Current MC may initiate a Change Request to change any or all of the MDP, MPB and 
MPC in MSATS in accordance with section 37.5. 



37.4. FRMP Requirements 
The FRMP must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date  
 



(d) Populate a Change Request with one or more of the following: 



MDP MPB MPC 



RP   



The FRMP may: 



(e) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information: 



Actual End Date   



37.5. MC Requirements 
The MC must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 141 of 169
 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Participant ID Proposed Change Date  
 



(d) Populate a Change Request with one or more of the following: 



MDP MPB MPC 



The MC may, for Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following 
information: 



Actual End Date   



37.6. MDP Requirements 
The MDP must: 



(a) On receipt of a Data Request for Change Reason Code 6800 initiate a Change Request to 
provide the Actual Change Date. 



(b) For Prospective Changes that do not require a Meter Reading, provide the Actual Change 
Date within 2 days of the Proposed Change Date being reached. 



(c) For changes that require a Meter Reading, provide the Actual Change Date within 2 days of 
the Meter Reading. 



37.7. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, the Current MC or Current FRMP (as applicable) must choose 
a Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as 
shown in Table 37-A. 



Table 37-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 6800 – Change Multiple Roles  



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



1 20 0 65 



CR 6801 – Change Multiple Roles – Retrospective  



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



1 20 130 0 



37.8. Objection Rules 
The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 37-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 
their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 37-A. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 142 of 169
 



Table 37-B – Objection Rules** 



CR 6800 – Change Multiple Roles  



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB MPC RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADPARTY ALL ALL -  - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 



CONTRACT LARGE ALL            Yes   



DATEBAD ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - 



NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 



NOTRESP ALL ALL - - - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - - 



NOACC ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - - 



CR 6801 – Change Multiple Roles – Retrospective  



Objection 
Code 



NMI 
Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB MPC RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 



CONTRACT LARGE ALL            Yes   



DATEBAD ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - 



NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 



NOTRESP ALL ALL - - - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - - 



RETRO ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 



BADDATA ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



37.9. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 37-C. 



Table 37-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 



CR 6800 – Change Multiple Roles 



CR 6801 – Change Multiple Roles – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status 
Change  



FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  MPC RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED  Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 



COMPLETED  Yes - Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 



OBJECTED - Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 



PENDING - Yes - - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 



REJECTED - Yes - - - - - - - - - -  Yes 



REQUESTED - Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 143 of 169
 



38. AUTO CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE LOCAL RETAILER EMBEDDED NETWORK 
CHILD – SMALL OR LARGE 



38.1. Application [ECLR] 
Section 38 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



ECLR – Change of 
Local Retailer – Child 
(Auto) 



This is an automatic process triggered by MSATS whenever the FRMP is changed for a 
Parent NMI. Once the Parent NMI is transferred, MSATS changes the LR for each of the 
Child NMIs in that Parent’s embedded network. 
All Participants will be notified by MSATS of this event in accordance with the notifications 
listed below. 



38.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) There has been a change of FRMP of a Parent NMI; 



(c) The affected Child NMIs apply to child connection points within this embedded network. 



38.3. Timeframe Rules 
The Proposed Change Date must be within the Retrospectrive Period specified in Table 38-A. 



Table 38-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR ECLR – Change of Local Retailer – Child (Auto) 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



0 0 130 0 



38.4. Objection Rules 
Objections are not permitted. 



38.5. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 38-B. 



Table 38-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 



CR ECLR – Change of Local Retailer – Child (Auto) 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



COMPLETED - Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 



OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 144 of 169
 



39. AUTO CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE SECONDARY FRMP PARENT – SMALL OR 
LARGE 



39.1. Application [EPFR] 
Section 39 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



EPFR – Change of 
FRMP – Parent (Auto) 



This is an automatic process triggered by MSATS whenever the FRMP is changed for a 
Parent NMI. Once the Parent NMI is transferred, MSATS changes the FRMP on any other 
NMIs with the same Parent Name.  This occurs where embedded networks have multiple 
Parent NMIs. 
All Participants will be notified of this in accordance with the Change Request Status 
Notification Rules 



39.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) There are additional Parent NMIs with the same Parent Name; 



(c) There has been a change of FRMP of a Parent NMI;  and 



(d) The Parent NMIs of this embedded network are affected. 



39.3. Timeframe Rules 
The Proposed Change Date must be within the Retrospective Period specified in Table 39-A. 



Table 39-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR EPFR – Change of FRMP – Parent (Auto) 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



0 0 130 0 



39.4. Objection Rules 
Objections are not permitted. 



39.5. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 39-B. 



Table 39-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 



CR EPFR – Change of FRMP – Parent (Auto) 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status 
Change  



FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



COMPLETED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 



OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 145 of 169
 



Status 
Change  



FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 146 of 169
 



40. AEMO ONLY – AEMO-INITIATED STANDING DATA UPDATES – SMALL OR 
LARGE 



40.1. Application [5100 5101] 
Section 40 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



5100 – Correct NMI Master 
Data – (AEMO Only) 



Used where AEMO identifies a requirement for an urgent Prospective Change (i.e., 
in less time than it would take to change that data item because of the allowance 
for an Objection Logging Period) to MSATS data about a connection point or 
where several data items that normally can’t be changed in the same transaction 
must be changed at the same time. 



5101 – Correct NMI Master 
Data – Retrospective (AEMO 
Only) 



Used where AEMO identifies a requirement for an urgent Retrospective Change 
(i.e., in less time than it would take to change that data item because of the 
allowance for an Objection Logging Period) to MSATS data about a connection 
point or where several data items that normally can’t be changed in the same 
transaction must be changed at the same time. 



40.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



40.3. Initiating Roles 
AEMO may initiate a Change Request to create a NMI record in accordance with section 40.4. 



40.4. AEMO Requirements 
AEMO must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 
Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date  
 



AEMO may: 



(d) Populate the Change Request with values for the following fields (as applicable): 



TNI Code DLF Code Jurisdiction Code 



NMI Status Code NMI Classification Code FRMP 



LNSP LR RP 



MPB MDP MPC 



RoLR Locality State 



Postcode Building name Feeder Class 



DPID Flat number Flat type 



Floor number Floor type House number 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 147 of 169
 



House number suffix Location descriptor Lot number 



Street name Street suffix Street type 



Unstructured Address 1 Unstructured Address 2 Unstructured Address 3 



Child Name Parent Name Aggregate flag 



Customer Classification Code Customer Threshold Code   
 



(e) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each Datastream: 



NMI suffix (at least one) Datastream type (for each suffix) ADL (for each suffix) 



Datastream Status Code (for each 
suffix) 



Profile Name (for each suffix)  



 
(f) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each meter: 



Meter Serial ID (at least one) Metering Installation Type Code Meter Register Status Code  



Additional Site information NSRD Meter location 



Meter constant Meter hazard Meter point 



Meter route Meter use Meter manufacturer 



Meter model Meter program Meter Read Type 



Transformer location Transformer type Transformer ratio 



Measurement type Last test date Next test date 



Test result accuracy Test result notes Test performed by 



Remote phone number Communication equipment type Communication protocol 



Data conversion arrangements Data validation arrangements Estimation instructions 



Asset management plan details Calibration tables (details of any 
calibration factors programmed 
into the meter) 



Password details (the read and 
time set passwords only, 
separated by a space; the write 
password is not to be recorded in 
MSATS) 



Test and calibration program 
details 



User access rights details (i.e. 
details of any End User access to 
the metering installation such as 
pulse outputs) 



 



 
(g) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each register: 



Register ID (at least one for each 
meter) 



Register Identifier Status Code 
(for each register) 



Network Tariff Code 



Actual/cumulative indicator (for 
each register) 



Controlled Load indicator (for 
each register) 



Network Tariff Code additional 
information 



MDM Contributory Suffix (this 
can also be supplied by the MDP) 



Demand value 1, if the Network 
Tariff includes a demand 
component 



Demand value 2, if the Network 
Tariff includes a second demand 
component 



Time of day code (for each 
register) 



Dial format (for each register) Multiplier value (for each register) 



Unit of measure code (for each 
register) 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 148 of 169
 



 
(h) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information: 



Actual End Date   



40.5. Timeframe Rules 
When preparing a Change Request, AEMO must choose a Proposed Change Date that lies 
between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 40-A. 



Table 40-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 5100 – Correct NMI Master Data – (AEMO Only) 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



0 0 0 65 



CR 5101 – Correct NMI Master Data – Retrospective (AEMO Only) 



Objection Logging Period 
(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 
(business days) 



Retrospective Period 
(business days) 



Prospective Period 
(business days) 



0 0 150 0 



40.6. Objection Rules 
Objections are not permitted. 



40.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules  are specified in Table 40-B. 



Table 40-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 



CR 5100 – Correct NMI Master Data – (AEMO Only) 



CR 5101 – Correct NMI Master Data – Retrospective (AEMO Only) 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status 
Change  



FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



COMPLETED Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 



OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 149 of 169
 



41. AEMO ONLY – CHANGE ROLE, TNI OR DLF CODE – BULK CHANGE TOOL 
(BCT) – SMALL OR LARGE 



41.1. Introduction 
(a) This is a special transaction undertaken by AEMO in limited circumstances, such as when a 



RoLR Event occurs as it is designed to manage bulk changes of Participant IDs, TNI Codes or 
DLF Codes. 



(b) The BCT can only be used by AEMO. 



(c) Section 41 covers changes to the following NMI Standing Data items: 



LNSP LR FRMP 



MDP MPB MPC 



RP RoLR TNI Code 



DLF Code   
 



(d) Access rights to the BCT function are restricted and will only be available to a person 
nominated by AEMO. 



(e) When activated, BCT will use a unique Change Reason Code to update the data specified in 
the BCT request by AEMO. 



(f) When the BCT is used, active Change Requests may be Cancelled. 



(g) A BCT following a RoLR Event will change the identity of the Current FRMP in the NMI 
Master Record to the Participant ID of the Participant that the relevant Regulator has 
nominated to undertake the RoLR function. (Note the BCT does not use the information 
specified in the RoLR role against the NMI). 



(h) Where necessary, the BCT RoLR action will change the identity of the parent LR on the Child 
NMIs, provided these have been set up correctly in MSATS. 



(i) Notification of a change to the NMI Master Record as in accordance with the Change 
Request Status Notifications Rules. 



(j) Responsibilities for requesting, authorising and implementing use of the BCT will be as per 
Table 41-A. 



Table 41-A – Request/Authorise/Implementation Scenarios 



Scenario Request Authorise Implement 



Mergers & Acquisitions Participants AEMO AEMO 



TNI & DLF Code updates Participants AEMO AEMO 



RoLR Events Relevant Regulator AEMO AEMO 



Any other scenario Jurisdictions/Participants AEMO AEMO 



41.2. Conditions Precedent 
(a) For all events: 



(i) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(ii) The Effective Date of the BCT Change Requests shall always be retrospective. 



(iii) The NMI can be any NMI Classification Code. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 150 of 169
 



(iv) AEMO has agreement on requirements and details from all parties impacted (except 
for RoLR Event). 



(v) The use of the BCT functionality is not dependant on the provision of any Meter 
Readings at the effective date. 



(b) RoLR Events: 



See NEM ROLR Processes  



(c) Mergers & Acquisitions 



The Participant IDs involved must have the same ABN and the same Jurisdictional licences. 



41.3. Requesting Participant Requirements 
Where Table 41-A indicates that a Participant may request the use of the BCT, the requesting 
Participant must: 



(a) Provide at least one data item (data field) for change. 



(b) Specify the Start and End Date (if required) for the BCT process. 



(c) Ensure that all changing data items are active for the whole of the time period specified for 
the BCT. 



(d) Ensure all impacted Participants are consulted and have provided approval for change to 
AEMO. 



(e) Specify the notifications to be sent out for the BCT process. 



(f) Specify the action required to be taken when a conflicting Change Request is found for the 
NMIs in the BCT process. 



(g) Provide the selection criteria for NMIs to be included in the BCT from the following fields: 



LNSP LR FRMP 



MDP MPB MPC 



RP RoLR TNI Code 



DLF Code Post Code Aggregate Flag  



NMI Status Code NMI Classification Code Jurisdiction Code 



Parent Name (ID or “if null” or “if 
not null”) 



Child Name (ID or “if null” or “if 
not null”) 



The Tier Status (not required if 
both the LR and FRMP are 
provided as selection criteria) 



NMI Limit (Maximum number of 
NMIs to be processed in the run) 



Previous BCT run identifier (i.e. 
Change all NMIs in a previous 
BCT event) 



 



 
(h) Nominate at least one of the following information for change via the BCT: 



LNSP LR FRMP 



MDP(1)  MPB(1) MPC(1) 



RP RoLR TNI Code 



DLF Code   
Note(1): The requesting Participant must be the MC to nominate the MDP, MPB and MPC Roles. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 151 of 169
 



The requesting Participant may further specify a list of NMIs to be used as part of the selection 
criteria. 



41.4. Impacted Participant Requirements 
Impacted Participants must: 



(a) Provide AEMO acceptance or rejection of the criteria set by the requesting Participant for 
use with the BCT. 



(b) Where rejecting the criteria set by the requesting Participant for use with the BCT, provide 
AEMO a reasonable justification for the rejection. 



41.5. MDP Requirements 
The MDP must update the activity status of any affected Datastreams via normal Change Request 
processes. 



41.6. Timeframe Rules 
(a) The BCT can only be used to make Retrospective Changes. 



(b) The Timeframe Rules that apply to the appropriate Change Reason Code that would 
normally have applied will apply to BCT changes. 



41.7. Objection Rules 
Objections are not permitted. 



41.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 
The Change Request Status Notification Rules are configurable to suit the changes being made. In 
each case these will need to be specified by the Initiating Participant. For all events, only COM 
notifications will be provided. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 152 of 169
 



42. ACCESS TO CATS STANDING DATA 



42.1. Introduction 
(a) This section provides the rules for access to CATS Standing Data through MSATS. 



(b) Separate rules apply to CATS Standing Data that is available for NMI Discovery Search and 
CATS Standing Data that can be accessed by Participants with a relationship to a NMI. 



(c) NMI Standing Data for NMI Discovery Search is the specified sub-set of CATS Standing Data 
identified in Table 42-A, Table 42-C, Table 42-I and Table 42-J. 



(d) The entire set of CATS Standing Data is identified in Table 42-D, Table 42-E, Table 42-F, 
Table 42-G and Table 42-H. 



42.2. Participant 
(a) In accordance with Jurisdictional requirements, a Participant may seek access to NMI 



Standing Data from MSATS as set out in section 42.3.1 for the purpose of identifying the 
NMI attributes assigned to a connection point or as otherwise permitted by the Jurisdiction. 



(b) If agreed with a potential End User, a Participant may seek access to NMI Standing Data 
from MSATS in accordance with section 42.3.2 for the purpose of identifying the NMI 
Standing Data assigned to a connection point or as otherwise prescribed by the Jurisdiction. 



(c) A Participant may seek access to NMI Standing Data from MSATS in accordance with 
section 42.3.4 only for the purpose of: 



(i) Identifying the Current FRMP so the End User can be referred to them in order to 
arrange abolishment of the NMI from MSATS; 



(ii) Identifying the Current FRMP to advise that an error correction transfer (CR 1021, 
1023, 1024 and 1029) will be raised; 



(iii) Identifying the Current FRMP to obtain agreement to raise a transfer CR 1010 – a 
Retrospective Change to align to Meter Reading; 



(iv) Identifying the most recent previous FRMP to arrange with them to raise a transfer in 
order to win back a NMI transferred in error. (CR 1022, 1025, 1026, 1027 and 1028). 



(d) A Current Participant is provided with access to CATS Standing Data in MSATS in 
accordance with Table 42-D, Table 42-E, Table 42-F, Table 42-G, Table 42-H, Table 42-I and 
Table 42-J. 



(e) For the purpose of this section, a reference to a: 



(i) Participant; 



(ii) retailer; or 



(iii) FRMP, 



is also a reference to a Customer’s Disclosee under section 8.6.2(b1) of the Rules. 



(f) An MC may seek access to NMI Standing Data from MSATS in accordance with section 42.3.5 
only for the purpose of identifying the NMI Classification of ‘LARGE’ in order to arrange a 
change of MC. 



42.3. Request a NMI Discovery Search 
(a) The following access to CATS Standing Data is available to a Participant in MSATS: 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 153 of 169
 



(i) NMI Discovery Search 1; 



(ii) NMI Discovery Search 2 – NMI Standing Data; 



(iii) CATS Standing Data; 



(iv) NMI Discovery Search 3 – NMI Standing Data. 



(b) NMI Discovery Search 1 is used by a Participant to identify the NMI characters that have 
been assigned to an End User’s connection point, as described in section 42.3.1. 



(c) NMI Discovery Search 2 is used by a Participant to identify the NMI Standing data that has 
been assigned to the End User’s connection point and is available for release in accordance 
with NMI Standing Data Access Rules, as provided in section 42.3.2. 



(d) The CATS Standing Data Access Rules are contained in section 42.3.3. 



(e) A NMI Discovery Search 1 will only be successful if information is contained in MSATS that 
supports one of the following three options: DPID, Meter Serial ID and address. 



(f) NMI Discovery Search 3 is used by retailers to progress error correction CRs, identify the 
previous FRMP, or for seeking agreement to the raising of a retrospective align with meter 
read transfers. 



42.3.1. NMI Discovery Search 1 – NMI Search Rules 



(a) The NMI Search Rules define what search parameters can be used in a Jurisdiction. 



(b) The available NMI search options are: 



(i) DPID; 



(ii) Meter Serial ID; 



(iii) Address (without DPID). 



(c) Any or all of these options can be activated. Activation is in the ascending order shown in 
paragraph (b). 



(d) If a search is carried out using the address option, the state and locality (or state and 
postcode) must also be provided. 



(e) If a search is carried out using Meter Serial ID the state, locality and postcode are not 
required. 



(f) The address information can be either structured or unstructured. If a search is carried out 
using the address option only all input information is expected in the structured format as 
the first level of search. If this level of search is not successful, a second search on 
unstructured format will be undertaken by MSATS. 



(g) If a NMI Master Record does not contain DPID or address information, the NMI search will 
only be successful if a Meter Serial ID is provided as a search option. 



(h) MSATS identifies a unique metering installation. The metering installation may be co-located 
with a postal delivery point but there will be instances where the metering installation has 
no postal delivery point. In recognition of this variation, MSATS enables the Participant to 
enter in either a structured or an Unstructured Address. The Unstructured Address should 
not contain state and postcode information. 



(i) The NMI Search Rules also define how many matches will be returned in the case of 
multiple matches. 



(j) If a match occurs, MSATS will return to the Participant the following: 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 154 of 169
 



Table 42-A 



MSATS Name Description of data items returned on a successful 
NMI Discovery Search request 



Only if “Address 
returned in stage 1” is 
turned on 



Building Name See Table 42-E for description  



Customer Classification 
Code 



See Table 42-E for description 



Customer Threshold Code See Table 42-E for description 



DPID Number See Table 42-E for description  



EmbNet Child See Table 42-E for description  



EmbNet Parent See Table 42-E for description  



Feeder Class See Table 42-E for description  



Flat Number See Table 42-E for description  



Flat Type See Table 42-E for description  



Floor Number See Table 42-E for description  



Floor Type  See Table 42-E for description  



House Number See Table 42-E for description  



House Number Suffix See Table 42-E for description  



LNSP Local Network Service Provider or Embedded 
Network Manager for a child connection point 



Always returned 



Locality See Table 42-E for description  



Location Descriptor See Table 42-E for description  



Lot Number See Table 42-E for description  



NMI  a 10 digit national metering identifier Always returned 



NMI Checksum  a single digit number used to validate the NMI 
supplied to MSATS 



Always returned 



Postcode See Table 42-E for description  



State See Table 42-E for description  



Street Name See Table 42-E for description  



Street Suffix See Table 42-E for description  



Street Type See Table 42-E for description  



Unstructured Address 2 See Table 42-E for description  



Unstructured Address 3 See Table 42-E for description  



Unstructured Address1 See Table 42-E for description  



 



(k) No other information will be provided. 



(l) The NMI Search Rules are shown in Table 42-B. 



(m) The LNSP must:  



(i) only carry out a NMI Discovery Search 1 on any NMIs where they are the Current 
LNSP. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 155 of 169
 



(ii) Only perform NMI Discovery Search 1 within its local area for the purpose of 
responding to a request from a retailer to assist in the resolution of a NMI Standing 
Data problem, or to perform quality checks of its data within MSATS. 



(n) The ENM must only carry out a NMI Discovery Search 1 on any NMIs where they are the 
Current ENM. 



Table 42-B – NMI Search Rules 



Role  DPID  Meter 
Serial ID 



NMI Address Address returned 
in Stage 1  



Number of Records 
Returned if Multiple Match 



FRMP 
LNSP 



Yes Yes Yes Yes 99 



42.3.2. NMI Discovery Search 2 – NMI Standing Data Access Rules 



(a) This section 42.3.2 specifies the NMI Standing Data that is available to retailers and NSPs 
who do not have Explicit Informed Consent from an End User. 



(b) An LNSP must: 



(i) Only carry out a NMI Discovery Search 2 on any NMIs where they are the Current 
LNSP. 



(ii) Only perform NMI Discovery Search 2 activity within its local area for the purpose of 
responding to a request from a retailer to assist in the resolution of a NMI Standing 
Data problem, or to perform quality checks of its data within MSATS. 



(c) The ENM must only carry out a NMI Discovery Search 2 on any NMIs where they are the 
Current ENM. 



(d) The NMI Data Access Rules define: 



(i) Which Role can initiate a request for NMI Standing Data. 



(ii) Which standing data items will be returned when a request is submitted to MSATS. 



(e) The NMI Data Access Rules may be defined by Jurisdiction. 



(f) The NMI Standing Data items that would be returned to a FRMP or LNSP in all Jurisdictions 
on a successful data access request are specified in Table 42-C. Further details of each data 
item can be found in the MSATS standing data tables from the “Standing Data for MSATS” 
document. 



Table 42-C – Common NMI Standing Data items returned to a FRMP or LNSP for a NMI Discovery Search 2   



MSATS Name Data item description MSATS standing data table 



Actual/Cumulative 
Indicator 



Actual/Subtractive Indicator. 
Actual implies volume of energy actually 
metered between two dates. Cumulative 
indicates two Meter Readings are required 
to determine the consumption between 
those two read dates. For an Interval Meter, 
Actual/Cumulative Indicator is normally = 
A. 



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 156 of 169
 



MSATS Name Data item description MSATS standing data table 



Address This includes all address fields, which 
comprise DPID, building name, flat number, 
flat type, floor number, floor type, house 
number, house number suffix, location 
descriptor, Lot Number, street name, street 
suffix, street type, Unstructured Address1, 
Unstructured Address2, Unstructured 
Address3, postcode, locality, and state. 



CATS_NMI_DATA 



ADL The electrical energy delivered through a 
connection point or metering point over an 
extended period normalised to a “per day” 
basis (kWh). 



CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Child Name The Embedded Network Code populated in 
the EmbNetChild field for a Child NMI to 
indicate that the NMI is a child for a 
specified embedded network 



CATS_NMI_DATA 



Controlled Load Indicates whether the energy recorded by 
this register is created under a Controlled 
Load regime. 
Controlled Load field will have “No” if 
register does not relate to a Controlled 
Load, it should contain a description of the 
Controlled Load regime. 



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Customer Classification 
Code 



See section 4.10.1.  CATS_NMI_DATA 



Customer Threshold Code See section 4.10.2. CATS_NMI_DATA 



Datastream Status Code See section 4.11. CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Datastream Type A code to indicate the type of data that the 
Datastream will report:  includes interval 
and accumulation. 



CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Dial Format Describes the register display format. CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



DLF Code  A code representing the DLF. CATS_NMI_DATA 



Feeder Class A code for logical grouping of NMIs based 
on a DNSP’s distribution feeder. 



CATS_NMI_DATA 



Jurisdiction Code See section 4.5. CATS_NMI_DATA 



LNSP  A code representing the identity of the 
LNSP. 



CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 



MDP A code representing the identity of the 
MDP (Category D). 



CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 



Meter Register Status Code A code to denote the status of the meter 
within the NEM. 



CATS_METER_REGISTER 



Meter Serial ID The serial number that uniquely identifies a 
meter for a given NMI. 



CATS_METER_REGISTER 



Metering Installation Type 
Code  



See section 4.12. CATS_METER_REGISTER 



MeterRead Type Code indicating the method and frequency 
of Meter Reading. 



CATS_METER_REGISTER 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 157 of 169
 



MSATS Name Data item description MSATS standing data table 



MPB A code representing the identity of the MP 
(Category B). 



CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 



MPC A code representing the identity of the 
MDP (Category C). 



CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 



Multiplier Multiplier required to take a register value 
and turn it into a value representing billable 
energy. 



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Network Tariff Code  A code representing the Network Tariff. CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Network Tariff Code 
Additional Information 



Additional text to supplement the Network 
Tariff Code if this is a complex Network 
Tariff Code. 



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Next Scheduled Read Date  The NSRD in date format. CATS_METER_REGISTER 



NMI  A national metering identifier. CATS_NMI_DATA 



NMI Classification Code  See section 4.9. CATS_NMI_DATA 



NMI Status Code See section 4.11. CATS_NMI_DATA 



Parent Name The Embedded Network Code populated in 
the EmbNetParent field for a Parent NMI to 
indicate that the NMI is a parent for a 
specified embedded network 



CATS_NMI_DATA 



Profile Name  A code representing the name of the 
profile. 



CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Register ID The register ID of the register that the 
Network Tariff Code and Network Tariff 
Code additional information refers to. 



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Register Identifier Status 
Code 



A lookup code to indicate if register is 
active. 



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



RP A code representing the identity of the MC. CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 



Suffix A code representing the NMI Datastream. CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Time Of Day Industry developed Codes to identify the 
time validity of register contents. 



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



TNI Code  A code representing the transmission node 
identifier. 



CATS_NMI_DATA 



Unit of Measure A code to identify the Unit of Measure 
(UOM) for data held in this register.  



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



42.3.3. CATS Standing Data Access Rules 



(a) The CATS Standing Data Access Rules specify which items of CATS Standing Data may be 
accessed by which Role within each Jurisdiction. 



(b) The CATS Standing Data is grouped as follows: 



(i) Meter Register; 



(ii) NMI Data; 



(iii) NMI Datastream; 



(iv) NMI Participant Relations; 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 158 of 169
 



(v) Register ID. 



The CATS Standing Data Access Rules are shown in Table 42-D, Table 42-E, Table 42-F, Table 
42-G, and Table 42-H. 



Table 42-D – CATS Standing Data Access Rules for Meter Register 



METER REGISTER  



Jur’n Data Item Description 



FR
M



P 



LR
 



LN
SP



 



M
D



P 



M
PB



 



M
PC



 



RP
 



Ro
LR



 



N
EM



M
 



N
SP



2 



ALL AddlSiteInfo This field is used to provide any 
additional information about a 
Site to describe Site access and 
the relationship between the 
metering point and the 
connection point. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 



ALL AssetMgmtPlan If a Site plan is used, this is a 
description of the plan. If a 
Sample Test Plan is used, this is 
the name of the AEMO-
approved plan. 



Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 



ALL Calibration 
Tables 



Details of any calibration factors 
programmed into the meter. 



Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 



ALL CommEquip 
Type 



Indicates modem or other 
communication device types. 



Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL CommProtocol Textual description of details 
needed to communicate to 
communication devices. 



Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL DataConv Textual description of details 
needed to translate data 
received from a communication 
device. 



Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 



ALL DataValidations Textual description of details 
needed to validate data 
received from a communication 
device. 



Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 



ALL EstInstruct Textual instructions on how to 
estimate the Meter Reading if 
an Estimated Reading is 
required. 



Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 



ALL LastTestDate Last date on which the meter 
was tested. 



Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 



ALL Measurement 
Type 



Code indicating how the meter 
is measuring, example values 
include, aggregate, 
consumption, programmable, 
interval. 



Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL MeterConstant Multiplier applied to the meter 
to arrive at the consumption. 



Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 159 of 169
 



Jur’n Data Item Description 



FR
M



P 



LR
 



LN
SP



 



M
D



P 



M
PB



 



M
PC



 



RP
 



Ro
LR



 



N
EM



M
 



N
SP



2 



ALL MeterHazard Code or text indicating any 
dangerous conditions that may 
have been identified at the Site. 



Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL MeterInstall 
Code 



The Metering Installation Type 
Code indicates whether or not 
the meter has to be manually 
read. This affects the transfer 
transaction process flow 
because if a meter has to be 
manually read, the MP  must 
supply the Actual Change Date 
before the Change Request is 
Completed. If it does not have 
to be manually read, the 
Change Request can be 
Completed as of the requested 
transfer date. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL MeterLocation Code or text indicating where 
the meter is physically located 
at the premises. 



Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL Meter 
Manufacturer 



The manufacturer code for the 
meter. 



Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 



ALL MeterModel The manufacturer’s model 
number for the meter. 



Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 



ALL MeterPoint An additional metering 
identifier field. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL MeterProgram For programmable meters, an 
identifier of the program run at 
the meter. 



Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 



ALL MeterReadType Code indicating how the meter 
is read 
Refer to “Standing data for 
MSATS’ document for further 
details. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 



ALL MeterRoute The route identifier the meter is 
currently being read in. 



Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 



ALL MeterSerial The serial number that uniquely 
identifies a meter for a given 
NMI. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL MeterStatus Code used to indicate the 
status of the meter. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL MeterUse Code indicating revenue meter, 
check meter, load research, etc. 



Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL NextSchRead 
Date 



Indicates the NSRD for the 
meter if a reading is required. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 160 of 169
 



Jur’n Data Item Description 



FR
M



P 



LR
 



LN
SP



 



M
D



P 



M
PB



 



M
PC



 



RP
 



Ro
LR



 



N
EM



M
 



N
SP



2 



ALL NextTestDate Next date on which the meter 
should be tested. 



Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 



ALL Password Read and Time Set passwords, 
separated by a space. 
Note that the Write password is 
not to be stored in this field. 



Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 



ALL ReadTypeCode Code used to indicate whether 
a meter should be read on the 
NSRD, a Special Read Date or 
an Estimated Reading. 



Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 



VIC RemotePhone 
Number 



The phone number for remote 
access. 



- - - Yes Yes - Yes - Yes - 



NSW RemotePhone 
Number 



The phone number for remote 
access. 



- - - Yes Yes - Yes - Yes - 



ACT RemotePhone 
Number 



The phone number for remote 
access. 



- - - Yes Yes - Yes - Yes - 



QLD RemotePhone 
Number 



The phone number for remote 
access. 



- - - Yes Yes - Yes - Yes - 



SA RemotePhone 
Number 



The phone number for remote 
access. 



- - Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL TestCalibProgra
m 



Current test and calibration 
program details. 



Yes - Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL TestPerformed 
By 



Who performed the last test. 
This field could be used to store 
a company or individual’s 
name. 



Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 



ALL TestResult 
Accuracy 



The accuracy of the meter from 
the last test. 



Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 



ALL TestResult 
Notes 



Any text or further test 
information. 



Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 



ALL Transformer 
Location 



Indicates where the transformer 
is in relation to the meter. 



Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL Transformer 
Ratio 



Instrument transformer ratios 
(available and connected). 



Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL Transformer 
Type 



Type of transformation eployed. Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL UserAccess 
Rights 



Details of any End User access 
to the metering installation. 
Examples include pulse outputs, 
interface to End User load 
management system, or End 
User directly accessing data in 
the meter through special 
agreement. 



Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 161 of 169
 



Table 42-E – CATS Standing Data Access Rules for NMI data 



NMI DATA  



Jur’n Data Item Description 



FR
M



P 



LR
 



LN
SP



 



M
D



P 



M
PB



 



M
PC



 



RP
 



Ro
LR



 



N
EM



M
 



N
SP



2 



ALL AggFlag A flag that may be used for the 
transition from MAS to MSATS. 
This field is used by MDM to 
determine which settlement 
reports data goes into, that is 
whether it should be aggregated 
or not. Can be a ‘Y’ or ‘N’. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL BuildingName The full name used to identify 
the physical building or property 
as part of its location. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL Customer 
Classification 
Code 



A code that defines the End User 
class as defined in the National 
Energy Retail Regulations, or in 
over-riding Jurisdictional 
instruments.  



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL CustomerThres
holdCode 



A code that defines the 
consumption threshold as 
defined in the National Energy 
Retail Regulations, or in over-
riding Jurisdictional instruments.  



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL DLFCode DLF Code used to indicate the 
DLF value for the given NMI. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL DPID Delivery point identifier – the 
numeric descriptor for a postal 
delivery point which is equal to a 
physical address. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL EmbNetChild The embedded network 
identifier code is used to identify 
which embedded network this 
Child NMI is part of. (If on a NMI 
record this field is not populated, 
it is assumed the NMI is not the 
Child NMI of any other Parent 
NMI.) 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL EmbNetParent The embedded network 
identifier code is used to identify 
which embedded network this 
NMI is the ‘parent of’. (If on a 
NMI record this field is not 
populated, it is assumed the NMI 
is not the parent of any other 
NMI.) 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL FlatNumber Specification of the number of 
the flat or unit which is a 
separately identifiable portion 
within a building/complex. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 162 of 169
 



Jur’n Data Item Description 



FR
M



P 



LR
 



LN
SP



 



M
D



P 



M
PB



 



M
PC



 



RP
 



Ro
LR



 



N
EM



M
 



N
SP



2 



ALL FlatType Specification of the type of flat 
or unit which is a separately 
identifiable portion within a 
building/complex. Values 
permitted include: APT, CTGE, 
DUP, FY, F, HSE, KSK, MSNT, MB, 
OFF, PTHS, RM, SHED, SHOP, 
SITE, SL, STU, SE, TNHS, U, VLLA, 
WARD, WE. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL FloorNumber Floor Number is used to identify 
the floor or level of a multi-
storey building/complex. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL FloorType Floor Type is used to identify the 
floor or level of a multi-storey 
building/complex. Values 
permitted include: B, FL, G, L, LG, 
M, UG. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL HouseNum The numeric reference of a 
house or property. Specifically 
the house number. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL HouseNum 
Suffix 



The numeric reference of a 
house or property. Specifically 
the single character identifying 
the house number suffix. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL Jurisdiction 
Code 



Jurisdiction Code to which the 
NMI belongs. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL Locality The full name of the general 
locality containing the specific 
address. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL Location 
Descriptor 



A general field to capture 
various references to address 
locations alongside another 
physical location. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL Lot Number The lot reference number 
allocated to an address prior to 
street numbering. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL NMI National Meter Identifier – 
unique identification for each 
connection point. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 



ALL NMI 
Classification 
Code 



A code that identifies, on a 
Jurisdiction basis, the magnitude 
of the power consumed, eg 
small or large. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL NMIStatusCod
e 



Code used to indicate the status 
of the NMI, i.e. active, de-
energised, extinct. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 163 of 169
 



Jur’n Data Item Description 



FR
M



P 



LR
 



LN
SP



 



M
D



P 



M
PB



 



M
PC



 



RP
 



Ro
LR



 



N
EM



M
 



N
SP



2 



ALL Postcode The numeric descriptor for a 
postal delivery area, aligned with 
locality, suburb or place. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL State Defined State or Territory 
abbreviation. Values permitted 
include: AAT, ACT, NSW, NT, 
QLD, SA, TAS, VIC, WA. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL StreetName Records the thoroughfare name. Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL StreetSuffix Records any street suffixes. 
Values permitted include: CN, E, 
EX, OR, N, NE, NW, S, SE, SW, 
UP, W 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL StreetType Records the street type 
abbreviation. Available 
abbreviations are listed in 
AS4590. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL TNICode Transmission Node Identifier. 
Identifies a transmission network 
connection point.  



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes  Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL Unstructured 
Address1 



To provide the Unstructured 
Address (line 1) where a 
Structured Address cannot be 
supplied. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL Unstructured 
Address2 



To provide The Unstructured 
Address (line 2) where a 
Structured Address cannot be 
supplied. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL Unstructured 
Address3 



To provide the Unstructured 
Address (line 3) where a 
Structured Address cannot be 
supplied. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL Feeder Class To provide a 15 character long 
field in varchar format for logical 
grouping of NMIs based on a 
DNSP’s distribution feeder. 



Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes - Yes - 



Table 42-F – CATS Standing Data Access Rules for NMI Datastream 



NMI DATASTREAM 



Jur’n Data Item Description 



FR
M



P 



LR
 



LN
SP



 



M
D



P 



M
PB



 



M
PC



 



RP
 



Ro
LR



 



N
EM



M
 



N
SP



2 



ALL AverageDailyL
oad 



The electrical energy delivered 
through a connection point or 
metering point over an extended 
period normalised to a per day 
basis. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes Yes 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 164 of 169
 



Jur’n Data Item Description 



FR
M



P 



LR
 



LN
SP



 



M
D



P 



M
PB



 



M
PC



 



RP
 



Ro
LR



 



N
EM



M
 



N
SP



2 



ALL DataStream 
Type 



Indicates the type of data that the 
Datastream will report includes 
interval and accumulation. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL ProfileName See Retail Market Procedures – 
Glossary and Framework 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL StreamStatus 
Code 



Code used to indicate the status 
of the suffix. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL Suffix Stream of data for the NMI. Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



Table 42-G – CATS Standing Data Access Rules for Participant Relations 



PARTICIPANT RELATIONS 



Jur’n Data Item Description 



FR
M



P 



LR
 



LN
SP



 



M
D



P 



M
PB



 



M
PC



 



RP
 



Ro
LR



 



N
EM



M
 



N
SP



2 



ALL FRMP Financially Responsible Market 
Participant, e.g. Current Retailer.  



Yes  Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL LNSP Current Local Network Service 
Provider (or ENM for a child 
connection point).  



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 



ALL LR Current local retailer. Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes  



ALL MDP Current MDP – Category D. Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL MPB Current MP – Category B. Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL MPC Current MDP – Category C. Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL NEMM  Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL ROLR Current Retailer of Last Resort. Yes - Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes 



ALL RP Current Metering Coordinator. Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL NSP2 Current Second Network Service 
Provider 



  Yes Yes   Yes  Yes Yes 



Table 42-H – CATS Standing Data Access Rules for Register IDs 



REGISTER ID 



Jur’n Data Item Description 



FR
M



P 



LR
 



LN
SP



 



M
D



P 



M
PB



 



M
PC



 



RP
 



Ro
LR



 



N
EM



M
 



N
SP



2 



ALL ActCumInd Actual/Subtractive indicator. 
Actual implies volume of energy 
actually metered between two 
dates. 
Cumulative indicates a Meter 
Reading for a specific date. A 
second Meter Reading is required 
to determine the consumption 
between those two dates.  



Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 165 of 169
 



Jur’n Data Item Description 



FR
M



P 



LR
 



LN
SP



 



M
D



P 



M
PB



 



M
PC



 



RP
 



Ro
LR



 



N
EM



M
 



N
SP



2 



ALL Controlled 
Load 



Indicates whether the energy 
recorded by this register is created 
under a Controlled Load regime. 



Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL Demand1 A value, in kVA or kW, which is a 
demand component associated 
with a Network Tariff. 



Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL Demand2 A value, in kVA or kW, where there 
is a second demand component 
associated with a Network Tariff. 



Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL DialFormat Describes the register display 
format. First number is the number 
of digits to the left of the decimal 
place, and the second number is 
the number of digits to the right of 
the decimal place. 



Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL Multiplier Multiplier required to take a 
register value and turn it into a 
value representing billable energy. 



Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL NetworkTarif
f 
Code 



A code that identifies the Network 
Tariff. It is a code obligation for the 
LNSP to publish the meaning of 
these codes elsewhere (e.g. on the 
Internet). 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL NTAddInfo Contains additional explanatory 
information about the Network 
Tariff if the code alone is not a 
sufficient explanation. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL RegisterId The identifier which uniquely 
identifies this register.  



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL RegisterId 
Status 



A code to indicate whether or not 
the register is active.  



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL Suffix The suffix on the CATS_NMI_ 
Datastream table to which energy 
measured on this register 
contributes. 



Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL TimeOfDay A code that indicates the time 
validity of the register’s contents. 



Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL UnitOf 
Measure 



A code to identify the unit of 
measure for the data held in this 
register. 



Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



42.3.4. NMI Discovery Search 3 – NMI Standing Data Access Rules 



(a) This section specifies the NMI Standing Data available to retailers who are: 



(i) seeking to progress error correction transfers (prior to initiating a CR 1021, 1023, 1024 
and 1029); 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 166 of 169
 



(ii) seeking agreement to the raising of a Retrospective Change on a date that aligns 
with a previous Meter Reading (CR 1010); 



(iii) seeking the previous FRMP to win back a NMI won in error – (CR 1022, 1025, 1026, 
1027 and 1028); and 



(iv) Who are not the FRMP and in receipt of an End User’s request for abolishment of a 
NMI from MSATS. 



(b) A retailer must only perform NMI Discovery Search 3 on any NMIs for the reasons stated in 
paragraph (a). 



(c) The NMI Standing Data Access Rules for this transaction define which: 



(i) Role can initiate a request for NMI Standing Data. 



(ii) Standing data items will be returned when a request is submitted to MSATS. 



(d) The Roles that can initiate the NMI Discovery Search 3 are specified in Table 42-I. 



Table 42-I – NMI Standing Data Access Rules for Participant Relations 



PARTICIPANT RELATIONS 



Jur’n Data Item Description 



FR
M



P 



LR
 



LN
SP



 



M
D



P 



M
PB



 



M
PC



 



RP
 



Ro
LR



 



N
EM



M
 



N
SP



2 



ALL FRMP Financially Responsible Market 
Participant. 



Yes -  –   –   –  -  –  -  –   –  



ALL LNSP Current Local Network Service 
Provider, or Embedded Network 
Manager for a child connection 
point.  



 –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –  



ALL LR Current Local Retailer.  –   –   –   –   –  -  –  -  –   - 



ALL MDP Current Metering Data Provider, 
i.e. provider of metering data to 
AEMO. 



 –   –   –   –   –   –   –  -  –   –  



ALL MPB Current Meter Provider – 
maintenance of meter. 



 –  -  –   –   –   –   –  -  –   –  



ALL MPC Current Meter Provider – data 
collection. 



 –  -  –   –   –   –   –  -  –   –  



ALL NEMM   –  -  –   –   –   –   –  -  –   –  



ALL RoLR Current Retailer of Last Resort.  –  -  –   –   –  -  –   –   –   –  



ALL RP Current Metering Coordinator.  –   –   –   –   –   –   –  -  –   –  



ALL NSP2 Current Second Network Service 
Provider 



- -  –   –  - -  –  -  –   –  



(e) When initiating NMI Discovery Search 3, a retailer must ensure: 



(i) When using the reason of ITD (Incorrect Transfer Date), they are the Current FRMP 
for the NMI and a FRMP change completed in the past 130 business days from the 
NMI Discovery Search 3 date. 



(ii) When using the reason of TRI (Transferred In Error), they are the Current FRMP or the 
most recent previous FRMP for a given NMI. (This applies where the Current FRMP 
needs to request a retailer to transfer back a NMI transferred in error or the most 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 167 of 169
 



recent previous FRMP has identified another retailer has transferred the NMI in error 
and is seeking to transfer it back.) 



(iii) When using the reason of MCR, Missed CR1500 error, a CR1500 was not submitted in 
the past 130 business days from the NMI Discovery Search 3 date. 



(iv) When using the reason of NNS (New NMI Setup Error – see Table 42-J), the NMI was 
created in the past 130 business days from the NMI Discovery Search 3 date. 



(f) The valid standing data items that would be returned to the initiating Role in all Jurisdictions 
on a successful data access request are specified in Table 42-J. 



Table 42-J – NMI Standing Data Items returned in all Jurisdictions for a Search 3 Search Request per 
Reason Code 



Reason code Description MSATS Name of the 
data item returned 



Description of data item returned on a successful 
request 



 All NMI  A 10 digit national metering identifier. 



ITD Incorrect Transfer 
Date Error 



FRMP, End Date Up to 10 character code representing the identity of 
the most recent previous FRMP. 



End Date of the most recent previous FRMP record. 



MCR Missed CR1500 
Error 



FRMP  Up to 10 character code representing the identity of 
the Current FRMP.  



NNS New NMI Setup 
Error 



FRMP  Up to 10 character code representing the identity of 
the Current FRMP.  



OTR Other Transfer 
Error 



FRMP Up to 10 character code representing the identity of 
the Current FRMP.  



SAB Site Abolishment FRMP, 
Start Date 



Up to 10 character code representing the identity of 
the Current FRMP. 



Start Date of the Current FRMP record. 



TRI Transferred In 
Error 



FRMP, 
Start Date 



Up to 10 character code representing the identity of 
the Current FRMP. 



Start Date of the Current FRMP record. 



TRI Transferred In 
Error 



FRMP, End Date Up to 10 character code representing the identity of 
the most recent previous FRMP. 



End Date of the most recent previous FRMP record. 



TRM Transfer Missed 
Error 



FRMP Up to 10 character code representing the identity of 
the Current FRMP.  



 



42.3.5. MC Standing Data Search – NMI Standing Data Access Rules 



(a) This section 42.3.5 specifies the NMI Standing Data that is available to MCs who do not 
have Explicit Informed Consent from an End User. 



(b) A current or prospective MC must: 



(i) Only carry out an MC Standing Data Search on NMIs where they are the Current MC; 
or 



(ii) Only perform MC Standing Data Search activity for the purpose of responding to a 
request from a large customer/retailer to assist in the appointment of the prospective 
MC. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 168 of 169
 



(c) The NMI Data Access Rules define: 



(i) Which Role can initiate a request for NMI Standing Data and 



(ii) Which standing data items will be returned when a request is submitted to MSATS. 



(d) The NMI Data Access Rules may be defined by Jurisdiction. 



(e) The NMI Standing Data items returned to an MC in all Jurisdictions on a successful data 
access request are specified in Table 42-K. 



Table 42-K – Common NMI Standing Data items returned for an MC Standing Data Search.  



(The following data is based on the MSATS C7 report with the inclusion of Controlled Load and NMI Classification 
Code).  



MSATS Name Data item description MSATS standing data table 



Address This includes all address fields, which 



comprise DPID, building name, flat number, 
flat type, floor number, floor type, house 



number, house number suffix, location 



descriptor, Lot Number, street name, street 
suffix, street type, Unstructured Address1, 



Unstructured Address2, Unstructured 



Address3, postcode, locality, and state. 



CATS_NMI_DATA 



ADL The electrical energy delivered through a 
connection point or metering point over an 



extended period normalised to a “per day” 
basis (kWh). 



CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Controlled Load Indicates whether the energy recorded by 
this register is created under a Controlled 



Load regime.  



Controlled Load field will have “No” if 



register does not relate to a Controlled 



Load, it should contain a description of the 
Controlled Load regime.  



 



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Customer Classification 



Code 



See section 4.10.1.  CATS_NMI_DATA 



Customer Threshold Code See section 4.10.2. CATS_NMI_DATA 



Datastream Status Code See section 4.11. CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Datastream Type A code to indicate the type of data that the 
Datastream will report:  includes interval and 



accumulation. 



CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



DLF Code  A code representing the DLF. CATS_NMI_DATA 



Jurisdiction Code See section 4.5. CATS_NMI_DATA 



FRMP A code representing the identity of the 



FRMP. 



CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 20 MAY 2019 Page 169 of 169
 



MSATS Name Data item description MSATS standing data table 



LNSP  A code representing the identity of the 
LNSP. 



CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 



LR A code representing the identity of the LR. CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 



MDP A code representing the identity of the MDP 
(Category D). 



CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 



Meter Serial ID The serial number that uniquely identifies a 
meter for a given NMI. 



CATS_METER_REGISTER 



Metering Installation Type 



Code  



See section 4.12. CATS_METER_REGISTER 



MPB A code representing the identity of the MP 



(Category B). 



CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 



MPC A code representing the identity of the MDP 



(Category C). 



CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 



Multiplier Multiplier required to take a register value 



and turn it into a value representing billable 
energy. 



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Network Tariff Code  A code representing the Network Tariff. CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Next Scheduled Read Date  The NSRD in date format. CATS_METER_REGISTER 



NMI Classification Code  See section 4.9. CATS_NMI_DATA 



NMI Status Code See section 4.11.1 CATS_NMI_DATA 



Register ID The register ID of the register that the 
Network Tariff Code and Network Tariff 



Code additional information refers to. 



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Register Identifier Status 



Code 



A lookup code to indicate if register is active. CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



ROLR A code representing the identity of the 



ROLR. 



CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 



RP A code representing the identity of the MC. CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 



Time Of Day Industry developed Codes to identify the 
time validity of register contents. 



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



TNI Code  A code representing the transmission node 
identifier. 



CATS_NMI_DATA 



Unit of Measure A code to identify the Unit of Measure 
(UOM) for data held in this register.  



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



 










image8.emf

MSATS Procedures 


CATS v50 Final Clean.pdf




MSATS Procedures CATS v50 Final Clean.pdf




 



 



 



 



 



Australian Energy Market Operator Ltd    ABN 94 072 010 327 www.aemo.com.au    info@aemo.com.au 



NEW SOUTH WALES QUEENSLAND SOUTH AUSTRALIA VICTORIA AUSTRALIAN CAPITAL TERRITORY TASMANIA WESTERN AUSTRALIA 



MSATS PROCEDURES 



CATS PROCEDURE PRINCIPLES AND OBLIGATIONS 



 



PREPARED BY: AEMO MARKETS 



VERSION: 5.0 



EFFECTIVE DATE: 6 February 2022 



STATUS: FINAL 



  



Approved for distribution and use by: 



APPROVED BY: PETER GEERS 



TITLE: Chief Strategy and Markets Officer 



  



DATE: 8 October 2019  



 





http://www.aemo.com.au/


mailto:info@aemo.com.au








MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 2 of 172 
 



VERSION RELEASE HISTORY 



Version  Effective Date Summary of Changes 



3.4a  15th July 2011 Updated to facilitate further extension of contestability to small business customers in 



Tasmania. 



3.5  25th August 2011 Updated to include a new objection for the CR1010 & CR1081 and manifest changes. 



3.6  13th January 2012 Updated to include a new Change Reason Code for the update of the Customer 



Classification Code field; additional changes related to National Energy Customer 



Framework; and other minor manifest text changes. 



3.7  15th May 2013 Updated to include a new NMI Discovery Search 3 transaction; aligning procedures 



with the NER as a result of introduction of new terminology regarding MDPs; updates 



based on a New Connections process review to facilitate that a LNSP only nominate a 



retailer as the FRMP based on instruction from that retailer; changes as a result of 



introduction of Market Small Generation Aggregator (MSGA). 



3.8  13th November 



2013 



Updated to align MPB obligations with MDP obligations during the meter set up or 



maintenance process, by requiring the MPB to source the suffix from the appropriate 



MDP. 



3.9  1st January 2014 No version 3.9 was released. The Tasmanian Government withdrew its request for the 



change to the CATS Procedures.  



4.0  15th May 2014 Updated to include amendments arising from the introduction of NECF in NSW.  



4.1  1 July 2014 Updated to include amendments arising from the AEMC Rule change on Access to 



NMI Standing Data.  



4.2 1 December 2017 Updated to incorporate:   



• National Electricity Amendment (Expanding competition in metering and related 



services) Rule 2015. No.12; 



• National Electricity Amendment (Embedded Networks) Rule 2015 No. 15; and 



National Electricity Amendment (Meter Replacement Processes) Rule 2016 No. 2. 



4.3 1 December 2017 Updated to add clarifications and correct errors. 



4.4 1 December 2017 Updated to incorporate feedback from PoC Work Package 3 First Stage consultation. 



4.5 1 December 2017 Updated to incorporate feedback from PoC Work Package 3 Second Stage 



Consultation. 



4.6 20 May 2019 Updated to enable the transfer of a NMI on a greenfield site, include updates to the 



use of objection codes and altered the definition for DATEBAD objections. New MC 



standing data search process added and further clarified responsibilities to correct 



the NTC in MSATS.    



4.7 20 May 2019 Minor amendment to enable MDP to view CR6700/6701 in all statuses to enable the 



required DATEBAD objection to occur. 



4.8 20 May 2020 Updated to define the dates MPs must use when updating MSATS about remote de-



energisations and remote re-energisations, define timeframes for updating 



datastreams in MSATS, clarify the communication of the identification of incorrect 



NMI and metering installation, and clarify the LNSP’s obligations in relation to 



creating Embedded Network Codes. 



5.0 6 February 2022 Updated to incorporate: 



National Electricity Amendment (Global settlement and market reconciliation) Rule 



2018 No. 14 



 



 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 3 of 172 
 



QUICK REFERENCE GUIDE 



Change Retailer (FRMP) 



Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 



1000, 1010 (SMALL only), 1020 



(LARGE only), 1030, 1040 



Change Retailer Sec 7, Page 55 



1021, 1022, 1023, 1024, 1025, 



1026, 1027, 1028, 1029 (All these 



codes are for SMALL only) 



Change Retailer – Error Corrections (Small NMIs 



only) 



Sec 8, Page 61 



1080, 1081 (SMALL only), 1082, 



1083, 1084 



Change Retailer – Child NMI - Small or Large Sec 9, Page 66 



Provide Data 



Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 



1500  Provide Actual Change Date Sec 10, Page 72 



Create NMI 



Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 



2000, 2001 Create NMI Sec 11, Page 74 



2020, 2021 Create NMI – Child NMI Sec 12, Page 77 



2500, 2501 Create NMI, Meter, Datastream Sec 13, Page 80 



2520, 2521 Create NMI, Meter, Datastream – Child NMI Sec 14, Page 84 



Maintain Metering  



Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 



3000, 3001 Create Metering Installation Details Sec 15, Page 88 



3004, 3005 Exchange of Metering Information Sec 16, Page 91 



3050, 3051 Change Metering Installation Details Sec 17, Page 94 



3080, 3081  Advanced Change Metering Installation Details Sec 18, Page 97 



3090, 3091 Advanced Exchange of Metering Sec 19, Page 101 



3100, 3101 Change Network Tariff Code Sec 20, Page 105 



Maintain Datastream 



Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 



4000, 4001 Create Datastream Details  Sec 21, Page 107 



4004, 4005 Exchange of Datastream Information Sec 22, Page 109 



4050, 4051 Change Datastream Details Sec 23, Page 111 



Maintain NMI  



Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 



5070, 5071 Update Next Scheduled Read Date Sec 24, Page 113 



5001, 5021 Backdate NMI Start Date Sec 25, Page 115 



5050, 5051 Change NMI Sec 26, Page 119 



5054, 5055 Change NMI (Customer Classification Code) Sec 27, Page 121 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 4 of 172 
 



Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 



5060, 5061 Change NMI – Child NMI Sec 28, Page 123 



5080, 5081 Change Parent Name Sec 29, Page 125 



Change Roles (excluding FRMP) 



Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 



6100, 6110 Change LNSP Sec 30, Page 127 



6200, 6210 Change MDP Sec 31, Page 130 



6300, 6301 Change MC Sec 32, Page 133 



6421 Change ENLR Child NMI Sec 33, Page 136 



6500, 6501 Change RoLR Sec 34, Page 138 



6700, 6701 Change MPB, MPC, or Both Sec 35, Page 140 



6800, 6801 Change Multiple Roles – MC, MDP, MPC, MPB Sec 36, Page 142 



Auto change roles 



Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 



ECLR Change ENLR – Child NMI -  Auto Sec 37, Page 146 



EPFR Change Secondary FRMP – Parent NMI Sec 38, Page 147 



AEMO only 



Change Reason Code Description Section & Page No 



5100, 5101 Standing data updates Sec 39, Page 149 



BCxx Invoke BCT Process Sec 40, Page 152 



 Access to Standing Data Sec 41, Page 155 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 5 of 172 
 



HOW TO USE THIS DOCUMENT 



Although this document is lengthy, in most instances you will only need to read one section to 



work out what obligations you have. 



All participants should read and be familiar with Sections 1 to 6, which contain overview material. 



In particular, it is essential that you read Section 2, which defines, for each role, what overall 



obligations it has with regard to these procedures. 



The majority of the document (Sections 7 to 42) covers specific tasks you might either have to 



initiate or be notified about, and the rules and obligations you have with regard to them. 



For example, if you are intending to change a small customer’s retailer, assuming that you are 



already familiar with Sections 1 to 6, you would: 



• Check the grouping of sections covering the topic ‘Change Retailer’ (Sections 7 to 9). 



• Select and then read Section 7, which is called ‘Change Retailer – Small or Large NMI. 



The names of sections 7 to 42 are structured like the following example: 



 CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE MDP SMALL OR LARGE 



 Transaction 



Grouping 



 Specific task NMI classification (where applicable) 



Once you become familiar with this structure it is relatively easy to work out which section you 



need to select whenever you are initiating a transaction. 



If you receive a notification from another participant and are not sure what obligations you have, 



confirm, from the notification, the Change Reason Code. Then check the ‘Quick Reference Guide’ 



at the beginning of this document to confirm what section covers this Change Reason Code. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 6 of 172 
 



CONTENTS 



1. INTRODUCTION 15 



1.1. Purpose and Scope 15 



1.2. Definitions and Interpretation 15 



1.3. Commencement of Changes 15 



1.4. Related AEMO Documents 15 



2. OBLIGATIONS BY ROLE 17 



2.1. General Obligations 17 



2.2. Financially Responsible Market Participant 17 



2.3. Local Network Service Provider 18 



2.4. Metering Data Provider 20 



2.5. Metering Provider – Category B 21 



2.6. Metering Coordinator 22 



2.7. Retailer Of Last Resort 22 



2.8. Second Network Service Provider 23 



2.9. AEMO 23 



2.10. Embedded Network Manager 23 



3. CATS FUNCTIONALITY 26 



3.1. Overview 26 



3.2. Principles 26 



3.3. Transaction Types 27 



3.4. Change Requests 28 



3.5. Change Request Status Life Cycle 30 



3.6. Transaction Validation 32 



3.7. Valid Proposed Change Date for Prospective and Retrospective Change Requests 34 



4. CATS CODES AND RULES FOR A CHANGE REQUEST 36 



4.1. Introduction 36 



4.2. Change Reason Code 36 



4.3. Role Codes 39 



4.4. Use of Local Retailer (LR)/Embedded Network Local Retailer (ENLR) within this Procedure 39 



4.5. Change Request Initiation Rules 39 



4.6. Jurisdiction Codes 40 



4.7. Timeframe Rules 40 



4.8. Objection Codes 40 



4.9. Objection Rules 41 



4.10. NMI Classification Codes 42 



4.11. End User Classification 43 



4.12. Status Codes 44 



4.13. Metering Installation Type Codes 45 



4.14. Read Type Code 46 



4.15. Field Validation Rules 48 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 7 of 172 
 



4.16. Change Request Status Notification Rules 49 



4.17. Datastream Status Code 50 



4.18. Embedded Network Codes and Rules 50 



4.19. Obtaining Electronic Downloads of Configuration Rules 51 



5. MSATS REPORTS 53 



6. GUIDELINES FOR MANAGING CONCURRENT RETAIL TRANSFERS 54 



6.1. Definition of concurrent retail transfers 54 



6.2. Guidelines 54 



7. CHANGE RETAILER – SMALL OR LARGE NMI 55 



7.1. Application [1000 1010 1020 1030 1040] 55 



7.2. Conditions Precedent 55 



7.3. Initiating Roles 55 



7.4. FRMP Requirements 55 



7.5. MDP Requirements 56 



7.6. MC Requirements 57 



7.7. Timeframe Rules 57 



7.8. Objection Rules 58 



7.9. Change Request Status Notification Rules 60 



8. CHANGE RETAILER – ERROR CORRECTIONS – SMALL NMIS 61 



8.1. Application [1021 1022 1023 1024 1025 1026 1027 1028 1029] 61 



8.2. Conditions Precedent 61 



8.3. Initiating Roles 62 



8.4. FRMP Requirements 62 



8.5. MDP Requirements 62 



8.6. MC Requirements 62 



8.7. Timeframe Rules 63 



8.8. Objection Rules 63 



8.9. Change Request Status Notification Rules 65 



9. CHANGE RETAILER – EMBEDDED NETWORKS – SMALL OR LARGE 66 



9.1. Application [1080 1081 1082 1083 1084] 66 



9.2. Conditions Precedent 66 



9.3. Initiating Roles 66 



9.4. FRMP Requirements 66 



9.5. MDP Requirements 67 



9.6. MC Requirements 68 



9.7. Timeframe Rules 69 



9.8. Objection Rules 69 



9.9. Change Request Status Notification Rules 71 



10. PROVIDE DATA – PROVIDE ACTUAL CHANGE DATE – SMALL OR LARGE 72 



10.1. Application [1500] 72 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 8 of 172 
 



10.2. Conditions Precedent 72 



10.3. Initiating Roles 72 



10.4. MDP Requirements 72 



10.5. Timeframe Rules 72 



10.6. Objection Rules 72 



10.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 73 



11. CREATE NMI – CREATE A NMI – SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 74 



11.1. Application [2000 2001] 74 



11.2. Conditions Precedent 74 



11.3. Initiating Roles 74 



11.4. LNSP Requirements 74 



11.5. MPB Requirements 75 



11.6. Timeframe Rules 75 



11.7. Objection Rules 75 



11.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 76 



12. CREATE NMI – CREATE CHILD NMI – SMALL OR LARGE 77 



12.1. Application [2020 2021] 77 



12.2. Conditions Precedent 77 



12.3. Initiating Roles 77 



12.4. ENM Requirements 77 



12.5. MPB Requirements 78 



12.6. Timeframe Rules 78 



12.7. Objection Rules 78 



12.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 79 



13. CREATE NMI – CREATE NMI, METERING INSTALLATION DETAILS AND NMI DATASTREAM – 



SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 80 



13.1. Application [2500 2501] 80 



13.2. Conditions Precedent 80 



13.3. Initiating Roles 80 



13.4. LNSP Requirements 80 



13.5. Timeframe Rules 82 



13.6. Objection Rules 82 



13.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 83 



14. CREATE NMI – CREATE NMI, METERING INSTALLATION DETAILS AND MDM DATASTREAM – 



CHILD NMI (SMALL OR LARGE) 84 



14.1. Application [2520 2521] 84 



14.2. Conditions Precedent 84 



14.3. Initiating Roles 84 



14.4. ENM Requirements 84 



14.5. Timeframe Rules 86 



14.6. Objection Rules 86 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 9 of 172 
 



14.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 87 



15. MAINTAIN METERING – CREATE METERING INSTALLATION DETAILS – SMALL, LARGE OR 



NCONUML 88 



15.1. Application [3000 3001] 88 



15.2. Conditions Precedent 88 



15.3. Initiating Roles 88 



15.4. MPB Requirements 88 



15.5. Timeframe Rules 90 



15.6. Objection Rules 90 



15.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 90 



16. MAINTAIN METERING – EXCHANGE OF METERING INFORMATION – SMALL, LARGE OR 



NCONUML 91 



16.1. Application [3004 3005] 91 



16.2. Conditions Precedent 91 



16.3. Initiating Roles 91 



16.4. MPB Requirements 91 



16.5. Timeframe Rules 93 



16.6. Objection Rules 93 



16.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 93 



17. MAINTAIN METERING – CHANGE METERING INSTALLATION DETAILS – SMALL, LARGE OR 



NCONUML 94 



17.1. Application [3050 3051] 94 



17.2. Conditions Precedent 94 



17.3. Initiating Roles 94 



17.4. MPB Requirements 94 



17.5. Timeframe Rules 96 



17.6. Objection Rules 96 



17.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 96 



18. MAINTAIN METERING – ADVANCED CHANGE METERING INSTALLATION DETAILS – SMALL OR 



LARGE 97 



18.1. Application [3080 3081] 97 



18.2. Conditions Precedent 97 



18.3. Initiating Roles 97 



18.4. MC Requirements 97 



18.5. MDP Requirements 99 



18.6. Timeframe Rules 99 



18.7. Objection Rules 99 



18.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 100 



19. MAINTAIN METERING – ADVANCED EXCHANGE OF METERING – SMALL OR LARGE 101 



19.1. Application [3090 3091] 101 



19.2. Conditions Precedent 101 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 10 of 172 
 



19.3. Initiating Roles 101 



19.4. MC Requirements 101 



19.5. MDP Requirements 103 



19.6. Timeframe Rules 103 



19.7. Objection Rules 103 



19.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 104 



20. MAINTAIN METERING – CHANGE NETWORK TARIFF CODE – SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 105 



20.1. Application [3100 3101] 105 



20.2. Conditions Precedent 105 



20.3. Initiating Roles 105 



20.4. LNSP or ENM Requirements 105 



20.5. Timeframe Rules 106 



20.6. Objection Rules 106 



20.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 106 



21. MAINTAIN DATASTREAM – CREATE NMI DATASTREAM –SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 107 



21.1. Application [4000 4001] 107 



21.2. Conditions Precedent 107 



21.3. Initiating Roles 107 



21.4. MDP Requirements 107 



21.5. Timeframe Rules 108 



21.6. Objection Rules 108 



21.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 108 



22. MAINTAIN DATASTREAM – EXCHANGE OF DATASTREAM INFORMATION SMALL, LARGE OR 



NCONUML 109 



22.1. Application [4004 4005] 109 



22.2. Conditions Precedent 109 



22.3. Initiating Roles 109 



22.4. MDP Requirements 109 



22.5. Timeframe Rules 110 



22.6. Objection Rules 110 



22.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 110 



23. MAINTAIN DATASTREAM – CHANGE NMI DATASTREAM – SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 111 



23.1. Application [4050 4051] 111 



23.2. Conditions Precedent 111 



23.3. Initiating Roles 111 



23.4. MDP Requirements 111 



23.5. Timeframe Rules 112 



23.6. Objection Rules 112 



23.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 112 



24. MAINTAIN NMI – UPDATE NEXT SCHEDULED READ DATE – SMALL LARGE OR NCONUML 113 



24.1. Application [5070 5071] 113 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 11 of 172 
 



24.2. Conditions Precedent 113 



24.3. Initiating Roles 113 



24.4. MDP Requirements 113 



24.5. Timeframe Rules 113 



24.6. Objection Rules 114 



24.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 114 



25. MAINTAIN NMI – BACKDATE A NMI – SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 115 



25.1. Application [5001 5021] 115 



25.2. Conditions Precedent 115 



25.3. Initiating Roles 115 



25.4. LNSP Requirements (5001 only) 115 



25.5. ENM Requirements (5021 only) 116 



25.6. AEMO Requirements 116 



25.7. MPB Requirements 117 



25.8. Timeframe Rules 117 



25.9. Objection Rules 117 



25.10. Change Request Status Notification Rules 118 



26. MAINTAIN NMI – CHANGE A NMI – SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 119 



26.1. Application [5050 5051] 119 



26.2. Conditions Precedent 119 



26.3. Initiating Roles 119 



26.4. LNSP Requirements 119 



26.5. Timeframe Rules 120 



26.6. Objection Rules 120 



26.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 120 



27. MAINTAIN NMI – CHANGE A NMI – CUSTOMER CLASSIFICATION CODE – SMALL, LARGE OR 



NCONUML 121 



27.1. Application [5054 5055] 121 



27.2. Conditions Precedent 121 



27.3. Initiating Roles 121 



27.4. FRMP Requirements 121 



27.5. Timeframe Rules 121 



27.6. Objection Rules 122 



27.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 122 



28. MAINTAIN NMI – CHANGE NMI EMBEDDED NETWORK (CHILD) – SMALL OR LARGE 123 



28.1. Application [5060 5061] 123 



28.2. Conditions Precedent 123 



28.3. Initiating Roles 123 



28.4. ENM Requirements 123 



28.5. Timeframe Rules 124 



28.6. Objection Rules 124 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 12 of 172 
 



28.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 124 



29. MAINTAIN NMI – CHANGE PARENT NAME – SMALL OR LARGE 125 



29.1. Application [5080 5081] 125 



29.2. Conditions Precedent 125 



29.3. Initiating Roles 125 



29.4. LNSP Requirements 125 



29.5. Timeframe Rules 126 



29.6. Objection Rules 126 



29.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 126 



30. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE LNSP – SMALL LARGE OR NCONUML 127 



30.1. Application [6100 6110] 127 



30.2. Conditions Precedent 127 



30.3. Initiating Roles 127 



30.4. LNSP or ENM Requirements 127 



30.5. Timeframe Rules 128 



30.6. Objection Rules 128 



30.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 129 



31. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE MDP – SMALL,LARGE OR NCONUML 130 



31.1. Application [6200 6210] 130 



31.2. Conditions Precedent 130 



31.3. Initiating Roles 130 



31.4. FRMP/Current MC Requirements 130 



31.5. MDP Requirements 130 



31.6. Timeframe Rules 131 



31.7. Objection Rules 131 



31.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 132 



32. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE MC – SMALL LARGE OR NCONUML 133 



32.1. Application [6300 6301] 133 



32.2. Conditions Precedent 133 



32.3. Initiating Roles 133 



32.4. MC/Current FRMP Requirements 133 



32.5. Timeframe Rules 134 



32.6. Objection Rules 134 



32.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 134 



33. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE ENLR – CHILD NMI – SMALL OR LARGE 136 



33.1. Application [6421] 136 



33.2. Conditions Precedent 136 



33.3. Initiating Roles 136 



33.4. LR Requirements 136 



33.5. Timeframe Rules 136 



33.6. Objection Rules 137 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 13 of 172 
 



33.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 137 



34. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE ROLR – SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 138 



34.1. Application [6500 6501] 138 



34.2. Conditions Precedent 138 



34.3. Initiating Roles 138 



34.4. ROLR Requirements 138 



34.5. Timeframe Rules 139 



34.6. Objection Rules 139 



34.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 139 



35. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE MPB OR MPC OR BOTH – SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 140 



35.1. Application [6700 6701] 140 



35.2. Conditions Precedent 140 



35.3. Initiating Roles 140 



35.4. MC Requirements 140 



35.5. MDP Requirements 140 



35.6. Timeframe Rules 140 



35.7. Objection Rules 141 



35.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 141 



36. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE MULTIPLE ROLES – SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 142 



36.1. Application [6800 6801] 142 



36.2. Conditions Precedent 142 



36.3. Initiating Roles 142 



36.4. FRMP Requirements 142 



36.5. MC Requirements 142 



36.6. MDP Requirements 143 



36.7. Timeframe Rules 143 



36.8. Objection Rules 144 



36.9. Change Request Status Notification Rules 145 



37. AUTO CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE LOCAL RETAILER EMBEDDED NETWORK CHILD – SMALL OR 



LARGE 146 



37.1. Application [ECLR] 146 



37.2. Conditions Precedent 146 



37.3. Timeframe Rules 146 



37.4. Objection Rules 146 



37.5. Change Request Status Notification Rules 146 



38. AUTO CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE SECONDARY FRMP PARENT – SMALL OR LARGE 147 



38.1. Application [EPFR] 147 



38.2. Conditions Precedent 147 



38.3. Timeframe Rules 147 



38.4. Objection Rules 147 



38.5. Change Request Status Notification Rules 147 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 14 of 172 
 



39. AEMO ONLY – AEMO-INITIATED STANDING DATA UPDATES – SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 149 



39.1. Application [5100 5101] 149 



39.2. Conditions Precedent 149 



39.3. Initiating Roles 149 



39.4. AEMO Requirements 149 



39.5. Timeframe Rules 151 



39.6. Objection Rules 151 



39.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 151 



40. AEMO ONLY – CHANGE ROLE, TNI OR DLF CODE – BULK CHANGE TOOL (BCT) – SMALL, LARGE 



OR NCONUML 152 



40.1. Introduction 152 



40.2. Conditions Precedent 152 



40.3. Requesting Participant Requirements 153 



40.4. Impacted Participant Requirements 154 



40.5. MDP Requirements 154 



40.6. Timeframe Rules 154 



40.7. Objection Rules 154 



40.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 154 



41. ACCESS TO CATS STANDING DATA 155 



41.1. Introduction 155 



41.2. Participant 155 



41.3. Request a NMI Discovery Search 155 



 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 15 of 172 
 



1. INTRODUCTION 



1.1. Purpose and Scope 



These are the MSATS Procedures – CATS Procedure Principles and Obligations made under clause 



7.16.2 of the National Electricity Rules (NER) (Rules). 



These Procedures have effect only for the purposes set out in the NER. The NER and the National 



Electricity Law prevail over these Procedures to the extent of any inconsistency. 



1.2. Definitions and Interpretation 



The Retail Electricity Market Procedures – Glossary and Framework: 



(a) is incorporated into and forms part of these Procedures; and 



(b) should be read with these Procedures. 



1.3. Commencement of Changes 



Changes to these Procedures will take effect at 00:00 hours Eastern Standard Time on the day of 



effect after notice has been given to Participants of the changes. 



All changes to NMI Master Records will become effective at 00:00 hours Eastern Standard Time on 



the day of effect. This includes End User transfers and all changes to CATS Standing Data. 



1.4. Related AEMO Documents 



Title Location 



Allocation of Embedded Network Codes http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-



NEM/Retail-and-metering/Accreditation-and-Registration 



CATS Hints and Tips http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-



NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-



Solutions 



Guide to MSATS B2B http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-



NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-



Solutions 



Guide to MSATS Web portal http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-



NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-



Solutions 



Introduction to MSATS http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-



NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-



Solutions 



MDM Procedures http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-



NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-



Solutions 



Metrology Procedure:  Part A http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-



NEM/Retail-and-metering/Metrology-Procedures-and-Unmetered-



Loads 



Metrology Procedure:  Part B http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-



NEM/Retail-and-metering/Metrology-Procedures-and-Unmetered-



Loads 





http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Accreditation-and-Registration


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Accreditation-and-Registration


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Metrology-Procedures-and-Unmetered-Loads


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Metrology-Procedures-and-Unmetered-Loads


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Metrology-Procedures-and-Unmetered-Loads


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Metrology-Procedures-and-Unmetered-Loads


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Metrology-Procedures-and-Unmetered-Loads


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Metrology-Procedures-and-Unmetered-Loads








MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 16 of 172 
 



Title Location 



NEM RoLR Processes http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-



NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-



Solutions 



NMI Procedures http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-



NEM/Retail-and-metering/Metering-procedures-guidelines-and-



processes 



Retail Electricity Market Procedures – 



Glossary and Framework 



http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-



NEM/Retail-and-metering 



Service Level Procedure (MDP) http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-



NEM/Retail-and-metering/Metering-procedures-guidelines-and-



processes 



Standing Data for MSATS http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-



NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-



Solutions 



WIGS Procedures http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-



NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-



Solutions 



 



  





http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Metering-procedures-guidelines-and-processes


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Metering-procedures-guidelines-and-processes


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Metering-procedures-guidelines-and-processes


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Metering-procedures-guidelines-and-processes


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Metering-procedures-guidelines-and-processes


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Metering-procedures-guidelines-and-processes


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions


http://www.aemo.com.au/Electricity/National-Electricity-Market-NEM/Retail-and-metering/Market-Settlement-and-Transfer-Solutions








MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 17 of 172 
 



2. OBLIGATIONS BY ROLE 



2.1. General Obligations 



(a) Participants must select the most applicable Transaction Type Code or Change Request 



Code for their proposed transaction. 



(b) A Participant must not seek access through MSATS to the data pertaining to a NMI unless it 



has, or had, a known and commercial relationship with the NMI except when conducting a 



NMI Discovery Search 1, 2 or 3. 



(c) A Participant, other than AEMO, must not use a facility provided in MSATS for a purpose 



other than allowed by these Procedures. 



(d) A Participant must not enter an Actual End Date into MSATS unless it has a known and 



commercial relationship with the NMI to which the Actual End Date refers. 



(e) A Participant must not raise an Objection Code unless the Objection is fair and reasonable;  



for example, when an Objection is made using a specific Objection Code, the Participant 



who made the Objection must be able to produce evidence upon request to substantiate it. 



(f) A Participant may object to a Change Request by using an Objection Code and adhering to 



Objection Rules .    



(g) Participants must ensure that the transfer of a NMI from one FRMP to another FRMP is not 



delayed. 



(h) Participants must ensure that CATS Standing Data is kept current and relevant for the NMIs 



they are responsible. 



(i) Unless a different timeframe is specified in these Procedures, a Participant must update the 



CATS Standing Data for which is is responsible, within 10 business days of being advised by 



a Participant or becoming aware that the CATS Standing Data is no longer current or 



relevant. 



(j) Participants may request reports from MSATS for the NMIs with which it has a relationship. 



(k) Participants must consider and action as necessary within two business days any requests 



from Participants that have been incorrectly assigned Roles. 



(l) When a Participant becomes aware that CATS Standing Data related to a NMI is incorrect 



that Participant must promptly notify other impacted Participants and the Participants must 



cooperate with each other to facilitate the correction of the CATS Standing Data. 



2.2. Financially Responsible Market Participant 



The New FRMP must: 



(a) Nominate the MC in accordance with the NER. 



(b) Initiate a Change Request for the transfer of a NMI in accordance with the applicable 



Timeframe Rules. Subject to the Retrospective Periods and Prospective Periods, the New 



FRMP must initiate the transfer: 



(i) Having the mandatory information required to initiate a valid transfer in MSATS; and 



(ii) No later than two business days after the conclusion of the Cooling-Off Period. 



(c) Where Jurisdictions allow transfers to be raised within the Cooling-Off Period, ensure that a 



Change Request cannot Complete prior to the end of the Cooling-Off Period. 



(d) Ensure that only small generating unit connection points are assigned to the relevant MSGA  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 18 of 172 
 



(e) Manage the transfer process if there are any matters that require attention in regard to the 



NMI, either from the operation of MSATS or from events that are external to its operation. 



(f) Adopt the Role of ENLR for child connection points where they are the FRMP of the Parent 



NMI. 



(g) Ensure that any Pending retail transfers are withdrawn within 210 days of the lodgement of 



the Change Request. 



(h) Withdraw a Change Request as soon as practicable, and within two business days, of being 



aware that the transfer cannot occur. 



The Current FRMP must: 



(i) Ensure that each small generating unit’s connection point is assigned to their MSGA 



Participant ID in MSATS. 



(j) Ensure that only small generating unit’s connection points are assigned to the MSGA’s 



Participant ID in MSATS. 



(k) Be responsible for settlement in respect of a NMI until the actual date of the NMI transfer to 



a New FRMP or until the NMI is classified as ‘extinct’. 



(l) Remain the Current FRMP and be responsible for all End User billing up to the actual date 



of change of financial responsibility to the New FRMP as notified by MSATS. 



(m) Consider and action as necessary within two business days any requests from incorrectly 



assigned Participants to correct the Participant allocation in MSATS. 



(n) Provide the ADL to the LNSP and the MDP for new connections. 



(o) Provide an update of the ADL to the Current MDP where the Current FRMP becomes aware 



of an expected change in the ADL of greater than 20%, other than by advice from the MDP. 



(p) Establish or update the Customer Classification Code within five business days of the NMI 



Status Code becoming ‘A’ in MSATS, where the Customer Classification Code has changed. 



(q) Update or provide the Customer Classification Code as the following: 



(i) for an End User at a NMI where the Customer Classification Code has changed, within 



five business days of any New contract with an End User at that connection point. 



(ii) within five business days of becoming aware of a change to the Customer 



Classification Code. 



(iii) within five business days of a End User Transfer Change Request being Completed, 



where the Customer Classification Code has changed. 



2.3. Local Network Service Provider 



The New LNSP must: 



(a) Initiate a Create NMI Change Request within 2 business days of a request by a FRMP, or of 



the mandatory information required by the Change Request becoming available, whichever 



is the later. 



(b) When creating a NMI populate the LR field with GLOPOOL or POOLXXX as relevant per its 



NMI Classification (Refer to NMI Procedures, Appendix E) 



(c) Consider and action as necessary within two business days any requests from incorrectly 



assigned Participants to correct a Create NMI Change Request in MSATS. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 19 of 172 
 



The Current LNSP must: 



(d) Allocate a NMI and NMI Checksum for each connection point in accordance with the NMI 



Procedures and clause 7.13.2 of the NER. 



(e) Provide an update of the ADL to the Current MDP where the LNSP becomes aware of an 



expected change in the ADL of greater than 20%, other than by advice from the MDP. 



(f) Update the Customer Threshold Code within five business days of becoming aware that the 



existing Customer Threshold Code is incorrect for NMIs with a Customer Classification Code 



of ‘BUSINESS’ and a NMI Status Code of ‘A’, or ‘D’. 



(g) Update or remove, as required, the Customer Threshold Code for a NMI within five business 



days of the Customer Classification Code being changed to ‘RESIDENTIAL’. 



(h) Provide DLF Codes and values to AEMO for the initial population of the DLF Code in 



MSATS. 



(i) Update NMI Status Code to ‘D’ within five business days of the connection point being de-



energised by the LNSP. The Proposed Change Date shall be the day after the de-



energisation for an Interval Metered connection point or the day of the de-energisation for a 



Accumulation Metered connection point. 



(j) Update the NMI Status Code to ‘A’ (Active) within five business days of the connection point 



being re-energised by the LNSP. The Proposed Change Date shall be the day the connection 



point is re-energised. 



(k) Update the NMI Status Code to ‘X’ (Extinct) within five business days of becoming aware of 



the abolition of the connection point. The Proposed Change Date shall be the day after the 



connection point was removed for an Interval Metered connection point or the day of the 



removal for an Accumulation Metered connection point. 



(l) Ensure that Network Tariff details for each NMI in its area are stored in the Network Tariff 



Code field at the Register ID level. 



(m) Correct the network tariff code or engage with the current FRMP to confirm an appropriate 



network tariff code where the LNSP considers the network tariff code is inappropriate for 



the site in MSATS. 



(n) Subject to any applicable Jurisdictional restrictions, use reasonable endeavours to provide 



NMI and NMI Checksum (other than when this is available via a NMI Discovery Search) to 



the New FRMP within one business day of a follow-up request for this information from the 



New FRMP for a Site identified in the request by reference to any of the following: 



(i) a unique meter identifier held by the LNSP;  



(ii) a street address; or  



(iii) the DPID. 



If a computer search by the LNSP does not produce a unique match for the information 



provided by the retailer, the LNSP must provide the retailer with any computer matches 



achieved up to a maximum of 99. 



(o) Subject to any applicable Jurisdictional restrictions, provide NMI Standing Data (other than 



data available via a NMI Discovery Search or the MSATS C7 report) to the New FRMP within 



two business days of a request from the New FRMP for a Site identified in the request by 



reference to the NMI and NMI Checksum. 



(p) Consider and action as necessary within two business days any requests from incorrectly 



assigned Participants to correct a Create NMI Change Request in MSATS. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 20 of 172 
 



(q) Consider and action as necessary within two business days any requests from other 



Participants to correct erroneous NMI Standing Data. 



(r) Allocate a name to the Parent NMI and provide the name to AEMO. 



The Current LNSP may: 



(s) Update the Customer Threshold Code for NMIs with a Customer Classification Code of 



‘RESIDENTIAL’. 



2.4. Metering Data Provider 



An MDP must: 



(a) Use reasonable endeavours to provide metering data to the New FRMP within two business 



days of a request for this information from the New FRMP.  



(b) Use reasonable endeavours to provide Historical Data to the Current FRMP within two 



business days of a request for this information from the Current FRMP.  Historical Data is for 



a period of up to 12 months or otherwise as defined by the relevant Jurisdiction. 



(c) Where an MDP is to update an Interval Datastream Status Code to ‘I’ (Inactive) for a 



connection point that is de-energised, the Proposed Change Date must be the day after the 



connection point is de-energised, and must be updated in MSATS within two business days 



of the connection point being de-energised. (The Datastream Status Code is the key 



criterion used to include metering data in the settlement process). 



(d) Where an MDP is to update an accumulation Datastream Status Code to ‘I’ (Inactive) for a 



connection point that is de-energised, the Proposed Change Date shall be the day the 



connection point is de-energised, and must be updated in MSATS within two business days 



of the connection point being de-energised. (The Datastream Status Code is the key 



criterion used to include metering data in the settlement process). 



(e) Where an MDP is to update an Datastream Status Code for either an Accumulation Meter 



or Interval Meter to ‘A’ (Active) for a connection point that is re-energised, the Proposed 



Change Date must be day the connection point is re-energised, and must be updated in 



MSATS within two business days of the connection point being re-energised. (The 



Datastream Status Code is the key criterion used to include metering data in the settlement 



process). 



(f) Create or update the datastream within two business days from the time the meter is 



installed/removed/reconfigured or as required when the MDP becomes the Current MDP. 



The New MDP must: 



(g) Provide the Actual Change Date to MSATS for transfers for which it receives a Data Request 



for an Actual Change Date. If a manual Meter Reading has been done, the Actual Change 



Date must be the date of the Meter Reading. If more than one meter exists for the NMI, all 



meters should be read on the date of the Actual Change Date that is being provided. 



(h) Configure the Datastream as ‘A’ (Active) or ‘I’ (Inactive) in accordance with clause 2.4 (c), (d), 



(e) & (f). 



(i) Use reasonable endeavours to obtain an Actual Meter Reading where requested but when 



unable to do so provide an Estimated Reading in accordance with Jurisdictional 



requirements. 



(j) Register individual Datastreams in MSATS as described in the NMI Procedure. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 21 of 172 
 



(k) Subject to any applicable Jurisdictional restrictions, use reasonable endeavours to provide 



CATS Standing Data (other than NMI data access information) to the New FRMP within two 



business days of a request for this information from the New FRMP. 



(l) For metering installation types 1-4 and 4A, upon receiving a request from an MPB, provide 



the NMI suffix information applicable to the metering installation within two business days. 



The Current MDP must: 



(m) Provide the Actual Change Date to MSATS for transfers for which it receives a Data Request 



for an Actual Change Date. If a manual Meter Reading has been done, the Actual Change 



Date must be the date of the Meter Reading. If more than one meter exists for the NMI, all 



meters should be read on the date of the Actual Change Date that is being provided. 



(n) Obtain the ADL from the FRMP or the LNSP and update the ADL in MSATS if it is missing or 



incorrect. 



(o) Consider and action as necessary within two business days any updated ADL information 



provided by the LNSP or Current FRMP. 



(p) Recalculate the ADL for each active Datastream at least annually and enter this value in 



MSATS where the calculated value differs by more than 20% from the ADL recorded in 



MSATS. Where the current ADL is under 5kWh and the newly calculated ADL is found to be 



still less than 5kWh there is no requirement for the MDP to update the ADL record within 



MSATS. 



(q) For metering installations that are manually read, or have been made capable of remote 



acquisition in accordance with 7.8.9(b) of the NER,update the NSRD within two business days 



of a meter being read.  



(r) For metering installation types 1-4 and 4A, upon receiving a request from an MPB, provide 



the NMI suffix information applicable to the metering installation within two business days. 



2.5. Metering Provider – Category B 



An MPB must: 



(a) Where an MPB is to update an Interval Meter Register Status Code to ‘D’ (De-energised) for 



a connection point that is remotely de-energised, the Proposed Change Date must be the 



day after the connection point is de-energised.  



(b) Where an MPB is to update an Interval Meter Register Status Code for Interval Meter to ‘A’ 



(Active) for a connection point that is remotely re-energised, the Proposed Change Date 



must be the day the connection point is re-energised.  



The New MPB must: 



(c) For metering installation types 1-4 and 4A, contact the MDP and agree the NMI suffix 



information prior to updating MSATS with all Meter Register data. 



(d) Upon the installation or re-configuration of the metering installation, update MSATS with all 



Meter Register data, as agreed with the MDP within five business days of becoming the 



MPB. 



(e) Provide to the MC and the Current LNSP any additional technical information regarding the 



metering installation within five business days of becoming the Current MPB. 



The Current MPB must: 



(f) Provide to the Current LNSP any Meter Register data regarding the metering installation 



that is not recorded in MSATS within two business days of request. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 22 of 172 
 



(g) Provide additional metering installation details to MSATS within two business days of 



receiving a Data Request. 



(h) Consider and action as necessary any request to correct erroneous details relating to the 



Meter Register and Register Identifier Status Code within five business days of notification. 



(i) Upon the configuration of the metering installation, update MSATS with all Meter Register 



data, as agreed with the MDP within five business days of performing a metering 



configuration change. 



(j) Update the Meter Register Status Code within 5 business days of a change in meter register 



conditions, including the remote de-energisation and remote re-energisation.. 



2.6. Metering Coordinator 



An MC must: 



(a) Appoint an MDP to provide metering data services, and provide the FRMP with the name of 



that MDP, and ensure that metering data services are provided in accordance with the NER 



and the procedures authorised under the NER. 



(b) Appoint an MP for the provision, installation and maintenance of the metering installation, 



and ensure that the metering installation is provided, installed and maintained in 



accordance with the NER and the procedures authorised under the NER. 



The New MC must: 



(c) Ensure that the Roles nominated in a Change Request are correct. Any errors or omissions 



must be notified to the initiator of the Change Request within two business days of the error 



or omission being identified. 



(d) Ensure that the metering installation meets all requirements prescribed in the National 



Electricity Rules in accordance with the NMI classification before transfer into the NEM. 



(e) Ensure that the Meter Reading is available in relation to the Actual Change Date. 



(f) Ensure that the final Meter Reading is obtained in relation to a change of a relevant 



component of a metering installation. 



(g) Ensure that all metering data is provided to the Current LNSP, the Current ENLR, the Current 



MDP and the Current FRMP, from which the NMI was transferred, in accordance with the 



metrology procedure and Service Level Procedure (MDP) to enable the continuity of billing 



up until the actual transfer date or abolishment date. 



(h) Ensure that the metering installation and the communication facilities to the metering 



installation are in place and remain in place. 



The Current MC must: 



(i) Subject to any applicable Jurisdictional restrictions, ensure that CATS Standing Data (other 



than NMI data access information) is provided to the New FRMP within two business days of 



a request for this information from the New FRMP. 



(j) Ensure that any Meter Register data regarding the metering installation that is not recorded 



in MSATS is provided to the LNSP within five business days of request. 



2.7. Retailer Of Last Resort 



As the ROLR for a ROLR Event is determined and appointed by a Regulator, the ROLR Role in 



MSATS is for indicative purposes only. (Refer to section 34.) 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 23 of 172 
 



2.8. Second Network Service Provider 



The NSP2 must notify and request the relevant Participant (LNSP, MPB or MDP) to correct any data 



inconsistency that may exist in MSATS within two business days of becoming aware of the error. 



2.9. AEMO 



AEMO must: 



(a) Continue to invoice (as per NER requirements) the Current FRMP. 



(b) Enter the DLF Codes provided by an LNSP into MSATS within two business days of receipt. 



(c) Maintain changes to codes and rules in MSATS in accordance with the MSATS Procedures. 



AEMO must correct any discrepancies as soon as practicable once identified. 



(d) Use the BCT to transfer to the nominated RoLR the CATS Standing Data for all connection 



points associated with a Current FRMP that has been suspended from operating in the 



market. 



(e) Populate MSATS with the Embedded Network Code that had been provided to AEMO by 



the LNSP within two business days of receipt. 



(f) Maintain the TNI records in MSATS. 



(g) Populate MSATS with the NSP2 for the appropriate WIGS NMIs. 



(h) Populate MSATS with TNI2 for the appropriate WIGS NMIs. 



(i) Provide, on request from the New ENM, a set/range of NMIs to that New ENM for allocation 



by that ENM to child connection points. 



(j) Provide, on request from a Current ENM, one or more NMIs to that Current ENM for 



allocation by that ENM to the newly formed child connection points. 



(k) Where required to Object to a Change Request, use the most appropriate Objection Code. 



If there is no Objection Code that describes the reason for the Objection, AEMO must use 



the BLOCK Objection Code. 



(l) Where a NMI is classified in conjunction with a Participant registration process and the LNSP 



has no role in the classification of the site, AEMO will update the NMI Classification Code if 



it believes it is clearly incorrect.  



AEMO may: 



(m) Cancel/withdraw any incomplete retail transfers after 7 months from the date of Initiation. 



Note: An automatic nightly MSATS process will Cancel/Withdraw dormant Change Requests that exceed 220 



days. 



2.10. Embedded Network Manager 



The New ENM must, for each child connection point: 



(a) Obtain a set/range of NMIs from AEMO. 



(b) Initiate a Create NMI Change Request within two business days of a request by a FRMP, or 



of the mandatory data required by the Change Request becoming available, whichever is 



the later. 



(c) Consider and action as necessary within two business days any requests from incorrectly 



assigned Participants to correct a Create NMI Change Request in MSATS. 



(d) Manage the distribution of NMIs. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 24 of 172 
 



(e) Allocate a name to the Parent NMI and provide the name to AEMO (note: this only applies 



in situations where a Child NMI is also a Parent NMI of another embedded network and 



AEMO needs to create an embedded network name in MSATS). 



(f) Allocate an existing Embedded Network Code of a Parent NMI to to each Child NMI.  



(g) When creating a NMI populate the LR field with the FRMP of the Parent NMI (Refer to NMI 



Procedures, Appendix E) 



The Current ENM must, for each child connection point: 



(h) Allocate a NMI and NMI Checksum. 



(i) Provide an update of the ADL to the Current MDP where the ENM becomes aware of an 



expected change in the ADL of greater than 20%, other than by advice from the MDP. 



(j) Update the Customer Threshold Code within five business days of becoming aware that the 



existing Customer Threshold Code is incorrect for NMIs with a Customer Classification Code 



of ‘BUSINESS’ and a NMI Status Code of ‘A’, or ‘D’. 



(k) Update or remove, as required, the Customer Threshold Code for a NMI within five business 



days of the Customer Classification Code being changed to ‘RESIDENTIAL’. 



(l) Enter the DLF Code for each child connection point within its embedded network, and ensure 



all Child NMIs attached to an embedded network have the same DLF Code, and that this DLF 



Code is the Parent NMI’s DLF Code unless a Site specific DLF has been approved by the 



AER. 



(m) Enter the TNI Code for each child connection point within its embedded network, and ensure 



all Child NMIs attached to an embedded network have the same TNI Code and that this TNI 



Code is the Parent NMI’s TNI Code. 



(n) Update Child NMI Status Code to ‘D’ within five business days of the child connection point 



being de-energised. The Proposed Change Date shall be the day after the de-energisation 



for an Interval Metered child connection point or the day of the de-energisation for a 



Accumulation Metered child connection point. 



(o) Update the Child NMI Status Code to ‘A’ within five business of the child connection point 



being re-energised. The Proposed Change Date shall be the day the child connection point 



is re-energised. 



(p) Update the Child NMI Status Code to ‘X’ within five business days of becoming aware of the 



abolition of the child connection point. The Proposed Change Date shall be the day after the 



child connection point was removed for an Interval Metered child connection point or the day 



of the removal for a Accumulation Metered child connection point. 



(q) Update Child NMI Status Code to ‘N’ (Off Market NMI) within five business days of the 



connection point no longer being settled in the NEM. 



(r) Update Child NMI Status Code from ‘N’ to ‘A’ within five business days of the connection 



point becoming on-market. 



(s) Ensure that Network Tariff details for each NMI in its area are stored in the Network Tariff 



Code field at the Register ID level. 



(t) Subject to any applicable Jurisdictional restrictions, provide the NMI and NMI Checksum 



(other than when this is available via a NMI Discovery Search 1) to the New FRMP within one 



business day of a request from the New FRMP, where the New FRMP uses any of the 



following information to identify the Site: 



(i) a unique meter identifier; 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 25 of 172 
 



(ii) a street address; or 



(iii) the DPID. 



If a computer search by the ENM does not produce a unique match for the information 



provided by the retailer, the ENM must provide the retailer with any computer matches 



achieved up to a maximum of 99. 



(u) Subject to any applicable Jurisdictional restrictions, provide NMI Standing Data (other than 



data available via a NMI Discovery Search or the MSATS C7 report) to the New FRMP within 



two business days of a request from the New FRMP for the Site identified in the request by 



reference to the NMI and NMI Checksum. 



(v) Consider and action any requests from incorrectly assigned Participants to correct a Create 



NMI Change Request in MSATS within two business days of receiving the request. 



(w) Consider and action within any requests from other Participants to correct erroneous NMI 



Standing Data two business days of receiving the request. 



The Current ENM may, for child connection points: 



(x) Update the Customer Threshold Code for NMIs with a Customer Classification Code of 



‘RESIDENTIAL’. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 26 of 172 
 



3. CATS FUNCTIONALITY 



3.1. Overview 



(a) The operation of CATS is based on 14 different types of transactions, as shown in section 



3.3, and a separate RoLR function. 



(b) Six transaction types are initiated by Participants, whilst eight are initiated by MSATS. 



(c) The most significant transaction is the Change Request, which is used by a Participant when 



submitting new CATS Standing Data or changing existing CATS Standing Data. 



(d) The Change Request has a life cycle in which it is created (Initiated) and terminated 



(Completed) in accordance with section 3.5. 



(e) The Completion of a Change Request and the formation of a NMI Master Record occur 



simultaneously. 



(f) The status of each Role on the NMI Master Record is classified as ‘Current’. If the CATS 



Standing Data being changed by a Change Request is a Role, the status of each Role to be 



changed by the Change Request is classified as ‘New’. 



(g) A Change Request will be Completed on: 



(i) the day after the Objection Logging Period has ended, provided no Objections have 



been received and an Actual Change Date exists; or   



(ii) where an Objection has been received, the Change Request is Completed the day 



after all Objections have been withdrawn, the Objection Logging Period has ended, 



and an Actual Change Date exists, 



The change is effective from the Actual Change Date. 



(h) A Change Request that has been Initiated for the purpose of creating a NMI will use the 



date nominated as the Proposed Change Date to populate the Actual Change Date field to 



allow the Change Request to be Completed. 



(i) A Change Request carries with it a set of CATS Standing Data items. The set of data items 



will vary with the transaction selected by the Participant initiating the Change Request. Each 



transaction has a code (Change Reason Code), as detailed in section 4.2 and Table 4-A. 



(j) The Change Reason Codes have been separated into groups of events for the purpose of 



these Procedures, as shown in Table 3-B. Obligations imposed on Participants in regard to 



Change Reason Codes are contained in sections 7 to 40. 



(k) The next most significant transaction is the NMI Discovery Search. This transaction will be 



used by a Participant when undertaking a search of the CATS Standing Data, as specified in 



section 41. 



(l) The RoLR functionality within MSATS is detailed in section 40. 



3.2. Principles 



The following principles apply in regard to the functionality of CATS: 



(a) Current and New Roles will be notified of a change in the status of the Change Request in 



accordance with the Change Request Notification Rules. 



(b) A Change Reason Code will contain rules that specify which Participant(s) must provide the 



data for the Change Request and when the data is required. 



(c) A Change Reason Code will contain rules specifying which data will be present in the NMI 



Master Record before the Change Request can be Completed. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 27 of 172 
 



(d) Jurisdictions will specify rules to control the period in which retrospective information may 



be accepted by MSATS. 



(e) Jurisdictions will specify rules to control the period in which an Objection may be logged. 



(f) If an Objection to the change of retailer transaction is submitted by a Participant within the 



Objection Logging Period, the transfer will not proceed until the Objection is cleared. If the 



objection is not cleared, the transfer transaction will expire and be Cancelled and all relevant 



Participants will be notified. 



(g) Jurisdictions will specify rules to control the period in which an Objection may be cleared. 



(h) If there are no outstanding Objections to a current change of retailer transaction after the 



Objection Logging Period has passed, the Change Request will proceed to Completed and 



the information contained in the transaction will become the NMI Master Record. 



(i) Jurisdictions will specify rules to control who is allowed to Object to a Change Request, the 



reason for the Objection and the NMI Classification Code appropriate to that Objection. 



(j) After a NMI is created, and prior to the Actual Change Date, the meter(s) and default NMI 



Datastreams may be set up by whoever is nominated as the default party. 



(k) After a NMI is created, and prior to the Actual Change Date, if a Datastream is not set up 



the entry of the NMI into MSATS should not be delayed. 



3.3. Transaction Types 



(a) The types of transactions performed by MSATS are specified in Table 3-A. 



(b) The codes and rules associated with the Change Request transaction are provided in section 



4 



(c)  Acknowledgement and response transactions are dependent on whether online or batch 



function is invoked. 



Table 3-A – MSATS Transaction Type Codes 



Code Name of Transaction Type Initiated by Description 



ACK Acknowledgment MSATS MSATS responds to ALL transactions with an 



acknowledgment of receipt. 



CODE Codes Update MSATS MSATS notifies Participants of any changes to codes, rules or 



Participant data. 



CR Change Request Participant Used to initiate a Change Request. Submitted by a 



Participant anytime they wish to create or update any 



standing data. 



CRR Change Request Response MSATS MSATS response to a Change Request with an approval or 



rejection as it reaches the Pending Validation status. 



NMID NMI Discovery Request Participant A Participant wants to view CATS Standing Data.  Further 



particulars of the search types can be found in section 43. 



NMIR NMI Discovery Response MSATS MSATS sends a Participant information in response to a NMI 



Discovery Search. 



NOT Change Request Status 



Notification 



MSATS Notifies a Participant of a Change Request’s change in status 



in accordance with the applicable Change Request Status 



Nofification Rules. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 28 of 172 
 



Code Name of Transaction Type Initiated by Description 



OBJ Objection Participant A Participant can raise an Objection to a Change Request in 



accordance with the applicable Objection Rules.  Other 



Participants will be informed in accordance with the 



applicable Change Request Status Nofification Rules. 



OBJR Objection Response MSATS MSATS response to an Objection with an approval or 



rejection.  Other Participants will be informed in accordance 



with the applicable Change Request Status Nofification 



Rules. 



RDAT 



 



Request for Participant 



data 



MSATS A request by MSATS to a Participant for provision of the 



necessary data in a Change Request in accordance with the 



applicable Field Validation Rules it that data is not already 



contained in the NMI Master Record. 



RPTD Report Data MSATS The data generated by a report request. 



RPTR Report Request Participant Participant requests a report. 



WCR Change Request 



Withdrawal 



Participant The initiating Participant may Cancel a Change Request at 



any time prior to Completion.  Other Participants will be 



informed in accordance with the applicable Change Request 



Status Nofification Rules. 



WOBJ Objection Withdrawal Participant The initiating Participant may withdraw an Objection.  Other 



Participants will be informed in accordance with the 



applicable Change Request Status Nofification Rules. 



3.4. Change Requests 



(a) A Change Request is the facility by which a Participant interacts with MSATS in order to 



effect a change in data to some or all aspects of information regarding an End User 



connection point prior to a transfer, during a transfer, or after a transfer has Completed. 



(b) Information about an End User’s connection point includes the names and Roles of 



organisations (Participant IDs) that provide a connection point service to the End User, the 



technical details associated with the End User’s metering installation and specific information 



that would assist retailers in providing competitive offers to End Users. 



(c) A Change Request is Initiated by selecting the Transaction Type Code CR, and the 



appropriate Change Reason Code. The Participant must select the Change Reason Code 



that most appropriately reflects the reasons for the change. The assignment of the Change 



Reason Codes to various types of events is provided in Table 3-B. A description of the 



Change Reason Codes is provided in Table 4-A, and in each section to which the Change 



Reason Code applies. 



(d) The completion of a Change Request by submitting all required data can be performed in 



either an on-line interactive mode or an off-line batch mode. 



(e) Only one NMI is allowed on one Change Request. However, there can be multiple NMI 



suffixes and multiple Meter Serial IDs assigned to the one Change Request. 



(f) When submitting a Change Request to MSATS, the Change Request is ‘wrapped’ in an 



aseXML message format. This format is capable of accommodating more than one Change 



Request (when submitted via batch processes). 



(g) When using the batch process, MSATS will respond to the submission of a Change Request 



once validation is complete, with an approval or a Rejection using Transaction Type Code 



CRR. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 29 of 172 
 



(h) A Change Request can be withdrawn by the Participant who Initiated the Change Request 



up until the time the Change Request is Completed. 



(i) The Change Reason Code will govern which data items are available to the Participant when 



initiating the Change Request. 



(j) Within certain Change Reason Codes, data items associated with address information are 



provided as mandatory and optional. Mandatory address information specified as locality, 



state and postcode, where ’locality’ has the same meaning as ‘suburb’. Optional address 



information is given in either structured or unstructured format. Section 41.3.1 provides 



additional information about address data items. 



(k) A Change Request can only be assigned one DLF Code. 



Table 3-B – Assignment of Change Reason Codes to Events 



Group of events Description of event Change Reason Code Assignment 



Change Retailer SMALL NMI 1000, 1010, 1030, 1040, 1021, 1022, 



1023, 1024, 1025, 1026, 1027, 1028, 



1029 



LARGE NMI 1000, 1020, 1030, 1040,  



Embedded network SMALL & LARGE 1080, 1081, 1082, 1083, 1084 



Provide Data Provide Actual Change Date SMALL & LARGE (for CR 



1000, 1030, 1080, 1083, 1010, 1040, 1081, 1084, 3080, 3090, 



6200, 6700, 6800) 



1500 



Create NMI Create a NMI SMALL & LARGE 2000, 2001 



Create a Child NMI SMALL & LARGE 2020, 2021 



Create NMI, metering installation details & NMI 



Datastream SMALL & LARGE 



2500, 2501 



Create NMI, metering installation details & MDM 



datastream – Child NMI SMALL & LARGE 



2520, 2521 



Maintain Metering Create metering installation details SMALL & LARGE 3000, 3001  



Exchange of Metering Information SMALL & LARGE 3004, 3005 



Change metering installation details SMALL & LARGE 3050, 3051 



Advanced Change Metering Installation Details SMALL & 



LARGE 



3080, 3081 



Advanced Meter Exchange SMALL & LARGE 3090, 3091 



Change Network Tariff Code SMALL & LARGE 3100, 3101 



Maintain 



Datastream 



Create NMI Datastream SMALL & LARGE 4000, 4001  



Exchange of Datastream Information SMALL & LARGE 4004, 4005 



Change NMI Datastream SMALL & LARGE 4050, 4051 



Maintain NMI Update NSRD SMALL & LARGE 5070, 5071 



Change a NMI SMALL & LARGE 5050, 5051 



Change NMI – Customer Classification Code 5054, 5055 



Change Child NMI SMALL & LARGE 5060, 5061 



Backdate NMI start date 5001 



Backdate Child NMI Start Date  5021 



Change Parent Name SMALL & LARGE  5080, 5081 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 30 of 172 
 



Group of events Description of event Change Reason Code Assignment 



Change Role Change LNSP SMALL & LARGE 6100, 6110 



Change MDP SMALL & LARGE 6200, 6210 



Change MC SMALL & LARGE 6300, 6301 



  



Change Embedded Network Local Retailer Child NMI 



SMALL & LARGE 



6421 



Change RoLR SMALL & LARGE 6500, 6501 



Change Metering Provider SMALL & LARGE 6700, 6701 



Change Multiple Roles SMALL & LARGE 6800, 6801 



System Change of Child Local Retailer (Auto) ECLR 



Change of Secondary FRMP – Parent (Auto) EPFR 



AEMO only Invoke Retailer of Last Resort RoLR 



Invoke Bulk Change Process BCxx 



AEMO-Initiated standing data updates 5100, 5101 



Manage External 



Profiles 
Create External Profile 



(1)



 2100, 2101 



Change External Profile 
(1)



 5110, 5111 



Note (1):  Refer to Section 8 in the WIGS Procedures for details on these Change Reason Codes. 



3.5. Change Request Status Life Cycle 



(a) The progression of a Change Request is based on the principle that transactions will be 



approved unless an Objection is received. 



(b) During its life cycle, a Change Request may have the status of: 



(i) Initiated; 



(ii) Pending Validation; 



(iii) Rejected; 



(iv) Requested; 



(v) Objected; 



(vi) Pending; 



(vii) Completed; 



(viii) Cancelled. 



The figure below highlights how each status relates to each other: 



 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 31 of 172 
 



 



(c) Initiation is the first status of a new Change Request. During this status, the initiating 



Participant will select an appropriate Change Reason Code, populate the Change Request 



with the data permitted by the Change Reason Code, and then submit the Change Request 



to MSATS. The submission can be through the interactive screen or by a batch process. 



(d) MSATS will then validate the Change Request prior to transferring the Change Request to 



the Pending Validation status. 



(e) The Pending Validation status commences after the Change Request has passed initial 



validation for entry into MSATS. However, not all the data that is required to initiate the 



transaction may be present in MSATS. If mandatory data is missing from the Change 



Request, the Change Request will be Rejected. If the missing data is for the NMI Master 



Record, a Data Request will be sent to the nominated Participant, and MSATS will check for 



the receipt of that data. There is no time limit imposed by MSATS for the provision of this 



data, however, the Participant that receives the Data Request must respond in a reasonable 



time.  The Change Request will be approved only after all required data has been submitted. 



(f) The Rejected status occurs where a Change Request has failed validation. This can occur: 



(i) During the validation of a Change Request whilst it is at the Pending Validation 



status; or 



(ii) At the time of completion of the Change Request (in rare circumstances where a 



change to some other data made after this Change Request was submitted has now 



made this change invalid). 



When a transaction has been Rejected, all Participants associated with the transaction will 



be notified in accordance with the Change Request Status Notification Rules. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 32 of 172 
 



(g) The Requested status is where a transaction has been validated, i.e. there is no missing data. 



Notifications of the Requested transaction are sent to the relevant Participants. The 



Objection Logging Period and Objection Clearing Periods have been identified. Any 



Objections received are validated against the Objection Rules or no Objections have been 



submitted. 



(h) The Objected status occurs where one or more Objections have been received. Notifications 



of the Objections are sent to the relevant parties. This includes details of the Objections and 



whether the transaction was already being Objected to. When an Objection is withdrawn, 



the relevant parties will be notified of the details of the withdrawn Objection. When the last 



Objection is withdrawn, the transaction status changes back to Requested, unless the 



Objection Logging Period has expired, in which case it will move to Pending status. If the 



Objection Clearing Period has expired and an Objection that is subject to the Objection 



Logging Period has not been withdrawn the status will be changed to Cancelled. 



(i) The Pending status is where no Objections have been received, or all Objections have been 



withdrawn and the Objection period has passed. The transaction is waiting for the change 



date to be reached. If the Proposed Change Date is reached and all required data is present, 



the status will change to Completed. The status will remain Pending whilst any required data 



remains outstanding or an Objection that is not subject to the Objection Logging Period is 



not raised. Notifications are sent to the relevant Participants in accordance with the Change 



Request Status Notification Rules. 



(j) The Completed status occurs where the Objection Logging Period has passed, all required 



data is present in MSATS and the Proposed Change Date has been reached or is passed. 



Notifications are sent to the relevant Participants in accordance with the Change Request 



Status Notification Rules. 



(k) The Cancelled status occurs where: 



(i) Not all Objections have been withdrawn at expiry of the Objection Clearing Period; or 



(ii) The initiator of the Change Request has withdrawn the transaction. 



When a Change Request is Cancelled, notifications are sent to the relevant Participants in 



accordance with the Change Request Status Notification Rules. 



3.6. Transaction Validation 



(a) A Change Request that has been Initiated by a Participant will undergo several validations 



by MSATS prior to being accepted to the Requested status. 



(i) The first validation will check that any code or date in the Change Request is in 



accordance with the codes and rules look-up tables. Validation will be performed on 



the data contained in the following data items: 



(A) Change Request ID; 



(B) Jurisdiction; 



(C) Role ID; 



(D) NMI Status Code; 



(E) Read Type Code; 



(F) Change Request code; 



(G) TNI Code; 



(H) DLF Code; 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 33 of 172 
 



(I) Metering Installation Type Code; 



(J) Parent Name; 



(K) Child Name;  and 



(L) Proposed Change Date. 



(ii) The second validation will check for valid Change Reason Codes and Field Validation 



Rules. Validation will be performed against the following codes and rules: 



(A) Change Reason Codes, as per Table 4-A; 



(B) Field Validation Rules: RI, OI, RQ, RD, RA. 



(iii) A third validation will check the NMI characters against the NMI Checksum. 



(iv) A fourth validation will check that the Participant who Initiated the Change Request is 



an active Participant and able to act in the Role that can initiate the transaction. 



Validation will be performed on the data contained in the following data items: 



(A) Participant ID; 



(B) Participant Status; 



(C) Participant Roles. 



(v) A fifth validation will check that the Proposed Change Date and the Actual Change 



Date are within the range allowed by the Change Reason Code. 



(vi) A sixth validation will check the Proposed Change Date, the Actual Change Date and 



the Actual End Date against the Timeframe Rules. 



(b) An Objection will be validated against general conditions and rule based conditions, as 



follows: 



(i) General conditions against which a validation of an Objection is performed are as 



follows: 



(A) The Participant submitting the Objection is an active Participant; 



(B) The Objection is not a duplicate of an existing Objection by that Participant; 



(C) The Role of the Participant is in accordance with the Objection Rules; 



(D) The Objection is linked to an active Change Request ID; 



(E) The status of the Change Request is either Requested or Objected. 



(ii) Rule-based conditions against which a validation of an Objection is performed are as 



follows: 



(A) The Participant can make the Objection in accordance with its status. 



(B) The Objection Code is permitted for the Role . 



(iii) The Change Request is within its Objection Logging Period. 



(iv) The Change Request is valid (PEND, REQ, OBJ) for Objections that are not subject to 



the Objection Logging Period. 



(c) A Change Request will be validated for information regarding embedded networks as 



follows: 



(i) The Embedded Network Codes will be checked against a list of codes contained in 



MSATS. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 34 of 172 
 



(ii) Parent Names and Child Names will be checked to ensure that they are not identical 



for the same NMI; 



(iii) The Child NMI being submitted will be checked against the Parent NMI; 



(iv) A check will be performed for circular relationships; 



(v) Prevent changes of the ENLR from being effected on a Child NMI; 



(vi) Check that if a Parent NMI is not active that there are no active Child NMIs. 



(d) After the Change Request has been submitted, any subsequent Change Request submitted 



by the initial Participant to change the data on the Change Request will be validated, as 



follows: 



(i) The NMI on the subsequent Change Request will be checked against the NMI on the 



initial Change Request. 



(ii) The Participant ID on the subsequent Change Request will be checked against the 



Participant ID on the initial Change Request. 



3.7. Valid Proposed Change Date for Prospective and Retrospective Change 



Requests 



3.7.1. Retrospective Changes 



(a) For a Retrospective Change, the Proposed Change Date must either be the date the Change 



Request is raised or a date in the past and within the number of days allowed by the 



Timeframe Rules/Change Reason Code/NMI Classification Code on this Change Request. 



The maximum number of days is the value stored in Retrospective Days. At present, the 



maximum number of days in the past for any Role Change Request is 130 business days, the 



maximum number of days in the past for changing NMI Standing Data is 140 business days. 



(b) Retrospective Changes have 0 days for the Prospective Days in the Timeframe Rules for the 



Jurisdiction/Change Reason Code/NMI Classification Code combination. 



(c) Table 3-C lists Retrospective Change Reason Codes. 



Table 3-C – Retrospective Change Reason Codes 



CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code 



Change 



Retailer 



Provide Data Create NMI Maintain 



Metering 



Maintain 



Datastream 



Maintain NMI Change Roles 



1010 1500 2001 3001 4001 5001 6110 



1020  2021 3005 4005 5021 6210 



1021  2101 3051 4051 5051 6301 



1022  2501 3081  5055 6421 



1023  2521 3091  5061 6501 



1024   3101  5071 6701 



1025     5081 6801 



1026     5101  



1027     5111  



1028       



1029       



1040       











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 35 of 172 
 



CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code 



1081       



1082       



1084       



3.7.2. Prospective Changes 



(a) For a Prospective Change, the Proposed Change Date must be the day following the date 



on which a Change Request is submitted, or a date after that date. 



(b) The maximum number of days for a Prospective Change depends on the Timeframe 



Rules/Change Reason Code/NMI Classification Code for the relevant Change Request. The 



maximum number of days is the value stored in Prospective Days. At present, the maximum 



allowable number of days for any Prospective Change is 65 business days. 



(c) Prospective Changes have 0 days for the Retrospective Days in the Timeframe 



Rules/Change Reason Code/NMI Classification Code combination. 



Table 3-D – Prospective Change Reason Codes 



CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code CR Code 



Change Retailer Create NMI Maintain 



Metering 



Maintain 



Datastream 



Maintain NMI Change Roles 



1000 2000 3000 4000 5050 6100 



1030 2020 3004 4004 5054 6200 



1080 2100 3050 4050 5060 6300 



1083 2500 3080  5070 6500 



 2520 3090  5080 6700 



  3100  5100 6800 



    5110  



 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 36 of 172 
 



4. CATS CODES AND RULES FOR A CHANGE REQUEST 



4.1. Introduction 



(a) This section specifies the codes and rules that apply when a Participant submits a Change 



Request to, or seeks access to CATS Standing Data for both the CATS and WIGS Procedures. 



(b) MSATS contains the following codes and rules that apply to Change Requests: 



Change Reason Codes Role Codes Initiation Rules 



Jurisdiction Codes Timeframe Rules Objection Codes 



Objection Rules NMI Classification Codes NMI Status Codes 



Metering Installation Type 



Codes 



Read Type Codes Field Validation Rules 



Change Request Status 



Notification Rules 



Customer Classification Code Customer Threshold Code 



4.2. Change Reason Code 



(a) The Change Reason Codes govern the population of data in a Change Request. 



(b) For each Change Reason Code, the following parameters are defined: 



(i) The Participants permitted to initiate a Change Request. 



(ii) The data items that can be populated in the Change Request. 



(iii) The data that must already be present in MSATS before the Change Request can be 



Completed. 



(iv) Whether another Participant must supply the exact date of the change (i.e. is the 



MDP required to supply the date of the Actual Meter Reading to Complete the 



Change Request). 



(v) The date range window. 



(vi) The Objection Logging Period. 



(vii) The Objection Clearing Period. 



(viii) The Roles that will be notified of a Change Request, and at what stages in the 



Change Request that they will be notified. 



(ix) The Participants who can Object to Change Request and the basis for Objection. 



(c) For any Change Reason Code, some elements are defined globally (i.e. they apply in all 



Jurisdictions) while others are defined separately for each Jurisdiction. 



(d) The Change Reason Codes and a brief description of each are provided in Table 4-A. 



Table 4-A – Change Reason Codes 



CR Description Initiating Participant  



1000 Change Retailer  New FRMP 



1010
(1)



 Change Retailer – Retrospective – Align to Meter Reading  New FRMP 



1020
(4)



 Change Retailer–Retrospective –Long Term/Error (not SMALL) New FRMP 



1021 Error Correction – Missed CR 1500 New FRMP 



1022 Incorrect transfer date New FRMP 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 37 of 172 
 



CR Description Initiating Participant  



1023 New NMI – Update/Correct FRMP on Greenfield Site New FRMP 



1024 Transfer missed New FRMP 



1025 Transferred in error New FRMP 



1026 Cooled Off New FRMP 



1027 End User Moves Out on or before CR completion date New FRMP 



1028 Non-account holder signs contract New FRMP 



1029 Other Error Corrections (SMALL only)  New FRMP 



1030 Change Retailer – Move-In  New FRMP 



1040 Change Retailer – Move-In – Retrospective New FRMP 



1080 Change Retailer – Child NMI New FRMP 



1081
(1)



 Change Retailer – Child NMI – Retrospective Align Meter Reading New FRMP 



1082 Change Retailer Child – Retrospective Long Term/Error New FRMP 



1083 Change Retailer Child NMI – Move In New FRMP 



1084 Change Retailer Child NMI – Move In – Retrospective New FRMP 



1500 Provide Actual Change Date New and Current MDP 



2000 Create NMI Details New LNSP 



2001 Create NMI Details – Retrospective New LNSP 



2020 Create NMI Details –Child New ENM 



2021 Create NMI Details –Child – Retrospective New ENM 



5050 Change NMI Details Current LNSP 



5051 Change NMI Details – Retrospective Current LNSP 



5001 Backdate NMI Start Date AEMO or LNSP 



5021 Backdate NMI Start Date – Child AEMO or ENM 



5054 Change NMI Details – Customer Classification Code Current FRMP 



5055 Change NMI Details – Customer Classification Code – Retrospective Current FRMP 



5060 Change NMI Details – Child Current ENM 



5061 Change NMI Details – Child – Retrospective Current ENM 



5070 Update Next Scheduled Read Date Current MDP 



5071 Update Next Scheduled Read Date – Retrospective Current MDP 



5080 Change Parent Name Current LNSP 



5081 Change Parent Name – Retrospective Current LNSP 



5100 5100 – Change NMI Details – Prospective (AEMO only) AEMO 



5101 5101 – Change NMI Details – Retrospective (AEMO only) AEMO 



2100 Create External Profile Shape New AEMO 



2101 Create External Profile Shape – Retrospective New AEMO 



5110 Change External Profile Shape Current AEMO 



5111 Change External Profile Shape – Retrospective Current AEMO 



2500 Create NMI, NMI Datastream & metering installation details New LNSP 



2501 Create NMI, NMI Datastream & metering installation details – 



Retrospective 



New LNSP 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 38 of 172 
 



CR Description Initiating Participant  



2520 Create NMI, MDM Datastream & Metering Installation Details – Child 



NMI 



New ENM 



2521 Create NMI, MDM Datastream & Metering Installation Details – Child 



NMI – Retrospective 



New ENM 



3000
(3) Create metering installation details Current MPB 



3001
(3)



 Create metering installation details – Retrospective Current MPB 



3004
(3)



 Exchange of Metering Information Current MPB 



3005
(3)



 Exchange of Metering Information – Retrospective Current MPB 



3050
(3)



 Change metering installation details Current MPB 



3051
(3)



 Change metering installation details – Retrospective Current MPB 



3080 Advanced change metering installation details Current MC 



3081 Advanced change metering installation details – Retrospective  Current MC 



3090
(3)



 Advanced Meter Exchange Current MC 



3091
(3)



 Advanced Meter Exchange – Retrospective Current MC 



3100 Change Network Tariff Code Current LNSP or Current 



ENM 



3101 Change Network Tariff Code – Retrospective Current LNSP or Current 



ENM 



4000
(2)



 Create NMI Datastream Details Current MDP 



4001
(2)



 Create NMI Datastream Details – Retrospective Current MDP 



4004
(2)



 Exchange of Datastream Information Current MDP 



4005
(2)



 Exchange of Datastream Information – Retrospective Current MDP 



4050
(2)



 Change NMI Datastream Details Current MDP 



4051
(2)



 Change NMI Datastream Details – Retrospective Current MDP 



6100 Change LNSP New LNSP or new ENM 



6110 Change LNSP – Retrospective New LNSP or new ENM 



6200 Change MDP Current FRMP or Current MC 



6210 Change MDP – Retrospective Current FRMP or Current MC 



6300 Change MC New MC or Current FRMP 



6301 Change MC – Retrospective New MC or Current FRMP 



6421 Change ENLR – Retrospective – Child NMI New ENLR 



6500 Change RoLR New RoLR 



6501 Change RoLR – Retrospective New RoLR 



6700 Change MP Current MC 



6701 Change MP – Retrospective Current MC 



6800 Change Multiple Roles Current FRMP or Current MC 



6801 Change Multiple Roles - Retrospective Current FRMP or Current MC 



BCxx Invoke Bulk Change Process AEMO 



ROLR Invoke Retailer of Last Resort AEMO 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 39 of 172 
 



CR Description Initiating Participant  



ECLR Change of Local Retailer – Child (Auto) AEMO/MSATS 



EPFR Change of Secondary FRMP – Parent (Auto) AEMO/MSATS 



Note (1): Likely to be used with Read Type Codes PR, CR or ER. 



Note (2): A single Change Request using these Change Reason Codes may be populated with multiple NMI suffixes. 



Note (3): A single Change Request using these Change Reason Codes may be populated with multiple Meter Serial IDs. 



Note (4): “not SMALL” means LARGE, WHOLESAL, INTERCON, GENERATR or SAMPLE NMIs. 



4.3. Role Codes 



(a) A Role Code identifies the type of association that a Participant has with a NMI. 



(b) The NMI Master Record will contain each ‘Current’ Role for each NMI.  Each proposed Role 



for a NMI is referred to as a ‘New’ Role. 



(c) The Role Codes defined in Table 4-B are used to define: 



(i) Participants that can initiate a Change Request; 



(ii) Participants to supply data when it is needed to Complete a Change Request; 



(iii) Change Request Status Notification Rules; 



(iv) Objection Rules; and 



(v) Access rights to CATS Standing Data. 



Table 4-B – Role Codes 



Code Description 



FRMP Financially Responsible Market Participant 



LNSP Local Network Service Provider or Embedded Network Manager for child connection 



points 



LR Local Retailer or Embedded Network Local Retailer (ENLR) 



MDP Metering Data Provider – Category D 



MPB Metering Provider – Category B 



MPC Metering Data Provider – Category C 



NEMM National Electricity Market Operator 



NSP2 Second Network Service Provider (For Wholesale NMIs only) 



ROLR Retailer of Last Resort 



RP Metering Coordinator 



4.4. Use of Local Retailer (LR)/Embedded Network Local Retailer (ENLR) within 



this Procedure 
 



The Local Retailer (LR) field can specify either the LR or the ENLR.  



Where the Change Request is associated with an embedded network, the ENLR (as the specified 



LR) will receive Change Request Status Notifications. Objection Rules may also apply allowing the 



ENLR (as the specified LR) to lodge an objection. 



For all other Change Requests the LR field in both the Objection Rules and Change Request Status Notifications Rules tables will not be populated. 



4.5. Change Request Initiation Rules 



(a) The Initiation Rules specify the Roles permitted to Initiate Change Requests. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 40 of 172 
 



(b) A Change Request may be Initiated by both ‘New’ or ‘Current’ Roles. 



(c) Only a ‘New’ Role can be entered on a Change Request. 



(d) The Initiation Rules for each Change Reason Code are listed in the section to which the 



Change Reason Codes are detailed. 



4.6. Jurisdiction Codes 



(a) The Jurisdiction Codes defined in Table 4-C identifies the Jurisdiction in which a NMI is 



situated. 



(b) The Jurisdiction Code is used to apply Jurisdiction-based business rules. 



Table 4-C – Jurisdiction Codes 



Code Description 



ACT Australian Capital Territory 



ALL All Jurisdictions 



NEM National Electricity Market 



NSW New South Wales 



QLD Queensland 



SA South Australia 



TAS Tasmania 



VIC Victoria 



4.7. Timeframe Rules 



(a) The Timeframe Rules specify whether a Jurisdiction, Change Reason Code and NMI 



Classification Code are a valid combination. 



(b) For any Change Reason Code, the Timeframe Rules specify: 



(i) Whether the Change Reason Code can be used to make a Prospective Change or 



Retrospective Change; 



(ii) The number of days into the future (Prospective Days) or the past (Retrospective 



Days) that are allowable for the Proposed Change Date; 



(iii) The number of days allowed for Objections (Objection Logging Period), which 



commences from the next business day after the date that the Change Request is 



Initiated.; and 



(iv) The number of days after which a Change Request that has been Objected to will be 



Cancelled (Objection Clearing Period), which commences from the next business day 



after the date that the Change Request is Initiated. 



(c) The Timeframe Rules may be specified by Jurisdiction. 



(d) Unless stated otherwise, the Timeframe Rules for a Change Reason Code apply to all 



Jurisdictions. 



4.8. Objection Codes 



(a) The Objection Codes defined in Table 4-D are the only basis on which Participants can 



Object to a Change Request. 



(b) The Objection Codes are applied to each Jurisdiction and each Change Reason Code in 



accordance with the Objection Rules. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 41 of 172 
 



Table 4-D – Objection Codes 



Code Description 



BADDATA Used by a Participant to confirm that the standing data in the change request or the NMI 



Master Record is incorrect (e.g. Meter Serial ID). If the Participant role is incorrect; use 



NOTRESP. 



BADMETER Used by the MDP for change retailer requests, where the Read Type Code is not compatible 



with the method for collecting metering data at the metering installation. 



BADPARTY Used by the MC when the MDP, MPB, or MPC nominated on a change of retailer request or 



change of role is incorrect as they are not the party appointed by the MC, or do not have the 



capability or capacity to operate in the Role proposed. 



BLOCK AEMO Objection to the transaction either at the request of a Jurisdiction or for operational 



reasons.  



CONTRACT Must only be used where a change in MC is proposed, the Current MC has been appointed by 



a large End User and has an existing contractual obligation with the large End User that takes 



precedence over the proposed change. 



 



CRCODE Can be used if the Change Reason Code being used does not apply to the NMI concerned. 



DATEBAD  Used by the MDP for meter installation types 4A, 5 and 6 to inform the initiating party the 



proposed date in the change of retailer or change of role request does not align with the date 



the Metering Reading is scheduled to be taken. 



Used by the Current FRMP, or MDP for retrospective change of retailer or change of role 



requests where one or both of the Proposed Change Date, or Actual End Date is incorrect. 



DEBT Used by the Current FRMP for change retailer requests in Victoria only, were there is an aged 



debt reaching Jurisdictional limits. 



DECLINED Used by a Participant who does not wish to perform the Role for which it is nominated in the 



Change Request. 



NOACC (1) Used where no access can be obtained to the metering installation to perform the manual 



collection of metering data required to facilitate a transfer of FRMP, or Meter Churn. 



NOTAPRD Used by the LNSP where a Participant is not accredited or authorised to operate within the 



LNSP area, most typically applying to the Role of MP. 



NOTAWARE Used by the Current FRMP when no communication has been received from the New FRMP 



confirming that an error correction transaction will be processed. 



NOTPRUD No prudential approval. 



AEMO has not approved the transaction for prudential reasons. 



NOTRANS Used by the Current FRMP and only applies to retrospective change of retailer requests. A 



check of records shows no previous change of retailer request exists for the error correction 



change of retailer. 



NOTRESP Not responsible for NMI in the identified Role. 



For use by a nominated Participant to Object on the basis that they are not responsible in the 



Role in which they are nominated. 



RETRO Participant does not agree to a Retrospective Change. 



Note (1):  Objections for “NOACC” are not subject to Objection Logging Periods or Objection Clearing Periods. A valid Actual Change Date being 



entered against a Change Request with an Objection of “NOACC” will withdraw any “NOACC” Objections. 



4.9. Objection Rules 



(a) The Objection Rules specify the way in which Objection Codes can be used for each Change 



Reason Code and Role. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 42 of 172 
 



(b) The Objection Rules for each Change Reason Code are listed in the section to which the 



Change Reason Code applies. 



(c) Unless stated otherwise, Objection Rules apply in every Jurisdiction. 



4.10. NMI Classification Codes 



(a) The NMI Classification Code enables MSATS to be informed of the nature of the flow of 



electricity at the connection point to which the NMI information applies. 



(b) The NMI Classification Codes ‘LARGE’ and ‘SMALL’ must be used when the other NMI 



Classification codes listed in Table 4-E do not apply.They are parameters for defining 



Change Reason Codes, application timeframes and Objection Rules. 



(c) The NMI Classification Codes ‘LARGE’ and ‘SMALL’ are based on the total annual load of the 



NMI as per Table 4-E. 



Table 4-E – NMI Classification Codes 



Code Description (2) 



BULK Connection point where a transmission 



network connects to a distribution network 



-  also termed 'Bulk Supply Point' 



DWHOLSAL Distribution network connection point where 



energy is directly purchased from the spot 



market by a Market Customer 



EPROFILE External profile shape 



GENERATR  Connection point associated with a 



generating unit classified by a Market 



Generator.  



INTERCON Interconnector 



LARGE 
(1)



 Victoria:    



NSW:  



ACT:    



SA: 



>=160 MWh 



 



 



QLD:                          >=100 MWh  



TAS:                          >=150 MWh 



NCONUML
(1)



 Non-contestable unmetered load 



NREG Connection point associated with a non-



registered embedded generator at which: 



• the embedded generating unit is 



classified by a Market Small Generation 



Aggregator as a market generating unit; 



or 



• the output of the embedded generating 



unit is consumed by a market load at the 



same connection point.  



 



SAMPLE  Sample Meter as required by Metrology 



Procedures Part A to calculate CLP for 



participating jurisdictions. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 43 of 172 
 



Code Description (2) 



SMALL
(1)



 Victoria:   



NSW:  



ACT:   



SA: 



<160 MWh 



QLD:                          <100 MWh 



TAS:                          <150 MWh 



WHOLESAL Transmission network connection point where 



energy is directly purchased from the spot 



market by a Market Customer 



XBOUNDRY Connection point where a distribution network 



connects to another to distribution network  



Note (1): These codes are only used in the CATS Procedures. All other codes are for WIGS Procedure. 



Note (2): See relevant Jurisdictional regulation for full details. 



Note (3): See NMI procedures, Appendix E for application of NMI Classification codes. 



 



4.11. End User Classification 



4.11.1. Customer Classification Code 



(a) The FRMP must update an End User’s Customer Classification Code as specified in Table 



4-F. 



(b) The Customer Classification Code relates to an End User, or previous End User, at  a single 



connection point to which the NMI applies. 



Table 4-F – Customer Classification Codes 



Code 



BUSINESS 



RESIDENTIAL 



4.11.2. Customer Threshold Code 



(a) The Customer Threshold Code is used to indicate the level of an End User’s electricity 



consumption at a single connection point to which a NMI applies and is based on the LNSP’s 



determination of the annualised consumption for an End User at a single connection point. 



(b) The Customer Threshold Code is mandatory for all NMIs with a NMI Status Code of ‘A’ or 



‘D’, and a Customer Classification Code of ‘BUSINESS’. 



(c) The Customer Threshold Codes are specified in Table 4-G. 



Table 4-G – Customer Threshold Codes 



Customer Threshold Code Description  



LOW Consumption is less than the ‘lower consumption threshold’ as defined in 



the National Energy Retail Regulations 



MEDIUM Consumption is equal to or greater than the ‘lower consumption 



threshold’, but less than the ‘upper consumption threshold’, as defined in 



the National Energy Retail Regulations 



HIGH Consumption is equal to or greater than the ‘upper consumption 



threshold’ as defined in the National Energy Retail Regulations 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 44 of 172 
 



4.12. Status Codes  



4.12.1. NMI Status Codes 



(a) The NMI Status Codes defined in table 4-H are used to determine if a NMI can be used for 



a retail transfer. 



(b) The NMI Status Code ‘X’ is the only status that does not allow NMI transfers between 



retailers. 



Table 4-H – NMI Status Codes 



Code Name of code Description of code 



A Active NMI  Applies when a NMI is energised. 



D Not energised NMI Applies when the NMI exists in MSATS and the connection point is de-energised. 



X Extinct NMI  Applies when:   



• the network connection has been permanently removed from the 



connection point, or 



• the embedded network connection has been permanently removed from 



the child connection point, or  



• the connection point has been moved from an LNSP’s network to an 



embedded network or vice versa. 



Under this condition the existing NMI will not be reallocated to any other 



connection point in the future. 



A NMI with this status can never be transferred. 



G Greenfield Site NMI Applies to a Site that has never been energised. The connection point may 



require further Site works to be undertaken and will also require energisation. 



Once the NMI Status Code is changed from ‘G’, it cannot revert to ‘G’. 



N Off Market Child 



NMI 



Applies when a child connection point is no longer settled in the NEM. 



4.12.2. Datastream Status Codes 



(a) In the MDM process, the Datastream Status Code is used in combination with the 



DataStreamType to determine whether a Datastream suffix is to be used in the settlements 



process or where any other metering data has been configured to support the calculation of 



Unaccounted for Energy (UFE). 



(b) The Datastream Status Codes in MSATS are ‘A’ and ‘I’, as defined in Table 4-I. 



(c) The Datastream Type Codes in MSATS are ‘I’, ‘C’, ‘P’ and ‘N’, as defined in NMI Standing 



Data for MSATS document (Table 12). 



Table 4-I – Datastream Status Codes   



Code Name of code Description of code 



A Active NMI Datastream Applies when an NMI Datastream Suffix is used in combination with the 



DataStreamType to determine whether a DataStream Suffix is to be used in 



the settlements process or where any other metering data has been 



configured to support the calculation of Unaccounted for Energy (UFE). 



I Inactive NMI 



Datastream 



Applies when the NMI Datastream Suffix is not to be used in settlements or 



the calculation of UFE. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 45 of 172 
 



 



4.12.3. Meter Register Status Codes 



(a) The Meter Register Status Codes denote the status of the meter in MSATS. 



(b) The only Meter Register Status Codes are ‘C’, ‘R’, and ‘D’ as defined in Table 4-J. 



Table 4-J – Meter Register Status Codes 



Code Name of code Description of code 



C Current  Applies when a meter at the NMI is current and not disconnected. 



R Removed Applies when a meter at the NMI is removed. 



D Remotely Disconnected Applies when a meter at the NMI is disconnected. 



4.12.4. Register Identifier Status Codes 



(a) The Register Identifier Status Code indicates if a Meter Register is active. 



(b) The Register Identifier Status Codes are C and R and are defined in Table 4-K. 



Table 4-K – Register Identifier Status Codes 



Code Name  Description  



C Current  Applies when a Meter Register at the NMI is current, i.e. connected to a connection point. 



R Removed Applies when a Meter Register at the NMI is removed, i.e. not connected to a connection 



point. 



4.13. Metering Installation Type Codes 



(a) The Metering Installation Type Codes defined in Table 4-L identifies the type of metering 



installation as specified in the NER. 



(b) The Metering Installation Type Code also indicates whether the Actual Change Date must 



be input by a Participant other than the initiator of the Change Request. If the Manually 



Read Flag (see Table 4-L) is set to Y and the Change Request Field Validation Rules have 



been set up to request a date, a request will be sent to the nominated Participant to provide 



it. 



Table 4-L – Metering Installation Type Codes 



Code Description Manually Read 



Flag 



BASIC Accumulation Meter – Type 6 Y 



COMMS1 Interval Meter with communications – Type 1 Y 



COMMS2 Interval Meter with communications – Type 2 Y 



COMMS3 Interval Meter with communications – Type 3 Y 



COMMS4 Interval Meter with communications – Type 4 



(Note: This code is used for large customer with type 4 metering installations 



and for small customer type 4 metering installation installed before 1 December 



2017)  



Y 



COMMS4C CT connected metering installation that meets the minimum services 



specifications 



Y 



COMMS4D Whole current metering installation that meets the minimum services 



specifications 



Y 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 46 of 172 
 



Code Description Manually Read 



Flag 



MRAM small customer metering installation – Type 4A Y 



MRIM Manually Read Interval Meter – Type 5 Y 



NCONUML Non-contestable unmetered load N 



PROF For Profile Setup  N 



SAMPLE Sample Meter Y 



UMCP Unmetered Supply – Type 7 N 



VICAMI a relevant metering installation as defined in clause 9.9C of the NER.  Y 



4.13.1. Consequences of Allocating Certain Metering Installation Codes 



(a) If the Metering Installation Type Code is COMMSx, MRIM, MRAM, VICAMI, NCONUML or 



UMCP: 



(i) DataStreamType1 must be: 



(A) ‘I’ where the Interval Datastream is included in NEM Settlement process 



(B) 'N' where the Interval Datastream is not to be included in the NEM Settlement 



process or NEM Profile calculations 



(C) ‘P’ where Profile Datastream is included in NEM Profile calculation (P – Sample 



meters only)  



(ii) ProfileName must be NOPROF 



(iii) Datastream Suffix must be at a register level (e.g. E1, B1, Q1, K1) 



(b) If the Metering Installation Type Code is BASIC: 



(i) DataStreamType must be C 



(ii) In Victoria, Tasmania and ACT, ProfileName must be NSLP 



(iii) In NSW, QLD and SA, ProfileName must be NSLP or the relevant CLP 



(iv) Datastream Suffix must be at a register level, numeric (e.g. 11) 



4.14. Read Type Code 



(a) The Read Type Code is not used by MSATS for the purpose of settlements. There are no 



rules in MSATS controlling the use of the Read Type Code. 



(b) The Read Type Code is an instruction from the requesting FRMP to the MDP, nominated in 



the Change Request to assist the transfer by using the specified reading method. 



(c) Where advice is provided to an MDP, the MDP would arrange for the Meter Reading to be 



undertaken. 



(d) The Read Type Code is used to signal when a meter should be read, whether an alternative 



arrangement is to be used, or whether no read is required. 



(e) In each case the Read Type Code is an instruction relating to the date in the Proposed 



Change Date. 



(f) A meter may be read on the NSRD (NS) or on a Special Read Date (SP). 



(g) An Estimated Reading (ER) may be provided in place of the Actual Meter Reading. 



                                                      
1 See Standing Data for MSATS for explanation of DataStreamType (Table 12). 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 47 of 172 
 



(h) The Read Type Codes are specified in Table 4-M. 



Table 4-M – Read Type Codes  



Code  Name of code Description of code 



CR  Consumer Read Available if approved by Jurisdictional policy. Advice from New 



FRMP to MC or MDP that the End User has agreed to transfer 



on a Meter Reading it provides. MDP/MPC is not required to 



undertake a Special Meter Reading. 



Applies to type 6 metering installations. 



EI  Existing 



Remotely-Read 



Interval Meter 



Advice from the New FRMP to the MDP that there is an existing 



remotely-read Interval Meter at the connection point and that 



the existing meters will continue to be used after the transfer. 



Applies to type 1 to 4 metering installations only. 



ER  Estimated Read Available if approved by Jurisdictional policy. Advice from the 



New FRMP to MDP that the End User has agreed to transfer on 



an Estimated Reading. No Meter Reading is required for this 



transfer. MDP is to provide an Estimated Reading in accordance 



with the metrology procedure and any other Jurisdiction 



requirements. 



Applies to type 4A, 5 and type 6 metering installations. 



GR  Greenfield NMI Used when the NMI being transferred is a greenfield connection 



point and has never had a metering installation physically 



installed at the connection point and the NMI Status is ‘G’ 



NS  Next Scheduled 



Read Date
(1)



 



Advice from New FRMP to MDP that the Proposed Change Date 



for the End User transfer is the NSRD, which is, therefore, a date 



in the future. No other Meter Reading is required. 



An acceptable date is a window that is up to 3 business days 



before or 2 business days after the published NSRD. 



If the date proposed by the New FRMP is not within this same 



window (i.e. up to 3 business days before or 2 business days 



after), the MDP must advise the FRMP that there is a problem 



with the date proposed within 2 days of receipt of the Data 



Request. 



If the meter is read outside this window, the MDP is not obliged 



to provide an Actual Change Date CR 1500. 



Applies to types 4A, 5 and type 6 metering installations. 



PR  Previous Read 



Date
(2)



 



Available if approved by Jurisdictional policy. Advice from the 



New FRMP to the MDP that the transfer is to occur on the 



previous Meter Reading. 



Applies to type 4A, 5 and type 6 metering installations. 



RR  Next Read Date Advice from New FRMP to MDP that the Proposed Change Date 



for the End User transfer is to be the date the meter is next read, 



which is, therefore, a date in the future. This code should be 



used if it is intended that the transfer is to occur on the date that 



the meter is read next, whenever that date is (i.e. the Proposed 



Change Date has no relevance). 



Applies to types 4A, 5 and type 6 metering installations. 



SP  Special Read Advice from New FRMP to MDP that the Proposed Change Date 



for the End User transfer is a date that does not align with the 



scheduled reading cycle. The MDP/MPC is to arrange for the 



Special Meter Reading. 



Applies to type 4A, 5 and type 6 metering installations. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 48 of 172 
 



Code  Name of code Description of code 



UM  Unmetered 



Connection Point 



Used when the NMI being transferred is an unmetered 



connection point. 



Note (1): There is no requirement to maintain the NSRD for meters that are remotely read. The NSRD will only be required for the 



type 4A, 5 and 6 metering installations where manual Meter Reading is necessary. 



Note (2): The previous Meter Reading date is not held by MSATS. The New FRMP would obtain this information from the End User. 



This Read Type Code is likely to be used with Change Reason Codes 1010 and 1081. 



(i) The combinations of Read Type Codes, Metering Installation Type Codes and Change 



Reason Codes that can be valid, (provided the Read Type Code is allowed in a Jurisdiction), 



are specified in Table 4-N. (The Metering Installation Type Code referred to here is the code 



for the existing metering record) 



Table 4-N – Valid Combinations of Read Type Codes, Metering Installation Type Codes and Change 



Reason Codes  



 CR Code  1000 1010, 102X, 1040 



except 1023 



1030 1023 All CR Codes 



 Metering Installation 



Type Code  



BASIC MRIM / 



MRAM 



BASIC MRIM / 



MRAM 



BASIC MRIM / 



MRAM 



Not 



Applicable 



COMMSx / 



VICAMI 



UMCP 



R
e
a
d



 T
yp



e
 C



o
d



e
 



NS Next 



Scheduled 



Read Date 



Yes Yes No No No No No No No 



RR Next Read 



Date 



Yes Yes No No Yes Yes No No No 



SP Special Read Yes Yes No No Yes Yes No No No 



ER Estimated 



Read 



Yes Yes Yes No Yes Yes No No No 



CR Consumer 



Read 



Yes No No No No No No No No 



PR Previous Read 



Date 



No No Yes Yes No No No No No 



UM Unmetered 



Connection Pt 



No No No No No No No No Yes 



EI Existing 



Interval Meter 



No No No No No No No Yes No 



GR Greenfield 



NMI 



No No No No No No Yes No No 



Note: 1080 is the same as 1000, 1081 is the same as 1010, 1083 is the same as 1030, and 1084 is the same as 1040. 



Note: 102X refers to 1020, 1021, 1022, 1023, 1024, 1025, 1026, 1027, 1028 and 1029. 



Note:  COMMSx refers to COMMS1, COMMS2, COMMS3, COMMS4, COMMS4C, COMMS4D. 



Note: No meter reading is required for CR Code 1023 



4.15. Field Validation Rules 



(a) The Field Validation Rules are based on data source codes as per table 4-O. 



(b) For any Change Reason Code, the Field Validation Rules specify: 



(i) Which fields must be completed at the time the transaction is Initiated; 



(ii) Which fields can optionally be completed at the time the transaction is Initiated; 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 49 of 172 
 



(iii) Which fields must be present on the NMI Master Record for the transaction to 



proceed from Pending Validation to Requested and, if they are not present, which 



Participant must supply them; and 



(iv) Whether the Actual Change Date has to be obtained from another Participant for 



NMIs where the metering installations are manually read (and if it does, who should 



be asked to supply it). 



(c) The obligations on Participants arising from the allocation of the Field Validation Rules are 



detailed in the section to which the Change Reason Code applies. 



(d) Each data source code is hard coded in MSATS and is not available for maintenance. The 



available data codes are identified in Table 4-O. 



Table 4-O  – Field Validation Data Source Codes 



Code Explanation 



OI Optional on Initiation. This means it is optionally supplied by the initiator of the Change Request. 



RA Requested by CATS regardless of whether it is already in CATS. 



For all RA fields, the Participant that supplies the data must be identified. 



For all RA fields, it is also necessary to identify whether this data is required prior to the transaction 



passing from Pending Validation to Requested. 



This code will be used for requesting the Actual Change Date on End User transfer Change Requests. 



(However, in this special case, the request will only be sent if the metering installation is flagged as 



manually read). 



RD This is only required for the Actual Change Date on the transaction that is returned as a consequence of 



a request to provide an Actual Change Date (currently 1500 is the only one).  



RI Required to Initiate. This means it must be supplied by the initiator of the Change Request. 



RQ Requested by CATS if the data is not already in CATS. 



For all RQ fields, the Participant that supplies the data must be identified. 



For all RQ fields, it is also necessary to identify whether this data is required prior to the transaction 



passing from Pending Validation to Requested. 



4.16. Change Request Status Notification Rules 



The Change Request Status Notification Rules define which Roles are to be advised when a 



Change Request undergoes a change in status.  



Maintenance of Codes and Rules 



(a) AEMO must maintain the following codes and rules in MSATS: 



Change Reason Codes Role Codes Initiation Rules 



Jurisdiction Codes Timeframe Rules Objection Codes 



Objection Rules NMI Classification Codes NMI Status Codes 



Metering Installation Type Codes Read Type Codes Field Validation Rules 



Change Request Status 



Notification Rules 



NMI Discovery Search – NMI 



Search Rules 



NMI Discovery Search – NMI 



Data Access Rules 



NMI & CATS Standing Data 



Access Rules 



Network Tariff Code  



(b) MSATS will send a message to all Participants if a change is made to any code or rule. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 50 of 172 
 



4.17. Datastream Status Code 



(a) The Datastream Status Code is part of CATS Standing Data and is used for the management 



of the metering data within MSATS. 



(b) The Datastream Status Code makes use of the codes specified in Table 4-I. 



(c) When required by a Change Reason Code, Participants must nominate on a Change 



Request the status of the Datastream Status Code for the selected NMI. 



(d) If a Datastream Status Code is set to A (active) this flag will be used by MSATS to indicate 



that metering data is to be expected for the NMI for the purpose of: 



(i) aggregation in the settlements process; or 



(ii) netting off in the determination of a profile shape; or 



(iii) calculation of UFE. 



4.18. Embedded Network Codes and Rules 



(a) MSATS requires each embedded network to be given a name, which is to be a code of up to 



10 characters. 



(b) The LNSP must generate and provide the Embedded Network Code to AEMO. 



(i) The first character of the Embedded Network Code is to be the first character of the 



Jurisdiction in which the embedded network is located. 



(ii) The second character of the Embedded Network Code is to be a character chosen to 



represent the LNSP in whose distribution network the embedded network is connected. 



(iii) The LNSP must liaise with the owner of the embedded network to determine the other 



characters of the Embedded Network Code as per the Embedded Network Code 



structure specified by AEMO.2   



(iv) The LNSP must provide the Embedded Network Code to AEMO within 5 business 



days of receiving the request from the embedded network owner or the ENM acting 



on behalf of the embedded network owner. 



(c) The LNSP must provide to AEMO the following when providing the Embedded Network 



Code: 



(i) Description of the embedded network (up to 50 characters long). 



(ii) Locality, postcode and state of the embedded network. 



(iii) Start date of the embedded network. 



(iv) DLF Code of the Parent NMI.3 



(v) TNI Code of the Parent NMI.4 



(d) The LNSP at the parent connection point must allocate the Embedded Network Code to the 



Parent NMI within 2 business days: 



(i) of being notified by AEMO that the Embedded Network Code has been created in 



MSATS, or 



(ii) of the mandatory information required by the Create NMI Change Request becoming 



available if the Parent NMI has not been created, whichever is later. 



                                                      
2 Document No MT_GN1710v0xx.doc – Allocation of Embedded Network Codes. 
3 Note that subsequent update to the DLF Code is not required via this transaction. 
4 Note that subsequent update to the TNI Code is not required via this transaction. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 51 of 172 
 



(e) The ENM must allocate the Embedded Network Code to the Child NMI which is the same as 



the Embedded Network Code of the Parent NMI. 



(f) Within 5 business days of being appointed as the ENM for an embedded network, the ENM 



must provide AEMO with the following: 



(i) Date of the nomination, 



(ii) EN’s Participant ID, 



(iii) Name of the EENSP5, 



(iv) Embedded Network Code, 



(v) Parent NMI, and  



(vi) Address of the Parent NMI.  



4.19. Obtaining Electronic Downloads of Configuration Rules 



The CATS configuration can be downloaded from MSATS by using the C1 ‘Data Replication 



Resynchronisation Report (C1)’ report, and selecting the following tables: 



Table 4-P – CATS Configuration Tables Available for Download 



Type Description Table 



 List of Roles along with their assigned Participant IDs used by 



MSATS  



CATS_PARTICIPANT_ROLES 



Code List of the available Change Reason Codes CATS_CHANGE_REASON_CODES 



Code Change Request Status codes CATS_CR_STATUS_CODES 



Code Data source code used for Field Validation Rules  CATS_DATA_SOURCE_CODES 



Code De-registration codes CATS_DEREG_CODES 



Code DLF Codes CATS_DLF_CODES 



Code Parent Name codes CATS_EMB_NET_ID_CODES 



Code Error codes used by MSATS CATS_ERROR_CODES 



Code List of Jurisdiction Codes CATS_JURISDICTION_CODES 



Code Meter installation type codes CATS_METER_INSTALL_TYPE_CODES 



Code NMI Classification Codes  CATS_NMI_CLASS_CODES 



Code NMI Status Codes CATS_NMI_STATUS_CODES 



Code List of available Objection Codes CATS_OBJECTION_CODES 



Code List of Registered Participant IDs CATS_PARTICIPANTS 



Code List of allowable Read Type Codes  CATS_READ_TYPE_CODES 



Code List of available Roles CATS_ROLES 



Code Transmission connection point identifier codes  CATS_TNI_CODES 



Code List of transaction types in MSATS  CATS_TRANS_TYPE_CODES 



Code Calender used by MSATS  MSATS_NATIONAL_CALENDAR 



Code Network Tariff Codes CATS_NETWORKTARIFF_CODES 



Rule Change Request Initiation Rules CATS_CR_INITIATION_RULES 



Rule Rule governing NMI Discovery Search CATS_DISCOVERY_ACCESS_RULES 



                                                      
5 As it appears on the AER’s public register. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 52 of 172 
 



Type Description Table 



Rule Rules defining if Site address is returned in NMI Discovery Search CATS_DISCOVERY_SEARCH_RULES 



Rule Jurisdiction rules governing Change Request Initiation CATS_JURISDICTIONAL_RULES 



Rule Change Request Status Notification Rules that specify which 



notifications are generated by MSATS 



CATS_NOTIFICATION_RULES 



Rule The rules governing the use of Objections CATS_OBJECTION_RULES 



Rule Transaction Field Validation Rules CATS_TRANS_FIELD_VALIDATION 



 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 53 of 172 
 



5. MSATS REPORTS 



(a) The following reports are available to Participants from MSATS. 



Table 5-A – MSATS Reports 



Report Name Description 



CATS C1  Data Replication Resynchronisation Report 



CATS C3  NMI Change Request Report  



CATS C4 NMI Master Report 



CATS C7 New Participant Access Report 



CATS C9 NMI Count Report 



MDM RM9  Actual Versus Estimate Data Report 



MDM RM11 Missing Data 



MDM RM13 NMI Datastreams History Report 



MDM RM16 Level 1 Settlement Reconciliation Report 



MDM RM17 Level 3 Settlement Reconciliation Report for Non-Aggregated 



Data 



MDM RM20  PPS Report 



MDM RM21 Level 2 Settlement Reconciliation Report  



MDM RM22  Data Estimation Report 



MDM RM26 MDP Substitution and Estimation Report 



MDM RM27 Automated RM21 Report 



MDM RM37 High Priority Missing Data Report 



MDM RM38 Datastream Missing Data Report 



MDM RM39 Mismatch Data Report 



MDM RM43 UFE Factors by Profile Area 



 



(b) MSATS will produce a report using Transaction Type Code RPTD. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 54 of 172 
 



6. GUIDELINES FOR MANAGING CONCURRENT RETAIL TRANSFERS 



6.1. Definition of concurrent retail transfers 



(a) Concurrent retail transfers are those where there is more than one change of retailer for a 



particular NMI at the same time in MSATS. 



(b) There are two types of concurrent retail transfers in MSATS. 



(i) Type 1 is a concurrent retail transfer where the same FRMP has submitted more than 



one change of retailer Change Request for the one NMI. 



(ii) Type 2 is a concurrent retail transfer request where more than one FRMP has 



submitted a change of retailer Change Request for one NMI. 



6.2. Guidelines 



Type 1 Concurrent Retail Transfers 



(a) MSATS will identify the type 1 concurrent retail transfers and the FRMP that has Initiated 



these Change Requests. 



(b) MSATS will Reject the newly submitted Change Request and a notification will be sent to the 



initiating FRMP detailing the reason for the Rejection. 



(c) The existing Change Request will remain unaffected and active in MSATS. 



Type 2 Concurrent Retail Transfers 



(d) MSATS will identify the type 2 concurrent retail transfers and the FRMPs that have Initiated 



these Change Requests. 



(e) MSATS will Reject the newly submitted Change Request and a notification will be sent to the 



initiating Participant detailing the reason for the Rejection. 



(f) The existing Change Request to change a retailer is Cancelled and notifications will be sent 



to all the parties related to the Change of Retailer Request as per normal notifications (i.e. 



FRMP, MDP, MC etc). The reason for the cancellation shall also be provided in the 



notification. 



(g) The affected FRMPs should determine the reason for the concurrent retail transfers and as 



necessary proceed to investigate who is the preferred FRMP of the End User consistent with 



relevant Jurisdictional requirements. The preferred FRMP should then initiate a single valid 



transfer Change Request. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 55 of 172 
 



7. CHANGE RETAILER – SMALL OR LARGE NMI 



7.1. Application [1000 1010 1020 1030 1040] 



Section 7 applies when one of the following Change Reason Codes applies:  



Change Reason Code Description 



1000 – Change Retailer The date of transfer is on a Prospective Day. 



1010 – Change Retailer – Retrospective Align to 



Meter Read (SMALL only) 



The date of transfer is the date of the last Meter Reading (a 



Retrospective Day). 



1020 – Change Retailer – Retrospective – Long 



Term/Error (LARGE only) 



The date of transfer could be a date agreed between the 



Current FRMP and New FRMP (a Retrospective Day) where the 



actual transfer date was in error. 



In addition, and in Victoria only, the date of transfer could be a 



date agreed by the Current FRMP and New FRMP (a 



Retrospective Day) 



1030 – Change Retailer – Move-In The date of transfer (move-in) is on a Prospective Day. 



1040 – Change Retailer – Move-In – 



Retrospective 



The date of transfer (move-in) would be on a Retrospective 



Day. 



7.2. Conditions Precedent 



(a) The NMI already exists in MSATS6.  



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



(c) The date of the transfer of retailer from the Current FRMP to the New FRMP will be the 



Actual Change Date. 



(d) The Actual Change Date is to be established in accordance with the Read Type Code 



submitted to MSATS by the New FRMP. 



7.3. Initiating Roles 



A New FRMP may initiate a Change Request to effect a change of retailer in accordance with 



section 7.4. 



7.4. FRMP Requirements 



The New FRMP must: 



(a) obtain the Current FRMP’s agreement to retrospectively transfer an End User on a previous 



Meter Reading (applies to CR1010). 



(b) obtain the NMI Checksum. 



(c) confirm that the NMI is valid for the connection point. 



(d) submit a Change Request to initiate the transfer of the End User from which the New FRMP 



has obtained Explicit Informed Consent and provide the following information with the 



Change Request: 



Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date New RP7  



Read Type Code   



                                                      
6 If it doesn’t, the retailer should refer to section 11 and seek LNSP action to establish a NMI. 
7 This should be the Current RP if there is no change of the RP Role.  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 56 of 172 
 



 



(e) nominate itself as the New FRMP; 



(f) where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, if advised by the New MDP or the Current 



MDP that a Meter Reading cannot be obtained in response to a Read Type Code for NSRD 



or a Special Read Date, the New FRMP must either:  



(i) Withdraw the transfer request; or 



(ii) Advise the MDP to read the meter on the NSRD or propose a Special Read 



Date. 



(g) where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, if advised by the New MDP or the Current 



MDP that the NSRD or a Special Read Date is invalid, must either: 



(i) advise the MDP of a valid date; or 



(ii) withdraw the transfer request.  



The Current FRMP must: 



(h) on receipt of a request from the New FRMP for an agreement to retrospectively transfer on 



a previous Meter Reading, respond to the request within 2 business days. 



The New FRMP may: 



(i) populate the Change Request with the identity of the following Roles: 



MPB MPC  



or leave this to the New MC to complete. 



(j) for Change Reason Codes 1000, 1020, 1030 and 1040, if the MDP is changing, provide the 



following additional information: 



MDP   



(k) for Change Reason Code 1020, populate the Change Request with:  



Actual End Date   



(l) for Retrospective Changes, nominate a Proposed Change Date. The limits for Retrospective 



Change dates are provided in section 7.7; and 



(m) withdraw a change of retailer transaction request at any time until the transfer is Completed. 



7.5. MDP Requirements 



The MDP must: 



(n) Once the transfer has Completed, set up the NMI suffix(s) so that they become active on the 



Actual Change Date if this data is not already provided or has changed. 



(o) On receipt of a Data Request for Change Reason Codes 1000, 1010, 1030 or 1040, initiate a 



Change Request to provide the Actual Change Date. 



If the NMI Classification Code is LARGE, the Actual Change Date must be the date 



nominated as the proposed date by the New FRMP unless the date nominated is 



inappropriate, in which case the MDP must advise the New FRMP of the reason why the 



proposed date is inappropriate and agree on the Actual Change Date. 



(p) For Prospective Changes that do not require a Meter Reading, provide the Actual Change 



Date within 2 days of the Actual Change Date. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 57 of 172 
 



(q) For changes that require a Meter Reading, provide the Actual Change Date within 2 days of 



the Meter Reading. 



(r) For Retrospective Changes, where the Jurisdictional rules specify that an Actual Change 



Date is required, ensure that the Actual Change Date submitted is no earlier than the time 



limit specified by the Jurisdiction for the Change Reason Code on the Change Request. 



For example, if the Jurisdictional timeframe for a Change Reason Code is 10 days, the Actual 



Change Date must be no earlier than 10 days prior to the date the Data Request was 



received, even if MSATS would allow an earlier date. 



(s) Where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL and the Read Type Code requires the NSRD or 



the Special Read Date, forward the Meter Reading taken at this time to the Current FRMP, 



New FRMP, and Current LNSP. 



(t) Where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL: 



(i) the MDP must Object to the Change Request if the NSRD nominated by the New 



FRMP is not within two business days prior to, or two business days after, the NSRD, 



or the date nominated by the New FRMP for the Retrospective Change does not 



correspond to an Actual Meter Read Date. 



(ii) the MDP must advise the New FRMP of the failure to take a Meter Reading within 2 



days and await instructions if the next Scheduled Meter Reading or Special Meter 



Reading does not occur within three business days before, or two business days after, 



the NSRD or Special Read Date (as applicable). 



(iii) if the Read Type Code requires an Estimated Reading, prepare the Estimated Reading 



and submit this to MSATS as the Meter Reading related to the Actual Change Date 



(not for a Retrospective Change). 



(iv) the MDP must notify the New FRMP where the Read Type Code is not aligned with 



the method of Meter Reading that can reasonably be facilitated at the metering 



installation and is inconsistent with the Metering Installation Type Code. 



(v) for Retrospective Changes on receipt of a Data Request for an Actual Change Date, 



provide the Actual Change Date within 2 days of receipt of the Data Request. 



(vi) If requested by the New FRMP and allowed in that Jurisdiction, carry out an Actual 



Meter Reading within the time periods specified in the relevant metrology procedure. 



(u) Where the NMI Classification Code is LARGE, validate that the Metering Installation Type 



Code is identified as a type 1, type 2, type 3 or type 4 metering installation. If an error is 



identified, advise the New FRMP and await instructions. 



(v) Where the NMI Classification Code is LARGE, for Retrospective Changes that do not require 



a Meter Reading, provide the Actual Change Date within 2 days of receipt of the Data 



Request. 



7.6. MC Requirements 



The MC must ensure MDP, MPC and MPB roles are correct and if not raise appropriate Change 



Request to update it. Refer to section 30 to 36 for Change Request types for Role Changes. 



7.7. Timeframe Rules 



When preparing a Change Request the New FRMP must choose, for the identified Change Reason 



Codes, a Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective 



Period, as shown in Table 7-A. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 58 of 172 
 



Table 7-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 1000 – Change Retailer 



CR 1030 – Change Retailer – Move-In 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



1 20 0 65 



CR 1010 – Change Retailer – Retrospective Align to Meter Read 



CR 1040 – Change Retailer – Move-In – Retrospective 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



1 20 10 0 



CR 1020 – Change Retailer-Retrospective – Long Term/Error (not SMALL) 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



1 20 130 0 



7.8. Objection Rules 



The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 7-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 



their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 7-A. 



Table 7-B – Objection Rules
**
 



CR 1000 – Change Retailer  



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADMETER ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes   - -  - -  



BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 



NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - -  - - - - - - - - Yes 



DATEBAD ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



NOACC SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



DEBT   - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



SMALL VIC 



CONTRACT 



 



    - - - - - - - - - - - - 



LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 



CR 1010 – Change Retailer – Retrospective Align to Meter Read 



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADMETER SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes   - -  - -  



BADPARTY SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



DECLINED SMALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 



NOTAPRD SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 



DATEBAD SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 59 of 172 
 



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



DEBT SMALL  - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



VIC 



RETRO SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



                 



CR 1020 – Change Retailer – Retrospective - Long Term/Error (not SMALL) 



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADMETER LARGE ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - -  - -  



BADPARTY LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



DECLINED LARGE ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 



NOTAPRD LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 



DATEBAD LARGE ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



RETRO LARGE ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



DEBT     - - - - - - - - - - - - 



CONTRACT     - - - - - - - - - - - - 



LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 



CR 1030 – Change Retailer – Move-In  



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADMETER ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes   - -  - -  



BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 



NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 



NOACC SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



CONTRACT LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 



CR 1040 – Change Retailer – Move-In – Retrospective  



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADMETER ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes   - -  - -  



BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 



NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 



DATEBAD ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



NOACC SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



CONTRACT LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 60 of 172 
 



7.9. Change Request Status Notification Rules 



The Change Request Status Notification Rules for the Change Reason Codes identified in section 



7.1 are specified in Table 7-C. 



Table 7-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**



 



CR 1000 – Change Retailer 



CR 1010 – Change Retailer – Retrospective Align to Meter Read 



CR 1030 – Change Retailer – Move-In 



CR 1040 – Change Retailer – Move-In – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes  Yes  - - Yes Yes 



COMPLETED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes  Yes  - - Yes Yes 



OBJECTED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes  - - Yes Yes 



PENDING Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes  - - Yes Yes 



REJECTED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 



REQUESTED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 



CR 1020 – Change Retailer – Retrospective – Long Term/Error (not SMALL) 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 



COMPLETED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 



OBJECTED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 



PENDING Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 



REJECTED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 



REQUESTED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 61 of 172 
 



8. CHANGE RETAILER – ERROR CORRECTIONS – SMALL NMIS 



8.1. Application [1021 1022 1023 1024 1025 1026 1027 1028 1029] 



Please note that the appropriate Change Request for a LARGE NMI is CR 1020 – Change Retailer – 



Retrospective – Long Term/Error (not SMALL8). More information about this Change Request is 



provided in Section 7.  



Section 8 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Description 



1021 – Error Correction – Missed 



CR1500 



Used where the proposed transfer date has been missed due to the 



MDP not being able to provide a corresponding Actual Change Date on 



the original Change Request (CR 1000, 1010, 1030 or 1040). 



1022 – Incorrect transfer date Used where the MDP supplies an incorrect Actual Change Date and the 



original Change Request (CR 1000, 1010, 1030 or 1040) was Completed 



on the incorrect date. 



1023 – New NMI –  Update/Correct 



FRMP on Greenfield Site 



Used where the LNSP has nominated an incorrect retailer on a newly 



created NMI or a FRMP other than the FRMP who requested the 



Allocate NMI requests the supply to be connected.  



1024 – Transfer missed Used where the New Retailer failed to initiate the transfer in time. 



Acceptable reasons for the use of this code are: 



• Where a Site has more than one NMI and not all of them were 



transferred. The error correction transaction will be used to transfer 



the other NMI(s) missed. 



• Re-energisation of Site, with or without End User notification (End 



User request to retailer.) 



1025 – Transferred in Error Used where the Current FRMP transferred the NMI in error and requests 



the New Retailer to transfer it back. A wrong NMI was selected by the 



Current FRMP to transfer. 



1026 – Cooled Off Used where an End User signs a contract with a New Retailer. The End 



User then cancels the request within the Cooling-Off Period. New 



Retailer fails to withdraw the transfer request (transfer Pending) or was 



unable to do so (transfer Completed). 



1027 – Customer Moves Out on or 



before CR completion date 



Used where a End User signs a contract with a New Retailer but moves 



out on or before the Change Request completion date (transfer date). 



1028 – Non-account holder signs 



contract 



Used where a person other than the End User at a Site signs a contract 



with a New Retailer. The End User for the Site then discovers this and 



does not wish to transfer. 



1029 – Other Error Corrections (SMALL 



only) 



Used to correct errors caused by Participant process or systems issues; 



for example, late processing of contractual paperwork by initiating 



Participant. 



These may be reasons other than those covered by CR 1021 – 1028. 



8.2. Conditions Precedent 



(a) The NMI exists in MSATS.9  



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL. This section applies to the metering installations 



types 4, 4A, 5, 6, or 7. 



                                                      
8 Please note that “not SMALL” refers to LARGE, WHOLESAL, INTERCON, GENERATR or SAMPLE NMIs. 
9 If the NMI does not already exist in MSATS, the retailer should refer to section 11 “Create a NMI” and seek LNSP action to establish 



the NMI. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 62 of 172 
 



(c) The date of the transfer of retailer from the Current FRMP to the New FRMP will be the 



Actual Change Date. 



(d) The Actual Change Date is to be established in accordance with the Read Type Code 



submitted to MSATS by the New FRMP. 



8.3. Initiating Roles 



A New FRMP may initiate a Change Request to effect a change of retailer in accordance with 



section 8.4. 



8.4. FRMP Requirements 



The New FRMP must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 



Change Request. 



(c) Submit a Change Request to initiate the transfer of the End User from which the New FRMP 



has obtained Explicit Informed Consent. 



(d) Confirm that the NMI is a greenfield site and has never had a metering installation installed 



at the connection point.(applies to CR1023). 



(e) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date Read Type Code 



(f) Nominate itself as the New FRMP. 



The New FRMP may: 



(g) Populate the Change Request with the identity of the following Roles: 



RP MPB MPC 



MDP   



or leave this action to the New MC to complete. 



(h) Populate the Change Request with: 



Actual End Date   



(i) For Retrospective Changes, nominate a Proposed Change Date in accordance with the 



Timeframe Rules. 



(j) Withdraw a change of retailer transaction request at any time until the transfer is 



Completed. 



8.5. MDP Requirements 



Once the transfer has Completed, the MDP must set up the NMI suffix(s) so that they become 



active on the Actual Change Date if this data is not already provided or has changed except when 



a Greenfield site is transferred using a CR 1023. 



8.6. MC Requirements 



The MC must ensure MDP, MPC and MPB roles are correct and if not raise appropriate Change 



Request to update. Refer to section 30 to 36 for Change Request types for Role Changes. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 63 of 172 
 



8.7. Timeframe Rules 



When preparing a Change Request, the New FRMP must choose, for the identified Change Reason 



Codes, a Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective 



Period, as shown in the Table 8-A. 



Table 8-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 1021 – Error correction – Missed CR1500 



CR 1022 – Incorrect transfer date 



CR 1023 – New NMI –  Update/Correct FRMP on Greenfield Site 



CR 1024 – Transfer missed 



CR 1025 – Transferred in error 



CR 1026 – Cooled Off 



CR 1027 – Customer moves out on or before CR completion date 



CR 1028 – Non-account holder signs contract 



CR 1029 – Other error corrections (SMALL only) 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



1 20 130 0 



8.8. Objection Rules 



The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 8-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 



their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 8-A. 



Table 8-B – Objection Rules
**
 



CR 1021 – Error Correction – Missed CR1500 



CR 1022 – Incorrect transfer date 



Objection 



Code 



NMI Class Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADMETER SMALL ALL     Yes Yes         



DATEBAD SMALL ALL - Yes - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



DECLINED SMALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 



NOTAPRD SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 



NOTRANS SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



DEBT SMALL VIC 



 



- Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



CR 1023 – New NMI –Update/Correct FRMP on Greenfield Site 



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADMETER SMALL ALL     Yes Yes         



DATEBAD SMALL ALL - Yes - - Yes - - - - - - - - - 



DECLINED SMALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 



NOTAPRD SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 



CRCODE SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



BADDATA SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 64 of 172 
 



CR 1024 – Transfer missed 



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADMETER SMALL ALL     Yes Yes         



DATEBAD SMALL ALL - Yes - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



DECLINED SMALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 



NOTAPRD SMALL ALL -  - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 



CRCODE SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



NOTAWARE SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



DEBT SMALL VIC 



 



- Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



CR 1025 – Transferred in Error 



CR 1026 – Cooled Off 



CR 1027 – Customer Moves Out on or before CR completion date 



CR 1028 – Non-account holder signs contract 



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADMETER SMALL ALL     Yes Yes         



DATEBAD SMALL ALL - Yes - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



DECLINED SMALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 



NOTAPRD SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 



CRCODE SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



NOTAWARE SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



NOTRANS SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



DEBT SMALL VIC 



 



- Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



CR 1029 – Other Error Corrections (SMALL only ) 



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



DATEBAD SMALL ALL - Yes - - Yes Yes - - - -  Yes - - 



DECLINED SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - Yes - - - 



NOTAPRD SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 



RETRO SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



BADMETER SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - -  -  



BADPARTY SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes - - 



DEBT SMALL VIC 



 



- Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 65 of 172 
 



8.9. Change Request Status Notification Rules 



The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 8-C. 



Table 8-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**



 



CR 1021 – Error Correction – Missed CR1500 



CR 1022 – Incorrect transfer date 



CR 1023 – New NMI –  Update/Correct FRMP on Greenfield Site 



CR 1024 – Transfer missed 



CR 1025 – Transferred in Error 



CR 1026 – Cooled Off 



CR 1027 – Customer Moves Out on or before CR completion date 



CR 1028 – Non-account holder signs contract 



CR 1029 – Other Error Corrections (SMALL only) 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status 



Change  



FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 



COMPLETED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 



OBJECTED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 



PENDING Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 



REJECTED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 



REQUESTED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 66 of 172 
 



9. CHANGE RETAILER – EMBEDDED NETWORKS – SMALL OR LARGE 



9.1. Application [1080 1081 1082 1083 1084] 



Section 9 applies when one of the following Change Reason Codes applies:  



Change Reason Code Comment 



1080 – Change Retailer – Child NMI  The date of transfer is a Prospective Change. 



1081 – Change Retailer – Child NMI – 



Retrospective Align Meter Read 



The date of transfer would be the date of the last Meter Reading (a 



Retrospective Change). 



1082 – Change Retailer Child – 



Retrospective: Long Term/Error 



The date of transfer could be a date agreed by the current and New 



FRMP (a Retrospective Change) where the actual transfer date was 



in error. 



In addition, and for Victoria only, the date of transfer could be a 



date agreed by the Current FRMP and New FRMP (a Retrospective 



Change) to which both parties agree that the transfer should have 



been effected.  



1083 – Change Retailer Child NMI – Move-



In 



The date of transfer (move-in) would be on a Prospective Day. 



1084 – Change Retailer Child NMI – Move-



In – Retrospective 



The date of transfer (move-in) would be a Retrospective Day.  



9.2. Conditions Precedent 



(a) The NMI exists in MSATS.10  



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



(c) The date of the transfer of retailer from the Current FRMP to the New FRMP will be the 



Actual Change Date. 



(d) The Actual Change Date is to be established in accordance with the Read Type Code 



submitted to MSATS by the New FRMP. 



9.3. Initiating Roles 



A New FRMP may initiate a Change Request to effect a change of retailer in accordance with 



section 9.4. 



9.4. FRMP Requirements 



The New FRMP must: 



(a) Obtain agreement from the Current FRMP to retrospectively transfer an End User on a 



previous Meter Reading (applies to CR1081). 



(b) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(c) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 



Change Request. 



(d) Submit a Change Request to initiate the transfer of the End User for which the New FRMP 



has obtained an Explicit Informed Consent. 



(e) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



                                                      
10 If it doesn’t, the retailer should refer to section 12 and seek ENM action to establish the NMI. 



 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 67 of 172 
 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date New RP11 



Read Type Code   



(f) Nominate itself as the New FRMP. 



(g) Where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, if advised by the New MDP or Current MDP 



that a Meter Reading cannot be obtained in response to a Read Type Code for NSRD or a 



Special Read Date, must either: 



(i) Withdraw the transfer request; or 



(ii) Advise the MDP to read the meter on the NSRD or propose a Special Read Date. 



(h) Where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, if advised by the New MDP or Current MDP 



that the NSRD or a Special Read Date is invalid, must either: 



(i) Advise the MDP of a valid date; or 



(ii) Withdraw the transfer request. 



The Current FRMP must: 



(i) on receipt of a request from the New FRMP for an agreement to retrospectively transfer on 



a previous Meter Reading, respond to the request within 2 business days. 



The New FRMP may: 



(j) Populate the Change Request with the identity of the following Roles: 



MPB MPC  



or leave this action to the New MC to complete. 



(k) For Change Reason Codes 1080, 1081, 1082, 1083 and 1084, if the MDP is changing, populate 



the Change Request with the following additional information: 



MDP   



(l) For Change Reason Code 1082, populate the Change Request with:  



Actual End Date   



(m) Nominate, in accordance with paragraph (e), a Proposed Change Date. The time limits for 



Retrospective Changes are provided in section 9.7. 



(n) Withdraw a change of retailer transaction request at any time until the transfer is 



Completed. 



9.5. MDP Requirements 



The MDP must: 



(a) Once the transfer has Completed, set up the NMI suffix(s) so that they become active on the 



Actual Change Date. 



(b) On receipt of a Data Request for Change Reason Codes 1080, 1081, 1083 or 1084, Initiate a 



Change Request to provide the Actual Change Date. 



(c) Where the NMI Classification Code is LARGE, it must be the date nominated as the 



proposed date by the New FRMP unless the date nominated is inappropriate, in which case 



the MDP must advise the New FRMP of the reason why the proposed date is inappropriate 



and mutually agree on what the Actual Change Date should be. 



                                                      
11 This should be the Current RP if there is no change or RP role. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 68 of 172 
 



(d) If the Read Type Code does not require a read, validate that the Metering Installation Type 



Code is identified as a type 1, type 2, type 3 or type 4 metering installation. If an error is 



identified, advise the New FRMP. 



(e) For Prospective Changes that do not require a Meter Reading, provide the Actual Change 



Date within 2 days of the Actual Change Date being reached. 



(f) For Retrospective Changes that do not require a Meter Reading, provide the Actual Change 



Date within 2 days of receipt of the Data Request. 



(g) For Retrospective Changes, ensure that the Actual Change Date submitted is no earlier than 



the time limit specified by the Jurisdiction for the Change Reason Code on the Change 



Request. 



For example, if the Jurisdictional timeframe for a Change Reason Code is 10 days, the Actual 



Change Date must be no earlier than 10 days prior to the date the Data Request was 



received, even if MSATS would allow an earlier date. 



(h) For changes that require a Meter Reading, provide the Actual Change Date within 2 days of 



the Meter Reading. 



(i) Where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, where the Read Type Code requires the NSRD 



or the Special Read Date, forward the Meter Reading taken at this time to the Current 



FRMP, New FRMP, Current ENLR. 



(j) Where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, if the NSRD or Special Read Date nominated 



by the New FRMP as the proposed date is not within a date range that is two business days 



prior to or two business days subsequent to the Scheduled Reading Date, or the date 



nominated by the New FRMP for the Retrospective Change does not correspond to a read 



date, the MDP must Object to the Change Request. 



(k) Where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, if the next Scheduled Meter Reading or 



Special Meter Reading does not occur within a date range that is three business days before 



or two business days after the Special Read Date or NSRD the MDP must advise the New 



FRMP of the failure to take a Meter Reading within 2 days and await instructions from the 



FRMP. 



(l) Where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, if the Read Type Code requires an Estimated 



Reading, prepare the Estimated Reading and submit this to MSATS as the Actual Change 



Date. 



(m) Where the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, if the Read Type Code requires an End User 



Meter Reading, obtain it from the New FRMP and submit this value to MSATS as the Actual 



Change Date (only if allowed by the Jurisdiction). 



(n) If the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, for Retrospective Changes, where the Meter 



Reading occurred prior the Change Request being submitted, provide the Actual Change 



Date 2 days of receipt of the Data Request. 



(o) If the NMI Classification Code is SMALL, if requested by the New FRMP, carry out an Actual 



Meter Reading within the time periods specified in the metrology procedure (only if allowed 



by the Jurisdiction). 



9.6. MC Requirements 



The MC must ensure MDP, MPC and MPB roles are correct and if not raise appropriate Change 



Request to update. Refer to section 30 to 36 for Change Request types for Role Changes. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 69 of 172 
 



9.7. Timeframe Rules 



When preparing a Change Request, the New FRMP must choose, for the identified Change Reason 



Codes, a Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and the Retrospective 



Period, as shown in Table 9-A. 



Table 9-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 1080 – Change Retailer – Child NMI  



Jurisdiction Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



ALL 1 20 0 65 



CR 1081 – Change Retailer – Child NMI – Retrospective – Align Meter Rd 



Jurisdiction Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing 



Period (business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



ALL** 1 20 10 0 



CR 1082 – Change Retailer Child – Retrospective: Long Term/Error 



Jurisdiction Objection Logging 



Period (business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



SMALL 



NMI 



LARGE 



NMI 



SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 



ALL 1  20  130 0 



ACT  1  10 130 0 



NSW  1  10 130 0 



VIC  1  20 130 0 



QLD  1  20 130 0 



SA  1  20 130 0 



CR 1083 – Change Retailer Child NMI – Move-In 



Jurisdiction Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing 



Period (business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



ALL 1 20 0 65 



CR 1084 – Change Retailer Child NMI – Move-In – Retrospective 



Jurisdiction Objection Logging 



Period (business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



ALL 1 20 10 0 



9.8. Objection Rules 



The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 9-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 



their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 9-A. 



Table 9-B – Objection Rules
**
 



CR 1080 – Change Retailer – Child NMI 



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADMETER ALL ALL - - -  Yes Yes   - -  - - - 



NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 70 of 172 
 



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 



LARGE NSW Yes 



NOACC SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



DEBT SMALL VIC - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



CONTRACT LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 



CR 1081 – Change Retailer – Child NMI – Retrospective Align Meter Rd  



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADMETER SMALL ALL - - -  Yes Yes   - -  - - - 



BADPARTY SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



DECLINED SMALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 



NOTAPRD SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



DATEBAD SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



DEBT SMALL VIC - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



RETRO SMALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



CONTRACT LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 



CR 1082 – Change Retailer Child – Retrospective: Long Term/Error 



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



DATEBAD ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



BADMETER  ALL ALL - - -  Yes Yes   - -  - - - 



BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 



NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



DEBT SMALL VIC - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



RETRO SMALL NSW 



SA 



VIC 



- Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



CONTRACT LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 



CR 1083 – Change Retailer Child NMI – Move-In 



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADMETER ALL ALL - - -  Yes Yes   - -  - - - 



BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 



NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



NOACC SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



CONTRACT LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 71 of 172 
 



CR 1084 – Change Retailer Child NMI – Move-In – Retrospective 



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADMETER ALL ALL - - -  Yes Yes   - -  - - - 



BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - Yes - - - 



NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



DATEBAD ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



NOACC SMALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



CONTRACT LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



9.9. Change Request Status Notification Rules 



The Change Request Status Notification Rules for the Change Reason Codes identified in section 



9.1 are specified in Table 9-C. 



Table 9-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 



CR 1080 – Change Retailer – Child NMI 



CR 1081 – Change Retailer – Child NMI – Retrospective Align Meter Rd 



CR 1083 – Change Retailer Child NMI – Move-In 



CR 1084 – Change Retailer Child NMI – Move-In – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 



COMPLETED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 



OBJECTED Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 



PENDING Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 



REJECTED Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 



REQUESTED Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 



CR 1082 – Change Retailer Child – Retrospective: Long Term/Error 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 



COMPLETED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 



OBJECTED Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 



PENDING Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 



REJECTED Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 



REQUESTED Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - Yes Yes 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 72 of 172 
 



10. PROVIDE DATA – PROVIDE ACTUAL CHANGE DATE – SMALL OR LARGE 



10.1. Application [1500] 



Section 10 applies to the following Change Reason Code: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



1500 – Provide Actual Change Date 



(MDP) 



The MDP is required to provide MSATS with the Actual Change Date 



following the Initiation of a Change Request by a FRMP or MC requiring an 



Actual Change Date. 



10.2. Conditions Precedent 



(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The FRMP or the MC has Initiated a Change Request requiring an Actual Change Date. 



(c) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



(d) The MDP has received a Data Request for the provision of the Actual Change Date. 



10.3. Initiating Roles 



The MDP may initiate a Change Request to submit an Actual Change Date to MSATS in 



accordance with section 10.4. 



10.4. MDP Requirements 



The MDP must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 



Change Request. 



(c) Provide the Actual Change Date to MSATS within 2 days of reading the meter or otherwise 



prescribed by the relevant Jurisdiction. In the case of a Retrospective Change, it must be 



provided within 2 days of notification. 



(d) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Actual Change Date Related Change Request ID 



MDP   



10.5. Timeframe Rules 



When preparing a Change Request, the MDP must choose a Proposed Change Date that lies 



between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 10-A. 



Table 10-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 1500 – Provide Actual Change Date (MDP) 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



0 0 20 0 



10.6. Objection Rules 



Objections are not permitted. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 73 of 172 
 



10.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 



The Change Request Status Notification Rules for the Change Reason Codes identified in section 



10.1 are specified inTable 10-B. 



Table 10-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 



CR 1500 – Provide Actual Change Date (MDP) 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



COMPLETED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REJECTED - - - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - 



REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 74 of 172 
 



11. CREATE NMI – CREATE A NMI – SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 



11.1. Application [2000 2001] 



Section 11 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



2000 – Create NMI Details Used where the New LNSP establishes the initial set of information in MSATS 



about a connection point to apply from a Prospective Day. 



2001 – Create NMI Details – 



Retrospective 



Used where the New LNSP establishes the initial set of information in MSATS 



about a connection point to apply from a Retrospective Day. 



11.2. Conditions Precedent 



(a) The NMI does not exist in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL, LARGE or NCONUML. 



11.3. Initiating Roles 



A New LNSP may initiate a Change Request to create a NMI record in MSATS in accordance with 



section 11.4. 



11.4. LNSP Requirements 



The New LNSP must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 



Change Request. 



 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date TNI Code 



DLF Code NMI Classification Code Jurisdiction Code 



FRMP (as nominated) LR RoLR 



RP MDP MPB 



MPC NMI Status Code Locality 



State Postcode  



(d) Nominate itself as the New LNSP. 



(e) Populate the Change Request with values for the following address fields (as appropriate): 



EITHER 



DPID Flat Number Flat Type 



Floor Number Floor Type House Number 



House Number Suffix Location Descriptor Lot Number 



Street Name Street Suffix Street Type 



OR 



Unstructured Address 1 Unstructured Address 2 Unstructured Address 3 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 75 of 172 
 



 



The New LNSP may populate the Change Request with the following information: 



Parent Name Building name Feeder Class 



Customer Threshold Code    



11.5. MPB Requirements 



On receipt of the Change Request Status notification for the Completed status, the New MPB must 



provide the Metering Installation Type Code to MSATS when known, using Change Reason Code 



3000 or 3001. 



11.6. Timeframe Rules 



When preparing a Change Request, the New LNSP must choose, for the identified Change Reason 



Codes, a Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective 



Period, as shown inTable 11-A. 



Table 11-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 2000 – Create NMI Details 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 



1 1 10 20 0 65 



CR 2001 – Create NMI Details – Retrospective  



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



1 10 130 0 



11.7. Objection Rules 



The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in  Table 11-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 



their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 11-A. 



Table 11-B – Objection Rules
**
 



CR 2000 – Create NMI Details 



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



NOTRESP SMALL ALL Yes - - - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - - - 



LARGE - 



CR 2001 – Create NMI Details – Retrospective 



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



NOTRESP SMALL ALL Yes - - - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - - - 



LARGE - 



RETRO ALL ALL Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - - 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 76 of 172 
 



11.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 



The Change Request Status Notification Rules for the Change Reason Codes identified in section 



11.1 are specified in Table 11-C. 



Table 11-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 



CR 2000 – Create NMI Details 



CR 2001 – Create NMI Details – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status 



Change  



FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED Yes - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



COMPLETED Yes - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



OBJECTED Yes - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



PENDING Yes - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



REJECTED Yes - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



REQUESTED Yes - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 77 of 172 
 



12. CREATE NMI – CREATE CHILD NMI – SMALL OR LARGE 



12.1. Application [2020 2021] 



Section 12 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



2020 – Create NMI Details – Child Used where the New ENM establishes the initial set of information in 



MSATS about a connection point that is, or will be, connected to an 



embedded network to apply from a Prospective Day. 



2021 – Create NMI Details – Child – 



Retrospective 



Used where the New ENM establishes the initial set of information in 



MSATS about a connection point that is, or will be, connected to an 



embedded network to apply from a Retrospective Day. 



12.2. Conditions Precedent 



(a) The NMI does not exist in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



12.3. Initiating Roles 



A New ENM may initiate a Change Request to create a NMI record in MSATS in accordance with 



section 12.4. 



12.4. ENM Requirements 



The New ENM must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 



Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date TNI Code 



DLF Code NMI Classification Code Jurisdiction Code 



Child Name FRMP (as nominated) LR 



RoLR RP MDP 



MPB MPC NMI Status Code 



Locality State Postcode 



LNSP; as the ENM    



 



(d) Nominate itself as the LNSP 



(e) Populate the Change Request with values for the following address fields (as appropriate): 



EITHER 



DPID Flat Number Flat Type 



Floor Number Floor Type House Number 



House Number Suffix Location Descriptor Lot Number 



Street Name Street Suffix Street Type 



OR  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 78 of 172 
 



Unstructured Address 1 Unstructured Address 2 Unstructured Address 3 



 



The New ENM may populate the Change Request with the following information: 



Parent Name Building Name Feeder Class 



Customer Threshold Code    



12.5. MPB Requirements 



The New MPB must on receipt of the Change Request Status notification for the Completed status, 



provide the Metering Installation Type Code to MSATS using Change Reason Code 3000 or 3001. 



12.6. Timeframe Rules 



When preparing a Change Request, the New ENM must choose a Proposed Change Date that lies 



between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 12-A. 



Table 12-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 2020 – Create NMI Details – Child 



Objection Logging Period  



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 



1 1 10 20 0 65 



CR 2021 – Create NMI Details – Child – Retrospective 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 



1 1 10 20 130 0 



12.7. Objection Rules 



The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 12-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 



their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 12-A. 



Table 12-B – Objection Rules
**
 



CR 2020 – Create NMI Details – Child 



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADPARTY SMALL NSW 



VIC 



SA 



- - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



LARGE ALL 



NOTRESP SMALL NSW 



VIC 



SA 



Yes - - - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - - - 



LARGE ALL 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 79 of 172 
 



CR 2021 – Create NMI Details – Child – Retrospective 



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADPARTY SMALL NSW 



VIC 



SA 



- - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



LARGE ALL 



NOTRESP SMALL NSW 



VIC 



SA 



Yes - 



 



- 



 



- 



 



Yes 



 



- 



 



Yes 



 



- 



 



- 



 



- 



 



Yes 



 



- 



 



- 



 



- 



 



LARGE ALL 



RETRO SMALL NSW 



VIC 



SA 



Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



LARGE ALL 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



12.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 



The Change Request Status Notification Rules for the Change Reason Codes identified in section 



12.1 are specified in Table 12-C. 



Table 12-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 



CR 2020 – Create NMI Details – Child 



CR 2021 – Create NMI Details – Child – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



COMPLETED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - -  - Yes - 



OBJECTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



PENDING Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



REJECTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



REQUESTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 80 of 172 
 



13. CREATE NMI – CREATE NMI, METERING INSTALLATION DETAILS AND NMI 



DATASTREAM – SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 



13.1. Application [2500 2501] 



Section 13 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



2500 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter 



Details 



Used where the New LNSP is able to provide the Datastream and 



metering installation details at the same time it establishes the 



initial set of information in MSATS for a connection point to apply 



from a Prospective Day. 



2501 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter 



Details – Retrospective 



Used where the New LNSP is able to provide the Datastream and 



metering installation details at the same time it establishes the 



initial set of information in MSATS for a connection point to apply 



from a Retrospective Day. 



13.2. Conditions Precedent 



(a) The NMI does not exist in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL, LARGE or NCONUML. 



13.3. Initiating Roles 



If the New LNSP meets the condition imposed by section 13.2 the New LNSP may initiate a Change 



Request to create a NMI, metering installation details and NMI Datastream in MSATS in 



accordance with section13.4. 



13.4. LNSP Requirements 



The New LNSP must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 



Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date TNI Code 



DLF Code NMI Classification Code Jurisdiction Code 



FRMP (as nominated) LR RoLR 



RP MDP MPB 



MPC NMI Status Code Locality 



State Postcode Meter Serial ID (at least one) 



Metering Installation Type Code 



(for each meter) 



Meter Register Status Code (for 



each meter) 



Register ID (at least one for each 



meter) 



Register Identifier Status Code 



(for each register) 



Network Tariff Code Actual/Cumulative Indicator (for 



each register) 



Controlled Load Indicator (for 



each register) 



Dial Format (for each register) Multiplier Value (for each 



register) 



Time of Day Code (for each 



register) 



Unit of Measure Code (for each 



register) 



NMI Suffix (at least one) 



Datastream Type (for each suffix) Profile Name (for each suffix) ADL (for each suffix) 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 81 of 172 
 



Datastream Status Code (for 



each suffix) 



MDM Contributory Suffix (for 



each register) 



 



 



(d) Nominate itself as the New LNSP. 



(e) Provide the ADL if this value is not otherwise provided by the New FRMP. 



(f) Populate the Change Request with values for the following address fields (as applicable), 



EITHER 



DPID Flat Number Flat Type 



Floor Number Floor Type House Number 



House Number suffix Location Descriptor Lot Number 



Street Name Street Suffix Street Type 



OR 



Unstructured Address 1 Unstructured Address 2 Unstructured Address 3 



The New LNSP may: 



(g) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 



Parent Name Building name Feeder Class 



Customer Threshold Code    



(h) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each meter:  



Additional Site information NSRD Meter Location 



Meter Hazard Meter Route Meter Use 



Meter Point Meter Manufacturer Meter Model 



Transformer Location Transformer Type Transformer Ratio 



Meter Constant Last Test Date Next Test Date 



Test Result Accuracy Test Result Notes Test Performed By 



Measurement Type Meter Program Meter Read Type 



Remote Phone Number Communication Equipment Type Communication Protocol 



Data Conversion Arrangements Data Validation Arrangements Estimation Instructions 



Asset Management Plan Details Calibration Tables (details of any 



calibration factors programmed 



into the meter) 



Password Details (the read and 



time set passwords only, 



separated by a space; the write 



password is not to be recorded 



in MSATS) 



Test and Calibration Program 



Details 



User Access Rights Details (i.e. 



details of any End User access to 



the metering installation such as 



pulse outputs) 



 



(i) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each register: 



Network Tariff Code Additional 



Information 



Demand Value 1, if the Network 



Tariff includes a demand 



component 



Demand Value 2, if the Network 



Tariff includes a second demand 



component 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 82 of 172 
 



13.5. Timeframe Rules 



When preparing a Change Request, the New LNSP must choose, for the identified Change Reason 



Codes, a Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective 



Period, as shown inTable 13-A. 



Table 13-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 2500 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter Details 



Objection Logging Period  



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period  



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 



1 1 10 20 0 65 



CR 2501 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter Details – Retrospective 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 



1 1 10 20 130 0 



13.6. Objection Rules 



The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 13-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 



their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 13-A. 



Table 13-B – Objection Rules
**
 



CR 2500 – Create NMI, Datastream + Meter Details 



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADPARTY SMALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



LARGE - 



NOTRESP ALL ALL Yes - - - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - - - 



CR 2501 – Create NMI, Datastream + Meter Details – Retro 



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



NOTRESP ALL ALL Yes - - - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - - - 



RETRO ALL ALL Yes  - - - - - - - - - - - - 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 83 of 172 
 



13.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 



The Change Request Status Notification Rules for the Change Reason Codes identified in section 



13.1 are specified in Table 13-C. 



Table 13-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 



CR 2500 – Create NMI, Datastream + Meter Details 



CR 2501 – Create NMI, Datastream + Meter Details – Retro 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED Yes - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



COMPLETED Yes - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



OBJECTED Yes - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



PENDING Yes - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



REJECTED Yes - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



REQUESTED Yes - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 84 of 172 
 



14. CREATE NMI – CREATE NMI, METERING INSTALLATION DETAILS AND MDM 



DATASTREAM – CHILD NMI (SMALL OR LARGE) 



14.1. Application [2520 2521] 



Section 14 applies to the following Change Reason Codes:  



Change Reason Code Comment 



2520 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter 



Details – Child NMI 



 



Used where the New ENM makes a Prospective Chage to the 



Datastream and metering installation details at the same time it 



establishes the initial set of information in MSATS about a 



connection point that is connected to an embedded network.  



2521 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter – 



Child NMI - Retrospective 



 



Used where the New ENM makes a Retrospective Chage to the 



Datastream and metering installation details at the same time it 



establishes the initial set of information in MSATS about a 



connection point that is connected to an embedded network.  



14.2. Conditions Precedent 



(a) The NMI does not exist in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI classification code is SMALL or LARGE. 



14.3. Initiating Roles 



(a) A New ENM may initiate a Change Request to create a NMI, metering installation details 



and MDM Datastream for an embedded network in the MSATS system in accordance with 



clause 14.4. 



(b) The New ENM must use one of the following Change Reason Codes 2520 or 2521 to 



establish a Change Request. 



14.4. ENM Requirements 



The New ENM must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the initiation of the 



Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date TNI Code 



DLF Code NMI Classification code Jurisdiction Code 



FRMP (as nominated) LR ROLR 



RP MDP MPB 



MPC LNSP; as the ENM NMI Status Code 



Child Name Locality State 



Postcode Meter Serial ID (at least one) Metering Installation Type Code 



(for each meter) 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 85 of 172 
 



Meter Register Status Code (for 



each meter) 



Register ID (at least one for each 



meter) 



Register Identifier Status Code 



(for each register) 



Network Tariff Code Actual/Cumulative Indicator (for 



each register) 



Controlled Load Indicator (for 



each register) 



Dial Format (for each register) Multiplier Value (for each 



register) 



Time of Day Code (for each 



register) 



Unit of Measure Code (for each 



register) 



NMI Suffix (at least one) Datastream Type (for each suffix) 



Profile Name (for each suffix) ADL (for each suffix) Datastream Status Code (for 



each suffix) 



MDM Contributory Suffix (for 



each register) 



  



(d) Nominate itself as the new LNSP. 



(e) Populate the Change Request with values for the following address fields (as applicable): 



EITHER: 



DPID Flat Number Flat Type 



Floor Number Floor Type House Number 



House Number Suffix Location Descriptor Lot Number 



Street Name Street Suffix Street Type 



OR  



Unstructured Address 1 Unstructured Address 2 Unstructured Address 3 



The New ENM may: 



(f) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 



Embedded Network Parent 



Name 



Building Name Feeder Class 



Customer Threshold Code    



 



(g) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each meter:  



Additional Site Information NSRD Meter Location 



Meter Hazard Meter Route Meter Use 



Meter Point Meter Manufacturer Meter Model 



Transformer Location Transformer Type Transformer Ratio 



Meter Constant Last Test Date Next Test Date 



Test Result Accuracy Test Result Notes Test Performed By 



Measurement Type Meter Program Meter Read Type 



Remote Phone Number Communication Equipment Type Communication Protocol 



Data Conversion Arrangements Data Validation Arrangements Estimation Instructions 



Asset Management Plan Details Calibration Tables (details of any 



calibration factors programmed 



into the meter) 



Password Details (the read and 



time set passwords only, 



separated by a space; the write 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 86 of 172 
 



password is not to be recorded 



in MSATS) 



Test And Calibration Program 



details 



User Access Rights Details (i.e. 



details of any End User access to 



the metering installation such as 



pulse outputs) 



 



(h) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each register: 



Network Tariff Code Additional 



Information 



Demand Value 1, if the Network 



Tariff includes a demand 



component 



Demand Value 2, if the Network 



Tariff includes a second demand 



component 



14.5. Timeframe Rules 



The Timeframe Rules are shown in Table 14-A. 



Table 14-A – Time frame rules 



CR 2520 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter Details – Child NMI 



Objection Logging Period  



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period  



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 



1 1 10 20 0 65 



CR 2521 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter – Child NMI – Retrospective 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 



1 1 10 20 130 0 



14.6. Objection Rules 



The ’Yes’ Roles specified in inTable 14-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 



their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 14-A. 



Table 14-B – Objection Rules** 



CR 2520 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter Details – Child NMI 



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



NOTRESP ALL ALL Yes - - - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - Yes - 



CR 2521 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter – Child NMI - Retrospective 



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



NOTRESP ALL ALL Yes - - - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - Yes - 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 87 of 172 
 



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



RETRO 
SMALL 



NSW 



VIC 



SA 



Yes              



LARGE ALL 



**  N = New Role, C = Current Role.  



14.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 



The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified inTable 14-C. 



Table 14-C – Change request status notification rules** 



CR 2520 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter Details - Child NMI 



CR 2521 – Create NMI, Datastream & Meter Details – Child NMI - Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE & ROLE STATUS – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



COMPLETED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - 



OBJECTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



PENDING Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



REJECTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



REQUESTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



**  N = New Role, C = Current Role.   











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 88 of 172 
 



15. MAINTAIN METERING – CREATE METERING INSTALLATION DETAILS – SMALL, 



LARGE OR NCONUML 



15.1. Application [3000 3001] 



Section 15 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



3000 – Create Metering Installation 



Details 



Used where the Current MPB makes a Prospective Change to the initial 



set of information in MSATS about the metering installation details, and 



there is no associated meter removal for the NMI for the same effective 



date.  



3001 – Create Metering Installation 



Details – Retrospective 



Used where the Current MPB makes a Retrospective Change to the 



initial set of information in MSATS about the metering installation 



details, and there is no associated meter removal for the NMI for the 



same effective date  



15.2. Conditions Precedent 



(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The metering installation details do not exist in MSATS. 



(c) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL, LARGE or NCONUML. 



15.3. Initiating Roles 



A Current MPB may initiate a Change Request to create metering installation records in MSATS in 



accordance with section 15.4. 



15.4. MPB Requirements 



The Current MPB must: 



(d) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(e) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 



Change Request. 



(f) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date Meter Serial ID (at least one) 



Metering Installation Type Code 



(for each meter) 



Meter Register Status Code (for 



each meter) 



Register ID (at least one for each 



meter) 



Register Identifier Status Code 



(for each register ID) 



Actual/Cumulative Indicator (for 



each Register ID) 



Controlled Load Indicator (for 



each Register ID) 



Dial Format (for each Register ID) Multiplier Value (for each 



Register ID) 



Time of Day Code (for each 



Register ID) 



Unit of Measure Code (for each 



Register ID) 



Network Tariff Code (for each 



Register ID) 



MDM Contributory Suffix (for 



each register) 



(g) Where changes to Network Tariff information are required: 



(i) Check that the Network Tariff Code is correct and, if it is not, update it to have the 



correct value. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 89 of 172 
 



(ii) Change the Network Tariff Code to ensure that the current information provided in 



MSATS is the latest information available from the Current LNSP. 



The Current MPB may: 



(h) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each meter: 



Additional Site Information Meter Hazard NSRD 



Meter Location Meter Point Meter Route 



Meter Use Transformer Location Meter Manufacturer 



Meter Model Meter Constant Transformer Type 



Transformer Ratio Test Result Accuracy Last Test Date 



Next Test Date Measurement Type Test Result Notes 



Test Performed By Remote Phone Number Meter Program 



Meter Read Type Data Conversion Arrangements Communication Equipment Yype 



Communication Protocol Asset Management Plan Details Data Validation Arrangements 



Estimation Instructions Test and Calibration Program 



Details 



Calibration Tables (details of any 



calibration factors programmed 



into the meter) 



Password Details (the read and 



time set passwords only, 



separated by a space; the write 



password is not to be recorded in 



MSATS) 



User Access Rights Details (i.e. 



details of any End User access to 



the metering installation such as 



pulse outputs) 



 



 



(i) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each register: 



Network Tariff Code Additional 



Information 



Demand Value 1, if the Network 



Tariff includes a demand 



component 



Demand Value 2, if the Network 



Tariff includes a second demand 



component 



 



(j) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information:  



Actual End Date   



 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 90 of 172 
 



15.5. Timeframe Rules 



When preparing a Change Request, the Current MPB must choose a Proposed Change Date that 



lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown inTable 15-A. 



Table 15-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 3000 – Create Meter Details 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



0 0 0 65 



CR 3001 – Create Meter Details – Retrospective 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



0 0 140 0 



15.6. Objection Rules 



Objections are not permitted. 



15.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 



The Change Request Status Notification Rules  are specified inTable 15-B. 



Table 15-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 



CR 3000 – Create Meter Details 



CR 3001 – Create Meter Details – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - - 



COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 



OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REJECTED - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - - 



REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 91 of 172 
 



16. MAINTAIN METERING – EXCHANGE OF METERING INFORMATION – SMALL, 



LARGE OR NCONUML 



16.1. Application [3004 3005] 



Section 16 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



3004 – Exchange of Metering 



information 



Used where the Current MPB is required to provide a Prospective Change to 



the information in MSATS about the metering installation details. The change 



will include the removal of at least one existing meter and the installation of at 



least one new meter. A minimum set of metering installation details for the NMI 



shall exist upon completion of the Change Request. 



3005 – Exchange of Metering 



information – Retrospective 



Used where the Current MPB is required to provide a Retrospective Change to 



the information in MSATS about the metering installation details. The change 



will include the removal of at least one existing meter and the installation of at 



least one new meter. A minimum set of metering installation details for the NMI 



shall exist upon completion of the Change Request. 



16.2. Conditions Precedent 



(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The metering installation details exist in MSATS. 



(c) At least one meter is removed and one meter is created in each Change Request. 



(d) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL, LARGE or NCONUML. 



(e) The Meter Serial ID for the installed meter shall be different to the existing Meter Serial ID 



for the same NMI. 



16.3. Initiating Roles 



A Current MPB may initiate a Change Request to change and create metering installation records 



in MSATS in accordance with section 16.4 



16.4. MPB Requirements 



The Current MPB must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 



Change Request. 



(c) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID Its Participant ID 



Proposed Change Date NMI and NMI Checksum NMI Checksum 



Meter Serial ID (for each meter)   



 



(d) For each meter associated to the NMI, where the Meter Register Status Code is to be ‘C’ 



populate the Change Request with the following information (where this information does 



not currently exist in MSATS):  



Meter Register Status Code Metering Installation Type Code   



 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 92 of 172 
 



(e) For all Register IDs associated with the NMI, where the Register Identifier Status Code is to 



be ‘C’ populate the Change Request with the following information (where this information 



does not currently exist in MSATS):  



Register ID Unit of Measure Code (for each 



Register ID) 



Multiplier Value (for each 



Register ID) 



Time of Day Code (for each 



Register ID) 



Dial Format (for each Register ID) Register Identifier Status Code 



(for each Register ID) 



Controlled Load Indicator (for 



each Register ID) 



Actual/Cumulative Indicator (for 



each Register ID) 



Network Tariff Code (for each 



Register ID) 



MDM Contributory Suffix (for 



each register) 



  



 



(f) Where changes to Network Tariff information are required: 



(i) Check that the Network Tariff Code is correct and, if it is not, update it to have the 



correct value. 



(ii) Change the Network Tariff Code to ensure that the current information provided in 



MSATS is the latest information available from the Current LNSP. 



The Current MPB may: 



(g) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each meter:  



Additional Site Information NSRD Meter Location 



Meter Hazard Meter Route Meter Use 



Meter Point Meter Manufacturer Meter Model 



Transformer Location Transformer Type Transformer Ratio 



Meter Constant Last Test Date Next Test Date 



Test Result Accuracy Test Result Notes Test Performed By 



Measurement Type Meter Program Meter Read Type 



Remote Phone Number Communication Equipment Type Communication Protocol 



Data Conversion Arrangements Data Validation Arrangements Estimation Instructions 



Asset Management Plan Details Calibration Tables (details of any 



calibration factors programmed 



into the meter) 



Password Details (the read and 



time set passwords only, 



separated by a space; the write 



password is not to be recorded 



in MSATS) 



Test and Calibration Program 



Details 



User Access Rights Details (i.e. 



details of any End User access to 



the metering installation such as 



pulse outputs) 



Network Tariff Code additional 



information 



Demand Value 1, if the Network 



Tariff includes a demand 



component 



Demand Value 2, if the Network 



Tariff includes a second demand 



component 



 



 



(h) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with:  



Actual End Date   











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 93 of 172 
 



16.5. Timeframe Rules 



When preparing a Change Request, the Current MPB must choose, a Proposed Change Date that 



lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown inTable 16-A. 



Table 16-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 3004 – Exchange of Metering Information 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



0 0 0 65 



CR 3005 – Exchange of Metering Information – Retrospective 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



0 0 140 0 



16.6. Objection Rules 



Objections are not permitted. 



16.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 



The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 16-B. 



Table 16-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 



CR 3004 – Exchange of Metering Information 



CR 3005 – Exchange of Metering Information – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - - 



COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 



OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REJECTED - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - - 



REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 94 of 172 
 



17. MAINTAIN METERING – CHANGE METERING INSTALLATION DETAILS – 



SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 



17.1. Application [3050 3051] 



Section 17 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



3050 – Change Metering Installation 



Details 



Used where the Current MPB is required to make a Prospective 



Change to the metering installation details in MSATS. Each Meter 



Serial ID must exist in MSATS and a minimum set of metering 



installation details for the NMI shall exist upon Completion of the 



Change Request. 



3051 – Change Metering Installation 



Details – Retrospective 



Used where the Current MPB is required to make a Retrospective 



Change to the metering installation details in MSATS. Each Meter 



Serial ID must exist in MSATS and a minimum set of metering 



installation details for the NMI shall exist upon Completion of the 



Change Request. 



17.2. Conditions Precedent 



(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The metering installation details exist in MSATS. 



(c) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL, LARGE or NCONUML. 



17.3. Initiating Roles 



A Current MPB may initiate a Change Request to change metering installation records in MSATS in 



accordance with section 17.4. 



17.4. MPB Requirements 



The Current MPB must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 



Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date Meter Serial ID (at least one) 



 



(d) For each meter associated with the NMI populate the Change Request with the following 



information (where this information does not currently exist in MSATS):  



Meter Register Status Code Metering Installation Type Code  



(e) For all Register IDs associated with the NMI, where the Register Identifier Status Code is to 



be ‘C’ populate the Change Request with the following information (where this information 



does not currently exist in MSATS):  



MDM Contributory Suffix (for a 



register) 



Network Tariff Code  



 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 95 of 172 
 



(f) For all Register IDs associated with the NMI, where the Register Identifier Status Code is to 



be ‘C’ populate the Change Request with the following information:  



Register ID Register Identifier Status Code Actual/Cumulative Indicator 



Controlled Load Indicator Dial Format Multiplier Value 



Time of Day Code Unit of Measure Code  



 



(g) Where changes to Network Tariff information are required: 



(i) Check that the Network Tariff Code is correct and, if it is not, update it to have the 



correct value. 



(ii) Change the Network Tariff Code to ensure that the current information provided in 



MSATS is the latest information available from the Current LNSP. 



The Current MPB may: 



(h) Populate the Change Request with the following information:  



 Meter Hazard Additional Site information 



Meter Location Meter Point Meter Route 



Meter Use Transformer Location Meter Manufacturer 



Meter Model Meter Constant Transformer Type 



Transformer Ratio Test Result Accuracy Last Test Date 



Next Test Date Measurement Type Test Result Notes 



Test Performed By Remote Phone Number Meter Program 



Meter Read Type Data Conversion Arrangements Communication Equipment Type 



Communication Protocol Asset Management Plan Details Data Validation Arrangements 



Estimation Instructions Test and Calibration Program 



Details 



Calibration Tables (details of any 



calibration factors programmed 



into the meter) 



Password Details (the read and 



time set passwords only, 



separated by a space; the write 



password is not to be recorded 



in MSATS) 



Demand Value 1, if the Network 



Tariff includes a demand 



component 



User Access Rights Details (i.e. 



details of any End User access to 



the metering installation such as 



pulse outputs) 



Network Tariff Code Additional 



Information 



Demand Value 2, if the Network 



Tariff includes a second demand 



component  



 



 



(i) For CR 3051, populate the Change Request with: 



Actual End Date   



 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 96 of 172 
 



17.5. Timeframe Rules 



When preparing a Change Request, the Current MPB must choose a Proposed Change Date that 



lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 17-A. 



Table 17-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 3050 – Change Meter Details 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



0 0 0 65 



CR 3051 – Change Meter Details – Retrospective 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



0 0 140 0 



17.6. Objection Rules 



Objections are not permitted. 



17.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 



The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 17-B. 



Table 17-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 



CR 3050 – Change Meter Details 



CR 3051 – Change Meter Details – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status 



Change  



FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - - 



COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 



OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REJECTED - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - - 



REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 97 of 172 
 



18. MAINTAIN METERING – ADVANCED CHANGE METERING INSTALLATION 



DETAILS – SMALL OR LARGE 



18.1. Application [3080 3081] 



Section 18 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



3080 – Advanced Change 



Metering Installation Details 



Used where the Current MC is required to provide Prospective Change(s) to 



the metering installation details in MSATS, including potential changes to 



Datastream information, and to the Roles of MDP, MPB and MPC. The 



Change Request must include one or more changes to metering installation 



details for a Meter Serial ID and each Meter Serial ID must exist in MSATS. A 



minimum set of metering installation details for the NMI shall exist upon 



Completion. 



3081 – Advanced Change 



Metering Installation Details – 



Retrospective 



Used where the Current MC is required to provide Retrospective Change(s) 



to the metering installation details in MSATS, including potential changes to 



Datastream information, and to the Roles of MDP, MPB and MPC. The 



Change Request must include one or more changes to metering installation 



details for a Meter Serial ID and each Meter Serial ID must exist in MSATS. A 



minimum set of metering installation details for the NMI shall exist upon 



Completion. 



18.2. Conditions Precedent 



(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The metering installation details exist in MSATS. 



(c) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



18.3. Initiating Roles 



(a) A Current MC may initiate a Change Request to change and create metering installation 



records in MSATS in accordance with section 18.4. 



(b) Where a change of Role is included in the Change Request, the initiator must agree with all 



affected Participants of the Roles that are changing prior to creating the Change Request. 



18.4. MC Requirements 



The Current MC must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 



Change Request. 



(c) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID Its Participant ID 



Proposed Change Date NMI NMI Checksum 



The Meter Serial ID (for each 



meter) 



  



 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 98 of 172 
 



(d) For each meter associated to the NMI, where the Meter Register Status Code is to be ‘C’, 



populate the Change Request with the following (where this information does not currently 



exist in MSATS):  



Meter Register Status Code  Metering Installation Type Code  



 



(e) For all Register IDs associated with the NMI, where the Register Identifier Status Code is to 



be ‘C’, populate the Change Request with the following (where this information does not 



currently exist in MSATS): 



Register ID Register Identifier Status Code 



(for each Register ID) 



Unit of Measure Code (for each 



Register ID) 



Multiplier Value (for each 



Register ID) 



Time of Day Code (for each 



Register ID) 



Dial Format (for each Register 



ID) 



Network Tariff Code (for each 



Register ID) 



Controlled Load Indicator (for 



each Register ID) 



Actual/Cumulative Indicator (for 



each Register ID) 



MDM Contributory Suffix (for 



each register) 



  



 



(f) For all Datastreams associated to the NMI, where the Datastream Status Code is to be ‘A’, 



populate the Change Request with the following information (where this information does 



not currently exist in MSATS): 



NMI Suffix Datastream Type (for each suffix) Profile Name (for each suffix) 



ADL (for each suffix) Datastream Status Code (for 



each suffix) 



 



The Current MC may: 



(g) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each meter:  



MDP MPB MPC 



Additional Site Information NSRD Meter Location 



Meter Hazard Meter Route Meter Use 



Meter Point Meter Manufacturer Meter Model 



Transformer Location Transformer Type Transformer Ratio 



Meter Constant Last Test Date Next Test Date 



Test Result Accuracy Test Result Notes Test Performed By 



Measurement Type Meter Program Meter Read Type 



Remote Phone Number Communication Equipment Type Communication Protocol 



Data Conversion Arrangements Data Validation Arrangements Estimation Instructions 



Asset Management Plan Details Calibration Tables (details of any 



calibration factors programmed 



into the meter) 



Password Details (the read and 



time set passwords only, 



separated by a space; the write 



password is not to be recorded 



in MSATS) 



Test and Calibration Program 



Details 



User Access Rights Details (i.e. 



details of any End User access to 



the metering installation such as 



pulse outputs) 



 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 99 of 172 
 



 



(h) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each register: 



Network Tariff Code Additional 



Information 



Demand Value 1, if the Network 



Tariff includes a demand 



component 



Demand Value 2, if the Network 



Tariff includes a second demand 



component 



 



(i) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with: 



Actual End Date   



 



(j) Where changes to Network Tariff information is required: 



(i) Check that the Network Tariff Code is correct and, if it is not, update it to have the 



correct value. 



(ii) Change the Network Tariff Code to ensure that the current information provided in 



MSATS is the latest information available from the Current LNSP. 



18.5. MDP Requirements 



On receipt of a Data Request for Change Reason Codes 3080, the MDP must initiate a Change 



Request to provide the Actual Change Date. 



18.6. Timeframe Rules 



When preparing a Change Request, the Current MC must choose a Proposed Change Date that 



lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 18-A. 



Table 18-A– Timeframe Rules 



CR 3080 – Advanced Change Metering Installation Details 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



1 20 0 65 



CR 3081 – Advanced Change Metering Installation Details – Retrospective  



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



1 20 130 0 



18.7. Objection Rules 



The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 18-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 



their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 18-A. 



Table 18-B– Objection Rules** 



CR 3080 – Advanced Change Metering Installation Details 



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB ROLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - Yes - - - - - - - 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 100 of 172 
 



CR 3081 – Advanced Change Metering Installation Details – Retrospective 



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB ROLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - Yes - - - - - - - 



BADDATA ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



18.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 



The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 18-C. 



Table 18-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 



CR 3080 – Advanced Change Metering Installation Details 



CR 3081 – Advanced Change Metering Installation Details – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - Yes - -  Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 



COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 



OBJECTED - Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 



PENDING - Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 



REJECTED - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - Yes 



REQUESTED - Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 101 of 172 
 



19. MAINTAIN METERING – ADVANCED EXCHANGE OF METERING – SMALL OR 



LARGE 



19.1. Application [3090 3091] 



Section 19 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



3090 – Advanced Exchange of 



Metering 



Used where the Current MC is required to provide a Prospective Change to the 



information in MSATS relating to the metering installation details, including 



potential changes to Datastream information, Network Tariff Code and to the 



Roles of MDP, MPB and MPC. The change shall include the removal of at least 



one existing meter and the installation of at least one new meter. A minimum 



set of metering installation details for the NMI shall exist upon Completion. 



3091 – Advanced Exchange of 



Metering – Retrospective 



Used where the Current MC is required to provide a Retrospective Change to 



the information in MSATS relating to the metering installation details, including 



potential changes to Datastream information, Network Tariff Code and to the 



Roles of MDP, MPB and MPC. The change shall include the removal of at least 



one existing meter and the installation of at least one new meter. A minimum 



set of metering installation details for the NMI shall exist upon Completion. 



19.2. Conditions Precedent 



(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The metering installation details exist in MSATS. 



(c) At least one meter is removed and one meter is created in each Change Request. 



(d) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



(e) The Meter Serial ID for the installed meter shall be different to the existing Meter Serial ID 



for the same NMI. 



19.3. Initiating Roles 



(a) A Current MC may initiate a Change Request to change and create metering installation 



records in MSATS in accordance with section 19.4. 



(b) Where a change of Role is included in the Change Request the initiator must agree with all 



affected Participants of the Roles that are changing prior to creating the Change Request. 



19.4. MC Requirements 



The Current MC must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 



Change Request. 



(c) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID Its Participant ID 



Proposed Change Date NMI NMI Checksum 



Meter Serial ID (for each meter)   



 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 102 of 172 
 



(d) For each meter associated to the NMI, where the Meter Register Status Code is to be ‘C’ 



populate the Change Request with the following information (where this information does 



not currently exist in MSATS):  



Metering Installation Type Code Meter Register Status Code   



 



(e) For all Register IDs associated with the NMI, where the Register Identifier Status Code is to 



be ‘C’ populate the Change Request with the following information (where this information 



does not currently exist in MSATS):  



Register ID Register Identifier Status Code 



(for each Register ID) 



Unit of Measure Code (for each 



Register ID) 



Multiplier Value (for each 



Register ID) 



Time of Day Code (for each 



register ID) 



Dial Format (for each register ID) 



Network Tariff Code (for each 



Register ID) 



Controlled Load Indicator (for 



each Register ID) 



Actual/Cumulative Indicator (for 



each Register ID) 



MDM Contributory Suffix (for 



each register) 



  



 



(f) For all Datastreams associated to the NMI, where the Datastream Status Code is to be ‘A’ 



populate the Change Request with the following information (where this information does 



not currently exist in MSATS):  



NMI Suffix Datastream Type (for each suffix) Profile Name (for each suffix) 



ADL (for each suffix) Datastream Status Code (for each 



suffix) 



 



The Current MC may: 



(g) Populate the Change Request with the following information:  



MDP MPB MPC 



Additional Site Information NSRD Meter Location 



Meter Hazard Meter Route Meter Use 



Meter Point Meter Manufacturer Meter Model 



Transformer Location Transformer Type Transformer Ratio 



Meter Constant Last Test Date Next Test Date 



Test Result Accuracy Test Result Notes Test Performed By 



Measurement Type Meter Program Meter Read Type 



Remote Phone Number Communication Equipment Type Communication Protocol 



Data Conversion Arrangements Data Validation Arrangements Estimation Instructions 



Asset Management Plan Details Calibration Tables (details of any 



calibration factors programmed 



into the meter) 



Password Details (the read and 



time set passwords only, 



separated by a space; the write 



password is not to be recorded in 



MSATS) 



Test and Calibration Program 



Details 



User Access Rights Details (i.e. 



details of any End User access to 



the metering installation such as 



pulse outputs) 



 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 103 of 172 
 



 



(h) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each register: 



Network Tariff Code Additional 



Information 



Demand Value 1, if the Network 



Tariff includes a demand 



component 



Demand Value 2, if the Network 



Tariff includes a second demand 



component 



 



(i) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with:  



Actual End Date   



 



(j) Where changes to Network Tariff information are required: 



(i) Check that the Network Tariff Code is correct and, if it is not, update it to have the 



correct value. 



(ii) Change the Network Tariff Code to ensure that the current information provided in 



MSATS is the latest information available from the Current LNSP. 



19.5. MDP Requirements 



On receipt of a Data Request for Change Reason Code 3090, the MDP must initiate a Change 



Request to provide the Actual Change Date. 



19.6. Timeframe Rules 



When preparing a Change Request, the Current MC must choose a Proposed Change Date that 



lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 19-A. 



Table 19-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 3090 – Advanced Exchange of Metering 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



1 20 0 65 



CR 3091 – Advanced Exchange of Metering – Retrospective  



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



1 20 130 0 



19.7. Objection Rules 



The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 19-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 



their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 19-A. 



Table 19-B – Objection Rules
**
 



CR 3090 – Advanced Exchange of Metering 



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - Yes - - - - - - - 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 104 of 172 
 



CR 3091 – Advanced Exchange of Metering – Retrospective 



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - Yes - - - - - - - 



BADDATA ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



19.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 



The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 19-C. 



Table 19-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 



CR 3090 – Advance Exchange of Metering 



CR 3091 – Advance Exchange of Metering – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 



COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 



OBJECTED - Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 



PENDING - Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 



REJECTED - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - Yes 



REQUESTED - Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 105 of 172 
 



20. MAINTAIN METERING – CHANGE NETWORK TARIFF CODE – SMALL, LARGE 



OR NCONUML 



20.1. Application [3100 3101] 



Section 20 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



3100 – Change Network Tariff Used where the Current LNSP (or the ENM in the case of a Child 



NMI) is required to make a Prospective Change to Network Tariff 



Code. 



3101 – Change Network Tariff – 



Retrospective 



Used where the Current LNSP (or the ENM in the case of a Child 



NMI) is required to make a Retrospective Change to the Network 



Tariff Code. 



20.2. Conditions Precedent 



(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL, LARGE or NCONUML. 



(c) The Meter Register data is loaded into MSATS. 



20.3. Initiating Roles 



A Current LNSP (or the ENM in the case of a Child NMI) may initiate a Change Request to change 



a Network Tariff Code in accordance with section 20.4. 



20.4. LNSP or ENM Requirements 



The Current LNSP (or ENM in the case of a Child NMI) must for each Register ID: 



(a) Check that the Network Tariff Code created by the MPB when the meter was created in 



MSATS is correct and, if it is not, update it to have the correct value. 



(b) Change the Network Tariff Code in MSATS to ensure that the current information provided 



in MSATS is the latest information available from the Current LNSP. 



(c) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(d) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 



Change Request. 



(e) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date Meter Serial ID 



Register ID Network Tariff Code (for each 



register) 



 



The Current LNSP (or the ENM in the case of a Child NMI) may: 



(f) Populate a Change Request with the following information:  



Network Tariff Code additional information  



(g) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information:  



Actual End Date   











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 106 of 172 
 



20.5. Timeframe Rules 



When preparing a Change Request, the Current LNSP (or ENM in the case of a Child NMI) must 



choose, for the identified Change Reason Codes, a Proposed Change Date that lies between the 



Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 20-A. 



Table 20-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 3100 – Change Network Tariff  



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



0 0 0 65 



CR 3101 – Change Network Tariff – Retrospective 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



0 0 140 0 



20.6. Objection Rules 



Objections are not permitted. 



20.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 



The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 20-B. 



Table 20-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 



CR 3100 – Change Network Tariff 



CR 3101 – Change Network Tariff – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status 



Change  



FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 



COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 



OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REJECTED - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 



REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 107 of 172 
 



21. MAINTAIN DATASTREAM – CREATE NMI DATASTREAM –SMALL, LARGE OR 



NCONUML 



21.1. Application [4000 4001] 



Section 21 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



4000 – Create NMI Datastream 



Details 



Used where the Current MDP makes a Prospective Change to the initial 



set of information in MSATS about the NMI Datastream details, and there 



is no associated Datastream Status Code change to inactive for the NMI 



for the same effective date.  



4001 – Create NMI Datastream 



Details – Retrospective 



Used where the Current MDP makes a Retrospective Change to the initial 



set of information in MSATS about the NMI Datastream details, and there 



is no associated Datastream Status Code change to inactive for the NMI 



for the same effective date. 



21.2. Conditions Precedent 



(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI Datastream details do not exist in MSATS 



(c) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL, LARGE or NCONUML. 



21.3. Initiating Roles 



A Current MDP may initiate a Change Request to create an NMI Datastream in MSATS in 



accordance with section 21.4. 



21.4. MDP Requirements 



The Current MDP must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 



Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date NMI Suffix (at least one) 



Datastream Type (for each suffix) Profile Name (for each suffix) ADL (for each suffix) 



Datastream Status Code (for 



each suffix) 



  



(d) Obtain the ADL from the LNSP if this value is not otherwise provided by the New FRMP. 



The Current MDP may: 



(e) for Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information:  



Actual End Date   











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 108 of 172 
 



21.5. Timeframe Rules 



When preparing a Change Request, the Current MDP must choose, for the identified Change 



Reason Code, a Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective 



Period, as shown in Table 21-A. 



Table 21-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 4000 – Create NMI Datastream Details 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



0 0 0 65 



CR 4001 – Create NMI Datastream Details – Retrospective 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



0 0 140 0 



21.6. Objection Rules 



Objections are not permitted. 



21.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 



The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 21-B. 



Table 21-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 



CR 4000 – Create NMI Datastream Details 



CR 4001 – Create NMI Datastream Details – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status 



Change  



FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - - - - - - - Yes - - - - - - 



COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 



OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REJECTED - - - - - - - Yes - - - - - - 



REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 109 of 172 
 



22. MAINTAIN DATASTREAM – EXCHANGE OF DATASTREAM INFORMATION 



SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 



22.1. Application [4004 4005] 



Section 22 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



4004 – Exchange of Datastream 



Information 



Used where the Current MDP is required to make a Prospective Change to the 



NMI Datastream in MSATS. The change will include at least one Datastream 



Status Code change to inactive and the creation of at least one new 



Datastream. A minimum set of NMI Datastream details for the NMI shall exist 



upon Completion. 



4005 – Exchange of Datastream 



Information – Retrospective 



Used where the Current MDP is required to make a Retrospective Change to 



the NMI Datastream in MSATS. The change will include at least one 



Datastream Status Code change to inactive and the creation of at least one 



new Datastream. A minimum set of NMI Datastream details for the NMI shall 



exist upon Completion. 



22.2. Conditions Precedent 



(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The metering installation details exist in MSATS. 



(c) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL, LARGE or NCONUML. 



22.3. Initiating Roles 



A Current MDP may initiate a Change Request to exchange Datastream records in MSATS in 



accordance with section 22.4. 



22.4. MDP Requirements 



The Current MDP must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 



Change Request. 



(c) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID Its Participant ID 



Proposed Change Date NMI NMI Checksum 



 



(d) For all Datastreams associated to the NMI, where the Datastream Status Code is to be ‘A’ 



populate the Change Request with the following information: (where this information does 



not currently exist in MSATS);  



NMI Suffix (at least one) Datastream Type (for each suffix) Profile Name (for each suffix) 



ADL (for each suffix) Datastream Status Code (for 



each suffix) 



 



The Current MDP may: 



(e) Populate the Change Request with the following information:  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 110 of 172 
 



Meter Serial ID (for each meter) Register ID (for each Register ID) MDM Contributory Suffix (for 



each Register ID) 



(f) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with:  



Actual End Date   



22.5. Timeframe Rules 



When preparing a Change Request, the Current MDP must choose a Proposed Change Date that 



lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 22-A. 



Table 22-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 4004 – Exchange of Datastream Information 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



0 0 0 65 



CR 4005 – Exchange of Datastream Information – Retrospective 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



0 0 140 0 



22.6. Objection Rules 



Objections are not permitted. 



22.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 



The Change Request Status Notification Rules for the Change Reason Codes identified in section 



22.1 are specified in Table 22-B. 



Table 22-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 



CR 4004 – Exchange of Datastream Information 



CR 4005 – Exchange of Datastream Information – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - - - - - - - Yes - - - - - - 



COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 



OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REJECTED - - - - - - - Yes - - - - - - 



REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 111 of 172 
 



23. MAINTAIN DATASTREAM – CHANGE NMI DATASTREAM – SMALL, LARGE OR 



NCONUML 



23.1. Application [4050 4051] 



Section 23 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



4050 – Change NMI 



Datastream 



Used where the Current MDP is required to make a Prospective Change to the 



NMI Datastream in MSATS. Each Datastream must exist in MSATS and a 



minimum set of NMI Datastream details for the NMI shall exist upon 



Completion. 



4051 – Change NMI Datastream 



– Retrospective 



Used where the Current MDP is required to make a Retrospective Change to 



the NMI Datastream in MSATS . Each Datastream must exist in MSATS and a 



minimum set of NMI Datastream details for the NMI shall exist upon 



Completion. 



23.2. Conditions Precedent 



(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The metering installation and Datastream details exist in MSATS. 



(c) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL, LARGE or NCONUML. 



23.3. Initiating Roles 



A Current MDP may initiate a Change Request to change an NMI Datastream in MSATS in 



accordance with section 23.4. 



23.4. MDP Requirements 



The Current MDP must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 



Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date NMI Suffix 



 



(d) For all Register IDs associated with the NMI suffix, where the Datastream Status Code is to 



be ‘A’, populate the Change Request with the following information (where this information 



does not currently exist in MSATS): 



Datastream type Profile Name ADL 



Datastream Status Code   



The Current MDP may: 



(e) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 



MDM Contributory Suffix Meter Serial ID Register ID 



 



(f) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information: 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 112 of 172 
 



Actual End Date   



23.5. Timeframe Rules 



When preparing a Change Request, the Current MDP must choose, for the identified Change 



Reason Codes, a Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and 



Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 23-A. 



Table 23-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 4050 – Change NMI Datastream Details 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



0 0 0 65 



CR 4051 – Change NMI Datastream Details – Retrospective 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



0 0 140 0 



23.6. Objection Rules 



Objections are not permitted. 



23.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 



The Change Request Status Notification Rules for the Change Reason Codes identified in section 



23.1 are specified in Table 23-B. 



Table 23-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 



CR 4050 – Change NMI Datastream Details 



CR 4051 – Change NMI Datastream Details – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status 



Change  



FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - - - - - - - Yes - - - - - - 



COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 



OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REJECTED - - - - - - - Yes - - - - - - 



REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 113 of 172 
 



24. MAINTAIN NMI – UPDATE NEXT SCHEDULED READ DATE – SMALL LARGE OR 



NCONUML 



24.1. Application [5070 5071] 



Section 24 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



5070 – Update Next 



Scheduled Read Date 



Used where the Current MDP is required to provide MSATS with the NSRD 



prospectively. 



5071 – Update Next 



Scheduled Read Date – 



Retrospective 



Used where the Current MDP is required to provide MSATS with the NSRD 



retrospectively. 



Note if this transaction is submitted by batch, MSATS will be updated straight 



away. 



24.2. Conditions Precedent 



(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL LARGE or NCONUML. 



(c) The metering installation is manually read, or has been made capable of remote acquisition 



in accordance with 7.8.9(b) of the NER.   



24.3. Initiating Roles 



A Current MDP may initiate a Change Request to submit the NSRD to MSATS in accordance with 



section 24.4. 



24.4. MDP Requirements 



The Current MDP must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 



Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date Meter Serial ID 



NSRD   



 



The Current MDP may: 



(d) Obtain the Meter Reading frequency from the New FRMP. 



(e) Obtain the Meter Reading schedule from the MPC or MC. 



24.5. Timeframe Rules 



When preparing a Change Request, the Current MDP must choose a Proposed Change Date that 



lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 24-A. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 114 of 172 
 



Table 24-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 5070 – Update Next Scheduled Read Date 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



0 0 0 3 



CR 5071 – Update Next Scheduled Read Date – Retrospective 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



0 0 1 0 



24.6. Objection Rules 



Objections are not permitted. 



24.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 



The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 24-B . 



Table 24-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 



CR 5070 – Update Next Scheduled Read Date 



CR 5071 – Update Next Scheduled Read Date – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



COMPLETED - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 115 of 172 
 



25. MAINTAIN NMI – BACKDATE A NMI – SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 



25.1. Application [5001 5021] 



Section 25 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



5001 – Backdate NMI Start Date Used where AEMO, on request from an LNSP, or the LNSP, backdates the initial 



set of information in MSATS in regard to a connection point to apply from a 



Retrospective Day. 



5021 – Backdate NMI Start Date 



– Child 



Used where AEMO, on request from an ENM, or the ENM, backdates the initial 



set of information in MSATS about a child connection point. 



25.2. Conditions Precedent 



(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL, LARGE or NCONUML. 



25.3. Initiating Roles 



AEMO, the ENM, or the LNSP may initiate a Change Request to backdate a NMI’s Start Date in 



MSATS in accordance with section 25.4 or 25.6. 



25.4. LNSP Requirements (5001 only) 



The New LNSP (who must be the Current LNSP for the period where the NMI exists in MSATS) 



must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is still a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 



Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with values for the following data items:  



Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum Its Participant ID 



Proposed Change Date Actual End Date (which should be the day prior 



to the day that the NMI Master Record starts) 



TNI Code 



DLF Code NMI Classification Code Jurisdiction Code 



FRMP LR RoLR 



RP MDP MPB 



MPC LNSP as itself NMI Status Code 



Locality State Postcode 



 



(d) Populate the Change Request with values for the following address fields (as appropriate): 



EITHER  



DPID Flat Number Flat Type 



Floor Number Floor Type House Number 



House Number Suffix Location Descriptor Lot Number 



Street Name Street Suffix Street Type 



 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 116 of 172 
 



OR 



Unstructured Address 1 Unstructured Address 2 Unstructured Address 3 



The LNSP may: 



(e) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 



Parent Name Building Name Feeder Class 



Customer Threshold Code    



25.5. ENM Requirements (5021 only) 



The New ENM (who must be the Current ENM for the period where the NMI exists in MSATS) 



must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. Confirm that the NMI is still a valid 



NMI for the connection point. 



(b) Provide AEMO with values for the following data items:  



Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Participant ID Proposed Change Date Actual End Date (which should be the day 



prior to the day that the NMI Master Record 



starts on) 



TNI Code DLF Code NMI Classification Code 



Jurisdiction Code Child Name FRMP 



LR RoLR RP 



MDP MPB MPC  



LNSP, as the ENM NMI Status Code Locality 



State Postcode  



 



(c) Provide AEMO with values for the following address fields (as appropriate): 



EITHER  



DPID Flat Number Flat Type 



Floor Number Floor Type House Number 



House Number Suffix Location Descriptor Lot Number 



Street Name Street Suffix Street Type 



 



OR 



Unstructured Address 1 Unstructured Address 2 Unstructured Address 3 



The ENM may provide AEMO with the following information:  



Parent Name Building Name Feeder Class 



Customer Threshold Code    



25.6. AEMO Requirements 



AEMO must, on request from an LNSP, populate a Change Request with the data provided by the 



LNSP in accordance with section 25.4 (CR 5001) or ENM in accordance with section 25.5 (CR 5021). 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 117 of 172 
 



25.7. MPB Requirements 



The New MPB must, on receipt of a Completed notification, backdate the metering installation 



details using CR 3001. 



25.8. Timeframe Rules 



When preparing a Change Request, AEMO or the LNSP (as applicable) must choose a Proposed 



Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 



25-A. 



Table 25-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 5001 – Backdate NMI Start Date 



CR 5021 – Backdate NMI Start Date – Child 



Objection Logging Period  



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 



1 1 10 20 140 0 



25.9. Objection Rules 



The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 25-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 



their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 25-A. 



Table 25-B – Objection Rules
**
 



CR 5001 – Backdate NMI Start Date 



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



NOTRESP SMALL ALL Yes - - - Yes - Yes - -  - Yes - - - 



LARGE - 



BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



CR 5021 – Backdate NMI Start Date – Child 



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



NOTRESP SMALL ALL Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - -  - Yes - - - 



LARGE - 



BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



RETRO SMALL NSW 



VIC 



SA 



Yes - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - 



LARGE ALL 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 118 of 172 
 



25.10. Change Request Status Notification Rules 



The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 25-C. 



Table 25-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 



CR 5001 – Backdate NMI Start Date 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status 



Change  



FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



COMPLETED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



OBJECTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



PENDING Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



REJECTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



REQUESTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



CR 5021 – Backdate NMI Start Date – Child 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status 



Change  



FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



COMPLETED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



OBJECTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



PENDING Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



REJECTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



REQUESTED Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes - 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 119 of 172 
 



26. MAINTAIN NMI – CHANGE A NMI – SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 



26.1. Application [5050 5051] 



Section 26 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



5050 – Change NMI Details Used where the Current LNSP is required to make a Prospective Change to the 



set of information in MSATS about a connection point. 



5051 – Change NMI Details – 



Retrospective 



Used where the Current LNSP is required to make a Retrospective Change to the 



information in MSATS about a connection point. 



26.2. Conditions Precedent 



(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL, LARGE or NCONUML. 



26.3. Initiating Roles 



A Current LNSP may initiate a Change Request to change a NMI record in MSATS in accordance 



with section 26.4. 



26.4. LNSP Requirements 



The Current LNSP must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 



Change Request. 



(c) Populate an Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date  



The Current LNSP may: 



(d) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 



TNI Code DLF Code NMI Classification Code 



Jurisdiction Code NMI Status Code Parent Name 



Locality State Postcode 



Building Name DPID Flat Number 



Flat Type Floor Number Floor Type 



House Number House Number Suffix Location Descriptor 



Lot Number Street Name Street Suffix 



Street Type Unstructured Address 1 Unstructured Address 2 



Unstructured Address 3 Feeder Class Customer Threshold Code  



(e) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the  



Actual End Date   











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 120 of 172 
 



26.5. Timeframe Rules 



When preparing a Change Request, the Current LNSP must choose a Proposed Change Date that 



lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 26-A. 



Table 26-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 5050 – Change NMI Details 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



0 0 0 65 



CR 5051 – Change NMI Details – Retrospective 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



0 0 140 0 



Note:  An Objection Logging Period of zero means Objections need to be logged by midnight of the business day that 



the Change Request is submitted. 



26.6. Objection Rules 



The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 26-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 



their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 26-A. 



Table 26-B – Objection Rules
**
 



CR 5050 – Change NMI Details 



CR 5051 – Change NMI Details – Retrospective 



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



NOTRESP ALL ALL - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



26.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 



The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 26-C. 



Table 26-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules
** 



 



CR 5050 – Change NMI Details 



CR 5051 – Change NMI Details – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status 



Change  



FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 



COMPLETED - Yes - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 



OBJECTED - - - - - Yes - Yes - - - - - - 



PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REQUESTED - - - - - - - Yes - - - - - - 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 121 of 172 
 



27. MAINTAIN NMI – CHANGE A NMI – CUSTOMER CLASSIFICATION CODE – 



SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 



27.1. Application [5054 5055] 



Section 27 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



5054 – Change NMI Details – 



Customer Classification Code 



Used where the Current FRMP is required to make a Prospective 



Change to the Customer Classification Code. 



5055 – Change NMI Details – 



Customer Classification Code – 



Retrospective 



Used where the Current FRMP is required to make a Retrospective 



Change to the Customer Classification Code. 



27.2. Conditions Precedent 



(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL, LARGE or NCONUML. 



27.3. Initiating Roles 



A Current FRMP may initiate a Change Request to change a NMI record in MSATS in accordance 



with section 27.4. 



27.4. FRMP Requirements 



The Current FRMP must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 



Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date Customer Classification Code 



For Retrospective Changes, the Current FRMP may populate the Change Request with the:  



Actual End Date   



27.5. Timeframe Rules 



When preparing a Change Request, the Current FRMP must choose a Proposed Change Date that 



lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 27-A. 



Table 27-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 5054 – Change NMI Details Customer Classification Code 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



0 0 0 65 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 122 of 172 
 



CR 5055 – Change NMI Details Customer Classification Code – Retrospective 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



0 0 140 0 



27.6. Objection Rules 



Objections are not permitted. 



27.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 



The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 27-B. 



Table 27-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 



CR 5054 – Change NMI Details Customer Classification Code 



CR 5055 – Change NMI Details Customer Classification Code – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 



OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



PENDING - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REJECTED - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REQUESTED - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - - 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 123 of 172 
 



28. MAINTAIN NMI – CHANGE NMI EMBEDDED NETWORK (CHILD) – SMALL OR 



LARGE 



28.1. Application [5060 5061] 



Section 28 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



5060 – Change NMI 



Details – Child 



Used where the Current ENM is required to make a Prospective change to the 



information in MSATS about a connection point that is connected to an embedded 



network. 



5061 – Change NMI 



Details – Child – 



Retrospective 



Used where the Current ENM is required to provide a Retrospective Change to the 



information in MSATS about a connection point that is connected to an embedded 



network. 



28.2. Conditions Precedent 



(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



28.3. Initiating Roles 



A Current ENM may initiate a Change Request to change a NMI record in MSATS in accordance 



with section 28.4. 



28.4. ENM Requirements 



The Current ENM must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 



Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date  



The Current ENM may: 



(d) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 



TNI Code DLF Code NMI Classification Code 



Jurisdiction Code NMI Status Code Parent Name 



Child Name Locality State 



Postcode Building Name DPID 



Flat Number Flat Type Floor Number 



Floor Type House Number House Number Suffix 



Location Descriptor Lot Number Street Name 



Street Suffix Street Type Unstructured Address 1 



Unstructured Address 2 Unstructured Address 3 Feeder Class 



Customer Threshold Code    











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 124 of 172 
 



(e) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information:  



Actual End Date   



28.5. Timeframe Rules 



When preparing a Change Request, the ENM must choose a Proposed Change Date that lies 



between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 28-A. 



Table 28-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 5060 – Change NMI Details – Child 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



0 0 0 65 



CR 5061 – Change NMI Details – Child – Retrospective  



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



0 0 140 0 



28.6. Objection Rules 



Objections are not permitted. 



28.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 



The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 28-B. 



Table 28-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 



CR 5060 – Change NMI Details – Child 



CR 5061 – Change NMI Details – Child – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 



COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 



OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REJECTED - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 



REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 125 of 172 
 



29. MAINTAIN NMI – CHANGE PARENT NAME – SMALL OR LARGE 



29.1. Application [5080 5081] 



Section 29 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



5080 – Change Parent Name Used where the Current LNSP is required to apply a Prospective Change to the 



Parent Name. 



5081 – Change Parent Name 



– Retrospective 



Used where the Current LNSP is required to apply a Retrospective Change to 



the Parent Name. 



29.2. Conditions Precedent 



(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



29.3. Initiating Roles 



A Current LNSP may initiate a Change Request to change the Parent Name in accordance with 



section 29.4. 



29.4. LNSP Requirements 



The Current LNSP must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 



Change Request. 



(c) Populate the Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date Parent Name 



For Retrospective Changes, the Current LNSP may populate the Change Request with the 



following information: 



Actual End Date   



 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 126 of 172 
 



29.5. Timeframe Rules 



When preparing a Change Request, the Current LNSP (as applicable) must choose a Proposed 



Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 



29-A. 



Table 29-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 5080 – Change Parent Name 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



0 0 0 65 



CR 5081 – Change Parent Name – Retrospective  



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



0 0 140 0 



29.6. Objection Rules 



Objections are not permitted. 



29.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 



The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 29-B. 



Table 29-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 



CR 5080 – Change Parent Name 



CR 5081 – Change Parent Name – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 



COMPLETED - Yes - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 



OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REJECTED - Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 



REQUESTED - Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 127 of 172 
 



30. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE LNSP – SMALL LARGE OR NCONUML 



30.1. Application [6100 6110] 



Section 30 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



6100 – Change LNSP Used where the New LNSP or the New ENM is required (either by a regulatory change 



or due to an error in the NMI Master Record) to apply a Prospective Change to the 



name of the Current LNSP or the Current ENM in MSATS 



6110 – Change LNSP – 



Retrospective 



Used where the New LNSP or the New ENM is required (either by a regulatory change 



or due to an error in the NMI Master Record) to apply a Retrospective Change to the 



name of the Current LNSP or the Current ENM in MSATS. 



30.2. Conditions Precedent 



(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL LARGE or NCONUML. 



30.3. Initiating Roles 



A New LNSP or New ENM may initiate a Change Request to change an LNSP or ENM in MSATS in 



accordance with section 30.4. 



30.4. LNSP or ENM Requirements 



The New LNSP or the New ENM must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 



Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date  



(d) Nominate itself as the New LNSP or the New ENM. 



The New LNSP or the New ENM may: 



(e) populate the Change Request with the following information: 



TNI Code DLF Code NMI Classification Code 



Jurisdiction Code   



(f) for Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with:  



Actual End Date   



 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 128 of 172 
 



30.5. Timeframe Rules 



When preparing a Change Request, the New LNSP or the New ENM (as applicable) must choose a 



Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as 



shown in Table 30-A. 



Table 30-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 6100 – Change LNSP 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



1 20 0 65 



CR 6110 – Change LNSP – Retrospective  



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



1 20 130 0 



30.6. Objection Rules 



The ’Yes’ Roles specified in Table 30-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 



their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 30-A. 



Table 30-B – Objection Rules
**
 



CR 6100 – Change LNSP 



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADDATA ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 



NOTRESP ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 



CR 6110 – Change LNSP – Retrospective 



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADDATA ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 



NOTRESP ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 



RETRO ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 129 of 172 
 



30.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 



The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 30-C. 



Table 30-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 



CR 6100 – Change LNSP 



CR 6110 – Change LNSP – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - - - - Yes Yes - Yes - - - - - - 



COMPLETED - Yes - Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 



OBJECTED - - - - Yes Yes - Yes - - - - - - 



PENDING - - - - Yes Yes - Yes - - - - - - 



REJECTED - - - - Yes Yes - Yes - - - - - - 



REQUESTED - - - - Yes Yes - Yes - - - - - - 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 130 of 172 
 



31. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE MDP – SMALL,LARGE OR NCONUML 



31.1. Application [6200 6210] 



Section 31 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



6200 – Change MDP Used where the Current FRMP or Current MC is required to apply a Prospective Change 



to the name of the Current MDP  



6210 – Change MDP – 



Retrospective 



Used where the Current FRMP or Current MC is required to apply a Retrospective 



Change to the name of the Current MDP. 



31.2. Conditions Precedent 



(a) The NMI details exist in MSATS 



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL, LARGE or NCONUML. 



31.3. Initiating Roles 



The Current FRMP or Current MC may initiate a Change Request to change a MDP in MSATS in 



accordance with section 31.4. 



31.4. FRMP/Current MC Requirements 



The Current FRMP or Current MC (as applicable) must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 



Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Participant ID  Proposed Change Date MDP 



 



The Current FRMP or Current MC (as applicable) may: 



(d) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information: 



Actual End Date   



31.5. MDP Requirements 



On receipt of a Data Request for CR 6200, the MDP must initiate a Change Request to provide the 



Actual Change Date. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 131 of 172 
 



31.6. Timeframe Rules 



When preparing a Change Request, the Current FRMP or Current MC (as applicable) must choose 



a Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as 



shown in Table 31-A. 



Table 31-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 6200 – Change MDP 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



1 20 0 65 



CR 6210 – Change MDP – Retrospective  



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



1 20 130 0 



31.7. Objection Rules 



The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 31-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 



their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 31-A. 



Table 31-B – Objection Rules
**
 



CR 6200 – Change MDP  



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - - 



NOTRESP ALL ALL - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 



BADPARTY LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 



DATEBAD ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



CR 6210 – Change MDP – Retrospective 



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - - 



NOTRESP ALL ALL - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 



BADDATA SMALL NSW 



VIC 



SA 



- - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



BADDATA LARGE ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



BADPARTY LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 



DATEBAD ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 132 of 172 
 



31.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 



The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 31-C. 



Table 31-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 



CR 6200 – Change MDP 



CR 6210 – Change MDP – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - Yes 



COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes Yes Yes - Yes - - - Yes 



OBJECTED - Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - Yes 



PENDING - Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - Yes 



REJECTED - Yes - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 



REQUESTED - Yes - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - Yes 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 133 of 172 
 



32. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE MC – SMALL LARGE OR NCONUML 



32.1. Application [6300 6301]  



Section 32 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



6300 – Change MC Used where the New MC or Current FRMP is required to apply a Prospective 



Change to the Current MC. 



6301 – Change MC – 



Retrospective 



Used where the New MC or Current FRMP is required to apply a Retrospective 



Change to the Current MC. 



32.2. Conditions Precedent 



(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL LARGE or NCONUML. 



32.3. Initiating Roles 



A New MC (where the NMI Classification Code for a NMI is Large) or Current FRMP (for any NMI) 



may initiate a Change Request to change the MC in MSATS in accordance with section 32.4. 



32.4. MC/Current FRMP Requirements 



The New MC/Current FRMP must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 



Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Participant ID of the New MC Proposed Change Date  



 



(d) Nominate the New MC. 



The New MC/Current FRMP may:  



(e) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information: 



Actual End Date   



 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 134 of 172 
 



32.5. Timeframe Rules 



When preparing a Change Request, the New MC/Current FRMP must choose a Proposed Change 



Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 32-A. 



Table 32-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 6300 – Change MC 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



1 20 0 65 



CR 6301 – Change MC – Retrospective  



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



1  20 130 0 



32.6. Objection Rules 



The ’Yes’ Roles specified in Table 32-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 



their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 32-A. 



Table 32-B – Objection Rules
**
 



CR 6300 – Change MC 



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CONTRACT LARGE ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 



DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



CR 6301 – Change MC – Retrospective 



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



RETRO ALL ALL - Yes - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 



DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - - 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



32.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 



The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 32-C. 



Table 32-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 



CR 6300 – Change MC 



CR 6301 – Change MC – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - Yes - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes 



COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - Yes Yes 



OBJECTED - Yes - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 135 of 172 
 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



PENDING - Yes - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes 



REJECTED - Yes - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes 



REQUESTED - Yes - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 136 of 172 
 



33. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE ENLR – CHILD NMI – SMALL OR LARGE 



33.1. Application [6421] 



Section 33 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



6421 – Change ENLR – Child 



NMI – Retrospective 



Used where the New ENLR for a Child NMI is required (due to an error in the 



NMI Master Record) to apply a Retrospective Change to the name of the 



Current LR. 



33.2. Conditions Precedent 



(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL or LARGE. 



(c) The New ENLR for the child connection point must be the FRMP of the Parent NMI. 



33.3. Initiating Roles 



A New ENLR may initiate a Change Request to change an ENLR in MSATS in accordance with 



section 33.4. 



33.4. LR Requirements 



The New ENLR must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 



Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date  



 



(d) Nominate itself as the New ENLR. 



The New ENLR may populate the Change Request with the following information: 



Actual End Date   



33.5. Timeframe Rules 



When preparing a Change Request, the New LR must choose a Proposed Change Date that lies 



between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown Table 33-A. 



Table 33-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 6421 – Change ENLR Child NMI – Retrospective  



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 



1 1 10 20 130 0 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 137 of 172 
 



33.6. Objection Rules 



The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 33-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 



their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 33-A. 



Table 33-B – Objection Rules
**
 



CR 6421 – Change ENLR Child NMI – Retrospective 



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB MPC RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



NOTRESP ALL ALL - - - Yes - - - - - - - - - - 



RETRO ALL ALL - - - Yes - - - - - - - - - - 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



33.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 



The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 33-C. 



Table 33-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 



CR 6421 – Change ENLR Child NMI – Retrospective  



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  MPC RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - - Yes Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - 



COMPLETED - Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 



OBJECTED - - Yes Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - 



PENDING - - Yes Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - 



REJECTED - - Yes Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - 



REQUESTED - - Yes Yes - - - Yes - - - - - - 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 138 of 172 
 



34. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE ROLR – SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 



34.1. Application [6500 6501] 



Section 34 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



6500 – Change RoLR Used where the New RoLR is required (either by a regulatory change or due to an 



error in the NMI Master Record) to apply a Prospective Change to the name of the 



Current RoLR. 



6501 – Change RoLR – 



Retrospective 



Used where the New RoLR is required (either by a regulatory change or due to an 



error in the NMI Master Record) to apply a Retrospective Change to the name of the 



Current RoLR. 



34.2. Conditions Precedent 



(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL, LARGE or NCONUML. 



34.3. Initiating Roles 



A New RoLR may initiate a Change Request to change a RoLR in accordance with section 34.4. 



34.4. ROLR Requirements 



The New RoLR must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 



Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date  



 



(d) Nominate itself as the New RoLR. 



The New RoLR may, for Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following 



information:  



Actual End Date   



 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 139 of 172 
 



34.5. Timeframe Rules 



The Timeframe Rules are shown in the Table 34-A. 



Table 34-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 6500 – Change RoLR 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 



0 0 0 0 0 65 



CR 6501 – Change RoLR – Retrospective  



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



SMALL NMI LARGE NMI SMALL NMI LARGE NMI 



0 0 0 0 130 0 



34.6. Objection Rules 



Objections are not permitted. 



34.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 



The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 34-B. 



Table 34-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 



CR 6500 – Change RoLR 



CR 6501 – Change RoLR – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes - - 



COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes Yes Yes - Yes 



OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes - - 



PENDING - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes - - 



REJECTED - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes - - 



REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - Yes Yes - - 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 140 of 172 
 



35. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE MPB OR MPC OR BOTH – SMALL, LARGE OR 



NCONUML 



35.1. Application [6700 6701] 



Section 35 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



6700 – Change MPB or MPC or 



both 



Used where the Current MC is required to provide a Prospective Change to the 



Current MPB or MPC or both. 



6701 – Change MPB or MPC or 



both – Retrospective 



Used where the Current MC is required to provide a Retrospective Change the 



Current MPB or MPC or both. 



35.2. Conditions Precedent 



(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL, LARGE or NCONUML. 



35.3. Initiating Roles 



A Current MC may initiate a Change Request to change an MPB or MPC or both in accordance 



with section 35.4. 



35.4. MC Requirements 



The Current MC must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 



Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date  



 



(d) Populate the Change Request with at least one of the following information: 



MPB MPC  



 



The Current MC may: 



(e) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information:  



Actual End Date   



35.5. MDP Requirements 



On receipt of a Data Request for Change Reason Code 6700, the MDP must initiate a Change 



Request to provide the Actual Change Date. 



35.6. Timeframe Rules 



When preparing a Change Request, the Current MC must choose a Proposed Change Date that 



lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 35-A. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 141 of 172 
 



Table 35-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 6700 – Change MP 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



1 20 0 65 



CR 6701 – Change MP – Retrospective 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



1 20 130 0 



35.7. Objection Rules 



The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 35-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 



their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 35-A. 



Table 35-B – Objection Rules
**
 



CR 6700 – Change MP 



CR 6701 – Change MP – Retrospective 



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB RoLR RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - 



NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 



DATEBAD ALL ALL - - - - - Yes - - - - - - - - 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



35.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 



The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 35-C. 



Table 35-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 



CR 6700 – Change MP 



CR 6701 – Change MP – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - - - - - Yes - Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 



COMPLETED - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 



OBJECTED - - - - - Yes - Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 



PENDING - - - - - - - Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 



REJECTED - - - - - Yes - Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 



REQUESTED - - - - - Yes - Yes Yes Yes - - - Yes 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 142 of 172 
 



36. CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE MULTIPLE ROLES – SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 



36.1. Application [6800 6801]  



Section 36 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



6800 – Change Multiple Roles Used where the Current FRMP or Current MC is required to provide 



concurrent Prospective Changes to one or more Roles. 



6801 – Change Multiple Roles – 



Retrospective 



Used where the Current FRMP or Current MC is required to provide 



concurrent Retrospective Changes to one or more Roles. 



36.2. Conditions Precedent 



(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL, LARGE or NCONUML. 



(c) The date of the change of MC, MDP, MPB or MPC will be the Actual Change Date. 



36.3. Initiating Roles 



(a) A Current FRMP may initiate a Change Request to change any or all of the MC, MDP, MPB 



and MPC in MSATS in accordance with section 36.4. 



(b) A Current MC may initiate a Change Request to change any or all of the MDP, MPB and 



MPC in MSATS in accordance with section 36.5. 



36.4. FRMP Requirements 



The FRMP must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 



Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Participant ID Proposed Change Date  



 



(d) Populate a Change Request with one or more of the following: 



MDP MPB MPC 



RP   



The FRMP may: 



(e) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information: 



Actual End Date   



36.5. MC Requirements 



The MC must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 143 of 172 
 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 



Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant Transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Participant ID Proposed Change Date  



 



(d) Populate a Change Request with one or more of the following: 



MDP MPB MPC 



The MC may, for Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following 



information: 



Actual End Date   



36.6. MDP Requirements 



The MDP must: 



(a) On receipt of a Data Request for Change Reason Code 6800 initiate a Change Request to 



provide the Actual Change Date. 



(b) For Prospective Changes that do not require a Meter Reading, provide the Actual Change 



Date within 2 days of the Proposed Change Date being reached. 



(c) For changes that require a Meter Reading, provide the Actual Change Date within 2 days of 



the Meter Reading. 



36.7. Timeframe Rules 



When preparing a Change Request, the Current MC or Current FRMP (as applicable) must choose 



a Proposed Change Date that lies between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as 



shown in Table 36-A. 



Table 36-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 6800 – Change Multiple Roles  



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



1 20 0 65 



CR 6801 – Change Multiple Roles – Retrospective  



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



1 20 130 0 



 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 144 of 172 
 



36.8. Objection Rules 



The ‘Yes’ Roles specified in Table 36-B may Object using the Objection Codes indicated against 



their Roles within the Objection Logging Period specified in Table 36-A. 



Table 36-B – Objection Rules
**
 



CR 6800 – Change Multiple Roles  



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB MPC RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADPARTY ALL ALL -  - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 



CONTRACT LARGE ALL            Yes   



DATEBAD ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - 



NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 



NOTRESP ALL ALL - - - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - - 



NOACC ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - - - 



CR 6801 – Change Multiple Roles – Retrospective  



Objection 



Code 



NMI 



Class 



Jur’n FRMP LR MDP MPB MPC RP LNSP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



BADPARTY ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 



CONTRACT LARGE ALL            Yes   



DATEBAD ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



DECLINED ALL ALL - - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - 



NOTAPRD ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - - - Yes 



NOTRESP ALL ALL - - - - - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - - 



RETRO ALL ALL - - - - - - - - - - - Yes - - 



BADDATA ALL ALL - - - - Yes Yes - - - - - - - - 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 145 of 172 
 



36.9. Change Request Status Notification Rules 



The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 36-C. 



Table 36-C – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 



CR 6800 – Change Multiple Roles 



CR 6801 – Change Multiple Roles – Retrospective 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status 



Change  



FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  MPC RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED  Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 



COMPLETED  Yes - Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 



OBJECTED - Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 



PENDING - Yes - - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 



REJECTED - Yes - - - - - - - - - -  Yes 



REQUESTED - Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 146 of 172 
 



37. AUTO CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE LOCAL RETAILER EMBEDDED NETWORK 



CHILD – SMALL OR LARGE 



37.1. Application [ECLR] 



Section 37 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



ECLR – Change of 



Local Retailer – Child 



(Auto) 



This is an automatic process triggered by MSATS whenever the FRMP is changed for a 



Parent NMI. Once the Parent NMI is transferred, MSATS changes the ENLR for each of the 



Child NMIs in that Parent’s embedded network. 



All Participants will be notified by MSATS of this event in accordance with the notifications 



listed below. 



37.2. Conditions Precedent 



(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) There has been a change of FRMP of a Parent NMI; 



(c) The affected Child NMIs apply to child connection points within this embedded network. 



37.3. Timeframe Rules 



The Proposed Change Date must be within the Retrospectrive Period specified in Table 37-A. 



Table 37-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR ECLR – Change of Local Retailer – Child (Auto) 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



0 0 130 0 



37.4. Objection Rules 



Objections are not permitted. 



37.5. Change Request Status Notification Rules 



The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 37-B. 



Table 37-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules** 



CR ECLR – Change of Local Retailer – Child (Auto) 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status Change  FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



COMPLETED - Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes - Yes - - - Yes 



OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 147 of 172 
 



38. AUTO CHANGE ROLE – CHANGE SECONDARY FRMP PARENT – SMALL OR 



LARGE 



38.1. Application [EPFR] 



Section 38 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



EPFR – Change of 



FRMP – Parent (Auto) 



This is an automatic process triggered by MSATS whenever the FRMP is changed for a 



Parent NMI. Once the Parent NMI is transferred, MSATS changes the FRMP on any other 



NMIs with the same Parent Name.  This occurs where embedded networks have multiple 



Parent NMIs. 



All Participants will be notified of this in accordance with the Change Request Status 



Notification Rules 



38.2. Conditions Precedent 



(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) There are additional Parent NMIs with the same Parent Name; 



(c) There has been a change of FRMP of a Parent NMI;  and 



(d) The Parent NMIs of this embedded network are affected. 



38.3. Timeframe Rules 



The Proposed Change Date must be within the Retrospective Period specified in Table 38-A. 



Table 38-A – Timeframe Rules 



CR EPFR – Change of FRMP – Parent (Auto) 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



0 0 130 0 



38.4. Objection Rules 



Objections are not permitted. 



38.5. Change Request Status Notification Rules 



The Change Request Status Notification Rules are specified in Table 38-B. 



Table 38-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 



CR EPFR – Change of FRMP – Parent (Auto) 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status 



Change  



FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



COMPLETED Yes Yes - - - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 



OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 148 of 172 
 



Status 



Change  



FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 149 of 172 
 



39. AEMO ONLY – AEMO-INITIATED STANDING DATA UPDATES – SMALL, LARGE 



OR NCONUML 



39.1. Application [5100 5101] 



Section 39 applies to the following Change Reason Codes: 



Change Reason Code Comment 



5100 – Correct NMI Master 



Data – (AEMO Only) 



Used where AEMO identifies a requirement for an urgent Prospective Change (i.e., 



in less time than it would take to change that data item because of the allowance 



for an Objection Logging Period) to MSATS data about a connection point or 



where several data items that normally can’t be changed in the same transaction 



must be changed at the same time. 



5101 – Correct NMI Master 



Data – Retrospective (AEMO 



Only) 



Used where AEMO identifies a requirement for an urgent Retrospective Change 



(i.e., in less time than it would take to change that data item because of the 



allowance for an Objection Logging Period) to MSATS data about a connection 



point or where several data items that normally can’t be changed in the same 



transaction must be changed at the same time. 



39.2. Conditions Precedent 



(a) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(b) The NMI Classification Code is SMALL, LARGE or NCONUML. 



39.3. Initiating Roles 



AEMO may initiate a Change Request to create a NMI record in accordance with section 39.4. 



39.4. AEMO Requirements 



AEMO must: 



(a) Obtain the NMI Checksum from an approved source. 



(b) Confirm that the NMI is a valid NMI for the connection point prior to the Initiation of a 



Change Request. 



(c) Populate a Change Request with the following information: 



Change Reason Code Participant transaction ID NMI and NMI Checksum 



Its Participant ID Proposed Change Date  



 



AEMO may: 



(d) Populate the Change Request with values for the following fields (as applicable): 



TNI Code DLF Code Jurisdiction Code 



NMI Status Code NMI Classification Code FRMP 



LNSP LR RP 



MPB MDP MPC 



RoLR Locality State 



Postcode Building Name Feeder Class 



DPID Flat Number Flat Type 



Floor Number Floor Type House Number 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 150 of 172 
 



House Number Suffix Location Descriptor Lot Number 



Street Name Street Suffix Street Type 



Unstructured Address 1 Unstructured Address 2 Unstructured Address 3 



Child Name Parent Name Aggregate flag 



Customer Classification Code Customer Threshold Code   



 



(e) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each Datastream: 



NMI Suffix (at least one) Datastream Type (for each suffix) ADL (for each suffix) 



Datastream Status Code (for each 



suffix) 



Profile Name (for each suffix)  



 



(f) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each meter: 



Meter Serial ID (at least one) Metering Installation Type Code Meter Register Status Code  



Additional Site information NSRD Meter Location 



Meter Constant Meter Hazard Meter Point 



Meter Route Meter Use Meter Manufacturer 



Meter Model Meter Program Meter Read Type 



Transformer Location Transformer Type Transformer Ratio 



Measurement Type Last Test Date Next Test Date 



Test Result Accuracy Test Result Notes Test Performed By 



Remote Phone Number Communication Equipment Type Communication Protocol 



Data Conversion Arrangements Data Validation Arrangements Estimation Instructions 



Asset Management Plan Details Calibration Tables (details of any 



calibration factors programmed 



into the meter) 



Password Details (the read and 



time set passwords only, 



separated by a space; the write 



password is not to be recorded 



in MSATS) 



Test and Calibration Program 



Details 



User Access Rights Details (i.e. 



details of any End User access to 



the metering installation such as 



pulse outputs) 



 



 



(g) Populate the Change Request with the following information for each register: 



Register ID (at least one for each 



meter) 



Register Identifier Status Code 



(for each register) 



Network Tariff Code 



Actual/Cumulative Indicator (for 



each register) 



Controlled Load Indicator (for 



each register) 



Network Tariff Code Additional 



Information 



MDM Contributory Suffix (this 



can also be supplied by the MDP) 



Demand Value 1, if the Network 



Tariff includes a demand 



component 



Demand Value 2, if the Network 



Tariff includes a second demand 



component 



Time of Day Code (for each 



register) 



Dial Format (for each register) Multiplier Value (for each 



register) 



Unit of Measure Code (for each 



register) 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 151 of 172 
 



 



(h) For Retrospective Changes, populate the Change Request with the following information: 



Actual End Date   



39.5. Timeframe Rules 



When preparing a Change Request, AEMO must choose a Proposed Change Date that lies 



between the Prospective Period and Retrospective Period, as shown in Table 39-A. 



Table 39A – Timeframe Rules 



CR 5100 – Correct NMI Master Data – (AEMO Only) 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



0 0 0 65 



CR 5101 – Correct NMI Master Data – Retrospective (AEMO Only) 



Objection Logging Period 



(business days) 



Objection Clearing Period 



(business days) 



Retrospective Period 



(business days) 



Prospective Period 



(business days) 



0 0 150 0 



39.6. Objection Rules 



Objections are not permitted. 



39.7. Change Request Status Notification Rules 



The Change Request Status Notification Rules  are specified in Table 39-B. 



Table 39-B – Change Request Status Notification Rules
**
 



CR 5100 – Correct NMI Master Data – (AEMO Only) 



CR 5101 – Correct NMI Master Data – Retrospective (AEMO Only) 



PARTICIPANT ROLE – Receives Notification of Change 



Status 



Change  



FRMP LR LNSP MDP MPB  RoLR RP 



N C N C N C N C N C N C N C 



CANCELLED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



COMPLETED Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - - Yes Yes 



OBJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



PENDING - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REJECTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



REQUESTED - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



** N = New Role, C = Current Role.  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 152 of 172 
 



40. AEMO ONLY – CHANGE ROLE, TNI OR DLF CODE – BULK CHANGE TOOL 



(BCT) – SMALL, LARGE OR NCONUML 



40.1. Introduction 



(a) This is a special transaction undertaken by AEMO in limited circumstances, such as when a 



RoLR Event occurs as it is designed to manage bulk changes of Participant IDs, TNI Codes or 



DLF Codes. 



(b) The BCT can only be used by AEMO. 



(c) Section 40 covers changes to the following NMI Standing Data items: 



LNSP LR FRMP 



MDP MPB MPC 



RP RoLR TNI Code 



DLF Code   



 



(d) Access rights to the BCT function are restricted and will only be available to a person 



nominated by AEMO. 



(e) When activated, BCT will use a unique Change Reason Code to update the data specified in 



the BCT request by AEMO. 



(f) When the BCT is used, active Change Requests may be Cancelled. 



(g) A BCT following a RoLR Event will change the identity of the Current FRMP in the NMI 



Master Record to the Participant ID of the Participant that the relevant Regulator has 



nominated to undertake the RoLR function. (Note the BCT does not use the information 



specified in the RoLR role against the NMI). 



(h) Where necessary, the BCT RoLR action will change the identity of the parent LR on the Child 



NMIs, provided these have been set up correctly in MSATS. 



(i) Notification of a change to the NMI Master Record as in accordance with the Change 



Request Status Notifications Rules. 



(j) Responsibilities for requesting, authorising and implementing use of the BCT will be as per 



Table 40-A. 



Table 40-A – Request/Authorise/Implementation Scenarios 



Scenario Request Authorise Implement 



Mergers & Acquisitions Participants AEMO AEMO 



TNI & DLF Code updates Participants AEMO AEMO 



RoLR Events Relevant Regulator AEMO AEMO 



Any other scenario Jurisdictions/Participants AEMO AEMO 



40.2. Conditions Precedent 



(a) For all events: 



(i) The NMI exists in MSATS. 



(ii) The Effective Date of the BCT Change Requests shall always be retrospective. 



(iii) The NMI can be any NMI Classification Code. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 153 of 172 
 



(iv) AEMO has agreement on requirements and details from all parties impacted (except 



for RoLR Event). 



(v) The use of the BCT functionality is not dependant on the provision of any Meter 



Readings at the effective date. 



(b) RoLR Events: 



See NEM ROLR Processes  



(c) Mergers & Acquisitions 



The Participant IDs involved must have the same ABN and the same Jurisdictional licences. 



40.3. Requesting Participant Requirements 



Where Table 40-A indicates that a Participant may request the use of the BCT, the requesting 



Participant must: 



(a) Provide at least one data item (data field) for change. 



(b) Specify the Start and End Date (if required) for the BCT process. 



(c) Ensure that all changing data items are active for the whole of the time period specified for 



the BCT. 



(d) Ensure all impacted Participants are consulted and have provided approval for change to 



AEMO. 



(e) Specify the notifications to be sent out for the BCT process. 



(f) Specify the action required to be taken when a conflicting Change Request is found for the 



NMIs in the BCT process. 



(g) Provide the selection criteria for NMIs to be included in the BCT from the following fields: 



LNSP LR FRMP 



MDP MPB MPC 



RP RoLR TNI Code 



DLF Code Post Code Aggregate Flag  



NMI Status Code NMI Classification Code Jurisdiction Code 



Parent Name (ID or “if null” or “if 



not null”) 



Child Name (ID or “if null” or “if 



not null”) 



The Tier Status (not required if 



both the LR and FRMP are 



provided as selection criteria) 



NMI Limit (Maximum number of 



NMIs to be processed in the run) 



Previous BCT run identifier (i.e. 



Change all NMIs in a previous 



BCT event) 



 



 



(h) Nominate at least one of the following information for change via the BCT: 



LNSP LR FRMP 



MDP(1)  MPB(1) MPC(1) 



RP RoLR TNI Code 



DLF Code   



Note(1): The requesting Participant must be the MC to nominate the MDP, MPB and MPC Roles. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 154 of 172 
 



The requesting Participant may further specify a list of NMIs to be used as part of the selection 



criteria. 



40.4. Impacted Participant Requirements 



Impacted Participants must: 



(a) Provide AEMO acceptance or rejection of the criteria set by the requesting Participant for 



use with the BCT. 



(b) Where rejecting the criteria set by the requesting Participant for use with the BCT, provide 



AEMO a reasonable justification for the rejection. 



40.5. MDP Requirements 



The MDP must update the activity status of any affected Datastreams via normal Change Request 



processes. 



40.6. Timeframe Rules 



(a) The BCT can only be used to make Retrospective Changes. 



(b) The Timeframe Rules that apply to the appropriate Change Reason Code that would 



normally have applied will apply to BCT changes. 



40.7. Objection Rules 



Objections are not permitted. 



40.8. Change Request Status Notification Rules 



The Change Request Status Notification Rules are configurable to suit the changes being made. In 



each case these will need to be specified by the Initiating Participant. For all events, only COM 



notifications will be provided. 



  











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 155 of 172 
 



41. ACCESS TO CATS STANDING DATA 



41.1. Introduction 



(a) This section provides the rules for access to CATS Standing Data through MSATS. 



(b) Separate rules apply to CATS Standing Data that is available for NMI Discovery Search and 



CATS Standing Data that can be accessed by Participants with a relationship to a NMI. 



(c) NMI Standing Data for NMI Discovery Search is the specified sub-set of CATS Standing Data 



identified in Table 41-A, Table 41-C, Table 41-I and Table 41-J. 



(d) The entire set of CATS Standing Data is identified in Table 411-D, Table 41-E, Table 41-F, 



Table 41-G and Table 41-H. 



41.2. Participant 



(a) In accordance with Jurisdictional requirements, a Participant may seek access to NMI 



Standing Data from MSATS as set out in section 41.3.1 for the purpose of identifying the 



NMI attributes assigned to a connection point or as otherwise permitted by the Jurisdiction. 



(b) If agreed with a potential End User, a Participant may seek access to NMI Standing Data 



from MSATS in accordance with section 41.3.2 for the purpose of identifying the NMI 



Standing Data assigned to a connection point or as otherwise prescribed by the Jurisdiction. 



(c) A Participant may seek access to NMI Standing Data from MSATS in accordance with 



section 41.3.4 only for the purpose of: 



(i) Identifying the Current FRMP so the End User can be referred to them in order to 



arrange abolishment of the NMI from MSATS; 



(ii) Identifying the Current FRMP to advise that an error correction transfer (CR 1021, 



1023, 1024 and 1029) will be raised; 



(iii) Identifying the Current FRMP to obtain agreement to raise a transfer CR 1010 – a 



Retrospective Change to align to Meter Reading; 



(iv) Identifying the most recent previous FRMP to arrange with them to raise a transfer in 



order to win back a NMI transferred in error. (CR 1022, 1025, 1026, 1027 and 1028). 



(d) A Current Participant is provided with access to CATS Standing Data in MSATS in 



accordance with Table 411-D, Table 41-E, Table 41-F, Table 41-G, Table 41-H, Table 41-I and 



Table 41-J. 



(e) For the purpose of this section, a reference to a: 



(i) Participant; 



(ii) retailer; or 



(iii) FRMP, 



is also a reference to a Customer’s Disclosee under section 8.6.2(b1) of the Rules. 



(f) An MC may seek access to NMI Standing Data from MSATS in accordance with section 41.3.5 



only for the purpose of identifying the NMI Classification of ‘LARGE’ in order to arrange a 



change of MC. 



41.3. Request a NMI Discovery Search 



(a) The following access to CATS Standing Data is available to a Participant in MSATS: 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 156 of 172 
 



(i) NMI Discovery Search 1; 



(ii) NMI Discovery Search 2 – NMI Standing Data; 



(iii) CATS Standing Data; 



(iv) NMI Discovery Search 3 – NMI Standing Data. 



(b) NMI Discovery Search 1 is used by a Participant to identify the NMI characters that have 



been assigned to an End User’s connection point, as described in section 41.3.1. 



(c) NMI Discovery Search 2 is used by a Participant to identify the NMI Standing data that has 



been assigned to the End User’s connection point and is available for release in accordance 



with NMI Standing Data Access Rules, as provided in section 41.3.2. 



(d) The CATS Standing Data Access Rules are contained in section 41.3.3. 



(e) A NMI Discovery Search 1 will only be successful if information is contained in MSATS that 



supports one of the following three options: DPID, Meter Serial ID and address. 



(f) NMI Discovery Search 3 is used by retailers to progress error correction CRs, identify the 



previous FRMP, or for seeking agreement to the raising of a retrospective align with meter 



read transfers. 



41.3.1. NMI Discovery Search 1 – NMI Search Rules 



(a) The NMI Search Rules define what search parameters can be used in a Jurisdiction. 



(b) The available NMI search options are: 



(i) DPID; 



(ii) Meter Serial ID; 



(iii) Address (without DPID). 



(c) Any or all of these options can be activated. Activation is in the ascending order shown in 



paragraph (b). 



(d) If a search is carried out using the address option, the state and locality (or state and 



postcode) must also be provided. 



(e) If a search is carried out using Meter Serial ID the state, locality and postcode are not 



required. 



(f) The address information can be either structured or unstructured. If a search is carried out 



using the address option only all input information is expected in the structured format as 



the first level of search. If this level of search is not successful, a second search on 



unstructured format will be undertaken by MSATS. 



(g) If a NMI Master Record does not contain DPID or address information, the NMI search will 



only be successful if a Meter Serial ID is provided as a search option. 



(h) MSATS identifies a unique metering installation. The metering installation may be co-located 



with a postal delivery point but there will be instances where the metering installation has 



no postal delivery point. In recognition of this variation, MSATS enables the Participant to 



enter in either a structured or an Unstructured Address. The Unstructured Address should 



not contain state and postcode information. 



(i) The NMI Search Rules also define how many matches will be returned in the case of 



multiple matches. 



(j) If a match occurs, MSATS will return to the Participant the following: 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 157 of 172 
 



Table 41-A 



MSATS Name Description of data items returned on a successful 



NMI Discovery Search request 



Only if “Address 



returned in stage 1” is 



turned on 



Building Name See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 



Customer Classification 



Code 



See Table 41-E for description ✓ 



Customer Threshold Code See Table 41-E for description ✓ 



DPID Number See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 



EmbNet Child See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 



EmbNet Parent See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 



Feeder Class See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 



Flat Number See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 



Flat Type See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 



Floor Number See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 



Floor Type  See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 



House Number See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 



House Number Suffix See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 



LNSP Local Network Service Provider or Embedded 



Network Manager for a child connection point 



Always returned 



Locality See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 



Location Descriptor See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 



Lot Number See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 



NMI  a 10 digit national metering identifier Always returned 



NMI Checksum  a single digit number used to validate the NMI 



supplied to MSATS 



Always returned 



Postcode See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 



State See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 



Street Name See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 



Street Suffix See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 



Street Type See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 



Unstructured Address 2 See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 



Unstructured Address 3 See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 



Unstructured Address1 See Table 41-E for description  ✓ 



 



(k) No other information will be provided. 



(l) The NMI Search Rules are shown in Table 41-B. 



(m) The LNSP must:  



(i) only carry out a NMI Discovery Search 1 on any NMIs where they are the Current 



LNSP. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 158 of 172 
 



(ii) Only perform NMI Discovery Search 1 within its local area for the purpose of 



responding to a request from a retailer to assist in the resolution of a NMI Standing 



Data problem, or to perform quality checks of its data within MSATS. 



(n) The ENM must only carry out a NMI Discovery Search 1 on any NMIs where they are the 



Current ENM. 



Table 41-B – NMI Search Rules 



Role  DPID  Meter 



Serial ID 



NMI Address Address returned 



in Stage 1  



Number of Records 



Returned if Multiple Match 



FRMP 



LNSP 



Yes Yes Yes Yes 99 



41.3.2. NMI Discovery Search 2 – NMI Standing Data Access Rules 



(a) This section 41.3.2 specifies the NMI Standing Data that is available to retailers and NSPs 



who do not have Explicit Informed Consent from an End User. 



(b) An LNSP must: 



(i) Only carry out a NMI Discovery Search 2 on any NMIs where they are the Current 



LNSP. 



(ii) Only perform NMI Discovery Search 2 activity within its local area for the purpose of 



responding to a request from a retailer to assist in the resolution of a NMI Standing 



Data problem, or to perform quality checks of its data within MSATS. 



(c) The ENM must only carry out a NMI Discovery Search 2 on any NMIs where they are the 



Current ENM. 



(d) The NMI Data Access Rules define: 



(i) Which Role can initiate a request for NMI Standing Data. 



(ii) Which standing data items will be returned when a request is submitted to MSATS. 



(e) The NMI Data Access Rules may be defined by Jurisdiction. 



(f) The NMI Standing Data items that would be returned to a FRMP or LNSP in all Jurisdictions 



on a successful data access request are specified in Table 41-C. Further details of each data 



item can be found in the MSATS standing data tables from the “Standing Data for MSATS” 



document. 



Table 41-C – Common NMI Standing Data items returned to a FRMP or LNSP for a NMI Discovery Search 2   



MSATS Name Data item description MSATS standing data table 



Actual/Cumulative 



Indicator 



Actual/Subtractive Indicator. 



Actual implies volume of energy actually 



metered between two dates. Cumulative 



indicates two Meter Readings are required 



to determine the consumption between 



those two read dates. For an Interval Meter, 



Actual/Cumulative Indicator is normally = 



A. 



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 159 of 172 
 



MSATS Name Data item description MSATS standing data table 



Address This includes all address fields, which 



comprise DPID, building name, flat number, 



flat type, floor number, floor type, house 



number, house number suffix, location 



descriptor, Lot Number, street name, street 



suffix, street type, Unstructured Address1, 



Unstructured Address2, Unstructured 



Address3, postcode, locality, and state. 



CATS_NMI_DATA 



ADL The electrical energy delivered through a 



connection point or metering point over an 



extended period normalised to a “per day” 



basis (kWh). 



CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Child Name The Embedded Network Code populated in 



the EmbNetChild field for a Child NMI to 



indicate that the NMI is a child for a 



specified embedded network 



CATS_NMI_DATA 



Controlled Load Indicates whether the energy recorded by 



this register is created under a Controlled 



Load regime. 



Controlled Load field will have “No” if 



register does not relate to a Controlled 



Load, it should contain a description of the 



Controlled Load regime. 



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Customer Classification 



Code 



See section4.11.1.  CATS_NMI_DATA 



Customer Threshold Code See section4.11.2. CATS_NMI_DATA 



Datastream Status Code See section4.12.2. CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Datastream Type A code to indicate the type of data that the 



Datastream will report:  includes interval 



and accumulation. 



CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Dial Format Describes the register display format. CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



DLF Code  A code representing the DLF. CATS_NMI_DATA 



Feeder Class A code for logical grouping of NMIs based 



on a DNSP’s distribution feeder. 



CATS_NMI_DATA 



Jurisdiction Code See section4.6. CATS_NMI_DATA 



LNSP  A code representing the identity of the 



LNSP. 



CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 



MDP A code representing the identity of the 



MDP (Category D). 



CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 



Meter Register Status Code A code to denote the status of the meter 



within the NEM. 



CATS_METER_REGISTER 



Meter Serial ID The serial number that uniquely identifies a 



meter for a given NMI. 



CATS_METER_REGISTER 



Metering Installation Type 



Code  



See section4.13. CATS_METER_REGISTER 



MeterRead Type Code indicating the method and frequency 



of Meter Reading. 



CATS_METER_REGISTER 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 160 of 172 
 



MSATS Name Data item description MSATS standing data table 



MPB A code representing the identity of the MP 



(Category B). 



CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 



MPC A code representing the identity of the 



MDP (Category C). 



CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 



Multiplier Multiplier required to take a register value 



and turn it into a value representing billable 



energy. 



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Network Tariff Code  A code representing the Network Tariff. CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Network Tariff Code 



Additional Information 



Additional text to supplement the Network 



Tariff Code if this is a complex Network 



Tariff Code. 



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Next Scheduled Read Date  The NSRD in date format. CATS_METER_REGISTER 



NMI  A national metering identifier. CATS_NMI_DATA 



NMI Classification Code  See section4.10. CATS_NMI_DATA 



NMI Status Code See section4.12. CATS_NMI_DATA 



Parent Name The Embedded Network Code populated in 



the EmbNetParent field for a Parent NMI to 



indicate that the NMI is a parent for a 



specified embedded network 



CATS_NMI_DATA 



Profile Name  A code representing the name of the 



profile. 



CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Register ID The register ID of the register that the 



Network Tariff Code and Network Tariff 



Code additional information refers to. 



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Register Identifier Status 



Code 



A lookup code to indicate if register is 



active. 



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



RP A code representing the identity of the MC. CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 



Suffix A code representing the NMI Datastream. CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Time f Day Industry developed Codes to identify the 



time validity of register contents. 



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



TNI Code  A code representing the transmission node 



identifier. 



CATS_NMI_DATA 



Unit of Measure A code to identify the Unit of Measure 



(UOM) for data held in this register.  



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



41.3.3. CATS Standing Data Access Rules 



(a) The CATS Standing Data Access Rules specify which items of CATS Standing Data may be 



accessed by which Role within each Jurisdiction. 



(b) The CATS Standing Data is grouped as follows: 



(i) Meter Register; 



(ii) NMI Data; 



(iii) NMI Datastream; 



(iv) NMI Participant Relations; 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 161 of 172 
 



(v) Register ID. 



The CATS Standing Data Access Rules are shown in Table 411-D, Table 41-E, Table 41-F, Table 41-G, 



and Table 41-H. 



Table 411-D – CATS Standing Data Access Rules for Meter Register 



METER REGISTER  



Jur’n Data Item Description 



F
R



M
P
 



LR
 



LN
S
P



 



M
D



P
 



M
P



B
 



M
P



C
 



R
P
 



R
o



LR
 



N
E
M



M
 



N
S
P
2
 



ALL AddlSiteInfo This field is used to provide any 



additional information about a 



Site to describe Site access and 



the relationship between the 



metering point and the 



connection point. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 



ALL AssetMgmtPlan If a Site plan is used, this is a 



description of the plan. If a 



Sample Test Plan is used, this is 



the name of the AEMO-



approved plan. 



Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 



ALL Calibration 



Tables 



Details of any calibration factors 



programmed into the meter. 



Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 



ALL CommEquip 



Type 



Indicates modem or other 



communication device types. 



Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL CommProtocol Textual description of details 



needed to communicate to 



communication devices. 



Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL DataConv Textual description of details 



needed to translate data 



received from a communication 



device. 



Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 



ALL DataValidations Textual description of details 



needed to validate data 



received from a communication 



device. 



Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 



ALL EstInstruct Textual instructions on how to 



estimate the Meter Reading if 



an Estimated Reading is 



required. 



Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 



ALL LastTestDate Last date on which the meter 



was tested. 



Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 



ALL Measurement 



Type 



Code indicating how the meter 



is measuring, example values 



include, aggregate, 



consumption, programmable, 



interval. 



Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL MeterConstant Multiplier applied to the meter 



to arrive at the consumption. 



Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 162 of 172 
 



Jur’n Data Item Description 



F
R



M
P
 



LR
 



LN
S
P



 



M
D



P
 



M
P



B
 



M
P



C
 



R
P
 



R
o



LR
 



N
E
M



M
 



N
S
P
2
 



ALL MeterHazard Code or text indicating any 



dangerous conditions that may 



have been identified at the Site. 



Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL MeterInstall 



Code 



The Metering Installation Type 



Code indicates whether or not 



the meter has to be manually 



read. This affects the transfer 



transaction process flow 



because if a meter has to be 



manually read, the MP  must 



supply the Actual Change Date 



before the Change Request is 



Completed. If it does not have 



to be manually read, the 



Change Request can be 



Completed as of the requested 



transfer date. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL MeterLocation Code or text indicating where 



the meter is physically located 



at the premises. 



Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL Meter 



Manufacturer 



The manufacturer code for the 



meter. 



Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 



ALL MeterModel The manufacturer’s model 



number for the meter. 



Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 



ALL MeterPoint An additional metering 



identifier field. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL MeterProgram For programmable meters, an 



identifier of the program run at 



the meter. 



Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 



ALL MeterReadType Code indicating how the meter 



is read 



Refer to “Standing data for 



MSATS’ document for further 



details. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 



ALL MeterRoute The route identifier the meter is 



currently being read in. 



Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 



ALL MeterSerial The serial number that uniquely 



identifies a meter for a given 



NMI. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL MeterStatus Code used to indicate the 



status of the meter. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL MeterUse Code indicating revenue meter, 



check meter, load research, etc. 



Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL NextSchRead 



Date 



Indicates the NSRD for the 



meter if a reading is required. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 163 of 172 
 



Jur’n Data Item Description 



F
R



M
P
 



LR
 



LN
S
P



 



M
D



P
 



M
P



B
 



M
P



C
 



R
P
 



R
o



LR
 



N
E
M



M
 



N
S
P
2
 



ALL NextTestDate Next date on which the meter 



should be tested. 



Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 



ALL Password Read and Time Set passwords, 



separated by a space. 



Note that the Write password is 



not to be stored in this field. 



Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 



ALL ReadTypeCode Code used to indicate whether 



a meter should be read on the 



NSRD, a Special Read Date or 



an Estimated Reading. 



Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 



VIC RemotePhone 



Number 



The phone number for remote 



access. 



- - - Yes Yes - Yes - Yes - 



NSW RemotePhone 



Number 



The phone number for remote 



access. 



- - - Yes Yes - Yes - Yes - 



ACT RemotePhone 



Number 



The phone number for remote 



access. 



- - - Yes Yes - Yes - Yes - 



QLD RemotePhone 



Number 



The phone number for remote 



access. 



- - - Yes Yes - Yes - Yes - 



SA RemotePhone 



Number 



The phone number for remote 



access. 



- - Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL TestCalibProgra



m 



Current test and calibration 



program details. 



Yes - Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL TestPerformed 



By 



Who performed the last test. 



This field could be used to store 



a company or individual’s 



name. 



Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 



ALL TestResult 



Accuracy 



The accuracy of the meter from 



the last test. 



Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 



ALL TestResult 



Notes 



Any text or further test 



information. 



Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 



ALL Transformer 



Location 



Indicates where the transformer 



is in relation to the meter. 



Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL UserAccess 



Rights 



Details of any End User access 



to the metering installation. 



Examples include pulse outputs, 



interface to End User load 



management system, or End 



User directly accessing data in 



the meter through special 



agreement. 



Yes - - Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - 



ALL Transformer 



Ratio 



Instrument transformer ratios 



(available and connected). 



Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL Transformer 



Type 



Type of transformation eployed. Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 164 of 172 
 



Table 41-E – CATS Standing Data Access Rules for NMI data 



NMI DATA  



Jur’n Data Item Description 



F
R



M
P
 



LR
 



LN
S
P



 



M
D



P
 



M
P



B
 



M
P



C
 



R
P
 



R
o



LR
 



N
E
M



M
 



N
S
P
2
 



ALL AggFlag A flag that may be used for the 



transition from MAS to MSATS. 



This field is used by MDM to 



determine which settlement 



reports data goes into, that is 



whether it should be aggregated 



or not. Can be a ‘Y’ or ‘N’. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL BuildingName The full name used to identify 



the physical building or property 



as part of its location. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL Customer 



Classification 



Code 



A code that defines the End User 



class as defined in the National 



Energy Retail Regulations, or in 



over-riding Jurisdictional 



instruments.  



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL CustomerThres



holdCode 



A code that defines the 



consumption threshold as 



defined in the National Energy 



Retail Regulations, or in over-



riding Jurisdictional instruments.  



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL DLFCode DLF Code used to indicate the 



DLF value for the given NMI. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL DPID Delivery point identifier – the 



numeric descriptor for a postal 



delivery point which is equal to a 



physical address. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL EmbNetChild The embedded network 



identifier code is used to identify 



which embedded network this 



Child NMI is part of. (If on a NMI 



record this field is not populated, 



it is assumed the NMI is not the 



Child NMI of any other Parent 



NMI.) 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL EmbNetParent The embedded network 



identifier code is used to identify 



which embedded network this 



NMI is the ‘parent of’. (If on a 



NMI record this field is not 



populated, it is assumed the NMI 



is not the parent of any other 



NMI.) 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL FlatNumber Specification of the number of 



the flat or unit which is a 



separately identifiable portion 



within a building/complex. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 165 of 172 
 



Jur’n Data Item Description 



F
R



M
P
 



LR
 



LN
S
P



 



M
D



P
 



M
P



B
 



M
P



C
 



R
P
 



R
o



LR
 



N
E
M



M
 



N
S
P
2
 



ALL FlatType Specification of the type of flat 



or unit which is a separately 



identifiable portion within a 



building/complex. Values 



permitted include: APT, CTGE, 



DUP, FY, F, HSE, KSK, MSNT, MB, 



OFF, PTHS, RM, SHED, SHOP, 



SITE, SL, STU, SE, TNHS, U, VLLA, 



WARD, WE. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL FloorNumber Floor Number is used to identify 



the floor or level of a multi-



storey building/complex. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL FloorType Floor Type is used to identify the 



floor or level of a multi-storey 



building/complex. Values 



permitted include: B, FL, G, L, LG, 



M, UG. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL HouseNum The numeric reference of a 



house or property. Specifically 



the house number. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL HouseNum 



Suffix 



The numeric reference of a 



house or property. Specifically 



the single character identifying 



the house number suffix. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL Jurisdiction 



Code 



Jurisdiction Code to which the 



NMI belongs. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL Locality The full name of the general 



locality containing the specific 



address. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL Location 



Descriptor 



A general field to capture 



various references to address 



locations alongside another 



physical location. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL Lot Number The lot reference number 



allocated to an address prior to 



street numbering. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL NMI National Meter Identifier – 



unique identification for each 



connection point. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 



ALL NMI 



Classification 



Code 



A code that identifies, on a 



Jurisdiction basis, the magnitude 



of the power consumed, eg 



small or large. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL NMIStatusCod



e 



Code used to indicate the status 



of the NMI, i.e. active, de-



energised, extinct. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 166 of 172 
 



Jur’n Data Item Description 



F
R



M
P
 



LR
 



LN
S
P



 



M
D



P
 



M
P



B
 



M
P



C
 



R
P
 



R
o



LR
 



N
E
M



M
 



N
S
P
2
 



ALL Postcode The numeric descriptor for a 



postal delivery area, aligned with 



locality, suburb or place. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL State Defined State or Territory 



abbreviation. Values permitted 



include: AAT, ACT, NSW, NT, 



QLD, SA, TAS, VIC, WA. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL StreetName Records the thoroughfare name. Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL StreetSuffix Records any street suffixes. 



Values permitted include: CN, E, 



EX, OR, N, NE, NW, S, SE, SW, 



UP, W 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL StreetType Records the street type 



abbreviation. Available 



abbreviations are listed in 



AS4590. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL TNICode Transmission Node Identifier. 



Identifies a transmission network 



connection point.  



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes  Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL Unstructured 



Address1 



To provide the Unstructured 



Address (line 1) where a 



Structured Address cannot be 



supplied. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL Unstructured 



Address2 



To provide The Unstructured 



Address (line 2) where a 



Structured Address cannot be 



supplied. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL Unstructured 



Address3 



To provide the Unstructured 



Address (line 3) where a 



Structured Address cannot be 



supplied. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL Feeder Class To provide a 15 character long 



field in varchar format for logical 



grouping of NMIs based on a 



DNSP’s distribution feeder. 



Yes  Yes  Yes - - - Yes - Yes - 



Table 41-F – CATS Standing Data Access Rules for NMI Datastream 



NMI DATASTREAM 



Jur’n Data Item Description 



F
R



M
P
 



LR
 



LN
S
P



 



M
D



P
 



M
P



B
 



M
P



C
 



R
P
 



R
o



LR
 



N
E
M



M
 



N
S
P
2
 



ALL AverageDailyL



oad 



The electrical energy delivered 



through a connection point or 



metering point over an extended 



period normalised to a per day 



basis. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes Yes 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 167 of 172 
 



Jur’n Data Item Description 



F
R



M
P
 



LR
 



LN
S
P



 



M
D



P
 



M
P



B
 



M
P



C
 



R
P
 



R
o



LR
 



N
E
M



M
 



N
S
P
2
 



ALL DataStream 



Type 



Indicates the type of data that the 



Datastream will report includes 



interval and accumulation. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL ProfileName See Retail Market Procedures – 



Glossary and Framework 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL StreamStatus 



Code 



Code used to indicate the status 



of the suffix. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL Suffix Stream of data for the NMI. Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



Table 41-G – CATS Standing Data Access Rules for Participant Relations 



PARTICIPANT RELATIONS 



Jur’n Data Item Description 



F
R



M
P
 



LR
 



LN
S
P



 



M
D



P
 



M
P



B
 



M
P



C
 



R
P
 



R
o



LR
 



N
E
M



M
 



N
S
P
2
 



ALL FRMP Financially Responsible Market 



Participant, e.g. Current Retailer.  



Yes  Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL LNSP Current Local Network Service 



Provider (or ENM for a child 



connection point).  



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 



ALL LR Current Local Retailer or Embedded 



Network Local Retailer 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes - Yes  



ALL MDP Current MDP – Category D. Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL MPB Current MP – Category B. Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL MPC Current MDP – Category C. Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL NEMM  Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL ROLR Current Retailer of Last Resort. Yes - Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes 



ALL RP Current Metering Coordinator. Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL NSP2 Current Second Network Service 



Provider 



  Yes Yes   Yes  Yes Yes 



Table 41-H – CATS Standing Data Access Rules for Register IDs 



REGISTER ID 



Jur’n Data Item Description 



F
R



M
P
 



LR
 



LN
S
P



 



M
D



P
 



M
P



B
 



M
P



C
 



R
P
 



R
o



LR
 



N
E
M



M
 



N
S
P
2
 



ALL ActCumInd Actual/Subtractive indicator. 



Actual implies volume of energy 



actually metered between two 



dates. 



Cumulative indicates a Meter 



Reading for a specific date. A 



second Meter Reading is required 



to determine the consumption 



between those two dates.  



Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 168 of 172 
 



Jur’n Data Item Description 



F
R



M
P
 



LR
 



LN
S
P



 



M
D



P
 



M
P



B
 



M
P



C
 



R
P
 



R
o



LR
 



N
E
M



M
 



N
S
P
2
 



ALL Controlled 



Load 



Indicates whether the energy 



recorded by this register is created 



under a Controlled Load regime. 



Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL Demand1 A value, in kVA or kW, which is a 



demand component associated 



with a Network Tariff. 



Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL Demand2 A value, in kVA or kW, where there 



is a second demand component 



associated with a Network Tariff. 



Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL DialFormat Describes the register display 



format. First number is the number 



of digits to the left of the decimal 



place, and the second number is 



the number of digits to the right of 



the decimal place. 



Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL Multiplier Multiplier required to take a 



register value and turn it into a 



value representing billable energy. 



Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL NetworkTarif



f 



Code 



A code that identifies the Network 



Tariff. It is a code obligation for the 



LNSP to publish the meaning of 



these codes elsewhere (e.g. on the 



Internet). 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL NTAddInfo Contains additional explanatory 



information about the Network 



Tariff if the code alone is not a 



sufficient explanation. 



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL RegisterId The identifier which uniquely 



identifies this register.  



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL RegisterId 



Status 



A code to indicate whether or not 



the register is active.  



Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL Suffix The suffix on the CATS_NMI_ 



Datastream table to which energy 



measured on this register 



contributes. 



Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL TimeOfDay A code that indicates the time 



validity of the register’s contents. 



Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



ALL UnitOf 



Measure 



A code to identify the unit of 



measure for the data held in this 



register. 



Yes - Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes 



41.3.4. NMI Discovery Search 3 – NMI Standing Data Access Rules 



(a) This section specifies the NMI Standing Data available to retailers who are: 



(i) seeking to progress error correction transfers (prior to initiating a CR 1021, 1023, 1024 



and 1029); 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 169 of 172 
 



(ii) seeking agreement to the raising of a Retrospective Change on a date that aligns 



with a previous Meter Reading (CR 1010); 



(iii) seeking the previous FRMP to win back a NMI won in error – (CR 1022, 1025, 1026, 



1027 and 1028); and 



(iv) Who are not the FRMP and in receipt of an End User’s request for abolishment of a 



NMI from MSATS. 



(b) A retailer must only perform NMI Discovery Search 3 on any NMIs for the reasons stated in 



paragraph (a). 



(c) The NMI Standing Data Access Rules for this transaction define which: 



(i) Role can initiate a request for NMI Standing Data. 



(ii) Standing data items will be returned when a request is submitted to MSATS. 



(d) The Roles that can initiate the NMI Discovery Search 3 are specified in Table 41-I. 



Table 41-I – NMI Standing Data Access Rules for Participant Relations 



PARTICIPANT RELATIONS 



Jur’n Data Item Description 



F
R



M
P
 



LR
 



LN
S
P



 



M
D



P
 



M
P
B



 



M
P
C



 



R
P
 



R
o



LR
 



N
E
M



M
 



N
S
P
2
 



ALL FRMP Financially Responsible Market 



Participant. 



Yes -  –   –   –  -  –  -  –   –  



ALL LNSP Current Local Network Service 



Provider, or Embedded Network 



Manager for a child connection 



point.  



 –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –  



ALL LR Current Local Retailer/Embedded 



Network Local Retailer. 



 –   –   –   –   –  -  –  -  –   - 



ALL MDP Current Metering Data Provider, 



i.e. provider of metering data to 



AEMO. 



 –   –   –   –   –   –   –  -  –   –  



ALL MPB Current Meter Provider – 



maintenance of meter. 



 –  -  –   –   –   –   –  -  –   –  



ALL MPC Current Meter Provider – data 



collection. 



 –  -  –   –   –   –   –  -  –   –  



ALL NEMM   –  -  –   –   –   –   –  -  –   –  



ALL RoLR Current Retailer of Last Resort.  –  -  –   –   –  -  –   –   –   –  



ALL RP Current Metering Coordinator.  –   –   –   –   –   –   –  -  –   –  



ALL NSP2 Current Second Network Service 



Provider 



- -  –   –  - -  –  -  –   –  



(e) When initiating NMI Discovery Search 3, a retailer must ensure: 



(i) When using the reason of ITD (Incorrect Transfer Date), they are the Current FRMP 



for the NMI and a FRMP change completed in the past 130 business days from the 



NMI Discovery Search 3 date. 



(ii) When using the reason of TRI (Transferred In Error), they are the Current FRMP or the 



most recent previous FRMP for a given NMI. (This applies where the Current FRMP 



needs to request a retailer to transfer back a NMI transferred in error or the most 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 170 of 172 
 



recent previous FRMP has identified another retailer has transferred the NMI in error 



and is seeking to transfer it back.) 



(iii) When using the reason of MCR, Missed CR1500 error, a CR1500 was not submitted in 



the past 130 business days from the NMI Discovery Search 3 date. 



(iv) When using the reason of NNS (New NMI Setup Error – see Table 41-J), the NMI was 



created in the past 130 business days from the NMI Discovery Search 3 date. 



(f) The valid standing data items that would be returned to the initiating Role in all Jurisdictions 



on a successful data access request are specified in Table 41-J. 



Table 41-J – NMI Standing Data Items returned in all Jurisdictions for a Search 3 Search Request per 



Reason Code 



Reason code Description MSATS Name of the 



data item returned 



Description of data item returned on a successful 



request 



 All NMI  A 10 digit national metering identifier. 



ITD Incorrect Transfer 



Date Error 



FRMP, End Date Up to 10 character code representing the identity of 



the most recent previous FRMP. 



End Date of the most recent previous FRMP record. 



MCR Missed CR1500 



Error 



FRMP  Up to 10 character code representing the identity of 



the Current FRMP.  



NNS New NMI Setup 



Error 



FRMP  Up to 10 character code representing the identity of 



the Current FRMP.  



OTR Other Transfer 



Error 



FRMP Up to 10 character code representing the identity of 



the Current FRMP.  



SAB Site Abolishment FRMP, 



Start Date 



Up to 10 character code representing the identity of 



the Current FRMP. 



Start Date of the Current FRMP record. 



TRI Transferred In 



Error 



FRMP, 



Start Date 



Up to 10 character code representing the identity of 



the Current FRMP. 



Start Date of the Current FRMP record. 



TRI Transferred In 



Error 



FRMP, End Date Up to 10 character code representing the identity of 



the most recent previous FRMP. 



End Date of the most recent previous FRMP record. 



TRM Transfer Missed 



Error 



FRMP Up to 10 character code representing the identity of 



the Current FRMP.  



 



41.3.5. MC Standing Data Search – NMI Standing Data Access Rules 



(a) This section 41.3.5 specifies the NMI Standing Data that is available to MCs who do not have 



Explicit Informed Consent from an End User. 



(b) A current or prospective MC must: 



(i) Only carry out an MC Standing Data Search on NMIs where they are the Current MC; 



or 



(ii) Only perform MC Standing Data Search activity for the purpose of responding to a 



request from a large customer/retailer to assist in the appointment of the prospective 



MC. 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 171 of 172 
 



(c) The NMI Data Access Rules define: 



(i) Which Role can initiate a request for NMI Standing Data and 



(ii) Which standing data items will be returned when a request is submitted to MSATS. 



(d) The NMI Data Access Rules may be defined by Jurisdiction. 



(e) The NMI Standing Data items returned to an MC in all Jurisdictions on a successful data 



access request are specified in Table 3-ATable 41-K. 



Table 41-K – Common NMI Standing Data items returned for an MC Standing Data Search.  



(The following data is based on the MSATS C7 report with the inclusion of Controlled Load and NMI Classification 



Code).  



MSATS Name Data item description MSATS standing data table 



Address This includes all address fields, which 



comprise DPID, building name, flat number, 



flat type, floor number, floor type, house 



number, house number suffix, location 



descriptor, Lot Number, street name, street 



suffix, street type, Unstructured Address1, 



Unstructured Address2, Unstructured 



Address3, postcode, locality, and state. 



CATS_NMI_DATA 



ADL The electrical energy delivered through a 



connection point or metering point over an 



extended period normalised to a “per day” 



basis (kWh). 



CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Controlled Load Indicates whether the energy recorded by 



this register is created under a Controlled 



Load regime.  



Controlled Load field will have “No” if 



register does not relate to a Controlled 



Load, it should contain a description of the 



Controlled Load regime.  
 



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Customer Classification 



Code 



See section4.11.1.  CATS_NMI_DATA 



Customer Threshold Code See section4.11.2. CATS_NMI_DATA 



Datastream Status Code See section4.12.2. CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



Datastream Type A code to indicate the type of data that the 



Datastream will report:  includes interval and 



accumulation. 



CATS_NMI_DATA_STREAM 



DLF Code  A code representing the DLF. CATS_NMI_DATA 



Jurisdiction Code See section4.6. CATS_NMI_DATA 



FRMP A code representing the identity of the 



FRMP. 



CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 











MSATS PROCEDURES 



 6 February 2022 Page 172 of 172 
 



MSATS Name Data item description MSATS standing data table 



LNSP  A code representing the identity of the 



LNSP. 



CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 



LR A code representing the identity of the LR. CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 



MDP A code representing the identity of the MDP 



(Category D). 



CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 



Meter Serial ID The serial number that uniquely identifies a 



meter for a given NMI. 



CATS_METER_REGISTER 



Metering Installation Type 



Code  



See section4.13. CATS_METER_REGISTER 



MPB A code representing the identity of the MP 



(Category B). 



CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 



MPC A code representing the identity of the MDP 



(Category C). 



CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 



Multiplier Multiplier required to take a register value 



and turn it into a value representing billable 



energy. 



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Network Tariff Code  A code representing the Network Tariff. CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Next Scheduled Read Date  The NSRD in date format. CATS_METER_REGISTER 



NMI Classification Code  See section4.10. CATS_NMI_DATA 



NMI Status Code See section 4.12.1 CATS_NMI_DATA 



Register ID The register ID of the register that the 



Network Tariff Code and Network Tariff 



Code additional information refers to. 



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



Register Identifier Status 



Code 



A lookup code to indicate if register is active. CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



ROLR A code representing the identity of the 



ROLR. 



CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 



RP A code representing the identity of the MC. CATS_NMI_PARTICIPANT_RELATIONS 



Time Of Day Industry developed Codes to identify the 



time validity of register contents. 



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



TNI Code  A code representing the transmission node 



identifier. 



CATS_NMI_DATA 



Unit of Measure A code to identify the Unit of Measure 



(UOM) for data held in this register.  



CATS_REGISTER_IDENTIFIER 



 










image9.png



image10.png



image1.jpeg



JDaly
File Attachment
ICF_029 AusNet Services - RegisterID Update.docx



Metrology & Service Level 
Procedures Items 
Meghan Bibby, AEMO

ERCF 19



• ICF submitted by Simon Tu, AEMO
• 5ms@aemo.com.au

CIP_025: N Quality Flag

ERCF 20

mailto:5ms@aemo.com.au

[image: report-masthead-marketdev]

		[bookmark: _GoBack]AEMO Information Change Paper







		Change ID or ICF Number 

		ICF_025



		Short Title

		Removal of ‘N’ Metering Data Quality Flag



		Procedure / Area Impacted

		|_|	MSATS System

[bookmark: Check1]|_|	CATS Procedure

|_|	WIGS Procedure

|_|	NEM ROLR Processes 

|_|	Metrology Procedure Part A

|X|	Metrology Procedure Part B

|_|	Service Level Procedure: MDP, MP, ENM (cross out unrelated 								documents)

[bookmark: Check2][bookmark: _Hlk40186146]|X|	Other, please specify: MDFF Specification NEM12 NEM13



		Subject

		Removal of ‘N’ Metering Data Quality Flag









Revision History

		VERSION #

		PRESENTED TO

		DATE



		1.0

		

		



		

		

		












1. Background

· A historic business process, which existed outside of the rules, made use of the Quality Flag of ‘N’ for meter churn scenarios where churn occurred over 20 days.

· The new RPs Meter Data Provider would establish a meter prior to the initiation of a CR1000, the implication of which was that the party in MSATS wouldn’t be related to the new meter. For the time before the new RP assumed the role in MSATS the Meter Data Provider would send MTRD MDFF reads with a Quality Flag of ‘N’.

· 5 years ago the Procedures were changed to tighten the churn scenario to prevent this business process from occurring.

Current

· The existing Metrology Procedure Part B still makes reference to the Quality Flag of ‘N’, however, the Procedures provide no further details on how the Quality flag of ‘N’ can be used.

· The NEM12/NEM13 specification still makes reference to the Quality Flag of ‘N’.

Future

· AEMO will accept MDFF.

· Assumption is that MDPs will provide AEMO with the identical MDFFs as provided to other Participants.

2. Scope

AEMO’s current Position:

•	As ‘N’ flag is effectively redundant remove its reference from the Procedures. 

•	We’ve already removed the N flag as an accepted flag in the MDM File Format and Load process.

3. Issues

None identified.

4. Requirement

[bookmark: _Hlk2858065]Removal of a redundant value from the Metrology Procedure Part B in Section 2.4 and Appendix C of the MDFF Specification NEM12 NEM13.

5. Proposed Consultation / Release 

Proposed to be included in the the B2M consultation to commence in Q3 2020.

6. Proposed Solution(s)

A. Potential changes to Metrology Procedure Part B Section 2.4 and MDFF Specification NEM12 NEM13





Metrology Procedure Part B

[bookmark: _Toc444092409][bookmark: _Toc460318348]4.2	Metering Data Quality Flags



[bookmark: _Toc164513070][bookmark: _Toc164758613][bookmark: _Toc164758903][bookmark: _Toc164758991][bookmark: _Toc164759278][bookmark: _Toc165086267][bookmark: _Toc165086519][bookmark: _Toc165086597][bookmark: _Toc165086830][bookmark: _Toc165087010][bookmark: _Toc165087086]MDPs must assign the relevant metering data quality flags to metering data as follows: 

		Quality Flag

		Description



		A

		Actual Metering Data.



		S

		For any substituted metering data that is considered temporary and may be replaced by Actual Metering Data. Substitutions apply to historical date/time periods at the time of Substitution.



		E

		For any estimated metering data that is considered temporary and may be replaced by Actual Metering Data or substituted metering data. Estimations apply to a period that has an end date/time in the future.



		F

		For Substitutions that are of a permanent or final nature and, subject to section 2.4(b) & (e), the metering data would not be replaced by Actual Metering Data at any time.



		N

		This quality flag is only utilised within the interval metering data file for instances where no metering data exists in the metering data services database for the periods concerned.







Unless specified otherwise in this Procedure, MDPs must apply the following quality flag rules in the metering data services database:

‘A’ metering data can only be replaced with ‘A’, ‘S’ or ‘F’ metering data.

‘S’ metering data can only be replaced with ‘A’, ‘S’ or ‘F’ metering data.

‘E’ metering data can only be replaced with ‘A’, ‘E’, ‘S’ or ‘F’ metering data.

‘F’ metering data can only be replaced with ‘F’ metering data as per section 2.5.1(f) or ‘A’ metering data as per section 2.5.1(b) or 2.5.1(h).





MDFF Specification NEM12 NEM13

3.3.1	Spaces, nulls and commas



Fields must not include leading or trailing spaces.

Where no Interval values exist, the IntervalValue field must contain a value of zero (0) and the QualityFlag field must have a value of “N”. A null value is not allowed in the quantity field of the NEM13 file. 	Comment by Meghan Bibby: Or should this be a flag of ‘S’ for subsof zero?

A comma is required between all fields, even if the field is null.

Commas are not permitted in any data field. 





[bookmark: _Toc488740329]4.4	Interval data record (300)

		Field

		Format

		Field Requirement

		Definition



		RecordIndicator

		Numeric(3)

		M

		Interval metering data record indicator.

Allowed value: 300.



		IntervalDate

		Date(8)

		M

		Interval date.



		IntervalValue1

 . . . 

IntervalValueN

		Numeric(sx.y)

Refer Appendices – Appendix B for details on the format of this number.

		M

		Interval metering data.  

The total amount of energy or other measured value for the Interval inclusive of any multiplier or scaling factor.

The number of values provided must equal 1440 divided by the IntervalLength. This is a repeating field with individual field values separated by comma delimiters.

Allowed value rules:

If no data – i.e. null, then set the relevant IntervalValue field to zero “0” and set the respective quality flag in the QualityMethod field to “N”.

A negative value is not allowed. 

The value may contain decimal places.

Exponential values are not allowed.



		QualityMethod

		VarChar(3)

		M

		Summary of the data quality and Substitution/Estimation flags for all IntervalValues contained in this record. 

The QualityMethod applies to all IntervalValues in this record.  Where multiple QualityMethods or ReasonCodes apply to these IntervalValues, a quality flag ‘V’ must be used.

Format:  In the form QMM, where quality flag ('Q) = 1 character and method flag (MM) = 2 character.

Allowed values:

See quality and method tables (Appendix C & D).

If quality flag = ’A’, ’N‘ or ’V‘ no method flag is required.



		ReasonCode 

		Numeric(3)

		M/N

		Summary of the reasons for Substitute/Estimate or  information for all IntervalValues contained in this record.

The ReasonCode applies to all IntervalValues in this record.  

Not required if quality flag = ’A’, ’N‘, or ‘E‘, but can be provided for information.

The field must not be populated if quality flag = ’V’.

Allowed values: Refer Appendix E.



		ReasonDescription

		VarChar(240)

		N/M

		Description of ReasonCode.

Mandatory where the ReasonCode is ’0’.



		UpdateDateTime

		DateTime(14)

		M/N

		The latest date/time that any updated IntervalValue or QualityMethod for the IntervalDate.  This is the MDP’s version date/time that the metering data was created or changed.  This date and time applies to data in this 300 record.  

This field is not required if the QualityMethod is ’N’.



		MSATSLoadDateTime

		DateTime(14)

		R

		This is the date/time stamp MSATS records when metering data was loaded into MSATS.  This date is in the acknowledgement notification sent to the MDP by MSATS.







[bookmark: _Toc80450491][bookmark: _Ref82594736][bookmark: _Toc90178874][bookmark: _Toc240449648][bookmark: _Toc354131626][bookmark: _Toc367456037][bookmark: _Toc488740330][bookmark: _Toc6297637]4.5	Interval event record (400)

		Field

		Format

		Field Requirement

		Definition



		RecordIndicator

		Numeric(3)

		M

		Interval event record indicator.

Allowed value: 400.



		StartInterval

		Numeric(4)

		M

		The first Interval number that the ReasonCode/QualityMethod combination applies to.

The StartInterval must be less than or equal to the EndInterval.



		EndInterval

		Numeric(4)

		M

		The last Interval number that the ReasonCode/QualityMethod combination applies to.



		QualityMethod

		VarChar(3)

		M

		Data quality & Substitution/Estimation flag for metering data. 

The QualityMethod applies to all IntervalValues in the inclusive range defined by the StartInterval and EndInterval.

Format:  In the form QMM, where quality flag (Q) = 1 character and method flag (MM) = 2 character

Allowed values:

See quality and method tables (refer Appendices C & D).

If quality flag = “A” or “N” no method required.

The quality flag of “V” cannot be used in this record.



		ReasonCode 

		Numeric(3)

		M/N

		Reason for Substitute/Estimate or information.  

The ReasonCode applies to all IntervalValues in the inclusive range defined by the StartInterval and EndInterval. 

Not required if quality flag = ”N” or “E” but can be provided for information.

Allowed values: Refer Appendix E.



		ReasonDescription

		VarChar(240)

		N/M

		Description of ReasonCode.

Mandatory where the ReasonCode is “0”.

The ReasonDescription applies to all IntervalValues in the inclusive range defined by the StartInterval and EndInterval.







[bookmark: _Toc354131640][bookmark: _Toc367456052][bookmark: _Toc488740341]Quality flags

		Quality Flag

		Meaning of Quality Flag

		Relationship with other fields



		A

		Actual Metering Data.

As defined in Metrology Procedure Part B 

		No method flag is required if this quality flag is used.

A reason code is mandatory and must be provided for all Intervals where the meter has recorded a power outage (reason code 79), time reset (reason code 89), or tamper (reason code 61) if this quality flag is used.



		E

		Forward estimated data. 

As defined in Metrology Procedure Part B 

		A method flag is mandatory if this quality flag is used.

No reason code applies if this quality flag is used.



		F

		Final substituted data.

As defined in Metrology Procedure Part B 

		A method flag is mandatory if this quality flag is used.

A reason code is mandatory if this quality flag is used.



		N

		Null data.

As defined in Metrology Procedure Part B

		This value is not permitted in NEM13 files.

The Interval values must be set to “0” if this quality flag is used.

No method flag applies if this quality flag is used.

No reason code applies if this quality flag is used.



		S

		Substituted data.

As defined in Metrology Procedure Part B 

		A method flag is mandatory if this quality flag is used.

A reason code is mandatory if this quality flag is used.



		V

		Variable data.

This is not a formal quality flag held against individual data items.

This value may only be used as part of the QualityMethod field in the 300 record.

		This value is not permitted in NEM13 files.

No method flag applies if this quality flag is used.

No reason code applies if this quality flag is used.

Variable data.

This is not a formal quality flag held against individual data items.

This value may only be used as part of the QualityMethod field in the 300 record.









		4



image1.jpeg



JDaly
File Attachment
ICF_025 - N Quality Flag CIP.docx



CIP_M001: Process to detect 
illegal reconnections

• Dino Ou, Endeavour

• Ref #11 – CIP_M001


[image: report-masthead-marketdev]

		AEMO Information Change Paper







		Change ID or ICF Number 

		ICF_M001



		Short Title

		Process to detect illegal reconnections



		Procedure / Area Impacted

		|_|	MSATS System

[bookmark: Check1]|_|	CATS Procedure

|_|	WIGS Procedure

|_|	NEM ROLR Processes 

[bookmark: Check2]|X|	Metrology Procedure Part A

|_|	Metrology Procedure Part B

|_|	Service Level Procedure: MDP, MP, ENM (cross out unrelated 								documents)

|_|	Other, please specify:



		Subject

		Defining obligations on the MC to have secure metering installations, including a process to detect illegal reconnections









Revision History

		VERSION #

		PRESENTED TO

		DATE



		1.0

		AEMO

		



		

		

		










1. Background

AEMO received a request from Endeavour Energy to include an obligation around processes for illegal reconnection identification. The issues they identified are:

Clause 2.4.1.ix.D of the MDP SLP allows for the MDP to de-activate datastreams in MSATS where the supply of electricity has been disconnected at the service fuse. 

When a site is illegally reconnected, and the site has an accumulation meter then the illegal reconnection gets picked up at the next scheduled meter reading. 

However for a remotely read meter the illegal reconnection may not be picked up if the MDP turns off their collection process and do not have processes in place to detect illegal reconnections, e.g. periodically turning on their collection process to check if the site is energised, have meters installed that can provide an indicator/alarm when supply becomes available, have meters installed that automatically pushes the metering data to the MDP’s MDM system when supply becomes available, etc.

Under the National Electricity Rules (NER) is the obligation 7.15.2(a) for a Metering Coordinator (MC) to ensure that the metering installation is secure and that associated links, circuits and information storage and processing systems are protected by security mechanisms acceptable to AEMO.

AEMO reviewed this request and recognises that any illegal reconnection identifies that the metering installation is not secure. 

2. Scope

Define an obligation on the MC to have processes in place for having a secure metering installation including detecting illegal reconnections for sites with a remotely read meter.

3. Issues

· AEMO recognises that there are many ways to identify a metering installation has been illegally reconnected and, in a contestable market, do not believe that defining what the details of a process for detection for these instances would be appropriate. The process developed would be up to the MC to determine.

· AEMO believe the obligation should cover all types of metering installations, not simply remotely read meters. Therefore, the obligation would cover legacy MCs and contestable MCs.

4. Requirement

[bookmark: _Hlk2858065]Define in the Metrology Procedure Part A that a secure metering installation includes having processes in place for detecting illegal reconnections regardless of metering type.

5. Proposed Consultation / Release 

TBD

6. Proposed Solution(s)

A. Potential changes to Metrology Procedure Part A

Adding the following new section 13 prior to the existing Emergency Priority Procedures section

[bookmark: _Toc488741023][bookmark: _Toc6470285]13. Metering installation security

As part of metering installation security under clause 7.15.2(a) of the NER:

a) [bookmark: _GoBack]the MC must ensure that processes and systems are in place to detect energy data from metering installations with remote acquisition when the datastream is not activeillegal reconnections at a type 1, 2, 3, 4 and 4A metering installation, including when the premises are disconnected.

b) the MDP must ensure that processes and systems are in place to detect illegal reconnections at a type 5 and 6 metering installation, including when the premises are disconnected.

14. Emergency Priority Procedures



		4



image1.jpeg



JDaly
File Attachment
ICF_M001 Process to detect illegal reconnections CIP May 2020.docx



• ICF submitted by Mark Riley, AGL
• Contact No: 0475 805 262

• Email: mriley@agl.com.au

ICF_022: Consumption Corrections

ERCF 22

Should an additional settlement revision exist for long term corrections?

• N=18, 5=Y, 9=N, 4=Comment

• Maybe: Depends on how the process/logic is built and who is made accountable for the coordination

• Some consistency is suggested for the settlement process where consumption correction > 7mths apply.  

Generally Retailers and DBs have a different approach or requirements on how to deliver and manage 

this data.  This results in highly complex data correction processes for periods outside the existing 

settlement framework.

Which roles should be involved in this and which should be responsible for the revision? For example: 

MP/MDP/LNSP to advise MC, MC or retailer to be responsible for coordinating correction.

• Majority unsupportive of change, or no further comment

• Some level of analysis is required to quantify the financial benefit of a further round. Existing protocols 

will cater for an additional round e,g, at 52 weeks.

• MP/MDP to advise LNSP, MC and FRMP.  MC to be responsible appears to be plurality option

Survey results


Sheet

		What is your name and what organisation are you representing?		Do you currently use the Average Daily Load (ADL) field? If so, what does your business use it for?		2) Do you see value in keeping the field as-is?				Would you be supportive of ADL being redefined to reflect the datastream level. If yes/no, why?		How would you define an ADL at datastream level - what wording do you suggest?		Should an additional settlement revision exist for long term corrections?				Which roles should be involved in this and which should be responsible for the revision? For example: MP/MDP/LNSP to advise MC, MC or retailer to be responsible for coordinating correction.		In what timeframe should these changes be captured?		Do you have any further comments on either proposal?

		Open-Ended Response		Open-Ended Response		Response		Further comment		Open-Ended Response		Open-Ended Response		Response		Other (please specify)		Open-Ended Response		Open-Ended Response		Open-Ended Response

		Dino Ou, Endeavour Energy		Yes, we use the ADL to check if the metering data is within a reasonable range. If not within a reasonable range then we would enquire with the MDP. This has allowed us to detect incorrect metering data and to request for metering data to be corrected.		Yes				Yes, we support the ADL being redefined to be at the datastream level. It looks like most MDP already do this and the definition needs to be updated to reflect the current industry practice.		ADL - the amount of electricity for each datastream delivered through a connection point over an extended period averaged to a daily amount		Yes				The MC should be the responsible for coordinating the correction. Any party should be able to notify the MC of an issue and the MC should inform other impacted parties and coordinate the correction.		Notification to other impacted parties should be done within 5 business days of becoming aware of an issue. However the correction of the metering data can vary depending on issue and what information is needed to correct the metering data.		AEMO should consider including any new obligations into the metering service provider's audit

		Bryce Turnbull - TasNetworks		Yes, for basic meter data substitutions in line with the metrology procedure.		Yes				We're assuming this is related to having datastreams for each register. If this is the case we would be supportive.		Assuming our assumption above is correct:  ADL needs to be reflective of data recorded on individual registers.		No				Remain as is. MDP under authority from the MC.		Not clear on what the definition of "captured" is, in this quetsion.		No.

		EnergyAustralia		Mass market new business sales check this field to see if a customer can be quoted into mass market or C&I. C&I then use as the ADL estimate to gage load.		Yes				Yes. This would be helpful to determine whether the customer could benefit from load balancing. If the ADL is at the register level and does not factor in B channel data, it is a more accurate reflection of the customers usage which is useful when determining metrology usage breaches, meter upgrade requirements, C&I vs mass market eligibility, etc.  Also, the NMI level ADL can be calculated from ADL at a datastream level,  but not vice versa.		The wording should define whether the ADL has been calculated based on E channel data only, or a net of E and B channel data. The preference would be for the ADL to be at the register level, therefore giving E channel and B channel ADL separately. The definition should include the UOM, i.e kWh.  E.g definition should include: ADL reflects the historical import kWh data at a register level. The definition should also include an explanation of the effective dates in MSATS to clearly reflect the period is has been based on or the date from which it is calculated.		Yes				MDP/LNSP to advised MC/retailer.		6 months

		Joe Castellano - Origin Energy		Yes, we currently use this field as our teams will input the ADL while raising specific service orders.		Yes				Yes. ADL at data stream level would be beneficial as we can see usage per day at Meter level (represents as, peak / off-peak / control load usage per day since the data stream will be different when there are multiple meters (such as, peak, off-peak, solar, etc.).  This may be beneficial when managing customer enquiries, such as high bill enquiries.		The datastream level tells us exactly what it is. You can tell by the datastream what it is for E/B. It would be the load on the streams.		No				Our position is there is no additional revision required.		As per question 7		N/A

		Christophe, Red Energy & Lumo Energy		Yes, this is used:  - New connections paperwork mainly  - Try to verify/understand size of the NMI   - Others, mostly useful at the start of the lifecycle of a NMI		Further comment		Yes, however we feel that it isn't very accurate. We used to use it for C&I, but found it wasn't accurate enough.		Maybe, however it would be interesting to know how this would work for "K" and "Q" streams. And in terms of New Connections, determining this at a datastream level may also prove to be too complex (and reduce further the accuracy)		n/a		Other (please specify)		Maybe, depending on how the process/logic is built and who is made accountable for the coordination		LNSP

		Greg Szot, CitiPower Powercor		Yes, mandatory for MDP to calculate and supply to market, used where actual data is not available for forward estimations and substitutions.  Also, the ADL is required for the LNSP to calculate NMI Classification and CTC.		Yes				The ADL is calculated and already supplied at the datastream level by the MDP, where it is supplied by the FRMP it is split across multiple datastreams (if required).		We don't believe any wording changes are required.		No				NA		NA		No

		United Energy		Yes mandatory for MDP to calculate and supply to market, used where actual data is not available for forward estimations and substitutions. Also it is required by the LNSP to calculate the NMI Class and CTC.		Yes				The ADL is calculated and already supplied at the datastream level by the MDP, where it is supplied by the FRMP it is split across multiple datastreams if required.		UE don’t believe that any changes to the wording are required.		No				N/A		N/A		N/A

		Shaun Cupitt - Alinta Energy		Alinta Energy does use the ADL in a number of business processes for both small and large customers.  Specifically it is used when processing new connections and alterations, as a key step when carrying out billing investigations as a result of customer billing enquiries, complaints or bill disputes and it is used to get a rough gauge of the customer consumption threshold (classification) for new acquisitions/meter changes in Victoria.		Yes				Yes.  Alinta Energy believes that moving the ADL to the datastream will provide a more granular view of the customers usage and enable us to provide a better service to our customers both small and large.		Alinta Energy suggests that AEMO uses the same descriptions currently being applied/used in Network Tariff structures.  We would expect that the terms used would be consistent with published and approved pricing proposals documented by the Distribution Businesses in the NEM.		Yes				Alinta Energy believes that the MDP (be that a contestable MDP or a Distribution business) should be responsible for providing the data which will then be approved by the relevant market participants and then AEMO can carry out the appropriate settlement process.		Alinta Energy believes that there should be an additional settlement done for the previous 12 months along with the existing settlement periods.

		Jane Hutson, EQL as LNSP and MDP only		As an LNSP we store the ADL field provided by the MDP and use it only as a guideline for NMI and tariff reclassification. However we calculate our own annual consumption from meter reading data before finalising any Customer Classification Changes   As an MDP we are obviously obligated under the MDP SLA and Metrology to maintain and calculate ADLs annually. We also use the ADL when calculating certain estimation and substitution values on Type 6 meters. We use the ADL visually when reviewing validation exceptions of Type 6 meter reads. We also use standard customer class ADLs on the establishment of new NMIs and again for  estimation and substitution. We do not use ADLs for calculating Threshold Breaches but instead use the raw reading data.		Further comment		The field needs to remain but not as-is due to the changes introduced by 5 minute settlement. Needs to now include decimal places		Yes as currently all our ADLs are calculated at the data stream level and not at the NMI level. If the ADL was calculated at the NMI level it would be impossible to use it for the purposes of estimation and substitution on multi meter or multi register NMIs.		The average daily consumption or generation in kwh for meter points or meter registers recording in kilo watts. Excludes kvarh or other meter registers. Can only be a positive value, even for import registers. Needs to include decimal places to allow for minimal loads on NCONUML devices.		No				MDP should be responsible for making and disseminating the revision, but the FRMP should be responsible for authorising and coordinating the correction.		A limit of 1 month from the detection of the fault/theft to the provision of revised meter data. Currently authorisation for substitution and approval of substitution methods between 3 or 4 parties is a far too length process.		No

		Helen Vassos - PLUS ES		Any processes we drive using an ADL are driven by internally stored ADLs, not the NET ADL recorded in MSATS.  Some of the things we use ADLs:   - NMI classification and CTC,   - used by the MC to change the Metering Installation Type when consumption thresholds are crossed		Further comment		Whilst there is value in using it , maintaining an ADL, averaging 12 months of 5 min data for millions of meters could potentially become  quite a strain.		Yes  as MSATS already reflects ADL at the datastream level		Definition: Average of the total consumption of the day over a defined period, for the datastream.    Additionally : The period should be defined, and the calculation made consistent across the market.		Other (please specify)		Some consistency is suggested for the settlement process where consumption correction > 7mths apply.  Generally Retailers and DBs have a different approach or requirements on how to deliver and manage this data.  This results in highly complex data correction processes for periods outside the existing settlement framework.		Whoever is necessary is determining the accuracy of the revised data and any market participants with a financial interest.  The MDP already has an obligation to deliver  the data within 2 days.		Plus ES has no preference of when the changes are implemented.		Illegal connections:  PLUS ES supports the provisioning of data for otherwise determined 'non active' sites but do not  believe it is their responsibility to police illegal connections.  We currently:  -	Leave Datastreams Active for all De-energised Sites    -	Attempt to read all De-energised sites    -	Follow up process every 30 days for New Connections when meters are connected but not energised   -	Supply Meter Data as read by the meter   It is up to the LNSP to review and analyse the Meter Data received from the MDP and act accordingly.    Additionally:  Occasionally we are exposed to a rather convoluted process when we detect generation which has not been requested.  Could this be considered as illegal connection?    Is it possible to automatically reconfigure meters when reverse flow is detected ?

		Tom Cole - Metering Dynamics		To confirm the metering installation type.		Further comment		Will need ADL and ADG for load and generation or ADE energy.		Yes, depending on the use of this data by different participants.    Import and Export energy datastreams e.g. grid-connected batteries being charged and discharged.		The average total daily energy passing through the connection point/NMI/Metering Installation.		Yes				MP/MDP to advise LNSP, MC and FRMP.  MC to be responsible.  This could vary depending on the event and correction needed.

		Mark Riley - AGL		Establishing size of load / load change  used to determine if CT metering required   used when there is inadequate information to estimate load   It has been proposed that it be used for establishing a UMS loading in B2B		Further comment		depends on the value in separating in the streams if the simple ADL can be manipulated to provide approximate loadings for the other streams the perhaps not		see above		ADL / Stream = the average daily loading for that data stream in KW/KVA as required     24 hr data stream = 24  6 hr off peak data stream may be 4  24 hr KVA stream may be 30		Yes				see Metrology Procedure Part B which details all this		Networks have issued invoices for 10 years		no

		Ingrid Farah @ Ergon Energy Retail		No		Further comment		Considering design principals for new MDM validations.  May present an opportunity for high/low validations		Yes, to ensure import and export is appropriately captured and utilised correctly for internal validations of received load at a datastream level		An appropriately calculated representation of the import and or export of load both utilised and forecasted by the MDP for all elements of a NMIs meter configuration.		Other (please specify)		a 30 week revision is not a sufficient time frame to capture and remediate field issues  that impact variations to load.		MDP/MC to initiate corrective steps and coordinate NEM revision with AEMO.		52 week adhoc revision.		There needs to be a minimum mWh threshold established to invoke a GS revision and recalculation of UFE.  Anything below the agreed threshold should not involve a review of the UFE.  A pending adhoc revision notice should then be communicated by AEMO to all parties operating in the affected local area advising of volume of load discrepancy and which settlement weeks are potentially impacted.    Please note this was the position proposed by EEQ during 5MS consultation.  Global Settlements maintenance of the existing settlement processes is not sufficient for this rule change.

		Collette Reedy ActewAGL Retail		We store it and display it, however there is no functionality pointing to it.		Yes				It is difficult to indicate our support/non-support for this at this stage.  Whilst we think it should be fine, we would be better positioned to comment when more information regarding this change is available.				Other (please specify)		Unsure, therefore no comment		Unsure, therefore no comment		Unsure, therefore no comment		No

		Mamta Madan , Active Utilities (ENM)		No		Yes				Yes				No								No

		Jeff Roberts; Evoenergy		Defining large customer groups		Yes				Yes, each kWh data stream should have its own value		For each kWh data stream, provide the ADL of that data stream (as a positive value) to MSATS. For all other streams the value should be zero.		No

		Paul Greenwood - Vector Metering		No, Becasue it is not a type 4 substitution method. However we believe that this should be changed and that ADL based substitution method of last resort for type 4 should be allowed. Then we would use it.		No				Yes - but how it is used, whether it is still needed for all meter types. It seems that once you have a level of historic interval data from a meter you can easily calculate a ADL.		Only required for Consumption Active Energy channels.		No				Some level of analysis is required to quantify the financial benefit of a further round. Existing protocols will cater for an additional round e,g, at 52 weeks.		52 weeks?

		SA Power Networks		We do not use the ADL populated by MDP's, where required for any internal processes, we internally calculate the ADL from data provided by the MDP.  As the MDP, we provide this to MSATS to meet current obligations.		Yes				No - we do not see any need or benefit and any change would just impose work and costs to industry with no benefit or justification. We believe that participants should use data provided by the MDP to develop any alternative view of ADL that the individual business may require.		No need for change, therefore, no new definition required.		No				As per answer to question 6, we do not support an additional settlement revision.		As per answer to question 6, we do not support an additional settlement revision.		Any change needs to ensure a full cost benefit analysis is completed and this shows a benefit to industry before proceeding.





JDaly
File Attachment
Survey Results.xlsx



• ICF submitted by Mark Riley, AGL
• Contact No: 0475 805 262

• Email: mriley@agl.com.au

ICF_022: Consumption Corrections

ERCF 23

In what timeframe should these changes be captured?

• Largely no response or unsupportive of additional settlement revision

• Several responses – 6 months, 10 years, 52 week adhoc revision

• A limit of 1 month from the detection of the fault/theft to the provision of revised meter data. Currently 

authorisation for substitution and approval of substitution methods between 3 or 4 parties is a far too 

lengthy a process. 

Do you have any further comments on either proposal?

• Proposals need a full cost/benefit analysis

• It is not the responsibility of the MP to police illegal connections








		ISSUE / CHANGE FORM – SUMMARY SECTION
(Template focuses on issue/change identification and impact.)







		ICF Number 

(AEMO to complete)

		ICF ?? – Consumption Corrections 



		Version #

		1



		Proponent Name

		Mark Riley

		Company

		AGL



		Proponent Title

		Senior Industry Advisor

		Proponent Contact No

		0475 805 262



		Proponent email

		mriley@agl.com.au

		Date lodged with AEMO

		23 Mar 2020



		Procedure Impacted

		|_|	MSATS System

[bookmark: Check1]|_|	MSATS CATS Procedure

|_|	MSATS WIGS Procedure

|_|	NEM ROLR Processes 

|X|	Metrology Procedure Part A

|X|	Metrology Procedure Part B

|_|	Service Level Procedure: MDP, MP, ENM (cross out unrelated 								documents)

[bookmark: Check2]|_|	Other, please specify: Standing Data For MSATS



		Areas Impacted

		(I.e. Section No. and/or CR 10XX)



		

		Metrology Procedure – Part A 

Metrology Procedure – Part B



		Short Description / Title

		Include specific obligation for MC to provide updated or substitution data in cases where meter data corrections are required (for example, theft or fraud) for impacted periods, to both the affected participants and the market.



		Other key contact information 

		









		VERSION #

		PRESENTED TO

		DATE



		

		

		



		

		

		





ERCF Issue-Change Form [image: Header]





ERCF ICF		Page 1

		ISSUE / CHANGE – DETAILED REPORT SECTION







		1. Detailed description of Issue / Change

		At present, in cases where there are corrections to consumption (including error, theft or fraud), some Network MCs provide a substitute meter data file which is then populated across the affected participants and the market, while others undertake an off-market settlement.

Within the current market framework, the affected parties are the Host FRMP, the Affected FRMP and the Network, as there is currently no impact on the market as a whole (within a Net Wholesale Market).

However, in moving to a Global Market, the concept of a Host FRMP no longer exists.  In fact, under a Global Market, it could be said that the Host FRMP is now the market as a whole, as any changes which would have previously impacted the Host now flow through to all FRMPs through Unaccounted for Energy (UFE).

For this reason, AGL is proposing that in all cases where consumption is affected (eg CT ratios, theft etc) that the relevant MC should follow the substitution processes and submit the data to the affected participants and the market so that it is captured as part of the UFE calculation.



		2. Market Impact 

		Provision of amended data to the affected participants and the market will ensure that UFE allocations are more appropriately made and adjustments to all impacted participants are dealt with through market settlements, rather than trying to drive off market settlements between multiple participants.

Failure to submit the data to the market means that the incorrect energy will be distributed by AEMO as UFE to all participants and will impact the recorded level of UFE.



		3. Requirements / Specific Proposal

		Amend the Metrology Procedures to make specific reference to the requirement to generate and submit amended data to both the market and the affected participants for events such as theft. 



		4. Proposed Solution/s

		For the Metrology Procedure – Part A, this means making clear in that affected Registered Participants include the market and therefore require data to be sent to the market.



		

		For the Metrology Procedures - Part B, this means clarifying that the provision of substituted data  includes events such as theft, not just meter problems, such as CT errors.



		5. Law/Rule and clauses enabling change

		See Attachment



		

		



		6. Market benefits for industry as a whole

		Provision of the amended data to the market will ensure that the settlements allocations and UFE processes now take these load changes into account. This in turn means that wholesale allocation of energy will be correct and the resulting UFE calculation will be more accurate.



		7. Customer benefits

(consumers)

		Wholesale and UFE allocations will impact retailer wholesale prices, which in turn impact customer prices. More correct allocations, will allow each retailer to manage their pricing more appropriately.



		8. Workaround/s

(if necessary)

		AGL does not consider the current process of undertaking off market settlements between the relevant Participant and the affected participants is acceptable in terms of the outcomes of a global market and in terms of a party managing the off market arrangements between 10’s of affected participants.

[bookmark: _GoBack]AGL is also concerned that by not making this change, the manual process leaves a perverse incentive for parties who identify issues, to not update the market.



		9. Supporting Documentation

(attach if necessary)

		



		10. Any critical timelines to consider?

		



		11. AEMO’s preliminary assessment of the proposal 

		(This is to be left blank)














		NEM ISSUE / CHANGE – RELEVANT ATTACHMENT(S)







		ATTACHMENT A



Proposed changes: {Procedure Name}

Red strikeout means delete and 
blue underline means insert







Metrology Procedure – Part A

12.8. AEMO’s Metering Data Obligations 

12.8.1. Substitutions 

Where metering data has been Substituted, AEMO must advise affected Registered Participants at the same time as that metering data is sent to Market Participants and AEMO for settlements. 





Metrology Procedure – Part B

2.2. Substitution requirement 

The MDP must undertake Substitutions on behalf of AEMO or the MC, as appropriate, in a manner consistent with this Procedure. Substitutions may be required in the following circumstances: 

(a) Where the system or equipment supporting the remote or manual collection of metering data has failed or is faulty. 

(b) Where the metering installation for a connection point has failed or is removed from service. 

(c) To enable timely provision of metering data to AEMO for settlements purposes. 

(d) In situations where metering data has been irretrievably lost. 

(e) Where the metering data is found to be erroneous or incomplete; this includes theft or unmetered usage. 

(f) ………………….







image1.jpeg



JDaly
File Attachment
ICF_022 Consumption Corrections.docx



Other Business
Meghan Bibby, AEMO

ERCF 24



• General Questions?

• Next meeting  scheduled for Thursday 18 June 2020
• Future dates are in the Stakeholder Meetings calendar on AEMO’s website

• ICFs due by Thursday 4 June 2020

Other Business

ERCF 25



ICF Register (cont.)
Change 

ID

Procedure Subject Change 

type

Proponent Status Notes

ICF_016 MSATS 

Procedure

Reinstate MC Objection 

of BadParty for Vic 

SMALL

Procedure + 

Market 

Systems

Laura 

Peirano, 

United 

Energy

Change 

Information 

Paper

Closed. Outcome as per Customer 

Switching request. This is introducing 

changes to remove the ability to nominate 

any other roles in a transfer situation it is 

also introducing changes to the objection 

area for MC’s. 

ICF_017 AEMO 

Performance 

Reports

Assignment of Interval 

ADWNANs to MDP in 

AEMO Performance 

Reports

Procedure + 

Market 

Systems

Jane Hutson, 

EQ

In Progress To be progressed, new report to be 

developed for MDP.

ICF_018 MSATS 

Standing 

Data

Add new Enumeration 

for 5 minute interval 

Meters

Procedure 

Only
Mark Riley, 

AGL

In Progress Included in MSDR consultation currently 

underway. Effective date for change TBC. 

Does not require AEMO system change.

ICF_019 Metrology 

Procedure

To remove the 

prescriptive 

requirements for sample 

testing (General 

inspection II and the 

AQL of 1.5) from the 

clause and clarify the 

suggested sampling 

methodology as being as 

a guidelines as per the 

MPB’s request.

Procedure 

Only
Goutham 

Lingam, UE 

In Progress Extended. Under consideration by AEMO 

Metering


